# AMENDMENTS TO THE SOCIAL SECURITY ACT 1969 – 1972

Social Security Amendments of 1972 (Public Law 92-603) and Related Amendments

Volumes 1-6

Social Security Amendments of 1970 (H.R. 17550—Not Enacted)

Volumes 7, 8

Social Security Amendments of 1969 and Related Amendments

Volume 9

DEPARTMENT OF
HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
Social Security Administration

# AMENDMENTS TO THE SOCIAL SECURITY ACT 1969 - 1972

# Social Security Amendments of 1972 and Related Amendments

Volumes 1 — 6
H.R. 1
PUBLIC LAW 92-603
PUBLIC LAW 92-5—92nd Congress—H.R. 4690
PUBLIC LAW 92-223—92nd Congress—H.R. 10604

# Social Security Amendments of 1970 (Not Enacted)

PUBLIC LAW 92-336-92nd Congress-H.R. 15390

Volumes 7, 8 91st Congress—H.R. 17550

REPORTS, BILLS, DEBATES, AND ACTS

DEPARTMENT OF
HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
Social Security Administration

Office of Policy
Office of Legislative and Regulatory Policy

# Social Security Amendments of 1969 and Related Amendments

Volume 9 H.R. 13270 PUBLIC LAW 91-172

PUBLIC LAW 91-630—91st Congress— S. 2984 PUBLIC LAW 91-669—91st Congress—H.R. 19915 PUBLIC LAW 91-690—91st Congress—H.R. 19470

PRIVATE LAW 91-76-91st Congress—S. 476 PRIVATE LAW 91-125-91st Congress—H.R. 5337 PRIVATE LAW 91-213-91st Congress—H.R. 2335 PRIVATE LAW 91-228-91st Congress—H.R. 7264

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

#### **VOLUME 1**

#### SOCIAL SECURITY AMENDMENTS OF 1972

#### I. Reported to House

- A. Summary of Provisions of H.R. 1, "The Social Security Amendments of 1971," as amended and ordered reported—Committee on Ways and Means, Revised Press Release No. 5—May 17, 1971
- B. Committee on Ways and Means Report House Report No. 92-231 (to accompany H.R. 1)—May 26, 1971
- C. Committee Bill Reported to the House H.R. 1 (reported with amendments) – May 26, 1971
- D. Commissioner's Bulletin No. 114, Social Security Amendments of 1971 May 21, 1971

#### **VOLUME 2**

#### II. Passed House

- A. House Debate-Congressional Record-June 21-22, 1971
- B. House-Passed Bill H.R. 1 (as Amended and Referred to the Committee on Finance) June 28, 1971

#### III. Reported to Senate

A. Summary of the Principal Provisions of H.R. 1 As Determined by the Committee on Finance—Committee Print—June 13, 1972

#### **VOLUME 3**

B. Committee on Finance Report Senate Report No. 92-1230 (to accompany H.R. 1) — September 26, 1972

#### **VOLUME 4**

C. Committee Bill Reported to the Senate H.R. 1 (reported with amendment) — September 26, 1972

#### IV. Passed Senate

A. Senate Debate—Congressional Record—September 27-30, October 2-6, 1972

#### **VOLUME 5**

- B. Senate-Passed Bill with Numbered Amendments October 6, 1972
- C. Senate Appointed Conferees—Congressional Record—October 5, 1972
- D. House Appointed Conferees—Congressional Record—October 10, 1972

#### **VOLUME 6**

- V. House and Senate Conference (reconciling differences in the disagreeing votes of the two Houses)
  - A. Conference Committee Report House Report No. 92-1605—October 14, 1972
  - B. House Debate—Congressional Record—October 17, 1972
  - C. Senate Debate—Congressional Record—October 17, 1972
  - D. H. Con. Res. 724, Directing the Clerk of the House of Representatives to Make Corrections in the Enrollment of H.R. 1 October 17, 1972
  - E. Summary of the Provisions in H.R. 1 as Passed by the Congress October 17, 1972

#### VI. Public Law

- A. Public Law 92-603, 92nd Congress—October 30, 1972
- B. Commissioner's Bulletin No. 128, Social Security Amendments of 1972 October 31, 1972
- C. Summary of Social Security Amendments of 1972, Public Law 92-603—Committee Print—November 17, 1972
- D. Actuarial Cost Estimates for the Old-Age, Survivors, Disability and Supplementary Medical Insurance Systems as Modified by Public Law 92-603—March 2, 1973

#### Appendix

- A. Commissioner's Bulletin No. 130, Implementing the 1972 Amendments February 7, 1973
- B. Social Security Amendments of 1972: Summary and Legislative History, by Robert M. Ball—Reprinted from the Social Security Bulletin—March 1973
- C. Commissioner's Bulletin No. 136, Getting the SSI Program Underway August 14, 1973

Listing of Reference Materials

**VOLUME 6 (continued)** 

Increasing the Public Debt Limit and Amending the Social Security Act

- I. Passed Senate
  - A. Senate Debate—Congressional Record—March 11-12, 1971
  - B. Senate-Passed Bill with Amendments Numbered March 12, 1971
- House and Senate Conference (reconciling the differences between the disagreeing votes of the two Houses)
  - A. House and Senate Conferees Congressional Record March 15, 1971
  - B. Conference Committee Report House Report No. 92-42 — March 16, 1971
  - C. House Debate-Congressional Record-March 16, 1971
  - D. Senate Debate—Congressional Record—March 16, 1971
- III. Public Law
  - A. Public Law 92-5-92nd Congress March 17, 1971
  - B. President's Statement March 17, 1971
  - C. Commissioner's Bulletin No. 112, 1971 Social Security Legislation March 18, 1971
  - D. Actuarial Cost Estimates for the Old-Age, Survivors and Disability Insurance System as Modified by the Social Security Provisions of Public Law 92-5—Ways and Means Committee Print— March 24, 1971

Listing of Reference Materials

Note: House Report No. 92-13 (to accompany H.R. 4690) — February 22, 1971
Senate Report No. 92-28 (to accompany H.R. 4690) — March 9, 1971
(Reports not included—amendments affecting title II of the Social Security Act originated on floor of the Senate.)

VOLUME 6 (continued)

#### Lump-Sum Death Payment

- I. Reported to and Passed House
  - A. Committee on Ways and Means Report House Report No. 92-590 (to accompany H.R. 10604) — October 27, 1971
  - B. Committee Bill Reported to the House H.R. 10604 (reported with amendment) October 27, 1971
  - C. House Debate—Congressional Record—November 17, 1971 (House passed Committee-reported bill.)
- II. Reported to and Passed Senate
  - A. Committee on Finance Report Senate Report No. 92-552 (to accompany H.R. 10604) — December 3, 1971
  - B. Committee Bill Reported to the Senate H.R. 10604 (reported without amendment) — December 3, 1971
  - C. Senate Debate—Congressional Record—December 4, 1971 (Senate passed with amendment.)
  - D. House and Senate Conferees—Congressional Record—December 9, 1971
- III. House and Senate Conference (reconciling the differences in the disagreeing votes of the two Houses)
  - A. Conference Committee Report House Report No. 92-747 — December 14, 1971
  - B. House Debate—Congressional Record—December 14, 1971
  - C. Senate Debate—Congressional Record—December 14, 1971
- IV. Public Law
  - A. Public Law 92-223-92nd Congress-December 28, 1971
  - B. President's Signing Statement December 28, 1971
  - C. Commissioner's Bulletin No. 121, Social Security Changes, H.R. 10604-January 11, 1972

Listing of Reference Materials

**VOLUME 6** (continued)

Increasing the Public Debt Limit and Amending the Social Security Act

I. Passed Senate

Senate Debate—Congressional Record—June 28-30, 1972 (See pages \$10773-79 for text of Senate-passed bill.)

- House and Senate Conference (reconciling the differences in the disagreeing votes of the two Houses)
  - A. House Appointed Conferees Congressional Record June 30, 1972
  - B. Senate Appointed Conferees—Congressional Record—June 30, 1972
  - C. Conference Committee Report (filed in disagreement) House Report No. 92-1215—June 30, 1972
  - D. House Receded and Concurred in Senate Amendments Congressional Record June 30, 1972
- III. Public Law
  - A. Public Law 92-336—92nd Congress—July 1, 1972
  - B. President's Statement July 1, 1972
  - C. Commissioner's Bulletin No. 125, 1972 Social Security Legislation July 7, 1972
  - D. Actuarial Cost Estimates for the Old-Age, Survivors, Disability and Hospital Insurance System as Modified by the Social Security Provisions of Public Law 92-336—September 1972

#### Appendix

- A. Senator Church's Amendment No. 1307 June 28, 1972
- B. Senator Bennett's Alternative Proposal (Amendment No. 1310) June 28, 1972

Note: House Report No. 92-1128 (to accompany H.R. 15390) — June 14, 1972 (Report not included — amendment affecting title II of the Social Security Act originated on floor of the Senate.)

**VOLUME 7** 

# SOCIAL SECURITY AMENDMENTS OF 1970 (NOT ENACTED)

- I. Reported to House
  - A. Committee on Ways and Means Report House Report No. 91-1096 (to accompany H.R. 17550) – May 14, 1970
  - B. Committee Bill Reported to the House H.R. 17550 (reported without amendments) May 14, 1970
  - C. Commissioner's Bulletin No. 106, Social Security Amendments of 1970-May 15, 1970
- II. Passed House
  - A. House Debate—Congressional Record—May 21, 22, 28, 1970
  - B. House-Passed Bill H.R. 17550 (with amendments, as referred to the Committee on Finance) May 27, 1970
  - C. Commissioner's Bulletin No. 108, 1970 Social Security Legislation May 22, 1970
  - D. Statement by the President May 22, 1970
- III. Reported to Senate
  - A. Committee on Finance Report Senate Report No. 91-1431 (to accompany H.R. 17550) December 11, 1970
  - B. Committee Bill Reported to the Senate H.R. 17550 (reported with amendments) – December 11, 1970

#### **VOLUME 8**

#### IV. Passed Senate

- A. Senate Debate Congressional Record December 16-19, 21-22, 28-29, 1970
- B. Senate-Passed Bill with Numbered Amendments December 29, 1970
- C. Senate Requests Conference with House-Congressional Record-December 31, 1970
- D. Statements by Ways and Means Members-Congressional Record-December 31, 1970

**VOLUME 8** (continued)

#### Appendix

- A. Administration's Family Assistance Act-S. 2986 October 2, 1969
- B. Introductory Remarks-Congressional Record-October 2, 1969
- C. Administration's Family Assistance Act—H.R. 14173—October 3, 1969
- D. Introductory Remarks-Congressional Record-October 3, 1969
- E. House Report No. 91-904 March 11, 1970
- F. Committee Bill Reported to the House H.R. 16311 (reported without amendments) March 11, 1970
- G. House-Passed Bill
  H.R. 16311 (as referred to the Senate) April 21, 1970
- H. House Debate—Congressional Record—April 15-16, 1970
- I. Press Release Announcing Summary of Decisions of the Committee on Ways and Means With Respect to Amendments to the Social Security Act, Including Amendments to the Old-Age, Survivors', and Disability Insurance System, the Medicare Program, and the Medicaid Program— Committee Print—May 4, 1970
- J. Commissioner's Bulletin No. 110, 1970 Social Security Legislation—July 15, 1970

Listing of Reference Materials

#### **VOLUME 9**

#### SOCIAL SECURITY AMENDMENTS OF 1969

- I. Administration Bill
  - A. H.R. 14080 (as introduced) September 30, 1969
  - B. Commissioner's Bulletin No. 92, President's Social Security Proposals September 26, 1969
  - C. Commissioner's Bulletin No. 94, Administration's Social Security Bill Introduced in Congress— October 8, 1969
  - D. The President's Proposals for Welfare Reform and Social Security Amendments of 1969, Committee on Ways and Means—Committee Print—October 1969
  - E. Commissioner's Bulletin No. 96, Hearings on Social Security, Welfare Reform, and Health Costs—October 31, 1969
- II. Committee on Ways and Means Proposal
  - A. Committee on Ways and Means Report House Report No. 91-700 (to accompany H.R. 15095) — December 5, 1969
  - B. Committee Bill Reported to the House H.R. 15095 (reported without amendments) December 5, 1969
  - C. Commissioner's Bulletin No. 98, Social Security Amendments of 1969 December 5, 1969
  - D. House Debate—Congressional Record—December 15-17, 1969 (House passed Committee-reported bill.)
- III. Senate Proposal (H.R. 13270, Tax Reform Act of 1969) Excerpts Only
  - A. Senate Debate-Congressional Record-November 24, December 4-6, 8, 9, 11, 1969
  - B. Senate-Passed Bill H.R. 13270 (in the nature of a substitute) December 11, 1969
  - C. House and Senate Conferees—Congressional Record—December 11, 1969
  - D. Conference Committee Report (House Report No. 91-782) December 21, 1969
  - E. House Debate—Congressional Record—December 22-23, 1969
  - F. Senate Debate-Congressional Record-December 22, 1969
- IV. Public Law
  - A. Public Law 91-172-91st Congress-December 30, 1969
  - B. Commissioner's Bulletin No. 100, Social Security Amendments of 1969 January 2, 1970

Listing of Reference Materials

Note: Senate Report No. 91-552 not included. SSA-related amendments added during Senate debate.

**VOLUME 9 (continued)** 

Counting of Certain Federal Employment Toward Retirement

- I. Reported to and Passed Senate
  - A. Committee on Post Office and Civil Service Report Senate Report No. 91-1191 (to accompany S. 2984) — September 17, 1970
  - B. Senate Debate—Congressional Record—September 23, 1970
    (Senate passed Committee-reported bill, see Congressional Record, page \$16265 for text.)
- II. Reported to and Passed House
  - A. Committee on Ways and Means Report House Report No. 91-1722 (to accompany S. 2984) — December 10, 1970
  - B. House Debate—Congressional Record—December 22, 1970 (Committee reported and House passed S. 2984, as passed by the Senate.)
- III. Public Law

Public Law 91-630-91st Congress-December 31, 1970

Disregarding Income of Old-Age, Survivors, and Disability Insurance and Railroad Retirement Recipients in Determining Their Need for Public Assistance

- I. Reported to and Passed House
  - A. Committee on Ways and Means Report House Report No. 91-1716 (to accompany H.R. 19915) — December 10, 1970
  - B. Committee Bill Reported to House H.R. 19915 (reported without amendment) December 10, 1970
  - C. House Debate—Congressional Record—December 22, 1970 (House passed Committee-reported bill.)
- II. Referred to and Passed Senate
  - A. H.R. 19915 (as referred to Senate) December 31, 1970
  - B. Senate Debate—Congressional Record—January 2, 1971 (Committee discharged and Senate passed H.R. 19915 with an amendment, see Congressional Record, page S21735.)
- III. House Concurrence

House agreed to Senate Amendment - Congressional Record - January 2, 1971

IV. Public Law

Public Law 91-669-91st Congress-January 11, 1971

VOLUME 9 (continued)

#### Modification of Nursing Service Requirements

- I. Reported to and Passed House
  - A. Committee on Ways and Means Report House Report No. 91-1676 (to accompany H.R. 19470) — December 7, 1970
  - B. Committee Bill Reported to the House H.R. 19470 (reported with an amendment) December 7, 1970
  - C. House Debate—Congressional Record—December 22, 1970 (House passed Committee-reported bill.)
- II. Referred to and Passed Senate
  - A. H.R. 19470 (as referred to Senate) December 28, 1970
  - B. Senate Debate—Congressional Record—January 2, 1971 (Committee discharged and Senate passed H.R. 19470, as referred by House.)
- III. Public Law

Public Law 91-690-91st Congress-January 12, 1971

#### For the Relief of Marjorie Zuck

- I. Reported to and Passed Senate
  - A. Committee on the Judiciary Report Senate Report No. 91-445 (to accompany S. 476) — October 2, 1969
  - B. Senate Debate—Congressional Record—October 6, 1969 (Senate passed Committee-reported bill.)
  - C. Senate-Passed BillS. 476 (as referred to House) October 7, 1969
- II. Reported to and Passed House
  - A. Committee on the Judiciary Report House Report No. 91-616 (to accompany S. 476) — *November 12, 1969*
  - B. House Debate—Congregressional Record—January 20, 1970 (Committee reported and House passed Senate bill.)
- III. Private Law

Private Law 91-76—91st Congress—February 2, 1970

**VOLUME 9 (continued)** 

For the Relief of Albert E. Jameson, Jr.

- I. Reported to and Passed House
  - A. Committee on the Judiciary
    House Report No. 91-299 (to accompany H.R. 5337)—June 9, 1969
  - B. Committee Bill Reported to the House
     H.R. 5337 (reported without amendments) June 9, 1969
  - C. House Debate—Congressional Record—June 17, 1969 (House passed Committee-reported bill.)
- II. Reported to and Passed Senate
  - A. Committee on the Judiciary Senate Report No. 91-1056 (to accompany H.R. 5337) — July 30, 1970
  - B. Senate Debate—Congressional Record—August 3, 1970 (Committee reported and Senate passed House bill.)
- III. Private Law

Private Law 91-125, 91st Congress - August 14, 1970

#### For the Relief of Enrico DeMonte

- I. Reported to and Passed House
  - A. Committee on the Judiciary House Report No. 91-60 (to accompany H.R. 2335) — March 12, 1969
  - B. Committee Bill Reported to the House H.R. 2335 (reported without amendment)—March 12, 1969
  - C. House Debate—Congressional Record—April 1, 1969 (House passed Committee-reported bill.)
- II. Reported to and Passed Senate
  - A. Committee on the Judiciary
    Senate Report No. 91-1394 (to accompany H.R. 2335) December 3, 1970
  - B. Senate Debate—Congressional Record—December 9, 1970 (Committee reported and Senate passed House bill.)
- III. Private Law

Private Law 91-213—91st Congress—December 21, 1970

**VOLUME 9 (continued)** 

#### For the Relief of Pearl C. Davis

- I. Reported to and Passed House
  - A. Committee on the Judiciary House Report No. 91-622 (to accompany H.R. 7264) — November 12, 1969
  - B. Committee Bill Reported to the House H.R. 7264 (reported without amendment) — *November 12, 1969*
  - C. House Debate—Congressional Record—December 16, 1969 (House passed Committee-reported bill.)
- II. Reported to and Passed Senate
  - A. Committee on the Judiciary Senate Report No.91-1485 (to accompany H.R. 7264) — December 17, 1970
  - B. Senate Debate—Congressional Record—December 19, 1970 (Committee reported and Senate passed House bill.)

#### III. Private Law

Private Law 91-228-91st Congress-December 31, 1970

92d Congress 1st Session }

COMMITTEE PRINT

# COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

# REVISED PRESS RELEASE NO. 5

Summary of Provisions

oF

H.R. 1, "THE SOCIAL SECURITY
AMENDMENTS OF 1971",
AS AMENDED
AND ORDERED REPORTED

TO THE

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES



MAY 17, 1971

U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE

60-829 O

WASHINGTON: 1971

### COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS

WILBUR D. MILLS, Arkansas, Chairman

JOHN C. WATTS, Kentucky
AL ULLMAN, Oregon
JAMES A. BURKE, Massachusetts
MARTHA W. GRIFFITHS, Michigan
DAN ROSTENKOWSKI, Illinois
PHIL M. LANDRUM, Georgia
CHARLES A. VANIK, Ohio
RICHARD H. FULTON, Tennessee
OMAR BURLESON, Texas
JAMES C. CORMAN, California
WILLIAM J. GREEN, Pennsylvania
SAM M. GIBBONS, Florida
HUGH L. CAREY, New York
JOE D. WAGGONNER, JR., Louisiana

JOHN W. BYRNES, Wisconsin
JACKSON E. BETTS, Ohio
HERMAN T. SCHNEEBELI, Pennsylvania
HAROLD R. COLLIER, Illinois
JOEL T. BROYHILL, Virginia
BARBER B. CONABLE, JR., New York
CHARLES E. CHAMBERLAIN, Michigan
JERRY L. PETTIS, California
JOHN J. DUNCAN, Tennessee
DONALD G. BROTZMAN, Colorado

JOHN M. MARTIN, JR., Chief Counsel J. P. BAKER, Assistant Chief Counsel RICHARD C. WILBUR, Minority Counsel

# CONTENTS

Provisions relating to the social security cash benefits program:
Five-percent increase in social security benefits
Automatic increase in benefits, the contribution and benefit base, and
in the earnings testSpecial minimum primary insurance amounts
Increased widow's and widower's insurance benefits
Increased benefits for those who delay retirement beyond age 65
Age-62 computation point for men
Additional dropout years
Election to receive actuarially reduced benefits in one category not to
be applicable to certain benefits in other categories
Computation of benefits based on combined earnings
Liberalization of the retirement testReduced benefits for widowers at age 60
Childhood disability benefits.
Continuation of student's benefits through end of semester
Benefit-eligibility requirements for a child adopted by an old-age or
disability insurance beneficiary
Nontermination of child's benefits by reason of adoption
Elimination of the support requirements for divorced women
Waiver of duration-of-marriage requirements in case of remarriage
Disability insured status for individuals who are blindWage credits for members of the uniformed services
Reduction in waiting period for disability benefits
Disability insurance benefits applications filed after death
Disability benefits affected by the receipt of workmen's compensation.
Optional determination of self-employment earnings
Payments by an employer to the survivor or estate of a former em-
ployceCoverage of members of religious orders who are under a vow of
noverty
poverty  Self-employment income of certain individuals living temporarily
outside the United States  Penalty for furnishing false information to obtain a social security
Penalty for furnishing false information to obtain a social security
number
Trust fund expenditures for rehabilitation services
Other OASDI amendments
health:
A. Eligibility and payment for benefits:
Extending health insurance protection to disabled beneficiaries
Hospital insurance for the uninsured
Amount of supplementary medical insurance premiums
Change in supplementary medical insurance deductible
Automatic enrollment for supplementary medical insurance
Incentives for comprehensive care under medicaid
Cost sharing under medicaid  Determination of payments under medicaid
Determination of payments under medicaid
Relationship between medicarc and Federal employees benefits.  Medicare benefits for people living near United States border
B. Improvements in operating effectiveness:
Limitation on Federal participation for capital expenditures.
Experiments and demonstration projects in prospective reimburse
ment and incentives for economy
Limits on costs recognized as reasonable
Limits on prevailing charge levels
Limits on skilled nursing home and intermediate care facility

II. I	rovisions relating to medicare, medicaid, and maternal and child
	B. Improvements in operating effectiveness—Continued Pag
	Payments to health maintenance organizations 1
	Payments for services of teaching physicians 1
	Advance approval of extended care and home health services
	under medicare1
	Termination of payments to suppliers of services who abuse the
	medicare or medicaid programs 1
	Elimination of requirement that States have comprehensive medicaid programs.
	Reductions in care and services under medicaid 1
	State determinations of reasonable hospital costs under medicaid 1
	Government payment no higher than charges 1
	Institutional planning under medicare
	Federal matching for automated medicaid systems 1
	Prohibition of reassignments 1 Institutional utilization review under medicaid 1
	Institutional utilization review under medicaid 1
	Stopping payment where hospital admission not necessary under medicare1
	medicare 1 Use of health agencies in medicaid 1
	Medicaid and comprehensive health care programs1
	Program for determining qualifications for certain health care
	personnel1
	personnel 1 Penalty for fraudulent acts under medicare and medicaid 1
	C. Miscellaneous and technical provisions:
	Physical therapy and other services under medicare1
	Coverage of supplies related to colostomies
	Ptosis bars 1 Intermediate care facilities under medicaid 1
	Coverage prior to application under medicaid 1
	Certification of hospitalization for dental care 1
	Grace period for paying medicare premium
	Extension of time for filing medicare claims 1
	waiver of enrollment period requirements where administrative
	error is involved 1
	Three-year limitation on medicare enrollment dropped 1
	Walver of medicare overpayment 1 Medicare fair hearings 1
	Medicare fair hearings 1 Collection of medicare premium by the railroad retirement board 1
	Prosthetic lenses furnished by optometrists 1
	Social services requirement in extended care facilitiesl
	Refund of excess premiums1
	Waiving of requirement for skilled nursing homes in rural areas 1
	Exemptions of Christian Scientist sanatoriums from certain re-
	quirements under medicaid 1
	Requirements for nursing home administrators 1 Termination of Nursing Home Administration Advisory Council 1
	Increase in limit on payments to Puerto Rico for medicaid
	Provides reimbursement review board under medicare
	Chiropractors' services 1
	Extension of title V to American Samoa and the Trust Territory
	of the Pacific
TTT	Financing OASDHI 1 Provisions relating to assistance for the aged, blind, and disabled:
111.	Eligibility for and amount of benefits
	Definition of income
	Exclusions from resources 2
	Meaning of terms2
	Rehabilitation services 2
	Optional State supplementation 2
	Payments and procedures 2 Penalties for fraud 2
	Penalties for fraud
	Evaluation and research 2

IV. Provisions relating to family programs:	Do
A. Opportunities for families program:	Page
Registration for employment and training	22
Child care and other supportive services	23
Operation of manpower services, training and employment	
programs	23
Allowances of individuals participating in training	24
Utilization of other programs	24
Rehabilitation services for incapacitated family members	24
Evaluation and research; reports	24
B. Family assistance plan:	24
Payment of benefits	24
Rehabilitation services and child care for incapacitated family	24
members.	25
Evaluation and research; reports	2.5
C. Determination of benefits:	25
Uniform determinations	25 25
Eligibility for and amount of benefits.	25 25
Definition of income	26
Exclusions from resourcesMeaning of family and child	26
Optional State supplementation	27
D. Procedural and general provisions:	۵.
Payments and procedures	27
Penalties for fraud	28
Administration.	28
Child care	28
Obligations of parents	28
Local committees to evaluate program	28
V Other related assistance provisions:	
Adoption and foster care services under child welfare	29
Provisions related to new assistance programs:	
Effective date for adult assistance and family programs	29
Prohibition against participation in food stamp program by	
recipients of payments under family and adult assistance	20
nrograms	29
Special provisions for Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and	00
Guam	29
Determination of medicaid eligibility	29 29
Transitional administration of public assistance	29 30
Limitations on increases in State welfare expenditures	
Limitation on Federal expenditures for social services	30
Public assistance amendments effective immediately:	
Additional remedies for State noncompliance with provisions of as-	30
sistance titles	30
Statewideness not required for services	
Optional modification in disregarding income under AFDC Individual programs for family services not required	30
Enforcement of support orders	30
Separation of social services and cash assistance bayments	31
Increase in Federal matching to States for costs of establishing	
paternity and collecting child-support payments	31
Vendor payments for special needs	31
Ingress in Federal matching—WIN program————————————————————————————————————	O I
VI Descriptions for tow changes (other than Dayroll Laxes)	0.1
Child care deduction	31
Retirement income credit	31

# REVISED PRESS RELEASE NO. 5-MAY 17, 1971

CHAIRMAN WILBUR D. MILLS (D., ARK.), COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS, ANNOUNCES ACTION OF COMMITTEE ON H.R. 1, "THE SOCIAL SECURITY AMENDMENTS OF 1971"

Chairman Wilbur D. Mills (D., Ark.), Committee on Ways and Means, House of Representatives, today announced that the Committee has completed decisions on H.R. 1, the Social Security and welfare reform bill which has been under consideration, and that the Committee today ordered the bill reported to the House with an amendment which strikes all the original language and substitutes new language on all titles of the bill. It is expected that the Committee report will be filed May 26, 1971.

A summary of the major provisions of H.R. 1 as ordered reported

to the House follows:

# I. PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE SOCIAL SECURITY CASH BENEFITS PROGRAM

Five-percent increase in social security benefits.—Social security benefits would be increased by 5 percent. The minimum benefit would be increased from \$70.40 to \$74.00 a month. The average old-age insurance benefit payable for the effective month would rise from an estimated \$133 to \$141 a month and the average benefit for aged couples would increase from an estimated \$222 to \$234 a month. Special benefits for persons age 72 and over who are not insured for regular benefits would be increased from \$48.30 to \$50.80 for individuals and from \$72.50 to \$76.20 for couples. Effective date.—Benefits payable for June 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—27.4 million beneficiaries would become entitled to higher payments and 16,000 people would be made newly eligible. About \$2.1 billion in

additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.\*

Automatic increase in benefits, the contribution and benefit base, and in the earnings test

(a) Increases in benefits:

Social security benefits would be automatically increased according to the rise in the cost of living. Increases could occur only once a year, provided that the Consumer Price Index increased by at least 3 percent and that legislation increasing benefits had neither been enacted nor become effective in the previous year.

(b) Increases in contribution and benefit base:

In any year in which an automatic benefit increase becomes effective, the social security contribution and benefit base would be automatically increased according to the rise in average wages covered under the social security program (if wage levels had gone up sufficiently).

Hereinafter the first full year, when referring to the effects of changes in the social security cash benefits or medicare programs, refers to the 12 months beginning July 1972.

(c) Change in earnings test:

In any year in which an automatic benefit increase becomes effective, the exempt amount under the retirement test would be automatically increased in the same manner as the contribution and benefit base is increased—according to the rise in average wages covered by the program.

Effective date.—First possible increase effective for January 1974.

Special minimum primary insurance amounts

A special minimum benefit would be provided for people who worked for 15 or more years under social security. The benefit would be equal to \$5 multiplied by the number of years of coverage the person has under the social security program, up to a maximum of 30 years. The highest minimum benefit under this provision would be \$150 for a person who had 30 or more years of coverage. The special minimum would not be raised under the automatic benefit increase provisions.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—300,000 people would get increased benefits on the effective date and \$30 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Increased widow's and widower's insurance benefits

A widow (or widower), including those already on the rolls, would be entitled to a benefit equal to 100 percent of the amount her deceased husband would be receiving if he were still living. Benefits applied for before age 65 would be reduced according to the widow's age at the time of application.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—3.4 million people would receive increased benefits on the effective date, and \$764 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Increased benefits for those who delay retirement beyond age 65

A worker's old-age benefit would be increased by 1 percent for each year (½ of 1 percent for each month) in which the worker between ages 65 and 72 does not receive benefits because he is working after age 65. No increased benefit would be paid under the provision to the worker's dependents or survivors.

Effective date.—Prospective only for computations and recomputa-

tions after 1971 based on earnings after 1970.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—400,000 people would receive increased benefits, and \$11 million in additional benefits would be paid, in the first full year.

Age-62 computation point for men.

Under present law, the method of computing benefits for men and women differs in that years up to age 65 must be taken into account

in determining average earnings for men, while for women only years up to age 62 must be taken into account. Also, benefit eligibility is figured up to age 65 for men and up to age 62 for women. Under the bill, these differences, which provide special advantages for women, would be eliminated by applying the same rules to men as now apply to women.

The new provision would become effective over a 3-year transition period. The number of years used in computing benefits for men would be reduced in three steps. Men who reach age 62 in 1972 would have only years up to age 64 taken into account; men who reach age 62 in 1973 would have only years up to age 63 taken into account; men reaching age 62 in 1974 or later would have only years up to age 62 taken into account in determining average earnings. The number of quarters of coverage needed for insured status for men would also be reduced in three steps, with the first step in the reduction effective for January 1972 and subsequent reductions in 1973 and 1974.

Effective date.—Prospective only, in 3 annual steps, becoming fully

effective for men reaching 62 in 1974 and after.

Dollar payments.—\$6 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Additional dropout years

One additional year of low earnings—in addition to the 5 years provided under present law-for each 15 years of covered work could be dropped in computing the average monthly wage on which benefit amounts are based.

Effective date.—Benefits payable on the basis of the earnings of people who reach age 62 or die after 1971 or whose first month of entitlement to disability insurance benefits is after December 1971.

Dollar payments.-\$17 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Election to receive actuarially reduced benefits in one category not to be applicable to certain benefits in other categories

Under present law, when a person receives a benefit in one benefit category that is reduced because it is taken before age 65, and also receives another benefit in a different benefit category beginning with the same month or a later month, the second benefit is generally reduced to reflect the reduction in the first benefit. For example, when a woman applies for a retirement benefit prior to age 65, it is reduced under the actuarial reduction formula; if she applies for a spouse's benefit at age 65 or later, it is reduced to take account of the fact that she took her retirement benefit early. The bill would eliminate the actuarial reduction of the spouse's benefit in such cases. The same rule would apply to men entitled to dependent husbands' benefits.

Effective date.—The sixth month following the month of enactment.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—100,000 people would receive increased benefits on the effective date, and \$20 million in addi-

tional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

#### Computation of benefits based on combined earnings

A working married couple each of whom had at least 20 years of covered earnings under the program after marriage could have their earnings for each year combined up to the maximum amount of taxable earnings for that year. If they elected to have their earnings combined, each member would receive a benefit equal to 75 percent of the benefit based on their combined earnings. Payments to the surviving spouse based on the combined earnings would continue at the 75-percent rate. Dependents' and other survivors' benefits would not be affected. The provision would be an alternative to present law and would apply only if higher payments would result.

Effective date.—Prospective only for people who attain age 62 in or

after January 1972.

Dollar payments.—\$11 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

#### Liberalization of the retirement test

The amount that a beneficiary under age 72 may earn in a year and still be paid full social security benefits for the year would be increased from the present \$1,680 to \$2,000. Under present law, benefits are reduced by \$1 for each \$2 of earnings between \$1680 and \$2880 and for each \$1 of earnings above \$2880. The bill would provide for a \$1 reduction for each \$2 of all earnings above \$2000; there would be no \$1-for-\$1 reduction as under present law. Also, in the year in which a person attains age 72 his earnings in and after the month in which he attains age 72 would not be included, as under present law, in determining his total earnings for the year.

Effective date.—Taxable years ending after 1971.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—In the first full year, 700,000 people would receive increased payments and 390,000 people who get no payments under present law could get some payments. Additional benefits amounting to \$484 million would be paid in the first full year.

#### Reduced benefits for widowers at age 60

Widowers under age 62 could be paid reduced benefits (on the same basis as widows under present law) starting as early as age 60.

Effective date.—January 1972.

#### Childhood disability benefits

Childhood disability benefits would be paid to the disabled child of an insured retired, deceased, or disabled worker, if the disability began before age 22, rather than before 18 as under present law. In addition, a person who was entitled to childhood disability benefits could become re-entitled if he again becomes disabled within 7 years after his prior entitlement to such benefits was terminated.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—13,000 additional people would become immediately eligible for benefits on the effective date, and \$14 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Continuation of student's benefits through end of semester

Payment of benefits to a child attending school would continue through the end of the semester or quarter in which the student (including a student in a vocational school) attains age 22 (rather than the month before he attains age 22) if he has not received, or completed the requirements for, a bachelor's degree from a college or university.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—55,000 students would have their benefits continued beyond age 22, and \$16 million in additional benefits would be paid, in the first full year.

Benefit-eligibility requirements for a child adopted by an old-age or disability insurance beneficiary

The provisions of present law relating to eligibility requirements for child's benefits in the case of adoption by old-age and disability insurance beneficiaries would be modified to make the requirements uniform in both cases. A child adopted after a retired or disabled worker becomes entitled to benefits would be eligible for child's benefits based on the worker's earnings if the child is the natural child or stepchild of the worker or if (1) the adoption was decreed by a court of competent jurisdiction within the United States, (2) the child lived with the worker in the United States for the year before the worker became disabled or entitled to an old-age or disability insurance benefit, (3) the child received at least one-half of his support from the worker for that year, and (4) the child was under age 18 at the time he began living with the worker.

Effective date.—January 1968.

Nontermination of child's benefits by reason of adoption

A child's benefit would no longer stop when the child is adopted. Effective date.—Month of enactment.

Elimination of the support requirements for divorced women

Under present law, benefits are payable to a divorced wife age 62 or older and a divorced widow age 60 or older if her marriage lasted 20 years before the divorce, and to a surviving divorced mother. In order to qualify for any of these benefits a divorced woman is required to show that: (1) she was receiving at least one-half of her support from her former husband, (2) she was receiving substantial contributions from her former husband pursuant to a written agreement, or (3) there was a court order in effect providing for substantial contributions to her support by her former husband. The bill would eliminate these support requirements for divorced wives, divorced widows, and surviving divorced mothers.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—10,000 additional women would become immediately eligible for benefits on the effective date, and \$18 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Waiver of duration-of-marriage requirement in case of remarriage

The duration-of-marriage requirement in present law for entitlement to benefits as a worker's widow, widower, or stepchild—that is, the period of not less than nine months immediately prior to the day on which the worker died that is now required (except where death was accidental or in the line of duty in the uniformed service, in which case the period is three months)—would be waived in cases where the

worker and his spouse were previously married, divorced, and remarried, if they were married at the time of the worker's death and if the duration-of-marriage requirement would have been met at the time of the divorce had the worker died then.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Disability insured status for individuals who are blind

Under present law, to be insured for disability insurance benefits a worker must be fully insured and meet a test of substantial recent covered work (generally 20 quarters of coverage in the period of 40 calendar quarters preceding disablement). The bill would eliminate the test of recent attachment to covered work for blind people; thus a blind person would be insured for disability benefits if he is fully insured—that is, he has as many quarters of coverage as the number of calendar years that elapsed after 1950 (or the year he reached age 21, if later) and up to the year in which he became disabled.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—30,000 additional people would become immediately eligible for benefits on the effective date, and \$29 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Wage credits for members of the uniformed services

Present law provides for a social security noncontributory wage credit of up to \$300, in addition to contributory credit for basic pay, for each calendar quarter of military service after 1967. Under the bill, the additional noncontributory wage credits would also be provided for service during the period January 1957 (when military service came under contributory social security coverage) through December 1967.

Effective date.—January 1, 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—130,000 additional people would receive larger benefits on the effective date, and \$39 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Reduction in waiting period for disability benefits

The present 6-month period throughout which a person must be disabled before he can be paid disability benefits would be reduced by one month (to 5 months).

Effective date.—January 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—950,000 people would receive increased benefits, and \$105 million in additional benefits would be paid, in the first full year.

Disability insurance benefits applications filed after death

Disability insurance benefits (and dependents' benefits based on a worker's entitlement to disability benefits) would be paid to the disabled worker's survivors if an application for benefits is filed within 3 months after the worker's death, or within 3 months after enactment of this provision.

Effective date.—For deaths occurring after 1969.

Disability benefits affected by the receipt of workmen's compensation

Under present law, social security disability benefits must be reduced when workmen's compensation is also payable if the combined payments exceed 80 percent of the worker's average current

earnings before disablement. Average current earnings for this purpose can be computed on two different bases and the larger amount will be used. The bill adds a third alternative base, under which a worker's average current earnings can be based on the one year of his highest earnings in a period consisting of the year of disablement and the five preceding years.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—65,000 people would receive increased benefits on the effective date, and \$4 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Optional determination of self-employment earnings

Self-employed persons could elect to report for social security purposes two-thirds of their gross income from nonfarm self-employment, but not more than \$1,600. (This optional method of reporting is similar to the option available under present law for farm selfemployment.) A regularity of coverage requirement would have to be met and the option could be used only five times by any individual.

Effective date.—Taxable years beginning after 1971.

Payments by an employer to the survivor or estate of a former employee Amounts earned by an employee which are paid after the year of his death to his survivors or his estate would be excluded from coverage. Under present law, such wages are covered and social security taxes must be paid on these wages but the wages cannot be used to determine eligibility for or the amount of social security benefits.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Coverage of members of religious orders who are under a vow of poverty Social security coverage would be made available to members of religious orders who have taken a vow of poverty, if the order makes an irrevocable election to cover these members as employees of the order.

Effective date.—Upon enactment.

Self-employment income of certain individuals living temporarily outside the United States

Under present law, a U.S. citizen who retains his residence in the United States but who is present in a foreign country or countries for approximately 17 months out of 18 consecutive months, must exclude the first \$20,000 of his earned income in computing his taxable income for social security and income tax purposes. The bill would provide that U.S. citizens who are self-employed outside the U.S. and who retain their residence in the United States would not exclude the first \$20,000 of earned income for social security purposes and would compute their earnings from self-employment for social security purposes in the same way as those who are self-employed in the U.S. Effective date.—Taxable years beginning after 1971.

Penalty for furnishing false information to obtain a social security number

Provides criminal penalties when an individual furnishes false information in applying for a social security number with intent to deceive the Secretary as to his true identity.

Trust fund expenditures for rehabilitation services

Provides an increase in the amount of social security trust fund monies that may be used to pay for the costs of rehabilitating social security disability beneficiaries. The amount would be increased from 1 percent of the previous year's disability benefits (as under present law) to 1½ percent for fiscal year 1972 and to 1½ percent for fiscal year 1973 and subsequent years.

Dollar payments.—Additional payments for the cost of vocational rehabilitation services would amount to \$17 million in the first full

year.

Other: OASDI amendments

Other changes relate to social security coverage of policemen and firemen in Idaho, public hospital employees in New Mexico, Federal Home Loan Bank employees, employees of the Government of Guam, and students employed by certain nonprofit organizations; retroactive payments for certain disabled people; social security benefits for a child entitled on the earnings record of more than one worker; benefits for certain dependent grandchildren; recomputation of benefits to survivors of a deceased worker who was entitled to both social security and railroad retirement benefits; authorization for the Managing Trustee of the social security trust funds to accept money gifts or bequests; and preserving the amount of a family's benefit when the worker's benefit is increased.

# II. PROVISIONS RELATING TO MEDICARE, MEDICAID, AND MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH

#### A. ELIGIBILITY AND PAYMENT FOR BENEFITS

Extending health insurance protection to disabled beneficiaries

Health insurance protection under title XVIII would be extended to persons entitled to monthly cash benefits under the social security and railroad retirement programs because they are disabled, after they have been entitled to disability benefits for at least two years.

Effective date.—July 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—About 1.5 million disabled social security and railroad beneficiaries would be eligible for both hospital benefits and physician coverage under medicare. About \$1.85 billion in benefits would be paid on behalf of disabled beneficiaries in the first full year of the program.

Hospital insurance for the uninsured

People reaching age 65 who are ineligible for hospital insurance benefits under medicare would be able to enroll, on a voluntary basis, for hospital insurance coverage under the same conditions under which people can enroll under the supplementary medical insurance part of medicare. Those who enroll would pay the full cost of the protection—\$31 a month at the beginning of the program—rising as hospital costs rise. States and other organizations, through agreements with the Secretary, would be permitted to purchase such protection on a group basis for their retired (or active) employees age 65 or over.

Effective date —January 1972.

Amount of supplementary medical insurance premium

The supplementary medical insurance premium will be determined as under present law for months through June 1972 (\$5.30 through June 1971 and \$5.60 from July 1971 through June 1972.) Thereafter, the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would, as under present law, determine and promulgate for each year a monthly enrollee premium for both aged and disabled. However, the enrollee premiums would be increased only in the event of the enactment of legislation providing for a general benefit increase or in the event of an automatic general benefit increase. In any given year, the premium would rise by no more than the percentage by which cash benefits had been increased across the board in the interval since the premium was last increased. The premium amount paid by the beneficiary would never exceed one-half of total program costs.

Effective date.—July 1972.

Change in supplementary medical insurance deductible

The Medicare part B deductible, currently \$50 per year, would be increased to \$60.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Coinsurance under hospital insurance and the lifetime reserve

Coinsurance equal to one-eighth of the inpatient hospital deductible would be imposed for each day of inpatient hospital coverage during a benefit period beginning with the 31st day and continuing through the 60th day. This amount is now \$7.50, but would increase as the inpatient hospital deductible increases (as hospital costs rise). (Coinsurance for the 61st through the 90th day would remain equal to one-fourth of the inpatient hospital deductible.) The lifetime reserve, under which the beneficiary pays one-half of the hospital deductible, would be increased from 60 days to 120 days.

Effective date.—Hospital stays beginning after 1971.

Automatic enrollment for supplementary medical insurance

People entitled to hospital insurance benefits would be automatically enrolled and covered for supplementary medical insurance benefits unless they indicate they do not want to be enrolled for such coverage. Effective date.—January 1972.

Incentives for comprehensive care under medicaid

Incentives would be created for States to contract with health maintenance organizations or similar facilities. At the same time, disincentives would be provided to discourage prolonged stays in institutions. Specifically, there would be—

(1) an increase of 25 percent (up to maximum of 95 percent) in the Federal Medicaid matching percentage to States under contract with HMO's or other comprehensive health care facilities;

(2) a decrease in the Federal medical assistance percentage by one-third after the first 60 days of care in a general or TB hospital;

(3) a reduction in the Federal percentage by one-third after the first 60 days of care in a skilled nursing home unless the State establishes that it has an effective utilization review program; (4) a decrease in Federal matching by one-third after 90 days of care in a mental hospital and provision for no Federal matching after 275 additional days of such care during an individual's lifetime except that the 90-day period may be extended for an additional 60 days if a doctor certifies that the patient will benefit therapeutically from such an additional period of hospitalization; and

(5) authority for the Secretary to compute a reasonable cost differential for reimbursement between skilled nursing homes and

intermediate care facilities.

Effective date.—July 1, 1971, except that the reasonable cost differential provision would be effective January 1, 1972.

Cost sharing under medicaid

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be able to require the payment of a premium, related to income, for those eligible as medically indigent (non-cash recipients) under a State medicaid program. In addition, states would be permitted to impose a nominal cost sharing with respect to cash recipients, but applying only to services not required to be provided under the State program. States could apply copayment provisions to the medically indigent which are not related to income.

Effective date.—July 1, 1972.

Determination of payments under medicaid

Families eligible for cash assistance would have a deductible under medicaid equal to one-third of the family's earnings above \$720 (after deducting the earnings of school children and any costs of required child care) less the difference between the medicaid standard and the payment standard, if any, in that State. All States would be required to impose such a deductible. Any family with income below the State medicaid standard would be eligible for medicaid assistance.

Effective date.—July 1, 1972.

Relationship between medicare and Federal employees benefits

Effective with January 1, 1975, no payment would be made under medicare for the same services covered under a Federal employees health benefits plan, unless in the meantime the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare certifies that such plan or the Federal employees health benefits program has been modified to make available coverage supplementary to medicare benefits and that Federal employees and retirees age 65 and over will continue to have the benefit of a contribution toward their health insurance premiums from either the Government or the individual plan.

Effective date.—January 1975.

Medicare benefits for people living near United States border

Medicare beneficiaries living in border areas of the United States would be entitled to covered inpatient hospital care outside the United States if the hospital they use is closer to their residence than a comparable United States hospital and if it has been accredited by a hospital approval program with standards comparable to medicare standards. Coverage would also be extended in these cases to physicians' and ambulance services furnished in conjunction with covered foreign hospital care.

Effective date.—January 1972.

#### B. IMPROVEMENTS IN OPERATING EFFECTIVENESS

Limitation on Federal participation for capital expenditures

Reimbursement amounts to providers of health services and health maintenance organizations under the medicare, medicaid, and maternal and child health programs for capital costs, such as depreciation and interest, would not be made with respect to large capital expenditures which are inconsistent with State or local health facility plans. States would be required to establish procedures by which a facility or organization proposing a capital expenditure may appeal a decision by a planning agency.

Effective date.—July 1972 (or earlier if requested by a State).

Experiments and demonstration projects in prospective reimbursement and incentives for economy

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be required to develop experiments and demonstration projects designed to test various methods of making payment to providers of services on a prospective basis under the medicare, medicaid, and maternal and child health programs. In addition, the Secretary would be authorized to conduct experiments with methods of payment or reimbursement designed to increase efficiency and economy (including payment for services furnished by organizations providing comprehensive, mental, or ambulatory health care services); with areawide or communitywide peer review, utilization review, and medical review mechanisms; and with performance incentives for intermediaries and carriers.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Limits on costs recognized as reasonable

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be given authority to establish and promulgate limits on provider costs to be recognized as reasonable under medicare based on comparisons of the cost of covered services by various classes of providers in the same geographical area. Hospitals and extended care facilities could charge beneficiaries for the costs of services in excess of those that are found necessary to the efficient delivery of needed health services (except in the case of an admission by a physician who has a financial interest in the facility).

Effective date.—July 1972.

Limits on prevailing charge levels

Physicians' charges determined to be reasonable under the present criteria in the medicare, medicaid, and maternal and child health law would be limited by providing: (a) that after December 31, 1970, medical charge levels recognized as prevailing may not be increased beyond the 75th percentile of actual charges in a locality during the calendar year elapsing prior to the start of the fiscal year; (b) that for fiscal year 1973 and thereafter the prevailing charge levels recognized for a locality may be increased, in the aggregate, only to the extent justified by indexes reflecting changes in costs of practice of physicians and in earnings levels; and (c) that for medical supplies, equipment, and services that, in the judgment of the Secretary, generally do not vary significantly in quality from one supplier to another, charges

allowed as reasonable may not exceed the lowest levels at which such supplies, equipment, and services are widely available in a locality.

The existing Health Insurance Benefits Advisory Council is to conduct a study of the methods of reimbursement of physicians' fees under medicare and report to the Congress no later than July 1, 1972. Effective date.—(See provision.)

Limits on skilled nursing home and intermediate care facility costs

The average per diem costs for skilled nursing homes and intermediate care facilities countable for Federal financial participation under medicaid would be limited to 105 percent of such costs for the same quarter of the preceding year. Increases resulting from higher labor costs due to minimum wage legislation would not count in computing the cost figure.

Effective date.—January 1, 1972.

Payments to health maintenance organizations

Medicare beneficiaries could choose to have all covered care, except emergency services, provided by a health maintenance organization (a prepaid group health or other capitation plan). The Department of Health, Education, and Welfare would contract with such organizations, and would reimburse them on a monthly per capita basis at a rate equivalent to 95 percent of the estimated per capita costs of medicare beneficiaries in the area who are not enrolled in such organizations. Profits accruing to the organization, beyond its retention rate for nonmedicare members, would be passed on to the medicare enrollees in the form of expanded benefits.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Payments for services of teaching physicians

Medicare would pay for the services of teaching physicians on the basis of reasonable costs, rather than fee-for-service charges, unless a bona fide private patient relationship had been established or the hospital had, in the 2-year period ending in 1967, and subsequently, customarily charged all patients and collected from at least 50 percent of patients on a fee-for-service basis. Medicare payments would also be authorized on a cost basis for services provided to hospitals by the staff of certain medical schools.

Effective date.—Accounting periods beginning after June 30, 1971.

Advance approval of extended care and home health services under medicare

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be authorized to establish minimum periods of time (by medical condition) after hospitalization during which a patient would be presumed, for payment purposes, to require extended care level of services in an extended care facility. The attending physician would certify to the condition and related need for the services. A similar provision would apply to posthospital home health services.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Termination of payments to suppliers of services who abuse the medicare or medicaid programs

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be given authority to terminate payment for services rendered by a supplier of health and medical services found to be guilty of program abuses.

Program review teams would be established to furnish the Secretary professional advice in carrying out this authority.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Elimination of requirement that States have comprehensive medicaid programs

The existing requirement that States have comprehensive medicaid programs by 1977 would be repealed.

Effective date. - Enactment.

Reductions in care and services under medicaid

The states would be permitted to eliminate or reduce the scope and extent of health services which are optional under the Federal medicaid statute, e.g., outpatient drugs, eyeglasses and dental care. States would have to provide the same dollar amounts for their required health services.

Effective date.—Enactment.

State determinations of reasonable hospital costs under medicaid

States would be allowed to develop methods and standards for reimbursing the reasonable cost of inpatient hospital services. Such costs could not exceed medicare rates.

Effective date.—July 1, 1972, or earlier if a State plan so provides

Government payment no higher than charges

Payments for institutional services under the medicare, medicaid, and maternal and child health programs could not be higher than the charges regularly made for these services.

Effective date. - July 1971.

Institutional planning under medicare

Health institutions under the medicare program would be required to have a written plan reflecting an operating budget and a capital expenditure budget.

Effective date.—Sixth month following month of enactment.

Federal matching for automated medicaid systems

Federal matching for the cost of designing, developing, and installing mechanized claims processing and information retrieval systems would be set at 90 percent and 75 percent for operation of such systems. Effective date.—July 1, 1971.

Prohibition of reassignments

Medicare (part B) and medicaid payments to anyone other than a patient, his physician, or other person providing the service, would be prohibited, unless the physician (or, in the case of medicaid, another type of practitioner) is required as a condition of his employment to turn over his fees to his employer or unless there is a contractual arrangement between the physician and the facility in which the services were provided under which the facility bills for all such services.

Effective date.—Enactment date for medicare; July 1, 1972 (or earlier at the option of the State) for medicaid.

earnor at the option of the state, for measure

Institutional utilization review under medicaid

The same utilization review committees now reviewing medicare cases in hospitals and nursing homes would be required to review medicaid cases in institutions utilized by medicare.

Stopping payment where hospital admission not necessary under medicare

If the utilization review committee of a hospital or extended care facility, in its sample review of admissions, finds a case where institutionalization is no longer necessary, payment would be cut off after 3 days. This provision parallels the provision in present law under which long-stay cases are cut off after 3 days when the utilization review committee determines that institutionalization is no longer required.

Effective date.—Third month following the month of enactment.

Use of health agencies in medicaid

State medicaid programs would be required—

(1) To establish and implement plans, prepared by the State health agency, or other appropriate State medical agency, for the professional review of care provided to medicaid recipients, and

(2) Provide that the State medical agency which licenses health institutions shall perform that function for medicaid. Effective date.—July 1, 1972.

Medicaid and comprehensive health care programs

A state medicaid plan would not be out of compliance if it arranged for medicaid care through a comprehensive health plan in one or more areas which provided more services than are generally provided under the State's medicaid plan.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Program for determining qualifications for certain health care personnel The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be required

to develop and employ proficiency examinations to determine whether health care personnel, not otherwise meeting specific formal criteria now included in medicare regulations, have sufficient training, experience, and professional competence to be considered qualified personnel for purposes of the medicare and medicaid program.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Penalty for fraudulent acts under medicare and medicaid

Present penalty provisions relating to the making of a false statement or representation of a material fact in any application for medicare payments would be broadened to include the soliciting, offering, or acceptance of kickbacks or bribes, including the rebating of a portion of a fee or a charge for a patient referral, by providers of health care services. The penalty for such acts would be imprisonment up to one year, a fine of \$10,000, or both. Similar penalty provisions would apply under medicaid.

Anyone who knowingly and willfully makes, or induces the making of, a false statement of material fact with respect to the conditions and operation of a health care facility or home health agency in order to secure medicare or medicaid certification of the facility or agency, would be guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by up to 6 months' im-

prisonment, a fine of not more than \$2,000, or both.

Effective date.—Enactment.

# C. MISCELLANEOUS AND TECHNICAL PROVISIONS

Physical therapy and other therapy services under medicare

Under medicare's supplementary medical insurance program, up to \$100 per calendar year of physical therapy services furnished by a licensed physical therapist in his office or the patient's home under a physician's plan would be included in covered charges. Hospitals and extended care facilities could provide physical therapy services under part B to inpatients who have exhausted their days of hospital insurance coverage. Where physical therapy and other ancillary services are furnished by a provider of services, or by others under arrangements with the provider, medicare reimbursement to the provider would in all cases be based on a reasonable salary payment for the services.

Effective date.—January, 1972.

Coverage of supplies related to colostomies

Medicare coverage would be provided for colostomy bags and supplies directly related to colostomy care.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Ptosis bars

Coverage would be provided under part B of medicare for ptosis bar devices required for the care of individuals suffering from paralysis or atrophy of the eyelid muscle.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Intermediate care facilities under medicaid

The provisions for optional coverage of intermediate care facilities would be moved from title XI of the Act (here it applies, by reference to the cash assistance titles) to title XIX as an optional service. Services in a public institution for the mentally retarded could qualify if the primary purpose is to provide health or rehabilitation services and if the patient is receiving active treatment.

Effective date.—January 1, 1972.

Coverage prior to application under medica 3

States would be required to provide medicaid coverage for care and services furnished in or after the third month prior to the application of an eligible person.

Effective date.—July 1, 1972.

Certification of hospitalization for dental care

A dentist would be authorized to certify the necessity for hospitalization to protect the health of a medicare patient who is hospitalized for a noncovered dental procedure.

Effective date.—Third month after month of enactment.

Grace period for paying medicare premium

Where there is good cause for a medicare beneficiary's failure to pay supplementary medical insurance premiums, an extended grace period of 90 days would be provided.

Effective date.—Enactment,

Extension of time for filing medicare claims

The time limit for filing supplementary medical insurance claims would be extended where the medicare beneficiary's delay is due to administrative error.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Waiver of enrollment period requirements where administrative error is involved

Relief would be provided where administrative error has prejudiced an individual's right to enroll in medicare's supplementary medical insurance program.

Effective date.—July 1966.

Three-year limitation on medicare enrollment dropped

Eligible beneficiaries would be permitted to enroll under medicare's supplementary medical insurance program during any prescribed enrollment period. Beneficiaries would no longer be required to enroll within 3 years following first eligibility or a previous withdrawal from the program.

Effective date. - Enactment.

Waiver of medicare overpayment

Where incorrect medicare payments were made to a deceased beneficiary, the liability of survivors for repayment could be waived if the survivors were without fault in incurring the overpayment. Effective date.—Enactment.

Medicare fair hearings

Fair hearings, held by medicare carriers in response to disagreements over amounts paid under supplementary medical insurance, would be conducted only where the amount in controversy is \$100 or more. Effective date.—Enactment.

Collection of medicare premium by the railroad retirement board

Where a person is entitled to both railroad retirement and social security monthly benefits, his premium payment for supplementary medical insurance benefits would be deducted from his railroad retirement benefit in all cases. The Railroad Retirement Board is given authority to choose the carrier for part B benefits for its beneficiaries.

Effective date.—Applicable to premiums becoming due after the fourth month following the month of enactment.

Prosthetic lenses furnished by optometrists

The definition of physician, for purposes of the medicare program, would be amended to include a licensed doctor of optometry, but only with respect to establishing the medical necessity of prosthetic lenses (which are already covered under the program).

Effective date.—Enactment.

Social services requirement in extended care facilities

The present requirement for social services in extended care facilities under medicare would be removed.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Refund of excess premiums

In the event of the death of a medicare beneficiary, any hospital or medical insurance premiums paid for any month after the month of his death will be refunded to his estate or to a survivor.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Waiving of requirement for skilled nursing homes in rural areas

The requirement that skilled nursing homes under medicaid have at least one full-time registered nurse on the staff would be waived for up to one year at a time over a five-year period where the skilled nursing home is in a rural area and certain other conditions are met. Effective date.—Enactment.

Exemption of Christian Scientist sanatoriums from certain requirements under medicaid

Christian Scientist sanatoriums under medicaid would be exempted from provisions in the bill which require certain health-related functions or conditions.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Requirements for nursing home administrators

States would be permitted to provide under medicaid for a permanent waiver of a nursing home administrator who had been such an administrator for more than 3 years before the time the basic provision became effective (July 1970).

Effective date.—Enactment.

Termination of Nursing Home Administration Advisory Council

The National Advisory Council on Nursing Home Administrations under medicaid would be terminated.

Effective date.—Thirty days after enactment.

Increase in limit on payments to Puerto Rico for medicaid

The present limit of \$20 million on the annual Federal payment for medicaid would be raised to \$30 million. The present matching rate of 50 percent would be retained.

Effective date.—Fiscal year 1972.

Provider reimbursement review board under medicare

Providers of services, under certain circumstances, would be permitted to appeal to a review board (established by the Secretary specifically to conduct such reviews) from a decision of the fiscal intermediary concerning the amount of program reimbursement, if the amount in controversy is at least \$10,000.

Chiropractors' services

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would conduct a study of the desirability of covering chiropractors' services under medicare, utilizing the experiments and experience under the medicaid program. A report on the study, including the experience of other programs paying for chiropractors' services, would be submitted to the Congress within 2 years after enactment of the bill. Effective date.—Enactment.

Extension of title V to American Samoa and the Trust Territory of the Pacific

The crippled children and maternal and child health provisions of title V of the Act would be extended to American Samoa and the Trust Territory of the Pacific.

Effective date.—Fiscal years beginning after June 30, 1971.

## FINANCING OASDHI

In order to finance the changes in the OASDHI program as amended by the bill, the limit on taxable earnings would be increased to \$10,200 effective January 1972 and the following schedule of OASDI and HI tax rates would be provided:

### SOCIAL SECURITY TAX RATES AND MAXIMUM ANNUAL SOCIAL SECURITY TAXES FOR EMPLOYEES, EMPLOYERS, AND SELF-EMPLOYED

	Employees and employers, each				Self-employed			
_	OASDI, percent	HI, percent	Total, percent	Maximum tax	OASD1, percent	H1, percent	Total, percent	Maximum tax
Present law:								
1971 1	4.6	0.6	5.2	\$405.60	6.9	0.6	7.5	\$585,00
1972 2	4.6	.6	5. 2	468.00	6.9	. 6	7.5	675.00
1973-752	5.0	. 65 . 7	5.65	508, 50	7.0	. 65	7.65	688.50
1976-792	5. 15	. 7	5.85	526, 50	7.0	.7	7.7	693.00
1980-86 2	5, 15	.8 .9	5. 95	535, 50	7.0	.8 .9	7.8	702.00
1987 and after 2	5. 15	. 9	6.05	544, 50	7.0	.9	7.9	711.00
H.R. 1 (excluding effect of the automatic adjustment								
provisions):								
1971 1	4.6	. 6	5.2	405, 60	6.9	.6	7.5	585.00
1972-743	4. 2	.6 1,2	5. 4	550.80	6.3	1. 2	7. 4	754.80
1975-763	5.0	1.2	6. 2	632, 40	7.0	1.2	8. 2	836.40
1977 and after 3	6. 1	1.3	7.4	754.80	7.0	1.3	8.3	846.60

# 1ST-YEAR BENEFIT COSTS AND NUMBER OF PERSONS AFFECTED BY OLD-AGE, SURVIVORS, DISABILITY, AND MEDICARE PROVISIONS OF H.R. 1

[Amounts in millions; numbers of persons in thousands]

Provision	1st-year benefit costs <sup>1</sup>	Present-law beneficiaries immediately affected <sup>2</sup>	Newly eligible persons 3
Total	\$5, 438		
Cash benefit changes applicable to both present and future beneficiaries: 5 percent benefit increase—effective June 1972 Other cash benefit changes—generally effective January 1972: Retirement test changes:	2, 073	27, 400	16
\$2,000 exempt amount; 1 for 2 above \$2,000 Earnings in year of attainment of age 72	473 11		
Increased benefits for widows and widowers to 100 percent of PIA (limited to OAIB). Children disabled at ages 18-21	764	3, 400	13
Noncontributory credits for military service after 1956 Election to receive larger future benefits by certain beneficiaries	14 39	130	
eligible for more than 1 actuarially reduced benefit Eliminate support requirement for divorced wives and surviving	20		
divorced wives Student child's benefits continued after age 22 to end of semes- ter	18 . 16	 56	10
Special minimum PIA up to \$150	30	300	
year)	4	65	30
Increased allowance for vocational rehabilitation expenditures			
Subtotal	3, 508	(1)	459
Cash benefit changes applicable only to future beneficiaries—effective January 1972:  Age 62 computation point for men  Benefits based on combined earnings of husband and wife  Credit for delayed retirement.  Additional drop-out year for every 15 years of coverage  Reduce disability waiting period to 5 months.	11 11		
Subtotal	150	(4)	
Total, cash benefit changes	3, 658	(4)	459
Medicare benefit changes: Hospital insurance for disabled beneficiaries s. Supplementary medical insurance for disabled beneficiaries s. Change in supplementary medical insurance deductible—effective	350		1, 500
January 1, 1972		,	1, 500
	.,	,	-, , , , ,

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Tax rates apply to annual earnings up to \$7,800.
 <sup>2</sup> Tax rates apply to annual earnings up to \$9,000.
 <sup>3</sup> Tax rates apply to annual earnings up to \$10,200.

<sup>Represents additional benefit payments in the 12-month period beginning July 1, 1972.
For cash benefits, present-law beneficiaries whose benefit for the effective month would be increased under the provision; for Medicare, persons with insurance protection.
For cash benefits, persons who cannot receive a benefit under present law for the effective month, but who would receive a benefit of or such month under the provision; for Medicare, persons who gain insurance protection.
Figures not additive because a person may be affected by more than one provision.

Effective July 1, 1972.</sup> 

# III. PROVISIONS RELATING TO ASSISTANCE FOR THE AGED, BLIND, AND DISABLED

The existing Federal-State programs of aid to the aged, blind, and permanently and totally disabled would be repealed, effective July 1, 1972, and a new, totally Federal program would be effective on that date. The new national program is designed to provide financial assistance to needy people who have reached age 65 or are blind or disabled and would be established by a new Title XX of the Social Security Act. The program would be administered by the Social Security Administration through its present administrative framework and facilities.

The eligibility requirements and other legislative elements of the new program are as follows:

Eligibility for and amount of benefits

Individuals or couples could be eligible for assistance when their monthly income is less than the amount of the full monthly payment.

Full monthly benefits for a single individual would be \$130 for fiscal year 1973; \$140 for fiscal year 1974, and \$150 thereafter. Full monthly benefits for an individual with an eligible spouse would be \$195 for fiscal year 1973, and \$200 for fiscal year 1974 and thereafter. Benefits would not be paid for any full month the individual is outside the U.S.

The Secretary would establish the circumstances under which gross income from a trade or business, including farming, is large enough to preclude eligibility (net income notwithstanding). In addition, people who are in certain public institutions, or in hospitals or nursing homes getting medicaid funds, would be eligible for benefits of up to \$25 a month. People who fail to apply for annuities, pensions, workmen's compensation, and other such payments to which they may be entitled would not be eligible.

# Definition of income

In determining an individual's eligibility and the amount of his benefits, both his earned and unearned income would have to be taken into consideration. The definition of earned income would follow generally the definition of earnings used in applying the earnings limitation of the social security program. Unearned income would mean all other forms of income, among which are benefits from other public and private programs, prizes and awards, proceeds of life insurance not needed for expenses of last illness and burial (with a maximum of \$1,500), gifts, support, inheritances, rents, dividends, interest, and so forth. For people who live as members of another person's household, the value of their room and board would be deemed to be 33% percent of the full monthly payment.

The following items would be excluded from income:

1. Earnings of a student regularly attending school, with reasonable limits.

2. Irregular earned income of an individual of \$30 or less in a quarter and irregular unearned income of \$60 or less in a quarter.

3. The first \$85 of earnings per month and one-half above that for the blind and disabled (plus work expenses for the blind). The first \$60 of earnings per month and one-third above that for the aged.

4. The tuition part of scholarships and fellowships.

5. Home produce.

6. One-third of child-support payments from an absent parent.

- 7. Foster care payments for a child placed in the household by a child-placement agency.
- 8. Assistance based on need received from certain public or private
  - 9. Vocational rehabilitation allowances.

# Exclusions from resources

Individuals or couples cannot be eligible for payments if they have resources in excess of \$1,500. The following items would be excluded from resources:

- 1. The home to the extent that its value does not exceed a reasonable
- 2. Household goods and personal effects not in excess of a reasonable
- 3. Other property which is essential to the individual's support (within reasonable value limitations).
- 4. Life insurance policies (if their total face value is \$1,500 or less). Other insurance policies would be counted only to the extent of their cash surrender value.

The Secretary would prescribe periods of time and manners in which excess property must be disposed of in order that it not be included as resources.

# Meaning of terms

An eligible individual must be a resident of the United States, Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, or Guam and a citizen or an alien admitted for permanent residence, and be aged, blind, or disabled.

Aged individual: One 65 years of age or older.
Blind individual: An individual who has central visual acuity of 20/200 or less in the better eye with the use of a correcting lens, or equivalent impairment in the fields of vision.

Disabled individual: An individual who is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of a medically determinable physical or mental impairment which is expected to last, or has lasted, for 12 months or can be expected to end in death. (This definition is now used for social security disability benefits.)

Eligible spouse: An aged, blind, or disabled individual who is the husband or wife of an individual who is aged, blind, or disabled.

Child: An unmarried person who is not the head of a household and who is either under the age of 18, or under the age of 22 and attending school regularly.

Determination of marital relationship: Appropriate State law will apply except that, if two people were determined to be married for purposes of receiving social security cash benefits, they will be considered to be married, and two persons holding themselves out as married in the community in which they live would be considered married for purposes of this program.

Income and resources of a spouse living with an eligible individual will be taken into account in determining the benefit amount of the individual, whether or not the income and resources are available to him. Income and resources of a parent may count as income of a disabled or blind child.

#### Rehabilitation services

Disabled and blind beneficiaries would be referred to State agencies for vocational rehabilitation services. A beneficiary who refused without good cause any vocational rehabilitation services offered would not be eligible for benefits.

Optional State supplementation

A State which provides for a State supplement to the Federal payment could agree to have the Federal Government make the supplemental payments on behalf of the State. If a State agrees to have the Federal Government make its supplemental payments, the Federal Government would pay the full administrative costs of making such payments, but if it makes its own payments, the State would pay all of such costs.

States could but would not be required to cover under medicaid persons who are made newly eligible for cash benefits under the bill.

The Federal government, in administering supplemental benefits on behalf of a State, would be required to recognize a residency requirement if the State decided to impose such a requirement.

# Payments and procedures

Benefits could be paid monthly, or otherwise, as determined by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare. Benefits could be paid to an individual, an eligible spouse, partly to each, or to another interested party on behalf of the individual. The Secretary could determine ranges of incomes to which a single benefit amount may be applied.

Cash advances of up to \$100 could be paid if an applicant appears to meet all the eligibility requirements and is faced with a financial emergency. Applicants apparently eligible for benefits on the basis of disability could be paid benefits for up to three months while their

disability claim was in process.

The Secretary may arrange for adjustment and recovery in the event of overpayments or underpayments, and could waive overpayments to achieve equity and avoid penalizing people who were without fault.

People who are, or claim to be, eligible for benefits and who disagree with determinations of the Secretary, could obtain hearings if they request them within 30 days. Final determinations would be subject to judicial review in Federal district courts, but the Secretary's decisions as to any fact would be conclusive and not subject to review by the courts.

The right of any person to any future benefit would not be transferable or assignable, and no money payable under the program would be subject to execution, levy, attachment, garnishment, or other legal process.

If an individual fails to report events and changes relevant to his eligibility without good cause, benefits which may be payable to the

individual would be terminated or reduced.

The heads of other Federal agencies would be required to provide such information as the Secretary of HEW needs to determine eligibility for benefits.

### Penalties for fraud

A penalty of up to \$1,000 or up to one year imprisonment, or both, would be provided in case of fraud under the program.

## Administration

The Secretary of HEW may make administrative and other arrangements as necessary to carry out the purposes of the program and the States could enter into agreements to administer the Federal benefits during a transitional period.

# Evaluation and research

The Secretary of HEW would continually evaluate the program, including its effectiveness in achieving its goals and its impact on related programs. He could conduct research and contract for independent evaluations of the program. Up to \$5 million a year would be appropriated to carry out the evaluation and research. Annual reports to the President and the Congress on the operation and administration of the program would be required.

# IV. PROVISIONS RELATING TO FAMILY PROGRAMS

The present program of aid to families with dependent children (AFDC) would be repealed effective July 1, 1972, and two new totally Federal programs would take effect on that day. The new programs would be adopted for a period of five years (through fiscal year 1977) in order to give Congress an opportunity to review their operation before continuing them in subsequent years. The new programs would be established by a new Title XXI in the Social Security Act. A description of the two new programs follows:

Families in which at least one person is employable would be enrolled in the Opportunities for Families Program, administered by the Department of Labor. Families with no employable person would be enrolled in the Family Assistance Plan administered by the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.

## A-OPPORTUNITIES FOR FAMILIES PROGRAM

## Registration for employment and training

Every member of a family who is found to be available for work by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be required to register for manpower services, training and employment.

An individual would be considered available for work unless such person—

(1) Is unable to work or be trained because of illness, incapacity, or age;

(2) Is a mother or other relative caring for a child under age 6 (age 3 beginning July 1974);

(3) Is the mother or other female caretaker of a child, if the father or another adult male relative is in the home and is registered.

(4) Is a child under the age of 16 (or a student up to age 22); (5) Is needed in the home on a continuous basis because of

illness or incapacity of another family member.

Nevertheless, any person (except one who is ill, incapacitated, or aged) who would be exempted from registering by the above provisions could voluntarily register.

Every person who registered (other than a volunteer) would be required to participate in manpower services or training and to accept available employment. An individual could not be required to accept employment however—

(1) If the position offered is vacant due to a strike, lockout, or other labor dispute;

(2) If the wages and other employment conditions are contrary to those prescribed by applicable Federal, State, or local law, or less favorable than those prevailing for similar work in the locality, or the wages are less than an hourly rate of ¾ of the highest Federal minimum wage (\$1.20 per hour under present law);

(3) If membership in a company union or non-membership in

a bona fide union is required;

(4) If he has demonstrated the capacity to obtain work that would better enable him to achieve self-sufficiency, and such work is available.

# Child care and other supportive services

The Secretary of Labor directly or by using child care projects under the jurisdiction of the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, would provide for child care services for registrants who require them in order to accept or continue to participate in manpower services, training, employment, or vocational rehabilitation.

The Secretary of Labor would be authorized funds to provide child care by grant or contract. Families receiving such services might also be required to pay all or part of the costs involved. A total of \$488 million would be authorized for child care services in the first full

year.

Health, vocational rehabilitation, family planning, counseling, social, and other supportive services (including physical examinations and minor medical services) would also be made available by the Secretary of Labor to registrants as needed.

### Operation of manpower services, training and employment programs

The Secretary of Labor would develop an employability plan designed to prepare recipients to be self-supporting. The Secretary would then provide the necessary services, training, counseling, testing coaching, program orientation, job training, and followup services to assist the registrant in securing employment, retaining employment, and obtaining opportunities for advancement.

Provision would also be made for voluntary relocation assistance

to enable a registrant and his family to be self-supporting.

Public service employment programs would also be used to provide needed jobs. Public service projects would be related to the fields of health, social service, environmental protection, education, urban and rural development and redevelopment, welfare, recreation, public facility and similar activities. The Secretary of Labor would establish these programs through grants or by contract with public or nonprofit agencies or organizations. The law would provide safeguards for workers on such jobs and wages could not be less than the higher of the prevailing or applicable minimum wage or the Federal minimum wage.

Federal participation in the costs of an individual's participation in a public service employment program would be 100 percent for the first year of his employment, 75 percent for the second year, and 50

percent for the third year.

States and their subdivisions that receive Federal grants would be required to provide the Secretary of Labor with up-to-date listings of job vacancies. The Secretary would also agree with certain Federal agencies to establish annual or other goals for employment of members of families receiving assistance.

Allowances of individuals participating in training

An incentive allowance of \$30 per month would be paid to each registrant who participates in manpower training (States would have the option of providing an additional allowance of up to \$30). Necessary costs for transportation and similar expenses would also be paid.

Utilization of other programs

The Secretary of Labor would be required to integrate this program as needed with all other manpower training programs involving all sectors of the economy and all levels of government.

Rehabilitation services for incapacitated family members

Family members who are incapacitated would be referred to the state vocational rehabilitation service. A quarterly review of their

incapacities would usually be made.

Each such incapacitated individual would be required to accept rehabilitation services that are made available to him, and an allowance of \$30 would be paid him while he receives such services. (States would have the option of providing an additional allowance of up to \$30.) Necessary costs for transportation and similar expenses would also be paid.

Evaluation and research; reports

The Secretary of Labor would be authorized to conduct research and demonstrations of the program and directed to make annual evaluation reports to the President and the Congress. An appropriation of \$10,000,000 would be authorized for these purposes.

# B-FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN

Payment of benefits

All eligible families with no member available for employment would be enrolled and paid benefits by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare.

Rehabilitation services and child care for incapacitated family members. Family members who are unemployable because of incapacity would be referred to State vocational rehabilitation agencies for services. A quarterly review of their incapacities would usually be made. Such persons would be required to accept services made available, and would be paid a \$30 per month incentive allowance plus transportation and other related costs. (States would have the option of providing an additional allowance of up to \$30.)

Child care services would also be provided if needed to enable individuals to take vocational rehabilitation services.

## Evaluation and research; reports

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be authorized to conduct research and demonstrations of the family assistance plan and directed to make annual evaluation reports to the President and the Congress. An appropriation of \$10,000,000 would be authorized for this purpose.

#### C-DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS

## Uniform determinations

Both Secretaries would be required to apply the same interpretations and applications of fact to arrive at uniform determinations of eligibility and assistance payment amounts under the two family programs.

# Eligibility for and amount of benefits

Family benefits would be computed at the rate of \$800 per year for the first two members, \$400 for the next three members. \$300 for the next two members and \$200 for the next member. This would provide \$2,400 for a family of four, and the maximum amount which any family could receive would be \$3,600. A family would not be eligible unless it had countable resources of \$1,500 or less.

If any member of the family fails to register, take required employment or training, or accept vocational rehabilitation services, the family benefits would be reduced by \$800 per year.

Benefits would be determined on the basis of the family's income for the current quarter and the three preceding quarters.

After a family has been paid benefits for 24 consecutive months, a new application would be required which would be processed as if it were a new application.

The Secretary could determine that a family is not eligible if it has very large gross income from a trade or business.

Families would have to apply for all other benefits available to them in order to be eligible.

### Definition of income

Earned income would follow generally the definition of earnings used in applying the earnings limitation of the social security program. Unearned income means all other forms of income among which are benefits from other public and private programs, prizes and awards, proceeds of life insurance not needed for last illness and burial (with a maximum of \$1,500), gifts, support, inheritances, grants, dividends, interests and so forth.

The following items would be excluded from the income of a family:

1. Earnings of a student regularly attending school, with limits set by the Secretary.

2. Irregular earned income of an individual of \$30 or less in a quarter and irregular unearned income of \$60 or less in a quarter.

3. Earned income used to pay the cost of child care under a schedule prescribed by the Secretary.

- 4. The first \$720 per year of other earned income plus one-third of the remainder.
- 5. Assistance based on need received from public or private agencies, except veterans' pensions.

6. Training allowances.

7. The tuition part of scholarships and fellowships.

8. Home produce.

9. One-third of child support and alimony.

10. Foster care payments for a child placed in the family by a child

placement agency.

The total of the exclusions under (1), (2), and (3) above could not exceed \$2,000 for a family of four rising by \$200 for each additional member to an overall maximum of \$3,000.

# Exclusions from resources

A family cannot be eligible for payments if it has resources in excess of \$1,500. In determining what is included in the \$1,500 amount, the following items are excluded:

1. The home to the extent that its value does not exceed a reason-

able amount.

2. Household goods and personal effects not in excess of a reasonable amount.

3. Other property which is essential to the family's self-support. An insurance policy would be counted only to the extent of its cash surrender value except that if the total face value of all such policies with respect to an individual is \$1,500 or less, no cash surrender value will be counted.

The Secretary would prescribe periods of time, and manners in which, property must be disposed of in order that it would not be

included as resources.

# Meaning of family and child

A family would be defined as two or more related people living together in the United States where at least one of the members is a citizen or a lawfully admitted alien and where at least one of them is a child dependent on someone else in the family.

No family will be eligible if the head of the household is an undergraduate or graduate student regularly attending a college or university. Benefits would not be payable to an individual for any month

in which he is outside the United States.

The term "child" means an unmarried person who is not the head of the household, and who is either under the age of 18 or under the age of 22 if attending school regularly.

Appropriate State law would be used in determining relationships. The income and resources of an adult (other than a parent or the spouse of a parent) living with the family but not contributing to the family would be disregarded.

If an individual takes benefits under adult assistance, he could not

be eligible for family benefits.

Optional State supplementation

If a State decides to supplement the basic Federal payment, it would be required to provide benefit amounts that do not undermine the earnings disregard provision. A State could agree to have the Federal Government make the supplementary payments on behalf of the State. If a State agrees to have the Federal Government make its supplemental payments, the Federal Government would pay the full administrative costs of making such payments, but if it makes its own payments the State would pay all of such costs.

States could but would not be required to cover under medicaid persons who are made newly eligible for cash benefits under the bill.

The Federal Government, in administering supplemental benefits on behalf of a State, would be required to recognize a residency requirement if the State decided to impose such a requirement.

# D-PROCEDURAL AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

Payments and procedures

The Secretary would be permitted to pay the benefits at such times as best carry out the purposes of the title and could make payments to a person other than a member of the family or to an agency where he finds inability to manage funds. The Secretary's decision would be subject to hearing and review.

The family benefits could not be paid to an individual who failed

to register, or take work, training or vocational rehabilitation.

Cash advances of \$100 or less could be paid if an applicant appears to meet all the eligibility requirements and is faced with a financial emergency.

The Secretary may arrange for adjustment and recovery in the event of overpayments or underpayments, with a view toward equity

and avoiding penalizing people who were without fault.

People who are, or claim to be, eligible for assistance payments, and who disagree with determinations of the Secretary, could obtain hearings if they request them within 30 days. Final determinations would be subject to judicial review in Federal district courts, but the Secretary's decisions as to any fact would be conclusive and not subject to review by the courts. The Secretary would also be given authority to appoint qualified people to serve as hearing examiners without their having to meet the specific standards prescribed under the Administrative Procedure Act for hearing examiners.

The right of any person to any future benefit would not be transferable or assignable, and no money payable under this title would be subject to execution, levy, attachment, garnishment, or other legal

process.

In addition, the Secretary would establish necessary rules and regulations dealing with proofs and evidence, and the method of taking and furnishing the same, in order to establish the right to benefits.

Each family would be required to submit a report of income within 30 days after the end of a quarter and benefits would be cut off if the report was not filed. If a family failed, without good cause, to report income or changes in circumstances as required by the Secretary, it

would be subject to a penalty of \$25 the first time, \$50 the second time and \$100 for later times.

The head of any Federal agency would be required to provide such information as the Secretary of HEW needs to determine eligibility for benefits under this title.

# Penalties for fraud

A penalty of \$1,000 or 1 year imprisonment, or both, would be provided in the case of fraud under the program.

### Administration

Both the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare and the Secretary of Labor could perform their functions directly, through other Federal agencies, or by contract. An additional Assistant Secretary is authorized in the Department of Labor to head up the new program in that Department.

## Child care

The Secretaries of Labor and Health, Education, and Welfare are each given the authority and responsibility for arranging day care for their respective recipients under the Opportunities for Families Program and the Family Assistance Plan who need such day care in order to participate in training, employment, or vocational rehabilitation. Where such care can be obtained in facilities developed by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare, these would be utilized.

Insofar as possible, arrangements would be made for after school care with local educational agencies. All day care would be subject to standards developed by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare, with the concurrence of the Secretary of Labor. Both Secretaries would have authority to make grants and contracts for payment of up to 100 percent of the cost of care. The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would have total responsibility for construction of facilities. \$700 million would be authorized for the provision of child care services in the first fiscal year, and such sums as Congress may appropriate in subsequent years. In addition, \$50 million would be authorized for construction and renovation of child care facilities for each fiscal year.

# Obligations of parents

A deserting parent would be obligated to the United States for the amount of any Federal payments made to his family less any amount that he actually contributes by court order or otherwise to the family.

Any parent of a child receiving benefits who travels in interstate commerce to avoid supporting his child would be guilty of a misdemeanor and subject to a fine of \$1,000, imprisonment for 1 year, or both

The Secretary would report to appropriate officials cases of child neglect or abuse which came to his attention while administering the program.

## Local committees to evaluate program

Local advisory committees would be set up throughout the country, with a minimum of one in each State, which would evaluate and report

on the effectiveness of the elements of the program designed to help people become self-supporting. Each committee would be composed of representatives from labor, business, and the public, as well as public officials not directly involved in the administration of the programs.

# V. OTHER RELATED ASSISTANCE PROVISIONS

ADOPTION AND FOSTER CARE SERVICES UNDER CHILD WELFARE

Authorizations of \$150 million for fiscal year 1972 and higher amounts for subsequent years would be provided for payments to the States to support foster care and related services.

# PROVISIONS RELATED TO NEW ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS

Effective date for adult assistance and family programs

Major changes made in the assistance programs would be effective July 1, 1972. The child care provisions would become effective upon enactment of the bill. The amendments which provide benefits to families where the father and mother are both present, neither is incapacitated, and the father is not unemployed (the "working poor") would become effective January 1, 1973.

Prohibition against participation in food stamp program by recipients of payments under family and adult assistance programs

The bill would amend the Food Stamp Act of 1964 by providing that families and adults eligible for benefits under the assistance programs in this bill would be excluded from participation in the food stamp program.

Special provisions for Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam There would be special provisions for Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam. The amounts used in the family assistance plan and the aid to the aged, blind, and disabled (other than the \$720 amount of annual earnings to be disregarded and the \$30 per month incentive allowances) would be adjusted by the ratio of the per capita income of each of these jurisdictions to the per capita income of the lowest of the 50 States.

Determination of medicaid eligibility

The Secretary would be able to enter into agreements with States under which the Secretary would determine eligibility for medicaid both for those eligible for Federal payments and the medically needy in cases where the State covered the medically needy. The State would pay half of the Secretary's additional administrative costs arising from carrying out the agreement.

Effective date.—July 1, 1972.

Transitional administration of public assistance

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare could enter into agreements with States under which a State would administer the Federal assistance program for a period of up to one year from the beginning of the program.

Limitations on increases in State welfare expenditures

States would be guaranteed that, if they make payments supplementary to the Federal adult or family programs, it would cost them no more to do so than the amount of their total expenditures for cash public assistance payments during calendar year 1971, to the extent that the Federal payments and the State supplementary payments to recipients do not exceed the payment levels in effect under the public assistance programs in the State for January 1971. The value of food stamps would be taken into account in computing whether the guarantee would go into effect if the State pays in cash the value of food stamps. Most States would save money under the provisions of the bill; this provision would guarantee that no State would lose money.

Limitation on Federal expenditures for social services

The Federal Government would continue to provide 75 percent matching funds to the States for child care and family planning services on an open-end appropriation basis. Federal matching for other specified social services would be limited to the amounts appropriated by the Congress.

## PUBLIC ASSISTANCE AMENDMENTS EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY

Additional remedies for State noncompliance with provisions of assistance

The Secretary would be able to require States to make payments to people who did not receive all money due them because the State

failed to comply with a Federal requirement.

The Secretary could require a State which is in noncompliance with a Federal requirement to set up a timetable and method for assuring compliance, or could request the Attorney General to bring suit to enforce the Federal requirements.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Statewideness not required for services

A State would be permitted to furnish social services in one area of a State without being required to furnish such services in all geographic areas of the State.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Optional modification in disregarding income under AFDC

States would be permitted, between enactment and July 1, 1972, to modify their present AFDC programs so as to substitute the earnings disregard provisions in the family assistance provisions (cost of child care, plus \$720, plus one-third of the remainder) for provisions of present law (the first \$30 and one-third of the remainder after which actual work expenses are deducted).

A State could also apply the maximum dollar limits in the family programs on child care and student earnings (\$2,000 for a family of four rising to \$3,000 for a family of nine or more) to its present AFDC

program.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Individual programs for family services not required

States would no longer be required to prepare a separate plan of services for each individual who is eligible for AFDC.

Effective date.—July 1, 1972, or earlier if the State so chooses.

Enforcement of support orders

States would be required to secure support for a spouse of a parent from the other parent (of children receiving assistance payments) where he has deserted or abandoned his spouse, utilizing reciprocal arrangements with other States to obtain or enforce court orders for support.

Effective date.—July 1, 1972, or earlier, if the State plan so provides.

Separation of social services and cash assistance payments

Each State would be required to submit a proposal to the Secretary by January 1, 1972 providing for the administrative separation of handling eligibility for cash payments and the provision of social services by July 1, 1972.

Increase in Federal matching to States for costs of establishing paternity and collecting child support payments

Federal matching would be increased from 50 percent to 75 percent for State costs incurred in establishing the paternity of AFDC children and locating and collecting support from their absent parents.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Vendor payments for special needs

States would be permitted to provide for non-recurring items of special need by means of vendor payments.

Increase in Federal matching-WIN program

Effective immediately, the Federal matching under the WIN program would be increased from 80 to 90 percent. This provision expires June 30, 1972.

# VI. PROVISIONS FOR TAX CHANGES (OTHER THAN PAYROLL TAXES)

Child Care Deduction

Under present law, a child care deduction of \$600 per child, but not more than \$900, is available for child care expenses in certain cases. Generally, this amount is available in the case of such expenses incurred by a widow or widower or certain other married couples with an incapacitated spouse and also in the case of married couples with incomes of not over \$6,000.

The new provision retains the basic child care provision of present law but increases from \$6,000 to \$12,000 the income a married couple may have and still be eligible for this deduction, In addition, the amount of child care expenses which may be deducted is increased from \$600 for the first child to \$750, and to \$1,125 for two children, and to \$1,500 for three or more children. These changes are effective with respect to taxable years beginning on or after January 1, 1972.

Retirement Income Credit

Under present law, a retirement income credit of up to \$1,524 multiplied by 15 percent (\$229) is allowed for single persons age 65 or over having "retirement income"—that is, income from pensions, dividends, interest, rents or other passive income sources. However, this credit is available only if the individual had ten prior years of

earned income above \$600. The income eligible for this credit is reduced, however, by social security, railroad retirement or other tax-exempt pension income. It is also reduced by 50 percent of earnings over \$1,200 and 100 percent of earnings over \$1,700. (This earnings limitation, however, does not apply to those age 72 and over.) For married couples\_a credit equal to one and one-half times the credit referred to above is generally available under present law. However, in some cases where both can qualify for the credit a credit of up to twice that referred to above is available.

In addition, under present law, the retirement income credit determined substantially as indicated above is available for retirement income received from governmental units where the individual is under age 65, except that the credit is reduced on a dollar-for-dollar basis for earnings above \$900 (between age 62 and 65 the earnings

test described above applies).

The committee has adopted a substitute retirement income credit which is both more liberal and also will be easier to compute on the return form. This credit for a single person will be based upon \$2,500 instead of \$1,524. It will not be necessary for the individual involved to have "retirement income" as he is required to have under present law or 10 years of prior earnings of \$600 or more. However, as under present law, the \$2,500 will be reduced for social security, railroad retirement and other tax-exempt pension income. Also, as under present law, it will be reduced for earned income above a specified level (if the individual is under age 72). However, the amount will only be reduced for 50 percent of earnings above \$2,000 instead of 50 percent of earnings above \$1,700.

As under present law, the amount derived in this manner is multiplied by 15 percent in order to obtain the credit (the new figure gives

a maximum credit of \$375).

For a married couple, both over age 65, the retirement income credit is to be based upon \$3,750 instead of the \$2,500 applicable to a single person. Otherwise the credit is to be computed in the same manner indicated above except on the basis of the combined experience of the husband and wife.

For those below age 65 receiving Government pension income the \$2,500 also becomes applicable but, as under present law, only with respect to Government pension income. The earnings test for these persons is raised from \$900 to \$1,000 if under age 62 but for those above that age, the \$2,000 earnings test applies.

# POTENTIAL FISCAL YEAR 1973 COSTS OF H.R. 1 [In billions of dollars, negative amounts indicate decreases]

	Federal			State and local			Net cost
	Current law	H.R. 1	Net cost	Current law	H.R. 1	Net saving	to all governments
Payments to families	\$3. 9	1 \$5. 8 —, 3	\$1.9 3	\$3.3	\$3.1	-\$. 2	\$1. 7 3
Subtotal Payments to adult categories	3. 9 2. 2	5. 5 4. 1	1. 6 1. 9	3. 3 1. 4	3. 1 1. 4	2	1.4
Cost of cash assistance Federal cost of Hold Harmless provision. Food programs	6. 1	9. 6 1. 0 . 7	3.5 1.0 -1.6	4. 7	<sup>2</sup> 4. 5 -1. 0	2 -1.0	3, 3
Cost of maintenance payments	8.4	11.3	2.9	4. 7	3. 5	-1.2	41.7
Day care	.4	.9 .5 .8 .1	.5 .3 .8 .1	.4			.5
Cost of related and support activities	1.0	3.4	2.4	.4		4	2.0
Total cost of program. = Impact on medicaid. = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =	9.4	14. 7	5. 3 . 1	5. 1	3.5	-1. 6 . 1	3.7
Grand total	9. 4	14. 8	5. 4	5. 1	3.6	-1.5	3, 9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Includes only 6 months of payments to families in which both parents are present, neither is incapacitated and in which the male parent is not unemployed. The effective date for this provision is Jan. 1, 1973.

<sup>2</sup> Assumes that the States, through optional supplemental programs, maintain benefit levels including the value of food stamp bonuses.

<sup>3</sup> Allows for the extra expense of start-up costs in the 1st year of the program.
4 Represents i ncreased payments to recipients.

34

COMPARISON OF RECIPEINTS UNDER CURRENT LAW WITH ELIGIBLES UNDER H.R. 1, FISCAL YEAR 1973
[In millions]

	Recipients under current law	Eligible under H.R. 1
Number of Households		
Family category: Department of Labor	(1)	2. 6 1. 4
Subtotal	3. 1 3. 1	4. ( 5. 4
Total	6. 2	9. 4
Number of Persons		
Family category Department of Labor	(1) (1)	13. 5 5. 5
SubtotalAdult category	12. 1 3. 4	19. 4 5. 8
Total	15. 5	25. 2

0

<sup>1</sup> Not applicable.

# SOCIAL SECURITY AMENDMENTS OF 1971

# REPORT

OF THE

# COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS

ON

# H.R. 1

TO AMEND THE SOCIAL SECURITY ACT TO INCREASE BENEFITS AND IMPROVE ELIGIBILITY AND COMPUTATION METHODS UNDER THE OASDI PROGRAM, TO MAKE IMPROVEMENTS IN THE MEDICARE, MEDICAID, AND MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH PROGRAMS WITH EMPHASIS ON IMPROVEMENTS IN THEIR OPERATING EFFECTIVENESS, TO REPLACE THE EXISTING FEDERAL-STATE PUBLIC ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS WITH A FEDERAL PROGRAM OF ADULT ASSISTANCE AND A FEDERAL PROGRAM OF BENEFITS TO LOW-INCOME FAMILIES WITH CHILDREN WITH INCENTIVES AND REQUIREMENTS FOR EMPLOYMENT AND TRAINING TO IMPROVE THE CAPACITY FOR EMPLOYMENT OF MEMBERS OF SUCH FAMILIES, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES



MAY 26, 1971.—Committed to the Committee of the Whole House on the State of the Union and ordered to be printed

U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE

59-948 O

WASHINGTON: 1971

## COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS

WILBUR D. MILLS, Arkansas, Chairman

JOHN C. WATTS, Kentucky
AL ULLMAN, Oregon
JAMES A. BURKE, Massachusetts
MARTHA W. GRIFFITHS, Michigan
DAN ROSTENKOWSKI, Illinois
PHIL M. LANDRUM, Georgia
CHARLES A. VANIK, Ohio
RICHARD H. FULTON, Tennessee
OMAR BURLESON, Texas
JAMES C. CORMAN, California
WILLIAM J. GREEN, Pennsylvania
SAM M. GIBBONS, Florida
HUGH L. CAREY, New York
JOE D. WAGGONNER, Jr., Louisiana

JOHN W. BYRNES, Wisconsin
JACKSON E. BETTS, Ohio
HERMAN T. SCHNEEBELI, Pennsylvania
HAROLD R. COLLIER, Illinois
JOEL T. BROYHILL, Virginia
BARBER B. CONABLE, JR., New York
CHARLES E. CHAMBERLAIN, Michigan
JERRY L. PETTIS, California
JOHN J. DUNCAN, Tennessee
DONALD G. BROTZMAN, Colorado

JOHN M. MARTIN, Jr., Chief Counsel J. P. BAKER, Assistant Chief Counsel RICHARD C. WILBUR, Minority Counsel

(11)

# CONTENTS

<del></del>	
RPOSES AND SCOPE OF THE BILL	т
Welfare Reform	1.
nities for Families-Work and Training for Em-	
les	
Assistance	
of Family Benefits	
e for the Aged, Blind and Disabled	
pplementation and Fiscal Relief	
nefits, Medicare and Medicaid	
Tax Changes	_
PRINCIPAL PROVISIONS OF THE BILL	I.
relating to the social security cash benefits program:	
percent increase in social security benefits	
matic increase in benefits, the contribution and	
nefit base, and in the earnings test	
al minimum primary insurance amounts	
ased widow's and widower's insurance benefits	
ased benefits for those who delay retirement beyond	
9.65	
32 computation point for men	
tional dropout yearsion to receive actuarially reduced benefits in one	
egory not to be applicable to certain benefits in other	
egoriesegories	
outation of benefits based on combined earnings	
alization of the retirement test	
ced benefits for widowers at age 60	
hood disability benefits	
inuation of student's benefits through end of semester.	
fit-eligibility requirements for a child adopted by	
old-age or disability insurance beneficiary	
ermination of child's benefits by reason of adoption.	
ination of the support requirements for divorced	
men	
er of duration-of-marriage requirements in case of	
narriage	
oility insured status for individuals who are blind.	
e credits for members of the uniformed services	
ction in waiting period for disability benefits	
bility insurance benefits applications filed after	
ath	
bility benefits affected by the receipt of workmen's	
mpensation	
onal determination of self-employment earnings.	
nents by an employer to the survivor or estate of a	
mer employee	
erage of members of religious orders who are under a	
w of poverty	
employment income of certain individuals living mporarily outside the United States	
lty for furnishing false information to obtain a social	
curity number	
t fund expenditures for rehabilitation services	
or OASDI amendments	

II. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL PROVISIONS OF THE BILL—Con. B. Provisions relating to medicare, medicaid, and maternal and child health:	
<ol> <li>Eligibility and payment for benefits:         Extending health insurance protection to disabled</li> </ol>	Page
beneficiaries	14
Hospital insurance for the uninsured	1.4
Amount of supplementary medical insurance	15
premiums	15
Change in supplementary medical insurance	
_ deductible	15
Coinsurance under hospital insurance and the life-	
time reserve	15
Automatic enrollment for supplementary medical	
insurance	15
Incentives for comprehensive care under medicaid_	15
Cost sharing under medicaid	16
Determination of payments under medicaid	16
Relationship between medicare and Federal em-	
ployees benefits	16
Medicare benefits for people living near United	
States border	16
2. Improvements in operating effectiveness:	
Limitation on Federal participation for capital	
expenditures	17
Experiments and demonstration projects in pro-	
spective reimbursement and incentives for	
economy	17
Limits on costs recognized as reasonable	17
Limits on prevailing charge levels	17
Limits on prevaining charge reversi	.,
	18
care facility costs	18
Payments to health maintenance organizations.	18
Payments for services of teaching physicians	10
Advance approval of extended care and home	18
health services under medicare	10
Termination of payments to suppliers of services	18
who abuse the medicare or medicaid programs.	10
Elimination of requirement that States have	19
comprehensive medicaid programs	19
Reductions in care and services under medicaid.	19
State determinations of reasonable hospital costs	10
under medicaid	19
Government payment no higher than charges	19
Institutional planning under medicare	19
Federal matching for automated medicaid sys-	10
tems	19
Prohibition of reassignments	19
Institutional utilization review under medicaid	19
Stopping payment where hospital admission not	00
necessary under medicare	20
Use of health agencies in medicaid	20
Medicaid and comprehensive health care pro-	
grams	20
Program for determining qualifications for certain	00
health care personnel	20
Penalty for fraudulent acts under medicare and	20
medicaid	20
Physical therapy and other services under medi-	21
careCoverage of supplies related to colostomies	21
Coverage of supplies related to colostomies	21
Ptosis bars	21
Intermediate care facilities under medicaid	21
Coverage prior to application under medicaid	21
Certification of hospitalization for dental care	21
Grace period for paying medicare premium	$\frac{21}{22}$
Extension of time for filing medicare claims	22

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL PROVISIONS OF THE BILL—Con.	
B. Provisions relating to medicare, medicaid, and maternal and	
child health—Continued	
3. Miscellaneous and technical provisions—Continued	Page
Waiver of enrollment period requirements where	22
administrative error is involved Three-year limitation on medicare enrollment	2 <i>2</i> :
	22
dropped	22
Waiver of medicare overpayment Medicare fair hearings	22
Collection of medicare premium by the railroad	22
retirement board	22
Prosthetic lenses furnished by optometrists	$\frac{22}{22}$
Social services requirement in extended care facili-	22
ties	22
Refund of excess premiums	$\frac{55}{22}$
Waiving of requirement for skilled nursing homes	
in rural areas	23
Exemptions of Christian Scientist sanatoriums	-0
from certain requirements under medicaid	23
Requirements for nursing home administrators	$\overline{23}$
Termination of Nursing Home Administration	- <del>-</del>
Advisory Council	23
Increase in limit on payments to Puerto Rico for	
medicaid	23
Provides reimbursement review board under medi-	_
care	23
Chiropractors' services	23
Extension of title V to American Samoa and the	
Trust Territory of the Pacific	23
Financing OASDHI	23
C. Provisions relating to assistance for the aged, blind, and dis-	
abled:	05
Eligibility for and amount of benefits	25
Definition of income	25 96
Exclusions from resources	26 26
Meaning of terms Rehabilitation services	$\begin{array}{c} 26 \\ 26 \end{array}$
Optional State supplementation	20 27
Payments and procedures.	27
Penalties for fraud	27
Administration	27
Evaluation and rescarch	28
D. Provisions relating to family programs:	-0
1. Opportunities for families program:	
Registration for employment and training	28
Child care and other supportive services	29
Operation of manpower services, training and	
employment programs	29
Allowances of individuals participating in train-	00
ing	30
Utilization of other programs	30
Rehabilitation services for incapacitated family	20
members Evaluation and research; reports	30 30
2. Family assistance plan:	อบ
Payment of benefits	30
Rchabilitation services and child care for inca-	00
pacitated family members	30
Evaluation and research; reports	31
3. Determination of benefits:	= -
Uniform determinations.	31
Eligibility for and amount of benefits	31
Definition of income	31
	32
Exclusions from resources	
Exclusions from resources  Meaning of family and child  Optional State supplementation	$\begin{array}{c} 32 \\ 33 \end{array}$

II.	SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL PROVISIONS OF THE BILL-Con.
	D. Provisions relating to family programs—Continued
	4. Procedural and general provisions:
	Payments and procedures
	Penalties for fraud
	Administration
	Child care
	Obligations of parents
	Local committees to evaluate program
	E. Other related assistance provisions:
	Adoption and foster care services under child welfare
	Provisions related to new assistance programs:
	Effective date for adult assistance and family
	programs
	Prohibition against participation in food stamp pro-
	gram by recipients of payments under family and
	adult assistance programs
	Special provisions for Puerto Rico, the Virgin
	Islands, and Guam
	Determination of medicaid eligibility
	Transitional administration of public assistance
	Limitations on increases in State welfare expendi-
	tures
	Limitation on Federal expenditures for social serv-
	ices
	Public assistance amendments effective immediately:
	Additional remedies for State noncompliance with
	provisions of assistance titles
	Statewideness not required for services
	Optional modification in disregarding income under
	AFDC
	Individual programs for family services not required.
	Enforcement of support orders
	Separation of social services and cash assistance
	payments
	Increase in Federal matching to States for costs of
	establishing paternity and collecting child-support
	payments
	Vendor payments for special needs
	Increase in Federal matching—WIN program
	F. Provisions for tax changes (other than payroll taxes)
	Child care deduction
	Retirement income credit
II.	GENERAL DISCUSSION.
	A. Provisions Relating to the Cash Benefits Program
	5-percent benefit increase.
	Automatic increases in benefits, the tax base and the
	earnings test
	Special minimum benefit
	Increase in widow's and widower's insurance benefits
	Increased benefits for those who delay retirement beyond
	age 65
	Age—62 computation point for men
	Additional dropout years
	Election to receive actuarially reduced benefits
	Benefits based on combined earnings for a couple
	Liberalization of the retirement test
	Dependent widower's benefits at age 60
	Childhood disability benefits
	Continuation of child's benefits through the end of a
	semester
	Benefits for a child entitled on the record of more than
	one worker
	Eligibility of a child adopted by an old-age or disability
	insurance beneficiary
	Nontermination of child's benefits by reason of adoption
	Benefits for a child based on the earnings record of a
	grandparent

III.	GENERAL DISCUSSION—Continued	
	A. Provisions Relating to the Cash Benefits Program—Con.	Page
	Evidence of adoption for child's insurance benefits	<b>54</b>
	Elimination of the support requirements for divorced women	<b>54</b>
	Waiver of duration-of-relationship requirement in certain	0.
	cases of remarriage	55
	Waiting period for disability benefits	56
	Disability insured status for individuals who are blind Application for disability benefits after disabled worker's	56
	death	57
	Disability benefits affected by the receipt of workmen's	
	compensation	57
	Wage credits for members of the uniformed services Optional determination of self-employment earnings	58 58
	Payments by an employer to the survivor or estate of a	00
	former employee	59
	Coverage of members of religious orders who have taken	70
	a vow of povertyImprove coverage of U.S. citizens who are self-employed	59
	outside the United States and retain residence in the	
	United States	60
	Coverage of Federal Home Loan Bank employees.	60
	Coverage of policemen and firemen in Idaho	$\begin{array}{c} 61 \\ 61 \end{array}$
	Coverage of certain hospital employees in New Mexico Coverage of certain employees of the Government of	O1
	Guam	62
	Exclusion from coverage of students employed by a non-	
	profit organization auxiliary to schools, colleges, and	62
	universities Coverage of Federal employment	02
	Penalty for furnishing false information to obtain a social	
	security number	63
	Guarantee that no family would have its total family benefits decreased as a result of an increase in the	63
	worker's benefit	64
	Increase of amounts in trust funds available to pay costs	
	of rehabilitation services	64
	Authorization for the Managing Trustee of the social security trust funds to accept money gifts	65
	Recomputation of benefits based on combined railroad	00
	and social security earnings	65
	Retroactive payment of disability benefits	66
	B. Provisions Relating to the Medicare, Medicaid, and Maternal and Child Health Programs	66
	1. Eligibility and payment for benefits.	66
	(a) Coverage for disability beneficiaries under	
	medicare	66
	(b) Hospital insurance benefits for uninsured individuals not eligible under transitional	
	provision	67
	(c) Amount of supplementary medical insurance	co
	premium	69
	deductible	70
	(e) Increase in lifetime reserve days and change in	
	hospital insurance coinsurance amount	70
	under medicare(f) Automatic enrollment for supplementary	70
	medical insurance	71
	(g) Establishment of incentives for States to	
	emphasize comprehensive health care under medicaid programs	72
	(h) Cost-sharing under medicaid	73
	(i) Elimination of medicaid work disincentive	74

III. GENERAL DISCUS	SION—Continued	
	ing to the Medicare, Medicaid, and Maternal	
and Uniid Hea	alth Programs—Continued ty and payment for benefits—Continued	
i)	Payment under the medicare program to indi-	
	viduals covered by Federal employees Pa	ıge
	health benefits program	<b>75</b>
(k)	Payment under medicare for certain inpatient	
	hospital and related physicians' services	77
0. I		77 78
2. Improve (a)	ments in operating effectiveness Limitation on Federal participation for	10
(a)	capital expenditures	78
(b)	Report on plan for prospective reimburse-	
` ,	ment; experiments and demonstration	
	projects to develop incentives for economy	~~
(-)		80
(c)	Limitations on coverage of costs under medi-	82
(d)	Limits on prevailing charge levels	85
(e)	Limits on payment for skilled nursing home	
	and intermediate care facility services.	89
( <b>f</b> )	Payments to health maintenance organiza-	~~
(-)		89
(g)	Payment under medicare for services of physicians rendered at a teaching hospital.	94
(h)	Advance approval of extended care and home	01
(11)		97
(i)	Authority of Secretary to terminate pay-	
	The state of the s	98
(j)	Elimination of requirement that States move	ΛΛ
(12)	toward comprehensive medicaid programs.  Reductions in care and services under medi-	00
(k)		00
(1)	Determination of reasonable cost of inpatient	
``,	hospital services under medicaid and ma-	
	torial trans transfer Pro-B-	00
(m)	Amount of payments where customary	
	charges for services furnished are less than reasonable cost1	01
(n)		$\tilde{0}\tilde{2}$
(o)	Payments to States under medicaid pro-	
	grams for installation and operation of	
	claims processing and information retrieval	ഹാ
(n)	Prohibition against reassignment of claims to	03
(p)	benefits	04
(p)	Utilization review requirements for hospitals	
(4)	and skilled nursing homes under medicaid	
	and maternal and child health programs 1	05
(r)	Notification of unnecessary admission to a	
	hospital or extended care facility under medicare1	05
(s)	Use of State health agency or other appro-	•
(=)	priate medical agency to perform certain	
	functions under medicaid and maternal and	۸۶
(4)	child health programs1 Relationship between medicaid and compre-	05
(t)	hensive health care programs1	06
(u)	Program for determining qualifications for	
	certain health care personnel1	06
(v)	Penalties for fraudulent acts and false report-	07
()	0	07 08
(w)	Provider reimbursement review board I	JO

III GDADDAT DIGGITA	77.037	
III. GENERAL DISCUSS		
B. Provisions Relat	ting to the Mcdicare, Mcdicaid, and Maternal	
		age
3. Miscellai	neous and technical provisions1	09
(a)	Physical therapy services and other therapy	
		.09
(b)		11
(c)		îī
(d)	Inclusion under medicaid of care in inter-	
\-/	**	11
(e)	Coverage prior to application for medical	11
(0)		13
(f)	Hospital admissions for dental services under	10
(1)		10
(g)	Extension of grace period for termination of	.13
(g)		
	supplementary medical insurance coverage	
	where failure to pay premiums is due to	• •
(h)		13
(11)	Extension of time for filing claim for supple-	
	mentary medical insurance benefits where	
(:)		14
(i)	Waiver of enrollment period requirements	
	where individual's rights were prejudiced	
(:)		14
(j)	Elimination of provisions preventing enroll-	
	ment in supplementary medical insurance	
	program more than 3 years after first	
(1)		15
(K)	Waiver of recovery of incorrect payments	
	from survivor who is without fault under	
		15
(1)	Requirement of minimum amount of claim to	
	establish entitlement to hearing under	
		16
(m) (	Collection of supplementary medical insur-	
	ance premiums from individuals entitled to	
	both social security and railroad retirement	
	benefits 1	16
(n) .	Prosthetic lenses furnished by optometrists	
	under supplementary medical insurance	
		17
(o) .	Prohibition against requiring professional	
	social workers in extended care facilities	
		18
(p)	Refunding of excess premiums under medi-	
	care1	19
(p)	Waiver of requirement of registered profes-	
	sional nurses in skilled nursing homes in	
	rural areas under medicaid program 1	19
(r)	Exemption of Christian Science sanatoriums	
	from certain nursing home requirements	
( )		20
(S)	Requirements for nursing home adminis-	
(4)		20
(t)	Termination of National Advisory Council on	~ ~
()		20
(u) .	Increase in limitation on payments to Puerto	00
()	Rico for medical assistance	20
C Antuarial Cost	Study of chiropractic coverage	21
O. Actualiai Cost	no 10	01
1. Financi	ng12 Increase in the contribution and benefit	21
(a)		91
/h\		$\frac{21}{22}$
	Change in allocation to the disability	44
(6)		22
2 Actuari	al cost estimates for the old-age, survivors,	-4
		23

III. GENERAL DISCUSSION—Continued	
C. Actuarial Cost Estimates under the Bill—Continued	
3. Actuarial cost estimates for the hospital insurance Pa	
system1  4. Actuarial cost estimates for the voluntary supple-	35
mentary medical insurance system1	44
D. Provisions Relating to Assistance for the Aged, Blind, and	
Disabled	
1, 1 th pose	46 47
	47 50
	51
(a) Definitions of income 1	51
(b) Excluded resources1	53
i). V Ocadional Tellabilidadoli = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =	54 54
	55
(a) Overpayments and Underpayments 1	55
(b) Beneficiary reports1	55
	.55
(d) Prohibition of assignments; rulemaking authority; subpena power1	.56
(e) Furnishing of information by other Federal	
agencies 1	.5 <b>7</b>
(f) Fraud1	.5 <b>7</b> .5 <b>7</b>
(g) Evaluation and research reports 1 (h) Disregarding of certain income in deter-	.01
mining need for aid to the aged, blind,	
or disabledl	57
(i) Administration	157
E. Provisions Relating to Family Programs 1. The outline of welfare reform for needy families	158
(a) Critical need for a new approach to welfare.	58
(b) Separation of poor families into two groups	159
(c) Incentives and requirements for work,	160
training, and rehabilitation  (d) Increased investment in manpower training,	100
rehabilitation, child care, public service	
employment, and family planning serv-	
ICES	160
(e) Uniform requirements and elements of eligibility for cash assistance	161
(f) Administrative arrangements and safe-	
guards	161
(g) Immediate steps to correct present program_	$\frac{161}{162}$
	162
(a) Separation of employables and unemploy-	
ables, responsibility of Department of	100
	162
(b) Requirement to register for training or employment	162
(c) Requirement for those who register to accept	
training or employment	164
(d) Operation of manpower training and em-	165
ployment program————————————————————————————————————	- •
Federal responsibilities for man-	165
power programs	165
(2) Provision of child care and support- ive services by Department of	
Labor	166
(3) Work-oriented manpower program_	169 169
(4) Public service employment (5) Priorities for training	171
(6) Allowances for individuals under-	
going training	171
(7) Relocation services (8) Summary of resources available in	171
first year	172

III.	GENERAL DISCUSSION—Continued  E. Provisions Relating to Family Programs—Continued	Page					
E. Provisions Relating to Family Programs—Continued							
3. Family Assistance Plan							
	(a) Eligibility for and amount of benefits	$\begin{array}{c} 173 \\ 173 \end{array}$					
	(1) Eligibility	173					
	(2) Benefits	173					
	(3) Special limits on gross income	174					
	(4) Drug and alcohol abuse	175					
	(5) Application for other benefits re-	175					
	quired (6) Definition of income	175					
	(7) Exclusions from income	176					
	(8) Period for determination of eligi-						
	bility for and amount of benefits.	179					
	(9) Resources	182					
	(b) Meaning of family and child	183					
	(1) Meaning of family	183					
	(2) Meaning of child	184					
	(3) Determination of family relation-	104					
	ships	184					
	(4) Income and resources of noncon-	184					
	tributing individual(5) Recipients of assistance to the aged,	104					
	blind, and disabled ineligible	185					
	(c) Payments and procedures	185					
	(1) Payment of benefits	185					
	(2) Overpayments and underpay-						
	ments	186					
	(3) Hearings and review	187					
	(4) Prohibition of assignments	187					
	(5) Applications and furnishing infor-	107					
	mation(6) Biennial reapplication	$\begin{array}{c} 187 \\ 187 \end{array}$					
	(7) Furnishing of information by other						
	agencies	188					
	(d) Methods of determining eligibility for Fed-	100					
	eral payments	$\begin{array}{c} 188 \\ 188 \end{array}$					
	(1) Use of social security number (2) Interviews	189					
	(3) Validation and review control pro-	109					
	grams	190					
	(e) Penalties for fraud.	190					
	(f) Obligations of parents	190					
	(1) Financial obligation of deserting						
	parent	190					
	(2) Penalty for interstate flight to						
	avoid parental responsibilities_	191					
	(g) Reports of improper care or custody of	101					
	children5. Administrative arrangements and agreements	$\begin{array}{c} 191 \\ 192 \end{array}$					
	(a) Departmental responsibilities	192					
	(b) Administrative system for providing child	-04					
	care	192					
	(c) Family planning	194					
	(d) Establishment of local committees to eval-						
	uate effectiveness of family programs	195					
	(e) Evaluation and research; reports by the	105					
	Secretaries(f) Transitional administrative provision	$\frac{195}{195}$					
	F. General Provisions Affecting New Assistance Programs	196					
	1. Effective dates	196					
	2. Prohibition against participation in food stamp pro-						
	gram by people eligible for payments under family						
	and adult assistance programs	196					
	3. Special provisions for Puerto Rico, Guam, and the	100					
	Virgin Islands	196 196					
	5. American Samoa.	197					
	O. Millorivan Manious	~ •					

TTT	CEMENT DISCRIPTION OF THE COMMENT	Page			
III. GENERAL DISCUSSION—Continued					
	G. The New Administrative Tasks in Assistance Programs				
	H. State Supplementation and Fiscal Relief				
	I. Authorization and Allotment of Appropriations for Soci				
	Services to Poor People				
	Services to Poor People	201			
	1. Limiting authorization for social services	201			
	2. Services for poor families	202			
	3. Services for the aged, blind, and disabled	203			
	4. Adoption and foster care services	204			
	I Public Aggistance Amendments Affecting Printing Programme				
	J. Public Assistance Amendments Affecting Existing Programs	204			
	1. Optional modifications for disregarding earnings				
	under state plans for AFDC.	204			
	2. Increase in reimbursement to States for costs of				
	establishing naturality and leasting and securing				
	establishing paternity and locating and securing				
	support from parents	205			
	3. Increase in Federal matching for costs of adminis-				
	tration and manpower services in the work incen-				
	tive program	205			
	4. Statewideness not required for social services				
	4. Statewideness not required for social services	205			
	5. Additional remedies for State noncompliance	205			
	6. Individual programs for family services not required.	206			
	7. Separation of social services and cash assistance				
		206			
	payments	206			
	8. Vendor payments for nonrecurring items of special				
	needs under present AFDC programs.	206			
	9. Protective and vendor payments under present				
	AFDC program	206			
	K. Financial and Other Data on New Assistance Programs	207			
	1 Figure relief to the State				
	<ol> <li>Fiscal relief to the State</li> <li>Increased income for aged, blind, and disabled per-</li> </ol>	207			
	2. Increased income for aged, blind, and disabled per-				
	sons	208			
	3. Investment in training, child care, public service				
	jobs, and supportive services	208			
	4 Income of the law income for line with	200			
	4. Increased income for low income families with				
	_ children	209			
	5. Alternative benefit levels considered	209			
	6. Basis of the estimates	210			
	7. Methodology	211			
	(a) Femily programs				
	(a) Family programs	211			
	(b) Adult programs	212			
	(c) Estimating State fiscal relief	214			
	Table 1—Potential fiscal year 1973 costs of assistance				
	provisions under H.R. 1 as reported by the House				
		900			
	Committee on Ways and Means	208			
	Table 2—Projected potential maintenance payments				
	under H.R. 1 and under current law, fiscal years				
	1973-77	209			
	Table 3—Estimated fiscal year 1973 Federal and				
	non-Federal costs of maintenance payments by				
		010			
	State and program (existing law)	210			
	Table 4—Fiscal year 1973 Federal and non-Federal				
	costs of maintenance payments by State and pro-				
	gram under H.R. 1	212			
	gram under H.R. 1Table 5—Net change in estimated 1973 Federal and	-12			
	non-Federal costs of maintenance payments re-				
	non-recerat costs of maintenance payments re-				
	sulting from provisions of H.R. 1, by State and				
	program	214			
	program				
	for State and local governments under H. R. 1.				
	fiscal year 1973	216			
	fiscal year 1973  Table 7—Estimated gross Federal payments at	210			
	different banest level 1070	010			
	different benefit levels, 1972	219			
	Table 8—Growth factors used in projesting CPS				
	data for family program cost estimates	221			

# XIII

III. GENERAL DISCUSSION—Continued	
K. Financial and Other Data, etc.—Continued	
7. Methodology—Continued	
Table 9—Federal and non-Federal shares of mai	n- Page
tenance payments by State under current law ar	
under H.R. 1	225
Table 10—Percentage distribution of Federal e	x-
penditures for maintenance payments by Sta	
under current law and under H.R. 1	226
Table 11—Projected recipients under current la	<b>22</b> 0
and persons eligible for benefits under H.R.	
fiscal years 1973-1977	227
Table 12—Number of welfare recipients under cu	<i>221</i>
rent law and number of persons eligible for benefi	
under H.R. 1 by State, fiscal year 1973	
Table 13—Summary of characteristics of famili	441 00
eligible for family assistance benefits in Januar	rv
1973	. 229
Table 14—Estimated number of families eligible f	<i>220</i>
family payments benefits in January 1973, h	
occupations of family heads	230
Table 15—Estimated number of families eligible f	
family payments in January 1973, by work e	
perience and sex of head.	^- 231
Table 16—Estimated number of families eligible f	201 Or
family payments in January 1973, by number	of
earners in family and sex of family head.	. 232
Table 17—Estimated number of families eligible f	<i>404</i>
family payments in January 1973, by residence	in
SMSA and sex of family head	232
Table 18—Estimated number of families eligible f	#0# Or
family payments in January 1973, by size	
family	233
Table 19—Estimated number of families eligible for	or
family payments in January 1973, by region	
residence and sex of head	233
Table 20—Estimated number of families eligible for	or
family payments in January 1973, by race of her	ıd
and sex of head	234
Table 21—Estimated number of families eligible for	or
family payments in January 1973, by education	
of family head	234
Table 22—Estimated number of families eligible for	
family payments in January 1973, by number	
children in the family and sex of family head	
Table 23—Estimated number of families eligible for	
family payments in January 1973, by region	
residence, race of head and sex of head	
L. Tax Amendments	236
1. Liberalization of child care deduction	236
2. Tax credit for the elderly	237
General statement	_ 237
General explanation  IV. COSTS OF CARRYING OUT THE BILL AND VOTE OF TH	244
IV. COSTS OF CARRYING OUT THE BILL AND VOTE OF TH	${f E}$
COMMITTEE IN REPORTING THE BILL	248
V. SECTION-BY-SECTION ANALYSIS OF THE BILL	250
VI. ADDITIONAL VIEWS OF THE HONORABLE HUGH	և.
CAREY, THE HONORABLE CHARLES A. VANIK AN	
THE HONORABLE WILLIAM J. GREEN	_ 378
VII. ADDITIONAL VIEWS OF THE HONORABLE SAM M. GI	
BONS VIII. DISSENTING VIEW OF THE HONORABLE AL ULLMAN	383
AIII. DIOSEMIING AIEM OF THE HONORABLE AL OFFWAN.	385

# Union Calendar No. 86

92D Congress \\ 1st Session

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

No. 92—231

# SOCIAL SECURITY AMENDMENTS OF 1971

May 26, 1971.—Committed to the Committee of the Whole House on the State of the Union and ordered to be printed

Mr. Mills, from the Committee on Ways and Means, submitted the following

# REPORT

together with

## ADDITIONAL AND DISSENTING VIEWS

[To accompany H.R. 1]

The Committee on Ways and Means, to whom was referred the bill (H.R. 1) to amend the Social Security Act to provide increases in benefits, improve computation methods, and raise the earnings base under the OASDI program, to make improvements in the medicare, medicaid, and maternal and child health programs with emphasis on improvements in their operating effectiveness, to authorize a family assistance plan providing basic benefits to low-income families with children with incentives for employment and training to improve the capacity for employment of members of such families, to achieve more uniform treatment of recipients under the Federal-State public assistance programs and otherwise improve such programs, and for other purposes, having considered the same, report favorably thereon with amendments and recommend that the bill as amended do pass.

The amendments are as follows:

The amendment to the text of the bill strikes out all after the enacting clause and inserts a substitute which appears in the reported bill in italic type.

The committee also has amended the title of the bill to conform to the changes made in the text.

# I. PRINCIPAL PURPOSES AND SCOPE OF THE BILL

The proposals embodied in H.R. 1 as reported by your committee would make a number of changes and improvements in the provisions of the Social Security Act relating to the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance program, the hospital and medical insurance program, the medical assistance program and the child welfare program. In addition, and more importantly, the bill would provide for a basic restructuring of the national welfare system by replacing the four existing Federally-aided public assistance programs by new Federal programs for needy families and for needy aged, blind or disabled persons. The bill also would modify the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code relating to the retirement income credit and deductions for child care.

# THE NEED FOR WELFARE REFORM

Your committee's proposals for welfare reform have been formulated during a period of mounting Congressional concern, both over the extraordinary growth in the welfare rolls, particularly in the aid to families with dependent children (AFDC) program, and in the nature of that growth. In the year that has just passed from the end of 1969 to the end of 1970, the number of people receiving AFDC has increased 32.1 percent and the amount of money being paid to these recipients increased 36 percent. In 1967, a year during which the Congress sought to make major changes and improvements in the welfare system by passing the Social Security Amendments of 1967, the amount of Federal, State and local money being used for cash payments for AFDC recipients was about \$2 billion. The estimate for 1972 is about \$6.8 billion, or more than three times as much as was paid just five years earlier. The greatest growth in the AFDC rolls has been in that segment which represents family breakup. These are families in which there is desertion, separation, divorce and illegitimacy.

The exploding number of broken families which are becoming increasingly dependent on welfare for all their needs poses serious social problems. And, as the costs of supporting them soar, all levels of government have been confronted with difficult fiscal problems. There are now about 10 million persons receiving AFDC in the United States, about 4 million more than just two years ago. In some cities as many as one out of every 5 or 6 children are on welfare. There are some areas of cities where it is rare to find even one family which is

not on welfare.

The American people have traditionally been sympathetic and willing to help those who are in need. But your committee believes that the American people do not want a system which results in promoting welfare as a way of life. Your committee's deliberations, therefore, have been aimed toward providing adequate assistance to those who cannot help themselves, while at the same time creating a system of assistance which will maximize the incentive and the obligation of those who are able to work to help themselves.

The proposals of your committee are far-reaching. For the first time, as the Administration has urged, low-income families with a working father will be eligible for cash payments. The Administration has advocated this approach in the belief that assistance to families in which the father is present and working is necessary both for fairness

of treatment and for promoting greater family stability.

Thus, under the new Federal programs proposed by your committee, all needy families with children will be eligible for assistance. The aim, however, will be to move every family in which there are employable adults toward employment and economic independence. These families will be enrolled by the Department of Labor in the Opportunities for Families program designed to help people move off welfare. Other families, in which there is no employable adult, will be enrolled in the Family Assistance Plan, under the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.

Your committee's bill would also establish a new Federal program for the aged, blind and disabled, to be administered by the Social

Security Administration.

The welfare system in the United States has been moving toward a state of crisis and chaos—to change its direction will be difficult. The purpose of this bill is to effect that change. Your committee's bill will establish a new welfare system, based on a sympathetic understanding of the needs of the helpless, and the conviction that all those who are capable of participating in the economy of this country should have the opportunity and the responsibility of doing so. It is a system designed to be fair and rational, the kind of system which recipients deserve and taxpayers can respect.

# OPPORTUNITIES FOR FAMILIES—WORK AND TRAINING FOR EMPLOYABLES

First, the bill would make basic reforms in the present program which furnishes assistance to needy families with children by establishing a mechanism to separate out applicants who are employable and send them directly to the Department of Labor for registration for work or training. This new program for employables—the Opportunities for Families program—emphasizes work rather than welfare dependency through the use of incentives and requirements by providing—

(1) registration for jobs or training, as a prerequisite to receiving benefits, of all able-bodied applicants (except mothers with

young children);

(2) reform of current job training programs by deemphasizing institutional training which does not lead to jobs, by the creation of needed jobs through a major public service employment program, and by placing authority and responsibility for all aspects of the expanded work and training programs, including day care, family planning, and other supportive services, on the Secretary of Labor;

(3) a schedule of benefits and training allowances so that an individual will always have financial gain from effort expended

in work or training; and

(4) penalties through loss of benefits for those who refuse to register or to accept employment, training, or vocational rehabilitation services.

#### FAMILY ASSISTANCE

Second, the bill would establish a Federal program of assistance for those needy families with children in which there is no employable adult—the Family Assistance Plan to be administered by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare. Individuals, who are incapacitated would be referred to vocational rehabilitation programs and required to accept such services if offered. Family planning services would be offered to appropriate family members. As soon as any family included an employable adult, the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare would transfer the family to the Department of Labor.

#### PAYMENT OF FAMILY BENEFITS

Third, the bill would establish greater equity in welfare payments throughout the country and would greatly improve administration

of payments to families by providing—

(1) a basic Federal payment level for all needy families with children of \$800 for the first two members of a family, \$400 for the next three, \$300 for the next two, and \$200 for the next one,

on an annual basis (\$2,400 for a family of four);
(2) uniform eligibility requirements throughout the nation, including limitations on assets, and uniform definitions of what

constitutes income for purposes of eligibility;

(3) payments to families where the father is working full-time thus eliminating inequity and the economic incentive for family breakup in the present system under which poor families in which the father is present and working are not eligible for any help;

(4) Federal administration of the payments procedures, with requirements in law which would assure that eligibility determina-

tion is both strict and fair; and

(5) that deserting parents would be held responsible for Federal payments made to their families, and that it would be a Federal crime for a parent to travel in interstate commerce to avoid supporting his child.

#### ASSISTANCE FOR THE AGED, BLIND AND DISABLED

Fourth, the bill would substantially improve the effectiveness of the adult assistance programs under the Social Security Act by

providing-

(1) for replacing the three present State-administered programs of assistance to the aged, blind, and disabled with one combined adult assistance program which would be Federally administered by the Social Security Administration and would have nationally uniform requirements for such eligibility factors as the level and type of resources allowed and the degree of disability or blindness;

(2) that each aged, blind, or disabled adult would receive assistance sufficient to bring his total monthly income up to \$130 in fiscal year 1973, \$140 in fiscal year 1974, and \$150 thereafter (for couples the levels would be \$195 in fiscal 1973 and

\$200 thereafter); and

(3) that the cost of maintaining these basic benefit levels for the aged, blind, and disabled will be borne entirely by the Federal Government.

#### STATE SUPPLEMENTATION AND FISCAL RELIEF

Fifth, the bill would provide for Federal administration of optional State supplementation and very substantial fiscal relief to the States and localities. Each State could, at its discretion, provide additional assistance to the aged, blind, and disabled and families with children over and above the basic Federal levels set in the bill. In addition, States could enter into agreements under which the Federal government would administer any such supplemental assistance

without charge to the States for the costs of administration.

It is estimated that States would save about \$1.5 billion in the first year of the program over what their expenditures would be under present law. The bill would assure each State that it could, if it wished, maintain its present levels of assistance to the needy aged, blind, disabled, and families with children (including increases to reflect the loss of food stamp eligibility) and still not have to spend more than the dollar amount it expends in calendar year 1971 for benefits to these same categories of people. This assurance provision would be effective only with respect to a fiscal year during which the State had an agreement with the Federal government to administer the supplemental payments.

#### CASH BENEFITS, MEDICARE AND MEDICAID

In addition to amendments designed to reform the nation's welfare system, the Committee on Ways and Means has had as a principal order of business for the past several months the subject of old-age, survivors, and disability insurance and medicare and medicaid. In the course of the Committee's deliberations, an urgently needed 10-percent general increase in social security benefits, effective retroactively to January, 1971, was enacted in March of this year.

The provisions of the bill relating to the OASDI program are those which your committee believes are most urgently needed and which can be financed from available funds. The bill would provide social security beneficiaries with a 5-percent increase in benefits beginning with payments for June 1972 and a guarantee that future inflationary changes in the prices of goods and services will not erode the purchasing power of their benefits. In addition, the bill would provide improvements in the provisions of the law relating to the social security retirement test; benefits for widows, widowers, and other dependents; the method of computing benefits; the "waiting period" for disability benefits; and minor extensions of coverage.

Your committee's bill provides for two major changes in the medicare program that will directly affect the protection afforded beneficiaries. Medicare coverage would be broadened to include persons entitled to disability benefits under the social security and railroad retirement programs, after they have been disabled for at least two years. Your committee is convinced that the unmet need for health insurance protection among the disabled of the Nation is so great that this extension of protection should not be put off any longer. Also, to lessen the financial burden on beneficiaries of the rising costs of health care, the premium amount paid by persons who are enrolled in the supplementary medical insurance program would be increased only in the event of a general increase in cash benefits.

The provisions of your committee's bill dealing with the operating effectiveness of the medicare, medicaid, and maternal and child health

programs should be viewed as a related set of provisions.

Your committee conducted a thorough review of the operations of the two major health programs in the Social Security Act—medicare and medicaid. These programs taken together accounted for \$10 billion of the total of \$67 billion which was expended for health care in the United States in fiscal year 1970. Clearly, the impact which these programs have on the health industry is quite substantial. Clearly, too, developments in the health care field have a substantial impact on these programs.

Your committee is convinced that there have developed a number of serious deficiencies in the operation and administration of the present programs which need correction. Some of these deficiencies can be attributed to inadequate planning and uneven performance by the Federal Government and its agents, and the States, particularly in the early stages of these programs. Your committee has received assurances from the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare that the strong efforts which have been made to improve the operating

effectiveness of these programs will continue.

Your committee also concluded that there is no simple or single solution to the problems now existing in the health care field which adversely affect these programs. But your committee does believe that there are modifications which can and should be made in these programs—changes which, while perhaps not very significant taken singly, as a whole, show great promise for making significant advances in accomplishing the goal of making these programs more economical and more capable of carrying out their original purposes.

The cost of the changes relating to the OASDI program and of meeting the existing actuarial deficit in the hospital insurance program would be met by increasing the earnings base to \$10,200 beginning January 1972 and by revising the contribution rate schedules.

#### INCOME TAX CHANGES

The income tax changes included in this bill are closely associated with the social security and welfare provisions included in the bill. One of the income tax changes liberalizes the deduction for child care expenses where there is a working mother. This will be of primary benefit to those in the relatively low income levels and is in line with other provisions of this bill which provide for child care services and encourage those receiving welfare payments to obtain employment.

The second income tax change also is closely associated with the social security provisions. Social security benefit payments, upon receipt by the individual, are free of income tax, and in the past Congress has considered it appropriate to also exempt from income tax a comparable amount of income received by the elderly to the extent they do not receive social security payments. However, the provision (the retirement income credit) in existing law which is designed to achieve this result has not been updated with the changes in the social security payments in recent years. Moreover, the provision has proved to be so complex in operation that many who should be eligible for the retirement income credit have not used it. Your committee has revised the retirement income credit of present law to significantly raise the levels of income on which the credit is based and also to substantially simplify the method of computing the credit.

# II. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL PROVISIONS OF THE BILL

# A. Provisions Relating to the Social Security Cash Benefits Program

Five-percent increase in social security benefits.—Social security benefits would be increased by 5 percent. The minimum benefit would be increased from \$70.40 to \$74.00 a month. The average old-age insurance benefit payable for the effective month would rise from an estimated \$133 to \$141 a month and the average benefit for aged couples would increase from an estimated \$222 to \$234 a month. Special benefits for persons age 72 and over who are not insured for regular benefits would be increased from \$48.30 to \$50.80 for individuals and from \$72.50 to \$76.20 for couples.

Effective date.—Benefits payable for June 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—27.4 million beneficiaries would become entitled to higher payments and 16,000 people would be made newly eligible. About \$2.1 billion in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.\*

Automatic increase in benefits, the contribution and benefit base, and in the earnings test

(a) Increases in benefits:

Social security benefits would be automatically increased according to the rise in the cost of living. Increases could occur only once a year, provided that the Consumer Price Index increased by at least 3 percent and that legislation increasing benefits had neither been enacted nor become effective in the previous year.

(b) Increases in contribution and benefit base:

In any year in which an automatic benefit increase becomes effective, the social security contribution and benefit base would be automatically increased according to the rise in average wages covered under the social security program (if wage levels had gone up sufficiently).

<sup>\*</sup> Hereinaster the first full year, when referring to the effects of changes in the social security cash benefits or medicare programs, refers to the 12 months beginning July 1972.

(c) Change in earnings test:

In any year in which an automatic benefit increase becomes effective, the exempt amount under the retirement test would be automatically increased in the same manner as the contribution and benefit base is increased—according to the rise in average wages covered by the program.

Effective date.—First possible increase effective for January 1974.

Special minimum primary insurance amounts

A special minimum benefit would be provided for people who worked for 15 or more years under social security. The benefit would be equal to \$5 multiplied by the number of years of coverage the person has under the social security program, up to a maximum of 30 years. The highest minimum benefit under this provision would be \$150 for a person who had 30 or more years of coverage. The special minimum would not be raised under the automatic benefit increase provisions.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—300,000 people would get increased benefits on the effective date and \$30 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Increased widow's and widower's insurance benefits

A widow (or widower), including those already on the rolls, would be entitled to a benefit equal to 100 percent of the amount her deceased husband would be receiving if he were still living. Benefits applied for before age 65 would be reduced according to the widow's age at the time of application.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—3.4 million people would receive increased benefits on the effective date, and \$764 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Increased benefits for those who delay retirement beyond age 65

A worker's old-age benefit would be increased by 1 percent for each year (½ of 1 percent for each month) in which the worker between ages 65 and 72 does not receive benefits because he is working after age 65. No increased benefit would be paid under the provision to the worker's dependents or survivors.

Effective date.—Prospective only for computations and recomputa-

tions after 1971 based on earnings after 1970.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—400,000 people would receive increased benefits, and \$11 million in additional benefits would be paid, in the first full year.

Age-62 computation point for men.

Under present law, the method of computing benefits for men and women differs in that years up to age 65 must be taken into account

in determining average earnings for men, while for women only years up to age 62 must be taken into account. Also, benefit eligibility is figured up to age 65 for men and up to age 62 for women. Under the bill, these differences, which provide special advantages for women, would be eliminated by applying the same rules to men as now apply to women.

The new provision would become effective over a 3-year transition period. The number of years used in computing benefits for men would be reduced in three steps. Men who reach age 62 in 1972 would have only years up to age 64 taken into account; men who reach age 62 in 1973 would have only years up to age 63 taken into account; men reaching age 62 in 1974 or later would have only years up to age 62 taken into account in determining average earnings. The number of quarters of coverage needed for insured status for men would also be reduced in three steps, with the first step in the reduction effective for January 1972 and subsequent reductions in 1973 and 1974.

Effective date.—Prospective only, in 3 annual steps, becoming fully

effective for men reaching 62 in 1974 and after.

Dollar payments.—\$6 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

#### Additional dropout years

One additional year of low earnings—in addition to the 5 years provided under present law—for each 15 years of covered work could be dropped in computing the average monthly wage on which benefit amounts are based.

Effective date.—Benefits payable on the basis of the earnings of people who reach age 62 or die after 1971 or whose first month of entitlement to disability insurance benefits is after December 1971.

Dollar payments.—\$17 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Election to receive actuarially reduced benefits in one category not to be applicable to certain benefits in other categories

Under present law, when a person receives a benefit in one benefit category that is reduced because it is taken before age 65, and also receives another benefit in a different benefit category beginning with the same month or a later month, the second benefit is generally reduced to reflect the reduction in the first benefit. For example, when a woman applies for a retirement benefit prior to age 65, it is reduced under the actuarial reduction formula; if she applies for a spouse's benefit at age 65 or later, it is reduced to take account of the fact that she took her retirement benefit early. The bill would eliminate the actuarial reduction of the spouse's benefit in such cases. The same rule would apply to men entitled to dependent husbands' benefits.

Effective date.—The sixth month following the month of enactment.

Effective date.—The sixth month following the month of enactment. Number of people affected and dollar payments.—100,000 people would receive increased benefits on the effective date, and \$20 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Computation of benefits based on combined earnings

A working married couple each of whom had at least 20 years of covered earnings under the program after marriage could have their earnings for each year combined up to the maximum amount of taxable earnings for that year. If they elected to have their earnings combined, each member would receive a benefit equal to 75 percent of the benefit based on their combined earnings. Payments to the surviving spouse based on the combined earnings would continue at the 75-percent rate. Dependents' and other survivors' benefits would not be affected. The provision would be an alternative to present law and would apply only if higher payments would result.

Effective date.—Prospective only for people who attain age 62 in or

after January 1972.

Dollar payments.—\$11 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Liberalization of the retirement test

The amount that a beneficiary under age 72 may earn in a year and still be paid full social security benefits for the year would be increased from the present \$1,680 to \$2,000. Under present law, benefits are reduced by \$1 for each \$2 of earnings between \$1680 and \$2880 and for each \$1 of earnings above \$2880. The bill would provide for a \$1 reduction for each \$2 of all earnings above \$2000; there would be no \$1-for-\$1 reduction as under present law. Also, in the year in which a person attains age 72 his earnings in and after the month in which he attains age 72 would not be included, as under present law, in determining his total earnings for the year.

Effective date.—Taxable years ending after 1971.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—In the first full year, 700,000 people would receive increased payments and 390,000 people who get no payments under present law could get some payments. Additional benefits amounting to \$484 million would be paid in the first full year.

Reduced benefits for widowers at age 60

Widowers under age 62 could be paid reduced benefits (on the same basis as widows under present law) starting as early as age 60.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Childhood disability benefits

Childhood disability benefits would be paid to the disabled child of an insured retired, deceased, or disabled worker, if the disability began before age 22, rather than before 18 as under present law. In addition, a person who was entitled to childhood disability benefits could become re-entitled if he again becomes disabled within 7 years after his prior entitlement to such benefits was terminated.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—13,000 additional people would become immediately eligible for benefits on the effective date, and \$14 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Continuation of student's benefits through end of semester

Payment of benefits to a child attending school would continue through the end of the semester or quarter in which the student

(including a student in a vocational school) attains age 22 (rather than the month before he attains age 22) if he has not received, or completed the requirements for, a bachelor's degree from a college or university.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—55,000 students would have their benefits continued beyond age 22, and \$16 inillion in additional benefits would be paid, in the first full year.

Benefit-eligibility requirements for a child adopted by an old-age or disability insurance beneficiary

The provisions of present law relating to eligibility requirements for child's benefits in the case of adoption by old-age and disability insurance beneficiaries would be modified to make the requirements uniform in both cases. A child adopted after a retired or disabled worker becomes entitled to benefits would be eligible for child's benefits based on the worker's earnings if the child is the natural child or stepchild of the worker or if (1) the adoption was decreed by a court of competent jurisdiction within the United States, (2) the child lived with the worker in the United States for the year before the worker became disabled or entitled to an old-age or disability insurance benefit, (3) the child received at least one-half of his support from the worker for that year, and (4) the child was under age 18 at the time he began living with the worker.

Effective date.—January 1968.

Nontermination of child's benefits by reason of adoption

A child's benefit would no longer stop when the child is adopted. Effective date.—Month of enactment.

Elimination of the support requirements for divorced women

Under present law, benefits are payable to a divorced wife age 62 or older and a divorced widow age 60 or older if her marriage lasted 20 years before the divorce, and to a surviving divorced mother. In order to qualify for any of these benefits a divorced woman is required to show that: (1) she was receiving at least one-half of her support from her former husband, (2) she was receiving substantial contributions from her former husband pursuant to a written agreement, or (3) there was a court order in effect providing for substantial contribu-tions to her support by her former husband. The bill would eliminate these support requirements for divorced wives, divorced widows, and surviving divorced mothers.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—10,000 additional women would become immediately eligible for benefits on the effective date, and \$18 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Waiver of duration-of-marriage requirement in case of remarriage

The duration-of-marriage requirement in present law for entitlement to benefits as a worker's widow, widower, or stepchild—that is, the period of not less than nine months immediately prior to the day on which the worker died that is now required (except where death was accidental or in the line of duty in the uniformed service, in which case the period is three months)—would be waived in cases where the worker and his spouse were previously married, divorced, and remarried, if they were married at the time of the worker's death and if the duration-of-marriage requirement would have been met at the time of the divorce had the worker died then.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Disability insured status for individuals who are blind

Under present law, to be insured for disability insurance benefits a worker must be fully insured and meet a test of substantial recent covered work (generally 20 quarters of coverage in the period of 40 calendar quarters preceding disablement). The bill would eliminate the test of recent attachment to covered work for blind people; thus a blind person would be insured for disability benefits if he is fully insured—that is, he has as many quarters of coverage as the number of calendar years that elapsed after 1950 (or the year he reached age 21, if later) and up to the year in which he became disabled.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—30,000 additional people would become immediately cligible for benefits on the effective date, and \$29 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Wage credits for members of the uniformed services

Present law provides for a social security noncontributory wage credit of up to \$300, in addition to contributory credit for basic pay, for each calendar quarter of military service after 1967. Under the bill, the additional noncontributory wage credits would also be provided for service during the period January 1957 (when military service came under contributory social security coverage) through December 1967.

Effective date.—January 1, 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—130,000 additional people would receive larger benefits on the effective date, and \$39 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Reduction in waiting period for disability benefits

The present 6-month period throughout which a person must be disabled before he can be paid disability benefits would be reduced by one month (to 5 months).

Effective date.—January 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—950,000 people would receive increased benefits, and \$105 million in additional benefits would be paid, in the first full year.

Disability insurance benefits applications filed after death

Disability insurance benefits (and dependents' benefits based on a worker's entitlement to disability benefits) would be paid to the disabled worker's survivors if an application for benefits is filed within 3 months after the worker's death, or within 3 months after enactment of this provision.

Effective date.—For deaths occurring after 1969.

Disability benefits affected by the receipt of workmen's compensation

Under present law, social security disability benefits must be reduced when workmen's compensation is also payable if the combined payments exceed 80 percent of the worker's average current

earnings before disablement. Average current earnings for this purpose can be computed on two different bases and the larger amount will be used. The bill adds a third alternative base, under which a worker's average current earnings can be based on the one year of his highest earnings in a period consisting of the year of disablement and the five preceding years.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—65,000 people would receive increased benefits on the effective date, and \$4 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Optional determination of self-employment earnings

Self-employed persons could elect to report for social security purposes two-thirds of their gross income from nonfarm self-employment, but not more than \$1,600. (This optional method of reporting is similar to the option available under present law for farm selfemployment.) A regularity of coverage requirement would have to be met and the option could be used only five times by any individual. Effective date.—Taxable years beginning after 1971.

Payments by an employer to the survivor or estate of a former employee Amounts earned by an employee which are paid after the year of his death to his survivors or his estate would be excluded from coverage. Under present law, such wages are covered and social security taxes must be paid on these wages but the wages cannot be used to determine eligibility for or the amount of social security benefits.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Coverage of members of religious orders who are under a vow of poverty Social security coverage would be made available to members of religious orders who have taken a vow of poverty, if the order makes an irrevocable election to cover these members as employees of the order.

Effective date.—Upon enactment.

Self-employment income of certain individuals living temporarily outside the United States

Under present law, a U.S. citizen who retains his residence in the United States but who is present in a foreign country or countries for approximately 17 months out of 18 consecutive months, must exclude the first \$20,000 of his earned income in computing his taxable income for social security and income tax purposes. The bill would provide that U.S. citizens who are self-employed outside the U.S. and who retain their residence in the United States would not exclude the first \$20,000 of earned income for social security purposes and would compute their earnings from self-employment for social security purposes in the same way as those who are self-employed in the U.S. Effective date.—Taxable years beginning after 1971.

Penalty for furnishing false information to obtain a social security number

Provides criminal penalties when an individual furnishes false information in applying for a social security number with intent to deceive the Secretary as to his true identity.

Trust fund expenditures for rehabilitation services

Provides an increase in the amount of social security trust fund monies that may be used to pay for the costs of rehabilitating social security disability beneficiaries. The amount would be increased from 1 percent of the previous year's disability benefits (as under present law) to 1½ percent for fiscal year 1972 and to 1½ percent for fiscal year 1973 and subsequent years.

Dollar payments.—Additional payments for the cost of vocational rehabilitation services would amount to \$17 million in the first full

year.

#### Other OASDI amendments

Other changes relate to social security coverage of policemen and firemen in Idaho, public hospital employees in New Mexico, Federal Home Loan Bank employees, employees of the Government of Guam, and students employed by certain nonprofit organizations; retroactive payments for certain disabled people; social security benefits for a child entitled on the earnings record of more than one worker; benefits for certain dependent grandchildren; recomputation of benefits to survivors of a deceased worker who was entitled to both social security and railroad retirement benefits; authorization for the Managing Trustee of the social security trust funds to accept money gifts or bequests; and preserving the amount of a family's benefit when the worker's benefit is increased.

# B. Provisions Relating to Medicare, Medicaid, and Maternal and Child Health

## 1. ELIGIBILITY AND PAYMENT FOR BENEFITS

Extending health insurance protection to disabled beneficiaries

Health insurance protection under title XVIII would be extended to persons entitled to monthly cash benefits under the social security and railroad retirement programs because they are disabled, after they have been entitled to disability benefits for at least two years.

Effective date.—July 1972.

Number of people affected and dollar payments.—About 1.5 million disabled social security and railroad beneficiaries would be eligible for both hospital benefits and physician coverage under medicare. About \$1.85 billion in benefits would be paid on behalf of disabled beneficiaries in the first full year of the program.

Hospital insurance for the uninsured

People reaching age 65 who are ineligible for hospital insurance benefits under medicare would be able to enroll, on a voluntary basis, for hospital insurance coverage under the same conditions under which people can enroll under the supplementary medical insurance part of medicare. Those who enroll would pay the full cost of the protection—\$31 a month at the beginning of the program—rising as hospital costs rise. States and other organizations, through agreements with the Secretary, would be permitted to purchase such protection on a group basis for their retired (or active) employees age 65 or over. Effective date.—January 1972.

Amount of supplementary medical insurance premium

The supplementary medical insurance premium will be determined as under present law for months through June 1972 (\$5.30 through June 1971 and \$5.60 from July 1971 through June 1972.) Thereafter, the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would, as under present law, determine and promulgate for each year a monthly enrollee premium for both aged and disabled. However, the enrollee premiums would be increased only in the event of the enactment of legislation providing for a general benefit increase or in the event of an automatic general benefit increase. In any given year, the premium would rise by no more than the percentage by which cash benefits had been increased across the board in the interval since the premium was last increased. The premium amount paid by the beneficiary would never exceed one-half of total program costs.

Effective date.—July 1972.

Change in supplementary medical insurance deductible

The Medicare part B deductible, currently \$50 per year, would be increased to \$60.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Coinsurance under hospital insurance and the lifetime reserve

Coinsurance equal to one-eighth of the inpatient hospital deductible would be imposed for each day of inpatient hospital coverage during a benefit period beginning with the 31st day and continuing through the 60th day. This amount is now \$7.50, but would increase as the inpatient hospital deductible increases (as hospital costs rise). (Coinsurance for the 61st through the 90th day would remain equal to one-fourth of the inpatient hospital deductible.) The lifetime reserve, under which the beneficiary pays one-half of the hospital deductible, would be increased from 60 days to 120 days.

Effective date.—Hospital stays beginning after 1971.

Automatic enrollment for supplementary medical insurance

People entitled to hospital insurance benefits would be automatically enrolled and covered for supplementary medical insurance benefits unless they indicate they do not want to be enrolled for such coverage.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Incentives for comprehensive care under medicaid

Incentives would be created for States to contract with health maintenance organizations or similar facilities. At the same time, disincentives would be provided to discourage prolonged stays in institutions. Specifically, there would be—

(1) an increase of 25 percent (up to maximum of 95 percent) in the Federal Medicaid matching percentage to States under contract with HMO's or other comprehensive health care facilities;

(2) a decrease in the Federal medical assistance percentage by one-third after the first 60 days of care in a general or TB besitel.

(3) a reduction in the Foderal percentage by one-third after the first 60 days of care in a skilled nursing home unless the State establishes that it has an effective utilization review program;

- (4) a decrease in Federal matching by one-third after 90 days of care in a mental hospital and provision for no Federal matching after 275 additional days of such care during an individual's lifetime except that the 90-day period may be extended for an additional 30 days if the State shows that the patient will benefit therapeutically from such an additional period of hospitalization; and
- (5) authority for the Secretary to compute a reasonable cost differential for reimbursement between skilled nursing homes and intermediate care facilities.

Effective date.—July 1, 1971, except that the reasonable cost differential provision would be effective January 1, 1972.

## Cost sharing under medicaid

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be able to require the payment of a premium, related to income, for those eligible as medically indigent (non-cash recipients) under a State medicaid program. In addition, states would be permitted to impose a nominal cost sharing with respect to cash recipients, but applying only to services not required to be provided under the State program. States could apply copayment provisions to the medically indigent which are not related to income.

Effective date.—July 1, 1972.

# Determination of payments under medicaid

Families eligible for cash assistance would have a deductible under medicaid equal to one-third of the family's earnings above \$720 (after deducting the earnings of school children and any costs of required child care) less the difference between the medicaid standard and the payment standard, if any, in that State. All States would be required to impose such a deductible. Any family with income below the State medicaid standard would be eligible for medicaid assistance. Effective date.—July 1, 1972.

# Relationship between medicare and Federal employees benefits

Effective with January 1, 1975, no payment would be made under medicare for the same services covered under a Federal employees health benefits plan, unless in the meantime the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare certifies that such plan or the Federal employees health benefits program has been modified to make available coverage supplementary to medicare benefits and that Federal employees and retirees age 65 and over will continue to have the benefit of a contribution toward their health insurance premiums from either the Government or the individual plan.

Effective date.—January 1975.

# Medicare benefits for people living near United States border

Medicare beneficiaries living in border areas of the United States would be entitled to covered inpatient hospital care outside the United States if the hospital they use is closer to their residence than a comparable United States hospital and if it has been accredited by a hospital approval program with standards comparable to medicare standards. Coverage would also be extended in these cases to physicians' and ambulance services furnished in conjunction with covered foreign hospital care.

Effective date.—January 1972.

#### 2. IMPROVEMENTS IN OPERATING EFFECTIVENESS

Limitation on Federal participation for capital expenditures

Reimbursement amounts to providers of health services and health maintenance organizations under the medicare, medicaid, and maternal and child health programs for capital costs, such as depreciation and interest, would not be made with respect to large capital expenditures which are inconsistent with State or local health facility plans. States would be required to establish procedures by which a facility or organization proposing a capital expenditure may appeal a decision by a planning agency.

Effective date.—July 1972 (or earlier if requested by a State).

Experiments and demonstration projects in prospective reimbursement and incentives for economy

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be required to develop experiments and demonstration projects designed to test various methods of making payment to providers of services on a prospective basis under the medicare, medicaid, and maternal and child health programs. In addition, the Secretary would be authorized to conduct experiments with methods of payment or reimbursement designed to increase efficiency and economy (including payment for services furnished by organizations providing comprehensive, mental, or ambulatory health care services); with areawide or communitywide peer review, utilization review, and medical review mechanisms; and with performance incentives for intermediaries and carriers.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Limits on costs recognized as reasonable

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be given authority to establish and promulgate limits on provider costs to be recognized as reasonable under medicare based on comparisons of the cost of covered services by various classes of providers in the same geographical area. Hospitals and extended care facilities could charge beneficiaries for the costs of services in excess of those that are found necessary to the efficient delivery of needed health services (except in the case of an admission by a physician who has a financial interest in the facility).

Effective date.—July 1972.

Limits on prevailing charge levels

Physicians' charges determined to be reasonable under the present criteria in the medicare, medicaid, and maternal and child health law would be limited by providing: (a) that after December 31, 1970, medical charge levels recognized as prevailing may not be increased beyond the 75th percentile of actual charges in a locality during the calendar year elapsing prior to the start of the fiscal year; (b) that for fiscal year 1973 and thereafter the prevailing charge levels recognized for a locality may be increased, in the aggregate, only to the extent justified by indexes reflecting changes in costs of practice of physicians and in earnings levels; and (c) that for medical supplies, equipment, and services that, in the judgment of the Secretary, generally do not vary significantly in quality from one supplier to another, charges allowed as reasonable may not exceed the lowest levels at which such supplies, equipment, and services are widely available in a locality.

The existing Health Insurance Benefits Advisory Council is to conduct a study of the methods of reimbursement of physicians' fees under medicare and report to the Congress no later than July 1, 1972. Effective date.—(See provision.)

Limits on skilled nursing home and intermediate care facility costs

The average per diem costs for skilled nursing homes and intermediate care facilities countable for Federal financial participation under medicaid would be limited to 105 percent of such costs for the same quarter of the preceding year. Increases resulting from higher labor costs due to minimum wage legislation would not count in computing the cost figure.

Effective date.—January 1, 1972.

Payments to health maintenance organizations

Medicare beneficiaries could choose to have all covered care, except emergency services, provided by a health maintenance organization (a prepaid group health or other capitation plan). The Department of Health, Education, and Welfare would contract with such organizations, and would reimburse them on a monthly per capita basis at a rate equivalent to 95 percent of the estimated per capita costs of medicare beneficiaries in the area who are not enrolled in such organizations. Profits accruing to the organization, beyond its retention rate for nonmedicare members, would be passed on to the medicare enrollees in the form of expanded benefits.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Payments for services of teaching physicians

Medicare would pay for the services of teaching physicians on the basis of reasonable costs, rather than fee-for-service charges, unless a bona fide private patient relationship had been established or the hospital had, in the 2-year period ending in 1967, and subsequently, customarily charged all patients and collected from at least 50 percent of patients on a fee-for-service basis. Medicare payments would also be authorized on a cost basis for services provided to hospitals by the staff of certain medical schools.

Effective date.—Accounting periods beginning after June 30, 1971.

Advance approval of extended care and home health services under medicare

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be authorized to establish minimum periods of time (by medical condition) after hospitalization during which a patient would be presumed, for payment purposes, to require extended care level of services in an extended care facility. The attending physician would certify to the condition and related need for the services. A similar provision would apply to posthospital home health services.

Effective date.—January 1972.

Termination of payments to suppliers of services who abuse the medicare or medicaid programs

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be given authority to terminate payment for services rendered by a supplier of health and medical services found to be guilty of program abuses.

Program review teams would be established to furnish the Secretary professional advice in carrying out this authority.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Elimination of requirement that States have comprehensive medicaid programs

The existing requirement that States have comprehensive medicaid programs by 1977 would be repealed.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Reductions in care and services under medicaid

The states would be permitted to eliminate or reduce the scope and extent of health services which are optional under the Federal medicaid statute, e.g., outpatient drugs, eyeglasses and dental care. States would have to provide the same dollar amounts for their required health services.

Effective date.—Enactment.

State determinations of reasonable hospital costs under medicaid

States would be allowed to develop methods and standards for reimbursing the reasonable cost of inpatient hospital services. Such costs could not exceed medicare rates.

Effective date.—July 1, 1972, or earlier if a State plan so provides Government payment no higher than charges

Payments for institutional services under the medicare, medicaid, and maternal and child health programs could not be higher than the charges regularly made for these services.

Effective date.—Accounting periods beginning after June 30, 1971.

Institutional planning under medicare

Health institutions under the medicare program would be required to have a written plan reflecting an operating budget and a capital expenditures budget.

Effective date.—Sixth month following month of enactment.

Federal matching for automated medicaid systems

Federal matching for the cost of designing, developing, and installing mechanized claims processing and information retrieval systems would be set at 90 percent and 75 percent for operation of such systems. Effective date.—July 1, 1971.

Prohibition of reassignments

Medicare (part B) and medicaid payments to anyone other than a patient, his physician, or other person providing the service, would be prohibited, unless the physician (or, in the case of medicaid, another type of practitioner) is required as a condition of his employment to turn over his fees to his employer or unless there is a contractual arrangement between the physician and the facility in which the services were provided under which the facility bills for all such services.

Effective date.—Enactment date for medicare; July 1, 1972 (or earlier at the option of the State) for medicaid.

earner at the option of the State, for medicald.

Institutional utilization review under medicaid

The same utilization review committees now reviewing medicare cases in hospitals and nursing homes would be required to review medicaid cases in institutions utilized by medicare.

Stopping payment where hospital admission not necessary under medicare

If the utilization review committee of a hospital or extended care facility, in its sample review of admissions, finds a case where institutionalization is no longer necessary, payment would be cut off after 3 days. This provision parallels the provision in present law under which long-stay cases are cut off after 3 days when the utilization review committee determines that institutionalization is no longer required.

Effective date.—Third month following the month of enactment.

Use of health agencies in medicaid

State medicaid programs would be required—

(1) To establish and implement plans, prepared by the State health agency, or other appropriate State medical agency, for the professional review of care provided to medicaid recipients, and (2) Provide that the State medical agency which licenses

(2) Provide that the State medical agency which license health institutions shall perform that function for medicaid.

Effective date.—July 1, 1972.

Medicaid and comprehensive health care programs

A state medicaid plan would not be out of compliance if it arranged for medicaid care through a comprehensive health plan in one or more areas which provided more services than are generally provided under the State's medicaid plan.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Program for determining qualifications for certain health care personnel

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be required to develop and employ proficiency examinations to determine whether health care personnel, not otherwise meeting specific formal criteria now included in medicare regulations, have sufficient training, experience, and professional competence to be considered qualified personnel for purposes of the medicare and medicaid programs.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Penalty for fraudulent acts under medicare and medicaid

Present penalty provisions relating to the making of a false statement or representation of a material fact in any application for medicare payments would be broadened to include the soliciting, offering, or acceptance of kickbacks or bribes, including the rebating of a portion of a fee or a charge for a patient referral, by providers of health care services. The penalty for such acts would be imprisonment up to one year, a fine of \$10,000, or both. Similar penalty provisions would apply under medicaid.

Anyone who knowingly and willfully makes, or induces the making of, a false statement of material fact with respect to the conditions and operation of a health care facility or home health agency in order to secure medicare or medicaid certification of the facility or agency, would be guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by up to 6 months' im-

prisonment, a fine of not more than \$2,000, or both.

Effective date.—Enactment.

#### 3. MISCELLANEOUS AND TECHNICAL PROVISIONS

Physical therapy and other therapy services under medicare

Under medicare's supplementary medical insurance program, up to \$100 per calendar year of physical therapy services furnished by a licensed physical therapist in his office or the patient's home under a physician's plan would be included in covered charges. Hospitals and extended care facilities could provide physical therapy services under part B to inpatients who have exhausted their days of hospital insurance coverage. Where physical therapy and other ancillary services are furnished by a provider of services, or by others under arrangements with the provider, medicare reimbursement to the provider would in all cases be based on a reasonable salary payment for the services.

Effective date.—January, 1972.

Coverage of supplies related to colostomies

Medicare coverage would be provided for colostomy bags and supplies directly related to colostomy care.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Ptosis bars

Coverage would be provided under part B of medicare for ptosis bar devices required for the care of individuals suffering from paralysis or atrophy of the eyelid muscle.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Intermediate care facilities under medicaid

The provisions for optional coverage of intermediate care facilities would be moved from title XI of the Act (where it applies, by reference to the cash assistance titles) to title XIX as an optional service. Services in a public institution for the mentally retarded could qualify if the primary purpose is to provide health or rehabilitation services and if the patient is receiving active treatment.

Effective date.—January 1, 1972.

Coverage prior to application under medicaid

States would be required to provide medicaid coverage for care and services furnished in or after the third month prior to the application of an eligible person.

Effective date.—July 1, 1972.

Certification of hospitalization for dental care

A dentist would be authorized to certify the necessity for hospitalization to protect the health of a medicare patient who is hospitalized for a noncovered dental procedure.

Effective date.—Third month after month of enactment.

Grace period for paying medicare premium

Where there is good cause for a medicare beneficiary's failure to pay supplementary medical insurance premiums, an extended grace period of 90 days would be provided.

Effective date.—Enactment,

Extension of time for filing medicare claims

The time limit for filing supplementary medical insurance claims would be extended where the medicare beneficiary's delay is due to administrative error.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Waiver of enrollment period requirements where administrative error is involved.

Relief would be provided where administrative error has prejudiced an individual's right to enroll in medicare's supplementary medical insurance program.

Effective date.—July 1966.

Three-year limitation on medicare enrollment dropped

Eligible beneficiaries would be permitted to enroll under medicare's supplementary medical insurance program during any prescribed enrollment period. Beneficiaries would no longer be required to enroll within 3 years following first eligibility or a previous withdrawal from the program.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Waiver of medicare overpayment

Where incorrect medicare payments were made to a deceased beneficiary, the liability of survivors for repayment could be waived if the survivors were without fault in incurring the overpayment. Effective date.—Enactment.

Medicare fair hearings

Fair hearings, held by medicare carriers in response to disagreements over amounts paid under supplementary medical insurance, would be conducted only where the amount in controversy is \$100 or more. Effective date.—Enactment.

Collection of medicare premium by the railroad retirement board

Where a person is entitled to both railroad retirement and social security monthly benefits, his premium payment for supplementary medical insurance benefits would be deducted from his railroad retirement benefit in all cases. The Railroad Retirement Board is given authority to choose the carrier for part B benefits for its beneficiaries.

Effective date.—Applicable to premiums becoming due after the fourth month following the month of enactment.

Prosthetic lenses furnished by optometrists

The definition of physician, for purposes of the medicare program, would be amended to include a licensed doctor of optometry, but only with respect to establishing the medical necessity of prosthetic lenses (which are already covered under the program).

Effective date.—Enactment.

Social services requirement in extended care facilities

The present requirement for social services in extended care facilities under medicare would be removed.

Effective date.—Enactment.

#### Refund of excess premiums

In the event of the death of a medicare beneficiary, any hospital or medical insurance premiums paid for any month after the month of his death will be refunded to his estate or to a survivor.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Waiving of requirement for skilled nursing homes in rural areas

The requirement that skilled nursing homes under medicaid have at least one full-time registered nurse on the staff would be waived for up to one year at a time over a five-year period where the skilled nursing home is in a rural area and certain other conditions are met. Effective date.—Enactment.

Exemption of Christian Scientist sanatoriums from certain requirements under medicaid

Christian Scientist sanatoriums under medicaid would be exempted from provisions in the bill which require certain health-related functions or conditions.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Requirements for nursing home administrators

States would be permitted to provide under medicaid for a permanent waiver of a nursing home administrator who had been such an administrator for more than 3 years before the time the basic provision became effective (July 1970).

Effective date.—Enactment.

Termination of Nursing Home Administration Advisory Council

The National Advisory Council on Nursing Home Administrations under medicaid would be terminated.

Effective date.—Thirty days after enactment.

Increase in limit on payments to Puerto Rico for medicaid

The present limit of \$20 million on the annual Federal payment for medicaid would be raised to \$30 million. The present matching rate of 50 percent would be retained.

Effective date.—Fiscal year 1972.

Provider reimbursement review board under medicare

Providers of services, under certain circumstances, would be permitted to appeal to a review board (established by the Secretary specifically to conduct such reviews) from a decision of the fiscal intermediary concerning the amount of program reimbursement, if the amount in controversy is at least \$10,000.

#### Chiropractors' services

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would conduct a study of the desirability of covering chiropractors' services under medicare, utilizing the experiments and experience under the medicaid program. A report on the study, including the experience of other programs paying for chiropractors' services, would be submitted to the Congress within 2 years after enactment of the bill. Effective date.—Enactment.

Extension of title V to American Samoa and the Trust Territory of the Pacific

The crippled children and maternal and child health provisions of title V of the Act would be extended to American Samoa and the Trust Territory of the Pacific.

Effective date.—Fiscal years beginning after June 30, 1971.

#### FINANCING OASDHI

In order to finance the changes in the OASDHI program as amended by the bill, the limit on taxable earnings would be increased to \$10,200 effective January 1972 and the following schedule of OASDI and HI tax rates would be provided:

# SOCIAL SECURITY TAX RATES AND MAXIMUM ANNUAL SOCIAL SECURITY TAXES FOR EMPLOYEES, EMPLOYERS, AND SELF-EMPLOYED

	Employees and employers, each				Self-employed			
	OASDI, percent	HI, percent	Total, percent	Maximum tax	OASDI, percent	HI, percent	Total, percent	Maximum tax
Present law:				_				
1971	4.6	0.6	5. 2	\$405.60	6.9 6.9	0.6	7. 5	\$585.00
1972 3	4.6	. 6 . 65	5. 2	468.00	6. 9	. 6	7. 5	675.00
1973-752	5. 0	. 65	5.65	508, 50	7.0	. 65	7.65	688.50
197679 2	5. 15	. 7	5.85	526, 50	7.0	. 7	7.7	693.00
1980-86 2	5. 15	. 8	5. 95	535.50	7.0	.8	7.8	702.00
1987 and after 2	5.15	. 9	6.05	544, 50	7.0	. 9	7. 9	711.00
H.R. 1 (excluding effect of the automatic adjustment provisions):								
1971 1	4.6	6	5. 2	405, 60	6.9	. 6	7.5	585.00
1972-743	4. 2	.6 1.2	5. 4	550, 80	6.3	1.2	7. 5 7. <b>5</b>	765.00
1975-763	5. 0	1. 2	6.2	632, 40	7.0	1.2	8.2	836.40
1977 and after 3	6. 1	1.3	7.4	754.80	7.0	1.3	8.3	846.60

#### 1ST-YEAR BENEFIT COSTS AND NUMBER OF PERSONS AFFECTED BY OLD-AGE, SURVIVORS, DISABILITY, AND MEDICARE PROVISIONS OF H.R. 1

[Amounts in millions; numbers of persons in thousands]

Provision	lst-year benefit costs <sup>1</sup>	Present-law beneficiaries immediately affected 2	Newly eligible persons <sup>3</sup>
Total	\$5, 438		
Cash benefit changes applicable to both present and future beneficiaries:  5 percent benefit increase—effective June 1972.  Other cash benefit changes—generally effective January 1972: Retirement test changes:	2, 073	27, 400	16
\$2,000 exempt amount; 1 for 2 above \$2,000	473	680	390
Farnings in year of attainment of age 72	11	20	
Increased benefits for widows and widowers to 100 percent of			ii
PIA (limited to OAIB)	764	3, 400	
Children disabled at ages 18-21	14	120	iż
Noncontributory credits for military service after 1956. Election to receive larger future banefits by certain beneficiaries	35	130	••••••
eligible for more than 1 actuarially reduced benefit	20	100	
eligible for more than 1 actuarially reduced benefit Eliminate support requirement for divorced wives and surviving			
divorced wives	18		10
Student child's benefits continued after age 22 to end of semes-			
ter	16		
Special minimum PIA up to \$150	30	300	
Liberalized workmen's compensation offset (80 percent of high 1	4	65	
year). Liberalized disability insured status provision for the blind (drop	•	03	
20/40 requirement)	29		30
Increased allowance for vocational rehabilitation expenditures.	17		
Subtotal	3, 508	(4)	459
Cash benefit changes applicable only to future beneficiaries—effective January 1972:	_		
Age 62 computation point for men. Benefits based on combined earnings of husband and wife	11		
Credit for delayed retirement	11	400	
Additional drop-out year for every 15 years of coverage	17	<u> </u>	
Reduce disability waiting period to 5 months	105		
Subtotal	150		
Total, cash benefit changes	3, 658	(1)	459
Medicare benefit changes:  Hospital insurance for disabled beneficiaries 3.  Supplementary medical insurance for disabled beneficiaries 3.  Change in supplementary medical insurance deductible—effective	1, 500		1, 500 1, 500
January 1, 1972	70	19, 800	
Total, Medicare changes.	1, 780		1, 500

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Tax rates apply to annual earnings up to \$7,800.
 <sup>2</sup> Tax rates apply to annual earnings up to \$9,000.
 <sup>3</sup> Tax rates apply to annual earnings up to \$10,200.

Represents additional benefit payments in the 12-month period beginning July 1, 1972.
For cash benefits, present-law beneficiaries whose benefit for the effective month would be increased under the provision; for Medicare, persons with insurance protection.
For cash benefits, persons who cannot receive a benefit under present law for the effective month, but who would receive a benefit for such month under the provision; for Medicare, persons who gain insurance protection.
Figures not additive because a person may be affected by more than one provision.
Effective July 1, 1972.

# C. Provisions Relating to Assistance for the Aged, Blind, and Disabled

The existing Federal-State programs of aid to the aged, blind, and permanently and totally disabled would be repealed, effective July 1, 1972, and a new, totally Federal program would be effective on that date. The new national program is designed to provide financial assistance to needy people who have reached age 65 or are blind or disabled and would be established by a new Title XX of the Social Security Act. The program would be administered by the Social Security Administration through its present administrative framework and facilities.

The eligibility requirements and other legislative elements of the new program are as follows:

## Eligibility for and amount of benefits

Individuals or couples could be eligible for assistance when their monthly income is less than the amount of the full monthly payment and their non-excluded resources are \$1,500 or less.

Full monthly benefits for a single individual would be \$130 for fiscal year 1973; \$140 for fiscal year 1974, and \$150 thereafter. Full monthly benefits for an individual with an eligible spouse would be \$195 for fiscal year 1973, and \$200 for fiscal year 1974 and thereafter. Benefits would not be paid for any full month the individual is outside the U.S.

The Secretary would establish the circumstances under which gross income from a trade or business, including farming, is large enough to preclude eligibility (net income notwithstanding). In addition, people who are in certain public institutions, or in hospitals or nursing homes getting medicaid funds, would be eligible for benefits of up to \$25 a month. People who fail to apply for annuities, pensions, workmen's compensation, and other such payments to which they may be entitled would not be eligible.

#### Definition of income

In determining an individual's eligibility and the amount of his benefits, both his earned and unearned income would have to be taken into consideration. The definition of earned income would follow generally the definition of earnings used in applying the earnings limitation of the social security program. Unearned income would mean all other forms of income, among which are benefits from other public and private programs, prizes and awards, proceeds of life insurance not needed for expenses of last illness and burial (with a maximum of \$1,500), gifts, support, inheritances, rents, dividends, interest, and so forth. For people who live as members of another person's household, the value of their room and board would be deemed to be 33% percent of the full monthly payment.

The following items would be excluded from income:

1. Earnings of a student regularly attending school, with reasonable limits.

2. Irregular earned income of an individual of \$30 or less in a quarter and irregular unearned income of \$60 or less in a quarter.

3. The first \$85 of earnings per month and one-half above that for the blind and disabled (plus work expenses for the blind). The first \$60 of earnings per month and one-third above that for the aged.

4. The tuition part of scholarships and fellowships.

5. Home produce.

6. One-third of child-support payments from an absent parent.

7. Foster care payments for a child placed in the household by a child-placement agency.

8. Assistance based on need received from certain public or private agencies.

9. Vocational rehabilitation allowances.

# Exclusions from resources

Individuals or couples cannot be eligible for payments if they have resources in excess of \$1,500. The following items would be excluded from resources:

- 1. The home to the extent that its value does not exceed a reasonable amount.
- 2. Household goods and personal effects not in excess of a reasonable
- 3. Other property which is essential to the individual's support (within reasonable value limitations).
- 4. Life insurance policies (if their total face value is \$1,500 or less). Other insurance policies would be counted only to the extent of their cash surrender value.

The Secretary would prescribe periods of time and manners in which excess property must be disposed of in order that it not be included as resources.

#### Meaning of terms

An eligible individual must be a resident of the United States, Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, or Guam, be a citizen or an alien admitted for permanent residence, and be aged, blind, or disabled.

Aged individual: One 65 years of age or older.

Blind individual: An individual who has central visual acuity of

20/200 or less in the better eye with the use of a correcting lens, or

equivalent impairment in the fields of vision.

Disabled individual: An individual who is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of a medically determinable physical or mental impairment which is expected to last, or has lasted, for 12 months or can be expected to end in death. (This definition is now used for social security disability benefits.)

Eligible spouse: An aged, blind, or disabled individual who is the husband or wife of an individual who is aged, blind, or disabled.

Child: An unmarried person who is not the head of a household and who is either under the age of 18, or under the age of 22 and attending school regularly.

Determination of marital relationship: Appropriate State law will apply except that, if two people were determined to be married for purposes of receiving social security cash benefits, they will be considered to be married, and two persons holding themselves out as married in the community in which they live would be considered married for purposes of this program.

Income and resources of a spouse living with an eligible individual may be taken into account in determining the benefit amount of the individual, whether or not the income and resources are available to him. Income and resources of a parent may count as income of a disabled or blind child.

#### Rehabilitation services

Disabled and blind beneficiaries would be referred to State agencies for vocational rehabilitation services. A beneficiary who refused without good cause any vocational rehabilitation services offered would not be eligible for benefits.

Optional State supplementation

A State which provides for a State supplement to the Federal payment could agree to have the Federal Government make the supplemental payments on behalf of the State. If a State agrees to have the Federal Government make its supplemental payments, the Federal Government would pay the full administrative costs of making such payments, but if it makes its own payments, the State would pay all of such costs.

States could, but would not be required to, cover under medicaid persons who are made newly eligible for each benefits under the bill.

The Federal Government, in administering supplemental benefits on behalf of a State, would be required to recognize a duration of residency requirement if the State decided to impose such a requirement.

# Payments and procedures

Benefits could be paid monthly, or otherwise, as determined by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare. Benefits could be paid to an individual, an eligible spouse, partly to each, or to another interested party on behalf of the individual. The Secretary could determine ranges of incomes to which a single benefit amount may be applied.

Cash advances of up to \$100 could be paid if an applicant appears to meet all the eligibility requirements and is faced with a financial emergency. Applicants apparently eligible for benefits on the basis of disability could be paid benefits for up to three months while their

disability claim was in process.

The Secretary may arrange for adjustment and recovery in the event of overpayments or underpayments, and could waive overpayments to achieve equity and avoid penalizing people who were without fault.

People who are, or claim to be, eligible for benefits and who disagree with determinations of the Secretary, could obtain hearings if they request them within 30 days. Final determinations would be subject to judicial review in Federal district courts, but the Secretary's decisions as to any fact would be conclusive and not subject to review by the courts.

The right of any person to any future benefit would not be transferable or assignable, and no money payable under the program would be subject to execution, levy, attachment, garnishment, or other legal

process.

If an individual fails to report events and changes relevant to his eligibility without good cause, benefits which may be payable to the individual would be terminated or reduced.

The heads of other Federal agencies would be required to provide such information as the Secretary of HEW needs to determine eligibility for benefits.

# Penalties for fraud

A penalty of up to \$1,000 or up to one year imprisonment, or both, would be provided in case of fraud under the program.

### Administration

The Secretary of HEW may make administrative and other arrangements as necessary to carry out the purposes of the program and the States could enter into agreements to administer the Federal benefits during a transitional period.

Evaluation and research

The Secretary of HEW would continually evaluate the program, including its effectiveness in achieving its goals and its impact on related programs. He could conduct research and contract for independent evaluations of the program. Up to \$5 million a year would be appropriated to carry out the evaluation and research. Annual reports to the President and the Congress on the operation and administration of the program would be required.

# D. Provisions Relating to Family Programs

The present program of aid to families with dependent children (AFDC) would be repealed effective July 1, 1972, and two new totally Federal programs would take effect on that day. The new programs would be adopted for a period of five years (through fiscal year 1977) in order to give Congress an opportunity to review their operation before continuing them in subsequent years. The new programs would be established by a new Title XXI in the Social Security Act. A description of the two new programs follows:

Families in which at least one person is employable would be enrolled in the Opportunities for Families program, administered by the Department of Labor. Families with no employable person would be enrolled in the Family Assistance Plan administered by the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.

#### 1. OPPORTUNITIES FOR FAMILIES PROGRAM

Registration for employment and training

Every member of a family who is found to be available for work by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be required to register for manpower services, training and employment.

An individual would be considered available for work unless such

person-

(1) Is unable to work or be trained because of illness, incapacity, or age;

(2) Is a mother or other relative caring for a child under age 3

(age 6 until July 1974);

(3) Is the mother or other female caretaker of a child, if the father or another adult male relative is in the home and is registered.

(4) Is a child under the age of 16 (or a student up to age 22);

(5) Is needed in the home on a continuous basis because of illness or incapacity of another family member.

Nevertheless, any person (except one who is ill, incapacitated, or aged) who would be exempted from registering by the above provisions

could voluntarily register.

Every person who registered (other than a volunteer) would be required to participate in manpower services or training and to accept available employment. An individual could not be required to accept employment however—

(1) If the position offered is vacant due to a strike, lockout, or

other labor dispute;

- (2) If the wages and other employment conditions are contrary to those prescribed by applicable Federal, State, or local law, or less favorable than those prevailing for similar work in the locality, or the wages are less than an hourly rate of ¾ of the highest Federal minimum wage (\$1.20 per hour under present law);
  - (3) If membership in a company union or non-membership in

a bona fide union is required;

(4) If he has demonstrated the capacity to obtain work that would better enable him to achieve self-sufficiency, and such work is available.

# Child care and other supportive services

The Secretary of Labor directly or by using child care projects under the jurisdiction of the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, would provide for child care services for registrants who require them in order to accept or continue to participate in manpower services, training, employment, or vocational rehabilitation.

The Secretary of Labor would be authorized funds to provide child care by grant or contract. Families receiving such services might also

be required to pay all or part of the costs involved.

Health, vocational rehabilitation, family planning, counseling, social, and other supportive services (including physical examinations and minor medical services) would also be made available by the Secretary of Labor to registrants as needed.

Operation of manpower services, training and employment programs

The Secretary of Labor would develop an employability plan designed to prepare registrants to be self-supporting. The Secretary would then provide the necessary services, training, counseling, testing, coaching, program orientation, job training, and followup services to assist the registrant in securing employment, retaining employment, and obtaining opportunities for advancement.

Provision would also be made for voluntary relocation assistance

to enable a registrant and his family to be self-supporting.

Public service employment programs would also be used to provide needed jobs. Public service projects would be related to the fields of health, social service, environmental protection, education, urban and rural development and redevelopment, welfare, recreation, public facility and similar activities. The Secretary of Labor would establish these programs through grants or by contract with public or nonprofit agencies or organizations. The law would provide safeguards for workers on such jobs and wages could not be less than the higher of the prevailing or applicable minimum wage or the Federal minimum wage.

Federal participation in the costs of an individual's participation in a public service employment program would be 100 percent for the first year of his employment, 75 percent for the second year, and 50

percent for the third year.

States and their subdivisions that receive Federal grants would be required to provide the Secretary of Labor with up-to-date listings of job vacancies. The Secretary would also agree with certain Federal agencies to establish annual or other goals for employment of members of families receiving assistance.

Allowances of individuals participating in training

An incentive allowance of \$30 per month would be paid to each registrant who participates in manpower training (States would have the option of providing an additional allowance of up to \$30). Necessary costs for transportation and similar expenses would also be paid.

Utilization of other programs

The Secretary of Labor would be required to integrate this program as needed with all other manpower training programs involving all sectors of the economy and all levels of government.

Rehabilitation services for incapacitated family members

Family members who are incapacitated would be referred to the state vocational rehabilitation service. A quarterly review of their

incapacities would usually be made.

Each such incapacitated individual would be required to accept rehabilitation services that are made available to him, and an allowance of \$30 would be paid him while he receives such services. (States would have the option of providing an additional allowance of up to \$30.) Necessary costs for transportation and similar expenses would also be paid.

Evaluation and research; reports

The Secretary of Labor would be authorized to conduct research and demonstrations of the program and directed to make annual evaluation reports to the President and the Congress. An appropriation of \$10,000,000 would be authorized for these purposes.

# 2. FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN

Payment of benefits

All eligible families with no member available for employment would be enrolled and paid benefits by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare.

Rehabilitation services and child care for incapacitated family members Family members who are unemployable because of incapacity would be referred to State vocational rehabilitation agencies for services. A quarterly review of their incapacities would usually be made. Such persons would be required to accept services made available, and would be paid a \$30 per month incentive allowance plus transportation and other related costs. (States would have the option of providing an additional allowance of up to \$30.)

Child care services would also be provided if needed to enable individuals to take vocational rehabilitation services.

Women of child-bearing age would be offered family planning services and the services would be provided if accepted.

# Evaluation and research; reports

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be authorized to conduct research and demonstrations of the family assistance plan and directed to make annual evaluation reports to the President and the Congress. An appropriation of \$10,000,000 would be authorized for these purposes.

#### 3. DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS

### Uniform determinations

Both Secretaries would be required to apply the same interpretations and applications of fact to arrive at uniform determinations of eligibility and assistance payment amounts under the two family programs.

### Eligibility for and amount of benefits

Family benefits would be computed at the rate of \$800 per year for the first two members, \$400 for the next three members, \$300 for the next two members and \$200 for the next member. This would provide \$2,400 for a family of four, and the maximum amount which any family could receive would be \$3,600. A family would not be eligible if it had countable resources in excess of \$1,500 or less.

If any member of the family fails to register, take required employment or training, or accept vocational rehabilitation services, the family benefits would be reduced by \$800 per year.

Benefits would be determined on the basis of the family's income for

the current quarter and the three preceding quarters.

After a family has been paid benefits for 24 consecutive months, a new application would be required which would be processed as if it were an initial application.

The Secretary would establish the circumstances under which gross income from a trade or business, including farming, is large enough to preclude eligibility (net income notwithstanding).

Families would have to apply for all other benefits available to them in order to be eligible.

A family headed by a regular, full-time college student would not be eligible.

### Definition of income

Earned income would follow generally the definition of earnings used in applying the earnings limitation of the social security program. Unearned income means all other forms of income among which are benefits from other public and private programs, prizes and awards, proceeds of life insurance not needed for last illness and burial (with a maximum of \$1,500), gifts, support, inheritances, grants, dividends, interests and so forth.

All income except that excluded would be used to reduce the benefits otherwise payable.

The following items would be excluded from the income of a family:

- 1. Earnings of a student regularly attending school, with limits set by the Secretary.
- 2. Irregular earned income of an individual of \$30 or less in a quarter and irregular unearned income of \$60 or less in a quarter.
- 3. Earned income used to pay the cost of child care under a schedule prescribed by the Secretary.

- 4. The first \$720 per year of other earned income plus one-third of the remainder.
- 5. Assistance based on need received from public or private agencies, except veterans' pensions.
  6. Training allowances.

7. The tuition part of scholarships and fellowships.

8. Home produce.

9. One-third of child support and alimony.

10. Foster care payments for a child placed in the family by a child

placement agency.

The total of the exclusions under (1), (2), and (3) above could not exceed \$2,000 for a family of four rising by \$200 for each additional member to an overall maximum of \$3,000.

# Exclusions from resources

A family cannot be eligible for payments if it has resources in excess of \$1,500. In determining what is included in the \$1,500 amount, the following items are excluded:

1. The home to the extent that its value does not exceed a reason-

able amount.

2. Household goods and personal effects not in excess of a reasonable amount.

3. Other property which is essential to the family's self-support.

An insurance policy would be counted only to the extent of its cash surrender value except that if the total face value of all such policies with respect to an individual is \$1,500 or less, no cash surrender value would be counted.

The Secretary would prescribe periods of time, and manners in which, property must be disposed of in order that it would not be

included as resources.

#### Meaning of family and child

A family would be defined as two or more related people living together in the United States where at least one of the members is a citizen or a lawfully admitted alien and where at least one of them is a child dependent on someone else in the family.

No family will be eligible if the head of the household is an undergraduate or graduate student regularly attending a college or university full time. Benefits would not be payable to an individual for

any month in which he is outside the United States.

The term "child" means an unmarried person who is not the head of the household, and who is either under the age of 18 or under the age of 22 if attending school regularly.

Appropriate State law would be used in determining relationships. The income and resources of an adult (other than a parent or the spouse of a parent) living with the family but not contributing to the family would be disregarded and the adult will not be considered a family member.

If an individual takes benefits under adult assistance, he could not be eligible for family benefits.

# **Optional State supplementation**

If a State decides to supplement the basic Federal payment, it would be required to provide benefit amounts that do not undermine the earnings disregard provision. A State could agree to have the Federal Government make the supplementary payments on behalf of the State. If a State agrees to have the Federal Government make its supplemental payments, the Federal Government would pay the full administrative costs of making such payments, but if it makes its own payments the State would pay all of such costs.

States could, but would not be required to, cover under medicaid persons who are made newly eligible for cash benefits under the bill.

The Federal Government, in administering supplemental benefits on behalf of a State, would be required to recognize a duration of residency requirement if the State decided to impose such a requirement.

#### 4. PROCEDURAL AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

#### Payments and procedures

The Secretary would be permitted to pay the benefits at such times as best carry out the purposes of the title and could make payments to a person other than a member of the family or to an agency where he finds inability to manage funds. The Secretary's decision would be subject to hearing and review.

The family benefits could not be paid to an individual who failed

to register, or take work, training or vocational rehabilitation.

Cash advances of \$100 or less could be paid if a family appears to meet all the eligibility requirements and is faced with a financial emergency.

The Secretary may arrange for adjustment and recovery in the event of overpayments or underpayments, with a view toward equity

and avoiding penalizing people who were without fault.

People who are, or claim to be, eligible for assistance payments, and who disagree with determinations of the Secretary, could obtain hearings if they request them within 30 days. Final determinations would be subject to judicial review in Federal district courts, but the Secretary's decisions as to any fact would be conclusive and not subject to review by the courts. The Secretary would also be given authority to appoint qualified people to serve as hearing examiners without their having to meet the specific standards prescribed under the Administrative Procedure Act for hearing examiners.

The right of any person to any future benefit would not be transferable or assignable, and no money payable under this title would be subject to execution, levy, attachment, garnishment, or other legal

process.

In addition, the Secretary would establish necessary rules and regulations dealing with proofs and evidence, and the method of taking and furnishing the same, in order to establish the right to benefits.

Each family would be required to submit a report of income within 30 days after the end of a quarter and benefits would be stopped until the report was filed. If a family failed, without good cause, to report income or changes in circumstances as required by the Secretary, it

would be subject to a penalty of \$25 the first time, \$50 the second time and \$100 for later times.

The head of any Federal agency would be required to provide such information as the Secretary of HEW needs to determine eligibility for benefits under this title.

# Penalties for fraud

A penalty of \$1,000 or 1 year imprisonment, or both, would be provided in the case of fraud under the program.

#### Administration

Both the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare and the Secretary of Labor could perform their functions directly, through other Federal agencies, or by contract. An additional Assistant Secretary is authorized in the Department of Labor to head up the new program in that Department.

#### Child care

The Secretaries of Labor and Health, Education, and Welfare are each given the authority and responsibility for arranging day care for their respective recipients under the Opportunities for Families program and the Family Assistance Plan who need such day care in order to participate in training, employment, or vocational rehabilitation. Where such care can be obtained in facilities developed by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare, these would be utilized.

Insofar as possible, arrangements would be made for after school care with local educational agencies. All day care would be subject to standards developed by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare, with the concurrence of the Secretary of Labor. Both Secretaries would have authority to make grants and contracts for payment of up to 100 percent of the cost of care. The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would have total responsibility for construction of facilities. \$700 million would be authorized for the provision of child care services in the first fiscal year, and such sums as Congress may appropriate in subsequent years. In addition, \$50 million would be authorized for construction and renovation of child care facilities for each fiscal year.

#### Obligations of parents

A deserting parent would be obligated to the United States for the amount of any Federal payments made to his family less any amount that he actually contributes by court order or otherwise to the family.

Any parent of a child receiving benefits who travels in interstate commerce to avoid supporting his child would be guilty of a misdemeanor and subject to a fine of \$1,000, imprisonment for 1 year, or both.

The Secretary would report to appropriate officials cases of child neglect or abuse which came to his attention while administering the program.

### Local committees to evaluate program

Local advisory committees would be set up throughout the country, with a minimum of one in each State, which would evaluate and report

on the effectiveness of the elements of the program designed to help people become self-supporting. Each committee would be composed of representatives from labor, business, and the public, as well as public officials not directly involved in the administration of the programs.

#### E. OTHER RELATED ASSISTANCE PROVISIONS

# ADOPTION AND FOSTER CARE SERVICES UNDER CHILD WELFARE

Authorizations of \$150 million for fiscal year 1972 and higher amounts for subsequent years would be provided for payments to the States to support foster care and adoption services.

#### PROVISIONS RELATED TO NEW ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS

Effective date for adult assistance and family programs

Major changes made in the assistance programs would be effective July 1, 1972. The child care provisions would become effective upon enactment of the bill. The amendments which provide benefits to families where the father is in the family and working full-time, would become effective January 1, 1973.

Prohibition against participation in food stamp program by recipients of payments under family and adult assistance programs

The bill would amend the Food Stamp Act of 1964 by providing that families and adults eligible for benefits under the assistance programs in this bill would be excluded from participation in the food stamp program.

Special provisions for Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam There would be special provisions for Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam. The amounts used in the family assistance plan and the aid to the aged, blind, and disabled (other than the \$720 amount of annual earnings to be disregarded and the \$30 per month incentive allowances) would be adjusted by the ratio of the per capita income of each of these jurisdictions to the per capita income of the lowest of the 50 States.

#### Determination of medicaid eligibility

The Secretary would be able to enter into agreements with States under which the Secretary would determine eligibility for medicaid both for those eligible for Federal payments and the medically needy in cases where the State covered the medically needy. The State would pay half of the Secretary's additional administrative costs arising from carrying out the agreement.

Effective date.—July 1, 1972.

# Transitional administration of public assistance

The Secretaries of Labor and of Health, Education, and Welfare could enter into agreements with States under which a State would administer the Federal assistance program for a period of up to one year from the beginning of the program.

Limitations on increases in State welfare expenditures

States would be guaranteed that, if they make payments supplementary to the Federal adult or family programs, it would cost them no more to do so than the amount of their total expenditures for cash public assistance payments during calendar year 1971, to the extent that the Federal payments and the State supplementary payments to recipients do not exceed the payment levels in effect under the public assistance programs in the State for January 1971. The value of food stamps would be taken into account in computing whether the guarantee would go into effect if the State pays in cash the value of food stamps. Most States would save money under the provisions of the bill; this provision would guarantee that no State would lose money. Limitation on Federal expenditures for social services

The Federal Government would continue to provide 75 percent matching funds to the States for child care and family planning services on an open-end appropriation basis. Federal matching for other specified social services would be limited to the amounts appropriated by the Congress. This provision would be effective on July 1, 1972.

PUBLIC ASSISTANCE AMENDMENTS EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY

Additional remedies for State noncompliance with provisions of assistance

The Secretary would be able to require States to make payments to people who did not receive all money due them because the State failed to comply with a Federal requirement.

The Secretary could require a State which is in noncompliance with a Federal requirement to set up a timetable and method for assuring compliance, or could request the Attorney General to bring suit to enforce the Federal requirements.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Statewideness not required for services

A State would be permitted to furnish social services in one area of a State without being required to furnish such services in all geographic areas of the State.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Optional modification in disregarding income under AFDC

States would be permitted, between enactment and July 1, 1972, to modify their present AFDC programs so as to substitute the carnings disregard provisions in the family assistance provisions (cost of child care, plus \$720, plus one-third of the remainder) for provisions of present law (the first \$30 and one-third of the remainder after which actual work expenses are deducted).

A State could also apply the maximum dollar limits in the family programs on child care and student earnings (\$2,000 for a family of four rising to \$3,000 for a family of nine or more) to its present AFDC

program.

Effective date.—Enactment.

Individual programs for family services not required

States would no longer be required to prepare a separate plan of services for each individual who is eligible for AFDC.

Effective date.—July 1, 1972, or earlier if the State so chooses.

# Enforcement of support orders

States would be required to secure support for a spouse of a parent from the other parent (of children receiving assistance payments) where he has described or abandoned his spouse, utilizing reciprocal arrangements with other States to obtain or enforce court orders for support.

Effective date.—July 1, 1972, or earlier, if the State plan so provides.

Separation of social services and cash assistance payments

Each State would be required to submit a proposal to the Secretary by January 1, 1972 providing for the administrative separation of handling eligibility for cash payments and the provision of social services by July 1, 1972.

Increase in Federal matching to States for costs of establishing paternity and collecting child support payments

Federal matching would be increased from 50 percent to 75 percent for State costs incurred in establishing the paternity of AFDC children and locating and collecting support from their absent parents.

Effective date.—Enactment.

# Vendor payments for special needs

States would be permitted to provide for non-recurring items of special need by means of vendor payments.

Effective date.—Enactment.

# Increase in Federal matching-WIN program

Effective July 1, 1971, the Federal matching under the WIN program would be increased from 80 to 90 percent. This provision expires June 30, 1972.

#### F. Provisions for Tax Changes (Other Than Payroll Taxes)

### Child Care Deduction

Under present law, a child care deduction of \$600 per child, but not more than \$900, is available for child care expenses in certain cases. Generally, this amount is available in the case of such expenses incurred by a widow or widower or certain other married couples with an incapacitated spouse and also in the case of married couples with incomes of not over \$6,000.

The new provision retains the basic child care provision of present law but increases from \$6,000 to \$12,000 the income a married couple may have and still be eligible for this deduction, In addition, the amount of child care expenses which may be deducted is increased from \$600 for the first child to \$750, and to \$1,125 for two children, and to \$1,500 for three or more children. These changes are effective with respect to taxable years beginning on or after January 1, 1972.

#### Retirement Income Credit

Under present law, a retirement income credit of up to \$1,524 multiplied by 15 percent (\$229) is allowed for single persons age 65 or over having "retirement income"—that is, income from pensions, dividends, interest, rents or other passive income sources. However, this credit is available only if the individual had ten prior years of

earned income above \$600. The income eligible for this credit is reduced, however, by social security, railroad retirement or other tax-exempt pension income. It is also reduced by 50 percent of earnings over \$1,200 and 100 percent of earnings over \$1,700. (This earnings limitation, however, does not apply to those age 72 and over.) For married couples\_a credit equal to one and one-half times the credit referred to above is generally available under present law. However, in some cases where both can qualify for the credit a credit of up to twice that referred to above is available.

In addition, under present law, the retirement income credit determined substantially as indicated above is available for retirement income received from governmental units where the individual is under age 65, except that the credit is reduced on a dollar-for-dollar basis for earnings above \$900 (between age 62 and 65 the earnings

test described above applies).

The committee has adopted a substitute retirement income credit which is both more liberal and also will be easier to compute on the return form. This credit for a single person will be based upon \$2,500 instead of \$1,524. It will not be necessary for the individual involved to have "retirement income" as he is required to have under present law or 10 years of prior earnings of \$600 or more. However, as under present law, the \$2,500 will be reduced for social security, railroad retirement and other tax-exempt pension income. Also, as under present law, it will be reduced for earned income above a specified level (if the individual is under age 72). However, the amount will only be reduced for 50 percent of earnings above \$2,000 instead of 50 percent of earnings above \$1,200 plus 100 percent of earnings above \$1,700.

As under present law, the amount derived in this manner is multiplied by 15 percent in order to obtain the credit (the new figure gives

a maximum credit of \$375).

For a married couple, both over age 65, the retirement income credit is to be based upon \$3,750 instead of the \$2,500 applicable to a single person. Otherwise the credit is to be computed in the same manner indicated above except on the basis of the combined experience of the husband and wife.

For those below age 65 receiving Government pension income the \$2,500 also becomes applicable but, as under present law, only with respect to Government pension income. The earnings test for these persons is raised from \$900 to \$1,000 if under age 62 but for those above that age, the \$2,000 earnings test applies.

#### III. GENERAL DISCUSSION

## A. Provisions Relating to the Cash Benefits Program

5-percent benefit increase

Your committee's bill would provide a general 5-percent increase in

social security benefits payable for June 1972.

In considering the need for a general benefit increase your committee recognizes that legislation enacted in March of this year provided a 10-percent general benefit increase effective for January 1971. However, your committee believes that economic changes over the next year will probably necessitate a further increase. While your committee has no intention of forecasting what economic changes will occur over the next year or so, it seems practical to expect the general trends of the past to continue. Accordingly, your committee is recommending that social security benefits generally be increased by 5 percent, effective with the benefits payable for June 1972. In recommending that the increase be effective for June of 1972, the committee was guided by a number of practical considerations. In particular, an increase effective in that month would be payable in July and would coincide with other changes being recommended by your committee; the new Federal assistance program for needy families, the aged, the blind, and the disabled will go into effect at that time and it seems desirable to coordinate the effect of the future benefit increase on these programs.

Under present law, monthly benefits for workers who retire at age 65 in June 1972 would range from \$70.40 to \$216.10; under the bill these amounts would range from \$74.00 to \$227.00. Additional illustrations of the effect of the benefit increase are shown in the table below. The table also reflects the effect of increasing the contribution and benefit base to \$10,200 effective January 1, 1972.

ILLUSTRATIVE MONTHLY BENEFITS PAYABLE UNDER PRESENT LAW AND UNDER H.R. 1

Average monthly earnings 1	Worker 2		Man and wife 2.3		Widow and 2 children	
	Present law	H.R. 1	Present law	H.R. 1	Present law	H.R. 1
\$76	\$70.40	\$74.00	\$105,60	\$111.00	\$105.60	\$111.00
150	111.90	117.50	167. 90	176.30	167. 90	176.3
\$250	145.60	152. 90	218.40	229.40	222, 70	233. 90
350	177. 70	186, 60	266.60	279.90	308, 90	324.4
\$450	208, 80	219, 30	313, 20	329.00	389.90	409.4
\$550	240.30	252, 40	360, 50	378, 60	435, 20	457.00
650	275, 80	289, 60	413, 70	434.40	482.70	506.90
750	295.40	310. 20	443. 10	465.30	517.00	542.9
850	(5)	ø 331, 20	(4)	496. 80	(4)	579.60

<sup>1</sup> Figured generally over 5 less than the number of years elapsing after 1936 or 1950, or age 21, if later, and up to the year of death, disability, or attainment of age 65 for men (gradually reduced to 62 under the bill) and 62 for women.

2 Benefit amounts are for a worker who is disabled or who is age 65 or older at the time of retirement and for a wife age 65 or older at the time she comes on the benefit rolls.

3 Survivor benefit amounts for a young widow and 1 child or for 2 parents would be the same as the benefits for a man and wife.

Some 26.9 million beneficiaries—persons receiving regular cash benefits under present law—on the rolls in July 1972 would have their benefits increased under this provision. An estimated \$2,048 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

<sup>4</sup> For families on the benefit rolls who are affected by the maximum benefit provisions, the amounts payable under the bill would in some cases be somewhat higher than those shown here.

5 Not applicable since the highest possible average earnings under present law are \$750.

6 Payable to people wno retire at age 65 in 2005 after working from age 22 to age 65.

The bill would also increase by 5 percent the special cash payments that are made under present law to certain people age 72 and who are not insured for regular cash benefits under the social security program. The payments would be increased from \$48.30 to \$50.80 for an individual and from \$72.50 to \$76.20 for a couple, effective for June 1972. As a result, about 16,000 people who do not get the special payments would qualify for some payments, and about 0.5 million people would qualify for higher payments under this provision. An estimated \$25 million in additional payments would be paid out in the first full year; about \$22 million of this amount would be borne by general revenues.

Automatic increases in benefits, the tax base, and the earnings test

Your committee has given careful consideration to several proposals to provide automatic cost-of-living increases in social security benefits and has concluded that authority should be provided for cost-of-living increases if future price rises should cause serious erosion in the purchasing power of social security benefits. Recognizing, however, that Congress has legislated eight benefit increases since monthly benefits were first paid in January 1940 (in addition to the proposed 5-percent increase in this bill) and that the cumulative effect of these benefit increases greatly exceeds the rise in the cost of living over the same period, your committee recommends a provision under which automatic benefit increases would go into effect only after Congress had an opportunity to consider whether any other benefit increase would be more appropriate in the light of prevailing economic conditions.

The provisions of the committee amendment have been drawn with a view to preserving the role of Congress in determining when and in what amounts social security benefits should be raised while at the same time assuring that the purchasing power of social security benefits will not be seriously eroded by inflationary changes in the

economy.

Under the provisions of the amended bill reported by your committee, benefits could be increased automatically each January whenever the cost of living rises three percent or more between specified base periods. However, an automatic benefit increase would not go into effect if in the year preceding the January for which it would otherwise become effective, a general benefit increase (other than an automatic benefit increase) had become effective or had been enacted.

Each year the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would compare the monthly average of the Consumer Price Index for the second calendar quarter with the monthly average of the Index for the most recent second calendar quarter which was used to compute an automatic benefit increase or, if later, the calendar quarter in which a legislated benefit increase became effective. If the rise in the Consumer Price Index was 3 percent or more, the Secretary would promulgate (not later than November 1) the benefit increase, effective for the following January. The benefit increase would be equal to the percentage rise in the Consumer Price Index rounded to the nearest 0.1 of one percent.

In order to assure that the appropriate Congressional legislative committees are kept informed as to the likelihood of imminent action being taken under the automatic increase provisions, the bill would require the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare, (1) to notify the Congress whenever there is a 2.5 percent rise in the cost of living

since the latest base period, and (2) to notify Congress, prior to promulgating any automatic increase (not later than the middle of August), whenever a rise in prices would cause an automatic benefit increase to go into effect the following January. Along with this later notification, the Secretary would be required to indicate the amount of the increase, his estimate of the extent to which the cost of the benefit increase could be met through the automatic increase in the tax base which would be provided (as discussed below), the estimated increase in the base, the actuarial estimates of the effect of the increase and the actuarial methodology and assumptions used in making these estimates. Following these notifications, Congress would have an opportunity to determine whether the automatic increase or some other increase should go into effect.

In order to provide additional financing to help meet the increased costs of automatic cost-of-living increases in benefits, the committee amendment provides for automatic increases in the tax and benefit base which would go into effect only when an automatic benefit increase became effective. The base would be automatically increased in proportion to the increase in the level of average covered wages in the first calendar quarter of the year in which the computation is made over the level of average covered wages in the first calendar quarter of the later of: the most recent year in which an increase in the tax and benefit base was enacted, or the most recent year in which a determination was made to automatically adjust the contribution and benefit base

The retirement test exempt amount—the amount a beneficiary under age 72 can earn in a year and still receive all his benefits—would also be automatically increased the same way as the contribution and benefit base; that is, in proportion to increases in the level of average covered wages between first calendar quarters. Like the base increases, the automatic retirement test increases would occur only when there is an automatic increase in benefits. This provision would provide retirement test changes current with increases in earnings and would avoid extended lags between such increases and changes in the test.

#### Special minimum benefit

In order to provide increased benefits for people who have worked regularly for many years in covered jobs at low earnings, your committee is recommending a special minimum benefit equal to \$5 multiplied by the number of years of coverage an individual has under the program up to a maximum of 30 years. This would be an alternative to the provisions of present law and if the regular benefit amount is or becomes larger than the special minimum, the regular benefit would be paid.

Thus, the amendment would increase the minimum benefit payable to people with 15 or more years of coverage. A person with 15 years of coverage, for example, would get at least \$75; a person with 20 years of coverage, at least \$100; a person with 25 years of coverage, at least \$125; and a person with 30 or more years of coverage, at least \$150 (the maximum payable under the provision).

Because 35 years have elapsed since the social security program began, a worker who has earnings in every year after 1937 could get the highest special minimum benefit of \$150 in 1972. For a worker with earnings after 1950 only, the highest special minimum benefit payable in 1972 would be \$105; the \$150 benefit would not be payable to such a worker until 1981. Benefits determined under the special

minimum would not be increased under the automatic cost-of-living

benefit increase provisions.

Under the bill, for purposes of determining the amount of an individual's special minimum benefit, the number of years of coverage for the period 1937-1950 would be determined on a presumptive basis by dividing the total wages credited to an individual for years after 1936 and prior to 1951 by \$900, disregarding any fraction and limiting the total to 14. (This method is a practical way to determine years of coverage for the period 1937-1950 because the records of the Social Security Administration available for machine use indicate total earnings for the entire 14-year period but not earnings for individual years.) The number of years of coverage after 1950 would be determined on an individual-year basis; each year for which the individual is credited with wages and self-employment income of at least 25 percent of the contribution and benefit base for that year would be a year of coverage. The amount used for determining years of coverage before 1951 has been set at \$900, rather than 25 percent of the \$3000 base (\$750) in effect before 1951 as an offset to the generous treatment resulting from the use of the presumptive basis.

Some 300,000 people would get increased benefits on the effective date and \$30 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first

full year.

Increase in widow's and widower's insurance benefits

A factor which must be taken into account in considering whether the levels of social security benefits are adequate at any given time is the relationship of survivors' benefits to the worker's retirement benefit. In this connection your committee examined the benefits paid to older widows and found that their benefits are not adequate.

When social security benefits were first provided for widows by the Social Security Amendments of 1939 they were set at 75 percent of the worker's retirement benefit. This amount was based on the idea that a widow should receive one-half of the combined benefit which would have been paid to her and her husband had both been entitled to benefits. Later, this amount was increased by 10 percent, to 82.5 per-

cent, where it has remained up to the present time.

It is your committee's opinion that the reasons for setting widow's benefits at their present level are no longer valid and that in the light of present conditions there is no reason for paying aged widows less than the amount which would be paid to their husbands as retirement benefits. Currently, the average benefit for an aged widow is about \$113 a month, while the average benefit for a retired worker is about \$131 a month. In addition, surveys of social security beneficiaries have shown that, on the average, women getting aged widows' benefits have less income other than from social security than most other beneficiaries.

The committee bill would provide benefits for a widow equal to the benefit her deceased husband would have received if he were still living. Under the bill, a widow whose benefits start at age 65, or after, would receive either 100 percent of her deceased husband's primary insurance amount (the amount he would have been entitled to receive if he began his retirement at age 65) or, if his benefits began before age 65, an amount equal to the reduced benefit he would have been receiving if he were alive. In no case, however, would a widow receive a smaller benefit than she would be entitled to under present

law.

Under the committee's bill the benefit for a widow (or widower) who comes on the rolls between 60 and 65 would be reduced (in a way similar to the way in which widows' benefits are reduced under present law when they begin between ages 60 and 62) to take account of the longer period over which the benefit would be paid. For example, the benefit amount for a widow becoming entitled to a widow's benefit at age 63 would be 88.6 percent of her husband's benefit; for a widow becoming entitled at age 64, the amount would be equal to 94.3 percent of her husband's benefit. (Because of the necessity of gearing in the widow's benefits between the ages of 62 and 65 with the higher amount provided under present law for a widow at age 62, as compared with the amount provided for a worker age 62, the reduction for widows and widowers who receive benefits beginning before age 65 is slightly different than the reduction for workers between ages 62 and 65.)

Under the bill, the benefit amount for January 1972 for a widow (or widower) who came on the benefit rolls before 1972 would be redetermined as though the new provisions had been in effect when she came on the rolls. Thus, the widow already on the rolls who started getting benefits before she reached age 65 would have the 100-percent widow's benefit reduced to take account of the longer period for which she would be paid benefits. In order to permit the use of machine records in determining the benefit amount that the deceased spouse would have been receiving if he were alive, the Social Security Administration will assume that his benefits were based on the same average monthly earnings which determine the primary insurance amount on which the widow's (or widower's) benefits are based for January 1972.

Under the bill, as under present law, the benefit for a widow who is age 62 or older when she starts getting benefits and who is the only survivor getting benefits would be not less than \$70.40, the minimum benefit now payable to a retired worker at age 65. The benefit for a widow who starts getting benefits before 62 and who is the only survivor getting benefits would be no less than the minimum worker's benefit reduced to take account of months before age 62 for which the benefit is paid.

The changes made with respect to widows would also apply to eligible dependent widowers.

ILLUSTRATIVE MONTHLY BENEFITS FOR WIDOWS AND WIDOWERS WHO BECOME ENTITLED AT OR AFTER AGE 65 UNDER PRESENT LAW AND UNDER H.R. 11

		H.R. 1		
	Present law	Additional amount resulting from widow's benefit increase (Jan. 1972)	Additional amount resulting from general benefit increase <sup>1</sup> (June 1972)	Total benefit payable June 1,72
Average monthly earnings:	#70 AO		<b>6</b> 2 CO	#74 no
\$76.00 \$150.00		\$19.50	\$3.60 5.60	\$74.00 117.50
\$250.00		25.40	7.30	152.90
\$350.00		31.00	8.90	186.60
\$450.00		36, 50	10.50	219.30
\$550.00.	***	42.00	12.10	252, 40
\$650.00	227.60	48. 20	13.80	289.60
\$750.00		51.60	<b>14.8</b> 0	310.20
\$850.00	(2)	(2)	(2)	331.20

<sup>1</sup> Assuming deceased worker did not get a reduced retirement benefit before he died and that there are no other survivors getting benefits based on his earnings.
2 Not applicable, since the highest average earnings amount now possible under present law is \$750.

The increase in benefits for widows and dependent widowers would

be effective for January 1972.

Some 3.4 million widows and widowers on the rolls at the end of January 1972 would receive higher benefits under this provision, and \$764 million in additional benefit payments would be made in the first full year.

Increased benefits for those who delay retirement beyond age 65

Under present law, a person who continues working and delays retirement beyond age 65 pays contributions on his earnings, foregoes benefits, and may get no more in monthly benefits when he finally retires than he would have been paid had he retired at age 65. In some cases, however (where average monthly earnings increase due to work after age 65) monthly benefits can be greater than the benefits that would have been paid at 65, since earnings in years after 65 can be substituted for lower earnings in prior years in figuring the average earnings on which benefits are based.

Your committee's bill would provide increased benefits to people who do not get benefits because they are working between ages 65

and 72.

For each month of work beginning with the month of attainment of age 65 and ending with the month before a worker reaches age 72, his benefit would be increased by one-twelfth of 1 percent for each

month for which his benefit was not payable.

As under present law, benefits would be recomputed for any year after age 65 in which a person has earnings. Benefits reflecting the increase (after taking into account the months in which a worker was insured but for which he got no benefits) would be payable beginning the following January.

For example, a man who retires at age 65 in January 1972 with earnings of \$4000 in each year of his computation period could get a monthly benefit of \$180.10 for June 1972. If he worked for 12 months in 1972, earning \$6000, his average monthly earnings would be increased from \$333 to \$343, and his benefit before application of the delayed-retirement credit provision would be increased to \$184.80. This amount would then be increased by 1 percent to \$186.70.

The delayed-retirement increment—unlike the increase resulting from the increase in average monthly earnings—would apply to the old-age insurance benefit only, and would not affect benefits of de-

pendents or survivors.

The provisions would be applicable prospectively only for computations and recomputations after 1971. As a result, 400,000 people would get higher benefits, and \$11 million in additional payments would be paid, in the first full year.

Age-62 computation point for men

Under present law, retirement benefits for men are figured differently, and less advantageously, than benefits are for women. For a man the period for determining the number of years of earnings that are used in figuring the average monthly earnings on which his benefit is based ends with the beginning of the year in which he reaches age 65. For a woman the period ends with the beginning of the year in which she reaches age 62. Thus, 3 more years are used in computing benefits for a man than are used for a woman of the same age. This difference in the treatment of men and women can result in signifi-

cantly lower benefits being paid to a retired man than are paid to a

retired woman with the same earnings.

For example, take the case of a man and a woman each of whom reaches age 65 and retires in 1971, and each of whom has maximum creditable earnings under the program in each year up to 1971. The woman's benefit would be \$220.40 a month under present law, while the man's benefit would be only \$213.10 a month. If both workers retire at age 62 in 1971, the woman's benefit would be \$170.50 a month while the man's benefit would be only \$163.60 a month.

The bill would change the way in which a man's retirement benefit is figured to make the computation the same as the computation of a

woman's benefit.

The provision would apply only to those who become entitled to benefits in the future; a 3-year transition period would be provided. The number of years used in computing benefits for men would be reduced in three steps: men reaching age 62 in 1972 would have years up to age 64 taken into account; men who reach age 62 in 1973 would have years up to age 63 taken into account; and men who reach age 62 in 1974 or later would have years up to age 62 taken into account.

The bill would also provide a three-step reduction in the number of quarters of coverage needed for insured status for men, making the ending point age 62 for both men and women, and thus would allow men to become fully insured on the basis of less covered employment than is now required. The first step in this reduction would be effective for January 1972, with subsequent reductions becoming

effective in 1973 and 1974, as with the benefit computation.

#### Additional dropout years

Under the present law, social security benefits for a worker and his family are generally based on the worker's average monthly earnings in covered work over a period equivalent to the time clapsing after 1950 and up to the year in which he reaches age 65 (62 for a woman), becomes disabled, or dies. (Another provision of the bill would change the ending point for men to age 62.) Up to 5 years in which earnings are lowest are excluded from the computation of the worker's average monthly earnings. This five-year dropout provision helps to lessen the effect that periods of unemployment, illness, and low earnings can have on benefit amounts.

Your committee's bill would provide an additional dropout year for each 15 years of coverage that a worker has. (A year of coverage would be defined as it would be under the new special minimum provision.) The effect of the additional dropout would be to give additional protection against the lowering of average monthly earnings of longterm contributors to the program. In addition, the higher benefits that will result from increases in the upper limit on earnings counted under the program will be more quickly available for these long-term contributors because fewer years when lower ceilings were in effect

would be included in figuring average monthly earnings.

The provision would be effective for workers who attain age 62 after 1971 and become entitled to old age or disability benefits or die after 1971 and to workers who attain age 62 after 1971 who were entitled to disability benefits for December 1971. About \$17 million in additional benefits would be paid in the first full year.

Election to receive actuarially reduced benefits

Under present law, a married person who has worked and is eligible for both an old-age insurance benefit as a retired worker and a wife's (or husband's) insurance benefit as the spouse of a retired worker cannot apply for just one of the benefits; when she applies for one she is deemed to have applied for both. As a result, such a person who claims benefits before age 65 has both of her benefits actuarially reduced.

Also under present law, a wife who has worked and becomes eligible for an old-age insurance benefit based on her own earnings, who takes that benefit before age 65, and who later becomes eligible for a wife's benefit when her husband applies for his retirement benefit can get a lower wife's benefit (on account of the reduction that was made in her old-age insurance benefit because it was paid before age 65) than does a wife who never worked under the program. (This situation does not occur under present law when a woman getting wife's insurance benefits later becomes eligible for an old-age insurance benefit; the reduction in her wife's benefit is disregarded in figuring the amount of her old-age insurance benefit.) Present law also provides that if a woman takes a widow's insurance benefit before age 62 and later gets a disability or old-age insurance benefit, the later benefit is reduced to take account of the prior receipt of the reduced widow's benefit.

Under the bill, the so-called "deemed filing" provision would be removed from present law. A person eligible for benefits as a retired worker and also as a spouse could choose to take only one of the benefits and claim the other one later, or he could take both benefits at the same time.

In addition, the bill would modify the provision in present law under which a person cannot become entitled to a dependent's benefit if the primary insurance amount on which his own benefit is based is equal to or greater than the amount of his full dependent's benefit. However, as under present law, only one benefit, in effect, would be

Also under the bill, the reduction that is made in one benefit would not lower the amount of a benefit that is taken later.

Examples showing the effect of these changes follow:

Example 1.—A woman is potentially eligible for an old-age benefit and a wife's benefit at age 62. Her unreduced old-age benefit, payable if the benefit begins at or after age 65, is \$78. Her husband's unreduced benefit is \$198. Her unreduced wife's benefit is \$21—one-half of her husband's \$198 benefit (\$99) minus her own unreduced benefit of \$78. Her combined unreduced old-age benefit and wife's benefit would be \$99—her own benefit of \$78 plus her wife's benefit of \$21.

She applies for reduced benefits at age 62 and, under present law, must apply for both benefits. Her old-age benefit is 80 percent of \$78, or \$62.40. Her wife's benefit is 75 percent of \$21, or \$15.80. Her combined old-age benefit and wife's benefit beginning at age 62 is \$78.20.

Under the committee's bill she could restrict her application at age 62, take only one of her benefits and wait until later to file for the other. She could take her reduced old-age insurance benefit, get \$62.40 a month at age 62, and wait until age 65 to claim her wife's benefit, and get \$99 a month from age 65 on.

Example 2.—Under present law, a woman is eligible for her own old-age insurance benefit at age 62. Her husband has not yet applied for benefits so she is not eligible for a wife's benefit. Her old-age insurance benefit at age 65 would be \$78; she chooses to take it at age 62 and gets a reduced benefit of \$62.40. When she reaches age 65, her husband retires, applies for benefits, and becomes entitled to an old-age benefit of \$198. She applies for wife's benefits and becomes entitled to a wife's benefit of \$21—one-half of her husband's \$198 benefit, or \$99, minus her own unreduced benefit of \$78. If she had not taken her own benefit at age 62, she would get \$99 a month under present law. Because she did take her own benefit at age 62, she can get only \$83.40 starting at age 65—\$62.40 plus \$21.

Under the bill, she would get a benefit of \$99 a month starting at age 65 even though she elected to take her reduced old-age benefit at

age 65.

The new provisions would apply to people who become entitled to benefits for or after the sixth month after the month of enactment. People already on the benefit rolls when the provisions become effective could, upon request, have their benefits redetermined under the new provisions. Even if a person's own old-age benefit was larger than his benefit as a spouse at the time of initial entitlement, the redetermination could be made as if the person had elected the smaller spouse's benefit first and his own old-age insurance benefit at age 65.

In some cases the application of this provision would mean that a beneficiary should not have been entitled to some of the benefits he had been paid. If these beneficiaries wish to be paid the higher benefits provided under the bill, they would be required under a special repayment provision to repay the benefits they are no longer entitled to have been paid. The repayment would be accomplished by withholding payment of the amount of the increase in benefits that would occur under the provision until recovery is made of the excess of the amount the beneficiary was actually paid over the amount he would have been paid if the provision had been in effect at the time of his original application.

An illustration of how the recovery would be accomplished is as

follows:

In the first example above, the woman could, under the provisions of the bill, request to have her benefit redetermined under the new provisions. As a result of this redetermination, her month of entitlement to wife's benefits could be changed from the month in which she reached age 62 to the month in which she reached age 65. With this change, the amount of her monthly benefit would have been \$62.40 (instead of \$78.20) a month from age 62 to age 65 and \$99 (instead of

\$78.20) a month from age 65 on.

Assume she is age 66 when the redetermination is made. If the bill had been in effect she would have been paid, for the 48 months from age 62 to age 66 for which she has been paid benefits, \$62.40 a month for the 36 months from age 62 to age 65, and \$99 a month for the 12 months from age 65 to age 66, a total of \$3,434.40. She would actually have been paid \$78.20 a month for all 48 months, or \$3,753.60. Thus, she would have been paid a total of \$319.20 more under present law than she would have been paid if the bill had been in effect throughout the 48-month period. The \$20.80 increase in her benefit, from \$78.20 to \$99, would be withheld and not paid to her until

the \$319.20 has been recovered—in about 16 months. From that point on she would get a monthly benefit of \$99. If she should die or become entitled to another benefit (for example, a widow's benefit based on her husband's earnings) before the \$319.20 is entirely re-

covered, the amount not recovered would be waived.

The bill would make no change in the provisions of present law under which a person entitled to both an old-age insurance benefit and a wife's or dependent husband's insurance benefit may not get both benefits in full. Under the law, a worker always gets the old-age insurance benefit he earns for himself; if that benefit is higher than the benefit he is potentially eligible for as a wife or dependent husband, the latter benefit is not payable. If the worker's old-age insurance benefit is less than the wife's or dependent husband's benefit payable on the spouse's earnings, the difference between the two benefits is paid as the wife's or dependent husband's benefit.

Approximately 100,000 beneficiaries on the rolls would be immediately affected by this provision, and \$20 million in additional benefits

would be paid in the first full year.

### Benefits based on combined earnings for a couple

Under the present social security law, a working couple may be paid less in total retirement benefits than another couple with the same total earnings where only the husband worked. For example, where only the husband works and has average yearly earnings of \$6000, the benefit paid to the couple at age 65 would be \$224.70 to the husband and \$112.40 to the wife, a total of \$337.10; if the husband had had average earnings of \$4000 and the wife had had average yearly earnings of \$2000—combined earnings of \$6000—his benefit would be \$171.50 and hers would be \$118.00, a total of \$289.50-\$47.60 less than the couple with the same total average earnings when only the husband worked. Your committee's bill would permit the payment of benefits based on the combined earnings of a married couple. The new computation could be used only if both the husband and wife reach age 62 after 1971, are insured for old-age benefits, and have 20 or more years of coverage under the social security program after they were married. (Other dependents' benefits would continue to be computed as under the present law.) A year of coverage would be defined in the same way as it is defined under the new special minimum provision.

The earnings of the man and wife in each year would be combined up to the maximum amount of annual earnings that is creditable for social security purposes for the year. For example, if the man had maximum earnings in, say, 1968 (\$7800) and his wife had earnings of \$3000 in the same year, they could get credit for only \$7800 for that year in combined earnings. On the other hand, if the man and his wife each had earnings of \$3000 in 1968, all of their earnings (\$6000) for the year would be credited. When the husband and wife have different computation periods (because of a difference in their ages or entitlement to disability benefits) the average monthly earnings on which the combined benefits would be based would be averaged over

the longer of the two periods.

The total benefits payable to a couple would be equal to 150 percent (75 percent for each member) of the amount that would be paid to a single person with an average monthly wage equal to the couple's combined wage. This 150 percent total is equal to what is paid to a

couple under present law and would be divided equally between the husband and the wife, and each would be paid an old-age insurance benefit. If either were entitled to disability insurance benefits, the disability benefit would be paid up to age 65, as under present law.

The provision would apply only if the husband and wife both elected to have their earnings combined, and once the couple elected to have their earnings combined, the arrangement would be permanent unless

they are divorced or one member of the couple dies.

Because each person (except when disability benefits are paid) getting benefits based on combined earnings would be receiving an oldage insurance benefit, benefits starting before age 65 would be reduced under the provisions of present law which apply to old-age insurance beneficiaries. In addition, the retirement test would be applied to each as it is under present law to people entitled to old-age benefits.

When a benefit based on combined earnings has been paid and either the husband or the wife dies, the widow's (or dependent widower's) benefit would be computed as under present law, except that the benefit would never be less than the amount based on the combined earnings that the survivor had been receiving before the death of the spouse. Thus, a widow would get a benefit equal to the largest of (A) the old-age benefit that was paid to her under the combined-earnings computation, (B) the benefit that could be paid to her on the basis of her own earnings without regard to the combined-earnings provision, or (C) the widow's benefit payable to her without regard to the combined-earnings provision.

#### Liberalization of the retirement test

Under present law, if a beneficiary under age 72 earns more than \$1,680 in a year, \$1 less in benefits is paid for each \$2 of earnings between \$1,680 and \$2,880 and for each \$1 of earnings above \$2,880. However, full benefits are paid, regardless of the amount of annual earnings, for any month in which the beneficiary neither works for wages of more than \$140 nor renders substantial services in selfemployment. Under the bill, beginning in 1972, a beneficiary would receive the full amount of his benefits each month if his annual earnings did not exceed \$2,000; the bill would also increase from \$140 to \$166.66% the amount of wages a beneficiary may earn in a given month and still get full benefits for that month. In addition, your committee's bill would provide that only \$1 in benefits would be withheld for each \$2 of earnings above \$2,000, regardless of how high the earnings might be. This change would assure that the more a beneficiary works and earns, the more spendable income (that is, social security benefits plus earnings after taxes) he will have.

The bill would also change the retirement test as it applies in the year in which a worker reaches age 72. Under present law, benefits are not withheld under the test for months when the person is age 72 or older. However, in the year in which a beneficiary reaches age 72, earnings in and after the month in which he reaches age 72 are counted in determining his annual earnings and thus have an effect on whether benefits are reduced or withheld for the months before he reached age 72. Many beneficiaries believe that earnings after they reach age 72 are not counted under the retirement test; as a result, they are entitled to less in benefits than they expected and some may find that they have been overpaid because of this misunderstanding. Your com-

mittee's bill would provide that only amounts earned before the month in which the beneficiary became 72 would be used in determining his earnings for the year. A self-employed person would have his self-employment earnings for the year prorated to each month in his taxable year, in applying the provision.

# Dependent widower's benefits at age 60

Under present law, an aged widow can become entitled to widow's insurance benefits at age 60, but an aged dependent widower cannot become entitled to dependent widower's benefits until age 62. The 1965 amendments lowered the age of eligibility for widows from 62 to 60 but did not change the age of eligibility for dependent widowers.

The committee believes that the age of eligibility should be the same for aged dependent widowers as for aged widows. Accordingly, the bill would lower the age of eligibility for aged dependent widower's benefits from 62 to 60. The benefits payable to an aged dependent widower who starts getting benefits before age 62 would be actuarially reduced, as are the benefits under present law for aged widows who come on the benefit rolls before age 62.

Because the benefit amount payable at age 60 would be reduced to take account of the longer period over which benefits would be paid, the payment of these benefits would not result in any additional long-range cost to the program.

# Childhood disability benefits

Under present law, a person can qualify for childhood disability benefits if he has been continuously disabled—as defined in the law—since before age 18 and is still disabled when his parent dies or becomes entitled to social security benefits. Your committee's bill would permit the payment of childhood disability benefits when the disability begins before age 22, rather than before age 18.

People under age 22 who become so seriously disabled that they are prevented from working generally depend on their parents for their future support. Your committee believes that it is appropriate and desirable to provide social security benefits for these disabled people after the insured parent dies, becomes disabled, or retires.

Your committee's bill would also permit reentitlement to childhood disability benefits for a person who had been entitled to childhood disability benefits and who again becomes disabled within 7 years after his benefits were terminated because of a period of substantial gainful employment or medical recovery. This change would afford a former childhood disability beneficiary an opportunity to work long enough to gain disability protection as a worker. Such a change would be consistent with present law which permits disabled widows and widowers to become reentitled to benefits if they again become disabled after recovering from an earlier disability.

recovering from an earlier disability.

These provisions would be effective with respect to benefits for months after December 1971. About 13,000 people—disabled children and their mothers—would immediately become eligible for benefits. About \$14 million in additional benefits would be paid out during the first full year.

# Continuation of child's benefits through the end of a semester

Under present law, the child's benefits paid to a full-time student end with the month in which he reaches age 22. Your committee

believes that this provision of the law causes an unnecessary hardship for students who reach age 22 during a school term. Accordingly, your committee's bill includes a provision, effective in January 1972, under which the payment of benefits to a student who has not received, or completed the requirements for, a degree from a 4-year college or university would continue through the end of the school term in which his 22d birthday occurs. If the educational institution in which he is enrolled is not operated on a semester or quarter system, benefits would continue until the month following the completion of the course in which he is enrolled or for two calendar months after the month in which he reached age 22, whichever occurs first.

During the first full year about 55,000 students would have their benefits continued under this provision; about \$16 million in addi-

tional benefits would be paid out in the first full year.

Benefits for a child entitled on the record of more than one worker

Under present law, a child entitled to benefits based on the earnings record of more than one worker gets benefits on only one earnings record—the record of the worker with the highest primary insurance amount.

In cases where a child is entitled to benefits based on the earnings record of more than one worker, the amount of his benefit based on the earnings record of the worker who has the highest primary insurance amount is sometimes smaller than the benefit based on the earnings record of another worker on whose record he is also entitled. He is, however, paid the smaller amount.

This situation can arise because a child who is entitled to benefits based on the earnings record of a retired or disabled worker gets a benefit equal to 50 percent of the worker's primary insurance amount, while a child who is entitled to benefits based on the earnings record of a deceased worker gets a benefit equal to 75 percent of the deceased worker's primary insurance amount.

When the present provision was enacted, a child's benefit was always 50 percent of the worker's primary insurance amount, whether the worker was living or dead, so that the highest possible benefit was always the benefit based on the highest primary insurance amount. Subsequent changes increased a surviving child's benefit (but not that for a child of a living worker) to 75 percent of the primary insurance amount.

The bill would provide that a child who is entitled to benefits on the earnings record of more than one worker would get benefits based on the earnings record which results in paying him the highest amount, if the payment would not reduce the benefit of any other individual who is entitled to benefits based on that earnings record. (Entitlement of a child on the earnings record that will give the child the highest benefit could otherwise result in a reduction of the benefits for other people entitled on the same earnings record because of the family maximum limitation.)

The provision would be effective for January 1972.

Eligibility of a child adopted by an old-age or disability insurance beneficiary

Your committee's bill would change the eligibility requirements for child's benefits in the case of adoption by old-age and disability

insurance beneficiaries to provide uniform rules. Under present law, a child (other than a natural child or a stepchild) who is adopted by a worker getting old-age insurance benefits can get child's benefits based on the worker's earnings if the following conditions are met:

(1) the adoption took place within 2 years after the worker

became entitled to old-age benefits,

(2) the child was receiving at least one-half of his support from the worker for the year before the worker became entitled to benefits, and

(3) either the child was living with the worker in or before the month in which the worker filed application for old-age benefits or the worker had instituted adoption proceedings in or before that month.

There is no provision in the law which would allow a child to get child's benefits when he is adopted by a worker more than 2 years after the worker becomes entitled to old-age benefits.

In contrast, a child who is adopted by a worker getting disability insurance benefits can get benefits regardless of whether he was being supported by the worker when the worker became disabled, and regardless of when the adoption took place, if all of the following requirements are met:

(1) The adoption took place under the supervision of a child-

placement agency;

(2) The adoption was decreed by a court of competent jurisdiction within the United States;

(3) The worker resided continuously in the United States for at

least 1 year immediately preceding the adoption; and

(4) The adoption occurred prior to the child's reaching age 18. Alternatively, if the child was adopted by a worker getting disability insurance benefits within 2 years after the worker began to get benefits, the child can get benefits if either the worker instituted adoption proceedings in or before the month when he became disabled or the child was living with the worker in that month.

Your committee believes that the provisions described above are unnecessarily complex and that the law should be changed so that eligibility of children adopted by retired workers and children adopted by disabled workers would be determined under common rules. At the same time, your committee believes that benefits for a child who is adopted by a worker already getting old-age or disability benefits should be paid only when the child lost a source of support because his parent retired or became disabled, and that the law should include safeguards against abuse through adoption of children solely to qualify them for benefits. The committee has included in the bill a provision that it believes will accomplish these objectives.

Under the bill, benefits would be payable to a child who is adopted by an old-age or disability insurance beneficiary if the following

conditions are met:

(1) The child lived with the worker in the United States for the year before the worker became disabled or entitled to an old-age or disability insurance benefit;

(2) The child received at least one-half of his support from

the worker for that year;

(3) The child was under age 18 at the time he began living

with the worker; and

(4) The adoption was decreed by a court of competent jurisdiction within the United States.

A child who was born in the 1-year period during which he would otherwise be required to have been living with and receiving at least one-half of his support from the beneficiary would be deemed to meet the living-with and support requirements if he was living with the beneficiary in the United States and receiving at least one-half of his support from the beneficiary for substantially all of the period occurring after the child was born.

The provision would be effective for benefits for January 1968 if an application is filed before the close of the sixth month after the month of enactment. Otherwise the provision would be effective on

enactment.

# Nontermination of child's benefits by reason of adoption

Under present law, a child's entitlement to benefits ends if he is adopted unless he is adopted by (1) his natural parent, (2) his natural parent's spouse jointly with the natural parent, (3) the worker (e.g., a stepparent) on whose earnings the child is getting benefits, or (4) a stepparent, grandparent, aunt, uncle, brother, or sister after the death of the worker on whose earnings the child is getting benefits.

Your committee believes that in many cases adoptions by a relative more distant than those specified in the law or by an unrelated person are undertaken to secure for a child the legal and psychological advantages of adoption within a close family group and that it is inappropriate to deprive the child of his social security benefits because of these adoptions. Accordingly, the bill provides for the continuation of the payment of benefits to an entitled child who is adopted, regardless of who adopts him.

The provision would be effective with the month the bill is enacted. A child whose entitlement to benefits was terminated because he was adopted and who, except for such adoption, would still be entitled to benefits may, upon filing proper application, become re-entitled

to benefits.

#### Benefits for a child based on the earnings record of a grandparent

Your committee's bill adds a new provision to the law so that the grandchild of a worker (or of his spouse) can. under certain circumstances, qualify for child's insurance benefits. There is no provision now in the law that provides benefits for a child based on the earnings

of a person other than his parent or stepparent.

Your committee believes that the present provisions do not provide sufficient protection for many children. There are a significant number of children whose parents are deceased and who are cared for and supported by a grandparent. It seems reasonable and equitable to provide benefits for a child in such cases when his grandparent retires, becomes disabled or dies. Your committee has included in its bill a

provision that would accomplish this objective.

Your committee's bill also modifies the benefit eligibility requirements, as they would apply to grandchildren, for a child who is adopted after a worker's death by his surviving spouse. In order to qualify for benefits under present law, the child must be adopted within 2 years of the worker's death if the worker had not instituted adoption proceedings before his death, and the child must not have been receiving regular contributions toward his support from any person other than the worker or his spouse or from a public or private welfare organization which furnishes services or assistance for children.

Your committee believes that while these requirements are appropriate and desirable in most cases, they are too restrictive for grand-children and serve to deny benefits to grandchildren in cases where benefits ought to be paid. Accordingly, your committee's bill would modify these requirements as they would apply to grandchildren.

Under your committee's bill, a grandchild of a worker, or of his spouse, could qualify for child's insurance benefits if: (1) the child was living with, and receiving at least one-half of his support from the worker for the year immediately before the worker became disabled, or became entitled to old-age or disability insurance benefits, or died; (2) the child began living with the worker before he attained age 18; and (3) at the time the worker became disabled or became entitled to old-age or disability benefits or died the child's natural or adopting parents or stepparents were not alive, or the child was adopted by the worker's surviving spouse after the worker's death and the child's natural or adopting parent or stepparrent was not living in the worker's household and making regular contributions toward the child's support at the time the worker died.

A child who was born in the 1-year period during which he would otherwise be required to have been living with and receiving at least one-half of his support from the grandparent would be deemed to meet the requirement if he was living with the grandparent in the United States and receiving at least one-half of his support from the grandparent for substantially all of the period occurring after the child was born.

The provision would be effective for months after December 1971. Evidence of adoption for child's insurance benefits

Your committee has been informed that under certain circumstances some applicants for child's insurance benefits have had serious problems complying with the current practices of the Social Security Administration relating to evidence of adoption. It is not always possible for people to supply a certified copy of an adoption decree issued by a proper court because, some courts seal the adoption records and generally will not issue the certified copies called for by the regulations. In order to cure this situation, the committee received proposals for remedial legislation. During consideration of these legislative proposals, the committee was assured by officials of the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare that the regulations would be changed to provide specifically that a birth certificate issued as a result of the adoption would be considered adequate evidence of the adoption in every case. Because of this assurance, your committee is not recommending a legislative cure for this problem at this time.

Elimination of the support requirements for divorced women

Your committee is concerned that there are a number of divorced women who cannot qualify for social security benefits because they cannot meet the support requirement in the law. Benefits are payable to a divorced wife age 62 or older and a divorced widow age 60 or older if her marriage lasted at least 20 years before the divorce, and to a surviving divorced mother. In order to qualify for any of these benefits a divorced woman is required to show that: (1) she was receiving at least one-half of her support from her former husband; (2) she was receiving substantial contributions from her former husband pursuant to a written agreement; or (3) there was a court order in effect providing for substantial contributions to her support by her former husband.

In some States the courts are prohibited from providing for alimony, and in these States a divorced woman is precluded from meeting the third support requirement. Even in States which allow alimony, the court may have decided at the time of the divorce that the wife was not in need of financial support. Moreover, a divorced woman's eligibility for social security benefits may depend on the advice she received at the time of her divorce. If a woman accepted a property settlement in lieu of alimony, she could, in effect, have disqualified herself for divorced wife's, divorced widow's, or surviving divorced mother's benefits.

The intent of providing benefits to divorced women is to protect women whose marriages are dissolved when they are far along in years—particularly housewives who have not been able to work and earn social security protection of their own. Your committee believes that the support requirements of the law have operated to deprive some divorced women of the protection they should have received and, therefore, recommends that these requirements be eliminated, effective January 1, 1972. The requirement that the marriage of a divorced wife or widow must have lasted for at least 20 years before the divorce would not be changed.

About 10,000 women would immediately become eligible for benefits under this provision. About \$18 million in benefits would be

paid out in the first full year.

Waiver of duration-of-relationship requirement in certain cases of remarriage

To qualify for survivors' benefits under present law, a worker's widow or widower who is not the natural or adoptive parent of a child of the worker must have been married to the worker for a period of not less than 9 months immediately prior to the day on which the worker died (except where death was accidental or in the line of duty in a Uniformed Service, in which case the period is 3 months). A stepchild must have been the stepchild of the worker for a similar period.

This duration-of-relationship requirement is included in the law as a general precaution against the payment of benefits where the marriage was undertaken to secure benefit rights. Your committee, however, believes that in certain situations the purpose of paying benefits to widows, widowers and stepchildren is being defeated by the application of the duration-of-relationship requirements. In some cases of divorce and remarriage, the requirements were met at the time of the divorce but the subsequent remarriage was too recent for the requirements to be met on the basis of the time elapsing between the date of the remarriage and the date of the worker's death. It does not seem appropriate that benefits should be denied in such cases. Accordingly, your committee has included in its bill a provision which would waive, effective with benefits for January 1972, the duration-of-relationship requirement in present law for entitlement to benefits as a worker's widow, widower, or stepchild in cases where the worker and his spouse were previously married, divorced, and then remarried, the relationship existed at the time of the worker's death, and the duration-of-relationship requirement would have been met if the worker had died on the date when he was divorced from his spouse.

Waiting period for disability benefits

Your committee's bill would reduce the waiting period for disability insurance benefits by one month. Under present law, entitlement to disability benefits cannot begin until after a worker has been disabled throughout a waiting period of 6 consecutive full months. For example, if a worker becomes disabled on January 10, the waiting period is the 6 full months February through July; his first month of entitlement to benefits is August, and the first benefit check is payable early in September. No benefit is payable, however, unless the disability is expected to last (or has lasted) at least 12 consecutive months or to result in death; this latter provision would not be changed by your committee's bill.

While many workers have some protection against loss of income due to sickness or disability under various public or private plans (such as group policies, sick-leave plans, etc.), such protection usually expires before the end of the present disability waiting period. Reducing the waiting period from 6 months to 5 months would diminish the financial hardships faced by those workers who have little or no savings or other resources to fall back on during the early months of

long-term total disability.

The provision would be effective January 1, 1972. About 950,000 people—disabled workers and their dependents and disabled widows and widowers—would receive increased benefits in the first full year as a result of this provision. About \$105 million in additional benefits would be paid out during the first full year.

Disability insured status for individuals who are blind

To be insured for disability protection under present law, a worker must be fully insured and meet a requirement of substantial recent covered work. Generally, to meet the latter requirement, a disabled worker needs at least 20 quarters of social security coverage during the period of 40 calendar quarters ending with the quarter in which he became disabled; a special provision takes into account the fact that workers who are disabled while young may have been in the work

force for a relatively short time.

Your committee's bill would extend social security disability protection to additional blind persons by exempting them from the requirement of recent attachment to covered work. A blind person would be insured for social security disability benefits and a disability freeze if he is fully insured—that is, he has quarters of coverage, acquired at any time, equal to the number of years elapsed after 1950 (or the year he reached age 21, if later) and up to the year in which he became disabled, except that he could not be insured with less than 6 quarters of coverage and would in no case need more than 40 quarters of coverage to be insured. This requirement would permit blind persons to be insured for disability protection on a basis comparable to that for retirement and survivor benefit protection. This seems to be a reasonable basis for qualifying for disability protection on the part of a blind individual who faces special employment problems.

The provision would be effective for January 1972. About 30,000 persons—blind workers and their dependents—would become innediately eligible for monthly benefits. About \$29 million in additional

benefits would be paid out during the first full year.

Application for disability benefits after disabled worker's death

Under present law, an application must be filed with the Social Security Administration to establish entitlement to social security disability insurance benefits by the disabled worker or, if he is unable to file an application, by another person on his behalf. In either event, entitlement to disability insurance benefits cannot be established

unless the application is filed during the worker's lifetime.

In most cases a timely application is filed by or on behalf of a disabled worker who meets the other eligibility conditions of the law, so that the benefit rights of both the disabled worker and his dependents are protected. However, in a relatively few cases a disabled worker who would have been eligible for benefits dies before an application is filed and his disability benefit rights are lost. As a result, the living expenses of the disabled worker during the period of his disablement may remain unpaid and become obligations of his survivors.

Your committee has therefore included in the bill a provision which would permit disability insurance benefits to be paid if an application is filed within 3 months after the month of the death of a disabled worker. Benefit payments which would have been payable upon application by the disabled worker would then be payable for up to twelve months prior to the month in which an application is filed. An application filed within the 3-month period would also permit entitlement

to dependents' benefits to be established.

The provision would apply in cases of deaths occurring after December 31, 1969. In cases in which the disabled worker died after December 31, 1969 but prior to enactment of the bill, an application could be filed within three months after the month of enactment and the application would be deemed to have been filed in the month of death.

Disability benefits affected by the receipt of workmen's compensation

Your committee's bill would modify present provisions under which social security disability benefits are reduced in some cases where the

disabled worker is also receiving workmen's compensation.

Under present law, when a disabled worker qualifies for both workmen's compensation and social security disability benefits, the social security benefits payable to him and his family are reduced by the amount, if any, that the total monthly benefits payable under the two programs exceed 80 percent of his average current earnings before he became disabled. A worker's average current earnings for this purpose are the larger of (a) the average monthly earnings used for computing his social security benefits, or (b) his average monthly earnings in employment or self-employment covered by social security during the 5 consecutive years of highest covered earnings after 1950, computed without regard to the limitations which specify a maximum amount of earnings creditable and taxable under social security. The objective of these provisions is to avoid the payment of combined amounts of social security benefits and workmen's compensation payments that would be excessive in comparison with the beneficiary's earnings before he became disabled.

While your committee subscribes to the principle underlying the offset provisions—that the combined benefits should be somewhat less than the worker's earnings before he became disabled—it believes

that the computation of average current earnings does not, in some cases, realistically reflect the worker's earnings level before he became disabled. The bill therefore provides a third alternative, under which a worker's average earnings could be based on his highest year's earnings in the period consisting of the calendar year in which he became disabled and the 5 years immediately preceding that year.

The new provision is applicable to monthly benefits for months

after December 1971.

### Wage credits for members of the uniformed services

Under present law, social security coverage is provided on a contributory basis for people who serve in the uniformed services after 1956. The 1967 social security amendments provided (in addition to the contributory coverage of basic pay) noncontributory wage credits, usually \$300 for each calendar quarter of military service after 1967, to take account of the wages in kind that servicemen receive.

The bill would extend the 1967 provision to cover service during the period 1957-67. This would provide noncontributor credit for service on active duty for all years that military service has been covered under social security, and would avoid the serious impairment of social security protection that now exists for those people (and their families) whose benefits are based on basic pay only for years of

military service during the period from 1957 through 1967.

Your committee's bill also would simplify the way the wage credit is computed. Under present law, a member of a uniformed service receives a noncontributory wage credit of \$100 for any calendar quarter in which his basic pay for the quarter was \$100 or less, \$200 for any calendar quarter in which his basic pay was more than \$100 but not more than \$200, and \$300 for any calendar quarter in which his basic pay was more than \$200. Under the bill, the noncontributory wage credits would be \$300 for every calendar quarter of service in which a person receives basic pay, regardless of the amount of basic pay.

The cost of additional social security benefits that would be paid as a result of the enactment of these provisions would be financed from general revenues, on the same basis as the benefits resulting from

the present noncontributory wage credits for years after 1967.

#### Optional determination of self-employment earnings

The present law provides social security credit to self-employed people on the basis of their net earnings from the operation of a trade or business. However, no credit is allowed for any year unless net earnings are at least \$400 for the taxable year. An optional method of determining self-employment earnings is provided for farmers. The option provides that when a farmer's gross income:

(1) is not more than \$2,400, his net earnings may, at his option,

be deemed to be two-thirds of the gross income; or

(2) is more than \$2,400 and the net earnings are less than \$1,600, his net earnings may, at his option, be deemed to be \$1,600. When this optional method is used to determine self-employment

carnings no social security credit is given if the deemed self-employ-

ment earnings are less than \$400.

Your committee believes that a similar option should be provided for all self-employed people. The bill, therefore, would provide an option that may be used by people who are regularly self-employed. The option would permit them to determine their nonfarm self-

employment earnings for social security purposes as the smaller of: (1) their gross income or (2) \$1600. The nonfarm option, however, could not be used more than 5 times by any self-employed person, and it could be used in any taxable year only if the person had actual net earnings from self-employment of \$400 or more in at least 2 out of the 3 immediately preceding taxable years. An individual could use the optional method only if his actual net earnings from nonfarm self-employment were less than \$1600 and less than two-thirds of his gross income—he could not use the optional method to report and pay the social security taxes on an amount less than his actual net earnings. These limitations should assure that the special method of determining net earnings from nonfarm self-employment would not be available to people who may have insubstantial amounts of income in a year from a hobby or similar activity.

This provision would be effective for taxable years beginning after

1971

Payments by an employer to the survivor or estate of a former employee

Under present law, social security taxes must be paid on wages paid to an employee's estate or survivor after the year the employee dies even though the wages cannot be used to determine eligibility for or the amount of social security benefits. These provisions have worked a hardship, particularly in the case of deceased life insurance salesmen whose renewal commissions have been taxed for many years after their death without increasing the social security benefits of their survivors. Accordingly, your committee's bill would exclude from the definition of wages amounts earned by a worker in covered employment which are paid after the year in which he died.

The provision would be effective with regard to any payment

made after December 1971.

Coverage of members of religious orders who have taken a vow of poverty

Under present law, the services performed by a member of a religious order who has taken a vow of poverty which are in the exercise of the duties required by the order are excluded from coverage under social security. Your committee's bill provides that such service would be covered under social security as employment for the order (or for an autonomous subdivision of the order) if the order (or subdivision) irrevocably elects coverage for its entire active membership, and if the order also makes an irrevocable election to cover its lay employees.

In 1967 the House passed legislation extending social security coverage to members of religious orders under a vow of poverty. However, when the matter was considered in the Senate, representatives of religious orders requested time for further study of the effects of coverage. The provision was not included in the Senate-passed bill which went to conference and the conference agreed to postpone the matter pending study by the orders. The provision for extending coverage to members of religious orders which is included in your committee's bill takes into account the recommendations which religious

orders proposed after completing their study.

Your committee's bill provides that the wages for social security purposes would be the fair market value of any board, lodging, clothing, and other perquisites furnished to the member, and that the order which elects coverage would file social security reports on such wages and pay the employer and employee social security contributions on them. Your committee has been informed that the value of items furnished by an order do not vary significantly from member to member, so that the order would generally report a uniform wage for each member. The bill establishes \$100 a month as the minimum amount of wages which may be reported by an order for each of its members. Your committee expects, however, that the minimum figure would not be used in those instances where it represents less than the fair market value of the items furnished the member.

Under present law, a nonprofit organization which provides coverage for its lay employees, and a State which provides coverage for its employees or the employees of any of its political subdivisions are permitted to provide the coverage retroactively for up to 5 years. Such a provision enables the employer to reduce the adverse effects of late entry into social security coverage on the newly covered employees. It seems reasonable to permit the religious orders the same opportunity to protect their members. Accordingly, the bill would permit each order (or autonomous subdivision) to provide up to 5 years of retroactive coverage for those persons who were active members when the work was performed and who are alive when the election is made.

Improve coverage of U.S. citizens who are self-employed outside the United States and retain residence in the United States

Under present law, social security coverage of self-employment performed by a U.S. citizen outside the United States is subject to major restrictions because coverage is governed by provisions which were designed to define liability for income tax purposes. In computing earnings from self-employment, a U.S. citizen who retains his residence in the United States but who is present in a foreign country or countries for 510 days (approximately 17 months) out of 18 consecutive months, must exclude the first \$20,000 of earned income for income tax and social security purposes.

Some self-employed U.S. citizens—e.g., free-lance newspapermen or news commentators—work outside the United States for long periods at a time before returning to the United States. Such citizens usually had social security coverage before they went abroad. The interruption or reduction of their coverage, because they must exclude their carned income up to \$20,000 a year, in some instances has an adverse effect on the social security protection of the worker and his family.

Your committee's bill provides that for social security purposes U.S. citizens who are self-employed outside the United States and who retain their residence in the United States will compute their net earnings from self-employment in the same way as those who are self-employed in the United States; the present exclusion for income tax purposes will no longer apply with respect to the self-employment ax but will continue to apply for income-tax purposes. The bill would not affect the exclusions (for either social security or income-tax purposes) taken by U.S. citizens who have established residence in a foreign country.

The provisions would be effective for taxable years beginning after

Coverage of Federal Home Loan Bank employees

The Social Security Amendments of 1956 provided for coverage of employees of the Federal Home Loan Banks on condition that their

retirement system be coordinated with social security and that the plan for coordination be submitted to the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare and approved by him before July 1, 1957; this condition was not fulfilled.

The Federal Home Loan Bank Board has again requested that social security coverage be extended to the approximately 500 employees of Federal Home Loan Banks. These employees are eligible for retirement coverage under the Savings Association Retirement Fund which your committee is informed now provides coverage that is coordinated with the benefits provided under the social security program.

The bill would extend coverage to all services performed in the employ of a Federal Home Loan Bank starting with the first calendar quarter which begins on or after the date of enactment. Persons who are Bank employees on the first day of such calendar quarter would also have any services they performed in the employ of any of the Banks after the last day of the sixth calendar year before the year of enactment covered, but only if the employer and employee social security contributions on account of such services are paid by July 1, 1972, or by such later date as may be provided under an agreement entered into between the Banks and the Secretary of the Treasury.

#### Coverage of policemen and firemen in Idaho

The bill would make applicable to the State of Idaho the provision in the Social Security Act which makes social security coverage available, in certain jurisdictions specifically named in the law, to policemen and firemen who are in positions covered under a State or local retirement system, on much the same basis as to other persons under retirement systems. Under present law, the provision applies to 19 States, Puerto Rico, and to all interstate instrumentalities. The 19 States which are now included in the provision are Alabama, California, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, Kansas, Maine, Maryland, New York, North Carolina, North Dakota, Oregon, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Vermont, Virginia, and Washington.

In Idaho, and in other States not named in the law, social security coverage is not avilable to policemen who are in positions covered under a State or local retirement system. It is available for firemen under a retirement system in these States, but only if special conditions set forth in the Federal law are met. The Governor of the State must certify that the overall benefit protection of the group of firemen which would be brought under coverage would be improved by reason of the extension of coverage to the group, and coverage can be extended only by means of a referendum in which only firemen may vote.

#### Coverage of certain hospital employees in New Mexico

Your committee's bill would permit the State of New Mexico, within 3 months after the month of enactment, to provide social security coverage, under its coverage agreement with the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare, for employees of certain public hospitals without regard to certain provisions of the Social Security Act which pertain to the conditions under which a State may bring a group of employees under social security coverage.

As a result of a misunderstanding within the State, certain hospital employees were covered under the New Mexico Public Employees Retirement Association for a short period of time, although the coverage was unintended as far as the hospital and the hospital employees

were concerned. This period of coverage under the State retirement system prevents the employees in question from obtaining social security coverage because of the provisions of the Social Security Act that are designed to protect the rights of such employees against the replacement of coverage under a State or local government retirement system by social security coverage. The unusual situation in New Mexico is not the type of situation to which these provisions, designed to provide safeguards for retirement system members, were directed.

Coverage of certain employees of the Government of Guam

Employees of the Government of Guam are not covered under social security. (Employees of private employers in Guam have been covered since 1960 on the same basis as workers in the U.S.)

There are about 1,500 employees of the Government of Guam classified as temporary or intermittent employees who are not covered under social security and who are excluded from coverage under the government retirement system. As a result, they have no protection under any government retirement system. Under present law, social security coverage can be provided for these employees only if it is provided for employees covered under the Government of Guam retirement system. The Government of Guam has requested that coverage be provided for temporary and intermittent employees who are excluded from coverage under the government retirement system.

Your committee's bill would add a provision to cover on a compulsory basis the services of temporary and intermittent employees of the Government of Guam who are excluded from coverage under any retirement system established by the Governments of the United States or Guam. Services performed as members of the Legislature of Guam, or as an elected official, or in a hospital or penal institution by a patient or inmate thereof could not be covered under this amendment.

The provision would be effective for services performed on and after the first day of the calendar quarter which begins on or after the date of enactment.

Exclusion from coverage of students employed by a nonprofit organization auxiliary to schools, colleges, and universities

Under present law, services of a student performed in the employ of a private nonprofit organization which is auxiliary to a public or private school, college, or university at which the student is enrolled and in regular attendance are generally covered under social security. These auxiliary nonprofit organizations may operate such enterprises as bookstores, housing, publishing, or food service. It has come to the attention of your committee that an unfair situation exists when services performed by students in the employ of schools, colleges, or universities in which they are enrolled and in regular attendance are excluded from social security coverage while services performed by students for a nonprofit organization established for the benefit of the same schools, colleges, or universities are covered.

Therefore, your committee's bill provides for the exclusion from social security coverage of services of students performed in the employ of an auxiliary nonprofit organization which is organized and operated exclusively for the benefit of and supervised or controlled by the school,

college, or university. However, the provision would not exclude from coverage services of a student for an auxiliary nonprofit organization connected with a public school, college, or university whose student employees are covered under social security pursuant to a State coverage agreement with the Secretary.

This provision would be effective with respect to services performed

after December 31, 1971.

#### Coverage of Federal employment

Your committee has long been concerned because the exclusion of Federal civil service employment from social security coverage has given rise to inequities and gaps in protection involving large numbers of workers whose work is divided between periods of employment covered by social security and periods covered by the civil service retirement system. In such cases, the resulting benefit protection for the worker and his family tends to be haphazaid and uneven.

This situation has been studied over the years by the executive agencies that have responsibility for the social security and civil service retirement systems. Various proposals to coordinate the two systems in one way or another have been advanced. Although each of these proposals has had some merit, none has been completely ac-

ceptable.

The most recent recommendation was made by the 1971 Advisory Council on Social Security. It included in its report a recommendation that Congress consider a modification of an earlier proposal for transferring earnings credits between the social security and civil service retirement systems. Under the Council's recommendations, civil service earnings credits would be transferred to the social security system when there is no eligibility under the civil service system and social security credits would be transferred to the civil service system when a person eligible under that system was not also elibigle under social security. This recommendation was presented to the committee late in its consideration of the current legislation. There was insufficient time for the committee to consider the complex issues involved. Moreover, the legislation would require amendments to both the civil service and social security laws and any recommendation to amend the Civil Service Retirement Act would have to be approved by the Committee on Post Office and Civil Service.

Accordingly, your committee has directed the Social Security Administration to give further study to ways in which an acceptable, limited coordination between the two programs could be achieved. The committee has instructed the Social Security Administration to work with the staffs of this committee and the Committee on Post Office and Civil Service in formulating a workable plan and to consult with and obtain the views of the Civil Service Commission and organizations of federal employees on what would constitute a workable proposal. The results of this study are to be submitted to the Congress

not later than July 1, 1972.

Penalty for furnishing false information to obtain a social security number

Under present law, criminal penalties are provided for any person who makes a false representation to obtain payment of social security benefits which are not due him. These penalties may be applied, for example, if a person attempts to get benefits based on his own earnings under more than one social security number, or to avoid having his benefits withheld under the retirement test by drawing benefits under one number while continuing to work for high earnings under a false name and another number, or to continue to draw disability benefits while engaged in substantial gainful employment under another name and number. Penalties are not provided in the social security law for those individuals who give false information in order to secure multiple social security numbers with an intent to conceal their true identities.

The use of false names, aided by a social security number issued in false names, has led to a number of problems in both private business and the administration of Government programs. Therefore, the bill would provide criminal penalties if an individual, with intent to deceive the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare as to his true identity, knowingly and willfully furnishes false information on an application for a social security number for the purpose of obtaining more than one number or of establishing a social security record under a different name. The penalty would not be applicable, however, if the person obtaining more than one social security number provides sufficient information to permit the Social Security Administration to identify all the numbers issued to such person so that all of his wage credits may be combined.

Guarantee that no family would have its total family benefits decreased as a result of an increase in the worker's benefit

In the past when general benefit increases have been enacted it has been possible, in certain cases, for a family on the benefit rolls when the increase is effective to have the total family benefits decreased slightly. Such a decrease can also occur under present law when a worker's benefit is increased as a result of a recomputation of his benefit amount to include additional earnings. Those decreases occur in cases where the family maximum provision applies and the worker's benefit is actuarially reduced (because it started before age 65).

A special provision was included in the 1969 amendments to prevent a decrease in total family benefits from occurring under the general benefit increase that was included in those amendments. But the provision was only temporary in effect—it applied only to the general benefit increase under the 1969 amendments, and only so long as at least one family member who was entitled before January 1971 on the basis of an application filed before January 1971 continues to get benefits.

The bill provides that no family would have its total family benefits decreased because of an increase in the worker's benefit resulting from any general benefit increase that may be effective in the future or from a recomputation of the worker's benefit to include additional earnings and also makes the special provision included in the 1969 amendments permanent.

Increase of amounts in trust funds available to pay costs of rehabilitation services

Your committee's bill includes a provision which is intended to increase the number of social security disability beneficiaries who are rehabilitated and enabled to return to gainful employment. Under present law, the total amount of trust fund money that may be used in any year for reimbursing State agencies for the costs of rehabilitation

services provided disability beneficiaries may not exceed 1 percent of the social security disability benefits paid in the previous year. Your committee's bill would increase the authorization for use of trust fund money for rehabilitation in two steps—to 1.25 percent for fiscal year 1972, and to 1.5 percent for fiscal year 1973 and subsequent years. The Department of Health, Education, and Welfare has informed your committee that the savings to the trust funds resulting from the increased number of disability beneficiaries who would be rehabilitated and returned to employment would substantially exceed the additional costs of the rehabilitation services.

Authorization for the Managing Trustee of the social security trust funds to accept money gifts

There is no authorization in the law for the Managing Trustee of the social security trust funds (by law, the Secretary of the Treasury) to accept gifts and bequests made to the social security program. While unrestricted bequests can be deposited in the general funds of the Federal Government, bequests restricted to the social security program cannot be accepted without enactment of special legislation.

There is precedent in the law for the Government to accept gifts for special purposes. The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare can accept gifts for certain divisions of the Public Health Service (such as the National Library of Medicine, the National Cancer Institute, the National Heart Institute, and St. Elizabeths Hospital), and the

Cuban refugee program.

There have been some cases where money has been bequeathed to the social security trust funds. Because such a bequest cannot be accepted, confusion and delay in settling the estate may result. The Department points out that while the amount of money lost to the trust funds is insignificant, it seems unjustifiable that an act presumably motivated by appreciation for, and confidence in, a Government program should cause complicated and perhaps interminable legal problems for the survivors.

Your committee's bill, therefore, includes a provision which would authorize the Managing Trustee of the social security trust funds to accept money gifts or bequests made unconditionally to the trust funds or to the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, or any part or officer thereof, for the benefit of any of the social security trust funds or any activity financed through such funds, and to deposit

such gifts or bequests in the social security trust funds.

Under this amendment, gifts would be credited to the particular trust fund designated by the donor (the old-age and survivors insurance trust fund, the disability insurance trust fund, the hospital insurance trust fund, or the supplementary medical insurance trust fund). If no fund is designated, the gift would be credited to the oldage and survivors insurance trust fund.

Recomputation of benefits based on combined railroad and social security earnings

A social security beneficiary may receive benefits in a given year based only on earnings in prior years; but his primary insurance amount is automatically recomputed from year to year if he has current earnings. Recomputation is provided for "if an individual has wages or self-employment income for a year after 1965". This wording has inadvertently created a problem when people are entitled

to benefits under both the social security and railroad retirement

systems.

A living individual with entitlement to both social security and railroad retirement benefits may receive benefits separately under both systems. If he dies, however, his survivors may receive benefits from only one system, based on his combined earnings under both systems. Thus, upon his death a recomputation is necessary. The language of the law has been interpreted as preventing the Social Security Administration from automatically recomputing survivor benefits based on combined social security and railroad retirement earnings where the deceased person retired before 1966 and had ne earnings after 1965. A specific provision in the law is needed to make it clear that survivor's benefits will continue to be based on the worker's combined social security and railroad earnings.

The bill would provide that a deceased individual who during his lifetime was entitled to social security benefits and railroad compensation and whose railroad remuneration and earnings under social security are, upon his death, to be combined for social security purposes would have his primary insurance amount recomputed on the basis of his combined earnings, whether or not he had earnings after

1965.

## Retroactive payment of disability benefits

Under a 1967 amendment certain disabled people were allowed to establish a period of disability—the so-called disability freeze—even though the period provided in the law for filing effective applications had terminated. This 1967 provision was designed to protect a limited number of people who, when the disability program was new, had been so severely disabled that they did not have the opportunity or ability to file an application.

Your committee has been informed that these people also lost benefits which would otherwise have been paid. Therefore, your committee's bill would provide for the payment of cash disability benefits for periods of disability prior to 1968 that have been established

by those persons under the 1967 amendment.

# B. PROVISIONS RELATING TO MEDICARE, MEDICAID, AND MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH PROGRAMS

#### 1. Eligibility and payment for benefits

(a) Coverage for disability beneficiaries under medicare.—Over the years your committee has given extensive consideration to proposals to provide health insurance protection under title XVIII for persons entitled as a result of disability to monthly cash benefits under the social security and railroad retirement programs. While your committee has always believed that there are compelling reasons for extending the protection of medicare to disability beneficiaries, it has in past years regretfully concluded that considerations of cost precluded recommending such an extension of coverage. Your committee believes, however, that the present unnet need for health insurance protection among the disabled of our Nation is so great that appropriate legislative action should no longer be deferred.

In an effort to ascertain the dimensions of the health insurance problem confronting the disabled and to evaluate all the possible approaches to providing or assuring adequate health insurance for such people, your committee has in recent years directed a number of Advisory councils to study this question and to report their findings and recommendations to the Congress. In each case, the council charged with responsibility for examining the issue has recommended the extension of medicare coverage to the disabled. Moreover, your committee believes that the findings on which these councils based their recommendations are too impressive to be ignored or minimized. It is clear, for example, that a major unmet need for health insurance protection exists among the disabled. Use of health services by people who are severely disabled is substantially higher than that by the nondisabled. Disabled workers receiving each benefits under the social security program use about seven times as much hospital care, and about three times as much physicians' services as does the nondisabled population. These facts account both for the great need for and the substantial costs of covering the disabled under medicare. Yet the disabled have limited incomes in comparison to those who are not disabled, and most disabled persons are unable financially to purchase adequate private health insurance protection, or to obtain such insurance at all.

Accordingly, your committee's bill would extend medicare protection to social security disability beneficiaries. Those covered would include disabled workers, disabled widows and disabled dependent widowers between the ages of 50 and 65, people aged 18 and over who receive social security benefits because they became disabled before reaching age 22, and disabled qualified railroad retirement annuitants.

While your committee has concluded that considerations of public policy dictate the extension of medicare protection to the disabled, your committee also believes, given the cost and financing considerations involved in such coverage, that it is imperative to proceed on a conservative basis. Consequently, your committee's bill would provide health insurance protection only after the disabled beneficiary has been entitled to social security disability benefits for not less than 24 consecutive months. Such an approach would help to keep program costs within reasonable bounds, avoid overlapping private health insurance protection, particularly in those cases where a disabled worker may continue his membership in a group insurance plan for a period of time following the onset of his disability, and minimize certain administrative problems that might otherwise arise in cases in which entitlement to disability benefits is not determined until some time after application is made because of delays due to the appellate process.

Moreover, this approach would provide assurance that the protection will be available to those whose disabilities have proven to be

severe and long lasting.

Under this provision of your committee's bill, medicare protection would begin with the later of (a) July 1972, or (b) the 25th consecutive month of the individual's entitlement to social security

disability benefits.

(b) Hospital insurance benefits for uninsured individuals not eligible under transitional provision.—Present law provides hospital insurance protection under the "special transitional provision" for people who are not qualified for each benefits under the social security or railroad retirement program. (The provision excludes an active or retired Federal employee, or the spouse of such an employee, who is covered or could have been covered under the provisions of the Federal Employees Health Benefits Act of 1959; aliens residing in the United States for less than 5 years; and people who have been convicted of a crime against the security of the United States, including subotage, espionage, treason, etc.) The "special transitional provision" covers people who are not qualified for each benefits under the social security or railroad retirement program and who reached age 65 before 1968 even though they had no work under social security (or in the railroad industry). Those who attained or will attain age 65 after 1967 must have had specified amounts of work under these programs in order to be eligible for hospital insurance protection. The transitional provision will phase out as of 1974 as persons attaining age 65 in that year must be insured for each benefits under one of the two programs

in order to be eligible for hospital insurance protection.

Since the transitional provision is designed to provide hospital insurance coverage for only a part (though a large part) of the uninsured aged and to eventually phase out, a portion of the aged, though small in number (as of July 1, 1971, it is estimated that this portion will number approximately 344,000 or 11/4 percent of the aged population), are and will be, for one reason or another, excluded from hospital insurance coverage. (The 344,000 people include 50,000 recent immigrants, who would continue to be excluded from coverage; 150,000 active or retired Federal employees, who are not eligible for the transitional provisions; and 144,000 others.) Although these ineligibles include a substantial number of people who were eligible for social security coverage but who did not elect (or whose employers did not elect) to be covered (including employees of State and local governments), they also include several other groups: (1) wives who have never worked under covered employment and whose husbands are eligible for hospital insurance under the transitional provision, (2) women who are not insured on their own account and who cannot qualify for dependent's benefits (such as dependent aged sisters of insured workers and the dependents of uninsured workers), and (3) workers, such as agricultural and domestic workers, whose earnings may have been so low or sporadic they were unable to acquire insured status.

Further, it has become very difficult for many in this group to obtain private hospital insurance comparable to coverage under medicare. Since the passage of the medicare law, private insurance companies have generally changed their hospital insurance plans available to people age 65 and over to make their coverage complementary to medicare. While there is generally some type of hospital insurance available to persons age 65 and over, most of that which is offered is in the form of specified cash payment insurance, paying from \$25 to \$200 per week for limited periods of hospitalization. Few private health insurance companies offer their regular hospital expense plans to the aged

Your committee's bill would make available hospital insurance coverage under medicare on a voluntary basis to persons age 65 and over, including Federal civil service employees or annuitants and their spouses, who are not entitled to such coverage under existing law. A State or any other public or private organization would be permitted to purchase such protection on a group basis for its retired or active employees age 65 and over. The intent is that the cost of such coverage would be fully financed by those who elect to enroll for this protection. Enrollees would pay a monthly premium based on the cost of hospital insurance protection for the uninsured group. The premium would be \$31 a month beginning with January 1972 and up to and including

June 1972, and would be recomputed each fiscal year and increased in the same proportion as the inpatient hospital deductible. The same restrictions on enrollment and reenrollment (including a 10-percent-peryear charge for late enrollment) would apply as now apply to enrollment for supplementary medical insurance (including the changes in such enrollment provisions made by other provisions in the bill).

Your committee's bill would provide that whenever a person enrolled for voluntary hospital insurance becomes eligible for such coverage as a result of becoming eligible for monthly cash social security or railroad retirement benefits or under the special transitional provision, his coverage under the provision would be terminated; and to insure that his hospital insurance coverage continued uninterrupted he would be deemed to have filed the application required for establishing hospital insurance under the other provision in the month he becomes eligible under the other provision.

The effective date for coverage provided under this provision would

be January 1, 1972.

(c) Amount of supplementary medical insurance premium.—Under present law, the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare is directed to determine and promulgate a premium in December of each year for individuals enrolled in the supplementary medical insurance program. The dollar amount of the premium is the amount the Secretary estimates to be necessary so that the aggregate premiums for the 12-month period commencing July 1 in the succeeding year will equal one-half of the total supplementary medical insurance program costs that will be payable during that fiscal year. (The Federal Government pays the other half of the costs by matching the premium amount paid by each enrollee.) During the first five years of the program it has been necessary to increase the premium almost 87 percent—from \$3 in July 1966 to a scheduled \$5.60 rate as of July 1971.

Your committee is concerned about the increasingly severe financial burden that the premium amount, established under this method, will come to represent in future years. The premium is not only likely to continue to rise significantly but will do so without regard to the ability of beneficiaries living on reduced retirement incomes to bear

the increased financial burden.

Accordingly, under your committee's bill, the supplementary medical insurance premium generally would increase in any given year only if monthly cash social security benefits had been increased in the interval since the premium was last increased. Moreover, the premium would rise by no more than the percentage by which cash benefits had been increased across the board (whether by act of Congress or automatically under the provision in the bill which provides automatic increases in cash benefits under certain cirumstances). Thus, enrollment in the supplementary medical insurance program would remain voluntary and premium payments by enrollees would still be required, but premiums would be increased only at times and by amounts that would be related to the beneficiary's ability to meet the cost.

The revised procedure for establishing the medical insurance premium would operate as follows. The medical insurance premium would be allowed to rise to \$5.60 on July 1, 1971, as presently scheduled. During December of 1971, and each year thereafter, the Secretary would be required, as he is under present law, to determine and promulgate the monthly premium amount for the 12-month period beginning the following July. As one step in determining the premium

amount, however, he would determine a monthly actuarial rate for aged enrollees representing the dollar amount he estimates will equal, in the aggregate over the 12-month period, one-half of the total benefit and administrative costs (plus a small contingency reserve) that the program will incur with respect to enrollees age 65 and over. The premium for all enrollees (including disability beneficiaries) would then be set to equal the lesser of (a) the actuarial rate described above or (b) the most recently promulgated premium rate, increased by the total percentage by which monthly cash benefits have increased or are scheduled to increase during the fiscal year to which such recently promulgated rate applies. When he promulgates the premium the Secretary would be required to issue a public statement setting forth the actuarial assumptions and bases used in arriving at the actuarial rate, and the drivation of the premium amount.

Your committee's bill would also authorize the appropriation from the general revenues of sufficient funds to meet all supplementary medical insurance program costs above those met by the aggregate

premium amounts paid by aged and disabled enrollees.

(d) Change in supplementary medical insurance deductible.—Under present law, a deductible is applied to the first \$50 of expenses incurred by a beneficiary for services of the type covered under the

supplementary medical insurance program.

Recognizing that medical costs have risen considerably since the beginning of the medicare program, your committee has concluded that it would be appropriate to increase the supplementary medical insurance deductible to \$60 as of January 1, 1972. Thus, beneficiaries would continue to bear a reasonably representative portion of their medical insurance costs. The \$60 figure is below the amount (\$70) that would be necessary to maintain the same relationship between the deductible and program costs as existed between \$50 and program

costs when the program began.

(e) Increase in lifetime reserve days and change in hospital insurance coinsurance amount under medicare.—Under present law, payment may be made for up to 90 days of inpatient hospital services furnished during a benefit period (spell of illness), with the beneficiary being responsible for an inpatient hospital deductible (currently \$60) and, beginning with the 61st day of his stay, a daily coinsurance amount equal to one-fourth of the inpatient hospital deductible (now \$15). In addition, present law provides each beneficiary with a nonrenewable lifetime reserve of 60 days of inpatient hospital coverage upon which he may draw after having exhausted the 90 days of covered care regularly available to him in a benefit period; a coinsurance amount equal to one-half of the inpatient hospital deductible is applicable to each lifetime reserve day used.

Your committee believes there is a need to more fully protect medicare beneficiaries against the very high costs associated with those illnesses that require prolonged use of inpatient hospital services; it has also been mindful of the need to promote the most effective possible utilization of such services and to maintain an awareness of the cost of hospital care among the beneficiaries of the program. To further the objective of the medicare program to protect the aged against the very heavy expenses of major illness, your committee's bill would provide for an increase from 60 to 120 in the number of "lifetime reserve" days for which inpatient hospital benefits may be paid. Thus, each medicare beneficiary would have available to him at least 210 days of covered

hospitalization, even if he had only one benefit period. As under present law, to guard against any possible unnecessary utilization of services, the beneficiary would be responsible for a coinsurance amount equal to one-half of the inpatient hospital deductible for each lifetime reserve day used. Your committee believes that this increase in the lifetime reserve would sufficiently protect the large majority of beneficiaries against the most expensive illnesses without, however, disrupting the intended effect of the benefit period provision, which is to provide some objective means for discontinuing benefit payments in those cases where the individual is more or less permanently institutionalized.

Your committee has also examined the cost-sharing requirements that were established at the time of medicare's enactment in order to determine whether they were accomplishing their intended purposes. Based on its examination, your committee has concluded that costsharing beginning at an earlier point in the benefit period than is required under present law would serve to increase the incentive for both beneficiaries and their physicians to participate in efforts to bring about more effective control of the utilization and cost of inhospital services. Your committee's bill provides for the application of a daily coinsurance amount equal to one-eighth of the inpatient hospital deductible for each day of inpatient hospital coverage during a benefit period beginning with the 31st day and through the 60th day. The coinsurance amount for the 61st through the 90th day would remain, as under present law, equal to one-fourth of the inpatient hospital deductible. Present experience indicates that about 10 percent of the hospitalized aged use more than 30 days of hospital care during a benefit period and it may very well be that in some of those cases care beyond 30 days is really not needed.

These amendments would be effective with respect to inpatient hospital services furnished during hospital stays beginning after

December 31, 1971.

(f) Automatic enrollment for supplementary medical insurance.— Under present law an individual eligible for supplementary medical insurance must take the positive action of enrolling to obtain coverage for such insurance. If he does not act within the time imposed by the law, he stands to lose several months of medical insurance coverage. In recognition of the importance of timely enrollment, a concerted effort is made to notify people of their opportunity to enroll in medical insurance as they become eligible and, in fact, nearly 96 percent of eligible individuals are enrolled. Some few, however, fail to enroll at their first opportunity due, for example, to inattention, or because they are incapable of managing their own affairs.

Your committee believes, therefore, that it would be good public policy to assure that individuals are enrolled for supplementary medical insurance when they are first eligible, unless they elect not to have the coverage. Accordingly, under your committee's bill, the aged and the disabled would be automatically enrolled for supplementary medical insurance as they become entitled to hospital insurance. Persons already receiving monthly social security or railroad retirement benefits would be deemed to have enrolled in the month before the month for which they become entitled to hospital insurance, so that their medical and hospital insurance coverage will start at the same time. Others, not already on the cash benefit rolls, would be deemed to have enrolled for supplementary medical insurance in the month in which they file

an application establishing their entitlement to hospital insurance, and their coverage under medical insurance would begin at the time speci-

fied by existing law for people enrolling in that month.

Your committee expects that persons eligible for automatic enrollment will, to the extent possible, be fully informed and given an opportunity to decline the coverage. They would be deemed to have enrolled if they do not decline coverage before it is scheduled to begin. Once their coverage has begun they would of course be free to disenroll if they wish in accordance with existing law.

The automatic enrollment provisions would be applicable only to persons who become entitled to hospital insurance after 1971, because of the practical difficulties that would be involved in locating non-enrollees whose eligibility for medical insurance was established prior to 1972 and giving them an opportunity to decline the coverage.

(g) Establishment of incentives for States to emphasize comprehensive health care under medicaid programs.—Your committee has been concerned about the need to improve the utilization of services under the medicaid program and to encourage more effective lower cost patterns of service. The present law has a uniform Federal matching percentage applied to all forms of health services covered under the State medicaid plan. In order to encourage the States to make more efficient use of health services, your committee's bill would create incentives for States to contract with health maintenance organizations or similar organizations and disincentives to discourage prolonged stays in institutional settings. Specifically, the bill would provide for (1) an increase of 25% (up to a maximum of 95%) in the Federal medicaid assistance matching for amounts paid by States under contracts with health maintenance organizations or other comprehensive health care facilities; (2) a decrease in the Federal medical assistance percentage by one-third after the first 60 days of care (in a fiscal year) in a general or tuberculosis hospital; (3) a reduction in the Federal percentage by one-third after the first 60 days of care (in a fiscal year) in a skilled nursing home unless the State makes a showing satisfactory to the Secretary that there is in the State an effective program of controls over utilization of such institutional care, (4) a decrease in Federal matching by one-third after 90 days of care except that an additional 30 days care would be allowed if the State shows that the patient will benefit from such additional period of hospitalization in a mental hospital and provision for no Federal matching after a total of 365 days of such care during an individual's lifetime, and (5) authority for the Secretary to compute a reasonable cost differential for reimbursement purposes between skilled nursing homes and intermediate care facilities.

These changes would be effective with respect to services furnished after June 30, 1971, except that the provision relating to the computation of a reasonable cost differential between skilled nursing homes and intermediate care facilities would be effective for any calendar

quarter beginning after December 31, 1971.

The proposal to increase by 25 percent, up to a maximum of 95 percent, Federal matching on premiums paid by states under contracts with health maintenance organizations, neighborhood and community health centers and similar organizations is intended to encourage states to contract with such organizations. Organized plans, particularly those on a pre-paid basis, have been shown in some cases to discourage overutilization of expensive inpatient care.

The limitations on care in general and tuberculosis hospitals are designed to encourage transfer of patients to less expensive facilities. They reflect the assumption that treatment in acute institutions is

generally of short duration, rarely exceeding 60 days.

The proposed limitations on length of stay in mental institutions reflect the assumption that for patients over 65 medical treatment of mental disease inpatients generally does not exceed three months and rarely continues beyond a year. However, in those cases where the State agency demonstrates that the patient is continuing to receive active treatment and the prognosis is for further improvement the medicaid percentage would not be reduced until 120 days. This will

provide needed flexbility under the basic provision.

The reduction in matching for skilled nursing homes is directed toward early transfer of patients to alternative facilities (such as intermediate care facilities). There is a good deal of evidence found by the General Accounting Office and by the HEW audit agency that patients now in skilled nursing homes in many States do not belong there. A lower level of care than skilled nursing care would suit the needs of a large number of these patients. In the 1967 Social Security Amendments, the Congress attempted to meet these kinds of problems by funding intermediate care facilities at the medicaid matching rate (so as to avoid any financial incentive to use the higher level of care) and by requiring regular professional independent medical audit of the needs of nursing home patients. Some States have used the intermediate care facility as the less expensive option it was intended to be. Others have not used it all or have not used it effectively. Some few States have set up the required professional medical audits.

Your committee recommends a reduction in the Federal medicaid matching rate by one third after the 60th day of stay in a skilled nursing facility unless the State can show that it is carrying out an effective program under requirements for effective utilization review procedures and for regular professional medical audits. A State could maintain its full Federal share by complying with these necessary requirements. If it did not, the matching rate would be reduced with respect to stays. The 60 day period would provide an adequate period of time for the necessary review and certification requirements to be carried out.

The provision granting authority to the Secretary to compute (for reimbursement purposes) a reasonable cost differential between the cost of skilled nursing home services and the cost of intermediate care facilities is designed to assure that supporting care in these alternate institutions actually does result in decreased costs to the

program.

(h) Cost-sharing under medicaid.—Your committee has been concerned that costs of the medicaid program have been escalating much more rapidly than anticipated and believes that an element of cost consciousness on the part of patients and their physicians should be introduced into the program primarily as a cost control device. Your committee bill would, therefore, require that States participating in the medicaid program impose on the medically indigent (those not eligible for cash assistance) under the program a premium enrollment fee graduated by income in accordance with standards prescribed by the Secretary. No other premium or enrollment fee could be imposed on the medically needy under the State plan. In the case of cash

assistance recipients, nominal deductible and cost-sharing charges, while prohibited with respect to mandatory services required under the

plan, would be permitted with respect to optional services.

States could, at their option, impose deductibles and copayment features on the medically indigent (in addition to the required graduated premiums) which would not have to vary by level of income. Your committee recommends these provisions in order to discourage possible unnecessary overutilization and to encourage cost-consciousness on the part of those covered under medicaid.

(i) Elimination of medicaid work disincentive.—Your committee bill would amend title XIX to assure that medicaid eligibility requirements for families with children are structured in a way which relates them to family income and medical expenses, removes work disincentives, and concentrates medical assistance resources on those

families most in need.

The medicaid statute has from the beginning required those States which elect to have a medicaid program to cover everyone who was eligible for cash assistance payments. With the introduction of the earnings disregard provisions under the 1967 amendments, and the consequent gradual loss of cash benefits as carned income increased, families on the assistance rolls can have a substantial total income, and still receive full medicaid protection. The medicaid program has, therefore, a work disincentive effect at some point in the earnings scale—the earning of an extra dollar can mean the phaseout of cash

assistance, and the abrupt and complete loss of medicaid.

In the 24 States which had made no provision for covering the medically needy (the groups related to the welfare categories but with income in excess of the standard for public assistance), the loss of medicaid was complete. The family could not re-establish eligibility for medical assistance without dropping back on the public assistance rolls. In the 28 States and jurisdictions with programs for the medically needy, the situation was only slightly better. Since the maximum eligibility level for the medically needy was one hundred thirty-three and one-third percent of the payment level (and the payment level was often below the cash assistance standard), this standard is in some of these States several thousand dollars below the income level where cash assistance phased out under the earnings disregard provisions. This meant that the family which had lost medicaid coverage with their loss of cash assistance could re-establish their eligibility for medicaid only after incurring substantial medical expenses (equal to the amount by which their income exceeded the medically needy standard for families of that size).

Your committee proposes to correct these deficiencies by providing complete medicaid coverage to cash assistance families with children only if their income falls below the eligibility level established for medical assistance. In determining income for this purpose, the first \$720 of earned income would be disregarded (this amount is allowed for work related expenses under the family program provisions in

the bill)

The medical assistance eligibility level would be defined by the State in the range between the payment level for an eligible family of given size without income up to one-hundred thirty-three and one-third percent of that payment level. Cash assistance families with incomes above the eligibility level would receive medicaid coverage only after incurring medical expenses equal to the amount by which

their total income (including cash assistance payments) exceeded the medicaid standard; they would be required to "spend-down" by this amount to establish their eligibility for medicaid. In effect, this amount would be a deductible, increasing in amount as earnings rise and, therefore, avoiding the situation where one dollar of earnings can result in the loss of protection worth several hundred dollars. Medical expenses for this purpose would be defined as those in section 213 of the Internal Revenue Code.

Your committee does not propose to change medicaid eligibility for the adult categories except to allow a uniform amount of carnings in the amount of \$720 (\$1,020 for the blind and disabled) to be disregarded as work related expenses in determining income for purposes of medicaid eligibility. States would continue to have the option of operating programs for the medically needy for the aged, the blind, the disabled, foster children, families as defined in section 405(b), and all needy children under 21 who are not recipients of cash assistance.

Eligibility standards for the medically needy would be tied to the payment level for families under title XXI plus the supplementary payment, if any, provided by the State, with appropriate adjustments to account for family size. States with medical assistance eligibility levels higher than the payment level, but less than 133½ percent of that level, would be required to provide medical assistance to all individuals, whether recipients of cash assistance or not, whose income, after deducting medical expenses falls below the medical assistance level. These latter changes are essentially those necessary to preserve the effects of present law.

The proposed amendment is estimated to result in a saving of approximately \$140 million in Federal medicaid funds in the family category. This saving results from the elimination of some of the medical costs of cash assistance recipients who have earnings in excess

of \$720 (the amount allowed for work expenses).

The estimate was prepared on the assumption that States without current programs for the medically needy would set the eligibility level at their current payment standard or \$2400, whichever was higher; and States with a current program for the medically needy would maintain the medicaid eligibility level at the current medically needy standard.

(j) Payment under the medicare program to individuals covered by Federal employees health benefits program.—Under present law, Federal employees and retirees age 65 and over who are enrolled for Federal employees health benefits (FEHB) are also covered under the medicare hospital insurance plan (part A) if they have worked in employment covered by social security or railroad retirement and are eligible for monthly cash benefits under these programs. In addition, Federal employees, whether or not eligible for part A benefits, may enroll in the medicare voluntary supplementary medical insurance plan (part B) which is available to essentially all persons age 65 and over.

Part A hospital insurance protection under medicare is carned during a person's working years through a separate tax on his earnings and no payments are made by those entitled to benefits after they have stopped working. In contrast, persons who are eligible for health insurance protection under a FEHB plan continue to pay the same premium rates for their coverage after retirement as they did when they were active employees (although the coverage may be more valuable since older prople use more medical services). The Federal Government currently pays about 40 percent of the overall cost of FEHB protection.

When the medicare program was enacted in 1965, it was intended that it would provide basic health insurance protection for people age 65 and over and that it would pay its benefits in full without regard to any other benefits that might be payable under an employee health benefits plan. At the same time, it was expected that such plans would adjust their benefit policies to complement the protection provided under medicare rather than to duplicate the benefits.

Unlike most employers, the Federal Government has not arranged the health insurance protection it makes available to its employees age 65 and over (active or retired) so that such protection would be supplementary to medicare benefits. It is true, however, that some individual plans have afforded more protection to those enrollees with

medicare coverage than those without such coverage.

Although most Federal employment covered by a Federal staff retirement system is excluded from social security coverage, many Federal employees become insured under social security on the basis of other employment. About 50 percent of retired and active Federal employees age 65 and over are entitled to hospital insurance benefits under medicare.

Several problems arise under the present situation. The FEHB plans cover many of the same health care expenses that are covered under medicare. In cases where health care expenses are covered under both medicare and a Federal employee plan, the medicare benefits are paid first, and the Federal employee plan then pays its benefits in an amount which, when added to the benefits payable under medicare, may not exceed 100 percent of the expenses allowable under the FEHB plan.

A Federal employee who is covered under a high-option FEHB plan as well as the medicare plans has somewhat better protection than is afforded under the FEHB plan alone. But, because of the nonduplication clauses in the FEHB contracts, he does not derive the full value of the protection of the FEHB contracts. If a Federal retiree entitled under medicare cancels his enrollment under a FEHB plan because of the high total cost of his health care protection, he will lose the high level of protection he previously enjoyed under the FEHB program at an age where his health care costs can be expected to increase substantially.

Federal retirees and employees who are covered under an FEHB plan generally do not find it advantageous to enroll in the medicare voluntary supplementary medical insurance plan, because of the overlapping of FEHB benefits and benefits under the supplementary plan. Thus, Federal retirees and employees do not receive the advantage, available to virtually all other persons age 65 and over, of the 50-percent Government contribution toward the cost of the protection under

the supplementary medical insurance program.

In order to assure a better coordinated relationship between the FEHB program and medicare and to assure that Federal employees and retirees age 65 and over will eventually have the full value of the protection offered under medicare and FEHB, your committee's bill would provide that effective January 1, 1975, the medicare program (both parts A and B) would not pay for any otherwise covered service if such service is covered under the FEHB plan in which the beneficiary to whom the service was provided is enrolled. This provision would not go into effect (or would be suspended, if already in effect) if the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare certifies that the the FEHB program has been so modified as to assure (1) that there is available to Federal employees or retirees age 65 and over one or

more Federal health benefit plans which offer protection supplementing the combined protection of parts A and B of medicare, and the protection of part B alone, and (2) that the Government is making a contribution toward the health insurance of all Federal employees or retirees age 65 and over which is at least equal to the contribution it makes for high option coverage under Governmentwide FEHB plans. Nor would this provision apply with respect to an individual plan if the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare certifies that such plan (1) has made available to its enrollees age 65 and over protection supplementing the combined protection of parts A and B of medicare, and the protection of part B alone, and (2) is making a contribution toward the health insurance of its enrollees age 65 and over which is at least equal to the contribution made by the Federal Government for high option coverage under Governmentwide FEHB plans. The contribution, whether by the Federal Government or by the individual plan, could be in the form of a contribution toward the supplementary FEHB protection or a payment to or on behalf of the individual employee or retiree to offset the cost of his purchase of medicare protection, or a combination of the two. The Secretary would, of course, prepare his certification on the basis of information he obtains from the Civil Service Commission about the characteristics and operations of each of the various plans as well as the Federal program as a whole. It is the hope and the intent of your committee that the Secretary will be able to make this certification for each of the plans under the FEHB program before January 1975.

(k) Payment under medicare for certain inpatient hospital and related physicians' services furnished outside the United States.—Under present law, services furnished outside the United States are excluded from coverage, with the single exception that hospital insurance benefits are payable for emergency inpatient services provided in nearby foreign hospitals if the beneficiary is physically present within the United States when the emergency arises and the foreign hospital to which he is admitted is closer to the place where the emergency arose or more accessible than the nearest United States hospital that is adequately equipped and available for his treatment. Your committee is concerned that under present law border residents who find that the nearest hospital suited to their inpatient care needs is located outside the United States may not receive protection against the health costs they incur in using these nearest hospitals except in

the indicated emergency situations.

Your committee's bill would include a provision which would expand medicare coverage of services outside the United States to take account of the special problems of border residents. Medicare benefits would be payable for inpatient hospital services furnished outside the United States if the beneficiary is a resident of the United States and the foreign hospital was closer to, or substantially more accessible from his residence than the nearest hospital in the United States which was suitable and available for his treatment. For such beneficiaries, benefits would be payable without regard to whether an emergency existed or where the illness or accident occurred. Only inpatient services furnished by a hospital which has been accredited by the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals or by a hospital approval program having essentially comparable standards would be covered.

The present provisions covering emergency inpatient hospital services outside the United States would be retained.

Payment for all covered hospital services furnished outside the United States would be made on essentially the same basis as payment for emergency services furnished by a nonparticipating hospital within the United States. Where the hospital elected to bill the medicare program it would be reimbursed on the basis of the reasonable cost of the covered services furnished the beneficiary, as is now done with respect to emergency services furnished by a nonparticipating hospital which furnishes actual cost data. Where payment could not be made solely because the hospital did not elect to bill the program, benefits would be payable directly to the beneficiary on the basis of an itemized bill if he filed an acceptable application for reimbursement. Subject to the appropriate deductibles and coinsurance, the beneficiary would be reimbursed in an amount equal to 60 percent of the hospital's reasonable charges for "routine services" in the room occupied by him or in semiprivate accommodations, whichever is less, plus 80 percent of the hospital's reasonable charges for "ancillary services," or, if separate charges for routine and ancillary services are not made by the hospital, two-thirds of the hospital's total charges.

To assure that medicare beneficiaries would be adequately protected against other medically necessary health care costs they may incur while receiving covered foreign inpatient hospital care, your committee's bill would also provide for coverage under the medical insurance program of medically necessary physicians' services and ambulance services furnished in conjunction with covered foreign inpatient

hospital services.

Payment for physicians' services would be limited to the period of time during which the individual is eligible to have payment made for the foreign hospital services he receives. Further, the Secretary would be authorized to establish, by regulations, reasonable limitations upon the amount of a foreign physician's charge that would be accepted as reimbursable under the medical insurance program. In recognition of the administrative difficulties that would arise in applying the assignment method of reimbursement to medical services furnished in other countries, your committee's bill would provide that benefits for foreign physicians' and ambulance services would be payable only in accordance with the itemized bill method of reimbursement provided for under present law.

These provisions would apply to services furnished with respect

to hospital admissions occurring after December 31, 1971.

## 2. Improvements in operating effectiveness

(a) Limitation on Federal participation for capital expenditures.—Under title XVIII depreciation on buildings and equipment, and interest on loans used to acquire them, are reimbursable as part of the cost of providing services to medicare beneficiaries. Such reimbursement is paid without regard to whether the items were constructed or purchased in conformity with any type of health facility planning requirement. Similarly, reimbursement on a cost basis for inpatient hospital services provided under titles V (maternal and child health) and XIX (medicaid) of the Social Security Act includes a recognition of certain capital costs without regard to conformance to planning requirements.

There are few aspects of the health care system in the United States which have been so thoroughly explored as the need for comprehensive areawide planning for the development and utilization of all types of

health care facilities. But the acceptance of the purposes of State and areawide health facility planning has not always been matched by purposeful application of the incentives required to achieve the end result of such planning. Thus, while a significant amount of Federal money is currently being expended under the comprehensive health planning provisions of the Public Health Service Act in the interest of furthering health facility planning at the State and local levels, Federal funds are being expended for health services provided under medicare, medicaid, and the maternal and child health programs without regard to whether the facilities providing the services are cooperating in such health facility planning. Your committee believes that the connection between sound health facility planning and the prudent use of capital funds must be recognized if any significant gains in controlling health costs are to be made. Thus, your committee believes it is necessary to assure that medicare, medicaid, and the maternal and child health programs are consistent with State and local health facility planning efforts, in order to avoid paying higher costs unnecessarily in the future where these costs result from duplication or irrational growth of health care facilities.

At present, efforts are being made on the Federal, State, and local levels to assure that the need for the expansion and modernization of health facilities is evaluated, coordinated, and planned on a rational and controlled basis. At the Federal level, comprehensive health planning legislation provides for Federal grants for the establishment and funding of areawide and comprehensive State health care planning agencies. Currently, all 50 States, the District of Columbia, and five territories have State comprehensive health care planning agencies. On the areawide level, 125 planning agencies are receiving Federal grants: 72 of such agencies are operational. It is estimated that 140 areawide planning agencies will be receiving grants by the end of June 1971 and that more than 90 such agencies will be operational.

To avoid the use of Federal funds to support unjustified capital expenditures and to support health facility and health services planning activities in the various States, your committee's bill authorizes the Secretary of Health, Education, and Weltare to withhold or reduce reimbursement amounts to providers of services and health maintenance organizations under title XVIII for depreciation, interest, and, in the case of proprietary providers, a return on equity capital, related to certain capital expenditures that are determined to be inconsistent with State or local health facility plans. (Similar authority would be provided with respect to the Federal share of payment for inpatient hospital care under titles V and X1X.) Capital expenditures for the purposes of this provision include expenditures (1) for plant and equipment in excess of \$100,000; (2) which change the bed capacity of the institution; or (3) which substantially change the services provided by the institution. The Secretary would take such action on the basis of findings and recommendations submitted to him by various qualified planning agencies. If he determines, however, after consultation with an appropriate national advisory council, that a disallowance of capital expenses would be inconsistent with effective organization and delivery of health services or effective administration of titles V, XVIII, or XIX, he would be authorized to allow such

The Secretary would be authorized to enter into agreements with the States under which designated planning agencies would submit their findings and recommendations (along with those of other qualified planning agencies) with respect to proposed capital expenditures that are inconsistent with the plans developed by such agencies. (All such health facility and health services planning agencies must have governing bodies or advisory bodies at least half of whose members represent consumer interests.) An adverse decision by a State planning agency may be appealed to an appropriate agency or individual at the State level. The Secretary would be authorized to pay from the Federal Hospital Insurance Trust Fund the reasonable costs incurred by the planning agencies in preparing and forwarding findings and recommendations. The bill would in no way change the autonomy or authority of existing State or local planning agencies, or the relationships between such agencies, either within States or across State lines.

These limitations would be effective with respect to obligations for capital expenditures incurred after June 30, 1972, or earlier, if re-

quested by the State.

(b) Report on plan for prospective reimbursement; experiments and demonstration projects to develop incentives for economy in the provision of health services.—Under present law, institutional providers furnishing covered services to medicare beneficiaries are paid on the basis of the reasonable cost of such services. Payment on this basis, with retroactive corrective adjustments, is consistent with the long history of public and private third party agency reimbursement for institutional health care on a cost basis. However, as experience under the medicare, medicaid, maternal and child health, and other third party programs has clearly demonstrated there is little incentive to contain costs or to produce the services in the most efficient and effective manner.

Your committee believes that payment determined on a prospective basis offers the promise of encouraging institutional policymakers and managers, through positive financial incentives, as well as the risk of possible loss inherent in that method, to plan, innovate and generally to manage effectively in order to achieve greater financial reward for the provider as well as a lower total cost to the programs involved. Prospective reimbursement differs from the present method of reimbursement in that a rate of payment is set in advance of the period over which the rate is to apply. The theory is that once the rate is set a provider will institute cost saving measures which will maximize the difference between its actual costs and the higher prospective rate. This difference could be expressed as the "profit." Of course, if the provider's costs turned out to be higher than the prospective rate, there would be a loss. Theoretically, this approach to reimbursement introduces incentives not present under the existing reimbursement method which, since it tends to pay whatever the costs turn out to be, provides no incentives for efficiency.

However, your committee is well aware that in considering such a fundamental change in the present reimbursement method, possible disadvantages as well as the potential advantages must be taken into account. While it is clear for example, that prospective rate setting will provide incentives for health care institutions to keep costs at a level no higher than the rates set, it is not clear that the rates set would result in government reimbursement at levels lower than, or even as low as, that which would result under the present retroactive cost finding approach. Providers could be expected to press for a rate that

would cover all the costs, including research costs and bad debts, as well as margins of safety in the prospective rates that might result in reimbursement—if their requests were met—in excess of the costs that would have been reimbursed under the present approach. Moreover, any excess of reimbursement over costs to voluntary providers would probably be used to expand services, and the new level of expenditures might be reflected in setting higher prospective rates for future years.

Also to be considered is the fact that under prospective reimbursement it will be necessary to take steps to assure that providers do not cut back on services necessary to quality care in order to keep actual costs down and thus increase the difference between costs and the prospective rate established. The development of adequate and widely-agreed-upon measures of quality of care will clearly be needed to provide that assurance and should be immediately developed by the

Department.

In view of the far-ranging implications of such a change in the approach to reimbursement, your committee's bill provides for a period of experimentation under titles XVIII, XIX and V with various alternative methods and techniques of prospective reimbursement. It is the intent of your committee that experimentation be conducted with a view to developing and evaluating methods and techniques that will stimulate providers through positive financial incentives to use their facilities and personnel more efficiently, thereby reducing their own as well as program costs while maintaining or enhancing the quality of the health care provided.

The experiments and demonstration projects directed to be carried out under this provision are to be of sufficient scope and on a wide enough scale to give assurance that the results would obtain generally (but not so large or comprehensive as to commit the programs to any prospective payment system either locally or nationally). No experiment or demonstration project is to be undertaken by the Secretary until he consults with and takes into consideration the advice and recommendations of recognized specialists in the health care field who are qualified and competent to evaluate the feasibility of any

given experiment or demonstration project.

Under your committee's bill, the Secretary would be required to submit to the Congress no later than July 1, 1973, a full report of the results of the experiments and demonstration projects, as well as an evaluation of the experience of other programs with respect to prospective reimbursement. The report is to include detailed recommendations with respect to the specific methods that might be used in the full implementation of a prospective reimbursement system.

Although recognizing the promise and potential offered by prospective reimbursement your committee does not wish to preclude experimentation with other forms of reimbursement. Your committee believes that a solid foundation of experience is required with all possible alternative forms of reimbursement before permanent changes can be made. The bill therefore includes authorization for the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to engage in experiments and demonstration projects involving negotiated rates, the use of rates established by a State for administration of one or more of its laws for payment or reimbursement to health facilities located in such State, and alternative methods of reimbursement with respect to the services of residents, interns, and supervisory physicians in teach-

ing settings. Authority is also provided to make payments, on an experimental or demonstration project basis, to organizations and institutions which have the capability of providing comprehensive health care, mental health care, and ambulatory health care, for services which are not currently covered under titles V, XVIII, XIX, and which are incidental to services covered under the programs, if the inclusion of the additional services would, in the judgment of the Secretary, offer some prospect of resulting in more economical provision and more effective utilization of services for which payment

may be made under such programs.

The bill would authorize experimentation with the use of areawide or communitywide peer review, utilization review, and medical review mechanisms to determine whether they would help to assure that health services provided to beneficiaries conform to appropriate professional standards and that payment will be made only for medically necessary services that in each case are rendered in the most economical setting that is consistent with professionally recognized standards. Authority is also provided to experiment with the use of fixed price or performance incentive contracts to determine whether they would have the effect of inducing more effective, efficient, and economical performance by medicare intermediaries and carriers.

It is intended that benefit costs and administrative costs incurred under this section would be paid out of the Federal Hospital Insurance Trust Fund and the Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Fund in reasonable proportion to the participation of medicare in the project. Medicaid and private funds would also be used proportionately when medicaid and private programs participate in the project.

These provisions will be effective upon enactment of the bill.

Your committee is concerned about the difficulties some beneficiaries who need extended care and their physicians face as a result of the present title XVIII provision under which payment may be made for services funished in an extended care facility only if the beneficiary was transferred from a hospital after a stay of at least three days. Therefore, in addition to the other experiments the Secretary will be undertaking, your committee expects him to conduct studies and engage in experiments to determine the effects of eliminating the three-day prior hospitalization requirement, which he has authority to waive for the purpose of such experimentation, and report to your committee his findings together with any recommendations he may have for changes in this provision of existing law.

(c) Limitations on coverage of costs under medicare.—Your committee is mindful of the fact that costs can and do vary from one institution to another as a result of differences in size, in the nature and scope of services provided, the type of patient treated, the location of the institution and various other factors affecting the efficient delivery of needed health services. Your committee is also aware, however, that costs can vary from one institution to another as a result of variations in efficiency of operation, or the provision of amenities in plush surroundings. Your committee believes that it is undesirable from the standpoint of those who support Government mechanisms for financing health care to reimburse health care institutions for costs that flow from marked inefficiency in operation or conditions of

excessive service.

To the extent that differences in provider costs can be expected to result from such factors as the size of the institution, patient mix, scope of services offered or other economic factors, wide, but not unlimited recognition should be given to the variations in costs accepted as reasonable. However, data frequently reveals wide variations in costs among institutions that can only be attributable to those elements of cost that would ordinarily not be expected to vary substantially from one institution to another.

Where the high costs do in fact flow from the provision of services in excess of or more expensive than generally considered necessary to the efficient provision of appropriate patient care, patients may nevertheless desire such services. It is not the committee's view that if patients desire unusually expensive service they should be denied the service. However, it is unreasonable for medicare or medicaid (which are financed by almost all people in the country rather than the patient or community that wants the expensive services) to pay for it.

Similarly when the high costs flow from inefficiency in the delivery of needed health care services the institution should not be shielded from the economic consequences of its inefficiency. Health care institutions, like other entities in our economy should be encouraged to perform efficiently and when they fail to do so should expect to suffer the financial consequences. Unfortunately a reimbursement mechanism that responds to whatever costs a particular institution incurs presents obstacles to the achievement of these objectives. It is believed that they can only be accomplished by reimbursement mechanisms that limit reimbursement to the costs that would be incurred by a

reasonably prudent and cost-conscious management.

Present law provides authority to disallow incurred costs that are not reasonable. However, there are a number of problems that inhibit effective exercise of this authority. The disallowance of costs that are substantially out of line with those of comparable providers after such costs have been incurred creates financial uncertainty for the provider, since, as the system now operates, the provider has no way of knowing until sometime after it incurs expenses whether or not they will be in line with expenses incurred by comparable providers in the same period. Furthermore, present law generally limits exercise of the authority to disallow costs to instances that can be specifically proved on a case-by-case basis. Clear demonstration of the specific reason that a cost is high is generally very difficult. And, since a provider cannot charge a beneficiary more than the program's deductible and coinsurance amounts for covered services, exercise of either type of authority can leave the provider without reimbursement for some costs of items or services it has already incurred for patients treated some time ago. Under these circumstances the provider would have to obtain funds from some other source to make up for its deficit.

The proposed new authority to set limits on costs recognized for certain classes of providers in various service areas differs from existing authority in several ways and meets these problems. First, it would be exercised on a prospective, rather than retrospective, basis so that the provider would know in advance the limits to Government recognition of incurred costs and have the opportunity to act to avoid having costs that are not reimbursable. Second, the evaluation of the costs necessary in delivering covered services to beneficiaries would be exercised on a class and a presumptive basis—relatively high costs

that cannot be justified by the provider as reasonable for the results obtained would not be reimbursable-so that implementation of the proposed authority would appear more feasible than present authority. Third, since the limits would be defined in advance, provision would be made for a provider to charge the beneficiary for the costs of items or services in excess of or more expensive than those that are determined to be necessary in the efficient delivery of needed health services. Public notice would be provided where such charges are imposed by the institution and the beneficiary would be specifically advised of the nature and amount of such charges prior to admission so that there is opportunity for the public, doctors, and their medicare patients to know what additional payment would have to be made. Your committee expects that the provision will not be applicable where there is only one hospital in a community—that is, where, if the provision were applied, additional charges could be imposed on beneficiaries who have no real opportunity to use a less expensive, non-luxury institution, and where the provision would be difficult to apply because comparative cost data for the area are lacking.

Your committee recognizes that the initial ceilings imposed will of necessity be imprecise in defining the actual cost of efficiently delivering needed health care. And your committee recognizes that these provisions will apply to a relatively quite small number of institutions. The data that are available for this purpose will often be less than perfectly reliable—for example, it may be necessary to use unaudited cost reports or survey or sampling techniques in estimating the costs necessary to the efficient delivery of care. Under medicare's administrative system, however, cost reports prepared by the providers are now being submitted more promptly after the close of the accounting period and should be available for analysis in the next year and for the establishment of limits in the second following year. Also, the precision of the limits determined from these data will vary with the degree to which excessive costs can be distinguished from the provision of higher

quality or intensity of care.

For costs that would not generally be expected to vary with essential quality ingredients and intensity of medical care—for example, the costs of the "hotel" services (food and room costs) provided by hospitals—the Secretary might set limits sufficiently above the average costs per patient day previously experienced by a class of hospitals to make allowance for differing circumstances and short-term economic fluctuations. Hotel services may be easiest to establish limits for and be among the first for which work can be completed. Attention might be given as well to laundry costs, medical record costs, and administration

costs within the reasonably near future.

Setting limits on overall costs per patient day and specific costs that vary with the quality and intensity of care would be more difficult, but the Secretary might be able to set reasonable limits sufficiently above average costs per patient day previously experienced by a class of institutions so that only cases with extraordinary expenses would be subject to any limits. In addition, special limits could be established on cost elements found subject to abuse. For example, the Secretary might establish limits on the level of standby costs that would be recognized as reasonable under the program to prevent Government programs from picking up the cost of excessive amounts of idle capacity—particularly relatively high personnel costs in relation

to patient loads where occupancy rates are low-in reimbursing for

services to covered patients.

Providers would, of course, have the right to obtain reconsideration of their classification for purposes of cost limits applied to them and to obtain relief from the effect of the cost limits on the basis of evidence

of the need for such an exception.

Providers will be permitted to collect costs in excess of the medicare ceilings from the beneficiary (except in the case of admission by a physician who has a direct or indirect financial interest in a facility) where these costs flow from items or services in excess of or more expensive than those necessary for the effective delivery of needed services, provided all patients are so charged and the beneficiary is informed of his liability in advance. Information on additional charges assessed would also be made available generally in the community. Your committee is also requesting that the Secretary submit annually to it a report identifying the providers that make such additional charges to beneficiaries and furnishing information on the amounts

being charged by such providers.

The determination of the cost of the excess items or services for which the beneficiary may be charged will be made on the basis of costs previously experienced by the provider. For example, if costs for food services experienced in 1969 among a group of hospitals in an area ranged from \$4 to \$9 a day with a median cost of \$5 a day and the limit for food services set by the Secretary for 1971 was \$7.20 a day, the hospital previously experiencing costs of \$9 a day could charge patients \$1.80 a day for food services. However, should total reimbursement for covered services from the program plus charges billed for such services exceed actual costs in any year, the excess will be deducted from payments to the provider. Thus, the provider would not profit from charges to beneficiaries based on excess costs in the prior year.

In addition it should be noted that the fact that a provider's costs are below the ceilings established under this provision will not exempt it from application of the ceiling of customary charges where such charges are less than cost under another provision in the committee

The provision would be effective with respect to accounting periods

beginning after June 30, 1972.

(d) Limits on prevailing charge levels.—Under present administrative polices under medicare, the prevailing limit on the reasonable charge for a service is intended, over the long run, to be set at a level no higher than is necessary to embrace the 75th percentile of customary charges for that service in the physicians' locality. To illustrate, if customary charges for an appendectomy in a locality were at five levels, with 10 percent of the services rendered by physicians whose customary charge was \$150, 40 percent rendered by physicians who charge \$200, 40 percent rendered by physicians who charge \$250 and 5 percent rendered by physicians who charge \$300 and with the remaining 5 percent rendered by physicians charging in excess of \$300, the prevailing limit would be \$250, since this is the level that would cover at least 75 percent of the cases.

Customary charges for services that are within the prevailing fee limit are generally recognized in full. (In a relatively small number of situations additional rules are used to judge the reasonableness of

charges.)

Your committee believes that it is necessary to move in the direction of an approach to reasonable charge reimbursement that ties recognition of fee increases to appropriate economic indexes so that the program will not merely recognize whatever increases in charges are established in a locality but would limit recognition of charge increases to rates that economic data indicate would be fair to all concerned.

Under your committee's bill, the prevailing charges recognized for a locality could be increased in fiscal year 1973 and in later years only to the extent justified by indexes reflecting changes in the operating expenses of physicians and in earnings levels. What the bill provides is a limit on the increases that would be recognized on the basis of the other reasonable charge criteria. Increases in the customary charges of individual physicians and in the charges prevailing among physicians in a locality would continue to be recognized only on the basis of adequate evidence that such increases had been in effect for a period of time. The new ceiling on recognition of increases in prevailing charge limits that is provided would come into play only when the adjustments necessary to meet increases in the actual charges prevailing in a locality exceeded, in the aggregate, the level of increase justified by other changes in the economy.

The Secretary would establish the statistical methods that would be used to make the calculations to establish the limit on the increases

allowed by this provision.

The base for the proposed economic indexes would be calendar year 1970. The increase in the indexes that occurs in a succeeding calendar year would constitute the maximum allowable aggregate increase in prevailing charges that would be recognized in the fiscal year beginning

after the end of that calendar year.

Initially, the Secretary would be expected to base the proposed economic indexes on presently available information on changes in expenses of practice and general earnings levels combined in a manner consistent with available data on the ratio of the expenses of practice to income from practice occurring among self-employed physicians as a group. If, for example, available data indicated that for selfemployed physicians as a group, expenses of practice absorbed approximately 40 percent of gross receipts of practice (the proportion indicated by data compiled by IRS from tax returns), the Secretary could determine that the maximum aggregate increase in prevailing charge levels that could be recognized would be 40 percent of the increase in expenses of practice indicated by IRS data plus 60 percent of the increase in earnings levels indicated by social security data. Thus, if during calendar year 1971 the area increase in expenses of practice was 3 percent and the area increase in earnings was 5 percent, the allowable aggregate increase in prevailing charges recognized by the carrier in each locality during fiscal year 1973 would be 4.2. percent:

$$(.40 \times .03) + (.60 \times .05) = .042$$

The carrier would apply the prevailing charge criteria now in the law to data on charges in calendar year 1971 to determine the increases in prevailing charges that it would be appropriate to recognize during fiscal year 1973. If the aggregate increase in prevailing charges so determined was less than 4.2 percent, the adjustments would be permitted and the portion of the allowable aggregate increase not used

in that fiscal year could be carried forward and used in future fiscal years. However, if the aggregate increase in prevailing charges found otherwise appropriate exceeded 4.2 percent, such increases would be reduced to the extent necessary to bring the aggregate of all increases within the 4.2 ceiling—that is, if the new prevailing charge limits that were indicated for fiscal year 1973 by the 75th percentile of calendar year 1971 charges weighted in proportion to the representation of the related services in aggregate services in calendar year 1971 exceeded, in total, the prevailing charge limits indicated for fiscal year 1972 by the 75th percentile of calendar 1970 charges weighted in proportion to the representation of the related services in aggregate services in calendar year 1970 by 8.4 percent, then each of the prevailing charge increases indicated for fiscal year 1973 by the 75th percentile of calendar year 1971 charges would be reduced by one-half so that the aggregate increase allowed would be within the 4.2 ceiling.

It is, of course, contemplated under the bill that the Secretary would use, both initially and over the long run, the most refined indexes that can be developed. However, your committee believes that the viability of the proposal does not depend on a great deal of further refinement. The objectives of the proposal could be attained with equity through the use of an approach such as that described above. This is so because the indexes are not to be applied on a procedure-by-procedure basis that would raise serious questions of equity in absence of refinements to take account of variations in the mix of factors of production among various types of medical services and to take account of changes in productivity with respect to various services. Rather, the indexes will operate as overall ceilings on prevailing fee level increases recognized in a carrier area under which adjustments permitted by the present customary and prevailing charge criteria could be made to take account of the shifting patterns and levels and actual charges in each locality. Thus, whether the new limit on prevailing charges will actually affect the determination of reasonable charges depends on the degree to which physicians' fees rise in the future. If the rise in fees in the aggregate was no more than the rise in operating expenses of physicians and in earnings, the rise in fees would be allowed in full.

Your committee believes it desirable to embody in the statute the limitations on medical charges recognized as prevailing now set forth in medicare regulations under which no charge may be determined to be reasonable if it exceeds the prevailing charge recognized by the carrier and found acceptable to the Secretary for similar services in the same locality on December 31, 1970, or the prevailing charge level that, on the basis of statistical data and methodology acceptable to the Secretary, would cover 75 percent of the customary charges made for similar services in the same locality during the last preceding calendar

year clapsing prior to the start of the fiscal year.

While tying the allowability of future increases in prevailing charges to general economic indicators is an appropriate method for reasonable charge determinations with respect to the services of physicians, your committee believes it would be inappropriate for reasonable charge determinations with respect to medical supplies, equipment, and services that do not generally vary in quality from one supplier to another.

This is so because no program purpose would be served by allowing charges in excess of the lowest levels at which supplies, equipment, or services can be readily obtained in a locality. For this reason, the com-

mittee bill permits deviation from generally applicable reasonable charge criteria where it is determined that medical supplies, equipment, and services do not generally vary in quality from one supplier to another.

Your committee recognizes that it will not be possible for the Secretary to immediately establish special charge or cost limits for every item or service not materially affected in quality by the supplier who actually furnishes it to the patient. However, the committee believes that it is important to make explicit the Secretary's authority and it is expected that he will assert such authority to impose rules for determining reasonable charges when, after due consideration, he determines that a particular item or service does not vary in quality from one supplier to another and devises special rules for reasonable charge determinations that he considers equitable and administratively feasible. Until the Secretary designates an item or service as falling within the scope of this provision and establishes rules for determining reasonable charges for that item, the presently applicable rules, including any special rules imposed by the carrier, would generally remain in effect.

The effect of the new limits established under this provision would be extended to the medicaid and child health programs by providing that payments under these programs in fiscal year 1972 and thereafter may not be made with respect to any amount paid for items and services that exceeds these new limits. This would be consistent with the

situation in the present medicaid program.

The medicaid provisions of the Social Security Amendments of 1965 contained nothing which attempted to limit the charges by physicians that States could pay under their medicaid programs. States could and usually did set some type of limits of their own, typically less than usual or customary charges. The Social Security Amendments of 1967 added a new medicaid provision which required that a State plan must provide assurances that "payments (including payment for any drugs under the plan) are not in excess of reasonable charges consistent with efficiency, economy, and quality of care." On June 30, 1969, HEW issued an interim regulation which limited fees paid to physicians, dentists, and other individual providers of medical services under medicaid. The HEW regulation stipulated that payments to providers would be limited to those received in January 1969, unless payments were below the 75th percentile of customary charges. States whose payment structures provided fees above the 75th percentile of customary charges were required to adjust their payments so that they did not exceed reasonable charges as determined under medicare. The regulation also stipulates that after July 1, 1970, States may request permission to increase fees paid to individual practitioners only if two conditions

(1) The average percentage increase requested above the 75th percentile of customary charges on January 1, 1969, may not exceed the percentage increase in the all-services component of the Consumer Price Index (adjusted to exclude the medical component) or an alternative designed by the Secretary; and

(2) Evidence is clear that providers and the States have cooperatively established effective utilization review and quality control

systems.

The proposed amendment is substantially along the lines of the

present regulation.

(e) Limits on payment for skilled nursing home and intermediate care facility services.—Your committee is concerned that costs for skilled nursing homes and intermediate care facilities have been escalating at a rate which is undesirable from the standpoint of Federal, State and local governments and the private sector. Your committee therefore recommends that limits be placed on Federal financial participation for costs of such facilities with a view toward exerting pressure on both the public and private sectors to limit further cost increases. The bill would provide that for any calendar quarter beginning after December 31, 1971, the average per diem cost for skilled nursing homes and intermediate care facilities countable for Federal financial participation be limited to 105 percent of such cost for the same quarter of the preceding year. However, in computing the per diem costs any amounts ascribable to increases in the Federal minimum wage, or other Federal law enacted after the enactment of the bill, would be disregarded.

(f) Payments to health maintenance organizations.—Under present law, organizations providing comprehensive health services on a per capita prepayment basis cannot be reimbursed by medicare through a single capitation payment encompassing all covered services provided to medicare enrollees. Instead, medicare reimbursement to group practice prepayment plans, whether it is made on a cost or charge basis, must be related to the costs to the organization of providing specific services to beneficiaries, so that the financial incentives that such organizations have in their regular business to keep costs low and to control utilization of services do not carry over to their relationship

with medicare.

Your committee believes that a serious problem in the present approach to payment for services in the health field, either by private patients, private insurance, or the Government, is that, in effect, payment is made to the provider for each individual service performed, so that other things being equal, there is an economic incentive on the part of those who make the decisions on what services are needed to provide more services, services that may not be essential, and even unnecessary services. A second major problem is that, ordinarily, the individual must largely find his own way among various types and levels of services with only partial help from a single hospital, a nursing home, a home health agency, various specialists, and so on. No one takes responsibility, in a large proportion of the cases, for determining the appropriate level of care in total and for seeing that such care, but no more, is supplied. The pattern of operation of health maintenance organizations that provide services on a per capita prepayment basis lends itself to a solution of both these problems with respect to the care of individuals enrolled with them. Because the organization receives a fixed annual payment from enrollees regardless of the volume of services rendered, there is a financial incentive to control costs and to provide only the least expensive service that is appropriate and adequate for the enrollee's needs. Moreover, such organizations take responsibility for deciding which services the patient should receive and then seeing that those are the services he gets.

Your committee believes it would be desirable for medicare to relate itself to health maintenance organizations in a way that conforms more

nearly to their usual way of doing business. The objective is to provide, in the case of medicare beneficiaries, the same kind of financial incentives that health maintenance organizations have with respect to their other enrollees.

Accordingly, your committee's bill provides for medicare payment to such an organization with respect to beneficiaries enrolled with it to be made on a prospective per capita basis, encompassing all medicarecovered services for which its enrollees are eligible to receive payment. (Group practice prepayment plans could, of course, choose to continue to be reimbursed under the provisions of existing law if they wished.) The payment would be determined annually in accordance with regulations of the Secretary, at a rate equal to 95 percent of the estimated amount (with appropriate adjustments—such as age and morbidity differentials—to assure actuarial equivalence) that would be payable if such covered services were furnished outside of the framework of a health maintenance organization. For beneficiaries who are covered by both the hospital and medical insurance plans, payments to health maintenance organizations would be made from both the hospital insurance and supplementary medical insurance trust funds, with the portion from the supplementary medical insurance trust fund being the product of the total monthly premium (beneficiary and Federal Government amounts combined) times the number of medicare beneficiaries enrolled in the organization. The remainder of the payment would be made from the hospital insurance trust fund.

The 95 percent payment rate for any health maintenance organization would be based upon the reimbursement amount per capita for services furnished by other than health maintenance organizations, adjusted for variations in unit benefit cost due to service areas, reasonable availability of services, and underwriting rules. The service area concept encompasses the geographical locality where the health maintenance organization is providing the service, and in which there is a reasonable cross section of different types of institutions and practitioners and utilization rates. Where there is an abnormal scarcity of services or excessive services for persons not in the health maintenance organization in a particular locality, but the needs of health maintenance organization members are fully met, the actuarial equivalent cost would be determined by established actuarial methods which include the consideration of costs in comparable locations where the covered services are reasonably available. The actuarial determinations should be performed by qualified actuaries experienced in health care program costing. This expertise also would be needed to appraise whether enrollment of poorer risks, such as institutionalized persons or persons of low income, were less than in proportion to the population in the service area and to determine the effects on costs. Similarly, special limitations of the health maintenance organization on access of members to care, and limitations on the provision of teaching and community services should also be taken into account in considering cost equivalence.

To guard against potentially excessive profits from the medicare payment, your committee has included a provision to assure that the rate of retention (gross revenues less costs) for medicare enrollees would not be permitted to exceed the rate for other beneficiaries of the health maintenance organization. Since an acceptable rate of retention cannot be prospectively assured, the provision calls for an

examination by the Secretary of the actual rates of retention experienced by the organization. The health maintenance organization would be required to submit to the Secretary, following each accounting period, a public accounting report which identifies (by amount and rate) the retention for all medicare beneficiaries, considered as a group, and the retention for all other enrollees of the organization, considered as a group. Any report showing a positive rate of retention for medicare enrollees which exceeds 90 percent of its rate for other enrollees would be subject to full audit. Where an excessive rate of retention is verified, the organization would be required to utilize such excess for additional benefits or reductions in premiums charged to medicare beneficiaries or to refund the excess to the trust funds.

For purposes of this provision, an "excessive rate of retention" would ordinarily be any positive rate of retention for medicare enrollees which exceeds the organization's rate of retention for enrollees under age 65. However, if persons over age 65 comprise more than one-half of the health maintenance organization's enrollment, an excessive rate of retention would be any rate with respect to its medicare enrollees which exceeds the rate of retention generally experienced by comparable types of organizations for enrollees under age 65. This latter provision is intended to assure that those organizations which are temporarily exempted from the requirement that one-half of the membership be under age 65 are nevertheless subject to a retention limit which accurately reflects the retention experienced by prepayment organizations which operate primarily in a true market situation.

Under this payment formula, the program is assured of saving for at least 5 percent over average payments made on behalf of medicare beneficiaries who are not enrolled in health maintenance organizations. More importantly, the payment mechanism rewards the health maintenance organization with earnings proportional to its efficiency relative to the traditional system and permits the especially efficient organization an opportunity to provide special incentives (in the form of additional benefits or premium reductions) for medicare beneficaries to enroll and thus to maximize its returns.

The individuals with respect to whom such payment would be made are medicare beneficiaries who are entitled to both hospital insurance and supplementary medical insurance or to medical insurance only and who are enrolled with a health maintenance organization. They would receive medicare-covered services only through the health maintenance organization, except for those emergency services as are furnished by other physicians and providers of services. The health maintenance organization would be responsible for paying the costs of such emergency services. If an enrolled individual received nonemergency care through some other means than the health maintenance organization, he would have to meet the entire expense of such care, except in the case where a determination has been made that the individual received care outside the health maintenance organization which should have been furnished by the HMO.

To qualify to receive payment in this way, a health maintenance organization would have to be one which provides: (1) either directly or through arrangements with others, health services on a prospective per capita prepayment basis; (2) all the services and benefits of both the hospital and medical insurance parts of the program; (3) physician's services, either directly by physicians who are employees or

partners of the organization, or under an arrangement with an organized group of physicians under which the group is reimbursed for its services primarily on the basis of an aggregate fixed sum or on a per capita basis. Since physicians play the major role in determining utilization of all covered services, such payment arrangement should contain an element of incentive for such physicians to assure that medicare patients are provided needed services in the most efficient and economical manner. (The group of physicians which has the arrangement with the health maintenance organization could, in turn, pay its physician members on any other basis, including fee-for-service.)

A health maintenance organization must have at least half of its enrolled membership under age 65 or be expected to meet this requirement within a period not exceeding 3 years with evidence of positive and continuing efforts to achieve the required enrollment distribution. The organization must also hold an annual open enrollment period during which it accepts enrollees on a nondiscriminatory basis up to the limits of its capacity. Additional requirements are: (1) that the organization furnish to the Secretary proof of its financial responsibility and its capacity to provide comprehensive health services, including institutional services, effectively and economically; (2) that the organization assure that the health services required by its enrollees are received promptly and appropriately and that they measure up to quality standards. The various elements of a health maintenance organization, such as the hospital, the extended care facility or clinical laboratory, would each continue to have to meet the conditions of participation or other quality standards which apply to such organizations under present law.

The Secretary would execute an individual contractual agreement with each qualified organization desiring to function as a health maintenance organization. Such contracts would be automatically renewed annually in the absence of reasonable advance notice by either party of intention to terminate at the end of the current term, except that the Secretary could terminate the contract at any time (after reasonable notice and opportunity for hearing) if he finds that the organization has failed substantially to carry out the contract, is carrying it out in a manner inconsistent with efficient, effective, and economical administration or no longer meets all requirements to qualify for payment as a health maintenance organization. Such contracts will include provisions giving the Secretary appropriate access to organization records to evaluate the quality of its performance with respect to provision of services as well as to determine compliance with fiscal requirements. In negotiating the contracts, the Secretary may disregard other laws and regulations which impose conditions or restraints on the contractual process, but only where such conditions or restraints are inconsistent with the purposes of the medicare

Under this provision, your committee expects that the Secretary will issue regulations establishing means for effective implementation of an ongoing review program to assure that the health maintenance organization effectively fulfills beneficiary service needs by adhering to specified minimum requirements for full-time qualified medical staff, keeping beneficiaries fully informed on the extent of coverage of services received outside the organization, taking positive actions to assure that beneficiaries are not deprived of benefits through devices

such as scheduling appointments at inconvenient times or unwarranted delay in scheduling of elective surgery, and avoiding discrimination against poor health risks through selective enrollment or poor service aimed at encouraging discriblment of high users of services. The Secretary is also expected to take precautions against possible fiscal abuse of the program by examining (and, where required, taking exception to) any arrangement the health maintenance organization may have with providers, including related organizations, which appear to result in an unwarranted increase in costs or to overstate the value of any added coverage or reduction of premiums.

If the health maintenance organization provides only the services covered by the medicare program to its enrollees, the premiums it may charge its enrollees cannot exceed the actuarial value of the cost-sharing provisions of the hospital and supplementary medical insurance parts of the medicare program. If, however, the organization provides its enrollees services in addition to those covered under medicare, it must inform enrollees of the portion of the premium applicable to such additional services, and the portion applicable to medicare-covered services may not exceed the actuarial value of the cost-sharing provisions of the medicare program. These requirements are intended to assure that beneficiaries enrolled with health maintenance organizations benefit fully from their medicare coverage and are, in effect, charged no more than the deductible and coinsurance amounts. This provision will also assure that they are made aware of the exact cost of any coverage included in the benefits provided by the health maintenance organizations which is in addition to medicare coverage.

Beneficiaries enrolled with a health maintenance organization who are dissatisfied with decisions of the organizations on benefit coverage would have the right to a hearing before the Secretary, in which the health maintenance organization would be an interested party, and to judicial review with respect to disputes involving amounts exceeding specified limits.

Beneficiaries could terminate their enrollment with a health maintenance organization and revert to regular coverage under the program in accordance with regulations. It is expected that, generally, discincilment would take effect the same time after the discincilment request as is the case now with respect to discincilment under the supple-

Mour committee also notes that some potentially qualified health maintenance organizations currently have enrollees who may desire to continue membership in the organization but who do not wish to agree to receive covered services only from that organization. Since it would seem inequitable to require such individuals to either disenroll immediately or involuntarily accept a limitation on their access to covered services, your committee has added a provision under which a health maintenance organization could continue through December 1974 to be reimbursed for covered care provided to beneficiaries who were members prior to January 1972 but who do not elect the option. Program payments in such cases would be determined on a per capita basis similar to that used for enrollees who elect the option, with appropriate payment reductions for out-of-plan use of covered services by such enrollees.

The health maintenance organization provisions in the bill would be effective with respect to services furnished on or after January 1, 1972.

(g) Payment under medicare for services of physicians rendered at a teaching hospital.—When medicare was enacted, the general expectation was that physicians' services to patients (but not intern or resident services) would generally be paid for on a fee-for-service basis. However, the issue of how medicare should reimburse for the services of a physician when he supervised interns and residents in the care of patients was not specifically detailed. Nevertheless, it was clear that charges paid for a physician's services under medicare should be reasonable in terms of both the patient care services that a particular physician provided as well as the charges made for similar services to other patients—that is, if a physician merely took legal responsibility for care, no fee for service was intended to be paid. Or, if the physician performed the services differently than is usually done when a patient engages his own private physician, the differences were to be reflected in the charge paid by medicare.

Under present law, hospitals are reimbursed under the hospital insurance part (part A) of the medicare program for the costs they incur in compensating physicians for teaching and supervisory activities and in paying the salaries of residents and interns under approved teaching programs. In addition, reasonable charges are paid under the medical insurance program (part B) for teaching physicians'

services to patients.

There is a wide variety of teaching arrangements. At one extreme there is the large teaching hospital with an almost exclusively charity clientele in which the treatment of medicare beneficiaries may, in fact, though not in law, be turned over to the house staff; in such hospitals many teaching physicians have had the roles exclusively of teachers and supervisors and have not acted as any one patient's physician. Since in these cases the services of the teaching physicians are primarily for the benefit of the hospital teaching program and hospital administration rather than being focused on the relationship between doctor and patient, the services of these physicians should be reimbursed as a hospital cost rather than on a fee-for-service basis under the supplementary medical insurance program.

At the other extreme, there is the community hospital with a residency program which relies in large part for teaching purposes on the private patients of teaching physicians whose primary activities are in private practice. The private patients contract for the services of the physician whom they expect to pay and on whom they rely to provide all needed services. The resident or intern normally acts as a subordinate to the attending physician, and the attending physician personally renders the major identifiable portion of the care and directs in detail the totality of the care. Moreover, there are teaching hospitals in which a teaching physician may be responsible both for private patients whom he has admitted and for patients who have presented themselves to the hospital for treatment at no cost and who

have been assigned by the hospital to his care.

It has proved to be difficult to achieve effective and uniform application of present policies to the large number of widely varying teaching settings. In some cases, charges have been billed and paid for services rendered in teaching hospitals which clearly did not involve any degree of teaching physician participation. In some cases charges were billed for the services that residents and interns rendered in every case where a supervising physician had overall responsibility for their actions, even though he may not actually have become involved in the patient's care. In other cases, charges for covered services were billed in amounts that were out of all proportion to the covered service or the charges

billed to other patients.

Your committee does not question the appropriateness of fee-for-service payment for physicians' services in the typical community hospital and other teaching settings where patients are expected to pay fees for these services. For example, payment for the services a community physician provides to his private patient is clearly in accord with the usual practices of other health insurance programs and patients who pay their bills out of pocket.

On the other hand, in the case of all the ward or other accommodations in many large hospitals and the service wards of other teaching institutions where patients are not expected to pay any fees for physicians' services or only reduced fees are normally paid, the payment of full charges represents an expense to the program that is not necessary to give medicare patients access to the care they receive. Also, the payments tend to support the maintenance of two classes of patients

in some cases.

Therefore, your committee's bill would provide that reimbursement for services of teaching physicians to a nonprivate medicare patient should be included under part A, on an actual cost or "equivalent cost" basis. A mechanism for computing payment for services of supervisory physicians on the unpaid voluntary medical staff of a hospital would be developed on a reasonable "salary equivalency" basis of the average salary (exclusive of fringe benefits) for all full-time physicians (other than house staff) at the hospital or, where the number of fulltime salaried physicians is minimal, at like institutions in the area. Your committee expects that any determination with respect to whether the size of a particular hospital's salaried staff is sufficient to provide the proper basis for reimbursement of donated services would take into account the ratio of salaried to voluntary nonpaid staff members as well as the absolute number of salaried staff. The average salary equivalent, which would be distilled into a single hourly rate covering all physicians regardless of specialty, would be applied to the actual time contributed by the teaching physician in direct patient care or supervisory voluntary service on a regularly scheduled basis to nonprivate patients. Such services would be billed for by the organized medical staff of the hospital and reimbursed to a fund designated by the organized medical staff.

Medicare would pick up its proportionate share of such costs on a basis comparable to the method by which reimbursement is presently made for the services of interns and residents. The salary-equivalent allowance would provide reasonable and not excessive payments for such services. The payment represents compensation for contributed medical staff time which would otherwise have to be obtained through employed staff on a reimbursable basis. Such funds would in general be made available on an appropriate legal basis to the organized medical staff for their disposition for purposes such as payment of stipends enhancing the hospital's capacity to attract house staff or to upgrade or to add necessary facilities or services, the support of continuing education programs in the hospital, and similar charitable or educational purposes. Contributions to the hospital made by the staff from such funds would not be recognized as a reimbursable cost when

expended by the hospital nor would depreciation expense be allowed with respect to equipment or facilities donated to the hospital by the staff.

There are also teaching physicians whose compensation is paid by a medical school. With respect to reimbursement for their direct or supervisory services for nonprivate medicare patients, payments should be made on the basis of actual or salary-equivalent costs. The funds so received may be assigned by such physicians to an appropriate fund designated by the medical school for use in compensating teacher physicians, or for educational purposes. Where States elect to compensate for services of teaching or supervisory physicians under medicaid, Federal matching should be limited to reimbursement not in excess of that allowable under medicare.

Fee-for-service would continue to be payable for medicare beneficiaries who are bona fide "private patients." This would ordinarily be a patient who was seen by the physician in his office prior to hospital admission; for whom he arranged admission to the hospital, whose principal physicians' service were provided by him, who was visited and treated by him during his hospital stay; who would ordinarily turn to him for followup care after discharge from the hospital; and who is legally obligated to pay the charges billed, including deductibles and coinsurance, and from whom collection of such charges is routinely and regularly sought by the physician. Of course, appropriate safeguards should be established to preclude feefor-service payment on the basis of pro forma or token compliance with these private patient criteria.

Your committee recognizes, however, that this concept of a private patient is not a complete definition primarily because it does not take account of the customary arrangements for reimbursing consultants and specialists who are not serving as the patient's attending physician, but who may provide a service to the patient for which a fee-for-service payment is appropriate and for which services the patient is legally obligated and which he expects to pay. For example, where a general practitioner refers his patient to a surgeon for necessary operative work and where the surgeon ordinarily charges and collects from all referred patients for his services. Furthermore, in some cases hospitals that normally do not bill for physician services have special centers, such as a center for severely burned people, where patients able to pay are regularly admitted and pay charges. It would be intended that medicare follow the pattern of the private patient in such centers.

The second exception to the cost-reimbursement coverage of teaching physician services is intended to permit the continuation of fee-for-service reimbursement for professional services provided to medicare patients in institutions which traditionally billed all patients (and the majority of whom paid) on a fee or package charge basis for professional services. This exception would apply if, for the years 1966, 1967, and each year thereafter for which part B charges are being claimed: all of the institution's patients were regularly billed for professional services; reasonable efforts were made to collect these billed charges and a majority of all patients actually paid the charges in whole or in substantial part. The hospital would have to provide evidence that it meets these tests for fee-for-service reimbursement before the payments could be made.

A hospital eligible for fee-for-service reimbursement on the basis of the requirement described in the above exception could, if it chose, elect to be reimbursed on the cost basis provided for by the bill if the election would be advantageous to the program in that it might reduce billing difficulties and costs. Similarly, where it would be advantageous to the program and would not be expected to increase the program's liability, the cost reimbursement provisions of the bill could serve as the basis for payment for teaching physicians' services furnished in the past where procedural difficulties have prevented a determination of the amount of fee-for-service that is appropriate.

Your committee expects that in any borderline or questionable areas concerning whether reimbursement for the services of teaching physicians in a given institution or setting should be on a costs or charges

basis, reimbursement would be on the basis of costs.

An important effect of these various coverage and co-pay provisions would be that, where the cost-reimbursement approach is applicable, reimbursement for the physician's teaching activities and his related patient care activities would always be provided under the same provisions of the law. This would greatly simplify the administration of the program by making it unnecessary to distinguish, as required by present law, between a physician's teaching activities and patient care

activities in submitting and paying bills.

Your committee's bill also provides that the law be amended so that a hospital could include the actual reasonable costs which an affiliated medical school incurs in paying physicians to provide patient care services to medicare patients in the hospital. The bill would also permit including in a hospital's reimbursable costs the reasonable cost to a medical school of providing services to the hospital which, if provided by the hospital, would have been covered as inpatient hospital services or outpatient hospital services. The hospital would be required to pay the reasonable cost of the services in question to the institution that bore the cost

The above provisions would become effective with respect to ac-

counting periods beginning on or after July 1, 1971.

(h) Advance approval of extended care and home health coverage under medicare.—Under present law, extended care benefits are payable only on behalf of patients who, following a hospital stay of at least 3 consecutive days, require skilled nursing care on a continuing basis for further treatment of the condition which required hospitalization. The post hospital home health benefit is payable on behalf of patients who, following hospitalization or an extended care facility stay, continue to require essentially the same type of nursing care on an intermittent basis, or physical or speech therapy. However, extended care facilities and home health agencies often care for patients who need less skilled and less medically oriented services in addition to patients requiring the level of care which is covered by the program.

Under current law, a determination of whether a patient requires the level of care that is necessary to qualify for extended care facility or home health benefits cannot generally be made until some time after the services have been furnished. Your committee is aware that in many cases such benefits are being denied retroactively, with the harsh result that the patient is faced with a large bill he expected would be paid or the facility or agency is faced with a patient who may not be able to pay his bill. The uncertainty about eligibility for these benefits

that exists until after the care has been given tends to encourage physicians to either delay discharge from the hospital, where coverage may less likely be questioned, or to recommend a less desirable, though financially predictable, course of treatment. The aggregate effect is to reduce the value of the post-hospital extended care and home health benefits as a continuation of hospital care in a less intensive-and less expensive—setting as soon as it is medically feasible for the patient to be moved.

Your committee believes that to the extent that valid criteria can be established posthospital extended care and home health benefits should be more positively identified by type of medical condition which ordinarily requires such care and that minimum coverage periods should be assured for such conditions. To achieve its purpose, your committee's bill authorizes the Secretary to establish, by medical conditions and length of stay or number of visits, periods for which a patient would be presumed to be eligible for benefits. These periods of presumed coverage would be limited to those conditions which program experience indicates are most appropriate for the extended care or home health level of services following hospitalization, taking into account such factors as length of hospital stay, degree of incapacity, medical history and other health factors affecting the type of services

to be provided.

Your committee recognizes that, in order to avoid the risk of presuming coverage (by general medical category) in substantial numbers of cases where extended care or home health care may not be required, presumed coverage periods must necessarily be limited in duration and will not, in many cases, encompass the entire period that the patient will require covered care. Nevertheless, these minimum presumed periods will provide a dual advantage over the present system of coverage determination by (1) encouraging prompt transfer through assurance that the admission or start of care will be reimbursed and (2) identifying in advance the point at which further assessment should be made, on an individual case basis, of continuing need for extended or home health care. Where request for coverage beyond the initial presumed period, accompanied by appropriate supporting evidence, is submitted for timely advance consideration, it is expected that a decision to terminate extended care or home health coverage would ordinarily be effected on a prospective basis. For those conditions for which specific presumed periods cannot be established, current procedures for determining coverage would continue to apply; however, fiscal intermediaries should be able to make coverage determinations on a more timely basis for such admissions.

To prevent abuse of the advance approval procedure, intermediaries and facilities would be expected to monitor, through periodic review of a sample of paid stays, utilization review committee studies, and similar measures, the reliability of individual physicians in describing the patients' conditions or certifying patients' needs for posthospital extended care and home health services. The Secretary could suspend the applicability of the advance approval procedure for patients certified by physicians who are found to be unreliable in this respect.

This provision would be effective January 1, 1972.

(i) Authority of Secretary to terminate payments to suppliers of services .- Present law does not provide authority for the Secretary to withhold future payments for services furnished by an institutional provider of services, a physician, or any other supplier who either abuses the program or endangers the health of beneficiaries, although payment for past or current claims may be withheld on an individual basis where the services are not reasonable or necessary for treatment of illness or injury or where the supplier fails to provide the necessary

payment information.

Your committee believes it important to protect the medicare, medicaid, and maternal and child health programs and their beneficiaries from those suppliers of services who have made a practice of furnishing inferior or harmful supplies or services, engaging in fraudulent activities, or consistently overcharging for their services. Such protection is not now provided under the law. For example, if a physician is found guilty of fraud in connection with the furnishing of services to a medicare beneficiary, there is no authority under present law to bar payment on his subsequent claims so long as the physician remains legally authorized to practice. States can, and some do, bar from medicaid providers who abuse the program, but they are not now required to do so.

Under your committee's bill, the Secretary would be given authority to terminate or suspend payments under the medicare program for services rendered by any supplier of health and medical services found to be guilty of program abuses. The Secretary would make the names of such persons or organizations public so that beneficiaries would be informed about which suppliers cannot participate in the program. The situations for which termination of payment could be made include overcharging, furnishing excessive, inferior, or harmful services, or making a false statement to obtain payment. Also, there would be no Federal financial participation in any expenditure under the medicaid and maternal and child health programs by the State with respect to services furnished by a supplier to whom the Secretary would not make medicare payments under this provision of the bill.

Program review teams would be established in each State by the Secretary, following consultation with groups representing consumers of health services, State and local professional societies, and the appropriate intermediaries and carriers utilized in the administration of title XVIII benefits. Both the professional and the nonprofessional members of the program review teams would be responsible for reviewing and reporting on statistical data on program utilization (which the Secretary would periodically provide). In addition, the entire program review team would review cases involving overcharging; however, only the professional members of the program review teams would review cases involving the furnishing of excessive, inferior, or harmful services in order to assure that only professionals will review other professionals under this provision.

It is not expected that any large number of suppliers of health services will be suspended from the medicare program because of abuse. However, the existence of the authority and its use in even a relatively

few cases is expected to provide a substantial deterrent.

The provisions relating to title XVIII would be effective with respect to determinations made by the Secretary after enactment of the bill. The provisions relating to titles V and XIX would be effective with respect to items or services furnished after June 30, 1971.

Any person or organization dissatisfied with the Secretary's decision to terminate payments would be entitled to a hearing by the Secretary

and to judicial review of the Secretary's final decision.

It is not intended that this provision would in any way change the Secretary's present right to withhold payment where necessary payment information is not provided. Nor would the supplier of services be entitled to a hearing or judicial review with respect to payments

withheld under such existing authority.

(j) Elimination of requirement that States move toward comprehensive medicaid programs.—Section 1903(e) of the medicaid statute requires that each State make "a satisfactory showing that it is making efforts in the direction of broadening the scope of the care and services made available under the plan and in the direction of liberalizing the eligibility requirements for medical assistance." Under an amendment adopted by the Congress in 1969 (Public Law 91–56, enacted August 9, 1969), the operation of this provision was suspended for two years, until July 1, 1971, and the date by which the States were to have comprehensive medicaid programs (applying to everyone who meets their eligibility standards with respect to income and resources) was changed from 1975 to 1977.

Your committee has been concerned with the burden of the medicaid program on State finances and has included a provision in the bill which would remove section 1903(e) from the Act. When the operations of the State medicaid programs have been substantially improved and there is assurance that program extensions will not merely result in more medical costs inflation, the question of required

expansion of the program could then be reconsidered.

(k) Reductions in care and services under medicaid program.— Under current law (section 1902(d) amended by P.L. 91-56) a State cannot reduce its expenditures for the State share of medicaid from one year to the next. If a State wishes to modify its State plan so as to reduce the extent of care and services provided or to terminate any of its programs, the Governor must certify to the Secretary that a) the State share of medicaid expenditures will not be reduced, b) the State is complying with the provisions in its plan relating to utilization and costs of services, and c) the modification is not made for the purpose of increasing the standard or other formula for determining payments.

Your committee is concerend with the effect of section 1902(d) on States which are faced with fiscal crises. Your committee is also concerned, however, that such crises should not operate to prevent the poor from receiving basic medical care and services, particularly

the six specific services mandated by present law.

Your committee wishes to assure maintenance of effort with regard to the basic services—physician, inpatient hospital, outpatient hospital, laboratory, x-ray and home health services, as well as nursing home care for those over 21 and early and periodic screening, diagnosis, treatment for those under 21. The bill would, therefore, amend section 1902(d) by restricting the maintenance of effort requirement to these basic services. The State would be able to modify the scope and extent of optional services provided, such as drugs, dental care and eyeglasses. This would enable the States experiencing fiscal crises to respond to such crises without reducing their expenditures for those services most urgently needed by the poor.

(l) Determination of reasonable cost of inpatient hospital services under medicaid and maternal and child health programs.—Under present law, as defined in earlier regulations issued by the Secretary, States are

required to reimburse hospitals for inpatient care under medicaid on the basis of the reasonable cost formula set forth in medicare. Several States have objected to this requirement, asserting that use of the medicare formula for medicaid reimbursement can result in their paying more than the actual cost of providing inpatient care to those eligible for medicaid. There is nothing in the legislative history which requires that reasonable costs should be defined precisely the same way for both programs, and there are reasons why they should not, such as the differing characteristics of the two populations served.

Your committee's bill would allow States to develop their own methods and standards for reimbursement, thereby giving them flexibility in working out satisfactory payment arrangements with their hospitals. The Secretary could disapprove a State's plan if it were shown to his satisfaction that the method developed by the State would not pay the actual and direct cost of providing care to medicaid eligibles. Reimbursement by the States would in no case exceed reasonable cost reimbursement as provided for under medicare.

Your committee bill wishes to make clear that it is not the intention of this section to shift the burden of costs from medicaid recipients to non-medicaid recipients. However, the States should not be unduly restricted in the methods with which they might experiment for payment of inpatient hospital services.

The bill would apply the same determination of reasonable costs to maternal and child health programs. The provision would be effective

July 1, 1972, or earlier if the State plan so provides.

(m) Amount of payments where customary charges for services furnished are less than reasonable cost.—Under present law, reimbursement under the medicare program is based on the reasonable costs incurred by providers of services (but only for inpatient hospital services under medicaid and the maternal and child health programs) in providing services to individuals covered by these programs. This results, in some cases, in these programs paying higher amounts for services received by covered individuals than such individuals would be charged if they were not covered by these programs, because, in some cases, a provider's customary charges to the general public are set at a level which does not reflect the provider's full costs.

Your committee believes that it is inequitable for the medicare, medicaid, and the child health programs to pay more for services than the provider charges to the general public. To the extent that a provider's costs are not reflected in charges to the public generally, such costs are expected to be met from income other than revenues from patient care—for example, from endowment or investment income. The bill would provide, therefore, that reimbursement for services under the medicare, medicaid, and child health programs could not exceed the lesser of the reasonable cost of such services as determined under section 1861(v) of the Social Security Act, or the customary

charges to the general public for such services.

However, your committee believes that it would be undesirable to apply this provision in the case of services furnished by public providers of services free of charge or at a nominal fee. The bill would provide, therefore, that where services are furnished by a public provider of services free of charge or at a nominal charge, the Secretary shall specify by regulation reimbursement based on those elements of costs generally allowed in the determination of reasonable cost that he

finds will result in fair compensation for such services. In such cases fair compensation for a service could not exceed, but could be less than

the amount that would be paid under present law.

Your committee recognizes that a provider's charges may be lower than its costs in a given period as a result of miscalculation or special circumstances of limited duration, and it is not intended that providers should be penalized by such short-range discrepancies between costs and charges. Nor does the committee want to introduce any incentive for providers to set charges for the general public at a level substantially higher than estimated costs merely to avoid being penalized by this provision. Thus, your committee recognizes the desirability of permitting a provider that was reimbursed under the medicare, medicaid and child health programs on the basis of charges in a fiscal period to carry unreimbursed allowable costs for that period forward for perhaps two succeeding fiscal periods. Should charges exceed costs in such succeeding fiscal periods, the unreimbursed allowable costs carried forward could be reimbursed to the provider along with current allowable costs up to the limit of current charges.

Your committee intends that for purposes of administering this provision, "customary charges" shall mean (1) the charges listed in an established charge schedule (if the institution has only a single set of charges applied to all patients), or (2) the most frequent or typical charges imposed (if the institution uses more than one charge for a single service). However, in order to be considered to be the "customary charge," a charge would have to be one that was actually collected from a substantial number of individuals. A charge set up in name only, perhaps primarily to avoid the effect of this provision, is not intended

to determine medicare reimbursement.

The provisions relating to medicare would be effective with respect to services furnished by hospitals, extended care facilities and home health agencies in accounting periods beginning after June 30, 1971. Provisions relating to medicaid and maternal and child health would be effective for accounting periods beginning after June 30, 1971.

(n) Institutional planning under medicare. Under present medicare law, there is no requirement for providers of services to develop fiscal plans such as operating and capital budgets. However, your committee is aware of the fact that health care facilities have come under increasing criticism on the grounds that they fail to follow sound business practices in their operations. The Advisory Committee on Hospital Effectiveness established by the Secretary of HEW in its report stated, "\* \* the fact must be faced that deficiencies in hospital management owe something, at least, to inattention, indifference, or lack of information on the part of some hospital boards, and some trustees with the best intentions and energy have not been adequately informed by administrations on what the functions of a hospital trustee, or a hospital should be." In recommonding the requirement contained in the bill, the Secretary's committee stated, "The requirement that detailed budgets and operating plans be prepared annually as a condition of approval for participation in Federal programs can be expected to disclose management inefficiencies in such health care institutions as a necessary first step toward bringing about needed improvements. Especially, the committee believes this requirement will compel the attention of many hospital trustees to lapses in management that would not be permitted in their own businesses.'

Under your committee's bill, providers of services (including hospitals accredited by the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals) would be required, as a condition of participation under the medicare program, to have a written overall plan and budget reflecting an operating budget and a capital expenditures plan. The overall plan would be expected to contain information outlining the services to be provided in the future, the estimated costs of providing such services (including proposed capital expenditures in excess of \$100,000 for acquisition of land, buildings, and equipment and replacement, modernization, and expansion of the buildings and equipment), and the proposed methods of financing such costs. It would have to be prepared under the direction of the governing body of the institution, by a committee consisting of representatives of that body, the administrative staff and the medical staff. The required annual operating budgets may be prepared by groupings of cost or income rather than a detailed itemization for each type of cost or income. The plan would cover the immediately following year and the immediately following 3-year accounting period and would be reviewed and updated annually to assure that it is consistent with the budgetary program of the provider.

The plan would not be reviewed for substance by the Government or any of its agents. The purpose of the provision is to assure that such institutions carry on budgeting and planning on their own. It is not intended that the Government will play any role in that process.

The new condition of participation would have to be met with respect to any provider of services for fiscal years of the provider beginning after the fifth month after the month of enactment.

(o) Payments to States under medicaid programs for installation and operation of claims processing and information retrieval systems.—Under present law, States are required to use methods of administration deemed necessary by the Secretary for efficient operation of the program. Federal matching is now set at 50 percent for administrative costs and 75 percent for compensation of professional medical personnel. Despite this requirement, many States do not have effective claims administration or well-designed information storage and retrieval systems; nor do they possess the financial and technical resources to develop them if required to do so by the Secretary.

Your committee proposes to aid the States in meeting their responsibilities by authorizing 90 percent Federal matching for the cost necessary to design, develop, and install mechanized claims processing and information retrieval systems deemed necessary by the Secretary. The Federal Government acknowledges the obligation to provide technical assistance, including the development of model systems, to each State operating a medicaid program. It is expected that this financial and technical support will aid the States in realizing efficient and effective administration of the program, and that it will reduce program costs.

Your committee also recognizes the importance of this activity by providing in the bill for Federal matching funds at the 75 percent rate for the operation of the system approved by the Secretary.

States would not be eligible to receive this increased Federal support until they have developed the capacity to provide basic information to recipients on services paid for by the program, including the names of the providers, the dates on which services were furnished, and the amount of payment made. Experience with the medicare program indicates that beneficiary complaints about discrepancies

between the "explanation of benefits" form they receive, and the care actually provided, has been the largest single source of information on possible abuse and fraud. It is appropriate to combine the requirement that States provide such explanations with the increased Federal matching which would support such an activity. Savings resulting from improved administrative efficiency would more than offset the cost of this provision.

This\_provision of the bill would be effective July 1, 1971.

(p) Prohibition against reassignment of claims to benefits.—Under present law, payment for services furnished by a physician or other person under the supplementary medical insurance program is made: (1) to the beneficiary on the basis of an itemized bill, or (2) to the physician or other person who provided the services on the basis of an assignment under the terms of which the reasonable charge is the full charge for the service. Present law also provides that payment for such services under the medicaid program is made to the physician or other person providing the services. The law is silent with respect to reassignment by physicians or others who provide services of their right to receive payment under these programs. The Department of HEW makes such reassigned payments under medicare without specific legislative authority.

Experience with this practice under these programs shows that some physicians and other persons providing services reassign their rights to other organizations or groups under conditions whereby the organization or group submits claims and receives payment in its own name. Such reassignments have been a source of incorrect and inflated claims for services and have created administrative problems with respect to determinations of reasonable charges and recovery of overpayments. Fraudulent operations of collection agencies have been identified in medicaid. Substantial overpayments to many such organizations have been identified in the medicare program, one involving over a million

Your committee's bill seeks to overcome these difficulties by prohibiting payment under these programs to anyone other than the patient, his physician, or other person who provided the service, unless the physician or other person is required as a condition of his employment to turn his fees over to his employer, or unless the physician or other person has an arrangement with the facility in which the services were provided under which the facility bills for the services. It is not the intent of your committee that this provision apply to payments to providers of services that are based on the reasonable cost of the services.

Your committee's bill would not preclude a physician or other person who provided the services and accepted an assignment from having the payment mailed to anyone or any organization he wishes, but the payment would be to him in his name.

The provision would in no way interfere with the fiscal relationships between physician and hospitals, in the case of hospital-based pathologists and radiologists, for example.

This provision as it applies to medicare would be effective with respect to bills submitted after the enactment date. For medicaid the provision would be effective July 1, 1972, or earlier if the State plan so provides.

(q) Utilization review requirements for hospitals and skilled nursing homes under medicaid and maternal and child health programs.—Under present medicare law, each hospital and extended care facility is required to have a utilization review committee to review all long-stay cases as well as review, on a sample or other basis, admissions, durations of stay and professional services. The reasons for requiring hospitals and extended care facilities to have utilization review committees for medicare cases apply with equal force to review of medicaid cases, but there is now no such requirement in the medicaid law.

Your committee's proposal would require hospitals and skilled nursing homes participating in the medicaid or maternal and child health program to have cases reviewed by the same utilization review committee already reviewing medicare cases or, if one does not exist, by a committee which meets the standards established under medicare. States could, if they wish, impose more stringent requirements, e.g., they might request that the committee review medicaid patient stays earlier than medicare cases since the medicaid population is generally

younger than that covered under medicare.

This provision would be effective July 1, 1972.

(r) Notification of unnecessary admission to a hospital or extended care facility under medicare.—Under present law, the utilization review committee required to function in each hospital and extended care facility must review all long-stay cases and at least a sample of admissions. When in the review of a long-stay case the utilization review committee determines that further stay in the institution is not medically necessary, the committee is required to notify promptly the physician, the patient, and the institution of its finding. No medicare payment is made for any services furnished after the third day following such notification.

Your committee's bill would require a similar notification, and a similar payment cut-off after 3 days, to be made where the utilization review committee in its sample or other review of admissions finds a case where hospitalization or extended care is no longer necessary (or never was necessary). Thus, your committee's bill would remove the anomaly of continuing payment in a case where the utilization review committee determined in the course of sample or other review that admission to the institution or further stay was not necessary and would make parallel the treatment accorded long-stay cases and cases

reviewed on a sample basis.

This provision would be effective with respect to services furnished

after the second month following enactment of the bill.

(s) Use of State health agency or other appropriate medical agency to perform certain functions under medicaid and maternal and child health programs.—Under present law, one State agency may have the responsibility for certifying health facilities for participation in the medicare program and another agency for certifying health facilities for participation in medicaid and maternal and child health programs. Your committee believes that this duplication of effort in the verification of and in the establishment and maintenance of health standards is unnecessary and inefficient and should be limited to the extent feasible. Your committee's bill would require the State to provide that the State health agency (or the State medical agency which licenses health facilities) shall perform these functions for medicare, medicaid, and the maternal and child health programs. Your committee would

authorize the use of the appropriate State medical agency rather than

limiting the designation to "State health agency."

Your committee also believes that the effectiveness and economy of the medicaid program would be enhanced through development of capability in each State to perform utilization reviews, to establish standards relating to the quality of health care furnished to medicaid recipients, and to review the quality of the services provided. Activities such as these would provide information on the under-or over-utilization of resources and the quality and appropriateness of care.

To encourage the development of the capabilities upon which these improvements would be based, your committee bill would provide that Federal participation in medicaid payments be contingent upon the establishment of a plan, acceptable to the Secretary, for utilization review, the establishment of standards relating to the quality of care furnished to medicaid recipients, and review of the quality of services provided. Federal matching at the 75-percent rate is available for the costs of the health professionals and their supporting staff found necessary in carrying out such functions.

This provision would be effective July 1, 1972.

(t) Relationship between medicaid and comprehensive health care programs.—Present law provides that under Title XIX all eligible recipients should receive the same scope of services; that those services should be available throughout the States; and that recipients should have freedom of choice to determine where they shall receive their care. The law also provides that recipients may choose to obtain medical services from organizations providing them (or arranging for

their availability on a prepayment basis).

These requirements for State plans, called "comparability and "statewideness", have limited states in their ability to contract with organizations such as neighborhood health centers or pre-paid group practices to provide services to medicaid recipients. These organizations provide services which are often broader in scope than the services received under the medicaid plan, and, therefore, are not available throughout the State. Under current law States are able to contract with such organizations only a) through a waiver under a provision in present law that the particular contract is a demonstration project, or (b) through establishing a separate premium rate for the particular set of services offered under the State plan.

Organized plans, primarily those on a prepaid basis, have been shown to discourage overutilization of expensive inpatient care and to encourage less costly ambulatory care and preventive health

measures.

Your committee bill would enable States to waive Federal state-wideness and comparability requirements, if a State contracts with an organization which has agreed to provide health care and services in excess of the State plan to eligible people who reside in the geographic area served by such an organization, and who elect to obtain such care and services from such an organization. Payments to such organizations could not be higher on a per capita basis than per capita payments expended for medicaid eligibles in the same general geographic area not under the proposed arrangement.

The amendment would be effective upon enactment.

(u) Program for determining qualifications for certain health care personnel.—Under present law, the Secretary establishes various

health and safety criteria as conditions for the participation of providers of service in the medicare program. In setting these standards it is necessary to establish criteria for judging the professional competency and qualifications of key personnel in these health facilities. Medicare and medicaid regulations have relied heavily on formal training courses and professional society membership in judging

professional competency.

Your committee agrees with the Secretary that appropriate criteria as prima facie evidence of competence are necessary. However, your committee is concerned that reliance solely on specific formal education or training, or membership in private professional organizations might serve to disqualify people whose work experience and training might make them equally or better qualified than those who meet the existing requirements. Your committee believes that failure to make the fullest use of competent health personnel is of particular

concern because of the shortage of such personnel.

Your committee's bill, therefore, requires the Secretary to explore, develop, and apply appropriate means of determining the proficiency of health personnel disqualified or limited in responsibility under present regulations. A proficiency testing program would help to make greater use of otherwise qualified health personnel and technicians who do not now meet medicare's formal criteria for judging professional competency and qualifications. Appropriate methods and procedures are capable of being promptly developed and applied to determine qualifications and to upgrade skills to qualifying levels.

Your committee obtained agreement from the Department last year to institute such a program with respect to clinical laboratory personnel and asked for a report on the matter by July 1, 1971. Your

committee is looking forward to receiving that report.

The amendment would be effective upon enactment.

(v) Penalties for fraudulent acts and false reporting under medicare and medicaid.—Under present law, a false statement or representation of a material fact in any application for payment under social security programs is defined as a misdemeanor and carries a penalty of up to

one year of imprisonment, a fine of \$1,000, or both.

Your committee believes that a specific provision defining acts subject to penalty under the medicare and medicaid programs should be included to provide penalties for certain practices which have long been regarded by professional organizations as unethical, as well as unlawful in some jurisdictions, and which contribute appreciably to the cost of the medicare and medicaid programs. Thus, under the committee bill, the criminal penalty provision would include such practices as the soliciting, offering, or accepting of kickbacks or bribes, including the rebating of a portion of a fee or charge for a patient referral, involving providers of health care services. In addition, the provision would include penalties for concealing or failing to disclose knowledge of any event affecting a person's right to any benefit payment with the intent to defraud, or for knowingly and willfully converting benefits or payments to improper use. Under the bill, the penalty for such acts, as well as false statements or representations of material facts in any application for payment under the medicare and medicaid programs, would be a fine of \$10,000, 1 year of imprisonment, or both.

Continuing investigation and review of reports by the General Accounting Office have indicated that false statements may have been made by individuals and institutions with respect to health and safety conditions and operating conditions in health care facilities in order to secure approval for participation in the medicare and medicaid programs. While the numbers of different individuals and institutions involved in such fraud may not be large in relation to the number participating in the program, your committee believes that a specific penalty for such acts should be provided to deter the making or inducing of such statements. Thus, your committee's bill includes specific provisions under title XVIII (medicare) and under title XIX (medicaid) of the Social Security Act whereby anyone who knowingly and willfully makes, or induces or seeks to induce the making of, a false statement of material fact with respect to the conditions and operation of a health care facility or agency in order to secure certification or approval to participate in the medicare and medicaid programs would be subject to imprisonment for up to 6 months, a fine not to exceed **\$2,000**, or both.

These provisions would be in addition to and not in lieu of any other penalty provisions in State or Federal law.

The amendment is effective upon enactment.

(w) Provider reimbursement review board.—Under present law there is no specific provision for an appeal by a provider of services of a fiscal intermediary's final reasonable cost determination. Although the HEW has developed administrative procedures to assist providers and intermediaries to reach reasonable and mutually satisfactory settlements of disputed reimbursement items, your committee believes that it is desirable to prescribe in law a specific procedure for settling disputed final determinations applying to the amount of program reimbursement. This procedure would not apply to questions of coverage or disputes involving individual beneficiary claims.

Your committee's bill, therefore, provides for the establishment of a Provider Reimbursement Review Board. The Board would be composed of 5 members, knowledgeable in the field of cost reimbursement, appointed by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare. At least one member of the Board would have to be a certified public accountant, and two members would be representative of providers

of services.

Any provider of services which has filed a timely cost report may appeal an adverse final decision of the fiscal intermediary with respect to the period covered by such a report to the Board where the amount in controversy is \$10,000 or more. The appeal must be filed within 180 days after notice of the fiscal intermediary's final determination. Implementation of the intermediary determinations would not be held in abeyance pending the Board's decision.

The provider would have the right to reasonable notice as to the time and place of hearing and reasonable opportunity to appear at the hearing; to be represented by counsel; to introduce reasonable and pertinent evidence to supplement or contradict the evidence considered by the fiscal intermediary; and to examine and cross-examine witnesses. Under your committee's bill, all decisions by the Board would have to be based upon the record made at such hearing, which may include any evidence submitted by the Department. Such evidence would include the evidence or record considered by the intermediary. Based upon examination of all of the evidence, the Provider Reimbursement Review Board may find in whole or in part for the provider or the Government (including a finding based upon the evidence before it that the provider owes sums in addition to the amount

raised in the appeal).

A decision of the Provider Reimbursement Review Board would be final unless the Secretary, on his own motion, and within 60 days after the provider of services is notified of the Board's decision, reverses or modifies the Board's decision adversely to the provider. In any case where such reversal or modification occurs, the provider of services would have the right to obtain a review of such a decision by the United States District Court for the district in which it is located or in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia, as an aggrieved party under the Administrative Procedure Act, notwithstanding any other provision in section 205 of the Social Security Act.

The amendments made by this section would be effective with

respect to accounting periods beginning after June 30, 1971.

## 3. Miscellaneous and technical provisions

(a) Physical therapy services and other therapy services under medicare.—Under present law, physical therapy is covered as an inpatient hospital service, an inpatient extended care service, a home health service, and a service incident to physicians' services. Physical therapy is also covered when furnished under prescribed conditions by a participating hospital, extended care facility, home health agency, clinic, rehabilitation agency, or public health agency to its outpatients. The physical therapist may be either an employee of the participating facility or he may be self-employed and furnish his services under arrangements with and under the supervision of the facility.

The limitations imposed under present law on the coverage of physical therapy have been a source of some difficulty. For example, it has been difficult to explain why physical therapy services cannot be furnished in the therapist's office, especially in cases where the latter is more accessible than the facility to which the beneficiary must travel to

obtain the service.

Your committee's bill would include as covered services under the supplementary medical insurance program the services of a physical therapist in independent practice, when furnished in his office or in the patient's home (including a place of residence used as his home other than an institution which is primarily engaged in furnishing skilled health care services). These services would be furnished under such licensing and other conditions relating to health and safety as the Secretary may find necessary, such as requiring that the services be furnished pursuant to a written plan of treatment established by a physician which prescribes the amount, type, and duration of services to be furnished, and setting out professional qualifications in addition to State licensure for the physical therapists participating under this provision. The bill would provide that the Secretary establish regulations governing other conditions under which the proposed services would be furnished. Your committee expects the Secretary to be guided by the conditions now in effect for providers of outpatient physical therapy services, taking into account the less elaborate facilities generally present in the office setting, but assuring that the regulations provide for the availability of an adequate program of physical therapy services in the therapist's office.

With respect to present law as it covers physical therapy services furnished to an inpatient of a hospital or an extended care facility, there are a few cases where an inpatient exhausts his inpatient benefits and can continue to receive payment for the physical therapy treatment (as a covered expense under the supplementary medical insurance program) only if the hospital or extended care facility is able to arrange for another participating facility to furnish the physical therapy treatment as an outpatient service. Your committee's bill would authorize a hospital or extended care facility to furnish outpatient physical therapy services to its inpatients. This would permit an inpatient of a participating hospital or extended care facility to continue to receive covered physical therapy services under the supplementary medical insurance program in those cases where he had exhausted his inpatient benefits through which physical therapy services were covered under the hospital insurance program or where he is otherwise ineligible for hospital insurance inpatient benefits.

Your committee is concerned over the increasing costs of physical therapy services and other therapy services furnished in hospitals and extended care facilities. Accordingly, the committee bill includes two provisions for controlling program expenditures for therapy services and services of other health related personnel and for preventing abuse:

(1) Total charges on which payment may be made in a calendar year with respect to an individual for physical therapy services furnished to him in practitioners' offices or in his home by independently practicing physical therapists may not exceed \$100 (such payment would be subject to the deductible and coinsurance provisions of the supplementary medical insurance program). Program reimbursement for the reasonable charges for the covered services would be made either to the beneficiary or, on assignment, directly to the physical therapist.

(2) With respect to physical, occupational, and speech therapy services, or the services of other health specialists, furnished by a provider of services, a clinic, rehabilitation agency, or a public health agency or by others under arrangements with such providers or other organizations, payment for the reasonable cost of such services may not exceed an amount equal to the salary which would have been payable if the services had been performed in an employment relationship, plus the cost of such other expenses an individual not working as an employee might have, such as maintaining an office, travel-time and expense, and similar costs. Your committee expects that the Secretary will, in establishing the criteria for determining the reasonable cost of such services, consult with the professions directly affected and give thorough consideration to procedures used in other public and private plans that may be local, regional, or national in scope.

The provisions for covering additional physical therapy services under supplementary medical insurance would be effective for services furnished on or after January 1, 1972. The provision relating to the coverage of outpatient physical therapy services furnished to inpatients of hospitals or extended care facilities would be effective on enactment of the bill. The provision relating to determining the reasonable cost of services of therapists and other health specialists would be effective with respect to accounting periods beginning on

or after January 1, 1972.

(b) Coverage of supplies related to colostomies.—Payment under medicare for the bags and straps used in conjunction with some colostomies (an artificial opening of the bowel to the abdominal wall which is often necessary in surgical treatment of cancer of the bowel) is not specifically authorized by the law. Medicare pays for these as surgical dressings, but does not pay for the irrigation equipment and supplies used in treating a colostomy condition. The provision would correct this inequity by providing specific coverage for colostomy bags and supplies directly related to colostomy care, as prosthetic devices.

This provision would be effective on enactment.

(c) Coverage of ptosis bars.—Under medicare's supplementary medical insurance program, specific provision is made for the coverage of leg, arm, back, and neck braces, which includes a variety of devices used to support weak or deformed body members or to restrict motion in a diseased or injured part of the body. However, medicare does not pay for ptosis bars used to support the drooping eyelids of patients suffering from paralysis or atrophy of the muscles of the upper eyelid. Your committee's bill would cover these devices in the same way as other supportive devices or appliances. No payment would be made, of course, for eyeglasses to which such devices may be attached.

This provision would be effective on enactment.

(d) Inclusion under medicaid of care in intermediate care facilities.—In order to provide a less costly institutional alternative to skilled nursing home care, the Congress approved in 1967 an amendment to Title XI of the Social Security Act which authorized Federal matching for a new classification of care provided in "intermediate care facilities." The provision was intended to provide a means for appropriate placement of patients professionally determined to be in need of institutional care but not care at the skilled nursing home level.

The intermediate care benefit was not intended to cover care which was essentially residential or boarding home in nature. It was not intended to provide a refuge for substandard nursing homes which would not or could not meet medical standards. It was not intended as a placement device whereby States could reduce costs through wholesale and indiscriminate transfer of patients from skilled nursing homes to intermediate care without careful and independent medical review of each patient's health care needs.

Many thousands of patients are in skilled nursing homes who do not need that level of care, according to recent General Accounting Office and HEW audit reports. Thousands of those people are in skilled nursing homes because their States have not as yet established

intermediate care programs.

Your committee has, therefore, included an amendment to clarify congressional intent with respect to intermediate care and to make such care, where appropriate, more generally available as an alternative to costlier skilled nursing home or hospital care.

Your committee's amendment is designed to make it clear that intermediate care coverage is for persons who require care in the entire range from just above simple boarding home arrangements up to, but

not including, the skilled nursing home level.

Your committee amendment would require an intermediate care facility to meet such standards, prescribed by the Secretary, as are deemed necessary to assist in meeting the needs of the types of patients

expected to be placed in such institutions. The Secretary could establish several levels of standards depending upon the type of care involved. As indicated, the term intermediate care is a broad one encompassing institutions which are just above the boarding home level up to the institution which has a level of health care just below that

of the skilled nursing home.

The amendment would provide for the transfer of the intermediate care provisions from Title XI of the Social Security Act to Title XIX (Medicaid). This action will enable the medically indigent, presently ineligible for intermediate care, to receive such care, when a State has a medically needy program and when such care has been determined as appropriate to their health care needs. This change should also serve to end the practice in some States of keeping medically indigent patients in skilled nursing homes when they could more appropriately be cared for in intermediate care facilities. Such States may do so because, under present law, Federal matching funds are available toward the costs of skilled nursing home care provided medically indigent persons but not for care of such people in intermediate care facilities.

Your committee's amendment would also authorize Federal matching under medicaid for care of the mentally retarded in public institutions which have a primary purpose of providing health or rehabilitation services and which are classified as intermediate care facilities. Matching would be available only in a properly qualified institution meeting standards (in addition to those required of an intermediate care facility) established by the Department for mentally retarded persons receiving an active program of health-related treatment or rehabilitation. States would not be eligible for the additional Federal matching funds unless they maintained present levels of State and local funds expended for care of the mentally retarded. The purpose here is to improve medical care and treatment of the needy mentally retarded rather than to simply substitute Federal dollars for State dollars. The provision would not provide Federal participation in payments to institutions that are primarily residential or custodial in character even though these may provide some health or rehabilitation services.

Intermediate care would, under another provision in the bill by definition be less expensive than skilled nursing home care; therefore, the cost of intermediate care should generally be significantly less

than skilled nursing home care in the same area.

In view of the rapidly increasing expenditures for intermediate care and in view of the extension of intermediate care to the medically indigent, your committee has added another provision to its amendment requiring regular independent professional review of patients in those intermediate care facilities which have a significant health content. Teams headed by either a physician or a registered nurse would regularly review, on site, the nature of the care required and provided to each such intermediate care recipient. That review would be undertaken on a patient-by-patient basis and may not be performed at a distance or without reference to the specific circumstances of the individual patient. The Secretary of HEW would be expected to establish two or more levels of care encompassed under the intermediate care concept and then vary his regulations for such reviews based on the characteristics of the patients in the various levels of care.

The amendment would be effective January 1, 1972.

(e) Coverage prior to application for medical assistance.—Under present law, a State may, at its own option cover the cost of health care provided to an otherwise qualified recipient for the three months prior to his application for medicaid. Thirty-one States have elected to provide this coverage, thereby protecting persons who are eligible for medicaid but do not apply for assistance until after they have received care, either because they did not know about the medicaid eligibility requirements, or because the sudden nature of their illness prevented their applying.

Your committee believes such coverage is reasonable and desirable. Your committee's bill would therefore require States to provide coverage for care and services furnished in or after the third month prior to application for those individuals who were otherwise eligible when

services were received.

This provision would be effective July 1, 1972.

(f) Hospital admissions for dental services under medicare.—Under present medicare procedures, when a patient is hospitalized in connection with the performance of noncovered dental procedures, payment may be made for inpatient hospital services if the patient has other impairments so severe that hospitalization is necessary. In some cases, intermediaries require that a physician certify to the medical necessity of dental admissions, since hospitalization is ordinarily not necessary for the provision of dental services. Where such a certification is required, the dentist who will be performing the dental procedures must arrange for a physician to make the necessary certification.

Your committee's bill would authorize the dentist who is caring for the patient to make the certification of the necessity for inpatient hospital admission for noncovered dental services under the above circumstances without requiring a corroborating certification by a physician. Your committee believes that in these kinds of cases the dentist is in a better position to make the necessary evaluation of the patient's condition and probable reaction to dental surgery than is a physician who may not be familiar either with the patient or the nature of the dental procedures to be performed.

This provision would be effective with respect to admissions occur-

ring after the second month following enactment of the bill.

(g) Extension of grace period for termination of supplementary medical insurance coverage where failure to pay premiums is due to good cause.—
Under present law, an individual's coverage under the supplementary medical insurance part of medicare is terminated for nonpayment of premiums. The termination is effective on a date determined under regulations which may be established so as to provide a grace period (not in excess of 90 days) during which overdue premiums may be paid and coverage continued.

Several types of cases have arisen in which termination of an individual's supplementary medical insurance protection for failure to pay all premiums due within 90 days is clearly inequitable. For example, there have been cases where for reasons of physical or mental incapacity the enrollee was unable to make the premium payment within the allowed time limit and there was no one acting on his behalf to protect his interests. In other cases, coverage has been terminated because the enrollee mistakenly believed that payment had been made when actually it had not.

Your committee's bill would extend the 90-day grace period for an additional 90 days where the Secretary finds that there was good cause for failure to pay the premium before the expiration of the initial 90-day grace period.

This provision would apply to such cases of nonpayment of pre-

miums due within the 90-day period preceding the date of enactment.

(h) Extension of time for filing claim for supplementary medical insurance benefits where delay is due to administrative error.—Under present law, a claim for benefits under the supplementary medical insurance program must be filed by December 31 of the year following the year in which the services were provided. (For this purpose, services furnished in the last 3 months of a year are deemed to have been furnished in the following year.) The present time limit is adequate for the vast majority of supplementary medical insurance claims. In some few cases, however, beneficiaries have failed to file a timely claim due to a mistake or other action on the part of the Government or one of its agents. For example, misinformation from an official source or delay in establishing supplementary medical insurance entitlement has resulted in late filing of claims.

Your committee's bill would provide that where a claim under supplementary medical insurance is not filed timely due to error of the Government or one of its agents, the claim may nevertheless be honored if filed as soon as possible after the facts in the case have been established. This provision would assure that claimants would

not be treated inequitably because of such an error.

This amendment would apply with respect to bills submitted and requests for payment made after March 1968.

(i) Waiver of enrollment period requirements where individual's rights were prejudiced by administrative error or inaction.—Under present law, an individual can enroll in the supplementary medical insurance program during his initial 7-month enrollment period, beginning with the third month before the month he attains age 65, or during any general enrollment period (during the first 3 months of each year), which begins within 3 years after the end of his initial enrollment period. (The committee's bill includes a provision which would climinate the 3-year limit on enrollment. That provision is discussed immediately following discussion of this provision.)

There have been some relatively rare cases in which it has been discovered that due to an action, inaction, or error on the part of the Government an individual is in fact enrolled, or is in fact not enrolled, under supplementary medical insurance when both the individual and the Government had until then believed that the reverse was true.

Although rare, such cases may be a cause of considerable hardship and distress to the individuals involved, and present law permits no relief to be given. Your committee recognizes that enactment of the provision (discussed above) under which supplementary medical insurance enrollment would be automatic for individuals who are entitled to hospital insurance would in all likelihood result in a lesser number of problem cases involving supplementary medical insurance enrollment than are encountered under present law. However, since not all supplementary medical insurance enrollees will be entitled to hospital insurance and therefore will not be automatically enrolled for supplementary medical insurance, it is reasonable to expect there will continue to be such problem situations. It can also be expected

that some problem cases involving enrollment status may result from

the automatic enrollment of eligible persons.

Your committee believes that where an individual's enrollment rights under supplementary medical insurance have been prejudiced because of the action, inaction or error on the part of the Government, he should not be penalized or caused hardship. The bill, therefore, authorizes the Secretary to provide such equitable relief as may be necessary to correct or climinate the effects of these situations, including (but not limited to) the establishment of a special initial or subsequent enrollment period, with a coverage period determined on the basis thereof and with appropriate adjustments of premiums.

This provision would apply to all cases which have arisen since the

beginning of the program.

(j) Elimination of provisions preventing enrollment in supplementary medical insurance program more than 3 years after first opportunity.—Under present law, an individual can enroll for the first time in the supplementary medical insurance program during his initial 7-month enrollment period, beginning with the third month before the month he attains age 65, or during any general enrollment period (during the first 3 months of each year) which begins within 3 years after the end of his initial enrollment period. A person whose enrollment has terminated may not enroll for the second time in supplementary medical insurance unless he does so in a general enrollment period which begins within 3 years after the effective date of such

termination. An individual may reenroll only once.

The 3-year enrollment limit was included in the law (as are other limitations on enrollment in the supplementary medical insurance program) in the interest of avoiding antiselection in case the enrollment under the program was not a very substantial proportion of people eligible to enroll. For example, substantial numbers of people who are relatively healthy might delay enrollment until they are well past age 65 and have become sick, at which point they would enroll and receive substantial benefits without having paid much in premiums. However, since there is now a 95-percent rate of participation in the program and since the vast majority of enrollees enroll at the earliest possible time, there would seem to be no reason to retain the 3-year limit on enrollment. Further, present law provides that premiums for late enrollees are increased 10 percent for each full 12 months elapsed between the time they could have enrolled and actually do enroll and this provision would be retained. Such late-enrollment charges serve to prevent antiselection and to meet the higher costs associated with those who enroll at older ages. It is not intended, of course, that the months for which the law itself precluded individuals from enrolling or reenrolling would apply in determining the late-enrollment charges.

Your committee's bill would eliminate the 3-year limit with respect to both initial enrollment and reenrollment after an initial termination. Enrollment periods would remain as presently defined and the restriction limiting individuals who terminate enrollment to reenroll

only once would be retained.

This provision would apply to all those who are ineligible to enroll

because of the 3-year limit in effect under present law.

(k) Waiver of recovery of incorrect payments from survivor who is without fault under medicare.—Under present law, an individual to whom (or on behalf of whom) a medicare overpayment is made is

subjected to recovery action with respect to such overpayment, except that the recovery action may be waived if the individual is without fault and if recovery would defeat the purposes of the cash social security title (title II) of the Social Security Act or would be against equity and good conscience. If such individual dies, recovery action is initiated as necessary against any other individual who is receiving cash social security benefits on the same earnings record as the deceased overpaid beneficiary. In the latter situation, however, waiver of recovery action is not permitted even though the surviving beneficiary—a widow, for example—is without fault with respect to the overpayment.

The Social Security Amendments of 1967 included a provision which permitted recovery to be waived in the case of cash benefits if the individual from whom recovery is being considered is without fault, even though the overpaid individual was at fault. However, the comparable change with respect to medicare overpayments was not made. As a result, there are situations in which, for example, an overpayment made to a deceased beneficiary is the responsibility of his widow even though she was without fault in causing the overpayment, whereas if the overpayment had been made to or on behalf of the widow herself, the waiver provision would apply if she were

not at fault.

Your committee's bill would rectify this anomaly by permitting any individual who is liable for repayment of a medicare overpayment to qualify for waiver of recovery of the overpaid amount if he is without fault and if such recovery would defeat the purposes of title II or would be against equity and good conscience.

The provision would be effective upon enactment for overpayments

outstanding at that time.

(l) Requirement of minimum amount of claim to establish entitlement to hearing under supplementary medical insurance program.—Under present law, people enrolled in the supplementary medical insurance program are assured an opportunity for a fair hearing by the carrier when requests for payment under supplementary medical insurance are denied or are not acted upon with reasonable promptness, or when the amount of the payment is in controversy, regardless of the dollar amount at issue. Experience under the program indicates that the holding of a full fair hearing is unwarranted in cases where the amount in controversy is relatively small. Carriers have reported cases involving \$5 and \$10 claims for which the cost of holding a fair hearing has exceeded \$100. Approximately 45 percent of the hearings held since the beginning of the program have involved an amount less than \$100. Further, regulations require carriers to have a reconsideration review of all denied claims. Such review involves different claims personnel than those who acted on the original claim and should be sufficient protection in small claims cases.

Your committee's bill would require that a minimum amount of \$100 be at issue before an enrollee in the supplementary medical insurance

program will be granted a fair hearing by the carrier.

The provision would be effective with respect to hearings requested

after the enactment of the bill.

(m) Collection of supplementary medical insurance premiums from individuals entitled to both social security and railroad retirement benefits.—Under present law, the responsibility for collecting supplementary medical insurance premiums for enrollees entitled to both railroad retirement benefits and social security benefits is vested in either the Social Security Administration or the Railroad Retirement Board, depending upon the circumstances of entitlement at the time of enrollment. This arrangement requires an administrative procedure under which persons so entitled can enroll in the supplementary medical insurance program with either agency. The result has been that some individuals (because all the facts are not made known at the time of enrollment) are enrolled twice and have two different identifying numbers; others are enrolled by the Social Security Administration and not enrolled by the Railroad Retirement Board, or vice versa, and thus may have two medicare cards—one showing entitlement to benefits under part A only and the other showing entitlement to benefits under both parts A and B. Such discrepancies, even though ultimately corrected, are a source of confusion to beneficiaries and a cause of unnecessary administrative expense.

Also, the processing of medical insurance claims is established so as to require that all claims submitted by or on behalf of railroad beneficiaries be handled by a single carrier, presently the Travelers Insurance Company. Because the account numbers assigned to railroad beneficiaries who enroll with the Social Security Administration are not identified as applying to railroad beneficiaries (because the beneficiary does not make this known), many railroad beneficiary claims are submitted to other carriers and require rerouting to Travelers Insurance Company. This is expensive and a cause of delay in making

payments.

Your committee's bill provides that the Railroad Retirement Board shall be responsible for collection of supplementary medical insurance premiums for all enrollees who are entitled under that program. This change will eliminate the confusion, payment delay, and administrative expense deriving from the related provisions of present law. Your committee's bill also provides that the Railroad Retirement Board shall contract with a carrier or carriers for purposes of servicing its beneficiaries with respect to part B benefits, an arrangement presently in effect as a result of the Commissioner of Social Security having delegated his authority to do this to the Railroad Retirement Board. Your committee expects the Railroad Retirement Board to make continuing efforts to assure that there is conformity between reasonable charges for covered services as these are determined by the carrier or carriers under contract with the Board and reasonable charges for comparable services in the same locality as these are determined by carriers acting for the Social Security Administration.

This provision would be effective for premiums becoming due and payable after the fourth month after the month of enactment.

(n) Prosthetic lenses furnished by optometrists under supplementary medical insurance program.—Under present law, optometric services are not covered except with respect to services incidental to the fitting and supplying of prosthetic lenses ordered by a physician. Your committee's bill does not provide for any change in the present limitation on coverage of optometric services.

The committee believes, however, that the medicare requirement that a physician's prescription or order accompany requests for payment for covered prosthetic lenses when such lenses are furnished by an optometrist unduly limits both patient and optometrist and should be eliminated. The patient's freedom to choose either an ophthalmologist or an optometrist to furnish him with prosthetic lenses should

no longer be restricted by this requirement.

The committee bill would recognize the ability of an optometrist to determine a beneficiary's need for prosthetic lenses by amending the definition of the term "physician" in title XVIII to include a doctor of optometry authorized to practice optometry by the State in which he furnishes services. An optometrist would be recognized as a "physician" only for the purpose of attesting to the patient's need for prosthetic lenses. This change would not provide for coverage of services performed by optometrists other than those covered under present law.

The amendment would become effective upon enactment.

(o) Prohibition against requiring professional social workers in extended care facilities under medicare.—In order to participate as an extended care facility under the medicare program, institutions are now required to engage the services of a professional social worker. This requirement is not specified in the statute but was promulgated by the Secretary under his authority to establish conditions deemed necessary for the health and safety of patients. The regulation requires an extended care facility to designate one staff member to be responsible for attending to medically related social problems of patients; if this staff member is not a qualified social worker (that is, one who was graduated from a school of social work accredited by the Council on Social Work Education), the facility must have effective arrangements with a public or private agency (which may be a local welfare department) to provide social service consultation. In addition, a qualified social worker must participate in staff training programs, case conferences, and arrangements for staff orientation to community services to meet patients' needs.

Your committee recognizes and appreciates the value of medical social services, particularly for the medicare patient receiving extended care, since these services promote emotional and social adjustment of the patient and his family, aid rehabilitation, and contribute to effective discharge planning. However, the need to make such specialized services generally available from or under the direction of professional social workers can, in some cases, represent a substantial cost to the extended care facility which cannot be justified by the value derived by its total patient population. Your committee also notes that, although conditions for participation by hospitals include standards for a medical social service department, a hospital which does not have such a department may, nevertheless, be certified to participate in the program. It seems inconsistent with the medicare concept of movement of patients to progressively lower levels of care that provision of such a specialized ancillary service as medical social services would be optional

for a hospital but required of an extended care facility.

While agreeing that services of professional social workers are appropriate for medicare reimbursement to those extended care facilities which provide them to their patients, your committee believes that the individual facility should have greater latitude in determining whether the medical social needs of its patient population require availability of professional assistance. Therefore, your committee's amendment would specify that provision of medical social services

would not be required as a condition of participation as an extended care facility under the medicare program. Of course, where such services are being provided it is expected that they would conform to

recognized standards.

(p) Refunding of excess premiums under medicare.—Under present law, where part B entitlement terminates due to the death of the enrollee, refund of any excess premiums is made, upon claim, to the legal representative of the enrollee's estate. If there is no legal representative and it is reasonably certain that none will be appointed, refund may be made, only upon claim, to a relative of the deceased on behalf of the estate.

It has come to the committee's attention that early in the program it was recognized that excess part B premiums paid by a deceased enrollee could be best disposed of, in those cases where there is no legal representative of the deceased's estate, by adding them to benefits subsequently payable on the same medicare claims number or to those relatives who would (except for age or dependency requirements) be eligible on the same record. However, the Office of General Counsel has advised that this could not be done in the absence of necessary authority in the law. Consequently, the much more cumbersome claims procedure has had to be used. Where there is no claim for the excess premium payments, no refund is made.

A similar problem is likely to exist with respect to premiums paid in advance under the provision of the bill which would provide, at a cost of \$31 per month per enrollee, hospital insurance coverage for people who are age 65 and over and who are not eligible for such cov-

erage under present law.

The committee bill, therefore, would provide authority for the Secretary to dispose of excess supplementary medical insurance premiums and excess hospital insurance premiums in the same manner as unpaid medical insurance benefits are treated. This provision would be

effective upon enactment.

(q) Waiver of requirement of registered professional nurses in skilled nursing homes in rural areas under medicaid program.—Your committee is concerned that an undue hardship may be imposed on skilled nursing homes in rural areas through implementation of the medicaid requirement that all such facilities have an organized nursing service under the direction of a full-time professional registered nurse. In several rural areas such facilities would be unable to meet the medicaid requirements due to the scarce supply of nursing personnel in such areas

Your committee bill would therefore authorize waivers (for up to one year at a time and ending no later than December 31, 1975) of the requirements for skilled nursing homes in rural areas providing such homes make certain showings to the Secretary. Waivers would only be granted in those cases where (1) the nursing home is located in a rural area and the supply of other skilled nursing home services in such area is not sufficient to meet patient needs, (2) the failure of such home to qualify would seriously reduce the availability of services to beneficiaries in the area, (3) the nursing home has and is continuing to make a good faith effort to comply with this requirement but such compliance is impeded by the lack of qualified nursing personnel in such area, and (4) the requirements were met for a regular daytime shift.

Your committee wishes to assure that in no case will this provision result in the encouragement of substandard nursing services and that every effort is being made by the facilities to comply with the nursing requirements.

(r) Exemption of Christian Science sanatoriums from certain nursing home requirements under medicaid.—Under present law, Christian Science sanatoriums are permitted to participate in the medicaid program as skilled nursing homes, and as such, are required to meet the general

requirements established for skilled nursing homes.

Your committee believes that Christian Science sanatoriums, which do not actually provide medical care, should not be required to have a skilled nursing home administrator licensed by the State, to maintain an organized nursing service under the direction of a registered nurse, to maintain detailed medical records, or to have diagnostic and other service arrangements with general hospitals. The bill would therefore, exempt Christian Science sanatoriums from the requirements for a licensed nursing home administrator and other inappropriate medical requirements of the medicaid program. Such sanitoriums will be expected to continue to meet all applicable safety standards.

This provision would be effective upon enactment.

(s) Requirements for nursing home administrators.—Your committee is concerned that persons who have demonstrated their capability as nursing home administrators over a period of time should not be precluded from serving in this capacity because they fail to meet certain formal requirements imposed for purposes of the medicaid program. Your committee bill would, therefore, permit the States to establish a permanent waiver from such requirements for those persons who served as nursing home administrators for the three-year period preceding the year the State established a program for the licensing of nursing home administrators.

(t) Termination of National Advisory Council on Nursing Home Administration.—The 1967 Social Security Amendments required State licensure of nursing home administrators. The statute also established the National Advisory Council on Nursing Home Administration in order to study, develop, and advise the Secretary and the States concerning matters relating to the qualifications, training and other areas related to a proper program of licensure. The Council was scheduled to terminate on December 31, 1971.

Your committee has noted that the Council has essentially completed its work and has passed a resolution to that effect. Therefore your Committee bill would provide for the termination of the National Advisory Council on Nursing Home Administration thirty days after enactment of this bill. It is expected that the Medical Assistance Advisory Council would assume responsibility for any continuing need for advice and assistance with respect to licensing of nursing

home administrators.

(u) Increase in limitation on payments to Puerto Rico for medical assistance.—Under present law, Federal matching funds for Puerto Rico's Medicaid expenditures are at the rate of 50 percent, except that the total amount of Federal funds may not exceed \$20 million in any fiscal year.

Your committee believes that the \$20 million Federal maximum on Medicaid payments to Puerto Rico should be adjusted to reflect the

rise in hospital and health care costs, as well as the number of people eligible for Medicaid since 1967, when the ceiling and matching rate were established.

Your committee recognizes the effective improvement in the delivery of health care to the poor which has characterized the Puerto Rico Medicaid program and the fact that the cost of health care has substantially increased since 1967 when the original ceiling was established.

Your committee's bill would therefore provide that the Federal ceiling on title XIX payments to Puerto Rico be increased to \$30 million effective with the fiscal year 1972 and fiscal years thereafter. The 50 percent Federal matching rate would remain unchanged.

(v) Study of chiropractic coverage.—Your committee's bill would require the Secretary to conduct a study of chiropractic services covered under State plans approved under title XIX. The objectives of the study would be to determine whether and to what extent chiropractic services should be covered under the supplementary medical insurance program of title XVIII, giving particular attention to the limitations which should be placed on such coverage and on the amounts to be paid for whatever services might be provided. The study would include one or more demonstration projects designed to assist in providing (under controlled conditions) the information necessary to achieve the objectives of the study. The Secretary would be required to report the results of the study to the Congress within 2 years after the date of enactment of this bill, together with his findings and recommendations based on the study, and on the information he obtains concerning the experience of public and private plans which now or did cover chiropractic services.

### C. ACTUARIAL COST ESTIMATES UNDER THE BILL

### 1. FINANCING

Consistent with the policy of maintaining the social security program on a sound financial basis, which has been followed in the past, the bill would make provision for meeting the cost of the expanded program. At the present time, the social security cash benefits program is in close actuarial balance, while the hospital insurance program has an actuarial deficiency; that is, it is expected that over the long-range future the income to the hospital insurance program will be considerably less than the costs of the program. To meet the cost of the expanded cash benefits and hospital insurance programs and to bring the hospital insurance program into actuarial balance, the schedule of contribution rates would be revised and the contribution and benefit base—the maximum amount of annual earnings subject to contributions and used in computing benefits—would be increased.

(a) Increase in the contribution and benefit base.—The proposed increase in the contribution and benefit base from \$7,800 to \$10,200 in 1972, rather than to \$9,000 as provided in present law, would not only provide higher benefits at higher earnings levels, but also would help to finance the changes made by the bill. An increase in the base results in a reduction in the overall cost of the social security program as a percent of taxable payroll. This occurs because the benefits provided are a higher percentage of earnings at the lower levels than at the higher levels, while the contribution rate is a flat percentage of

earnings. When the base is increased, higher benefits are provided on the basis of the higher earnings that are taxed and credited, but the cost of providing these higher benefits is less than the additional income from the combined employee and employer contributions on earnings above the former maximum and up to the new maximum amount.

(b) Changes in the contribution rates.—Under the schedule of contribution rates for cash benefits that your committee recommends (shown below), the contribution rates for the cash benefits program for employers and employees for 1972 through 1974 would be decreased from the present 4.6 percent each, now scheduled for 1972, and 5 percent each, now scheduled for 1973 and 1974, to 4.2 percent each. For 1975, the rate would be 5 percent each, as now scheduled. For 1976 the rate would be decreased from 5.15 percent each, now scheduled in the law, to 5.0 percent each. For 1977 and after, the rate would be increased from 5.15 percent each.

For the self-employed, the rate scheduled for 1972 for the cash benefits part of the program would be decreased from 6.9 percent to 6.3 percent. Thus the currently payable rate of 6.3 percent would remain in effect until 1975, at which time the increase to 7 percent, the highest rate scheduled under present law, would go into effect.

Your committee also recommends changes in the contribution rate schedule for the hospital insurance program. The contribution rate would be increased from 0.6 percent each for employees, employers, and the self-employed to 1.2 percent each beginning in 1972 and 1.3 percent each for 1977 and after. Under present law the rate is scheduled to increase gradually from the present 0.6 percent to 0.9 percent for 1987 and after.

CONTRIBUTION RATE SCHEDULES UNDER PRESENT LAW AND H.R. 1

		[in percent]				
_	OASDI		HI		Total	
Period	Present law	H.R. 1	Present law	H.R. 1	Present law	H.R. 1
Employer-employee, each:						
1971	4. 60	4.6	0.60	0.6	5. 20	5. 2
1972	4. 60	4. 2	. 60	1. 2	5, 20	5. 4
1973-74 1975	5. 00	4. 2	. 65	1. 2	5, 65	5. 4
	5. 00	5.0	. 65	1. 2	5, 65	5. 4 6. 2
[[]]	5. 15	5.0	. 70	1. 2	5. 85	6.2
1977-79	5. 15	6. 1	. 70	1.3	5. 85	6. 2 7. 4
1980-86	5. 15	6, 1	. 80	i. 3	5. 95	7.4
1987 and after	5. 15	6. 1	. 90	î. 3	6.05	7.4
Self-employed:				1. 0	0.03	7. •
1971	6, 90	6. 9	. 60	0.6	7.50	7.5
1972	6. 90	6.3	. 60	1. 2	7.50 7.50	7.5 7.5
1973-74	7. 00	6. 3	. 65	1. 2	7. <b>6</b> 5	
19/5	7. 00	7. 0	. 65	i. 2	7.65	7.5
1976	7. 00	7. 0	.70	1. 2	7. 70 7. 70	8. 2 8. 2
1977-79	7.00	7. Ŏ	. 70	1.3	7.70 7.70	5. 2
1980-86	7. 00	7. 0	. 80	i. 3		8.3
1987 and after	7.00	7.0	.90	1.3	7. <b>8</b> 0 7. <b>9</b> 0	8. 3 8. 3
			. 30	1. 3	7. 30	5. 3

(c) Change in allocation to the disability insurance trust fund.—The bill would revise the allocation of contribution income to the disability insurance trust fund without significantly altering the long-range income of the fund. Under present law, 1.10 percent of taxable wages and

0.825 of 1 percent of self-employment income are allocated to the disability insurance trust fund. Under the committee's bill, the allocation to the disability insurance trust fund would be as follows:

#### [In percent]

Calendar year	Taxable wages	Self-employment income
1972-74	0. 90 1. 05 1. 25	0. 675 . 735 . 735

The revision in the allocation is necessary because, under present law, the disability insurance trust fund grows slowly but steadily in the near future, according to the intermediate long-range cost estimate, until the year 2000. Thereafter it decreases slowly until exhaustion in the year 2019.

# 2. ACTUARIAL COST ESTIMATES FOR THE OLD-AGE, SURVIVORS, AND DISABILITY INSURANCE SYSTEM

#### (a) Summary of actuarial cost estimates

The old-age, survivors, and disability insurance system, as modified by your committee's bill, has an estimated cost for benefit payments and administrative expenses that is closely in balance with contribution income. This also was the case for the 1950 and subsequent amendments at the time they were enacted.

The old-age and survivors insurance system as modified by your committee's bill shows an actuarial balance of -0.06 percent of taxable payroll under the long-range cost estimate. This is, of course, close to an exact balance, especially considering that a range of variation is necessarily present in the long-range actuarial cost estimates and, further; that rounded tax rates are used in actual practice. Accordingly, the old-age and survivors insurance program, as it would be changed by your committee's bill, is actuarially sound.

The separate disability insurance trust fund, established under the 1956 act, shows an actuarial balance of -0.02 percent of taxable payroll under the provisions of the bill. Accordingly, the disability insurance program, as it would be modified by your committee's bill, is actuarially sound.

## (b) Financing policy

(1) Contribution rate schedule for old-age, survivors, and disability insurance in H.R. 1

The contribution schedule for old-age, survivors, and disability insurance contained in your committee's bill, as to the combined employer-employee rate, is lower than that under present law by 0.8 percent in 1972, and by 1.6 percent in 1973-74, is the same in 1975, is lower by 0.3 percent in 1976 and higher by 1.9 percent in 1977 and after. The maximum earnings base to which these tax rates are applied is \$10,200 per year for 1972 and after under your committee's

bill as compared with \$9,000 under present law. These tax schedules are as follows:

	_					
-1	Р	ρ	rc	ρ	'n	н

	Combined employer-employee rate Self-emplo				
Calendar year	Present law	H.R. 1	Present law	H.R. 1	
1972 1973-74 1975 1976 1977 and after	10.0 10.0 10.3	8. 4 8. 4 10. 0 10. 0 12. 2	6. 9 7. 0 7. 0 7. 0 7. 0	6. 3 6. 3 7. 0 7. 0 7. 0	

The allocated rates to the two trust funds that are applicable to the combined employer-employee contribution rate for your committee's bill, as compared with present law, are as follows:

[Percent]

	Old-age and su insurance	Disability insurance		
Calendar year	Present law	H.R. 1	Present law	H.R. 1
972	8. 1	7. 50	1. 1	0.90
973-74975	8. 9 8. 9	7. 50 8. 95	1.1	.90 1.05
976	9. 2	8. 95	i. i	1. 09
1977 and after	9. 2	10. 95	1.1	1. 2

The corresponding allocated rates for the self-employed contribution rate are as follows:

[Percent]

	Old-age and su insurance		Disability insurance	
Calendar year	Present law	H.R. 1	Present law	H.R. 1
1972. 1973-74 1975 and after	6. 075 6. 175 6. 175	5. 625 5. 625 6. 265	0. 825 . 825 . 825	0. 675 . 675 . 735

It should be remembered that the workers and employees contribute a combined, rounded rate for the two programs (old-age and survivors insurance and disability insurance), and not the above complex fractional rates separately. Such fractional rates are merely used by the Treasury Department to divide up the aggregate tax receipts between the two trust funds.

The schedule of allocation rates for the disability insurance trust fund in your committee's bill has been obtained in the following manner. The combined employer-employee rates, rounded to the nearest 0.05 percent of taxable payroll, were determined for the short-range years that would produce the same relative accumulation of funds as in the Old-age and Survivors Insurance Trust Fund. The remainder of the schedule was calculated to produce, as close as possible, an exact acturial balance on the basis of rates rounded to 0.05 percent of taxable payroll.

The self-employed tax allocation was determined by allocating to the Disability Insurance Trust Fund the same proportion of the selfemployed rate that was determined for the combined employeremployee rate with the condition that the allocation would not decrease in the future. The resulting rates were rounded to the nearest 0.005 percent of taxable payroll.

The allocation rates for the old-age and survivors insurance trust fund were obtained by merely subtracting the allocation rates for the disability insurance trust fund from the appropriate total tax

## (2) Self-supporting nature of system

The Congress has always carefully considered the cost aspects of the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance system when amendments to the program have been made. In connection with the 1950 amendments, the Congress stated the belief that the program should be completely self-supporting from the contributions of covered individuals and employers. Accordingly, in that legislation the provision permitting appropriations to the system from general revenues of the Treasury was repealed. This policy has been continued in subsequent amendments. The Congress has very strongly believed that the tax schedule in the law should make the system self-supporting as nearly as can be foreseen and thus actuarially sound.

## (3) Actuarial soundness of system

The concept of actuarial soundness as it applies to the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance system differs considerably from this concept as it applies to private insurance and private pension plans, although there are certain points of similarity with the latter. In connection with individual insurance, the insurance company or other administering institution must have sufficient funds on hand so that if operations are terminated, it will be in a position to pay off all the accrued liabilities. This, however, is not a necessary basis for a national compulsory social insurance system and, moreover, is frequently not the case for well-administered private pension plans, which may not, as of the present time, have funded all the liability for prior service benefits.

It can reasonably be presumed that, under Government auspices, such a social insurance system will continue indefinitely into the future. The test of financial soundness, then, is not a question of whether there are sufficient funds on hand to pay off all accrued liabilities. Rather, the test is whether the expected future income from tax contributions and from interest on invested assets will be sufficient to meet anticipated expenditures for benefits and administrative costs over the long-range period considered in the actuarial valuation. Thus, the concept of "unfunded accrued liability" does not by any means have the same significance for a social insurance system as it does for a plan established under private insurance principles, and it is quite proper to count both on receiving contributions from new entrants to the system in the future and on paying benefits to this group during the period considered in the valuation. The additional assets and liabilities must be considered in order to determine whether the system is in actuarial balance.

Accordingly, it may be said that the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance program is actuarially sound if it is in actuarial balance. This will be the case if the estimated future income from contributions and from interest earnings on the accumulated trust

fund investments will, over the long-range period considered in the valuation, support the disbursements for benefits and administrative expenses. Obviously, future experience may be expected to vary from the actuarial cost estimates made now. Nonetheless, the intent that the system be self-supporting (and actuarially sound) can be expressed in law by utilizing a contribution schedule that, according to the long-range cost estimate, results in the system being in balance or substantially close thereto.

Your committee believes that it is a matter for concern if the old-age survivors, and disability insurance system shows any significant actuarial insufficiency. Since 1965 (when the cost estimates were first made on a 75-year basis), the view has been held that, if such actuarial insufficiency has been no greater than 0.10 percent of payroll, it is at the point where it is within the limits of permissible variation.

Furthermore, traditionally when there has been an actuarial insufficiency exceeding the limits indicated, any subsequent liberalizations in benefit provisions were fully financed by appropriate changes in the tax schedule or through raising the earnings base, and at the same time the actuarial status of the program was improved.

The changes provided in your committee's bill are in close conformity

with these financing principles.

## (c) Basic assumptions for cost estimates

## (1) General basis for long-range cost estimates

Benefit disbursements may be expected to increase continuously for at least the next 50 to 70 years because of such factors as the aging of the population of the country and the slow but steady growth of the benefit roll. Estimates of the future cost of the old-age, survivors and disability insurance program are affected by many elements that are difficult to determine. Accordingly, the assumptions used in the actuarial cost estimates may differ widely and yet be reasonable.

In the past, long-range estimates have been presented on a range basis to indicate possible variation in future cost. However, the intermediate-cost estimates, which represented a dollar average of the high-cost and low-cost estimates, was used to determine the actuarial soundness of the program. In this report only the intermediate cost estimate is presented (shown for 1980 and after). This estimate is based on assumptions that are intended to represent close to full employment (4.0 percent unemployment) with average annual earnings at about the level prevailing in 1971. The use of 1971 average earnings results in conservatism in the estimate since the trend is expected to be an increase in average earnings in future years (as will be discussed subsequently in item 5). In 1972, the aggregate amount of earnings taxable under the program with the proposed \$10,200 earnings base is estimated at \$531 billion. Of course, for future years the total taxable earnings are estimated to increase, because there will be larger numbers of covered workers.

The cost estimates are extended beyond the year 2000, since the aged population itself cannot mature by then. The reason for this is that the number of births in the 1930's was very low as compared with both prior and subsequent experience. As a result, there will be a dip in the relative proportion of the aged from 1995 to about 2015, which would tend to result in low benefit costs for the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance system during that period. For this reason the year

2000 is by no means a typical ultimate year insofar as costs are concerned.

## (2) Measurement of costs in relation to taxable payroll

In general, the costs are shown as percentages of taxable payroll. This is the best measure of the financial cost of the program. Dollar figures taken alone are misleading. For example, a higher earnings level will increase not only the outgo of the system but also, and to a greater extent, its income. The result is that the cost relative to payroll will decrease. As an illustration of the foregoing points, consider an individual who has an average monthly wage of \$300. Under your committee's bill such an individual would have a primary insurance amount of \$169.00. If his earnings rate should have been 100 percent higher (i.e. yielding an average monthly wage of \$600), his primary insurance amount would be \$271.10. Under these conditions, the contributions payable with respect to his earnings would increase by 100 percent, but his benefit rate would increase by only 60 percent. Or to put it another way, when the earnings rate is lower, his primary insurance amount represented 56.3 percent of average monthly wage, whereas, when his earnings rate is higher, his primary insurance amount relative to his average monthly wage is 45.2 percent.

## (3) General basis for short-range cost estimates

In the short-range cost estimates (shown for the individual years 1971-75) a gradual rise in the earnings level in the future (about 6 percent per year), close to what has occurred in the past few years, is assumed. As a result of this assumption, contribution income is somewhat higher than if level earnings were assumed, while benefit outgo is only slightly affected.

Except for the effect of the automatic adjustment provisions the cost estimates have, in general, been prepared on the basis of the same assumptions and methodology as those contained in the 1971 Annual Report of the Board of Trustees.

#### (4) Level cost concept

An important measure of long-range cost is the level-equivalent contribution rate required to support the system for the next 75 years (including not only meeting the benefit costs and administrative expenses, but also the maintenance of a reasonable contingency fund during the period, which at the end of the period amounts to 1 year's disbursements), based on discounting at interest and taking into account the present fund on hand. If such a level rate were adopted, relatively large accumulations in the trust funds would result, and in consequence there would be a sizable eventual income from interest. Even though such a method of financing is not followed, this concept may be used as a convenient measure of long-range costs. This is a valuable cost concept, especially in comparing various possible alternative plans and provisions, since it takes into account the heavy deferred benefit costs.

#### (5) Future earnings assumptions

The long-range estimates for the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance program are based on level-earnings assumptions, under which earnings levels of covered workers by age and sex will continue over the next 75 years at the levels estimated to be experienced in 1971.

This does not mean covered payrolls are assumed to be the same each year; rather, they will rise steadily as the covered population at the working ages is estimated to increase. However, it is believed that in the future as earnings increase enough additional contributions would be obtained to finance the increases in the benefit that according to the consumer price index would be indicated by the automatic adjustment provisions, if at the same time the maximum taxable earnings base is adjusted according to increases in covered wages as indicated by the provisions.

It should be noted that estimated 1971 earnings levels are used in the long-range cost estimates, even though the experience for the year is not yet completed. It is believed that this is appropriate procedure for evaluating costs when proposed benefit increases become effective

after the current year.

The automatic benefit increase provisions are designed as a backup to specific legislated increases to assure that rises in the cost of living will not, over a period of time, reduce the purchasing power of social security benefits. Definite estimates of the long-range dollar costs of these automatic benefit increases is not possible at the present time. However, these increases could be financed over the long-range future without any adjustment in the scheduled contribution rates if wages should increase in the future about twice as fast as the consumer price index and the maximum taxable carnings bases is adjusted periodically as provided in the automatic adjustment provisions in the bill.

## (6) Interrelationship with railroad retirement system

An important element affecting old-age, survivors, and disability insurance costs arose through amendments made to the Railroad Retirement Act in 1951. These provide for a combination of railroad retirement compensation and old-age, survivors, and disability insurance covered earnings in determining benefits for those with less than 10 years of railroad service and also for all survivor cases.

Financial interchange provisions are established so that the old-age and survivors insurance trust fund and the disability insurance trust fund are to be placed in the same financial position in which they would have been if railroad employment had always been covered under the program. It is estimated that, over the long range, the net effect of these provisions will be a small loss to the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance system since the reimbursements from the railroad retirement system will be somewhat smaller than the net additional benefits paid on the basis of railroad earnings.

# (7) Reimbursement for costs of pre-1957 miltiary service wage credits

Another important element affecting the financing of the program arose through legislation in 1956 that provided for reimbursement from general revenues for past and future expenditures in respect to the noncontributory credits that had been granted for persons in military service before 1957. These financing provisions were modified by the 1965 amendments. The cost estimates contained here reflect the effect of these reimbursements (which are included as contributions), based on the assumption that the required appropriations will be made in the future in accordance with the relevant provisions of the law. These reimbursements are intended to be made on the basis of a con-

stant annual amount (as determined by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare) for each trust fund payable over the period up to the year 2015 (with such amount subject to adjustment every 5 years).

(8) Reimbursement for costs of additional post-1956 military service wage credits

Under your committee's bill, individuals in active military service during 1957-67 will receive additional wage credits in excess of their cash pay (but within the maximum creditable earnings base) in recognition of their remuneration that is payable in kind (e.g., quarters and meals). These additional credits are at the rate of \$300 per quarter. (Similar credits for military service after 1967 are provided in present law—as a result of the 1967 amendments.) The additional costs that arise from these credits are to be financed from general revenues on an "actual disbursements cost" basis, with reimbursement to the trust funds on as prompt a basis as possible (and with interest adjustments to make up for any delay due to the time needed to make the necessary actuarial calculations from sample data and for the necessary appropriations to be made).

In many instances, the availability of these additional wage credits will not result in additional benefits because the individual will have maximum credited earnings without them or because the year in which such credits are granted will be a drop-out year in the computation of his average monthly wage. In the immediate-future years, the cost of these additional credits to the general fund will be relatively small (only about \$39 million a year) since there will be relatively few cases

arising, almost all due to death and disability.

## (d) Actuarial balance of program in past years

#### (1) Actuarial balance of program after enactment of 1969 act

According to the cost estimates for the 1967 act made in 1969, there was a very favorable actuarial balance for the combined old-age survivors, and disability insurance system, but there was a deficit of 0.01 percent of taxable payroll for the disability insurance portion, and a favorable balance of 1.17 percent of taxable payroll for the old-age and survivors insurance portion.

The 1969 amendments increased benefits by 15 percent and the minimum benefit to \$64 per month. These changes fully exhausted the previous actuarial surplus and the system was then in close actuarial balance. A reallocation of contribution to the disability insurance portion was necessary to place that program in close ac-

tuarial balance.

In 1970, the cost estimates for the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance system were completely revised. The new estimates showed significantly lower cost for both the old-age and survivors insurance portion and the disability insurance portion. The lower costs resulted from: (1) 1970 earnings level, instead of 1969 level; (2) an interest rate of 5½ percent, instead of 4¾ percent; and higher labor-force participation rates for women. The new actuarial surpluses were then estimated at 0.29 percent of taxable payroll for the old-age and survivors portion and 0.05 percent of taxable payroll for the disability portion.

## (2) Actuarial balance after Public Law 92-5

The social security changes in P.L. 92-5 approved in March 1971 contained a 10% benefit increase, which was guaranteed to all future as well as present beneficiaries, an increase in the maximum taxable earnings base to \$9,000, and an increase in the ultimate contribution rate. After these changes the program was in close actuarial balance. The old-age and survivors insurance portion had a small deficit of 0.06 percent of taxable payroll, while the disability insurance portion had a deficit of 0.04 percent of taxable payroll, both of which are within acceptable limits of variation.

## (e) Actuarial balance under the committee bill

Table I traces through the changes in the actuarial balance of the system from its situation under present law, according to the latest estimates, to that under the committee bill, by type of change involved.

TABLE I,-CHANGES IN ACTUARIAL BALANCE OF OLD-AGE, SURVIVORS, AND DISABILITY INSURANCE SYSTEM, EXPRESSED IN TERMS OF ESTIMATED LEVEL-COST AS PERCENTAGE OF TAXABLE PAYROLL, BY TYPE OF CHANGE, LONG-RANGE COST, ESTIMATE, PRESENT LAW AND H.R. 1

"	De	 _41
1111	υe	nu

ltem ·	Old-age and survivors insurance	Disability insurance	Tota system
Actuarial balance of present system	-0.06	-0.04	-0.10
Effect of using 1971 earnings	+. 19 +. 22	+.02 +.02	+.21 +.24
ncrease in earnings base	+.22 17	+.02 02	19
Additional dropout years (prospective)	17 07	02 (1)	0
Age-62 point for men (prospective)	16	(2)	1
Widow's benefits of 100 percent PIA at 65	20	(²)	20
Special minimum benefit	11	<b>—. 01</b>	1
Election of actuarial reduction changes	13	(2)	!
Combined earnings (prospective)	<b>-</b> . 17	9	1 0
Delayed retirement increment (prospective)	07	02	0 0
5-month disability waiting period	-, 02	02 01	0
Miscellaneous changes 1	47	06	5
Benefit increase of 5 percent	+1.16	+.10	+1.2
Revised contribution schedule			
Total effect of changes in bill.	. 00	+.02	+.0
Actuarial balance under bill	<b>—. 06</b>	02	0

Less than 0.005 percent.

The changes made by your committee's bill would maintain the sound actuarial position of the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance system. The estimated actuarial balance of -0.08 percent of taxable payroll is inside the established limit within which the system is considered substantially in actuarial balance (i.e. -0.10 percent of taxable payroll).

It should be emphasized that in 1950 and in subsequent amendments, the Congress did not recommend that the system be financed by a high level tax rate in the future, but rather recommended an increasing schedule, which, of necessity, ultimately rises higher than such a level rate. Nonetheless, this graded tax schedule will produce a considerable excess of income over outgo for many years so that a sizable trust fund will develop, although not as large as would arise

<sup>1</sup> Less than 0.005 percent.
2 Not applicable to this program.
3 Not applicable to this program.
3 Includes the following: workmen's compensation offset based on 80 percent of highest earnings; child's benefits to a localized at ages 18-21; disabled-child 7 years re-entitlement; broaden definition of adopted child; student's benefits to end of attainment of age 22; child's benefits on grandparent's account if full orphan and supported by him; elimination of support requirement for divorced wife's and widow's benefits; reduced widower's benefits at age 60, and liberalization of insured status requirements for disability benefits with respect to blind persons,

under an equivalent level tax rate. This fund will be invested in Government securities (just as is also the case for the trust funds of the civil service retirement, railroad retirement, national service life insurance, and U.S. Government life insurance systems). The resulting interest income will help to bear part of the higher benefit costs of the future.

## (f) Level-costs of benefit payments, by type

The level-cost of the old-age and survivors insurance benefit payments (without considering administrative expenses, the railroad retirement financial interchange, and the effect of interest earnings on the existing trust fund) under present law, according to the latest intermediate-cost estimate, is 9.22 percent of taxable payroll, and the corresponding figure for the program as it would be modified by your committee's bill is 10.33 percent. The corresponding figures for the disability benefits are 1.15 percent for present law and 1.23 percent for your committee's bill.

Table II presents the benefit costs for the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance system as it would be after enactment of your committee's bill, separately for each of the various types of benefits.

TABLE II.-ESTIMATED LEVEL-COST OF BENEFIT PAYMENTS, ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES, AND INTEREST EARN-INGS ON EXISTING TRUST FUND UNDER THE OLD-AGE, SURVIVORS, AND DISABLITY INSURANCE SYSTEM, AFTER ENACTMENT OF COMMITTEE BILL, AS PERCENTAGE OF TAXABLE PAYROLL, BY TYPE OF BENEFIT

ltem	Old-age and survivors insurance	Disability insurance
Primary benefits	7, 19 , 57 1, 48	1, 0% . 0! . (2
Arights Sand Wilder S benefits.  Child's benefits.  Mother's benefits.  Lump-sun death payments.	. 01 . 85 . 14	); . 16 (2 (2
.ump-suni death payments. Total benefits. Administrative expenses. Railroad retirement financial interchange.		1. 2: . 0: . 0:
Interest on existing frust fund 3.  Net total level-cost.		0 1. 2

(q) Short-range estimates of old-age and survivors insurance and disability insurance trust fund operations.

#### SHORT RANGE ESTIMATES OF OASI AND DI TRUST FUND OPERATIONS

The short-range estimates under the committee bill take into account the effect of the provisions relating to automatic increases in benefits, the contribution and benefit base, and the annual exempt amount under the retirement test; a general benefit increase of 3% is assumed to become effective for January 1974; the contribution and benefit base is assumed to increase to \$10,800, and the exempt amount under the retirement test to \$2,160, effective January 1, 1974.

Including adjustment to reflect the lower contribution rate on self-employment income and on tips, as compared with the combined employer-employee rate.
This type of benefit is not payable under this program.
This item includes reimbursement for additional cost of noncontributory credit for military service and is taken as an offset to the benefit and administrative expense costs.

Contribution income for the old-age, survivors and disability insurance program in calendar year 1972 under the committee bill is estimated at \$43.3 billion, about \$2.1 billion lower than under present law. Benefit payments amount to \$41.3 billion, an increase of \$2.3 billion over present law. Assets of the trust funds will increase \$2.7 billion in 1972 under the system as modified by the bill (Table III).

Under the program as modified by the committee bill, the old-age and survivors insurance trust fund will increase by about \$2 billion in each of the years 1972-74. Then, in 1975, when the employee-employer contribution rate increases from 3.75 percent each to 4.475 percent each, the trust fund is estimated to increase by about \$11 billion. Assets of the fund at the end of 1975 are estimated to total \$52 billion. Large increases in the trust fund will also occur for an extended period thereafter (Table IV).

The disability insurance trust fund is estimated to increase by about \$0.7 billion in each of the years 1972-74. Then, in 1975, when the employer-employee contribution rate allocated to this fund increases from 0.45 percent each to 0.525 percent each, the trust fund will increase by an estimated \$1.6 billion. Assets of this fund at the end of 1975 will total about \$10.4 billion. Relatively large increases in this fund will also occur for an extended period after 1975 (Table V).

TABLE III.—PROGRESS OF OLD-AGE AND SURVIVORS INSURANCE AND DISABILITY INSURANCE TRUST FUNDS, COMBINED, SHORT-RANGE ESTIMATE

II n	mill	ions
1111		101131

	Incor	Income Disbursements		isbursement	s		
Calendar year	Contribu- tions 1	Interest on fund	Benefit payments <sup>2</sup>	Admin- istrative expenses	Railroad retirement financial interchange	Net increase in funds	Funds at
Past experience:						_	
1965	\$17, 205	\$651	\$18, 311	\$418	\$459	<b>-\$1</b> , 331	\$19, 841
1966	22, 679	702	20, 051	393	469	2, 467	22, 308
1967	25, 518	896	21, 417	515	539	3, 942	26, 250
1968	27, 448	1,045	24, 954	603	458	2, 479	28, 729
1969	32, 004	1, 342	26, 767	612	513	5, 453	34, 182
1970	35, 202	1, 791	31, 884	635	589	3, 886	38, 068
Estimated future ex- perience under		,			•	5,555	33,00
present law: 1971							
	39, 757	2, 045	37, 047	780	617	3, 358	41, 426
1972	45, 390	2, 348	39, 029	794	735	7, 180	48, 606
1973	52, 377	2, 953	40, 694	869	770	12, 997	61, 603
1974	55, 115	3, 764	42, 381	892	706	14, 900	76, 503
1975	57, 667	4, 646	44, 123	908	670	16, 612	93, 115
stimated future ex- perience under com- mittee bill; 3							
1972	43, 262	2, 248	41, 300	822	735	2,653	44, 079
1973	46, 639	2,440	44, 504	874	805	2, 896	46, 975
1974	49, 804	2,660	47, 799	898	860	2, 907	49, 882
1975	61, 565	3, 119	50, 119	911	867	12, 787	62, 669

Includes reimbursements from general fund of Treasury for costs of noncontributory credits for military service and
payments to noninsured persons aged 72 and over.
 Includes payments for vocational rehabilitation services.
 See text for assumptions relating to automatic increases in benefits, the contribution and benefit base, and the annual
exempt amount under the retirement test.

133

TABLE IV .-- PROGRESS OF OLD-AGE AND SURVIVORS INSURANCE TRUST FUND, SHORT-RANGE ESTIMATE [In millions]

	Incom	Income		isbursement	\$		
Calendar year	Contribu- tions 1	Interest on fund	Benefit payments 2	Admin- istrative expenses	Railroad retirement financial interchange	Net increase in funds	Funds at end of year
Past experience:							
1965	\$16,017	\$593	\$16, 737	\$328	\$436	-\$890	\$18, 235
1966	20, 658	644	18, 267	256	444	2, 335	20, 570
1967	23, 216	818	19, 468	406	508	3, 652	24, 222
1968	24, 101	939	22,643	476	438	1, 483	25, 704
1969	28, 389	1, 165	24, 210	474	491	4, 378	30, 082
1970	30, 705	1,515	28, 798	471	579	2, 371	32, 454
Estimated future experi-	00, . 00	-,					
ence under present							
law:							
1971	34, 981	1,684	33, 356	576	605	2, 128	34, 58
1972	39, 975	1,910	35, 082	588	719	5, 496	40, 07
1973	46, 573	2, 414	36, 540	646	750	11,051	51, 129
1974	49, 031	3, 108	38, 028	655	690	12, 766	63, 89
1975	51, 296	3, 868	39, 575	660		14, 275	78, 17
Estimated future experi-	0.,200	0,000	,				
ence under committee							
bill: 3							
1972	38, 588	1,834	37, 109	610	719	1,984	36, 56
1973	41,642	1,990	39, 955	649	779	2, 249	38, 81
1974	44, 465	2, 167	42, 893	660	830	2, 249	41,06
1975	55, 079	2, 563	44, 966	662		11, 178	52, 24

TABLE V .-- PROGRESS OF DISABILITY INSURANCE TRUST FUND, SHORT-RANGE ESTIMATE (In millions)

	Incom	ne	Di	sbursements	nts		
Calendar year	Contribu- tions 1	Interest on fund	Benefit payments <sup>2</sup>	Admin- istrative expenses	Railroad retirement financial interchange	Net increase in funds	Funds at
Past experience: 1965. 1966. 1967. 1968. 1969. 1970. Estimated future experi-	\$1, 188 2, 022 2, 302 3, 348 3, 615 4, 497	\$59 58 78 106 177 277	\$1, 573 1, 784 1, 950 2, 311 2, 557 3, 085	\$90 137 109 127 138 164	\$24 25 31 20 21 10	-\$440 133 290 996 1,075 1,514	\$1, 606 1, 739 2, 029 3, 025 4, 100 5, 614
ence under present law: 1971	4, 776 5, 415 5, 804 6, 084 6, 371	361 438 539 656 778	3, 691 3, 947 4, 154 4, 353 4, 548	204 206 223 237 248	12 16 20 16 16	1, 230 1, 684 1, 946 2, 134 2, 337	6, 844 8, 528 10, 474 12, 608 14, 945
ence under committee bill: 3 1972	4,674 4,997 5,339 6,486	414 450 493 556	4, 191 4, 549 4, 906 5, 153	212 225 238 249	16 26 30 31	669 647 658 1,609	7, 51; 8, 160 8, 81; 10, 42;

<sup>1</sup> Includes reimbursements from general fund of Treasury for costs of noncontributory credits for military service and payments to noninsured persons aged 72 and over.
2 Includes payments for vocational rehabilitation services.
3 See text for assumptions relating to automatic increases in benefits, the contribution and benefit base, and the annual exempt amount under the retirement test.

Includes reimbursements from general fund of Treasury for cost of noncontributory credits for military service.
 Includes payments for vocational rehabilitation services.
 See text for assumptions relating to automatic increases in benefits, the contribution and benefit base, and the annual exempt amount under the retirement test.

# (h) Long-range estimates of the old-age and vsurivors insurance and the disability insurance trust fund operations

Table VI gives the estimated operations of the old-age and survivors insurane trust fund under the program as it would be changed by your committee's bill for the long-range future. It will, of course, be recognized that the figures for the next two or three decades are the most reliable (under the assumption earnings remaining at their 1971 level and disregarding the effect of the automatic adjustment provisions) since nearly all of the populations concerned—both covered workers and beneficiaries—are already born. As the estimates proceed further into the future, there is, of course, much more uncertainty.

In every year after 1970 for the next 20 years, contribution income under the system as it would be modified by your committee's bill is estimated to exceed old-age and survivors insurance benefit disbursements. Even after the benefit-outgo curve rises ahead of the contribution-income curve, the trust fund will nonetheless continue to increase because of the effect of interest earnings (which more than meet the administrative expense disbursements and any financial interchanges with the railroad retirement program). As a result, this trust fund is estimated to grow steadily under the long-range cost estimate, reaching \$81 billion in 1980 and about \$232 billion at the end of this century. The trust fund is shown as being exhausted in about 65 years, which results from the small lack of actuarial balance, as indicated previously.

TABLE VI.—PROGRESS OF OLD-AGE AND SURVIVORS INSURANCE TRUST FUND UNDER SYSTEM AS MODIFIED BY H.R. 1, LONG-RANGE COST ESTIMATE

Calendar year	Contributions	Benefit payments t	Adminis- trative expenses	Interest on fund	Balance in fund at end of year
1980 1985	Y 2 11 2 2 2	\$53, 396 61, 825	\$704 760	\$3, 990 6, 105	\$80, 770 126, 275
990 995 2000		70, 244 77, 186 81, 538	816 865	7, 806 9, 400	158, 804 191, 284
025 040		133, 245 154, 713	902 1, 320 1, 520	11, 417 20, 857 3, 991	231, 623 410, 714 70, 860

[In millions of dollars]

Note: Contributions include reimbursement for additional cost of noncontributory credit for military service and for the special benefits payable to certain noninsured persons aged 72 or over.

The disability insurance trust fund, under the program as it would be changed by your committee's bill, would grow for many years after 1970, according to the long-range cost estimate, as shown by table VII. In 1980, it is shown as being \$15 billion, while in 1990, the corresponding figure is \$27 billion. There is a small excess of contribution income over benefit disbursements for every year after 1970 for the next 20 years.

<sup>1</sup> Includes effect of financial interchange with railroad retirement system.

TABLE VII.—PROGRESS OF DISABILITY INSUPANCE TRUST FUND UNDER SYSTEM AS MODIFIED BY H.R. 1 LONG-RANGE COST ESTIMATE

#### [In millions of dollars]

Calendar year	Contributions	Benefit payments <sup>1</sup>	Administra- tive expenses	Interest on fund	Balance in fund at end of year
1980		\$6, 151	\$234	\$744	\$14,571
1985		7, 053	246	1,020	20, 856
1990		7, 752 8, 574	258 278	1, 328 1, 655	26, 973 33, 459
2000		9, 891	313	1, 943	38, 995
2025		14, 523	453	485	9, 031
2040		17, 002	529	(2)	(2)

Includes effect of financial interchange provision with railroad retirement system.

<sup>2</sup> Fund exhausted in 2029.

Note: Contributions include reimbursement for additional cost of noncontributory credit for military service.

Table VIII shows the estimated costs of the old-age and survivors insurance benefits and of the disability insurance benefits under the program as it would be changed by your committee's bill as a percentage of taxable payroll for various future years, through the year 2040, and also the level-costs of the two programs.

TABLE VIII.—ESTIMATED COST OF BENEFIT PAYMENTS OF OLD-AGE, SURVIVORS, AND DISABILITY INSURANCE SYSTEM AS PERCENT OF TAXABLE PAYROLL, UNDER SYSTEM AS MODIFIED BY COMMITTEE BILL

Calendar year	Old-age and survivors insurance benefits	Disability insurance benefits	Total benefit <b>s</b>
80	9, 40	1.10	10. 50
35	10, 27	1.19	11.46
0		1. 23	12.24
95	11, 27	1.27	12.54
00		1, 36	12. 41
25	13.94	1.53	15. 47
40		1. 56	15.65
vel-cost <sup>2</sup>	10. 29	1. 22	11.51

<sup>1</sup> Taking into account the lower contribution rate for self-employment income and tips, as compared with the combined

#### 3. ACTUARIAL COST ESTIMATES FOR THE HOSPITAL INSURANCE SYSTEM

## (a) Extension of the HI system to the disabled

The most important change in the hospital insurance system provided for in your committee's bill is the extension of the system to disabled workers under 65 who have been entitled to benefits under the disability insurance system for no less than 24 months; and to disabled widows and dependent widowers, and to beneficiaries entitled to child's benefits based on disability which began prior to age 22, who have been entitled to cash benefits for no less than 24 months.

Estimating the costs for hospitalization and related benefits for a disabled population is more difficult than estimating the costs for similar benefits for those age 65 and over. This is so because the

employer-employee rate.

Level contribution rate, at an interest rate of 5.25 percent benefits after 1970 taking into account interest on the trust fund on Dec. 31, 1970, future administrative expenses, the railroad retirement financial interchange provisions, and the reimbursement of noncontributory military-wage-credits cost.

hospital insurance system with respect to the disabled is newly, established, with no past operating experience, and because patterns of

utilization for those long disabled are unclear.

However, your committee believes that the present cost estimates, which provide for hospital utilization rates for the covered disabled population which are about three times the utilization rates for those over 65, and which are consistent in other respects to the cost estimates for the aged, are based on reasonable assumptions as to al foreseeable factors. The resulting level cost over the 25 year valua tion period is 0.46% of taxable payroll under the given assumptions

(b) Change in copayment after 30 days and lengthening of the lifetime reserve

Two other changes in the hospital insurance system in your committee's bill are, from a cost viewpoint, of the same approximate

magnitude but offsetting in nature.

The introduction of a copayment provision equal to one-eighth of the hospital insurance deductible which is applicable from the 31st through the 60th day of hospitalization, decreases the cost of the program by 0.02% of taxable payroll. The increase in the number of lifetime reserve days beyond the first 90 days of hospitalization from 60 days to 120 days increases the program cost by 0.02% of taxable payroll. The offsetting nature of these two provisions produces a negligible effect on the cost of the system.

(c) Summary of actuarial cost estimates and other changes in committee bill

The hospital insurance system, as modified by your committee's bill, has an estimated cost for benefit payments and administrative expenses that is in long-range balance with contribution income. It is recognized that the preparation of cost estimates for hospitalization and related benefits is much more difficult and is much more subject to variation than cost estimates for the cash benefits of the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance system. This is so not only because the hospital insurance program has only a few years of operating experience, but also because of the less predictability of the variable factors involved in a service-benefit program than in a cash-benefit one. However, your committee believes that the present cost estimates are made under reasonable assumptions with respect to all foreseeable factors.

Your committee's bill contains a number of provisions which are intended to reduce the cost of the program. Among these provisions are the elimination of payments to certain providers of services who have abused the program, the limitation of the payments to certain providers of services who furnish services which are determined to be unduly expensive, or unnecessary for efficient delivery of health services, certain limitations on financial participation for supporting unnecessary capital expenditures, the possibility of increased economy under prospective-reimbursement experiments and demonstration projects, the limitation of reimbursement to customary charges in certain instances when these are less than reasonable cost, and the requirement of reasonable institutional planning. The actuaries have not found it possible to estimate the extent of these savings; accordingly, any savings resulting from these provisions represents a safety margin in the cost estimate.

Your committee's bill also contains a provision that would eliminate payments under the medicare program for services covered by the Federal Employees Health Benefits plan, beginning in 1975, unless such plan is modified to make available coverage supplementary to that under the medicare program. For the purposes of the actuarial cost estimates, no account is taken of any possible reduction in benefit payments under the medicare program on this account, because of the likelihood that such modification will occur.

The bill provides an opportunity for persons who are not otherwise eligible under the hospital insurance program to enroll, on a voluntary basis, and then to pay the estimated full cost of the benefit protection thus made available. Such voluntary elective individual coverage can also be obtained by States and other organizations on a group basis for their retired employees aged 65 and over who are not otherwise

protected under the hospital insurance program.

In this area also, the actuarial cost estimates presented in this report do not take into account the effect of this provision for voluntary coverage of otherwise ineligible persons, since if the premium rate, which has been actuarially estimated at \$31 per month for the initial period from January through June 1972, proves to cover the cost of these individuals, there will be no net effect on the financial operations

of the total program.

Another change made by the bill is to revise the reimbursement mechanism applicable to covered services for individuals who obtain their medicare coverage through a health maintenance organization (HMO). In such instances, the medicare program would pay for such coverage on a prospective capitation basis. The prospective per capita rates for both hospital insurance and supplementary medical insurance would be determined by using established actuarial methods. Each such rate of payment would be determined annually in accordance with regulations and would be equal to 95 percent of the amount (with appropriate adjustment to assure actuarial equivalence) that would be payable for covered services furnished by other than health maintenance organizations in the same geographical area. In order to assure that HMO's have incentives to provide effective, efficient, and economical services to medicare enrollees, the rate of retention attributable to medicare enrollees is limited to the rate of retention with respect to all other individuals enrolled in the HMO. The amount of retention due to an excessive rate would be repaid by the HMO unless it is used to provide benefits for or to reduce the premiums charged medicare enrollees.

No valid experience under the medicare program is available for the purpose of making any cost estimates of the effect of the health main-

tenance organization provision.

In the early years of operation, however, there might be increased program costs, because the relatively few organizations of this type now in existence are being reimbursed only their actual costs, whereas under the provisions of the committee bill, they could, in the future, be reimbursed somewhat more than costs. On the other hand, if such organizations can provide medicare coverage at a lower cost than what would otherwise prevail, then in the future, if more of these organizations are formed, there might be net savings to the program. Accordingly, the actuarial cost estimates have not been increased to reflect the possible short-range cost aspects of this provision for a

different reimbursement basis for health maintenance organizations since it is possible that in the long run the provision will result in savings.

## (d) Financing policy

## (1) Financing basis of committee bill

The contribution schedule contained in your committee's bill for the hospital insurance program under a \$10,200 taxable earnings base beginning in 1972 (and subject to the automatic provisions thereafter) is as follows, as compared with that of present law:

IIn percentl

	Combined employer- employee rate			Self-employed rate	
Calendar year	Present law	Committee bill	Present law	Committee bill	
1972 1973-75 1976 1977-79 1980-86 1987 and after	1. 2 1. 3 1. 4 1. 4 1. 6 1. 8	2.4 2.4 2.4 2.6 2.6 2.6	0. 60 . 65 . 70 . 70 . 80 . 90	1. 2 1. 2 1. 2 1. 3 1. 3	

These increases in contribution rates, along with the additional income from the higher earnings base, will finance the additional benefits for the disabled, and at the same time, eliminate most of the actuarial deficit in the hospital insurance system which has developed since the present rates were enacted in 1967.

## (2) Self-supporting nature of the system

Just as has always been the case in connection with the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance system, your committee has very carefully considered the cost aspects of the present hospital insurance system and proposed changes therein. In the same manner, your committee believes that the hospital insurance program should be completely self-supporting from the contributions of employees, employers, and the self-employed (the transitional uninsured group covered by this program have their benefits and the related administrative expenses completely financed from general revenues). Accordingly, your committee very strongly believes that the tax schedule in the law should make the hospital insurance system self-supporting over the long range as nearly as can be foreseen, and thus actuarially sound.

## (3) Actuarial soundness of system

The concept of actuarial soundness as it applies to the hospital insurance system is similar to that concept as it applies to the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance system, but with the difference that cost estimates for the hospital insurance system are made over a period of 25 years in the future, rather than the 75 year period for the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance system. A shorter period for the hospital insurance program is necessary because of the greater difficulty in making forecast assumptions for a service benefit as compared to a cash benefit.

Accordingly, it may be said that the hospital insurance system is actuarially sound if it is in substantial actuarial balance over a 25 year period. This will be the case if the estimated future income from

contributions and from interest earnings on the accumulated trust fund investments will, over the long-range period considered in the valuation, support the disbursements for benefits and administrative expenses. Obviously, future experience may be expected to vary from the actuarial cost estimates made now. Nonetheless, the intent that the system be self-supporting (and actuarially sound) can be expressed in law by utilizing a contribution schedule that results in the system being in balance or substantially close thereto. The financing changes provided in the committee bill are in close conformity with these principles.

## (e) Hospitalization data and assumptions

### (1) Past increases in hospital costs and in earnings

Table A presents a summary comparison of the annual increases in hospital costs and the corresponding increases in wages that have occurred since 1956 and through 1970.

TABLE A.—COMPARISON OF ANNUAL INCREASES IN HOSPITAL COSTS AND IN EARNINGS [In percent]

	Increase over	Increase over previous years		
Calendar year	Average wages in covered employment	Average dail cost o hospitalization		
56	5. 7	4.		
57	5. 5	ï.		
58	3. 3	8.0		
59	3. 3	6.		
60	4.3	6.		
61	3.1	8.		
62	4.2	5.		
63	2. 4	5.		
64	3. i	6.		
65	1.6	ĩ.		
66	4. 4	8.		
67	6.3	12.		
68	7.0	13.		
69	6.0	14.		
70	6. 2	214.1		
rerage; 3	0. 2	- 14.		
1956-60	4. 4	6.		
1961-65	2. 9	6.		
1966-70	6.0	12.		

<sup>1</sup> Data for fiscal years ending in September of year shown, from American Hospital Association. Represents total hospital expense per patient-day.
2 Preliminary estimate of Social Security Administration.
3 Rates of increase compounded annually which are equivalent to total relative increase for each 5-year period.

The annual increases in earnings are based on those in covered employment under the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance system as indicated by first quarter taxable wages, which by and large are not affected by the maximum taxable earnings base. The data on increases in hospital costs are based on a series of average daily expense per patient day (including not only room and board, but also other inpatient charges and other expenditures of hospitals) prepared by the American Hospital Association.

#### (2) Effect on cost estimates of rising hospital costs

A major consideration in making cost estimates for hospital benefits, then, is how long and to what extent the tendency of hospital costs to rise more rapidly than the general earnings level will continue in the future, and whether or not it may, in the long run, be counter-

balanced by a trend in the opposite direction. Some factors to consider are the relatively low wages of hospital employees (which have been rapidly "catching up" with the general level of wages and obviously may be expected to "catch up" completely at some future date, rather than to increase indefinitely at a more rapid rate than wages generally) and the development of new medical techniques and procedures,

with resultant increased expense.

In connection with this factor, there are possible counterbalancing factors. The higher costs involved for more refined and extensive treatments may be offset by the development of out-of-hospital facilities, shorter durations of hospitalization, and less expense for subsequent curative treatments as a result of preventive measures. Also, it is possible that at some time in the future, the productivity of hospital personnel will increase significantly as the result of changes in the organization of hospital services or for other reasons, so that, as in other fields of economic activity, the general wage level might increase more rapidly than hospitalization prices in the long run.

Perhaps the major consideration in making actuarial cost estimates for hospital benefits is that—unlike the situation in regard to cost estimates for the monthly cash benefits, where the result is the opposite—an unfavorable cost result is shown when total earnings levels rise, unless the provisions of the system are kept up to date (insofar as the maximum taxable earnings base is concerned). The reason for this result is that hospital costs rise at least at the same rate over the long run as the total earnings level, whereas the contribution income rises less rapidly than the total earnings level, unless the earnings

base is kept up to date.

For these reasons, the following cost estimates are based on the assumption that both hospital costs and wages will increase in the future for the entire 25-year period considered while at the same time the earnings base is assumed to increase to \$10,200 in 1972 and to be kept up to date thereafter. The fact that the cost-sharing provisions (the initial hospital deductible and the coinsurance features) are on a dynamic basis which varies with hospital costs is taken into account as not requiring a higher cost estimate than would be needed if static conditions were assumed.

## (3) Assumptions as to relative trends of hospital costs per day and earnings underlying cost estimate for committee bill

The major consideration in making cost estimates for the hospital insurance program is how long and to what extent the tendency of hospital costs to rise more rapidly than the general earnings level will continue, or whether it may not in the long run be counterbalanced by a trend in the opposite direction.

The assumptions underlying the cost estimates for the committee bill are that costs of hospitalization will continue to rise faster than earnings in the near future, but that the cost-earnings differential reached its peak in 1969, and will gradually decrease and merge with the annual rate of increase in general wages by 1980. Specifically, the assumptions as to future rates of increase in average wages in covered employment and in the average daily costs of hospitalization are shown in Table B.

TABLE B.—ASSUMPTIONS AS TO FUTURE RATES OF ANNUAL INCREASE AND IN HOSPITAL COSTS AND IN EARNINGS

[In percent]

•	Increase over previous year		
Calendar year	Average wages in covered employment	Average daily cost of hospitalization	
70	6. 2	14.0	
71	6.0	13. 9	
72	5.6	13.	
73	5. 2	12.	
74	4.8	11.	
75	4.5	9.	
76	4. 5	8.	
77	4.5	7.	
78	4.5	6.	
79	4.5	5.	
80 and later	4, 5	4.	

## (4) Assumptions as to hospital utilization rates

The assumptions underlying the cost estimates for the committee bill are that hospital utilization rates will increase at 1% per year for the period 1971-75, at ½% per year for the period 1976-1980, and remain constant thereafter. No account is taken of the possibility that in-hospital care will be utilized to a much different extent than at present, but rather it is assumed that the long term upward trend in hospital utilization will continue for a while, and eventually level out.

(5) Assumptions as to hospital per diem rates underlying cost estimates for committee bill

Experience shows that, for 1969, the average daily reimbursement is about \$54.37 which excludes the amount paid by the beneficiaries under the cost-sharing provisions. This was projected for future years in the manner described previously.

## (f) Results of cost estimates

## (1) Summary of cost estimate for committee bill

The level-cost of the benefits and administrative expenses under present law is now estimated at 2.20% of taxable payroll. The level-equivalent of the contribution schedule under present law is estimated to be 1.58% of taxable payroll. Therefore, the hospital insurance program under present law shows an actuarial deficit of .62 percent of taxable payroll.

To the level cost of the present program must be added (1) the cost of extending the hospital insurance program to the disabled who have been entitled to cash benefits for not less than 24 consecutive months, estimated at 0.46% of taxable payroll, and (2) the cost of the changes which introduced a co-payment feature from the 31st to the 60th day of hospitalization, and which extended the number of lifetime reserve days to 120, of which the net effect is estimated to be zero. The resulting level cost of the program over the next 25 years, based on present law with respect to the earnings base (\$9,000 in 1972) and on the assumptions previously outlined (and other less important assumptions with respect to costs and utilization of extended care facilities and home health services) is estimated at 2.66% of taxable payroll.

The financing of the hospital insurance program has been increased, in your committee's bill, in two respects; (1) the earnings base has been increased to \$10,200 beginning in 1972, and can be assumed to follow the automatic principle thereafter, and (2) the tax rates have been increased as previously indicated. The first of these changes reduces the level cost of the program, expressed as a percent of future taxable payroll, to 2.58%. The second results in a level-equivalent value of future contributions estimated at 2.52% of taxable payroll. The resulting actuarial imbalance is -.06% of taxable payroll. This deficit is considered to be within an acceptable range of actuarial balance.

Table C gives a summary of the cost estimate for your committee's bill

Table C.—Actuarial Balance of Hospital Insurance System, Expressed in Terms of Percentage of Taxable Payroll According to the Intermediate Cost Estimate based on 5½ percent interest

#### [In percent]

Level-cost of benefit payments and administrative expenses, present law_Extension of program to long-term disabled	$+.46 \\ +.00$
Level cost of benefit payments and administrative expenses, committee bill	2. 58
Net level-equivalent of contributions, committee bill	2. 52
Actuarial balance, committee bill	

 $^4$  The cost estimate is made under the assumption that the maximum taxable earnings base will be increased from \$7,800 in 1971 to \$10,200 in 1972-73 and kept-up-to-date thereafter, which results in a base of \$10,800 in 1974-75, \$11,700 in 1976-77, etc., to \$26,100 in 1984-95.

#### (2) Future Operations of hospital insurance trust fund

Table D shows the estimated operation of the hospital insurance trust fund under present law under the intermediate-cost estimate. Under present law the balance in the hospital insurance trust fund on an incurred basis is expected to decrease during calendar years 1971–72 and be exhausted sometime during 1973. This is due to the steep rise in hospital costs since program inception which was not anticipated when the previous tax schedules were enacted.

Table E shows the estimated operations of the hospital insurance trust fund under your committee's bill, according to the intermediate cost estimate. The year-by-year balances therefore reflect the benefit changes and additional financing in the bill as set forth previously. The increased tax rates on the higher maximum taxable wage base results in an increase in the trust fund balance to almost \$6.5 billion at the end of 1972 which represents about 75% of total benefit and administrative expense outgo at that time. This desirable condition is expected to continue throughout the 25 year projection period. This is reflected in the gradual growth in the balance of the trust fund (at a rate of \$1-\$3 billion per year) up to over \$38 billion at the end of 1995 which at that time represents slightly less than 70% of total expected outgo.

TABLE D.—PROGRESS OF HOSPITAL INSURANCE TRUST FUND, PRESENT LAW, UNDER ASSUMPTION THAT EARN-INGS BASE IS KEPT UP TO DATE WITH INCREASES IN WAGES INCURRED BASIS, INTERMEDIATE-COST ESTIMATE 1

millions

Calendar year	Contributions 2	Payments from general fund <sup>1</sup>	Benefit payments	Administra- tive expenses	Interest on fund	Fund balance at end of year
971		625	6, 419	155	135	1, 948
972		658	7, 593	166	83	819
1973	6, 696	676	8, 902	177	(3)	(3)
1974		ຳ 681	10, 149	189	(3)	(3
975	7,759	682	11, 499	200	(3)	(3
980	13, 233	525	17, 696	273	(6)	(3
985		309	24, 221	370	(3)	\\ \chi_3
990		132	32, 752	502	(3)	(3
995		37	43, 744	660	(3)	(3)

<sup>1</sup> Including transactions with respect to uninsured persons. The payments shown as being from the general fund of the treasury do not include any interest-adjustment items (which are included in the interest column). The benefit payments and administrative expenses with respect to uninsured persons are included in their respective columns.

2 Including transfers from the railroad retirement account under financial interchange provisions and reimbursement from the general fund of the Treasury for the cost of additional benefits arising from noncontributory military service wage credits.

3 Fund exhausted in 1973.

TABLE E.-PROGRESS OF HOSPITAL INSURANCE TRUST FUND, COMMITTEE BILL, UNDER ASSUMPTION THAT EARNINGS BASE IS KEPT UP TO DATE WITH INCREASES IN WAGES, INCURRED BASIS, INTERMEDIATE-COST ESTIMATE :

Calendar year	Contri- butions <sup>2</sup>	Payments from general fund 1	Benefit payments	Admini- strative expenses	Interest on fund	Fund balance at end of year
1971	5, 215	606	6, 419	155	129	1, 817
1972	12, 265	644	8, 333	178	249	6, 464
1973	12, 930	672	10, 668	200	482	9, 680
1974	13, 892	680	12, 222	214	656	12, 472
1975	14, 559	682	13, 883	227	782	14, 385
1980	21, 932	540	21, 400	310	1, 230	23, 975
1985	28, 621	325	29, 196	420	1, 658	31, 469
1990	38, 719	140	39, 282	568	1, 920	36, 337
1995	51, 110	37	52, 524	786	2, 045	38, 162

<sup>1</sup> Including transactions with respect to uninsured persons. The payment shown as being from the general fund of the Treasury do not include any interest-adjusted items (which are included in the interest column). The benefit payments and administrative expenses with respect to uninsured persons are included in their respective columns.

2 Including transfers from the railroad retirement account under financial interchange provisions and reimbursement from the general fund of the Treasury for the cost of additional benefits arising from noncontributory military service wage credits.

## (y) Cost estimate for hospital benefits for noninsured persons from general funds

Hospital and related benefits are provided not only for beneficiaries of the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance system and the railroad retirement system, but also on a "free" basis for most other persons who were aged 65 and over in 1966 (and for many of those attaining this age in the next few years) who are not insured under either of these two social insurance systems. The exceptions are noninsured persons who are active and retired Federal employees who are eligible (or had the opportunity of being eligible) for similar protection under the Federal Employees Health Benefits Act of 1959 or who are short-residence aliens.

Under present law, persons meeting such conditions who attain age 65 before 1968 qualify for the hospital benefits regardless of whether they have had any covered employment in the past, while

those attaining age 65 after 1967 must have some such coverage to qualify—namely, 3 quarters of coverage (which can be acquired at any time after 1936) for each year clapsing after 1966 and before the year of attainment of age 65 (e.g., 3 quarters of coverage for attainment of age 65 in 1968, 6 quarters for 1969, etc.). This transitional provision "washes out" under present law for men attaining age 65 in 1975 and for women attaining age 65 in 1974, since the fullyinsured-status requirement for monthly benefits for such categories is then no greater than the special-insured status requirement.

Under the bill, these requirements for noninsured men would "wash out" at the same time as for women (due to the provision in the bill

which would set the computation point at age 62 for men).

The benefits for the noninsured group who receive hospital insurance benefits on a "free" basis is to be paid from the hospital insurance trust fund, but with financial reimbursement therefor from the general fund of the Treasury on a current basis, or with appropriate interest adjustment. The estimated cost to the general fund of the Treasury for the hospital and related benefits for this noninsured group (including the applicable additional administrative expenses) for various future years is shown in Table E. The estimated cost to the general fund of the Treasury for the closed group involved increases slowly to a peak of about \$682 million per year in 1975-76 and then decreases steadily thereafter. Offsetting, in large part, the decline in the number of eligibles blanketed-in are the factors of increasing hospital utilization per capita as the average age of the group rises and the increasing hospital costs in the future years.

The foregoing discussion and cost estimates do not include the noninsured persons who, under the provisions of the bill, can voluntarily buy into the hospital program on the basis of their paying the esti-

mated full costs involved.

#### 4. ACTUARIAL COST ESTIMATES FOR THE VOLUNTARY SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE SYSTEM

## (a) Extension of the SMI system to the disabled

Your committee's bill has substantially expanded protection provided by the supplementary medical insurance program, by extending its provisions, effective July 1, 1972, to disabled workers under 65 (and to disabled widows and widowers and to beneficiaries entitled to childs benefits based on disability which began prior to age 22) who have been entitled to cash benefits under the old age, survivors, and disability insurance system for no less than 24 months. The protection under the SMI system is automatic for these disabled beneficiaries although they may optionally disenroll.

The adequate actuarial rate for the disabled enrollees under 65 is likely to be much higher than the similar rate for the age 65 and older enrollees now under the program by a factor of about two and one-half times. The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare, under the terms of the bill, will in December, 1971 and each December thereafter determine an adequate actuarial rate for the following fiscal year for those disabled enrollees under 65, and at the same time determine an adequate actuarial rate for enrollees age 65 or older.

The premium rate charged disabled enrollees under 65 will be the same, however, as the rate charged enrollees 65 or older. Any difference between the actuarial rate and the premium rate will be financed from the general fund of the Treasury, and whereas for enrollees 65 and older, the general revenue financing is approximately in the same order of magnitude as the enrollee premium (except under conditions stated in section (c) following), it is expected that the general revenue financing per enrollee for the disabled under age 65 is in the order of four times the enrollee premium.

The estimated level of general revenue financing made necessary by extension of the supplementary medical insurance program to the long term disabled under 65, in millions of dollars, over the first two

fiscal years after the benefits become available is as follows:

	Additional revenue fir (incurred	ancing
1973 1974		\$400 458

## (b) Change in the SMI deductible

Your committee's bill changes the deductible amount under the supplementary medical insurance programs from \$50 to \$60, commencing with calendar year 1972.

The effect of this change in deductible amount will be reflected in the adequate actuarial rates determined by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to be effective for fiscal years 1973 and later.

For fiscal year 1972, the actuarial rate has already been determined and promulgated at \$5.60 per month without regard to the increase in deductible amount, which will nonetheless be effective under the committee's bill during the second half of fiscal year 1972. The \$5.60 rate will be slightly more adequate than it would have been had the deductible remained at \$50 throughout fiscal year 1972, and the financial deficiency of the supplementary medical insurance trust fund, which has arisen from inadequate premium rates in the past, will be reduced somewhat.

### (c) Limitation on Increase in SMI Premium Rate

Your committee's bill provides for the SMI premium rate to be promulgated during December of each year beginning with 1971 for the 12 month period commencing July 1 of the succeeding year (as is presently the case). However, the bill provides that the premium rate shall be equal to the "actuarial rate" for enrollees 65 and over (as under current law), but subject to a limit equal to the premium rate in effect at the time of promulgation times a factor equal to 100% plus a computed rate of increase in cash benefits. This computed rate of increase in cash benefits is equal to the increase in the general level of cash benefits as they appear or will appear in the cash benefit tables for June 1 of the year in which the premium is promulgated and June 1 of the succeeding year.

Despite the limitation on the increase in the premium rate charged enrollees under the supplementary medical insurance program, the actuarial soundness of the program is not impaired. This is because the bill provides that the Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Fund be reimbursed from the general fund of the Treasury for any deficiency in the premium rate charged enrollees as compared to the adequate actuarial rate determined by the Secretary of Health,

Education and Welfare.

## (d) Financing policy

Coverage under the supplementary medical insurance program can be voluntarily elected, on an individual basis, by virtually all persons aged 65 and older in the United States. Under your committee's bill those disabled beneficiaries entitled to cash benefits for 24 months or more under the old age survivors and disability insurance program are also covered under supplementary medical insurance (unless voluntarily disenrolled).

In the past the intention has been that the supplementary medical insurance program be entirely self-supporting from the premiums charged enrolled individuals and equal matching contributions from the general fund of the Treasury. Under the bill the self-supporting principle remains unchanged, but contributions from the general fund will necessarily be greater than on an equal matching basis. This increased financing share from the general fund arises for two reasons: (1) the premium rate charged eligible disabled enrollees under age 65 will be the same as that charged those age 65 and older, but the actuarially adequate rate for this group will be much higher, and (2) the limitation on the increase in the premium rate charged enrollees (see sub-section (c) above) may require that the premium rate charged enrollees aged 65 and over be less than one-half of the adequate actuarially determined rate, in which case the difference must be made up by payments from the general fund.

## (e) Actuarial soundness of system

The supplementary medical insurance system is financed on a "current cost" basis meaning that the premiums and general revenue contributions needed to support the system are based on actuarially determined rates that will change from time to time in accordance with experience as it develops and with experience anticipated in the near future. The actuarial soundness of the supplementary medical insurance program, therefore, depends only upon the "short-term" actuarial rates (for both the aged and disabled enrollees) being adequate to meet, on an accrual basis, the benefit payments and administrative expenses over the period for which they are determined (including provision for the accumulation and maintenance of a contingency fund).

# D. Provisions Relating to Assistance for the Aged, Blind, and Disabled

## 1. Purpose

The general problems that are discussed later with regard to the family welfare programs exist, but to a much lesser degree, also with respect to the present programs providing assistance to the aged, the blind, and the disabled. The programs, however—characterized as they are by smaller numbers of people, smaller budgets and more nearly static beneficiary rolls—are more susceptible to rapid and efficient reform than the family programs. Contributory social insurance and other sources of income—private pensions, annuities, and other income from assets—are sufficient to keep the total income of the majority of the aged, blind, and disabled from falling below the poverty line; it is your committee's belief that, to the extent possible, contributory social insurance should continue to be relied on as the basic means of replacing earnings that have been lost as a result of old age, disability,

or blindness. But some people who because of age, disability, or blindness are not able to support themselves through work may receive relatively small social security benefits. Contributory social insurance, therefore, must be complemented by an effective assistance program.

Your committee, therefore, proposes a new assistance program for needy aged, blind, and disabled people, administered and financed by the Federal Government. Thus, the bill would repeal the existing titles I (old-age assistance), X (aid to the blind) and XIV (aid to the permanently and totally disabled) of the Social Security Act. In place of these titles the bill would substitute a new title XX creating a single national program to provide cash assistance to the needy aged, blind, and disabled. Under the new Federal program, uniform eligibility requirements and uniform benefit payments would replace the multiplicity of requirements and benefit payments under the existing State-operated programs. The new program has been designed with a view toward providing:

1. An income source for the aged, blind, and disabled whose

income and resources are below a specified level;

2. Incentives and opportunities for those able to work or to be rehabilitated that will enable them to escape from their dependent situations; and

3. An efficient and economical method of providing this

assistance.

It is estimated that in the first year of the new program, 6.2 million aged, blind, and disabled people would be eligible for benefits. In fiscal year 1975, the first full year in which the program would reach the ultimate benefit level in the bill, it is estimated that 7.1 million aged, blind and disabled people would get \$5.4 billion in benefits.

## 2. Eligibility

People who are age 65 or over, are blind, or are disabled and who have income and resources within the limits prescribed by the bill

would be eligible for benefits.

For an individual with no eligible spouse, the income limits are graduated from \$780 (\$130 a month) for the 6-month period ending Demember 31, 1972, up to \$900 (\$150 a month) for the 6-month period ending December 31, 1974, and \$1800 (\$150 a month) for any calendar year thereafter. An individual's resources (other than those excluded) may not exceed \$1500.

For an individual with an eligible spouse, the income limits are graduated from \$1170 (\$195 a month) for the 6-month period ending December 31, 1972, up to \$1200 (\$200 a month) for the 6-month period ending December 31, 1973, and \$2400 (\$200 a month) for any calendar year thereafter. A couple's resources (other than those excluded) may

not exceed \$1500.

Your committee's bill would provide that the definitions of blindness and disability which are used in the disability insurance program established under title II of the Social Security Act would be generally applicable to disabled and blind people under age 65 under the new adult assistance program. These definitions, in the opinion of your committee, provide reasonable, objective, and fair tests of disability and blindness which are appropriate for the proposed program.

It is your committee's belief that disabled children who live in lowincome households are certainly among the most disadvantaged of all Americans and that they are deserving of special assistance in order to help them become self-supporting members of our society. Making it possible for disabled children to get benefits under this program, if it is to their advantage, rather than under the programs for families with children, would be appropriate because their needs are often greater than those of nondisabled children. The bill, accordingly, would include disabled children under the new program. Parents' income and resources would be taken into account in determining the eligibility

and benefits of children under age 21.

A person would be considered disabled if he were unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of a medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or has lasted, or is expected to last, for not less than 12 months. A child under age 18 who is not engaging in substantial gainful activity would be considered disabled under the bill if he suffers from any medically determinable physical or mental impairment of comparable severity. An individual (other than a child under age 18), would be found disabled if his impairments are so severe that he is not only unable to do his previous work but cannot, considering his age, education, and work experience, engage in any other kind of substantial gainful work which exists in the national economy, regardless of whether such work exists in the immediate area in which he lives, or whether a specific job vacancy exists for him, or whether he would be hired if he applied for work.

The term "blindness" is defined as central visual acuity of 20/200 or less in the better eye with the use of correcting lens. Also included in this definition is the particular sight limitation referred to as "tunnel

vision".

In order to facilitate an orderly transitional process, those blind and disabled people who are on the benefit rolls in June 1972 under existing State programs would be considered blind or disabled for

purposes of this program.

Your committee recognizes that under a needs program, it would be unreasonable to expect a claimant to pay for the medical evidence necessary to establish disability or blindness or even to provide the same extent of medical documentation required under title II of the Social Security Act. Thus, the Secretary would be expected to secure the needed medical evidence and the evidence was needed to make a sound determination.

Under the bill, a disabled individual who goes to work would be allowed a trial-work period in which to test his ability to work before a decision would be made as to whether or not his disability has ceased. Under the trial-work provisions, a disabled individual could work in each of 9 months, so long as he had a medically determinable disability, before it could be determined that his disability no longer prevented him from performing substantially gainful work. Any services he performs would not serve to demonstrate an ability to engage in substantial gainful activity during the 9-month trial-work period. After 9 months of trial work have been completed, however, any work he had done would be evaluated to determine whether he had demonstrated an ability to engage in substantial gainful activity. If he had demonstrated this ability, it would be determined that he is no longer disabled.

While a person's work during the trial-work period would not be considered in a determination of whether he continued to be disabled during the period, any earnings (not excluded) he had during the period would be taken into account in determining his income and this would determine whether benefits were payable during the period and the amount of such benefits.

Benefits under the new program would be paid only to people who are residents of the United States, Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, or Guam and who are either United States citizens or aliens lawfully admitted for permanent residence. Residence abroad for a full calendar month would preclude eligibility for that month, and when an individual has been residing abroad for 30 consecutive days or more, he would not again be eligible for payments until he had returned

to the United States for at least 30 consecutive days.

Your committee believes that those people who are disabled, in whole or in part, as a result of the use of drugs or alcohol should not be entitled to benefits under this program unless they undergo appropriate, available treatment in an approved facility, and the bill so provides. Your committee, while recognizing that the use of drugs or alcohol may indeed cause disabling conditions, believes that when the condition is susceptible to treatment, appropriate treatment at Government expense is an essential part of the rehabilitation process of people so disabled. Also, the Secretary would be charged with the responsibility of monitoring and testing those individuals undergoing such treatment, and would be required to submit to the Congress an annual report on his activities in this regard, with specific emphasis on the effectiveness of such treatment.

Under the new program, the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be required to determine an individual's eligibility for benefits for each quarter in a year. This does not mean, though, that quarterly investigations of all aspects of eligibility would be required in every case. Such frequent redetermination of disability in many cases, or of blindness in most cases, would serve no useful purpose. The Secretary would, therefore, have the authority to make redeterminations of blindness and of disability at such intervals as he considers reasonable and necessary, considering the severity of individual conditions and the purpose of the program, to assure that benefits are not

paid to people who are no longer eligible.

In some cases, the financial status of beneficiaries will fluctuate during the year and periodic examination of an individual's income and resources would be needed in order to assure that benefits paid would be based on current income. Therefore, the Secretary ordinarily would make a redetermination as to income and resources on a quarterly basis. Somewhat less frequent redeterminations of income and resources, however, would be required in the cases of the very old, blind, or aged recipient, or the extremely disabled—cases where large increases in income are unlikely. Whenever changes in income do occur, however, they would have to be reported and appropriate adjustments in the amount of benefits payable would be made.

Beneficiaries and prospective beneficiaries would be required to apply for, and make every effort to obtain, any other payment—whether or not based on need—for which they might be eligible. Your committee believes that the new program, financed as it would be from general revenues and with the benefits based on need, should pay peo-

ple only to the extent that their needs are not met from other sources, including, among others, social security payments, payments by other agencies, and payments from private pension plans. Therefore, an individual who does not take all appropriate steps to obtain such payments within 30 days of the date that he applies for benefits under this new program would not qualify for any payments under the program and any benefits which had already been paid would be considered overpayments. Of course, if the time limit on other conditions with respect to the other benefit could not be met, or applying for the other benefit would otherwise be futile, the provisions would not operate.

## 3. Benefits

Assistance payments are now made under 54 different programs, with varying tests of need and varying income exclusions. For example, under State old-age assistance programs as of July 1970, the amount paid for basic needs to an aged couple with no other income ranged from a low of \$97 a month to a high of \$350 a month.

The new benefit standards for assistance to the aged, blind, or disabled are as follows:

	Assistance Benefit Amounts (assuming no other income)				
Fiscal year	Individual		Coupte		
	Monthly	Annualty	Monthly	Annually	
973	\$130 140 150	\$1,560 1,680 1,800	\$195 200 200	\$2, 340 2, 400 2, 400	

The benefit payable to a couple is smaller than the combined benefits payable to two individuals in order to take account of the fact that two people living together can live more economically than they would if each lived alone.

In determining marital status, State law will apply, except that, if a couple has been determined married for purposes of receiving social security benefits or if they hold themselves out as married in the community in which they live, they will be considered married for purposes of the new program. In the absence of such a provision in the assistance program, there would be a strong incentive for married couples to allege that they were not married (in order to get higher payments) and there would be a difficult, if not impossible, administrative burden of determining whether a marriage existed between two individuals alleging to be single (but who hold themselves out to be married). Also, to avoid encouraging couples to live separately in order to get the higher total benefit, your committee's bill provides that an eligible individual and spouse will receive a couple's benefit even though they live apart.

People who are residents of certain public institutions, or hospitals or nursing homes which are getting Medicaid funds, would get benefits of up to \$25 a month (reduced by nonexcluded income). For these people most subsistence needs are met by the institution and full benefits are not needed. Some payment to these people, though, would be needed to enable them to purchase small comfort items not supplied by the institution. No assistance benefits will be paid to an individual in a penal institution.

# 4. Determination of income and resources

(a) Definitions of income.—Income for purposes of your committee's bill includes both earned and unearned income. Earned income is defined generally by reference to the definition of earnings for earnings test purposes under the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance (OASDI) program and includes both wages and self-employment income.

Net earnings from self-employment are defined in the bill by reference to the present definition applicable to the OASDI program with the exception of certain provisions of that definition which your committee believes inappropriate for this program, such as the special provision under which a farmer's net income may be presumed to be a

given percent of his gross income.

For an eligible individual (or spouse) who is blind or disabled (including an individual over age 65 who was receiving benefits under the program on the basis of disability or blindness in the month prior to the month in which he attained age 65), the first \$85 a month of earned income of the individual and his spouse and one-half of the earnings above \$85 (plus work expenses for a blind recipient and his spouse) would be excluded from consideration. For an eligible individual who is age 65 or over (and his spouse), except those mentioned above, the first \$60 a month of earned income plus one-third of the remainder would be excluded from consideration.

This provision would work as follows: Assume that, in 1975, an aged individual who is eligible for a payment of \$150 a month gets a steady part-time job as a night watchman and makes \$100 a month of earned income. The first \$60 of his \$100 monthly earnings would be ignored, and of the \$40 remaining, one-third, or \$13.33, would be excluded, leaving him with nonexcludable income of \$26.67, which would be rounded to \$26. This \$26 would reduce his payment to \$124 a month, which, together with his \$100 of earnings, would give him \$224. If this man had an eligible wife, her earnings would be combined with his in determining the amount of the couple's benefit. (The earnings of an eligible or noneligible spouse would be considered in determining benefit amounts.) Thus, if the wife had earnings of \$50 per month, the couple's earnings of \$150 per month would be treated as if they were all earned by one individual. The \$150 would be reduced by \$60, leaving \$90. One-third of this amount (\$30) would be excluded, and the couple's benefit of \$200 would be reduced by \$60 to \$140 a month, which, together with the \$150 of earnings, gives them \$290 each month.

The larger exemption for the blind and disabled would apply to the combined earnings of a couple if either the husband or the wife is

blind or disabled.

Income which does not fall within the bill's definition of earned income would be considered unearned. However, certain forms of remuneration which are specifically excluded from the OASDI definition of earnings are not to be considered as income. For example, contributions by an employer into a health insurance or retirement fund for his employees are a form of remuneration, but such contributions would not be considered income—earned or unearned—for the individual employees.

The kinds of income which would be considered unearned include annuities, prizes and awards, proceeds of life insurance not needed for last illness and burial (with a maximum of \$1,500), gifts, support payments, inheritances, grants, dividends, interest payments, as well as benefits from all other public and private pension, disability, or unemployment programs.

The distinction between earned and uncarned income is significant because of the fact that special deductions would be applied to earned

income which would not be applied to unearned income.

In recognition of the practical problems that would be encountered in determining the value of room and board for people who live in the household of a friend or relative, the bill would provide specific rules for use in these situations. Under the bill, the value of room and board, regardless of whether any payment was made for room and board, would be assumed to be equal to one-third of the applicable benefit standard. For example, an individual who was entitled to a monthly benefit of \$150 on the basis of a disability and who lived in the home of his son would have his monthly benefit reduced to \$100 whether or not he paid for his room and board. On the other hand, if the individual lived in a rooming or boarding house, there would be no reduction in his benefit.

Special treatment of earnings of blind or disabled children who are students is needed in order to help finance and encourage continued school attendance. Therefore, the earned income of such children regularly attending school would be excluded, subject to limitations set by the Secretary. (A "child" for purposes of the new program is a person who is not married, is not the head of a household, and is under age 18—or under 22 if a full-time student.) Also, any portion of a grant, scholarship, or fellowship that is received for use in paying tuition costs would be excluded. Any portion of these payments which is used for general living expenses would, however, be included as unearned income.

Resources and income in the case of a blind or disabled child under age 21 are deemed to include the resources and income of a parent if

they live together.

In line with your committee's desire to provide every opportunity and encouragement to the blind and disabled to return to gainful employment, the new program, in addition to providing them with a higher earned-income exclusion than is provided for the aged, would permit the blind and disabled and their spouses to exclude additional income that is needed to pursue a plan that has been approved by the Secretary for achieving self-support and your committee intends that these provisions be liberally construed if necessary to accomplish these objectives. A blind person, for example, might be getting \$80 per month from a brother, in addition to, say, \$100 a month he is earning himself. If the money from his brother were being saved for the establishment of a business—possibly a magazine stand or small store—which could help make him self-supporting, the money could be excluded if the Secretary approved his plan to establish a business.

Your committee has also included a provision in the bill under which other assistance payments provided on the basis of need by a public agency, or by certain private tax exempt organizations would have no effect on assistance benefits under the new program. State or local government payments (including those from Indian tribes) to supplement the Federal benefits provided under this program, however, would be excluded from income only if the State supplemental payment is

described in an agreement with the Secretary which would provide that the payments do not undermine the earnings incentive, disregard

provisions of the Federal program.

The new program would provide that unearned income, in addition to other excluded income, of \$60 or less and earned income of \$30 or less in a quarter, if received irregularly or infrequently, would not reduce a person's benefit. Under this provision, a small gift and insignificant earnings from occasional work would be excluded from income.

Home produce used by members of the household for their own consumption would be excluded because of the administrative difficulties involved in determining the value of such produce and because there is generally very little economic advantage resulting from produce raised and consumed at home.

One-third of any payment received from an absent parent for the support of a child eligible for benefits under the program would be ex-

cluded from income.

Income received by eligible individuals for the care of a foster child placed in the individual's home by a public or nonprofit child-placement or child-care agency would also be excluded. Your committee believes this exclusion would permit a needy individual to continue as a foster parent and to furnish a home and guidance to a needy child.

needy child.

(b) Excluded resources.—An individual (or an individual and his eligible spouse) with resources in excess of \$1500 would not be eligible for payments under the program. However, in determining resources for purposes of eligibility certain resources would be wholly or par-

tially excluded.

An individual's home, household goods, and personal effects would be excluded, within limits determined by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare (which would generally follow State practices permitted under the present program). Because household goods and personal effects generally are not counted as resources under most of the present programs, it seems appropriate to continue their exclusion under the new program.

The bill also contains an exclusion of resources essential to an individual's means of self-care or self-support, such as an automobile needed for purposes of employment, the too's of a tradesman, farm machinery, and the inventory of a small business. Your committee believes that if a recipient needs an automobile for necessary transportation, such as to obtain needed medicare treatment, it also should

be an excluded resource.

Life insurance policies would not be counted as resources if the total face value of the policies is not more than \$1500. In the case of a husband and wife, each could have insurance policies of up to \$1500 face value. Otherwise, the cash surrender value of an insurance policy

would be counted as a resource.

Resources in excess of \$1500 that are readily convertible to cash, such as stocks and bonds, would be counted as a resource in determining an individual's eligibility for assistance benefits. Your committee believes that where income producing property is not used as part of a trade or business, the value of such property should be excluded from the resources limitation only to the extent it is producing a reasonable return and the bill so provides. The exclusion would be based on a

fixed percentage return, to be set forth in the regulations of the Secretary, in order to permit adjustments for changing economic conditions. Property not used in the operations of a trade or business and which does not provide a reasonable return should clearly be included as resources. Assets such as buildings or land not used as the individual's abode (which is excluded as described above) which are not readily convertible to cash must be disposed of within a time limit prescribed by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare. The Secretary, however, may pay conditional benefits during the period allowed for disposal of these assets. Any proceeds resulting from the disposition of the assets would be taken into account in determining eligibility for benefits. The individual would be obligated to return the conditional benefits to the extent that such benefits would not have been payable if the proceeds had been taken into account at the time the person started getting the benefits.

## 5. Vocational rehabilitation

Many blind and disabled people want to work and, if the opportunity for rehabilitation for suitable work were available to them,

they could become self-supporting.

Under the new program, all individuals under age 65 who are receiving assistance benefits based on disability or blindness would be referred to the State vocational rehabilitation agencies for rehabilitation services. The Secretary would be authorized to pay the full costs of the vocational rehabilitation services provided to qualified individuals; the primary objective is to restore as many as possible to productive activity.

Every disabled or blind person who is offered rehabilitation services would be required to accept such services. No individual would be eligible for benefits if he refused without good cause to accept rehabilitation services.

### 6. Payment of benefits

While your committee believes that in a program such as it proposes benefits generally should be paid monthly, it recognizes that situations will occur in which the needs of particular beneficiaries can be met by other than monthly payments or where monthly payments would not be consistent with good administration. The bill, therefore, would provide the Secretary with discretionary authority to make payments at such times as he deems appropriate in light of the particular circumstances. In addition, the Secretary would be authorized to make payments on behalf of a beneficiary to some other person (including an appropriate public or private agency) when it appears to him that the other person has an interest in the beneficiary and payment to the other person would be in the beneficiary's interest.

When a husband and wife are entitled to benefits, each may be paid one-half of the total monthly benefit.

In the interest of efficient administration and to permit the rounding of income and benefits, the Secretary would be permitted to establish ranges of income—that is, to use income brackets within which a single benefit amount would apply.

Your committee's bill also provides that payments may be made to individuals initially applying for assistance benefits when there is strong evidence of the likelihood of eligibility and if they are faced with financial emergencies. Advances of up to \$100 against future benefits may be paid to each such applicant, where the applicant is

presumptively eligible for benefits.

A special provision for the disabled would be made in recognition of the fact that in some cases additional time is needed to obtain and evaluate medical and other evidence to establish disability, and that a mechanism is needed for meeting living costs during the period in which a formal determination of disability is pending. Under this provision, applicants for disability benefits could be paid up to 3 month's benefits when a prima facie case for determining that a disability existed had been presented. In order to avoid any interruption in benefits to an eligible disabled person, your committee expects that the Secretary will make the initial determination of disability before the end of the 3-month period. Any benefits paid on the basis of this special provision would not constitute an overpayment that would have to be recovered in the rare case where an individual later is found not to have been disabled.

## 7. Procedural and miscellaneous matters

- (a) Overpayments and underpayments.—Your committee's bill would provide that whenever the Secretary finds that an individual had been paid more than the correct amount of assistance benefits, the Secretary shall recover the overpayment and, as one way of accomplishing this may decrease any payment under this title to which such overpaid individual or his spouse is entitled until such time as the overpayment has been repaid. The Secretary could waive overpayments in the interest of equity where the overpaid individual was without fault. Also, if less than the correct amount of benefits had been paid, the Secretary would pay the balance due to the underpaid individual. If the individual dies before the amount due has been paid to him, or before he negotiates the check representing the correct payment, the amount due would be paid to his eligible spouse, if there is one, and the payment would not be taken into account in determining the spouse's need under this program. Underpayments, however, would not be paid to the estate of a deceased individual since that would not further the objective of meeting the current needs of individuals. Overpayments, on the other hand, could be recovered from the estate of a deceased individual.
- (b) Beneficiary reports.—Beneficiaries would be required to report any changes in circumstances, as the Secretary deems necessary, to determine continued eligibility or any necessary changes in benefit amounts. An individual's willful failure to submit reports requested by the Secretary, or willful delay in submitting such reports, would be cause for the Secretary to reduce the individual's benefit by \$25 in the case of the first such failure or delay, \$50 in the case of the second, and \$100 in the case of the third or subsequent failure or delay.
- (c) Hearings and review.—Your committee's bill requires that there be notice and opportunity for hearings for any individual who disagrees with a determination with respect to eligibility for payments or the amount of the payments. The individual would have to request the hearing within 30 days after receiving notice of the determination. Decisions would be rendered within 90 days following a properly submitted request for a hearing (except that the 90 day requirement would not apply when a hearing is held to determine whether a person

is disabled). If payments during the hearing process were continued, they would be considered overpayments if the Secretary's initial determination were sustained. Final determinations of the Secretary would be subject to judicial review in the Federal district courts. However, determinations as to the facts which the Secretary makes after a hearing provided by him would be conclusive and not subject to judicial review.

Your committee recognizes that many qualified persons who would be capable of hearing issues that arise under the program may not meet the specific requirements for appointment as hearings examiners under the Administrative Procedure Act, but might be a good source of examiners to hear issues arising under the program. Therefore, under your committee's bill, the Secretary would establish the requirements to be used in selecting examiners. Although the examiners would not be selected under the conditions set forth in the Administrative Procedure Act, full hearings would otherwise be conducted in accordance with the requirements of such act which include, for example, the right to submit evidence, to cross examine witnesses, to be heard by an impartial examiner, and to a decision based on the hearing record.

Where an individual who has requested a hearing is represented before the Secretary by an attorney, the provisions of the cash social security program (pertaining to attorney fees) would be applicable except that there would be no withholding of attorney fees from such individual's benefits. Your committee believes that to withhold such

fees would be contrary to the purpose of the program.

Also, the protective rules and regulations on representation of claimants that apply to the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance

program would be applied to the assistance program.

(d) Prohibition of assignments; rulemaking authority; subpena power.—Your committee wishes to emphasize its strong belief that if the benefits which would be provided under this program are to meet the most basic needs of the poor, the benefits must be protected from seizure in legal processes against the beneficiary. Therefore, any amounts paid or payable under this program would not be subject to levy, garnishment, or other legal process, except the collection of delinquent Federal taxes. Also, entitlement to these benefits would not be transferable or assignable.

The Secretary would be authorized to establish rules, regulations, and procedures necessary to administer the new program and to prescribe the evidence required to qualify for the assistance benefits that

would be provided.

The Secretary, for the purpose of any hearing or other proceeding authorized under this program, could issue a subpena requiring the attendance and testimony of witnesses and the production of evidence relative to any matter in connection with hearings or proceedings. In case of contumacy, or refusal to obey a duly served subpena, the proper United States district court could, upon application by the Secretary, issue an order to comply with such subpena and failure to obey such court order could be punished as contempt of court.

The bill would also provide that the privilege against self-incrimination would not excuse any person from testifying, but that he would not be prosecuted or subjected to a penalty or forfeiture on account of

any matter concerning which he is compelled to testify after claiming his privilege against self-incrimination, except in case of perjury.

(e) Furnishing of information by other Federal agencies.—Your committee's bill would require that the heads of all Federal agencies provide such information as the Secretary may require for purposes of determining eligibility for benefits under this title. For example, the records of the Social Security Administration would be made available in verifying information as may be needed.

(f) Fraud.—The bill would provide a fine of not more than \$1000, or imprisonment for not more than one year, or both, for individuals convicted of fraud in connection with a claim for benefits. The penalties which would be provided by the bill are the same as those provided for fraud under title II of the Social Security Act.

(g) Evaluation and research reports.—Annual reports by the Secretary to the Congress and the President on the operations and administration of the program, and on its impact on related programs would

be required.

Authorization is given to the Secretary to conduct research and demonstration projects. Since such experimentation may well involve approaches or other ideas which have no specific sanction in existing statute or regulations, authority is also provided for the Secretary to operate narrow experiments involving limited numbers of people and in limited geographic areas without regard to the eligibility and payment provisions of the program.

An appropriation of up to \$5 million a year would be authorized to

carry out these functions.

(h) Disregarding of certain income in determining need for aid to the aged, blind, or disabled.—One provision in the Social Security Amendments of 1969 required, in effect, that the States increase their payments for the aged, blind, and disabled by \$4 per month beginning with April 1970, the first month in which the social security benefit increase also provided in such amendments was first paid. Alternatively, States were permitted to disregard \$4 per month of such increase for these aged, blind, and disabled assistance recipients who were also eligible for social security benefits. This provision would expire on January 1, 1972, under present law.

Under your committee's bill, this provision of the Social Security Amendments of 1969 would (1) be made permanent, and (2) would be made to apply to any optional State supplemental payments

made under the new program.

(i) Administration.—In the course of the deliberations leading up to your committee's decision to recommend the new federally administered program, it became convinced that successful administration of the proposed plan could be achieved by utilizing the administrative structure of the Social Security Administration. (The 50,000 employees of the Social Security Administration operate out of more than 850 offices located in various communities scattered all over the country and provide regular service in an additional 3,500 contact points to all those seeking benefits and information, including appropriate services to those who do not speak English.) In light of this advice, your committee believes that the new program can be operated efficiently by the Social Security Administration. There is, however, some apprehension that administration of the new program and the existing social

security programs by a single agency could lead to confusion between the new assistance program and the old-age, survivors and disability insurance program. In this regard, your committee emphasizes strongly its position that while a single agency might administer the programs, there is no intent to merge the new assistance program with the existing social insurance program. Each is to maintain its unique identity and this uniqueness would be stressed by requiring separate applications and reports for each type of benefit and in particular by issuing

separate benefit checks.

In order to achieve an orderly transition from the present State programs, your committee's bill would provide that during the first year of the program, interim agreements could be made between the States (including Puerto Rico, Guam, the Virgin Islands, and the District of Columbia) and the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare. These agreements would provide for a State to administer, on behalf of the Secretary, the new Federal program for the aged, blind, and disabled during a part or all of such year. The Secretary could begin taking applications before July 1972 and provide technical assistance to the States to facilitate the takeover of State

Your committee recognizes the practical problems involved in determining how the actual disbursements for administrative expenses should be made when the same offices will be providing services for both the OASDI program and the new adult assistance program. Therefore, it may be necessary when payments are to meet the joint costs of administering the existing social security programs as well as the proposed new program, to make the initial disbursements from the OASI trust fund and the bill provides for this authority. If any disbursement should be made from the social security trust fund to pay any of the administrative costs of the new program, it would be considered as an administrative convenience only and moneys should be promptly repaid to the trust fund, with an additional payment to make up for any interest earnings that were lost to the trust fund as a result of the transaction. Any disbursements from the trust fund for the administrative expenses of the proposed assistance program must be fully covered in advance by available appropriated funds; in no sense should the procedure be looked upon as a shortcut around the regular appropriation process or as a way to undercut limitations contained in enacted appropriations. Moreover, the bill would provide that the authority to make expenditures out of the trust fund would expire after any fiscal year for which advances from the trust fund, including payments in lieu of lost interest, had not been repaid.

#### E. FAMILY PROGRAMS

## 1. The outline of welfare reform for needy families

(a) Critical need for a new approach to welfare.—The present aid to families with dependent children programs (AFDC) as operated by 54 separate jurisdictions are characterized at one and the same time

(1) a large and growing lack of confidence on the part of the taxpaying public that assistance goes only to those who need it and does not go to those who are indolent or ineligible;

(2) understandable bitterness from those who must depend for help upon a system that in too many cases extracts self-respect as the price of its benefits;

(3) hopelessness from those who have been trapped in a life on the dole, from which the possibility of escape seems remote;

(4) contempt from those who all-too-easily obtain undeserved benefits from an antiquated, unstable and lax welfare bureaucracy;

(5) a crazy quilt pattern of benefits and eligibility requirements that makes little sense in a highly industrialized and mobile society; and

(6) incentives for more and more welfare, less and less work, and

for family disintegration.

The effects of these factors can be measured by the geometrically increasing costs and caseloads in the 1960's. From the beginning of 1960 to the end of 1969, the AFDC rolls grew by 4.4 million people, a 147 percent increase. The total costs of the program more than tripled from about \$1 billion in 1960 to about \$3.5 billion at the close of the decade.

If the situation in welfare was alarming and in a state of crisis at the beginning of 1970, the AFDC program is now completely out of control. January 1971 expenditures for aid to families with dependent children were \$482,423,000—a 40.5 percent increase over the previous January. The number of AFDC recipients rose from 7,501,000 in January 1970 to 9,773,000 in January 1971—2½ million more people in one year!

Immediate and far-reaching action is needed. Attempts to patch up the present system or to close its loopholes simply will not work and would lead to nothing but disillusionment and recrimination. The legislation which your committee is recommending is clearly needed now to prevent the collapse of a basic function of government, assisting its poorer citizens to a better life. The bill would establish entirely new programs to carry out this function of government in a modern way.

The new programs which your committee recommends have the

following main elements-

(1) the separation of needy families into two groups, those with an employable adult (including families where the father is working full time for low wages) and those without an employable adult, with appropriate help tailored for each group;

(2) incentives and requirements for work, training, and re-

habilitation;

(3) a heavy investment in the training, rehabilitation, and job placement of poor families with expanded child care, manpower training, public service employment, and family planning efforts;

(4) uniform requirements for eligibility for cash assistance, susceptible of effective, uniform administration with specific

limitations and requirements; and

(5) as a support for the entire program, an efficient, modern, and national administrative mechanism designed to assure that only those who are eligible receive benefits, while avoiding unproductive red tape and delay.

(b) Separation of poor families into two groups.—All eligible families would be divided into two groups under separate programs tailored to meet each group's particular needs. Families with an adult available

for employment (which term is defined precisely and described in more detail below) would be enrolled in the Opportunities for Families program administered by the Secretary of Labor. The Secretary of Labor would be furnished the necessary authority and funds to enable him to carry out his responsibility to help families to rehabilitation and self-support.

All other families, including those where an adult is incapacitated, would be enrolled in the Family Assistance Plan. The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be responsible for this program, including arrangements for vocational rehabilitation services to

incapacitated family members.

About 2.6 million families would enter the Opportunity for Families program and about 1.4 million families would be in the Family

Assistance Plan in the first full year.

Under present law, the low-income family headed by the father is not eligible for AFDC if he is working full-time, and in 26 States even if he is unemployed. The family headed by a female, on the other hand, is eligible whether she is working full-time, part-time, or not at all. This anomaly is not only inequitable on its face but leads to severe economic pressures for a father to leave his family. He finds himself in the untenable position of being able to assure that his wife and children are properly fed and clothed only if he leaves them. It is not unlikely that this situation is related to the fact that female-headed families are increasing three times faster than the population generally. These inc entives are, of course, exactly contrary to good public policy. Clearly, the incentives should be in the direction of keeping the father with his family in order to support them. Since male-headed families would be brought under the new program, proper incentives and controls would be introduced into the system, and an eventual reduction in the rate of family break-up can reasonably be expected.

(c) Incentives and requirements for work, training, and rehabilitation.— The new plan would substitute exact rules to determine who must register for work or training for the haphazard system today under which each State decides who is required to register. Under the bill, any member of an eligible family who did not meet specific criteria would be considered available for employment and would have to

register with the Secretary of Labor for work and training.

Any person who did not register or take work or training as required would subject the family to a penalty of an \$800 per year reduction in benefits. Every person taking training would receive about \$30 a month as an additional incentive to stay in the training. (Thus, the monetary difference between refusing ot taking training could be \$1,160 a year.) The same penalties and allowances would apply to people who are offered vocational rehabilitation services.

As an incentive for work the first \$720 plus one-third of the remainder of annual earnings would not be used to reduce family benefits.

(d) Increased investment in manpower training, rehabilitation, child care, public service employment, and family planning services.—The new approach to welfare would have a solid base of support for activities to get people into work and self-support. Your committee's bill would authorize appropriations for various supportive services for the programs as follows:

Child care: \$700 million for services (plus \$50 million for construction), equivalent to more than 875,000 child care slots.

Public service employment: \$800 million, equivalent to 200,000 jobs.

Manpower training and placement activities: \$540 million, equivalent to 412,000 slots in addition to the 187,000 now authorized; includes 75,000 slots for upgrading the jobs of those now working in low paid jobs.

Other supportive services: \$100 million for additional services, such as minor medical services and transportation needed to support efforts to help families attain self-support. The bill would require family planning services to be offered to all appropriate family members.

(e) Uniform requirements and elements of eligibility for cash assistance.—Your committee's bill would establish a single system of family benefits with uniform eligibility requirements for what is now a varying system of 54 different plans in 54 jurisdictions under only

general Federal guidelines.

(f) Administrative arrangements and safeguards.—Your committee has become convinced that the major key to the success of a program to assist the poor of the nation is an effective, efficient administrative mechanism which has both the confidence of the taxpaying public and the respect and cooperation of those who apply for its benefits. Your committee, therefore, has directed a great deal of attention both to the specific provisions in the bill which would create such an administrative mechanism and to working out with the Secretary of Labor and the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare the system of administration which will characterize the proposed program in its day-to-day operations.

Your committee believes that maintaining the integrity of the program requires that eligibility for benefits under this program must be established by suitable and convincing evidentiary materials, such as birth certificates. There will be no simple declaration process. Moreover, continuing eligibility must be shown by timely income reporting with failure to do so resulting in suspension of benefits and specific dollar penalties. Social security and income tax records would be used to verify the accuracy of earnings reports and to avoid duplicate payments. A requirement for reapplication every two years emphasizes your committee's intent that receipt of benefits should be a temporary

status and not a way of life.

The bill also provides that a father or mother who deserts his or her family will be responsible to the Federal government for every penny paid to the family. If the debt cannot be collected in any other way, the government will withhold all Federal payments of any sort to the deserting parent until the debt is paid. In addition, the bill would make it a Federal crime for an individual to cross a State line in order to escape the financial responsibility to support his family.

(g) Immediate steps to correct present program.—Your committee's bill would make the new programs effective just as soon as it is possible to put them into operation. That date is July 1, 1972, for the families covered under the present program and January 1, 1973 for families with a fully employed father. However, your committee is well aware that the present program is in dire need of immediate stopgap measures even during that short period of time. Therefore, the bill contains several provisions to deal with certain problems in the present program. These changes would support the efforts of several of the

States which have come to see that prompt action is needed at that

level of government.

(h) Conclusion.—In short, every possible step will be taken under the new programs to assure that only those eligible for the benefits will get them. Your committee is convinced, both on the basis of specific studies and on the testimony of witnesses before the committee, that there are many thousands of people now on the AFDC rolls who do not belong there. There is evidence that there are people on welfare who do not report their earnings. There is evidence that some fathers have only seemed to have separated from their families, while actually remaining a part of the family, and providing support to the family which the welfare office never learns about. Under the provisions of the bill, your committee expects that such practices would be eliminated.

In approaching the nation's welfare problems, which are now enormous and complex, your committee has developed a program which is in the interest of the taxpayers as well as the needy. For it is only by having a program that merits continued public support that we will be able to assure adequate assistance to those who truly need it.

# 2. The Opportunities for Families program

(a) Separation of employables and unemployables—responsibility of Department of Labor.—Two basic difficulties have appeared in past legislative efforts to return welfare recipients to self-sufficiency: (1) all recipients have been lumped together without any expert or realistic assessment of their ability to enter the labor force, and (2) authority for employment and training programs has been diffused at both the Federal and local level, with the other agency always being blamed for program deficiencies. The reported bill meets these problems by creating an entirely separate program for those who are defined under the bill as available for employment and by providing that this new program would be the complete and exclusive responsibility of the Department of Labor.

(b) Requirement to register for training or employment.—Your committee was faced with the very difficult task of deciding who should be required to take training or enter employment and who should not. The weakness of the 1967 welfare amendments was that the clear congressional intent of getting able-bodied welfare recipients (including mothers where there was adequate day care available) into work and training was effectively diluted by Federal and state welfare officials who did not share this objective with equal enthusiasm.

Your committee has concluded that administrative discretion should be minimized, and that the law itself should be as specific as possible with respect to those who are to be expected to work and those who are not.

The bill reported by your committee would require all adults to register with the Secretary of Labor unless they were specifically exempted by the law itself, thereby eliminating the kind of broad

discretion which now exists in the Work Incentive Program (WIN).

(1) Exclusions from the requirement to register would be made in the case of individuals who are so ill, incapacitated or of advanced age that they are unable to engage in gainful employment. The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare, with concurrence from the Secretary of Labor, could by regulation prescribe when the age of a partic-

ular person, taking into account the person's health, education, and former training and any other pertinent conditions, was so advanced

as to make registration unnecessary.

The term "incapacity" might include under some circumstances individuals who are drug addicts or alcoholics. Addicts or alcoholics who would be required to register but for drug or alcohol abuse would be referred to clinics or treatment facilities already in existence and especially designed to meet their problems. Such family members would have to participate fully in treatment programs and undergo training provided in order to be eligible for federal payments.

(2) Your committee's bill would also exclude from mandatory registration children who are under age 16 or under age 22 if they are students regularly attending school. Your committee believes that the training aspects of the program could be of great use in preparing for employment youths age 16 and 17 who are not attending school,

and has therefore required them to register.

(3) A mother (or other adult caretaker) of a child under the age of 3 (under age 6 until July 1974) who is actually caring for the child is not required to register. As a practical matter, the committee expects a large percentage of these mothers to register voluntarily for employment and take advantage of the child-care provisions, training incentives, and allowances and employment opportunities under the bill. That has been the experience under the present WIN program where about 7 out of 10 of the mothers enrolled have children under the age of six. For the first two years, during which time more adequate child care facilities can be created for young children, the exemption would apply to mothers with children under 6 years of age.

Your committee understands the reasoning of those who are concerned about the requirement that mothers of young children register for and take work and training. However, two primary considerations led your committee to the decision reflected in this pro-

vision of the bill.

First, about 5 million mothers with children under age 6 are now in the Nation's labor force. Further, the mumber and proportions of mothers who choose to and do work is increasing steadily. About 4 out of 10 mothers with children under age 18 are now in the labor force, compared with 1 out of 10 in 1940. More than half of all mothers with children age 6 to 17 are now in the labor force, compared with one-third in 1950. About one-third of mothers with children under 6 are now in the labor force, compared with only 14 percent in 1950. It seemed to your committee that to require such women to support out of taxes on their earnings those mothers who choose not to work but to live on public monies would be inequitable in the extreme.

Second, your committee is convinced that, by and large, the child in a family eligible under these programs will benefit from the combination of quality child care and the example of an adult in the family taking financial responsibility for him. Nor should it be forgotten that the mother who takes the training or gets a job will have more money available to improve the family's circumstances and

more adequately provide for the children.

(4) An additional exclusion is provided for the mother or other female caretaker of a child if the father of the child is required to register and does so register. These mothers would also be entitled to

voluntarily register for training and employment. If the father in this situation refused to register, however, the mother would have to

register.

(5) A person whose presence in the home is required on a substantially continuous basis in order to care for an ill or incapacitated member of the household would not be required to register. This type of illness or incapacity would in almost all cases be required to be more severe than the type discussed under (1) above, since the disability would have to be such as to require a regular caretaker.

Your committee's bill would not exclude from the registration requirement the father or mother who is working full-time. They will thus have the possibility of being able to find jobs at higher wages, and will be able to benefit from training designed to upgrade

their skills.

The Secretary of Labor is required to furnish adequate child care services for so long as he determines necessary when registrants need such services in order to participate in manpower services, training, or employment. No mother would be required to undertake training or

employment without the assurance of adequate child care.

(c) Requirement for those who register to accept training or employment.—In addition to the requirement to register, there would also be a requirement to accept training or employment in which a person is "able to engage." Refusal to accept training or employment, unless the refusal was for "good cause," would result in a substantial penalty. If, for example, the father (or other individual required to register) refused training or employment, \$800 annually would be subtracted from the benefit checks. Further, under such circumstances the Secretary could not pay the remainder of the family's benefits to the father and could, if he found it appropriate, make the remaining family payment to someone outside the family who is interested in or con-

cerned with the welfare of the family.

An individual may refuse work or training for "good cause." Such protection is provided in the bill because it is impossible to anticipate all the situations in which it would clearly be unreasonable to require acceptance of a job. Your committee intends, however, that exceptions be made only when it is clearly unreasonable and a hardship would be imposed on the individual concerned. It is intended to be applied only in clear cut situations where the individual's reasons are sound and compelling. For example, a mother should not be expected to take a job if child care has not been provided. A man should not be forced to take a job that is 50 miles away from his residence and adequate transportation is unavailable. On the other hand, individuals would be required to travel a reasonable distance for work. For example, an individual living within the District of Columbia would be required to take a job available within the metropolitan area if transportation was available.

Your committee has written into the bill certain specific exceptions to the work requirement. An individual need not accept a job if—

The job is vacant because of a labor dispute;

The wages are below the applicable legal minimum or below the prevailing wage for similar work. In no case would employment be required that paid wages below 75% of the highest Federal minimum wage, (which would be \$1.20 per hour under current law); or the individual would be required to join a company union, or be prohibited from joining a bona fide union.

The legislation being reported would also permit refusal of a referral to a job if the individual has a demonstrated capacity, through other available training or employment opportunities, of securing available work that would better enable him to achieve self-sufficiency. For example, if a man who was skilled as a welder could demonstrate that a welder's job was available, the manpower agency would be expected to refer him to it. If it were not available, then the person would have to take some other job that was available, even though it paid a good deal less than the welder's job.

The requirement that the job to which an individual is referred pay no less than 75% of the maximum Federal minimum wage would recognize that there are about five and one-quarter million persons who now work for less than the Federal minimum wage of \$1.60 per hour. It would be inequitable to excuse adult family members from such work when so many people are working at wages below

that level.

(d) Operation of manpower training and employment program.—Your committee has previously expressed its dissatisfaction with the operation of the present Work Incentive Program. It has been hoped that the Departments of Labor and Health, Education and Welfare could effectively coordinate the admittedly complex operation of referring welfare recipients, training them and supplying them with necessary supportive services, and placing them in employment. Experience has shown, however, that in most jurisdictions the split responsibility and the resulting compounding of bureaucracy has greatly reduced the effectiveness of the program. Therefore, in the full realization that there must be more centralization of responsibility if a large-scale work and training program is to succeed, your committee's bill would make a number of fundamental changes in the program. Along with the organizational changes which will be described in the following section, the bill provides for 225,000 training opportunities (of which 75,000 will be for upgrading adult family members who are working full-time), in addition to the 187,000 training opportunities now in the WIN program which would be available to the Opportunities for Families program.

(1) Federalizing the WIN program—Federal responsibilities for manpower programs. The Secretary of Labor would be required to use a broad array of manpower programs and approaches in making recipients self-supporting. Such authority and responsibility under the new program is clearly lodged with the Secretary of Labor, not in an office of a State or local government. The Secretary could never be limited in carrying out his responsibilities by decisions made at those levels. While the WIN program has helped some recipients to become independent, it was a mistake to rely solely on State agencies in the administration of the program. For under those circumstances it is not possible to hold the Secretary of Labor entirely responsible for the results. Under the bill, however, this responsibility could not be

avoided

Your committee would give the Secretary of Labor the authority to administer the program in whatever manner will achieve the greatest results in reducing dependency. If he believes a particular State's employment service is the most effective instrument, he is authorized to use it. But first he must satisfy himself that that agency or any other non-Federal agency can do the job and achieve the

necessary results. If no agency is available that meets his standards of performance the Secretary should administer the program directly.

Whenever non-Federal agencies are used, your committee expects that a sufficient Federal presence will be maintained in the operation of the program to guarantee a high level of quality and efficiency. If the Secretary of Labor decided to use a non-Federal agency, he would have the full authority to specify whatever is required to assure efficient administration and program success through the provisions of the contract with such agency. When selecting a State or local instrumentality to act as his agent, the Department of Labor should be assured that offices are kept open such hours as are necessary to service those beneficiaries who are working as well as the unemployed.

(2) Provision of child care and supportive services by Department of Labor. Child Care: The work requirement and manpower services program will succeed or fail, depending on whether sufficient child care opportunities can be created. The experience with the present WIN program has shown clearly the importance of child care services in enabling mothers to undertake employment and training. Child care under present law has been inadequate, with the result that many AFDC mothers who might have moved toward economic independence have been unable to do so because of the lack of adequate child care arrangements for their children. Statistics provided by the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare show that significant numbers of mothers have been deterred from participating in the WIN program solely because of the lack of child care. Others have been enrolled but have had to drop out because of the uncertain nature and quality of their child care arrangements.

Many of the mothers who are now receiving assistance under the AFDC program have both the desire and the potential to move into employment. A recent study by the Department of HEW indicated that the proportion of AFDC women with high employment potential increased from 25.3 percent in 1961 to 44.5 percent in 1968. Thus, it is reasonable to expect that almost half of the AFDC mothers can be moved into regular employment, with training, child care, and concentrated employment efforts. The report stated that "as the AFDC case-load grew ever larger between 1961 and 1968, recipients were more and more women who had stronger educational and occupational backgrounds, that is, high employment potential." However, the report also notes that over 80 percent of the women reportedly could not take jobs because they had children under age eight at home, and more than 50 per-

cent lacked child care facilities.

Your committee recognizes that if the mothers who are enrolled in the new program are in fact to be helped toward moving off welfare, and if their children are to be helped to break out of the welfare cycle, it is essential that the availability of a wide range of child care services be vastly expanded. The need is for both pre-school and school-age services, with combinations of these services necessary for many mothers. Based on a 1969 survey of AFDC mothers, the Auerbach Corporation in its report on child care services under WIN stated:

Of the mothers on AFDC, over eighty percent have some combination of school age and pre-school age children for whom some care is probably required. Fewer than fifty percent of these households have only pre-school children. Out

of the total of one and one-half million AFDC households, only 431,800 have pre-school children exclusively; another 615,600 have school age children exclusively; and 548,400 have some combination of both school age and pre-school age children. . . . These figures indicate that the problem for the potential WIN population is not only for day care for pre-schoolers, but rather for some arrangement to take care of children before and after classes, or of some combination of service for both pre-schoolers and school age children.

It is clear that present law provisions for child care services are not adequate to meet the expanded need under the new program. More funds are needed, and a greater flexibility in developing services must be provided. As described later in this report, your committee's bill contains a number of provisions which will promote the child care services needed in support of the employment and training provisions of the bill. Perhaps most importantly, however, your committee's bill centers the responsibility for providing child care services to mothers in work or training on the Secretary of Labor. In this way, it is expected that the necessary coordination of manpower services and child care services will be achieved. The Secretary of Labor will have both authority and funds to purchase needed child care. It is intended that whenever possible he will use facilities developed by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare, as described later in the report. However, when such facilities are not available, it will be the responsibility of the Secretary of Labor to secure child care through other sources. Your committee does not intend that the lack of child care will be cited as an impediment to the success of the program.

The Secretary of Labor may purchase child care directly through contracts with public or non-profit agencies. He may buy child care from private, profit-making enterprises. He may enter into contracts with school systems to supply after-school child care for youth of school age. He may operate, through his manpower agencies, a system whereby seekers of child care are brought together with persons who

would like employment through caring for children.

The Secretary could make considerable use of a voucher system, under which the mother can have maximum choice in selecting a

child care facility.

When the mother moves from training into employment (or goes directly into employment), rather than the Secretary paying for required child care, the mother would be required to pay for the care out of her earnings, if her earnings were substantial enough, and then get credit for the expenditure by deducting the cost from the earnings which would otherwise be used to reduce family benefits.

It is expected, therefore, that funds earmarked for child care slots will be used primarily to pay for child care when the mother is in training, while the earnings disregard provision will be used when the mother is working. The effect of this latter provision is to increase the child care support provisions well beyond that which could be achieved by direct purchase of care.

In cooperation with HEW, the Department of Labor will arrange

for the training of recipients for jobs in child care facilities.

During the first year a total of \$750 million would be authorized for child care, including \$50 million for alteration, remodeling, and construction to create new facilities. The WIN day care authorization would be repealed. This authorization would support 875,000 child care slots of which 291,000 would be for pre-school-age children and 584,000 for school-age children.

Your committee believes that this authorization would provide for sufficient child care service to support the employment and training openings which are proposed under the bill in the first year. It has also taken into consideration the testimony of the Administration that this is the maximum expansion in services which could be achieved in that period of time. However, your committee fully expects that every effort will be made in future years to expand services as rapidly as is necessary and possible. For this reason, no specific authorization beyond the first year is included in the bill.

The bill provides that 50 percent of funds available to the Department of Labor would be allocated among the States on the basis of

the number of mothers registered under the program.

Supportive Services.—The failure to provide necessary health and other supportive services has been particularly damaging to the effective operation of the WIN program in many States. The lack of medical examinations, the lack of ability to remedy minor health problems, and the lack of counseling services which might solve serious family problems all lead to unnecessary and wasteful terminations of participation in training or employment. In all too many cases, the State employment agency and the welfare or health agency which is supposed to supply the required services have been anable to work out an effective working arrangement. Therefore, your committee has concluded that the Department of Labor should have the necessary authority and resources to secure needed supportive services. Such services should have a direct relationship to improving employability and increasing retention in training programs and employment. Wherever possible, these supportive services should be purchased from existing sources; your committee does not intend that the Department of Labor establish new sources of services unless they are not otherwise available.

The Secretary of Labor would be required to offer family planning services to all appropriate family members and would be required to furnish such services when requested.

Training expenses.—Another related problem of existing law has been reimbursement for training expenses which must come from the State welfare agencies. This arrangement has often resulted in delayed payments, multiple checks, and general inconvenience to the traince which have had an adverse effect on his attitude toward the program. The Auerbach Corp. reported:

The allowances the welfare departments grant clients to cover their expenses incurred while participating in the WIN program vary greatly from State to State. In some States, expenses are simply inadequate. At the other extreme, some States, besides furnishing funds for child care, transportation and lunch, provide a welfare incentive which may be used by the client as he wishes; to purchase clothes, to spend on easily prepared foods, etc.

In those projects where welfare funds were inadequate to cover costs, caseworkers frequently stated that the client received a WIN incentive allowance which could be used for these expenses. Thus, in those States where welfare allotments are low, the WIN incentive is not actually functioning as an additional supplement, but is being used to cover expenses incurred from participating in the program.

Under your committee's bill, the Department of Labor on a uniform basis could reimburse the trainee for reasonably necessary additional expenses directly related to his participation in training, such as transportation, special elethes, and supplies needed for the training.

(3) Work-oriented manpower program. It is assumed by your committee that large numbers of recipients can be placed directly in jobs, and that extensive "employability" plans will be necessary only for more difficult cases. If a person is job ready, then the employability plan would consist simply of a referral to an existing job.

The committee's bill authorizes all known manpower techniques to develop employability, including counseling, testing, coaching, job orientation, institutional and on-the-job training, work experience, skill upgrading, relocation assistance, job development, job placement, and follow-up services. An authorization of \$540 million would

be provided for the first year for such services.

Your committee has been concerned with the undue emphasis on basic education and other institutional training which exists in WIN and which has also been a characteristic of other job training programs for welfare recipients. It is hoped, therefore, that with the increase in the Secretary of Labor's direct authority to carry out the intent of Congress, program components directly related to work—such as on-the-job training—will be utilized more frequently and effectively. At the present time, only 1,000 recipients are in on-the-job training slots. Moreover, your committee is increasingly concerned with the growth of the number of individuals who have completed their training but are in "holding" because they cannot be placed in jobs.

The following table shows both a decreasing number of current WIN trainees in actual jobs and an increasing number of individuals who have completed training but for whom no job has been found.

Month and year	Current WIN partici- pants ready for jobs, total	Current participants actually in jobs and receiving follow- up services		Current participants in "hold- ing" because job cannot be found	
		Number	Percent of total	Number	Percent of tota
1970:	14, 576	12, 016	82. 4	2, 560	17. <del>(</del>
June	16, 551	12, 261	74. 1	4, 290	25. 9
October	17, 296	12, 881	74, 5	4, 415	25. !
December	18, 662	12, 304	65, 9	6, 358	34.
1971; February	18, 494	11, 586	62, 7	6, 908	37. :

The difficult task of job development to provide employment to recipients in the private sector must be pursued more diligently by the Department of Labor and by private industry itself. But your committee believes that a program of public service employment must also be instituted if any substantial progress is going to be made in providing jobs for recipients under prevailing economic conditions. This new program is described in the following section.

(4) Public service employment. Since the Social Security Amendments of 1967, your committee has strongly supported the provision of public service jobs for those welfare recipients for whom job training is not appropriate or those individuals who have completed training but for whom no private sector jobs are currently available. The bill once again emphasizes the necessity of this type of program, but

climinates the financing arrangements of the WIN "special work" projects which the Department of Labor maintains have inhibited the implementation of the provision. It is hoped that the traditional antipathy of the Department of Labor to this type of activity will have been dissipated by the realities of the present job market and that the program will be carried out with vigor and imagination.

The creation of a public service employment program assures that more recipients will be required to take a job, not just accept benefits. At the same time it has the advantages of developing and maintaining the work skills of the unemployed, of utilizing labor otherwise idle in projects that are in the public interest, and of giving assistance to hard pressed State and local governments which are now unable to meet all of the critical community services demanded by their citizens.

Your committee's bill would authorize the Secretary of Labor to provide for public service employment programs through grants to or contracts with public or nonprofit private agencies or organizations.

It is not intended that these jobs be used on a long-term, permanent basis to support individual recipients. They should be viewed to the extent possible, considering existing economic conditions, as providing transitional employment that will help prepare individuals for regu-

lar, unsubsidized jobs when they are available.

Your committee's bill contemplates public service employment opportunities for 200,000 people during the first full year of operation. at a cost of \$800 million. On a net basis, subtracting direct savings in benefit payments, the cost would be about \$500 million. The amount authorized for the first year is \$800 million; amounts for later years are unstated so that a review of the need for such jobs can be assessed annually.

Your committee would require the same general wage policy for public service employment jobs as would govern referral to regular jobs. However, no jobs would be created below the Federal minimum wage level, even if the Federal minimum wage law were not applicable to those specific jobs. The prevailing rate for such public work or work of a similar nature would apply if it were higher than the Federal minimum.

The proposed public service employment program would have safeguards against displacing regular workers. It would also contain incentives for employers to move participants on to regular payrolls by reducing the Federal matching share of any individual's enrollment progressively during a three year period. The Federal government's share of the cost of providing such employment could not exceed 100% during the first year, 75% during the second year, and 50% during the third and final year. To further assure referral to regular jobs or training opportunities, the Secretary of Labor would be required to review each individual case at least every six months to see if such a transition could be made.

In order that the Secretary of Labor will have the broadest access to non-subsidized jobs, all State and local agencies supported in any way by Federal funds would be required to list their job vacancies with the Secretary of Labor. This would assure that the Secretary had knowledge of as many job openings as possible in which he might be able to place a beneficiary.

Your committee does believe, however, that public agencies supported by Federal funds should be expected to do their share of hiring beneficiaries when they do have vacancies. Under your committee's bill, these agencies would be required to establish goals for hiring beneficiaries but an agency would not be required to hire every individual who is referred. It is *not* the intent that such agencies be forced to hire unqualified people.

In addition, your committee believes that wherever possible, recipients should be considered as a hiring source for regular Federal jobs, where they could—with training where necessary—qualify for

these jobs.

(5) Priorities for training. It is the intent of your committee that as large a number of registrants as possible be placed in available jobs or training. It is recognized, however, that it will not be possible to serve all registrants during the first year. It will be necessary to set priorities. In setting such priorities the Secretary should have the objective of maximizing Federal savings in benefit costs by selecting people for training with a realistic view of job opportunities actually available in the local labor market. Also, a specific priority for teen-age mothers has been written into the bill. Your committee is convinced that the young teenage mother who volunteers for this program should have the highest priority because she is the most likely to benefit from the training and thus escape from being condemned to a life on welfare. If at all possible, such a young mother should be helped to finish high school; and high school training would be the most appropriate the Secretary could arrange for her under most circumstances. Regular school attendance would be required in such instances.

(6) Allowances for individuals undergoing training. In some instances training incentive allowances have been unfair to WIN participants in that a person assigned to a manpower development and training (MDTA) class might be sitting beside a MDTA enrolled who was receiving a substantially higher allowance than is allowable under WIN. Your committee's bill would continue the WIN allowance of \$30 per month for each individual who is a member of a family and is participating in manpower training, but if his allowance under the MDTA program would be more than \$30 higher than the Federal payment plus any State or local supplemental payment, the incentive allowance to the trainec would be the difference

between the two allowances.

Under the Manpower Development and Training Act, the basic allowance is computed on the basis of the average weekly gross unemployment compensation payment (including allowances for dependents) for a week of total unemployment in the State making such payments during the most recent four-calendar-quarter period for which such data are available. This amount may be increased by up to \$10, and in addition \$5 a week for each dependent over two up to a maximum of four additional dependents. There are special provisions to deal with the situation in which an individual's unemployment compensation benefits would exceed his training allowance.

(7) Relocation services. Your committee is somewhat disappointed with the achievements in relocating WIN recipients under existing law. The Department of Labor reports that about 650 families have been moved to new areas under its provisions. In the administration of such services under the new program your committee recognizes that persons should be relocated only when regular employment can be found for them in another area. While the employment would not

necessarily have to be at a wage that would immediately remove a family from benefits in order to justify the relocation expense, neither would it be desirable to create such an expense unless there was an

assurance of a substantial, lasting job at the new location.

(8) Summary of resources available in first year. The following table summarizes the resources which would be available, primarily to the Secretary of Labor, in the first year of the program under the bill (the figures include new resources as well as those which would have been available under present programs):

	Hillions
Manpower training	\$540
Child care	1 750
Public service employment	2 800
Supportive services	100
Total	2, 190

 $<sup>^1\,\$50,000,000</sup>$  is earmarked for construction.  $^2\,\$500,000,000$  is net cost taking into account reductions in benefit allowances.

## 3. Family assistance plan

According to Administration estimates, approximately 2.6 million families (including 13.9 million people) would be registered by the Department of Labor in the Opportunities for Families program during fiscal year 1973. These would be the families with one or more members who are determined to be available for work. All other eligible families, 1.4 million families (including 5.5 million people) would be enrolled by the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare in the Family Assistance Plan.

The Family Assistance Plan would cover female-headed families with children under age 3 (under age 6 until 1974), or families in which the only adult members are incapacitated or otherwise exempt from registering under the Opportunities for Families program. Those who voluntarily register for work and training would automatically be

placed under the Opportunities for Families program.

Although families under the HEW-administered program of family assistance would, by definition, be composed entirely of persons exempt from the bill's regular work and training requirements, incapacitated individuals in such families would be referred to the State vocational rehabilitation agencies, and would be required to participate in any program of vocational rehabilitation which such agencies might find appropriate for them. The State would be reimbursed by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare for the costs of providing these services and making determinations of incapacity.

An incentive allowance of \$30 per month would be paid to family assistance beneficiaries undertaking vocational rehabilitation together with allowances for transportation and other expenses. In addition, child care services necessary to enable recipients to take vocational rehabilitation training would be made available by the Secretary of

Health, Education, and Welfare.

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare would be required to offer family planning services to all appropriate family members and would be required to furnish such services when requested.

The Department of HEW is expected to utilize necessary portions of its authorized appropriations for vocational rehabilitation services, supportive services, and family planning services.

# 4. Federal benefit payments

Although the responsibility for assistance to needy families would be appropriately divided between the Department of Labor (for families with at least one employable member) and the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare (for families with no employable member), your committee's bill establishes a single basic structure of eligibility requirements and benefit levels applicable to both groups. In order to provide uniformity of administration under this new national system of family benefits, the Secretaries of Labor and Health, Education, and Welfare would jointly establish procedures, policies, and interpretations of law.

(a) Eligibility for and amount of benefits.—(1) Eligibility: Each family with children under 18 (or under 22 if regularly attending school) whose income (other than excluded income) is less than \$800 per year for each of the first two family members, \$400 each for the next three members, \$300 each for the next two members, and \$200 per year for the next member, and whose resources (other than those excluded—the home, the household goods, personal effects, etc.) are

\$1,500 or less would be eligible to receive a benefit.

A family headed by a full-time college or university student would

not be eligible for benefits.

Under your committee's bill, payments would be made to all families with children who are in need as defined by the above specified income and resource limits. Included would be families headed by a fully employed father which are currently ineligible for AFDC benefits in all States and families headed by an unemployed or only partially employed father which are now eligible for AFDC in only 24 States. Thus, the bill eliminates one of the most frequently heard and most telling criticisms of the present welfare system, namely, that it places a premium on the broken family by denying assistance if the father remains in the home. In addition, your committee's bill corrects a problem situation existing in those States which do provide AFDC to families of unemployed or partially employed men. Under current law, it can be financially disadvantageous for such men to take a full-time job since full-time employment, even for very low wages, will make them ineligible for further assistance while part-time employment does not. Under the bill, assistance would continue for those who become fully employed unless their earnings are high enough to make the family ineligible.

(2) Benefits: Assistance would be payable at the rate of \$800 per year for each of the first two family members, \$400 each for the next three members, \$300 each for the next two members, plus \$200 per year for the next family member, and would be reduced by non-excluded income. (If the family benefit is less than \$10 a month, the

benefit would not be payable.)

A family of four with no income counted to reduce benefits would be eligible for a benefit of \$2,400. The maximum benefit for any family (eight members or more) would be \$3,600. A family with just two

persons would be eligible for \$1,600.

These benefit amounts would be reduced by the amount of any income available to the family from other sources except that a portion of earnings (and limited amounts of other types of income) would not be counted. The first \$720 of earned income each year would not be used to reduce the family's benefit nor would one-third of any earned income above \$720.

#### **EXAMPLES OF FAMILY PAYMENTS 1**

Family assistance payment <sup>2</sup>	Total income	Earnings	Family assistance payment <sup>2</sup>	Total income
		B. Family of 4—continued		
\$1,600	\$1,600	\$3,000 \$3,600	\$880 480	\$3, 880 4, <b>0</b> 80
1,600 1,280	2, 320 2, 480	\$4,140	³ 120	4, 260
480	2,880	None	3, 600	3, 600
3 120	3,060	\$720	3, 600	4, 320
2, 400	2, 400	\$3,000	2,080	4, 680 5, 080
2,400	3, 120	\$5,400	480	5, 480 5, 880 6, 060
	\$1,600 1,600 1,280 480 3120 2,400	\$1,600 \$1,600 1,600 \$2,320 1,280 2,480 880 2,680 480 2,880 3 120 3,060 2,400 2,400 2,400 3,120	assistance payment 2 Total payment 2 Income  \$1,600 \$1,600 \$3,600 \$3,600 \$3,600 \$4,140 \$1,280 \$2,480 \$480 \$2,880 \$120 \$3,060 \$120 \$3,060 \$120 \$3,060 \$120 \$3,060 \$120 \$3,060 \$120 \$3,060 \$120 \$3,060 \$120 \$3,000 \$3,	Sample   Total payment   Total payment   Total payment   Earnings   Earnings   Earnings

<sup>1</sup> Annual amounts used for clarity—actual computations would be quarterly.

<sup>2</sup> Computation: Reduce total earnings by \$720 annual "disregard"; then apply two-thirds of the remainder to reduce assistance payment.

Least amount payable is \$10 per month or \$120 per year.

In 22 States the Federal benefit level would mean an increase in the largest amounts now paid to families of four with no other income.

### BENEFIT LEVEL CURRENTLY UNDER \$2,400

Alabama	Louisiana	North Carolina
Arizona	Maine	Oklahoma
Arkansas	Maryland	South Carolina
Delaware	Mississippi	Tennessee
Florida	Missouri	Texas
Georgia	Nevada	Utah
Indiana	New Mexico	West Virginia
Kentucky	New Mexico	west viigina

A standard Federal level would tend to inhibit whatever motivation people might have to move from an area with low welfare payments to an urban center with seemingly higher payment levels. In fact, it is possible that the standard level of payment provided in these programs plus the nationally uniform administrative structure contemplated might very well attract some needy families back to rural areas from urban centers where they now live.

(3) Special limits on gross income: The bill requires the Secretary to prescribe in regulations the circumstances under which gross income from a trade or business (including farming) would be large enough to preclude eligibility for benefits. (Gross income would be defined as it is in Chapter 1 of the Internal Revenue Code.) Without any restriction, it might be possible for some families with substantial gross incomes, but little or no net profit or resources, to qualify for benefits.

Your committee believes that earnings from farming and certain other businesses require special treatment. People in such businesses may have substantial gross incomes during a year but net earnings small enough to qualify themselves and their families for payments. The net earnings of a family whose income is derived from a business can fluctuate considerably from year to year. The net earnings may be high in one year and very low the next year. One reason for

this is that a businessman has considerable control over the amount of his net earnings; he may choose the time to incur a number of business expenses in order to increase or decrease his net earnings in

any given year.

Also the amount of net earnings depends to a large extent on business expenses, which are deductible for income tax purposes. Depreciation allowances and other income tax deductions, for example, reduce the net earnings of a businessman without actually reducing his spendable income.

In the opinion of your committee it would be inappropriate to permit people who have a large gross income to get payments when they have a substantial cash flow from which they can live in moderate or

better-than-moderate circumstances.

(4) Drug and alcohol abuse: Your committee would also exclude from benefit eligibility family members who are determined by the Secretary to be incapacitated because of drug abuse or alcoholism and who refuse to take remedial treatment. These people would ordinarily be those required to register for work or training, but are not so required because of drug or alcohol abuse. Appropriate treatment would be furnished at government expense at an approved institution or facility and the patient would be expected to comply with all facets of such treatment.

The Secretaries of Labor and of Health, Education, and Welfare are directed to provide for the monitoring and testing of all such individuals who are in the Federal benefits program and determine how these requirements contribute toward the improvement of these individuals, their families, and the movement of the families from the benefit rolls. The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare is directed to include information on the activities of both Departments

in his annual report to the Congress.

(5) Application for other benefits required: Since family assistance payments are to be made only to families to the extent they are actually in need, your committee's bill requires that families apply for any other benefit or payment due them. If any family member within 30 days fails to take all steps necessary to obtain unemployment benefits, old-age, survivors, and disability insurance, or any other payments such as an annuity, veterans' pension, workmen's compensation, or railroad retirement benefit for which he is eligible, the family would not be eligible for assistance.

(6) Definition of income: Income for purposes of your committee's bill includes both earned and unearned income. Earned income is defined generally by reference to the definition of earnings for earnings test purposes under the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance (OASDI) program and includes both wages and self-employment

mcome.

Net earnings from self-employment are defined in the bill by reference to the present definition applicable to the OASDI program with the exception of certain provisions of that definition which your committee believes inappropriate for this program, such as the special provision under which a farmer's net income may be presumed to be a given percent of his gross income.

Income which does not fall within the bill's definition of earned income would be considered unearned. However, certain forms of remuneration which are specifically excluded from the OASDI definition

of earnings are not to be considered as income. For example, contributions by an employer into a health insurance or retirement fund for his employees is a form of remuneration, but such contributions would not be considered income-earned or unearned-for the

individual employees.

The kinds of income which would be considered unearned include annuities, prizes and awards, proceeds of life insurance not needed for last illness and burial (with a maximum of \$1,500), gifts, support, inheritances, grants, dividends, interest payments, as well as benefits from all other public and private pension, disability, or unemployment

The distinction between earned and unearned income is significant because of the fact that special deductions would be applied to earned income which would not be applied to unearned income. (See provi-

sions described below.)

(7) Exclusions from income: All income, earned or unearned, in cash or in kind, would be deducted dollar for dollar from family benefits otherwise payable unless it is specifically excluded under the

following provisions:

First, your committee's bill would provide, subject to such limitations as the Secretary may prescribe, for exclusion of the earned income of a child who is regularly attending school. Existing law, in addition to excluding the earned income of a child who is a full-time student, also excludes the earned income of a part-time student with a less than full-time job. Your committee continues to believe that special treatment of earnings of students is warranted so that these earnings may help to finance school attendance and offer tangible rewards that encourage work habits.

Second, in determining income there would be excluded uncarned income of \$60 or less a quarter and (in addition) earned income of \$30 or less a quarter, provided that such earned and unearned income is received infrequently or irregularly. Your committee believes that this provision would facilitate administration by making it unnecessary to adjust benefits every time an individual received a small cash gift or earned a few dollars from an occasional babysitting or similar job. Your committee believes that it is reasonable to provide a higher exemption, \$60, for unearned income than for earnings, since the bill contains additional provisions for the exclusion of earnings that are not covered by this provision. Even though certain earnings or income might not be counted against benefits under this provision, 'family members would be expected to report all income.

Third, your committee's bill would provide for the exclusion of an amount of earned income of a family member equal to all or part (subject to the limits described below) of the cost incurred in obtaining child care which is necessary for securing or continuing employment. The schedule under which the cost of child care would be deducted would be made consistent with the fee schedule established by both Secretaries for child care provided directly. The intent is that the effective cost of child care for all those entitled to it would vary according to income, but would be the same regardless of whether the participant was affected by the income disregard provision or had care provided directly. The Secretary of Labor could require a working mother enrolled under the Opportunities for Families program to purchase child care herself where it is available and then use the earnings disregard provision to pay for it. Child care costs which could be disregarded under this provision could not exceed the going rate in the community in order to avoid situations where the cost of care provided by friends and relatives would be inflated. Your committee believes that, since child care is frequently costly, failure to exclude the cost of this care from income in determining the amount of the assistance payment might well create a disincentive, if not a total barrier, to employment on the part of some mothers. Under other provisions in the bill the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare and the Secretary of Labor are required to assure that child care is

available for mothers who are in training.

Your committee's bill would also provide a limit for the combined total earned income exclusion for a family with respect to these three items—student earnings, irregular earnings and child care costs—of \$2,000 for a family of up to four members, with an increase of \$200 for each additional family member up to an absolute limit of \$3,000. This provision would serve to control exclusions and thereby prevent situations under which families with very high incomes could be found eligible for some payments, because several of the income exclusions apply to several family members. For example, without such a limitation a family of four including 3 students, each having part-time earnings of \$40 a week, could qualify for assistance even if its total annual income exceeded \$10,000.

Fourth, the bill would encourage work by disregarding certain amounts and proportions of earned income. Under present AFDC programs, each State is required to exclude, in determining the amount of assistance payable to an eligible family, the first \$30 of its total earned income each month plus one-third of earnings above that \$30. (This exclusion does not apply in determining a family's initial eligibility.) The \$30 and one-third exclusion is made in addition to other exclusions such as those for child care and other work ex-

penses, and the earnings of children in school.

Your committee's bill would eliminate the open-ended work expense exclusion and, in its place, would increase the flat earnings exclusion by \$30 per month so that on an annual basis the amount of earnings excluded from consideration would be \$720 plus one-third of earnings above \$720. This exclusion would apply to that portion of the family's earnings remaining after the exclusions allowable for child care,

student earnings, and irregular income.

Thus, your committee's bill allows recipients to keep, in addition to their assistance payments, an amount of earnings designed to meet the costs of going to work plus certain additional amounts which will make it financially advantageous for family members to seek, obtain, and remain in employment. At the same time, the bill eliminates the situation under present law in which exclusion can be piled upon exclusion, with virtually no limit, with the result that families with very high incomes can still qualify for welfare payments.

The bill also makes the earned income exclusions applicable in determining initial eligibility for benefits. This corrects an inequitable situation under present law in which families with the same income and

resources are treated differently.

Fifth, your committee's bill would provide that other assistance (not including veterans' pensions) provided on a basis of need by a public or private agency (a private agency or organization being described as one that is exempt from taxation under Section 501(c)(3) or (4) of the Internal Revenue Code) would have no effect on the amount of the

family assistance payment. Your committee believes that this policy is necessary in order to permit efforts on behalf of the poor by private organizations and by State and local governments, including Indian tribes. Supplemental payments made by a State or local government could not undermine the earnings disregard provisions if such payments are to be disregarded under this provision.

Counting veterans payments against the benefits continues a long-standing practice in welfare, and thus does not interfere with the

veteran program's benefit structure.

Sixth, the bill would exclude from income the \$30 per month allowances provided by the Secretary of Labor (and up to \$30 a month training allowances which could be provided by the State also if it wished) to individuals undergoing training. If the benefits were reduced on account of receipt of these allowances, their purpose, which is to provide an incentive for training, would be nullified. The \$30 training incentive allowances for individuals undergoing vocational rehabilitation would also be excluded. Allowances provided for transportation and other expenses in connection with rehabilitation and training would also be exempt.

Seventh, the bill would exclude from consideration as income any portion of a grant, scholarship, or fellowship received for use in paying the costs of tuition and fees at any educational institution. Any portion of such payments which are intended for general living expenses, how-

ever, would be included as uncarned income.

Eighth, the bill would provide for the exclusion of home produce of a family used by the household for its own consumption. This provision is necessary to avoid the administrative difficulties of determining the value of such home produce. There is generally very little economic advantage resulting from home produce raised and consumed at home.

Ninth, one-third of support and alimony payments would be excluded from income. Your committee believes that a family would have little incentive to assist in obtaining support from an absent parent if

all such income were counted to reduce assistance payments.

Tenth, the bill would provide for the exclusion from income of amounts received for furnishing foster care to an unrelated child placed in the home by a licensed or approved child care or child placement agency. Your committee believes that by excluding such amounts a possible disincentive for a family getting assistance to act as a foster family would be avoided. Moreover, it would seem unfair to reduce the benefit of low income families simply because they provide homes for foster children.

The following examples illustrate how earned and unearned income would be taken into account in specific situations (annual amounts are used):

## Family A

Mother, two small children, one son aged 19 in college—total of four. All income received for the year was:

1. Two cash gifts, \$25 each, at Christmas and the beginning of the school year in September, from a relative.

Part-time carnings by the son, totaling \$900 for the year.
 \$900 support payments for the children from the divorced father.

# Determination of family payment

1. The gifts and the student earnings would be excluded under the bill.

2. One-third, or \$300 of the child support payment would be

excluded from income, leaving \$600.

3. The family payment of \$2,400 would be reduced by \$600; the family would receive \$1,800 in assistance payments for the year and its total income would be \$3,650.

Family B

Mother, father, six children—total of 8. All income received for the year was:

1. Father worked part-time for 6 months, with earnings of \$600.
2. Father in vocational training course provided by Department of Labor—paid \$30 training allowance for six months.

3. Two older children-not students-earned \$2,730.

# Determination of family payment

1. The earnings of the father and children would be combined. The total of \$3,330 would be reduced by \$720, and one-third, leaving a balance of \$1,740 in countable income.

2. The father's training allowance would be excluded from

income.

3. The family payment of \$3,600 would be reduced by \$1,740; this eight-member family would receive \$1,860 in assistance payments for the year and its total dollar income from all sources would be \$5,370.

(8) Period for determination of eligibility for and amount of benefits: Your committee gave careful consideration to the choice of an appropriate period for determining eligibility for and amount of benefits, because the particular system chosen has implications for both

equitable treatment of families and for total program costs.

The bill would provide for the use of a calendar quarter accounting and benefit period rather than a shorter period, such as a month, or a longer period, such as a year. One important advantage of the quarterly accounting period is that it would facilitate verification of earnings through use of social security records, since social security earnings are reported on a quarterly basis. Records of monthly earnings are not available from either the Social Security Administration or the Internal Revenue Service. Consideration was given to the use of an annual accounting period but it was decided that this approach would not be sufficiently responsive to changes in earnings levels; in particular, a change to high earnings resulting from a fultime job would not be reflected in decreased benefits for a substantial period of time.

Your committee's bill provides that a family's eligibility for benefits, and the amount of its benefits, would be tentatively determined for each calendar quarter on the basis of the best estimates of income for that quarter and income received in the most recent three quarters. Monthly benefits would be paid during the quarter in most cases based on these estimates. The estimates could be modified as circumstances change; i.e., family members start or stop work, or the com-

position of the family changes. Changes in current monthly payment rates would be made to reflect changes in estimates. Actual benefits would be determined after the end of the quarter on the basis of income actually received in that quarter and income from the previous three quarters.

Whenever an application for family assistance payments is made, the applicant would be required to furnish information and estimates of all income for the past three calendar quarters. He would also furnish the best available estimate of income for the current calendar quarter which the Secretary would take into account in making the payment for the quarter. For both entitlement and payment purposes, an application filed on any day of the month would be deemed effective with the first day of such month.

When a family has no non-excluded income (hereafter called countable income) during the current quarter and the three prior quarters, it will be entitled to its maximum quarterly benefit in the current quarter. If the family did have countable income in the current quarter (but none in the prior three quarters), the maximum allowable quarterly benefit would be reduced by that amount.

For example, Family A (4 people) has no income in the past three quarters, and none estimated in the current quarter. It will be paid a

Federal benefit of \$600 for the current quarter.

Family B (4 people) has no countable income in the past three quarters, but has earnings of \$780 in the current quarter. After applying income disregards (\$720 per year, or \$180 per quarter, plus one-third) to the \$780, the family has \$400 in countable income. That \$400 is subtracted from the maximum benefit of \$600, giving the family a benefit of \$200 in the current quarter. The total gross income of the family for the quarter would be:

Actual gross earnings	\$780 200
<del>-</del>	
Total dollar income	980

Family C (4 people) has no income in the past three quarters, but has earnings of \$1,305 in the current quarter, \$750 of which is countable, after exclusions. The family will not be entitled to any Federal benefit for the current quarter since countable income—\$750—

exceeds the maximum benefit payable (\$600).

Although accounting under your committee's bill is on a quarterly basis, families with irregular incomes because of seasonal employment or other factors cannot get payments for periods of low income if their annual incomes are high. When countable income in any of the three prior quarters exceeds the maximum quarterly benefit for the family for the quarter involved and has not been previously used to offset benefits, such excess must be added to non-excluded earnings in the current quarter and the total is then applied to reduce benefits in the current quarter. The excess from the current quarter is counted first, then the most recent quarter and so on.

For example, Family D (4 people) had no income in the earlier two of the preceding three quarters, but did have countable income of \$750 in the immediately preceding quarter. Since \$750 exceeds the maximum quarterly benefit of \$600 for that quarter by \$150, the excess of \$150 is carried forward to the current quarter. The family has no income in the current quarter, so its maximum possible benefit of \$600 is reduced by the \$150 carryover and it gets a \$450 payment.

Family E (4 people) had \$600 of countable income in the third preceding quarter, \$1,100 in the second preceding quarter, \$300 in the immediately preceding quarter and no income at all in the current quarter. With a family of 4, \$600 represents the amount of countable earnings that would exactly offset any assistance payment in each quarter. Thus, the \$600 countable earnings in the third preceding quarter would result in no "carryover." The \$1,100 in the second preceding quarter results in a carryover of \$500 (the \$600 benefit amount is subtracted from the \$1,100 income amount). In the first preceding quarter, \$300 of the \$500 carry-over from the second quarter is applied to eliminate benefit payments (the \$300 is added to the \$300 in countable income in the first preceding quarter). This leaves \$200 which now is applied to the current quarter. The family's benefit of \$600 in the current quarter is, therefore, reduced by \$200 and it receives \$400.

Generally, the results of these provisions are to treat families which have seasonal employment the same as those with the same total of income spread evenly over the year and also to have benefits paid

over a year fluctuate with variations in income.

Your committee carefully studied alternative approaches for determining the family benefit. The above system is believed to be an easily understood, easily applied, and conservative method. It provides an even-handed approach to various family situations: the ones where the worker is just going into employment, just leaving employment, or has very irregular or seasonal employment. It is conservative in that a 4-quarter period is taken into account in all cases and, thus the possibility of scheduling the receipt of income or contriving an earnings pattern would yield no advantage. It is completely compatible with the method of estimating the cost of the family programs.

Once a family becomes eligible for assistance, it will be expected to keep and make available documentary evidence of its quarterly income. At the time of initial application, however, the family may not have such evidence for the preceding quarters. In such cases, the income for those quarters will be determined by the Secretary on the

basis of the best evidence that is available.

A family receiving assistance will be required to report immediately any change in income or family composition which materially affects eligibility or benefit amounts. When notices of such changes are submitted to the Secretary, a revised determination of eligibility and benefit amounts would be made at once.

Any overpayment or underpayment of benefits resulting from the above rules will be reflected as soon as administratively feasible in future benefit payments or other action, such as a request for refund.

Each family receiving benefits will also be required to submit a report on income and family status within 30 days after each quarter. This report will usually be sent by mail and will include information needed to determine eligibility and final benefit amounts for the quarter. If the report were not received within 30 days, assistance payments would be stopped until the report was received. (A late report would not, however, result in the permanent loss of benefits.)

In order to assure complete and prompt reporting of events which would change benefits during a calendar quarter, the willful failure to report such changes without good cause would result in a penalty of \$25 to be assessed for the first such failure, \$50 for the second, and \$100 for the third or subsequent failures. These penalties follow the

same kind of provisions in title II for cash social security benefits except that the penalties are in specific dollar amounts rather than monthly benefits.

In summary, these provisions should enable the Secretary to establish an effective system for determining entitlement to family assistance payments, for computing quarterly benefits, and for helping to

assure the integrity of the program.

(9) Resources: Under present law there is a wide variation in the manner in which resources, such as a person's home, are treated under State public assistance programs. Many States exclude the home as a resource while others consider the home only if its value exceeds a specified amount. Household goods and personal effects are generally excluded under present programs. Your committee believes that a family's home, household goods, and personal effects, of reasonable value, as well as other property which is essential to a family's means of self-support, should not be considered resources and the bill so provides. Since one of the purposes of the bill is to help families take their place as productive members of society, it seems appropriate to avoid disincentives to home ownership and to the accumulation of some personal effects.

The bill provides for the Secretary to establish by regulation reasonable limits on the value of the home, household goods, and personal effects that may be excluded. While generally following presently permitted practices, these regulations would permit the Secretary to deal with those situations wherein a family might seek to evade the resources limitation by converting otherwise includable assets into another form which is excludable. It would also permit the counting of items of substantial value, such as expensive jewelry. These regulations would, in general, follow present rules in the AFDC program but would not necessarily be as liberal as those now in existence where the Secretary finds existing provisions not to be consistent with the purposes of the bill. However, it would not be expected that every family's personal effects would be evaluated. Thus, where there is no reason to believe that such effects include anything of substantial value, the necessity to evaluate would be avoided. Statements on this point would be required of applicants for benefits.

The exclusion of resources essential to a family's means of self-support, such as an automobile needed for purposes of employment, the tools of a tradesman, or the machinery of a farmer is, of course, also important from the standpoint of the objective of strengthening the family's capacity for self-support. Your committee believes that where income producing property is not used as part of a trade or business, the value of such property should be excluded from the resources limitation only to the extent it is producing a reasonable return and the bill so provides. The exclusion would be based on a fixed percentage return, to be set forth in the regulations of the Secretary, in order to permit adjustments for changing economic conditions. Property not used in the operation of a trade or business and which does not provide a reasonable return should clearly be included as resources.

Where a family has only a very limited amount of life insurance, such as might be designed to meet the immediate expenses which would be incurred in the event of death, it is inappropriate to look

upon such insurance as a resource available for family support. This is not, however, the case with respect to more extensive insurance holdings, which may have a substantial cash surrender or loan value. Accordingly, the bill provides that insurance policies will not be considered if all policies held by the family have a total value of \$1,500 or less per person. If the face value of the family's insurance policies exceeds this amount, the cash value of the policies will be considered in determining whether the family's resources exceed the overall \$1,500 limit.

Under the bill, property not excluded from resources would be subject to the \$1,500 limitation on resources. Families with resources which are readily convertible will be expected to dispose of resources above the \$1,500 limitation before they are considered eligible for assistance payments. Proceeds from the disposal of such resources would, of course, be expected to be used by the family for their support and counted as income, which would be considered in determining

family eligibility for assistance and the payment amount.

The Secretary's regulations would be written so as to avoid the possibility that assets could be turned into real or personal property which would be excluded. For example, a substantial prize would have to be used to meet current expenses rather than converted into personal property. The disposal of certain other types of assets, such as buildings or land, would often require some time. Your committee's bill, therefore, would authorize the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to prescribe time limits governing the disposition of various kinds of property and to make conditional assistance payments during the time allotted for the disposal of the property in question. Income received from the disposition of resources would be considered to have been received during the period when the family was receiving conditional assistance payments, and the family would be obliged to repay the resulting overpayments out of the proceeds of the disposition, subject to the conditions set forth in the provisions of the bill governing overpayments.

Your committee expects strict application of the law, particularly where families which apply for assistance have real property other than the residence. For example, if a family which owns the home and lot where it resides also owns a 40-acre tract of land, valued at \$25,000, that tract should be sold and the proceeds used for the family's support before the family would be eligible for assistance. The Secretary would have discretion, as indicated above, in determining whether satisfactory efforts are made to dispose of property and in providing conditional

assistance payments during the period of sale.

(b) Meaning of family and child.—(1). Meaning of family: The presence of a child in the household would be the key to the definition of a family. When a family meets the income and resources tests, payments under the plan would be made for all members who are related by blood, marriage, or adoption, as long as they are living in the same residence and as long as at least one family member is under age 18, or under 22 if regularly attending school, and not married.

The bill would require that at least one child be in the care of or dependent upon another family member in order to qualify the family

for benefits.

Your committee expects the Secretary to be alert to situations where families might deliberately split into two groups (residing, for example, in nearby apartments) in order to obtain higher benefits under the plan. The committee intends, where the Secretary finds that this has been done for such a purpose, that he rule that only one "place of residence" is involved for the family and make payments as though

both groups were members of one household.

Although generally family members must be living in the same place of residence in order to qualify as a family for benefit purposes, the bill provides that a parent (or the spouse of a parent) who is temporarily away from home for the purpose of engaging in or seeking employment (including military service) or self-employment, would nevertheless be considered to be living in the home where the child resides. Your committee believes that it is clearly reasonable to consider such an individual as a family member and to consider any income he may have as income to the family. If such a provision were not included, temporary absence from the home could disqualify the parent as a family member, with the result that the absent individual's income would not automatically be considered income to the family. Moreover, without this provision a child who is temporarily left with a non-relative by a parent who is away working or seeking work would be ineligible for benefits until the parent returned.

As indicated earlier, if the family head is an undergraduate or graduate student regularly attending school full-time, that family does

not qualify under the program.

Only families living in the United States would be eligible. At least one of the members must be a U.S. citizen or an alien lawfully admitted for permanent residence. Benefits would not be paid on behalf of any member of a family for any month in which he is outside the United States.

(2) Meaning of child: The bill defines a child as an individual who is under age 18 or under age 22 and a student regularly attending school who is neither married nor the head of the household. Your committee wants to make clear that an unborn child would not be included in the definition of a child. This will preclude the practice, now used in the AFDC program in some States, of finding that an unborn child does meet the definition, thereby establishing a "family"

even before the child is born.

- (3) Determination of family relationships: Under your committee's bill determinations of relationships will be based on State law. This conforms to the general practice presently followed under public assistance programs, social security, and veterans' programs. The Secretary would have the authority to determine which State's law would be governing in particular cases in which a conflict of law arises. The Secretary would also have the authority to determine which of two laws of the same State would be most appropriate in determining the relationships in a particular family. The Secretary could not elect the law of one jurisdiction, the District of Columbia, for example, and apply that law to individuals who reside in other States.
- (4) Income and resources of noncontributing individual: Your committee's bill would exclude from consideration, in determining eligibility for and the amount of benefits, the income and resources of any individual which are not available to the rest of the family. An individual in the household whose income and resources are not so available would not be considered a family member and the benefit amount payable to the family would be computed without counting

him. However, this rule would not apply to parents (or their spouses) living in the same household since their income and resources should ordinarily be available to the family and since the exclusion of their income or resources might easily lead to abuses of the system. For example, if income were not imputed in the case of the father or stepfather who is living in the same household with the children, it would be extremely difficult to prove that the father or stepfather were actually contributing to the support and maintenance of the children if he should allege that he was not. Thus, under the bill the income and resources of a step-parent living in the household would in every case be included in determining a family's eligibility for benefits.

(5) Recipients of assistance to the aged, blind, and disabled ineligible: Your committee's bill continues the usual rule against payment of benefits under more than one public assistance plan by excluding from benefits under the family programs any individual who elects to receive aid under title XX, Assistance for the Aged, Blind, and Disabled. Under your committee's bill, such an individual and

his income and resources would not be counted.

(c) Payments and procedures.—The new assistance programs for families—the Opportunities for Familes program and the Family Assistance Plan-which are established by your committee's bill will be much more tightly administered than the current AFDC program. For one thing, there will be more rigid identification and program validation techniques. For example, documentation of elements of eligiblity will be required, and social security numbers and records will be utilized. The establishment of an effective Federal administrative mechanism will help to achieve tighter administration of the assistance programs. It is also necessary, however, to provide the Federal administering agency with the tools it needs to do the kind of job expected, and these tools are provided in the procedural sections of your committee's bill.

(1) Payment of benefits: It is the intent of your committee that payments would ordinarily be made (after determination of eligibility and registration for manpower training, and employment) to the head of the family on a monthly basis. To take account of diverse family situations and to facilitate administration, however, a provision in the bill would allow the Secretary to make payments or partial payments to other members of the family, or to other interested per-

sons, or to an agency.

Where it appears that the interests of a family or family member (especially a child in such a family) would be best served thereby, your committee's bill provides that payments would be made to an agency or to a person other than a family member, who is interested in or

concerned with the family's welfare.

If it appeared to the Secretary that the family's inability to manage funds would very likely continue indefinitely, he would attempt to secure the appointment of a legal guardian. Families protesting the protective payee action would be given an opportunity for a hearing. When a family member is considered able to manage the payments, there would be a return to regular payment status.

Payments under this provision could be made either as vendor payments to a person furnishing goods, services, or items to the family, or as payments to an interested and responsible relative. The family payment might be paid part to a family, part to a vendor, part to an interested individual, or a combination of any of these.

Your committee is aware that many State and local governments operate programs of general assistance which receive no Federal funds and which are designed to meet situations of need not covered by federally financed programs. Similarly, many nongovernmental agencies provide various types of aid to individuals and families on an emergency basis where governmental assistance is not available. These local and private efforts to meet extraordinary and individualized instances of need will form an important complement to the new Federal welfare programs which attempt to meet need in its more predictable and chronic forms. Your committee is, therefore, concerned that cases of mismanagement of the Federal assistance benefits be promptly identified and corrected so that the limited resources of local governments and private charitable agencies will not have to bear the unwarranted burden of duplicating Federal payments which have been misused. To prevent this from happening, local and private agencies which find instances of misuse of benefits should report such findings to the Secretary, who would, on the basis of such reports or any other information he may have indicating misuse of benefits, be required to make an investigation of each such case to determine whether the appointment of a representative payee or other action was appropriate.

In another section of the bill, the Secretary would also be directed to notify appropriate Federal, State, or local officials of information dealing with neglect, abuse, exploitation, or improper care or custody

of children.

Your committee's bill would also authorize administering offices to make emergency cash assistance payments in amounts not exceeding \$100 where it has been determined that (1) a family requires such emergency cash assistance to meet current needs until the first regular assistance check arrives, and (2) such family is presumably eligible for assistance on the basis of all readily available evidence. Any such emergency payment made to a family would be considered as an advance to be deducted from the first regular check. If the family is found not to be eligible for benefits, the advance would constitute a recoverable overpayment.

To facilitate administration in situations where the family would, because of income, be eligible for a payment of less than \$10 per month (less than \$30 per quarter), no payment would be made, although family eligibility for manpower and other services would be retained. Also, in order to facilitate payment processes, your committee's bill would permit establishment of ranges of income—that is, permit use of income brackets—within which a single benefit amount would apply. This would also permit rounding of payment amounts to the

nearest dollar.

(2) Overpayments and underpayments: Your committee's bill would permit adjustments on account of overpayments or underpayments to be made by modifying future benefits of the family or by recovery from any family member. The bill, however, would preclude recovery of overpayments where the family is without fault and recovery would either defeat the purpose of the program or be against equity and good conscience or (because of the small amount involved) impede efficient and effective administration. Narrow bands of about \$5 would be employed in establishing adjustment tables so that a minimum of administrative process might be involved, yet maintain equity in the overall adjustment procedures.

Your committee intends that in determining whether an individual is without fault, the Secretary would consider that individual's age, education, and physical and mental condition. An individual would not be found to be without fault if an incorrect payment which was made to him or on his behalf resulted from his statement which he knew or should have known to be incorrect or from his failure to furnish information which he knew or should have known to be material, or from his acceptance of a payment which he either knew or

could have been expected to know was incorrect.

(3) Hearings and review: Your committee's bill requires that there be notice and opportunity for hearings for any individual who disagrees with a determination with respect to eligibility for payments or the amount of the payments. The individual would have to request the hearing within 30 days. Decisions would be rendered within 90 days following a properly submitted request for a hearing. If payments during the hearing process were continued, they would be considered overpayments if the Secretary's initial determination were sustained. Final determinations of the Secretary would be subject to judicial review in the Federal district courts. However, determinations as to the facts which the Secretary makes after a hearing provided by him would be conclusive and not subject to judicial review.

Your committee recognizes that many qualified persons who would be capable of hearing issues that arise under the family programs may not meet the specific requirements for appointment as hearings examiners under the Administrative Procedure Act, but might be a good source of examiners to hear issues arising under the family programs. Therefore, under your committee's bill, the Secretary would establish the requirements to be used in selecting examiners. Although the examiners would not be selected under the conditions set forth in the Administrative Procedure Act, full hearings would otherwise be conducted in accordance with the requirements of that Act, which include, for example, the rights to submit evidence, to cross examine witnesses, to be heard by an impartial examiner, and to a decision

based on the hearing record.

Where an individual who has requested a hearing is represented before the Secretary by an attorney, the provisions of the cash social security programs would be applicable except that there would be no withholding of attorney fees from such individual's benefits. Your committee believes that to withhold such fees would be contrary to

the purpose of the programs.

Also, the protective rules and regulations on representation of claimants that apply to the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance program would be applied to the program.

(4) Prohibition of assignments: In order to assure that benefits go to the named payee, these payments would not be subject to assign-

ment or to attachment or garnishment.

(5) Applications and furnishing information: To enable the Secretary to obtain the information needed to determine eligibility or payment amount, your committee's bill would authorize the Secretary to require that individuals file applications, furnish evidence, and report events and changes that might affect eligibility or payment amounts.

(6) Biennial reapplication: Your committee is especially concerned about families that remain on assistance rolls for many years. The

new program would assess, better than has been possible before, the family situation that requires a family to receive assistance payments for as long as two years. Thus, the bill would require that each such family file a new application, which would be given thorough study in order to verify the continued eligibility of the family and to determine what measures might be taken to prevent that family's continued dependency. In addition, the information developed about this group of families may form the basis for useful studies and an-

alyses of the problems of the long-term poor.

(7) Furnishing of information by other agencies: In determining eligibility and the amount of payments under your committee's bill, the Secretary would verify the information on income and other information given by the claimant. The Social Security Administration has direct access to reports about earnings from employment and self-employment covered by social security. If a recipient has income other than from earnings covered by social security, information from another source would be required in order to verify income reported by the claimant. The Treasury Department would be able to furnish data from income tax returns. Information on certain benefits and payments would be obtained from the Social Security Administration and from other Federal agencies such as the Railroad Retirement Board and the Veterans' Administration. In order to assure the availability of such information on income and other matters, your committee's bill would require the head of any Federal agency to provide information needed by the Secretary to verify factors affecting eligibility or payment amount.

(d) Methods of determining eligibility for Federal programs.—As indicated earlier, your committee is absolutely convinced that a key element in welfare reform is the establishment of an effective administrative mechanism. Described here is the way the family benefit provisions would be administered under agreements and understandings between your committee and the two Departments

concerned:

(1) Use of social security number: The social security number will be used to identify every recipient. Each family member will be so identified and those not having a social security number will be issued one at the time a benefit claim is filed. The social security number of one family member will be used as the primary control number for the family's claim with all other family member numbers cross-referred to this key number on all appropriate records. The proposed record system will be based on these control numbers and all of the data in the claims process will be retrievable and controlled in this manner.

The bill would also impose a penalty for furnishing false information in order to obtain a social security number. This, together with many other controls and checks in the social security number issuance system, is intended to prevent anyone from obtaining benefits through the use of multiple social security account numbers issued on the basis of false information. This process would eliminate almost completely what your committee believes may be a not uncommon situation today—a family receiving more than one benefit at the same time.

For example, in order to minimize the possibility that a person could use a social security number obtained on the basis of false information, positive identification in the form of a birth certificate or, when none is available, other acceptable and convincing documents or evidence, for

all family members would be required upon applications for assistance payments. The Social Security Administration, which is responsible for issuing and maintaining social security numbers and files, would then set up the necessary procedures to assure that an individual is identified with all social security numbers issued to him, so that all earnings of family members would be known. The Social Security Administration would also take whatever action it finds necessary to assure that every person would have a social security number by the time he reaches an age when he may have earnings.

The establishment of these procedures and controls will add to the administrative costs of the Social Security Administration. Your committee recognizes this and also intends that no part of the costs involved be chargeable to the trust funds administered by the Social Security Administration. Such costs are to be provided as part of the regular appropriations for administration of the family programs.

An integral part of the system will be the ability to verify earnings and benefit information received from a recipient, as well as to avoid duplicate payments. Thus, as new cases enter the system, account numbers of all family members will be cross-checked for prior claims history to make certain that no member is receiving assistance payments under another case. At the same time, the information supplied by the family will be used to see if the whereabouts of a deserting parent can be determined from the records of the Social Security Administration. The use of the social security number will also permit the information concerning a family's earnings and other income to be checked against the Social Security Administration's earnings and benefit files, as well as the files of the Railroad Retirement Board, Veterans Administration, Internal Revenue Service, Civil Service Commission, and State employment service. It is expected that subsequent regular periodic checks against these data files will be made.

Your committee is aware that little information exists about the extent of compliance with social security tax reporting provisions in the areas of domestic employment, farm employment, and casual labor. The only study which has been done is almost a decade old, and the results of that study showed extensive non-compliance with the domestic reporting requirements where the earnings per quarter were low but still above the \$50-a-quarter requirement for tax reporting purposes. Since the social security earnings records will be relied upon to verify the earnings of beneficiaries under these programs, your committee expects the Treasury Department and the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare to take immediate steps to determine the extent of non-compliance with the present social security tax reporting provisions in these employment areas and to take whatever steps are necessary to assure compliance. Increased reporting of taxable earnings for social security purposes will have not only the effect of improving social security earnings records as a check on earnings under the assistance programs, but will also improve the income position of these families as the families become eligible for for social security benefits.

(2) Interviews: As part of the application process (which would ordinarily take place after a preliminary determination of whether the family has an employable member), the interviewer will personally advise each individual applying on behalf of the family of the benefits provided under the law, the conditions of eligibility and factors affecting continuing eligibility, benefit rates, terminating events and

reporting requirements with respect to each eligible family member. He would also advise of the right to a fair hearing and judicial review of determinations, and would remind the applicant of the penalties for making false statements to obtain a benefit. (Application forms will also carry a prominent statement explaining those penalties). Finally, all applicants will be informed that their case may be subject to a full and complete investigation of all aspects of their claims. In those areas where a large number of those who apply cannot speak English it is expected that interviewers speaking other languages would be used, and that forms and information pamphlets would be available in other languages. These practices would follow those now used by the Social Security Administration.

If the interview raises questions regarding the accuracy of statements on the application, a field investigation to verify allegations would be conducted prior to authorizing benefits. Such investigations would also be made when a history of non-reported income or non-

cooperation of the family shows up in prior case records.

(3) Validation and review control programs: The possibility or probability of a validation check as explained in the interview will be a deterrent to program abuse. Validation will be performed under a continuing eligibility control program. It is expected that such an eligibility control program will consist of complete verification of a scientifically selected sample of applications. The verification would involve checking every element of eligibility in great detail. For example, each birth certificate would be checked against the public record it purports to represent. Earnings would be checked directly with employers, and so on. In addition, the Secretary would validate certain eligibility items on each application as experience demonstrated to be necessary. The verification and review would be performed by specifically trained employees operating out of a separate eligibility control unit.

(e) Penalties for fraud.—Your committee believes that for the new Federal programs the penalties for fraud should be the same as those provided under the social security program since the considerations that lead to provision of such penalties under social security would be equally relevant. Accordingly the pertinent sections dealing with fraud under the social security program are repeated in the bill and applied to the new programs. Your committee believes strongly that every person attempting by unlawful means to obtain payments not due him under the plan, or otherwise violating any of the penal provisions of the Social Security Act should be prosecuted vigorously as a threat to an effective program. The significance of this requirement goes beyond the potential costs of pursuing the prosecution; prosecutions should not be dropped because the amount of money involved is small or the cost of prosecution high. It is much more important that the public confidence in the integrity of the program be maintained.

(f) Obligations of parents.—(1) Financial obligation of deserting parent: One of the major causes of increases in the number of AFDC families is parental desertion. To discourage abandonment of families, your committee's bill provides that an individual who has deserted or abandoned his spouse, child, or children shall owe a monetary obligation to the United States equal to the total amount of assistance benefits paid to the spouse and children during the period of desertion or abandonment. The liability of a deserting parent would be reduced by the amount of any payment he made to his family during the period of

desertion. In those cases in which a court has issued an order for the support and maintenance of the deserted spouse or children, the obligations of the deserting parent would be limited to the amount specified

by the court order.

To the extent these amounts are not collected directly from the individual involved, the amount due the United States under these provisions could be collected from any amounts otherwise due the deserting parent by any officer or agency of the United States or under any Federal program without time limit.

The individual applicant for assistance benefits must, of course, cooperate to the fullest extent possible in establishing eligibility. In this connection, an individual applicant will be expected to cooperate in every possible way in assisting the authorities to identify and locate

a deserting parent.

Recipients will also be expected to attempt to obtain support payments due from absent parents. The administering agency should insist that recipient families obtain court orders providing for reasonable support payments, but your committee does not expect that agency to go behind the court order in evaluating the adequacy of the

payments it directs.

Your committee feels very strongly about these provisions and expresses unequivocally its intent that all Federal and State enforcement machinery should cooperate to the fullest extent possible in implementing these provisions. These activities would be in addition to and coordinated with related activities on the part of the States under provisions in present law. The bill would also create more

Federal financial support for those activities.

(2) Penalty for interstate flight to avoid parental responsibilities: Your committee is very much aware of the fact that some families have become AFDC recipients because the father has deserted them, has moved to a different State, and has failed to furnish the financial support which he is legally obligated to give. Although the States have been able to trace inissing parents in many cases and frequently to require some financial contribution, your committee believes that specific statutory penalties are required in order to reduce the number of instances where a parent deserts his family and moves to another State to avoid his support obligations.

Accordingly, the bill provides that a parent who travels across State lines to avoid his parental support responsibility shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. Upon conviction, he would be subject to a fine of up

to \$1,000 or a sentence of up to one year, or both.

The Department of Health, Education, and Welfare has informed your committee that it has taken steps to increase the effectiveness of activities to locate deserting parents by establishing an office within

the Department to coordinate all these activities.

(g) Reports of improper care or custody of children.—In order to assure that the children in eligible families are protected to the extent possible, the bill directs the Secretary to notify the appropriate Federal, State, or local authorities of any reports he obtains that indicates any child is being or has been subjected to neglect, abuse, exploitation or other improper care or custody.

Your committee is requiring the Secretary to record data on the number and types of such reports that he receives. He is to furnish the Congress with a summary in his annual report evaluating the results

achieved, including the number of reports and actions taken.

5. Administrative arrangements and agreements

(a) Departmental responsibilities.—Applicants for assistance under the Opportunities for Families program would be subject to the same basic eligibility requirements and would receive the same payments as those applying under the Family Assistance Plan. Since the Opportunities for Families program would be administered by the Department of Labor, while the Family Assistance Plan would be administered by the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare your committee recognizes the possibility that inequities might arise due to differing interpretations of law or determinations of fact. The bill, therefore, requires that both Secretaries would apply the same rules to arrive at uniform determinations of eligibility and assistance amounts under the two programs. In order to help accomplish this objective, the bill provides that the Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare would prescribe the necessary regulations, with the concurrence of the Secretary of Labor.

The provisions now in Title I of the Act with respect to confidentiality of records would apply to the information which the Secretaries would have in their possession as a result of administering this

program.

Your committee expects that contractual arrangements, authorized by the bill, between the Department of Labor and Health, Education, and Welfare would provide integrated administration of these two programs nationally. Field installations would perform the income maintenance functions with respect to all families in the Opportunities

for Families program and in the Family Assistance Plan.

(b) Administrative system for providing child care. -- Your committee's bill requires the Secretary of Labor and the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare, both directly (by contract or grant to public or private agencies) and through a system of prime grantees, to provide child care services to those who need them in order to participate in employment, training, or rehabilitation programs. The Secretaries would arrange for the provision of child care services to recipients for as long as they deem it necessary. However, your committee expects that reasonable limitations on the duration of services would be established. The Secretary of Labor is to utilize in the first order of priority child care services which have been developed by the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare before going eleswhere for such services. The Department of Labor is required to report regularly on any purchases or program development which it makes outside of the HEW delivery system. This is believed desirable because HEW has the resonsibility to take the lead role in the creation of appropriate child care facilities for participants in the Opportunities for Families program, and coordination of such services

The prime grantee for a geographical area is to be designated by the appropriate elected or appointed official or officials in that area, and would be required to demonstrate a capacity to work effectively with the manpower agency. Where appropriate, consideration should be given to the use of local school systems through arrangements with local educational agencies. Child care programs provided under the act would be of various kinds in order to meet the needs of different children. Both Secretaries are authorized to charge a fee for part or all of the cost of child care in accordance with the family's ability to

pay.

Your committee believes that these child care provisions would help overcome some of the obstacles which have previously inhibited the development and provision of adequate child care services. By providing for Federal initiative and responsibility and full Federal funding, your committee is making it possible for the Department of Labor and the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare to move expeditiously and quickly, without being required to wait for State or local organizations and agencies to provide matching programs and funding. Where, in the judgment of the Secretary, such matching funds are readily obtainable, however, he is directed to arrange for these to be included in the plans for a specific child care project.

Your committee also expects that each Department will use its grant and contract authority to make certain that the organizations and agencies involved will provide for a greater diversity in the kinds of child care than that which is currently available. For example, school age children could, in many cases, be most appropriately cared for in the school when care is needed in out-of-school hours. Each Secretary would be able to utilize public agencies, as well as private, non-profit and profitmaking agencies and organizations. Thus, both the public and private sectors would be used in the provision of child care. The same authority would be available to prime grantees in entering into agreements within their areas of responsibility.

Your committee believes that well-designed child care programs, in addition to benefiting parents by freeing them for work, can also be of great benefit to the child and can help to break the cycle of poverty. Child care for the pre-school child should not be care of low quality, but should include educational, health, nutritional, and other needed services whenever possible. However, the lack of child care of that level would not be good cause for failure to take training, if other adequate and acceptable care is available.

The bill authorizes funds for grants to any public or non-profit private agency, and contracts with any public or private agency or organization, for evaluation, research, training of personnel, technical assistance, or research or demonstration projects to determine more

effective methods of providing child care services.

In order to assure that child care resources will be developed as rapidly as possible, the bill provides that the child care provisions will be effective as soon as the bill is enacted into law. In order to give adequate notice of available funding, appropriations for one year, to pay the cost of the program during the next year, would be authorized. Also, to make the transition to advance funding, initial funding under your committee's bill would be provided for the year of enactment of this bill and for the next year.

In order to assure an appropriate division of responsibilities in the furnishing of child care by the two Departments, the following

understanding has been reached with your committee:

The Department of Health, Education, and Welfare has primary responsibility for—

(1) Child care planning, technical assistance, staff training, facilities construction and renovation and the creation of new child care facilities through provision for initial operating grants (for up to 24 months, or longer if the Secretary finds it necessary).

(2) Setting child care standards (with concurrence of the Department of Labor) and maintaining quality control.

(3) Coordinating activities with other child care and social services programs.

(4) Providing child care for vocational rehabilitation

participants.

The Department of Labor has primary responsibility for—

(1) Arrangement for and purchase of child care services from all available sources for participants in the Opportunities for Families

program.

- (2) According priority to the purchase of child care services in facilities developed by the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, before going elsewhere in the market, when use of these facilities is feasible and appropriate.
- (3) Providing close and direct link between the manpower agency and child care services.

(4) Training of mothers for jobs in child care facilities.

(5) Securing child care in private homes as feasible.

The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare is authorized to make grants to public or nonprofit private agencies for the cost of alteration, remodeling, or renovation of child care facilities, or where this is not feasible, the construction of new facilities. A sum of not more than \$50 million per year is authorized for construction, renovation, and remodeling of child care facilities.

The AFDC program would expire when the new Federal family programs become effective, July 1, 1972. Between the enactment date of this bill and July 1972, the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare is expected to use his authority and available child care funds to provide child care services for AFDC families in order to

maximize the effectiveness of the present WIN program.

(c) Family planning.—The Secretaries of Labor and HEW would be required to offer and pay for family planning services to families receiving benefits under the programs. Your committee included provisions in the 1967 public welfare amendments which required the States to offer family planning services to appropriate AFDC recipients. The bill would transfer this function to the Federal government. It is estimated that about 1% million women could receive family planning services under this provision. Many additional thousands of women in these families would receive family planning services under other programs, including the Maternal and Child Health provisions of Title V of the Social Security Act. In addition, States would still receive 75 percent Federal matching for family planning services on an open-end basis, as under present law.

Lack of knowledge of and access to family planning services has been a major factor contributing to unwanted pregnancies and larger, unmanageable families among the poor. The evidence is clear that these services are desired by recipients and that the information and medical assistance which is made available is utilized. Moreover, experience under the present WIN program shows that a substantial number of women drop out of training and employment due to un-

wanted pregnancies.

Your committee is very much aware that illegitimacy is a primary cause of dependency and accounts for much of the increase in the AFDC rolls in recent years. This provision is intended to help meet this problem.

(d) Establishment of local committees to evaluate effectiveness of family programs.—The bill provides that the Secretaries of Labor and Health, Education, and Welfare would jointly establish or designate local advisory committees throughout the United States to evaluate the effectiveness of the work and training program. At least one such committee would be established or designated in each State. Representatives of labor, business, and the general public would be involved, as well as public officials who are not directly involved in administering the family programs. Each committee would choose its own chairman.

Such committees would be expected to submit reports to the Secretaries at regular intervals. Reasonable expenses of committee members in the performance of committee functions would be paid by the Federal Government and appropriations are authorized for this purpose. No other payments of any sort would be made with respect

to these committees.

(e) Evaluation and research; reports by the Secretaries.—In order to provide for the kind of continuous close scrutiny which these new programs will require, your committee's bill provides that under both the Family Assistance Plan and the Opportunities for Families program, the respective Secretaries are authorized to conduct evaluation studies and conduct research and demonstration projects either directly or by contract. To provide flexibility, the Secretaries are authorized to waive normal program requirements in conducting research and demonstration projects. However, your committee does not intend that any project which waives such requirements would involve any substantial number of people. An annual report to the Congress and the President is required from each Secretary with respect to the program for which he is responsible. These reports should be complete, and should accurately and fully report on the status of the programs. Statistical measurements of the effectiveness of the programs in restoring families to employment and self-support and keeping them there should be comprehensive and continuously available.

Your committee is directing the Secretary of Labor, and the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare in conducting evaluation and demonstration projects, to include locations with special problems, such as high case loads or high unemployment. The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare is directed to include in his annual report detailed information on how child care money was spent and a description of the results of such expenditures. He is also to include in his annual reports information on the migration patterns of recipients of assistance programs among the States and the territories.

Each Secretary is authorized an appropriation of \$10 million for

these purposes.

(f) Transitional administrative provision.—Your committee is convinced that there should be Federal administration of the new programs. However, your committee recognizes the massiveness of such an undertaking and has provided for a period of transition from the present State and local administration of welfare payments. The bill authorizes the Secretaries of Health, Education, and Welfare and Labor to contract with States to administer the Federal assistance plans on behalf of the Federal government for such portions of fiscal year 1973 as would be necessary to provide an orderly transition to Federal administration of the programs. States would not, of course,

assist in the administration with respect to families where the father is working full time.

## F. GENERAL PROVISIONS AFFECTING NEW ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS

### 1. Effective dates

Generally, provisions relating to the new programs would be effective July 1, 1972. The child care provisions would become effective upon enactment of the bill. In order to provide additional time needed for planning payment mechanisms for families where the father is working full time, the provision affecting them would become effective January 1, 1973.

2. Prohibition against participation in food stamp program by people eligible for payments under family and adult assistance programs

Your committee's bill would amend the Food Stamp Act of 1964 by providing that families and adults eligible for benefits under the assistance programs in this bill would be excluded from participation

in the food stamp program.

Your committee also notes that the President has expressed his intention to transfer the food stamp program to the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. Your committee believes there is considerable merit in such a step because the residual segments of this program would be administered by the same Department which administers the cash payments under this bill.

3. Special provisions for Puerto Rico, Guam, and the Virgin Islands.

Your committee's bill includes special provisions for Puerto Rico, Guam, and the Virgin Islands under which the amount of family benefits, and all of the amounts used under the family plan (other than the \$720 amount of annual earnings to be disregarded and the \$30 incentive allowances for training or rehabilitation services) and the new title XX of the Social Security Act (aid to the aged, blind, and disabled), would be adjusted (but only downward) by the proportions which the per capita income of each is to the per capita income of the lowest per capita income State.

## 4. Determinations of medicaid eligibility.

Your committee's bill would permit the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to enter into an agreement with a State under which the Secretary would determine eligibility for medicaid. The agreement could include determinations for the medically indigent as well as for those eligible for payments under the Opportunities for Families program, Family Assistance Plan and Assistance for the Aged, Blind and Disabled. The State would be required to pay 50% of the additional administrative costs incurred by the Federal government in carrying out the agreement.

This provision would facilitate a State's election to turn ovre assistance programs to Federal administration and thereby reduce overall administrative costs. If there is Federal administration of payment programs under this bill without Federal administration of medicaid eligibility a State agency would then be required to duplicate much of the eligibility work already being carried on by the Federal agency. As a result, administrative costs would be high and the beneficiary would be inconvenienced by having to make two applications

at two different offices.

Under present law, States are required to cover under medicaid all people eligible for cash assistance payments. If this provision were carried over into the new assistance programs, many thousands of additional people, the great majority of whom would be people made newly eligible for assistance to the aged, blind, and disabled, would be required to be covered under medicaid. In view of the serious financial and other problems of many State medicaid programs, your committee decided not to require the States to cover the newly eligible but rather leave the decision up to each individual State. Your committee's bill would, therefore, provide that despite any other requirements of Title XIX, no State shall be required to provide medicaid coverage to any individual or family member in any month where such person would not have been eligible for such assistance under the State plan in effect on January 1, 1971.

## 5. American Samoa.

Your committee directs the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to study the desirability of providing assistance payments under the provisions of this bill to residents of American Samoa. The report of the study should be submitted to the Congress before July 1, 1972.

#### G. THE NEW ADMINISTRATIVE TASKS IN ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS

Your committee recognizes that within a very short time greatly increased administrative responsibilities necessary to carry out the new Federal programs established by this bill will be created for the Departments of Health, Education, and Welfare and Labor. Applications from the large number of people who will be newly eligible to receive payments under the Opportunities for Families program, the Family Assistance Plan, and Assistance for the Aged, Blind, and Disabled will have to be processed according to new eligibility rules. New procedures and new policies will have to be formulated, new computer programs designed, and new operating policies worked in for maximum efficiency. It is expected that the two Secretaries will make maximum use of existing resources within their Departments for planning and preparatory steps. Nevertheless, to handle this greatly increased workload, substantial staff will have to be hired and trained and substantial office space and computer time will have to be procured.

Under your committee's bill there would be approximately 19.4 million people potentially eligible for assistance under the Opportunities for Families program (to be administered by the Department of Labor) and the Family Assistance Plan (to be administered by the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare). Under the adult assistance categories, to be administered by the Social Security Administration, there will be about 6.2 million people eligible for payment, about 2.8 million of whom will be people who do not now receive public assistance but whose income is at or below the payment levels provided for under the committee bill. In order to handle new applications under the Federalized adult assistance categories, additional income and asset information will have to be gathered. Eligibility information maintained by the States for those now on the rolls will have to be adapted to meet the needs and requirements of a national program. In addition to the magnitude of the job to be

done, the difficulty of administration will be compounded by sensitive timing and coordination problems, especially the need for converting people now on State rolls to the national rolls and working

out phasing-in agreements with the States.

Your committee expects that other agencies within the Department of HEW, as well as governmental agencies outside the Department, would lend their support, to the extent consistent with the performance of the duties required to carry out their own programs, to assist the new agency in carrying out its responsibilities. For example, while the administration of the assistance programs for families would be completely separate and distinct from the social insurance programs, the committee would expect that the computer equipment and other capabilities of the Social Security Administration would be utilized in the administration of the family programs to the extent it is economical and efficient to do so. No part of the cost of rendering such service, however, would be chargeable to the trust funds administered by the Social Security Administration.

Your committee recognizes that the Department of Labor is being asked to take on a very large responsibility in the Opportunities for Families program. It believes the bill reported by your committee provides adequate authority and resources to carry out that responsibility. The Secretary of Labor should have whatever assistance is needed to get the job done. It is recognized that the Secretary will have a large job of securing and training staff to administer the program, and he should take whatever steps are necessary to assure a well-qualified staff. To emphasize its concern for proper staffing and effective administration, your committee's bill would authorize an Assistant Secretary specifically for the Opportunities for Families

program.

There will also be a large amount of preparatory work which will have to be performed before offices can be opened to serve registrants, and the Department of Labor will need startup funds in advance of the effective date of the bill. Your committee's bill contains an authorization for startup expenditures during the year preceding the

effective date of the new program.

It is the intent of your committee that a new agency be established in the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare to administer the Family Assistance Plan and to handle assistance payments for the Opportunities for Families program. The new agency would be responsible for establishing and managing local offices and would carry out other necessary functions with the exception of those which it may find appropriate to contract with other agencies to carry out.

The magnitude of the complex tasks to be completed during the limited time remaining before the programs go into operation requires substantial detailed planning. Immediately upon enactment there should be adequate funding available to permit the administering agency to quickly staff, secure, modify and equip hundreds of servicing offices and obtain the specialized equipment essential to implement the program nationally. This agency must also promptly distribute to the States funds for technical assistance and develop agreements to facilitate initial payments under revised standards and to smooth the transition to Federal administration.

In order to prepare for the very substantially increased workload involved in administering the assistance program for the adult categories, the Social Security Administration's manpower resources will have to be immediately expanded. Moreover, they will have to be increased for subsequent years, also, to insure a fully trained additional complement of staff when the program is in full operation.

# H. STATE SUPPLEMENTATION AND FISCAL RELIEF

Your committee believes that the basic Federal assistance benefits provided under its bill represent a realistic attempt to establish uniform national minimum standards of assistance in both the adult and family programs. These new Federal benefit levels are higher than the current levels of assistance in many States and, consequently, considerably lessen the wide variations from State to State which now exist and which are frequently criticized as inequitable and as contributing to the continuing shift of population to large urban areas. Your committee recognizes, however, that, because of the variations in living costs from one area to another and for other reasons, a complete uniformity of assistance levels throughout the nation is not presently attainable nor even necessarily desirable. In general, it is anticipated that those States which now provide assistance at a level below that of the new Federal programs of your committee's bill will find the Federal benefits adequate to meet the essential needs of the poor in their areas while those States which currently have higher payment levels would find it desirable to supplement the Federal assistance payments. Your committee's bill accordingly leaves each State, completely free either to provide no supplementation of Federal assistance payments or to supplement those payments to whatever extent it finds appropriate in view of the needs and resources of its citizens. Each State would also retain complete freedom to revise at any time its determination of whether and to what extent it would supplement the Federal payments.

While the States would have complete discretion as to how much supplementation, if any, should be provided, your committee's bill would not permit State supplemental payments to be structured in a manner which would erode the financial incentives to work which have been incorporated in the Federal programs. Accordingly, those portions of income which are not counted for purposes of reducing the Federal benefit payments would also not be counted for purposes

of reducing any State supplementation.

Although, as noted above, your committee recognizes that there may be a continuing need for State supplementation of the new Federal assistance programs, it would appear generally desirable that such supplementation be provided through the same agencies which would be established to operate the Federal programs. This would avoid unnecessary duplication of administrative costs, would permit the States to take advantage of the improved methods and procedures which the bill would require, and would tend to foster national uniformity in the operation of assistance programs. Your committee's bill accordingly not only permits the States to enter into agreements with the Secretaries of Labor and Health, Education and Welfare which provide for Federal administration of State supplemental payments, but encourages such agreements by not requiring the States to make any contribution toward the administrative costs arising out of these agreements and by guaranteeing the States that agree to Federal Administration against increases in the cost of making supplemental payments.

Your committee recognizes, however, that it is customary in many States to take into account, on a case-by-case basis, certain special needs of some families and of some aged, blind, or disabled people who are in unusual circumstances leading to financial needs that are not met under the general standards established by the States. In these instances, many State welfare programs provide a payment for the special need on top of the general need standard. For example, an aged, blind, or disabled person may be unable to provide housekeeping services for himself but not be in need of expensive care in a nursing home or extended care facility. In such a case he sometimes needs the services of a housekeeper who comes in on a regular basis to perform this task for pay; or, he may live in a private home where these services are provided for him for a specified amount of payment. In these circumstances the basic assistance standards of the State may not be high enough to meet his needs and the extra expense may be budgeted and met by the State as a "special need." Your committee believes, however, that the responsibility of the Federal Government in administering a State program of supplemental payments should generally be limited to administration of a basic uniform payment which does not vary according to such "special need" and is the same throughout the State and that any additional "special need" payments should be generally made directly by the State. Thus, a State could also pay an additional amount on an individual case-by-case basis to recompense the special needs cases. This additional payment would have no effect on either the amounts payable under the Federal program or the federally administered State uniform supplementation program.

If a State elects to enter into an agreement under which the Federal government administers its supplemental payments, it would have to abide by certain conditions. Supplementation would have to be provided to all individuals and families who were eligible under the basic Federal assistance programs except that, at the State's option, it could exclude families with both parents present and able to work (whether or not actually employed) or it could exclude families in which the father is actually employed full-time. In addition, the State supplementation would have to be provided under such terms and conditions as the Secretary finds necessary for effective and efficient administration. In general, it is anticipated that the same rules and regulations would be applied to both Federal and State supplemental payments with the only difference being the level of such payments. However, the Secretary could agree to a variation affecting only the State supplemental if he finds he can do so without materially increasing his costs of administration and if he finds the variation consistent with the objectives of the program and its efficient

administration.

Your committee's bill specifically authorizes the States to establish conditions of eligibility for State supplemental payments which have the effect of requiring applicants to reside within the State for some period prior to receiving such payments. The State would be able to incorporate such conditions into its agreement for Federal administration, and the Secretaries would be expected to carry out those conditions.

By entering into agreements for Federal administration of their supplemental payments, States will be losing all administrative control over the operation of those benefits. Your committee expects that the tight Federal administration and the substantial improvements in the work and training aspects of the new Federal benefit programs will bring the expansion of the caseloads under control. It must be recognized, however, that States may not fully share this confidence and also that patterns of State-to-State migration could result in an increase in caseloads for a given State even if national caseloads remain stable or decrease. Your committee's bill, therefore, includes a "hold harmless" provision designed to assure the States; that their welfare expenditures will not be increased over 1971 levels because of the effects of the provisions of this bill (and the administration of those provisions) on State supplemental payments which are administered by the Federal government. Increased costs arising from changes in the State program (other than an increase in benefit levels to compensate recipients for the loss of food stamp eligibility) would, however, be chargeable to the State.

Under this provision, each State could maintain the levels of payment in effect in January 1971, increased at the State's option by—

(1) an amount which adds to the income of recipients with income below the payment level the same amount it subtracts from recipients with incomes above the payment level. (To qualify for this option, a State which is not now paying 100 percent of its needs standard would choose one new amount for both its payment level and its standard. That point would be chosen so that calendar 1971 expenditures would exactly equal what they would have been had no change been made.)

(2) an amount equivalent to the bonus value of food stamps at that income level as in effect in January 1971 (whether or not

the food stamp program was then in effect in the State),

and be assured that its costs in making supplemental payments up to that level during any of the five fiscal years the program will be in effect, would not exceed its actual dollar outlays during calendar year

1971 under the present programs.

Since the purpose of this provision is to assure a State against rising costs in the situation where it has no direct control, the provision would apply only to a fiscal year during all of which the Federal government was administering the supplemental payment except during the first year where the Federal Government contracts with a State to temporarily administer the Federal programs in such State.

To summarize if a State should decide to supplement the Federal benefit to maintain its present payment levels, including an increase to take account of the loss of the value of the food stamp bonus, and decides to have the Federal government administer the supplemental payment, it will be assured (1) that its benefit costs during the five fiscal years 1973 through 1977 will be no higher than its benefit expenditures in calendar year 1971, and (2) that it will have a net saving for each of those years not less than an amount equal to the costs of administering the present program.

# I. AUTHORIZATION AND ALLOTMENT OF APPROPRIATIONS FOR SOCIAL SERVICES TO POOR PEOPLE

## 1. Limiting authorization for social services

The expenditures for social services under the public assistance programs, including medicaid, have been rising rapidly in the last few years. The fiscal year 1971 estimated cost for social services,

administration, and training is \$0.5 billion higher than 1970. Over half of this increase would be for social services.

Your committee has accepted in part the Administration's proposal to close the end of the social services appropriation in order to limit Federal payments to a reasonable level. The Federal Government would, however, continue to provide 75 percent matching funds to the States for child care and family planning services on an openended basis. Your committee has identified these services as those most likely to facilitate efforts to contain the growing welfare caseload.

While social services and staff training costs are now matched on a 75 percent basis, the Federal Government pays 50 percent of the costs of administering the assistance programs. It has been difficult to separate the administrative costs from the social services and

training costs.

The 1972 budget projections indicate that the Federal share of social services costs would increase almost twice as rapidly as the Federal share of administrative costs. Your committee agrees, therefore, that the arrangement provided in this bill should enable the Federal Government and the States to plan their social services system and expenditures better than has been possible heretofore. The Federalization of administration of each benefits, plus the delineation in the bill of social services in which the Federal government

will participate, should also help in meeting this objective.

Your committee's bill would authorize \$800 million for social service expenditures in fiscal year 1973 (excluding child care, family planning, and foster care and adoption services). This amount was established by taking into account present expenditures for the services that would be covered, the need for equalization funds, and reasonable growth rates from now until the 1973 fiscal year. Amounts for future years would be determined by the Congress on the basis of its evaluation of the needs and priorities for each year. The Secretary is instructed to allot these sums on the basis of (1) the State's share for services in the previous fiscal year; (2) \$50 million to help raise the services levels of States below the national average closer to the national average; and (3) the balance to be apportioned to each State according to its proportion of the recipients under the Opportunities for Families Program, the Family Assistance Plan, and the programs of assistance to the aged, blind, and disabled.

Your committee believes this equalization process to be necessary because it takes note of the fact that, for 1971, two States are expected to account for 37 percent of the total Federal expenditures for social

services.

## 2. Services for poor families

The specified services for families which would be paid for under the \$800 million authorization would be:

(a) services to unmarried women who are pregnant or already have children, for the purpose of arranging for prenatal and postnatal care of the mother and child, developing appropriate living arrangements for the child, and assisting the mother to complete school through the secondary level or secure training so that she may become self-sufficient;

(b) protective services for children who are (or are in danger

of) being abused, neglected, or exploited;

(c) homemaker services when the usual homemaker becomes ill or incapacitated or is otherwise unable to care for the children in the family, and services to educate appropriate family members about household and related financial management and matters pertaining to consumer protection.

(d) nutrition services;

(e) services to assist the needy families with children in dealing with problems of locating suitable housing arrangements and other problems of inadequate housing, and to educate them in practices of home management and maintenance;

(f) educational services, including assisting appropriate family

members in securing available adult basic education;

(g) emergency services made available in connection with a crisis or urgent need of the family. Fires, floods, accidents, desertions and illnesses can all be disasters to people which may lead to institutionalization and dependency unless immediate response can be brought to bear on the problem;

(h) services to assist appropriate family members to engage in

training or secure or retain employment;

- (i) informational and referral services for individuals in need of services from other agencies (such as the health, education, or vocational rehabilitation agency, or private social agencies) and follow-up activities to assure that individuals referred to and eligible for available services from such other agencies received such services; and
  - (j) services to meet problems of drug addiction and alcoholism.

# 3. Services for the aged, blind, and disabled

Specific services available to the adult categories, the aged, blind and disabled, would be:

(a) protective services for individuals who are (or are in danger of) being abused, neglected, or exploited, such as institutional services for those aged or physically or mentally disabled who are

unable to maintain their own place of residence;

(b) homemaker services, including education in household and related financial management and matters of consumer protection, and services to assist aged, blind, or disabled adults to remain in or return to their own homes or other residential situations and to avoid institutionalization or to assist in making appropriate living arrangements at the lowest cost in light of the care needed;

(c) nutrition services, including the provision, in appropriate cases, of adequate meals, and education in matters of nutrition

and the preparation of foods;

(d) services to assist individuals to deal with problems of locating suitable housing arrangements and other problems of inadequate housing, and to educate them in practices of home maintenance and management;

(e) emergency services made available in connection with a

crisis or urgent need of an individual;
(f) services to assist individuals to engage in training or

securing or retaining employment;

(g) informational and referral services for individuals in need of services from other agencies (such as the health, education, or vocational rehabilitation agency, or private social agencies) and follow-up activities to assure that individuals referred to and eligible for available services from such other agencies received such services; and

(h) services to meet problems of drug addiction and alcoholism.

## 4. Adoption and foster care services

Your committee's bill would authorize Federal assistance to States which provide foster care and adoption services which meet standards prescribed by the Secretary. In order to help assure the availability of adequate medical care to foster children, payments for foster care may include payments for medical care which is not otherwise available. Furthermore, your committee's bill defines adoption services broadly to include payments to adoptive parents in order to provide such parents with necessary assistance in meeting the medical or remedial needs of a child who is hard to place because of a physical or mental handicap. Your committee expects that such assistance will be based upon the financial ability of the family to meet the special needs of the hard-to-place child.

To provide adequate financing of these provisions, your committee's bill includes a separate authorization of \$150 million for fiscal year 1972, \$165 million for fiscal year 1973, \$180 million for 1974, \$200 million for 1975, and \$220 million for 1976 and later years, for foster care and adoption services. Appropriated funds would be allotted to States on the basis of the child population in each State.

## J. Public Assistance Amendments Affecting Existing Programs

Your committee believes that the new programs which would be established by the bill will set public welfare in this Nation on a new and constructive course. However, in order to meet the most urgent and immediate needs of the present program until the new programs are in place, your committee has included several changes in the AFDC program which States could put into effect immediately. A description of each of these provisions follows:

# 1. Optional modification for disregarding earnings under State plans for aid to familes with dependent children

Under the present law, the first \$30 plus one-third of the remainder, plus actual work expenses are deducted from monthly earnings before the benefit amount is reduced. These rules have resulted in an unrealistically high exemption for some AFDC recipients who work. For that reason, your committee is providing in this bill an immediate option that will be made available to the States. They would be able to use the same rules that are contained in the new family programs with respect to earnings disregards and family limitations.

The State could apply the rule of disregarding from earnings the first \$60 of monthly earnings and one-third of the remainder, plus the cost of child care (within limits set by regulations). The State could also apply the maximum dollar limits in the family programs on child care, student earnings, and irregular income: \$2,000 for a family up to four persons, with a \$200 increase in this limit up to a family maximum of \$3,000. As indicated earlier in the report, such action would result in substantially lowering the level of earnings at which some benefits are still payable. The provisions would be effective

on enactment.

2. Increase in reimbursement to States for costs of establishing paternity and locating and securing support from parents

Your committee believes that the Federal matching ratio for administrative costs incurred by the States in establishing paternity and locating and securing support from parents should be increased to 75 percent from the present rate of 50 percent. Under the new programs securing support payments will in substantial degree have the effect of first reducing Federal benefits otherwise payable. The States, therefore, would have less financial incentive than now to secure support from parents. The same reduced incentive may be expected to occur in States which would make no supplemental payment to a deserted family, or only a small payment. The proposed change would tend to offset the decrease in incentive by an increase in the Federal share. The change would be effective on enactment.

3. Increase in federal matching for costs of administration and manpower services in the work incentive program

Your committee has become aware that the work incentive program (W1N) has been adversely affected because of the requirement that State welfare agencies assume 20 percent of the costs of providing manpower services and administration. This need for State matching has led to lower program levels in some States, while others indicate either potential reductions or no expansion in existing levels. Since the WIN program will be in effect until June 30, 1972, it seems important to your committee to encourage the States to continue and to expand their present programs. Your committee's bill would therefore immediately increase from 80 percent to 90 percent the Federal share of administrative and manpower costs. This would reduce the amounts of money State welfare agencies will be required to raise. Under the provisions discussed earlier, the Federal government would assume 100 percent of the cost on July 1, 1972.

#### 4. Statewideness not required for social services

The present requirement that social services must be in effect in all political subdivisions of a State or furnished by all subdivisions if locally administered (to obtain Federal matching funds) can have the effect of substantially delaying the implementation of important programs. Your committee believes this requirement should be modified. The bill provides that the Secretary would be able to waive the statewideness requirement with respect to services. The provision would be effective on enactment.

#### 5. Additional remedies for State non-compliance

The Administration has asked your committee for legislation providing additional methods for obtaining State compliance under the grant programs of the Social Security Act. The Secretary may now withhold or terminate Federal matching funds when he has determined that a State is not complying with Federal law or regulation. Your committee's bill would provide that he may prescribe other methods to correct administrative non-compliance, including establishing a timetable for corrections and a requirement that persons incorrectly denied benefits by the State be paid retroactively. Federal matching would continue as long as the Secretary is assured that the timetable is being followed. In addition, the Secretary would be authorized, as a

means of securing compliance, to request the Attorney General to bring suit against the State. The provision would be effective on enactment.

# 6. Individual programs for family services not required

Your committee has been told by the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare that the existing requirement in law to have a social service program developed for each child and relative receiving aid to dependent children has been found in practice to be ineffective, unnecessary and cumbersome. Therefore, your committee's bill would eliminate the requirement. Your committee's bill would require, however, that all needed services will be planned and provided for individuals who need them in order to undertake employment or training until the new programs are in effect. The provision would be effective on enactment.

## 7. Separation of social services and cash assistance payments

Your committee's bill provides that each State would be required to submit by January 1, 1972, a plan which would provide for separating social service administration from cash benefits administration by June 30, 1972. The Secretary could authorize exceptions within a State where he finds it administratively not feasible to separate these functions, as, for example, in the case of very small offices.

The purpose of the provision is to assure that State welfare agencies would be in a position to assist in the administration of the new programs, as agents of the Federal Government, by having a benefit-paying organization separate from a social services organization by July 1, 1972.

# 8. Vendor payments for non-recurring items of special need under present AFCD program

States would be permitted to provide for non-recurring items of special need by means of vendor payments when the aggregate cost of such items covered by a specific payment is \$50.00 or more. The use of the vendor payment method will facilitate meeting non-recurring special needs such as the purchase of furniture and payment for other items essential to living. This provision would enable States to make vendor payments for reasons other than the inability to manage funds as is required under the protective or vendor payment provision of the Act when such payments would result in improved administration, It would avoid situations which have arisen under present law where substantial funds furnished to meet special needs were spent for some other purpose. This provision would permit the States to avoid such situations in the administration of existing welfare programs.

# 9. Protective and vendor payments under present AFDC program

In the 1967 social security amendments, Congress provided for a mechanism under which the States could make vendor and protective payments in cases where a family was found incapable of managing its own funds. In issuing regulations under this provision, the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare misinterpreted the clear meaning of the statute and the explanation of the statutory provision in the committee reports. HEW regulations permit use of this provision only if the entire payment to the family is paid as a vendor or protective payment; States are not permitted to pay part of the benefit to the family and part as a vendor payment or a protective payment

to a third party, although the statutory language and underlying Congressional intent expressed in the committee reports clearly permit such payments. Your Committee has secured the agreement of the Department to amend its regulations immediately to carry out the original intent of this statutory provision.

#### K. FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA ON NEW ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS

Assistance and related payments for adults and for families under the provisions in your committee's bill are estimated by the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare to cost \$14.9 billion in fiscal year 1973 as shown in Table 1. This is \$5.5 billion more than current law programs would cost. Of the new costs of your committee's bill:

-\$1.6 billion or 29% represents fiscal relief for State and local governments. (Thus, the true increased cost to the taxpayer is actually \$3.9 billion.)

-\$1.5 billion or 27% represents additional income for aged, blind

and disabled persons.

—\$1.7 billion or 31% represents an *investment* in assisting low income families to become economically independent. This additional money will purchase increased amounts of day care, training, public service jobs, family planning services and supportive services for families receiving cash assistance.

-\$.7 billion or 13% represents additional income for low income families. (not including the impact of public service jobs).

Five year projections of benefit costs are shown in table 2. The increase in cost from fiscal year 1973 to fiscal year 1974 is attributable to increases in the levels of benefits for persons in the adult categories and to the fact that fiscal year 1974 would include a full year of payments to families in which the father is in the home and working full time. The increase from fiscal year 1974 to fiscal year 1975 is due to an increase in benefits for the aged, blind, and disabled.

# 1. Fiscal relief to the States

Table 3 shows the Federal and non-Federal costs of maintenance payments by program and State as they are projected for the fiscal year 1973 under current law. Table 4 presents these costs as they would likely be for fiscal year 1973 under the provisions of your committee's bill. Table 5 presents the difference between these costs; it, represents the fiscal relief that the States will obtain (and, indirectly the cost to the Federal Government of providing that fiscal relief). Table 6 shows estimated savings for State and local governments under H.R. 1, including Federal payments under the provision which assures that a State will not have to exceed its calendar 1971 benefit payments, and savings due to Federal assumption of administrative costs. In all cases, the estimates assume that the States will maintain benefit levels at January 1971 levels, plus the value of food stamp bonuses and will opt for Federal administration of their supplemental programs, if any.

Table 1.—Potential fiscal year 1973 costs of Assistance provisions under H.R. 1 as reported by the House Committee on Ways and Means

[In billions of dollars]

		Federal		Sta	Net cost		
	Current law	H.R. 1	Net cost	Current law	H.R. 1	Net cost	to all governments
Payments to families	3. 9	<sup>2</sup> 5. 8 3	1. 9 3	3. 3	3. 1	2	1. 7 3
SubtotalPayments to adult categories	3. 9 2. 2	5. 5 4. 1	1. 6 1. 9	3. 3 1. 4	3. 1 1. 5	2 . 1	1. 4 2. 0
Cost of cash assistance Federal cost of "hold harmless" provision Food programs		9. 6 1. 1 1. 0		4. 7	4. 6 -1. 1	1 -1. 1	3. 4 — 1. 4
Cost of maintenance payments	8. 5	11. 7	3. 2	4. 7	3. 5	-1. 2	3 2. (
Child care Training Public service jobs Supportive services Administration	. 2	. 8 . 5 . 8 . 1 1. 1					. £ . 3 . 8 . 1
Cost of related and support activities	. 9	3. 3	2. 4	. 4		4	2. (
Total cost of programImpact on other programs		15. 0 1	5. 6 —, 1	5. 1	3. 5	-1.6	4. (
Grand total	9. 4	14. 9	5. 5	5. 1	3, 5	-1.6	3. 9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Assumes that the States, through supplemental programs, maintain benefit levels including the value of food stamp bonuses.
<sup>2</sup> Includes only 6 months of payments to families in which both parents are present,

neither is incapacitated, and the father is employed. The effective date for this provision is January 1, 1973.  $^{\circ}$  Net benefit increases to recipients.

Table 2.—Projected potential maintenance payments under H.R. 1 and under current law, fiscal years 1973-77

[In billions of dollars[

	1973	1974	1975	1976	1977
Under H.R. 1: 1					
Federal payments to familiesFederal payments to aged, blind, and	5, 5	6. 0	5. 9	5, 7	5. 6
disabled	4. 1	4. 6	5. 4	5. 4	5. 4
Food stamps	1. 0	. 8	. 8	. 8	. 9
Federal hold harmless payments to States_	1. 1	1. 0	. 8	. 8	. 9
Total, proposed Federal payments	11. 7	12, 4	12. 9	12. 7	12. 8
Non-Federal payments to families Non-Federal payments to aged, blind, and	3. 1	3. 2	3. 2	3. 3	3. 4
disabledHold harmless payments received from	1, 5	1. 2	. 9	. 9	. 9
Federal Government	-1.1	<b>-1.</b> 0	8	8	9
Total, proposed non-Federal pay- ments					
				in interior	zerz
Under current law: <sup>2</sup> Federal share of AFDC	5, 9	4. 1	4, 4 ,	4. 6	4, 9
disabled	2, 2	2, 2	2. 3	2. 3	2. 4
Food stamps		$\frac{2}{2}, \frac{2}{5}$	2. 6	2. 7	2. 8
Total, current Federal payments	8. 5	8, 8	9. 3	9. 6	10. 1
Non-Federal share of AFDC	3, 3	3, 5	3. 7	3. 9	4. 1
Non-Federal share of aid to aged, blind, and disabled	1. 4	1. 5	1. 5	1. 5	1. 6
Total, current non-Federal pay- ments.	4. 7	5. 0	5, 2	5. 4	5. 7

 $<sup>^1</sup>$  Projected benefit payments if all eligibles participate.  $^2$  Projected benefit payments to actual recipients.

21(

Table 3.—Estimated fiscal year 1973 Federal and non-Federal costs of maintenance payments by State and program (existing law)

[In millions]

			(						
	Cor	mbined progra	ms		lult program	s	Far	nily program	s
State	Total	Federal	Non-Federal	Total	Γederal	Non-Federal	Total	Federal	Non-Federal
Alabama		130. 9	35. 9	120. 2	94. 4	25. 8	46. 6	36. 5	10. 1
Alaska		5. 2	11. 4	5. 6	1. 7	3. 9	11. 0	3. 5	7. 5
Arizona		36. 3	26. 8	21. 5	15. 7	5. 8	<sup>1</sup> 41. 6	<sup>1</sup> 20. 6	<sup>1</sup> 21. 0
Arkansas	. 83. 9	66. 9	17. 0	61. 4	49. 0	12. 4	22. 5	17. 9	4. 6
California	. 2, 196. 4	1, 098. 2	1, 098. 2	962. 4	481. 2	481. 2	1, 234. 0	617. 0	617. 0
Colorado	110. 2	63. 5	46. 7	46. 5	26. 8	19. 7	63, 7	36. 7	27. <b>0</b>
Connecticut	124. 2	62. 2	62. 0	25. 9	13. 0	12. 9	98. 3	49. 2	49. <b>1</b>
Delaware	19. 1	11. 1	8. 0	5. 7	3. 1	2. 6	13. 4	8. 0	5. 4
District of Columbia	86. 2	43. 2	43. 0	20. 8	10. 4	10. 4	65. 4	32. 8	32. 6
Florida	326. 4	152. 9	173. 5	92. 7	57. 3	35. 4	1 233. 7	<sup>1</sup> 95. 6	<sup>1</sup> 138. 1
Georgia	214. 8	164. 7	50. 1	97. 2	74. 9	22. 3	117. 6	89. 8	27. 8
Hawaii	42.5	21. 6	20. 9	7. 1	3. 6	3. 5	35. 4	18. 0	17. 4
[daho	23, 2	16. 0	7. 2	6. 4	4. 4	2. 0	16. 8	11. 6	5. 2
[llinois	535. 9	268. 0	267. 9	115. 9	58. 0	57. 9	420. 0	210. 0	210. 0
Indiana		50. 8	31. 9	20. 8	14. 4	6. 4	61. 9	36. 4	25. 5
Iowa		62. 4	50. 6	46. 0	25. 4	20. 6	67. 0	37. 0	30. 0
Kansas		47. 8	35. 0	20. 0	11. 6	8. 4	62. 8	36. 2	26. 6
Kentucky		96. 6	30. 5	64. 8	49. 5	15. 3	62. 3	47. 1	15. 2
Louisiana	221. 0	162. 9	58. 1	136. 6	100. 8	35. 8	84. 4	62. 1	22. 3
Maine	53. 5	36. 6	16. 9	16. 6	11. 4	5. 2	36. 9	25. 2	11. 7
Maryland		65. 9	62. 2	27. 8	16. 9	10. 9	100. 3	49. 0	51.3
Massachusetts	447. 6	223. 8	223. 8	125. 8	62. 9	62. 9	321. 8	160. 9	160. 9
Michigan		202. 3	202. 3	79. 1	39. 5	39. 6	325. 5	162. 8	162. 7
Minnesota		95. 8	72. 3	40. 7	23. 2	17. 5	127. 4	72. 6	54. 8
Mississippi	98. 9	82. 1	16. 8	74. 7	62. 0	12. 7	24. 2	20. 1	4. 1

Missouri	185. 9	130. 4 10. 1	55. 5 5. 5	111. 9 5. 6	77. 3 3. 6	34. 6 2. 0	74. 0 10. 0	53. 1 6. 5	20. 9 3. 5
Montana	15. 6			11. 0	3. 0 7. 7	3. 3	22. 0	11. 7	10. 3
Nebraska Nevada	33. 0	19. 4	13. 6	3. 3	2. 2	3. 3 1. 1	7. 3	5. 0	2. 3
Nevada	10. 6	7. 2	3. 4		8. 0	5. <b>4</b>	20. 4	12. 1	8. 3
New Hampshire	33. 8	20. 1	13. 7	13. 4		22. 6	393. 4	196. 7	196. 7
New Jersey	438. 6	219. 3	219. 3	45. 2	22. 6		32. 0	23. 1	8. 9
New Mexico	49. 2	_34. 3	14. 9	17. 2	11. 2	6. 0		599. 0	599. 0
New York	1, 475. 8	737. 9	737. 9	277. 8	138. 9	138. 9	1, 198. 0		18. 3
North Carolina	138. 0	100. 1	<b>37.</b> 9	70. <u>5</u>	50. <u>9</u>	19. 6	67. 5	49. 2	
North Dakota	16. 0	11. 2	4.8	_6. <u>7</u>	. 4.7	2. 0	9. 3	6. 5	2. 8
Ohio	292. 1	163. 8	128. 3	77. 7	<b>53.</b> 2	24. <u>5</u>	214. 4	110. 6	103. 8
Oklahoma	151. 4	102. 8	<b>48</b> . <b>6</b>	103. 7	71. 0	32. 7	47. 7	31. 8	15. 9
Oregon	<b>88</b> : 2	50. 6	37. 6	19. 7	11. 3	8. 4	68. 5	39. 3	29. 2
Pennsylvania	680. 2	377. 0	303. 2	130. 4	<b>72.</b> 2	<b>58</b> . 2	<b>549</b> . <b>8</b>	304. 8	245. 0
Rhode Island	49. 1	24. 7	24. 4	6. 9	3. 5	3. 4	<b>42</b> . <b>2</b>	21. 2	21. 0
South Carolina	46. 7	37. 4	9. 3	21. 7	17. 0	4. 7	<b>25.</b> 0	20. 4	4. 6
South Dakota	22. 5	15, 7	6. 8	5. 6	3. 9	1. 7	16. 9	11. 8	5. 1
Tennessee	167. 1	126. 9	40. 2	73. 7	<b>56</b> . 1	17. 6	93. 4	70. 8	<b>22</b> . <b>6</b>
Texas	382. 9	285. 9	97. 0	215. 2	160. 4	<b>54</b> . 8	167. 7	125. 5	<b>42</b> . <b>2</b>
Utah	36. 8	25. 8	11. 0	8. 9	6. 2	2. 7	<b>27</b> . 9	19. 6	8. 3
Vermont	20. 5	13. 3	7. 2	7. 6	4. 9	2. 7	12. 9	8. 4	4. 5
Virginia	116. 7	74. 7	42. 0	24. 9	16. 0	8. 9	91. 8	<b>58. 7</b>	33. 1
Washington	159. 9	79. 9	80. 0	41. 9	20. 9	21. 0	118. 0	<b>59</b> . <b>0</b>	<b>59</b> . <b>0</b>
West Virginia	65. 3	45. 9	19. 4	24. 7	16. 7	8. 0	40. 6	29. 2	11. 4
Wisconsin	103. 7	58. 3	45. 4	34. 9	19. 6	15. 3	68. 8	38. 7	30. 1
		4. 6	3. 0	2. 0	1. 5	0. 5	5. <b>6</b>	3. 1	2. 5
Wyoming	1. 2	0. 7	0. 5	0. 3	$\vec{0}$ . $\vec{2}$	0. 1	0. 9	0. 5	0. 4
GuamPuerto Rico	= -	21. 5	21. 5	9. 3	4. 7	4. 6	33. 7	16. 8	16. 9
	1. 4	0. 5	0. 9	0. 3	0. i	0. 2	1. 1	0. 4	0. 7
Virgin Islands	1. 4	U. J							
Total	10, 769. 5	6, 067. 7	4, 701. 8	3, 614. 2	2, 177. 6	1, 436. 6	7, 155. 3	3, 890. 1	3, 265. 2

<sup>1</sup> These estimates incorporate a State expectation of major program change under current law.

212

Payments to families not Combined programs Adult programs Family programs Hold now covered harmless under present State Non-Federal Total Federal Federal Non-Federal Total Federal Non-Federal payment programs 1 Alabama.... 229. 6 31. 9 219. 5 22. 4 82. 9 124. 2 126. 5 19. 2 38. 3 87. 2 116. 4 3. 3 38. 3 103. 1 12. 7 53. 4 37. 0 10.1 15.9 Alaska.... 9. 5 8. 8 14.5 Arizona.... 91.7 44.6 8. 8 Arkansas..... 600. 4 135. 4 California.... 2, 406. 1 123. 5 159. 0 960. 2 1, 445. 9 1, 404. 0 74. 0 106. 5 1,002.1 506.9 803.6 Colorado\_\_\_\_ 35. 2 53. 3 6. 9 30. 9 88.3 49.5 52.5 37. 8 11. 7 35. 8 50. 5 50. 4 Connecticut.... 105.7 38.6 16.7 Delaware\_\_\_\_\_ District of Columbia\_\_\_\_\_ 21. 3 9. 0 7. 8 30. 2 13. 4 111.9 39. 2 136. 7 205. 0 50. 8 21.9 Florida 9. 2 8. 1 15. 0 6. 2 136.7 303.1 293.9 Georgia\_\_\_\_ 303. 1 146. 2 38. 4 19. 6 464. 1 79. 2 75. 0 343.1 138. 1 24. 5 1.1 Hawaii\_\_\_\_\_ 48. 4 30. 5 33. 4 24. 3 10.0 10.9 13.9 Idaho 12.9 Illinois.... 724. 4 125. 8 224. 5 27. 0 27. 1 24. 4 23. 5 4. 4 14. 5 499.9 260.3 133. 4 126.9 261.2 105.3 36.6 20.1 Indiana\_\_\_\_ 46. 6 55. 1 36. 9 107. 0 31.9 10.5 lowa.... 130. 1 107. 8 103.0 55. 1 47. 9 27.1 ... 14.7 10.6 Kansas.... 83. 4 168. 9 70.9 46. 5 Kentucky.... 192. 4 61. 9 137. 5 23.5 ..... 38.6 43.1 312. 4 50. 7 129. 5 349. 8 Louisiana 316.8 179.3 137. 5 Maine.... 22. 5 8. 0 26. 0 20. 2 33. 6 20. 2 33. 6 44. 9 121. 9 22. 4 95. 9 155. 5 542. 1 572. 2 224. 5 26.0 192.3 174.1 113.8 91.1 209.3 163. 2 212. 3 71. 7 332. 8 169.6 12.8 Michigan\_\_\_\_ 129. 9 84. 1 58. 3 30. 5 148. 2 398.1 214.0 30. 7 16. 3 39. 3 358. 2 145.9 55. 9 Minnesota.... 163.6 88. 8 148. 2 Mississippi....

60.0 ...

Table 4.—Fiscal year 1973 Federal and non-Federal costs of maintenance payments by State and program under H.R. 1 [In millions]

N
-

Missouri	229. 9	177. 4	<b>52</b> . 5	139. 0	101.8	37. 2	90. 9	59. 6	31.3	16.0	26. 5 2. 5
	19.6	15. 5	4. 1	6.9	6.9		12. 7	8.6	4.1		
Montana	55. 4	43, 2	12. 2	26. 3	15. 8	10.5	29. 1	12.6	16. 5	14. 8	7.9
Nebraska			3. 2	15. 2	9.6	5. 6	9. 5	7. 2	2, 3	4.7	. 6
Nevada	24. 7	21.5			7.0	12.6	22. 1	11.2	10.9	11.7	1.9
New Hampshire	41.7	29. 9	11.8	19.6			414.6	161.2	253. 0	137. 2	14. 4
New Jersey	555. 0	373. 6	181. 4	140.8	75. 2	65. 6			9.2	137.2	5. 2
New Mexico	75. 3	66. 1	9. 2	33. 5	33.5		41.8	32. 6		212.6	49. 1
	1, 801, 8	1, 138, 3	663. 5	545. 4	308. 3	237. 1	1, 256. 4	616. 4	640. 0	213. 6	
New York	237.6	226, 8	10.8	144. 2	144.2		93.4	82.6	10.8		<b>6</b> 0. 5
North Carolina			4.5	10.7	7.0	3.7	10.9	6. 2	4.7	3.9	4.3
North Dakota	21.6	17. 1			117. 9	5. 7	270. 5	204.6	65.9		37. 7
Ohio	394. 1	322. 5	71.6	123.6		3. í	62.1	48.3			23. 2
Oklahoma	174.9	158. 0	16. 9	112.8	109. 7	3. 1		56. 7	24.7		5.0
Oregon	116.7	92.0	24. 7	35. 3	35.3		81.4			124 0	39. 9
Pennsylvania	834. 3	569. 2	265. 1	243. 2	146. 5	96.7	591. 1	297.9	293. 2	124. 8	33.3
	74. 8	53. 9	20. 9	28. 3	18.9	9.4	46. 5	27.8	18. 7	7. 2	2.9
Rhode Island	122. 2	122. 2		77.6	77.6		44, 6	44.6			35. 4
South Carolina		26. 8	5, 4	13. 2	7. 4	5, 8	19.0	9, 2	9.8	10.2	5, 2
South Dakota	32. 2			133. 3			118.9	109. 9	9.0		46.4
Tennessee	252. 2	243. 2	9.0				232. 2	180. 9	C1 2		99. 8
Texas	497. 9	446. 6	51. 3	265. 7					0.0		2.6
Utah	48. 6	40.3	8. 3	15, 4	15.4		33. 2	24. 9		9. 3	1. 9
Varment	30.4	23. 9	6.5	16. 1	8. 0	8. 1	14. 3	6. 6	7.7		
Vermont	203. 6	168. 7	34. 9	96, 0	60. 7	35. 3	107. 6	62. 5	45. 1	45. 5	39. 3
Virginia		151.7	71.4	91.3	57. 9	33. 4	131.8	65. 6	66. 2	28. 2	7, 5
Washington	223. 1	131.7	2.9	21.0	21.0		61.0	58. 1	2.9		21. 2
West Virginia	82.0	79. 1			66.0		82. 1	60. 3	21 0		15.4
Wisconsin	138.0	116. 2	21. 8	55. 9			7. 3	4. 3	2 0	7	1. 0
Wyoming	10. 5	8.0	2, 5	3. 2	3. 0	. 2	7. 3	4. 3	. 3	• •	- 1
	1.6	1.3	. 3	.7			9	0	.3		93. 9
	129. 5	129.5		56. 0	56.0		73. 5	73.5			93. 9
Puerto Rico	2.6	2.6		. 7	.7		1.9	1.9			. 1
Virgin Islands	2. 0	2.0									
Total	13, 973. 0	10, 454. 2	3, 518. 8	5, 656. 2	4. 137. 3	1, 518. 9	8, 316. 8	5, 192. 0	3, 124. 8	1, 124. 9	1, 179. 4

<sup>1</sup> A full year effect is shown here, but these payments would be made for only 6 months of fiscal year 1973.

21

Table 5.—Net change in estimated 1973 Federal and non-Federal costs of maintenance payments resulting from provisions of H.R. 1, by State and program

(In millions)

· State	Combined programs			Adult programs			Family programs		
	Total	Federal	Non-Federal	Total	Federal	Non-Federal	Total	Federal	Non-Federa
ibama	62.8	88. 6	-25.8	6.3	22.0	-15.7	56. 5	66.6	-10.
ISKA.	15. 3	17. 2	-1.9	13.6	1.6	12.0	1.7	1. 1	
zona	28. 6	46. 6	-18.0	16. 8	22.6	-5. <b>8</b>	11.8	24. 0	-12.
Kånsas	40. 3	57. 3	<b>—17.</b> 0	25. 8	38. 2	-12.4	14.5	19. 1	-4.
TOTN   <b> </b>	209. 7	347. 7	-138.0	39. 7	25. 7	14. Ò	170.0	186.6	-16.
U 4UU	13. 3	24. 8	-11.5	3. 0	11.0	−8. ŏ	10.3	13. 8	-3.
IIIIGC(ICU(	34. 8	43. 5	-8.7	26. 6	3.7	22. 9	8. 2	1. 2	ž.
I&W4[6	9. 1	10. 2	-1. i	3.3	4. 7	-1.4	5. 8	5.4	•
trict of Columbia	25. 7	37. 8	<b>—12. 1</b>	18.4	19. 8	-i. i	7.3	18. 0	<b>—10</b> .
riga	113.4	277. 7	-164.3	44. 0	79. 4	-35.4	69. 4	198.3	-128.
orgia	136. 4	178.4	-42.0	107. 8	130. 1	-22.3	28.6	48. 3	-19.
Wall	5. 9	11.8	-5.9	2.9	5. 3	-2.4	3.0	6.5	-3.
III 9	7.3	8. 3	-1.0	4.5	2.9	1.6	2. 8	1.3	ĭ.
11015	188. 5	231.9	-43.4	144. 4	75.4	69.0	44. 1	51. 2	j
iiana	43.1	48.0	-4.9	25.8	26.6	8	17.3	10. 9	/. 6.
va	17. 1	40.6	-23.5	9. 1	29.7	-20.6	8.0	10.9	-2.
nsas	25. 0	35.6	-10.6	16. 9	25. 3	-20. 6 -8. 4	8.1	10.3	
ntucky	65. 3	72.3	-7.0	42.2	57.5	-15.3	23. 1	14.8	
11518112	95. 8	149. 5	-53.7	42.7	74.1	-31.4	53. 1	75. 4	22
ine	11.7	14.1	-2.4	3.6	8.8	-5. 2	8.0	-2. 8	10
	27.4	63.6	-36.2	5.8	16.7	-10.9	21.6	46.9	-25
ssacnusetts	94.5	126.0	-31.5	83. 5	32.6	-10. 9 50. 9	11.0	2.3	-23.
inigan	167.6	195. 8	-28.2	134.9	90.4	44.5	32.7	49.5	-16.
nnesota	56. 4	67. 8	-11.4	48.1	35. 1	13.0	8.3	49.3 9	9.
sissippi	109. 3	126. 1	-16. 8	73.5	86.2	-13.0 -12.7	5. 8	39.9	3.

Missouri Montana Nebraska Nevada New Hampshire New Jersey New Mexico New Morti Carolina North Dakota Ohio Oklahoma Oregon Pennsylvania Rhode Island South Carolina South Carolina South Dakota Tennessee Texas Utah Vermont Virginia Washington West Virginia Wisconsin Wyoming Guam Puerto Rico Virgin Islands	44. 0 4. 0 22. 4 11. 1 7. 9 116. 4 26. 1 326. 0 99. 6 102. 0 23. 5 28. 5 25. 7 75. 5 9. 7 115. 0 111. 8 9. 6 63. 2 16. 7 34. 3 2 . 9 63. 2	47. 0 5. 4 23. 8 9. 8 154. 3 31. 8 400. 4 126. 7 5. 9 158. 7 55. 2 41. 4 192. 2 29. 2 84. 8 116. 3 160. 7 14. 5 94. 0 71. 8 33. 2 57. 9 3. 6 108. 0 108. 0	-3.0 -1.4 -1.4 -1.9 -3.7 -3.7 -3.7 -3.7 -3.7 -3.7 -3.7 -3.7	27. 1 1. 3 15. 3 16. 2 95. 6 95. 6 16. 3 267. 7 4.0 45. 9 9. 1 15. 8 21. 4 55. 9 7. 6 59. 6 50. 5 8. 5 71. 1 49. 4 40. 7 46. 7	24. 5 3. 3 8. 1 7. 4 -1.0 52. 6 52. 3 169. 3 22. 3 64. 7 24. 3 15. 4 60. 5 77. 2 105. 3 9. 2 3. 17. 3 105. 4 105. 3 105.	2.6 -2.0 7.25 7.20 43.00 98.26 -1.78 -1.86 -4.16 -1.76.8 -1.76	16. 9 2. 7 7. 1 2. 2 1. 7 21. 2 9. 8 25. 8 25. 6 14. 4 12. 9 41. 3 19. 6 2. 1 25. 5 4. 3 19. 6 10. 8 11. 8 13. 8 13. 8 13. 8 20. 8 20	6. 5 2. 1 2. 2 2. 2 35. 1 17. 8 33. 3 94. 5 17. 4 94. 5 17. 4 94. 5 17. 4 95. 1 17. 8 18. 6 19. 1 19.	10. 4 6. 2 2. 6 56. 3 41. 0 -7. 5 1. 9 -37. 9 -2. 1 -4. 5 -4. 2 -2. 3 -4. 6 4. 7 -13. 6 9. 1
Totals	3, 203. 3	4, 386. 3	<b>—1, 183.</b> 0	2, 042. 1	1, 959. 8	82.3	1, 161. 9	1, 302. 3	-140.4

Table 6.—Estimated savings in welfare expenditures for State and local governments under H.R. 1, fiscal year 1973

[In millions of dollars]

	8t4	ate and local say	rings in welfa	re expenditures 1	
State	Total	Adult categories	Family category	Hold harm- less payment	Administra tive cost
Alabama	32. 4	15. 7			6. 6
Alaska	2. 5	<b>-12.0</b>	<b> 6</b>	14. 5	. 6
Arizona	21. 5	<b>5</b> . <b>8</b>			3. 5
Arkansas	19. 7	<b>12. 4</b>			2. 7
California	<b>234</b> . 9	<b>-14.</b> 0	16. 6	135. <b>4</b>	96. 9
Colorado	13. 3	8. 0	3. 5		1. 8
Connecticut	21. 3	<b>-22</b> . 9	-7.0	38. 6	12. 6
Delaware	1. 8	1. 4	4	. 1	. 7
District of Columbia	12. 6	1. 4			. 5
Florida	170. 3	35. <b>4</b>			6. 0
Georgia	51.8	22. 3			9. 8
Hawaii	7. 0	2. 4			1. 1 . 5
Idaho	1. 5	<b>-1.6</b>	-1.5	4. 1	18. 7
[llinois	62. 1	<b>-69.</b> 0	7. 1	105. 3	3. 5
Indiana	8. 6	. 8	-6.2	10. 5	
lowa	26. 7	20. 6	2, 9		3. 2
Kansas	14. 2	8. 4			3. 6 5. 6
Kentucky	12. 6	15. 3			3. 0 11. 7
Louisiana	<b>65. 4</b>	31. 4	22. 3		11. 7
Maine	3. 6	5. 2	-10.8		1. 2 5. 7
Maryland	41. 9	10. 9			12. 8
Massachusetts	44. 3	<b>-50.9</b>	-8.7	91. 1	17. 0
Michigan	45. 4	<b>-44</b> . 5	17. 0		3, 8
Minnesota	15. 2	-13.0	-9.2	33. 6	6. 5
Mississippi	23. 3	12. 7	4. 1	16. 0	9. 1
Missouri	12. 1	-2.6	- 10. <b>4</b>		1. 1
Montana	2. 5	2. 0 -7. 2	6 -6. 2	14. 8	î. 7
Nebraska	3. 1				. 9
Nevada	1. 1 2. 3	-4.3 $-7.2$	-2.6		. 4
New Hampshire		-43.0	- 56. 3		12. 2
New Jersey	50. 1 7. 3	6.0	- 30. 3 3		1. 6
New Mexico New York	188. 4	- 98. 2	-41.0		114. 0
North Carolina	31. 9	19. <b>6</b>	7. 5		4. 8
North Dakota	1. 0	-1.7	- i. š		. 7
Ohio	64. 0	18. 8	37. 9		7. 3
Oklahoma	38. 3	29. 6	2. 1		6. 6
Oregon	15. 9	8. 4	4. 5		3. 0
Pennsylvania	51. 3	-38.5	-48. 2	1 <b>24</b> . 8	13. 2
Rhode Island	6. 3	-6.0	2. 3	7. 2	2. 8
South Carolina	13. 8	4. 7	4. 6		4. 5
South Dakota	2. 5	-4.1	-4.7		1. 1
Tennessee	34. 2	17. 6	13. <del>6</del>		3. 0
Texas	57. 1	54. 8	<b>-9.</b> 1		11. <u>4</u>
Utah	3. 4	2. 7		9. 3	. 7
Vermont	1. 1	<b>-5.4</b>	-3.2	9. 3	. 4
Virginia	10. 4	<b> 26. 4</b>	— 12. U	<b>T</b> U. 17	3. 3
Washington	11. 4	-12.4	-7. 2	28. 2	2. 8
West Virginia	18. 3	8.0		<b>-</b>	1. 8 9. 7
Wisconsin	33. 3	15. 3	8. 3		9. 7
Wyoming	1. 2	. 3	<b>—.</b> 5		
Guam	. 2	. 1	. 1		4. 6
Puerto Rico	26. 1	4. 6 . 2	16. 9 . 7		. 2
Virgin Islands	1. 1				

i Estimates assume States maintain current benefit levels including food stamp benefits, and turn over program administration to the Federal agencies.

2 This estimate incorporates a State expectation of major program change under current law.

Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC) is the present welfare program with the most serious problems and the one in which by far the greatest growth has taken place. Your committee believes that many of the provisions contained in its bill will reduce the number of families which are eligible for assistance and slow down the rate of growth of those which are receiving assistance. The primary difference between the present AFDC program and the new Opportunities for Families program and Family Assistance Plan which are pertinent in comparing the costs of the present program and the proposed program are

(1) replacing a monthly with a quarterly accounting period with carryovers from 3 prior quarters;

(2) replacing splintered administration with an efficient national

system

(3) downward modifications in earnings disregards;

(4) replacing minimal efforts at training and job creation with

a much larger and more effective program.

Thus, it can be expected that State fiscal relief—the difference between the costs to the States of what welfare would cost under current law and what it will cost under your committee's bill—will be larger as each year passes.

## 2. Increased income for aged, blind, and disabled persons

Your committee's bill provides that benefits would be paid under the new Federal program to people who are aged, blind or disabled. In fiscal year 1973, the first year of the program, these benefits would be \$130 and \$195 a month, respectively, for single persons and couples with no income. In the second year benefits would rise to \$140 and \$200

and in the third year to \$150 and \$200.

Based on estimates furnished by the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, total payments under this new program would be \$4.1 billion in fiscal year 1973, \$4.6 billion in fiscal year 1974, and \$5.4 billion in fiscal year 1975. From then on, costs are unlikely to change significantly since increases in outside income (social security, private pensions, etc.) are likely to offset population growth. The Department estimates that the number of persons eligible for assistance under this new program will be 6.2 million in fiscal year 1973 6.6 million in fiscal

year 1974, and 7.1 million in fiscal year 1975.

The new Federal payments would replace the present Federal share of State payments under current law. They would also replace the State share—in part in some instances and entirely in others. This replacement determines the amount of fiscal relief a State can receive, with respect to adult assistance, assuming that benefits to recipients are not reduced. Many current recipients are assured of receiving additional income because the new Federal payment would exceed the old State payments. Many others would also receive additional income even if living in States where the present State payments exceed the new Federal payment. These States would be able to raise payments by the amount of food stamp bonus now available (even for recipients who are not participating in the food stamp program). They would be able to do this either out of their potential savings under the provisions which assure no increase in calendar year 1971 expenditures, they can make the food stamp adjustment at no cost. The estimates furnished by the Department assume that all States do adjust their payments to account for food stamp bonuses. Based on this assump-

tion, it is estimated that current recipients and persons made newly eligible will receive \$1.5 billion in additional net income (that is, in addition to present cash benefits and the bonus value of food stamps) because of the provisions in your committee's bill.

## 3. Investment in training, child care, public service jobs, and supportive services

Your committee's bill improves and provides for increases in programs for training, child care, public service jobs, family planning services, and supportive services. The amounts authorized for the first fiscal year of the program are set forth in the bill and are based on what the Administration has promised it will seek in the fiscal year 1973 budget. It is your committee's firm hope and belief that the effectiveness of these programs will justify increases in outlays in the future years. However, no year-to-year increases are shown in the cost estimates because your committee recognizes that the future expenditures in the programs will depend upon the Administration's ability to gear up to full operating levels as well as the effectiveness of each program.

## 4. Increased income for low income families with children

Your committee's bill provides for a Federal program which would pay direct payments to low income families with children. Federal payments under this program are intended to replace the present Federal share of payments in AFDC. In many instances, they would replace part or all of the current State share as well. Should States, where the present benefit level (including the value of the food stamp bonus) exceeds the new Federal benefit, decide to maintain these levels, they will be able to do so from savings generated directly by the Federal family payments or because of the protection of the provision for assuring States no increase in calendar year 1971 expenditures.

The new program would also make payments to families in which the father is present in the home and working full time. These families are not now eligible for any Federally shared assistance and thus the payments will represent increased income for them. The same is true for families with an unemployed father who live in States that do not maintain an AFDC-UF program. Since the effective date for payment to these families is January 1, 1973, fiscal year 1973 costs represent only six months of payments in this category. The Department estimates that payments in fiscal year 1973 will be \$300 million less because of this delay in effective dates.

The Department estimates that a total of 4 million families will receive \$700 million in additional income because of the provisions in this bill, assuming that the States elect to maintain benefit levels (including the value of the food stamp bonus). This estimate is for the first fiscal year and does not include the effect of public service jobs on family income.

## 5. Alternative benefit levels considered

Your committee also considered the basic elements affecting the cost and coverage of plans like those provided for in its bill. These elements are: (1) the amount of benefit provided to a family with no other income (the basic benefit level); (2) the rate at which this benefit level is reduced by earnings (the disregard formula); and (3) the level of family income at which it is no longer eligible for any benefit (the breakeven point). Any two of these elements determine the third. They thus also determine the cost of the plan and the

number of eligible families.

Raising the basic benefit level is consistent with the desire to provide more adequate support for those households who have no other means of support. Increasing it by \$100, however, and keeping other parts of the benefit structure the same, raises the breakeven point by \$150, increases the cost by over \$500 million per year and the number of eligible families by 300 thousand. The cost of such increases in general gets progressively higher; i.e. each additional \$100 in the basic benefit costs more than the preceding one. The reason for this effect is quite simple—there are more families with earnings in each higher \$100 interval. This effect would continue until the level of the breakeven point exceeds average family earnings for the whole Nation.

Raising the proportion of earnings which reduces benefits, sometimes called the marginal tax rate, thereby lowering the breakeven point, is consistent with the desire to reduce costs and prevent households with moderately higher incomes from becoming eligible for benefits. However, it reduces the positive financial incentives for work. Your committee's bill permits the first \$60 per month of earned income plus one-third of the remainder to be disregarded in determin-

ing a family's benefit.

Your committee believes that the provision allowing one-third of earned income in excess of the first \$60 to be disregarded will, in combination with the work requirements, provide the proper mix of incentives and obligations. Increasing the one-third figure to, say one-half, could increase the costs by over \$1.0 billion per year.

Table 7 shows the increases in direct Federal cost that would be associated with alternative benefit levels for the family programs.

Table 7.—Estimated gross Federal payments at different benefit levels, 1972

## Family program

	Gro Feden paymen (billion
Basic benefit level, family of 4:	
\$1,600	
\$2,000	5.
\$2,400	6.
\$3,000	10.
\$3,600	
\$4,400	

 $<sup>^1</sup>$  Estimates assume all provisions of H.R. 1 remain the same except for the illustrative variations in benefit levels.

# 6. Basis of the estimates

Your committee recognizes that projecting the costs of a brand new program poses many problems. It believes, however, that the Department developed its estimates on a sound basis. The following section describes the estimating methodology used. There is first a discussion of how the cost of direct Federal payments is estimated and projected over time. After that follows a discussion of how the impact of this new program on State fiscal relief is estimated and then projected over time. Both the procedures and assumptions employed by the Department should be kept in mind when the cost estimates are under consideration.

Earlier estimates of welfare reform costs used as the basic data source the special Survey of Economic Opportunity (SEO). The Current Population Survey developed by the Bureau of the Census for 1969 is now being used as the primary source for the development of cost estimates.

The value of using Bureau of Census survey data lies in the fact that each household in the sample, and the characteristics of the household, bear a distinct and definable relationship to the general population. Therefore, by knowing what effect any given income maintenance program would have on the sample, it is possible to determine the impact of the plan on the total population. Since the survey contains a wealth of information about each household, it is also possible to develop considerable information about the characteristics of the eligible population.

# 7. Methodology

(a) Family programs.—In the computation of the cost to the Federal Government and the benefit to families, each household in the sample is first identified to determine whether it is a family containing at least one child. Financial records for families with children are taken up one by one, and all computations on each family completed prior to moving to the next family. Results of each computation are recorded and the entries for one family added to those obtained from computations on the records of prior families. At the end of the process, the totals reflect the results of computations for all families.

The procedure for each unit is to: (1) determine whether the interview or family unit contains a child under 18 or a student under 22 and is categorically eligible for a benefit payment; (2) determine the size of the unit so that the benefit payment to the family if it had no income can be computed; (3) count that part of the family income which, under the proposed legislation, would reduce the basic benefit on a dollar for dollar basis; and (4) finally, deduct the countable income from the basic benefit to determine the actual benefit payment. Where countable income exceeds the basic benefit, the benefit is determined to be zero.

The actual benefit paid is the difference between the "basic benefit" (payment to a family with no other income) and a family's "countable income."

The total benefits computed in this way constitute the total, direct benefit costs of H.R. 1 as it pertains to families with children.

The latest available survey data is the Current Population Survey which reports on family and household status at the time of the interview (March 1969) and on family income for 1968. These data were projected forward to 1972 and 1976 by incorporating known growth rates in population and income (see Table 8). Since unemployment has increased since the time of the 1969 CPS, it is necessary to increase the estimate by \$200 million (based on a study by the Bureau of Labor Statistics). Another \$200 million must be added to account for payments in Puerto Rico, which is not included in the CPS.

Table 8.—Growth factors used in projecting CPS data for family program cost estimates

,	Percent in	crease
	White	Nonwhit
A. Annual population increases:		
Households with head 65 and over:		
Northeast	1.2	2.
North central	1.0	1.
South	1.6	2.
West	2. 5	3
Household with head under 65:		-
Northeast	1.1	1
North central.	iiò	i.
	1.5	;
South	2.3	2.
Annual income increases (percent):	£. J	5.
		6.3
Wage and salary income.		6.4
Rent, savings, and dividend income		6.3
Social security and pension income		D. 3

Because of the importance of the welfare reform proposals and the uncertainties involved in estimating costs of any new program, a cautious and conservative approach has been adopted. An example of this conservative approach is reflected in an adjustment made in the CPS to correct an apparent inconsistency between the survey data and actual program data. The amount of public assistance income reported in the survey is less than the actual dollars paid out as public assistance. Most professionals in the field believe that this is the result of interviewed families failing to report receipt of welfare income. Nonetheless, an adjustment was made in the data under the very unlikely possibility that the entire discrepancy is explained by a failure to include the appropriate number of public assistance recipients in the survey. This adjustment technique increases the estimated cost of the programs.

The estimated cost of your committee's proposals includes over \$2.2 billion in the first full year for training, day care and other supportive services. The only "savings" in assistance payments costs resulting from this investment that has been explicitly included in the estimates is the \$300 million savings from public service jobs. Obviously, there

are greater potential savings than this.

(b) Adult programs.—The two largest groups eligible for assistance under Title XX of your committee's bill are the aged and the disabled. The Department of Health, Education, and Welfare estimates that there will be 6.2 million aged, blind, and disabled people eligible for the new Federal assistance program in fiscal year 1973. Estimates of the number of disabled and the amount of benefits for which they would be eligible have been based on the Survey of the Disabled conducted by the Department in 1966. Estimates of the number of aged eligibles and their amount of benefit are produced through similar procedures as those used for the family program.

First, the aged population living outside institutions was assumed

First, the aged population living outside institutions was assumed to change between 1968 and 1972 in accordance with the pattern shown by Census Bureau projections. The number of married couple units was projected from 1968 to 1972 on the basis of the most recent Census projections of households and families. (The Social Security

Administration Actuary's estimate of population growth between July 1969 and July 1973 is about the same as that shown by the Census Bureau).

Within the population groups, it was assumed that the proportion of aged units with various types of nontransfer income—that is, wages and salaries, self-employment income, and property income—did not change between 1968 and 1972. For example, 43 percent of males aged 65 to 69 in 1968 had wages in 1968 and so it was assumed that 43 percent of those aged 65 to 69 in 1972 had wages in 1972. Similarly, 22 percent of males aged 70 to 74 had wages in 1968 and so it was assumed that 22 percent of males aged 70 to 74 in 1972 had wages. The general result was that one in four aged units received wages in both 1968 and 1972.

The wage and salary disbursements component of personal income is expected to increase by about 40 percent between 1968 and 1972 according to estimates prepared in connection with the 1972 Federal budget. Aggregate wage and salary disbursements to the aged population were assumed to increase at about the same rate as those to the total population. The increase in the total number of aged units receiving wages, from 3.8 million in 1968 to 4.0 million in 1972, accounted for part of the increase. The remainder was attributed to an increase in average wages, which amounted to 29 percent. Each aged unit with wages was assumed to have the same relative increase in wages—that is, the 1968 wage entry for each aged unit on the data tape was multiplied by 1.29 to simulate 1972 wages. The combined result of a larger number of units receiving larger wages was that aggregate wage payments to the aged rose from \$15 billion in 1968 to \$21 billion in 1972.

Similar procedures were followed for the other types of nontransfer income with the following results:

	1968	1972
Aggregate amount received by aged units (billions): Nonfarm_self-employment.	\$1.1	•1 4
Farm self-employment	3.1	3. 8
Property income.	9. 3	12.9
Number of aged units receiving (households in millions):		
Nonfarm self-employment	. 8	. 8
Property income.	6. 6	7. i

Public transfer income (other than public assistance) on the CPS data tape is entered in two components—the sum of unemployment compensation, workmen's compensation, government employee pensions, veterans' payments, and the sum of social security and railroad retirement. The first component—the item containing government employee pensions and so on—was estimated for 1972 in a manner similar to wages and salaries. The proportion receiving transfer payments was assumed to remain unchanged between 1968 and 1972 within sex and age group and the aggregate was increased on the basis of information contained in the 1972 budget document. The resulting factor applied to the transfer income of each aged unit with such income was 1.39.

The second component—social security and railroad retirement—was derived as follows. The proportion of aged units receiving social security and/or railroad retirement benefits in 1968 was about 83 percent according to the CPS data tape—about the same as the SSA Actuary's estimate of the proportion receiving social security benefits at that time. By the end of 1972 the SSA Actuary estimates that about 87 percent of all aged persons will be social security beneficiaries—an increase of about 1.8 million persons between 1968 and 1972. The CPS data were adjusted within each sex/age of head group to reflect the increased proportion estimated by the SSA Actuary. This was accomplished by increasing the weight of each unit on the data tape who reported receiving social security and/or railroad retirement benefits by the ratio of the number of beneficiaries in 1972 to the number in 1968 as estimated by the SSA Actuary. The weight of each nonbeneficiary was appropriately decreased. The result was an estimated 17.1 million aged persons receiving social security and/or railroad retirement benefits—an increase of 1.8 million over the 1968 figure.

The SSA Actuary estimates that the average benefit will increase about 45 percent between 1968 and 1972, reflecting three legislative increases of 15 percent, 10 percent, and 5 percent plus benefit increases due to the fact that new beneficiaries coming on the rolls have higher past earnings, on the average, than those going off the rolls. Finally, a special adjustment is introduced to account for the changes in widows'

benefits provided by your Committee's bill.

(c) Estimating State fiscal relief.—The data contained in the Current Population Survey are extremely useful for making aggregate, national estimates of the costs of cash assistance programs. However, because of the nature of the sampling procedures, the survey cannot be used as the basis for making individual State estimates. Nor can it be used to estimate the impact of the new, Federal program on State fiscal relief. A separate procedure was employed to accomplish this.

The States furnish the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare with estimates of the number of recipients and the amount of benefit payments they have projected for fiscal year 1972. By estimating what the Federal payments to these recipients would be under the new program, and subtracting that amount from the States' estimates of total payments under current law, the amount the States would have to pay to keep recipients at the same income can be determined. The estimate of the Federal payments is based on survey data for each of the individual States. Large sample, detailed surveys were taken in the Aid to Families with Dependent Children program in 1967 and in the Old Age Assistance program in 1965. (Smaller surveys have been taken more recently. They cannot be used on a State-by-State basis but are used to update the earlier surveys.) These surveys include data of family size and income by type of income which are the factors that determine what the Federal benefit to each household will be. It was assumed that the characteristics of the caseload would have remained the same since the survey, except for income which was increased in the same manner that was employed in adjusting the CPS data discussed above.

Since it was assumed that the States would make up the value of the food stamp bonus in their supplemental programs, a separate computation for this was necessary. The average food stamp bonus for participating public assistance recipients was estimated based on November 1970 actual program data. This average was applied to the entire estimated 1972 caseload to determine the amounts necessary to provide the value of the food stamp bonus to all recipients—both those who had been participating and those who had not.

The States' estimates of 1972 costs and caseloads and the Department's estimates of what Federal and supplemental payments would be if your committee's bill were in effect for 1972 formed the bench-

mark for projecting 1973 and later costs.

The following annual growth rates were used in the projections:

(in percent)

	Current law	H.R. I
Cases:	2 0	,
AgedBlind and disabled	5. 0 8. 0	2
Families	8. 0	3
Payments: Aged, blind, and disabled	2, 5	C
Families	6.0	i
Federal share	6.0	C

It was assumed that benefit levels would not change except as specified in your committee's bill. For both current and proposed aged programs, and for the proposed disabled program, it was assumed that income growth would offset population growth. In contrast, it was assumed (based on recent experience) that the disabled program, if left unchanged, would continue to grow. As mentioned earlier, it was assumed that the provisions contained in your committee's bill would

substantially reduce the growth rate in family cases.

Estimates of State savings assume that all States turn administration of any supplemental programs over to the Federal government and incur no administrative costs. These administrative cost savings were estimated by projecting forward current State costs at the rate that

wage and salary income is expected to grow. (6.3% per year)

Table 9.—Federal and non-Federal shares of maintenance payments by State under current law and under H.R. 1

	Maintenance pay current	yments under law	Maintenance payments under H.R. 11		
State	Percent Federal	Percent non-Federal	Percent Federal	Percent non-Federal	
Alabama	<b>78.</b> 5	21. 5	95. 6	4.	
Alaska	31. 4	68. 6	70. 2	29.	
Arizona	57. 6	42. 4	90. 4	9.	
Arkansas	79. 8	20. 2	100. 0	<i>3</i> .	
California	50. 0	50. 0	60. 1	39.	
Colorado	57. 6	42. 4	71. 5		
Connecticut	50. 1	49. 9		28.	
Delaware			66. 5	33.	
District of Calabia	58. 2	41. 8	<b>7</b> 5. 5	24.	
District of Columbia	50. 1	49. 9	72. 4	27.	
lorida	<b>47</b> . 1	<b>52.</b> 9	97. 9	2.	
Georgia	76. 7	23. 3	97. 7	2.	
Tawaii	50. 9	49. 1	69. 0	31.	
daho	68. 8	31. 2	79. 7	20.	
llinois	50. 0	50. 0	69. 0	31.	
ndiana	61. 4	38. 6	78. 5	21.	
owa	55. 2	44. 8	79. 2	20.	
Cansas	57. 7	42. 3	77. 4	22.	
Centucky	76. 0	24. 0	87. 8	12.	
ouisiana	73. 7	26. 3			
Maine			98. 6	1.	
Manife	68. 4	21. 6	77. 8	22.	
Maryland	<b>51</b> . 5	48. 5	83. 3	16.	
Massachusetts	50. 0	50. 0	<b>64</b> . 5	35.	
Michigan	<b>50.</b> 0	50. 0	69. 6	30.	
Minnesota	5 <b>7</b> . 0	43. 0	<b>72</b> . 9	27.	
Mississippi	83. 0	17. 0	100.0		
Missouri	70. 1	29. 9	77. 2	22.	
Montana	64. 4	35. 6	79. 1	20.	
Vebraska	58. 9	41. 1	78. 0	22.	
Vevada	67. 6	32. 4	87. 0	13.	
New Hampshire	59. <b>4</b>	40. 6	71. 7	28.	
New Jersey	50. 0	50. 0	67. 3	32.	
New Mexico	69. 6	30. 4	87. 8	32. 12.	
Jour Voels					
New York	50. 0	50. 0	63. 2	36.	
North Carolina	72. 5	27. 5	95. 5	4.	
lorth Dakota	69. 9	30. 1	79. 2	20.	
)hio	<b>56.</b> 2	43. 8	81. 8	18.	
klahoma	67. 9	32. 1	90. 3	9.	
regon	<b>57. 4</b>	42. 6	<b>7</b> 8. 8	21.	
Pennsylvania	<b>55. 4</b>	44. 6	<b>68</b> . <b>2</b>	31.	
Rhode Island	<b>50. 4</b>	49. 6	72. 1	27.	
South Carolina	80. 1	19. 9	100. 0		
South Dakota	69. 6	30. 4	83. 2	16.	
Cennessee	<b>75.</b> 9	24. 1	96. 4	3.	
exas	74. 7	25. 3	89. 7	10.	
Jtah	70. 3	29. 7	82. 9	17.	
ermont	65. 1	34. 9	78. 6	21.	
'irginia	64. 0	36. 0	82. 9	17.	
Vashington	50. 0	50. 0	68. 0	32.	
West Virginia	70. 2	29. 8	96. 5	3.	
Visconsin	56. 2	43. 8	84. 2	15.	
Wyoming	60. 3	39. 7	76. 2	23.	
Guam	58. 3	41. 7	81. 3	18.	
ucrto Rico	50. 1	49. 9	100. 0		
Virgin Islands	35. 7	64. 3			
/irgin Islands	აა. 1	Un. 3	100.0.		

<sup>1</sup> Does not include payments to families not now covered by present program.

Table 10.—Percentage distribution of Federal expenditures for maintenance payments by State under current law and under H.R. 1

	Percentage distribution of Federal mai tenance payments expenditures under-			
State	Current law	H.R. 1		
Alabama	2. 2	2. 3		
Alaska	_	. 2		
Arizona	_	. 8		
Arkansas		1. 3		
	-· <del>-</del>	12. 8		
California				
Colorado		. 8		
Connecticut		1. 0		
Delaware		. 2		
District of Columbia	. 7	. 7		
Florida		4. 1		
Georgia	2. 7	3. 4		
Hawaii	. 3	. 3		
[daho	. 3	. 2		
llinois	4. 4	4. 6		
ndiana	. 8	1. 0		
lowa		1. 0		
Kansas		. 8		
Kentucky		1. 8		
Louisiana		3. 1		
Maine	-• :	. 5		
Maryland.		1. 3		
Massachusetts		3. 1		
	7.1	3. 7		
Michigan Minnesote		1. 5		
Minnesota		2. 1		
Mississippi		1. 8		
Missouri	^	. 1		
Montana		. 4		
Nebraska		. 4		
Nevada				
New Hampshire		. 3		
New Jersey		3. 3		
New Mexico		. 6		
New York		10. 2		
North Carolina	. 1. <b>7</b>	2. 5		
North Dakota		. 2		
Ohio		3. 1		
Oklahoma_		1. 5		
Oregon	. 8	. 8		
Pennsylvania		5. 2		
Rhode		. 5		
South Carolina		1. 4		
South Dakota		. 3		
Tennessee		2. 5		
Texas		4. 7		
Utah		. 4		
Vermont		. 2		
Virginia		1. 8		
Washington	1. 3	1. 4		
West Virginia		. 9		
Wisconsin	1. 0	1. 1		
Wyoming	•	. 1		
Guam	. 01	. 0		
Puerto Rico	. 3	1. 9		
Virgin Islands		. 02		
Total	100. 0	100. 0		

Table 11.—Projected recipients under current law and persons eligible for benefits under H.R. 1, fiscal year 1973–1977

(In millions)

	1973	1974	1975	1976	1977
Persons eligible for benefits under H.R. 1:				_	
Persons in families:					
Not now covered under present programs.	9. 1	8. 1	7. 2	6. 4	5. 7
Covered under present programs	10 3				11. 5
Aged, blind and disabled	6.2	6. 6		7. 2	7. 2
Agea, billia alia albabica	0. 2	0. 0	7	1. 2	7. 2
Total eligibles under H.R. 1	25. 6	25. 3	25. 2	24. 8	24. 4
Recipients under current law:					
	11 B	10 6	12 £	14 7	15. 8
Persons in families with dependent children	11. 0	12. 0	19. 0	14. /	
Aged, blind and disabled	3. 4	3. 4	3. 5	3. 5	3. 6
Total recipients under current law	15.0	16. 0	17. 1	18. 2	19. 4

Table 12.—Number of welfare recipients under current law and number of persons eligible for benefits under H.R. 1 by State, fiscal year 1973

[In thousands]

	Number of rec	elpents unde	r current law	Number of	er II.R. 1	
State	Total	Adult categories	Family category	Total	Adult categories	Family category
Alabama	408. 2	149. 0	259. 2	761. 9	174. 8	587. 1
Alaska	16. 4	2. 9	13. 5	25. 3	5. 8	19. 5
Arizona	97. 7	24. 3	73. 4	163. 2	<b>55.</b> 0	108. 2
Arkansas	149. 0	<b>75. 6</b>	73. 4	404. 5	114. 5	290. 0
California	2, 335, 6	599. 7	1, 735, 9	2, 444. 4	608. 7	1, 835. 7
Colorado		46. 7	99. 5	190. 6	47. 6	143. 0
Connecticut		17. 1	124. 4	200. 2	53. 1	147. 1
Delaware		5. 0	31. 1	58. 5	10. 4	48. 1
District of						
Columbia	101. 7	15. 0	86. 7	144. 9	24. 9	120. 0
Florida		91. 6	358. 3	917. 6	228. 4	689. 2
Georgia		140. 8	344. 3	961. 0	231. 0	730. 0
Hawaii	43. 8	4. 7	39. 1	63. 0	13. 4	49. 6
Idaho	30. 6	6. 3	24. 3	52. 4	11. 4	41. 0
Illinois	639. 5	90. 9	548. 6	959. 4	226. 9	732. 5
Indiana	168. 1	27. 7	140. 4	355. 4	88. 3	267. 1
Iowa	116. 2	26. 9	89. 3	241. 7	45. 6	196. 1
Kansas		18. 4	85. 6	234. 1	70. 4	163. 7
Kentucky	259. 8	89. 5	170. 3	621. 0	162. 3	458. 7
Louisiana	473. 3	149. 8	323. 5	823. 7	212. 1	611. 6
Maine		17. 9	74. 0	131. 0	38. 0	93. 0
Maryland		28. 3	189. 2	388. 5	71. 7	316. 8
Massachusetts		82. 1	335. 4	536. 3	145. 2	391. 1
Michigan		72. 5	445. 0	841. 7	217. 3	624. 4
Minnesota		33. 0	126. 5	346. 1	93. 6	252. 5
Mississippi	269. 4	111. 7	157. 7	626. 3	174. 7	451. €
Missouri	332. 3	124. 9	207. 4	555. 5	187. 3	368. 2
Montana	26. 0	6. 1	19. 9	51. 8	11. 5	40. 3
Nebraska	57. 5	13. 9	43. 6	124. 3	26. 6	97. 7
Nevada	23. 1	3. 7	19. 4	37. 8	14. 0	23. 8
New Hampshire	30. 9	6. 0	24. 9	49. 1	13. 6	<b>35</b> . 5
New Jersey	517. 6	37. 0	480. 6	603. 3	160. 3	443. 0
New Mexico	100. 1	19. 9	80. 2	144. 1	26. 6	117. 6

Table 12.—Number of welfare recipients under current law and number of persons eligible for benefits under H.R. 1 by State, fiscal year 1973—Continued

[In thousands]

	Number of rec	eipents unde	r current law	Number of eligibles under H.R. 1			
State	Total	Adult categories	Family category	Total	Adult categories	Famil categor	
New York	1, 550. 0	201. 7	1, 348. 3	2, 067. 2	499. 1	1, 568.	
North Carolina	248. 2	<b>77</b> . 0	171. 2	821. 6	186. 2	635. 4	
North Dakota	20. 4	6. 3	14. 1	58. <b>4</b>	12. 3	<b>46</b> . 1	
Ohio	<b>523. 7</b>	97. 3	426. 4	928. 7	230. 0	698. '	
Oklahoma	218. 6	106. 7	111. 9	400. 7	108. 1	292.	
Oregon	138. 1	20. 9	117. 2	203. 5	<b>55.</b> 2	148.	
Pennsylvania	880. 2	116. 0	<b>764</b> . 2	1, 267. 5	337. 0	930.	
Rhode Island	68. 2	7. 7	60. 5	103. 4	27. 9	<b>75</b>	
South Carolina	142. 3	34. 8	107. 5	466. 8	94. 4	372.	
South Dakota	32. 4	6. 7	25. 7	76. 8	13. 9	62.	
rennessee	358. 1	98. 1	260. 0	830. 4	<b>222</b> . 0	608.	
Гехаз	771. 6	287. 0	484. 6	1, 571. 3	373. 0	1, 198.	
Utah	<b>57.</b> 6	9. 4	48. 2	95. 3	<b>25</b> . 5	69.	
Vermont	25. 1	7. 1	18. 0	44. 8	14. 9	29.	
Virginia	185. 4	<b>26. 6</b>	158. 8	566. 5	120. 1	446.	
Washington	217. 2	40. 7	176. 5	276. 8	<b>57</b> . 5	219.	
West Virginia	128. 1	25. <b>2</b>	102. 9	326. 8	69. 4	257.	
Wisconsin	138. 2	27. 5	110. 7	311. 7	93. 7	218.	
Wyoming	13. 7	2. 8	10. 9	23. 3	5. 4	17.	
Guam	2. 8	. 5	2. 3	3. 5	. 9	2.	
Puerto Rico	339. 1	45. 9	<b>293. 2</b>	995. 8	76. 9	918.	
Virgin Islands	2. 6	. 5	2. 1	3. 9	. 9	3.	
Total	15, 025, 1	3, 385, 3	11, 639. 8	25, 503. 3	6. 189. 2	19, 314.	

Table 13.—Summary of characteristics of families eligible for family payments in January 1973 1

	Families (	covered	Gross pa	yments		Percent of total	Average payment per family	Average family size
- Characteristic	Number of families (thousands)	Percent of total	Amount (millions)	Percent of total	Number of persons (thousands)			
Grand total	3, 815	100. 0	\$5, 916	100. 0	18, 304	100. 0	\$1, 551	4. 3
Sex of family head:					_			
Male	1, 819	<b>47</b> . <b>7</b>	2, 378	40. 2	9, 811	53. 6	1, 307	5.
Female	1, 995	<b>52</b> . <b>3</b>	3, 537	<b>59.</b> 8	8, 493	46. 4	1, 773	4.
Race of head:								
White	2, 365	<b>62</b> . 0	3, 401	<b>57.</b> 5	10, 840	<b>59.</b> 2	1, <u>4</u> 38	4.
Nonwhite	1, 450	38. 0	2, 514	<b>42</b> . 5	7, 464	40. 8	1, 734	5.
Region of residence:				_				_
Northeast	799	20. 9	1, 357	22. 9	3, 478	19. 0	1, 698	4.
North central	770	20. 2	1, 201	20. 3	3, 631	19. 8	1, 560	4.
South	1, 625	42. 6	2, 364	40. 4	8, 331	<b>4</b> 5. 5	1, 455	5.
West.	620	16. 3	993	16. 8	2, 863	15. 6	1, 602	4.
Work experience of family head:								
Worked full time all year.	1, 113	29. 2	1, 321	22. 3	6, 751	36. 9	1, 187	6.
Some work experience during year	2, 460	<b>64</b> . 5	3, 287	55. 6	12, 413	67. 8	1, 336	5.
No work during year	1, 355	35. 5	2, 629	44. 4	5, 892	32. 2	1, 940	4.
Military	41	1. 1	33	. 6	170	. 9	804	4.
Number of earners in family:								
No earners.	975	<b>25. 6</b>	2, 031	34. 3	4, 041	22. 1	2, 083	4.
1 earner	1, 650	43. 3	2, 308	39. 0	7, 464	40. 8	1, 399	4.
2 earners.	776	20. 3	961	16. 2	3, 934	21. 5	1, 238	5.
3 or more earners	413	10. 8	616	10. 4	2, 864	15. 6	1, 492	6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Estimates are based on a projection of the March 1969 Current Population Survey. These data do not reflect adjustments which allow for the inclusion of Guam, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands, an increase in the rate of unemployment, and technical adjust-

ments to conform the data to certain provisions of H.R. 1. They also do not reflect the impact of proposed training and employment programs. These adjustments result in a total of 4.0 million eligible families for fiscal year 1973.

Note.-Detail may not add due to rounding.

Table 14.—Estimated number of families eligible for family payments benefits in January 1973, by occupations of family heads 1

	Total fa	milies	Male	heads	Female	e heads
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
Professional, technical						
kindred	59	2. 7	39	2. 7	20	2, 8
Farmers	272	12. 4	268	18. 3	4	
Managers, officers, and proprietors, including				- 3. 2	_	•
farm	156	7. 1	145	9. 9	11	1, 5
Clerical	135	6. 1	2.5	. 1. 7	110	15. 0
Sales	72	3. 2	41	2. 8	30	4. 1
Crafts	236	10. 7	230	15. 7	6	. 8
Operatives	428	19. 6	283	19. 3	145	20. 2
Private household.	128	5. 8	3	. 2	125	17. 1
Service	352	16. 0	91	6. 2	260	35. 5
Farm laborers	138	6. 3	131	8. 9	7	1. 0
Laborers, excluding farm.	221	10. 0	209	14. 3	11	1. 5
Subtotal	2, 202	100	1, 467	100	735	100
Occupation not available.					1, 260	
Total	3, 815		1, 820		1, 995	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Estimates are based on a projection of the March 1969 Current Population Survey. These data do not reflect adjustments which allow for the inclusion of Guan, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands, an increase in the rate of unemployment, and technical adjustments to conform the data to certain provisions of H.R. 1. They also do not reflect the impact of proposed training and employment programs. These adjustments result in a total of 4.0 million eligible families for fiscal year 1973.

Note.—Detail may not add due to rounding.

Table 15.—Estimated number of families eligible for family payments in January 1973, by work experience and sex of head <sup>1</sup>

	Total fa	milies	Male t	eads	Female	heads
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
Worked full or part year 2_ Worked full year (50 to	2, 460	64. 5	1, 546	85. 0	943	47. 3
52 weeks)	1, 272	33. 3	932	<b>51.</b> 2	341	17. 1
Full timePart time	1, 113 159	29. 2 4. 2	857 74	47. 1 4. 1	256 85	12. 8 4. 3
Worked part year (less than 50 weeks)	1, 188	31. 1	568	31. 2	601	30. 1
Full time	859	22. 5	489	26. 9	371	18. 6
27 to 49 weeks 1 to 26 weeks	439 420	11. 5 11. 0	293 195	16. 1 10. 7	146 224	7. 3 11. 2
Part time	329	8. 6	97	5. 3	232	11. 6
27 to 49 weeks 1 to 26 weeks	106 223	2. 8 5. 8	37 61	2. 0 3. 4	68 163	3. 4 8. 2
Didn't work at all	1, 355	35. 5	273	15. 0	1, 052	52. <b>7</b>
Total	3, 815	100. 0	1, 819	100. 0	1, 995	100. 0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Estimates are based on a projection of the March 1969 Current Population Survey. These data do not reflect adjustments which allow for the inclusion of Guam, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands, an increase in the rate of unemployment, and technical adjustments to conform the data to certain provisions of H.R. 1. They also do not reflect the impact of proposed training and employment programs. These adjustments result in a total of 4.0 million eligible families for fiscal year 1973.

<sup>2</sup> Includes family heads who were in the military service at the time of interview.

Note: Detail may not add due to rounding.

Table 16.—Estimated number of families eligible for family payments in January 1973, by number of earners 1 in family and sex of family head 2

700400	[Numbers in thousands]							
	Total fa	milies	Male t	neads	Female	heads		
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent		
No earners	975	25. 6	150	8. 2	825	41. 4		
1 earner	1,650	<b>43</b> . 3	876	48. 1	774	38. 8		
2 earners 3 or more earners 2	776 413	20. 3 10. 8	$\begin{array}{c} 511 \\ 283 \end{array}$	28. 1 15. 5	$\begin{array}{c} 266 \\ 130 \end{array}$	13. 3 6. 5		
Total	3, 814	100. 0	1, 820	100. 0	1, 995	100. 0		

1 An "earner" is a family member with \$1 or more in wages and salaries or a loss in net income from farm

and nonfarm employment.

<sup>2</sup> Estimates are based on a projection of the March 1969 Current Population Survey. These data do not reflect adjustments which allow for the inclusion of Guam, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands, an increase in the rate of unemployment, and technical adjustments to conform the data to certain provisions of H.R. 1. They also do not reflect the impact of proposed training and employment programs. These adjustments result in a total of 4.0 million eligible families for fiscal year 1973.

NOTE.—Detail may not add due to rounding.

Table 17.—Estimated number of families eligible for family payments in January 1973, by residence in SMSA and sex of family head 1

[Numbers in thousands]

Total families		Male h	eads	Female	heads
Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
2, 076	54. 4	711	39. 1	1, 365	68. 4
1, 330	34. 9	375	20. 6	955	47. 9

	Total families		Male I	Male heads		heads
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
In SMSA <sup>2</sup>	2, 076 1, 330	54. 4 34. 9	711 375	39. 1 20. 6	1, 365 955	68. 4 47. 9
Not central city	746 1, 739	19. 6 45. 6	336 1, 109	18. 5 60. 9	410 630	20. 6 31. 6
Total	3, 815	100. 0	1, 826	100. 0	1, 995	100. 0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Estimates are based on a projection of the March 1969 Current Population Survey. These data do not reflect adjustments which allow for the inclusion of Guam, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands, an increase in the rate of unemployment, and technical adjustments to conform the data to certain provisions of H.R. 1. They also do not reflect the impact of proposed training and employment programs. These adjustments result in a total of 4.0 million eligible families for fiscal year 1973.

<sup>2</sup> Generally an SMSA is a county or group of contiguous counties which contains at least 1 city of 50,000 inhabitants or more, or "twin cities," with a combined population of at least 50,000.

<sup>3</sup> Generally, central cities are determined according to the following criteria: (1) The largest city in an SMSA is always a central city, (2) 1 or 2 additional cities may be secondary central cities on the basis and in order of the following criteria: (a) The additional city or cities have a least 250,000 inhabitants; (b) the additional city or cities have a population of 35 or more of that of the largest city and a minimum population of 25,000.

Table 18.—Estimated number of families eligible for family payments in January 1973, by size of family <sup>1</sup>

	Total families		Male heads		Female heads	
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
Number of family members: 2 to 3	1, 219 1, 848 748	32. 0 48. 4 19. 6	398 933 489	21. 9 51. 3 26. 9	821 915 259	41. 1 45. 9 13. (
Total	3, 815	100. 0	1, 820	100. 0	1, 995	100. 0

<sup>1</sup> Estimates are based on a projection of the March 1969 Current Population Survey. These data do not reflect adjustments which allow for the inclusion of Guam, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands, an increase in the rate of unemployment, and technical adjustments to conform the data to certain provisions of II.R. 1. They also do not reflect the impact of proposed training and employment programs. These adjustments result in a total of 4.0 million eligible families for fiscal year 1973.

NOTE.-Detail may not add due to rounding.

Table 19.—Estimated number of families eligible for family payments in January 1973, by region 1 of residence and sex of head 2

<b>Number</b>	s in t	housand	Isl

	Total families		Male heads		Female heads	
-	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
Northeast North Central South West	799 770 1, 625 620	20. 9 20. 2 42. 6 16. 3	263 366 908 282	14. 5 20. 1 49. 9 15. 5	535 404 717 338	26. 8 20. 2 36. 0 17. 0
Total	3, 814	100. 0	1, 819	100. 0	1, 994	100. 0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The 4 major regions of the United States represent groups of States, as follows: Northeast: Connecticut, Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, Vermont. North Central: Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, North Dakota, Ohio, South Dakota, Wisconsin. South: Alabama, Arkansas, Delaware, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, Maryland, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carolina Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, West Virginia. West: Arizona, Colorado, California, Idaho, Montana, Nevada New Mexico, Oregon, Utah, Washington, Wyoming, Alaska, and Hawaii.

<sup>2</sup> Estimates are based on a projection of the March 1969 Current Population Survey. These data do not reflect adjustments which allow for the Inclusion of Guam, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands, an increase in the rate of unemployment, and technical adjustments to conform the data to certain provisions of H.R. 1.

They also do not reflect the impact of proposed training and employment programs. These adjustments result in a total of 4.0 million eligible families for fiscal year 1973.

Table 20.—Estimated number of families eligible for family payments in January 1973, by race of head and sex of head

	Total families		Male heads		Female heads	
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
White	2, 365	62. 0	1, 328	73. 0	1, 037	52. 0
Non-white		38. 0	492	<b>27</b> . 0	958	<b>4</b> 8. <b>0</b>
Total	3, 815	100. 0	1, 820	100. 0	1, 995	100. 0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Estimates are based on a projection of the March 1969 Current Population Survey. These data do not reflect adjustments which allow for the inclusion of Guam, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands, an Increase in the rate of unemployment, and technical adjustments to conform the data to certain provisions of II.R. 1. They also do not reflect the impact of proposed training and employment programs. These adjustments result in a total of 4.0 million eligible families for fiscal year 1973.

Table 21.—Estimated number of families eligible for family payments in January 1973, by education of family head 1

	Total families		Male heads		Female heads	
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Pereen t
Less than 8 years	1, 130	29. 6	659	36. 2	471	23. 6
8 years	573	<b>15.</b> 0	289	15. 9	284	14. 2
9-11 years	996	26. 1	365	20. 0	631	31. 6
12 years	841	22. 0	342	18. 8	499	25. 0
13 years or more	275	<b>7</b> . <b>2</b>	<b>16</b> 5	9. 1	110	5. 5
Total	3, 815	100. 0	1, 820	100. 0	1, 995	100. 0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Estimates are based on a projection of the March 1969 Current Population Survey. These data do not reflect adjustments which allow for the inclusion of Guam, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands, an increase in the rate of unemployment, and technical adjustments to conform the data to certain provisions of H.R. 1. They also do not reflect the impact of proposed training and employment programs. These adjustments result in a total of 4.0 million eligible families for fiscal year 1973.

NOTE.-Detail may not add due to rounding.

Table 22.—Estimated number of families eligible for family payments in January 1973, by number of children in the family and sex of family head 1

[Numbers in thousands]

	Total families		Male heads		Female heads	
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
1 child	900	24. 2	421	23. 8	479	24. 5
2 ehildren	818	22. 0	387	21. 8	431	22. 1
3 children	721	19. 4	337	19. 0	384	19. 7
4 children	533	14. 3	233	13. 1	300	15. 4
5 ehildren	323	8. 7	172	9. 7	151	7. 7
6 children or more	429	11. 5	222	12. 5	207	10. 6
Total 2	3, 724	100. 0	1, 772	100. 0	1, 952	100. 0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Estimates are based on a projection of the March 1969 Current Population Survey. These data do not reflect adjustments which allow for the inclusion of Gnam, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands, an increase in the rate of unemployment, and technical adjustments to conform the data to certain provisions of H. R. 1. They also do not reflect the impact of proposed training and employment programs. These adjustments result in a total of 4.0 million eligible families for fiscal year 1973.

<sup>2</sup> Does not include families with student children (between 18-22) only.

NOTE.—Detail may not add due to rounding.

Table 23.—Estimated number of families eligible for family payments in January 1973, by region of residence, race of head and sex of head <sup>1</sup>

				Whit	te			Nonw	hite	
	Total far	nilies	Male he	ads	Female l	neads .	Male he	eads	Female h	eads
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percen
Northeast North Central South West	799 770 1, 625 620	100. 0 100. 0 100. 0 100. 0	220 323 549 235	27. 5 41. 9 33. 8 37. 9	268 231 301 236	33. 5 30. 0 18. 5 38. 1	43 43 359 47	5. 4 5. 6 22. 1 7. 6	268 173 416 102	33. 5 22. 5 25. 6 16. 4
Total	3, 814	100.0	1, 327	34. 8	1, 036	27. 2	492	12. 9	959	25. 1

Note.—Detail may not add due to rounding.

Estimates are based on a projection of the March 1969 Current Population Survey. These data do not reflect adjustments which allow for the inclusion of Guam, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands, an increase in the rate of unemployment, and technical adjustments to conform the data to certain provisions of H.R. 1. They also do not reflect the impact of proposed training and employment programs. These adjustments result in a total of 4.0 million eligible families for fiscal year 1973.

## L. TAX AMENDMENTS

#### 1. LIBERALIZATION OF CHILD CARE DEDUCTION

#### General statement

Under present law, certain categories of taxpayers are granted limited income tax deductions for amounts they spend for the care of a dependent child where this enables the taxpayers to be gainfully employed. In general terms, this deduction for child care expenses has been fully available either where there was only one employable parent in the family or where the combined earnings of the husband and wife were not greater than the median family income level in the United States. The median income level at the time this provision was revised in 1964 was approximately \$6,000. More specifically, the categories of taxpayers eligible for child care deductions under present law are:

1. Working wives where the adjusted gross income of the husband and wife does not exceed \$6,000 and a joint return is filed (the deduction in this case is phased out on a dollar-for-dollar basis for income above \$6,000),

2. Working wives whose husbands are incapable of work because they are physically or mentally incapacitated,

3. Widows and working women (other than wives) with

children,

4. Widowers, and

5. Husbands whose wives are incapacitated or institutionalized (if the wife is incapacitated but not institutionalized the \$6,000 limit referred to above applies).

Although the deduction is primarily concerned with the expenses for the case of a dependent child (under age 13), it is also available to a taxpayer supporting other dependents unable to care for themselves

because they are physically or mentally incompetent.

Under present law, the maximum deduction for child care expenses is \$600 in the case of one dependent, and \$900 for two or more dependents. At the time this deduction was first made available, the \$600 figure represented the exemption level. This level was provided because the Congress had concluded that the additional expenses for the care of a child should be limited to the same amount allowed for a personal

The committee believes that this child care provision needs updating in two respects. First, the level of the deductible expenses needs to be raised. The exemption level has increased from the \$600 level in effect in 1954 when this provision was first adopted to a level of \$750 applicable for 1973 and subsequent years. It is also clear that since 1954, the cost of child care has increased sharply. For these reasons, your committee's bill raises the maximum child care deduction for one child from \$600 to \$750. For the second child, as under prior law, the equivalent of an additional half exemption is allowed raising the total for two dependents from \$900 to \$1,125. The bill further liberalizes present law by granting an additional increase in the deduction for a taxpayer who has three or more dependents. Such a taxpayer is to be allowed a maximum deduction of \$1,500 instead of the \$900 provided under present law.

Second, average family incomes have risen sharply. Since 1964, median family incomes have risen from about \$6,000 to nearly \$10,000 in 1970. Your committee concluded, therefore, that it was desirable to raise substantially the income level where the child care deduction is available for two working parents. The committee concluded that it was desirable to make provision for those with combined income levels somewhat above the current median family income level. Therefore, it raised this allowable level to \$12,000.

These amendments are to be effective for the calendar year 1972

and later years.

The annual revenue cost of these changes is expected to be approximately \$75 million. This does not take into account any expansion in the work force stimulated by this credit.

## General explanation

To accomplish the results referred to above, the bill amends present law (sec. 214(b)(1)) to provide that the child care deduction is not to exceed \$750 where there is one dependent, is not to exceed \$1,125 where the taxpayer has two dependents, and is not to exceed \$1,500 where the taxpayer has three or more dependents. In all of these cases the deduction actually taken, as under present law, may not exceed the actual child care expenses incurred for the purpose of

enabling the taxpayer to be gainfully employed.

The bill also amends present law (sec. 214(b)(2)(B)) by increasing from \$6,000 to \$12,000 the combined adjusted gross income that a husband and wife may have and still be eligible for the child care deduction. For those with incomes immediately above this level, a reduced child care deduction may be taken, the amount decreasing on a dollar-for-dollar basis with respect to each dollar of income of the husband and wife above \$12,000. Thus, where there is one dependent, no child care deduction would be available to a couple with a combined income level above \$12,750. In cases where there are three or more dependents, no deduction will be available where the combined income level is above \$13,500.

The amendments referred to here apply to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1971.

#### 2. TAX CREDIT FOR THE ELDERLY

#### General statement

Individuals 65 Years of Age or Over.—Under present law, individuals who are 65 years of age or over may receive a tax credit based on the first \$1,524 of retirement income. The credit is 15 percent of this retirement income. Each spouse who is 65 or over may compute his tax credit on up to \$1,524 of his own retirement income (whether they file separate or joint returns). Alternatively, spouses 65 or over who file joint returns may compute their credit on up to \$2,286 of retirement income (one and one-half times \$1,524) even though one spouse received the entire amount of the retirement income.

To be eligible for this credit, however, an individual must have received more than \$600 of earned income in each of 10 years prior to the taxable year (a widow or widower whose spouse had received such earned income is considered to meet this earned income test).

Retirement income, for purposes of this credit, includes taxable pensions and annuities, interest, rents, dividends, and interest on Government bonds issued especially for the self-employed setting aside

amounts under "H.R. 10" retirement type plans.

The maximum amount of this retirement income which an individual may claim (\$1,524 or \$2,286 for certain married couples) must be reduced for two broad categories of receipts. First, it must be reduced (on a dollar-for-dollar basis) by the amount of social security, railroad retirement or other exempt pension income received by the taxpayer. Second, the maximum amount of retirement income that can be eligible for the credit is further reduced by one-half of the annual amount of earned income over \$1,200 and under \$1,700 and by the entire amount of earned income in excess of \$1,700. This reduction for earned income does not apply, however, in the case of individuals who have reached the age of 72.

Your committee believes that it is desirable to recast the present retirement income credit for several basic reasons. One reason is that the credit needs updating. Most of the features of the present credit have not been revised since 1962 when the maximum level of income on which the credit is computed was set and when the current earnings limits were established. Since then, there have been numerous revisions of the social security law which substantially liberalized the social security benefits. As a result, the present maximum amount of income eligible for the credit is considerably below the maximum social security primary benefit of slightly over \$2,500 available for a retired worker and the maximum social security primary and supplementary benefit of slightly over \$3,750 available for a retired worker

and his spouse.

In addition, the complexity of the present retirement income credit prevents it from providing the full measure of relief it was intended to grant to elderly people. This complexity stems from an attempt to pattern the credit after the social security law in an attempt to give persons not receiving social security payments the same tax benefits as social security recipients. For example, to claim the credit on his tax return, a taxpayer must show that he has met the test of earning \$600 a year for 10 years; he must also segregate his retirement income from his other income; he must reduce the maximum amount of retirement income eligible for the credit by the amount of his social security income and by the specified portions of his earned income under the work test; a credit of one and one-half times the basic credit is avail-

¹ One other feature of the credit was adopted in the 1964 Revenue Act. This provision allowed spouses 65 and over who file joint returns to claim a credit on up to \$2,286 of retirement income (one and one-half times the \$1,524 maximum base for single people) even if one spouse receives the entire amount of the married couple's retirement income.

able for a man and wife; and a credit is available for each spouse separately if each spouse independently meets the eligibility tests.

The purpose of all of these provisions is to provide individuals who receive little or no social security benefits the opportunity to receive tax treatment roughly comparable to that accorded ro those who get the maximum amount of tax-exempt social security benefits. However, the result has been to impose severe compliance burdens on large numbers of elderly people, many of whom are not skillful in filing tax returns. Such individuals must now compute their retirement income credit on a separate schedule, which occupies a full page in the tax return packet, with 19 separate items, some of which involve computations in three separate columns. It is these complexities which undoubtedly account for the fact that some of the organizations representing retired people have estimated that as many as one-half of all elderly individuals eligible to use the retirement income credit do not claim this credit on their tax returns.

The present retirement income credit is also defective in that it discriminates unfairly between individuals with modest incomes depending on the source of their income. As indicated above, the credit is available only to those with retirement income—that is, some form of investment or pension income in the taxable year. Elderly individuals who must support themselves entirely by earning modest amounts of income and who have no investment or pension income are not eligible for any relief under the present credit. This has given rise to considerable complaints as to the fairness of the tax law; many of these elderly individuals who rely entirely on modest amounts of earned income maintain that they should be allowed the same retirement income credit as those who live on investment incomes. They point out that under the present credit elderly people who rely entirely on modest amounts of earned income are required to pay substantially higher taxes than individuals who are comparable in every respect except that they have significantly larger incomes which come from investments. Your committee agrees that such a difference in tax treatment cannot be justified.

To deal with the problems described above, your committee first updated the amount on which the credit is based and also revised upward the earnings limitations. Then the committee dealt with the problem of complexity by no longer attempting to pattern the credit closely after the social security provisions. Instead, to the extent practical, complicating features of the credit which previously were included in order to parallel social security treatment have been eliminated. Thus the \$600 ten year earnings test has been eliminated, as has the requirement that the taxpayer have "retirement income" (that is, pension or investment income) in order to be eligible for the credit. In addition, the variation in treatment of married couples depending on whether they are separately eligible for credits is eliminated. At the same time equity has been improved by making the credit more generally available to those age 65 or over. The major

extension of the credit in this respect is that it will, for the first time, benefit low-income earners age 65 or over. Since the credit is no longer limited to retirement income, it has been renamed the "credit

for the elderly."

To update the credit, the maximum amount on which the credit is computed is increased from the \$1,524 under present law (or \$2,286 for some married couples or \$3,048 for other married couples where both are separately eligible for the credit) to \$2,500 for single persons or married couples filing joint returns with only one spouse age 65 or over and to \$3,750 for married couples filing joint returns where both spouses are age 65 or over. (The maximum amount on which the credit is based is to be \$1,875 for a married person filing a separate return). These higher amounts closely approximate the current maximum levels of social security benefit payments.

These maximum amounts for computing the credit are reduced, as under present law, by social security benefits and other exempt

pension income.

In addition, the maximum amounts are reduced by one-half of earnings in excess of \$2,000 received by a single taxpayer or by each spouse if married and filing a joint return (or in excess of \$1,000 for married couples filing separate returns). This may be compared with the reduction required by present law of one-half of earnings between \$1,200 and \$1,700 and of all of the earnings in excess of \$1,700. This new level at which earnings result in a reduction is the same as that for social security benefits provided by other provisions in the committee bill.

After these reductions of the maximum amount for social security and earnings, the credit is determined by simply multiplying the reduced amount by 15 percent. While no limitation to the amount of retirement income is required, the reduction of the amount on which the credit is computed by earnings in excess of \$2,000 insures that the benefit of the credit will be limited to relatively low-income elderly earners.

Based upon 1973 exemption levels (when the tax relief provisions of the Tax Reform Act of 1969 will be fully effective) a single individual age 65 who receives the maximum retirement income credit could receive up to \$4,021 before paying any income tax under present law if the income is exclusively from pension or retirement income sources. Under the new credit for the elderly, he may receive up to \$4,842 of income and still pay no tax again if the income is exclusively from pension or retirement income sources. In addition, under the new provision, for the first time he may receive up to \$4,000 of earned income and still pay no income tax. Moreover, in the case of the individual with income exclusively from earnings, some credit for the elderly is available up to an earnings level of \$7,000.2 Under present law, of course, an individual with income entirely from earnings receives no benefit from the retirement income credit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The new credit is eliminated at \$7,000 of earnings because at that level one-half of the earnings in excess of \$2,000 (one-half of \$5,000) equals his \$2,500 maximum amount for the credit.

Under present law (1973 exemption levels), a married couple filing a joint return where both are age 65 or over may receive \$6,331 of pension income before paying any tax.3 Under the new credit for the elderly, they could receive up to \$7,837 of pension or investment income before paying any tax. Under the new credit, even for the couple with earned income, they could earn up to \$6,520 without being taxable. Moreover, the new credit continues to be of some value to a married couple with earnings of up to \$11,500 if a joint

return is filed and both are age 65 or over.5

There will be a few rare instances in which a higher tax than under present law may result from the new credit. These cases arise where one spouse has pension or investment income and is eligible for the credit under present law, and the other spouse has earned income. Under present law, the earnings of the other spouse do not reduce the base for the retirement income credit as is provided under the new credit. Your committee concluded, however, that the very substantial additional simplification of the tax form brought about for the majority of the elderly which results from eliminating the separate husband and wife computation procedure (which requires an additional two columns on the tax form) justifies the combination of the earnings

Moreover, the effect of the combined earning requirement is lessened by increasing the earnings limitation to \$2,000 for each spouse and by phasing out the amount on which the credit is based for earned income above \$2,000 on a 50 cents per dollar basis rather than on the dollar for dollar basis provided by present law. Moreover, it seems appropriate, since the credit is to be available for earnings, to take account of all of the earnings of a married couple, not merely the

earnings of one spouse.

An example of the type of simplified tax credit form for taxpayers age 65 and over which these changes make possible is shown below. This form is less than one-third as long as the present form and involves only one column instead of three. It requires the taxpayer to select the appropriate amount on which to compute the credit and to deduct from this social security or certain other tax-exempt income. It also requires the taxpayer to deduct earned income above specified levels. On the balance, the credit is computed at a 15 percent rate, and this is then entered on the face of the tax return as a tax credit.6

<sup>3</sup> Assuming the alternative retirement income credit computation based on \$2,286.
4 At \$6,520 of earnings (assuming each spouse earned at least \$2,000) the earnings in excess of \$2,000 for each spouse would be \$2,520. One-half of this excess is \$1,260. The \$3,780 maximum amount reduced by \$1,260 is \$2,490. The credit of 15 percent of \$2,490 offsets the tax on \$2,520 of taxable income remaining after the four \$760 personal exemptions and the \$1,000 minimum standard deduction.
4 If each spouse has at least \$2,000 of earnings, the maximum amount of the credit is reduced \$1.00 for each \$2.00 of earnings in excess of \$4,000. Thus, the credit disappears at twice \$3,750 (\$7,500), plus \$4,000, or \$11,500.
6 An example of the type of tax form to be used by taxpayers under age 65 who receive pension income from public retirement systems is shown at the end of the general explanation.

### SCHEDULE R.—Credit for taxpayers age 65 and over

(Joint returns with one spouse under age 65 who has public pension income, use Schedule S)

## MAXIMUM AMOUNTS FOR CREDIT COMPUTATION Then your maximum amount for credit If you are: (check one box) computation is-Single\_ 2, 500 3, 750 Married filing jointly and only one spouse is 65 or over\_\_\_\_\_ Married filing jointly, both age 65 or over Married filing a separate return and age 65 or over 1. Enter (from above) your maximum amount for credit computation\_\_\_\_\_ 2. Amounts received as pensions or annuities under the Social Security Act, the Railroad Retirement Acts (but not supplemental annuities) and certain other exclusions from gross income.... 3. Earned income received (does not apply to persons age 72 and over). Enter ½ of earnings over— \$2,000 if single; \$2,000 received by the husband \_\_ \_, if married and fil-\$2,000 received by the wife \_\_\_ ing jointly; or \$1,000 if married and filing separately..... 4. Total of lines 2 and 3 5. Balance (subtract line 4 from line 1); if more than zero complete this form; if zero or less, do not file this form\_\_\_ 6. Amount of credit: enter (here and on form 1040, line 52) 15 percent of line 5 but not more than the total tax on form 1040, line 19\_\_\_\_\_

Those under 65 receiving pensions from public retirement systems.— Under present law, individuals under the age of 65 also are eligible for tax credits for retirement income but only with respect to pensions received under a public retirement system. Only income from a pension, annuity, retirement, or similar fund or system established by the United States, a State, or a locality qualifies under this provision. This restriction of retirement income for purposes of the credit to income from a public retirement system applies only until the individual reaches the age of 65; thereafter he is entitled to take the credit on the same basis as other individuals who have reached that age.

The retirement credit for individuals under 65, apart from the fact that it applies only to a pension under a public retirement system, presently is much like the credit applying to individuals 65 and over. (There are some other differences, however, which are noted below). Thus, it is limited to 15 percent of retirement income up to \$1,524. Each spouse under 65 may claim the credit on up to \$1,524 with respect to his own public retirement income either on joint or separate returns. However, unlike married couples 65 or over, those under 65 who file joint returns are not entitled to a \$2,286 ceiling in computing

the credit.

To be eligible for the credit, individuals under 65 also are required to meet the same 10 year-\$600 earnings test as those over 65. Similarly, for those under 65, the maximum amount of public retirement income that can be eligible for the credit is reduced one dollar for each dollar of social security or railroad retirement pensions received. However, the reduction in the maximum amount eligible for the credit because of earnings is different for individuals under age 62 who are receiving public retirement pensions. In the case of such individuals, this maximum amount is reduced dollar for dollar for all earned income over \$900. Starting with age 62, however, those receiving public retirement pensions are eligible for the same more liberal earnings rules which apply to persons who are 65 or over; that is, under present law, the maximum amount on which the credit is based is reduced by one-half the amount of earned income over \$1,200 but not over \$1,700, and the full amount of earned income in excess of \$1,700.

In view of the liberalized base for the credit made available to those age 65 or over by this bill, your committee made comparable liberalizations in the amount of public pension income eligible for the retirement income credit. To some extent the application of the earnings test has also been liberalized for those receiving public retirement pensions.

The maximum amount on which the tax credit computation may be made for this group is increased from the present \$1,524 to the same amounts provided by the new credit for those age 65 and over. As is the case under present law, however, the credit is limited to the amount of public pension income received. In addition, the earnings level above which earnings reduce the base for the credit is increased from \$900 to \$1,000 for those under age 62. For those from age 62 to 65, the earnings limitation is increased so that the amount on which the credit is based is reduced for one-half of earnings over \$2,000.

The principles and method of computation of the credit are essentially the same as present law. Like the new credit for those 65 and over, however, the revised retirement income credit requires that the earnings of both spouses be combined in the case of a joint return;

the separate computation of present law is eliminated.7

Your committee concluded that the form used for computing the tax credit for those age 65 and over should not be combined with the form used for the public service retirees eligible for credit who are under age 65. Part (although by no means all) of the complexity of the present form stems from different requirements applicable with respect to public service retirees and the general retirees age 65 and over. The different variables which must be accounted for on the return form are increased substantially when the two somewhat different types of credits are combined on a single form. An example of a tax credit form which might be used for public retirees under age 65 is shown at the end of the general explanation below.

Revenue effect.—It is estimated that the changes made for those over age 65 and also for the public service retirees under age 65 will

result in an annual revenue loss of \$375 million.

<sup>7</sup> In addition, in the case of a joint return with one spouse age 65 or over and the other under age 65 and receiving public pension income, the \$3,750 maximum amount for the credit is reduced by \$1,250 minus the public pension income received by the younger spouse. In effect, the taxpayer age 65 or over is entitled to the \$2,500 available to elderly taxpayers, and in order for the couple to receive the \$3,750 maximum, the spouse under age 65 must have at least \$1,250 of pension income. Otherwise, the taxpayer age 65 with a spouse receiving public pension income could, in effect, receive a larger maximum credit than a taxpayer age 65 whose spouse did not receive such pension income.

Effective date.—The changes described above are to be effective for the calendar year 1972 and later years.

General explanation

Individuals 65 years of age and over.—In general, the credit for the elderly provided by the bill (sec. 37 of the code) liberalizes the retirement income credit available under present law for those age 65 and over in four respects. First, the amount of income with respect to which the 15-percent credit may be claimed is increased to \$2,500 for a single person and to \$3,750 in the case of a married couple filing a joint return. Second, all types of income, including earned income, are to be eligible for the credit. Third, for individuals between ages 65 and 72, earned income received by them is to reduce the maximum amount eligible for the credit only to the extent of onehalf the amount of this income in excess of \$2,000. Fourth, the credit is to be available regardless of whether the individual has had work experience (i.e., has received earned income) in prior years. (In addition, as discussed more fully below, the bill also liberalizes the credit presently allowed persons under 65 years of age who are receiving pensions or amunities from a public retirement system.)

Under the bill the amount with respect to which the 15-percent credit may be claimed (referred to in the bill as the "section 37 amount") may not exceed a maximum amount (referred to in the bill as the "initial amount") of \$2,500 in the case of a single individual age 65 or over or a married couple filing a joint return where only one spouse is age 65 or over. In the case of a married couple filing a joint return where both spouses are age 65 or over, the maximum amount is \$3,750. (As under present law the age of an individual is to be determined as of the close of the taxable year in question). This credit is to be available whether or not the individual (or his spouse in the case of a joint return) has received \$600 of earned income in ten

prior years.

The maximum amount is to be reduced by amounts received by the individual (and by his spouse in the case of a married couple filing a joint return) as a pension or annuity under the Social Security Act, the Railroad Retirement Acts or as a pension or annuity which is

otherwise excluded from gross income.

In addition, there is to be a further reduction of the maximum amount for certain amounts of earned income received by the individual (and by his spouse in the case of a married couple filing a joint return). (As under present law, no reduction is to be made for earned income of an individual age 72 or over.) In the case of a single individual, the maximum amount is to be reduced by one-half of the amount of earned income received by the individual for the year in excess of \$2,000.

In the case of a married couple filing a joint return, this earned income reduction is to be determined separately with respect to the earned income of each spouse. In other words, each spouse is to separately compute the amount of this reduction (i.e., one-half the amount of earned income received by him (or her) in the taxable year in excess of \$2,000) and then these separate amounts are to be aggregated to determine the total amount of the couple's earned income reduction. Where only one spouse (of a married couple filing a joint return) is age 65 or over, earned income of the spouse under age 65 is to reduce the couple's maximum amount to the extent of one-half

of the excess of that income over \$2,000, regardless of the age of that spouse (unless that spouse is the recipient of a public retirement system pension in which case the earned income reduction rules discussed

below are to apply).

In the case of a married individual age 65 or over filing a separate return, the maximum amount with respect to which the credit may be claimed is \$1,875. In addition, the amount of the reduction for carned income received by the individual is to be one-half the amount of the individual's carned income in excess of \$1,000, rather than \$2,000.

Those under 65 receiving pensions from public retirement systems.—In the case of individuals under age 65, the bill continues the allowance of a credit to those who receive a pension or annuity from a public (Federal, State or local) retirement system. This treatment is to be available, however, only if the pension or annuity received by the individual is paid in respect of services performed by him (or if he is deceased, by his spouse). In the case of a single individual, or a married couple filing a joint return where only one spouse is receiving a public retirement system pension, the maximum amount which may be taken into account for purposes of the credit is \$2,500. In the case of a married couple filing a joint return where both husband and wife receive public retirement system pensions the maximum amount is \$3,750.

As in the case of those 65 years of age and over, the maximum amount is to be reduced by pensions or annuities received by the individual (and by his spouse in the case of a married couple filing a joint return) under the Social Security Act, Railroad Retirement Acts,

or which are otherwise excluded from gross income.

In addition, a reduction in the maximum amount is to be made for certain amounts of earned income received by the individual (and by his spouse in the case of a married couple filing a joint return). If the individual is between the ages of 62 and 65, the amount of the reduction is to be one-half the amount of earned income received by him for the year in excess of \$2,000. If the individual has not attained the age of 62, then the amount of the reduction is to be the amount of his earned income for the year in excess of \$1,000. In the case of a married couple filing a joint return (whether one or both are receiving public retirement system pensions), the earned income reduction is to be applied separately with respect to each spouse (both with respect to the earned income received in the taxable year by each spouse and with respect to the age of each spouse), and then the amounts of the separately computed reductions are to be aggregated to determine the couple's total earned income reduction.

The bill provides an additional limitation on the amount which may be taken into account for purposes of the credit in the case of individuals under age 65. Namely, the amount taken into account may not exceed the amount of public retirement system pension income received by the individual for the year. In the case of a married couple filing a joint return where both spouses are receiving public retirement system pension income, no more than \$2,500 of this type of pension income may be taken into account with respect to each spouse for purposes of this additional limitation (although the total base of the

credit for such couple is limited, of course, to \$3,750).

For example, assume a married couple under age 65 filed a joint return and did not receive any social security (or similar amounts) or

earned income which caused a reduction in their \$3,750 maximum initial amount. If one spouse received a \$3,000 public retirement system pension while the other spouse received only a \$100 public retirement system pension, the additional limitation would be \$2,600 (that is, \$2,500 of pension income of the one spouse and \$100 of pension income of the other spouse). Accordingly, the amount with respect to which the credit could be claimed would be limited to \$2,600.

Where a married couple files a joint return and one spouse is age 65 or over and the other spouse is under age 65 but is receiving a public retirement system pension, the bill provides that the pension income limitation discussed above is not to apply, but rather that a further reduction in the maximum amount is to be made if the pension income

of the spouse who is under 65 is less than \$1,250.

The amount of the reduction is the amount by which \$1,250 exceeds the amount of that spouse's public retirement system pension. For example, if the public retirement system pension of the spouse under age 65 was \$1,000, the maximum initial amount for the married couple in this case would be reduced from \$3,750 to \$3,500 (the \$2,500 available for the spouse over age 65 plus the \$1,000 for the spouse under 65). If there were, in addition, \$750 of social security and/or earned income in excess of the limitations, there would be a further reduction of the \$3,500 to \$2,750.

If a married individual under age 65 is receiving a public retirement system pension and files a separate return, the maximum amount which may be taken for purposes of the credit is \$1,875. In addition, under the carned income reduction, this maximum amount where a separate return is filed is to be reduced if the individual is between 62 and 65 by one-half the amount of his earned income for the year in excess of \$1,000 or, if he is under age 62, by the amount of his earned

income for the year in excess of \$500.

Miscellaneous provisions.—As under present law, the bill provides that the credit for the elderly may not exceed the individual's (or the married couple's, in the case of a joint return) tax for the year. For this purpose, however, the bill provides that the credit for the elderly is to be taken before the foreign tax credit. In other words, the tax for the year is to be computed before reduction for the foreign tax credit and the credit for tax withheld on certain tax free covenant bonds. A correlative change is made by the bill in the limitation on the foreign tax credit to reflect this reordering of the priority of these two credits. Thus, the limitation on the foreign tax credit is to be computed with respect to the tax for the year after reduction for the retirement income credit.

The bill also continues the definition of earned income which is found in present law. It further provides, however, that for purposes of computing the earned income reductions under the bill, community property laws are not to be taken into account in determining whether earned income received by a married couple is the earned income of the husband or the earned income of the wife. Accordingly, in a community property State, earned income received by the husband for personal services performed by him is to be considered entirely his

carned income and not in part earned income of his wife.

In addition, as under present law, nonresident aliens are not to be

eligible for the elderly credit provided by the bill.

The emendments made by the bill with respect to the retirement income credit are to apply to years beginning after December 31, 1971.

Earlier in the report, an illustrative schedule for the credit in the case of those 65 and over was shown. The schedule which follows indicates how the tax credit can be computed separately for those under age 65 who have public retirement system pensions.

Schedule S.—Credit where at least one taxpayer is under age 65 and receives pension or annuity income from public retirement systems

If y	Then your maximum amount for credit computation is—
	<ul> <li>□ Single under 65 and receiving public retirement pension.</li> <li>□ Married filing jointly both under 65 and one receiving public retirement pension.</li> <li>□ Married filing jointly both under 65 and both receiving public retirement pension.</li> <li>□ Married filing jointly, one under 65 and receiving public retirement pension and other spouse over 65.</li> <li>□ Married filing separately under age 65 and receiving public retirement pension.</li> <li>□ Married filing separately under age 65 and receiving public retirement pension.</li> </ul>
1.	Enter (from above) your maximum amount for credit computation
2.	Amounts received as pensions or annuities under the Social Security Act, the Railroad Retirement Acts (but not supplemental annuities) and certain other exclusions from gross income
3.	Earned income received (does not apply to persons age 72 or over):  Single: age 62 or over, enter ½ of earnings over \$2,000; under age 62, enter all earnings over \$1,000.  Married filing jointly: enter ½ of earnings in excess of \$2,000 for each spouse age 62 or over; and all earnings over \$1,000 for each spouse under age 62.  Married filing separately: age 62 or over, enter ½ of earnings in excess of \$1,000; under age 62, enter earnings in excess of \$500.
4.	Total of lines 2 and 3
5.	Balance (subtract line 4 from line 1); if more than zero complete this form; if zero or less, do not file this form.
6.	Income received by taxpayers under age 65 from pensions and annuities under public retirement systems (e.g., Federal, State Governments, etc.) included on form 1040, line 18. But not more than \$2,500 for each spouse for married filing jointly.
7.	If married filing jointly, and one spouse is age 65 or over and the other spouse has public pension income, subtract the amount of such income from \$1,250 and enter difference (not less than zero)
8.	Subtract line 7 from line 5 and enter remainder
9.	Enter the smallest of lines 5, 6, or line 8.
10.	Amount of credit: enter (here and on form 1040, line 52) 15 percent of line 9 but not more than the total tax on form 1040, line 19

# IV. COSTS OF CARRYING OUT THE BILL AND VOTE OF THE COMMITTEES IN REPORTING THE BILL

In compliance with clause 7 of rule XIII of the Rules of the House of Representatives, the following statement is made relative to the costs

incurred in carrying out this bill.

A complete discussion of the costs of the social security and medicare provisions of the bill is contained in part C of section III of this report, entitled "Actuarial Cost Estimates Under the Bill," which describes the long-term financing of the amended programs and points out that under the financing provisions of the bill the programs would be fully financed. The following table set forth the estimated additional income and outgo of the social security trust funds over present law resulting from the provisions of H.R. 1, for fiscal years 1971 through 1976:

ESTIMATED ADDITIONAL INCOME AND ADDITIONAL OUTGO OF THE OASI AND DI TRUST FUNDS, COMBINED, OVER PRESENT LAW, RESULTING FROM PROVISIONS OF H.R. 1, FISCAL YEARS 1971-76

#### [In billions]

	Additional income	Additiona outgo
scal year:		
1971 1972	None -\$1, 7	None \$0.6
1973	_4. 4	3.
1974	<b>-7.0</b>	4. 7
1975	-2. 2 2. 2	7.5

ESTIMATED ADDITIONAL INCOME AND ADDITIONAL OUTGO OF THE HI AND SMI TRUST FUNDS, OVER PRESENT LAW, RESULTING FROM PROVISIONS OF H.R. 1, FISCAL YEARS 1971-76.

[In millions]

	н		SMI		
	Additional outgo	Additional income	Additional outgo	, Additiona income	
Fiscal year: 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975	None None \$1,646 1,944 2,254 2,555	None \$3. 054 6, 339 6, 394 6, 680 6, 839	None \$20 427 489 557 627	None None \$427 489 557 627	

A complete discussion of the costs of the proposed new assistance programs for families and adults, together with additional data relating to the programs, is contained in part K of this report, entitled "Financial and Other Data on New Assistance Programs."

The following table sets forth the estimated costs over present law of the programs of assistance to families and adults resulting from the provisions of H.R. 1, for fiscal years 1971 through 1976:

ESTIMATED COST OF THE PROGRAMS OF ASSISTANCE FOR FAMILIES AND ADULTS, OVER PRESENT LAW, RESULT-ING FROM THE PROVISIONS OF H.R. 1, FISCAL YEARS 1971-76

[In billions]

	1 1971	1 1972	1973	1974	1975	1976
Payments to families Payments to adult categories Cost of cash assistance	<b></b>		\$1.6 1.9	\$1. 9 2. 4	\$1.5 3.1	\$1. 1 3. 1
Federal cost of Hold Harmless provision Food programs	. <b></b>		1. 1 -1. 4	1. 0 -1. 7	-1.8	-1.9
Cost of maintenance payments			3. 2	3. 6	3.6	3. 1
Child care Training Public service jobs.			.5	.5 .3 .8	.5	. 5 . 3 . 8
Supportive services	(²)	.5	. 7	.7	1. . 8	. 8
Cost of Related and Support Activities	· · · · · · · · ·	. 6	2.4	2. 4	2. 5	2.5
Total cost of program		. 6	5. 6 1	6. 0 —. 1	6. 1 1	5.6 1
Grand total	(²)	. 6	5. 5	5. 9	6.0	5. 5

<sup>1</sup> Costs in these 2 years are start-up costs for administration, and the training and child care programs.

<sup>2</sup> Less than \$50,000,000.

Your committee's cost estimates relating to the social security and welfare provisions of the bill, which were furnished to the committee by the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, constitute the best information available at this time.

Your committee estimates that the liberalization of the child care deduction provided by the bill will result in an annual revenue loss of \$75 million and the liberalization of the retirement income credit will result in an annual revenue loss of \$375 million. The Department of the Treasury agrees with these estimates.

In compliance with clause 27(b) of rule XI of the Rules of the House of Representatives, the following statement is made relative to the record vote by the committee on the motion to report the bill, as amended. A total of 22 votes were cast for reporting the bill, a total of three votes were cast against reporting the bill.

# V. SECTION-BY-SECTION ANALYSIS OF THE BILL

The first section contains the short title of the bill—the "Social Security Amendments of 1971"—and the table of contents.

# TITLE I—PROVISIONS RELATING TO OLD-AGE, SUR-VIVORS, AND DISABILITY INSURANCE

SECTION 101. INCREASE IN OLD-AGE, SURVIVORS, AND DISABILITY INSURANCE BENEFITS, AND IN BENEFITS FOR CERTAIN INDIVIDUALS AGE 72 OR OVER

Section 101 of the bill provides a benefit increase of 5 percent, effective June 1, 1972, with new minimum and maximum benefit amounts. It also increases the amount of the special payments made to certain people age 72 and older who have never worked in covered jobs or who have had less covered work than is needed to qualify for the regular retirement benefits of the program.

Primary insurance amount; column IV of the revised benefit table

Security Act to substitute a new table for the present benefit table. The new table effectuates the benefit increase for people who are on the benefit rolls prior to June 1972 and provides benefit amounts higher than those under present law for people who come on the benefit rolls in or after that month. The new primary insurance amounts, shown in column IV of the table, represent an increase of 5 percent over the primary insurance amounts provided in present law for average monthly earnings up to \$750—the highest average monthly earnings possible under present law. (The primary insurance amount is the monthly benefit payable to a worker who retires at or after age 65 or to a disabled worker who had not previously been entitled to a reduced old-age benefit; it is also the amount on which all other benefits are based.)

An approximation of the benefits shown in the new benefit table can be arrived at by taking 94.51 percent of the first \$110 of average monthly earnings, plus 34.38 percent of the next \$290, plus 32.12 percent of the next \$150, plus 37.76 percent of the next \$100, plus 21 percent of the next \$200. Benefits in the table in present law approximate 90.01 percent of the first \$110 of average monthly earnings plus 32.74 percent of the next \$290, plus 30.59 percent of the next \$150, plus 35.96 percent of the next \$100, plus 20 percent of the next \$100.

The primary insurance amounts provided by the new table range from a minimum of \$74 for people whose average monthly earnings are \$76 or less to a maximum of \$331.20 for people who have average monthly earnings of \$850. Average monthly earnings as high as \$850 will become possible in the future under the \$10,200 contribution and benefit base which the bill (in sec. 105) provides. The primary insur-

ance amounts of workers getting benefits based on present law (i.e., workers who will not have the advantage of the increased contribution and benefit base) are raised from \$70.40 to \$74 at the minimum and from \$275.80 to \$289.60 at the maximum payable in 1972.

The total monthly amounts of benefits payable to families on the basis of a single earnings record, shown in column V of the new table, are 5-percent higher than the amounts shown in column V of the present benefit table. The maximum family benefits are equal to 1½ times the worker's primary insurance amount in the case of primary insurance amounts below \$149.70, and range up to about 1.88 times the worker's primary insurance amount at a primary insurance amount of \$214.80. From a primary insurance amount of \$216.50 to the maximum primary insurance amount of \$331.20 the maximum family benefit is graded down slightly, but not below 1.75 times the worker's primary insurance amount. This formula produces, at the maximum possible average monthly earnings of \$850, a maximum family benefit of about two-thirds of the average monthly earnings. Under the bill, the maximum amount of monthly benefits payable to a family will range from \$111.00 to \$579.60.

## Maximum family benefits

Section 101(b) of the bill amends section 203(a) (2) of the Act to assure an increase in total family benefits for families on the benefit rolls in May 1972 if two or more persons were entitled to benefits for January 1971 or any prior month. Under the bill, the total benefits payable to such a family for June 1972 may not be reduced to less than the larger of (1) the family maximum specified in column V of the new table, or (2) an amount equal to the sum of all the benefits of family members on the benefit rolls in May 1972, increased by 5 percent. Families who came on the benefit rolls after January 1971 will get the 5-percent increase without a special provision because the maximum amount applicable to the family is increased in column V of the new benefit table. However, without the provision made by this section, families who came on the benefit rolls before February 1971 could receive little or no increase in benefits as a result of the 5-percent benefit increase effective June 1972.

## Provision for determining a primary insurance amount

Section 101(c) of the bill amends section 215(a) of the Act to reorganize the provision for determining an individual's primary insurance amount, and to make permanent the provision for determining the primary insurance amount of a person who is getting a disability insurance benefit in the month before the month in which he becomes entitled to an old-age insurance benefit, attains age 65, or dies in cases where a benefit increase is effective for the month in which he becomes entitled to an old-age benefit, attains age 65, or dies.

Average monthly earnings: column III of the revised benefit table

Section 101(d) of the bill amends section 215(b)(4) of the Act so that Column III of the new benefit table will be applicable only in the case of an average monthly earnings computation for a person (1) who becomes entitled to old-age or disability insurance benefits in or after June 1972, or (2) who dies in or after that month without having been entitled to old-age or disability benefits, or (3) whose benefit is recomputed for months beginning with or after that month.

Primary insurance amount under the social security amendments of March 17, 1971; column II of the revised benefit table

Section 101(e) of the bill amends section 215(c) of the Act to provide that a person who becomes entitled to old-age or disability insurance benefits before June 1972, or who dies before that month, will have his primary insurance amount determined under the provisions of present law for purposes of column II of the revised table. Since benefit amounts appearing in column II of the revised table will be converted to the new benefit amounts in column IV of that table, the effect of this provision is that people already on the rolls will have their benefits converted to the higher primary insurance amount appearing on the same line in column IV of the new table. Under present law, column II of the benefit table shows the primary insurance amounts in effect prior to the social security amendments enacted March 17, 1971, and column IV of the table shows the amounts to which the primary insurance amounts in column II were converted as a result of those amendments.

# Recomputation of benefits

Section 101(f) of the bill amends section 215(f)(2) of the Act to make a conforming change in the recomputation section to take account of the revision in section 215(a) made by section 101(c) of the bill.

# Increase in special age-72 payments

Section 101(g) (1) of the bill amends section 227 of the Act to increase from \$48.30 to \$50.80 the monthly amount payable to transitionally insured workers and widows who qualify for special payments under section 227 on the basis of 3, 4, or 5 quarters of coverage. (To qualify for regular retirement benefits, a worker has to have a minimum of 6 quarters of coverage.) It also raises from \$24.20 to \$25.40 the amount payable to the wives of men who qualify for benefits under that section.

Section 101(g)(2) of the bill amends section 228 of the Act to increase from \$48.30 to \$50.80 the monthly amount payable to people who qualify under section 228 on the basis of no quarters of coverage, or of some quarters of coverage but not enough to qualify for either regular retirement benefits or payments to transitionally insured people, and to increase from \$24.20 to \$25.40 the monthly amount payable to a wife when both husband and wife are entitled to benefits under that section.

### Effective date

Section 101(h) of the bill provides that the benefit increases under section 101(a) will be effective for monthly benefits for and after June 1972 and for lump-sum death payments where death occurs in or after that month, and that the increases in special payments under section 101(g) will be effective with respect to monthly payments for and after June 1972.

SECTION 102. AUTOMATIC ADJUSTMENTS IN BENEFITS, THE CONTRIBUTION AND BENEFIT BASE, AND THE EARNINGS TEST

Section 102 of the bill provides for automatic adjustments in social security benefits on the basis of increases of 3 or more percent in the Consumer Price Index. It also provides for automatic adjustments

in the contribution and benefit base and in the exempt amount of earnings under the retirement test on the basis of increases in average taxable wages.

Adjustments in benefits

Section 102(a)(1) of the bill amends section 215 of the Social Security Act by adding at the end thereof a new subsection (i) providing

for automatic adjustments in benefits.

The new section 215(i) (1) defines "base quarter" as the second calendar quarter of 1972 and of any subsequent year, or any calendar quarter in which a legislated benefit increase is effective: and defines "cost-of-living computation quarter" as a base quarter in which the average Consumer Price Index exceeds by 3 or more percent the average of the Index for the latest of (1) the second calendar quarter of 1972. (2) the last prior cost-of-living computation quarter, or (3) the most recent effective quarter of a legislated benefit increase. A cost-of-living computation quarter cannot occur in a calendar year in which a legislated benefit increase was evacted or became effective.

The new sections 215(i)(2)(A) and (B) provide that if the Secretary determines that a base quarter is a cost-of-living computation quarter, he is to increase benefits, including special age-72 benefits (but not including the special minimum benefits provided under section 103 of the bill), for the following January, by the percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index since the last cost-of-living computation quarter or, if later, the last quarter in which a legislated benefit increase

became effective.

The new section 215(i) (2) (C) provides that if the Consumer Price Index for a month is 2.5 or more percent higher than it was for the most recent quarter in which a legislated increase became effective, or, if later, the most recent cost-of-living quarter, the Secretary is to report the increase to the House Ways and Means and Senate Finance Committees; and, if a cost-of-living computation quarter occurs, he is to report to those Committees by August 15 the amounts of the projected increase in benefits and in the contribution and benefit base, the extent to which the cost of the benefit increase would be met by the base increase, the actuarial estimates of the effect of the increases, and the assumptions and methodology used.

The new section 215(i) (2) (D) provides that if a cost-of-living computation quarter occurs, the Secretary is to publish in the Federal Register by November 1 the amount of the increase and a new benefit table taking account of the increase. This section describes in detail

the method to be used in preparing the new benefit table.

The new section 215(i)(2)(E) prohibits an automatic benefit increase if a legislated benefit increase is enacted or becomes effective during the calendar year in which the determination (on which the

increase would be based) is made.

The new section 215(i)(3) defines "general benefit increase under this title" as a legislated increase (and not an automatic increase) in all primary insurance amounts (including the combined earnings primary insurance amounts provided under section 110 of the bill but excluding the new special minimum primary insurance amounts) on which benefits are based.

Section 102(a) (2) (A) of the bill amends section 203(a) of the Social Security Act (effective January 1, 1973) to provide that maximum

family benefits shall be based on the figures in the revised benefit table in effect at the time.

Section 102(a)(2)(B) of the bill amends section 203(a)(2) of the Act (effective January 1, 1973) to assure an increase in total family benefits for families on the benefit rolls in the months before the effective month of a cost-of-living (or general) benefit increase if two or more persons were entitled to benefits for January 1971 or any prior month. Under the bill, the total benefits payable to such a family for such effective month may not be reduced to less than the largest of (1) the family maximum specified in column V of the new table. (2) the largest total amount previously determined for the family under section 203(a), or (3) an amount equal to the sum of all the benefits of family members on the benefit rolls in the month before the effective month of the benefit increase, increased by a percentage equal to the percentage of the increase provided under such benefit increase. Families who came on the benefit rolls after January 1971 will get future benefit increases without a special provision because the maximum amount applicable to the family is increased in column V of each new table. However, without the provision made by this subsection, families who came on the benefit rolls before February 1971 could receive little or no increase in benefits.

Section 102(a)(3)(A) of the bill amends section 215(a) of the Act (effective January 1, 1974) so that the provisions for determining a primary insurance amount from the table of benefits in subsection (a) will also be applicable to the table prepared under the provisions of subsection (i) of such section to effectuate a cost-of-living benefit increase.

Section 102(a)(3)(B) of the bill amends section 215(b)(4) of the Act (effective January 1, 1974) so that column III of the new benefit table will be applicable only in the case of an average monthly earnings computation for a person (1) who becomes entitled to old-age or disability insurance benefits in or after the month in which a new table becomes effective, or (2) who dies in or after that month without having been entitled to old-age or disability benefits, or (3) whose benefit is recomputed for months beginning with or after that month.

Section 102(a)(3)(C) of the bill amends section 215(c) of the Act (effective January 1, 1974) to provide that a person who becomes entitled to old-age or disability insurance benefits for a month before the month in which a new table becomes effective, or who dies before that month, will have his primary insurance amount for such month determined under column II of the revised table. Since benefit amounts appearing in column II of the revised table will be converted to the new benefit amounts in column IV of that table, the effect of the provision is that people who get benefits based on a primary insurance amount in column II will have their benefits based on the higher primary insurance amount appearing on the same line in column IV of the new table beginning with the effective month of the benefit increase. Under section 101(a) of the bill, column II of the new benefit table shows the primary insurance amounts in effect prior to January 1971, and column IV of the table shows the amounts to which the primary insurance amounts in column II will be converted beginning with June 1972 as a result of the 5-percent benefit increase.

Section 102(a) (4) of the bill amends sections 227 and 228 of the Social Security Act (effective January 1, 1974) to provide that special age-72 payments would be the larger of the present amounts effective for June 1972 and the most recent higher amounts established by a cost-of-living benefit increase.

Adjustments in contribution and benefit base

Section 102(b)(1) of the bill amends title II of the Social Security Act by adding at the end thereof a new section providing for auto-

matic adjustments in the contribution and benefit base.

The new section 230(a) provides that when the Secretary publishes the amount of a benefit increase in the Federal Register by November 1 of any year, he shall also publish the amount of the base increase which will be effective the following January unless in the interim, amendments are enacted which prohibit such automatic increase in the base.

The new section 230(b) provides that the new base will be the larger of: (1) the base in effect in the year in which the determination of a base is being made, and (2) the product of the base already in effect and the ratio of the average of taxable wages in the first calendar quarter of the calendar year in which the determination was made and such average for the first calendar quarter of 1972 or, if later, the first calendar quarter of the last calendar year in which an increase in the base was enacted or a determination resulting in an automatic increase in the base was made. The product determined under clause (2) is to be rounded to the nearest multiple of \$300 or, if it is a multiple of \$150 but not of \$300, to the next higher multiple of \$300.

The new section 230(c) provides that the base for years after 1972 will be \$10,200 (reflecting the increase made by section 105 of the bill) until the first year thereafter for which the base is increased by either an automatic increase provided by this section or a law enacted after this Act.

Adjustments in Earnings Test

Section 102(c) of the bill amends section 203(f) of the Act by adding a new paragraph (8) to provide for automatically increasing, as earnings levels rise, the exempt amount of earnings. Such section 203(f) at present establishes the level of the exempt amount which, when multiplied by the number of months in a beneficiary's taxable year, determines the amount of earnings that the beneficiary under age 72 may have in the year and still receive full benefits. Under the amendments to section 203(f) made by section 111 of the bill, this exempt amount for taxable years ending after 1971 is \$166.66%; this is the amount that will be increased automatically as provided by the new section 203(f) (8).

The new section 203(f)(8)(A) provides that whenever the Secretary increases social security benefits due to increases in the cost of living (under the automatic adjustment procedures prescribed in section 215(i) of the Act as added by section 102(a) of the bill), at the same time he will determine and publish in the Federal Register a new exempt amount. The new exempt amount will ordinarily apply

with respect to taxable years which end with the close of or after the calendar year for which the cost-of-living increase in social security benefits is effective. However, the automatic increase in the exempt amount will not be effective for any year if during the year in which the Secretary determines an automatic increase in benefits and exempt amount a law providing a general benefit increase under title II is enacted or becomes effective, or if the new section 203(f)(8)(C)

applies.

The new section 203(f)(8)(B) provides that the exempt amount for each month of a year will be either the previous exempt amount or, if larger, the product of the previous exempt amount and the ratio of the average of taxable wages in the first calendar quarter of the calendar year in which the determination is made to this average for the first calendar quarter of 1972 or, if later, the first calendar quarter of the last calendar year in which an increase in the base was enacted or a determination of an increase was made. This product is to be rounded to the nearest multiple of \$10 or, if it is a multiple of \$5 but not of \$10, to the next higher multiple of \$10. It also provides that if the Secretary determines that the exempt amount is to be increased, he is to report the estimated amount of the increase to the House Ways and Means and Senate Finance Committees by August 15, indicating the new exempt amount, the actuarial estimates of the effect of the increase, and the actuarial assumptions and methodology used.

The new section 203(f)(8)(C) provides that any new exempt amount so determined will not take effect, even if the Secretary has published the new exempt amount or notified the congressional committees as required by the new section, if a law which either provides for a general benefit increase or increases the exempt amount is enacted during the year in which the exempt amount determination is made.

## SECTION 103. SPECIAL MINIMUM PRIMARY INSURANCE AMOUNT

Section 103 of the bill provides for higher benefits for those who have had coverage under social security (at relatively low earnings)

for many years.

Section 103(a) of the bill amends section 215(a) of the Social Security Act to provide a special minimum primary insurance amount which will apply when it is higher than the primary insurance amount related to the worker's average monthly earnings under social security. A worker's special minimum primary insurance amount will be equal to \$5 multiplied by the number of his years of coverage under the

program, up to a maximum of 30 years and \$150.

Section 103(a) of the bill also provides that the number of years of coverage for purposes of determining the amount of an individual's special minimum benefit for the period 1937–1950 will be determined on a presumptive basis by dividing the total wages credited to the individual for years after 1936 and prior to 1951 by \$900, disregarding any fraction and limiting the total to 14. The number of years of coverage after 1950 will be determined on an individual-year basis; each year for which the individual is credited with wages and self-employment income of at least 25 percent of the contribution and benefit base will be a year of coverage.

Section 103(b) of the bill amends section 203(a) of the Act to provide that whenever an individual's monthly benefit is based on a special minimum primary insurance amount that does not appear in column IV (primary insurance amounts related to average monthly earnings) of the benefit table, the applicable maximum family benefit will be the higher of the amount in column V (maximum family benefits) of the table on the line on which the next higher primary insurance amount appears in column IV or, if larger, the largest maximum family benefit which was applicable to the family prior to February 1971.

Section 103(c) of the bill amends section 215(a)(2) of the Act to provide that when an individual who is entitled to a disability benefit based on the special minimum primary insurance amount attains age 65, dies, or becomes entitled to an old-age benefit, his primary insurance amount will be equal to the special minimum primary insurance

amount on which his disability benefit was based.

Section 103(d) of the bill amends section 215(f)(2) of the Act to provide that in addition to recomputing a worker's primary insurance amount related to his average monthly earnings, additional years of coverage will be taken into account in recomputing the special minimum primary insurance amount. Both recomputations are necessary because both primary insurance amounts remain as continuing alter-

natives for benefit purposes.

Section 103(e) of the bill provides the method to be used in determining an individual's old-age or disability insurance benefit whenever such benefits are based alternately on a special minimum primary insurance amount and on the individual's primary insurance amount related to his average monthly earnings. Such benefits would be increased by the amount of the difference between the two primary insurance amounts, with such difference reduced when the individual is under age 65. This method is the same as the one used in present law when an individual's primary insurance amount related to his average monthly earnings is increased as a result of a general benefit increase or an increase resulting from a recomputation.

Section 103(f) of the bill provides that special minimum primary insurance amounts will be effective for monthly benefits for and after January 1972 regardless of when a worker became entitled to monthly benefits or died, and for lump-sum death payments in the case of deaths

occurring in and after January 1972.

SECTION 104, INCREASED WIDOW'S AND WIDOWER'S INSURANCE BENEFITS

Section 104 of the bill provides increased widow's and widower's benefits for people who become entitled to such benefits after attaining age 62. A widow or widower who first becomes entitled to benefits at or after age 65 can get a benefit equal to 100 percent of the primary insurance amount of the deceased worker if the worker had not received a reduced old-age benefit before his death. A widow's or widower's benefit amount will be actuarially reduced by 1940 of 1 percent per month for each month for which the benefit is paid between ages 60 and 65, so that at age 62 the benefit amount will be 82.9 percent of the worker's primary insurance amount and at age 60 it will be 71.5 percent. However, if the deceased worker had, at any time, received actuarially reduced benefits, the benefit amount of the surviving spouse may

not be more than the larger the amount of the benefit the deceased worker would be getting if he were alive or 82½ percent of his primary insurance amount.

Section 104(a) (1) of the bill amends section 202(e) (1) of the Social Security Act to provide that a widow cannot become entitled to widow's benefits if she is entitled to an old-age insurance benefit that is equal to or greater than her deceased husband's primary insurance amount, rather than an old-age insurance benefit equal to or greater than 82½ percent of his primary insurance amount as under present law. The section also provides that based only on her own earnings the wife's benefits in the case of a widow who is between ages 62 and 65 and who is not entitled to a benefit on the basis of only her own earnings, will be automatically converted to widow's insurance benefits. A woman who is entitled to an old-age benefit (or disability benefit) and a wife's benefit, and whose husband dies while she is between ages 62 and 65, must choose whether to take the reduced widow's benefit or wait until age 65 to take it. Mother's insurance benefits will be automatically converted to widow's benefits at age 65.

Section 104(a)(2) of the bill amends section 202(e)(2) of the Act to provide that, subject to actuarial reduction and the provision for benefits for widows who remarry after age 60, the amount of a widow's benefit will be 100 percent of the deceased worker's primary insurance amount, except that if the deceased worker was, at any time, entitled to an actuarially reduced old-age benefit, the widow's insurance benefit after any actuarial reduction will not be more than the larger of the amount of the benefit the deceased worker would have been getting if he were still living, or 82½ percent of the worker's primary insurance amount.

Section 104(b)(1) of the bill amends section 202(f)(1) of the Act to provide that a widower cannot become entitled to a dependent widower's benefit if he is entitled to an old-age insurance benefit that is equal to or greater than his deceased wife's primary insurance amount, rather than an old-age insurance benefit equal to or greater than 821/2 percent of her primary insurance amount as under present law. It also provides that reduced husband's benefits will be automatically converted to widower's insurance benefits if the widower is age 65 or over at the time of his wife's death or if the widower was under age 65, getting a reduced husband's benefit, and was not entitled to a benefit on the basis of his own earnings or on the basis of such earnings combined with those of his wife. A man who is entitled to an old-age benefit or disability benefit based only on his own earnings and a husband's benefit and whose wife dies while he is between ages 62 and 65 must choose whether to take the reduced widower's benefit or wait until age 65 to take it.

Section 104(b)(2) of the bill amends 202(f)(3) of the Act to provide that, subject to actuarial reduction and the provision for benefits for widowers who remarry after age 62, a widower's benefit will be 100 percent of the deceased wife's primary insurance amount, except that if the wife was, at any time, entitled to an actuarially reduced old-age insurance benefit, the widower's insurance benefit will not be more than the larger of the amount of the benefit the deceased wife

would have been getting if she were still living or 82½ percent of the wife's primary insurance amount.

Sections 104(c) (1) and 104(c) (2) of the bill amend section 203 of the Act to eliminate the application of the retirement test to disabled widows and widowers until age 65, when the widow's or widower's benefit based on a disability is converted to an aged widow's or widower's benefit.

Section 104(d) of the bill amends section 202(k) (3) (A) of the Act to provide that where an individual is entitled to a benefit on the basis of his own earnings and to a widow's or widower's benefit, the widow's or widower's benefit, after any applicable reduction to take account of the family maximum provisions and for age, will be reduced to take account of the reduced benefit of the deceased spouse. The widow's or widower's benefit will then be further reduced by the amount of the old-age or disability benefit (reduced for age where applicable).

Section 104(e) (1) of the bill amends section 202(q)(1) of the Act to provide for widows and widowers a new actuarial reduction factor of 1%0 of 1 percent per month from age 60 to 65 and 43%40 of 1 percent per month from age 50 to 60. This change in the actuarial reduction factor for disabled widows and widowers provides benefits between ages 50 and 60 equal to those provided under present law. The benefit payable at age 50 equals 50 percent of the deceased worker's

primary insurance amount.

Section 104(e) (2) of the bill amends section 202(q) (7) of the Act to revise (in the light of the other amendments made by section 104) the description of the periods over which old-age, wife's, husband's, widow's and widower's benefits are actuarially reduced, and to provide for a recomputation of benefits at age 62 and at age 65 to adjust the number of months in the period over which benefits are actuarially reduced. This adjustment is necessary to eliminate the reduction for months when actuarially reduced benefits were not received—for example, when benefits were withheld because of earnings from work. Under present law this recomputation is only provided for widows and widowers at age 62 and for other beneficiaries at age 65.

Section 104(e)(3) of the bill amends section 202(q)(9) of the Act to change the definition of retirement age for widows and widowers to age 65 as is now the case of old-age, wife's, and husband's insurance

benefits.

Section 104(f) of the bill amends section 202(m) of the Act to provide that the benefit of a sole surviving beneficiary prior to any reduction because of entitlement to another type of benefit under 202(k) (3) (as amended by the bill) will not be less than the minimum primary

insurance amount in the benefit table.

The amended section 202(m) provides in paragraph (2), which deals specifically with the benefit for a sole surviving widow or widower, that such benefit after reduction for age will not be less than \$70.40 if the person is first entitled to the benefit at age 62 or later and that, if the person is first entitled to benefits before age 62, such benefit will not be less than \$70.40 reduced by the amount by which it would be reduced if retirement age for a widow or widower were age 62 rather than age 65. The maximum reduction that would apply in the latter case would be for 24 months if benefits begin at age 60.

The amended section 202(m) provides in paragraph (3) that where a person is entitled to a sole survivor widow's or widower's benefit for the month before any month (after December 1971) in which a general benefit increase is effective, the benefit will be increased by an amount derived by multiplying \$70.40 by the percentage of the benefit increase with such amount reduced if she (or he) is under age 62.

Section 104(g) of the bill directs the Secretary to redetermine the amount of the widow's and widower's benefits if not determined under section 202(m) for people entitled to such benefits for December 1971 as if the amendments made by section 104 had been in effect at the time of their initial entitlement, with the redetermined amounts being effective for months after December 1971.

Section 104(h) of the bill provides that where 2 or more members of a family are entitled to benefits for December 1971 and at least one of them is a widow or widower who is entitled for January 1972 to a benefit recomputed under the amendments made by the section, and the family maximum benefit provision applies for January 1972, the benefits for each family member for months after December 1971 will not be less than they would have been if the amendments made by

section 104 had not been enacted.

Section 104(i) of the bill provides that these amendments will be effective for monthly benefits beginning with January 1972.

# SECTION 105. INCREASE OF EARNINGS COUNTED FOR BENEFIT AND TAX PURPOSES

Section 105 of the bill raises the amount of annual earnings that is subject to social security contributions and counted toward social security benefits (the contribution and benefit base) to \$10,200 beginning with 1972, rather than to \$9,000 beginning with 1972 as provided under present law.

# Amendments to Title II of the Social Security Act

Definition of wages

Section 105(a)(1) of the bill amends section 209(a) of the Social Security Act (defining "wages" for benefit purposes) to make the \$10,200 contribution and benefit base applicable to wages paid in 1972, and to provide that the contribution and benefit base applicable to wages paid in years after 1972 will be the amount in effect as determined under section 230 of the Act (relative to automatic adjustment of the contribution and benefit base).

Definition of self-employment income

Section 105(a) (2) of the bill amends section 211(b) (1) of the Act (defining "self-employment income" for benefit purposes) to make the \$10,200 contribution and benefit base applicable for taxable years beginning in 1972, and to provide that the contribution and benefit base applicable for defining self-employment income in years beginning after 1972 will be the amount in effect determined under section 230 of the Act (relative to automatic adjustment of the contribution and benefit base).

Quarter of coverage
Section 105(a)(3) of the bill amends clauses (ii) and (iii) of section 213(a)(2) of the act (defining "quarter of coverage") to provide

that an individual will be credited with a quarter of coverage for each quarter of calendar year 1972 if his wages for such year equal \$10,200, and for each quarter of a calendar year after 1972 if his wages for such year equal the contribution and benefit base then in effect as determined under section 230 of the Act (relating to automatic adjustment of the contribution and benefit base). An individual will also be credited with a quarter of coverage for each quarter any part of which falls within a taxable year beginning in 1972 in which the sum of his wages and self-employment income equals \$10,200, and for each quarter any part of which falls within a taxable year beginning after 1972 in which the sum of his wages and self-employment income equal the contribution and benefit base then in effect as so determined.

### Arerage monthly wage

Section 105(a) (4) of the bill amends section 215(e) (1) of the Act (relating to average monthly wages) to increase the maximum amount of annual earnings that may be counted in the computation of a person's average monthly wage for purposes of determining benefit amounts from \$9,000 to \$10,200 for calendar year 1972, and to the amount in effect for calendar years after 1972 as determined under section 230 of the Act (the section related to the automatic adjustment of the contribution and benefit base).

### Amendments to the Internal Revenue Code of 1954

## Definition of self-employment income

Section 105(b)(1) of the bill amends section 1402(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (defining "self-employment income" for social security tax purposes) by increasing the amount of annual self-employment income subject to social security contributions from \$9,000 to \$10,200 for taxable years beginning in 1972, and to the amount in effect as determined under section 230 of the Act (relative to automatic adjustment of the contribution and benefit base) for taxable years beginning after 1972.

#### Definition of wages

Section 105(b)(2) of the bill amends section 3121(a)(1) of the Code (defining "wages" for social security tax purposes) by increasing the amount of annual wages subject to contributions from \$9,000 to \$10,200 for the calendar year 1972, and to the amount in effect as determined under section 230 of the Act (relative to automatic adjustment of the contribution and benefit base) for calendar years after 1972.

### Federal service

Section 105(b) (3) of the bill amends section 3122 of the Code (relating to Federal service) to conform its provisions to the increase in the contribution and benefit base from \$9,000 to \$10,200 in 1972, and to the amount in effect as determined under section 230 of the Act (relative to automatic adjustment of the contribution and benefit base) thereafter.

## Returns in the case of certain governmental employees

Section 105(b)(4) of the bill amends section 3125 of the Code (relating to returns in the case of governmental employees in Gnam,

American Samoa, and the District of Columbia) to conform its provisions to the increase in the contribution and benefit base from \$9,000 to \$10,200 in 1972, and to the amount in effect as determined under section 230 of the Act (relative to automatic adjustment of the contribution and benefit base) thereafter.

### Special refunds of employee contributions

Sections 105(b) (5) and 105(b) (6) of the bill amend section 6413(c) of the Code (relating to special refunds of social security contributions paid by an employee who in any calendar year had more than one employer and had total wages in excess of the maximum which may be counted) to conform the special refund provisions to the \$10,200 contribution and benefit base for the calendar year 1972, and to the base in effect as determined under section 230 of the Act (relative to automatic adjustment of the contribution and benefit base) after 1972.

### Estimated tax on self-employment income

Section 105(b)(7) of the bill amends section 6654(d)(2)(B)(ii) of the Code (relating to failure to pay estimated income tax on adjusted self-employment income) to conform to the \$10,200 contribution and benefit base in 1972 and to the base in effect as determined under section 230 of the Act (relative to automatic adjustment of the contribution and benefit base) after 1972.

### Benefit table extension

Section 105(c) of the bill amends section 215(a) of the Act to conform the benefit table to the increase in the contribution and benefit base to \$10,200 by including average monthly earnings between \$751 and \$850 and include corresponding primary insurance amounts and maximum family benefits.

#### Effective dates

Section 105(d) of the bill provides effective dates for the changes made by the section. The amendments (relating to wages) made by sections 105(a)(1), 105(a)(3)(A), and 105(b) (except paragraphs (1) and (7) thereof) are applicable with respect to remuneration paid after December 1971; the amendments (relating to self-employment income) made by sections 105(a)(2), 105(a)(3)(B), 105(b)(1), and 105(b)(7) are applicable with respect to taxable years beginning after 1971; and the amendment made by section 105(a)(4) (relating to average monthly wages) is applicable with respect to calendar years after 1971. The amendment made by subsection (c) (relating to the extension of the benefit table) is applicable for months after December 1971.

#### SECTION 106, DELAYED RETIREMENT CREDIT

Section 106 of the bill provides for more equitable treatment for those old-age insurance beneficiaries who work and forego social security benefits, and whose first social security benefit is payable after age 65.

Section 106(a) of the bill amends section 202 of the Social Security Act by adding after subsection (v) a new subsection (w), which provides that if a person is first entitled to benefits payable at age 65 is not reduced for age under section 202(q) his old-age benefit (other than a

benefit based on a special minimum primary insurance amount) payable without regard to this subsection will be increased by 1/12 of 1 percent of such benefit for each increment month—that is, each month beginning with the month in which the person attains age 65 or, if later, January 1971, and prior to the month in which such person attains age 72, in which the person was a fully insured individual. and was not entitled to an old-age benefit or had deductions equal to his monthly benefit on account of work. Increment months will be redetermined annually and will be determined for the first time for 1971 with the increase effective for January 1972. Increment months will be counted through the month prior to the effective month of the increase. The total number of increment months for a person who attains age 72 after 1971 will be determined through the month before the month in which he attains age 72 and the increase will be effective for the month in which he becomes age 72. This provision is applied after reduction under the maximum family provision (section 203(a) of the Act), In the case of a husband and wife who are receiving old-age benefits based on their combined earnings under section 202(a)(3) of the Act (as added by section 110 of the bill) this provision will be applied separately to the benefit of each so that the husband's increments will apply only to his combined earnings benefit and the wife's increments will apply only to her combined earnings benefit.

Section 106(b) of the bill amends section 202(a) of the Act to include a conforming amendment in the provision relative to old-age

insurance benefits.

Section 106(c) of the bill provides that these amendments will be applicable to old-age insurance benefits payable for months after 1971.

### SECTION 107, AGE-62 COMPUTATION POINT FOR MEN

Section 107 of the bill provides for determining the number of years to be used in figuring a man's insured status and the average monthly earnings on which his benefits are based by taking into account only the period up to age 62, as is the case for women, rather than the period up to age 65 as under present law.

Section 107(a) of the bill amends section 214(a)(1) of the Social Security Act to provide that the benefit eligibility of a male worker will be based on the number of years up to the year in which he attains age 62. Under the law in effect prior to this amendment, benefit eligibility of a male worker was based on the number of years up to the

year in which he attains age 65.

Section 107(b) of the bill amends section 215(b) (3) of the Act to provide that, in determining the number of years to be used in figuring the average monthly earnings of a male worker, there will be taken into account only years up to the year in which he attains age 62. Under the law in effect prior to this amendment, years up to the year in which a male worker attains age 65 were taken into account in figuring his average monthly earnings.

Section 107(c) of the bill amends section 223(a) (2) of the Act to provide that the disability insurance benefit of a male worker will be computed as though he attained age 62 in the first month of his waiting period or, when the waiting period is waived, the first month of his entitlement to disability benefits. Elapsed years for the disability

benefit computation will not include the year in which he attains age

62 or any year thereafter.

Section 107(d) of the bill amends section 223(c)(1)(A) of the Act to make the reference to a fully insured individual therein applicable to any individual who had attained age 62 with no distinction between a man and a woman.

Sections 107(e) and 107(f) of the bill amend sections 227(a) and 227(b) of the Act to make conforming changes in the transitional in-

sured status provisions for special age-72 payments.

Section 107(g) of the bill amends sections 209(i) and 216(i)(3)(A) of the Act to make certain references therein applicable to an individual who attains age 62 with no distinction between a man and a woman.

Section 107(h) of the bill amends section 303(g) (1) of the Social Security Amendments of 1960 to provide that the primary insurance amount of an individual who attains age 62 before 1961 can continue to be computed under the provisions of the Act before the 1960 Amendments.

Section 107(i) of the bill amends section 3121(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 to provide that wages for social security tax purposes will not include any payment (other than sick or vacation pay) made to an employee with no distinction between a man and a woman after the month in which he attains age 62 if the employee did not work for the employer in the period for which the payment is made.

Section 107(j) provides a three-step grading-in of the age-62 computation point for men.

Paragraph (1) provides that the amendments made by section 107, except for the amendment made by subsection (i) and the amendment made by subsection (g) to section 209(i), will be fully effective for men who attain or would attain age 62 after December 1973. The amendments to section 209(i) of the Act and to section 3121(a) of the Code will apply only to payments made to an employee after 1973.

Paragraph (2) reduces by 1 the number of clapsed years used in computing the benefits of a man who reaches 62 in 1972 and reduces by 2 the number of such years for a man who reaches 62 in 1973. Any benefits payable for months before 1972 will be paid based on the law

in effect before enactment of these amendments.

Paragraph (3) provides that in sections 214(a)(1), 223(c)(1)(A), 209(i), and 216(i)(3)(A) of the Act and section 3121(a)(9) of the Code the number of quarters of coverage required for insured status is to be decreased by 1 for a man who reaches 62 in 1972, and by 2 for a man who reaches 62 in 1973.

#### SECTION 108. ADDITIONAL DROP-OUT YEARS

Section 108 of the bill provides for shortening the period over which earnings are averaged for purposes of determining benefits for those who have worked regularly under the social security program for many years.

Section 108(a) of the bill amends section 215(b)(2)(A) of the Social Security Act to provide for 1 additional year to be dropped from the period over which a person's earnings are averaged for pur-

poses of determining social security benefits for each 15 years of coverage such person has under social security. The definition of a year of coverage is the same as the definition contained in the special minimum benefit provision (added by Sec. 103 of the bill), but without the limitation in that provision that the number of years of coverage cannot exceed 30.

Section 108(b) of the bill provides that this amendment will be effective for the purpose of, computing or recomputing, effective for months after December 1971, average monthly earnings of people who are born after January 1, 1910, and (1) who become entitled to old-age or disability insurance benefits after 1971, (2) who die after 1971, or (3) who were entitled to disability insurance benefits for December 1971.

SECTION 109, ELECTION TO RECEIVE ACTUARIALLY REDUCED BENEFITS IN ONE CATEGORY NOT TO BE APPLICABLE TO CERTAIN BENEFITS IN OTHER CATEGORIES

Section 109 of the bill eliminates the provision in present law under which a person who is eligible for both an old-age insurance benefit and a wife's or husband's insurance benefit, and who files for either before age 65, is deemed to have filed for both. It also eliminates the provision in present law under which a person who gets a reduced benefit in one benefit category has any subsequent benefit he gets reduced to take account of the fact that he got the first benefit early.

Section 109(a)(1) of the bill amends section 202(b)(1)(E) and section 202(c)(1)(D) of the Social Security Act to provide that a wife or dependent husband can be entitled to a wife's or dependent husband's benefit if she (or he) is not entitled to an old-age or disability insurance benefit or is entitled to such a benefit which is less than one-half of her spouse's primary insurance amount. (Under present law, such a wife or dependent husband who is entitled to an old-age or disability insurance benefit cannot be eligible for a wife's or dependent husband's benefit unless the primary insurance amount on which the old-age or disability insurance benefit is based is less than one-half of the spouse's primary insurance amount.)

Section 109(a)(2) of the bill amends section 202(b)(1)(K) and section 202(c)(1) of the Act to provide that a wife's and dependent husband's benefit cligibility will terminate when a wife or dependent husband becomes entitled to an old-age insurance benefit or disability benefit equal to or exceeding one-half of the spouse's primary insurance amount.

Section 109(b)(1) of the bill amends section 202(q)(3)(A) of the Act to provide that the methods of figuring a reduction under section 202(q)(3)(B) (providing for reduced wife's or husband's benefits to take account of the receipt of an actuarially reduced old-age insurance benefit) or a reduction under section 202(q)(3)(C) (providing for reduced wife's, husband's, widow's, or widower's benefits to take account of the receipt of a reduced disability benefit) will only apply if they provide a higher benefit than would be payable if the receipt of the reduced old-age insurance benefit in section 202(q)(3)(B) or of the disability insurance benefit in section 202(q)(3)(C) were ignored. Present law will continue to be applied in cases where it would produce a higher benefit.

Section 109(b)(2) of the bill amends section 202(q)(3) of the Act by striking out subparagraph (E) (providing for the reduction of an old-age insurance benefit to take account of the prior receipt of a reduced widow's or widower's benefit), subparagraph (F) (providing for the reduction in a disability insurance benefit beginning with or after age 62 to take account of the receipt of a reduced widow's or widower's benefit), and subparagraph (G) (providing for a similar reduction in a disability insurance benefit received before age 62). The effect of these changes is to eliminate the reduction in an old-age insurance benefit or a disability insurance benefit which would be made under present law to take account of receipt of reduced widow's or widower's benefits.

Section 109(c) of the bill repeals section 202(r) of the Act, which provides that a person who is eligible in a given month for a benefit as a retired worker and also for a benefit as a sponse is deemed to have filed for both if he files for either.

Section 109(d)(1) of the bill provides that (subject to section 109(d)(2)) the amendments made by section 109(a) will be effective with respect to benefits for and after the sixth month after the month of enactment on the basis of applications filed in or after the month of enactment.

Section 109(d)(2) of the bill provides for a redetermination in the case of a person who became entitled to old-age insurance benefits or disability insurance benefits before attaining age 65 and before the month of the enactment of the bill and who is on the rolls in the fifth month following the month of enactment, and whose entitlement to benefits as a wife or dependent husband was prevented because of his entitlement to an old-age insurance benefit or disability insurance benefit on the basis of a primary insurance amount which was greater than one-half of his spouse's primary insurance amount. A written request must be filed for the redetermination in addition to the application for wife's or dependent husband's benefits. The redetermination will be calculated as specified in the succeeding provisions of section 109, and will be effective for and after the sixth month after the month of enactment.

Section  $109(e)(1)(\Lambda)$  of the bill provides that (subject to the succeeding provisions of section 109 the amendments made by section 109(b) will be effective with respect to benefits for and after the sixth month after the month of enactment.

Section 109(e)(1)(B) of the bill provides that, in the case of a person who was on the rolls before the sixth month after the month of enactment, the amendments made by section 109(b) will be effective only if the person files a written request for a redetermination of his benefit amount. The written request must take the form of a request for a redetermination of the benefit amount under section 109(e)(2) in the case of a person who is simultaneously entitled to two actuarially reduced benefits and who was deemed (or, except for the fact that an application was filed, would have been deemed) under section 202(r) of the Act to have filed an application for the second such benefit; in the latter case the redetermination will apply unless the person who filed the request refuses to accept it. If the request is filed before the end of the sixth month after the month of enactment, the redetermination will be effective with respect to benefits for months beginning with

such sixth month: if the request is not filed before the end of the sixth month after the month of enactment the redetermination will be effective with respect to benefits for and after the second month following the month in which the request is filed.

Section 109(e)(1)(C) of the bill provides that section 109(c) (eliminating the deemed filing provisions) will be effective on the basis of

applications filed on or after the date of enactment of the bill.

Section 109(e)(2)(A) of the bill provides that where a person entitled to reduced benefits in the fifth month following the month of enactment was deemed (or, except for the fact that an application was filed, would have been deemed) to have filed an application for benefits in another category, and files a written request for a redetermination, the Secretary will redetermine both benefits as though there had been no deemed filing requirement at the time the person applied for benefits.

Section 109(e)(2)(B) of the bill provides the method for redetermining benefits in cases where a person was deemed (or, except for the fact that he filed an application, would have been deemed) to have filed for one of the benefits. The smaller benefit is assumed to have been taken in the first month of the simultaneous entitlement. The larger benefit is assumed to have been taken in the month in which the redetermination is effective (or at age 65, if earlier). The amount of total benefits actually received prior to the effective month of the redetermination is measured against the amount of total benefits which would have been received if the amendments had always been in effect. The excess of the former (if any) over the latter will be recovered to the extent and in the manner provided in section 109(e) (2)(C) and (E).

Section 109(e)(2)(C) of the bill provides that an individual who requests a redetermination will be notified by the Secretary of the amount of the benefits as redetermined, the amount of the excess to be recovered, and the extent of the period over which recovery will be made. The individual will have 30 days after notification is mailed to

reject the redetermination.

Section 109(e)(2)(D) of the bill provides that if the request for a redetermination is filed before the end of the sixth month following the month of enactment and the redetermination is not refused, it will be effective with respect to benefits for and after the sixth month after the month of enactment. If the request is filed after the sixth month after the month of enactment and the redetermination is not refused, it will be effective with respect to benefits for and after the second month after the month in which the redetermination is requested.

Section 109(e)(2)(E) of the bill provides that the Secretary will recover any excess in benefits paid to a person to which a redetermination applies only by withholding the amount of the monthly increase in such person's benefits resulting from the amendments made by sections 109(a). (b), and (c); the person can receive no less in total monthly benefits after the redetermination than he was receiving before the redetermination was effective. (If the beneficiary dies, recovery will be considered complete, and no recovery will be made from any benefit that is not increased as a result of this section or these amendments).

Section 109(f) of the bill (a saving clause) prevents any reduction in benefits for other members of a family when benefits for the sixth month after the enactment of the bill are increased by a redetermination under this section for someone who was getting benefits on the same earnings record in the month in which the redetermination is made.

SECTION 110. COMPUTATION OF BENEFITS BASED ON COMBINED EARNINGS OF HUSBAND AND WIFE

Section 110 provides for a new method of computing benefits for a couple where both members of the couple have worked regularly

under the social security program.

Section 110(a) of the bill amends section 202(a) of the Social Security Act to provide that the primary insurance amounts of a couple will be based on their combined earnings where greater total benefits result, if each member of the couple reaches age 62 after 1971, is entitled to an old-age insurance benefit or a disability benefit, and has 20 or more years of coverage under the social security program after the marriage. A couple's carnings will be combined only if each of the couple elects to have the earnings combined, and once both elect to have their earnings combined the arrangement will be permanent unless a divorce is granted or one member of the couple dies. Benefits determined under this alternative computation method will begin with the later of January 1972, the month in which the election by both is filed, or, if both of the couple do not file an election in the same month, the month in which the second election is filed. As with the special minimum primary insurance amount provision added by section 103 of the bill, a year of coverage for a year after 1950 will be a year in which the worker has earnings of at least 25 percent of the contribution and benefit base in effect in the year; and, for years before 1951, one year of coverage (up to a maximum of 14) will be presumed for each \$900 of cumulative earnings in the period 1937-1950. For this purpose, a year wholly within a period of disability, which is ordinarily excluded from the computation base years (years available for averaging earnings for purposes of computing primary insurance amounts), can be a year of coverage. Each member of a couple will get a primary insurance amount equal to 75 percent of the amount derived from the combined earnings.

The earnings of the man and wife in each year will be combined and credited up to the maximum amount of annual earnings that is creditable for social security purposes for the year. Earnings that are taken into account in a recomputation of one of the couple's indiviual earnings can be taken into account for purposes of a recomputation of the combined earnings. The combined-earnings record of a couple will be the same as the earnings record that would exist if only one of the couple had worked and had all the earnings. Where their computation periods differ, a couple's benefit will be computed on the basis of the longer computation period. For purposes of computing or recomputing the average monthly wage based on combined earnings where one or both of the couple is entitled to a disability insurance benefit, the person entitled to the disability benefit will be deemed to have attained age 62 in the first month of the waiting period for disability benefits or in the first month of entitlement to disability bene-

fits where the waiting period requirement is waived. Only benefits to the couple will be based on combined earnings; primary insurance amounts and benefits to children and other dependents and to survivors, and lump-sum death payments, will continue to be based on the worker's primary insurance amount related to his own average monthly earnings.

For purposes of the provisions of title II other than section 202(a), the term "primary insurance amount" does not include a primary insurance amount based on combined earnings, but means only a primary insurance amount based on the worker's own earnings unless other-

wise specified.

Section 110(b) of the bill amends section 202(e) of the Act to provide that in any case where a widow was entitled for the month before the month in which her husband died to a benefit (either old-age or disability) based on combined earnings, (1) her widow's benefit will be based on her husband's primary insurance amount that is related to his average monthly earnings, (2) the benefit of her deceased husband will be deemed to have been based on a primary insurance amount related to his average monthly earnings, and (3) her widow's benefit after reduction (where applicable) for the family maximum provision, for her age, and to take account of a reduction in her husband's benefit, will not be less than the dollar amount that her old-age or disability combined earnings benefit would be if her husband were still living. Earnings can be combined only through the year of the spouse's death in determining this dollar amount guarantee; automatic and legislated benefit increases would apply to the guarantee. The guarantee ceases to apply when the widow remarries.

Section 110(c) of the bill amends section 202(f) of the Act to make changes applicable in the determination of dependent widowers' benefits which correspond to those made by section 110(b) of the bill for widows. The limit on the amount of a dependent widower's benefits to the amount his wife would have been getting were she still alive means the amount she would have been getting based on her own earnings, and, again, a dependent widower who was getting benefits based on combined earnings in the month before his wife's death will be guaranteed that his widower's benefits will not be lower than this amount. The guarantee ceases to apply when the widower remarries. In recomputing the widower's benefits his earnings in the year of his wife's death can be included in the combined earnings, but years after

that can be added to his own earnings record only.

Section 110(d) of the bill amends section 203(a) of the Act (relative to maximum family benefits) to provide that when a person's primary insurance amount is based on combined earnings and his entitlement has not terminated, the total of the benefits of others entitled on the basis of the person's individual earnings will be determined as though his primary insurance amount had been based on his individual

earnings rather than on the combined earnings.

Section 110(e) of the bill amends section 215(a) of the Act to provide that when an individual is entitled to a disability insurance benefit based on combined earnings for the month preceding the month in which he attained age 65, dies, or becomes entitled to an old-age insurance benefit, his primary insurance amount will be equal to the primary insurance amount on which such disability insurance benefit was based.

Section 110(e) of the bill also amends section 215(a) of the Act to provide that where a person's primary insurance amount is computed on the basis of the couple's combined earnings and that person has individual earnings after 1965, his primary insurance amount related to his individual average monthly earnings will be recomputed without regard to the combined earnings provision. Such recomputations are needed (1) so that the earnings can be included in a recomputation of the combined earnings, (2) in order to be able to determine the benefit payable on the basis of the individual's own earnings when the combined earnings method no longer applies on the death of either worker or their divorce, and (3) in order to determine the dependent's benefits payable on the basis of the individual's own earnings while he is getting a benefit based on the combined earnings.

Section 110(e) of the bill also amends section 223(a)(2) of the Act to make it clear that disability benefits can be based on combined

earnings.

Section 110(f) of the bill provides that the computation of benefits based on the combined earnings of a husband and wife will be effective with respect to monthly benefits for months after December 1971.

### SECTION 111. LIBERALIZATION OF EARNINGS TEST

Section 111(a) of the bill amends paragraphs (1), (3), and (4) (B) of section 203(f) of the Social Security Act to increase the amount of earnings a beneficiary may have in a year and still be paid full benefits for the year. It also makes a conforming amendment in paragraph (1)(A) of section 203(h) of the Act, which requires beneficiaries to report if their earnings exceed the permissible amount in a year.

Paragraph (1) of the amended section 203(f) provides that, for purposes of the retirement test (the provision in the law under which some or all benefits are withheld when a beneficiary under age 72 has exceeded a specified amount of earnings), any earnings of a beneficiary in excess of the amount he may earn and still get full benefits for the year (the annual exempt amount) will not be charged to any month in which he did not engage in self-employment and render services for wages of more than \$166.66% (instead of \$140 as in present law). The effect of this change is that regardless of a beneficiary's total earnings in a year his benefits may not be withheld for any month in which he did not have wages of more than \$166.66% (and did not engage in self-employment).

Paragraph (3) of the amended section 203(f) provides that a person's "excess earnings" for any taxable year will be 50 percent of his earnings in excess of \$166.66% (instead of \$140 as in present law) times the number of months in his taxable year. The effect of this change is that a beneficiary will get a benefit each month of a year if his earnings for the year do not exceed \$2,000 (instead of \$1.680 as under present law), and that the provision under which benefits are reduced by \$1 for each \$2 of earnings will apply to all earnings above \$2,000 (instead of only to the first \$1.200 of excess earnings).

Paragraph (4) (B) of the amended section 203(f) provides that in determining whether a beneficiary earned more in a month than \$166.66\%3 (instead of \$140 as under present law) for purposes of applying the monthly exemption under paragraph (1) of such section,

he will be presumed to have earned more than that amount until it is shown to the satisfaction of the Secretary that he did not do so.

Paragraph  $(1)(\Lambda)$  of the amended section 203(h) requires a beneficiary to report his earnings to the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare whenever he has excess earnings as defined in the amended section 203(f).

Section 111(b) of the bill provides that these amendments will be effective for taxable years ending after December 1971.

# SECTION 112, EXCLUSION OF CERTAIN EARNINGS IN YEAR OF ATTAINING AGE 72

Section 112(a) of the bill amends section 203(f)(3) of the Social Security Act to provide that, in the year in which an individual attains age 72, earnings in and after the month in which he attains age 72 will not be counted in determining his excess earnings for such year.

Section 112(b) provides that this change will be effective for tax-

able years ending after December 1971.

### SECTION 113, REDUCED BENEFITS FOR WIDOWERS AT AGE 60

Section 113 of the bill provides for actuarially reduced benefits for nondisabled widowers as early as age 60, as is now the case for widows. The benefit amount is to be reduced by <sup>19</sup>/<sub>40</sub> of 1 percent per month for each month the benefit is taken before age 65. (See section 104 of the bill for explanation of benefit amounts from age 62 to 65 as provided by the bill.)

Security Act to provide widowers' insurance benefits for nondisabled dependent widowers at age 60 (as is now the case for widows), to provide that benefits to a widower will not terminate with the third month following the month in which his disability ceases if he attains age 60 (rather than age 62 as under present law) before the end of such third month, and to provide that widower's benefits will not terminate if a widower remarries after age 60 (rather than after age 62 as under present law).

Section 113(b)(1) of the bill amends section 203(c) of the Act and section 113(b)(2) of the bill amends section 203(f) of the Act, to provide that the retirement test is inapplicable to widowers between age 60 and 65 only if they became entitled to benefits before age 60 (i.e., on the basis of a disability) rather than before age 62 as under present law. This makes the application of the retirement test to midoways consistent with its application to widows

widowers consistent with its application to widows.

Section 113(b)(3) of the bill amends section 222(b)(1) of the Act to provide that deductions from widowers' benefits for refusal to accept rehabilitation services will apply up to age 60, rather than up to age 62 as under present law, reflecting the fact that under these amendments nondisabled widowers' benefits will be available as early as age 60.

Section 113(b)(4) of the bill amends section 222(d)(1)(D) of the Act to provide for funding of rehabilitation services for widowers entitled to benefits before age 60, rather than before age 62 as under present law, reflecting the fact that under these amendments nondisabled widowers' benefits will be available as early as age 60.

Section 113(b)(5) of the bill amends section 225 of the Act to reflect the availability of nondisabled widowers' benefits as early as age 60 by providing for the suspension of widowers' benefits before age 60, rather than before age 62 as under present law, where the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare has information indicating that the widower has ceased to be under a disability.

Section 113(c) of the bill provides that these amendments will be effective for monthly benefits payable for months beginning with January 1972.

# SECTION 114, ENTITLEMENT TO CHILD'S INSURANCE BENEFITS BASED ON DISABILITY WHICH BEGAN BETWEEN AGE 18 AND 22

Section 114 of the bill provides child's insurance benefits to an otherwise qualified adult son or daughter if his disability has been continuous since before age 22 (rather than only if it was continuous since before age 18 as under present law). It also provides that a person whose child's insurance benefits were terminated because his disability had ceased may, if disabled again within 7 years after such termination, become re-entitled to child's insurance benefits on the basis of disability.

Section 114(a) of the bill amends section 202(d)(1)(B)(ii) of the Social Security Act to permit the payment of child's insurance benefits to an individual under a disability which began before he attained age 22 (rather than age 18).

Section 114(b) of the bill amends section 202(d)(1)(F) and (G) of the Act to provide that entitlement to child's insurance benefits will end, for a child who is over age 18 and disabled, with the second month following the month in which he ceases to be under a disability unless he is entitled as a full-time student under age 22.

Section 114(c) of the bill further amends section 202(d) (1) of the Act by adding at the end a new sentence which provides that child's insurance benefits will not be payable to an individual in any month in which the individual engages in substantial gainful activity if his continuing entitlement to such benefits is solely by reason of disability as defined in section 223(d) (1) (B) of the Act.

Section 114(d) of the bill amends subsection 202(d) (6) of the Act to provide that (1) a child whose benefits are terminated at or after age 18 can be re-entitled to child's benefits if he is disabled (as defined in section 223(d) of the Act) before age 22 or, if he was previously entitled to child's insurance benefits by reason of being under a disability, he again becomes disabled (as defined in section 223(d) of the Act) within 84 months after his prior benefits were terminated because his disability had ceased, and (2) such re-entitlement will end with the month preceding the month in which the child dies, marries, or (in certain cases) is adopted, or with the second month following the month disability ceases unless the child is entitled as a full-time student and has not attained age 22.

Section 114(e) of the bill makes changes in section 202(s) of the Act. Section 114(e)(1) amends section 202(s)(1) of the Act to exclude persons entitled to child's insurance benefits by reason of becoming disabled after attaining age 18 but before age 22 from the category of children aged 18-21 whose mothers are ineligible for benefits on the basis of having entitled children age 18-21 in their care.

Section 114(e)(2) amends section 202(s)(2) of the Act to extend to persons entitled to child's insurance benefits by reason of becoming disabled after attaining age 18 but before age 22 the provisions that permit a childhood disability beneficiary to continue to get benefits when he marries another beneficiary, and which permit such other beneficiary to continue to get benefits when he marries such childhood disability beneficiary. Section 114(e)(2) also amends section 202 (s) (3) of the Act to extend to the child entitled on the basis of a disability that began after age 18 but before age 22 (1) the exemption from the dependency requirements in present law for husband's and widower's benefits, (2) the provisions of existing law for terminating, in the case of a male childhood disability beneficiary, benefits payable to his spouse if his benefits as a disabled child terminate because he is no longer disabled, (3) the provisions of present law that exempt a disabled child from having his benefits withheld on account of work, and (4) the provisions of present law under which a disabled child can, upon marriage, become eligible as a wife, widow, husband, or widower beneficiary.

Section 114(f) of the bill provides that these amendments will apply with respect to monthly benefits for months after December 1971, except that in the case of an individual who is not entitled to benefits under section 202 of the Act for December 1971 they will apply only on the basis of an application filed after September 30, 1971.

Section 114(g) of the bill (a saving clause) protects beneficiaries on the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance benefit rolls in December 1971 in certain cases where an individual is made eligible for benefits by section 114. If an individual who is made eligible by this section becomes entitled to benefits for January 1972, then each member of the family who was entitled to benefits for December 1971 will get an amount no less than he would have received if the newly eligible person had not become entitled to benefits, in spite of the provisions of section 203(a) of the Act (relating to the limit on the total amount of benefits payable to a family). The benefit amount of the newly entitled person would be determined without regard to the saving clause.

# SECTION 115. CONTINUATION OF CHILD'S BENEFITS THROUGH END OF SEMESTER

Section 115(a) of the bill amends paragraph (7) of section 202(d) of the Social Security Act by adding a new subparagraph (D), which provides that a child who reaches age 22 while he is a full-time student, and who has not received or completed the requirements for a degree from a 4-year college or university, will be deemed not to have reached age 22 until the month following the end of the semester or quarter in which he is enrolled, or, if the educational institution in which he is enrolled is not operated on a semester or quarter system, until the month following the completion of the course in which he is enrolled, or the expiration of two calendar months whichever occurs first.

Section 115(b) of the bill provides that the amendment made by section 115(a) will apply with respect to benefits payable for months after December 1971.

SECTION 116. CHILD'S BENEFITS IN CASE OF CHILD ENTITLED ON MORE THAN ONE WAGE RECORD

Section 116 of the bill provides a more equitable method of determining benefits for a child who is entitled to benefits on more than one wage record.

Section 116(a) of the bill amends section 202(k)(2)(A) of the Social Security Act to provide that a child who is entitled to a child's insurance benefit on the wages and self-employment income of more than one insured individual will get a child's insurance benefit based on the wages and self-employment income of the insured individual which results in the largest benefit for the child without application of the family maximum provision and which would not result in a decrease in the benefits of others entitled on the same wages and self-employment income after the application of the family maximum provision, except that when the child cannot get benefits based on the wages and self-employment income of any insured individual without a resulting decrease in the benefits of others entitled on the same wages and self-employment income, the benefits of the child will be based on the wages and self-employment of the insured individual with the highest primary insurance amount.

Section 116(b) provides that these amendments will be effective for monthly benefits payable for months after December 1971.

# SECTION 117, ADOPTIONS BY DISABILITY AND OLD-AGE INSURANCE BENEFICIARIES

Section 117 of the bill repeals the requirements in present law which a child (other than a natural child or a stepchild) who is adopted by an old-age or disability insurance beneficiary after the latter becomes entitled to benefits must meet in order to qualify for child's benefits based on the beneficiary's earnings, and establishes new requirements.

Section 117(a) of the bill amends section 202(d) of the Social Security Act by replacing the existing paragraphs (8) and (9) of section 202(d) with a new paragraph (8). The new paragraph (8) provides that a child who is adopted by an old-age or disability insurance beneficiary after the latter becomes entitled to benefits will be deemed not to be dependent on the beneficiary, as required under the Act to be eligible for child's benefits, unless the child is the beneficiary's natural child or stepchild (as under present law) or unless all of the following conditions are met: the child was legally adopted by the beneficiary in an adoption decreed by a court of competent inrisdiction within the United States; the child was living with the beneficiary in the United States and receiving at least one-half of his support from the beneficiary for the year immediately before the month in which the beneficiary became disabled or entitled to benefits; and the child had not attained the age of 18 before he began living with the beneficiary. A child who was born in the one-year period during which he would otherwise be required to have been living with and receiving at least one-half of his support from the beneficiary would be deemed to meet the "living-with" and support requirements if he was living with the beneficiary in the United States and receiving at least one-half of his support from the beneficiary for substantially all of the period occurring after the child was born.

Section 117(b) of the bill provides that the amendments made by section 117(a) will be applicable with respect to child's benefits, on the basis of applications filed in or after the month in which the bill is enected, for months after December 1967 if the application is filed before the end of the sixth month after the month in which the bill is enacted, but will not be applicable for any month before the month of enactment if the application is filed after the end of such sixth month.

SECTION 118. CHILD'S INSURANCE BENEFITS NOT TO BE TERMINATED BY REASON OF ADOPTION

Section 118 of the bill provides for continuing the payment of a child's benefits if he is adopted in those cases where benefits are stopped under present law. Under present law, a child's entitlement to benefits ends if he is adopted unless he is adopted by (1) his natural parent, (2) his natural parent's spouse jointly with the natural parent. (3) the worker (e.g., a stepparent) on whose earnings the child is getting benefits, or (4) a stepparent, grandparent, aunt, uncle, brother, or sister after the death of the worker on whose earnings the child is getting benefits.

Section 118(a) of the bill amends section 202(d) of the Social Security Act to eliminate adoption of a child (regardless of by whom the child is adopted) as an event which terminates the child's benefits.

Section 118(b) of the bill provides that the amendment made by section 118(a) will be effective with respect to months beginning with the month of enactment.

Section 118(c) of the bill provides that any child whose benefits were terminated by reason of his adoption prior to the date of the enactment of the bill, and who except for the adoption would be entitled to benefits for months after the month of enactment, may, upon filing an application after the date of enactment of the bill, become reentitled to benefits for months after the month of enactment.

# SECTION 119. BENEFITS FOR CHILD BASED ON EARNINGS RECORD OF GRANDPARENT

Section 119(a) of the bill amends section 216(e) of the Social Secarnings, under certain circumstances, for a grandchild who was living with and being supported by the grandparent when he retired, became disabled or died

Section 119 of the bill provides benefits based on a grandparent's curity Act (relating to definition of child) by adding a new clause (3), which provides that the term "child" will include an individual's or his spouse's grandchild or stepgrandchild if (1) neither of the child's natural or adoptive parents were living at the time the individual became disabled, or entitled to old-age or disability insurance benefits, or died, or (2) the child was adopted by the individual's surviving spouse in an adoption that was decreed by a court of competent jurisdiction within the United States, and the child's natural or adoptive parents were not living in the individual's household and contributing to the child's support at the time the individual died.

Section 119(b) of the bill amends section 202(d) of the Act to provide that a child who is a child of an individual solely by virtue of the

new clause (3) of section 216(e) shall be deemed not to be dependent on such individual, as is required under the Act to be eligible for child's benefits, unless (1) the child was living with the individual in the United States and was receiving at least one-half of his support from the individual for the year immediately before the month the individual became disabled, or entitled to old-age or disability insurance benefits, or died, and (2) the child began living with the individual before the child reached age 18. A child who was born in the one-year period during which he would otherwise be required to have been living with and receiving at least one-half of his support from such individual would be deemed to meet the "living-with" and support requirements if he was living with the individual in the United States and receiving at least one-half of his support from the individual for substantially all of the period occurring after the child was born.

Section 119(c) provides that the amendments made by section 119(a) and (b) will be applicable with respect to child's insurance benefits for months after December 1971 on the basis of applications filed after

the date of enactment of the bill.

SECTION 120. ELIMINATION OF SUPPORT REQUIREMENT AS CONDITION OF BENEFITS FOR DIVORCED AND SURVIVING DIVORCED WIVES

Section 120 of the bill eliminates the support requirements in present

law for entitlement to benefits for divorced women.

Section 120(a) of the bill amends section 202(b) (1) of the Social Security Act by removing the requirement that to get wife's benefits an otherwise qualified divorced wife must have been receiving at least one-half of her support from her former husband or receiving substantial contributions from him pursuant to a written agreement, or that there must have been a court order in effect for substantial contributions to her support from him.

Section 120(b) (1) of the bill amends section 202(e) (1) of the Act

by removing the parallel requirement for widow's benefits.

Section 120(b)(2) of the bill makes a conforming change in section 202(e)(6) of the Act.

Section 120(c) of the bill amends section 202(g)(1)(F) of the Act by removing the support requirement for surviving divorced mother's benefits.

Section 120(d) of the bill makes these amendments effective for benefits for and after January 1972 on the basis of applications filed on and after the date of enactment of the bill.

Section 120(e) of the bill (a saving clause) provides that the entitlement to benefits of a surviving divorced mother after December 1971 under section 202(g) of the Act will not affect the amount of benefits payable to persons who were entitled to benefits based on the same earnings record for December 1971.

SECTION 121. WAIVER OF DURATION OF RELATIONSHIP REQUIREMENT FOR WIDOW, WIDOWER, OR STEPCHILD IN CASE OF REMARRIAGE TO THE SAME INDIVIDUAL

Section 121 of the bill provides a waiver of the duration-of-relationship requirement in present law for entitlement to benefits as a widow, widower, or stepchild in certain cases of remarriage.

Section 121(a) of the bill amends the heading of section 216(k) of the Social Security Act to reflect the amendments made by section 121.

Section 121(b) of the bill amends section 216(k) of the Act to provide that the duration-of-relationship requirement in present law for entitlement to benefits as a worker's widow, widower, or stepchildthat is, the period of not less than nine months immediately prior to the day on which the worker died (except where death was accidental or in line of duty in the uniformed service, in which case the period is three months)—shall be deemed to be satisfied in cases where the worker and his spouse were previously married, divorced, and then remarried, where the relationship existed at the time of the worker's death, and where the duration-of-relationship requirement would have been met if the worker had died on the date when he was divorced from his spouse.

Section 121(c) of the bill provides that the amendments made by the section will be effective for benefits for months after December 1971 on the basis of applications filed in or after the month in which

the bill is enacted.

### SECTION 122. WAITING PERIOD FOR DISABILITY BENEFITS

Section 122 of the bill reduces the waiting period for social security benefits for disabled workers, disabled widows, and disabled dependent widowers from 6 months to 5 months.

Section 122(a) (1) of the bill amends section 223(c) (2) of the Social Security Act to provide that in the case of an individual's application for disability insurance benefits the term "waiting period" means the earliest period of 5 (rather than 6) consecutive calendar months throughout which such individual has been under a disability.

Section 122(a) (2) of the bill further amends section 223(c) (2) of the Act to provide that the waiting period can begin not earlier than with the first day of the 17th (rather than the 18th) month before the month in which an application for disability insurance benefits is filed if the individual is insured for disability insurance benefits in such 17th month, or, if the individual is not insured for disability insurance benefits in such 17th month, with the first day of the first month after such 17th month in which he is so insured.

Section 122(b)(1) of the bill amends section 202(c)(6) of the Act to provide that, in the case of widow's insurance benefits based on disability, the term "waiting period" means the earliest period of 5 (rather than 6) consecutive calendar months throughout which the widow has been under a disability.

Section 122(b)(2) of the bill further amends section 202(c)(6) of the Act to provide that, in the case of widow's insurance benefits based on disability, the waiting period can begin not earlier than with the first day of the 17th (rather than the 18th) month before the month

in which an application for such benefits is filed.

Section 122(b) (3) of the bill further amends section 202(c) (6) of the Act to provide that, in the case of widow's insurance benefits based on disability, the waiting period can begin not earlier than with the first day of the 5th (rather than the 6th) month before the first month of the period (as defined in section 202(e) (5) of the Act) before the end of which the widow must have become disabled in order to qualify for such benefits.

Section 122(c)(1) of the bill amends section 202(f)(7) of the Act to provide that, in the case of widower's insurance benefits based on disability, the term "waiting period" means the earliest period of 5 (rather than 6) consecutive calendar months throughout which the widower has been under a disability.

Section 122(c)(2) of the bill further amends section 202(f)(7) of the Act to provide that, in the case of widower's insurance benefits based on disability, the waiting period can begin not earlier than with the first day of the 17th (rather than the 18th) month before the month

in which an application for such benefits is filed.

Section 122(c)(3) of the bill further amends section 202(f)(7) of the Act to provide that, in the case of widower's insurance benefits based on disability, the waiting period can begin not earlier than with the first day of the 5th (rather than the 6th) month before the first month of the period (as defined in section 202(f)(6) of the Act) before the end of which the widower must have become disabled in order to qualify for such benefits.

Section 122(d) of the bill amends section 216(i)(2)(A) of the Act to provide that a "period of disability" means a continuous period of not less than 5 (rather than 6) full calendar months during which an individual was under a disability (unless such individual was entitled to disability insurance benefits for one or more months in such

period).

Section 122 (e) of the bill provides that the amendments made by section 122 are to be effective with respect to applications for disability insurance benefits, applications for widow's and widower's insurance benefits based on disability, and applications for disability determinations for purposes of establishing a period of disability which are filed in or after the month of enactment, or which are filed before such month if either (1) notice of the final decision of the Secretary has not been given to the applicant before such month, or (2) such notice has been so given before such month but a civil action thereon is commenced (whether before, in, or after such month) under section 205(g) of the Social Security Act and the decision in such civil action has not become final before such month; except that no monthly benefits may be payable or increased by reason of these amendments for months before January 1972.

SECTION 123. ELIMINATION OF DISABILITY INSURED-STATUS REQUIREMENT OF SUBSTANTIAL RECENT COVERED WORK IN CASE OF INDIVIDUALS WHO ARE BLIND

Section 123 of the bill provides that a blind individual can be insured for disability insurance benefits and establish a period of disability (disability freeze) without meeting a requirement of substantial recent covered work. Under present law, to meet this requirement a disabled worker (including a blind worker) generally needs 20 quarters of coverage during the period of 40 calendar quarters ending with the quarter in which he became disabled. (An alternative provision takes into account that workers who are disabled while young may have been in the work force for a relatively short time.)

Section 123(a) of the bill amends section 216(i)(3) of the Social Security Act to except an individual whose disability is blindness (as defined in section 216(i)(1) of the Act) from the requirement of sub-

stantial recent covered work for purposes of qualifying for a period of disability.

Section 123(b) of the bill amends section 223(c)(1) of the Act to except an individual whose disability is blindness from the requirement of substantial recent covered work for purposes of qualifying for

disability insurance benefits.

Section 123(c) of the bill provides that these amendments will be effective with respect to applications for disability insurance benefits, and for disability determinations for purposes of establishing a period of disability, that are filed in or after the month of enactment, or before such month if either (1) notice of the final decision of the Secretary has not been given to the applicant before such month, or (2) such notice has been given before such month but a civil action thereon is commenced (whether before, in, or after such month) under section 205(g) of the Social Security Act and the decision in such civil action has not become final before such month; except that no monthly benefits may be payable or increased by reason of these amendments for months before January 1972.

#### SECTION 124. APPLICATIONS FOR DISABILITY INSURANCE BENEFITS FILED AFTER DEATH OF INSURED INDIVIDUAL

Section 124 of the bill provides that a period of disability (disability freeze) can be established, and disability insurance benefits (and related dependents' benefits) can be paid, on the basis of an application filed within 3 months after the month of the death of the disabled individual.

Section 124(a)(1) of the bill amends section 223(a)(1) of the Social Security Act by adding at the end a new sentence which provides that entitlement to disability insurance benefits, in the case of a deceased individual, may be based upon an application filed within 3 months after the month in which he died.

Section 124(a) (2), (3), and (4) of the bill make conforming changes in subsections (a), (b), and (c) of section 223 of the Act.

Section 124(b) of the bill amends section 216(i)(2)(B) of the Act by adding at the end a new sentence which provides that a period of disability may begin or the basis of an application for a disability determination filed with respect to a deceased individual within 3 months after the month in which he died.

Section 124(c) of the bill provides that these amendments will apply in cases of deaths occurring after December 31, 1969. In addition it provides that where a death occurred prior to the date of enactment but after December 31, 1969, an application filed in accordance with such amendments within 3 months after the month of enactment will, for purposes of sections 202(j)(1) of the Act relating to the retroactive life of an application for dependents' benefits) and 223(b) of the Act (relating to the retroactive life of an application for disability insurance benefits), be deemed to have been filed in the month such death occurred.

## SECTION 125. WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION OFFSET FOR DISABILITY INSURANCE BENEFICIARIES

Section 125 of the bill amends section 224 of the Social Security Act, which provides for reduction of social security disability benefits when such benefits combined with workmen's compensation exceed 80 percent of the worker's average current earnings before disablement. Under present law, a worker's average current earnings for this purpose are the larger of (1) the average monthly earnings used for computing his social security benefits, or (2) his average monthly earnings in employment or self-employment covered by social security during the 5 consecutive years of highest covered earnings after 1950, computed without regard to the limitations which specify a maximum amount of earnings creditable and taxable under social security.

Section 125(a) of the bill adds a third alternative under which average current earnings could also be computed on the basis of the worker's earnings in his best year in the period consisting of the calendar year in which he became disabled and the 5 years immediately

preceding that year.

Section 125(b) of the bill extends the authority under which the Secretary under present law estimates the total of wages and self-employment income for the highest 5 years after 1950 to reflect the

new alternative computation method.

Section 125(c) provides that the additional computation method for average current earnings is applicable to the monthly benefits of all present and future beneficiaries for months after December 1971.

#### SECTION 126, WAGE CREDITS FOR MEMBERS OF THE UNIFORMED SERVICES

Section 126(a) of the bill amends section 229(a) of the Social Security Act to provide noncontributory wage credits, in addition to credit for basic service pay, for service performed as a member of a uniformed service (as defined in section 210(m) of the Act) after 1956 and before 1968. It also amends section 229(a) of the Act to provide that for years after 1956 the amount of the noncontributory wage credits will be \$300 for each calendar quarter in which the serviceman was paid covered wages on a contributory basis for his military service. (Under present law, the amount of the noncontributory wage credits for periods of covered wages from military service after 1967 is limited to \$100 for any calendar quarter in which his service pay in the quarter was \$100 or less, \$200 for any calendar quarter in which his service pay was more than \$100 but not more than \$200, and \$300 in any other case.) Additional benefits paid as a result of these additional credits will be financed from general revenues in the same manner as are the benefits resulting from the noncontributory credits previously provided for military service performed after 1967.

Section 126(b) of the bill provides that the amendments made by section 126(a) will apply with respect to monthly benefits payable under title II of the Act for months after December 1971 and to lump-sum death payments in the case of deaths after December 1971. Any person on the benefit rolls in the month of enactment whose monthly benefits can be increased as a result of the noncontributory wage credits provided under section 126(a) can have his benefits increased if he or any other person entitled to monthly benefits on the same earnings record files a request for a recalculation of benefits. The recalculated benefit amount will be effective for months beginning with January 1972, or, if later, the twelfth month before the month in

which the request for a recalculation of benefits is filed. Recalculation of benefits to take into account the wage credits provided under section 126(a) will be made notwithstanding the limitations on recomputations contained in section 215(f)(1) of the Act (in general, benefits cannot be recomputed unless there were earnings after 1965), and no such recalculation will be regarded as a recomputation for purposes of section 215(f).

# SECTION 127, OPTIONAL DETERMINATION OF SELF-EMPLOYMENT EARNINGS

Section 127(a)(1) of the bill amends section 211(a) of the Social Security Act by adding a new sentence to extend to certain selfemployed people the opportunity (similar to that accorded farmers under present law) to report two-thirds of their gross income from nonfarm self-employment, up to a total of \$1,600, instead of their actual net earnings for the year. This option will be available only to a self-employed person who is regularly self-employed or who is regularly a member of a partnership. A regularly self-employed person whose net earnings from nonfarm self-employment in a taxable year are less than two-thirds of his gross income from his trade or business and are also less than \$1,600 may, at his option, report for social security purposes as his net earnings from self-employment for the year two-thirds of his gross income (if his gross income from self-employment is under \$2,400), or \$1,600 (if his gross income from selfemployment is \$2,400 or more). No person may use this optional method of determining his net earnings from self-employment for more than five taxable years. If a person uses the option for both farm and nonfarm self-employment, he may not report more than \$1,600 as his total net earnings from self-employment.

Section 127(a)(2) of the bill adds to section 211 of the Act a new subsection (g), to define when any person is engaged in self-employment on a regular basis for purposes of using the optional method of determining his net earnings from self-employment. Under the new subsection (g), a person would meet the definition if he had actual net earnings of \$400 or more from self-employment (including his distributive share of the net income or loss from any partnership of which he is a member) in each of two out of three consecutive taxable years immediately preceding the year for which he elects to use the optional method of determining his net earnings from self-

employment.

Section 127(b) (1) of the bill amends section 1402(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 to conform, for purposes of the tax on self-employment income, to the amendment made by section 127(a) (1)

of the bill to section 211(a) of the Act.

Section 127(b) (2) of the bill adds to section 1402 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 a new subsection (i), containing a definition of regularity of self-employment for purposes of the tax on self-employment income conforming to the definition contained in the new subsection (g) of section 211 of the Act as added by section 127(a) (2) of the bill.

Section 127(c) of the bill provides that these amendments will apply with respect to taxable years beginning after 1971.

# SECTION 128, PAYMENTS BY EMPLOYER TO SURVIVOR OR ESTATE OF FORMER EMPLOYEE

Section 128(a) of the bill amends section 209 of the Social Security Act by adding a new subsection (n) to exclude from the definition of wages any payment made by an employer to a survivor or the estate of a former employee after the calendar year in which the employee died.

Section 128(b) of the bill makes a conforming change in section 3121(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, relating to the definition of wages for purposes of the Federal Insurance Contributions Act.

Section 128(c) of the bill provides that these amendments are to apply in the case of any payment made after December 1971.

### SECTION 129 COVERAGE FOR VOW-OF-POVERTY MEMBERS OF RELIGIOUS ORDERS

Section 129 of the bill provides social security coverage for services performed by members of religious orders who are under a vow of poverty in the exercise of the duties required by their order, in cases where the order or an autonomous subdivision thereof irrevocably elects coverage for its entire active membership by filing a certificate of election with the Internal Revenue Service. Under existing law services performed by a member of a religious order in the exercise of the duties required by the order are excluded from "employment" under section 210(a) (8) (A) of the Social Security Act.

Section 129(a)(1) of the bill amends section 210(a)(8)(A) of the Act to provide that service performed by a member of a religious order who has taken a vow of poverty in the exercise of the duties required by the order will constitute employment for social security purposes if the order (or autonomous subdivision thereof) has made an election of social security coverage under section 3121(r) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954.

Section 129(a) (2) of the bill makes a conforming change in section 3121(b) (8) (A) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, for purposes of the Federal Insurance Contributions Act.

Section 129(b) of the bill amends section 3121 of the Code by adding a new subsection (r). The new section 3121(r)(1) provides that a religious order whose members are required to take a vow of poverty, or any autonomous subdivision of such an order, may file a certificate with the Internal Revenue Service electing to extend social security coverage to the services performed by its members in the exercise of the duties required by such order or subdivision. The certificate of election by the religious order or autonomous subdivision must specify that the election of coverage will be irrevocable; that the coverage will apply to all current and future members of the order or subdivision; that all services performed by a member of the order or subdivision in the exercise of duties required by the order or subdivision will be deemed to have been performed as an employee of the order or subdivision; and that the religious order or subdivision will pay the tax on employees imposed by section 3101 of the Code and the tax imposed on employers by section 3111 of the Code, with respect to the wages of each active member.

The new section 3121(r)(2) provides that a member of a religious order is any individual who is subject to a vow of poverty as a member of the order, who performs tasks usually required (and to the extent usually required) of an active member of the order, and who is not

considered retired because of old age or disability.

The new section 3121(r)(3) provides that the order or subdivision may elect to have the coverage begin on the first day of the calendar quarter in which the certificate of election is filed, or the first day of the following quarter, or the first day of any of the 20 quarters preceding the quarter in which the certificate of election is filed. It also provides that if the order or subdivision elects an effective date earlier than the first day of the quarter in which the election is filed, the coverage can apply only to services performed during the retroactive period by a person who was an active member when the services were performed and who is alive on the first day of the quarter in which the certificate of election is filed. Finally, it provides that the date for filing the Federal Insurance Contributions Act returns and paying the taxes for quarters in the retroactive period without incurring penalties and interest under section 6651 of the Code will be the last day of the month following the quarter in which the certificate of election is filed, and that the period for assessing the taxes will not expire before the end of the 3 years after that last day.

The new section 3121(r)(4) provides that a religious order or subdivision which elects coverage of services of its members must also provide coverage for its lay employees. If the order or subdivision has in effect a waiver of exemption filed pursuant to section 3121(k) of the Code to provide coverage of its lay employees, it must amend the waiver to make it irrevocable. If the order or subdivision does not have in effect a waiver of exemption under section 3121(k) it must file an irrevocable certificate of waiver of exemption, to become effective no later than the date on which the certificate of election becomes effective. Any waiver of exemption required by the new section 3121(r) (4) must be filed under section 3121(k), notwithstanding the provisions of section 3121(k)(3) which otherwise prohibit the filing of a waiver of exemption if the organization had previously terminated an earlier

waiver of exemption,

Section 129(c)(1) of the bill amends section 209 of the Social Security Act to provide that, for purposes of that Act, the wages of a member of a religious order for which a certificate of election of coverage under section 3121(r) of the Code is in effect will include the fair market value (but not less than \$100 a month) of any board. lodging, clothing, and other perquisites furnished to the member by the order or subdivision, or by any person or organization under an

agreement with the order or subdivision.

Section 129(c)(2) of the bill makes a conforming change in section 3121(i) of the Code for purposes of the Federal Insurance Contributions Act.

SECTION 430, SELF-EMPLOYMENT INCOME OF CERTAIN INDIVIDUALS TEMPORARILY LIVING OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES

Under existing law, the term "net earnings from self-employment" for purposes of section 211(a) of the Social Security Act and section 1402(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 means gross income,

with certain exceptions, as computed under the provisions of the Code. derived by an individual from any trade or business which he carries on, less the allowable deductions attributable to such business. Section 911 of the Code provides an exclusion from gross income of up to \$20,000 (\$25,000 in certain instances) of earned income derived by a U.S. citizen who is either a bona fide resident of a foreign country, or physically present in a foreign country or countries for 510 days (about 17 months) out of a period of 18 consecutive months.

Section 130(a) of the bill amends section 211(a) of the Social Security Act by adding a new paragraph (10) to provide that this \$20,000 exclusion will not be applicable in determining net earnings from self-employment for social security purposes if the individual involved has been a resident of the United States during the entire taxable year.

Section 130(b) of the bill makes a conforming change in section 1402(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 by adding a new paragraph (11). The amendment makes no changes in the provisions for computation of net earnings from self-employment for income tax purposes.

Section 130(c) of the bill provides that these amendments will apply with respect to taxable years beginning after December 1971.

#### SECTION 131, COVERAGE OF FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK EMPLOYEES

Section 131(a) of the bill provides social security coverage for service performed in the employ of a Federal Home Loan Bank. The Social Security Amendments of 1956 amended section 210(a)(6)(B)(ii) of the Social Security Act and section 3121(b)(6)(B)(ii) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 to provide such coverage subject to the condition that the Banks coordinate their retirement systems with social security and that the plan for coordination be submitted to and approved by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare by July 1, 1957. This condition was not met, and service for Federal Home Loan Banks has never been covered for social security purposes. Under section 131(a), coverage is effective for all service performed in the employ of a Federal Home Loan Bank beginning with the first day of the first calendar quarter which begins on or after the date of enactment of the bill, and, for persons in the employ of such a Bank on such first day, is effective for service performed in the employ of such a Bank after the last day of the sixth calendar year preceding the year in which the bill is enacted, but only if both the employee and employer contributions specified in the Federal Insurance Contributions Act for all such persons are paid (as provided in section 3122 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954) by July 1, 1972, or later if agreed to before such date by the Banks and the Secretary of the Treasury or his delegate.

Section 131(b) of the bill repeals subparagraphs  $(\Lambda)$  (i) and (B)of section 104(i)(2) of the Social Security Amendments of 1956, which contained the condition that the FHLB retirement systems must be coordinated with social security and approved by the Secretary of

Health, Education, and Welfare by July 1, 1957.

#### SECTION 132. POLICEMEN AND FIREMEN IN IDAILO

Section 132 of the bill amends section 218(p)(1) of the Social Security Act to add the State of Idaho to the list of States specifically named in the law as States which may modify their section 218 agreements to provide coverage under the social security program for policemen and firemen who are in positions under a State or local retirement system. (Section 218(p)(2) of the Act, added by the Social Security Amendments of 1967, makes social security coverage available to firemen who are members of a retirement system in States not listed in section 218(p)(1), but only if special conditions are met.) The effective date of such coverage would be whatever date is specified by the State of Idaho in the modification of its agreement, but could not be earlier than the beginning of the fifth year before the year in which the coverage is arranged.

### SECTION 133, COVERAGE OF CERTAIN HOSPITAL EMPLOYEES IN NEW MEXICO

Section 133 of the bill permits the State of New Mexico, notwith-standing the provisions of section 218 of the Social Security Act, to modify its coverage agreement with the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare at any time prior to the first day of the fourth month after the month in which the bill is enacted, to provide coverage for services of employees of a hospital which is an integral part of a political subdivision to which the coverage agreement has not been made applicable. The employees of such hospital would be covered as a separate coverage group as defined in section 218(b)(5) of the Act; such coverage is to apply only to service performed for a hospital which has, prior to 1966, withdrawn from a retirement system which had been applicable to the employees of such hospital.

# SECTION 134, COVERAGE OF CERTAIN EMPLOYEES OF THE GOVERNMENT OF GUAM

Security Act by adding a new subparagraph (E) to provide social security coverage for service (except service performed by an elected official or member of the legislature or service performed in a hospital or penal institution by a patient or immate thereof) performed in the employ of the Government of Guam by an employee properly classified as a temporary or intermittent employee whose services are not covered under a retirement system established by the Government of Guam. Where service performed in the employ of the Government of Guam is not covered by the civil service retirement provisions of title 5, United States Code, or by any other retirement system established by a law of the United States, the service will be deemed not to be performed in the employ of the United States (or any agency or instrumentality thereof) and all remuneration paid for such service will be deemed to have been paid by the Government of Guam.

Section 134(b) of the bill makes a conforming change in section 3121(b) (7) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954.

Section 134(c) of the bill provides that these changes are to apply with respect to service performed on and after the first day of the first calendar quarter which begins on or after the date of enactment of the bill.

SECTION 135. COVERAGE EXCLUSION OF STUDENTS EMPLOYED BY NONPROFIT ORGANIZATIONS AUXILIARY TO SCHOOLS, COLLEGES, AND UNIVERSITIES

Section 135(a) (1) amends section 210(a) (10) (B) of the Social Security Act to exclude from social security coverage services performed by students who are enrolled and regularly attending classes at a school, college, or university if such services are performed in the employ of an organization described in section 509(a)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (describing certain nonprofit organizations with tax-exempt status), and if the organization is organized, and at all times thereafter is operated, exclusively for the benefit of, to perform the functions of, or to carry out the purposes of a school, college, or university and is operated, supervised, or controlled by or in connection with such school, college, or university, unless it is a school, college, or university of a State or a political subdivision thereof and the services performed in its employ by a student referred to in section 218(c) (5) of the Act are covered under the agreement between the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare and such State entered into pursuant to section 218 of the Act.

Section 135(a)(2) makes a conforming amendment to section

3121(b) (10) (B) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954.

Section 135(b) provides that these amendments are to apply to services performed after December 31, 1971.

SECTION 136, PENALTY FOR FURNISHING FALSE INFORMATION TO OBTAIN SOCIAL SECURITY ACCOUNT NUMBER

Section 136(a) of the bill amends section 208 of the Social Security Act by adding a new subsection (f) to provide that the penalties in present law for certain fraudulent representations to the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare will apply to an individual who wilfully, knowingly, and with the intent of deceiving the Secretary as to his true identity (or the true identity of any other person) furnishes false information with respect to any information required by the Secretary in connection with the establishment and maintenance of the social security records of wages and self-employment income.

Section 136(b) of the bill provides that this amendment is to apply in the case of information furnished to the Secretary after the date of enactment of the bill.

SECTION 137, GUARANTEE OF NO DECREASE IN TOTAL FAMILY BENEFITS

Section 137(a) of the bill amends section 203(a) of the Social Security Act to add a permanent saving clause to guarantee that when a worker is getting an actuarially reduced benefit and his primary insurance amount is increased, the total benefits payable to the family on his earnings record will not be decreased. In some cases, if the benefits payable to a family are subject to the maximum limitation on the total amount of benefits payable on one earnings record, the family

might, without such a saving clause, get less in total benefits after the worker's primary insurance amount is increased than they were get-

ting before.

Section 137(b) makes permanent a special temporary saving chuse provided by section 1002(b)(2) of the Social Security Amendments of 1969. Section 1002(b)(2) provided that where a person was on the benefit rolls in 1970 he, or his family, will never get less than he or they would have gotten prior to the 15-percent benefit increase provided by the 1969 Amendments as long as the person on the rolls in 1970 remains on the rolls. Under the change, the no-loss guarantee will apply permanently; i.e., it will apply without regard to whether the person on the benefit rolls in 1970 remains on the rolls.

SECTION 138, INCREASE OF AMOUNTS IN TRUST FUNDS AVAILABLE TO PAY COSTS OF REHABILITATION SERVICES

Section 138 of the bill amends section 222(d)(1) of the Social Security Act to increase the amount of trust fund monies that may be expended to reimburse State agencies for costs of vocational rehabilitation services provided disability beneficiaries. The total amount made available may not exceed 1 percent of the previous year's disability benefits in the fiscal year ending June 30, 1971 (as under present law), 1.25 percent in the fiscal year ending June 30, 1972, and 1.5 percent in the fiscal year ending June 30, 1973, and thereafter.

SECTION 139, ACCEPTANCE OF MONEY GIFTS MADE UNCONDITIONALLY TO SOCIAL SECURITY

Section 139 of the bill provides authority for the Managing Trustee of the social security trust funds to accept money gifts and bequests made to the funds or to the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, or any part or officer thereof, for the benefit of the funds or any activity financed by the funds.

Section 139(a) of the bill amends section 201(a) of the Social Security Act to include, among the amounts that the Federal Old-Age and Survivors Insurance Trust Fund is to consist of, gifts and bequests

made to that fund.

Section 139(b) of the bill amends section 201(b) of the Act to include, among the amounts that the Federal Disability Insurance Trust Fund is to consist of, gifts and bequests made to that fund

Trust Fund is to consist of, gifts and bequests made to that fund.

Section 139(c) of the bill further amends section 201 of the Act by adding a new subsection (i), which authorizes the Managing Trustee of the social security trust funds to accept on behalf of the United States money gifts and bequests made unconditionally to such funds or to the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, or any part or officer thereof, for the benefit of any one or more of the funds or any activity financed through the funds. The new subsection (i) also provides that any gift accepted under the authority provided by the subsection will be deposited in the specific trust fund designated by the donor, or, if no fund is designated, in the Federal Old-Age and Survivors Insurance Trust Fund.

Section 139(d) of the bill amends section 1817(a) of the Act to include, among the amounts that the Federal Health Insurance Trust Fund is to consist of, gifts and bequests made to that fund.

Section 139(e) of the bill amends section 1841(a) of the Act to include, among the amounts that the Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Fund is to consist of, gifts and bequests made to that fund.

Section 139(f) of the bill provides that these amendments are to apply with respect to gifts received after the date of enactment of the bill.

Section 139(g) of the bill provides that for the purpose of Federal income, estate, and gift taxes, any gift or bequest accepted under section 201(i) of the Act will be considered a gift or bequest to or for the use of the United States and to have been made exclusively for public purposes. Consequently, such gifts or bequests would be deductible, as a contribution, from gross income for purposes of determining taxable income.

#### SECTION 140, PAYMENT IN CERTAIN CASES OF DISABILITY INSURANCE BENEFITS WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN PERIODS OF DISABILITY

Section 140(a) of the bill provides that an individual who would have been entitled to disability insurance benefits under section 223 of the Social Security Act for a period which began after 1959 and ended prior to 1964 had he filed a timely application will be entitled to receive in a lump sum, as disability insurance benefits, an amount equal to the benefits which would have been payable to him for such period if he had filed a timely application. To qualify for the benefits (1) he must file an application no later than 6 months after the date of enactment of the bill, (2) prior to the date of enactment of the bill and after the date of enactment of the Social Security Amendments of 1967, the period for which benefits would be payable under section 140 must have been determined to be a period of disability, and (3) the application giving rise to the determination that such period is a period of disability could not have been accepted as an effective application except for the provisions of section 216(i) (2) (F) of the Act.

Section 140(b) of the bill provides that no payment may be made to any individual by reason of these provisions except upon the basis of an application filed after the date of enactment of the bill.

# SECTION 141. RECOMPUTATION OF BENEFITS BASED ON COMBINED RAILROAD AND SOCIAL SECURITY EARNINGS

Section 141 of the bill amends section 215(f) of the Social Security Act (relating to the recomputation of benefits) to correct an unintended restriction, arising from the Social Security Amendments of 1967, on the recomputation of benefits to combine railroad compensation and social security earnings.

Section 141(a) (1) of the bill amends section 215(f) of the Act, which restricts recomputations of benefits to cases where the individual has creditable earnings after 1965, to remove the reference in paragraph (2) (B) of that section to the individual whose railroad compensation and social security earnings are to be combined for social security purposes after his death.

Section 141(a)(2) of the bill further amends section 215(f) of the Act by adding a new paragraph (6) to provide that the primary in-

surance amount of a worker who died after 1967 will be recomputed to include his railroad compensation if monthly benefits or a lump sum is payable under the social security program.

Section 141(b) of the bill amends section 215(d) of the Act to permit a recomputation provided under section 215(f)(6) to be made using the simplified method for computation of the primary insurance amount, based on earnings after 1936, which was provided under the Social Security Amendments of 1967.

# SECTION 142. CHANGES IN TAX SCHEDULES

Section 142 of the bill provides new schedules of social security tax rates for old-age, survivors, and disability insurance and for hospital insurance.

Old-age, survivors, and disability insurance rates

Section 142(a) of the bill amends sections 1401(a), 3101(a), and 3111(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 to provide new schedules of old-age, survivors, and disability insurance tax rates for the self-employed and for employees and employers.

Subsection (a) of the amended section 1401 provides a new schedule of tax rates for self-employment income for purposes of old-age, survivors, and disability insurance. Under present law, these tax rates are as follows:

	Percent
1970 (and before 1973)	6. 9
1972	7.0

Under the bill, the tax rates on self-employment income for old-age, survivors, and disability insurance are as follows:

Taxable years beginning after:	Percent
1971 (and before 1975)	6. 3
1974	7. 0

Subsection (a) of the amended section 3101 and subsection (a) of the amended section 3111 provide new schedules of tax rates on wages for purposes of old-age, survivors, and disability insurance. Under present law, these tax rates for employees and employers are as follows:

Calendar years:	Percent
1971 and 1972	4.60
1973, 1974, and 1975	
1976 and after	_ 5. 15

Under the bill, the tax rates on wages for both employees and employers for old-age, survivors, and disability insurance are as follows:

Calendar years:	Percent
1972. 1973. and 1974	4.2
1975 and 1976	
1977 and after	

Hospital insurance rates

Section 142(b) of the bill amends sections 1401(b), 3101(b), and 3111(b) of the Code to provide new schedules of hospital insurance tax rates for the self-employed and for employees and employers.

Subsection (b) of the amended section 1401 provides a new schedule of tax rates on self-employment income for purposes of hospital insurance. Under present law, these tax rates are as follows:

Taxable years beginning after:	Percent
1967 (and before 1973)	0.60
1972 (and before 1976)	. 65
1975 (and before 1980)	. 70
1979 (and before 1987)	. 80
1986	

Under the bill, the tax rates on self-employment income for hospital insurance are as follows:

Taxable years beginning after:	Percent
1971 (and before 1977)	. 1, 2
1976	1.3

Subsection (b) of the amended section 3101 and subsection (b) of the amended section 3111 provide new schedules of tax rates on wages for purposes of hospital insurance. Under present law, these tax rates are as follows:

Calendar years:	Percent
1968 to 1972, inclusive	0.60
1973 to 1975, inclusive	
1976 to 1979, inclusive	. 70
1980 to 1986, inclusive	. 80
1987 and after	

Under the bill, the tax rates on wages for both employees and employers for hospital insurance are as follows:

Calendar years:	Percent
1972 through 1976	1. 2
1977 and after	1. 3

# Effective dates

Section 142(c) of the bill provides that the amendments made by sections 142(a)(1) and 142(b)(1) are to apply with respect to taxable years which begin after December 31, 1971, and that the remaining amendments made by section 142 are to apply with respect to remuneration paid after December 31, 1971.

#### SECTION 143. ALLOCATION TO DISABILITY INSURANCE TRUST FUND

Section 143(a) of the bill amends section 201(b) (1) of the Social Security Act, which deals with the amount to be allocated and appropriated to the Federal Disability Insurance Trust Fund each year with respect to wages and now provides that such amount with respect to any wages paid after 1969 is to be 1.10 percent of such wages. Under the amended section 201(b)(1), the amount so allocated and appropriated will be 0.90 percent of the wages paid during 1972, 1973, and 1974, 1.05 percent of the wages paid during 1975 and 1976, and 1.25 percent of the wages paid after 1976.

Section 143(b) of the bill amends section 201(b)(2) of the Act, which deals with the amount to be allocated and appropriated to the Federal Disability Insurance Trust Fund each year with respect to self-employment income and now provides that the amount to be so allocated and appropriated with respect to any self-employment income reported for taxable years beginning after 1969 is to be 0.825 percent of the amount of such self-employment income. Under the

amended section 201(b)(2), the amount so allocated and appropriated will be 0.675 percent of the self-employment income so reported for any taxable year beginning after 1971 and before 1975, and 0.735 percent of the self-employment income so reported for any taxable year beginning after 1974.

# TITLE II—PROVISIONS RELATING TO MEDICARE, MEDICAID, AND MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH

PART A-ELIGIBILITY AND PAYMENTS FOR BENEFITS

SECTION 201, COVERAGE FOR DISABILITY BENEFICIARIES UNDER MEDICARE

Section 201 of the bill extends coverage under medicare for hospital insurance and supplementary medical insurance to social security disability beneficiaries, and disabled qualified railroad retirement annuitants, who have been entitled to disability benefits for at least two years.

Section 201(a) (1) of the bill amends the heading of title XVIII of the Social Security Act, and the headings of parts A and B thereof, to reflect the inclusion of the disabled in the benefits provided in these parts.

Section 201(a) (2) of the bill amends section 1811 of the Act to include under the hospital insurance program individuals under age 65 who have been entitled for not less than 24 months to benefits under title II of the Act, or under the railroad retirement system, on the basis of a disability.

Section 201(a)(3) of the bill amends section 1831 of the Act to include disability beneficiaries under the supplementary medical insurance program.

Section 201(b)(1) of the bill amends section 226(a) of the Act to include under the hospital insurance program individuals under age 65 who have been entitled for not less than 24 consecutive months to disability insurance benefits under section 223; childhood disability benefits under section 202(d); widow's insurance benefits under section 202(e) and widower's insurance benefits under section 202(f), by reason of disability; and individuals who have been for not less than 24 consecutive months disabled qualified railroad retirement beneficiaries under section 22 of the Railroad Retirement Act of 1937. Coverage begins with the later of July 1972, or the 25th consecutive month of entitlement to disability benefits; and ends with the month in which entitlement to disability benefits ceases or, if earlier, with the month before the month of attainment of age 65.

Section 201(b)(2) of the bill amends section 226(b) of the Act to provide that no payment is to be made under the hospital insurance program for post-hospital extended care services or post-hospital home health services in the case of a disability beneficiary unless the discharge from the hospital required to qualify such services for payment occurred at a time when he was entitled to disability benefits.

Section 201(b) (3) of the bill amends section 226(b) (2) of the Act to provide that disability beneficiaries, as well as retirement and survivor beneficiaries, are to be deemed entitled to monthly insurance benefits or to be qualified railroad retirement beneficiaries for the

month of their death if they would have been entitled to such benefits

for that month had they died in the following month.

Section 201(b)(4) of the bill amends section 226(c) of the Act to include in the definition of "qualified railroad retirement beneficiary" for hospital insurance program purposes certain disabled railroad retirement annuitants, as described in section 22 of the Railroad Retirement Act.

Section 201(b) (5) of the bill amends section 226 of the Act by providing that widows and widowers who become entitled to widow's or widower's insurance benefits by reason of disability may remain entitled to such benefits, and so to hospital insurance, until attainment of age 65; and further provides that, for hospital insurance purposes, a beneficiary entitled to widow's or widower's insurance benefits by reason of disability whose entitlement to such benefits ceases because of subsequent entitlement to old-age insurance benefits will be deemed to have continued to be entitled to such widow's or widower's insurance

Section 201(c)(1) of the bill amends section 1836 of the Act to provide for eligibility to enroll in the supplementary medical insurance program for disability beneficiaries entitled to hospital insur-

ance benefits under part A of title XVIII.

Section 201(c)(2) of the bill amends section 1837(c) of the Act to provide that the initial enrollment period requirements of the supplementary medical insurance program are also to apply to eligible disability beneficiaries. It further amends section 1837(d) to have it conform with the inclusion of disability beneficiaries as eligible for enrollment in the supplementary medical insurance program.

Section 201(c) (3) of the bill adds a new subsection to section 1838 of the Act to provide that the coverage period (and enrollment under supplementary medical insurance) of a disability beneficiary will end with the close of the last month for which he is entitled to hospital

insurance benefits.

Sections 201(c)(4) and (5) of the bill amend section 1839 of the Act to provide (1) that the monthly supplementary medical insurance premium for a disability beneficiary who enrolls after his initial enrollment period is to be increased by 10 percent for each full 12 months in the same continuous period of eligibility in which he could have been but was not enrolled; (2) that any such increase in an individual's premium will not apply to any other continuous period of eligibility which he may have; and (3) that for purposes of such an inincrease in premium, an individual's continuous period of eligibility is the period beginning with the first day on which he is eligible to enroll under supplementary medical insurance and ending with his death, except that any period during all of which an individual was so eligible by reason of entitlement to disability benefits and which ended in or before the month preceding the month of attainment of age 65 will be a separate "continuous period of eligibility," and each such period which ends will be deemed not to have existed for purposes of subsequent premium increases.

Section 201(c) (6) amends section 1840 of the Act to include disability beneficiaries among other social security beneficiaries whose monthly supplementary medical insurance premiums are to be collected by deduction from their monthly benefits, and to provide for

appropriate transfers of funds among the Federal Old-Age and Survivors Insurance, Disability Insurance and Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Funds.

Section 201(c) (7) amends section 1875(a) of the Act to require the Secretary to carry on studies and develop recommendations to be submitted from time to time to the Congress relating to health care of

the disabled, as well as to that of the aged.

Section 201(d) of the bill amends the Railroad Retirement Act of 1937 by adding a new section (section 22) providing that certain individuals entitled to annuities on the basis of disability under the Railroad Retirement Act will be entitled to hospital insurance benefits and will be eligible to enroll for supplementary medical insurance benefits under title XVIII of the Social Security Act in a like manner as those entitled to social security disability benefits. As under the Social Security Act, disabled individuals under age 65 would, before becoming covered, have to have been entitled to disability benefits for not less than 24 consecutive months. Included are disabled railroad workers who have, or could have, been entitled to annuities on the basis of permanent and total disability; disabled widows and widowers of railroad employees; and disabled children of railroad employees.

SECTION 202. HOSPITAL INSURANCE BENEFITS FOR UNINSURED INDIVID-UALS NOT ELIGIBLE UNDER TRANSITIONAL PROVISION

Section 202 of the bill adds a new section 1818 to title XVIII of the Social Security Act.

Subsection (a) of the new section 1818 provides that a person who (1) has attained age 65, (2) is either a resident citizen or a lawfully admitted resident alien and (3) does not otherwise qualify for hospital insurance coverage will be eligible to enroll for such coverage.

The new section 1818(b) provides that enrollment for hospital insurance coverage will be as provided by regulations and during an

enrollment period prescribed under this provision.

The new section 1818(c) makes the provisions of sections 1837, 1838, 1839(c), 1840(f), and 1840(h) of the Social Security Act (relating to enrollment, coverage, premium amount, and premium payment, respectively, under the supplementary medical insurance part of title XVIII) applicable for the purposes of hospital insurance coverage under the new section except that—

(1) an initial general enrollment period for an individual first meeting the eligibility requirements specified in subsection (a) on or before the last day of the seventh month after the month of enactment of the bill is to begin on the first day of the second month after the month of enactment and end on the last day of

the tenth month after the month of enactment;

(2) the initial enrollment period for an individual first meeting the eligibility requirements specified in subsection (a) on or after the first day of the eighth month after the month of enactment will begin the first day of the third month before the month in which he first meets such requirements and end seven months later;

(3) the coverage period for an individual enrolling for hospital insurance benefits during the initial general enrollment period

described in paragraph (1) above will begin (A) the first day of the second month following the month of enrollment, or (B) January 1, 1972, or (C) the first day of the first month in which he first meets the requirements of section 1818(a), whichever is later;

(4) termination of coverage will be effective at the end of the month following the month in which a request for termination is

filed; and

(5) termination of coverage will also be effective with the month before the month an individual becomes eligible for hospital benefits under section 226 of the Social Security Act or section 103 of the Social Security Amendments of 1965; and in the event of such termination, the individual will be deemed to have filed in the month of such termination the application required to establish entitlement to hospital insurance benefits under such other provisions.

The new section 1818(d)(1) establishes the monthly premium for hospital insurance coverage as made available under this section at

\$31 for each month before July 1972.

The new section 1818(d) (2) provides that in December of 1971 and each year thereafter the Secretary is to determine and promulgate the premium amount applicable for each month in the succeeding fiscal year, such premium to be an amount equal to \$31 multiplied by the ratio of (1) the inpatient hospital deductible for the current year, as promulgated under section 1813(b) (2) of the Act, to (2) such deductible as promulgated for 1971, and rounded to the nearest \$1.

The new section 1818(e) authorizes a State or any other public or private agency or organization to contract or otherwise arrange with the Secretary to pay the monthly premiums on behalf of its employees or retirees who are eligible and have enrolled for hospital insurance protection under this section if the Secretary determines that such a

method of premium payment is administratively feasible.

The new section 1818(f) provides that amounts paid to the Secretary for hospital insurance coverage under this section will be deposited in the Treasury to the credit of the Federal Hospital Insurance Trust Fund.

## SECTION 203. AMOUNT OF SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE PREMIUM

Section 203(a) of the bill amends section 1839(b)(1) of the Social Security Act by limiting the applicability of the method of premium determination provided for in section 1839(b)(2) to months before July 1972.

Section 203(b) of the bill amends section 1839(b)(2) of the Act to provide that the Secretary is to promulgate a premium as determined by paragraph (2) only in years ending on or before December 31, 1970.

Section 203(c) of the bill amends section 1839 of the Act (as amended by sections 201(c) (4) and (5) of the bill) by redesignating subsections (c), (d), and (e) as subsections (d), (e), and (f), respectively, and by adding a new subsection (c).

The new section 1839(c)(1) provides that the Secretary will, during December of 1971 and of each year thereafter, determine the monthly actuarial rate for enrollees age 65 and over which will be applicable for the 12-month period beginning July 1 in the succeeding year. Such

actuarial rate will be the amount the Secretary estimates to be necessary so that the aggregate amount for the 12-month period with respect to those enrollees age 65 and over will equal one-half of the total of the benefits and administrative costs which he estimates will be incurred by the Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Fund for the 12-month period with respect to such enrollees. In calculating the actuarial rate the Secretary will include an appropriate amount for a contingency margin.

The new subsection 1839(c)(2) provides that for each month after June 1972 the amount of the monthly premium of each individual enrolled under part B will be determined under section 1839(c)(3).

The new subsection 1839(c)(3) provides that the Secretary will, during December of 1971 and of each year thereafter, determine and promulgate the monthly premium applicable for individuals enrolled under part B for the 12-month period beginning July 1 in the succeeding year. The monthly premium will be equal to the smaller of the actuarial rate for enrollees age 65 and over as determined according to section 1839(c)(1) for that 12-month period, or the monthly premium rate most recently promulgated by the Secretary, multiplied by the ratio of (i) the amount in column IV of the table which as of June 1 following the determination appears (or is deemed to appear) in section 215(a) of the Act on the line which includes the figure '750' in column III of the table to (ii) the amount in column IV of the table which appeared (or was deemed to appear) in section 215(a) on the line which appeared the figure "750" in column III as of June 1 of the year in which the determination is made. Whenever the Secretary promulgates the monthly premium he will, at the same time, issue a public statement setting forth the actuarial assumptions and bases employed by him in arriving at an adequate actuarial rate and in the derivation of dollar amounts specified in this paragraph.

The new subsection 1839(c)(4) provides that the Secretary will, during December of 1971 and of each year thereafter, determine the actuarial rate for disabled enrollees under age 65 which will be applicable for the 12-month period beginning July 1 in the succeeding year. Such actuarial rate will be the amount the Secretary estimates to be necessary so that the aggregate amount for the 12 month period with respect to disabled enrollees under age 65 will equal one-half of the total of the benefits and administrative costs which he estimates will be incurred by the Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Fund for the 12-month period with respect to such enrollees. In calculating the actuarial rate, the Secretary will include an appropriate

amount for a contingency margin.

Section 203(d)(1) of the bill amends section 1839(d) of the Act (as redesignated by the bill) to provide that monthly premiums as determined under section 1839(c) will be increased by 10 percent for each full 12 months in which an enrollee could have been but was not enrolled.

Section 203(d)(2) of the bill amends section 1839(f) of the Act (as redesignated by the bill) by providing that for purposes of determining whether the premium increase applicable to late enrollees should be applied to disabled persons, the beginning of an individual's "continuous period of eligibility" will determine the beginning of his initial enrollment period. Each "continuous period of eligibility"

which terminates will be deemed not to have existed for purposes of

subsequently applying the premium increase provision.

Section 203(e) of the bill amends section 1844(a)(1) of the Act to authorize the appropriation, to the Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Fund, of a Government contribution equal to the aggregate premiums payable for enrollees age 65 and over, multiplied by the ratio of (i) twice the dollar amount of an actuarially adequate rate per enrollee age 65 and over (as determined under section 1839 (c)(1)) for the month in which such aggregate premiums are deposited in the Trust Fund, minus the dollar amount of the premium per enrollee for such month, to (ii) the dollar amount of the premium per enrollee for such month. There is also authorized to be appropriated a Government contribution equal to the aggregate premiums payable for enrollees under age 65 under part B and deposited in the Trust Fund, multiplied by the ratio of (i) twice the dollar amount of an actuarially adequate rate per enrollee under age 65 (as determined under section 1839(c)(4)) for the month in which such aggregate premiums are deposited in the Trust Fund, minus the dollar amount of the premium per enrollee for such month, to (ii) the dollar amount of the premium per enrollee for such month.

## SECTION 204, CHANGE IN SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE DEDUCTIBLE

Section 204(a) of the bill amends section 1833(b) of the Social Security Act to increase the annual deductible applicable under the

supplementary medical insurance program from \$50 to \$60.

Section 204(b) of the bill amends section 1835(c) of the Act to make a conforming change which permits hospitals, subject to appropriate limitations, to collect from a beneficiary only those customary charges for covered medical and other health services furnished on an outpatient basis that do not exceed the \$60 annual deductible applicable under the supplementary medical insurance program.

Section 204(c) of the bill provides that the new deductible amount is to be effective with respect to calendar years after 1971, except that with respect to the deductible carryover provision of clause (1) of section 1833(b) of the Act, the new deductible will be deemed appli-

cable as of January 1, 1971.

SECTION 205, INCREASE IN LIFETIME RESERVE DAYS AND CHANGE IN HOSPITAL INSURANCE COINSURANCE AMOUNT UNDER MEDICARE

Section 205(a) of the bill amends section 1812(a) (1) and section 1812(b) (1) of the Social Security Act (relating to the number of days of inpatient hospital services for which payment may be made) to provide for an increase from 60 to 120 in the number of days of inpatient hospital services for which an individual is entitled during his lifetime to have payment made whenever he has exhausted the 90 days of inpatient hospital services for which he is regularly entitled to have payment made during a spell of illness.

Section 205(b) of the bill amends section 1813(a) (1) of the Act to provide that the amount payable for inpatient hospital services furnished an individual during any spell of illness shall be reduced by a

coinsurance amount equal to one-eighth of the inpatient hospital deductible for each day (before the 61st day) on which such individual is furnished such services during such spell of illness after such services have been furnished to him for 30 days.

Section 205(c) of the bill provides that these amendments are to apply to inpatient hospital services furnished during inpatient hospital stays beginning after December 31, 1971.

## SECTION 206. AUTOMATIC COVERAGE FOR SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE

Section 206(a) of the bill amends section 1837 of the Social Security

Act by adding new subsections (f) and (g).

The new subsection (f) provides that an individual (1) who is eligible under section 1836 of the Act to enroll for medical insurance coverage as a result of being entitled to hospital insurance benefits, and (2) whose initial enrollment period under section 1837(d) of the Act begins on or after the first day of the second month following the month in which the new subsection is enacted or October 1, 1971, whichever is later, will be deemed to have enrolled in the medical insurance program.

The new subsection (g) makes the provisions of section 1837 of the Act applicable for purposes of deemed enrollments except that—

- (1) the initial enrollment period for an individual meeting the eligibility requirements for enrollment in the supplementary medical insurance program by reason of entitlement to disability insurance benefits as described in section 226(a) (2(B) of the Act will begin April 1, 1972, or the first day of the 22nd consecutive month for which such individual has been receiving disability benefits, whichever is later, and will reoccur with each continuous period of eligibility and upon attainment of age 65:
- (2) (A) an individual who is receiving cash benefits under section 202 or 223 of the Act on the first day of his initial enrollment period or becomes entitled to monthly cash benefits under section 202 of the Act for any one of the first 3 months of his initial enrollment period, will be deemed to have enrolled in the third month of his initial enrollment period, and (B) a person who first becomes entitled to monthly benefits under such section 202 of the Act during the last 4 months of his initial enrollment period will be deemed to have enrolled in the month in which he files the application establishing his entitlement to hospital insurance benefits; and
- (3) a person who defers establishing his entitlement to hospital insurance benefits until after the end of his initial enrollment period will be deemed to have enrolled for supplementary medical insurance coverage during the general enrollment period in effect at the time or immediately following the time at which he establishes entitlement to hospital insurance benefits.

Section 206(b) of the bill amends section 1838(a) of the Act by adding a new paragraph (3) which provides that (A) supplementary medical insurance coverage for an individual deemed to have enrolled within the first 3 months of his initial enrollment period will begin on the first day of the month such person meets the eligibility requirements

of section 1836 of the Act or January 1, 1972, whichever is later, and (B) supplementary medical insurance coverage for an individual deemed to have enrolled after the first 3 months of his initial enrollment periods will be as prescribed under subparagraphs (B), (C),

(D), and (E) of section 1838(a) (2) of the Act.

Subsection 206(c) of the bill amends section 1838(b) of the Act by adding a new paragraph which provides that a termination request filed by a deemed enrolled individual before the month in which his supplementary medical insurance coverage is effective will cancel such coverage and will not count as a termination for the purposes of the limitations on enrollment and reenrollment prescribed in subsection 1837(b). Such new paragraph further provides that a termination request filed by a deemed enrolled individual on or after the first day his supplementary medical insurance coverage is effective will cancel such coverage as of the last day of the calendar quarter following the quarter in which the notice is filed.

## SECTION 207. ESTABLISHMENT OF INCENTIVES FOR STATES TO EMPHASIZE COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH CARE UNDER MEDICAID

Section 207(a) (1) of the bill amends section 1903 of the Social Security Act by adding new subsections (g) and (h) which will establish incentives for the use of organizations providing comprehensive health care, and disincentives for extended use of inpatient facilities.

The new section 1903(g) (in paragraph (1)) provides a 25 percent increase in the Federal medical assistance percentage, not to exceed 95 percent, for amounts paid by States after June 30, 1971, under contracts with health maintenance organizations and other facilities providing comprehensive health care. Such percentage may be increased only if such contract provides that payments for services provided under the contract will not exceed the payment level for similar services provided in the same geographical area and rendered under an

approved State plan.

The new section 1903(g) (in paragraph (2)(A) and (B)) decreases the Federal medical assistance percentage by 331/3 percent for inpatient services of more than 60 days in any fiscal year after June 30, 1971, furnished (A) in a general or TB hospital, or (B) in a skilled nursing home unless the State agency makes a showing satisfactory to the Secretary that there is an effective program of control over utilization. Such a showing must include evidence that (1) in each case for which payment is made, a physician certifies at the time of admission, or if later at the time the individual applies for medical assistance (and recertifies at least every sixty days and accompanied by supporting material as required by regulations), that such services are required for patient needs; (2) in each case services were furnished under a plan established and periodically reviewed and evaluated by a physician; (3) such State has in effect a continuing program of utilization review pursuant to section 1902(a) (30) of the Act whereby the necessity for admission and continued stay of each patient in a skilled nursing home is periodically reviewed and evaluated by medical and other professional personnel who are not themselves directly responsible for the care of the patient and who are not employed by or financially interested in any skilled nursing home.

Paragraph (2) (C) of the new section 1903(g) decreases the Federal medical assistance percentage by 33½ percent for inpatient services furnished an individual in a hospital for mental diseases after he has been furnished such services for 90 days after June 30, 1971, and for up to an additional 30 days if the State agency demonstrates that such additional days would provide an opportunity for continued therapeutic improvement, with Federal payments for inpatient services furnished any individual in a hospital for mental diseases being completely eliminated after the individual has been furnished such services for a total of 365 days during his lifetime.

In determining the number of days during which an individual has received services under the new section 1903(g), days of services to which he is entitled under section 1812 of the Act are not to be counted.

The new section 1903(h)(1) authorizes the Secretary to compute for reimbursement purposes a reasonable cost differential between cost of skilled nursing home services and cost of intermediate cost facilities. If the Secretary determines for any calendar quarter after December 31, 1971, that a reasonable cost differential does not exist between the cost of skilled nursing home and intermediate care facility services in a State, he may reduce the amount which would otherwise be considered under the State plan by the amount he judges to be a reasonable equivalent of the difference between costs for these types of facilities. The new section 1902(h)(2) requires the Secretary to consider the range of cost differentials in various States.

The new section 1902(h)(3) defines "cost differential" (determined by the Secretary on the basis of data for the most recent calendar quarter for which satisfactory data are available) as the excess of the average amount paid in such State per inpatient day for inpatient skilled nursing home services over the average amount paid for such

services in intermediate care facilities.

Section 207(a)(2) of the bill makes conforming changes to section 1903(a)(1) of the Act.

Section 207(b) of the bill provides that these amendments (except where otherwise stated) will be effective July 1, 1971.

#### SECTION 208, COST-SHARING UNDER MEDICALD

Security Act to provide, effective January 1, 1972, that (A) in the case of cash assistance recipient adults or foster children or individuals meeting appropriate income and resources requirements no enrollment fee, premium, or similar charge and no deduction, cost sharing, or similar charge imposed for required services, and any deduction, cost sharing, or similar charge imposed for optional services must be nominal in amount (as determined in accordance with standards approved by the Secretary and included in the plan), and (B) in the case of those adults or foster children who are not receiving aid or assistance under any such State plan and who do not meet the appropriate income and resources requirements there will be imposed an enrollment fee, premium, or similar charge which (as determined in accordance with standards prescribed by the Secretary) is related to income and no other enrollment fee or premium may be imposed.

Section 208(b) provides that these amendments will be effective January 1, 1972 (or earlier if the State plan so provides).

Section 209(a) of the bill amends section 1902(a) (10) of the Social Security Act to provide for making medical assistance available to all individuals who are receiving assistance to needy families with children as defined in section 405(b), or who are receiving assistance for the aged, blind, and disabled under title XX, or with respect to whom payments for foster care are made in accordance with section 406.

The amended section 1902(a) (10) further provides that if medical or remedial care or services are included for any group of individuals who are not receiving assistance under title XX or XXI, or for children who are members of families receiving assistance under title XXI other than needy families with children as defined in section 405(b), then medical or remedial care and services will be provided to all such individuals who would, if needy, be eligible for assistance under title XX or XXI, and who have insufficient income and resources to meet the costs of necessary medical or remedial care. The medical or remedial care and services made available to all such individuals must be equal in amount, duration, and scope, and may not be more than the medical or remedial care and services made available to individuals receiving assistance to needy families with children (as defined in section 405(b)), to aged, blind, or disabled individuals receiving assistance under title XX, or to foster care children on whose behalf payment is made under section 406.

Section 209(b)(1) of the bill amends section 1902(a)(14) of the Act to provide that its cost-sharing provisions will apply only subject

to the provisions of 1903(f) of the Act (discussed below).

Section 209(b) (2) of the bill amends section 1902(a) (17) of the Act to provide for taking into account, in determining eligibility for and extent of medical assistance, only such income and resources as are available to the applicant or recipient, as determined in accordance with standards prescribed by the Secretary. Section 209(b) provides for cetrain additional changes to conform to the income dis-

regard provision of section 1903(f) of the Act.

Section 209(c) of the bill amends section 1903(f) of the Act to provide that no Federal matching payments may be made for amounts expended as medical assistance in any State for an individual who is aged, blind, or disabled (as defined in title XX) and who is not receiving assistance under title XX unless the income of any such individual (after deducting medical expenses) is not in excess of the standard for medical assistance established under the State plan. It further provides that no Federal matching payments may be made for amounts expended as medical assistance in any State for any member of a family as defined in title XXI, whether or not such family is receiving assistance under that title, unless the income of all the members of such family (after deducting medical expenses) is not in excess of the standard for medical assistance so established.

The amended section 1903 (f) provides that the standard for medical assistance established under the State plan may not be less than, nor more than 1331/3 percent of, the highest amount that would be payable under title XXI to an eligible family of the same size without income or resources plus the amount of any supplementary payment

made by the State in accordance with the new section 2156 of the Act

to such an eligible family.

The amended section 1903(f) also provides that, in determining for these purposes the income of any individual who is aged, blind, or disabled within the meaning of title XX or the income of any family, there is to be excluded the first \$1,020 per year of earned income in the case of a blind or disabled individual or the first \$720 per year of earned income in the case of an aged individual or a family (or proportionately smaller amounts for shorter periods) plus other amounts that would be excluded under the income disregard provisions of titles XX and XXI.

Section 209(d) of the bill amends section 1902 of the Act by adding a new subsection (e) which provides that notwithstanding any of the above provisions no State will be required to furnish medical assistance to any individual or member of a family unless the State would be (or would have been) required to furnish such assistance to such individual or family under its Medicaid plan that was in effect on January 1, 1971. Thus, no State would be required to cover under Medicald persons who were made newly eligible for cash benefits under titles XX and XXI. However, if a State should elect to provide Medicaid benefits on the basis of its January 1, 1971, medical assistance standard (instead of the new standard prescribed in section 1903(f)) it would be required to incorporate a spend-down provision comparable to that contained in section 1903(f) so that any eligible individual or family would be entitled to Medicaid only if the income of such individual or family (after deducting incurred medical expenses) was not in excess of the State standard for medical assistance as in effect on January 1, 1971.

Section 209(e) of the bill provides that these amendments will

become effective on July 1, 1972.

## SECTION 210. PAYMENT UNDER MEDICARE TO INDIVIDUALS COVERED BY FEDERAL EMPLOYEES HEALTH BENEFITS PROGRAM

Section 210 of the bill amends section 1862 of the Social Security Act to exclude from coverage under title XVIII any item or service furnished any individual on or after January 1, 1975, if it is covered under a Federal employees health benefits plan, unless prior to the date on which it is furnished the Secretary has determined and certified that the health plan or the Federal employees health benefits program has been modified so as to assure that there is available to each enrolled Federal employee or annuitant, upon or after attaining age 65, one or more health benefits plans offering protection supplementing that afforded by both parts A and B or part B alone of Medicare. In addition, the Government or the plan is to make available to such Federal employee or annuitant a contribution at least equal to that which the Government makes toward the health insurance of any employee or annuitant enrolled for high option coverage under a governmentwide plan. The contribution must be toward the supplementary protection referred to above, to or on behalf of the employee or annuitant to offset the cost of coverage to him of parts A and B of Medicare, or it may be a combination of both of these.

SECTION 211. PAYMENT UNDER MEDICARE FOR CERTAIN INPATIENT HOS-PITAL AND RELATED PHYSICIANS' SERVICES FURNISHED OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES

Section 211(a) of the bill amends section 1814(f) of the Social Security Act to make Medicare benefits payable for inpatient hospital services furnished outside the United States in cases where the beneficiary is a resident of the United States and the foreign hospital is closer to, or substantially more accessible from, his residence than the nearest hospital in the United States which was suitable and available for his treatment. Such benefits are to be payable without regard to whether an emergency existed or where the illness or accident occurred. (In present law section 1814(f) limits payment to emergencies occurring within the United States.) Payment for covered hospital services furnished outside the United States would be made essentially on the same basis as payment for emergency services furnished by a nonparticipating hospital within the United States.

Section 211(b) of the bill amends section 1861(e) of the Act to provide that Medicare benefits payable under the amended section 1814(f) will be payable only with respect to inpatient services furnished by a hospital which has been accredited by the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals or by a hospital-approval pro-

gram having essentially comparable standards.

Section 211(c)(1) of the bill amends section 1862(a)(4) of the Act to make Medicare benefits payable for physicians' services and ambulance services furnished in conjunction with covered foreign inpatient hospital services for the period during which such inpatient

hospital services were furnished.

Section 211(c)(2) of the bill amends section 1861(r) of the Act to provide that for purposes of covered physicians' services furnished in conjunction with covered foreign inpatient hospital services, the term "physician" includes a doctor of one of the arts specified in such section 1861(r) legally authorized to practice such art in the country in which such inpatient hospital services are furnished.

Section 211(c)(3) of the bill amends section 1842(b)(3)(B)(ii) of the Act to make benefits for physicians' services and ambulance services furnished in conjunction with covered foreign inpatient hospital services payable only in accordance with the itemized bill method of

reimbursement.

Section 211(c) (4) of the bill amends section 1833(a) (1) of the Act to provide that, with respect to expenses incurred for physicians' services furnished in conjunction with covered foreign inpatient hospital services, the amounts paid are to be subject to such limitations as may be prescribed by regulations.

Section 211(d) of the bill provides that these amendments will be applicable to services furnished with respect to admissions occurring

after December 31, 1971.

PART B-IMPROVEMENTS IN OPERATING EFFECTIVENESS

SECTION 221. LIMITATION ON FEDERAL PARTICIPATION FOR CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

Section 221(a) of the bill adds a new section 1122 at the end of title XI of the Social Security Act.

Subsection (a) of the new section 1122 expresses the congressional intent that funds appropriated under titles V. XVIII, and XIX of the Act should not be used to support unnecessary capital expenditures and that reimbursement under such titles should support State health planning activities.

Subsection (b) of the new section 1122 provides that the Secretary, after consultation with the governor (or other chief executive officer) and local public officials, is to make an agreement with any States under which a designated planning agency (which has a governing body or advisory body at least one-half of whose members represent consumer interests) will (1) make, and submit to the Secretary together with such supporting materials as he may find necessary, findings and recommendations with respect to capital expenditures proposed by or on behalf of any health care facility of health maintenance organization in its jurisdiction, (2) receive, and submit to the Secretary together with such supporting material as he may find necessary, the findings and recommendations of other qualified planning agencies with respect to proposed capital expenditures of health care facilities or health maintenance organizations in their jurisdiction, and (3) establish and maintain procedures pursuant to which a person proposing any such capital expenditure may appeal a recommendation by the designated agency and will be granted on opportunity for a fair hearing by such agency or person other than the designated agency as the governor (or other chief executive officer) may designate, whenever such findings indicate that any such expenditure is inconsistent with the standards, criteria, or plans developed pursuant to the Public Health Service Act (or the Mental Retardation Facilities and Community Mental Health Centers Construction Act of 1963) to meet the need for adequate health care facilities in the area covered by the plan or plans.

Subsection (c) of the new section 1122 provides that the Secretary will pay from the Federal Hospital Insurance Trust Fund to any State with which he makes an agreement the reasonable costs incurred by the planning agencies involved in preparing and forwarding findings and recommendations with respect to proposed capital expenditures.

Subsection (d) (1) of the new section 1122 provides that in determining reimbursement under titles V. XVIII, and XIX of the Act the Secretary will disallow, for such periods as he finds necessary, expenses with respect to capital expenditures which are attributable to depreciation, interest on borrowed funds, a return on equity capital (in the case of proprietary facilities), or other expenses related to such capital expenditure if he determines (A) that neither the designated planning agency nor any other qualified planning agency had been notified of the proposed capital expenditure at least 60 days prior to obligation for such expenditure, or (B) that the agency had given notice to the facility within a reasonable period of time after receipt of notice of the proposed expenditure and prior to obligation for such expenditure that it would not be in conformity with the standards, criteria, or plans developed by such agency or any other qualified planning agency for adequate health care facilities in such jurisdiction, and prior to reporting its findings to the Secretary had consulted and taken into consideration the findings and recommendations of other planning agencies or organizations performing similar functions with respect to the area in which the health facility is located, and granted to the person proposing such capital expenditure an opportunity for

a fair hearing with respect to such findings.

Subsection (d)(2) of the new section 1122 provides that if after submitting the matter to the national advisory council (discussed below) the Secretary determines that disallowance of any expense relating to a capital expenditure of any health care facility or health maintenance organization would discourage the operation or expansion of such facility or organization which has satisfactorily demonstrated its ability to provide comprehensive health care services efficiently, effectively, and economically, and would be inconsistent with effective organization and delivery of health services or effective administration of titles V, XVIII. or XIX, he will not disallow such expense.

Subsection (e) of the new section 1122 provides that in determining reimbursement under titles V, XVIII, and XIX in cases where facilities or equipment are obtained under lease that would have been subject to a disallowance if purchased, the Secretary is to deduct from the facility's rental expenses an amount reasonably equivalent to that which would have been disallowed if the facilities or equipment had

been purchased.

Subsection (f) of the new section 1122 provides that any person dissatisfied with a determination under the section may request reconsideration by the Secretary up to 6 months after notification, with such determinations not being subject to other administrative or judicial review.

Subsection (g) of the new section 1122 defines the term "capital expenditure" as an expenditure which, under generally accepted accounting principles, is not properly chargeable as an expense of operation and maintenance and exceeds \$100,000, changes the facility's bed capacity, or substantially changes the facility's services.

Subsection (h) of the new section 1122 provides that the section is

not applicable to Christian Science sanatoriums.

Subsection (i) (1) of the new section 1122 directs the Secretary to establish or designate a national advisory council to assist and advise him in the preparation of regulations and on policy matters in the administration of the section.

Subsection (i) (2) of the new section 1122 provides that any council so established or designated is to consult and coordinate its activities with other appropriate national advisory councils and coordinate activities under the section with related Federal health programs.

Subsection (i) (3) of the new section 1122 provides that if an advisory council is newly established by the Secretary its members are not to be in the regular full-time employ of the United States and are to be chosen from among leaders in the fundamental sciences, the medical sciences, or the organization, delivery, and financing of health care, or from among persons who are State or local officials or are active in community affairs or public or civic affairs or who are representative of minority groups. Members of such advisory council will be entitled to compensation at rates to be determined by the Secretary but not to exceed the maximum rate paid to a GS-18.

Section 221(b) of the bill provides that the amendment made by section 221(a) will apply with respect to capital expenditures the

obligation for which is incurred after June 30, 1972, or (with respect to any State or part thereof) earlier if the State so requests.

Section 221(c) of the bill amends various provisions of titles V, XVIII, and XIX of the Act to make conforming changes and to require that the standards applied under those provisions be consistent with the new section 1122.

SECTION 222, REPORT ON PLAN FOR PROSPECTIVE REIMBURSEMENT; ENPERIMENTS AND DEMONSTRATION PROJECTS TO DEVELOP INCENTIVES FOR ECONOMY IN THE PROVISION OF HEALTH SERVICES

Section 222(a) (1) of the bill authorizes the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to develop and engage in experiments and demonstration projects designed to determine the advantages and disadvantages of various alternative methods of prospective reimbursement to hospitals, extended care facilities, and other providers of services under title XVIII of the Social Security Act and under State plans approved under titles XIX and V of the Act in order to stimulate providers through positive financial incentives to use their facilities and personnel more efficiently and thereby reduce program costs without adversely affecting the quality of services.

Section 222(a)(2) of the bill provides that such experiments and demonstration projects are to be of sufficient scope and applicability to permit a thorough evaluation of alternative methods of prospective reimbursement without committing the programs involved to the adoption of any prospective payment system either locally or nationally.

Section 222(a) (3) of the bill provides that the Secretary may waive reimbursement requirements of titles V, XVIII, and XIX with respect to such experiments and demonstration projects. Any costs incurred in such experiments or projects in excess of amounts which would normally be paid under such titles will be borne by the Secretary. The Secretary will obtain the advice and recommendations of competent specialists prior to instituting any such experiment or project.

Section 222(a) (4) of the bill provides that grants and payments for experiments and demonstration projects are to be made in appropriate part from the Federal trust funds established for the hospital and supplementary medical insurance programs under the title XVIII of the Act.

Section 222(a) (5) of the bill provides that the Secretary is to submit a report to the Congress no later than January 1, 1973, on the experiments and projects carried out. Such report is to include detailed recommendations with respect to programwide implementation of a system of prospective reimbursement.

Section 222(b) (1) of the bill amends section 402(a) of the Social Security Amendments of 1967 to provide authorization for the Secretary to develop and engage in experiments and demonstration projects for the following purposes: to determine whether changes in methods of payment (other than those authorized in section 222(a) of the bill) would create incentives for increasing efficiency and economy for health care and services under health programs established by the Social Security Act; to determine whether payments to organizations

and institutions which have the capability of providing comprehensive health care, mental health care, ambulatory health care, and institutional services which may substitute, at lower cost, for hospital care for non-covered services incidental to covered services would result in a more economical provision and effective utilization of covered services; to determine whether use of rates of payment approved by a State for purposes of administering one or more of its laws would reduce the costs of health programs established by the Act; to determine whether payments based on a single, combined rate of reimbursement for teaching activities and patient care rendered by residents, interns, and supervisory physicians connected with a graduate medical education program would result in more equitable and economical patient care arrangements; to determine whether areawide or community-wide peer review, utilization review, and medical review mechanisms would more effectively assure that health services provided conform to appropriate professional standards, that payment will be made only when such services are medically necessary, and, in the case of inpatient care, that such care cannot be effectively provided on an outpatient basis or more economically in a different type of inpatient facility; and to determine whether fixed price or performance incentive contracts would induce more effective, efficient, and economical performance by intermediaries and carriers. Grants and payments for these experiments and demonstration projects are to be made in appropriate part from the Federal trust funds established for the hospital and supplementary medical insurance programs under title XVIII

Section 222(b)(2) of the bill amends section 402(b) of the 1967 Amendments to make conforming changes which permit demonstration

projects as well as experiments.

Section 222(c) of the bill amends section 1875(b) of the Act to provide that the Secretary's annual report to the Congress concerning the operation of the health insurance program will include a report on the experiments and demonstration projects authorized under the amendments made by section 222(b) of the bill.

#### SECTION 223. LIMITATIONS ON COVERAGE OF COSTS UNDER MEDICARE

Section 223(a) of the bill amends section 1861(v)(1) of the Act (defining reasonable cost for purposes of provider reimbursement) by excluding from recognition as reasonable any part of incurred cost found to be unnecessary in the efficient delivery of needed health services.

Section 223(b) of the bill amends section 1861(v) (1) of the Act to provide for the establishment of limits on costs which will be recognized as reasonable based on estimates of the costs necessary in efficient delivery of services.

Section 223(c) and section 223(d) of the bill further amend section 1861(v)(1) of the Act to make it clear that the medicare objective of meeting all direct and indirect costs of providing covered services to covered individuals does not extend to those costs determined to be unnecessary in the efficient delivery of covered services.

Section 223(e) of the bill amends section 1866(a)(2)(B) of the Act to permit a provider to impose charges for items or services in excess of or more expensive than items or services for which reimbursement

may be made under title XVIII even where not requested by the patient provided that (A) such charges are customarily imposed by such provider, do not exceed the excess cost of such items or services in the provider's previous fiscal period, and are identified (to the person to whom the items or services are furnished) as costs in excess of those determined to be necessary, and (B) the Secretary provides public notice that such charges may be imposed.

Section 223(f) of the bill amends section 1861(v) of the Act (as otherwise amended by the bill) to provide for reduction of program reimbursement to providers of services in those instances where the provider imposes charges in excess of or more expensive than those determined to be necessary in the efficient delivery of health services to the extent that such charges exceed the cost actually incurred for such items or services.

Section 223(g) of the bill amends section 1866(a)(2) of the Act to provide that a provider of services may not impose additional charges upon a patient as otherwise permitted under the amendments made by section 223 if the admitting physician has a direct or indirect financial interest in such provider.

Section 223(h) of the bill provides that these amendments will be effective with respect to accounting periods beginning after June 30, 1972.

### SECTION 224, LIMITS ON PREVAILING CHARGE LEVELS

Section 224(a) of the bill amends section 1842(b)(3) of the Social Security Act with respect to the determination of the reasonable charge for services furnished under the supplementary medical insurance program. Under the amendment, no charge may be determined to be reasonable in the case of bills or requests for payment submitted after December 31, 1970, if it exceeds the higher of (1) the prevailing charge recognized by the carrier for similar services in the same locality in administering the supplementary medical insurance program under part B of title XVIII on December 31, 1970, or (2) the prevailing charge level that, on the basis of statistical data and methodology acceptable to the Secretary, would cover 75 percent of the customary charges made for similar services in the same locality during the last preceding calendar year elapsing prior to the start of the fiscal year in which such bill is submitted or such request for payment is made. The prevailing charge levels determined for purposes of the latter clause for fiscal years beginning after June 30, 1972; may not exceed (in the aggregate) the levels for fiscal year 1972 except to the extent justified by economic changes as reflected in appropriate economic index data.

In the case of medical services, supplies, and equipment that, in the judgment of the Secretary, do not generally vary significantly in quality from one supplier to another, the charges incurred after June 30, 1972, and determined to be reasonable may exceed the lowest charge levels at which such services, supplies, and equipment are widely available in a locality only to the extent and under the circumstances specified by the Secretary

Section 224(b) of the bill amends section 1867 of the Act to require the Health Insurance Benefits Advisory Council to conduct a study of the methods of reimbursement for physicians' services under Medicare to determine their effects on (1) physicians' fees generally, (2)

the extent of assignments accepted by physicians, and (3) the share of total physician-fee costs which the Medicare program does not pay and which the beneficiary must assume. The Council is required to report the results of the study to the Congress no later than July 1, 1972, such report to include discussion of alternatives to the present methods and a recommendation as to the preferred method.

Section 224(c) of the bill amends section 1903 of the Act by adding a new subsection (i) providing that payment to States under the Medicaid program may not be made with respect to any amount paid for items or services furnished under a State plan after June 30, 1971, to the extent that such amount exceeds the charge which would be determined to be reasonable for such items or services under the amend-

ments made by section 224(a) of the bill.

Section 224(d) of the bill amends section 506 of the Act by adding a new subsection (f) providing that payment to States under the maternal and child health program may not be made with respect to any amount paid for items or services furnished under a State plan after June 30, 1971, to the extent that such amount exceeds the charge which would be determined to be reasonable for such items or services under the amendments made by section 224(a) of the bill.

#### SECTION 225, LIMITS ON PAYMENT FOR SKILLED NURSING HOME AND INTERMEDIATE CARE FACILITY SERVICES

Section 225 of the bill amends section 1903 of the Social Security Act by adding a new subsection (j) to limit payments for skilled

mirsing homes and intermediate care facilities.

The new section 1903(j)(1) limits the amount payable to a State under its plan for skilled nursing home services in any calendar quarter after December 31, 1971, to no more than the product of  $(\Lambda)$  the mun-•ber of inpatient days of skilled nursing home services provided under the State plan in each quarter, and (B) 105 percent of the average per diem cost of such services for the fourth calendar quarter preceding the quarter in question.

The new section 1903(j)(2) limits the amount payable to a State with respect to intermediate care facility services provided in any calendar quarter after December 31, 1971, to no more than the product of (A) the number of inpatient days of intermediate care facility services provided under the State plan or plans in such quarter, and (B) 105 percent of the average per diem cost of such services for the fourth calendar quarter preceding the quarter in question.

With respect to both skilled mursing homes and intermediate care facilities, the Secretary is authorized to increase the specified percentage limitation to take account of increases in per diem costs which result directly from increases in the Federal minimum wage or from other changes in Federal law.

#### SECTION 226, PAYMENTS TO HEALTH MAINTENANCE ORGANIZATIONS

Section 226(a) of the bill adds to title XVIII of the Social Security Act a new section 1876 providing for payments to health maintenance organizations.

Paragraph (1) of the new section 1876(a) authorizes the Secretary to determine by actuarial methods a prospective per capita rate of payment to health maintenance organizations with which he has entered into a contract. Payments are to be made (A) for services provided under parts A and B of title XVIII to individuals who are enrolled in such organizations and are also entitled to hospital insurance benefits under part A and enrolled for medical insurance benefits under part B, and (B) for services provided under part B to individuals who are enrolled in such organizations and who are not entitled under part A but are enrolled under part B. These payments are in lieu of amounts that would otherwise be payable with respect to such individuals under sections 1814(b) and 1833(a) of the Act.

Paragraph (2) of the new section 1876(a) provides, in subparagraph (A), that the rate of payment to a health maintenance organization will be determined annually in accordance with regulations established by the Secretary. The rate will be equal to 95 percent of the amount the Secretary estimates would be payable if the services were furnished by sources other than a health maintenance organization. (The rate would be adjusted to assure actuarial equivalence and would be derived from an estimated amount which includes administrative costs incurred

by fiscal intermedaries and carriers.)

Subparagraph (B) of the new paragraph (2) provides that, in order to assure that such organizations will not be permitted to retain revenues exceeding expenses of such enrollees at a rate greater than the rate retained for other enrollees, the Secretary is to require, following each accounting period, at a time and in such form and detail as he may prescribe, that (i) the organization submit a certified public statement for the preceding accounting period of the amount retained and rate of retention for individuals enrolled with the organization under the new section, considered as a group, and for all other enrollees of the organization, considered as a group; (ii) an audit be conducted, in accordance with regulations of the Secretary, of any such organization whose rate of retention for individuals enrolled under this section exceeds 90 percent of the organization's rate of retention with respect to other enrollees of the organization; and (iii) any part of the amount retained by the organization with respect to individuals enrolled under this section which represents an excessive rate of retention must be repaid by such organization unless used by it to provide to enrollees under this section benefits in addition to those covered under parts A and B of title XVIII or to reduce premium rates charged by the organization to individuals enrolled under the section. Subparagraph (B) also defines for purposes of the new section (iv) the term "amount retained" as the difference between the organization's revenues (regardless of source) for any accounting period, with respect to any group of enrollees, and the organization's expenses for such period with respect to that group; (v) the term "rate of retention" as the ratio of the amount retained to revenues, expressed as a percentage; and (vi) the term "excessive rate of retention" as either the organization's rate of retention for individuals enrolled under the section which exceeds that organization's rate of retention with respect to all other enrollees or, if such organization has been exempted from the requirement that one-half of its enrolled population be under age 65, a rate of retention which exceeds a reasonable rate of retention determined in accordance with regulations which take into account the rate of retention experienced by comparable organizations with respect to other enrollees.

Paragraph (3) of the new section 1876(a) provides that the payment to health maintenance organizations for enrollees under the section who are entitled under part A and enrolled under part B of title XVIII is to be made from the Federal hospital insurance trust fund and the Federal supplementary medical insurance trust fund. The portion of such payment to be made from the supplementary medical insurance trust fund to a health maintenance organization for a month will be equal to 200 percent of the sum of  $(\Lambda)$  the number of such enrollees who are at least age 65 multiplied by the monthly actuarial rate for beneficiaries enrolled under part B who have attained age 65 (as determined under the new section 1839(c)(1)), and (B) the number of such enrollees who are under age 65 multipled by the actuarial rate for the beneficiaries enrolled under part B who are under age 65 (as determined under the new section 1839(c)(4)). The remainder of the monthly payment will be paid from the hospital insurance trust fund. Payment would be subject to the limitation on Federal participation for capital expenditures as provided in section 1122 of the Act as added by section 221 of the bill.

The new section 1876(b) defines a "health maintenance organiza-

tion as a public or private organization which-

(1) provides, directly or through arrangements with others, health services to enrolled individuals on a per capita prepayment basis;

(2) provides to enrolled individuals, either directly or through arrangements with others and through qualified providers of services, all of the services and benefits covered under parts A

and B of title XVIII;

(3) provides physicians' services directly through physicians who are either employees or partners of the organization or under arrangements with one or more groups of physicians organized on a group or individual practice basis) which is (or are) reimbursed for services primarily on the basis of an aggregate fixed sum or on a per capita basis, regardless of whether the individual physicians in any such group are paid on a fee-for-service or individual practice basis;

(4) demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Secretary proof of financial responsibility and capability to provide comprehensive health care services (including institutional services) efficiently,

effectively, and economically;

(5) subject to the provision of the new section 1876(h), has enrolled members at least half of whom are under age 65;

(6) assures that the health services required by its members are received promptly and appropriately and that the services received measure up to quality standards which it establishes under regulations prescribed by the Secretary; and

(7) has an open enrollment period at least once every year under which it accepts eligible individuals, without restrictions, except as may be provided in regulations, on a first-come first-accepted

basis up to the limit of its capacity.

The new section 1876(c) provides that the benefits provided to an individual through a health maintenance organization will consist of—

(1) for those individuals enrolled in accordance with the new section 1876(e) who are entitled under part  $\Lambda$  and enrolled under

part B, (A) services described in sections 1812 and 1832 of the Act which are furnished by such organization, and (B) emergency services (as defined in regulations) or such other services which, in accordance with the new section 1876(f), it has been determined that the individual was entitled to receive from the health maintenance organization; and

(2) for those individuals enrolled in accordance with the new section 1876(e) who are enrolled under part B but not entitled under part A, the services described in clause (1) above, but only to the extent that the services are also described under section

1832 of the Act.

The new section 1876(d) provides that (subject to the provisions of section 1876(e)) every individual who is entitled to hospital insurance benefits under part A and who is enrolled for medical insurance benefits under part B or who is enrolled under part B but not entitled under part A will be eligible to enroll with a health maintenance organization which serves the geographic area in which he resides.

The new section 1876(e) provides that regulations are to be prescribed to govern enrollment and termination of enrollment with a

health maintenance organization.

The new section 1876(f) provides that an individual enrolled with a health maintenance organization is entitled to a hearing before the Secretary (to the same extent as is provided in section 205(b) of the Act) if the amount in controversy is \$100 or more and the individual is dissatisfied because of his failure to receive without additional cost any health service to which he believes he is entitled. In any such hearing the Secretary will make the health maintenance organization a party thereto. If the amount in controversy is \$1,000 or more, the individual or the health maintenance organization will be entitled to judicial review of the Secretary's final decision (after hearing as provided in section 205(g) of the Act).

Paragraph (1) of the new section 1876(g) provides that if the health maintenance organization provides only the services described in section 1876(c), its premium rate may not exceed the actuarial value of the cost-sharing provisions applicable under part A and part B.

Paragraph (2) of the new section 1876(g) provides that if the health maintenance organization provides additional services it will furnish its enrollees with information as to the division of its premium rate between the portion for the additional services and the portion for the services described in section 1876(c). The latter portion may not exceed the actuarial value of the cost-sharing provisions applicable under part A and part B.

The new section 1876(h) permits the Secretary to waive, in the case of any health maintenance organization, for up to 3 years, the requirement in section 1876(b)(5) that at least half the organization's enrolled members be persons under 65, where the organization is making continuous efforts toward complying with such requirement.

Paragraph (1) of the new section 1876(i) authorizes the Secretary to contract with any health maintenance organization which undertakes to provide, on a per capita prepayment basis to those individuals enrolled pursuant to subsection (e), all services covered under part B and, for those individuals who are also entitled to hospital insurance benefits, all services covered under part A of title XVIII.

Paragraph (2) of the new section 1876(i) provides that such contracts are to be for a minimum of one year, as determined by the Secretary, and (subject to three exceptions) automatically renewable in the absence of notice by either party of intention to terminate at the end of the current term. The exceptions are that the Secretary may terminate the contract any time (after giving reasonable notice and opportunity for hearing to the affected organization, in accordance with regulations) upon finding that the organization (A) has failed substantially to carry out the contract, or (B) is carrying it out in a manner inconsistent with efficient and effective administration of this section, or (C) no longer substantially meets the definition of health maintenance organization prescribed in section 1876(b).

Paragraph (3) of the new section 1876(i) provides that the effective date of any contract under the section is to be specified in the contract

pursuant to regulations.

Paragraph (4) of the new section 1876(i) provides that each contract executed under the section must authorize the Secretary (or his designee) (i) to inspect or otherwise evaluate the quality, appropriateness, and timeliness of services performed under the contract, and (ii) to audit and inspect any books and records of the organization pertaining to services performed and determination of amounts payable under the contract. Such contracts will also contain other terms not inconsistent with the new section which are deemed necessary by the Secretary.

The new section 1876(j) provides that the Secretary, in carrying out the contractual functions prescribed in subsection (i), may disregard any provision of law or regulation relating to the making, performance, amendment, or modification of contracts of the United States upon determining that such provision is inconsistent with the

purposes of title XVIII of the Act.

Section 226(b) of the bill provides that notwithstanding the provisions of section 1814 and section 1833 of the Act, any organization which has entered into a contract pursuant to section 1876 will receive Medicare reimbursement only as provided in that section for individuals who are members of such organization. However, the Secretary may reimburse such organization on the basis of a per capita rate, determined in accordance with the provisions of section 1876(a), with appropriate actuarial adjustments for the utilization of out-of-plan services, for individuals who were members of such organization prior to January 1, 1972, and who, although eligible, chose not to have payments made pursuant to section 1876. Such reimbursement would be for a period not to exceed three years, beginning with January 1, 1972.

Section 226(c)(1) and (2) of the bill amends sections 1814(a) and

1833(a) of the Act to make conforming changes.

Section 226(d) of the bill provides that these amendments are to be effective with respect to services provided on or after January 1, 1972.

#### SECTION 227, PAYMENT UNDER MEDICARE FOR SERVICES OF PHYSICSANS RENDERED AT A TEACHING HOSPITAL

Section 227(a) of the bill amends section 1861(b) of the Social Security Act with respect to the definition of the term "inpatient hospital services." It strikes out the second sentence of 1861(b) (relating to coverage of inhospital services furnished by interns or residents-intraining under certain approved teaching programs) and adds new paragraphs (6) and (7) to include as inpatient hospital services the

medical and surgical services of

(6) an intern or resident in training under a teaching program approved by the Council on Medical Education of the American Medical Association, the Committee on Hospitals of the Bureau of Professional Education of the American Osteopathic Association or the Council on Dental Education of the American Dental Association, and

(7) a physician teaching under such an approved program unless (A) the patient receiving inpatient services is a private patient (as defined in regulations) or (B) the hospital establishes that during the 2-year period ending December 31, 1967, and all subsequent years all inpatients were billed and attempts were made to collect reasonable charges in full for such physicians' services, and substantial payment (including deductible and coinsurance amounts) was regularly collected from at least 50 percent of all inpatients.

Section 227(b) (1) of the bill amends section 1814(a) of the Act to make conforming changes in the exceptions to the usual requirements

of requests and certifications for payment.

Section 227(b)(2) of the bill further amends section 1814 of the Act by adding a new subsection (g) which provides that payment for the services of teaching physicians which are reimbursed on an equivalent cost basis (as described in the new subparagraph (D) of section 1861(v)(1) of the Act) may be made to a fund designated by the organized inedical staff of the hospital or, if the services were furnished by the faculty of a medical school, by such faculty if (1) the hospital is a participating provider of services and (2) there is written assurance that such payment will be used by the fund for improved hospital care or for educational or charitable purposes and that no charges are retained for such services.

Section 227(c) of the bill amends section 1861(v)(1) of the Act (relating to definition of reasonable cost) to make conforming changes and to add two new subparagraphs (C) and (D). The new subparagraph (C) provides that where the faculty of a medical school provides services which would be reimbursable under part A of title XVIII if furnished directly by the hospital or which are reimbursable under part B of title XVIII, the reasonable cost of such services to the medical school will be included in determining the reasonable cost to the hospital of furnishing such services if the hospital pays to the medical school the reasonable costs of such services. Subparagraph (D) provides that where physicians furnish services that are either inpatient hospital services covered under part A of title XVIII or hospital services covered under part B of title XVIII and the hospital (or medical school under arrangement with the hospital) incurs no actual cost in furnishing these services, the reasonable cost will be deemed to be the cost the hospital or medical school would have incurred if it had paid a salary to the physicians equivalent to the average salary paid to all physicians employed by the hospital or (if only a minimal number or no physicians are employed by the hospital) by similar hospitals in a geographic area large enough to assure that a sufficient number of physicians are included in determining such average salary.

Section 227(d)(1) of the bill amends section 1861(u) of the Act to make a conforming change relating to the making of reasonable cost payments for certain hospital services furnished by physicians to a designated fund.

Section 227(d)(2) amends section 1866(a)(1) of the Act to make

an additional conforming change.

Section 227(e)(1) of the bill amends section 1832(a)(2)(B) of the Act to include as hospital services covered under part B of title XVIII physicians' services rendered by a resident or intern of the hospital or a physician teaching under an approved program, unless such services would be excluded as inpatient hospital services under paragraph (7) of section 1861(b) as revised above.

Subparagraph (A) of section 227(e)(2) of the bill amends section

1835(a) of the Act to make a conforming change.

Subparagraph (B) of section 227(e)(2) of the bill amends section 1835 of the Act by adding a new subsection (e) providing that where services provided by teaching physicians are covered under part B of title XVIII as hospital services and are reimbursed on an equivalent salary basis (as described in the new subparagraph (D) of section 1861(v)(1) of the Act), payment may be made to a fund designated by the organized medical staff of the hospital or, if the services were furnished by the faculty of a medical school by such faculty, under the same conditions as set forth for part A payments above.

Section 227(f) of the bill amends section 1861(q) of the Act to make

a conforming change.

Section 227(g) of the bill provides that these amendments are to apply with respect to accounting periods beginning after June 30, 1971.

SECTION 228. ADVANCE APPROVAL OF EXTENDED CARE AND HOME HEALTH COVERAGE UNDER MEDICARE

Section 228(a) of the bill amends section 1814 of the Social Security Act (as otherwise amended by the bill) by adding new subsections (h)

and (i).

Paragraph (1) of the new section 1814(h) provides that where (A) a patient's physician completes the certification for post-hospital extended care services (as required by subparagraph (C) of section 1814 (a) (2) of the Act), prior to or at the time of admission to an extended care facility. (B) the certification describes a medical condition of the patient which is designated in regulations. (C) a plan of treatment for providing the services accompanies the certification, and (D) there is compliance with additional requirements and procedures prescribed in regulations, the individual will be presumed to require, for purposes of payment to the extended care facility (subject to the limitations of section 1812 of the Act), the care described in subparagraph (C) of section 1814(a) (2) of the Act, but only during such limited periods of time with respect to such conditions of individuals as are prescribed in regulations. Such regulations will take into account the medical severity of such conditions, the degree of incapacity, the minimum length of institutional stay generally needed for such conditions, and other pertinent factors.

Paragraph (2) of the new section 1814(h) provides that if the Secretary determines that a physician is submitting with some frequency erroneous certifications of conditions prescribed in regulations or in-

appropriate plans of treatment, the provisions of paragraph (1) of the section will not, after the date of such determination, apply to patients for whom such physician submits certifications or plans of treatment.

Paragraph (1) of the new section 1814(i) provides that where (A) a patient's physician submits the certification and plan of treatment for post-hospital home health services (as required by subparagraph (D) of section 1814(a)(2) of the Act) prior to the first post-hospital home health visit by the home health agency, (B) the certification describes a medical condition of the patient which is designated in regulations, and (C) there is compliance with additional requirements and procedures prescribed in regulations, the individual will be presumed to require, for purposes of payment to the home health agency subject to the limitations of section 1812 of the Act), the care described in subparagraph (D) of section 1814(a)(2) of the Act, but only for such limited numbers of visits with respect to such conditions of individuals as are prescribed in regulations. Such regulations will take into account the medical severity of such conditions, the degree of incapacity, the minimum period of home confinement generally needed for such conditions, and other pertinent factors.

Paragraph (2) of the new section 1814(i) provides that if the Secretary determines that a physician is submitting with some frequency erroneous certifications of conditions prescribed in regulations or inappropriate plans of treatment, the provisions of paragraph (1) of the section will not, after the date of such determination, apply to patients for whom such physician submits certifications or plans of treatment.

Section 228(b) of the bill provides that the amendments made by section 228(a) are to be effective with respect to admissions to extended care facilities and home health plans initiated on or after January 1, 1972.

### SECTION 229. AUTHORITY OF SECRETARY TO TERMINATE PAYMENTS TO SUPPLIERS OF SERVICES

Section 229(a) of the bill amends section 1862 of the Social Security Act (as otherwise amended by the bill) by adding a new subsection (d) which provides that no payment may be made under either part A or part B of title XVIII for items or services furnished by a person whom the Secretary determines (1) has made or caused to be made false statements or misrepresentations of fact for use in applying for payment or determining the right to a payment under the medicare program; (2) has submitted or caused to be submitted bills or requests for payment containing charges (or costs) which the Secretary, with the concurrence of the program review team (discussed below), finds to be substantially in excess of such person's customary charges (or costs) unless there is good cause for such charges (or costs); or (3) has furnished services or supplies which the Secretary, with the concurrence of the physicians or other professional health personnel of the program review team, determines are substantially in excess of the needs of or are harmful to individuals, or are of grossly inferior quality. The determinations of the Secretary pursuant to these provisions are to be effective after there has been given such reasonable notice to the public and the person involved as may be specified in regulations. The stoppage of payment is to be effective with respect to services furnished on or after the effective date of the determination (except in the case of a hospital, extended care facility, and home health agency, for which the determination would be effective in the manner provided for terminations of agreements under section 1866(b)(3) and (4) of the Act) and will continue until the Secretary finds that the abuses which led to the decision have ceased and there is reasonable assurance that they will not recur. Any person furnishing services who is dissatisfied with the Secretary's decision is entitled to a hearing by the Secretary and to

judicial review of the Secretary's decision.

The new section 1862(d) also provides for the establishment by the Secretary, in each State, of one or more program review teams. In appointing these teams, the Secretary will consult with State and local professional societies, carriers and intermediaries, and consumer representatives. The duties of the teams will include (1) the review of statistical data on program utilization furnished by the Secretary; (2) the submission of periodic reports to the Secretary concerning this review together with any recommendations they may have concerning it; (3) the review of particular cases where there is a likelihood of abuse; and (4) the submission to the Secretary of periodic reports concerning the review of such cases, together with their analyses and

recommendations.

Section 229(b) of the bill amends section 1866(b)(2) of the Act to provide that the Secretary may terminate an agreement with a provider of services under the medicare program if he determines that the provider (1) has made or caused to be made false statements or misrepresentations of fact for use in applying for payment or determining the right to a payment under that program; (2) has submitted or caused to be submitted requests for payment for services which are substantially in excess of the costs incurred in rendering such services; or (3) has furnished services or supplies which the Secretary, with the concurrence of the physicians or other professional health personnel of the program review team, determines are substantially in excess of the needs of or are harmful to individuals, or are of grossly inferior quality.

Section 229(c) of the bill amends section 1903(i) of the Act (as added by section 224(c) of the bill) to provide that no payment may be made by the Federal Government to a State for amounts paid for items or services furnished after June 30, 1971, under a State plan for medical assistance which are (1) in excess of the reasonable charge as determined under the fourth and fifth sentences of section 1842(b) (3) of the Act (as added by the bill), or (2) precluded from payment under title XVIII because of a determination of the Secretary pursuant to the new section 1862(d)(1) or under the new clause (D),

(E), or (F) of section 1866(b) (2).

Section 229(d) of the bill amends section 506(f) of the Act (as added by section 224(d) of the bill) to provide that no payment may be made by the Federal Government to a State for amounts paid for items or services furnished after June 30, 1971, under a State plan for maternal and child health services and services for crippled children which are (1) in excess of the reasonable charge as determined under the fourth and fifth sentences of section 1842(b) (3) of the Act (as added by the bill), or (2) precluded from payment under title XVIII because of a determination by the Secretary pursuant to the new section 1862(d)(1) or under the new clause (D), (E), or (F) of section 1866(b)(2).

SECTION 230. ELIMINATION OF REQUIREMENT THAT STATES MOVE TOWARD COMPREHENSIVE MEDICAID PROGRAMS

Section 230 of the bill repeals section 1903(e) of the Social Security Act (and section 2(b) of Public Law 91-56) so as to remove the present requirement that each State make "a satisfactory showing that it is making efforts in the direction of broadening the scope of the care and services made available under the plan and in the direction of liberalizing the eligibility requirements for medical assistance, with a view toward furnishing by July 1, 1977, comprehensive care and services to substantially all individuals who meet the plan's eligibility standards".

SECTION 231. DEDUCTIONS IN CARE AND SERVICES UNDER MEDICAID

Section 231 of the bill amends section 1902(d) of the Social Security Act (which requires that whenever a State desires a modification of its State plan so as to reduce the scope or extent of care and services or to terminate any of such care and services, it must make certain showings to the Secretary including a showing that such modification will not result in a reduction of fiscal efforts) to restrict its application to those services which are required under the plan by section 1902(a) (13) of the Act.

SECTION 232, DETERMINATION OF REASONABLE COST OF INPATIENT HOSPITAL SERVICES UNDER MEDICAID AND UNDER MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH PROGRAM

Section 232(a) of the bill amends section 1902(a) (13) (D) of the Social Security Act to authorize States to develop their own methods and standards for determining the reasonable cost of inpatient hospital care for medicaid eligibles, subject to the condition that reimbursement by States may in no case exceed the amount which would be determined to be the reasonable cost of such inpatient services under title XVIII of the Act.

Section 232(b) of the bill amends section 505(a)(6) of the Act to give States the same authority (to develop their own methods and standards for determining the reasonable cost of inpatient hospital care, subject to the specified conditions) under their maternal and child health plans.

Section 232(c) of the bill provides that these amendments will be effective July 1, 1972 (or earlier if the State plan so provides).

SECTION 233. AMOUNT OF PAYMENTS WHERE CUSTOMARY CHARGES FOR SERVICES FURNISHED ARE LESS THAN REASONABLE COST

Section 233(a) of the bill amends section 1814(b) of the Social Security Act to provide that payments to nonpublic providers of services under the hospital insurance program will, subject to the applicable deductible and coinsurance provisions, be the lesser of the reasonable

cost of the services as determined under section 1861(v) of the Act or the customary charges for the services. If the services are furnished free or at only nominal charge by a public provider of services, such payments will be determined on the basis of those items (specified in regulations) included in the determination of the reasonable cost which the Secretary finds will provide fair compensation for the services.

Section 233(b) of the bill amends section 1833(a) (2) of the Act to provide that payments under the medical insurance program to non-public providers of services will be 80 percent of the lesser of the reasonable cost of the services as determined under section 1861(v) of the Act or the customary charges for the services. Public providers which furnish services free or at nominal charge will be reimbursed at 80 percent of reasonable cost as determined under section 1814(b) (2) of the Act.

Section 233(c) of the bill amends section 1903(i) of the Act (as otherwise amended by the bill) to provide a similar basis for payments to States under their plans established and approved under title XIX of the Act.

Sections 233(d) and 233(e) of the bill amend section 506(f) and section 509(a) of the Act (as otherwise amended by the bill) to provide a similar basis for payments to States for items and services reimbursable under title V of the Act.

Section 233(f) of the bill provides that the amendments made by section 233(a) and (b) will apply to services furnished by hospitals, extended care facilities, and home health agencies in accounting periods beginning after June 30, 1971, and that the amendments made by section 233(c), (d) and (e) will apply to services furnished by hospitals in accounting periods beginning after June 30, 1971.

#### SECTION 234, INSTITUTIONAL PLANNING UNDER MEDICARE

Section 234(a) of the bill amends section 1861(e) of the Social Security Act to require an institution to have in effect an overall plan and budget in order to qualify as a hospital under the medicare program.

Section 234(b) of the bill amends section 1861(f)(2) of the Act to impose a similar requirement with respect to psychiatric hospitals. Section 234(c) of the bill amends section 1861(g)(2) of the Act to impose a similar requirement with respect to tuberculosis hospitals. Section 234(d) of the bill amends section 1861(j) of the Act to impose a similar requirement with respect to 1861(j) of the Act to impose a similar requirement with respect to 1861(j) of the Act to impose a similar requirement with respect to 1861(j) of the Act to impose a similar requirement with respect to 1861(j) of the Act to impose a similar requirement with respect to 1861(j) of the Act to impose a similar requirement with respect to 1861(j) of the Act to impose a similar requirement with respect to 1861(g) (2) of the Act to 1861(g) (2) of the Act to 1861(g) (3) of the Act to 1861(g) (4) of the Act to 1861(g) (5) of the Act to 1861(g) (6) of the Act to 1861(g) (7) of the Act to 1861(g) (8) of the Act to 1861(g) (9) of t

impose a similar requirement with respect to extended care facilities. Section 234(e) of the bill amends\_section 1861(o) of the Act to impose a similar requirement with respect to home health agencies.

Section 234(f) of the bill further amends section 1861 of the Act by adding a new subsection (z), which defines an overall plan and budget as one that provides for a detailed annual operating budget, and provides for a capital expenditure plan for at least a 3-year period which includes all anticipated capital expenditures in excess of \$100,000, is reviewed and updated annually, and is prepared by a committee consisting of representatives of the administrative staff, the medical staff, and the governing body of the institution involved. The budget need not have an item-by-item identification of each type of anticipated expenditure or income.

Section 234(g) of the bill amends sections 1814(a) (2) (C), 1814(a)

(2) (D), and 1863 of the Act to make conforming changes.

Section 234(h) of the bill amends section 1865 of the Act to provide that if the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals requires hospitals to have institutional plans as defined in the new section 1861(z) as a condition of accreditation, all hospitals accredited by the Commission may be considered as satisfying the new section 1861(e)(8).

Section 234(i) of the bill provides that these amendments will apply with respect to any provider of services for its fiscal years beginning after the fifth month following the month in which the bill is enacted.

SECTION 235, PAYMENTS TO STATES UNDER MEDICARD FOR INSTALLATION AND OPERATION OF CLAIMS PROCESSING AND INFORMATION RETRIEVAL SYSTEMS

Section 235(a) of the bill amends section 1903(a) of the Social

Security Act by adding a new paragraph (3).

The new section 1903(a)(3)(A) authorizes 90-percent Federal matching to enable States to design, develop, and install mechanized claims processing and information retrieval systems deemed necessary by the Secretary to provide efficient and economical administration of their medicaid plans and to be compatible with claims processing and retrieval systems utilized in the administration of title XVIII of the Act, including matching of the State's share of the cost of installing such a system to be used jointly in the administration of such State's plan and that of any other State approved under title XIX of the Act. It also authorizes 90-percent Federal matching during the fiscal years 1972 and 1973, up to a total (for all States) of \$150,000 in either such year, of expenditures for the design, development, or installation of cost determination systems for State-owned general hospitals.

The new section 1903(a)(3)(B) authorizes 75-percent Federal matching of administrative expenses incurred in the operation of such systems if they are approved by the Secretary and have the capacity to provide basic information to recipients on services paid for by the program, including the names of the providers furnishing services to such recipients, the dates on which such services were furnished, and the amount of the payments made.

Section 235(b) of the bill provides that this amendment will apply to expenditures made after June 30, 1971.

#### SECTION 236, PROHIBITION AGAINST REASSIGNMENT OF CLAIMS TO BENEFITS

Section 236(a) of the bill amends section 1842(b) of the Social Security Act so as to prohibit payment for services provided under the supplementary medical insurance program to anyone other than the individual to whom the services were provided or the physician or other person providing the services. However, payment may be made to the employer of the physician or other person providing the services if such physician or other person is required as a condition of his employment to turn over his fee for such services to his employer; and, where the service is provided in a hospital, clinic, or other facility, payment, may be made to the facility if there is a con-

tractual arrangement between the physician or other person and the facility under which the facility submits the bill for such services.

Section 236(b) of the bill amends section 1902(a) of the Act so as to prohibit payment for services provided under approved State medicaid programs to anyone other than the physician, dentist, or other independent practitioner who provided the services. However, payment may be made to the employer of such physician, dentist, or other independent practitioner if he is required as a condition of his employment to turn over his fee for such services to the employer; and, where the care or service is provided in a hospital, clinic, or other facility, payment may be made to the facility if there is a contractual arrangement between the practitioner and the facility under which the facility submits the bill for such services.

Section 236(c) of the bill provides that the amendment made by section 236(a) will apply with respect to bills submitted and requests for payment made after the date of enactment of the bill, and that the amendment made by section 236(b) will be effective July 1, 1972.

or carlier if the State plan so provides.

SECTION 237, UTILIZATION REVIEW REQUIREMENTS FOR HOSPITALS AND SKILLED NURSING HOMES UNDER MEDICAID AND UNDER MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH PROGRAM

Section 237(a) (1) of the bill amends the new section 1903(i) of the Social Security Act to require as a condition of payment under the medicaid program that hospitals and skilled nursing homes participating in such program have their medicaid cases reviewed by the same utilization review committee which already reviews their medicare cases or, if such a committee does not exist, by a committee which meets the requirements imposed by section 1861(k) of the Act for purposes of the medicare program.

Section 237(a)(2) of the bill amends section 1902(a)(30) of the

Act to make a conforming change.

Section 237(b) of the bill amends section 506(f) of the Act to impose with respect to services provided by hospitals and skilled nursing homes under the maternal and child health program (title V of the Act) the same utilization review requirement as is imposed with respect to services under the medicaid program under the amendment made by section 237(a)(1).

Section 237(c) of the bill provides that the amendments made by section 235(a)(1) and (b) will apply to services furnished after June 30, 1972, and that the amendment made by section 235(a)(2) will

be effective July 1, 1972.

SECTION 238, NOTIFICATION OF UNNECESSARY ADMISSION TO A HOSPITAL OR EXTENDED CARE FACILITY UNDER MEDICARE

Section 238(a) of the bill amends section 1814(a) (7) of the Social Security Act to include among the cases where medicare payments are to be terminated for medically unnecessary services those cases where the services involved are found to be medically unnecessary by a utilization review committee or group in the course of its sample or other review of admissions to a hospital or extended care facility.

Section 238(b) of the bill provides that this amendment will be effective with respect to services furnished after the second month following the month in which the bill is enacted.

SECTION 239. USE OF STATE HEALTH AGENCY TO PERFORM CERTAIN FUNC-TIONS UNDER MEDICAID AND UNDER MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH PROGRAM

Section 239(a) of the bill amends section 1902(a) (9) of the Social Security Act to require State medicaid plans to provide that the State health agency or other appropriate State medical agency (whichever is utilized by the Secretary for purposes of section 1864(a) of the Act) will have responsibility for establishing and maintaining health standards for institutions in which medicaid recipients may receive care or services (with the State authority or authorities presently referred to in sec. 1902(a) (9) retaining responsibility for establishing and maintaining standards other than those relating to health for such institutions).

Section 239(b) of the bill amends section 1902(a) of the Act by adding (in a new par. (32)) a new plan requirement under which the State health agency or other appropriate State medical agency is given responsibility for establishing a plan for the review by professional health personnel of the quality and appropriateness of care and services furnished to medicaid recipients in order to provide guidance to the State medicaid agency and (in most cases) is given responsibility for determining whether institutions and agencies meet the applicable requirements for participation in the medicaid program.

Section 239(c) of the bill amends section 505(a) of the Act by adding (in a new par. (15)) substantially the same new plan requirement for maternal and child health purposes.

Section 239(d) of the bill provides that these amendments will be effective July 1, 1972.

## SECTION 240, RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN MEDICARD AND COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH CARE PROGRAMS

Section 240 of the bill amends section 1902(a) (23) of the Social Security Act to provide that a State plan will not be deemed out of compliance with section 1902(a) (23) (freedom of choice requirement), section 1902(a) (1) (statewideness requirement), or section 1902(a) (10) (amount, duration, and scope requirement) solely by reason of the fact that the State (or a political subdivision thereof) has entered into a contract with an organization which agrees to provide care and services in excess of those offered under the State plan to eligible individuals who reside in the geographic area served by the organization, and who elect to obtain such care and services from such organization.

SECTION 241, PROGRAM FOR DETERMINING QUALIFICATIONS FOR CERTAIN HEALTH CARE PERSONNEL

Section 241 of the bill amends title XI of the Social Security Act by adding at the end a new section 1123.

Subsection (a) of the new section 1123 requires the Secretary (in consultation with appropriate professional organizations and State health and licensure agencies) to develop and conduct a program to

determine the proficiency of those persons who do not meet the educational, professional membership, or other criteria established for determining the qualifications of practical nurses, therapists, laboratory technicians and technologists, X-ray technicians, psychiatric technicians, or other health care technicians. This program will include (but not be limited to) the use of procedures for the formal testing of the proficiency of such personnel. No person who otherwise meets the proficiency requirements may be denied a satisfactory proficiency rating solely for failure to meet formal educational or professional membership requirements.

Subsection (b) of the new section 1123 provides that no person or provider using the health care services of an individual determined qualified under section 1123(a) may be denied payment under title XVIII or under State plans approved under title XIX on the grounds

that such individual is not qualified to perform these services.

#### SECTION 242, PENALTIES FOR FRAUDULENT ACTS AND FALSE REPORTING UNDER MEDICARE AND MEDICALD

Section 242(a) of the bill eliminates the incorporation of section 208 of the Social Security Act, by reference, in title XVIII of the Act. (Section 208 includes penalties for the making of a false statement or representation of a material fact under title II of the Act.)

Section 242(b) of the bill adds to the Act a new section 1877

Under the new section 1877(a), whoever knowingly and willfully makes or causes to be made any false statement of material fact in any application for Medicare benefits or payments or for use in determining rights to such benefits or payments; fraudulently conceals or fails to disclose an event affecting initial or continued right to such benefits or payments; or, having made application for and received Medicare benefits or payments on behalf of another, knowingly and willfully converts either all or part of them to a use other than for the use or benefit for which they are intended, is guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction subject to a fine of not more than \$10,000 or imprisonment for not more than one year, or both.

Under the new section 1877(b), any provider of services, supplier, physician, or other person who furnishes items or services for which Medicare payment is or may be made and who solicits, offers, or receives any (1) kickback or bribe in connection with the furnishing of such items or services or with the making or receipt of such payment, or (2) rebate of any fee or charge for referring an individual to another person for the furnishing of such items or services, is guilty of a misdemeanor and subject to a fine of not more than \$10,000 or im-

prisonment for not more than one year, or both.

Under the new section 1877(c), whoever knowingly and willfully makes or causes to be made, or induces or seeks to induce the making of, a false statement or representation of material fact with respect to the condition or operation of any institution or facility in order to qualify as a provider of services under title XVIII of the Act is guilty of a misdemeanor and subject to a fine of not more than \$2,000 or imprisonment for not more than 6 months, or both.

Section 242(c) of the bill adds to the Act a new section 1909, which includes a similar description of fraudulent acts and false reporting and the same penalty provisions as the new section 1877 described above, except that the new section 1909 applies to items or services furnished an individual for which payment is or may be made, in whole or in part, out of Federal funds under a State plan approved under title XIX of the Act.

Section 242(d) of the bill provides that these amendments are not applicable to any acts, statements, or representations made or committed prior to the enactment of the bill.

### SECTION 243. PROVIDER REIMBURSEMENT REVIEW BOARD

Section 243 of the bill amends title XVIII of the Social Security Act by adding to the end a new section 1878 establishing a Provider Reimbursement Review Board.

Subsection (a) of the new section 1878 provides that any provider of services that filed a required cost report on a timely basis (in accordance with regulations) may have a hearing before a Provider Reimbursement Review Board with respect to that cost report if (1) the provider is dissatisfied with the final determination of its fiscal intermediary as to the amount of total program reimbursement due the provider for items and services furnished under title XVIII of the Act during the period covered by the report, (2) the amount in controversy is at least \$10,000, and (3) the provider files a request for the hearing within 180 days after notice of the intermediary's final determination.

Subsection (b) of the new section 1878 provides that during such hearing the provider of services may be represented by counsel, examine and cross-examine witnesses, and introduce evidence (including evidence which would be inadmissible under rules applicable to court procedure).

Subsection (c) of the new section 1878 provides that the Board's decision must be supported by substantial evidence in the record as a whole, including evidence considered by the intermediary and other evidence secured by the Board. The Board may affirm, modify, or reverse the fiscal intermediary's determination, including revisions which are adverse to the provider and revisions involving matters not considered by the intermediary.

Subsection (d) of the new section 1878 authorizes the Board to establish all necessary rules and procedures, to administer oaths and affirmations, and to issue subpoenas under the same conditions applied to the Secretary in issuing subpoenas under title II of the Act.

Subsection (e) of the new section 1878 provides that the Board's decision shall be final unless reversed or modified adversely to the provider by the Secretary on his own motion and within 60 days after the provider receives notification of the Board's decision. Where the Secretary reverses or modifies the Board's decision, the provider may obtain judicial review by civil action brought in the United States district court for the district where it is located or in the District Court for the District of Columbia under the administrative procedure provisions of title 5, United States Code, if such action is filed within 60 days of receipt of notice of the Secretary's determination.

Subsection (f) of the new section 1878 provides that no determination by a fiscal intermediary regarding exclusion from coverage (under section 1862 of the Act) of items and services furnished an individual may be reviewed by the Board or any court under the new section.

Subsection (g) of the new section 1878 provides that the Board is to be composed of five members knowledgeable in the field of cost reimbursement, including at least one certified public accountant and two members representative of providers of services, appointed for 3-year terms, except that initial appointments may be for such lesser terms as necessary to permit staggered terms of office. Appointments may be made without regard to the provisions of title 5 of the United States Code governing appointments in the competitive services and rates of compensation will be fixed by the Secretary not to exceed the rate for grade GS-18.

Subsection (h) of the new section 1878 anthorizes the Board to secure necessary technical services and directs the Secretary to pro-

vide necessary secretarial, clerical and other assistance.

Section 243(b) of the bill amends section 1816(a) of the Act to make appropriate reference to the appeal procedure (established by section 1878) in the provision governing contracts with fiscal intermediaries.

Section 243(c) of the bill provides that these amendments will apply with respect to provider cost reports under title XVIII of the Act for accounting periods beginning after June 30, 1971.

### PART C-MISCELLANEOUS AND TECHNICAL PROVISIONS

### SECTION 251, PHYSICAL THERAPY SERVICES AND OTHER THERAPY SERVICES UNDER MEDICARE

Section 251(a)(1) of the bill amends section 1861(p) of the Social Security Act to include as "outpatient physical therapy services" the physical therapy services furnished an individual by a physical therapist in his office or in the individual's home where the services are furnished other than under an arrangement with and under the supervision of a provider of services, clinic, rehabilitation agency, or public health agency. The furnishing of such services must meet such conditions relating to health and safety as the Secretary may find necessary; and the physical therapist must meet licensing and other standards prescribed by the Secretary in regulations.

Section 251(a)(2) of the bill amends section 1833 of the Act by adding a new subsection to provide that no more than \$100 in any calendar year may be considered as incurred expenses for purposes of payment for physical therapy services described in section 251(a)(1)

Section 251(a)(3) of the bill amends section 1833(a)(2) of the Act to limit reimbursement for such services described in section 251 (a) (1) of the bill to the reasonable charges for such services.

Section 251(a) (4) of the bill amends section 1832(a) (2) (C) of the Act to permit payment for the benefit provided by section 251(a) (1) of the bill directly to the individual who received the services, or, on his behalf and upon his assignment, to the physical therapist who furnished the services.

Section 251(b) of the bill amends section 1861(p) of the Act to include as "outpatient physical therapy services" the physical therapy services furnished by a hospital or an extended care facility to an inpatient of such institution provided such services meet the requirements of section 1861(p) applicable to individuals receiving such services as outpatients from a provider of services, clinic, rehabilitation agency, or public health agency, or by others under arrangements with

such a provider or organization.

Section 251(c) of the bill amends section 1861(v) of the Act to limit payment for physical, occupational, speech, or other therapy services, or services of other health-related personnel (other than physicians) furnished by a provider of services or by a clinic, rehabilitation agency, or public health agency, or by others under arrangements with such a provider, agency, or organization. Such payment would be limited to the amount of salary which reasonably would have been paid if the services had been performed by an employee of such a provider or organization (rather than under an arrangement with such a provider or organization to provide such services) plus the cost of such other expenses incurred by the person performing such services on other than an employee basis as the Secretary may determine in regulations to be appropriate.

Section 251(d) of the bill provides that the amendments made by sections 251(a), (b), and (c) of the bill will apply with respect to services furnished on or after January 1, 1972, with respect to services furnished on or after the date of enactment, and with respect to accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 1972, respectively.

### SECTION 252. COVERAGE OF SUPPLIES RELATED TO COLOSTOMIES

Section 252(a) of the bill amends section 1861(s) (8) of the Social Security Act to include colostomy bags and supplies directly related to colostomy care as covered prosthetic devices under the supplementary medical insurance program.

Section 252(b) of the bill provides that this amendment will apply with respect to items furnished on or after the date of enactment of

the bill.

#### SECTION 253, COVERAGE OF PTOSIS BARS

Section 253(a) of the bill amends section 1861(s)(9) of the Social Security Act to cover ptosis bars under the supplementary medical insurance program.

Section 253(b) of the bill provides that this amendment will apply with respect to items furnished on or after the date of enactment of

the bill.

## SECTION 254. INCLUSION UNDER MEDICAID OF CARE IN INTERMEDIATE CARE FACILITIES

Section 254(a) (1) of the bill amends section 1905(a) of the Social Security Act by inserting a new paragraph (16) which authorizes Federal matching under title XIX of the Act for intermediate care facility services (other than such services in an institution for tuberculosis or mental disease) for individuals who are determined in accordance with section 1902(a) (33) (A) (discussed below) to be in need of such services.

Section 254(a)(2) of the bill amends section 1905 of the Act by adding a new subsection (c) which defines "intermediate care facility"

as an institution or distinct part thereof which (1) is licensed under State law to provide, on a regular basis, health-related care and services to individuals who do not require the degree of care and treatment which a hospital or skilled nursing home is designed to provide, but who because of their mental or physical condition require care and services (beyond the level of room and board) which can be made available to them only through institutional facilities, (2) meets such standards prescribed by the Secretary as he finds appropriate for the proper provision of such care, and (3) meets such standards of safety and sanitation as are applicable to nursing homes under State law. The term "intermediate care facility" also includes a Christian Science sanatorium, but only with respect to institutional services deemed appropriate by the State. For services furnished to individuals under age 65, the term does not include (except as prescribed in the new section 1905 (d)) any public institution for mental diseases or mental defects.

Section 254(a) (2) of the bill further amends section 1905 of the Act by adding a new subsection (d) which provides that the term "intermediate care facility services" may include services in a public institution (or distinct part thereof) for the mentally retarded or persons with related conditions if (1) the primary purpose of such institution (or distinct part thereof) is to provide for mentally retarded individuals health care rehabilitative services which meet such standards as may be prescribed by the Secretary, (2) the mentally retarded individual with respect to whom a request for payment is made under the approved State plan is receiving active treatment under such a program, and (3) the State or political subdivision responsible for the operation of such institution has agreed that the non-Federal expenditures with respect to patients in such institution (or distinct part thereof) will not be reduced because of payments made under title XIX of the Act.

Section 254(b) of the bill amends section 1902(a) of the Social Security Act by adding a new paragraph (33) which provides in the case of intermediate care facilities for (A) a regular program of independent professional review (including medical evaluation of each patient's need for such care) and a written plan of the service prior to admission or authorization of benefits which provides more than a minimum level of health care services as determined by regulations. (B) periodic inspection in all facilities (if the State plan includes ICF care) by one or more independent profressional review teams (composed of physicians or registered nurses and other appropriate health and social service personnel) of (i) the care being provided medicuid eligibles, (ii) the adequacy of services available in particular facilities to meet current health needs and promote maximum physical well-being of patients, (iii) the necessity and desirability of the continued placement of such patients in such facilities, and (iv) the feasibility of meeting their needs through alternative institutional or noninstitutional services, and (C) for the making of reports and recommendations by such teams to the State agency administering or supervising the administration of the State plan.

Section 254(c) of the bill repeals section 1121 of the Act (the exist-

ing provisions relating to intermediate care facilities).

Section 254(d) of the bill provides that these amendments will be effective January 1, 1972.

# SECTION 255. COVERAGE PRIOR TO APPLICATION FOR MEDICAL ASSISTANCE

Section 255(a) of the bill amends section 1902(a) of the Social Security Act by adding in a new paragraph (34) a requirement under which State medicaid plans must provide for payments of medical assistance to eligible individuals where care or services included in the plan were furnished in or after the third month prior to the month of application and such individuals were otherwise eligible when the care or services were received.

Section 255(b) of the bill provides that this amendment will be effective July 1, 1971.

# SECTION 256, HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS FOR DENTAL SERVICES UNDER MEDICARE

Section 256(a) of the bill amends section 1814(a) (2) of the Social Security Act by adding a new subparagraph (E) which provides that, in order to receive payment for inpatient hospital services in connection with a dental procedure, a physician must certify that the patient suffers from impairments which are of such severity that he requires hospitalization.

Section 256(b) of the bill amends section 1861(r) of the Act to provide that a doctor of dentistry or of dental or oral surgery may make the certification described in the new section 1814(a)(2)(E).

Section 256(c) of the bill amends section 1862(a) (12) of the Act to make it clear that payment may be made under part A for inpatient hospital services in connection with dental procedures when the patient suffers from severe impairments which require that he be hospitalized.

Section 256(d) of the bill provides that these amendments will be effective with respect to admissions occurring after the second month following the month of enactment.

SECTION 257. EXTENSION OF GRACE PERIOD FOR TERMINATION OF SUPPLE-MENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE COVERAGE WHERE FAILURE TO PAY PREMIUMS IS DUE TO GOOD CAUSE

Section 257(a) of the bill amends section 1838(b) of the Social Security Act (which presently provides that termination of coverage under the supplementary medical insurance program for nonpayment of premiums shall be deferred for a grace period not in excess of 90 days during which overdue premiums may be paid and coverage continued) to authorize the extension of the grace period for an additional 90 days where the Secretary determines that there was good cause for failure to pay the overdue premiums within the initial 90-day period.

Section 257 (b) of the bill provides that this amendment will apply with respect to nonpayment of premiums becoming due and payable on or after the date of enactment of the bill. For purposes of the amendment any premium which became due and payable within the 90-day period immediately preceding the date of enactment is considered as becoming due and payable as of such date.

SECTION 258, EXTENSION OF TIME FOR FILING CLAIM FOR SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE BENEFITS WHERE DELAY IS DUE TO ADMINISTRATIVE ERROR

Section 258(a) of the bill amends section 1842(b) (3) of the Social Security Act to provide that a bill submitted or a request for payment made after the close of the calendar year following the year in which the related service was furnished may be honored notwithstanding the lapse of time if the delay in submitting the bill or in requesting the payment is due to error or misrepresentation of the Government or one of its agents and if the bill is submitted or the request for payment is made as soon as possible after the fact of such error or misrepresentation is established.

Section 258(b) of the bill provides that this amendment will apply with respect to bills submitted and requests for payment made after March 1968.

SECTION 259, WAIVER OF ENROLLMENT PERIOD REQUIREMENT WHERE INDI-VIDUAL'S RIGHTS WERE PREJUDICED BY ADMINISTRATIVE ERROR OR INACTION

Section 259(a) of the bill amends section 1837 of the Social Security Act by adding a new subsection (h), providing that where the Secretary finds that an individual's enrollment or nonenrollment in the supplementary medical insurance program is unintentional, inadvertent, or erroneous because of the error, misrepresentation, or inaction of a departmental officer, employee, or agent, the Secretary may take such action as may be necessary to correct or eliminate the effects of such error, misrepresentation, or inaction (including the designation for such individual of a special initial or subsequent enrollment period, with a coverage period determined on the basis thereof and with appropriate adjustments of premiums).

Section 259(b) of the bill provides that this amendment will be effective as of July 1, 1966.

SECTION 260. ELIMINATION OF PROVISIONS PREVENTING ENROLLMENT IN SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE PROGRAM MORE THAN THREE YEARS AFTER FIRST OPPORTUNITY

Section 260 of the bill amends section 1837(b) of the Social Security Act to permit eligible individuals to enroll or reenroll in the supplementary medical insurance program during any prescribed general enrollment period by eliminating the requirement that an individual must enroll (or reenroll after termination of a previous enrollment) within 3 years following the close of his initial enrollment period (or following the effective date of such termination). The restriction that no individual may enroll in the supplementary medical insurance program more than twice is retained.

SECTION 261. WAIVER OF RECOVERY OF INCORRECT PAYMENTS FROM SURVIVOR WHO IS WITHOUT FAULT UNDER MEDICARE

Section 261(a) of the bill amends section 1870(c) of the Social Security Act (which presently provides that with respect to an over-

payment there will be no adjustment as required under section 1870(b) of the Act (or recovery) in any case in which the individual to whom the incorrect payment was made is without fault and where such adjustment (or recovery) would defeat the purpose of title II of the Act or would be against equity and good conscience) to make its provisions applicable to any person (such as a survivor of the individual to whom the incorrect payment was made) who is without fault.

Section 261(b) of the bill provides that this amendment will apply with respect to waiver actions considered after the date of enactment

of the bill.

SECTION 262, REQUIREMENT OF MINIMUM AMOUNT OF CLAIM TO ESTAB-LISH ENTITLEMENT TO HEARING UNDER SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE PROGRAM

Section 262(a) of the bill amends section 1842(b)(3)(C) of the Social Security Act (which presently provides that enrollees in the supplementary medical insurance program will be granted fair hearings by the carrier in cases where requests for payment are denied or are not acted upon with reasonable promptness or when the amount of payment is in controversy) to provide that a minimum amount of \$100 must be at issue before such a hearing will be granted.

Section 262(b) of the bill provides that this amendment will apply with respect to hearings requested after the date of enactment of the

bill.

SECTION 263, COLLECTION OF SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE PRE-MIUMS FROM INDIVIDUALS ENTITLED TO BOTH SOCIAL SECURITY AND RAILROAD RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Sections 263(a), (b), (c), (d)(1), (d)(2), (d)(3), and (d)(4) of the bill amend sections 1840 and 1841 of the Social Security Act to provide that a railroad retirement beneficiary's monthly supplementary medical insurance premiums will be deducted from his railroad retirement pension regardless of any entitlement he may have to monthly benefits under title H of the Act.

Section 263(d)(5) of the bill amends section 1842 of the Act by adding a new subsection (g) which gives the Railroad Retirement Board authority to contract with a carrier for part B benefits for its

oeneficiaries.

Section 263(e) of the bill amends section 1841 of the Act by adding a new subsection (i) providing that the Managing Trustee of the Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Fund is to reimburse the Railroad Retirement Board from the Trust Fund in such amounts as the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare determines to be equal to the costs incurred by the Board in making the premium deductions and for carrier operations.

Section 263(f) of the bill provides that these amendments will apply with respect to premiums becoming due and payable after the

fourth month following the month of enactment of the bill.

SECTION 264, PROSTHETIC LENSES FURNISHED BY OPTOMETRISTS UNDER SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE PROGRAM

Section 264(a) of the bill amends section 1861(r) of the Social Security Act to include a licensed doctor of optometry, legally authorized to practice optometry by the State in which he performs such function, within the definition of the term "physician," but only with respect to establishing the necessity for prosthetic lenses.

Section 264(b) of the bill provides that this amendment will apply only with respect to services performed on or after the date of enact-

ment of the bill.

SECTION 265, PROVISION OF MEDICAL SOCIAL SERVICES NOT MANDATORY FOR EXTENDED CARE FACILITIES

Section 265 of the bill amends section 1861(j)(11) of the Social Security Act (as redesignated by section 234(d) of the bill) to provide that the Secretary may not require any institution to furnish medical social services in order to participate as an extended care facility in the Medicare program.

SECTION 266, REFUND OF EXCESS PREMIUMS UNDER MEDICARE

Section 266 of the bill amends section 1870 of the Social Security Act to provide authority for the Secretary to dispose of excess supplementary medical insurance premiums and excess hospital insurance premiums paid by a deceased enrollee in the same manner as unpaid medical insurance benefits are treated. (That is, in cases where there is no legal representative of the enrollee's estate, these premium amounts would be added to benefits payable on the same Medicare claims number, or to those relatives who would (except for age and dependency requirements) be eligible on the same number.)

SECTION 267. WAIVER OF REQUIREMENT OF REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL NURSES IN SKILLED NURSING HOMES IN RURAL AREAS UNDER MEDICARE

Section 267 of the bill amends section 1902(a) (28) (B) of the Social Security Act (which requires skilled nursing homes to have an organized nursing service under the direction of a full-time professional registered nurse) to authorize a State agency with the approval of the Secretary to waive this requirement for any one-year period (or less) ending no later than December 31, 1975, when immediately preceeding such period he finds that (i) the nursing home is located in a rural area and the supply of skilled nursing home services in such area is not sufficient to nieet the needs of individuals residing therein, (ii) the failure of the nursing home to qualify as a skilled nursing home would seriously reduce the availability of such services to beneficiaries in such area, (iii) the nursing home has made and continues to make a good faith effort to comply with the requirement, but such compliance is impeded by the lack of qualified nursing personnel in such area, and (iv) the requirement of the section were met for a regular daytime shift.

SECTION 268. EXEMPTION OF CHRISTIAN SCIENCE SANATORIUMS FROM CERTAIN NURSING HOME REQUIREMENTS UNDER MEDICAID

Section 268(a) of the bill amends section 1902(a) of the Social Security Act to exclude Christian Science sanatoriums from the terms "skilled nursing home" and "nursing home" for specified medicaid purposes and thereby to exempt them from the requirements established for skilled nursing homes which relates to medical practices and activities such as maintaining an organized nursing service under the direction of a registered nurse, maintaining detailed medical records, having diagnostic and other service arrangements with general hospitals, and having a skilled nursing home administrator licensed by the State. States are relieved of the requirement that they provide regular medical review and periodic inspections of the care provided in Christian Science sanitoriums.

Section 267(b) of the bill amends section 1908(g)(1) of the Act, relating to State programs for licensing nursing home administrators) to provide that the term "nursing home" contained therein does not

include Christian Science sanatoriums.

Section 267(c) of the bill provides that these amendments will be effective upon the enactment of the bill.

SECTION 269, REQUIREMENTS FOR NURSING HOME ADMINISTRATORS

Section 269 of the bill amends section 1908(d) of the Social Security Act to provide that no State will be considered to have failed to comply with the requirement (in section 1902(a) (29) of the Act) that it have a program for licensing nursing home administrators because the State agency or board has granted a waiver of any of its standards in the case of an individual who has served as a nursing home administrator during all of a specified 3-calendar-year period.

# SECTION 270, TERMINATION OF NATIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL ON NURSING HOME ADMINISTRATION

Section 270 of the bill amends section 1908(f)(5) of the Social Security Act by changing the termination date of the National Advisory Council on Nursing Home Administration from December 31, 1971, to 30 days after the date of the enactment of the bill.

# SECTION 271. INCREASE IN LIMITATION ON PAYMENTS TO PUERTO RICO FOR MEDICAL ASSISTANCE

Section 271(a) of the bill amends section 1108(c)(1) of the Social Security Act to increase from \$20 million to \$30 million the Federal ceiling on title XIX payments to Puerto Rico.

Section 270(b) provides that this amendment will apply with respect to fiscal years beginning after June 30, 1971.

# SECTION 272, EXTENSION OF TITLE V TO AMERICAN SAMOA AND THE TRUST TERRITORY OF THE PACIFIC ISLANDS

Section 272(a) of the bill amends section 1101(a) (1) of the Social Security Act to provide that the term "State", when used in title V of the Act (relating to State programs of maternal and child health

and crippled children's services), is to include American Samoa and the Trust Territory of the Pacific Islands.

Section 272(b) of the bill amends section 1108(d) of the Act to permit the Secretary to make initial allotments under title V to American Samoa and the Trust Territory which are smaller than those otherwise provided for other States.

Section 272(c) of the bill provides that these amendments will apply to fiscal years beginning after June 30, 1971.

#### SECTION 273, STUDY OF CHIROPRACTIC COVERAGE

Section 273 of the bill directs the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare, under the authority conferred by section 1110 of the Social Security Act, to conduct a study of the coverage of services performed by chiropractors under Medicaid (title XIX of the Act) in order to determine whether, and to what extent, such services should be covered under part B of Medicare (title XVIII of the Act). The Secretary is to give particular attention to the limitations which should be placed upon the coverage of and payment for chiropractic services. The study is to include one or more experimental, pilot, or demonstration projects designed to assist in providing under controlled conditions the information necessary to achieve the objectives of the study. The Secretary is required to report the results of the study to the Congress within 2 years after the date of the bill's enactment, and to include in the report his findings and recommendations based on the study and other relevant information concerning experience with the coverage of chiropractors by public and private plans.

SECTION 274. MISCELLANEOUS TECHNICAL AND CLERICAL AMENDMENTS

Section 274 of the bill corrects clerical deficiencies in sections 1902 (a) (26) (A) and 1908 (d) of the Social Security Act.

# TITLE III—ASSISTANCE FOR THE AGED, BLIND, AND DISABLED

# SECTION 301. ESTABLISHMENT OF PROGRAM

Section 301 of the bill amends the Social Security Act by adding at the end a new title XX, establishing a Federal program of assistance for the aged, blind, and disabled.

# TITLE XX—ASSISTANCE FOR THE AGED, BLIND, AND DISABLED

#### SECTION 2001. PURPOSE; APPROPRIATIONS

Section 2001 authorizes the appropriation of funds to meet the costs of the new national program of assistance to needy aged, blind, or disabled individuals.

#### SECTION 2002. BASIC ELIGIBILITY FOR BENEFITS

Section 202 provides for payment of benefits to eligible aged, blind, or disabled individuals by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare.

# PART A—DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS

# SECTION 2011. ELIGIBILITY FOR AND AMOUNT OF BENEFITS

# Definition of eligible individual

Section 2011(a) defines an eligible individual as-

(1) an aged, blind, or disabled individual without an eligible spouse whose nonexcluded income is at a rate of not more than \$780 for the second half of 1972 and for the first half of 1973 (i.e., \$1,560 for the fiscal year 1973), \$840 for the second half of 1973 and for the first half of 1974 (i.e., \$1,680 for the fiscal year 1974), \$900 for the second half of 1974, or \$1,800 for 1975 or any later year, and whose nonexcluded resources are not more than \$1,500; or

(2) an individual with an eligible spouse whose nonexcluded income (combined with that of his spouse) is at a rate of not more than \$1,170 for the second half of 1972 and for the first half of 1973 (i.e., \$2,340 for the fiscal year 1973), \$1,200 for the second half of 1973, or \$2,400 for 1974 or any later year, and whose nonexcluded resources (combined with those of his spouse) are not more than \$1,500.

#### Amount of benefits

Section 2011 (b) provides for benefits for an eligible individual without an eligible spouse at a rate of \$780 for the second half of 1972 and for the first half of 1973 (i.e., \$1,560 for the fiscal year 1973), \$840 for the second half of 1973 and for the first half of 1974 (i.e., \$1,680 for the fiscal year 1974), \$900 for the second half of 1974, and \$1,800 for 1975 or any later year, reduced by the amount of his nonexcluded income; and provides for benefits for an individual with an eligible spouse at a rate of \$1,170 for the second half of 1972 and for the first half of 1973 (i.e., \$2,340 for the fiscal year 1973), \$1,200 for the second half of 1973, and \$2,400 for 1974 or any later year, reduced by the amount of his nonexcluded income (combined with that of his spouse).

#### Period for determination of benefits

Section 2011(c)(1) provides that benefit eligibility and benefit amounts are to be determined for each calendar quarter and that redeterminations are to be made as provided by the Secretary, to be effective prospectively.

Section 2011(c) (2) provides that the Secretary is to prescribe when and by how much a benefit will be reduced by reason of time elapsed between the beginning of a quarter and the application date.

Section 2011(c)(3) provides that an application will be considered to have been filed on the first day of the month in which it was actually filed.

#### Special limits on gross income

Section 2011(d) provides that the Secretary may prescribe the circumstances under which an individual will be made ineligible for benefits on the basis of gross income from a trade or business.

Limitation on eligibility of certain individuals

Section 2011(e)(1)(A) provides that no person (with the exception specified in subparagraph (B)) will be eligible for benefits for any month throughout which he is an inmate of a public institution.

Section 2011(e)(1)(B) provides that if an eligible individual or eligible spouse, for any full month, is in a hospital, extended care facility, nursing home, or intermediate care facility receiving Medicaid payments for services to the individual or spouse under an approved State plan, the benefit for the month (to the extent attributable to that individual or spouse) will be payable at the rate of not more than \$300 per year (reduced by any nonexcluded income); if both an eligible individual and his eligible spouse are hospitalized, their benefits will be payable at the maximum rate of \$600 per year (so reduced). Where only one member of an eligible couple is hospitalized, the non-hospitalized member will get benefits at the rate applicable for individuals without eligible spouses.

Section 2011(e)(2) provides that if, after being notified by the Secretary that it is likely that he is eligible for payments of the type enumerated in section 2012(a)(2)(B)—that is, a pension, workmen's compensation payment, social security, annuity, etc.—a person fails within 30 days to apply for and take the steps necessary to obtain such payments, he will not be considered eligible for benefits under title XX.

Section 2011(e)(3)(A) provides that if an individual's disability as determined by the Secretary is due, in whole or in part, to drug or alcohol abuse he will not be considered eligible for benefits under title XX unless he is undergoing appropriate treatment (if available) at an institution approved by the Secretary and shows he is complying with the requirements of the treatment.

Section 2011(e) (3) (B) provides that the Secretary is to monitor individuals receiving benefits who are undergoing treatment as so required, and submit to Congress annually a report showing the results thereof, in order to assure compliance with and achievement of the purposes of this paragraph.

Section 2011(e)(3)(C) defines the terms "drug abuse" and "alcohol abuse".

Suspension of payments to individuals who are outside the United States

Section 2011(f) provides that no person will be eligible for assistance for any month spent wholly outside the United States. Any individual who has been outside the United States for any 30 consecutive days will be considered to be remaining outside the United States until he has been in the United States for 30 consecutive days.

Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam

Section 2011(g) provides a cross reference to the special provisions for determining eligibility for and amounts of benefits for Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam, as set forth in section 1108(e) of the Act (which is added by section 504 of the bill, discussed below).

#### SECTION 2012. INCOME

Meaning of income

Section 2012(a) provides that for purposes of the new title XX income means both earned and unearned income.

Earned income is defined in paragraph (1) as—

(A) an individual's wages within the meaning of section 203 (f)(5)(C) of the Act, which defines wages for purposes of the social security retirement test (generally remuneration from

employment), and

(B) an individual's net earnings from self-employment as defined in section 211 of the Act, excluding that part of section 211 which deals with optional methods of computing net earnings, and including certain services performed by ministers. Christian Science practitioners, and members of religious orders, and by certain members of religious faiths who have received an exemption from coverage. Certain relatively minor items that are excluded from earned income under the basic definition in title II would be subject to determinations by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare as to whether they should be considered to be earned or unearned income or not income at all (as, for example, in the case of certain employer payments into health care or retirement funds).

Unearned income is defined in paragraph (2) as all income other than earned income (as defined in paragraph (1)). Specifically, unearned income includes support and maintenance, except that the benefits of any eligible individual or spouse as specified in subsections (a) and (b) of section 2011 will be reduced by one-third if such individual or spouse is living in another person's household and receiving support from that person; any payments received as annuity, pension, retirement, or disability benefits, including veterans' or workmen's compensation, old-age, survivors, and disability insurance benefits, railroad retirement annuities and pensions, and unemployment benefits; prizes and awards; gifts, support and alimony payments, and inheritances; and rents, interest, dividends, and royalties. The proceeds of any life insurance policy will be considered as unearned income to the extent they exceed the amount of the insured individual's burial expenses, or to the extent they exceed \$1,500, if less.

Exclusions from income

Section 2012(b) provides that the following are to be excluded in determining the income of an individual (and his eligible spouse):

(1) to the extent allowed by the Secretary, the earnings of a

child who is a student;

(2) income received too infrequently or irregularly to be otherwise included, up to \$30 per quarter of earned income and \$60 per quarter of unearned income;

(3) (A) if such individual (or spouse) is blind or disabled— (i) the first \$1,020 per year (or proportionately smaller amounts for shorter periods—\$85 per month) of earned income not previously excluded, plus one-half of the remainder,

(ii) in the case of the blind, an amount equal to any expenses reasonably attributable to the earning of any income, and

(iii) such additional amounts of other income, where the individual has a plan for achieving self-support approved by the Secretary, as may be necessary for its fulfillment; and (R) if the individual (approximately limited and included).

(B) if the individual (or spouse) is not blind or disabled, the first \$720 per year (or proportionately smaller amounts for shorter

periods-\$60 per month) of earned income not previously ex-

cluded, plus one-third of the remainder;

(4) any assistance (except veterans' pensions) which is based on need and is furnished by a State or political subdivision of a State, or by any Federal agency, or by any private religious, educational, charitable, or scientific tax-exempt organization (but this provision is subject to a significant exception; any supplementary State payment based on need which is inconsistant with the earnings incentives provision of the title XX program or which otherwise does not comply with the requirements of section 2016 would be considered to be uncarned income for purposes of the basic Federal payment);

(5) those portions of any grants, scholarships, or fellowships which are for use in paying the cost of tuition and fees at an

educational institution;

(6) home produce of the individual (or spouse) used for home consumption;

(7) one-third of any payment for the support of a child from

an absent parent;

(8) amounts received for the foster care of a noneligible child who is living in the same home as the eligible individual and was placed in that home by a public or nonprofit private child-place-

ment agency.

Section 2012(c) makes cross references to section 1007 of the Social Security Amendments of 1969 and section 2016(c)(1) of the new title XX, discussed below. Section 1007 requires (under the State supplementation provision) an additional income exclusion of up to \$4 a month for certain railroad retirement recipients and social security beneficiaries, and section 2016(c)(1) permits (under such provision) an additional income exclusion of up to \$7.50 a month.

#### SECTION 2013. RESOURCES

Exclusions from resources

Section 2013(a) provides for excluding from the resources of an eligible individual (and his eligible spouse, if any) the home, household goods, and personal effects to the extent that their value does not exceed an amount determined to be reasonable by the Secretary, along with other property which the Secretary determines by regulation to be essential to the individual's (and his spouse's) means of self-support, and for excluding the resources of a blind or disabled individual necessary for the fulfillment of a plan for achieving self-support approved by the Secretary. (Other resources would be counted in determining whether includible resources equal or exceed \$1,500.)

An insurance policy of an individual (or eligible spouse) will be taken into account only to the extent of its cash surrender value, except that if the total face value of all life insurance policies on any person is \$1,500 or less, no part of the value of any such policy will

be taken into account.

Disposition of resources

Section 2013(b) directs the Secretary to provide by regulations for the manner of disposing of resources in order to qualify for benefits. Any benefits paid in a period during which resources are being disposed of, as so provided, are conditioned on such disposal and will be considered overpayments (and therefore recoverable) to the extent that they would not have been paid had the disposal occurred at the beginning of the period for which the benefits were paid.

#### SECTION 2014. MEANING OF TERMS

Aged, blind, or disabled individual

Section 2014(a) (1) defines the term "aged, blind, or disabled individual" as an individual who (1) is 65 years of age or older, is blind, or is disabled, and (2) is a resident of the United States and is either a citizen of the United States or an alien lawfully admitted for permanent residence.

Section 2014(a)(2) defines blindness as central visual acuity of 20/200 or less in the better eye with the use of a correcting lens. An eye which is accompanied by a limitation in the fields of vision such that the widest diameter of the visual field subtends an angle no greater than 20 degrees will be considered as having a central visual acuity of 20/200 or less. In any case, an individual will be considered blind for purposes of title XX if he received aid as a blind person for June 1972 under a State plan approved under title X or XVI of

the Act as then in effect, so long as he remains blind.

Section 2014(a) (3) (A) provides that an individual will be considered disabled if he is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve months, or, in the case of a child under age 18, if he suffers from any medically determinable physical or mental impairment of comparable severity. In any case, an individual will be considered disabled for purposes of title XX if he received aid as a permanently and totally disabled person for June 1972 under a State plan approved under title XIV or XVI of the Act as then in effect, so long as he remains disabled.

Section 2014(a)(3)(B) provides that an individual (other than a child under age 18) will be determined to be under a disability only if his physical or mental impairment or impairments are of such severity that he is not only unable to do his previous work but cannot, considering his age, education, and work experience, engage in any other kind of substantial gainful work which exists in the national economy, regardless of whether such work exists in the immediate area in which he lives, or whether a specific job vacancy exists for him, or whether he would be hired if he applied for work. The term "work which exists in the national economy" means, with respect to any individual, work which exists in significant numbers either in the region where such individual lives or in several regions of the country.

Section 2014(a) (3) (C) defines a "physical or mental impairment" as an impairment that results from anatomical, physiological, or psychological abnormalities which are demonstrable by medically accept-

able clinical and laboratory diagnostic techniques.

Section 2014(a)(3)(D) provides that the Secretary will prescribe by regulations the criteria for determining when an individual's services or earnings demonstrate his ability to engage in substantial gainful activity. An individual whose services or carnings meet such criteria will, except during a trial work period, be found not to be disabled.

Section 2014(a)(4)(A) provides that services rendered during a trial work period by an individual eligible solely by reason of disability are not to be considered in determining whether his disability has ceased during such period. "Services" are defined as activity which is performed for remuneration or gain or is determined by the Secretary to be of a type normally performed for remuneration or gain.

Section 2014(a)(4)(B) defines a period of trial work as a period which begins and ends as provided in the succeeding provisions of the subsection.

Section 2014(a) (4) (C) provides that a period of trial work (with respect to any individual) will begin with the month in which such individual becomes eligible for benefits on the basis of disability. No trial work period may begin for an individual eligible on the basis of a disability if he had a previous period of trial work while eligible for benefits on the basis of the same disability.

Section 2014(a)(4)(D) provides that a period of trial work for any individual eligible on the basis of disability (beginning as provided above) will end with the ninth month in which the individual renders services (whether or not such 9 months are consecutive), or the month in which his physical or mental impairment improves to a point where by reason of such improvement he is able to engage in substantial gainful activity, whichever is earlier.

### Eligible spouse

Section 2014(b) defines "eligible spouse" as an aged, blind, or disabled individual who is the husband or wife of another such individual. If two aged, blind, or disabled individuals are husband and wife, one will be an "eligible individual" and the other will be an "eligible spouse".

# Definition of child

Section 2014(c) defines a "child" as an individual who is neither married nor the head of a household (as determined by the Secretary), and who is either (1) under age 18 or (2) under age 22 and (as determined by the Secretary) a student regularly attending a school, college, or university, or a course of vocational or technical training designed to prepare him for gainful employment.

# Determination of marital relationships

Section 2014(d) provides that in determining whether two individuals are husband and wife, appropriate State law is to be applied, except that (State law notwithstanding) they will be considered to be husband and wife for purposes of title XX if they have been determined to be husband and wife for purposes of title II of the Act or if they are found to be holding themselves out to the community in which they reside as husband and wife.

#### United States

Section 2014(e) defines the term "United States" (when used in a geographical sense) as the States and the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam.

Income and resources of individuals other than eligible individuals and eligible spouses

Section 2014(f)(1) provides that for purposes of determining eligibility for and the amount of benefits for any individual who is married and whose spouse (other than an eligible spouse) lives with him in the same household, such individual's income and resources will be deemed to include any income and resources of the spouse, whether or not available to such individual, except to the extent determined by the Secretary to be inequitable under the circumstances.

Section 2014(f) (2) provides that for purposes of determining eligibility for and the amount of benefits for any individual who is a child under age 22, such individual's income and resources will be deemed to include any income and resources of a parent of such individual (or the spouse of such a parent) who lives in the same household as such individual, whether or not the income and resources are available to such individual, except to the extent determined by the Secretary to be inequitable under the circumstances.

# SECTION 2015, REHABILITATION SERVICES FOR BLIND AND DISABLED INDIVIDUALS

Section 2015 provides that blind and disabled individuals who are under age 65 and receiving benefits will be referred for rehabilitation services to the State agency administering the State plan for vocational rehabilitation services approved under the Vocational Rehabilitation Act, and for a review not less often than once every three months of their blindness or disability and their need for and utilization of the rehabilitation services made available to them under such plan. No such individual will be eligible for benefits under the new program if he refuses without good cause to accept vocational rehabilitation services. The Secretary is to reimburse the agency providing the rehabilitation services for the cost of such services.

# SECTION 2016. OPTIONAL STATE SUPPLEMENTATION

Section 2016(a) provides that any supplementary payments based on need made by a State on a regular basis to individuals receiving payments under title XX or to individuals who would but for their income be eligible to receive such benefits will not be counted as income under the basic Federal program if (1) the Secretary and the State enter into an agreement as set forth in section 2016(b) (which may, at the option of the State, provide that the Secretary will administer such supplementary payments on behalf of the State), and (2) such supplementary payments are made in accordance with such agreement.

Section 2016(b) provides certain requirements relating to agreements between the Secretary and a State regarding State supplementary assistance payments to the aged, blind, and disabled. Such agreements must provide that in determining the eligibility for supplementary payments of an individual receiving Federal payments under title XX the income exclusions under section 2012(b) (which include the program's earnings incentives) will be applied. (The basic Federal assistance payments would however be counted in determining income for purposes of the State supplementary payments.)

If this requirement is not met, the supplementary payments would be considered as unearned income for purposes of the basic Federal payments, causing a 100-percent offset in the latter; the requirement would not be applicable with respect to a person who is not receiving Federal payments, although in no case could the State supplementary payments be reduced by more than the amount of the individual's income in excess of the break-out point. If the agreement provides that the Secretary will make the supplementary payments on the State's behalf, the agreement must also provide that the supplementary payments will (subject to the provisions of subsection (c)(2)) be made to all residents in the State who receive benefits under title XX. The agreement must also provide for other rules concerning eligibility for or amount of supplementary payments, and administrative provisions, which the Secretary finds necessary to insure efficient and effective administration of both the Federal program and the State supplementary program.

Section 2016(c) (1) permits a State, in determining eligibility for supplementary payments, to disregard up to \$7.50 of any income in addition to any other amounts which it is required or permitted to

exclude in determining such eligibility.

Section 2016(c)(2) provides that any State making supplementary payments under 2016(a) may at its option impose a minimum residence requirement as a condition of eligibility for such payments.

Section 2016(d) provides that States entering into agreements with the Secretary which provide for Federal administration of the State supplementary program will, at such times and in such installments as may be agreed to by the Secretary and the State, pay to the Secretary amounts equal to the supplementary payment expenditures. Thus, subject to the hold-harmless provisions of section 503 of the bill, the State would in such a case be liable for benefit costs but not for administrative expenses.

#### PART B-PROCEDURAL AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

#### SECTION 2031. PAYMENTS AND PROCEDURES

Payment of benefits

Section 2031(a)(1) provides that benefits under title XX are to be paid at such times and in such installments as will best effectuate the

purposes of the title.

Section 2031(a)(2) provides that an individual's benefit may be paid to such individual or his eligible spouse (or partly to each) or, if the Secretary deems it appropriate, to any other person—including a public or private agency—who is interested in the welfare of the individual or spouse.

Section 2031(a)(3) permits the Secretary to prescribe regulations establishing ranges of income within which a single amount of bene-

fits under title XX will apply.

Section 2031(a) (4) permits the Secretary to make a cash advance of \$100 or less to an applicant who is presumptively eligible and is faced with a financial emergency. In addition, in the case of a disability applicant, benefits may be paid prior to the determination of disability for a period of up to 3 months (and not considered as an overpayment) if such individual is found to be otherwise eligible for such benefits.

Section 2031(a)(5) provides that benefits for an individual who ceases to be blind or disabled are to continue through the 2nd month following the month in which the blindness or disability ceases.

# Overpayments and underpayments

Section 2031(b) provides that when more or less than the correct amount of benefits has been paid to an individual, the Secretary will make proper adjustments in future payments or by recovery from or payment to such individual or his eligible spouse, or by recovery from the estate of either, with appropriate provision to avoid penalizing such individual or his eligible spouse who was without fault if adjustment or recovery would defeat the purpose of the program, be against equity or good conscience, or impede efficient or effective administration.

### Hearings and review

Section 2031(c)(1) provides that the Secretary will give reasonable notice and opportunity for a hearing to any person who is or claims to be an eligible individual or eligible spouse and is in disagreement with any determination under title XX made with respect to eligibility for or the amount of benefits payable under title XX if such person requests a hearing within 30 days after receipt of the determination.

Section 2031(c) (2) provides that determinations by the Secretary made on the basis of such a hearing (except with regard to issues of disability) must be made within 90 days after the individual requests such hearing:

Section 2031(c) (3) provides that a final determination by the Secretary after a hearing will be subject to judicial review as provided in section 205(g) of the Act, except that determinations of fact on the basis of such hearing will be conclusive and not subject to review by any court.

# Procedures: prohibition of assignments

Section 2031(d) (1) provides that section 207 of the Act and subsections (a), (d), (e), and (f) of section 205 of the Act will apply with respect to benefits under title XX to the same extent as they apply to OASDI benefits. Section 207 provides that the right of any person to future payments will not be transferable or assignable or subject to execution, levy, attachment, garnishment, or other legal process. Subsections (a), (d), (e), and (f) of section 205 give the Secretary the authority to make rules and regulations concerning evidence and the submission thereof, and to issue subpoenas for the purpose of any hearing, investigation, or other procedure.

# Authority to appoint special hearing examiners

Section 2031(d)(2) provides authority for the Secretary to appoint qualified people to serve as hearing examiners without their having to meet the specific standards as prescribed under the administrative procedure provisions of title 5, United States Code, for hearing examiners.

## Representation of claimants

Section 2031(d)(3) grants the Secretary authority to prescribe rules and regulations for the purpose of governing the recognition of a representative on behalf of a claimant. The Secretary may pre-

scribe maximum fees to compensate such a representative for services performed by him in connection with a claim. Any person who demands or receives any additional amount above the fee established by the Secretary for his services in representing the claimant before the Secretary is subject to a fine of up to \$500, or up to 1 year's imprisonment, or both.

Applications and furnishing of information

Section 2031(e)(1) provides that the Secretary is to prescribe regulations with respect to the filing of applications, the suspension or termination of assistance, the furnishing of other data and material, and the reporting of events and changes in circumstances as necessary for the effective and efficient administration of the program.

Section 2031(e)(2) provides that if an individual willfully fails to report (or delays in reporting) events and changes affecting his eligibility, as required under section 2031(e)(1), the Secretary may reduce any benefits which may subsequently become payable to the individual by \$25 for the first failure, \$50 for the second failure, and \$100 for the third and subsequent failures, except where the individual was without fault or good cause existed for such failure or delay.

Furnishing of information by other agencies

Section 2031(f) provides that the head of any Federal agency is to furnish the Secretary any information needed for determining eligibility for benefits under title XX.

#### SECTION 2032, PENALTIES FOR FRAUD

Section 2032 provides penalties of up to \$1,000 or imprisonment for up to one year or both for individuals who deliberately make false statements in benefit applications, make false statements for use in determining rights to benefits, fail to disclose events which affect rights to benefits, or convert benefits received for another person to a use other than for the use and benefit of that person.

#### SECTION 2033. ADMINISTRATION

Section 2033 provides that the Secretary may make administrative and other arrangements to carry out his functions under the new title XX, including arrangements for determinations of blindness and disability similar to the arrangements now in effect to determine eligibility for social security disability benefits.

# SECTION 2034. EVALUATION AND RESEARCH; REPORTS

Section 2034 provides that the Secretary will continually evaluate the new program, including its effectiveness in achieving its goals and its impact on related programs, and will report annually to the President and the Congress on the operations and administration of the program. The Secretary is authorized to conduct research, and contract for independent evaluations of the program, waiving requirements of the new title as he deems appropriate. He is also authorized to conduct demonstrations, and to take full advantage of established data collection, processing, and retrieval systems in carrying out his responsibilities under the section. Up to \$5 million of the funds ap-

propriated for the program could be used to carry out the evaluation and research.

SECTION 302, CONFORMING AMENDMENTS RELATING TO AID TO THE AGED, BLIND, OR DISABLED

Section 302 of the bill makes various conforming amendments in title XVI of the Act, which (in view of the enactment of the new Federal cash assistance program in title XX) will be limited to grants to States for services to the aged, blind, or disabled. These amendments eliminate the cash assistance features of title XVI and conform its language to reflect the enactment of the new title XX and the terminology used in that title.

SECTION 303, REPEAL OF TITLES I, X, AND XIV OF THE SOCIAL SECURITY ACT

Section 303 of the bill repeals titles I, X, and XIV of the Social Security Act. These titles deal with Federal grants to States for the current programs for assistance to the aged (title I), the blind (title X) and the disabled (title XIV), and are superseded by the new title XX.

SECTION 304, PROVISION FOR DISREGARDING CERTAIN INCOME IN DETERMINING NEED FOR AID TO THE AGED, BLIND, OR DISABLED FOR ASSISTANCE

Section 1007 of the Social Security Amendments of 1969 (as amended in July 1970 and January 1971) guarantees those receiving assistance together with railroad retirement or social security benefits after March 1970 and before January 1972 the lesser of (1) the increase in their monthly social security benefits, or railroad retirement annuities or pensions, under the Social Security Amendments of 1969, or (2) \$4. Section 304 of the bill extends indefinitely the effective period of section 1007 of the Social Security Amendments of 1969.

Section 304(a) and section 304(b) of the bill make this provision permanent with respect to optional State supplementary payments effective July 1972, and provide that a State must agree to the provision in conjunction with its agreement under section 2016 in order to have its supplementary payments excluded from income for purposes of title XX.

Section 304(b) of the bill also provides that this requirement will be deemed met if the State agrees to disregard an additional \$4 of an individual's social security benefit or railroad retirement annuity or pension in determing his need.

# SECTION 305. ADVANCES FROM OASI TRUST FUND FOR ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Section 305(a) of the bill amends section  $201(g)(1)(\Lambda)$  of the Social Security Act to provide that moneys from the four social security Trust Funds (which can now be interchanged insofar as necessary to pay for administrative expenses under the various programs, with a corrective adjustment on a fiscal year basis) will be made available to pay the administrative costs of the new program established by title XX of the Act on the same basis.

Section 305(b)(1) of the bill provides that the moneys which are appropriated in any fiscal year from the Trust Funds to pay the administrative costs of the title XX program will be repaid to the Trust Funds from time to time during or after such fiscal year from the amounts appropriated pursuant to section 2001 of the bill for funding the new title XX.

Section 305(b)(2) of the bill provides that if the Trust Funds are not repaid for expenditures advanced for administration of the title XX program in any fiscal year so that the Trust Funds are made whole as of the close of such fiscal year, the amendments made by section 305(a) will cease to be effective at the close of the fiscal year following such fiscal year and further transfers will be precluded.

Section 305(b) (3) of the bill defines "Trust Funds" for purposes of section 305 as the Federal Old-Age and Survivors Insurance Trust Fund, the Federal Disability Insurance Trust Fund, the Federal Hospital Insurance Trust Fund, and the Federal Medical Insurance Trust Fund.

### TITLE IV—FAMILY PROGRAMS

# ESTABLISHMENT OF OPPORTUNITIES FOR FAMILIES PROGRAM AND FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN

Section 401 of the bill amends the Social Security Act by adding at the end (after the new title XX added by section 301 of the bill) a new title XXI, establishing the Opportunities for Families Program and the Family Assistance Plan. The new title XXI, which includes sections 2101 through 2179, is divided into four parts: Part A (the Opportunities for Families Program), part B (the Family Assistance Plan), and parts C and D (benefit and procedural provisions which in general apply both to part A and to part B).

# TITLE XXI—OPPORTUNITIES FOR FAMILIES PROGRAM AND FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN

#### PURPOSE; APPROPRIATIONS

Section 2101 provides that the purpose of title XXI is to assist needy families with children to become self-supporting and to provide them with a basic level of financial assistance necessary to encourage self-support, improve family life, and enhance personal dignity. Appropriations are authorized to carry out these objectives for five fiscal years beginning July 1, 1972, and ending June 30, 1977.

#### SECTION 2102. BASIC ELIGIBILITY FOR BENEFITS

Section 2102 provides that every eligible family whose employable members have registered for manpower services, training, and employment will be paid benefits by the Secretary of Labor under the Opportunities for Families Program (part A), and that eligible families in which no members are employable will be paid benefits by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare under the Family Assistance Plan (part B).

#### PART A—OPPORTUNITIES FOR FAMILIES PROGRAM

SECTION 2111. REGISTRATION OF FAMILY MEMBERS FOR MANPOWER SERVICES, TRAINING, AND EMPLOYMENT

Section 2111(a) provides that every member of an eligible family who is available for employment (as determined by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare) must register for manpower services, training, and employment with the Secretary of Labor.

Section 2111(b) provides that an individual will not be required to register for manpower services, training, or employment if the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare determines that such individual is (1) unable to engage in work or training by reason of illness, incapacity, or advanced age, (2) a mother or other relative of a child under the age of three (or, until July 1, 1974, the age of six) who is caring for such child, (3) the mother or other female caretaker of a child, if the father or another adult male relative is in the home and is not otherwise exempted from the requirement of registration, so long as such father or other adult male relative has not refused to register or to participate in work or training, (4) a child under age 16 or in school, or (5) one whose presence in the home is required because of the illness or incapacity of another member of the household. An individual who is not required to register for manpower services, training, or employment (except one who is ill, incapacitated, or aged) may nevertheless register if he so desires and will then be considered available for employment.

Section 2111(c)(1) provides that all persons who are registered for manpower services, training, or employment must accept employment in which they are able to engage as provided by regulations.

Section 2111(c)(2) provides that no individual will be required to participate in employment (A) if the job offered is vacant due to a labor dispute, (B) if the wages, hours, or other conditions of the work offered are contrary to or less than those prescribed by law, or are less favorable than those prevailing for similar work in the locality, or if the wages for the work are less than the highest Federal minimum wage (presently \$1.20 per hour), (C) if, as a condition of employment, he would be required to join a company union or to resign from or refrain from joining a bona fide labor organization, or (D) if he has demonstrated the capacity of securing work or training available to him which would better enable him to achieve self-sufficiency.

# SECTION 2112, CHILD CARE AND OTHER SUPPORTIVE SERVICES

Section 2112(a)(1) provides that the Secretary of Labor will arrange for child care services for individuals registered in the program who are participating in manpower services, training, or employment, or in vocational rehabilitation.

Section 2112(a)(2) authorizes the Secretary of Labor to secure child care services from all available sources and to utilize child care services provided by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare

to the extent possible in arranging for such services.

Section 2112(a) (3) provides that the Secretary of Labor is to provide child care services by grant or contract through public or private facilities when such services are not available through the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. No funds available to him for this purpose may be used for the construction of facilities. Grants or contracts for child care services may be made with any agency which is designated by the appropriate official in an area and which has shown the capacity for effective cooperation with the manpower agency in the area. To the extent possible, appropriate arrangements are to be made with the local educational agency to provide care for children attending school.

Section 2112(a) (4) provides that the Secretary of Labor may require individuals receiving child care services to pay all or part of the costs (when they are able).

Section 2112(a) (5) provides that the Secretary of Labor will assure the cooperation of the manpower agency with the child care providers and prepare registered persons for employment in child care facilities.

Section 2112(a) (6) requires the Secretary of Labor to report regularly to the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare the amount and location of child care services provided by grant or contract with public or private agencies.

Section 2112(a) (7) provides that at least 50 percent of the amounts appropriated for child care under part A will be expended in accordance with a formula based on the number of registered mothers in each State

Section 2112(b) (1) provides that the Secretary of Labor is to arrange for the health, vocational rehabilitation, counseling, family planning, social, and other supportive services necessary to permit registered individuals to undertake or continue manpower training and employment.

Section 2112(b) (2) provides that supportive services necessary to permit registered individuals to undertake or continue manpower training or employment are to be furnished in cooperation with the manpower training and employment services provided under part A. The Secretary of Labor is to assure that maximum use of existing facilities, programs, and agencies will be made in furnishing these services

Section 2112(b) (3) authorizes the appropriation of not more than \$100,000,000 to provide supportive services under section 2112(b) for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1973.

### SECTION 2113, PAYMENT OF BENEFITS

Section 2113 provides that every eligible family under part A will be paid benefits by the Secretary of Labor.

# SECTION 2114, OPERATION OF MANPOWER SERVICES, TRAINING, AND EMPLOYMENT PROGRAMS

Section 2114(a) directs the Secretary of Labor to develop an employability plan describing the manpower services, training, and employment which he determines that each registered person needs to become self-supporting. Such plans will give priority to mothers and pregnant women under 19 years old.

Section 2114(b) provides that the Secretary of Labor will establish and assure the provision of manpower services, training, and employment programs for persons registered in the program and will

assure the provision of manpower services, training, and employment necessary to place participants of the program in (1) any services, training, and employment which he is authorized to provide under other Acts; (2) counseling, testing, coaching, program orientation, training, work experience, upgrading, job development, job placement, and follow-up services required to assist in securing and retaining employment and opportunities for advancement; (3) relocation assistance; and (4) public service employment programs.

Section 2114(c)(1) defines a public service employment program as a program designed to provide employment for persons not otherwise able to obtain employment or to be effectively placed in training programs. Such a program will provide employment in fields which would benefit the community, the State, or the United States, by

improving physical, social, or economic conditions.

Section 2114(c) (2) directs the Secretary of Labor to provide for the development of employment opportunities in public service employment programs through grants or contracts with public or nonprofit private agencies. This employment will be designed with a view toward (1) the development of employability through work experience, and (2) enabling individuals employed in these programs

to move into regular public or private employment.

Section 2114(c)(3) provides that the Secretary of Labor must be assured, before establishing a public service employment program, that appropriate health and safety standards are maintained; that the program will increase available employment opportunities, and will not reduce the labor costs of an employer or displace employed workers; that the conditions of work, training, education, and employment are reasonable from the standpoint of the type of work, the geographic location, and the proficiency of the participants; that workmen's compensation is provided; and that the program will improve the employability of the participants.

Section 2114(c)(4) provides that wages paid to participants in a public service employment program will be equal to the highest of the (A) minimum wage, or (B) the prevailing rate of wages in the same labor market area for persons employed in similar public occupations, or (C) the highest Federal minimum wage (presently \$1.60)

per hour).

Section 2114(c) (5) requires the Secretary of Labor, at least once every six months, to review each participant's employment record and any other pertinent information and determine whether it would be

feasible to place him in regular employment or in training.

Section 2114(c)(6) provides that payments for public service jobs may be made by the Secretary of Labor in amounts in any case not exceeding 100 percent of the cost of providing the job to the individual in the first year of employment, not exceeding 75 percent of such cost during the second year, and not exceeding 50 percent of such cost during the third year.

Section 2114(d) provides that each State or locality receiving any kind of Federal assistance through grant-in-aid programs or contracts must provide the Secretary of Labor with complete up-to-date listings of all employment vacancies that it has, as a condition for

receiving such assistance.

Section 2114(e) provides that the Secretary of Labor is to work with Federal agencies administering grant-in-aid programs to establish goals for the employment of recipients of family assistance in

programs supported through such Federal assistance.

Section 2114(f) authorizes the appropriation for the fiscal year 1973 of not more than \$540,000,000 to carry out the manpower services, training, and employment programs under part A (other than the public service employment program) and not more than \$800,000,000 to carry out the public service employment program.

# SECTION 2115, ALLOWANCES FOR INDIVIDUALS UNDERGOING TRAINING

Section 2115(a) (1) directs the Secretary of Labor to pay each participant in manpower training under part A an incentive allowance of \$30 per month. If one or more members of a family are eligible for a training allowance under section 203 of the Manpower Development and Training Act, the total monthly incentive allowance will be \$30 per member or the amount by which the training allowances payable under section 203 exceed the sum of the family's benefit and any State supplementary payment, whichever is greater.

Section 2115(a) (2) provides that the Secretary of Labor will pay, to any participant in manpower training under part A, allowances for transportation and other expenses reasonably necessary for and di-

rectly related to such training.

Section 2115(b) provides that allowances under section 2115(a) are to be in lieu of allowances provided under any manpower training

program under any other Act.

Section 2115(c) provides that allowances under section 2115(a) will not be payable to any person who is participating in a program providing on-the-job training sponsored by the Secretary of Labor or who is participating in manpower training which has the purpose of obtaining for him an undergraduate or graduate degree at a college or university.

# SECTION 2116, UTILIZATION OF OTHER PROGRAMS

Section 2116 authorizes the Secretary of Labor, using all authority granted to him under any other Act, to provide the manpower training and employment services required by part  $\Lambda$  in such manner as will further the establishment of an integrated and comprehensive manpower training program.

# SECTION 2117, REHABILITATION SERVICES FOR INCAPACITATED FAMILY MEMBERS

Section 2117(a) provides that any family member receiving benefits under part A who is not required to register due to an incapacity will be referred for vocational rehabilitation services under the Vocational Rehabilitation Act. The Secretary of Labor is required to review such individual's continued need for and use of rehabilitation services at least once each quarter.

Section 2117(b) provides that any family member who is referred for vocational rehabilitation services under a State plan approved under the Vocational Rehabilitation Act is required to accept such services, except where good cause exists for failure to do so, and that the Secretary of Labor will pay to the State agency administering the

State plan the costs incurred in the provision of such services.

Section 2117(c) provides that the Secretary of Labor will pay each family member receiving vocational rehabilitation services under section 2117(a) an incentive allowance of \$30 per month, and an allowance for transportation and other necessary costs related to participation in vocational rehabilitation; these allowances are in lieu of allowances provided for participants in vocational rehabilitaton services under any other Act.

### SECTION 2118. EVALUATION AND RESEARCH; REPORTS

Section 2118(a) (1) directs the Secretary of Labor to provide for the continuing evaluation of the program under part A. He may conduct research and demonstration projects concerning ways to improve the effectiveness of the program and contract for independent evaluation and research.

Section 2118(a) (2) authorizes the appropriation, for the costs of the evaluation and research provided for in section 2118(a) (1), of up

to \$10,000,000 for any fiscal year.

Section 2118(b) directs the Secretary of Labor to utilize, in conducting these activities, the data collection, processing, and retrieval system established for general administrative use in connection with the part A program.

Section 2118(c) directs the Secretary of Labor to make an annual report to the President and the Congress, evaluating and making recommendations on the operation and administration of the program.

### PART B-FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN

# SECTION 2131. PAYMENT OF BENEFITS

Section 2131 provides that the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare is to pay benefits to eligible families in which no member is available for employment.

# SECTION 2132. REHABILITATION SERVICES FOR INCAPACITATED FAMILY MEMBERS

Section 2132(a) provides that any family member receiving benefits under part B who was not required to register for manpower services, training, and employment under part A because of an incapacity will be referred by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare for vocational rehabilitation services under the Vocational Rehabilitation Act. Except in cases of permanent incapacity, the Secretary is required to make a periodic review, no less often than once per quarter, of such member's continued need for and use of such rehabilitation services.

Section 2132(b) provides that any family member who is referred for vocational rehabilitation services under a State plan approved under the Vocational Rehabilitation Act is required to accept such services except where good cause exists for failure to do so; and that the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare will pay to the State agency administering the State plan the costs incurred in providing

the services.

Section 2132(c) provides an incentive allowance of \$30 a month and allowances for transportation and other expenses arising from participation in vocational rehabilitation services. These allowances are in lieu of similar allowances provided under any other Act.

#### SECTION 2133. CHILD CARE AND OTHER SUPPORTIVE SERVICES

Section 2133(a)(1) provides for child care services for individuals referred for and participating in vocational rehabilitation services.

Section 2133(a)(2) directs the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to arrange for all necessary child care services, including transportation, from all available sources but giving priority to facilities developed under section 2134.

Section 2133(a) (3) authorizes the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to provide child care services by grant or contract with public or private facilities when these services are not available through facilities developed by the Secretary under section 2134. Such facilities may include those operated by an agency which is designated by the appropriate official in the area and which has shown its capacity for effective cooperation with the manpower agency in the area. To the extent possible, appropriate arrangements are to be made with the local educational agency to provide care for children attending school.

Section 2133(a) (4) provides that the Secretary may require individuals participating in vocational rehabilitation to pay all or part

of the costs (if they are able).

Section 2133(b) directs the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to offer family planning services to appropriate members of families registered under part A, with the acceptance of such services being voluntary and not a prerequisite of benefit eligibility.

# SECTION 2134, STANDARDS FOR CHILD CARE; DEVELOPMENT OF FACILITIES

Section 2134(a) directs the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare with the concurrence of the Secretary of Labor to set standards for the quality of child care services, to set schedules of reasonable fees for families who are able to pay for part or all of the cost of these services, and to coordinate child care services under title XXI with other available child care and social services.

Section 2134(b) (1) authorizes the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to construct child care facilities through grants or con-

tracts with public and private nonprofit agencies.

Section 2134(b) (2) defines "construction" as the acquisition, alteration, remodeling, or renovation—as well as construction—of facilities for child care.

Section 2134(b)(3) calls for reimbursement to the Government when, within twenty years of its completion, a child care facility constructed with Federal funds is no longer owned by a public or non-profit private agency, or is no longer used for the purpose for which it was constructed. The amount recoverable will be in the same ratio to the then value of the facility as the ratio which the amount of Federal funds bore to the total cost of construction of the facility.

Section 2134(b) (4) provides that laborers and mechanics employed on construction projects must be paid at least the rate of wages prevailing in the locality, in accordance with the Davis-Bacon Act.

Section 2134(b) (5) limits appropriations for construction of child care facilities under these provisions to \$50,000,000 in any fiscal year.

Section 2134(c) provides that the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare may make grants to any public or private non-profit agency or organization, or contracts with any private or public agency or organization, for part or all of the planning costs, establishment of facilities, operating costs for 24 months or longer if necessary, evaluation, training of personnel, technical assistance, and research or demonstration projects to determine more effective methods of providing child care.

# SECTION 2135. EVALUATION AND RESEARCH; REPORTS

Section 2135(a) (1) directs the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to provide for the continuing evaluation of the program under part B. He may conduct research and demonstration projects concerning ways to improve the effectiveness of the program and contract for independent evaluation and research.

Section 2135(a)'(2) authorizes the appropriation for the costs of the evaluation and research provided for in section 2135(a)(1), of up

to \$10,000,000 for any fiscal year.

Section 2135(b) provides that the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare is to utilize, in conducting these activities, the data collection, processing, and retrieval system established for general administrative use in connection with the part B program.

Section 2135(c) provides that the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare is to report annually to the President and the Congress, evaluating and making recommendations on the operation and administration of the program.

### PART C—DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS

### SECTION 2151. DETERMINATIONS; REGULATIONS

Section 2151 provides that the regulations dealing with determinations of eligibility and amount of benefits under the Family Assistance Program (part B) and the Opportunities for Families Program (part A) will be prescribed by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare with the concurrence of the Secretary of Labor. The regulations are to be designed to assure that, to the extent possible, determinations of eligibility and assistance payment amounts will be uniform under the two programs. The term "Secretary" when used alone means the Secretary of Labor with respect to part A and the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare with respect to part B.

#### SECTION 2152. ELIGIBILITY FOR AND AMOUNT OF BENEFITS

### Definition of eligible family

Section 2152(a) provides that each family (as defined in section 2155) whose non-excludable income under section 2153(b) is less than \$800 per year for each of the first two family members, plus \$400 per year for each of the next three members, plus \$300 per year for each of the next two members, plus \$200 for the next member, and whose resources other than those excluded under section 2154 are less than \$1,500, will be an eligible family for purposes of title XXI.

## Amount of benefits

Section 2152(b) provides that the amount of a family's assistance benefit will be \$800 per year for each of the first two family members, plus \$400 per year for each of the next three members, plus \$300 per year for each of the next two members, plus \$200 for the next member, reduced by the amount of the family's income not excluded under section 2153(b). However, no benefit will be paid if the rate of payment is less than \$10 per month.

# Exclusion of certain family members

Section 2152(c) provides that if a family member who is available for employment fails to register as required under section 2111(a), or fails to accept services or employment or participate in training as required under section 2111(c), or if a family member fails to accept rehabilitation services as required under section 2117(b) or 2132(b), the family's benefits will be reduced by \$800 per year in the case of each of the first two such members, by \$400 per year in the case of each of the next three such members, by \$300 per year in the case of the next two such members, and by \$200 per year in the case of the next such member; or by proportionately smaller amounts for shorter periods.

# Payment of benefits; period for determination of benefits

Section 2152(d) (1) provides that payment of a family's assistance benefits under part A or B, and the amount of such benefits, will be determined for each calendar quarter by the Secretary on the basis of his estimates of the family's income for each quarter, taking into account income for preceding quarters and any likely changes in conditions which would affect the family's eligibility or the amount of the benefits. Redeterminations for any calendar quarter are to be made at such times as the Secretary receives notice, or has reason to believe, that a material change has occurred.

Section 2152(d) (2) provides that the benefit amount payable to a family for any quarter is to be determined in the quarter following that quarter; adjustment will be made if the amount that was estimated and paid was more or less than the actual amount determined payable. Benefits will be adjusted by any income received by a family member in the quarter in which determination is made and in any of the three quarters preceding the quarter for which the determination was made which was not already counted as income for benefit purposes.

Section 2152(d) (3) provides that income received in the first quarter preceding the quarter in which a determination is made will be considered first in reducing the amounts of a family's benefit because of an overpayment based on an estimate, followed by income in the second and third quarters preceding it if benefits are still payable after each reduction is made. Such income is to be subject to the exclusions prescribed by section 2153(b). Where a family did not receive benefits in each of the three preceding quarters, the Secretary may estimate any amount needed for benefit determination under section 2152(d) (2).

Section 2152(d) (4) provides that the Secretary is to establish by regulation when and to what extent the benefit for any quarter may be reduced because of the lapse of time between the beginning of the quarter and the date of filing an application for benefits.

Section 2152(d)(5) provides that an application for benefit filed on any day in a month will be deemed to have been filed on the first day of that month.

# Biennial reapplication

Section 2152(e) provides that after a family has been paid benefits for 24 consecutive months, no additional benefits are to be paid to such family under either part A or part B until such family has filed a new application and has had its eligibility for benefits redetermined on the basis of that application.

# Special limits on gross income

Section 2152(f) provides that the Secretary by regulation may prescribe circumstances under which gross income from a trade or business (including farming) is large enough to preclude eligibility for benefits. (The term "gross income" has the same meaning as when used in chapter 1 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954.)

### Certain individuals ineligible

Section 2152(g) (1) provides that no family will be an eligible family if any family member fails within 30 days after notification by the Secretary to take all necessary steps to apply for and (if eligible) obtain any other benefits due him under the Act or any similar payments for which the Secretary has notified him he may be eligible.

Section 2152(g) (2) provides that an individual who is incapacitated solely because of drug or alchol abuse will be considered a family member only if he is undergoing treatment (if available) at an institution or facility approved by the Secretary. The Secretary is to assure himself that such family members are undergoing treatment, and will report annually to the Congress on his activities in this area.

# Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam

Section 2152(h) is a cross-reference to section 1108(e) of the Act (discussed below under section 503 of the bill), which sets out the special method by which benefits are to be determined for families in Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam.

#### SECTION 2153. INCOME

#### Meaning of income

Section 2153(a) provides that, for purposes of title XXI, income means both earned and unearned income.

Earned income is defined in paragraph (1) as-

(A) wages within the meaning of section 203(f)(5)(C) of the Act, relating to the social security earnings test; and

(B) net earnings from self-employment as defined in section 211 of the Act (except for that part of section 211 which deals with optional definitions of net earnings), including earnings derived from certain services performed by ministers, Christian Science practitioners, and members of religious orders, and by certain members of religious faiths who have received an exemption from coverage.

Section 2153(a)(2) defines unearned income as all income other than earned income (as defined in paragraph (1)), including specifically support and maintenance furnished in cash or otherwise; any payments received as annuity or as pension, retirement, or disability

benefits, veterans' or workmen's compensation, old-age, survivors, and disability insurance benefits, railroad retirement benefits, or unemployment benefits; prizes and awards; life insurance policy proceeds (in excess of the amount expended by family members for last illness and burial expenses or \$1,500, whichever is less); gifts (cash or otherwise); support and alimony payments, and inheritances; and rents, dividends, interest, and royalties.

Exclusions from income

Section 2153(b) provides that the following are to be excluded in determining a family's income:

(1) earned income of a child regularly attending school, subject to limitations (as to amount or otherwise) prescribed by the

Secretary;

(2) the total unearned income of the family in a calendar quarter which (as determined under criteria prescribed by the Secretary) is received too infrequently or irregularly to be included, if such unearned income does not exceed \$60 in the quarter, and the total earned income of the family in a calendar quarter which (as determined under such criteria) is received too irregularly or infrequently to be included, if such earned income does not exceed \$30 in the quarter;

(3) part or all of any earned income which (under regulations prescribed by the Secretary) is necessary to pay the cost of child care so that the family member incurring such cost can participate in manpower training, vocational reliabilitation, employ-

ment, or self-employment;

(4) the first \$720 a year (or proportionately smaller amounts for shorter periods) of the total earned income (not previously excluded) of all family members, plus one-third of the remainder;

- (5) subject to section 2156, any assistance (except veterans' pensions) which is based on need and is received from a State, political subdivision of a State, Federal agency, or private agency or organization exempt from taxation under section 501 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954;
- (6) training and other allowances provided under the new sections 2115(a), 2117(c), or 2132(c), and similar allowances (up to \$30 a month) paid by a State or locality to family members receiving Federal benefits;

(7) the tuition and fees portion of any grant, scholarship, or fellowship at an educational institution (including technical

or vocational education);

(8) home produce produced and used by the family:

(9) one-third of any support and alimony payments; and (10) any amounts received for the foster care of a child who is living in the same home as the family but who is not a family member.

Section 2153(b) further provides that the total excludable amounts under paragraphs (1), (2), and (3) may not exceed the lesser of \$2,000 plus \$200 for each family member in excess of four, or \$3,000, or a proportionately smaller amount for a shorter period.

#### SECTION 2154. RESOURCES

## Exclusions from resources

Section 2154(a) provides that, in determining a family's resources, its home, household goods, and personal effects are to be excluded to the extent their total value does not exceed a reasonable amount as determined by the Secretary, along with any other property which the Secretary determines by regulation is essential to the family's means of self-support. An individual's life insurance policies are to be considered as resources to the extent of their cash surrender value, or excluded altogether if their total face value is \$1,500 or less.

# Disposition of resources

Section 2154(b) directs the Secretary, by regulation, to prescribe the period or periods within which, and the manner in which, a family's property must be disposed of in order not to be included in determining the family's eligibility for benefits. Any benefits paid during such a period are to be conditioned on such disposal and considered overpayments (and therefore recoverable) to the extent that they would not have been paid had the disposal occurred at the beginning of the period for which the benefits were paid.

#### SECTION 2155. MEANING OF FAMILY AND CHILD

# Composition of family

Section 2155(a) defines a family as two or more people who are related by blood, marriage, or adoption and who are residents of the United States (with at least one being a citizen or a lawfully admitted resident alien) living together in a place of residence maintained as a home by one or more of them. At least one of the family members must be a child in the care of, or dependent upon, another family member. A parent (of a child living in the place of residence), or a spouse of such a parent, who is determined by the Secretary to be temporarily absent from the place of residence in order to engage in or seek employment or while he is in the military service is to be considered as living in the residence. Groups in households headed by students regularly attending a college or university are not to be considered as families. A person remaining outside the United States for 30 days may not be considered a family member: he will be considered inside the United States only when he has been in the United States again for 30 consecutive days.

### Meaning of child

Section 2155(b) defines a child as an individual who is neither married nor the head of a household, and is under age 18 or is under age 22 and (as determined by the Secretary under regulations) a student regularly attending a school, college, or university or a course of training in preparation for employment.

# Determination of family relationships

Section 2155(c) provides that in determining whether two individuals are related by blood, marriage, or adoption, appropriate State law is to be applied.

Income and resources of non-contributing individual

Section 2155(d) provides that the income and resources of an individual other than a parent or the spouse of a parent which (as determined under criteria prescribed by the Secretary) is not available to other members of the family is to be excluded in determining the family's eligibility for and amount of benefits, and an individual (other than such a parent or sponse) any of whose income and resources is not available to a family will not be considered a member of the family (except that if such individual is a child who would otherwise be considered a member of the family, he will be considered a member of the family for purposes of determining the family's eligibility but not the amount of its benefits).

#### United States

Section 2155(e) defines "United States" (when used in a geographical sense) as the States, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam.

Recipients of aid to the aged, blind, and disabled ineligible

Section 2155(f) provides that an individual who is receiving aid to the aged, blind, and disabled under title XX of the Act (as added by section 301 of the bill) will not be considered a member of a family for purposes of determining the amount of the family's benefits under title XXI and his income and resources are not to be counted as income to such family.

# SECTION 2156. OPTIONAL STATE SUPPLEMENTATION

Section 2156(a) provides that any supplementary payments based on need made by a State on a regular basis to family members receiving payments under title XXI or to individuals who would but for their income be eligible to receive such benefits will not be counted as income under the basic Federal program if (1) the Secretary and the State enter into an agreement as set forth in section 2156(b) (which may, at the option of the State, provide that the Secretary will administer such supplementary payments on behalf of the State), and (2) such supplementary payments are made in accordance with such agreement.

Section 2156(b) provides certain requirements relating to agreements between the Secretary and a State regarding State supplementary assistance payments to families under the program. Such agreements must provide that in determining the eligibility for supplementary payments of an individual receiving Federal payments under title XXI the income exclusions under section 2153(b) (which include the program's earnings incentives) will be applied. (The basic Federal assistance payments would however be counted in determining income for purposes of the State supplementary payments.) If this requirement is not met, the supplementary payments would be considered as uncarned income for purposes of the basic Federal payments, causing a 100-percent offset in the latter; the requirement would not be applicable with respect to a family which is not receiving Federal payments, although in no case could the State supplementary payments be reduced by more than the amount of the family's income in excess of the break-out point. If the agreement provides that the Secretary will make the supplementary payments on the State's behalf, the agreement must also provide that the supplementary payments

will (subject to the provisions of subsection (c)) be made to all residents in the State who receive benefits under this title XXI. The agreement must also provide for other rules concerning eligibility for or amount of supplementary payments, and administrative provisions, which the Secretary finds necessary to insure efficient and effective administration of both the Federal program and the State supplementary program.

Section 2156(c) provides that any State making supplementary payments under 2156(a) may at its option impose a minimum residence

requirement as a condition of eligibility for such payments.

Section 2156(d) provides that States entering into agreements with the Secretary which provide for Federal administration of the State supplementary program will, at such times and in such installments as may be agreed to by the Secretary and the State, pay to the Secretary amounts equal to the supplementary payment expenditures. Thus, subject to the hold-harmless provisions of section 503 of the bill, the State would in such a case be liable for benefit costs but not for administrative expenses.

#### PART D-PROCEDURAL AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

#### SECTION 2171, PAYMENTS AND PROCEDURES

# Payment of benefits

Section 2171(a) (1) provides that family assistance benefits are to be paid at such time or times and in such installments as may be deter-

mined by the Secretary.

Section 2171(a) (2) (A) authorizes the Secretary to pay a family's benefit to one or more members of the family, or, if he finds it would be contrary to the welfare of the family and so notifies and provides an opportunity for a hearing to those who otherwise would be paid, to a non-family-member or other person (including an appropriate public or private agency) who is interested in or concerned with the family's welfare. The Secretary will investigate each case in which there is reason to believe that payment to such a non-family-member or other person may be indicated.

Section 2171(a) (2) (B) provides that where a family's benefits are paid to a representative payee, the Secretary is required to periodically review the need for such payee and, where the need no longer exists, to discontinue payments to such payee. If the Secretary finds that the conditions under which payment is being made to a representative payee are likely to continue beyond a period specified by him, he is required to attempt to secure the appointment of a guardian or other legal representative for the family member (or members) for whom the payment is being made and to take any other steps he finds appropriate to protect the welfare of the child (or children) in the family.

Section 2171(a) (2) (C) provides that where the Secretary finds the family member who would otherwise be paid has failed to register for manpower services or employment under section 2111(a) or to accept manpower services under section 2111(c) or to accept rehabilitation services under section 2117(b) or 2132(b), he may not pay the family benefits to that family member; and if he makes the payments to a non-family-member he may do so without making a determination of inability on the part of the person who would otherwise be paid.

Section 2171(a)(3) allows the Secretary to prescribe regulations establishing ranges of income within which single amounts of family

benefits will apply.

Section 2171(a) (4) allows the Secretary to make an emergency cash assistance payment of no more than \$100 to a family initially applying for benefits where he determines that such emergency assistance is needed. Such payments are to be deducted from future benefits.

# Overpayments and underpayments

Section 2171(b) provides that when more or less than the correct amount of benefits has been paid to a family the Secretary will make adjustments by increases or decreases in future payments or by recovery from or payment to one or more individuals who are or were members of the family, with appropriate provision to avoid penalizing family members who were without fault if adjustment or recovery would defeat the purpose of the program, be against equity or good conscience, or impede efficient or effective administration.

Hearings and review

Section 2171(c)(1) provides that the Secretary will give reasonable notice and opportunity for a hearing to any person who is or claims to be a family member and is in disagreement with a determination on eligibility for benefits, the amount of the benefits, the number of persons in the family, or the refusal of such person to participate or to continue participating in manpower services, training, or employment, or to accept employment, or rehabilitation services, if a request for such hearing is made within thirty days after notice of the determination is received.

Section 2171(c)(2) provides that a determination by the Secretary must be made within ninety days after the individual requests a

hearing.

Section 2171(c) (3) provides that a final determination by the Secretary after such a hearing will be subject to judicial review as provided in section 205(g) of the Act except that all determinations of fact on the basis of such hearing will be conclusive and not subject to review by any court.

Procedures: prohibition of assignments; representation of claimants Section 2171(d)(1) provides that section 207 of the Act, and subsections (a), (d), (e) and (f) of section 205 of the Act, will apply with respect to family assistance benefits to the same extent as they apply to OASDI benefits. Section 207 of the Act provides that the right of any person to future payments will not be transferable or assignable or subject to execution, levy, attachment, garnishment, or other legal process. Subsections (a), (d), (e), and (f) of section 205 of the Act give the Secretary the authority to make rules and regulations concerning evidence and the submission thereof, and to issue subpoenas for the purpose of any hearing, investigation, or other procedure.

Section 2171(d) (2) provides the Secretary with the authority to appoint hearings examiners, based on qualifications set by him. Such qualifications need not meet the specific standards prescribed for hearings examiners under the administrative procedure provisions of title

5, United States Code.

Section 2171(d)(3) authorizes the Secretary to prescribe rules and regulations governing the recognition of agents or other persons, other than attorneys, representing claimants before him. An attorney in good standing who is admitted to practice before the highest court of the State, Territory, District, or insular possession of his residence, or before the U.S. Supreme Court or other Federal courts, will be entitled to represent claimants. Any claimant's representative who refuses to comply with the Secretary's rules and regulations or who violates any provision of this section for which a penalty is prescribed may be suspended or prohibited from further practice before the Secretary. Where a claimant has been given a favorable decision and has been represented, the Secretary is required to set a reasonable fee to compensate the representatives. Where it is determined that a person, with intent to defraud, willfully and knowingly deceives, misleads, or threatens any claimant or prospective claimant or beneficiary, or knowingly charges or collects any fee in excess of that set by the Secretary, such person will be deemed to be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, will be fined in an amount not exceeding \$500 or imprisoned for a period not exceeding one year or both.

# Applications and furnishing of information by families

Section 2171(e) (1) provides that the Secretary is to prescribe regulations with respect to the filing of applications, the suspension or termination of benefits, the furnishing of information, and the reporting of events and circumstances, as necessary to determine eligibility for and amount of benefits.

Section 2171(e) (2) provides that each family who receives benefits under part A or part B in a quarter is required to submit information to enable the Secretary to redetermine eligibility for and amount of benefits payable. Failure by the family to submit such report not later than 30 days after the close of the quarter will result in suspension of benefits.

Section 2171(e)(3) provides that in case of failure to submit any other data, material, or report required under section 2171(e)(1), or willful delay in submitting such data, material, or report, any benefits which may subsequently become payable will be reduced by—

 $(\Lambda)$  \$25 for the first failure or delay,

(B) \$50 for the second failure or delay, and

(C) \$100 for the third or a subsequent failure or delay, except where the family is without fault or there was good cause for such failure or delay.

Furnishing of information by other agencies

Section 2171(f) requires the head of any Federal agency to furnish the Secretary any information needed for determining eligibility for or amount of family benefits or for verifying other information.

#### SECTION 2172. PENALTIES FOR FRAUD

Section 2172 imposes a penalty of \$1,000 or one year imprisonment, or both, upon conviction for fraud under the new programs.

#### SECTION 2173. ADMINISTRATION

Section 2173 provides that the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare and the Secretary of Labor may each perform any of his

functions under title XXI (or under section 1124 of the Act, discussed below, relating to determinations of medicaid eligibility) directly, or by arrangements or contracts providing for payment in advance or by way or reimbursement, and in such installments as he may deem necessary.

# SECTION 2174. ADVANCE FUNDING

Section 2174(a) provides that appropriations for grants, contracts, and other payments under parts A and B (other than benefit payments) may be included in the appropriation act for the fiscal year preceding the fiscal year for which they are to be used.

Section 2174(b) provides that in order to effect a transition to the advance funding procedure, two separate appropriations may initially be made in the same fiscal year, one for that fiscal year and one for the following fiscal year.

# SECTION 2175, OBLIGATION OF DESERTING PARENTS

Section 2175 provides that receipt of benefits under title XXI by the spouse or children of a deserting parent during his absence will result in a monetary obligation to the United States by the deserting parent equal to the total amount of the benefits received under title XXI by the deserting parent's spouse and children. The obligation would be reduced by any payments which he actually makes to his family during the period and which are excluded in computing the family assistance benefits paid to his spouse and children; and in no case would his obligation exceed the amount (if any) ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction for the support and maintenance of his spouse or children, less any payments made under such order. The amount due the United States is to be collected from any amounts otherwise due or becoming due the deserting parent from any officer or agency of the United States or under any Federal program.

# SECTION 2176. PENALTY FOR INTERSTATE FLIGHT TO AVOID PARENTAL RESPONSIBILITIES

Section 2176 provides that the parent of a child receiving benefits under title XXI who moves in interstate commerce to avoid responsibility for the support of such child, or any other legal obligation he has as the parent of such child, is guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction will be fined not more than \$1,000, or imprisoned for not more than one year, or both.

# SECTION 2177, REPORTS OF IMPROPER CARE OR CUSTODY OF CHILDREN

Section 2177 provides that whenever the Secretary obtains information which gives him reason to believe that any child is being or has been subjected to neglect, abuse, exploitation, or other improper care or custody, he will make a report to the State or local child welfare agency and to the head of the appropriate Federal agency.

SECTION 2178. ESTABLISHMENT OF LOCAL COMMITTEES TO EVALUATE EFFECTIVENESS OF MANPOWER AND TRAINING PROGRAMS

Section 2178(a) provides that the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare and the Secretary of Labor will jointly establish local advisory committees throughout the United States to evaluate and report on the effectiveness of the training, employment, child care, and related aspects of the programs under title XXI which are designed to help recipients to become self-supporting. At least one such committee would be established in each State.

Section 2178(b) provides that each local committee will have representation of labor, business, the general public, and units of local government not directly involved in administering the programs. The chairman will be selected by the committee from its membership.

Section 2178(c) requires the local committees to submit reports on the effectiveness of the programs to the Secretaries at regular intervals, together with recommendations for improving the programs.

Section 2178(d) directs the Secretaries to provide for each local committee reasonable expenses for its members. It further authorizes appropriations to carry out these provisions.

SECTION 2179, INITIAL AUTHORIZATION FOR APPROPRIATIONS FOR CHILD CARE SERVICES

Section 2179 authorizes the appropriation for the fiscal year 1973 of a total of \$700,000,000 for child care under parts A and B (including grants under section 2134(c)). (This figure does not include the \$50,000,000 authorized annually by section 2134 for the development of child care facilities.)

SECTION 402. CONFORMING AMENDMENTS RELATING TO AID TO FAMILIES WITH DEPENDENT CHILDREN

Section 402 of the bill makes various conforming amendments in part A of title IV of the Social Security Act, which (in view of the enactment of the new Federal cash assistance program in title XXI) will be limited to grants to States for services to needy families with children and payments for foster care. These amendments eliminate the cash assistance features of part A of title IV and conform its language to reflect the enactment of the new title XXI and the terminology used in that title. For purposes of foster care payments under part A of title IV as amended, "foster care" includes only foster care which is provided on behalf of a child (1) who is removed from the home by court order, (2) whose placement and care are the responsibility of the State or local agency (or another public agency selected by it), (3) who has been placed in a foster home or child-care institution, and (4) who is receiving assistance at the time of the court order or would have received assistance if an application had been filed.

#### TITLE V-MISCELLANEOUS

# PART A-Effective Dates and General Provisions

#### SECTION 501. EFFECTIVE DATE FOR TITLES III AND IV

Section 501 of the bill provides that the amendments and repeals made by titles III and IV of the bill, and by this part and parts B and E of title V, will become effective (and section 9 of the Act of April 19, 1950 (25 U.S.C. 639), which authorizes payments to States in addition to those authorized in sections 3(a), 403(a), and 1003(a) of the Social Security Act, is repealed) on July 1, 1972, except as otherwise specifically indicated, and except that—

(1) sections 2133 and 2134 of the new title XXI (relating to child care) will become effective on enactment;

(2) the new title XXI insofar as it applies to the working

poor will not become effective until January 1, 1973; and

(3) appropriations to develop and place in operation the new programs under titles XX and XXI during the fiscal year ending June 30, 1972, may be included in an appropriation Act for that fiscal year.

SECTION 502. PROHIBITION AGAINST PARTICIPATION IN FOOD STAMP PROGRAM BY RECIPIENTS OF PAYMENTS UNDER FAMILY AND ADULT ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS

Section 502(a) of the bill amends the Food Stamp Act of 1964 to provide that adults and family members who have been determined to be eligible for benefits under the new title XX or the new title XXI will not be eligible for food stamps.

Sections 502(b) through (f) of the bill make various changes in the Food Stamp Act of 1964 to reflect the amendment made by section 502(a) and the repeal by the bill of the present Federal-State cash

assistance programs.

Section 502(g) of the bill provides that these amendments will become effective July 1, 1972 (when the new Federal programs go into effect); except that the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare is authorized to postpone the effective date of these amendments for up to 30 days with respect to persons becoming eligible under the new programs at the outset, and with respect to persons qualifying under those programs thereafter, in order to avoid the interruption of their income in the transition to such programs.

# SECTION 503. LIMITATION ON FISCAL LIABILITY OF STATES FOR OPTIONAL STATE SUPPLEMENTATION

Section 503 of the bill guarantees, in general, that where a State chooses to have its supplementary payment program administered by the Federal Government its cash outlay for benefits under such program will not exceed its cash expenditures for welfare in 1971.

Section 503(a)(1) of the bill provides that the amount payable for any fiscal year to the Secretary by a State under the State's agreements to supplement Federal payments as provided for under sections 2016 and 2156 of the Act, where the State's supplementary pay ent program is being federally administered, will not exceed the States

non-Federal share of expenditures as aid and assistance in the calendar year 1971 under the Federal-State programs provided for in titles

I, X, XIV, and XVI, and part A of title IV, of the Act.

Section 503(a)(2) of the bill provides that the limitation provided for in section 503(a)(1) on the amount payable to the Secretary by a State for its supplementary payments in any fiscal year will apply only with respect to that portion of the supplementary payments in such fiscal year which does not exceed, in the case of any individual or family, the difference between (A) the adjusted payment level under the appropriate State plan as in effect for January 1971 (as defined in section 503(b)), and (B) the Federal payments in such fiscal year to adults and families under the new titles XX and XXI, plus income not excluded under section 2012(b) or 2153(b) thereof; and will apply only with respect to supplementary payments to an individual or family who is required to be included for payments under the agreement between the State and the Secretary and who would have been eligible, if he had met the income test, for payments under the State plan as in effect for January 1971.

Section 503(b)(1) of the bill defines the term "adjusted payment level" as the amount of the money payment which an individual or family with no other income would have received under the State plan in effect for January 1971, except that the State may, at its option, increase such payment level by an amount which does not exceed the sum of (A) a payment level modification (as defined in section 503(b)(2)) with respect to such plan, and (B) the bonus value of food stamps in such State for January 1971 (as defined in section

503(b)(3)).

Section 503(b)(2) of the bill defines the term "payment level modification" as the amount by which a State which, for January 1971, made payments which were below 100 percent of its standard of need, could have increased its money payments, and reduced its standard of need so that the increased payments equaled 100 percent of its standard of need, without increasing its non-Federal share of expenditures for old-age assistance, aid to the blind, aid to the totally and permanently disabled, and aid to families with dependent children in the calendar year 1971.

Section 503(b)(3) of the bill defines the bonus value of food stamps in a State, with respect to an individual or family whose income was equal to the adjusted payment level under the State plan (including any payment level modification with respect to the plan adopted under section 503(b)(2) of the bill but not including the face value of the food stamps themselves), as the total face value of the food stamp coupon allotment which would have been provided to such an individual or family for January 1971 reduced by the charge which such individual or family would have had to pay therefor. The total face value of the food stamps and the charge to the recipient in January 1971 are to be determined in accordance with the rules prescribed by the Secretary of Agriculture in effect in that month.

Section 503(c) of the bill defines the non-Federal share of expenditures for money payments under a State's plan approved under title I, X, XIV, or XVI, or part A of title IV, of the Act, for the calendar year 1971, as the difference between (1) the total amount of such expenditures for such year (excluding emergency assistance under section 406 (e)(1)(A), foster care under section 408, expenditures authorized under

section 1119 of the Act for home repairs, and benefits in the form of institutional services in intermediate care facilities under section 1121). and (2) the amounts of such expenditures for 1971 paid to the State by the United States under the formula for Federal matching under sections 3, 403, 1003, 1403, and 1603, and section 1118, of the Act, and section 9 of the Act of April 19, 1950. Thus, in effect, the non-Federal share of expenditures is the total amount expended by the State for cash payments minus the amount of Federal payments to the State with respect thereto.

#### SECTION 504. SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR PUERTO RICO, THE VIRGIN ISLANDS, AND GUAM

Section 504 of the bill adds to section 1108 of the Social Security Act a new subsection (e) which provides (in paragraph (1)) that in Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam-

(1) the eligibility level for and amount of adult and family assistance benefits (except for the special benefit amounts for

those hospitalized),

(2) the irregular income excluded, (3) the resources limitations, and

(4) certain other dollar amounts (not including the work incentives disregards or the incentive allowances for those receiving certain services),

will be reduced in proportion to the extent by which the per capita income of each is below that one of the 50 States which has the lowest

per capita income.

The new section 1108(e)(2)(A) provides that the Secretary will promulgate the amounts to be used in regard to Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam between July 1 and September 30 of each odd-numbered year, on the basis of the average per capita income of each State for the most recent calendar year satisfactory data are available from the Department of Commerce. The Secretary's promulgation will be effective for each of the two fiscal years in the period beginning July 1 next succeeding the promulgation.

The new section 1108(e)(2)(B) provides that the term "State"

means any of the fifty States and the District of Columbia.

The new section 1108(e)(3) of the bill provides that the amounts promulgated for Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam for any fiscal year will in no case be lower than the amounts promulgated for them for the immediately preceding period.

#### SECTION 505. DETERMINATIONS OF MEDICALD ELIGIBILITY

Section 505 of the bill adds to title XI of the Social Security Act a new section 1124, which authorizes the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to enter into agreements with States under which he (or the Secretary of Labor in the case of beneficiaries under part A of the new title XXI) will determine eligibility for medical assistance in any or all cases under a State's plan approved under title XIX. A State, under such agreement, must pay one half the cost of carrying out the agreement with respect to individuals who are not eligible for benefits under the new title XX or XXI; with respect to individuals eligible for benefits under parts A and B of title XXI and under title

XX, it would pay only those costs which are additional to carrying out such parts and such title.

# SECTION 506. ASSISTANT SECRETARY OF LABOR FOR THE OPPORTUNITIES FOR FAMILIES PROGRAM

Section 506(a) of the bill provides for the creation of a new Assistant Secretary of Labor to be appointed by the President by and with the advice and consent of the Senate. The new Assistant Secretary is to be responsible for the operation of the Opportunities for Families Program under part A of the new title XXI.

Section 506(b) of the bill makes technical and conforming amend-

ments.

#### SECTION 507. TRANSITIONAL ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS

Section 507 of the bill provides that, for any State to be eligible for any Federal payments under title IV, V, XVI, or XIX of the Act for any quarter in the fiscal year ending June 30, 1973, such State must enter into agreements with the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare and the Secretary of Labor under which the State agencies responsible under present law for administering or supervising the administration of the Federal-State programs of assistance to the aged, the blind, the permanently and totally disabled, and aid to families with dependent children (the plans approved under titles I, X, XIV, and XVI, and part A of title IV, of the Act) will administer, on behalf of the Secretaries, all or such part or parts of the Federal assistance programs for adults and for families with children under the new titles XX and XXI, during all or any part of the fiscal year 1973, as may be provided under the agreements. A State could not be made responsible for administering the manpower services, training, employment, and child care provisions of the new title XXI program, and no such agreement could apply in the administration of such program with respect to the working poor—that is, any family in which both parents are present, neither parent is incapacitated, and the male parent is employed.

# SECTION 508. CHILD CARE SERVICES FOR AFDC RECIPIENTS DURING TRANSITIONAL PERIOD

Section 508 of the bill authorizes the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to provide for furnishing child care services for those entitled to receive, them under part A of, title, IV of the Act, and who need such services in order to accept work or participate in a work incentive program, during the period ending June 30, 1972 (the expiration date for AFDC).

#### Part B—New Social Services Provisions

#### SECTION 511. DEFINITION OF SERVICES

Section 511(a) of the bill amends section 405(d) of the Social Security Act (as amended by section 402(k) of the, bill) to define "services for any individual receiving assistance to needy families with

children" to include (1) family planning services, including medical services, (2) child care services, (3) services to unmarried girls, who are pregnant or already have children, (4) protective services, (5) homemaker services, (6) nutrition services, (7) educational services, (8) emergency services, (9) services to assist family members to engage in training or secure or retain employment, (10) assistance in locating suitable housing and in home management and maintenance, (11) services to drug addicts and alcoholics, and (12) information and referral services to those in need of services from other agencies.

Section 511(b) of the bill amends section 1605 of the Act to define "services to the aged, blind, or disabled" to include (1) protective services, (2) homemaker services, (3) nutrition services, (4) assistance in locating suitable housing and in home management and maintenance, (5) emergency services, (6) services, including child care, to assist individuals to engage in training or secure or retain employment, (7) services to alcoholics and drug addicts, and (8) information and referral services to those in need of services from other agencies.

### SECTION 512. AUTHORIZATION AND ALLOTMENT OF APPROPRIATIONS FOR SERVICES

Section 512 of the bill amends title XI of the Social Security Act by adding a new section 1125 to provide a ceiling on amounts to be appropriated for services, and to provide a formula for determining allotments to States from amounts so appropriated.

The new section 1125(a) limits the appropriations which may be made for services (other than family planning services and child care services) to \$800,000,000 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1973, and to such sums as the Congress may specify thereafter.

The new section 1125(b)(1) provides that the amounts appropriated are to be initially distributed to the States in accordance with the following formula:

Allotment Federal Share to State
Total Appropriation Total of Federal Shares

For this purpose (1) "allotment" is the current Federal allotment to a State; (2) "total appropriation" is the total amount of the Federal appropriation for the current fiscal year; (3) "Federal share to State" is the Federal share of a State's expenditures in the preceding fiscal year, excluding amounts reallotted to the State under the new section 1125(c); and (4) "total of Federal shares" is the total of Federal shares to all States in the preceding fiscal year.

The new section 1125(b)(2) provides for an additional allotment to a State from any sums remaining (up to \$50 million) from the initial

allotment, if such State has a service deficit.

The term "service deficit" is defined as the amount by which the average service expenditure per beneficiary in a State is less than the average of expenditures for services and training under titles I, X, XIV and XVI, and part A of title IV (excluding child care and family planning), multiplied by the number of beneficiaries in such State.

The new section 1125(b)(3) provides for the allotment of any sums remaining after the application of the new section 1125 (b)(1) and (b)(2).

The new section 1125(c) provides that where the Sccretary determines that an allotment to a State for training and services under

part A of title IV or under title XVI will not be required, he may reallot such sums to other States in need of them for use in carrying out the same purposes for which the sums were originally intended.

The new section 1125(d) defines the term "average service expenditure" as the amount obtained by dividing the Federal share of expenditures in a State for the preceding fiscal year (excluding real-lotted amounts) by the number of beneficiaries in such State.

#### SECTION 513. ADOPTION AND FOSTER CARE SERVICES UNDER CHILD-WELFARE SERVICES PROGRAM

Section 513 of the bill amends part B of title IV of the Social Security Act by adding (effective July 1, 1971) a new section 427,

relating to adoption and foster care services.

The new section 427(a) defines foster care services as payments for foster care of any child for whom a public agency has responsibility, made to any agency, institution, or person providing such care (but only if such foster care meets standards prescribed by the Secretary), and services and administrative activities related to the foster care of children. Medical care is also included under certain conditions. Adoption services means services and administrative activities related to adoptions and payments (subject to limitations prescribed by the Secretary) to a person or persons adopting a child who is physically or mentally handicapped.

The new section 427(b) provides that where a State qualifies for Federal funds for child-welfare services there will be 75-percent Federal matching for funds expended by such State for adoption or

foster care services.

The new section 427(c) authorizes appropriations, in addition to those authorized for child-welfare services, for adoption and foster care services as follows: \$150,000,000 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1972; \$165,000,000 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1973; \$180,000,000 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1974; \$200,000,000 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1975; and \$220,000,000 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1976, and subsequent fiscal years.

The new section 427(d) provides that, from the sum appropriated pursuant to section 427(c) for any fiscal year, there is to be allotted to each State an amount which bears the same ratio to such sum as the number of children under age 21 in such State bears to the number

of such children in all the States.

### SECTION 514. CONFORMING AMENDMENTS TO TITLE XVI AND PART A OF TITLE IV OF THE SOCIAL SECURITY ACT

Section 514 of the bill amends title XVI, and part A of title IX, of the Social Security Act, to make various provisions of such title and such part subject to the authorization and allotment requirements of the new section 1125 of such Act (discussed above), and otherwise to reflect and conform to the changes affecting social services which are made by this part of the bill.

#### PART C-Public Assistance Amendment Effective Immediately

Part C of title V of the bill makes various amendments to the existing programs of aid and assistance in the Social Security Act, effective

during the period beginning on date of enactment and ending with the repeal of those programs on July 1, 1972 (when the new Federal programs go into effect).

#### SECTION 521. ADDITIONAL REMEDIES FOR STATE NONCOMPLIANCE

Section 521 of the bill adds subsections(e) through (g) to section 1116 of the Act, which relates to administrative and judicial review of certain administrative determinations.

The new section 1116(e) provides that where the Secretary finds that a State has made incorrect payments in a substantial number of cases under title I, X, XIV, XVI, or XIX, or part A of title IV, of the Act, the State may be required to correct the payment errors retroactively. These corrections will not be required for any period prior to the date of enactment of the bill, and the additional payments will be considered as made under an approved State plan for purposes of Federal matching but are not to be counted by the State in determining the amount of future aid or assistance payments.

The new section 1116(f) provides that where the Secretary finds that there is failure to comply with the procedures of title I, X, XIV, XVI, or XIX, or part A of title IV, with respect to the administration of an approved State plan, he may prescribe administrative methods to correct noncompliance. If the Secretary is satisfied that his recommended methods (including a timetable for implementation) will be undertaken, he may continue to make payments to the State for so long as the timetable is being substantially followed.

The new section 1116(g) provides that if the Secretary determines that an approved State plan no longer complies with all the requirements of title I, X, XIV, XVI, or XIX, or part A of title IV, or that there is substantial failure to meet administrative requirements, he may request the Attorney General to bring suit to enforce such requirements in addition to or instead of withholding payments.

#### SECTION 522. STATEWIDENESS NOT REQUIRED FOR SERVICES

Section 522 of the bill amends sections 2(a), 402(a), 1002(a), 1402(a), and 1602(a) of the Social Security Act to provide that (effective upon enactment) the Secretary may make exceptions to the requirement that with respect to social services State plans must be in effect in all political subdivisions of the State.

SECTION 523. OPTIONAL MODIFICATION IN DISREGARDING OF INCOME UNDER STATE PLANS FOR AID TO FAMILIES WITH DEPENDENT CHILDREN

Section 523 of the bill adds a new subsection (d) to section 402 of the Act, effective upon enactment. The new subsection provides that a State may modify its approved AFDC plan with respect to the earned income disregard for families with a dependent child who is not a student. Such modification could provide that (1) work related expenses will not be excluded from total income, (2) the first \$60 of total earned income, plus one-third of the remainder, will be disregarded for each month, and (3) child care expenses will be disregarded. The total amount of the earned income plus child care expenses to be disregarded could not exceed \$2,000 plus \$200 for each family member in excess of four up to a maximum of \$3,000.

### SECTION 524. INDIVIDUAL PROGRAMS FOR FAMILY SERVICES NOT REQUIRED

Section 524 of the bill amends section 402(a)(14) of the Social Security Act (effective upon enactment or at a later date (not after July 1, 1972) specified in the State's plan) to eliminate the requirement that a separate service program be developed for each child and relative receiving aid to families with dependent children.

# SECTION 525. ENFORCEMENT OF SUPPORT ORDERS AGAINST CERTAIN SPOUSES OF PARENTS OF DEPENDENT CHILDREN

Section 525 of the bill amends section 402(a)(17) of the Social Security Act (effective upon enactment or at a later date (not after July 1, 1972) specified in the State's plan) by adding a new clause (iii) which provides for the securing of support for a parent who has been abandoned or deserted by his or her spouse. Efforts in this regard include obtaining or enforcing court orders for support through use of reciprocal arrangements between the States. Other pertinent provisions are amended to conform to this new provision.

# SECTION 526. SEPARATION OF SOCIAL SERVICES AND CASH ASSISTANCE PAYMENTS

Section 526 of the bill amends title XI of the Social Security Act by adding a new section 1125 to provide that each State must develop and submit a proposal under which the State staff providing social services will be located in organizational units separate from assistance payment units up to the administrative level prescribed by the Secretary. The Secretary may authorize exceptions where he finds it not administratively feasible to separate these functions.

SECTION 527. INCREASE IN REIMBURSEMENT TO STATES FOR COSTS OF ESTABLISHING PATERNITY AND LOCATING AND SECURING SUPPORT FROM PARENTS

Section 527 of the bill amends section 403(a)(3)(A) of the Social Security Act (as amended by section 402 of the bill) to increase to 75 percent the rate of Federal matching of the costs of carrying out the requirements of clauses (17), (18), (21), and (22) of section 402(a) of the Act. These requirements include establishing paternity in the case of children born out of wedlock, securing support for any child receiving assistance who has been deserted or abandoned by his parent, and securing support for such parent who has been deserted or abandoned by his or her spouse; entering into cooperative arrangements with appropriate courts and law officials to carry out these requirements; reporting of information to the Secretary to locate a parent of a dependent child receiving aid against whom a support order has been issued but who is not making payments in compliance with the order; and locating and securing compliance by a parent residing in the State against whom a petition has been filed in, and a court order issued by, another State for the support and maintenance of such a child.

# SECTION 528. REDUCTION OF REQUIRED STATE SHARE UNDER EXISTING WORK INCENTIVE PROGRAM

Section 528 of the bill amends parts A and B of title IV of the Social Security Act (effective with respect to costs incurred after June 1971) to reduce from 20 to 10 percent the share of expenses under the existing work incentive program which a State is required to contribute.

# SECTION 529. PAYMENT UNDER AFDC PROGRAM FOR NONRECURRING SPECIAL NEEDS

Section 529 of the bill amends section 406(b) of the Social Security Act (effective upon enactment) to permit vendor payments under the AFDC program to meet a family's nonrecurring special needs (as defined by the Secretary) which involve a cost of \$50 or more.

# PART D-LIBERALIZATION OF INCOME TAX TREATMENT OF CHILD CARE EXPENSES AND RETIREMENT INCOME

#### SECTION 531. LIBERALIZATION OF CHILD CARE DEDUCTION

#### (a) Increase in dollar limits

Subsection (a) of section 531 of the bill amends paragraph (1) of section 214(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (relating to expenses for care of certain dependents). Under existing section 214 (b)(1) the deduction cannot exceed \$600 for any taxable year, except that this \$600 amount is increased (to an amount not above \$900) by the amount of expenses incurred by the taxpayer for any period during which the taxpayer has 2 or more dependents.

Under the amendment contained in section 531(a) of the bill, the dollar limit will be \$750 for the taxable year, increased (to an amount not above \$1,125) by the amount of expenses incurred by the tax-payer for any period during which he or she has 2 dependents, and increased (to an amount not above \$1,500) by the amount of expenses

incurred while he or she has 3 or more dependents.

This may be illustrated by the following example: A and B, a married couple who file a joint return on a calendar year basis, have 3 adopted children. One child C is 9 years of age, the second child D attained the age of 13 on February 1, and the third child E attained the age of 13 on April 1. A and B's adjusted gross income for the year is \$11,000. During January, A and B incurred \$250 of expenses for the care of C, D, and E. During February and March, they incurred \$400 of expenses for the care of C and E, and for the remainder of the year they incurred \$900 of expenses for the care of C. A and B's deduction for the taxable year is \$1,375: \$750 of the \$900 of expenses for the period they had one dependent, \$375 (\$1,125 minus \$750) of the \$400 of expenses for the period they had two dependents, and the \$250 of expenses for the period they had 3 dependents.

# (b) Liberalization of income test for working wives and husbands with incapacitated wives

Section 214(b)(1) of the 1954 Code now provides that in the case of a woman who is married (other than one whose husband is incapable of self-support), and in the case of a husband whose wife is incapacitated (other than an institutionalized wife), the child care deduction

will be allowed only if a joint return is filed, and then the child care deduction is reduced dollar for dollar by the amount by which the

adjusted gross income of the couple exceeds \$6,000.

Subsection (b) of section 531 of the bill increases this amount from \$6,000 to \$12,000. Thus, under this amendment, the working wives and the husbands of incapacitated wives specified above will continue to have to file joint returns to qualify for the childcare deduction, and their deduction will be reduced by one dollar for each dollar that their combined adjusted gross income exceeds \$12,000.

#### (c) Effective date

Subsection (c) of section 531 of the bill provides that the amendments made by section 531 are to apply to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1971.

#### SECTION 532. LIBERALIZATION OF RETIREMENT INCOME CREDIT

#### In general

Subsection (a) of section 532 of the bill amends section 37 (relating to retirement income credit) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954. These changes will be effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 1971.

#### SECTION 37. CREDIT FOR THE ELDERLY

#### (a) General rule

Section 37(a) of the Code (as amended by sec. 532(a) of the bill) provides (1) that an individual who is 65 years or older on the last day of the taxable year, or (2) that an individual who has not reached age 65 by the last day of the taxable year but who has public retirement system pension income for the taxable year, is allowed a credit against the tax imposed by chapter 1 of the Code. This credit is an amount equal to 15 percent of the individual's section 37 amount (as defined in sec. 37(b)) for the taxable year but may not exceed the individual's tax under chapter 1 for the year.

### (b) Section 37 amount

Section 37(b) provides rules for determining an individual's section 37 amount.

#### (1) In general

Paragraph (1) of section 37 provides that for purposes of subsection (a) of section 37 an individual's section 37 amount is the individual's applicable initial amount as determined under paragraph (2) of section 37(b) reduced as provided in paragraph (3) of section 37(b).

#### (2) Initial amount

Paragraph (2) of section 37(b) provides rules for determining an individual's initial amount. Under section 37(b)(2) the initial amount is \$2,500 in the case of a single individual eligible for the credit under section 37(a), \$2,500 in the case of a joint return where only one spouse is eligible for the credit, \$3,750 in the case of a joint return where both spouses are eligible for the credit, or \$1,875 in the case of a separate return by a married individual who is eligible for the credit.

#### (3) Reduction

Paragraph (3) of section 37(b) provides (except as provided in paragraphs (4) and (5)(B)) rules for determining the amount of an individual's reduction for purposes of computing his section 37 amount.

Subparagraph (A) of section 37(b)(3) provides that an individual's initial amount is to be reduced by the amount of any pension or annuity received during the year under title II of the Social Security Act or the Railroad Retirement Act of 1935 or 1937, and by the amount of any pension or annuity otherwise exempt from taxation.

Subparagraph (B) of section 37(b)(3) provides, in the case of any individual who has not attained age 72 before the close of the taxable year, for a reduction (in addition to the reduction provided for in subgaragraph (A)) for earned income in excess of certain amounts. Except in the case of certain individuals receiving public retirement system pension income, the initial amount is to be reduced further by one-i.alf of the excess of earned income received by such individual over \$2,000. If an individual has not attained age 62 before the close of the taxable year, and if such individual or his spouse who has not attained age 62 by the close of the taxable year is eligible for the credit under section 37 because of the receipt of public retirement system pension income, the initial amount is to be reduced further by the excess of earned income over \$1,000. Thus, for example, if a husband and wife (both under age 62 on the last day of the taxable year) file a joint return where only the husband has received public retirement system pension income during the taxable year, each spouse bases the reduction upon the amount of that spouse's earned income in excess of \$1,000. However, if the husband is age 75 and the wife is age 50 and is not eligible for a credit by reason of section 37(a)(2), the reduction in the case of the wife is based upon her earned income in excess of \$2,000, and there would be no reduction with respect to the earned income of the husband.

(4) Special rules for determining the reduction provided in paragraph (3)

Paragraph (4) of section 37 (b) provides special rules for determining the reduction in the case of married individuals and in the case of certain exempt income.

### Joint returns

Subparagraph (A) of section 37(b)(4) provides that in the case of a joint return the reduction under paragraph (3) of section 37(b) is the aggregate of the amounts resulting from applying paragraph (3) separately to each spouse.

### Separate returns of married individuals

Subparagraph (B) of section 37(b)(4) provides that if a married individual files a separate return the rules for reductions for earned income are modified. In such a case, (1) if a married taxpayer is 62 years of age or over (but under 72), there is a reduction on his separate return for one-half his earned income in excess of \$1,000, or (2) if he is under 62 years of age, there is a reduction on his separate return for the excess of his earned income over \$500.

The application of subparagraphs (A) and (B) of section 37(b)(4)

is illustrated by the following examples:

Example (1).—Assume that A is 73, and that his wife B is 66 years of age. During 1972 A receives earned income of \$3,000 and B

receives earned income of \$4,000. If A and B file a joint return for taxable year 1972, there would be a reduction of \$1,000 for earned income—no reduction for the earned income of A since he is not under 72 years of age and \$1,000 (one-half of the excess of \$4,000 over \$2,000) in the case of B. If A and B file separate returns for the taxable year, A would make no reduction for earned income on his return since he is not under 72 years of age while B would have a \$1,500 reduction for earned income on her return, because, as a married person filing a separate return, B reduces her initial amount by one-half the excess of \$4,000 (earned income) over \$1,000 (under the special rule of sec. 37(b)(4)(B)).

Example (2).—Assume that C is 66 and that his wife D is 61 years of age. During 1972 each receives earned income of \$3,000. D receives \$5,000 of public retirement system income during the year. If C and D filed a joint return for taxable year 1972, there would be a reduction of \$2,500 for earned income, that is the sum of (1) \$500, one-half of C's earnings in excess of \$2,000, and (2) \$2,000, all of D's earnings in excess of \$1,000. If C and D filed separate returns for the taxable year, C would have a reduction for earned income of \$1,000, one-half of earned income in excess of \$1,000. D, on her separate return, would have a reduction of \$2,500, all of her earned income in excess of \$500.

No reduction for certain amounts excluded from gross income

Subparagraph (C) of section 37(b)(4) provides that no reduction (under sec. 37(b)(3)(A)) is to be made for amounts received as pensions and annuities which are excluded from gross income under section 72 (relating to annuities), 101 (relating to life insurance proceeds), 104 (relating to compensation for injuries or sickness), 105 (relating to amounts received under accident and health plans), 402 (relating to taxability of beneficiary of employees' trust), or 403 (relating to taxation of employee annuities) of the 1954 Code.

#### (5) Special rules for individuals eligible under subsection (a)(2)

Paragraph (5) of section 37(b) provides special rules for cases where an individual qualifies for the credit for the elderly under section 37(a)(2) by reason of public retirement system income.

Limitation to public retirement system income

Subparagraph (A) of section 37(b)(5) provides that, except as provided in subparagraph (B) of section 37(b)(5), the section 37 amount of an individual who qualifies for the credit for the elderly under section 37(a)(2) by reason of receipt of public retirement system income is not to exceed such individual's public retirement system income.

Rule where one spouse a public retiree and the other 65 or over

Subparagraph (B) of section 37(b)(5) provides for a reduction (in addition to those set forth in sec. 37(b)(3)) where one spouse qualifies for the credit for the elderly under section 37(a)(1) (i.e., where such spouse is 65 or over) and the other spouse qualifies under section 37(a)(2) (i.e., where such spouse is under 65 but received public retirement system income). In such a case, subparagraph (A) of section 37(b)(5) does not apply and there is an additional reduction under paragraph (3) of section 37(b) in an amount equal to the excess (if any) of \$1,250 over the amount of public retirement system income received during the taxable year by the spouse who is eligible as a public retiree.

The application of paragraph (5) of section 37(b) is illustrated by

the following examples:

Example (1).—Assume that A and his wife B are each 60 years of age. During 1972, A and B each receive \$1,300 of public retirement system income. Neither receives earned income or any other amounts described in section 37(b)(3) during the year. A and B file a joint return for taxable year 1972 and accordingly their initial amount under section 37(b)(2)(C) of \$3,750 is not reduced by any reduction described in section 37(b)(3). Their section 37 amount for 1972 would be \$2,600, however, because under section 37(b)(5)(A) such section 37 amount cannot exceed public retirement system income for the year.

Example (2).—Assume that C is 66, and that his wife D is 61 years of age. During 1972, C receives \$2,000 of earned income, and D receives \$500 of public retirement system income. D does not receive any earned income for 1972. For such year, neither receives amounts described in section 37(b)(3)(A) (Social Security, etc.). C and D file a joint return for the taxable year. The section 37 amount with respect to such return would be \$3,000, \$3,750 less \$750 (the excess of \$1,250)

over D's public retirement system income (\$500)).

### (c) Definitions and special rules

Subsection (c) of section 37 contains definitions and special rules applicable to section 37.

#### (1) Earned income

Paragraph (1) of section 37(c) provides that the term "earned income", for purposes of section 37, has the meaning assigned such term in section 911(b) of the Code, but that such term does not include any amount received as a pension or annuity. Paragraph (1) also provides that community property laws are not to be taken into account in determining whether earned income is the earned income of the husband or of the wife.

#### (2) Marital status

Paragraph (2) of section 37(c) provides that, for purposes of section 37, marital status is to be determined under section 153 of the Code.

#### (3) Joint return

Paragraph (3) of section 37(c) provides that the term "joint return" means the joint return of a husband and wife made under section 6013 of the Code.

#### (4) Public retirement system pension income

Paragraph (4) of section 37(c) provides that public retirement system pension income is income from pensions and annuities under a public retirement system which is received for the performance of personal services by the individual or his spouse, to the extent included in gross income without reference to section 37, but that such term does not include compensation for personal services rendered during the taxable year. A "public retirement system" is a pension, annuity, retirement, or similar fund established by the United States, a State, a possession of the United States, a political subdivision of any of the foregoing, or the District of Columbia. Under paragraph (4) the amount of public retirement system pension income taken into account with respect to any individual may not exceed \$2,500.

The application of paragraph (4) of section 37(c) is illustrated by

the following example:

Example.—Assume that A and his wife B are 60 years of age. During 1972, A receives \$3,000, and B \$500, of public retirement system pension income. Neither has earned income or amounts described in section 37(b)(3)(A) (Social Security, etc.) for the year. A and B file a joint return for taxable year 1972. The section 37 amount of A and B for 1972 is \$3,000 because no more than \$2,500 of A's public retirement system pension income is taken into account.

### (d) Nonresident alien ineligible for credit

Subsection (d) of section 37 provides that the credit for the elderly is not to be allowed to any nonresident alien.

#### Sec. 532. (Continued) (b) Technical amendments

Subsection (b) of section 532 of the bill makes certain technical amendments to the Code.

#### (1) Foreign tax credit

Subsection (b) (1) of section 532 of the bill amends section 904 of the Code (relating to limitation on foreign tax credit). Under existing law the retirement income credit allowed by section 37 is allowed only to the extent of the tax for the taxable year under chapter 1 of the Code reduced by the foreign tax credit allowable for the year under section 901 (a) of the Code and certain other allowable credits against tax. The amendment made by this subsection of the bill redesignates subsection (g) of section 904 as subsection (h) and adds a new subsection (g) to section 904 of the Code. New subsection (g) provides, in the case of an individual, that for purposes of computing the limitation of the foreign tax credit, the tax against which the foreign tax credit is taken under section 904 (a) is such tax reduced by the amount of any credit allowable under section 37.

#### (2) Tax not computed by taxpayer

Paragraphs (2) and (3) of subsection (b) of section 532 of the bill amend section 6014 of the Code (relating to tax not computed by the taxpayer) to make it clear that the credit for the elderly will be available to taxpayers who elect to have the Secretary of the Treasury or his delegate compute the tax and who comply with the regulations prescribed under section 6014(b).

#### (3) Conforming amendments

Paragraphs (4) and (5) of subsection (b) of section 532 of the bill make clerical changes.

### (c) Effective date

Subsection (c) of section 532 of the bill provides that the amendments made by section 532 are to apply to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1971.

#### PART E-MISCELLANEOUS CONFORMING AMENDMENTS

#### SECTION 541. CONFORMING AMENDMENT TO SECTION 228(d)

Section 541 of the bill makes conforming changes in section 228(d)(1) of the Social Security Act, which precludes benefits under section 228 (benefits at age 72 for certain uninsured individuals) for individuals receiving cash benefits under public assistance programs.

#### SECTION 542. CONFORMING AMENDMENTS TO TITLE XI

Section 542 of the bill makes various changes in title XI of the Social Security Act (general provisions) to reflect the repeal of the existing cash assistance programs by sections 302, 303, and 402 of the bill and to conform to the new Federal programs (titles XX and XXI) established by sections 301 and 401 of the bill.

#### SECTION 543. CONFORMING AMENDMENTS TO TITLE XVIII

Section 543 of the bill amends title XVIII of the Social Security Act by eliminating all references to money payments under titles I, X, XIV, XVI, and IV in section 1843, which relates to State agreements for "buying in" coverage of eligible individuals who are receiving money payments under public assistance programs (or are eligible for medical assistance), and by continuing in effect the State buy-in agreements covering individuals eligible for medicaid under title XIX.

Section 543(a) of the bill amends section 1843 of the Act by replacing the present subsections (a) and (b) with two new subsections.

The new section 1843(a) requires the Secretary, at the request of any of the States, to continue in effect (notwithstanding the repeal of the existing Federal-State programs providing cash assistance to needy persons) the existing "buy-in" agreements under which the States pay supplementary medical insurance premiums on behalf of individuals eligible both for medical insurance and for medical assistance under the State plans approved under title XIX of the Act. Any such agreement, insofar as it pertains to recipients of money payments under the State plan, would be deemed to pertain, at the option of the State, to individuals or family members described in section 1902(e) of the Act (as added by section 209(d) of the bill) or to individuals who are eligible to receive benefits under title XX or title XXI. Such agreements will also, at the request of any State, be continued with respect to individuals otherwise eligible for medical assistance under the State plan approved under title XIX, and will be deemed to include individuals made eligible for supplementary medical insurance by section 201 of the bill.

The new section 1843(b) provides that section 1843(h)(2) (relating to the beginning and ending of the coverage period of certain individuals eligible for medical assistance) will continue to apply to individuals included in a State agreement after the effective date of the repeal of (or amendments to) the cash assistance titles of the Act which are provided for by the bill.

Section 543(b) of the bill amends section 1843(c) of the Act to

delete an obsolete reference to the former section 1843(b)

Section 543(c) and (d) of the bill amend sections 1843(d)(3) and 1843(f) of the Act to eliminate references made obsolete by the elimination of the Federal-State cash assistance programs.

Section 543(e) of the bill strikes out subsections (g) and (h) of section 1843 of the Act, which relate to modifications of State agreements under section 1843 that under existing law may no longer be made.

#### SECTION 544. CONFORMING AMENDMENTS TO TITLE XIX

Section 544 of the bill amends various provisions of title XIX of the Social Security Act (grants to States for medical assistance programs) to reflect the repeal of the existing cash assistance programs by sections 302, 303, and 402 of the bill and to conform to the new Federal programs (titles XX and XXI) established by sections 301 and 401 of the bill.

# VI. ADDITIONAL VIEWS OF HON. HUGH L. CAREY, HON. CHARLES A. VANIK, HON. WILLIAM J. GREEN, AND HON. JAMES C. CORMAN ON H.R. 1

Although we voted to report out H.R. 1 and we intend to support and vote for its passage, we would like to express certain reservations with respect to the impact of some of its provisions on the poor and the elderly. Among them are the establishment of an annual income of \$2400 for a family of four which is far too low for the poor who live in the cities of the North and West, and the failure to provide adequate financial relief for the states which have been making the greatest financial effort in behalf of the poor.

#### SOCIAL SECURITY, MEDICARE, MEDICAID

H.R. 1 in its final form does make far-reaching and needed improvements in the Social Security cash benefits program as well as in the Medicare, Medicaid and maternal and child health programs. An important provision is the 5 percent across-the-board increase in Social Security payments for all beneficiaries, effective June 1972. The 5 percent benefit increase is desperately needed to maintain their level of income.

Yet, even in these programs, certain provisions now in the law which we think should have been changed were not changed, and several amendments have been adopted which have the effect of

restricting certain benefits to the poor and the indigent.

The provision for increasing the minimum monthly benefits under the Social Security Act to as much as \$150 for an individual with thirty years of coverage and \$225 if he has a wife is long overdue. This change will go a long way toward eliminating from the old age assistance rolls, which are financed out of general revenue money, many Social Security beneficiaries. Yet the cost of this change is to be paid out of Social Security contributions the burden of which falls most heavily upon low-wage earners. We would have favored a provision to pay part of such costs out of general revenue.

provision to pay part of such costs out of general revenue.

In Medicare the same pattern is followed. The inclusion in the Medicare program of disabled recipients of cash benefits under the Social Security and railroad retirement programs will extend health insurance protection to about 2 million persons. However, hospitalized persons must now pay for part of the hospital costs during the 31st day to 60th day of hospital confinement. This provision may place additional burdens on persons when they are least able to pay. Fortunately, as indicated in the report, the Committee bill does use

these savings to extend the lifetime reserve.

While the provisions relating to health maintenance organizations are aimed at encouraging the provision of more comprehensive care, at the same time, the Committee seeks to repeal the current statutory requirement that States move toward comprehensive Medicaid

programs Provisions permitting states to reduce the scope of Medicaid benefits, to require premium payments and impose cash deductibles on the medically indigent, will result in their exclusion from benefits or the transfer of the cost of their medical care to the already financially burdened cities and states.

The medical benefits of the poor and indigent should not be contracted through federal legislation or their burdens transferred to the states in an attempt to restrain the increasing costs of the program to the federal government.

#### FAMILY ASSISTANCE

Our most serious reservations, however, are with some of the provisions of Title IV of HR 1 which would replace the present program of Aid to Families with Dependent Children with the new "Opportunities for Families Program and Family Assistance Plan."

Title IV does take several significant steps towards the establishment

of a sound welfare system:

(1) It establishes a federally financed floor of assistance which will

at least raise benefits in a few states that now pay the least.

(2) It provides incentives for families to work and includes in the universal program all families including those with a full-time working father in the home.

(3) It provides uniform eligibility rules for entitlement to the

Federal Benefit and federal administration of the program.

(4) It creates an extensive program of federally administered and financed child care, training, manpower and other services to enable recipients to secure jobs. It creates a program of public service employment to provide needed jobs for some recipients although the number of jobs is not sufficient and the requirement for partial state financing is objectionable.

Recognition of these significant forward steps should not, however, blind us to the weaknesses and inadequacies which have been incorpor-

ated in the new program.

#### BENEFIT LEVELS

The minimum payment levels are clearly insufficient to provide a family with sufficient income to meet its minimal needs. This insufficiency is more serious since states are not required to maintain present benefit levels. For a family of four, \$2400 is more than \$1500 below the official poverty line established by the Department of Health, Education and Welfare. It is no more than the \$2400 that the Ways and Means Committee itself considered necessary as a minimum payment to support an aged, blind or disabled family of two persons.

Proposals to raise the \$2400 were rejected by the Committee on the grounds of additional costs and that a benefit adequate for a family in high cost metropolitan areas of the north would have an adverse impact on low cost rural areas in the south. To meet the argument that increased benefits would result in an increase in the current federal deficit, proposals were made to establish a goal of adequacy towards which the benefit would be increased over a fixed period of years; and in recognition of the varying economic conditions within the United States to adjust the minimum benefit level to meet the

increased cost of food and other shelter items in high cost areas. Yet

these proposals were defeated.

The \$2400 level must also be considered in relation to the provision of the bill making welfare recipients ineligible for food stamps. While we support the cash out of food stamps and the establishment of a single integrated system of providing cash to needy families, it must be recognized that if the objectives are to be accomplished states must supplement their current welfare payments with the cash value of the food stamps. Unless they do so, the poor and the needy in most states will pay for the efficiencies and cost savings to the federal government resulting from the elimination of food stamps.

Unfortunately the Committee rejected provisions to assure that no recipient would be worse off than under existing law—a cardinal principle which the President stated in August 1969, when he first proposed the Family Assistance Program to the nation. The Committee even eliminated from HR1, as introduced in the Congress, specific provisions which it had passed last year requiring states to

maintain their current payment levels.

While the Committee assured to the states that they could protect persons from loss of benefits maintaining current benefit levels and increasing them by the value of food stamps without having to expend more in welfare funds in future years than they spent in calendar year 1971, such provisions will not protect beneficiaries in all states. Some states may seize the opportunity which this will give them to escape from all welfare costs by reducing their payment down to \$2400.

If financial incentives through the offer of fiscal relief to states is to be instrumental in assuring benefit protection to individuals, two elements are essential. First, the fiscal relief must be contingent on state action to provide protection to needy families by assuring that present benefits not be reduced. Second, the fiscal relief must be sufficient to affect all states. It was for this reason that we proposed a hold harmless clause which would have provided that those states which increased their current benefit levels by food stamp values would have been protected against expenditures exceeding 75% of their 1971 costs. Our proposal would have given to the states and localities an additional \$4.2 billion in fiscal relief during the five-year period. And it would have assured that a fair share of fiscal relief would have gone to those states which have undertaken the greatest financial burdens in providing more adequate welfare benefits.

#### WORK REQUIREMENTS

While we agree with provisions requiring all welfare recipients who can work to do so and with those provisions for training and job creation to assure that they will be able to work, we are opposed to provisions that arbitrarily require all mothers with pre-school age children above three to work as a condition to receipt of benefits. The Committee recognized that such requirement was dependent upon the availability of adequate day care facilities. Yet, with the increases in juvenile delinquency and drug abuse, in some situations, both society and the family would be better served by a recognition that the work of the mother in caring for her children would be more meaningful than requirements which would separate her from vital family obligations.

The provision adopted by the Committee requiring that jobs offered to welfare recipients must pay at least 75% of the federal minimum wage rate does establish a floor on jobs which will reflect increases in the minimum wage law. Such floor, however, would better be set at the minimum wage level itself. To do less would overlook the significant differential in the cost of living in urban areas. Every effort should be made to avoid providing a captive work force to employers who offer jobs at substandard wages or working conditions.

#### LEGAL RIGHTS

We are concerned with the provisions which would permit states to reinstitute residence requirements of up to one year. Population stability is assured by equal opportunity for employment and for those in need by a national welfare system paying adequate benefits, rather than through the establishment of interstate barriers to the mobility of the poor in exactly the way which the Supreme Court prohibited in Shapiro vs. Thompson (394 US 618).

# ADMINISTRATION AND JOB PROTECTION FOR WELFARE EMPLOYEES

While we endorse the provisions for federal administration of the cash benefit system of welfare including administration of state supplemental payments, the Committee failed to recognize that such administration would substitute for administration now performed by state and local welfare employees, many of whom are former welfare recipients. It would seem practical and logical that those who are trained be given an opportunity to perform their duties and retain the employment for which they are obviously as qualified as those who the federal government would seek to train in their place. In being transferred, they should be able to retain the benefits obtained through collective bargaining efforts on their behalf.

#### PUERTO RICO AND OTHER INSULAR AREAS

We recognize that the Committee action moves in the direction of more equitable treatment of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and other insular areas. This is evidenced by the change in benefit level for a family of four from \$636 to \$1320. This figure, however, is considerably below the federal minimum standard of \$2400. We recognize that this is an involved and complicated question. We recognize that the relationsip between income levels in Puerto Rico and state public assistance benefits presents a problem and that this problem has been negotiated by the Administration AND THE Commonwealth government and those in the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.

The problem remains that as long as States such as New York, Pennsylvania, Massachusetts, Ohio, etc. have a more attractive level of benefits, there is an incentive to migrate to those areas from the Commonwealth and other insular areas at a time when unemployment is a problem both in the area of origin and in the area of destination. With this in mind, the Department, which is undertaking the administration of the program in insular areas and in the States, should be prepared to accept a new responsibility. The Department should

initiate such positive programs as are required to improve opportunities for employment through training and bring about a better system of benefits through work programs than has been in effect heretofore.

It is not our intent to state that any such program be designed to impede or deter citizens from moving freely in search of employment. Rather, we want to make sure that a decision would be made on the grounds of self-improvement; not due to pure economic differential in welfare.

We are pleased the Secretary has agreed, therefore, to implement these programs which would benefit the citizens of Puerto Rico and other insular areas as well as all the other citizens of the United States found to be eligible and in need.

#### CONCLUSION

H.R. 1, if amended to eliminate the defects noted above, would move toward a federally administered and federally financed welfare system which would provide adequate benefits on a fair and equitable basis. We hope when this bill reaches the other body, the amendments we have suggested will be adopted.

Representative Hugh L. Carey. Representative Charles A. Vanik. Representative William J. Green. Representative James C. Corman.

### VII. ADDITIONAL VIEWS OF HON. SAM M. GIBBONS ON H.R. 1

Last year, when the Ways and Means Committee had the family assistance program under consideration, I preposed that we convert food stamp bonuses into equivalent cash payments to be added onto welfare checks. My goal was to simplify the structure of programs for the needy, eliminate duplicative administrative costs, and end the degradation of forcing the poor, and only the poor, to use a special form of "funny money" when they wanted to buy food. At the same time, I wanted to assure that all Americans would have sufficient purchasing power, if they spent their funds wisely, to afford an adequate, nutritious diet.

This year, both the Committee and the Administration have agreed to adopt the core of my proposal. The present bill combines the family assistance and food stamp plans into a single, integrated cash-

benefit program.

Under last year's proposal each eligible needy family of four without outside income would have received \$1,600 in cash plus the chance—and it was merely that—if the family resided in a county that dispensed food stamps, to go through the additional maze of the food stamp bureaucracy and obtain bonus stamps worth \$864 a year. Each needy aged adult would have received \$1,320 plus the opportunity to increase his buying power with \$120 in bonus stamps.

Under this year's bill, with the combination program, each such family will receive \$2400 to use as it sees fit, among other things, to purchase the food it needs to maintain the well-being of each member. This year the aged adult will obtain \$1560, including the cash portion

of food stamps.

Last March, only 5 million persons throughout the country were able to secure food stamps. As of this March, some 10.6 million people were participating in the food stamp program. But, shortly after the new program contained in this bill goes into effect (on July 1, 1972 for AFDC families and January 1, 1973 for the working poor), more than 25 million persons could be enjoying the fruits of the food stamp program converted into cash, including 4 million who previously could only get commodities and 10 million-plus who got no food assistance at all. By the simple translation of stamps into cash, the effective reach of our anti-hunger efforts will have more than doubled.

While I am pleased with this result, I am mindful of the fact that its implementation depends, in part, upon the willingness of various state legislatures to cooperate with the Congress. They must agree to supplement their current welfare payments with the cash food bonuses. They can take this step at no additional cost whatever to their state budgets over and above what they are now spending on welfare alone.

The pattern is as follows:

(1) In Alabama, Arkansas, Louisiana, Mississippi, and South Carolina, no further action would be necessary. The \$2400 Federal

payment level covers the full value of food stamps there.

(2) In 7 other states in which both the present welfare payment levels and needs standards are equal to or less than \$2400, the states would have to agree to add the applicable cash bonus value of food stamps (under food stamp purchase schedules now in effect) to the welfare payment level and offer each recipient the difference between that sum and \$2400. In no event would any such state (Maryland, New Mexico, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Texas and West Virginia) have to expend more in welfare outlays in 1972 or beyond than it is spending right now. That is the essence of our so-called "hold harmless" clause, which encompasses food stamps as well. Furthermore, every state would be rid of the burden of the administrative expense of certifying food stamp users and selling stamps.

(3) Finally, in the remaining 38 states and the District of Columbia, there would have to be determinations both to continue to maintain the current welfare payment levels (and/or needs standards) and to augment them by food stamps in the form of cash. Nineteen of those states, once they are committed to not reducing their welfare grants, could also supply the cash value of stamps without losing a penny of the savings they can anticipate under this bill. The rest, including the District of Columbia (which means that the Congress will have to make the decision), could hold firm to current welfare payment levels, superimpose food stamps as well and still not have to budget more funds for welfare than at present. They would have to forego some potential savings, ranging from as much as \$166 million in the case of California to as little as \$1 million for Wyoming. According to HEW projections, they would still save substantial sums—for example, \$140 million in California and \$165 million in my own state of Florida. No state—I repeat—no state would be required to spend any extra sum to accomplish the complete cashingout of food stamps for all of its needy citizens.

Thus, it is my belief that the objective I sought last March will finally be achieved a little over a year from now if state legislatures fulfill their responsibility as Congress has shouldered its. The results, from the point of view of the hard-pressed poor and hard-pressed state budgets, can only be highly favorable.

There admittedly remains a rather minor problem of the residual food stamp programs for persons ineligible for assistance under this bill-needy single individuals between the ages of 18 and 65 who are neither blind or disabled, needy couples without children who are neither blind nor disabled and those other persons who meet the slightly different eligibility requirements of the food stamp program, but not those of this program. Such persons number considerably less than 3 million. This issue should be disposed of in the future, preferably by extending the provision of cash to these groups and replacing their stamps with money. Food stamps have survived on and off as a program to feed the poor since 1939. They have outlived their usefulness.

#### VIII. DISSENTING VIEW OF HON. AL ULLMAN ON H.R. 1

I fully concur with those provisions of H.R. 1 which will improve benefits and the administration of the Social Security and Medicare/Medicaid programs. I also concur with those provisions that will establish welfare benefits for the aged, blind and disabled under a new, totally federal program.

However, I have strong objections to those provisions of the bill dealing with family welfare programs. In my judgment, these provisions represent an entirely new direction in federal social and economic policy that could very well adversely alter the course of Amer-

ican history.

There is no question in my mind that Title IV of H.R. 1 would take us down the road to a guaranteed annual income. This would be an irreversible step that would put millions of Americans permanently on the welfare rolls. The pressures most certainly will build to increase the cash payments under the Title IV provisions, and we will have invented a massive, new ingredient for inflation at a time when our economy is already badly out of kilter. And finally, for the first time in our history we will have opened up the U.S. Treasury to individuals who will be able to file an application and draw on general federal revenues.

What we need is real welfare reform, rather than simply a costly

addition to the present disorderly welfare system.

Title IV institutes a whole new set of problems based on its cash payments provisions. There will be the impossible administrative complexities of individual payments fluctuating month by month according to varying earned and unearned income, family size and owned assets. There will be the continuing problems of state supplementation as well as the debilitating social and economic effects of state differentials in benefit levels.

Perhaps more importantly, Title IV fails to give proper emphasis to the keystones of welfare reform—child care, job training and job placement. Without a greatly expanded and closely integrated program of national child care we cannot hope to achieve real welfare reform. This bill deals only in tokenism when it comes to child care, failing even to establish the national independent agency that will be necessary to operate an effective program.

Title IV calls for a distinction of welfare applicants as employable and unemployable but fails to provide ways to make this distinction meaningful. As I have indicated, the child care provisions are inadequate. A woman cannot be considered employable unless she is offered adequate care for her children while she works. The bill also fails to open up new training opportunities of any consequence for employable

persons.

The distinction of employable and unemployable becomes totally meaningless when we realize that under the bill persons in both categories will receive the same cash benefits from the federal government.

All this amounts to cynicism of the highest order, and will serve

only to raise again expectations that cannot be met.

Within committee, I have offered, in my judgment, a carefully drawn, responsible alternative for welfare reform, H.R. 6004. My program, REACH (Rehabilitation, Employment Assistance and Child Care), provides for a new and major national day care program. It provides for priority treatment of employable welfare applicants under greatly expanded federal job training and placement programs. It makes a meaningful distinction between employable and unemployable persons, fully removing employable persons from the welfare system and giving them all the services and incentives necessary to guarantee them a real opportunity to be employed, to maintain their self-respect, and to become fully participating members of society.

I am convinced that Title IV of H.R. 1 is the wrong road for

I am convinced that Title IV of H.R. 1 is the wrong road for America, that its guaranteed annual income provision is dangerous and irreversible. With it in the bill, I must oppose the entire measure.

AL ULLMAN.

# Union Calendar No. 86

92D CONGRESS 1ST SESSION

# H. R. 1

[Report No. 92-231]

### IN THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

**JANUARY 22, 1971** 

Mr. Mills (for himself and Mr. Byrnes of Wisconsin) introduced the following bill; which was referred to the Committee on Ways and Means

May 26, 1971

Reported with amendments, committed to the Committee of the Whole House on the State of the Union, and ordered to be printed

[Strike out all after the enacting clause and insert the part printed in italic]

# A BILL

To amend the Social Security Act to provide increases in benefits, improve computation methods, and raise the earnings base under the OASDI program, to make improvements in the medicare, medicaid, and maternal and child health programs with emphasis on improvements in their operating effectiveness, to authorize a family assistance plan providing basic benefits to low-income families with children with incentives for employment and training to improve the capacity for employment of members of such families, to achieve more uniform treatment of recipients under the Federal-State public assistance programs and otherwise improve such programs, and for other purposes.

- 1 Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-
- 2 tives of the United States of America in Congress assembled,

- 1 That this Act, with the following table of contents, may be
- 2 cited as the "Social Security Amendments of 1971".

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

# -TITLE I—PROVISIONS RELATING TO OLD-AGE, SURVIVORS, AND DISABILITY INSURANCE

- Sec. 101. Increase in old age, survivors, and disability insurance benefits.
- Sec. 102. Increase in benefits for certain individuals age 72 and over.
- Sec. 103. Increased widow's and widower's insurance benefits.
- Sec. 104. Age 62 computation point for men.
- Sec. 105. Election to receive actuarially reduced benefits in one category not to be applicable to certain benefits in other categories.
- Sec. 106. Liberalization of earnings test.
- Sec. 107. Exclusion of certain carnings in year of attaining age 72.
- Sec. 108. Reduced benefits for widowers at age 60.
- Sec. 109. Entitlement to child's insurance benefits based on disability which began between 18 and 22.
- Sec. 110. Elimination of support requirement as condition of benefits for divorced and surviving divorced wives.
- Sec. 111. Elimination of disability insured status requirement of substantial recent covered work in cases of individuals who are blind.
- Sec. 112. Wage credits for members of the uniformed services.
- Sec. 113. Applications for disability insurance benefits filed after death of -insured individual.
- Sec. 114. Workmen's compensation offset for disability insurance beneficiaries.
- Sec. 115. Coverage of Federal Home Loan Bank employees.
- Sec. 116. Policemen and firemen in Idaho.
- Sec. 117. Coverage of certain hospital employees in New Mexico.
- Sec. 118. Penalty for furnishing false information to obtain social security account number.
- Sec. 119. Guarantee of no decrease in total family benefits.
- Sec. 120. Certain adoptions by disability and old-age insurance beneficiaries.
- Sec. 121. Increase of earnings counted for benefit and tax purposes.
- See. 122. Changes in tax schedules.
- Sec. 123. Allocation to disability insurance trust fund.

# THE H-PROVISIONS RELATING TO MEDICARE, MEDICARE, AND MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH

#### PART A COVERAGE UNDER MEDICARE PROGRAM

- Sec. 201. Payment under medicare program to individuals covered by Federal employees health benefits program.
- Sec. 202. Hospital-insurance benefits for uninsured individuals not eligible under present transitional provision.
- PART B IMPROVEMENTS IN THE OPERATING EFFECTIVENESS OF THE MEDI-CARE, MEDICAID, AND MATERNAL-AND CHILD HEALTH PROGRAMS
- Sec. 221. Limitation on Federal participation for capital expenditures.
- Sec. 222. Report on plan for prospective reimbursement; experiments and demonstration projects to develop incentives for economy in the provision of health services.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS—Continued

# 'PITLE II—PROVISIONS RELATING TO MEDICARE, MEDICARE, AND MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH—Continued

- PART B—IMPROVEMENTS IN THE OPERATING EFFECTIVENESS OF THE MEDI-CARE, MEDICAID, AND MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH PROGRAMS—Con.
- Sec. 223. Limitations on coverage of costs under medicare program.
- Sec. 221. Limits on prevailing charge levels.
- Sec. 225. Establishment of incentives for States to emphasize outpatient care under medicaid programs.
- Sec. 226. Payment for services of teaching physicians under medicare program.
- Sec. 227. Authority of Secretary to terminate payments to suppliers of services.
- Sec. 228. Elimination of requirement that States move toward comprehensive medicaid programs.
- Sec. 229. Determination of reasonable cost of inpatient hospital services under medicaid and maternal and child health programs.
- Sec. 230. Amount of payments where customary charges for services furnished are less than reasonable cost.
- Sec. 231. Institutional planning under medicare program.
- Sec. 232. Payments to States under-medicaid programs for installation and operation of claims processing and information retrieval systems.
- Sec. 233. Advance approval of extended care and home health coverage under medicare program.
- Sec. 234. Prohibition against reassignment of claims to benefits.
- Sec. 235. Utilization review requirements for hospitals and skilled nursing homes under medicaid and maternal and child health programs.
- Sec. 236. Elimination of requirement that cost sharing charges imposed on individuals other than each recipients under medicaid be related to their income.
- Sec. 287. Notification of unnecessary admission to a hospital or extended -care facility under medicare program.
- Sec. 238. Use of State health agency to perform certain functions under medicaid and maternal and child health programs.
- -Sec. 239. Payments to health maintenance organizations.

#### PART C - MISCELLANEOUS AND TECHNICAL PROVISIONS

- Sec. 251. Coverage prior to application for medical assistance.
- Sec. 252. Hospital admissions for dental services under medicare program.
- Sec. 252. Exemption of Christian Science sanatoriums from certain mirsing home requirements under medicaid programs.
- Sec. 254. Physical therapy services under medicare program.
- Sec. 255. Extension of grace period for termination of supplementary medical insurance coverage where failure to pay premiums is due to good cause.
- Sec. 256. Extension of time for filing claim for supplementary medical insurance benefits where delay is due to administrative error.
- Sec. 257. Waiver of enrollment period requirements where individual's rights were prejudiced by administrative error or inaction.
- Sec. 258. Elimination of provisions preventing enrollment in supplementary medical insurance program more than three years after first opportunity.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS Continued

# TITLE H-PROVISIONS RELATING TO MEDICARE, MEDICARE, AID, AND MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH—Continued

### PART C-MISCELLANEOUS AND TECHNICAL PROVISIONS Continued

- -Sec. 259. Waiver of recovery of incorrect payments from survivor who is without fault under medicare program.
- Sec. 260. Requirement of minimum amount of claim to establish entitlement to hearing under supplementary medical insurance program.
- Sec. 261. Collection of supplementary medical insurance premiums from individuals entitled to both social security and railroad retirement benefits.
- Sec. 262. Payment for certain inpatient hospital services furnished outside the United States.
- Sec. 263. Study of chiropractic coverage.
- Sec. 264. Miscellaneous technical and clerical amendments.

### TITLE III-FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN

Sec. 301. Establishment of family assistance plan.

### "PART D FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN

- "Sec. 441. Appropriations.
- "Sec. 442. Eligibility for and amount of family assistance benefits.
  - "(a) Eligibility.
  - "(b) Amount.
  - "(c) Period for determination of benefits.
  - "(d) Special limits on gross income.
  - "(e) Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam.

#### "Sec. 443. Income.

- "(a) Meaning of income.
- "(b) Exclusions from income.

#### "Sec. 444. Resources.

- "(a) Exclusions from resources.
- "(b) Disposition of resources.

### "Sec. 445. Meaning of family and child.

- "(a) Composition of family.
- "(b) Definition of child.
- "(e) Determination of family relationships.
- "(d) Income and resources of noncontributing indi-
- "(e) Recipients of aid to the aged, blind, and disabled ineligible.

### "Sec. 446. Payments and procedures.

- "(a) Payments of benefits.
- "(b) Overpayments and underpayments.
- "(e) Hearings and review.
- "(d) Procedures; prohibition of assignments.
- "(e) Applications and furnishing of information by fumilies:
- "(f) Furnishing of information by other agencies.
- "Sec. 447. Registration and referral of family members for manpower services, training, and employment.
- "Sec. 448. Denial of benefits in case of refusal of manpower services, training, or employment.
- "Sec. 449. Transfer of funds for on the job training programs.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS Continued

#### TITLE III-FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN Continued

- "PART E STATE SUPPLEMENTATION OF FAMILY ASSISTANCE BENEFITS
- "Sec. 451. Payments under titles IV, V, XVI, and XIX conditioned on supplementation.
- "Sec. 452. Eligibility for and amount of supplementary payments.
- "Sec. 453. Payments to States.
- "Sec. 454. Failure by State to comply with agreement.

#### "PART F ADMINISTRATION

- "Sec. 461. Agreements with States.
- "Sec. 462. Penalties for fraud.
- "Sec. 463. Report, evaluation, research and demonstrations, and training and technical assistance.
- "Sec. 464. Obligation of deserting parents.
- "Sec. 465. Treatment of family assistance benefits as income for food stamp purposes."
- Sec. 302. Manpower services, training, employment, child care, and supportive services programs.
  - "PART C MANPOWER SERVICES, TRAINING, EMPLOYMENT, AND CHILD CARE PROGRAMS FOR RECIPIENTS OF FAMILY ASSISTANCE BENEFITS OR SUPPLEMENTARY PAYMENTS
  - "Sec. 430. Purpose.
  - "See. 431. Operation of manpower services, training, and employment programs.
  - "Sec. 432. Allowances for individuals undergoing training.
  - "Sec. 433. Utilization of other programs.
  - "See. 434. Rules and regulations.
  - "Sec. 435. Appropriations; non-Federal share.
  - "Sec. 436. Child care.
  - "Sec. 437. Supportive services.
  - "Sec. 438. Advance funding.
  - "Sec. 439. Evaluation and research; reports to Congress."
- Sec. 303. Conforming amendments relating to assistance for needy families with children.
- Sec. 304. Changes in headings.

### TITLE IV—AID TO THE AGED, BLIND, AND DISABLED

#### PART A GRANTS TO STATES

- Sec. 401. Grants to States for aid to the aged, blind, and disabled.
  - "TITLE XVI GRANTS TO STATES FOR AID TO THE AGED, BLIND, AND DISABLED
  - "Sec. 1601. Appropriations.
  - "Sec. 1602. State plans for financial assistance and services to the aged, blind, and disabled.
  - "Sec. 1603. Determination of need,
  - "Sec. 1601. Payments to States for aid to the aged, blind, and dis-

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS—Continued

- "TITLE XVI-GRANTS TO STATES FOR AID TO THE AGED, BLIND, AND DISABLED Continued
- "Sec. 1605. Alternate provision for direct Federal payments to individuals.
- "Sec. 1606. Overpayments and underpayments.
- "Sec. 1607. Operation of State plans.
- "Sec. 1608. Payments to States for services and administration.
- "Sec. 1609. Computation of payments to States.
- "Sec. 1610. Definition."
- Sec. 402. Repeal of titles I, X, and XIV of the Social Security Act.
- Sec. 103. Additional disregarding of income of OASDI and railroad retirement recipients in determining need for aid to the aged, blind, and disabled.
- Sec. 404. Transition provision relating to overpayments and underpayments.
- Sec. 405. Transition provision relating to definitions of blindness and disability.

#### PART B- MISCELLANEOUS CONFORMING AMENDMENTS

- Sec. 411. Amendment to section 228(d).
- Sec. 412. Amendments to title XI.
- Sec.-413. Amendments to title XVIII.
- Sec. 414. Amendments to title XIX.

#### TITLE V GENERAL

- Sec. 501. Effective date for titles III and IV.
- Sec. 502. Saving provision.
- Sec. 503. Special provisions for Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam:
- Sec. 504. Meaning of Secretary and fiscal year.
- 1 TITLE I-PROVISIONS RELATING TO OLD-AGE.
- 2 SURVIVORS, AND DISABILITY INSURANCE
- 3 INCREASE IN OLD ACE, SURVIVORS, AND DISABILITY
- 4 INSURANCE BENEFITS
- 5 Sec. 101. (a) Section 215 (a) of the Social Security
- 6 Act is amended by striking out the table and inserting in lieu
- 7 thereof the following:

"TABLE FOR DETERMINING	PRIMARY	INSURANCE	AMOUNT	AND
MAXIMUM	FAMILY B	ENEFITS		

(Primary insurai 1939 Act, as	nce benefit under	II (Primary insurance amount under 1967 Act)	III (Average monthly wage)		(Primary insurance amount)	V (Maximum family benefits)
If an individual's penefit (as dete subsec. (	ermined under	Or his pri-	Or his average monthly wage (as determined under subsec. (b)) is—		The amount	And the maximum amount of benefits pay-
At least—	But not more than	mary insur- ance amount (as deter- mined under subsec. (c)) is—	At least—	But not more than—	to in the preceding paragraphs of this subsection shall be—	able (as pro- vided in sec. 203(a)) on the basis of his wages and self- employment income shall be—
\$16. 21 16. 85 17. 61 18. 41 19. 25 20. 01 20. 65 21. 29 22. 29 22. 69 23. 45 23. 47 24. 21 24. 61 25. 49 25. 89 26. 41 26. 95 27. 47 28. 01 28. 69 29. 26 29. 26 29. 30 31. 37 30. 93 31. 37 32. 01 32. 61 33. 21 33. 89 34. 51 35. 01 35. 81 36. 41 37. 09 37. 61 38. 21 39. 63 40. 34 41. 77 42. 45 44. 89	\$16. 20 16. 84 17. 60 18. 40 19. 24 20. 00 20. 64 21. 28 21. 28 22. 68 23. 44 23. 76 24. 60 25. 40 25. 40 26. 94 27. 46 28. 68 29. 68 30. 32 30. 92 31. 36 32. 00 33. 88 34. 50 35. 80 36. 40 37. 60 38. 20 37. 60 38. 20 39. 12 39. 68 30. 32 41. 12 41. 76 42. 44 43. 20 44. 44 44. 88 45. 60	1 \$64. 00 65. 40 67. 70 68. 90 70. 30 71. 60 72. 80 74. 20 75. 80 78. 80 89. 80 82. 30 83. 50 84. 90 89. 60 91. 90 96. 20 97. 60 98. 80 90. 60 91. 90 100. 30 101. 70 103. 60 110. 80 111. 40 112. 70 114. 20 115. 60 116. 90 118. 40 119. 80 122. 50 123. 30 126. 70 128. 70 128. 70 129. 50 130. 80 131. 90 132. 30 133. 70 136. 40 137. 80 139. 20 140. 60 141. 60 148. 90 149. 50 140. 60 155. 90 155. 90 155. 90 155. 90 155. 90 155. 90 155. 90 155. 90 155. 90 155. 90 155. 90 155. 90 156. 80 166. 80 167. 70 173. 90 174. 70 175. 90 1773. 90 1773. 90 1773. 90 1773. 90 1773. 90 1773. 90 1773. 90 1773. 90 1773. 90 1773. 90 1773. 90 1773. 90 1775. 40 176. 70	\$77 79 81 82 84 86 88 90 91 93 95 97 98 100 102 103 105 107 108 1110 114 119 123 128 133 137 142 147 151 156 161 165 170 175 179 184 198 194 198 203 208 212 217 222 226 231 138 240 245 259 264 268 273 278 282 287 296 301 306 310 315 320 324 329 334 3348 343 348 343 348 343 348 343 348 348	\$76 78 80 81 81 83 85 87 89 90 92 94 96 97 99 101 102 104 106 107 109 113 118 112 122 127 132 136 141 146 150 155 160 164 174 178 183 188 193 197 200 221 216 221 225 230 235 244 249 249 249 249 249 249 249 249 249	\$70. 40 71. 50 73. 10 74. 50 75. 80 77. 40 78. 80 80. 10 81. 70 83. 10 84. 50 85. 80 89. 90 90. 60 91. 90 93. 40 91. 90 93. 40 91. 10 101. 10 104. 20 105. 90 107. 30 108. 70 101. 10 111. 90 113. 30 116. 40 111. 90 113. 30 116. 40 119. 50 121. 50 124. 50 124. 50 125. 70 127. 20 128. 60 129. 70 120. 120. 120. 120. 120. 120. 120. 120.	\$106. 60 107. 30 109. 70 111. 80 113. 70 111. 81 113. 70 116. 10 118. 20 122. 60 124. 70 126. 80 128. 70 131. 10 133. 40 135. 90 137. 90 140. 10 141. 90 147. 30 149. 60 151. 70 144. 90 147. 30 149. 60 151. 70 144. 90 157. 90 177. 00 179. 30 181. 50 167. 90 170. 20 170.

"TABLE FOR DETERMINING PRIMARY INSURANCE AMOUNT AND MAXIMUM FAMILY BENEFITS

	"I rance benefits under ,, as modified)	(Primary insurance amount under 1967 Act)	(Average monthly wage) (Primary insurance amount)		V (Maximum family benefits)	
If an individual benefit (as dete (d)) is—	's primary insurance rmined under subsec.	Or his primary	Or his average monthly wage (as determined under subsec. (b)) is—		The amount referred to	And the maximum amount of benefits
At least—	But not more than—	insurance amount (as determined under subsec. (c)) is—	At least—	But not more than—	in the preceding paragraphs of this subsection shall be—	payable (as provided in sec. 203(a)) on the basis of his wages and self- employment income shall be—
		\$178. 20 179. 40 180. 70 182. 00 183. 40 184. 60 185. 90 187. 30 188. 50 189. 80 191. 20 195. 00 196. 40 197. 60 198. 90 200. 30 201. 50 202. 80 204. 20 205. 40 206. 70 208. 00 211. 90 211. 90 211. 90 213. 30 214. 50 215. 80 227. 20 228. 90 229. 80 224. 30 226. 60 227. 70 228. 90 230. 00 231. 30 233. 50 234. 60 235. 80 236. 80 237. 70 248. 80 249. 60 247. 30 248. 80 249. 60 249. 60 250. 70	\$404 408 413 418 422 427 432 437 441 451 455 465 465 474 479 483 488 493 497 502 511 516 521 525 535 539 544 549 557 561 568 575 568 575 575 575 575 575 578 589 590 603 610 611 621 622 633 634 645 646 659 669 679 684 669 679 684 669 679 684 669 679 684 679 684 679 684 679 684 679 684 679 684 679 684 679 679 684 679 679 684 679 679 684 679 679 684 679 679 684 679 679 684 679 679 684 679 679 684 679 679 684 679 679 684 679 679 679 679 679 679 679 679	\$407 412 417 421 426 431 436 431 436 440 445 450 454 459 464 468 473 478 482 496 501 506 515 520 524 529 534 538 543 5536 560 563 567 570 577 581 584 588 591 595 602 606 602 603 603 603 603 603 603 603 603 603 603	\$196. 10 197. 40 198. 80 200. 20 201. 190 203. 10 204. 50 206. 10 207. 40 210. 40 211. 70 213. 10 214. 50 216. 10 217. 40 218. 80 220. 40 221. 70 228. 80 220. 40 221. 70 228. 80 230. 30 231. 70 228. 80 230. 30 231. 70 228. 80 230. 30 231. 70 236. 00 237. 40 239. 00 241. 70 242. 90 244. 50 246. 80 249. 30 255. 60 256. 60 257. 80 258. 10 259. 40 255. 60 256. 50 256. 50 256. 50 257. 00 258. 10 259. 40 259. 60 257. 80 257. 80 279. 80 279.	\$325. 60 329. 60 329. 60 333. 60 3340. 80 344. 80 344. 80 344. 80 355. 40 356. 00 361. 60 365. 60 367. 20 371. 20 372. 80 371. 20 372. 80 374. 80 375. 40 388. 40 388. 40 388. 60 388. 60 389. 60 381. 60 381. 60 381. 60 381. 60 382. 40 383. 60 383. 60 383. 60 384. 60 385. 60 387. 20 388. 40 388. 60 389. 60 401. 20 405. 20 405. 20 406. 80 407. 60 411. 60 442. 60 443. 60 445. 60 447. 60 447. 60 447. 60 447. 60 447. 60 447. 60 447. 60 447. 60 447. 60 447. 60

1	(b) Section 203 (a) of such Act is amended by striking
2	out paragraph (2) and inserting in lieu thereof the following:
3	"(2) when two or more persons were entitled
4	(without the application of section 202 (j) (1) and
5	section 223 (b) ) to monthly benefits under section 202
6	or 223 for the fourth month after the month in which
7	the Social Security Amendments of 1971 were enacted
8	on the basis of the wages and self-employment income
9	of such insured individual and at least one such person
10	was so entitled for the month prior to such fourth month
11	on the basis of such wages and self-employment income,
12	such total of benefits for January 1971 or any sub-
13	sequent month shall not be reduced to less than the
14	larger of -
15	"(A) the amount determined under this sub-
16	section without regard to this paragraph, or
17	"(B) an amount equal to the sum of the
18	amounts derived by multiplying the benefit amount
19	determined under this title (including this sub-
20	section, but without the application of section 222
21	(b), section 202 (q), and subsections (b), (c)
22	and (d) of this section), as in effect prior to the
23	enactment of the Social Security Amendments of
24	1971, for each such person for such month, by 116
25	percent and raising each such increased amount, i

1	it is not a multiple of \$0.10, to the next higher
2	multiple of \$0.10;
3	but in any such case (i) paragraph (1) of this subsec-
4	tion shall not be applied to such total of benefits after the
5	application of subparagraph (B), and (ii) if section
6	202 (k) (2) (A) was applicable in the case of any such
7	benefits for January 1971, and ecases to apply after
8	-such month, the provisions of subparagraph (B) shall
9	be applied, for and after the month in which section
10	202 (k) (2) (A) ceases to apply, as though paragraph
11	(1) had not been applicable to such total of benefits for
12	January 1971, or".
13	(e) Section 215 (b) (4) of such Act is amended by
14	striking out "December 1969" each time it appears and
15	inserting in lieu-thereof "December 1970".
16	(d) Section 215 (c) of such Act is amended to read as
17	follows:
18	"Primary Insurance Amount Under 1969 Act
19	"(e) (1) For the purposes of column II of the table
20	appearing in subsection (a) of this section, an individual's
21	primary insurance amount shall be computed on the basis of
22	the law in effect prior to the enactment of the Social Security
23	Amendments of 1971.
24	"19) The previous of this subsection shall be applicable

-only in the case of an individual who became entitled to bene-

- 1 fits under section 202 (a) or section 223 before January
- 2 1971, or who died before such month."
- 3 (e) The amendments made by this section shall apply
- 4 with respect to monthly benefits under title II of the Social
- 5 Security Act for months after December 1970 and with re-
- 6 spect to lump-sum death payments under such title in the
- 7 case of deaths occurring after December 1970.
- 8 (f) If an individual was entitled to a disability insur-
- 9 ance benefit under section 223 of the Social Security Act
- 10 for December 1970 and became entitled to old-age insurance
- 11 benefits under section 202 (a) of such Act for January 1971,
- 12 or he died in such month, then, for purposes of section 215
- 13 (a) (4) of the Social Security Act (if applicable), the
- 14 amount in column IV of the table appearing in such section
- 15 215 (a) for such individual shall be the amount in such col-
- 16 umn on the line on which in column II appears his primary
- 17 insurance amount (as determined under section 215 (c) of
- 18 such Act) instead of the amount in column IV equal to the
- 19 primary insurance amount on which his disability insurance
- 20 benefit is based.
- 21 INCREASE IN BENEFITS FOR CERTAIN INDIVIDUALS
- 22 ACE 72 AND OVER
- SEC. 102. (a) (1) Section 227 (a) of the Social Secu-
- 24 rity Act is amended by striking out "\$46" and inserting
- lieu thereof "\$50.60", and by striking out "\$23" and in-
- serting in lieu thereof "\$25.30".

1	(2) Section 227 (b) of such Act is amended by striking
2	out "\$46" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$50.60".
3	(b) (1) Section 228 (b) (1) of such Act is amended by
4	striking out "\$46" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$50.60".
5	(2) Section 228 (b) (2) of such Act is amended by
6	striking out "\$46" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$50.60",
7	and by striking out "\$23" and inserting in lieu thereof
8	" <del>\$25.30".</del>
9	(3) Section 228 (c) (2) of such Act is amended by
10	striking out "\$23" and inserting in lieu theroof "\$25.30".
11	(4) Section 228 (c) (3) (A) of such Act is amended
12	by striking out "\$46" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$50.60".
13	(5) Section 228 (c) (3) (B) of such Act is amended
14	by striking out "\$23" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$25.30".
15	(c) The amendments made by subsections (a) and (b)
16	shall apply with respect to monthly benefits under title II
17	of the Social Security Act for months after December 1970.
18	INCREASED WIDOW'S AND WIDOWER'S INSURANCE
19	-Benefițs
20	SEC. 103. (a) Section 202 (c) of the Social Security
21	Act is amended—
22	(1) by striking out "82½ percent of" wherever it
23	appears in paragraphs (1) and (2);
24	(2) by striking out "entitled, after attainment of
25	age 62, to wife's insurance benefits," in subparagraph

(C) (i) of paragraph (i) and inserting in lieu-thereof 1 "entitled to wife's insurance benefits and (I) has at- $\mathbf{2}$ tained age 65 or (II) is not entitled to benefits under 3 subsection (a) or section 223,"; and 4 (3) by striking out "age 62" in subparagraph 5 (C) (ii) of paragraph (1), and in the matter following 6 subparagraph (G) in paragraph (1), and inserting in 7 lieu thereof in each instance "age 65": 8 (b) Section 202 (f) of such Act is amended— 9 (1) by striking out "82½ percent of" wherever it 10 appears in paragraphs (1) and (3); 11 (2) by striking out "husband's insurance benefits," 12 in paragraph (1) (C) and inserting in lieu thereof 13 "husband's insurance benefits and (I) has attained age 14 65 and (II) is not entitled to benefits under subsection 15 (a) or section 223,"; and 16 (3) by striking out "age 62" in the matter follow-17 ing subparagraph (G) in paragraph (1) and inserting 18 19 in lieu thereof "age 65". 20 (e) (1) The last sentence of section 203 (e) of such Act 21is amended by striking out all that follows the semicolon and 22inserting in lieu thereof the following: "nor shall any de-23 duction be made under this subsection from any widow's 24 insurance benefit for any month in which the widow or sur-

viving divorced wife is entitled and has not attained age 65

25

- 1 (but only if she became so entitled prior to attaining age
- 2 60), or from any widower's insurance benefit for any month
- 3 in which the widower is entitled and has not attained age 65
- 4 (but only if he became so entitled prior to attaining age
- 5 62)."
- 6 (2) Clause (D) of section 203 (f) (1) of such Act is
- 7 amended to read as follows: "(D) for which such individual
- 8 is entitled to widow's insurance benefits and has not attained
- 9 age 65 (but only if she became so entitled prior to attaining
- 10 age 60), or widower's insurance benefits and has not attained
- 11 age 65 (but only if he became so entitled prior to attain-
- 12 ing age 62), or".
- 13 (d) (1) Section 202 (q) (1) of such Act is amended to
- 14 read as follows:
- 15 "(1) If the first month for which an individual is
- 16 entitled to an old age, wife's, husband's, widow's, or
- widower's insurance benefit is a month before the month in
- which such individual attains retirement age, the amount of
- 19 such benefit for such month and for any subsequent month
- 20 shall, subject to the succeeding paragraphs of this subsection,
- 21 be reduced by—
- 22 "(A) % of 1 percent of such amount if such benefit
- is an old age insurance benefit, <sup>25</sup>/<sub>36</sub> of 1 percent of such
- 2.4 amount if such benefit is a wife's or husband's insurance
- benefit, or 57/120 of 1 percent of such amount if such

1	benefit is a widow's or widower's insurance benefit,
2	multiplied by —
3	"(B) (i) the number of months in the reduction
4	period for such benefit (determined under paragraph
5	(6) (A)), if such benefit is for a month before the
6	month in which such individual attains retirement age, or
7	"(ii) if less, the number of such months in the
8	adjusted reduction period for such benefit (determined
9	under parargaph (7)), if such benefit is (1) for the
10	month in which such individual attains age 62, or
11	(II) for the month in which such individual attains
12	retirement age;
13	and in the case of a widow or widower whose first month of
14	entitlement to a widow's or widower's insurance benefit is a
15	month before the month in which such widow or widower at-
16	tains age 60, such benefit, reduced pursuant to the preced-
17	ing provisions of this paragraph (and before the application
18	of the second sentence of paragraph (8)), shall be further
19	reduced by
20	"(C) 43/240 of 1 percent of the amount of such
21	benefit, multipled by
22	"(D) (i) the number of months in the additional
23	reduction period for such benefit (determined under
24	paragraph (6) (B)), if such benefit is for a month before
25	the month in which such individual attains age 62, or

l	"(ii) if less, the number of months in the additional
2	adjusted reduction period for such benefit (determined
3	under paragraph (7)), if such benefit is for the month
4	in which such individual attains age 62."
5	(2) Section 202 (q) (7) of such Act is amended—
6	(A) by striking out everything that precedes sub-
7	paragraph (A) and inserting in lieu thereof the fol-
8	lowing:
9	"(7) For purposes of this subsection the 'adjusted re-
10	duction period' for an individual's old-age, wife's, husband's,
11	widow's, or widower's insurance benefit is the reduction
12	-period prescribed in paragraph (6) (A) for such benefit,
13	and the 'additional adjusted reduction period' for an indi-
14	vidual's widow's, or widower's insurance benefit is the
15	additional reduction period prescribed by paragraph (6)
16	(B) for such benefit, excluding from each such period—";
17	<del>-and</del>
18	(B) by striking out "attained retirement age" in
19	subparagraph (E) and inserting in lieu thereof "attained
20	age 62, and also for any month before the month in
21	which he attained retirement age,".
22	(3) Section 202 (q) (9) of such Act is amended to
23	read as follows:
24	"(9) For purposes of this subsection, the term 'retire-

ment age' means age 65."

(e) Section 202 (m) of such Act is amended to read 1 as follows: 2 "Minimum Survivor's Benefit 3 "(m) (1) In any case in which an individual is entitled 4 to a monthly benefit under this section (other than under subsection (a)) for any month and no other person is (without the application of subsection (j) (1) and section 223 (b) entitled to a monthly benefit under this section or section 223 for such month on the basis of the same wages and self-employment income, such individual's benefit amount for such month, prior to reduction under subsection (k) (3), shall be not less than the first amount appearing in column 13 IV of the table in section 215 (a), except as provided in 14 paragraph (2). "(2) In the case of such an individual who is entitled 15 to a monthly benefit under subsection (e) or (f), such benefit amount, after reduction under subsection (q) (1), shall not be less than the amount it would be under paragraph (1) if retirement age, as specified in paragraph 20 (6) (A) (ii) of subsection (q), were age 62 rather than retirement age as defined in paragraph (9) of such subsection." 22 (f) In the case of an individual who is entitled to widow's or widower's insurance benefits for the month of December 1971, the Secretary shall redetermine the amount

- 1 of such benefits under title II of the Social Security Act as if the amendments made by this section had been in effect for the first month of such individual's entitlement to such benefits. (g) Where 5 (1) two or more persons are entitled (without 6 the application of section 202 (j) (1) of the Social Se-7 curity Act) to monthly benefits under section 202 of 8 such Act for December 1971 on the basis of the wages 9 -and self-employment income of a deceased individual, 10 -and one or more of such persons is so entitled under 11 subsection (e) or (f) of such section 202, and 12 (2) one or more of such persons is entitled on the 13 basis of such wages and self-employment income to 14 monthly benefits under subsection (e) or (f) of such 15 section 202 (as amended by this section) for January 16 17 <del>1972, and</del> (3) the total of benefits to which all persons are 18 19 entitled under section 202 of such Act on the basis of 20 such wages and self-employment income for January 21 1972 is reduced by reason of section 203 (a) of such Act, as amended by this Act (or would, but for the 22 penultimate sentence of such section 203 (a), be so 23
- 25 then the amount of the benefit to which each such person-

24

reduced),

- 1 referred to in paragraph (1) is entitled for months after
- 2 December 1971 shall in no case be less after the application of
- 3 this section and such section 203 (a) than the amount it
- 4 would have been without the application of this section.
- 5 (h) The amendments made by this section shall apply
- 6 with respect to monthly benefits under title II of the Social
- 7 Security Act for months after December 1971.
- 8 AGE 62 COMPUTATION POINT FOR MEN
- 9 SEC. 104. (a) Section 214 (a) (1) of the Social Security
- 10 Act is amended by striking out "before" and all that
- 11 follows down through "except" and inserting in lieu thereof
- 12 "before the year in which he died or (if earlier) the year
- 13 in which he attained age 62, except".
- 14 (b) Section 215 (b) (3) of such Act is amended by
- 15 striking out "before" and all that follows down through
- 16 "For" and inserting in lieu-thereof "before the year in
- 17 which he died or, if it occurred earlier but after 1960, the
- 18 year in which he attained age 62. For".
- 19 (c) In the case of an individual who is entitled to-
- 20 monthly benefits under section 202 or 223 of the Social
- 21 Security Act for a month after December 1971, on the basis
- 22 of the wages and self-employment income of an insured indi-
- 23 vidual who prior to January 1972 became entitled to benefits
- under section 202 (a), or who prior to January 1972 became
- entitled to benefits under section 223 after the year in which

1	he attained age 62, or who died prior to January 1972 in
2	a year after the year in which he attained age 62, the Sec-
3	retary shall, notwithstanding paragraphs (1) and (2) of
4	section 215 (f) of such Act, recompute the primary insur-
5	ance amount of such insured individual. Such recomputation
6	shall be made under whichever of the following alternative
7	computation methods yields the higher primary insurance
8	amount:
9	(1) the computation methods in section 215 (b)
10	and (d) of such Act, as amended by this Act, as such
11	methods would apply in the case of an insured individual
12	who attained age 62 in 1972, except that the provisions
13	of section 215 (d) (3) of such Act shall not apply; or
14	(2) the computation methods specified in paragraph
15	(1) without regard to the limitation "but after 1960"
16	contained in section 215 (b) (3) of such Act, except that
17	for any such recomputation, when the number of an
18	individual's benefit computation years is less than 5,
19	his average monthly wage shall, if it is in excess of
20	\$400, be reduced to such amount.
21	(d) Section 223 (a) (2) of such Act is amended—
22	(1) by striking out "(if a woman) or age 65 (if
23	-a-man) ",
24	(2) by striking out "in the case of a woman" and

```
inserting in lieu thereof "in the case of an individual",
1
2
       and
            (3) by striking out "she" and inserting in lieu-
3
       thereof "he"
4
5
       (e) Section 223 (c) (1) (A) of such Act is amended
   by striking out "(if a woman) or age 65 (if a man)".
7
      (f) Section 227 (a) of such Act is amended by striking
   out "so much of paragraph (1) of section 214 (a) as follows
   clause (C)" and inserting in lieu thereof "paragraph (1) of
10
   section 214 (a)".
11
        (g) Section 227 (b) of such Act is amended by striking
   out "so much of paragraph (1) thereof as follows clause
13
    (C)" and inserting in lieu thereof "paragraph (1) thereof".
14
        (h) Sections 209 (i), 213 (a) (2), and 216 (i) (3) (A).
15
   of such Act are amended by striking out "(if a woman) or
16
   age 65 (if a man)".
17
        (i) (1) Section 303 (g) (1) of the Social Security
18
    Amendments of 1960 is amended
19
            (A) by striking out "Amendments of 1965 and
20
        1967" and inserting in lieu thereof "Amendments of
21
        1965, 1967, 1969, and 1971";
22
            (B) by striking out "Amendments of 1967"
23
        wherever it appears and inserting in lieu thereof
24
        "Amendments of 1971"; and
```

(C) by inserting "(subject to section 104 (i) (2) 1 of the Social Security Amendments of 1971)" after 2 "except that" in the last sentence. 3 (2) For purposes of monthly benefits payable after 4 December 1970, or a lump-sum death payment in the ease of an insured individual who dies after December 1971, "retirement age" as referred to in section 303 (g) (1) of the Social Security Amendments of 1960 shall mean age 9 - 62(i) Paragraph (9) of section 3121 (a) of the Internal 10 Revenue Code of 1954 (relating to definition of wages) is 11 amended to read as follows: 12 "(9) any payment (other than vacation or sick 13 -pay) made to an employee after the month in which he 14 15 attains age 62, if such employee did not work for the employer in the period for which such payment is 16 17 -made:". (k) When two or more persons are entitled (without 18 the application of sections 202 (j) (1) and 223 (b) of the 19 Social Security Act) to monthly benefits under section 202 20 or 223 of such Act for December 1971, on the basis of the 21wages and self-employment-income of an insured individual, 2223 and the total of benefits for such persons is reduced under 24 section 203 (a) of such Act (or would, but for the penulti-

mate sentence of such section 203 (a), be so reduced) for the

- 1 month of January 1972 and such individual's primary insur-
- 2 ance amount is increased for such month under the amend-
- 3 ments made by this section, then the total of benefits for such
- 4 persons for and after January 1972 shall not be reduced to
- 5 less than the sum of
- 6 (1) the amount determined under section 203 (a)
- 7 (2) of such Act for January 1972 prior to the appli-
- 8 cation of this section, and
- 9 (2) an amount equal to the excess of (A) such 10 individual's primary insurance amount for January 1972,
- 11 as determined under section 215 of such Act (as
- 12 amended by section 101 of this Act) and in accord-
- ance with the amendments made by this section, over
- 14 (B) his primary insurance amount for January 1972
- as determined under such section 215 without regard to
- 16 this section.
- 17 (1) The amendments made by this section shall apply
- 18 with respect to monthly benefits under title II of the Social
- 19 Security Act for months after December 1971 and with
- 20 respect to lump sum death payments made under such title
- 21 in the case of deaths occurring after December 1971, except
- 22 that in the case of an individual who was not entitled to-a
- 23 monthly benefit under title II of such Act for December
- 24 1971 such amendments shall apply only on the basis of an
- 25 application filed in or after the month in which this Act

- 1 is enacted. The amendments made by subsection (h), as it
- 2 applies to section 209 (i) of such Act, and by subsection
- 3 (j), shall apply only with respect to payments made after
- 4 December 1971.
- 5 ELECTION TO RECEIVE ACTUARIALLY REDUCED BENEFITS
- 6 IN ONE CATEGORY NOT TO BE APPLICABLE TO CERTAIN
- 7 BENEFITS IN OTHER CATEGORIES
- 8 SEC. 105. (a) (1) Section 202 (q) (3) (A) of the
- 9 Social Security Act is amended by striking out all that fol-
- 10 lows clause (ii) and inserting in lieu thereof the following:
- 11 "then (subject to the succeeding paragraphs of this sub-
- section) such wife's, husband's, widow's, or widower's in-
- surance benefit for each month shall be reduced as provided
- in subparagraph (B), (C), or (D) of this paragraph, in
- lieu of any reduction under paragraph (1), if the amount of
- the reduction in such benefit under this paragraph is less than
- the amount of the reduction in such benefit would be under
- 18 paragraph (1)."
- 19 (2) Section 202 (q) (3) of such Act is further amended
- 20 by striking out subparagraphs (E), (F), and (G).
- (b) Section 202 (r) of such Act is repealed.
- (c) (1) (A) Subject to subparagraph (B), subsection
- 23 (a) of this section and the amendments made thereby shall
- 24 apply with respect to benefits for months commencing with
- 25 the sixth month after the month in which this Act is enacted.

1 (B) Subsection (a) of this section and the amendments made thereby shall apply in the case of an individual whose entitlement to benefits under section 202 of the Social Security Act began (without regard to sections 202 (i) (1) and 223 (b) of such Act) before the sixth month after the month in which this Act is enacted only if such individual files with the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare, in such manner and form as the Secretary shall by regulations prescribe, a written request that such subsection and suchamendments apply. In the case of such an individual who is described in paragraph (2) (A) (i) of this subsection, the request for a redetermination under paragraph (2) shall con-**1**3 stitute the request required by this subparagraph, and sub-14 section (a) of this section and the amendments made thereby 15 shall apply pursuant to such request with respect to such 16 individual's benefits as redetermined in accordance with 17 paragraph (2) (B) (i) (but only if he does not refuse to 18 accept such redetermination). In the case of any individual 19 with respect to whose benefits subsection (a) of this section and the amendments made thereby may apply only pursuant 21 to a request made under this subparagraph, such subsection 22 and such amendments shall be effective (subject to para-23 graph (2) (D)) with respect to benefits for months com-24 meneing with the sixth month after the month in which this **25**. Act is enacted or, if the request required by this subpara-

- 1 graph is not filed before the end of such sixth month, with
- 2 the second month following the month in which the request is
- 3 filed.
- 4 (C) Subsection (b) of this section shall apply with
- 5 respect to benefits payable pursuant to applications filed on
- 6 or after the date of the enactment of this Act.
- 7 (2) (A) In any case where an individual—
- 8 (i) is entitled, for the fifth month following the
- 9 month in which this Act is enacted, to a monthly in-
- surance benefit under section 202 of the Social Security-
- 11 Act (I) which was reduced under subsection (q) (3) of
- such section, and (II) the application for which was
- deemed (or, except for the fact that an application had
- 14 been filed, would have been deemed) to have been filed
- by such individual under subsection (r) (1) or (2) of
- such section, and
- 17 (ii) files a written request for a redetermination
- 18 under this subsection, on or after the date of the enact-
- ment of this Act and in such manner and form as the.
- Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare shall by
- 21 regulations prescribe,
- 22 the Secretary shall redetermine the amount of such benefit,
- 23 and the amount of the other benefit (reduced under subsec-
- 24 tion (q) (1) or (2) of such section) which was taken into
- 25 account in computing the reduction in such benefit under such

1	subsection (q) (3), in the manner provided in subparagraph
2	(B) of this paragraph.
3	(B) Upon receiving a written request for the redeter-
4	mination under this paragraph of a benefit which was reduced
5	under subsection (q) (3) of section 202 of the Social Se-
6	curity Act and of the other benefit which was taken into ac-
7	count in computing such reduction, filed by an individual as
8	provided in subparagraph (A) of this paragraph, the Sec-
9	retary shall—
10	(i) determine the highest monthly benefit amount
11	which such individual could receive under the sub-
12	sections of such section 202 which are involved (or
13	under section 223 of such Act and the subsection of
14	such section 202 which is involved) for the month
15	with which the redetermination is to be effective under
16	subparagraph (D) of this subsection (without regard
17	to sections 202 (k), 203 (a), and 203 (b) through (l))
18	<del>if -</del>
19	(I) such individual's application for one of
20	such two benefits had been filed in the month in
21	which it was actually filed or was deemed under
22	subsection (r) of such section 202 to have been
23	filed, and his application for the other such benefit
24	had been filed in a later month and

(II) the amendments made by this section-

1	had been in effect at the time each such application
<b>2</b>	was filed: and

(ii) determine whether the amounts which were actually received by such individual in the form of such two benefits during the period prior to the month with which the redetermination under this paragraph is to be effective were in excess of the amounts which would have been received during such period if the applications for such benefits had actually been filed at the times fixed under clause (i) (I) of this subparagraph, and, if so, the total amount by which benefits otherwise payable to such individual under such section 202 (and section 223) would have to be reduced in order to compensate the Federal Old Age and Survivors Insurance Trust Fund (and the Federal Disability Insurance

(C) The Secretary shall then notify such individual of the amount of each such benefit as computed in accordance with the amendments made by subsections (a) and (b) of this section and as redetermined in accordance with subparagraph (B) (i) of this paragraph, specifying (i) the amount (if any) of the excess determined under subparagraph (B) (ii) of this paragraph, and (ii) the period during which payment of any increase in such individual's benefits resulting from the application of the amendments made by

- 1 subsections (a) and (b) of this section would under desig-
- 2 nated circumstances have to be withheld in order to effect the
- 3 reduction described in subparagraph (B) (ii). Such indi-
- 4 vidual may at any time within thirty days after such notifica-
- 5 tion is mailed to him refuse (in such manner and form as the
- 6 secretary shall by regulations prescribed) to accept the
- 7 redetermination under this paragraph.
- 8 (D) Unless the last sentence of subparagraph (C)
- 9 applies, a redetermination under this paragraph shall be
- 10 effective (but subject to the reduction described in subpara-
- 11 graph (B) (ii) over the period-specified pursuant to clause
- 12 (ii) of the first sentence of subparagraph (C)) beginning
- with the sixth month following the month in which this Act
- 14 is enacted, or, if the request for such redetermination is not-
- 15 filed before the end of such sixth month, with the second-
- 16 month following the month in which the request for such
- 17 redetermination is filed.
- 18 (E) The Secretary by withholding amounts from bene-
- 19 fits otherwise payable to an individual under title II of the
- 20 Social Security Act as specified in clause (ii) of the first sen-
- $^{21}$  tence of subparagraph (C) (and in no other manner), shall
- 22 recover the amounts necessary to compensate the Federal
- 23 Old-Age and Survivors Insurance Trust Fund (and the Fed-
- 24 cral Disability Insurance Trust Fund) for the excess (de-
- 25 scribed in subparagraph (B) (ii) attributable to benefits

1 which were paid such individual and to which a redetermina

2 tion under this subsection applies.

(d) Where—

(1) two or more persons are entitled on the basis of the wages and self employment income of an individual (without the application of sections 202 (j) (1) and 223 (b) of the Social Security Act) to monthly benefits under section 202 of such Act for the month preceding the month with which (Λ) a redetermination under subsection (c) of this section becomes effective with respect to the benefits of any one of them and (B) such benefits are accordingly increased by reason of the amendments made by subsections (a) and (b) of this section, and

entitled under such section 202 on the basis of such wages and self employment income for the month with which such redetermination and increase becomes effective is reduced by reason of section 203 (a) of such Act as amended by this Act (or would, but for the penultimate sentence of such section 203 (a), be so reduced), then the amount of the benefit to which each of the persons referred to in paragraph (1), other than the person with respect to whose benefits such redetermination and increase is applicable, is entitled for months beginning with the month

- 1 with which such redetermination and increase becomes effec-
- 2 tive shall be adjusted, after the application of such section
- 3 203 (a), to an amount no less than the amount it would have
- 4 been if such redetermination and increase had not become
- 5 effective.
- 6 LIBERALIZATION OF EARNINGS TEST
- 7 SEC. 106. (a) (1) Paragraphs (1), (3), and (4)
- 8 (B) of section 203 (f) of the Social Security Act are each
- 9 amended by striking out "\$140" and inserting in lieu thereof
- 10 "\$166.662".
- 11 (2) Paragraph (1) (A) of section, 203 (h) of such
- 12 Act is amended by striking out "\$140" and inserting in
- 13 lieu thereof "\$166.662".
- 14 (b) The amendments made by subsection (a) shall
- 15 apply with respect to taxable years ending after December
- 16 <del>1971</del>.
- 17 EXCLUSION OF CERTAIN EARNINGS IN YEAR OF
- 18 ATTAINING AGE 72
- 19 SEC. 107. (a) The first sentence of section 203 (f) (3)
- 20 of the Social Security Act is amended by inserting "(A)"
- 21 after "except that", and by inserting before the period at the
- 22 end thereof the following: ", and (B) in determining an
- 23 individual's excess earnings for the taxable year in which
- 24 he attains age 72, there shall be excluded any earnings of
- 25 such individual for the month in which he attains such -

1	age and any subsequent month (with any net earnings
2	or net loss from self-employment in such year being prorated
3	in an equitable manner under regulations of the Sceretary) ".
4	(b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall
5	apply with respect to taxable years ending after December
6	<del>1971.</del>
7	REDUCED BENEFITS FOR WIDOWERS AT AGE 60
8	SEC. 108. (a) Section 202 (f) of the Social Security
9	Act (as amended by section 103 (b) of this Act) is fur-
10	ther amended
11	(1) by striking out "age 62" each place it appears
12	in subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1) and in para-
13	graph (6) and inserting in lieu thereof "age 60";
14	(2) by striking out "or the third month" in the
15	matter following subparagraph (G) in paragraph (1)
16	and inserting in lieu thereof "or, if he became entitled
17	to such benefits before he attained age 60, the third
18	month"; and
19	(3) by striking out "the age of 62" in paragraph
20	(5) and inserting in lieu thereof "the age of 60".
21	(b) (1) The last sentence of section 203 (c) of such
22	Act (as amended by section 100 (0) (1) of this 2200)
23	Hurther amended by striking out ago 02 and more-s
24	Hell thereon age ov.
25	(2) Clause (D) of section 203 (f) (1) of such Act (as

- 1 amended by section 103 (c) (2) of this Act) is further
- <sup>2</sup> amended by striking out "age 62" and inserting in lieu
- 3 thereof "age 60".
- 4 (3) Section 222 (b) (1) of such Act is amended by
- 5 striking out "a widow or surviving divorced wife who has
- 6 not attained age 60, a widower who has not attained age
- 7 62" and inserting in lieu thereof "a widow, widower or
- 8 surviving divorced wife who has not attained age 60".
- 9 (4) Section 222 (d) (1) (D) of such Act is amended
- by striking out "age 62" each place it appears and inserting
- 11 in lieu thereof "age 60".
- 12 (5) Section 225 of such Act is amended by striking
- out "age 62" and inserting in lieu thereof "age 60".
- (e) The amendments made by this section shall apply
- with respect to monthly benefits under title II of the Social
- 16 Security Act for months after December 1971, except that
- in the case of an individual who was not entitled to a monthly
- 18 benefit under title II of such Act for December 1971 such
- amendments shall apply only on the basis of an application
- 20 filed in or after the month in which this Act is enacted.
- 21 ENTITLEMENT TO CHILD'S INSURANCE BENEFITS BASED
- 22 ON DISABILITY WHICH BEGAN BETWEEN 18 AND 22
- 23 SEC. 109. (a) Clause (ii) of section 202 (d) (1) (B) of
- 24 the Social Security Act is amended by striking out "which

1	began before he attained the age of eighteen" and inserting
2	in lieu thereof "which began before he attained the age of
3	22".
4	(b) Subparagraphs (F) and (G) of section 202 (d)
5	(1) of such Act are amended to read as follows:
6	"(F) if such child was not under a disability (as
7	so defined) at the time he attained the age of 18, the
8	· <del>earlier of</del>
9	"(i) the first month during no part of which
10	he is a full-time student, or-
11	"fii) the month in which he attains the age of
12	<del>22</del> ,
<b>1</b> 3	but only if he was not under a disability (as so defined)
14	in such earlier month; or
<b>1</b> 5	"(G) if such child was under a disability (as so
16	defined) at the time he attained the age of 18, or if he
17	was not under a disability (as so defined) at such.time
18	but was under a disability (as so defined) at or prior to
19	the time he attained (or would attain) the age of 22,
20	the third month following the month in which he ceases
21	to be under such disability or (if later) the earlier of
22	"(i) the first month during no part of which
23	he is a full-time student, or
24	"(ii) the month in which he attains the age
25	of 22

1	but only if he was not under a disability (as so defined)
2	in such earlier month."
3	(e) Section 202 (d) (1) of such Act is further amended
4	by adding at the end thereof the following new sentence:
5	"No payment under this paragraph may be made to a child
6	who would not meet the definition of disability in section
7	223 (d) except for paragraph (1) (B) thereof for any month
8	in which he engages in substantial gainful activity."
9	(d) Section 202 (d) (6) of such Act is amended by
10	striking out "in which he is a full-time student and has not
11	attained the age of 22" and all that follows and inserting in
12	lieu thereof "in which he-
13	"(A) (i) is a full-time student or (ii) is under a
14	disability (as defined in section 223 (d)), and
<b>1</b> 5	"(B) had not attained the age of 22, but only if
16	he has filed application for such reentitlement.
17	Such reentitlement shall end with the month preceding
18	whichever of the following first occurs:
19	"(C) the first month in which an event specified in
20	paragraph (1) (D) occurs;
21	"(D) the earlier of (i) the first month during no
22	part of which he is a full-time student or (ii) the month
23	in which he attains the age of 22, but only if he is not
24	under a disability (as so defined) in such earlier month;
25	<del>AP</del>

1	"(E) if he was under a disability (as so defined),
2	the third month following the month in which he ceases
3	to be under such disability or (if later) the earlier-of-
4	"(i) the first month during no part of which
5	he is a full-time student, or
6	"(ii) the month in which he attains the age
7	of 22."
8	(e) Section 202 (s) of such Act is amended-
9	(1) by striking out "which began before he at-
10	tained such age" in paragraph (1); and
11	(2) by striking out "which began before such
12	child attained the age of 18" in paragraphs (2) and
13	<del>(3)</del> .
14	(f) Where—
<b>1</b> 5	(1) one or more persons are entitled (without
16	the application of sections 202 (j) (1) and 223 (b) of
17	the Social Security Act) to monthly benefits under
18	section 202 or 223 of such Act for December 1971 on
19	the basis of the wages and self-employment income of an
20	individual, and
21	(2) one or more persons (not included in para-
22	graph (1)) are entitled to monthly benefits under
23	such section 202 or 223 for January 1972 solely by
24	reason of the amendments made by this section on the
25	basis of such wages and self employment income, and
<b>26</b>	(3) the total of benefits to which all persons are

1 entitled under such section 202 or 223 on the basis of 2 such wages and self employment income for January 3 1972 is reduced by reason of section 203 (a) of such Act as amended by this Act (or would, but for the 4 5 penultimate sentence of such section 203 (a), be so 6 reduced), then the amount of the benefit to which each person referred to in paragraph (1) of this subsection is entitled for months after December 1971 shall be adjusted, after the application of such section 203 (a), to an amount no less than the amount it would have been if the person or persons referred to in paragraph (2) were not entitled to a benefit referred to in such paragraph (2). 14 (g) The amendments made by this section shall apply 15 only with respect to monthly benefits under section 202 16 of the Social Security Act for months after December 1971 except that in the case of an individual who was not 18 entitled to a monthly benefit under such section 202 for 19 December 1971 such amendments shall apply only on the 20 basis of an application filed after September 30, 1971. 21 ELIMINATION OF SUPPORT REQUIREMENT AS CONDITION 22 OF BENEFITS FOR DIVORCED AND SURVIVING DIVORCED 23 WIVES 24 SEC. 110. (a) Section 202 (b) (1) of the Social Secu-

rity Act is amended

```
(1) by adding "and" at the end of subparagraph
1
        <del>(C)</del>,
2
            (2) by striking out subparagraph (D), and
3
            (3) by redesignating subparagraphs (E) through
4
        (L) as subparagraphs (D) through (K), respectively.
5
        (b) (1) Section 202 (c) (1) of such Act is amended
6
             (A) by adding "and" at the end of subparagraph
 7
        <del>(C)</del>
 8
             (B) by striking out subparagraph (D), and
 9
            (C) by redesignating subparagraphs (E) through
10
         (G) as subparagraphs (D) through (F), respectively.
11
        (2) Section 202 (c) (6) of such Act is amended by
12
    striking out "paragraph (1) (G)" and inserting in lieu
    thereof "paragraph (1) (F)".
14
         (e) Section 202 (g) (1) (F) of such Act is amended by
15
    striking out clause (i), and by redesignating clauses (ii)
16
    and (iii) as clauses (i) and (ii), respectively.
17
        (d) The amendments made by this section shall apply
18
    only with respect to benefits payable under title II of the
19
    Social Security Act for months after December 1971 on the
20
    basis of applications filed on or after the date of the enactment
21
22
    of this Act.
```

1	ELIMINATION OF DISABILITY INSURED STATUS REQUIRE-
2	MENT OF SUBSTANTIAL RECENT COVERED WORK IN
3	CASES OF INDIVIDUALS WHO ARE BLIND
4	SEC. 111. (a) The first sentence of section 216 (i) (3)
5	of the Social Security Act is amended by inserting before
6	the period at the end thereof the following: ", and except
7	that the provisions of subparagraph (B) of this paragraph
8	shall not apply in the case of an individual who is blind
9	(within the meaning of 'blindness' as defined in paragraph
10	<del>(1))</del> ".
11	(b) Section 223 (c) (1) of such Act is amended by
12	striking out "coverage." in subparagraph (B) (ii) and in-
13	serting in lieu thereof "coverage;", and by striking out "For
14	purposes" and inserting in lieu thereof the following:
15	"except that the provisions of subparagraph (B) of
16	this paragraph shall not apply in the case of an indi-
17	vidual who is blind (within the meaning of 'blindness'
18	as defined in section 216 (i) (1)). For purposes".
19	(e) The amendments made by this section shall be
20	effective with respect to applications for disability insurance
21	benefits under section 223 of the Social Security Act, and

1	for disability determinations under section 216 (i) of such
2	Act, filed—
3	(1) in or after the month in which this Act is
4	-enacted, or
5	(2) before the month in which this Act is enacted
6	if the applicant has not died before such month and if
7	(A) notice of the final decision of the Secre-
8	tary of Health, Education, and Welfare has not been
9	given to the applicant before such month; or
10	(B) the notice referred to in subparagraph
11	(A) has been so given before such month but a
12	eivil action with respect to such final decision is
13	commenced under section 205 (g) of the Social
14	Security Act (whether before, in, or after such
15	month) and the decision in such civil action has not
16	become final before such month;
17	except that no monthly benefits under title II of the Social
18	Security Act shall be payable or increased by reason of the
19	amendments made by this section for months before Jan-
20	uary 1972.
21	WAGE-CREDITS FOR MEMBERS OF THE UNIFORMED
22	SERVICES
23	SEC. 112. (a) Subsection 229 (a) of the Social Security
24	Act is amended—
25	(1) by striking out "after December 1967" and

inserting in lieu thereof "after December 1971"; and 1 2 (2) by striking out "after 1967" and inserting in 3 lieu thereof "after 1956". 4 (b) The amendments made by subsection (a) shall apply with respect to monthly benefits under title II of the Social Security Act for months after December 1971 and with respect to lump sum death payments under such title in the case of deaths occurring after December 1971, except that, in the case of any individual who is entitled, on the 10 basis of the wages and self employment income of any individual to whom section 229 of such Act applies, to monthly benefits under title II of such Act for December 1971, such amendments shall apply (1) only if an application for re-14 computation by reason of such amendments is filed by such 15 individual, or any other individual, entitled to benefits under 16 such title II on the basis of such wages and self employment 17 income, and (2) only with respect to such benefits for 18 months beginning with whichever of the following is later: 19 January 1972 or the twelfth month before the month in 20 which such application was filed. Recomputations of benefits 21as required to carry out the provisions of this paragraph shall 22be made notwithstanding the previsions of section 215 (f) (1) 23 of the Social Security Act, and no such recomputation shall 24 be regarded as a recomputation for purposes of section 215 25 (f) of such Act.

1	APPLICATIONS FOR DISABILITY INSURANCE BENEFITS FILED
2	AFTER DEATH OF INSURED INDIVIDUAL
3	SEC. 113. (a) (1) Section 223 (a) (1) of the Social
4	Security Act is amended by adding at the end thereof the
5	following new sentence: "In the case of a deceased individual,
6	the requirement of subparagraph (C) may be satisfied by an
7	-application for benefits filed with respect to such individual
8	within 3 months after the month in which he died."
9	(2) Section 223 (a) (2) of such Act is amended by
10	striking out "he filed his application for disability insurance
11	benefits and was" and inserting in lieu thereof "the applica-
12	tion for disability insurance benefits was filed and he was".
13	(3) The third sentence of section 223 (b) of such Act
14	is amended by striking out "if he files such application" and
<b>1</b> 5	inserting in lieu thereof "if such application is filed".
16	(4) Section 223 (c) (2) (A) of such Act is amended by
17	striking out "who files such application" and inserting in
18	lieu thereof "with respect to whom such application is filed".
19	(b) Section 216 (i) (2) (B) of such Act is amended
20	by adding at the end thereof the following new sentence:
21	"In the case of a deceased individual, the requirement of an
22	application under the preceding sentence may be satisfied
23	by an application for a disability determination filed with re-
24	spect to such individual within 3 months after the month in
<b>25</b>	which he died."

1	(c) The amendments made by this section shall apply
2	in the case of deaths occurring in and after the year in which
3	this Act is enacted. For purposes of such amendments (and
4	for purposes of sections 202 (j) (1) and 223 (b) of the Social
5	Security Act), any application with respect to an individual
6	whose death occurred in such year but before the date of the
7	enactment of this Act which is filed within 3 months after
8	the date of the enactment of this Act shall be deemed to have
9	been filed in the month in which such death occurred.
10	WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION OFFSET FOR DISABILITY
11	INSURANCE BENEFICIARIES
12	SEC. 114. (a) Section 224 (a) (5) of the Social Secu-
13	rity Act is amended by striking out "80 per centum of".
14	(b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall
15	apply with respect to monthly benefits under title II of the
16	Social Security Act for months after December 1971.
17	COVERAGE OF FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK EMPLOYEES
18	SEC. 115. (a) The provisions of section 210 (a) (6)
19	(B) (ii) of the Social Security Act and section 3121 (b)
20	(6) (B) (ii) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, inso-
21	far as they relate to service performed in the employ of a
22	Federal Home Loan Bank, shall be effective
23	(1) with respect to all service performed in the
24	employ of a Federal Home Loan Bank after December
25	<del>1971; and</del>

1	(2) in the case of individuals who are in the employ
2	of a Federal Home Loan Bank on January 1, 1972, with
3	respect to any service performed in the employ of a
4	Federal Home Loan Bank after December 1965; but this
5	paragraph shall be effective only if an amount equal to
6	the taxes imposed by sections 3101 and 3111 of such
7	Code with respect to the services of all such individuals
8	performed in the employ of Federal Home Loan Banks
9	after December 1965 are paid under the provisions of
10	section 3122 of such Code by July 1, 1972, or by such
11	later date as may be provided in an agreement entered
12	into before such date with the Secretary of the Treasury
13	or his delegate for purposes of this paragraph.
14	(b) Subparagraphs (A) (i) and (B) of section 104
<b>15</b>	(i) (2) of the Social Security Amendments of 1956 are
16	repealed.
17	POLICEMEN AND FIREMEN IN IDAHO
18	SEC. 116. Section 218 (p) (1) of the Social Security
19	Act is amended by inserting "Idaho," after "Hawaii,".
20	COVERAGE OF CERTAIN HOSPITAL EMPLOYEES IN NEW
21	MEXICO
22	SEC. 117. Notwithstanding any provisions of section 218
23	of the Social Security Act, the Agreement with the State of
24	New Mexico heretofore entered into pursuant to such section
<b>25</b>	may at the option of such State be modified at any time prior

- 1 to January 1, 1972, so as to apply to the services of em-
- 2 ployees of a hospital which is an integral part of a political
- 3 subdivision to which an agreement under this section has
- 4 not been made applicable, as a separate coverage group
- 5 within the meaning of section 218 (b) (5) of such Act, but
- 6 only if such hospital has prior to 1966 withdrawn from a re-
- 7 tirement system which had been applicable to the employees
- 8 of such hospital.
- 9 <del>PENALTY FOR FURNISHING FALSE INFORMATION TO</del>
- 10 OBTAIN SOCIAL SECURITY ACCOUNT NUMBER
- 11 SEC. 118. (a) Section 208 of the Social Security Act
- 12 is amended by adding "or" after the semicolon at the end of
- 13 subsection (e), and by inserting after subsection (e) the
- 14 following new subsection:
- 15 "(f) willfully, knowingly, and with intent to deceive
- 16 the Secretary as to his true identity (or the true identity of
- 17 any other person) furnishes or causes to be furnished false
- 18 information to the Secretary with respect to any information
- 19 required by the Secretary in connection with the establish-
- 20 ment and maintenance of the records provided for in section
- 21 <del>205 (c) (2)</del>;".
- 22 (b) The amendments made by subsection (a) shall
- 23 apply with respect to information furnished to the Secretary
- 24 after the date of the enactment of this Act.

T	GUARANTEE OF NO DECREASE IN TOTAL FAMILY BENEFITS
2	SEC. 119. (a) Section 203 (a) of the Social Security
3	Act (as amended by section 101 (b) of this Act) is
4	amended by striking out "or" at the end of paragraph
5	(2), by striking out the period at the end of paragraph
6	(3), and inserting in lieu thereof ", or", and by inserting
7	after paragraph (3) the following new paragraph:
8	"(4) notwithstanding any other provision of law,
9	when—
10	"(A) two or more persons are entitled to
11	monthly benefits for a particular month on the basis
12	of the wages and self-employment income of an
13	insured individual and (for such particular month)
14	the provisions of this subsection and section 202 (q)
15	are applicable to such monthly benefits, and
16	"(B) such individual's primary insurance
17	amount is increased for the following month under
18	any provision of this title,
19	then the total of monthly benefits for all persons on the
20	basis of such wages and self-employment income for
21	such particular month, as determined under the provi-
22	sions of this subsection, shall for purposes of determin-
23	ing the total of monthly benefits for all persons on the
24	basis of such wages and self-employment income for
<b>25</b>	months subsequent to such particular month he con-

1	sidered to have been increased by the smallest amount
2	that would have been required in order to assure that
3	the total of monthly benefits payable on the basis of such
4	wages and self employment income for any such subse-
5	quent month will not be less (after application of the
6	other provisions of this subsection and section 202 (q)
7	than the total of monthly benefits (after the application
8	of the other provisions of this subsection and section 202
9	(q)) payable on the basis of such wages and self-
10	employment income for such particular month."
11	(b) In any case in which the provisions of section
12	1002 (b) (2) of the Social Security Amendments of 1969
13	apply, the total of monthly benefits as determined under sec-
14	tion 203 (a) of the Social Security Act shall, for months
15	after 1971, be increased to the amount that would be
16	required in order to assure that the total of such monthly
17	benefits (after the application of section 202 (q) of such
18	Act) will not be less than the total monthly benefits
19 20	that was applicable (after the application of such sections
21	203 (a) and 202 (q)) for the first month for which the
22	provisions of such section 1002 (b) (2) applied.
23	CERTAIN ADOPTIONS BY DISABILITY AND OLD-AGE
24	INSURANCE BENEFICIARIES
25	SEC. 120. (a) Clause (i) of section 202 (d) (8) (E)
	of the Social Security Act is amended—

1	(1) by inserting "(I)" after "(i)",
2	(2) by adding "or" after "child-placement
3	agency,", and
4	(3) by adding at the end thereof (after and below
5	clause (i) (I) as designated by paragraph (1) of this
6	subsection) the following:
7	"(II) in an adoption which took place after
8	an investigation of the circumstances surrounding
9	the adoption by a court of competent jurisdiction
10	within the United States, or by a person appointed
11	by such a court, if the child was related (by blood
12	-adoption, or steprelationship) to such individual or
13	to such individual's wife or husband as a descendant
14	or as a brother or sister or a descendant of a brother
15	or sister, such individual had furnished one-half o
16	the child's support for at least five years immedi-
17	ately before such individual became entitled to such
18	disability insurance benefits, the child had been live
19	ing with such individual for at least five years before
20	such individual became entitled to such disability
21	insurance benefits, and the continuous period during
22	which the child was living with such individua
23	began before the child attained age 18,".
24	(b) The amendments made by subsection (a) shall

apply with respect to monthly benefits payable under title H

- 1 of the Social Security Act for months after December 1967
- 2 on the basis of an application filed in or after the month in
- 3 which this Act is enacted; except that such amendments
- 4 shall not apply with respect to benefits for any month before
- 5 the month in which this Act is enacted unless such applica-
- 6 tion is filed before the close of the twelfth month after the
- 7 menth in which this Act is enacted.
- 8 INCREASE OF EARNINGS COUNTED FOR DENEFIT AND
- 9 TAX PURPOSES
- 10 SEC. 121. (a) (1) (A) Section 209 (a) (5) of the
- 11 Social Security Act is amended by inserting "and prior
- 12 to 1971" after "1967".
- (B) Section 209 (a) of such Act is further amended by
- <sup>14</sup> adding at the end thereof the following new paragraph:
- 15 "(6) That part of remuneration which, after remunera-
- 16 tion (other than remuneration referred to in the succeeding
- 17 subsections of this section) equal to \$9,000 with respect to
- 18 employment has been paid to an individual during any cal-
- 19 onder year after 1970, is paid to such individual during any
- 20 such calendar year;".
- 21 (2) (A) Section 211 (b) (1) (E) of such Act is
- 22 amended by inserting "and beginning prior to 1971" after
- 23 "1967", and by striking out "; or" and inserting in lieu
- 24 thereof "; and".

- 1 (B) Section 211 (b) (1) of such Act is further amended
- 2 by adding at the end thereof the following new subpara-
- 3 graph:
- 4 "(F) For any taxable year beginning after
- 5 1970, (i) \$9,000, minus (ii) the amount of the
- 6 wages paid to such individual during the taxable
- 7 year; or".
- 8 (3) (A) Section 213 (a) (2) (ii) of such Act is
- 9 amended by striking out "after 1967" and inserting in lieu
- 10 thereof "after 1967 and before 1971, or \$9,000 in the case
- 11 of a calendar year after 1970".
- 12 (B) Section 213 (a) (2) (iii) of such Act is amended
- 13 by striking out "after 1967" and inserting in lieu thereof
- 14 "after 1967 and beginning before 1971, or \$9,000 in the
- 15 ease of a taxable year beginning after 1970".
- 16 (4) Section 215 (e) (1) of such Act is amended by
- 17 striking out "and the excess over \$7,800 in the ease of any
- 18 calendar year after 1967" and inserting in lieu thereof "the
- 19 excess over \$7,800 in the case of any calendar year after
- 20 1967 and before 1971, and the excess over \$9,000 in the
- 21 case of any calendar year after 1970".
- 22 (b) (1) (A) Section 1402 (b) (1) (E) of the Internal
- 23 Revenue Code of 1954 (relating to definition of self-employ-
- 24 ment income) is amended by inserting "and beginning before

1971" after "1967", and by striking out "; or" and inserting in lieu thereof "; and". (B) Section 1402 (b) (1) of such Code is further 3 4 amended by adding at the end thereof the following new subparagraph: "(F) for any taxable year beginning after 6 1970, (i) \$9,000, minus (ii) the amount of the 7 wages paid to such individual during the taxable 8 9 year; or". (2) Section 3121 (a) (1) of such Code (relating to 10 definition of wages) is amended by striking out "\$7,800" each place it appears and inserting in lieu thereof "\$9,000". 12 13 (3) The second sentence of section 3122 of such Code (relating to Federal service) is amended by striking out 14 "\$7,800" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$9,000". 15 16 (4) Section 3125 of such Code (relating to returns in 17 the ease of governmental employees in Guam, American 18 Samoa, and the District of Columbia) is amended by striking 19 out "\$7,800" where it appears in subsections (a), (b), and 20 (c) and inserting in lieu thereof "\$9,000". 21 (5) Section 6413 (c) (1) of such Code (relating to 22 special refunds of employment taxes) is amended-23 (A) by inserting "and prior to the calendar year

1971" after "after the calendar year 1967";

(B) by inserting after "exceed \$7,800," the fol-1 lowing: "or (E) during any calendar year after the 2 3 calendar year 1970, the wages received by him during such year exceed \$9,000,"; and 4 (C) by inserting before the period at the end 5 thereof the following: "and before 1971, or which 6 exceeds the tax with respect to the first \$9,000 of such 7 8 wages received in such calendar year after 1970". 9 (6) Section 6413 (c) (2) (A) of such Code (relating to refunds of employment taxes in the case of Federal emplovees) is amended by striking out "or \$7,800 for any calendar year after 1967" and inserting in lieu thereof 12 "\$7,800 for the calendar year 1968, 1969, or 1970, or 13 \$9,000 for any calendar year after 1970": 14 (7) Section 6654 (d) (2) (B) (ii) of such Code (re-15 lating to failure by individual to pay estimated income tax) 16 is amended by striking out "\$6,600" and inserting in lieu 17 18 thereof "\$9,000". 19 (c) The amendments made by subsections (a) (1) and 20 (a) (3) (A), and the amendments made by subsection (b) 21 (except paragraphs (1) and (7) thereof), shall apply only 22 with respect to remuneration paid after December 1970. The 23 amendments made by subsections (a) (2), (a) (3) (B), 24 (b) (1), and (b) (7) shall apply only with respect to tax-25 able years beginning after 1970. The amendment made by

1	subscotion (a) (4) shall apply only with respect to calen-
2	dar years after 1970.
3	CHANGES IN TAX SCHEDULES
4	SEC. 122. (a) (1) Section 1401 (a) of the Internal
5	Revenue Code of 1954 (relating to rate of tax on self-
6	employment income for purposes of old-age, survivors, and
7	disability insurance) is amended by striking out paragraphs
8	(2), (3), and (4) and inserting in lieu thereof the
9	following:
10	"(2) in the case of any taxable year beginning after
11	December 31, 1968, and before January 1, 1975, the
12	tax shall be equal to 6.3 percent of the amount of the
13	self-employment income for such taxable year; and
14	"(3) in the case of any taxable year beginning
15	after December 31, 1974. the tax shall be equal to 7.0
16	percent of the amount of the self-employment income
17	for such taxable year."
18	(2) Section 3101 (a) of such Code (relating to rate of
19	tax on employees for purposes of old age, survivors, and
20	disability insurance) is amended by striking out paragraphs
21	(2), (3), and (4) and inserting in lieu thereof the
22 23	following:
23 24	"(2) with respect to wages received during the
2 <del>4</del> 25	calendar years 1969, 1970, 1971, 1972, 1973, and
	1974, the rate shall be 4.2 percent;

1	"(3) with respect to wages received during the
2	calendar years 1975, 1976, 1977, 1978, and 1979, the
3	rate shall be 5.0 percent; and
4	"(4) with respect to wages received after Decem-
5	ber 31, 1979, the rate shall be 5.5 percent."
6	(3) Section 3111 (a) of such Code (relating to rate of
7	tax on employers for purposes of old-age, survivors, and
8	disability insurance) is amended by striking out paragraphs
9	(2), (3), and (4) and inserting in lieu thereof the
10	following:
11	"(2) with respect to wages paid during the cal-
12	endar years 1969, 1970, 1971, 1972, 1973, and 1974,
13	the rate shall be 4.2 percent;
14	"(3) with respect to wages paid during the cal-
15	endar years 1975, 1976, 1977, 1978, and 1979, the
16	rate shall be 5.0 percent; and
17	"(4) with respect to wages paid after Decem-
18	ber 31, 1979, the rate shall be 5.5 percent?"
19	(b) (1) Section 1401 (b) of such Code (relating to
20	rate of tax on self employment income for purposes of hos-
21	pital insurance) is amended by striking out paragraphs (1)
22	through (5) and inserting in lieu thereof the following:
23	"(1) in the case of any taxable year beginning
24	after December 31, 1967, and before January 1, 1971,

1	the tax shall be equal to 0.6 percent of the amount of
2	the self-employment income for such taxable year; and
3	"(2) in the case of any taxable year beginning
4	after December 31, 1970, the tax shall be equal to 1.0
5	percent of the amount of the self-employment income
6	for such taxable year."
7	(2) Section 3101 (b) of such Code (relating to rate
8	of tax on employees for purposes of hospital insurance) is
9	amended by striking out paragraphs (1) through (5) and
10	inserting in lieu thereof the following:
11	"(1) with respect to wages received during the
12	calendar years 1968, 1969, and 1970, the rate shall be
13	-0.6 percent; and
14	"(2) with respect to wages received after Decem-
15	ber 31, 1970, the rate shall be 1.0 percent."
16	(3) Section 3111 (b) of such Code (relating to rate
17	of tax on employers for purposes of hospital insurance) is
18	amended by striking out paragraphs (1) through (5) and
19	inserting in lieu thereof the following:
20	"(1) with respect to wages paid during the calen-
21	dar years 1968, 1969, and 1970, the rate shall be 0.6
22	percent; and
23	"(2) with respect to wages paid after December
24 25	31, 1970, the rate shall be 1.0 percent."
25	(c) The amendments made by subsections (a) (1) and

1	(b) (1) shall apply only with respect to taxable years be-
2	ginning after December 31, 1970. The remaining amend-
3	ments made by this section shall apply only with respect to
4	remuneration paid after December 31, 1970.
5	ALLOCATION TO DISABILITY INSURANCE TRUST FUND
6	SEC. 123. (a) Section 201 (b) (1) of the Social Secu-
7	rity Act is amended—
8	(1) by striking out "and (D)" and inserting in
9	licu thereof "(D)"; and
10	(2) by striking out "after December 31, 1969,
11	and so reported," and inserting in lieu thereof the fol-
12	lowing: "after December 31, 1969, and before Janu-
13	ary 1, 1971, and so reported, (E) 0.90 of 1 per centum
14	of the wages (as so defined) paid after December 31,
<b>1</b> 5	1970, and before January 1, 1975, and so reported,
16	(F) 1.05 per centum of the wages (as so defined)
17	paid after December 31, 1974, and before January 1,
18	1980, and so reported, and (G) 1.15 per centum of
19	the wages (as so defined) paid after December 31;
20	1979, and so reported,".
21	(b) Section 201 (b) (2) of such Act is amended-
22	(1) by striking out "and (D)" and inserting in
23	-lieu thereof "(D)"; and
24	(2) by inserting after "December 31, 1969," the
25	-following: "and hefore Tongers 1 1071 (F) 0 675 of

following: "and before January 1, 1971, (E) 0.675 of

T	+ per centum of the amount of sen-employment meeme
2	(as so defined) so reported for any taxable year begin-
3	ning after December 31, 1970, and before January 1,
4	1975, (F) 0.7875 of 1 per centum of the amount of
5	-self-employment income (as so defined) so reported for
6	any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1974,
7	and before January 1, 1980, and (G) 0.8625 of 1 per
8	centum of the amount of self employment income (as
9	so defined) so reported for any taxable year beginning
10	after December 31, 1979,".
11	TITLE II-PROVISIONS RELATING TO MEDI
12	CARE, MEDICAID, AND MATERNAL AND
13	CHILD HEALTH
14	PART A—COVERAGE UNDER MEDICARE PROGRAM
<b>15</b>	PAYMENT UNDER MEDICARE PROGRAM TO INDIVIDUALS
<b>16</b>	COVERED BY FEDERAL EMPLOYEES HEALTH DENEFITS
17	PROGRAM
18	SEC. 201. Section 1862 of the Social Security Act is
19	amended by adding at the end thereof the following new
20	subsection:
21	"(c) No payment may be made under this title with
22	respect to any item or service furnished to or on behalf of

<sup>23</sup> any individual on or after January 1, 1973, if such item or

24 service is covered under a health benefits plan in which such

<sup>25</sup> -individual is enrolled under chapter 89 of title 5, United

- 1 States Code, unless prior to the date on which such item or
- 2 service is so furnished the Secretary shall have determined
- 3 and certified that the Federal employees health benefits pro-
- 4 gram under chapter 89 of such title 5 has been modified so as
- 5 to assure that—

alone, and

- "(1) there is available to each Federal employee or annuitant upon or after attaining age 65, in addition to the health benefits plans available before he attains such age, one or more health benefits plans which offer protection supplementing the combined protection provided under parts A and B of this title and one or more health benefits plans which offer protection supplementing the protection provided under part B of this title
  - Federal employee or annuitant a contribution in an amount at least equal to the contribution which the Government makes toward the health insurance of any employee or annuitant enrolled for high option coverage under the Government wide plans established under chapter 89 of such title 5, with such contribution being in the form of (A) a contribution toward the supplementary protection referred to in paragraph (1), (B) a payment to or on behalf of such employee or annuitant to offset the cost to him of coverage under parts A and

```
B (or part B alone) of this title, or (C)-a combination
1
       of such contribution and such payment:"
2
   HOSPITAL INSURANCE BENEFITS FOR UNINSURED INDI-
4
       VIDUALS NOT ELICIBLE UNDER PRESENT TRANSITIONAL
5
       PROVISION
       SEC. 202. (a) Section 103 (a) of the Social Security
6
7
   Amendments of 1965 is amended
8
            (1) by redesignating clauses (A) and (B) in para-
       graphs (2) and (4) as clauses (i) and (ii), respec-
9
       tively, and by redesignating paragraphs (1), (2), (3),
10
        (4), and (5) as subparagraphs (A), (B), (C), (D),
11
12
        and (E), respectively;
            (2) by striking out all that follows "Anyone
13
        who " and precedes subparagraph (B) (as redesig
14
       nated by paragraph (1) of this subsection) and insert-
15
16
        ing in lieu thereof the following:
            "(1) (A) has attained the age of 65,";
17
            (3) by adding "or" at the end of subparagraph
18
19
        (E) (as so redesignated);
20
            (4) by striking out "shall (subject to the limita-
21
        tions in this section)" and all that follows down through
22
        the period at the end of the first sentence and inserting
23
       in lieu thereof the followings
24
            "(2) (A) meets the provisions of subparagraphs
25
        (A), (C), and (D) of paragraph (1),
```

1	"(B) does not meet the provisions of subparagraph
2	(B) of paragraph (1), and
3	"(C) has enrolled (i) under section 1837 of the
4	Social Security Act and (ii) under subsection (d) of
5	this section,
6	shall (subject to the limitations in this section) be deemed,
7	solely for purposes of section 226 of the Social Security Act,
8	to be entitled to monthly insurance benefits under section
9	202 of such Act for each month, beginning-
10	"(i) in the ease of an individual who meets the
11	provisions of paragraph (1), with the first month in
12	which he meets the requirements of such paragraph, or
13	"(ii) in the case of an individual who meets the
14	provisions of paragraph (2), with the day on which his
15	coverage period (as provided in subsection (d))
16	begins,
17	and ending with the month in which he dies, or, if earlier,
18	the month before the month in which he becomes (or upon
19	filing application for monthly insurance benefits under sec-
20	tion 202 of such Act would become) entitled to hospital
21	insurance benefits under section 226 of such Act or becomes
22	certifiable for purposes of such section as a qualified railroad
23	retirement beneficiary.";
24	(5) (A) by striking out "the preceding require-
<b>25</b>	ments of this subsection" in the second sentence and

```
1
       -inserting in lieu thereof "the requirements of paragraph
 \mathbf{2}
        (1) of this subsection" and (B) by striking out "para-
 3
        graph (5) hereof" and inserting in lieu thereof "sub-
        paragraph (E) of such paragraph"; and
 4
 5
            (6) by striking out "paragraphs (1), (2), (3),
 6
        and (4)" in the third sentence and inserting in lieu
 7
        thereof "subparagraphs (A), (B), (C), and (D) of
 8
        paragraph (1)".
 9
        (b) Section 103 (b) of such Amendments is amended
   (1) by inserting "(i)" after "individual" in the second
   sentence, and (2) by adding before the period at the end-
   thereof the following: ", or (ii) (with respect to an enroll-
   ment under subsection (d) (1)) for any month during his
14
    coverage period (as provided in subsection (d))".
15
        ·(c) Section 103 (c) (1) of such Amendments is
16
    amended by striking out "this section" and inserting in lieu-
17
    thereof "paragraph (1) of subsection (a) of this section".
18
        (d) Section 103 of such Amendments is further
19
    amended by adding at the end thereof the following new
20
    subsections:
21
        "(d) (1) An individual who meets the conditions of
22
    subparagraphs (A) and (B) of paragraph (2) of sub-
```

section (a) and has enrolled under section 1837 of the

Social Security Act may enroll for the hospital insurance

benefits provided under subsection (a).

23

24

7	$\frac{\text{"(2)}}{\text{The provisions of sections 1837, 1838, 1839, and}}$
2	1840 (relating to enrollments under part B of title XVIII
3	of the Social Security Act) shall be applicable to the enroll-
4	ment authorized by paragraph (1) in the same manner, to
5	the same extent, and under the same conditions as such
6	sections are applicable to enrollments under such part B,
7	except that for purposes of this subsection such sections 1837,
8	1838, 1839, and 1840 are modified as follows:
9	"(A) the term 'paragraphs (1) and (2) of sec-
10	tion 1836' shall be considered to read 'subparagraphs
11	(A) and (B) of paragraph (2) of section 103 (a) of
12	the Social Security Amendments of 1965';
13	"(B) the term 'March 1, 1966' shall be considered
14	to read 'March 31, 1972';
15	"(C) the term 'May 31, 1966' shall be considered
16	to read 'March 31, 1972';
17	"(D) the term '1969' shall be considered to read
18	' <del>1973';</del>
19	"(E) subsection (a) (1) of such section 1838
20	shall be considered to read as follows:
21	"(1) in the case of an individual who enrolls for
22	benefits under subsection (a) of section 103 of the
23	Social Security Amendments of 1965 pursuant to sub-
24	section (a) of section 1837 (as made applicable by

1	section 103 (d) (2) of such Amendments), January 1,
2	1972, or, if later, the first day of the month following
3	the month in which he so enrolls; or';
4	"(F) subsection (b) of such section 1838 shall be
5	-considered amended by adding at the end thereof the
6	following new sentence: 'An individual's enrollment
7	under subsection (d) of section 103 of the Social Se-
8	curity Amendments of 1965 shall also terminate (i)
9	when he satisfies subparagraphs (B) and (E) of para-
10	graph (1) of subsection (a) of such section, with such-
11	termination taking effect on the first day of the month
12	in which he satisfies such subparagraphs, or (ii) when
<b>1</b> 3	his enrollment under-section 1837 terminates, with such
14	termination taking effect as provided in the second sen-
15	tence of this subsection.';
<b>1</b> 6	"(G) subsection (a) of such section 1839 shall be
17	considered to read as follows:
18	": (a) The monthly premium of each individual for
<b>1</b> 9	each month in his coverage period before July 1973 shall
20	be \$27.';
21	"(H) the term '1967' when used in subsection
22	(b) (1) of such section 1839 shall be considered to read
23	'June 1973';
24	"(I) subsection (b) (2) of such section 1839 shall
25	be considered to read as follows:

1 "(2) The Secretary shall, during December of 1972 and of each year thereafter, determine and promulgate 2 the dollar amount (whether or not such dollar amount 3 was applicable for premiums for any prior month) which 5 shall be applicable for premiums for months occurring in the 12-month period commencing July 1 of the next year. Such amount shall be equal to \$27 multiplied by the ratio of (1) the inpatient hospital deductible for such next year, as promulgated under section 1813 (b) (2), to (2) such deductible promulgated for 1972. Any amount determined under the preceding sentence which is not a multiple of \$1 shall be rounded to the nearest multiple of \$1.'; and 13 "(J) the term 'Federal Supplementary Medical 14 Insurance Trust Fund' shall be considered to read 'Federal Hospital Insurance Trust Fund'. 15 "(e) Payment of the monthly premiums on behalf of 16 any individual who meets the conditions of subparagraphs 17 (A) and (B) of paragraph (2) of subsection (a) and 18 has enrolled for the hospital insurance benefits provided 19 under subsection (a) may be made by any public or private 21 agency or organization under a contract or other arrangement entered into between it and the Secretary if the Secretary determines that payment of such premiums under 24 such contract or arrangement is administratively feasible."

.1.	PART B IMPROVEMENTS IN THE OPERATING EFFECTIVE
2	NESS OF THE MEDICARE, MEDICAID, AND MATERNAL
3	-AND CHILD HEALTH PROGRAMS
4	LIMITATION ON FEDERAL PARTICIPATION FOR CAPITAL
5	EXPENDITURES
6	SEC. 221. (a) Title XI of the Social Security Act is
7	amended by adding at the end thereof the following new
8	section:
9	"LIMITATION ON FEDERAL PARTICIPATION FOR CAPITAL
10	EXPENDITURES
11	"SEC. 1122. (a) The purpose of this section is to assure
12	that Federal funds appropriated under titles V, XVIII, and
13	XIX are not used to support unnecessary capital expendi-
14	tures made by or on behalf of health care facilities which are
15	reimbursed under any of such titles and that, to the extent
16	possible, reimbursement under such titles shall support plan-
17	ning activities with respect to health services and facilities
18	in the various States.
19	(b) The Secretary, after consultation with the Gover-
20	nor (or other chief executive officer) and with appropriate
21	local public officials, shall make an agreement with any
22	State which is able and willing to do so under which a desig-
23	nated planning agency (which shall be an agency described
24	in clause (ii) of subsection (d) (1) (B) that has a govern-

ing body or advisory board at least half of whose members represent consumer interests) will-"(1) make, and submit to the Secretary together 3 with such supporting materials as he may find necessary, 4 findings and recommendations with respect to capital 5 expenditures proposed by or on behalf of any health care 6 facility in such State within the field of its responsibili-7 8 ties, and "(2) receive from other agencies described in 9 10 clause (ii) of subsection (d) (1) (B), and submit to the Secretary together with such supporting material as he 11 12 may find necessary, the findings and recommendations of 13 such other agencies with respect to capital expenditures proposed by or on behalf of health care facilities in such 14 15 State within the fields of their respective responsibilities, whenever and to the extent that the findings of such desig-17 nated agency or any such other agency indicate that any 18 such expenditure is not consistent with the standards, criteria, 19 or plans developed pursuant to the Public Health Service 20 Act (or the Montal Retardation Facilities and Community 21 Montal Health Conters Construction Act of 1963) to meet the need for adequate health care facilities in the area covered 22 by the plan or plans so developed. 24 "(e) The Secretary shall pay any such State from the

Federal Hospital Insurance Trust Fund, in advance or by

1	way of reimbursement as may be provided in the agreement
2	with it (and may make adjustments in such payments on
3	account of overpayments or underpayments previously
4	made), for the reasonable cost of performing the functions
5	specified in subsection (b).
6	"(d) (1) Except as provided in paragraph (2), if the
7	Secretary determines that
8	"(A) neither the planning agency designated in
9	the agreement described in subsection (b) nor an
10	agency described in clause (ii) of subparagraph (B) of
11	this paragraph had been given notice of any proposed
12	-capital expenditure (in accordance with such procedure
13	or in such detail as may be required by such agency)
14	at least 60 days prior to such expenditure; or
15	"(B) (i) the planning agency so designated or
16	an agency so described had received such timely notice
17	of the intention to make such capital expenditure and
18	had, within a reasonable period after receiving such
19	notice and prior to such expenditure, notified the person
20	proposing such expenditure that the expenditure would
21	not be in conformity with the standards, criteria, or plans
22	developed by such agency or any other agency described
23	in clause (ii) for adequate health care facilities in such
24	State or in the area for which such other agency has
<b>25</b>	responsibility, and

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

23

24

25

"(ii) the planning agency so designated had, prior

to submitting to the Secretary the findings referred to in subsection (b), consulted with, and taken into consideration the findings and recommendations of, the State planning agencies established pursuant to sections 314 (a) and 604 (a) of the Public Health Service Act (to the extent that either such agency is not the agency so designated) as well as the public or nonprofit private agency or organization responsible for the comprehensive regional, metropolitan area, or other local area plan or plans referred to in section 314 (b) of the Public Health Service Act and covering the area in which the health care facility proposing such capital expenditure is located (where such agency is not the agency designated in the agreement), or, if there is no such agency, such other public or nonprofit private agency or organization (if any) as performs, as determined in accordance with criteria included in regulations, similar functions; then, for such period as he finds necessary in any case to effectuate the purpose of this section, he shall, in determining the Federal payments to be made under titles V, XVIII, and XIX with respect to services furnished in the health care facility for which such capital expenditure is made, not include any amount which is attributable to depreciation, in-

- 1 terest on borrowed funds, a return on equity capital (in the
- 2 case of proprietary facilities), or other expenses related to
- 3 such capital expenditure.
- 4 "(2) If the Secretary, after submitting the matters in-
- 5 volved to the advisory council established or designated
- $^{6}$  under subsection (i), determines that an exclusion of ex-
- 7 penses related to any capital expenditure of any health care
- 8 facility would not be consistent with the effective organiza-
- 9 tion and delivery of health services or the effective admin-
- 10 istration of title V, XVIII, or XIX, he shall not exclude
- 11 such expenses pursuant to paragraph (1).
- 12 "(e) Where a person obtains under lease or comparable
- 13 arrangement any facility or part thereof, or equipment for
- 14 a facility, which would have been subject to an exclusion
- 15 under subsection (d) if the person had acquired it by pur-
- 16 chase, the Secretary shall (1) in computing such person's
- 17 rental expense in determining the Federal payments to be
- 18 made under titles V, XVIII, and XIX with respect to serv-
- 19 ices furnished in such facility, deduct the amount which in his
- 20 judgment is a reasonable equivalent of the amount that would
- 21 have been excluded if the person had acquired such facility
- 22 or such equipment by purchase, and (2) in computing such
- 23 person's return on equity capital deduct any amount deposited
- 24 under the terms of the lease or comparable arrangement.
- 25 "(f) Any person dissatisfied with a determination by the

- 1 Secretary under this section may within six months follow-
- 2 ing notification of such determination request the Secretary
- 3 to reconsider such determination. A determination by the
- 4 Secretary under this section shall not be subject to adminis-
- 5 trative or judicial review.
- 6 "(g) For the purposes of this section, a 'capital expendi-
- 7 ture' is an expenditure which, under generally accepted
- 8 accounting principles, is not properly chargeable as an ex-
- 9 pense of operation and maintenance and which (1) exceeds
- 10 \$100,000, (2) changes the bed capacity of the facility with
- 11 respect to which such expenditure is made, or (3) sub-
- 12 stantially changes the services of the facility with respect to
- 13 which such expenditure is made. For purposes of clause
- 14 (1) of the preceding sentence, the cost of the studies, sur-
- 15 veys, designs, plans, working drawings, specifications, and
- 16 other activities essential to the acquisition, improvement, ex-
- 17 pansion, or replacement of the plant and equipment with
- 18 respect to which such expenditure is made shall be included
- 19 in determining whether such expenditure exceeds \$100,000.
- 20 "(h) The provisions of this section shall not apply to
- 21 Christian Science sanatoriums operated, or listed and certi-
- 22 fied, by the First Church of Christ, Scientist, Boston, Massa!
- 23 chusetts.
- 24 "(i) (1) The Secretary shall establish a national advi-
- 25 sory council, or designate an appropriate existing national

- 1 advisory council, to advise and assist him in the preparation
- 2 of general regulations to carry out the purposes of this section
- 3 and on policy matters arising in the administration of this
- 4 section, including the coordination of activities under this
- 5 section with those under other parts of this Act or under
- 6 other Federal or federally assisted health programs.
- 7 "(2) The Secretary shall make appropriate provision
- 8 for consultation between and coordination of the work of
- <sup>9</sup> the advisory council established or designated under para-
- 10 graph (1) and the Federal Hospital Council, the National
- Advisory Health Council, the Health Insurance Benefits
- 12 Advisory Council, the Medical Assistance Advisory Council,
- 13 and other appropriate national advisory councils with re-
- 14 spect to matters bearing on the purposes and administration
- of this section and the coordination of activities under this
- 16 section with related Federal health programs.
- 17 "(3) If an advisory council is established by the Secre-
- 18 tary under paragraph (1), it shall be composed of members
- 19 who are not otherwise in the regular full-time employ of the
- <sup>20</sup> United States, and who shall be appointed by the Secretary
- without regard to the civil service laws from among leaders
- in the fields of the fundamental sciences, the medical sciences,
- <sup>23</sup> and the organization, delivery, and financing of health
- care, and persons who are State or local officials or are
- active in community affairs or public or civic affairs or who

- 1 are representative of minority groups. Members of such advisory council, while attending meetings of the council or 3 -otherwise serving on business of the council, shall be entitled 4 to receive compensation at rates fixed by the Secretary, but not exceeding the maximum rate specified at the time of such service for grade GS-18 in section 5332 of title 5, United States Code, including traveltime, and while away from their homes or regular places of business they may also be allowed travel expenses, including per diem in lieu of subsistence, as authorized by section 5703 (b) of such title 5 for 11 persons in the Government service employed intermittently." (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall apply 12 only with respect to a capital expenditure the obligation for which is incurred by or on behalf of a health care facility subsequent to whichever of the following is earlier: (A) June 30, 1972, or (B) with respect to any State or any part thereof specified by such State, the last day of the calendar quarter in which the State requests that the amendment made by subsection (a) of this section apply in such State or such part thereof. (e) (1) Section 505 (a) (6) of such Act (as amended 21 by section 229 (b) of this Act) is further amended by inserting ", consistent with section 1122," after "standards" 23 where it first appears. 24
  - 25 (2) Section 506 of such Act (as amended by sections

- 1 224(c), 227(d), 230(d), and 235(b) of this Act) is
- 2 further amended by adding at the end thereof the following
- 3 new subsection:
- 4 "(g) For limitation on Federal participation for capital
- 5 expenditures which are out of conformity with a comprehen-
- 6 sive plan of a State or areawide planning agency, see sec-
- 7 tion 1122."
- 8 (3) Clause (2) of the second sentence of section 509
- 9 (a) of such Act is amended by inserting ", consistent with
- 10 section 1122," after "standards".
- 11 (4) Section 1861 (v) of such Act is amended by adding
- 12 at the end thereof the following new paragraph:
- 13 "(5) For limitation on Federal participation for capital
- 14 expenditures which are out of conformity with a compre-
- 15 honsive plan of a State or areawide planning agency, see
- 16 section 1122."
- 17 (5) Section 1902 (a) (13) (D) of such Act (as
- 18 amended by section 229 (a) of this Act) is further amended
- 19 by inserting ", consistent with section 1122," after "stand-
- 20 ards" where it first appears.
- 21 (6) Section 1903 (b) of such Act is amended by add-
- 22 ing at the end thereof the following new paragraph:
- 23 "(3) For limitation on Federal participation for capital
- 24 expenditures which are out of conformity with a compre-

- 1 honsive plan of a State-or areawide planning agency, see
- 2 section 1122."
- 3 REPORT ON PLAN FOR PROSPECTIVE REIMBURSEMENT;
- 4 EXPERIMENTS AND DEMONSTRATION PROJECTS TO
- 5 DEVELOP INCENTIVES FOR ECONOMY IN THE PROVI-
- 6 SION OF HEALTH SERVICES
- 7 SEC. 222. (a) (1) The Secretary of Health, Education,
- 8 and Welfare, directly or through contracts with public or
- 9 private agencies or organizations, shall develop and carry
- 10 out experiments and demonstration projects designed to de-
- 11 termine the relative advantages and disadvantages of various
- 12 alternative methods of making payment on a prospective
- 13 basis to hospitals, extended care facilities, and other pro-
- 14 viders of services for care and services provided by them
- 15 under title XVIII of the Social Security Act and under
- 16 State plans approved under titles XIX and V of such Act,
- 17 including alternative methods for classifying providers, for
- 18 establishing prospective rates of payment, and for imple-
- 19 menting on a gradual, selective, or other basis the estab-
- 20 lishment of a prospective payment system, in order to
- 21 stimulate such providers through positive financial incon-
- 22 tives to use their facilities and personnel more efficiently and
- 23 thereby to reduce the total costs of the health programs
- 24 involved without adversely affecting the quality of services
- 25 by containing or lowering the rate of increase in provider

- 1 costs that has been and is being experienced under the exist-
- 2 ing system of retreactive cost reimbursement.
- 3 (2) The experiments and demonstration projects devel-
- 4 oped under paragraph (1) shall be of sufficient scope and
- 5 shall be carried out on a wide enough scale to permit a thor-
- 6 ough evaluation of the alternative methods of prospective
- 7 payment under consideration while giving assurance that the
- 8 results derived from the experiments and projects will obtain
- 9 generally in the operation of the programs involved (with-
- out committing such programs to the adoption of any pro-
- 11 spective payment system either locally or nationally).
- 12 (3) In the case of any experiment or demonstration
- 13 project under paragraph (1), the Secretary may waive com-
- 14 pliance with the requirements of titles XVIII, XIX, and V
- of the Social Security Act insofar as such requirements relate
- 16 to methods of payment for services provided; and costs in-
- 17 curred in such experiment or project in excess of those which
- would otherwise be reimbursed or paid under such titles may
- 19 be reimbursed or paid to the extent that such waiver applies
- 20 to them (with such excess being borne by the Secretary).
- 21 No experiment or demonstration project shall be developed
- or carried out under paragraph (1) until the Secretary ob-
- tains the advice and recommendations of specialists who are
- <sup>24</sup> competent to evaluate the proposed experiment or project as
- to the soundness of its objectives, the possibilities of securing

- 1 productive results, the adequacy of resources to conduct it,
- 2 and its relationship to other similar experiments or projects
- 3 already completed or in process; and no such experiment
- 4 or project shall be actually placed in operation until a
- 5 written report containing a full and complete description
- 6 thereof has been transmitted to the Committee on Ways
- 7 and Means of the House of Representatives and the Com-
- 8 mittee on Finance of the Senate.
- 9 (4) Grants, payments under contracts, and other ex-
- 10 penditures made for experiments and demonstration projects
- 11 under this subsection shall be made from the Federal Hospital
- 12 Insurance Trust Fund (established by section 1817 of the
- 13 Social Security Act) and the Federal Supplementary Medi-
- 14 cal Insurance Trust Fund (established by section 1841 of
- 15 the Social Security Act). Grants and payments under con-
- 16 tracts may be made either in advance or by way of reim-
- 17 bursement, as may be determined by the Secretary, and shall
- 18 be made in such installments and on such conditions as the
- 19 Secretary finds necessary to carry out the purpose of this
- 20 subsection. With respect to any such grant, payment, or
- 21 other expenditure, the amount to be paid from each of such
- 22 trust funds shall be determined by the Secretary, giving due
- <sup>23</sup> regard to the purposes of the experiment or project involved.
- 24 (5) The Secretary shall submit to the Congress no later
- 25 than July 1, 1973, a full report on the experiments and

- 1 demonstration projects carried out under this subsection and
- 2 on the experience of other programs with respect to pro-
- 3 spective reimbursement together with any related data and
- 4 materials which he may consider appropriate. Such report
- 5 shall include detailed recommendations with respect to the
- 6 specific methods which could be used in the full implemen-
- 7 tation of a system of prospective payment to providers of
- 8 services under the programs involved.
- 9 (6) Section 1875 (b) of the Social Security Act is
- 10 amended by inserting "and the experiments and demonstra-
- 11 tion projects authorized by section 222 (a) of the Social
- 12 Security Amendments of 1971" after "1967".
- 13 (b) (1) Section 402 (a) of the Social Security Amend
- 14 ments of 1967 is amended to read as follows:
- 15 "(a) (1) The Secretary of Health, Education, and Wel-
- 16 fare is authorized, either directly or through grants to public
- 17 or nonprofit private agencies, institutions, and organizations
- 18 or contracts with public or private agencies, institutions, and
- 19 organizations, to develop and ongage in experiments and
- 20 demonstration projects for the following purposes:
- 21 "(A) to determine whether, and if so which,
- 22 changes in methods of payment or reimbursement (other
- than those dealt with in section 222 (a) of the Social
- 24 Security Amendments of 1971) for health care and
- 25 services under health programs established by the Social

Security Act, including a change to methods based on negotiated rates, would have the effect of increasing the efficiency and economy of health services under such programs through the creation of additional incentives to these ends without adversely affecting the quality of such services:

"(B) to determine whether payments to organizations and institutions which have the capability of providing comprehensive health care services or services
other than those for which payment may be made under
such programs (and which are incidental to services for
which payment may be made under such programs)
would, in the judgment of the Secretary, result in more
economical provision and more effective utilization of
services for which payment may be made under such
programs;

"(C) to determine whether the rates of payment or reimbursement for health care services, approved by a State for purposes of the administration of one or more of its laws, when utilized to determine the amount to be paid for services furnished in such State under the health programs established by the Social Security Act, would have the effect of reducing the costs of such programs without adversely affecting the quality of such services;

"(D) to determine whether payments under such

1	programs based on a single combined rate of reimburse-
2	ment or charge for the teaching activities and patient care
3	which residents, interns, and supervising physicians ren-
4	der in connection with a graduate medical education pro-
5	gram in a patient facility would result in more equitable
6	and economical patient care arrangements without ad-
7	versely affecting the quality of such care; and
8	"(E) to determine whether utilization review and
9	medical review mechanisms established on an areawide
10	or communitywide basis would have the effect of provid-
11	ing more effective controls under such programs over
12	excessive utilization of services.
13	For purposes of this subsection, 'health programs established
14	by the Social Security Act' means the program established
15	by title XVIII of such Act, a program established by a plan
16	of a State approved under title XIX of such Act, and a
17	program established by a plan of a State approved under
18	title V of such Act.
19	"(2) Grants, payments under contracts, and other ex-
20	penditures made for experiments and demonstration projects
21	under paragraph (1) shall be made from the Federal Hos-
22	pital Insurance Trust Fund (established by section 1817
23	of the Social Security Act) and the Federal Supplementary
24	Medical Insurance Trust Fund (established by section 1841
25	of the Social Security Act). Grants and payments under

1	contracts may be made either in advance or by way of reim-
2	bursement, as may be determined by the Secretary, and
3	shall be made in such installments and on such conditions
4	as the Secretary finds necessary to carry out the purpose of
5	this section. With respect to any such grant, payment, or
6	other expenditure, the amount to be paid from each of such
7	trust funds shall be determined by the Secretary, giving
8	due regard to the purposes of the experiment or project
9	involved."
10	(2) Section 402 (b) of such Amendments is amended—
11	(A) by striking out "experiment" each time it ap-
12	pears and inserting in lieu thereof "experiment or dem-
13	onstration project";
14	(B) by striking out "experiments" and inserting in
<b>1</b> 5	lieu thereof "experiments and projects";
16	(C) by striking out "reasonable charge" and insert-
17	ing in lieu thereof "reasonable charge, or to reimburse-
18	ment or payment only for such services or items as may
19	be specified in the experiment"; and
20	(D) by inserting before the period at the end thereof
21	the following: "; and no such experiment or project shall
22	be actually placed in operation until a written report
<b>2</b> 3	containing a full and complete description thereof has
24	been transmitted to the Committee on Ways and Means

1	of the House of Representatives and the Committee on
2	Finance of the Senate".
3	(3) Section 1875 (b) of the Social Security Act is
4	amended by striking out "experimentation" and inserting in
5	lieu thereof "experiments and demonstration projects".
6	LIMITATIONS ON COVERAGE OF COSTS UNDER
7	MEDICARE PROGRAM
8	SEC. 223. (a) The first sentence of section 1861 (v) (1)
9	of the Social Security Act is amended by inserting immedi-
10	ately before "determined" where it first appears the fol-
11	lowing: "the cost actually incurred, excluding therefrom any
12	part of incurred cost found to be unnecessary in the efficient
13	delivery of needed health services, and shall be".
14	(b) The third sentence of section 1861 (v) (1) of such
15	Act is amended by striking out the comma after "services"
16	where it last appears and inserting in lieu thereof the follow-
17	ing: ", may provide for the establishment of limits on the
18	direct or indirect overall incurred costs or incurred costs
19	of specific items or services or groups of items or services
20	to be recognized as reasonable based on estimates of the
21	costs necessary in the efficient delivery of needed health
	services to individuals covered by the insurance programs
<b>23</b>	-established under this title,".

(e) The fourth sentence of section 1861 (v) (1) of such

- 1 Act is amended by inserting after "services" where it first
- 2 appears the following: "(excluding therefrom any such costs,
- 3 including standby costs, which are determined in accordance
- 4 with regulations to be unnecessary in the efficient delivery
- 5 of services covered by the insurance programs established
- 6 under this title)".
- 7 (d) The fourth sentence of section 1861 (v) (1) of such-
- 8 Act is further amended by striking out "costs with respect"
- 9 where they first appear and inserting in lieu thereof the fel-
- 10 lowing: "necessary costs of efficiently delivering covered
- 11 services".
- 12 (e) Section 1866 (a) (2) (B) of such Act is amended
- 13 (1) by inserting "(i)" after "(B)", and (2) by adding
- 14 at the end thereof the following new clause:
- 15 "(ii) Where a provider of services customarily fur-
- 16 nishes an individual items or services which are more
- 17 expensive than the items or services determined to be neces-
- 18 sary in the efficient delivery of needed health services under
- 19 this title and which have not been requested by such indi-
- 20 vidual, such provider may also charge such individual or
- 21 other person for such more expensive items or services to
- the extent that the costs of (or, if less, the customary charges
- for) such more expensive items or services experienced by
- such provider in the second fiscal period immediately pre-
- ceding the fiscal period in which such charges are imposed

1	-exceed the cost of such items or services determined to be
2	necessary in the efficient delivery of needed health services
3	but only if—
4	"(I) the Secretary has provided notice to the
5	public of any charges being imposed on individuals en
6	titled to benefits under this title on account of costs is
7	excess of the costs determined to be necessary in the
8	efficient delivery of needed health services under this
9	title by particular providers of services in the area in
10	which such items or services are furnished, and
11	"(II) the provider of services has identified such
12	charges to such individual or other person, in such man-
13	ner as the Secretary may prescribe, as charges to meet
14	costs in excess of the cost determined to be necessary in
15	the efficient delivery of needed health services under this
16	title."
17	(f) Section 1861 (v) of such Act (as amended by sec-
18	tion 221 (c) (4) of this Act) is further amended by redesig-
19	nating paragraphs (4) and (5) as paragraphs (5) and
20 21	(6), respectively, and by inserting after paragraph (3) the
22	following new paragraph:
23	"(4) If a provider of services furnishes items or services
24	to an individual which are in excess of or more expensive
- <b>-</b>	than the items or services determined to be necessary in the

efficient delivery of needed health services and charges are

- 1 imposed for such more expensive items or services under the
- 2 authority granted in section 1866 (a) (2) (B) (ii), the
- 3 amount of payment with respect to such item or services
- 4 otherwise due such provider in any fiscal period shall be re-
- 5 duced to the extent that such payment plus such charges
- 6 exceed the cost actually incurred for such items or services in
- 7 the fiscal period in which such charges are imposed."
- 8 (g) Section 1866 (a) (2) of such Act is amended by
- 9 adding at the end thereof the following new subpara-
- 10 graph:
- 11 "(D) Where a provider of services customarily fur-
- 12 nishes items or services which are in excess of or more
- 13 expensive than the items or services with respect to which
- 14 payment may be made under this title, such provider,
- 15 notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this paragraph,
- 16 may not, under the authority of section 1866 (a) (2) (B)
- 17 (ii), charge any individual or other person any amount for
- 18 such items or services in excess of the amount of the payment
- 19 which may otherwise be made for such items or services
- 20 under this title if the admitting physician has a direct or
- 21 indirect financial interest in such provider."
- 22 (h) The amendments made by this section shall be
- 23 effective with respect to accounting periods beginning after
- 24 the date of the ensetment of this Act.

## 1 LIMITS ON PREVAILING CHARGE LEVELS

2	SEC. 224. (a) Section 1842 (b) (3) of the Social Secu-
3	rity Act is amended by adding at the end thereof the following
4	new sentences: "No charge may be determined to be reason
5	able in the case of bills submitted or requests for payment
6	made under this part after December 31, 1970, and before
7	July 1, 1971, if it exceeds the higher of (i) the prevailing
8	charge recognized by the carrier for similar services in the
9	same locality in administering this part on June 30, 1970,
10	or (ii) the prevailing charge level that, on the basis of sta-
11	tistical data and methodology acceptable to the Secretary,
12	would cover 75 percent of the customary charges made for
13	similar services in the same locality during the calendar year
14	1969. With respect to bills submitted or requests for payment
15	-made under this part after June 30, 1971, the charges recog-
	-nized as provailing within a locality may be increased in
	any fiscal year only to the extent found necessary, on the
18	basis of statistical data and methodology acceptable to the
19	Secretary, to cover 75 percent of the customary charges
20	made for similar services in the same locality during the last
21	preceding elapsed calendar year but may not be increased
22 23	(in the aggregate) beyond the levels described in clause (ii)
23 24	of the preceding sentence except to the extent that the Scere-
2 <del>1</del> 25	tary finds, on the basis of appropriate economic index data,
_~	that such adjustments are justified by economic changes. In

- 1 the case of medical services, supplies, and equipment that,
- 2 in the judgment of the Secretary, do not generally vary
- 3 significantly in quality from one supplier to another, the
- 4 charges incurred after June 30, 1971, determined to be rea-
- 5 sonable may exceed the lowest charge levels at which such
- 6 services, supplies, and equipment are widely available in a
- 7 locality only to the extent and under the circumstances
- 8 specified by the Secretary."
- 9 (b) Section 1903 of such Act is amended by adding
- 10 at the end thereof the following new subsection:
- 11 "(g) Payment under the preceding provisions of this
- 12 section shall not be made with respect to any amount paid
- 13 for items or services furnished under the plan after June 30,
- 14 1971, to the extent that such amount exceeds the charge
- 15 which would be determined to be reasonable for such items
- 16 or services under the third, fourth, and fifth sentences of
- 17 section 1842 (b) (3)."
- 18 (c) Section 506 of such Act is amended by adding
- 19 at the end thereof the following new subsection:
- 20 "(f) Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this
- 21 section, no payment shall be made to any State thereunder
- 22 with respect to any amount paid for items or services
- 23 furnished under the plan after June 30, 1971, to the extent
- 24 that such amount exceeds the charge which would be deter-
- 25 mined to be reasonable for such items or services under the
- 26 third, fourth, and fifth sentences of section 1842 (b) (3)."

ļ	ESTABLISHMENT OF INCENTIVES FOR STATES TO EMPHA-
2	SIZE OUTPATIENT CARE UNDER MEDICAID PROGRAMS
3	SEC. 225. (a) (1) Section 1903 of the Social Security
4	Act (as amended by section 228 of this Act) is further
5	amended by inserting after subsection (d) the following new
6	subsection:
7	"(e) The amount determined under subsection (a) (1)
8	for any State shall be adjusted as follows:
9	"(1) With respect to the following services fur-
<b>1</b> 0	nished under the State plan after December 31, 1971,
11	the Federal medical assistance percentage shall be in-
12	ereased by 25 per centum thereof, except that the Fed-
<b>1</b> 3	eral medical assistance percentage as so increased may
14	not exceed 95 per centum:
15	"(A) outpatient hospital services and clinic
16	services (other than physical therapy services);
17	and
<b>1</b> 8	"(B) home health care services (other than
19	physical therapy services); and
20	"(2) with respect to the following services fur-
21	nished under the State plan after December 31, 1971,
22	the Federal medical assistance percentage shall be de-
23 24	creased as follows:
	"(A) after an individual has received inpatient
25	hospital services (including services furnished in an

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

institution for tuberculosis) on sixty days (whether or not such days are consecutive) during any calendar year, the Federal medical assistance percentage with respect to any such services furnished thereafter to such individual in the same calendar vear shall be decreased by 33<sup>1</sup>/<sub>3</sub> per centum thereof; "(B) after an individual has received care as an inpatient in a skilled nursing home on ninety days (whether or not such days are consecutive) during any calendar year, the Federal medical assistance percentage with respect to any such care furnished thereafter to such individual in the same calendar vear shall be decreased by 331 per centum thereof; and "(C) after an individual has received inpatient services in a hospital for mental diseases on ninety days occurring after December 31, 1971 (whether or not such days are consecutive), the Federal medical assistance percentage with respect to any such services furnished to such individual on an additional two hundred and seventy-five days (whether or not such days are consecutive) shall be

decreased by 331 per centum thereof and no pay-

ment may be made under this title for any such

1	services furnished to such individual on any day
2	after such two hundred and seventy-five days.
3	In determining the number of days on which an individual
4	has received services described in this subsection, there
5	shall not be counted any days with respect to which such
6	individual is entitled to have payments made (in whole or
7	in part) on his behalf under section 1812."
8	(2) Section 1903 (a) (1) of such Act is amended by
9	inserting ", subject to subsection (e) of this section" after
10	"section 1905 (b)".
11	(b) (1) Section 1121 of such Act is amended by adding
12	at the end thereof the following new subsection:
13	"(f) (1) If the Secretary determines for any calendar
14	-quarter beginning after December 31, 1971, with respect to
<b>15</b>	any State that there does not exist a reasonable cost differ-
16	ential between the cost of skilled nursing home services and
17	the cost of intermediate care facility services in such State,
18	the Secretary may reduce the amount which would otherwise
19	be considered as expenditures for which payment may be
20	made under subsection (c) by an amount which in his judg-
21	ment is a reasonable equivalent of the difference between the
22	amount of the expenditures by such State for intermediate
23	care facility services and the amount that would have been
24	expended by such State for such services if there had been a
<b>25</b>	reasonable cost differential between the cost of skilled nursing

1	home services and the cost of intermediate care facility
2	-services.
3	"(2) In determining whether any such cost differential
4	in any State is reasonable the Secretary shall take into con-
5	sideration the range of such cost differentials in all States.
6	"(3) For the purposes of this subsection, the term 'cost
7	differential' for any State for any quarter means, as deter-
8	mined by the Secretary on the basis of the data for the most
9	recent calendar quarter for which satisfactory data are avail-
10	able, the excess of—
11	"(A) the average amount paid in such State (re-
12	gardless of the source of payment) per inpatient day
13	for skilled nursing home services, over
14	"(B) the average amount paid in such State (re-
15	gardless of the source of payment) per inpatient day
16	for intermediate care facility services."
17	(2) Section 1121 (e) of such Act is amended by adding
18	at the end thereof the following new sentence: "Effective
19	January 1, 1972, the term 'intermediate care facility' shall
20	not include any public institution (or distinct part thereof)
21	for mental diseases or mental defects."
<b>22</b>	-PAYMENT FOR SERVICES OF TEACHING PHYSICIANS UNDER
23	MEDICARE PROGRAM
24	SEC. 226. (a) (1) Section 1833 (a) (1) of the Social
25	Security Act is amended by striking out "and" before "(B)",
26	and by inserting before the semicolon at the end thereof the

1 following: ", and (C) with respect to expenses incurred for 2 services which are furnished to a patient of a hospital by a 3 physician and for which payment may be made under this 4 part, the amounts paid shall be equal to 100 percent of the 5 reasonable cost, to the hospital or other medical service orga-6 -nization incurring such cost, of such services-if (i) (I) such services are furnished under circumstances comparable to the 8 circumstances under which similar services are furnished to 9 all persons, or all members of a class of persons, who are 10 patients in such hospital and who are not covered by the 11 insurance program established by this part (and not covered 12 under a State plan approved under title XIX), and (II) 13 none of such persons, or members of such class of persons, 14 are required to pay the reasonable charges for such similar services even when they have private insurance covering such similar services (or are otherwise able to pay reasonable 17 charges for all such similar services as determined in accord-18 ance with regulations), or (ii) (I) none of the patients in such hospital who are covered by such program are required to pay any charges for services furnished by physicians, or (II) such patients are required to pay reason-22 able charges for such services but payment of the deductible and coinsurance applicable to such services is not obtained from or on behalf of some or all of them, in addition to the <sup>25</sup> portion of such charges payable as insurance benefits under

1 this part, even though they have private insurance covering 2 such services (or are otherwise able to pay reasonable 3 charges for all such services as determined in accordance with regulations)". (2) The first sentence of section 1833 (b) of such Act 5 is amended by striking out "and" before "(2)", and by inserting before the period at the end thereof the following: "and (3) such total amount shall not include expenses incurred for services to which clause (C) of subsection (a) (1) 10 applies." 11 (b) Section 1861 (v) (1) of such Act is amended— 12 (1) by inserting "(A)" after "(1)"; 13 (2) by striking out "(A) take" and "(B) provide" and inserting in lieu thereof "(i) take" and "(ii) 14 **15** provide", respectively. 16 (3) by inserting "(B)" immediately preceding 17 "Such regulations in the case of extended care services"; 18 and 19 (4) by adding at the end thereof the following new 20 -subparagraph: 21 "(C) Where a hospital has an arrangement with a medical school under which the faculty of such school prevides services at such hospital and under which reimbursement to such school by such hospital is less than the reason-

able cost of such services to the medical school, the reasonable

1	cost of such services to the medical school shall be included
2	in determining the reasonable cost to the hospital of furnish-
3	ing services for which payment may be made under part A,
4	but only if—
5	"(i) payment for such services as furnished under
6	such arrangement would be made under part A to the
7	hospital if such services were furnished by the hospital,
8	and
9	"(ii) such hospital pays to the medical school the
10	reasonable cost of such services to the medical school."
11	(e) (1) The amendments made by subsection (a) shall
12	apply with respect to bills submitted and requests for pay-
13	ment made after the date of the enactment of this Act.
14	(2) The amendments made by subsection (b) shall be
<b>15</b>	effective with respect to accounting periods beginning after
16	-the date of the enactment of this Act.
17	AUTHORITY OF SECRETARY TO TERMINATE PAYMENTS
18	TO SUPPLIERS OF SERVICES
19	SEC. 227. (a) Section 1862 of the Social Security Act
20	(as amended by section 201 of this Act) is further amended
21	by adding at the end thereof the following new subsection:
22	"(d) (1) No payment may be made under this title
23	with respect to any item or services furnished to an individ-
24	ual by a person where the Secretary determines under this

subsection that such person-

1	"(A) has made, or caused to be made, any false
2	statement or representation of a material fact for use in
3	an application for payment under this title or for use in
4	determining the right to a payment under this title;
5	"(B) has submitted, or caused to be submitted, bills
6	or requests for payment under this title containing
7	charges (or in applicable cases requests for payment of
8	costs to such person) for services rendered which the
9	Secretary finds, with the concurrence of the appropriate
10	-program review team appointed pursuant to paragraph
11	(4), to be substantially in excess of such person's cus-
12	tomary charges (or in applicable cases substantially in
13	excess of such person's costs) for such services, unless
l <b>4</b>	the Secretary finds there is good cause for such bills or
15	requests containing such charges (or in applicable cases,
16	such costs); or
17	"(C) has furnished services or supplies which are
18	determined by the Secretary, with the concurrence
19	of the members of the appropriate program review team
20	appointed pursuant to paragraph (4) who are physi-
21	cians or other professional personnel in the health care
22	field, to be substantially in excess of the needs of indi-
23	viduals or to be harmful to individuals or to be of s
24	-grossly inferior quality.

"(2) A determination made by the Secretary under

this subsection shall be effective at such time and upon such reasonable notice to the public and to the person furnishing the services involved as may be specified in regulations. Such determination shall be effective with respect to services furnished to an individual on or after the effective date of such determination (except that in the case of inpatient hospital services, posthospital extended care services, and home health services such determination shall be effective in the manner provided in section 1866(b) (3) and (4) with respect to terminations of agreements), and shall remain in effect until the Secretary finds and gives reasonable notice 12 to the public that the basis for such determination has been removed and that there is reasonable assurance that it will 14 not recur. 15 "(3) Any person furnishing services described in paragraph (1) who is dissatisfied with a determination made by the Secretary under this subsection shall be entitled to reasonable notice and opportunity for a hearing thereon by the Secretary to the same extent as is provided in section 20 205 (b), and to judicial review of the Secretary's final decision after such hearing as is provided in section 205 (g). 22 "(4) For the purposes of paragraph (1) (B) and (C) of this subsection, and clause (F) of section 1866 (b) (2), the Secretary shall, after consultation with appropriate State and local professional societies, the appropriate carriers and

1	intermediaries utilized in the administration of this title, and
2	consumer representatives familiar with the health needs of
3	residents of the State, appoint one or more program review
4	teams (composed-of physicians, other professional personnel
5	in the health care field, and consumer representatives) in
6	each State which shall, among other things
7	"(A) undertake to review such statistical data on
8	program utilization as may be submitted by the
9	-Secretary,
10	"(B) submit to the Secretary periodically, as may
11	be prescribed in regulations, a report on the results of
12	such review, together with recommendations with respect
13	thereto,
14	"(C) undertake to review particular cases where
<b>1</b> 5	there is a likelihood that the person or persons furnishing
16	services and supplies to individuals may come within the
17	provisions of paragraph (1) (B) and (C) of this sub-
18	section or clause (F) of section 1866 (b) (2), and
19	"(D) submit to the Secretary periodically, as may
20	be prescribed in regulations, a report of cases reviewed
21	pursuant to subparagraph (C) along with an analysis of,
22	and recommendations with respect to, such cases."
23	(b) Section 1866 (b) (2) of such Act is amended by
24	striking out the period at the end thereof and inserting in
25	lieu thereof the following: ", or (D) that such provider

<b>.1</b> .	has made, or cause to be made, any talse statement or rep
2	resentation of a material fact for use in an application for
3	payment under this title or for use in determining the right
4	to a payment under this title, or (E) that such provider
5	has submitted, or caused to be submitted, requests for pay
6	ment under this title of amounts for rendering services sub-
7	stantially in excess of the costs incurred by such provider
8	for rendering such services, or (F) that such provider has
9	furnished services or supplies which are determined by the
10	Secretary, with the concurrence of the members of the
11	appropriate program review team appointed pursuant to
12	section 1862 (d) (4) who are physicians or other profes-
13	sional personnel in the health care field, to be substantially
14	in excess of the needs of individuals or to be harmful to
15	individuals or to be of a grossly inferior quality."
16	(e) Section 1903 (g) of such Act (as added by section
17	224 (b) of this Act) is further amended by striking out
18	"shall not be made" and all that follows and inserting in
19	lieu thereof the following: "shall not be made-
20	"(1) with respect to any amount paid for items or
21	services furnished under the plan after June 30, 1971,
22	to the extent that such amount exceeds the charge which
23	would be determined to be reasonable for such items or
24	services under the third, fourth, and fifth sentences of
25	section 1849 (h) /2) · or

1	"(2) with respect to any amount paid for services
2	furnished under the plan after June 30, 1971, by a pro-
3	vider or other person during any period of time, if pay-
4	ment may not be made under title XVIII with respect
5	to services furnished by such provider or person during
6	such period of time solely by reason of a determination
7	by the Secretary under section 1862 (d) (1) or under
8	elause (D) - (E), or (F) of section 1866 (b) (2)."
9	(d) Section 506 (f) of such Act (as added by section
10	224 (c) of this Act) is further amended by striking out "no
11	payment shall be made" and all that follows and inserting in
12	lieu thereof the following: "no payment shall be made to
13	any State thereunder—
14	"(1) with respect to any amount paid for items
<b>15</b>	or services furnished under the plan after June 30, 1971,
16	to the extent that such amount exceeds the charge which
17	would be determined to be reasonable for such items or
18	services under the third, fourth, and fifth sentences of
19	section 1842 (b) (3); or
20	"(2) with respect to any amount paid for services
21	furnished under the plan after June 30, 1971, by s
22	provider or other person during any period of time, if
23	payment may not be made under title XVIII with
24	respect to services furnished by such provider or person
25	during such period of time solely by reason of a determi-
26	nation by the Secretary under section 1862 (d) (1) or

	99
1	under clause (D), (E), or (F) of section 1866 (b)
2	<del>(2)."</del>
3	ELIMINATION OF REQUIREMENT THAT STATES MOVE
4	TOWARD COMPREHENSIVE MEDICAID PROGRAMS
5	SEC. 228. Section 1903 (e) of the Social Security Act,
6	and section 2 (b) of Public Law 91-56 (approved August
7	9, 1969), are repealed.
8	DETERMINATION OF REASONABLE COST OF INPATIENT
9	HOSPITAL SERVICES UNDER MEDICAID AND MATERNAL
10	AND CHILD HEALTH PROGRAMS
11	SEC. 229. (a) Section 1902 (a) (13) (D) of the Social
12	-Security Act is amended to read as follows:
13	"(D) for payment of the reasonable cost of in-
14	patient hospital services provided under the plan, as
15	determined in accordance with methods and stand-
16	ards which shall be developed by the State and in-
17	cluded in the plan and shall not result in any part
18	of the cost of any such services provided to indi-
19	viduals covered by the plan being borne by indi-
20	viduals not so covered or in any part of the cost
21	of any such services provided to individuals not so
22	covered being borne by the plan, except that the
23	reasonable cost of any such services as determined
24	under such methods and standards shall not exceed
<b>25</b>	the amount which would be determined under

-the amount which would be determined under

1	section 1861 (v) as the reasonable cost of such
2	services for purposes of title XVIII;".
3	(b) Section 505 (a) (6) of such Act is amended to read
4	as follows:
5	"(6) provides for payment of the reasonable cost of
6	inpatient hospital services provided under the plan, as
7	determined in accordance with methods and standards
8	which shall be developed by the State and included in the
9	-plan and shall not result in any part of the cost of any
10	such services provided to individuals covered by the plan
11	being borne by individuals not so covered or in any part
12	of the costs of any such services provided to individuals
13	not so covered being borne by the plan, except that the
14	reasonable cost of any such services as determined under
15	such methods and standards shall not exceed the amount
16	which would be determined under section 1861 (v) as
17	the reasonable cost of such services for purposes of title
18	XVIII;".
19	(c) The amendments made by this section shall be
20	effective July 1, 1972 (or earlier if the State plan so
21	<del>provides).</del>
22	AMOUNT OF PAYMENTS WHERE CUSTOMARY CHARGES FOR
23	SERVICES FURNISHED ARE LESS THAN REASONABLE
24	<del>-Cost</del>
<b>25</b>	SEC. 230. (a) Section 1814 (b) of the Social Security

26 Act is amended to read as follows:

1	"Amount Paid to Providers
2	"(b) The amount paid to any provider of services with
3	respect to services for which payment may be made under
4	this part shall, subject to the provisions of section 1813,
5	be-
6	"(1) the lesser of (A) the reasonable cost of such
7	services, as determined under section 1861 (v), or (B)
8	the customary charges with respect to such services; or
9	"(2) if such services are furnished by a public
10	provider of services free of charge or at nominal charges
11	to the public, the amount determined on the basis of
12	those items (specified in regulations prescribed by the
13	Secretary) included in the determination of such reason-
14	able cost which the Secretary finds will provide fair com-
15	pensation to such provider for such services."
16	(b) Section 1833 (a) (2) of such Act is amended to
17	read as follows:
18	"(2) in the case of services described in section
19	1832 (a) (2) 80 percent of
20	"(A) the lesser of (i) the reasonable cost of
21	such services, as determined under section 1861 (v),
22	or (ii) the customary charges with respect to such
23	services; or-
24	"(B) if such services are furnished by a public
25	provider of services free of charge or at nominal

T	charges to the public, the amount determined in
2	accordance with section 1814 (b) (2)."
3	(c) Section 1903 (g) of such Act (as added by section
4	224 (b) and amended by section 227 (c) of this Act) is fur-
5	ther amended by striking out the period at the end of para-
6	graph (2) and inserting in lieu thereof "; or", and by
7	adding after paragraph (2) the following new paragraph:
8	"(3) with respect to any amount expended for in-
9	patient hospital services furnished under the plan to the
10	extent that such amount exceeds the hospital's customary
11	charges with respect to such services or (if such services
12	are furnished under the plan by a public institution free
13	of charge or at nominal charges to the public) exceeds
14	an amount determined on the basis of those items (speci-
15	fied in regulations prescribed by the Secretary) included
16	in the determination of such payment which the Sec-
17	retary finds will provide fair compensation to such insti-
18	*tution for such services."
19	(d) Section 506 (f) of such Act (as added by section
20	224 (c) and amended by section 227 (d) of this Act) is
21	further amended by striking out the period at the end of para-
22	graph (2) and inserting in lieu thereof "; or", and by
23	adding after paragraph (2) the following new paragraph:
24	"(3) with respect to any amount expended for in-
<b>25</b>	patient hospital services furnished under the plan to the

.I	extent that such amount exceeds the hospital's customary
2	charges with respect to such services or (if such services
3	are furnished under the plan by a public institution free
4	of charge or at nominal charges to the public) exceeds
5	an amount determined on the basis of those items (speci-
6	fied in regulations prescribed by the Secretary) in-
7	cluded in the determination of such payment which the
8	Secretary finds will provide fair compensation to such
9	-institution for such services."
10	(c) Clause (2) of the second sentence of section 509 (a)
11	of such Act (as amended by section 221 (c) (3) of this Act)
12	is further amended by inserting "(A)" before "the reason-
13	able cost", and by inserting after "under the project," the fol-
14	lowing: "or (B) if less, the customary charges with respect
15	to such services provided under the project, or (C) if such
16	services are furnished under the project by a public institu-
17	tion free of charge or at nominal charges to the public, an
18	amount determined on the basis of those items (specified in
19	regulations prescribed by the Secretary) included in the
<ul><li>20</li><li>21</li></ul>	determination of such reasonable cost which the Secretary
22	finds will provide fair compensation to such institution for
23	such services".
24	(f) The amendments made by subsections (a) and (b)
	shall apply to services furnished by hospitals and extended

care facilities in accounting periods beginning after June 30,

1	1971, and to services furnished by home health agencies in
2	accounting periods beginning after June 30, 1971. The
3	amendments made by subsections (e), (d), and (e) shall
4	apply with respect to services furnished in calendar quarters
5	beginning after June 30, 1971.
6	INSTITUTIONAL PLANNING UNDER MEDICARE PROGRAM
7	SEC. 231. (a) The first sentence of section 1861 (c) of
8	the Social Security Act is amended
9	(1) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
10	(7);
11	(2) by redesignating paragraph (8) as paragraph
12	<del>(9) ; and</del>
13	(3) by inserting after paragraph (7) the following
14	new paragraph:
15	"(8) has in effect an overall plan and budget that
16	meets the requirements of subsection (z); and".
17	(b) Section 1861 (f) (2) of such Act is amended to
18	read as follows:
19	"(2) satisfies the requirements of paragraphs (3)
20	through (9) of subsection (e);".
21	(c) Section 1861 (g) (2) of such Act is amonded to
22	read as follows:
23	"(2) satisfies the requirements of paragraphs (3)
24	through (9) of subsection (e);".

1	(d) The first sentence of section 1861 (j) of such Act
2	is amended—
3	(1) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
4	<del>(9);</del>
5	(2) by redesignating paragraph (10) as paragraph
6	<del>(11); and</del>
7	(3) by inserting after paragraph (9) the following
8	new paragraph:
9	"(10) has in effect an overall plan and budget
10	that meets the requirements of subsection (z); and"
11	(e) Section 1861 (e) of such Act is amended-
12	(1) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
13	<del>-(4);</del>
14	(2) by redesignating paragraph (5) as paragraph
15	(6); and
16	(3) by inserting after paragraph (4) the fellowing
17	new paragraph:
18	"(5) has in effect an overall plan and budget that
19	meets the requirements of subsection (z); and".
20	(f) Section 1861 of such Act is further amended by
21	adding at the end thereof the following new subsection:
22	"Institutional Planning
23	"(z) An overall plan and budget of a hospital, extended

1	eare facility, or home health agency shall be considered suffi-
2	eient if it—
3	"(1) provides for an annual operating budget
4	which includes all anticipated income and expenses re-
5	-lated to items which would, under generally accepted ac-
6	counting principles, be considered income and expense
7	-items;
8	"(2) provides for a capital expenditures plan for at
9	least a 3-year period (including the year to which the
10	operating budget described in subparagraph (1) is ap-
11	plicable) which includes and identifies in detail the an-
12	ticipated sources of financing for, and the objectives of,
13	each anticipated expenditure in excess of \$100,000 re-
14	lated to the acquisition of land, the improvement of land,
<b>1</b> 5	buildings, and equipment, and the replacement, modern-
<b>1</b> 6	ization, and expansion of buildings and equipment which
17	would, under generally accepted accounting principles,
18	be considered capital items;
19	"(3) provides for review and updating at least
<b>2</b> 0	annually; and
21	"(4) is prepared, under the direction of the gov-
22	erning body of the institution or agency, by a committee
23	consisting of representatives of the governing body, the
24	administrative staff, and the medical staff (if any) of
25	the institution or agency."

```
(g) (1) Section 1814(a) (2) (C) and section 1814
1
    (a) (2) (D) of such Act are each amended by striking out
   "and (8)" and inserting in lieu thereof "and (9)".
        (2) Section 1863 of such Act is amended by striking
4
   out "subsections (e) (8), (f) (4), (g) (4), (j) (10), and
    (o) (5)" and inserting in lieu thereof "subsections (e) (9),
6
    (f) (4), (g) (4), (i) (11), and (o) (6).
 8
        (h) Section 1865 of such Act is amended—
           (1) by striking out "(except paragraph (6)
 9
       -thereof)" in the first sentence and inserting in lieu
10
       thereof "(except paragraphs (6) and (8) thereof)"
11
12
        and
13
            (2) by striking out the second sentence and insert-
14
        ing in lieu thereof the following: "If such Commission,
       as a condition for accreditation of a hospital, (1) re-
15
16
        quires a utilization review plan as defined in section
17
        1861 (k) or imposes another requirement which serves
18
        substantially the same purpose, or (2) requires insti-
19
        tutional plans as defined in section 1861 (z) or imposes
20
       another requirement which serves substantially the
21
        same purpose, the Secretary is authorized to find that
22
        all institutions so accredited by the Commission comply
23
        also with section 1861 (e) (6) or 1861 (e) (8), as the
24
        case may be."
```

(i) The amendments made by this section shall apply

25

1	with respect to any provider of services for fiscal years (of
2	such provider) beginning after the fifth month following
3	the month in which this Act is enacted.
4	PAYMENTS TO STATES UNDER MEDICALD PROGRAMS FOR
5	INSTALLATION AND OPERATION OF CLAIMS PROC
6	ESSING AND INFORMATION RETRIEVAL SYSTEMS
7	-Sec. 232. (a) Section 1903 (a) of the Social Security
8	Act is amended by redesignating paragraph (3) as para-
9	graph (4), and by inserting after paragraph (2) the
10	following new paragraph:
11	"(3) an amount equal to—
<b>12</b>	"(A) 90 per centum of so much of the sums
13	expended during such quarter as are attributable
14	to the design, development, or installation of such
15	mechanized claims processing and information re-
16	trioval systems as the Secretary determines are
17	likely to provide more efficient, economical, and
18	effective administration of the plan and to be com-
19	patible with the claims processing and information
20	retrieval systems utilized in the administration of
21	title XVIII, including the State's share of the cost
22	ef installing such a system to be used jointly in the
23	administration of such State's plan and the plan of
24	any other State engroved under this title and

"(B) 75 per centum of so much of the sums

1.	expended during such quarter as are attributable to
2	the operation of systems of the type described in
3	subparagraph (A) (whether or not designed, de-
4	veloped, or installed with assistance under such sub-
5	paragraph) which are approved by the Secretary
6	and which include provision for prompt written
7	notice to each individual who is furnished services
8	covered by the plan of the specific services so cov-
9	ered, the name of the person or persons furnishing
10	the services, the date or dates on which the services
11	were furnished, and the amount of the payment or
<b>12</b>	payments made under the plan on account of the
13	services; plus".
14	(b) The amendments made by subsection (a) shall
15	apply with respect to expenditures under State plans ap-
16	proved under title XIX of the Social Security Act made
17	after June 30, 1971.
18	ADVANCE APPROVAL OF EXTENDED CARE AND HOME
19	HEALTH COVERAGE UNDER MEDICARE PROGRAM
20	SEC. 233. (a) Section 1862 of the Social Security Act
21	(as amended by sections 201 and 227 (a) of this Act) is
22	further amended by adding at the end thereof the following
23	-new subsection:
24	"(e) (1) In any case where post-hospital extended care

1	services or post-hospital home health services are furnished
2	to an individual and—
3	"(A) a physician provides the certification referred
4	to in subparagraph (C) or (D) of section 1814 (a)
5	(2), as the case may be, and the condition of the indi-
6	vidual with respect to which such certification is made is
7	a condition designated in regulations,
8	"(B) such physician (in the case of such extended
9	care services) submitted to the extended care facility
10	which is to provide such services, prior to the admission
11	of such individual to such facility, a plan for the furnish-
12	ing of such services, or (in the case of such home health
13	services) submitted to the home health agency which
14	is to furnish such services, prior to the first visit to such
<b>1</b> 5	individual, a plan specifying the type and frequency of
16	the services required, and
17	"(C) there is compliance with such other require-
18	ments and procedures as may be specified in regulations,
<b>1</b> 9	the provisions of paragraphs (1) and (9) of subsection (a)
<b>2</b> 0	shall not apply (except as may be provided in section 1814
21	(a) (7)) for such periods of time, with respect to such
<b>22</b>	conditions of the individual, as may be prescribed in
23	regulations.
24	"(2) In specifying the conditions included under para-
25	graph (1) and the periods for which paragraphs (1) and

- 1 (9) of subsection (a) shall not apply, the Secretary shall
- <sup>2</sup> take into account the medical severity of such conditions.
- 3 the period over which such conditions generally require the
- 4 services specified in subparagraphs (C) and (D) of section
- 5 1814 (a) (2), the length of stay in an institution generally
- 6 needed for the treatment of such conditions, and such other
- 7 factors affecting the type of care to be provided as the
- 8 Secretary deems pertinent.
- 9 "(3) If the Secretary determines with respect to a
- 10 physician that such physician is submitting with some fre-
- 11 quency (A) erroneous certifications that individuals have
- 12 conditions designated in regulations as provided in this sub-
- 13 section or (B) plans for providing services which are
- 14 inappropriate, the provisions of paragraph (1) shall not
- 15 apply, after the effective date of such determination, in any
- 16 case in which such physician submits a certification or plan
- 17 referred to in subparagraph (A) or (B) of such paragraph."
- (b) The amendments made by this section shall be
- 19 effective with respect to admissions to extended care facili-
- 20 ties, and home health plans initiated, on or after January
- 21 1, 1972,
- 22 PROHIBITION AGAINST REASSIGNMENT OF CLAIMS TO
- 23 BENEFITS
- SEC. 234. (a) Section 1842 (b) of the Social Security
- 25 Act is amended by adding at the end thereof the following
- 26 new paragraph:

1	"(5) No payment under this part for a service provided
2	to any individual shall (except as provided in section 1870)
3	be made to anyone other than such individual or (pursuant
4	to an assignment described in subparagraph (B) (ii) of
5	paragraph (3)) the physician or other person who provided
6	the service, except that payment may be made (A) to the
7	employer of such physician or other person if such physician
8	or other person is required as a condition of his employment
9	to turn over his fee for such service to his employer, or (B)
10	(where the service was provided in a hospital, clinic, or
11	other facility) to the facility in which the service was pro-
12	vided if there is a contractual arrangement between such
13	physician or other person and such facility under which such
14	facility submits the bill for such service."
<b>1</b> 5	(b) Section 1902 (a) of such Act is amended—
16	(1) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
17	<del>(29) ;</del>
18	(2) by striking out the period at the end of para-
19	graph (30) and inserting in lieu thereof "; and"; and
20	(3) by inserting after paragraph (30) the follow-
21	ing new paragraph:
22	"(31) provide that no payment under the plan for
23	any care or service provided to an individual by a phy-
24	sician, dentist, or other individual practitioner shall be
25	made to anyone other than such individual or such phy-

1	-sician, dentist, or practitioner, except that payment may
2	be made (A) to the employer of such physician, dentist,
3	-or practitioner if such physician, dentist, or practitioner
4	is required as a condition of his employment to turn over
5	his fee for such care or service to his employer, or (B)
6	-(where the care or service was provided in a hospital,
7	clinic, or other facility) to the facility in which the care
8	or service was provided if there is a contractual arrange-
9	-ment between such physician, dentist, or practitioner and
10	such facility under which such facility submits the bill
11	for such care or service."
12	-(e) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall ap-
13	ply wth respect to bills submitted and requests for payments
14	-made after the date of the enactment of this Act. The
15	amendments made by subsection (b) shall be effective
16	July 1, 1972 (or earlier if the State plan se provides).
17	UTILIZATION REVIEW REQUIREMENTS FOR HOSPITALS AND
18	-SKILLED NURSING HOMES UNDER MEDICAID AND MA-
19	TERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH PROGRAMS
20	SEC. 235. (a) (1) Section 1903 (g) of the Social Se-
21	curity Act (as added by section 224 (b) and amended by
22	sections 227 (c) and 230 (c) of this Act) is further amended
23	by striking out the period at the end of paragraph (3) and
	inserting in lieu thereof "; or", and by adding after para-
<b>25</b>	graph (3) the following new paragraph:

T	(4) with respect to any amount expended for care
2	or services furnished under the plan by a hospital or
3	skilled nursing home unless such hospital or skilled nurs-
4	-ing home has in effect a utilization review plan which
5	-meets the requirements imposed by section 1861 (k) for
6	-purposes of title XVIII; and if such hospital or skilled
7	- nursing home has in effect such a utilization review plan-
8	-for purposes of title XVIII, such plan shall serve as the
9	-plan required by this subsection (with the same stand-
10	ards and procedures and the same review committee or
11	group) as a condition of payment under this title."
12	(2) Section 1902 (a) (30) of such Act is amended by
13	inserting "(including but not limited to utilization review-
14	plans as provided for in section 1903 (g) (4))" after "plan"
15	where it first appears.
16	(b) Section 506 (f) of such Act (as added by section-
17	224 (c) and amended by sections 227 (d) and 230 (d) of
18	this Act) is further amended by striking out the period at
19	the end of paragraph (3) and inserting in lieu thereof "; or",
20	and by adding after paragraph (3) the following new
21	<del>paragraph.</del>
22	"(4) with respect to any amount expended for
23	-services furnished under the plan by a hospital unless
24	such hospital has in effect a utilization review plan which
25	mosts the requirement imposed by section 1861 (k) for

- 1 purposes of title XVIII; and if such hospital has in
- 2 -effect such a utilization review plan for purposes of title-
- 3 -XVIII, such plan shall serve as the plan required by
- 4 this subsection (with the same standards and procedures
- 5 and the same review committee or group) as a condition
- 6 of payment under this title."
- 7 -(e) (1) The amendments made by subsections (a) (1)
- 8 and (b) shall apply with respect to services furnished in
- 9 calendar quarters beginning after June 30, 1972.
- 10 (2) The amendment made by subsection (a) (2) shall
- 11 be effective July 1, 1972.
- 12 FLIMINATION OF REQUIREMENT THAT COST-SHARING
- 13 CHARGES IMPOSED ON INDIVIDUALS OTHER THAN
- 14 -CASH RECIPIENTS UNDER MEDICAID DE RELATED TO
- 15 THEIR INCOME
- 16 SEC. 236. (a) Section 1902 (a) (14) of the Social
- 17 Security Act is amended to read as follows:
- 18 "(14) provide that in the case of individuals re-
- 19 <u>ceiving aid or assistance under State plans approved</u>
- 20 under titles I, X, XIV, and XVI, and part A of title
- 21 IV, no deduction, cost sharing, or similar charge will-
- 22 be imposed under the plan on the individual with respect
- 23 to services furnished him under the plan;".
- 24 (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall be

1	offective January 1, 1972 (or earlier if the State plan so
2	<del>provides).</del>
3	NOTIFICATION OF UNNECESSARY ADMISSION TO A HOSPITAL
4	OR EXTENDED CARE FACILITY UNDER MEDICARE
5	-PROGRAM-
6	-SEC. 237. (a) Section 1814 (a) (7) of the Social
7	Security Act is amended by striking out "as described in sec-
8	tion 1861 (k) (4)" and inserting in lieu thereof "as described
9	in section 1861 (k) (4), including any finding made in the
10	course of a sample or other review of admissions to the
11	institution".
<b>12</b>	-(b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall
13	apply with respect to services furnished after the second
14	month following the month in which this Act is enacted.
15	USE OF STATE HEALTH AGENCY TO PERFORM CERTAIN
16	FUNCTIONS UNDER MEDICAID AND MATERNAL AND
17	-CHILD HEALTH PROGRAMS
18	-SEC. 238. (a) Section 1902 (a) (9) of the Social Secu-
19	rity Act is amended to read as follows:
20	<del>"(9) provide</del>
21	"(A) that the State health agency shall be
22	-responsible for establishing and maintaining health
23	standards for private or public institutions in which
24	recipients of medical assistance under the plan may
<b>25</b>	manaria com commissa and

-receive care or services, and

1	"(B) for the establishment or designation of a
2	-State authority or authorities which shall be respon-
3	-sible for establishing and maintaining standards,
4	-other than these relating to health, for such
5	-institutions;".
6	-(b) Section 1902 (a) of such Act (as amended by
7	-section 234 (b) of this Act) is further amended-
8	-(1) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
9	<del>-(30) ;</del>
10	-(2) by striking out the period at the end of para-
1	-graph (31) and inserting in lieu thereof "; and"; and
12	-(3) by inserting after paragraph (31) the follow-
13	ing new paragraph:
4	-"(32) provide
15	"(A) that the State health agency shall be-
<b>16</b>	-responsible for establishing a plan, consistent with
<b>L</b> 7	-regulations prescribed by the Secretary, for the
18	-review by appropriate professional health person-
19	-nel of the appropriateness and quality of care and
20	-services furnished to recipients of medical assistance
21	-under the plan in order to provide guidance with
22	respect thereto in the administration of the plan to
23	the State agency established or designated pursuant
24	to paragraph (5) and, where applicable, to the

1	-State agency described in the last sentence of this
2	subsection; and
3	"(B) that the State health agency, or, if the
4	- services of another State or local agency are being
5	utilized by the Secretary for the purpose specified
6	-in the first sentence of section 1864 (a), such other
7	-agency, will perform for the State agency adminis-
8	tering or supervising the administration of the plan-
9	approved under this title the function of determining
10	-whether institutions and agencies meet the require-
11	-ments for participation in the program under such
<b>12</b>	plan."
<b>1</b> 3	(c) Section 505 (a) of such Act is amended—
14	(1) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
<b>1</b> 5	<del>-(13);-</del>
<b>1</b> 6	(2) by striking out the period at the end of para-
17	graph (14) and inserting in lieu thereof "; and"; and
18	-(3) by adding after paragraph (14) the fellowing
19	new paragraph:
20	<del>"(15) provides</del>
21	"(A) that the State health agency shall be
22	responsible for establishing a plan, consistent with
23	regulations prescribed by the Secretary, for the re-
24	-view by appropriate professional health personnel of
25	-the appropriateness and quality of care and services-

1	turnished to recipients of services under the plan-
2	- and, where applicable, for providing guidance with-
3	-respect thereto to the other State agency referred-
4	-to in paragraph (2); and-
5	"(B) that the State health agency, or, if the
6	services of another State or local agency are being
7	-utilized by the Secretary for the purpose specified in-
8	-the first sentence of section 1864 (a), such other
9	-agency, will perform the function of determining
10	-whether institutions and agencies meet the require-
11	-ments for participation in the program under the
12	plan under this title."
13	-(d) The amendments made by this section shall be effec-
14	-tive July 1, 1972.
15	PAYMENTS TO HEALTH MAINTENANCE ORGANIZATIONS
16	-SEC. 239. (a) Title XVIII of the Social Security Act
17	-is amended by adding after section 1875 the following new
	-section:
	"PAYMENTS TO HEALTH MAINTENANCE ORGANIZATIONS
	"SEC. 1876. (a) (1) In lieu of amounts which would
	otherwise be payable pursuant to sections 1814 (b) and 1833-
	(a), the Secretary is authorized to determine, by actuarial
	-methods, as provided in this section, with respect to any
	health maintenance organization, a combined part A and
25	now D necessative nor conite water of necessant for corriers

1 provided for enrollees in such organization who are en-2 titled to hospital insurance benefits under part A and enrolled 3 for medical insurance benefits under part B. "(2) Such rate of payment shall be determined annually 4 5 in accordance with regulations, taking into account the 6 -health maintenance organization's premiums with respect to 7 its other enrollees (with appropriate actuarial adjustments 8 to reflect the difference in utilization between its members 9 who are under age 65 and its members who are age 65 and 10 Lover) and such other pertinent factors as the Secretary may <sup>11</sup> -prescribe in regulations, and shall be designed to provide 12 payment at a level not to exceed 95 per centum of the amount that the Secretary estimates (with appropriate adjustments to assure actuarial equivalence) would be payable for services covered under this title if such services were to 16 -be furnished by other than health maintenance organizations. 17 "(3) The payments to health maintenance organiza-18 tions under this subparagraph shall be made from the Fed--eral Hospital Insurance Trust Fund and the Federal Sup-20 plementary Medical Insurance Trust Fund. The portion of 21 such payment to such an organization for a month to be paid 22 by the latter trust fund shall be equal to 200 percent of the -product of (A) the number of covered enrollees of such 24 organization for such month, and (B) the monthly premium

rate for supplementary medical insurance for such month

1	as has been determined and promulgated under section 1839
2	(b) (2). The remainder of such payment shall be paid by
3	-the former trust fund.
4	"(b) The term 'health maintenance organization' means
5	a public or private organization which—
6	"(1) provides, either directly or through arrange-
7	-ments with others, health services to enrollees on a per-
8	capita prepayment basis;
9	-"(2) provides with respect to enrollees to whom
10	this section applies (through institutions, entities, and
11	-persons meeting the applicable requirements of section-
12	-1861) all of the services and benefits covered under
13	parts A and B of this title;
14	"(3) provides physicians' services directly through
<b>15</b>	-physicians who are either employees or partners of such
16	-organization or under an arrangement with an organized
17	group or groups of physicians which is or are reimbursed
18	-for services on the basis of an aggregate fixed sum or on
19	-a per capita basis;
20	"(4) demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Score-
21	-tary proof of financial responsibility and proof of capa-
22	bility to provide comprehensive health care services,
23	-including institutional services, efficiently, effectively,
24	J

1	"(5) has enrolled members at least half of whom
2	-consist of individuals under age 65;
3	-"(6) has arrangements for assuring that the health
4	services required by its members are received promptly
5	and appropriately and that the services that are received
6	-measure up to quality standards which it establishes in
7	accordance with regulations; and
8	-"(7) has an open enrollment period at least once
9	every two years, under which it accepts eligible persons
10	-(as defined under subsection (d)) without under-
11	-writing restrictions and on a first-come first-accepted
12	basis up to the limit of its capacity (unless to do so
<b>1</b> 3	would result in failure to meet the requirement of
14	paragraph (5)).
<b>1</b> 5	"(e) The benefits provided to an individual under this
16	section shall consist of
17	"(1) entitlement to have payment made on his
18	behalf for all services described in section 1812 and sec-
19	-tion 1832 which are furnished to him by the health-
20	-maintenance organization with which he is enrolled pur-
21	suant to subsection (e) of this section; and
22	"(2) entitlement to have payment made by such
23	-health maintenance organization to him or on his behalf
24	-for such emergency services (as defined in regulations)
<b>25</b>	as mary he furnished to him by a physician supplier or

- 1 provider of services, other than the health maintenance
- 2 -organization with which he is enrolled.
- 3 "(d) Subject to the provisions of subsection (e), every
- 4 individual who is entitled to hospital insurance benefits under
- 5 part A and is enrolled for medical insurance benefits under
- 6 -part B shall be eligible to enroll with a health maintenance
- 7 -organization (as defined in subsection (b)) which serves the
- 8 geographic area in which such individual resides.
- 9 -"(e) An individual may enroll with a health mainte-
- 10 nance organization under this section, and may terminate
- 11 such enrollment, as may be prescribed by regulations.
- 12 -"(f) Any individual enrolled with a health maintenance
- 13 organization under this section who is dissatisfied by reason
- 14 of his failure to receive without additional cost to him any
- 15 health service to which he believes he is entitled shall, if
- 16 the amount in controversy is \$100 or more, be entitled to a
- 17 -hearing before the Secretary to the same extent as is pro-
- 18 -vided in section 205 (b) and in any such hearing the Secre-
- 19 tary shall make such health maintenance organization a party
- 20 thereto. If the amount in controversy is \$1,000 or more, such
- 21 -individual or health maintenance organization shall be en-
- 22 titled to judicial review of the Secretary's final decision after
- 23 such hearing as is provided in section 205 (g).
- 24 (g) (1) If the health maintenance organization pro-
- 25 vides its enrollees under this section only the services de-

- 1 scribed in subsection (e), its premium rate for such enrollees
- 2 shall not exceed the actuarial value of the cost-sharing pro-
- 3 -visions applicable under part A and part B.
- 4 (2) If the health maintenance organization provides
- 5 its enrollees under this section with additional services over
- 6 those described in subsection (c), it shall furnish such en-
- 7 rollees with information as to the division of its premium rate
- 8 between the portion applicable to such additional services and
- 9 the portion applicable to the services described in subsection
- 10 (e), subject to the limitation that the latter portion may not
- 11 exceed the actuarial value of the cost-sharing provisions ap-
- 12 -plicable under part A and part B."
- 13 (b) Section 1866 of such Act is amended by adding
- 14 at the end thereof the following new subsection:
- 15 "(f) For purposes of this section, the term 'provider
- of services' shall include a health maintenance organization
- if such organization moets the requirements of section 1876."
- 18 -(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of section 1833 of
- 19 the Social Security Act, any health maintenance organiza
- 20 tion which has entered into an agreement with the Secretary
- 21 pursuant to section 1866 of such Act shall, for the duration
- <sup>22</sup> of such agreement, be entitled to reimbursement only as
- <sup>23</sup> -provided in section 1876 of such Act.
- 24 (d) The effective date of any agreement with any
- 25 -health maintenance organization pursuant to section 1866-

```
1 of such Act shall be specified in such agreement pursuant to
2 regulations.
      -(c) (1) Section 1814 (a) of such Act is amended by
3
4 striking out "Except as provided in subsection (d)," and
5 inserting in lieu thereof the following: "Except as provided
6 in subsection (d) or in section 1876,".
       (2) Section 1833 (a) of such Act is amonded by strik
8 ing out "Subject to" and inserting in lieu thereof the
9 following: "Except as provided in section 1876, and subject-
10 to"
11
       (3) Section 1866 (b) (2) of such Act is amended by
12 inserting after "1861" in clause (B) the following: "(or
13 of section 1876 in the case of a health maintenance
14 organization)"
15
       -(f) The amendments made by this section shall be effec-
   tive with respect to services provided on or after January 1,
17 1972.
   PART C MISCELLANEOUS AND TECHNICAL PROVISIONS
19
       COVERAGE PRIOR TO APPLICATION FOR MEDICAL
20
                         -ASSISTANCE
21
       -SEC. 251. (a) Section 1902 (a) of the Social Security
22 -Act (as amended by sections 234 (b) and 238 (b) of this
23 Act) is further amended—
24
           -(1) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
```

25

-(31);

1	(2) by building out the period at the chart of para-
2	-graph (32) and inserting in lieu thereof "; and"; and
3	-(3) by inserting after paragraph (32) the follow-
4	ing new paragraph:
5	"(33) provide that in the case of any individual
6	-who has been determined to be eligible for medical
7	-assistance under the plan, such assistance will be made
8	available to him for care and services included under
9	the plan and furnished in or after the third month
10	before the month in which he made application for
11	such assistance if such individual was (or upon appli-
12	-cation would have been) eligible for such assistance at
13	the time such care and services were furnished."
14	-(b) The amendments made by subsection (a) shall be
15	effective July 1, 1972.
16	HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS FOR DENTAL SERVICES UNDER
17	*MEDICARE PROGRAM
18	-SEC. 252. (a) Section 1814 (a) (2) of the Social Secu
19	rity Act is amended by striking out "or" at the end of sub-
20	paragraph (C), by adding "or" after the semicolon at the
21	end of subparagraph (D), and by inserting after subpara-
22	-graph (D) the following new subparagraph:
23	-"(E) in the case of inpatient hospital services
<b>24</b>	in connection with a dental procedure, the individual

suffers from impairments of such severity as to re-1 -quire hospitalization;". 2 (b) Section 1861 (r) of such Act is amended by insert-3 4 ing after "or any facial bone" the following: ". or (C) the 5 certification required by section 1814(a) (2) (E) of this .6 Act." -(e) Section 1862 (a) (12) of such Act is amended by 7 8 inserting before the semicolon the following: ", except that 9 payment may be made under part A in the case of inpatient 10 hospital services in connection with a dental procedure where 11 the individual suffers from impairments of such severity as 12 to require hospitalization". 13 (d) The amendments made by this section shall apply with respect to admissions occurring after the second month -following the month in which this Act is enacted. EXEMPTION OF CHRISTIAN SCIENCE SANATORIUMS FROM 17 -CERTAIN NURSING HOME REQUIREMENTS UNDER 18 MEDICAID PROCRAMS 19 SEC. 253. (a) Section 1902 (a) of the Social Security Act is amended by adding at the end thereof the following 21 new sentence: "For purposes of paragraphs (26), (28) (B), (D), and (E), and (29), and of section 1903 (g) 23 (4), the terms 'skilled nursing home' and 'nursing home' do not include a Christian Science sanatorium operated, or

- 1 listed and certified, by the First Church of Christ, Scientist,
- 2 Boston, Massachusetts."
- 3 -(b) Section 1908 (g) (1) of such Act is amended by
- 4 -inserting after "Secretary" the following: ", but does not
- 5 include a Christian Science sanatorium operated, or listed
- 6 and certified, by the First Church of Christ, Scientist,
- 7 Boston, Massachusetts".
- 8 (e) The amendments made by this section shall be
- 9 effective on the date of the enactment of this Act.
- 10 PHYSICAL THERAPY SERVICES UNDER MEDICARE
- 11 PROGRAM
- 12 -SEC. 254. (a) (1) Section 1861 (p) of the Social
- 13 Security Act is amended by adding at the end thereof (after
- and below paragraph (4) (B) the following new sentence:
- 15 "Under regulations, the term 'outpatient physical therapy
- 16 -services' also includes physical therapy services furnished an
- <sup>17</sup> individual by a physical therapist (in his office or in such-
- 18 -individual's home) who meets licensing and other standards-
- 19 prescribed by the Secretary in regulations, otherwise than
- 20 under an arrangement with and under the supervision of a
- <sup>21</sup> provider of services, clinic, rehabilitation agency, or public
- 22 -health agency, if the furnishing of such services meets such
- 23 conditions relating to health and safety as the Secretary may
- <sup>24</sup> -find necessary."

1	(2) Section 1833 of such Act is amended by adding at
2	the end thereof the following new subsection:
3	"(g) In the case of services described in the next to
4	last sentence of section 1861 (p), with respect to expenses
5	incurred in any calendar year, no more than \$100 shall be
6	considered as incurred expenses for purposes of subsections
7	(a) and (b)."
8	(3) Section 1833 (a) (2) of such Act (as amended by
9	section 230 (b) of this Act) is further amended by striking
10	out the period at the end of subparagraph (B) and inserting
11	-in lieu thereof "; or", and by adding after subparagraph (B)
<b>12</b>	the following new subparagraph:
13	"(C) if such services are services to which the
14	next to last sentence of section 1861 (p) applies, the
15	reasonable charges for such services."
16	(4) Section 1832 (a) (2) (C) of such Act is amended
17	by striking out "services." and inserting in lieu thereof
18	"services, other than services to which the next to last sen-
19	tence of section 1861 (p) applies."
20	(b) (1) Section 1861 (p) of such Act (as amended by
21	subsection (a) (1) of this section) is further amended by
22	adding at the end thereof the following new sentence: "In
23	addition, such term includes physical therapy services which
24	meet the requirements of the first sentence of this subsection

- 1 except that they are furnished to an individual as an inpatient
- 2 of a hospital or extended care facility."
- 3 (2) Section 1835 (a) (2) (C) of such Act is amended
- 4 by striking out "on an outpatient basis";
- 5 (c) Section 1861 (v) of such Act (as amended by sec-
- 6 tions 221 (e) (4) and 223 (f) of this Act) is further amended
- 7 by redesignating paragraphs (5) and (6) as paragraphs
- 8 (6) and (7), respectively, and by inserting after paragraph
- 9 (4) the following new paragraph:
- "(5) Where physical therapy services are furnished by
- <sup>11</sup> a provider of services or other organization specified in the
- 12 first sentence of section 1861 (p), or by others under an
- 13 arrangement with such a provider or other organization, the
- 14 amount included in any payment to such provider or organi-
- 15 zation under this title as the reasonable cost of such services
- 16 shall not exceed an amount equal to the salary which would
- 17 reasonably have been paid for such services to the person-
- 18 performing them if they had been performed in an employ-
- 19 ment relationship with such provider or organization rather
- 20 than under such arrangement."
- 21 (d) (1) The amendments made by subsections (a)
- 22 and (b) shall apply with respect to services furnished on or
- 23 after January 1, 1972.
- 24 (2) The amendments made by subsection (c) shall be

- 1 effective with respect to accounting periods beginning on
- 2 or after January 1, 1972.
- 3 EXTENSION OF GRACE PERIOD FOR TERMINATION OF SUP-
- 4 PLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE COVERAGE WHERE
- 5 FAILURE TO PAY PREMIUMS IS DUE TO GOOD CAUSE
- 6 SEC. 255. (a) Section 1838 (b) of the Social Security
- 7 -Act is amended by striking out "(not in excess of 90 days)"
- 8 in the third sentence, and by adding at the end thereof the
- 9 following new sentence: "The grace period determined under-
- 10 the preceding sentence shall not exceed 90 days; except that
- 11 it may be extended to not to exceed 180 days in any case
- 12 where the Secretary determines that there was good cause for
- 13 failure to pay the overdue premiums within such 90-day
- 14 period."
- 15 (b) The amendments made by subsection (a) shall
- 16 apply with respect to nonpayment of premiums which be-
- 17 come due and payable on or after the date of the enact-
- 18 ment of this Act or which became payable within the
- 19 90 day period immediately preceding such date; and for
- 20 purposes of such amendments any premium which became
- 21 due and payable within such 90-day period shall be con-
- 22 sidered a premium becoming due and payable on the date
- 23 -of the enactment of this Act.

1	EXTENSION OF TIME FOR FILING CLAIM FOR SUPPLEMEN-
2	TARY MEDICAL INSURANCE BENEFITS WHERE DELAY
3	IS DUE TO ADMINISTRATIVE ERROR
4	SEC. 256. (a) Section 1842 (b) (3) of the Social
5	Security Act (as amended by section 224 (a) of this
6	Act) is further amended by adding at the end thereof the
7	following new sentence: "The requirement in subparagraph
8	(B) that a bill be submitted or request for payment be
9	made by the close of the following calendar year shall not
10	apply if (i) failure to submit the bill or request the payment
11	by the close of such year is due to the error or misrepre-
12	sentation of an officer, employee, fiscal intermediary, carrier,
13	or agent of the Department of Health, Education, and Wel-
14	fare performing functions under this title and acting within
<b>15</b>	the scope of his or its authority, and (ii) the bill is submitted
16	or the payment is requested promptly after such error or mis-
17	representation is climinated or corrected."
18	(b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall ap-
19	ply with respect to bills submitted and requests for payment
20	made after March 1968.
21	WAIVER OF ENROLLMENT PERIOD REQUIREMENTS WHERE
22	INDIVIDUAL'S RIGHTS WERE PREJUDICED BY ADMINIS-
23	TRATIVE ERROR OR INACTION
24	SEC. 257. (a) Section 1837 of the Social Security Act
<b>25</b>	is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new

26 subsection:

1	"(f) In any case where the Secretary finds that an indi-
2	vidual's enrollment or nonenrollment in the insurance pro-
3	gram established by this part is unintentional, inadvertent, or
4	erroneous and is the result of the error, misrepresentation, or
5	inaction of an officer, employee, or agent of the Department
6	of Health, Education, and Welfare, the Secretary may take
7	such action (including the designation for such individual of
8	a special initial or subsequent enrollment period, with a cov-
9	erage period determined on the basis thereof and with appro-
10	priate adjustments of premiums) as may be necessary to
11	-correct or climinate the effects of such error, misropresenta
12	tion, or inaction."
13	(b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall be
<b>4</b>	effective as of July 1, 1966.
15	-ELIMINATION OF PROVISIONS PREVENTING ENROLLMENT IN
16	SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE PROGRAM MORE
<b>L7</b>	THAN THREE YEARS AFTER FIRST OPPORTUNITY
18	SEC. 258. Section 1837 (b) of the Social Security Act
	is amended to read as follows:
	"(b) No individual may enroll under this part more
	than twice."
	WAIVER OF RECOVERY OF INCORRECT PAYMENTS FROM
23	SURVIVOR WHO IS WITHOUT FAULT UNDER MEDICARE
24	PROGRAM
15	Sna 250 (a) Section 1970 (a) of the Social Security

26 Act is amended by striking out "and where" and inserting in

- 1 lieu thereof the following: "or where the adjustment (or
- 2 recovery) would be made by decreasing payments to which
- 3 another person who is without fault is entitled as provided
- 4 in subsection (b) (4), if".
- 5 (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall
- 6 apply with respect to waiver actions considered after the date
- 7 of the enactment of this Act.
- 8 REQUIREMENT OF MINIMUM AMOUNT OF CLAIM TO ES-
- 9 TABLISH ENTITLEMENT TO HEARING UNDER SUPPLE-
- 10 MENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE PROGRAM
- 11 SEC. 260. (a) Section 1842 (b) (3) (C) of the Social
- 12 Security Act is amended by inserting after "a fair hearing by
- 13 the carrier" the following: ", in any case where the amount
- 14 in controversy is \$100 or more,".
- 15 (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall
- 16 apply with respect to hearings requested (under the proce-
- 17 dures established under section 1842 (b) (3) (C) of the
- 18 Social Security Act) after the date of the enactment of this
- 19 Act.
- 20 -COLLECTION OF SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE
- 21 PREMIUMS FROM INDIVIDUALS ENTITLED TO BOTH
- 22 SOCIAL SECURITY AND RAILROAD RETIREMENT
- 23 BENEFITS
- 24 SEC. 261. (a) Section 1840 (a) (1) of the Social Se-
- 25 curity Act is amended by striking out "subsection (d)" and
- 26 inserting in lieu thereof "subsections (b) (1) and (c)".

(b) Section 1840 (b) (1) of such Act is amended by 1. inserting "(whether or not such individual is also entitled for such month to a monthly insurance benefit under section 4 202)" after "1937", and by striking out "subsection (d)" and inserting in lieu thereof "subsection (e)". 6 (e) Section 1840 of such Act is further amended by striking out subsection (e), and by redesignating subsections (d) through (i) as subsections (c) through (h), 9 respectively. 10 (d) (1) Section 1840 (e) of such Act (as so redesignated) is amended by striking out "subsection (d)" and 11 inserting in lieu thereof "subsection (e)". 13 (2) Section 1840 (f) of such Act (as so redesignated) is amended by striking out "subsection (d) or (f)" and 14 inserting in lieu thereof "subsection (c) or (e)". 16 (3) Section 1840 (h) of such Act (as so redesignated) 17 is amended by striking out "(c), (d), and (e)" and insert-18 ing in lieu thereof "(e), and (d)". 19 (4) Section 1841 (h) of such Act is amended by striking out "1840 (e)" and inserting in lieu thereof "1840 (d)". 21 (c) Section 1841 of such Act is amended by adding 22 at the end thereof the following new subsection: 23 "(i) The Managing Trustee shall pay from time to time 24 from the Trust Fund such amounts as the Secretary of

Health, Education, and Welfare certifies are necessary to

25

1	pay the costs incurred by the Railroad Retirement Board
2	in making deductions pursuant to section 1840 (b) (1). Dur-
3	ing each fiscal year or after the close of such fiscal year,
4	the Railroad Retirement Board shall certify to the Secretary
5	the amount of the costs it incurred in making such deduc-
6	tions and such certified amount shall be the basis for the
7	amount of such costs certified by the Secretary to the Man-
8	aging Trustee."
9	(f) The amendments made by this section shall apply
10	with respect to premiums becoming due and payable after
11	the fourth month following the month in which this Act
12	is enacted.
13	PAYMENT FOR CERTAIN INPATIENT HOSPITAL SERVICES
14	FURNISHED OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES
15	SEC. 262. (a) Section 1814 (f) of the Social Security
16	Act is amended to read as follows:
17	"Payment for Certain Inpatient Hospital Services Furnished
18	Outside the United States
19	"(f) (1) Payment shall be made for inpatient hospital
20 21	services furnished to an individual entitled to hospital in-
22	surance benefits under section 226 by a hospital located
23	outside the United States, or under arrangements (as de-
24	fined in section 1861 (w)) with it, if
	"(A) such individual is a resident of the United

States, and

1	"(B) such hospital-was closer to, or substantially
2	more accessible from, the residence of such individual
3	than the nearest hospital within the United States which
4	was adequately equipped to deal with, and was available
5	for the treatment of, such individual's illness or injury.
6	"(2) Payment may also be made for emergency in
7	-patient hospital services furnished to an individual entitled
8	to hospital insurance benefits under section 226 by a hospital
9	located outside the United States if
10	"(A) such individual was physically present in a
11	-place within the United States at the time the emer-
12	-gency which necessitated such inpatient hospital serv-
13	-ices occurred, and
14	"(B) such hospital was closer to, or substantially
15	-more accessi' le from, such place than the nearest hos-
16	pital within the United States which was adequately
17	equipped to deal with, and was available for the treat-
18	ment of, such individual's illness or injury.
19	"(3) Payment shall be made in the amount pro-
20	-vided under subsection (b) to any hospital for the inpatient
21	-hospital services described in paragraph (1) or (2) fur-
22	-nished to an individual by the hospital or under arrange-
23	ments (as defined in section 1861 (w)) with it if (A) the
24	Secretary would be required to make such payment if the
<b>25</b>	hagnital had an agreement in affect under this title and other

```
1 wise met the conditions of payment herounder, (B) such-
  hospital elects to claim such payment, and (C) such hos-
 3 -pital agrees to comply, with respect to such services, with
 4 the provisions of section 1866 (a).
       "(4) Payment for the inpatient hospital services de-
 6 scribed in paragraph (1) or (2) furnished to an individual
   entitled to hospital insurance benefits under section 226 may
 8 be made on the basis of an itemized hill to such individual
   if (A) payment for such services cannot be made under
10 paragraph (3) solely because the hospital does not elect to-
11 claim such payment, and (B) such individual files applica-
12 -tion (submitted within such time and in such form and
13 -manner and by such person, and containing and supported
14 by such information as the Secretary shall by regulations
   prescribe) for reimbursement. The amount payable with
   -respect to such services shall, subject to the provisions of
   section 1813, be equal to the amount which would be pay-
18
   able under subsection (d) (3)."
19
       -(b) Section 1861 (c) of such Act is amended-
20
            41) by striking out "except for purposes of sections
21
       -1814 (d) and 1835 (b)" and inserting in lieu thereof-
22
       "except for purposes of sections 1814 (d), 1814 (f), and
23
       -1835 (b)";
24
           (2) by inserting ", section 1814 (f) (2)," im
25
```

-mediately after "For purposes of sections 1814 (d) and

1	1835 (b) (including determinations of whether an in-
2	dividual received inpatient hospital services or diagnos
3	tic services for purposes of such sections)"; and
4	(3) by inserting after the third sentence the follow-
5	ing new sentence: "For purposes of section 1814 (f)
6	(1), such term includes an institution which (i) is a
7	hospital for purposes of section 1814 (d), 1814 (f) (2),
8	and 1835 (b) and (ii) is accredited by the Joint Com-
9	mission on Accreditation of Hospitals, or is accredited
10	by or approved by a program of the country in which
11	such institution is located if the Secretary finds the
12	accreditation or comparable approval standards of such
13	program to be essentially equivalent to those of the
14	Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals."
15	(e) Section 1862 (a) (1) of such Act is amended by
16	striking out "emergency".
17	(d) The amendments made by this section shall apply
18	to services furnished with respect to admissions occurring
19	after December 31, 1971.
20	STUDY OF CHIROPRACTIC COVERAGE
21	SEC. 263. The Secretary, utilizing the authority con-
22	forred by section 1110 of the Social Security Act, shall
23	conduct a study of the coverage of services performed by chiro-
<b>24</b>	practors under State plans approved under title XIX of such

1	Act in order to determine whether and to what extent such
2	services should be covered under the supplementary medical
3	insurance program under part B of title XVIII of such Act,
4	giving particular attention to the limitations which should
5	be placed upon any such coverage and upon payment there-
6	for. Such study shall include one or more experimental, pilot,
7	or demonstration projects designed to assist in providing
8	under controlled conditions the information necessary to
9	achieve the objectives of the study. The Secretary shall re-
10	port the results of such study to the Congress within two
11	years after the date of the enactment of this Act, together
12	with his findings and recommendations based on such study
13	(and on such other information as he may consider relevant
14	concerning experience with the coverage of chiropractors by
15	-public and private plans).
16	MISCELLANEOUS TECHNICAL AND CLERICAL
17	-AMENDMENTS
18	SEC. 264. (a) Clause (A) of section 1902 (a) (26) of
19	the Social Security Act is amended by striking out "evalua-
20	tion" and inserting in lieu thereof "evaluation)", and by
21	striking out "care)" and inserting in lieu thereof "care".
22	(b) Section 1908 (d) of such Act is amended by strik
23	ing out "subsection (b) (1)" and inserting in lieu thereof
24	<u>"subsection (e) (1)".</u>

1	TITLE III FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN
2	ESTABLISHMENT OF FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN
3	SEC. 301. Title IV of the Social Security Act (42
4	U.S.C. 601 et seq.) is amended by adding after part C
5 -	the following new parts:
6	"PART D-FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN
7	"APPROPRIATIONS
8	"SEC. 441. For the purpose of providing a basic level
9	of financial assistance throughout the Nation to needy
10	families with children, in a manner which will strengthen
11	family life, encourage work training and self-support, and
12	enhance personal dignity, there is authorized to be appro-
13	-priated for each fiscal year a sum sufficient to carry out this
14	<del>-part.</del>
15	"ELIGIBILITY FOR AND AMOUNT OF FAMILY ASSISTANCE
16	BENEFITS
17	"Eligibility
18	"SEC. 442. (a) Each family (as defined in section
19	<del>-415)</del>
20	"(1) whose income, other than income excluded
21	pursuant to section 443 (b), is less than
22	"(A) \$500 per year for each of the first two
<b>23</b>	members of the family, plus
24	"(B) \$300 per year for each additional mem-
25	<del>-ber, and</del>

1	"(2) whose resources, other than resources ex-
2	eluded pursuant to section 444, are less than \$1,500,
3	shall, in accordance with and subject to the other provisions
4	of this title, be paid a family assistance benefit.
5	-"Amount
6	"(b) The family assistance benefit for a family shall
7	be payable at the rate of—
8	"(1) \$500 per year for each of the first two mem-
9	bers of the family, plus
10	"(2) \$300 per year for each additional member,
11	reduced by the amount of income, not excluded pursuant
12	to section 443 (b), of the members of the family.
13	"Period for Determination of Benefits
14	"(e) (1) A family's eligibility for and its amount of
15	family assistance benefits shall be determined for each quar-
16	ter of a calendar year. Such determination shall be made on
17	the basis of the Secretary's estimate of the family's income
18	for such quarter, after taking into account income for a pre-
19	ceding period and any modifications in income which are
20	-likely to occur on the basis of changes in conditions or cir-
	eumstances. Eligibility for and the amount of benefits of a
	family for any quarter shall be redetermined at such time or
23	times as may be provided by the Secretary, such redeter-
24	mination to be effective prospectively.

"(2) The Secretary shall by regulation prescribe the

1	cases in which and extent to which the amount of a family
2	assistance benefit for any quarter shall be reduced by reason-
3	of the time clapsing since the beginning of such quarter and
4	before the date of filing of the application for the benefit.
5	"(3) The Secretary may, in accordance with regula-
6	tions, prescribe the cases in which and the extent to which
7	income received in one period (or expenses incurred in one
8	period in earning income) shall, for purposes of determining
9	eligibility for and amount of family assistance benefits, be
10	considered as received (or incurred) in another period or
11	-periods.
12	"Special Limits on Gross Income
13	"(d) The Secretary may, in accordance with regula-
14	tions, prescribe the circumstances under which the gross
15	income from a trade or business (including farming) will be
16	considered sufficiently large to make such family ineligible
17	for such benefits.
18	"Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam
19	"(e) For special provisions applicable to Puerto Rico,
20	the Virgin Islands, and Guam, see section 1108 (e).
21	"INCOME
22	"Meaning of Income
23	"SEC. 443. (a) For purposes of this part, income means
24	both carned income and uncarned income; and
25	"(1) carned income means only—

1	- (A) remuneration for services performed as
2	an employee (as defined in section 210(j)), other
3	than remuneration to which section 209 (b), (c),
4	(d), (f), or (k), or section 211, would apply; and
5	"(B) net earnings from self-employment, as
6	defined in section 211 (without the application of
7	the second and third sentences following clause (C)
8	of subsection (a) (9)), including earnings for serv
9	ices described in paragraphs (4), (5), and (6)
10	of subsection (c); and
1,1	"(2) unearned income means all other income,
12	-including-
<b>1</b> 3	"(A) any payments received as an annuity,
14	pension, retirement, or disability benefit, including
15	veteran's or workmen's compensation and old-age,
16	survivors, and disability insurance, railroad retire-
17	ment, and unemployment benefits;
18	"(B) prizes and awards;
19	"(C) the proceeds of any life insurance policy;
20	"(D) gifts (cash or otherwise), support and
21	alimony payments, and inheritances; and
22	"(E) rents, dividends, interest, and royalties.
23	"Exclusions From Income
24	"(b) In determining the income of a family there shall
<b>25</b>	be excluded—

"(1) subject to limitations (as to amount or otherwise) prescribed by the Secretary, the carned income of each child in the family who is, as determined by the Secretary under regulations, a student regularly attending a school, college, or university, or a course of vocational or technical training designed to prepare him for gainful employment;

"(2) (A) the total unearned income of all members of a family in a calendar quarter which, as determined in accordance with criteria prescribed by the Secretary, is received too infrequently or irregularly to be included, if such income so received does not exceed \$30 in such quarter, and (B) the total earned income of all members of a family in a calendar quarter which, as determined in accordance with such criteria, is received too infrequently or irregularly to be included, if such income so received does not exceed \$30 in such quarter;

"(3) an amount of earned income of a member of the family equal to all, or such part (and according to such schedule) as the Secretary may prescribe, of the cost incurred by such member for child-care which the Secretary deems necessary to securing or continuing in manpower training, vocational rehabilitation, employment, or self-employment;

1	"(4) the first \$720 per year (or proportionately
2	smaller amounts for shorter periods) of the total of
3	earned income (not excluded by the preceding para-
4	graphs of this subsection) of all members of the family
5	plus one-half of the remainder thereof;
6	"(5) food stamps or any other assistance (except
7	veterans' pensions) which is based on need and fur-
8	nished by any State or political subdivision of a State
9	or any Federal agency, or by any private charitable
10	agency or organization (as determined by the Secre-
11	tary);
12	"(6) allowances under section 432 (a);
13	"(7) any portion of any grant, scholarship, or
14	fellowship received for use in paying the cost of tuition
15	and fees at any educational (including technical or
16	vocational education) institution; and
17	"(8) home produce of a member of the family
18	utilized by the household for its own consumption.
19	"RESOURCES
20	"Exclusions From Resources
21	"SEC. 441. (a) In determining the resources of a family
	there shall be excluded
23	"(1) the home, household goods, and personal ef-
24	feets; and
<b>25</b>	"(2) other property which, as determined in ac-

1	-cordance with and subject to limitations in regulations
2	of the Secretary, is so essential to the family's means of
3	self-support as to warrant its exclusion.
4	"Disposition of Resources
5	"(b) The Secretary shall prescribe regulations appli-
6	cable to the period or periods of time within which, and the
7	manner in which, various kinds of property must be dis-
8	-posed of in order not to be included in determining a fam-
9	ily's eligibility for family assistance benefits. Any portion
10	of the family's benefits paid for any such period shall be
11	conditioned upon such disposal; and any benefits so paid
12	shall (at the time of the disposal) be considered over-
13	payments to the extent they would not have been paid
14	had the disposal occurred at the beginning of the period for
15	which such benefits were paid.
16	"MEANING OF FAMILY AND CHILD
17	"Composition of Family
18	"SEC. 445. (a) Two or more individuals
19	"(1) who are related by blood, marriage, or
20	-adoption,
21	"(2) who are living in a place of residence main-
22	tained by one or more of them as his or their own home,
23	"(3) who are residents of the United States, and
24	"(4) at least one of whom is a child who (A) is
<b>25</b>	not married to another of such individuals and

1	(B) is in the care of or dependent upon another
2	of such indivduals,
3	shall be regarded as a family for purposes of this part and
4	parts A, C, and E. A parent (of a child living in a place
5	of residence referred to in paragraph (2)), or a spouse of
6	such a parent, who is determined by the Secretary to be
7	temporarily absent from such place of residence for the
8	purpose of engaging in or seeking employment or self-
9	-employment (including military service) shall nevertheless
10	be considered (for purposes of paragraph (2)) to be living
11	in such place of residence.
12	"Definition of Child
13	"(b) For purposes of this part and parts C and E, the
14	term 'child' means an individual who is (1) under the age
<b>15</b>	of eighteen, or (2) under the age of twenty-one and (as
16	determined by the Secretary under regulations) a student
17	regularly attending a school, college, or university, or a
18	course of vocational or technical training designed to prepare
19	him for gainful employment.
20	"Determination of Family Relationships
21	"(e) In determining whether an individual is related
	to another individual by blood, marriage, or adoption, appro-
23	priate State law shall be applied.
24	((T 1 D

"Income and Resources of Noncontributing Individual

1	"(d) For purposes of determining eligibility for and the
2	amount of family assistance benefits for any family there shall
3	be excluded the income and resources of any individual,
4	other than a parent of a child (or a spouse of a parent),
5	which, as determined in accordance with criteria prescribed
6	by the Secretary, is not available to other members of the
7	family; and for such purposes such individual—
8	"(1) in the case of a child, shall be regarded as a
9	member of the family for purposes of determining the
10	family's eligibility or such benefits but not for purposes
11	of determining the amount of such benefits, and
12	"(2) in any other case, shall not be considered a
13	member of the family for any purpose.
14	"Recipients of Aid to the Aged, Blind, and
15	-Disabled Incligible
16	"(e) If an individual is receiving aid to the aged, blind,
17	and disabled under a State plan approved under title XVI, or
18	if his needs are taken into account in determining the need of
19	another person receiving such aid, then, for the period for
20	which such aid is received, such individual shall not be re-
21	garded as a member of a family for purposes of determining
22	the amount of the family assistance benefits of the family
23	and his income and resources shall not be counted as income
24	of a family under this part.

1	"PAYMENTS AND PROCEDURES
2	"Payments of Benefits
3	"SEC. 446. (a) (1) Family assistance benefits shall be
4	paid at such time or times and in such installments as the
5	Secretary determines will best effectuate the purposes of this
6	title.
7	"(2) Payment of the family assistance benefit of any
8	family may be made to any one or more members of the
9	family, or, if the Scoretary deems it appropriate, to any
10	person, other than a member of such family, who is in-
11	terested in or concerned with the welfare of the family.
12	"(3) The Secretary may by regulation establish ranges
13	of incomes within which a single amount of family assistance
14	benefit shall apply.
15	"Overpayments and Underpayments
16	"(b) Whenever the Secretary finds that more or less
17	than the correct amount of family assistance benefits has
18	been paid with respect to any family, proper adjustment or
19	recovery shall, subject to the succeeding provisions of this
	subsection, be made by appropriate adjustments in future
	payments to the family or by recovery from or payment to
	any one or more of the individuals who are or were members
	thereof (or any person other than a member of the family
	to the extent that the benefits involved were paid to such
25	person under subsection (a) (2) ). The Secretary shall make

- 1 such provision as he finds appropriate in the case of pay-
- 2 ment of more than the correct amount of benefits with
- 3 respect to a family with a view to avoiding penalizing mem-
- 4 bers of the family who were without fault in connection with
- 5 the overpayment, if adjustment or recovery on account of
- 6 such everpayment in such case would defeat the purposes of
- 7 this part, or be against equity or good conscience, or (because
- 8 of the small amount involved) impede efficient or effective
- 9 administration of this part.

## 10 "Hearings and Review

- 11 "(c) (1) The Secretary shall provide reasonable notice
- 12 and opportunity for a hearing to any individual who is or
- 13 claims to be a member of a family and is in disagreement
- 14 with any determination under this part with respect to
- eligibility of the family for family assistance benefits, the
- 16 number of members of the family, or the amount of the
- benefits, if such individual requests a hearing on the matter
- in disagreement within thirty days after notice of such deter-
- mination is received. Until a determination is made on the
- 20 basis of such hearing or upon disposition of the matter
- <sup>21</sup> through default, withdrawal of the request by the individual,
- or revision of the initial determination by the Secretary, any
- 23 amounts which are payable (or would be payable but for the

- 1 matter in disagreement) to any individual who has been
- 2 determined to be a member of such family shall continue to
- 3 be paid; but any amounts so paid for periods prior to such
- 4 determination or disposition shall be considered overpay-
- 5 ments to the extent they would not have been paid had such
- 6 determination or disposition occurred at the same time as
- 7 the Secretary's initial determination on the matter in
- <sup>8</sup> disagreement.
- 9 "(2) Determination on the basis of such hearing shall be
- $^{10}$  made within ninety days after the individual requests the
- 11 hearing as provided in paragraph (1).
- 12 "(3) The final determination of the Secretary after a
- $^{13}$  hearing under paragraph (1) shall be subject to judicial
- 14 review as provided in section 205 (g) to the same extent as
- 15 the Secretary's final determinations under section 205;
- 16 except that the determination of the Secretary after such
- 17 hearing as to any fact shall be final and conclusive and not
- 18 subject to review by any court.
- 19 "Procedures; Prohibition of Assignments
- 20 "(d) The provisions of sections 206 and 207 and sub-
- 21 sections (a), (d), (e), and (f) of section 205 shall apply
- with respect to this part to the same extent as they apply
- 23 in the case of title II.
- <sup>24</sup> "Applications and Furnishing of Information by Families

"(e) (1) The Secretary shall prescribe regulations ap-1 2 plicable to families or members thereof with respect to the 3 filing of applications, the furnishing of other data and mate-4 rial, and the reporting of events and changes in circumstances. 5 as may be necessary to determine eligibility for and amount 6 of family assistance benefits. "(2) In order to encourage prompt reporting of events 7 8 and changes in circumstances relevant to eligibility for or 9 amount of family assistance benefits, and more accurate 10 estimates of expected income or expenses by members of 11 families for purposes of such eligibility and amount of bene-12 fits, the Secretary may prescribe the cases in which and the 13 extent to which— "(A) failure to so report or delay in so reporting, or 14 "(B) inaccuracy of information which is furnished 15 by the members and on which the estimates of income 16 17 or expenses for such purposes are based, will result in treatment as overpayments of all or any portion of payments of such benefits for the period involved. 20 "Furnishing of Information by Other Agencies "(f) The head of any Federal agency shall provide 21 22 such information as the Secretary needs for purposes of

23 determining eligibility for or amount of family assistance

24 benefits, or verifying other information with respect thereto.

1 "REGISTRATION AND REFERRAL OF FAMILY MEMBERS FOR 2 -MANPOWER SERVICES, TRAINING, AND EMPLOYMENT "SEC. 447. (a) Every individual who is a member of 3 4 a family which is found to be eligible for family assistance 5 benefits, other than a member to whom the Secretary finds 6 paragraph (1), (2), (3), (4), or (5) of subsection (b) 7 applies, shall register for manpower services, training, and employment with the local public employment office of the State as provided by regulations of the Secretary of Labor. If and for so long as any such individual is found by the Scoretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to have failed to so register, he shall not be regarded as a member of a family but his income which would otherwise 14 be counted under this part as income of a family shall be so counted; except that if such individual is the only member 16 of the family other than a child, such individual shall be 17 regarded as a member for purposes of determination of the family's eligibility for family assistance benefits, but not (except for counting his income) for purposes of determination of the amount of such benefits. No part of the family assistance benefits of any such family may be paid to such individual during the period for which the preceding sentence is applicable to him; and the Secretary may, if he deems it appropriate, provide for payment of such benefits during such period to any person, other than a member

1	of such family, who is interested in or concerned with the
2	welfare of the family.
3	"(b) An individual shall not be required to register
4	pursuant to subsection (a) if the Secretary determines that
5	such individual is—
6	"(1) unable to engage in work or training by
7	reason of illness, incapacity, or advanced age;
8	"(2) a mother or other relative of a child under
9	the age of six who is caring for such child;
10	"(3) the mother or other female caretaker of a
11	child, if the father or another adult male relative is in
12	the home and not excluded by paragraph (1), (2),
13	(4), or (5) of this subsection (unless the second sen-
14	tence of subsection (a), or section 448 (a), is applicable
15	to him);
16	"(4) a child who is under the age of sixteen or
17	meets the requirements of section 445 (b) (2); or
18	"(5) one whose presence in the home on a sub-
19	stantially continuous basis is required because of the ill-
20	ness or incapacity of another member of the household-
21	An individual who would, but for the preceding sentence,
22	be required to register pursuant to subsection (a), may, if
23 24	he wishes, register as provided in such subsection.
2 <del>4</del> 25	"(e) The Secretary shall make provision for the fur-
20	nishing of child care services in such cases and for so long

1 as he deems appropriate in the case of (1) individuals reg-2 istered pursuant to subsection (a) who are, pursuant to such 3 registration, participating in manpower services, training, or 4 employment, and (2) individuals referred pursuant to subsection (d) who are, pursuant to such referral, participating in vocational rehabilitation. "(d) In the case of any member of a family receiving family assistance benefits who is not required to register pursuant to subsection (a) because of such member's incapacity, the Secretary shall make provision for referral of such member to the appropriate State agency administering or supervising the administration of the State plan for vo-13 eational rehabilitation services approved under the Vocational Rehabilitation Act, and (except in such cases involv-15 ing permanent incapacity as the Secretary may determine) 16 for a review not less often than quarterly of such member's 17 incapacity and his need for and utilization of the rehabilita-18 tion services made available to him under such plan. If and 19 for so long as such member is found by the Secretary to have 20 refused without good cause to accept rehabilitation services 21 available to him under such plan, he shall be treated as an 22 individual to whom subsection (a) is applicable by reason 23 of refusal to register for manpower services, training, and employment.

1	"DENIAL OF BENEFITS IN CASE OF REFUSAL OF MANPOWER
2	SERVICES, TRAINING, OR EMPLOYMENT
3	"SEC. 448. (a) For purposes of determining eligibility
4	for and amount of family assistance benefits under this part,
5	an individual who has registered as required under section
6	447 (a) shall not be regarded as a member of a family, but
7	his income which would otherwise be counted as income of
8	the family under this part shall be so counted, if and for so
9	long as he has been found by the Secretary of Labor, after
10	reasonable notice and opportunity for hearing (which shall be
11	held in the same manner and subject to the same conditions
<b>12</b>	as a hearing under section 446(c) (1) and (2)), to have
13	refused without good cause to participate or continue to par-
14	ticipate in suitable manpower services, training, or employ-
15	ment, or to have refused without good cause to accept suit-
16	able employment in which he is able to engage which is
17	offered through the public employment offices of the State, or
18	is otherwise offered by an employer if the offer of such em-
19	ployer is determined by the Secretary of Labor, after noti-
20	fication by such employer or otherwise, to be a bona fide
21	offer of employment; except that if such individual is the only
	member of the family other than a child, such individual shall
	be regarded as a member of the family for purposes of deter-
	mination of the family's eligibility for benefits, but not
<i>∆</i> ∂	(except for counting his income) for the purposes of deter-

1	mination of the amount of its benefits. No part of the family
2	assistance benefits of any such family may be paid to such
3	individual during the period for which the preceding sentence
4	is applicable to him; and the Secretary may, if he deems it
5	appropriate, provided for payment of such benefits during
6	such period to any person, other than a member of such
7	family, who is interested in or concerned with the welfare
8	of the family.
9	"(b) (1) In determining whether any employment is
10	suitable for an individual for purposes of subsection (a) and
11	part C, the Secretary of Labor shall consider the degree of
12	risk to such individual's health and safety, his physical fitness
13	for the work, his prior training and experience, his prior earn-
14	ings, the length of his unemployment, his realistic prospects
15	for obtaining work based on his potential and the availability
16	of training opportunities, and the distance of the available
17	work from his residence.
18	"(2) In no event shall any employment be considered
19	suitable for an individual
20	"(A) if the position offered is vacant due directly
21	to a strike, lockout, or other labor dispute;
22	"(B) if the wages, hours, or other terms or condi-
23	tions of the work offered are contrary to or less than
24	those prescribed by Federal, State, or local law or are
25	substantially less favorable to the individual than those
26	proveiling for similar work in the locality.

prevailing for similar work in the locality; or

1	"(C) if, as a condition of being employed, the
2	individual would be required to join a company union or
3	to resign from or refrain from joining any bona fide
4	labor organization.
5	"TRANSFER OF FUNDS FOR ON-THE-JOB
6	TRAINING PROGRAMS
7	"SEC. 449. The Secretary shall, pursuant to and to the
8	extent provided by agreement with the Secretary of Labor,
9	pay to the Secretary of Labor amounts which he estimates
10	would be paid as family assistance benefits under this part to
11	-individuals participating in public or private employer com-
12	pensated on the job training under a program of the Secre-
13	tary of Labor if they were not participating in such training.
14	Such amounts shall be available to pay the costs of such
15	<del>programs.</del>
16	"PART E STATE SUPPLEMENTATION OF FAMILY.
17	Assistance Benefits
18	"PAYMENTS UNDER TITLES IV, V, XVI, AND XIX
19	CONDITIONED ON SUPPLEMENTATION
20	"SEC. 451. In order for a State to be eligible for pay-
21	ments pursuant to title V, XVI, or XIX, or part A or B
	of this title, with respect to expenditures for any quarter-
	beginning on or after the date this part becomes effective
	with respect to such State, it must have in effect an agree
	ment with the Scoretary under which it will make supple-
<b>26</b>	mentary payments, as provided in this part, to any family

- 1 other than a family in which both parents of the child or
- 2 children are present, neither parent is incapacitated, and the
- 3 male parent is not unemployed.
- 4 "ELIGIBILITY FOR AND AMOUNT OF SUPPLEMENTARY
- 5 PAYMENTS
- 6 "SEC. 452. (a) Eligibility for and amount of supple-
- 7 mentary payments under the agreement with any State under
- 8 this part shall, subject to the succeeding provisions of this
- 9 section, be determined by application of the provisions of,
- and rules and regulations under, sections 442 (a) (2), (e),
- 11 and (d), 443 (a), 444, 445, 446 (to the extent the Secre-
- 12 tary deems appropriate), 447, and 448, and by application
- 13 of the standard for determining need under the plan of such
- 14 State as in effect for January 1971 (which standard complies-
- with the requirements for approval under part A as in effect
- 16 for such month) or, if lower, a standard equal to the applicable
- 17 poverty level determined pursuant to section 453 (c) and in
- 18 effect at the time of such payments, or such higher standard
- of need as the State may apply, with the resulting amount
- <sup>20</sup> reduced by the family assistance benefit payable under part
- 21 D and further reduced by any other income (earned or un-
- earned) not excluded under section 443 (b) (except para-
- <sup>23</sup> -graph (4) thereof) or under subsection (b) of this section;
- but in making such determination the State may impose lim-
- itations on the amount of aid paid to the extent that such

1	-limitations (in combination with other provisions of the plan)
2	are no more stringent in result than those imposed under the
3	plan of such State as in effect for such month. In the case of
4	any State which provides for meeting less than 100 per-
5	centum of its standard of need or provides for considering less
6	than 100 per centum of requirements in determining need,
7	the Secretary shall prescribe by regulation the method or
8	methods for achieving as nearly as possible the results pro-
9	vided for under the foregoing provisions of this subsection.
10	"(b) For purposes of determining eligibility for and
	amount of supplementary payments to a family for any period
	-pursuant to an agreement under this part, in the case of
	carned income to which paragraph (4) of section 443 (b)
	applies, there shall be disregarded \$720 per year (or pro-
15	portionately smaller amounts for shorter periods), plus
16	-(1) one-third of the portion of the remainder of
17	earnings which does not exceed twice the amount of the
18	family assistance benefits that would be payable to the
19	family if it had no income, plus-
20	(2) one-fifth (or more if the Secretary by regula-
21	tion so prescribes) of the balance of the earnings.
22	For special provisions applicable to Puerto Rico, the Virgin
23	Islands, and Guam, see section 1108 (e).
24	"(c) The agreement with a State under this part shall—

1	"(1) provide that it shall be in effect in all political
2	subdivisions of the State;
3	"(2) provide for the establishment or designation
4	of a single State agency to carry out or supervise the
5	-carrying out of the agreement in the State;
6	"(3) provide for granting an opportunity for a fair
7	hearing before the State agency carrying out the agree-
8	ment to any individual whose claim for supplementary
9	payments is denied or is not acted upon with reasonable
10	<del>promptness;</del>
11	"(4) provide (A) such methods of administration
12	(including methods relating to the establishment and
13	maintenance of personnel standards on a merit basis, ex-
14	cept that the Secretary shall exercise no authority with
15	respect to the selection, tenure of office, and compensa-
16	tion of any individual employed in accordance with
17	such methods) as are found by the Secretary to be
18	necessary for the proper and efficient operation of the
19	agreement in the State, and (B) for the training and
20	effective use of paid subprofessional staff, with par-
21	ticular emphasis on the full- or part-time employment of

recipients of supplementary payments and other persons

of low income, as community services aides, in carrying

out the agreement and for the use of nonpaid or parially-

paid volunteers in a social service volunteer program

22

23

24

25

1	in providing services to applicants for and recipients of
2	supplementary payments and in assisting any advisory
3	committees established by the State agency;
4	"(5) provide that the State agency carrying out
5	the agreement will make such reports, in such form and
6	containing such information, as the Secretary may from
7	time to time require, and comply with such provisions
8	as the Secretary may from time to time find necessary
9	to assure the correctness and verification of such reports;
10	"(6) provide safeguards which restrict the use or
11	disclosure of information concerning applicants for and
12	-recipients of supplementary payments to purposes di-
13	rectly connected with the administration of this title;
14	<del>and</del>
15	"(7) provide that all individuals wishing to make
16	application for supplementary payments shall have op-
17	portunity to do so, and that supplementary payments
18	shall be furnished with reasonable promptness to all
19	eligible individuals.
20	"PAYMENTS TO STATES
21	"SEC. 453. (a) (1) The Secretary shall pay to any
22	State which has in effect an agreement under this part. for
	each fiscal year, an amount equal to 30 per centum of the
24	total amount arounded during such war www.unt.to its

1	agreement as supplementary payments to families other than
2	families in which both parents of the child or children are
3	present, neither parent is incapacitated, and the male parent
4	is not unemployed, not counting so much of the supple-
5	mentary payment made to any family as exceeds the amount
6	by which (with respect to the period involved) —
7	"(A) the family assistance benefit payable to such
8	family under part D, plus any income of such family
9	(earned or uncarned) not disregarded in determining
10	the amount of such supplementary payment, is less than
11	"(B) the applicable poverty level as promulgated
12	and in effect under subsection (c).
13	"(2) The Secretary shall also pay to each such State
14	an amount equal to 50 per centum of its administrative costs
15	found necessary by the Scoretary for carrying out its agree-
16	ment.
17	"(b) Payments under subsection (a) shall be made at
18	such time or times, in advance or by way of reimbursement,
19	and in such installments as the Secretary may determine;
20	and shall be made on such conditions as may be necessary
21	to assure the carrying out of the purposes of this title.
22	"(c) (1) For purposes of this part, the 'poverty level'
23	for a family group of any given size shall be the amount

- 1 shown for a family group of such size in the following table,
- 2 adjusted as provided in paragraph (2):

"FAMILY SIZE: BASIC AMOUNT	
One \$1,020	
Two	
Three	
Five	
Six	
Seven or more	
3 "(2) Between July 1 and September 30 of each year,	3.
4 beginning with 1971, the Secretary (Λ) shall adjust the	4
5 amount shown for each size of family group in the table in	5
6 paragraph (1) by increasing such amount by the percent	6
7 age by which the average level of the price index for the	7
8 months in the calendar quarter beginning April 1 of such	8
9 year exceeds the average level of the price index for months	9
10 in 1970, and (B) shall thereupon promulgate the amounts	10
11 so adjusted as the poverty levels for family groups of various	11
12 sizes which shall be conclusive for purposes of this part for	12
13 the fiscal year beginning July 1 next succeeding such	13
14 -promulgation.	14
15 "(3) As used in this subsection, the term 'price index'	15
16 means the Consumer Price Index (all items - United States	16
17 city average) published monthly by the Bureau of Labor	17
18 Statistics.	18

1	"FAILURE BY STATE TO COMPLY WITH AGREEMENT
2	"SEC. 454. If the Sceretary, after reasonable notice and
3	opportunity for hearing to a State with which he has an
4	agreement under this part, finds that such State is failing to-
5	comply therewith, he shall withhold all, or such portion as he
6	deems appropriate, of the payments to which such State is
7	otherwise entitled under this part or part A or B of this title
8	or under title V, XVI, or XIX; by the amounts so with-
9	held from payments under such part A or B or under title
10	V, XVI, or XIX shall be deemed to have been paid to the
11	State under such part or title. Such withholding shall be
12	effected at such time or times and in such installments as the
13	Secretary may deem appropriate.
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
14	"PART F-ADMINISTRATION
14 15	
	"PART F ADMINISTRATION
15	"PART F-ADMINISTRATION  "AGREEMENTS WITH STATES
15 16 17	"PART F—ADMINISTRATION  "AGRHEMENTS WITH STATES  "Sec. 161. (a) The Secretary may enter into an agree-
15 16 17 18	"PART F-ADMINISTRATION  "AGRHEMENTS WITH STATES  "SEC. 161. (a) The Secretary may enter into an agreement with any State under which the Secretary will make,
15 16 17 18 19	"PART F - ADMINISTRATION  "AGRHEMENTS WITH STATES  "SEC. 161. (a) The Secretary may enter into an agreement with any State under which the Secretary will make, on behalf of the State, the supplementary payments provided
15 16 17 18 19 20	"PART F - ADMINISTRATION  "AGRHEMENTS WITH STATES  "SEC. 461. (a) The Secretary may enter into an agreement with any State under which the Secretary will make, on behalf of the State, the supplementary payments provided for under part E, or will perform such other functions
15 16 17 18 19 20 21	"AGRHEMENTS WITH STATES  "SEC. 461. (a) The Secretary may enter into an agreement with any State under which the Secretary will make, on behalf of the State, the supplementary payments provided for under part E, or will perform such other functions of the State in connection with such payments as may be
15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22	"AGRHEMENTS WITH STATES  "SEC. 461. (a) The Secretary may enter into an agreement with any State under which the Secretary will make, on behalf of the State, the supplementary payments provided for under part E, or will perform such other functions of the State in connection with such payments as may be agreed upon, or both. In any such case providing for the
15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24	"AGRHEMENTS WITH STATES  "Sec. 461. (a) The Secretary may enter into an agreement with any State under which the Secretary will make, on behalf of the State, the supplementary payments provided for under part E, or will perform such other functions of the State in connection with such payments as may be agreed upon, or both. In any such case providing for the making of such payments, the agreement shall also (1) provide for payment by the State to the Secretary of an amount equal to the supplementary payments the State
15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25	"AGRNEMENTS WITH STATES  "SEC. 461. (a) The Secretary may enter into an agreement with any State under which the Secretary will make, on behalf of the State, the supplementary payments provided for under part E, or will perform such other functions of the State in connection with such payments as may be agreed upon, or both. In any such case providing for the making of such payments, the agreement shall also (1) provide for payment by the State to the Secretary of an

- 1 and (2) at the request of the State, provide for joint audit
- 2 of payments under the agreement.
- 3 "(b) The Secretary may also enter into an agreement
- 4 with any State under which such State will make, on behalf
- 5 of the Secretary, the family assistance benefit payments
- 6 provided for under part D with respect to all or specified
- 7 families in the State who are eligible for such benefits or will
- 8 perform such other functions in connection with the adminis-
- 9 tration of part D as may be agreed upon or both. The cost
- 10 of carrying out any such agreement shall be paid to the
- 11 State by the Secretary in advance or by way of reimburse-
- 12 ment and in such installments as may be agreed upon.
- 13 "PENALTIES FOR FRAUD
- "SEC. 462. The provisions of section 208, other than
- 15 paragraph (a), shall apply with respect to benefits under
- 16 part D and allowances under part C, of this title, to the same
- 17 extent as they apply to payments under title II.
- 18 "REPORT, EVALUATION, RESEARCH AND DEMONSTRATIONS,
- 19 AND TRAINING AND TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE
- 20 "SEC. 463. (a) The Secretary shall make an annual re-
- 21 port to the President and the Congress on the operation and
- <sup>22</sup> administration of parts D and E, including an evaluation
- <sup>23</sup> thereof in earrying out the purposes of such parts and recom-
- 24 mendations with respect thereto. The Scoretary is authorized
- 25 to conduct evaluations directly or by grants or contracts of
- <sup>26</sup> the programs authorized by such parts.

1	"(b) The Secretary is authorized to conduct, directly or
2	by grants or contracts, research into or demonstrations of
3	ways of better providing financial assistance to needy persons
4	or of better carrying out the purposes of part D, and in
5	so doing to waive any requirements or limitations in such
6	part with respect to eligibility for or amount of family
7	-assistance benefits for such family, members of families, or
8	groups thereof as he deems appropriate.
9	"(e) The Secretary is authorized to provide such
10	technical assistance to States, and to provide, directly or
11	through grants or contracts, for such training of personnel
12	of States, as he deems appropriate to assist them in more
13	efficiently and effectively earrying out their agreements
14	under this part and part E.
15	"(d) In addition to funds otherwise available therefor,
16	such portion of any appropriation to carry out part D or E
17	as the Secretary may determine, but not in excess of \$20,-
18	-000,000 in any fiscal year, shall be available to him to carry
19	out this section.
20	"OBLIGATION OF DESERTING PARENTS
21	"SEC. 464. In any case where an individual has de-
	serted or abandoned his spouse or his child or children and
	such spouse or any such child (during the period of such
24	desertion or abandonment) is a member of a family receiv-

ing family assistance benefits under part D or supplementary

payments under part E, such individual shall be obligated to the United States in an amount equal to—

"(1) the total amount of the family assistance benefits paid to such family during such period with respect to such spouse and child or children, plus the amount paid by the Secretary under section 453 on account of the supplementary payments made to such family during such period with respect to such spouse and child or children, reduced by

"(2) any amount actually paid by such individual to or for the support and maintenance of such spouse and child or children during such period, if and to the extent that such amount is excluded in determining the amount of such family assistance benefits;

except that in any case where an order for the support and maintenance of such spouse or any such child has been issued by a court of competent jurisdiction, the obligation of such individual under this subsection (with respect to such spouse or child) for any period shall not exceed the amount specified in such order less any amount actually paid by such individual (to or for the support and maintenance of such spouse or child) during such period. The amount due the United States under such obligation shall be collected (to the extent that the claim of the United States therefor is not otherwise satisfied), in such manner as may be specified by the Secretary, from any amounts otherwise due him or becoming

1	due him at any time from any officer or agency of the United
2	States or under any Federal program. Amounts collected un
3	der the preceding sentence shall be deposited in the Treasury
4	as miscellaneous receipts.
5	"TREATMENT OF FAMILY ASSISTANCE BENEFITS AS INCOME
6	FOR FOOD STAMP PURPOSES
7	"SEC. 465. Family assistance benefits paid under this
8	title and supplementary payments made pursuant to part E
9	shall be taken into consideration for the purpose of deter-
10	mining the entitlement of any household to purchase food
11	stamps, and the cost thereof, under the food stamp program
12	conducted under the Food Stamp Act of 1964."
13	MANPOWER SERVICES, TRAINING, EMPLOYMENT, CHILD
14	CARE AND SUPPORTIVE SERVICES PROGRAMS
15	SEC. 302. Part C of title IV of the Social Security Act
16	(42 U.S.C. 630 et seq.) is amended to read as follows:
17	"PART C-MANPOWER SERVICES, TRAINING, EMPLOY-
18	MENT, CHILD CARE, AND SUPPORTIVE SERVICES PRO-
19	GRAMS FOR RECIPIENTS OF FAMILY ASSISTANCE
20	BENEFITS OR SUPPLEMENTARY PAYMENTS
21	"PURPOSE
22	"SEC. 430. The purpose of this part is to authorize pro-
23	vision, for individuals who are members of a family receiving
24	benefits under part D or supplementary payments pursuant
25	to part E, of manpower services, training, employment,
<b>26</b>	child care, and related supportive services necessary to train

- 1 such individuals, prepare them for employment, and other-
- 2 wise assist them in securing and retaining regular employment
- 3 and having the opportunity for advancement in employment,
- 4 to the end that needy families with children will be restored
- 5 to self-supporting, independent, and useful roles in their
- 6 communities.
- 7 COPERATION OF MANPOWER SERVICES, TRAINING, AND
- 8 EMPLOYMENT PROGRAMS
- 9 "SEC. 431. (a) The Secretary of Labor shall, for each
- 10 person registered pursuant to part D, in accordance with
- 11 priorities prescribed by him, develop or assure the develop-
- 12 ment of an employability plan describing the manpower
- 13 services, training, and employment which the Secretary of
- 14 Labor determines each person needs in order to enable him
- 15 to become self-supporting and secure and retain employment
- 16 and opportunities for advancement.
- 17 "(b) The Secretary of Labor shall, in accordance with
- 18 the provisions of this part, establish and assure the provision
- 19 of manpower services, training, and employment programs
- 20 in each State for persons registered pursuant to part D or
- 21 receiving supplementary payments pursuant to part E.
- 22 "(c) The Secretary of Labor shall, through such pro-
- 23 grams, provide or assure the provision of manpower services,
- 24 training, and employment and opportunities necessary to
- 25 propare such persons for and place them in regular employ-
- 26 ment, including

1	"(1) any of such services, training, employment,
2	and opportunities which the Secretary of Labor is au-
3	thorized to provide under any other Act;
4	"(2) counseling, testing, coaching, program orienta-
5	-tion, institutional and on-the-job training, work experi-
6	ence, upgrading, job development, job placement, and
7	follow up services required to assist in securing and re-
8	taining employment and opportunities for advancement;
9	"(3) relocation assistance (including grants, loans,
10	and the furnishing of such services as will aid an involun-
11	tarily unemployed individual who desires to relocate to
12	do so in an area where there is assurance of regular suit
13	able employment, offered through the public employ-
14	ment offices of the State in such area, which will lead to
15	the carning of income sufficient to make such individual
<b>16</b>	and his family incligible for benefits under part D and
17	supplementary payments under part E); and
18	"(4) special work projects.
19	"(d) (1) For purposes of subsection (e) (4), a 'special
<b>2</b> 0	work project' is a project (meeting the requirements of this
21	subsection) which consists of the performance of work in the
<b>22</b>	public interest through grants to or contracts with public or
<b>2</b> 3	nonprofit private agencies or organizations.
24	"(2) No wage rates provided under any special work

1	project shall be lower than the applicable minimum wage
2	for the particular work concerned.
3	"(3) Before entering into any special work project
4	under a program established as provided in subsection (b),
5	the Secretary of Labor shall have reasonable assurances
6	that—
7	"(A) appropriate standards for the health, safety,
8	and other conditions applicable to the performance of
9	work and training on such project are established and
10	will be maintained,
11	"(B) such project will not result in the displace-
12	ment of employed workers,
13	"(C) with respect to such project the conditions of
14	work, training, education, and employment are reason-
15	able in the light of such factors as the type of work, geo-
16	-graphical region, and proficiency of the participant,
17	"(D) appropriate workmen's compensation pro-
18	-tection is provided to all participants, and
19	"(E) such project will improve the employability
20	of the participants.
21	"(4) With respect to individuals who are participants
22	in special work projects under programs established as pro-
23	vided in subsection (b), the Secretary of Labor shall period-
24	ically (at least once every six months) review the employ-
25	ment record of each such individual while on the special work

- 1 project and on the basis of such record and such other infor-
- 2 mation as he may acquire determine whether it would be
- 3 feasible to place such individual in regular employment or
- 4 in on-the-job, institutional, or other training.
- 5 "ALLOWANCES FOR INDIVIDUALS UNDERGOING TRAINING
- 6 "SEC. 432. (a) (1) The Secretary of Labor shall pay to
- 7 each individual who is a member of a family and is partici-
- <sup>8</sup> pating in manpower training under this part an incentive
- 9 allowance of \$30 per month. If one or more members of a
- 10 family are receiving training for which training allowances
- 11 are payable under section 203 of the Manpower Development
- 12 and Training Act and meet the other requirements under
- 13 such section (except subsection (l) (1) thereof) for the re-
- 14 -ceipt of allowances which would be in excess of the sum of
- 15 the family assistance benefit under part D and supplementary
- 16 payments pursuant to part E payable with respect to such
- 17 month to the family, the total of the incentive allowances per
- 18 month under this section for such members shall be equal to
- the greater of (1) the amount of such excess or, if lower,
- 20 the amount of the excess of the training allowances which
- <sup>21</sup> would be payable under such section 203 as in effect on
- January 1, 1971, over the sum of such family assistance
- benefit and such supplementary payments, and (2) \$30 for
- 24 -each such member.

<sup>25 &</sup>quot;(2) The Secretary of Labor shall, in accordance with

- 1 regulations, also pay, to any member of a family participat-
- 2 ing in manpower training under this part, allowances for
- 3 transportation and other costs to him which are necessary to
- 4 and directly related to his participation in training.
- 5 "(3) The Secretary of Labor shall by regulation provide
- 6 for such smaller allowances under this subsection as he deems
- 7 appropriate for individuals in Puerto Rico, the Virgin Is-
- 8 lands, and Guam.
- 9 "(b) Allowances under this section shall be in lieu of
- 10 allowances provided for participants in manpower training
- 11 programs under any other Act.
- 12 "(c) Subsection (a) shall not apply to any member
- 13 of a family who is participating in a program of the Sec-
- retary of Labor providing public or private employer com-
- pensated on-the-job training.
- 16 "UTILIZATION OF OTHER PROGRAMS
- "SEC. 433. In providing the manpower training and
- 18 employment services and opportunities required by this part
- 19 the Secretary of Labor, to the maximum extent feasible, shall
- 20 assure that such services and opportunities are provided in
- 21 such manner, through such means, and using all authority
- 22 available to him under any other Act (and subject to all
- duties and responsibilities thereunder) as will further the
- establishment of an integrated and comprehensive manpower
- training program involving all sectors of the economy and all

1	levels of government and as will make maximum use of exist
2	ing manpower and manpower related programs and agencies.
3	To such end the Secretary of Labor may use the funds appro-
4	priated to him under this part to provide the programs
5	required by this part through such other Act, to the same
6	extent and under the same conditions as if appropriated
7	under such other Act and in making use of the programs of
8	other Federal, State, or local agencies, public or private, the
9	Secretary may reimburse such agencies for services rendered
10	to persons under this part to the extent such services and
11	opportunities are not otherwise available on a nonreimburs-
12	able basis.
13	"RULES AND REGULATIONS
14	"SEC. 434. The Secretary of Labor may issue such rules
15	and regulations as he finds necessary to carry out his respon-
16_	sibilities under this part.
17	"APPROPRIATIONS; NONFEDERAL SHARE
18	"SEC. 435. (a) There is authorized to be appropriated
19	to the Secretary of Labor for each fiscal year a sum sufficient
20	for carrying out the purposes of this part (other than sections
21	436 and 437), including payment of not to exceed 90 per
22	centum of the cost of manpower services, training, and
23 24	employment and opportunities provided for individuals reg-
2 <del>4</del> 25	istered pursuant to section 447. The Secretary of Labor shall
	establish criteria to achieve an equitable apportionment

1	among the States of Federal expenditures for carrying out
2	the programs authorized by section 431. In developing these
3	criteria the Secretary of Labor shall consider the number of
4	registrations under section 447 and other relevant factors.
5	"(b) If a non-Federal contribution of 10 per centum of
6	the cost specified in subsection (a) is not made in any State
7	(as required by section 402(a)(3)), the Secretary of
8	Health, Education, and Welfare may withhold any action
9	under section 404 on account thereof and if he does so he
	shall instead, after reasonable notice and opportunity for
11	hearing to the appropriate State agency or agencies, with-
12	hold any payments to be made to the State under sections
13	403 (a), 453, 1604, and 1903 (a) until the amount so with
	held (including any amounts contributed by the State pursu-
	ant to the requirement in section 402 (a) (13)) equals 10
	per centum of such costs. Such withholding shall remain
17	in effect until such time as the Secretary of Labor has assur-
18	ances from the States that such 10 per centum will be con-
19	tributed as required by section 402 (a) (13). Amounts so
<b>2</b> 0	withheld shall be deemed to have been paid to the State
21	under such sections and shall be paid by the Secretary of
22	Health, Education, and Welfare to the Secretary of Labor.
23	"CHILD CARE
24	"SEC. 436. (a) (1) For the purpose of assuring that
<b>2</b> 5	individuals receiving benefits under part D or supplementary

1 payments pursuant to part E will not be prevented from participating in training or employment by the unavailability of appropriate child care, there are authorized to be appropriated for each fiscal year such sums as may be necessary to enable the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to make grants to any public or nonprofit private agency or organization, and contracts with any public-or private agency or organization, for part or all of the cost of projects for the provision of child care, including necessary transportation and alteration, remodeling, and renovation of facilities, which may be necessary or appropriate in orderto better enable an individual who has been registered pursuant to part D or is receiving supplementary payments pursuant to part E to undertake or continue manpower 15 training or employment under this part, or to enable an individual who has been referred pursuant to section 447 17 (d) to participate in vocational rehabilitation, or to enable a member of a family which is or has been (within such pe--riod of time as the Secretary may prescribe) eligible for benefits under such part D or payments pursuant to such part E 21 to undertake or continue manpower training or employment under this part; or, with respect to the period prior to the 23 date when part D becomes effective for a State, to better <sup>24</sup> -enable an individual who is receiving aid to families with dependent children, or whose needs are taken into account in

- 1 determining the need of any one claiming or receiving such
- 2 aid, to participate in manpower training or employment.
- 3 "(2) Such grants or contracts for the provision of
- 4 child care in any area may be made directly, or through
- 5 grants to any public or nonprofit private agency which is
- 6 designated by the appropriate elected or appointed official or
- 7 officials in such area and which demonstrates a capacity to
- 8 work effectively with the manpower agency in such area (in-
- 9 cluding provision for the stationing of personnel with the
- 10 manpower team in appropriate eases). To the extent appro-
- 11 priate, such care for children attending school which is pro-
- 12 vided on a group or institutional basis shall be provided
- 13 through arrangements with the appropriate local educational
- 14 agency.
- 15 "(3) Such projects shall provide for various types of
- 16 child care needed in the light of the different circumstances
- and needs of the children involved.
- 18 "(b) Such sums shall also be available to enable the
- 19 Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to make grants
- 20 to any public or nonprofit private agency or organization,
- 21 and contracts with any public or private agency or orga-
- 22 nization, for evaluation, training of personnel, technical
- 23 assistance, or research or demonstration projects to determine
- 24 more effective methods of providing any such care.
- 25 "(e) The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare

1	may provide, in any case in which a family is able to pay
2	for part or all of the cest of child care provided under a
3	project assisted under this section, for payment by the family
4	of such fees for the care as may be reasonable in the light of
5	such ability.
6	"SUPPORTIVE SERVICES
7	"SEC. 437. (a) No payments shall be made to any State
8	under title V, XVI, or XIX, or part A or B of this title,
9	with respect to expenditures for any calendar quarter begin-
10	ning on or after the date part D becomes effective with re-
11	spect to such State, unless it has in effect an agreement with
12	the Scoretary of Health, Education, and Welfare under
13	which it will provide health, vocational rehabilitation, coun-
14	seling, social, and other supportive services which the Sec-
15	retary under regulations determines to be necessary to per-
16	mit an individual who has been registered pursuant to part
17	D or is receiving supplementary payments pursuant to part
18	E to undertake or continue manpower training and employ-
19	ment under this part.
20	"(b) Services under such an agreement shall be pro-
21	vided in close cooperation with manpower training and em-
<ul><li>22</li><li>23</li></ul>	-ployment services provided under this part.
23 24	"(c) The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare
4I	shall from time to time, in such installments and on such con-

ditions as he deems appropriate, pay to any State with which

1 he has an agreement pursuant to subsection (a) up to 90 per-centum of the cost of such State of carrying out such 3 agreement (which cost shall include the cost of items and 4 services provided under the agreement as well as eash expenditures by the State). There are authorized to be appropriated for each fiscal year such sums as may be necessary to carry out this section. 8 "ADVANCE FUNDING 9 "SEC. 438. (a) For the purpose of affording adequate notice of funding available under this part, appropriations for grants, contracts, or other payments with respect to individuals registered pursuant to section 447 are authorized to be included in the appropriation Act for the fiscal year preceding the fiscal year for which they are available for **1**5 obligation. 16 "(b) In order to effect a transition to the advance fund-17 ing method of timing appropriation action, subsection (a) 18 shall apply notwithstanding that its initial application will 19 result in enactment in the same year (whether in the same 20 appropriation Act or otherwise) of two separate appropria-21 tions, one for the then current fiscal year and one for the 22 succeeding fiscal year. 23 "EVALUATION AND RESEARCH; REPORTS TO CONGRESS 24

"SEC. 439. (a) (1) The Scoretary of Labor shall

(jointly with the Scoretary of Health, Education, and Wel-

25

1	fare) provide for the continuing evaluation of the manpower
2	training and employment programs provided under this part
3	including their effectiveness in achieving stated goals and
4	their impact on other related programs. The Scoretary of
5	Labor may conduct research regarding, and demonstrations
6	of, ways to improve the effectiveness of the manpower train-
7	ing and employment programs so provided and may also
8	conduct demonstrations of improved training techniques for
9	upgrading the skills of the working poor. The Secretary of
10	Labor may, for these purposes, contract for independent
11	evaluations of and research regarding such programs or indi-
12	vidual projects under such programs, and establish a data
13	collection, processing, and retrieval system.
14	"(2) There are authorized to be appropriated such
15	sums, not exceeding \$15,000,000 for any fiscal year, as
16	may be necessary to earry out paragraph (1).
17	"(b) On or before September 1 following each fiscal
18	year in which part D is effective with respect to any State-
19	"(1) the Secretary of Labor shall report to the
20	Congress on the manpower training and employment
21	programs provided under this part in such fiscal year,
22	<del>and-</del>
23	"(2) the Secretary of Health, Education, and Wel-
24	fare shall report to the Congress on the child care and
<ul><li>25</li><li>26</li></ul>	supportive services provided under this part in such
20	<del>-fiscal year."</del>

```
CONFORMING AMENDMENTS RELATING TO ASSISTANCE
            FOR NEEDY FAMILIES WITH CHILDREN
2
       SEC. 303. (a) Section 401 of the Social Security Act
3
   (42 U.S.C. 601) is amended
           (1) by striking out "financial assistance and" in
5
6
       the first sentence; and
           (2) by striking out "aid and" in the second
7
8
       sentence.
       (b) (1) Subsection (a) of section 402 of such Act (42
9
   U.S.C. 602) is amended—
            (A) by striking out "aid and" in the matter pre-
11
       ceding clause (1);
12
            (B) by inserting, before "provide" at the be-
13
       ginning of clause (1), "except to the extent permitted
14
       by the Secretary,";
15
           (C) by striking out clause (4);
16
            (D) (i) by striking out "recipients and other
17
       persons" in clause (5) (B) and inserting in lieu thereof
18
        "persons", and
19
            (ii) by striking out "providing services to ap-
20
        plicants and recipients" in such clause and inserting in
21
        lieu thereof "providing services under the plan";
22
            (E) by striking out clauses (7) and (8);
23
            (F) by striking out "aid to families with dependent
24
        children" in clause (9) and inserting in lieu thereof
25
        "the plan";
26
```

1	(G) by striking out clauses (10), (11), and
2	<del>(12);</del>
3	(H) (i) by striking out "section 406 (d)" in clause
4	(14) and inserting in lieu thereof "section 405 (e)",
5	(ii) by striking out "for each child and relative
6	who receives aid to families with dependent children, and
7	each appropriate individual (living in the same home as
8	a relative and child receiving such aid whose needs
9	are taken into account in making the determination
10	under clause (7))" in such clause and inserting in lieu
11	thereof "for each member of a family receiving assist-
12	ance to needy families with children, each appropriate
13	individual (living in the same home as such family)
14	whose needs would be taken into account in determining
15	the need of any such member under the State plan (ap-
16	proved under this part) as in effect prior to the enact-
17	ment of part D, and each individual who would have
18	been eligible to receive aid to families with dependent
19	children under such plan", and
20	(iii) by striking out "such child, relative, and in-
21	dividual" each place it appears in such clause and insert-
22	ing in lieu thereof "such member or individual";
23	(I) by striking out clause (15) and inserting in
24	lien thereof the following: "(15) (A) provide for the
25	development of a program, for appropriate members
<b>26</b>	of such families and such other individuals, for prevent-

1	ing or reducing the incidence of births out of wedlock
2	and otherwise strengthening family life, and for imple-
3	menting such program by assuring that in all appropriate
4	cases family planning services are offered to them, but
5	acceptance of family planning services provided under
6	the plan shall be voluntary on the part of such members
7	and individuals and shall not be a prerequisite to eligi-
8	bility for or the receipt of any other service under the
9	plan; and (B) to the extent that services provided
10	under this clause or clause (8) are furnished
11	by the staff of the State agency or the local agency
12	administering the State plan in each of the political
13	subdivisions of the State, for the establishment of a
14	single organizational unit in such State or local agency,
15	as the case may be, responsible for the furnishing of such
16	services;"
17	(J) by striking out "aid" in clause (16) and
18	inserting in lieu thereof "assistance to needy families
19	with children";
20	(K) (i) by striking out "aid to families with de-
21	pendent children" in clause (17) (A) (i) and insert-
22	ing in lieu thereof "assistance to needy families with
23	children",
<b>24</b>	(ii) by striking out "aid" in clause (17) (A) (ii)

and inserting in lieu thereof "assistance", and

1	(111) by striking out "and" at the end of clause
2	(i), and adding after clause (ii) the following new
3	-clause:-
4	"(iii) in the case of any parent (of a child
5	referred to in clause (ii) ) receiving such assistance
6	who has been descrited or abandoned by his or her
7	spouse, to secure support for such parent from such
8	spouse (or from any other person legally liable
9.	for such support), utilizing any reciprocal arrange-
10	ments adopted with other States to obtain or enforce
11	court orders for support, and";
12	(L) by striking out "clause (17) (A)" in clause
13	(18) and inserting in lieu thereof "clause (11) (A)";
14	(M) by striking out clause (19) and inserting in
15	lieu thereof the following: "(19) provide for arrange-
16	ments to assure that there will be made a non-Federal
17	contribution to the cost of manpower services, training,
18	and employment and opportunities provided for indivi-
19	duals registered pursuant to section 447, in cash or kind,
20	equal to 10 per centum of such cost;";
21	(N) by striking out "aid to families with depend-
22	ent children in the form of foster care in accordance
23	with section 408" in clause (20) and inserting in lieu
24	thereof "payments for foster care in accordance with
25	section 406";

1	(0) (i) by striking out "of each parent of a
2	dependent child or children with respect to whom aid
3	is being provided under the State plan" in clause (21)
4	(A) and inserting in lieu thereof "of each person who
5	is the parent of a child or children with respect to
6	whom assistance to needy families with children or
7	foster care is being provided or is the spouse of the
8	parent of such a child or children".
9	(ii) by striking out "such child or children" in
10	clause (21) (A) (i) and inserting in lieu thereof "such
11	child or children or such parent",
12	(iii) by striking out "such parent" each place it
13	appears in clause (21) (B) and inserting in lieu thereof
l <b>4</b>	"such person", and
15	(iv) by striking out "section 410;" in clause (21)
16	(C) and inserting in lieu thereof "section 408; and";
17	(P) (i) by striking out "a parent" each place it
18	appears in clause (22) and inserting in lieu thereof "a
19	person",
20	(ii) by striking out "a child or children of such
21	parent" each place it appears in such clause and inserting
22	in lieu thereof "the spouse or a child or children of such
23	person",
24	(iii) by striking out "against such parent" in such

```
1
         clause and inserting in lieu thereof "against such per-
 2
        son", and
 3
             (iv) by striking out "aid is being provided under
 4
        the plan of such other State" each place it appears in
 5
        such clause and inserting in lieu thereof "assistance to
 6
        -needy families with children or foster care payments are
 7
        being provided in such other State"; and
 8
             (Q) by striking out "; and (23)" and all that
 9
        follows and inserting in lieu thereof a period.
10
        (2) Clauses (5), (6), (9), (13), (14), (15), (16),
11
    (17), (18), (19), (20), (21), and (22) of section 402
    (a) of such Act, as amended by paragraph (1) of this
   subsection, are redesignated as clauses (4) through (16),
14
    respectively.
15
        (e) Section 402 (b) of such Act is amended to read as
16
    follows:
17
        "(b) The Secretary shall approve any plan which ful-
18
    fills the conditions specified in subsection (a), except that
19
   he shall not approve any plan which imposes, as a condition
20
   of eligibility for services under it, any residence requirement
21
   which denies services or foster care payments with respect
22
   to any individual residing in the State."
23
        (d) Section 402 of such Act is further amended by
   striking out subsection (c).
```

1	(e) (1) Subsection (a) of section 403 of such Act (42)
2	U.S.C. 603) is amended—
3	(A) by striking out "aid and services" and insert-
4	ing in lieu thereof "services" in the matter preceding
5	-paragraph (1);
6	(B) by striking out paragraph (1) and inserting in
7	lieu thereof the following:
8	"(1) an amount equal to the sum of the following
9	proportions of the total amounts expended during such
10	quarter as payments for fester care in accordance with
11	section 406—
12	"(A) five-sixths of such expenditures, not
13	counting so much of any expenditures with respect
14	to any month as exceeds the product of \$18 multi-
15	plied by the number of children receiving such
16	foster care in such month; plus
17	"(B) the Federal percentage of the amount
18	by which such expenditures exceed the maximum
19	which may be counted under subparagraph (A),
20	not counting so much of any expenditures with
21	respect to any menth as exceeds the product of
22	\$100 multiplied by the number of children receiv-
23	ing such foster care for such month;";
24	(C) by striking out paragraph (2);

1	(D) (i) by striking out "in the case of any State,"
2	in the matter preceding subparagraph (A) in para
3	graph (3),
4	(ii) by striking out "or relative who is receiving aid
5	under the plan, or to any other individual (living in the
6	same home as such relative and child) whose needs
7	are taken into account in making the determination
8	under clause (7) of such-section" in clause (i) of sub-
9	paragraph (A) of such paragraph and inserting in lieu
10	thereof "receiving foster care or any member of a family
11	receiving assistance to needy families with children
12	or to any other individual (living in the same home
13	as such family) whose needs would be taken into ac-
14	count in determining the need of any such member
15	under the State plan approved under this part as in
16	effect prior to the enactment of part D",
17	(iii) by striking out "child or relative who is apply-
18	ing for aid to families with dependent children or" in
19	clause (ii) of subparagraph (A) of such paragraph
20	and inserting in lieu thereof "member of a family",
21	(iv) by striking out "likely to become an applicant
22	for or recipient of such aid" in clause (ii) of subpara-
<b>2</b> 3	graph (A) of such paragraph and inserting in lieu
24	thereof "likely to become cligible to receive such

assistance", and

```
(v) by striking out "(14) and (15)" each place it
1
       appears in subparagraph (A) of such paragraph and
2
       inserting in lieu thereof "(8) and (9)";
3
            (E) by striking out all that follows "permitted"
4
       in the last sentence of such paragraph and inserting in
 5
       lieu thereof "by the Sceretary; and";
 6
           (F) by striking out "in the case of any State," in
 7
       the matter preceding subparagraph (A) in paragraph
 8
       (5);
 9
            (G) by striking out "section 406 (e)" each place
10
       it appears in paragraph (5) and inserting in lieu thereof
11
        "section 405 (d)"; and
12
           (H) by striking out the sentences following para-
13
       graph (5).
14
        (2) Paragraphs (3) and (5) of section 403 (a) of
15
    such Act, as amended by paragraph (1) of this subsection,
   are redesignated as paragraphs (2) and (3), respectively.
        (f) Section 403 (b) of such Act is amended—
18
            (1) by striking out "(B) records showing the
19
       number of dependent children in the State, and (C)"
20
       in paragraph (1) and inserting in lieu thereof "and
21
        (B)"; and
22
            (2) by striking out "(A)" in paragraph (2), and
23
        by striking out ", and (B)" and all that follows in such
24
        paragraph and inserting in lieu thereof a period.
25
```

```
(g) Section 404 of such Act (42 U.S.C. 604) is
1
   amended-
            (1) by striking out "(a) In the case of any State
3
       plan for aid and services" and inserting in lieu thereof
4
        "In the case of any State plan for services"; and
5
6
            (2) by striking out subsection (b).
7
        (h) Section 405 of such Act (42 U.S.C. 605) is
8
   repealed.
9
        (i) Section 406 of such Act (42 U.S.C. 606) is redes-
10
   ignated as section 405, and as so redesignated is amended-
11
            (1) by striking out subsections (a) and (b) and
12
       inserting in lieu thereof the following:
13
       "(a) The term 'child' means a child as defined in sec-
14
   tion 445 (b).
15
        "(b) The term 'needy families with children' means
   families who are receiving family assistance benefits under
17
    part D and who (1) are receiving supplementary payments
   under part E, or (2) would be eligible to receive aid to fam-
   ilies with dependent children, under a State plan (approved
20
    under this part) as in effect prior to the enactment of part D,
21
    if the State plan had continued in effect and if it included
    assistance to-dependent children of unemployed fathers pur-
    suant to section 407 as it was in effect prior to such enact-
23
    ment; and 'assistance to needy families with children' means
   family assistance benefits under such part D, paid to such
```

26 families.";

1	(2) by striking out subsection (e) and redesignat-
2	ing subsections (d) and (e) as subsections (e) and
3	(d), respectively;
4	(3) (A) by striking out "living with any of the
5	relatives specified in subsection (a) (1) in a place of
6	residence maintained by one or more of such relatives
7	as his or their own home" in paragraph (1) of subsec-
8	tion (d) as so redesignated and inserting in lieu thereof
9	"a member of a family (as defined in section 445 (a))",
10	<del>and</del>
11	(B) by striking out "because such child or rela-
12	tive refused" and inserting in lieu thereof "because such
13	child or another member of such family refused".
14	(j) Section 107 of such Act (42 U.S.C. 607) is
15	repealed.
16	(k) Section 408 of such Act (42 U.S.C. 608) is re-
17	designated as section 406, and as so redesignated is
18	amended-
19	(1) by striking out everything (including the head-
20	ing) which precedes paragraph (1) of subsection (b)
21	and inserting in lieu thereof the following:
22	"FOSTER CARE
23	"SEC. 406. For purposes of this part
24	"(a) 'foster care' shall include only foster care which is
25	provided in behalf of a child (1) who would, except for his

1 removal from the home of a family as a result of a judicial determination to the effect that continuation therein would be contrary to his welfare, be a member of such family reeciving assistance to needy families with children, (2) whose placement and pare are the responsibility of (A) the State or local agency administering the State plan approved under section 402, or (B) any other public agency with whom the State agency administering or supervising the administration of such State plan has made an agreement which is still in 10 offeet and which includes provision for assuring development 11 of a plan, satisfactory to such State agency, for such child as **12** provided in paragraph (e) (1) and such other provisions as 13 may be necessary to assure accomplishment of the objectives 14 of the State plan approved under section 402, (3) who has 15 been placed in a foster family home or child-care institution 16 as a result of such determination, and (1) who (A) received 17 assistance to needy families with children in or for the month 18 in which court proceedings leading to such determination 19 were initiated, or (B) would have received such assistance **2**0 to needy families with children in or for such month if appli-21 cation had been made therefor, or (C) in the case of a child 22who had been a member of a family (as defined in section 23 445 (a) ) within six months prior to the month in which such proceedings were initiated, would have received such assistance in or for such month if in such month he had been a

```
member of (and removed from the home of) such a family
 1
    and application had been made therefor;
        "(b) 'foster care' shall, however, include the care de-
 3
    scribed in paragraph (a) only if it is provided -";
            (2) (A) by striking out "aid to families with de
 5
        pendent children'" in subsection (b) (2) and inserting
 6
        in lieu thereof "foster care",
 7
             (B) by striking out "such foster care" in such sub-
 8
        section and inserting in lieu thereof "foster care", and
 9
            (C) by striking out the period at the end of such-
10
       -subsection and inserting in lieu thereof "; and";
11
             (3) by striking out subsection (c) and redesignat-
12
        ing subsections (d), (e), and (f) as subsections (e),
13
        (d), and (e), respectively;
14
             (4) by striking out "paragraph (f) (2)" and "sec-
15
       tion 403 (a) (3) "in subsection (c) (as so redesignated)
16
       and inserting in lieu thereof "paragraph (e) (2)" and
17
        "section 403 (a) (2)" respectively;
18
            (5) by striking out "aid" in subsection (d) (as
19
        so redesignated) and inserting in lieu thereof "services";
20
             (6) by striking out "relative specified in section
21
22
        406 (a) "in subsection (c) (1) (as so redesignated) and
       inserting in lieu thereof "family (as defined in section
23
24
       445 (a) )"; and
```

```
(7) by striking out "522" and "part 3 of title V"
 1
        in subsection (e) (2) (as so redesignated) and inserting
 2
        in lieu thereof "422" and "part B of this title",
 3
       respectively.
 4
        (1) (1) Section 409 of such Act (42 U.S.C. 609) is
 5
   repealed.
 6
        (m) Section 410 of such Act (42 U.S.C. 610) is re-
 7
   designated as section 407; and subsection (a) of such section
   (as so redesignated) is amended by striking out "section 402-
10 (a) (21)" and inserting in lieu thereof "section 402 (a)
11 (15)".
        (n) (1) Section 422 (a) (1) (A) of such Act is
12
13 amended by striking out "section 402 (a) (15)" and insert-
14 ing in lieu thereof "section 402 (a) (9)".
       (2) Section 422 (a) (1) (B) of such Act is amended by
15
   striking out "provided for dependent children" and inserting
   in lieu thereof "provided with respect to needy families with
18
   children".
        (o) References in any law, regulation, State plan, or
19
   other document to any provision of part A of title IV of the
   Social Security Act which is redesignated by this section
   shall (from and after the effective date of the amendments
   made by this Act) be considered to be references to such
```

<sup>24</sup> provision as so redesignated.

1	CHANGES IN HEADINGS
2	SEC. 304. (a) The heading of title IV of the Social
3	Security Act (42 U.S.C. 601, et seq.) is amended to read
4	as follows:
5	"TITLE IV—FAMILY ASSISTANCE BENEFITS,
6	STATE SUPPLEMENTARY PAYMENTS, WORK
7	INCENTIVE PROGRAMS, AND GRANTS TO
8	STATES FOR FAMILY AND CHILD WELFARE
9	SERVICES".
10	(b) The heading of part A of such title IV is amended
11	to read as follows:
12	"PART A SERVICES TO NEEDY FAMILIES WITH
13	CHILDREN".
14	TITLE IV-AID TO THE AGED, BLIND, AND
15	DISABLED
16	PART-A-GRANTS TO STATES
17	GRANTS TO STATES FOR AID TO THE ACED, BLIND, AND
18	DISABLED
19	SEC. 401. Title XVI of the Social Security Act (42
20	U.S.C. 1381 et seq.) is amended to read as follows:
21	"TITLE XVI—GRANTS TO STATES FOR AID TO
22	THE AGED, BLIND, AND DISABLED
23	"APPROPRIATIONS
24	"SEC. 1601. For the purpose of enabling each State to
25	furnish financial assistance to needy individuals who are
26	sixty-five years of age or over blind or disabled and for the

1	purpose of encouraging each State to furnish rehabilitation
2	and other services to help such individuals attain or retain
3	capability for self-support or self-care, there are authorized
4	to be appropriated for each fiscal year sums sufficient to
5	carry out these purposes. The sums made available under this
6	section shall be used for making payments to States having
7	State plans approved under section 1602.
8	"STATE PLANS FOR FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND SERVICES
9	TO THE AGED, BLIND, AND DISABLED
10	"SEC. 1602. (a) A State plan for aid to the aged, blind,
11	and disabled must—
12	"(1) provide for the establishment or designation
13	of a single State agency to administer or supervise the
14	administration of the State plan;
15	"(2) provide such methods of administration as are
16	found by the Secretary to be necessary for the proper and
17	efficient operation of the plan, including methods relat-
18	ing to the establishment and maintenance of personnel
19	standards on a merit basis (but the Secretary shall exer-
20	cise no authority with respect to the selection, tenure of
21	office, and compensation of individuals employed in
22	accordance with such methods);
23	"(3) provide for the training and effective use of
<b>24</b>	social service personnel in the administration of the plan.

for the furnishing of technical assistance to units of State

1 ·	government and of political subdivisions which are fur-
2	nishing financial assistance or services to the aged, blind,
3	and disabled, and for the development through research
4	or demonstration projects of new or improved methods
5	of furnishing assistance or services to the aged, blind,
6	and disabled;
7	"(4) provide for the training and effective use of
8	paid subprofessional staff (with particular emphasis on
9	the full-time or part-time employment of recipients and
10	other persons of low income as community service aides)
11	in the administration of the plan and for the use of non-
12	paid or partially paid volunteers in a social service vol-
13	unteer program in providing services to applicants and
14	recipients and in assisting any advisory committees
<b>1</b> 5	established by the State agency;
16	"(5) provide that all individuals wishing to make
17	application for aid under the plan shall have opportunity
18	to do so and that such aid shall be furnished with reason-
19	able promptness with respect to all eligible individuals;
20	"(6) provide for the use of a simplified statement,
21	conforming to standards prescribed by the Secretary, to
22	establish eligibility, and for adequate and effective meth-
23	ods of verification of eligibility of applicants and recip-

ients through the use, in accordance with regulations

1	prescribed by the Secretary, of sampling and other
2	scientific techniques;
3	"(7) provide that, except to the extent permitted
4	by the Secretary with respect to services, the State plan
5	shall be in effect in all political subdivisions of the State,
6	and, if administered by them, be mandatory upon them;
7	"(8) provide for financial participation by the
8	State;
9	"(9) provide that, in determining whether an in-
10	dividual is blind, there shall be an examination by a
11	physician skilled in the diseases of the eye or by an
12	optometrist, whichever the individual may select;
13	"(10) provide for granting an opportunity for a
14	fair hearing before the State agency to any individual
15	whose claim for aid under the plan is denied or is not
16	acted upon with reasonable promptness;
17	"(11) provide for periodic evaluation of the opera-
18	tions of the State plan, not less often than annually, in
19	accordance with standards prescribed by the Secretary,
20	and the furnishing of annual reports of such evaluations
21	to the Secretary together with any necessary modifica-
22	tions of the State plan resulting from such evaluations;
23	"(12) provide that the State agency will make such
24	reports, in such form and containing such information,
<b>25</b>	as the Secretary may from time to time require, and

1	comply with such provisions as the Secretary may from
2	time to time find necessary to assure the correctness
3	and verification of such reports;
4	"(13) provide safeguards which restrict the use or
5	disclosure of information concerning applicants and re-
6	cipients to purposes directly connected with the adminis-
7	tration of the plan;
8	"(14) provide, if the plan includes aid to or on
9	behalf of individuals in private or public institutions, for
10	the establishment or designation of a State authority or
11	authorities which shall be responsible for establishing and
12	maintaining standards for such institutions;
13	"(15) provide a description of the services which
14	the State makes available to applicants for or recipients
15	of aid under the plan to help them attain self support or
16	self-care, including a description of the steps taken to
17	assure, in the provision of such services, maximum
18	utilization of all available services that are similar or
19	related; and
20	"(16) assure that, in administering the State plan
21	and providing services thereunder, the State will observe
22	priorities established by the Scoretary and comply with
23	such performance standards as the Scoretary may, from
24	time to time, establish.
25	Notwithstanding paragraph (1), if on January 1, 1962,

1	and on the date on which a State submits (or submitted) its
2	plan for approval under this title, the State agency which
3	administered or supervised the administration of the plan of
4	such State approved under title X was different from the
5	State agency which administered or supervised the admin-
6	istration of the plan of such State approved under title I and
7	the State agency which administered or supervised the ad-
8	ministration of the plan of such State approved under title
9	XIV, then the State agency which administered or super-
10	vised the administration of such plan approved under title X
11	may be designated to administer or supervise the administra-
12	tion of the portion of the State plan for aid to the aged, blind,
13	and disabled which relates to blind individuals and a separate
14	State agency may be established or designated to administer
15	or supervise the administration of the rest of such plan; and
16	in such case the part of the plan which each such agency
17	administers, or the administration of which each such agency
18	supervises, shall be regarded as a separate plan for purposes
19	of this title.
20	"(b) The Secretary shall approve any plan which
21	fulfills the conditions specified in subsection (a) and in
22	section 1603, except that he shall not approve any plan
23	which imposes, as a condition of eligibility for aid under the
<i>2</i> 4	<del>-plan</del>

1	"(1) an age requirement of more than sixty five
2	<del>years;</del>
3	"(2) any residency requirement which excludes
4	any individual who resides in the State;
5	"(3) any citizenship requirement which excludes
6	any citizen of the United States, or any alien lawfully
7	admitted for permanent residence who has resided in
8	the United States continuously during the five years im-
9	mediately preceding his application for such aid;
10	"(4) any disability or age requirement which ex-
11	cludes any persons under a severe disability, as deter-
12	-mined in accordance with criteria prescribed by the
13	Secretary, who are eighteen years of age or older; or
14	"(5) any blindness or age requirement which ex-
15	cludes any persons who are blind as determined in
16	accordance with criteria prescribed by the Secretary.
17	In the case of any State to which the provisions of section
18	344 of the Social Security Act Amendments of 1950 were
19	applicable on January 1, 1962, and to which the sentence
20	of section 1002 (b) following paragraph (2) thereof is
21	-applicable on the date on which its State plan was or is
	submitted for approval under this title, the Secretary shall
	approve the plan of such State for aid to the aged, blind, and
74	disabled for numerous of this title even though it does not

1	meet the requirements of section 1603 (a), if it meets all
2	other requirements of this title for an approved plan for aid
3	to the aged, blind, and disabled; but payments to the State
4	under this title shall be made, in the case of any such plan,
5	only with respect to expenditures thereunder which would
6	be included as expenditures for the purposes of this title
7	under a plan approved under this section without regard
8	to the provisions of this sentence.
9	"DETERMINATION OF NEED
10	"SEC. 1603. (a) A State plan must provide that, in
11	determining the need for aid under the plan, the State agency
<b>12</b>	shall take into consideration any other income or resources
13	of the individual claiming such aid as well as any expenses
14	reasonably attributable to the earning of any such income;
15	except that, in making such determination with respect to
16	any individual—
17	"(1) the State agency shall not consider as re-
18	sources (A) the home, household goods, and personal
19	effects of the individual, (B) other personal or real prop-
20	erty, the total value of which does not exceed \$1,500,
21	or (C) other property which, as determined in accord-
22	ance with and subject to limitations in regulations of the
23	Secretary, is so essential to the family's means of self-
<b>24</b>	support as to warrant its exclusion, but shall apply the

provisions of section 442 (d) and regulations thereunder;

"(2) the State agency may not consider the financial responsibility of any individual for any applicant or recipient unless the applicant or recipient is the individual's spouse, or the individual's child who is under the age of twenty-one or is blind or severely disabled; "(3) if such individual is blind, the State agency (A) shall disregard the first \$85 per month of earned income plus one-half of earned income in excess of \$85 per month, and (B) shall, for a period not in excess of twelve months, and may, for a period not in excess of thirty-six months, disregard such additional amounts of other income and resources, in the case of any such individual who has a plan for achieving self-support ap--proved by the State agency, as may be necessary for the fulfillment of such plan;

"(4) if such individual is not blind but is severely disabled, the State agency (A) shall disregard the first \$85 per month of earned income plus one half of earned income in excess of \$85 per month, and (B) shall, for a period not in excess of twelve months, and may, for a period not in excess of thirty-six months, disregard such additional amounts of other income and resources, in the case of any such individual who has a plan for achieving self-support approved by the State agency, as may be necessary for the fulfillment of the plan, but

1	only with respect to the part or parts of such period dur-
2	ing substantially all of which he is undergoing vocational
3	-rehabilitation;
4	"(5) if such individual has attained age sixty-five
5	and is neither blind nor severely disabled, the State
6	agency may disregard not more than the first \$60 per
7	month of earned income plus one-half of the remainder
8	thereof; and
9	"(6) the State agency may, before disregarding any
10	amounts under the preceding paragraphs of this subsec-
11	tion, disregard not more than \$7.50 of any income.
12	For requirement of additional disregarding of income of
13	OASDI recipients in determining need for aid under the
14	plan, see section 1007 of the Social Security Amendments
<b>1</b> 5	<del>of 1969.</del>
16	"(b) A State plan must also provide that.
17	"(1) each eligible individual, other than one who
18	is a patient in a medical institution or is receiving insti-
19	tutional services in an intermediate care facility to which
20	-section 1121 applies, shall receive financial assistance
21	in such amount as, when added to his income which is
22 23	not disregarded pursuant to subsection (a), will provide
23 24	a minimum of \$110 per month;
2 <del>4</del> 25	"(2) the standard of need applied for determining
20	eligibility for and amount of aid to the aged, blind, and

1	disabled shall not be lower than (A) the standard ap-
2	plied for this purpose under the State plan (approved
3	under this title) as in effect on the date of enactment of
4	part D of title IV of this Act, or (B) if there was no
5	such plan in effect for such State on such date, the stand-
6	ard of need which was applicable under-
7	"(i) the State plan which was in effect on such
8	date and was approved under title I, in the case of
9	any individual who is sixty-five years of age or older,
10	"(ii) the State plan in effect on such date and
11	approved under title X, in the case of an individual
12	who is blind, or
13	"(iii) the State plan in effect on such date and
14	approved under title XIV, in the case of an individ-
15	ual who is severely disabled,
16	except that if two or more of clauses (i), (ii), and (iii)
17	are applicable to an individual, the standard of need
18	applied with respect to such individual may not be lower
19	than the higher (or highest) of the standards under the
20	applicable plans, and except that if none of such clauses
21	is applicable to an individual, the standard of need
22	applied with respec to such individual may not be lower
23	than the higher (or highest) of the standards under the
24	State plans approved under titles I, X, and XIV which
25	were in effect on such date and

1	"(3) no aid will be furnished to any individual
2	under the State plan for any period with respect to
3	which he is considered a member of a family receiving
4	family assistance benefits under part D of title IV or
5	supplementary payments pursuant to part E thereof, or
6	training allowances under part C thereof, for purposes of
7	determining the amount of such benefits, payments, or
8	allowances (but this paragraph shall not apply to any
9	individual, otherwise considered a member of such a
10	family, if he elects in such manner and form as the Sec-
11	retary may prescribe not to be considered a member
12	of such a family).
13	"(c) For special provisions applicable to Puerto Rico,
14	the Virgin Islands, and Guam, see section 1108 (e).
15	"PAYMENTS TO STATES FOR AID TO THE AGED, BLIND,
16	-AND DISABLED
17	"Sec. 1604. From the sums appropriated therefor, the
18	Secretary shall pay to each State which has a plan approved
19	under this title, for each calendar quarter, an amount equal
20	to the sum of the following proportions of the total amounts
21	expended during each month of such quarter as aid to the
22 23	aged, blind, and disabled under the State plan-
24	"(1) 90 per centum of such expenditures, not
ΙI	-counting so much of any expenditures as exceeds the

1	product of \$65 multiplied by the total number of recipi-
2	ents of such aid for such month; plus
3	"(2) 25 per centum of the amount by which such
4	expenditures exceed the maximum which may be counted
5	under paragraph (1), not counting so much of any
6	expenditures with respect to such month as exceeds the
7	product of the amount which, as determined by the Sec-
8	retary, is the maximum permissible level of assistance per
9	person in which the Federal Government will partici-
10	pate financially, multiplied by the total number of recipi-
11	ents of such aid for such month.
12	In the case of any individual in Puerto Rico, the Virgin
13	Islands, or Guam, the maximum permissible level of assist-
14	ance under paragraph (2) may be lower than in the case
15	of individuals in the other States. For other special provisions
16	applicable to Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam, see
17	-section 1108 (e).
18	"ALTERNATE PROVISION FOR DIRECT FEDERAL PAYMENTS
19	TO INDIVIDUALS
20	"SEC. 1605. The Secretary may enter into an agreement
21	with a State under which he will, on behalf of the State,
	pay aid to the aged, blind, and disabled directly to individuals
	in the State under the State's plan approved under this title
24	and norform such other functions of the State in connection

- 1 with such payments as may be agreed upon. In such case
- 2 payments shall not be made as provided in section 1604
- 3 and the agreement shall also provide for payment to the
- 4 Secretary by the State of its share of such aid (adjusted to
- 5 reflect the State's share of any overpayments recovered
- 6 under section 1606).
- 7 "OVERPAYMENTS AND UNDERPAYMENTS
- 8 "Sec. 1606. Whenever the Secretary finds that more or
- 9 less than the correct amount of payment has been made to
- 10 any person as a direct Federal payment pursuant to section
- 11 1605, proper adjustment or recovery shall, subject to the
- 12 succeeding provisions of this section, be made by appropriate
- 13 adjustments in future payments of the overpaid individual
- or by recovery from him or his estate or payment to him.
- The Secretary shall make such provision as he finds appro-
- priate in the case of payment of more than the correct amount
- 17 of benefits with a view to avoiding penalizing individuals
- who were without fault in connection with the overpayment.
- 19 if adjustment or recovery on account of such overpayment
- in such case would defeat the purposes of this title, or be
- 21 against equity or good conscience, or (because of the small
- 22 amount involved) impede efficient or effective administration.
- 23 "OPERATION OF STATE PLANS
- 24 "SEC. 1607. If the Secretary, after reasonable notice and
- 25 opportunity for hearing to the State agency administering

1	or supervising the administration of the State plan approved
2	under this title, finds—
3	"(1) that the plan no longer complies with the
4	provisions of sections 1602 and 1603; or
5	"(2) that in the administration of the plan there is
6	a failure to comply substantially with any such provision;
7	the Secretary shall notify such State agency that all, or such
8	portion as he deems appropriate, of any further payments
9	will not be made to the State or individuals within the State
10	under this title (or, in his discretion, that payments will be
11	limited to categories under or parts of the State plan not
12	affected by such failure), until the Secretary is satisfied that
13	there will no longer be any such failure to comply. Until he
14	is so satisfied he shall make no such further payments to the
15	State or individuals in the State under this title (or shall
16	limit payments to categories under or parts of the State plan
17	not affected by such failure).
18	"PAYMENTS TO STATES FOR SERVICES AND
19	-ADMINISTRATION-
20	"SEC. 1608. (a) If the State plan of a State approved
21	under section 1602 provides that the State agency will make
22	available to applicants for or recipients of aid to the aged,
23	blind, and disabled under the State plan at least those serv-
24	ices to help them attain or retain capability for self-support
25	or self-care which are prescribed by the Secretary, such State-

1	shall qualify for payments for services under subsection (b)
2	of this section.
3	"(b) In the case of any State whose State plan ap-
4	proved under section 1602 meets the requirements of sub-
5	section (a), the Secretary shall pay to the State from the
6	sums appropriated therefor an amount equal to the sum of
7	the following proportions of the total amounts expended dur-
8	ing each quarter, as found necessary by the Secretary for the
9	proper and efficient administration of the State plan-
10	"(1) 75 per centum of so much of such expendi-
11	tures as are for—
12	"(A) services which are prescribed pursuant
13	to subsection (a) and are provided (in accordance
<b>14</b>	with subsection (e)) to applicants for or recipients
15	of aid under the plan to help them attain or retain-
16	capability for self-support or self-care, or
<b>L7</b>	"(B) other services, specified by the Secretary
18	as likely to prevent or reduce dependency, so pro-
19	vided to the applicants for or recipients of aid, or
20	"(C) any of the services prescribed pursuant to
21	subsection (a), and any of the services specified in
22	subparagraph (B) of this paragraph, which the
23	Secretary may specify as appropriate for individuals
24	who, within such period or periods as the Secretary
25	may prescribe, have been or are likely to become

1	applicants for or recipients of aid under the plan,
2	if such services are requested by the individuals and
3	are provided to them in accordance with subsection
4	<del>(c), or</del>
5	"(D) the training of personnel employed or
6	preparing for employment by the State agency or
7	by the local agency administering the plan in the
8	political subdivision; plus
9	"(2) one-half of so much of such expenditures (not
10	included under paragraph (1)) as are for services-pro-
11	wided (in accordance with subsection (c)) to applicants
12	for or recipients of aid under the plan, and to individuals
13	- requesting such services who (within such period or
14	periods as the Secretary may prescribe) have been or
15	are likely to become applicants for or recipients of such
16	aid; plus
17	"(3) one-half of the remainder of such expenditures.
18	"(c) The services referred to in paragraph (1) and
19	(2) of subsection (b) shall, except to the extent specified
20	-by the Secretary, include only
21	"(1) services provided by the staff of the State
22	agency, or the local agency administering the State plan
<ul><li>23</li><li>24</li></ul>	in the political subdivision (but no funds authorized
2 <del>4</del> 25	under this title shall be available for services defined as
_0	vocational rehabilitation services under the Vocational

Rehabilitation Act (A) which are available to individuals in need of them under programs for their rehabilitation carried on under a State plan approved under that Act, or (B) which the State agency or agencies administering or supervising the administration of the State plan approved under that Act are able and willing to provide if reimbursed for the cost thereof pursuant to agreement under paragraph (2), if provided by such staff), and

retary, services which in the judgment of the State agency cannot be as economically or as effectively provided by the staff of that State or local agency and are not otherwise reasonably available to individuals in need of them, and which are provided, pursuant to agreement with the State agency, by the State health authority or the State agency or agencies administering or supervising the administration of the State plan for vocational rehabilitation services approved under the Vocational Rehabilitation Act or by any other State agency which the Secretary may determine to be appropriate (whether provided by its staff or by contract with public (local) or nonprofit private agencies).

Services described in clause (B) of paragraph (1) may be provided only pursuant to agreement with the State agency

- 1 or agencies administering or supervising the administration of
- 2 the State plan for vocational rehabilitation services approved
- 3 under the Vocational Rehabilitation Act.
- 4 "(d) The portion of the amount expended for admin-
- 5 istration of the State plan to which paragraph (1) of
- 6 -subsection (b) applies and the portion thereof to which
- 7 paragraphs (2) and (3) of subsection (b) apply shall be
- 8 determined in accordance with such methods and procedures
- 9 as may be permitted by the Secretary.
- 10 "(e) In the case of any State whose plan approved
- 11 under section 1602 does not meet the requirements of
- 12 subsection (a) of this section, there shall be paid to the
- 13 State, in lieu of the amount provided for under subsection
- 14 (b), an amount equal to one-half the total of the sums
- 15 expended during each quarter as found necessary by the
- 16 Secretary for the proper and efficient administration of the
- 17 State plan, including services referred to in subsections (b)
- <sup>18</sup> and (c) and provided in accordance with the provisions of
- 19 those subsections.
- 20 "(f) In the case of any State whose State plan in-
- <sup>21</sup> cluded a provision meeting the requirements of subsection
- 22 (a), but with respect to which the Secretary finds, after
- <sup>23</sup> reasonable notice and opportunity for hearing to the State
- <sup>24</sup> agency administering or supervising the administration of
- 25 the plan, that—

1	"(1) the provision no longer complies with the
2	requirements of subsection (a), or
3	"(2) in the administration of the plan there is a
4	failure to comply substantially with such provision,
5	the Secretary shall notify the State agency that all, or such
6	portion as he deems appropriate, of any further payments
7	will not be made to the State under subsection (b) until
8	he is satisfied that there will no longer be any such failure
9	to comply. Until the Secretary is so satisfied, no such fur-
<b>1</b> 0	ther payments with respect to the administration of and
11	services under the State plan shall be made, but, instead,
12	such payments shall be made, subject to the other provisions
13	of this title, under subsection (e).
	,
14	"COMPUTATION OF PAYMENTS TO STATES
	"COMPUTATION OF PAYMENTS TO STATES "Sec. 1609. (a) (1) Prior to the beginning of each
14	
<ul><li>14</li><li>15</li><li>16</li></ul>	"Sec. 1609. (a) (1) Prior to the beginning of each
14 15 16 17	"SEC. 1609. (a) (1) Prior to the beginning of each quarter, the Secretary shall estimate the amount to which a
14 15 16 17 18	"SEC. 1609. (a) (1) Prior to the beginning of each quarter, the Secretary shall estimate the amount to which a State will be entitled under sections 1604 and 1608 for
14 15 16 17 18 19	"SEC. 1609. (a) (1) Prior to the beginning of each quarter, the Secretary shall estimate the amount to which a State will be entitled under sections 1604 and 1608 for that quarter, such estimates to be based on (A) a report
14 15 16 17 18 19	"SEC. 1609. (a) (1) Prior to the beginning of each quarter, the Secretary shall estimate the amount to which a State will be entitled under sections 1604 and 1608 for that quarter, such estimates to be based on (A) a report filed by the State containing its estimate of the total sum
14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21	"SEC. 1609. (a) (1) Prior to the beginning of each quarter, the Secretary shall estimate the amount to which a State will be entitled under sections 1604 and 1608 for that quarter, such estimates to be based on (A) a report filed by the State containing its estimate of the total sum to be expended in that quarter in accordance with the pro-
14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23	"SEC. 1609. (a) (1) Prior to the beginning of each quarter, the Secretary shall estimate the amount to which a State will be entitled under sections 1604 and 1608 for that quarter, such estimates to be based on (A) a report filed by the State containing its estimate of the total sum to be expended in that quarter in accordance with the provisions of sections 1604 and 1608, and stating the amount appropriated or made available by the State and its political subdivisions for such expenditures in that quarter, and, if
14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24	"SEC. 1609. (a) (1) Prior to the beginning of each quarter, the Secretary shall estimate the amount to which a State will be entitled under sections 1604 and 1608 for that quarter, such estimates to be based on (A) a report filed by the State containing its estimate of the total sum to be expended in that quarter in accordance with the provisions of sections 1604 and 1608, and stating the amount appropriated or made available by the State and its political subdivisions for such expenditures in that quarter, and, if such amount is less than the State's proportionate share of the
14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24	"SEC. 1609. (a) (1) Prior to the beginning of each quarter, the Secretary shall estimate the amount to which a State will be entitled under sections 1604 and 1608 for that quarter, such estimates to be based on (A) a report filed by the State containing its estimate of the total sum to be expended in that quarter in accordance with the provisions of sections 1604 and 1608, and stating the amount appropriated or made available by the State and its political subdivisions for such expenditures in that quarter, and, if

- 1 and (B) such other investigation as the Secretary may find
- 2 -necessary.
- 3 "(2) The Secretary shall then pay in such installments
- 4 as he may determine, the amount so estimated, reduced or
- 5 increased to the extent of any overpayment or underpay-
- 6 ment which the Secretary determines was made under this
- 7 section to the State for any prior quarter and with respect
- 8 to which adjustment has not already been made under this
- 9 subsection.
- 10 "(b) The pro rata share to which the United States is
- 11 equitably entitled, as determined by the Secretary, of the
- 12 net amount recovered during any quarter by a State or
- 13 political subdivision thereof with respect to aid furnished
- 14 under the State plan, but excluding any amount of such aid
- 15 recovered from the estate of a deceased recipient which is not
- 16 in excess of the amount expended by the State or any politi-
- 17 cal subdivision thereof for the funeral expenses of the de-
- 18 ceased, shall be considered an overpayment to be adjusted
- 19 under subsection (a) (2).
- 20 "(e) Upon the making of any estimate by the Secre-
- 21 tary under this section, any appropriations available for
- 22 payments under this title shall be deemed obligated.
- 23 "DEFINITION
- 24 "SEC. 1610. For purposes of this title, the term 'aid to
- <sup>25</sup> the aged, blind, and disabled' means money payments to

1	needy individuals who are 65 years of age or older, are blind,
2	or are severely disabled, but such term does not include—
3	"(1) any such payments to any individual who is
4	an inmate of a public institution (except as a patient in
5	a medical institution); or
6	"(2) any such payments to any individual who has
7	not attained 65 years of age and who is a patient-
8	in an institution for tuberculosis or mental diseases.
9	Such term also includes payments which are not included
10	within the meaning of such term under the preceding sen-
11	tence, but which would be so included except that they are
12	made on behalf of such a needy individual to another indi-
13	vidual who (as determined in accordance with standards
14	prescribed by the Secretary) is interested in or concerned
<b>1</b> 5	with the welfare of such needy individual, but only with
16	respect to a State whose State plan approved under section
17	1602 includes provision for—
18	"(A) determination by the State agency that the
19	needy individual has, by reason of his physical or mental
20	condition, such inability to manage funds that making
21	payments to him would be contrary to his welfare and,
22	therefore, it is necessary to provide such aid through
23	payments described in this sentence;
24	"(B) making such payments only in cases in which

1	the payment will, under the rules otherwise applicable
2	under the State plan for determining need and the
3	amount of aid to the aged, blind, and disabled to be paid
4	(and in conjunction with other income and resources),
5	meet all the need of the individuals with respect to
6	whom such payments are made;
7	"(C) undertaking and continuing special efforts to
8	protect the welfare of such individuals and to improve,
9	to the extent possible, his capacity for self-care and to
10	manage funds;
11	"(D) periodic review by the State agency of the
12	determination under clause (A) to ascertain whether
13	conditions justifying such determination still exists, with
14	provision for termination of the payments if they do not
15	and for seeking judicial appointment of a guardian, or
16	other legal representative, as described in section 1111,
17	if and when it appears that such action will best serve
18	the interests of the needy individual; and
19	"(E) opportunity for a fair hearing before the State
20	agency on the determination referred to in clause (A)
<ul><li>21</li><li>22</li></ul>	for any individual with respect to whom it is made.
23	Whether an individual is blind or severely disabled shall be
24	determined for purposes of this title in accordance with
	criteria prescribed by the Secretary."

1	REPEAL OF TITLES I, X, AND XIV OF THE SOCIAL
2	SECURITY ACT
3	SEC. 402. Title I, X, and XIV of the Social Security
4	Act (42 U.S.C. 301 et seq., 1201 et seq., and 1351 et
5	seq.) are hereby repealed.
6	ADDITIONAL DISREGARDING OF INCOME OF OASDI AND RAIL-
7	ROAD RETIREMENT RECIPIENTS IN DETERMINING NEED
8	FOR AID TO THE AGED, BLIND, AND DISABLED
9	SEC. 403. Section 1007 of the Social Security Amend-
10	ments of 1969 is amended by striking out "and before Janu-
11	ary 1972".
12	TRANSITION PROVISION RELATING TO OVERPAYMENTS
13	AND UNDERPAYMENTS
14	SEC. 404. In the case of any State which has a State
15	plan approved under title I, X, XIV, or XVI of the Social
16	Security Act as in effect prior to the enactment of this sec-
17	tion, any overpayment or underpayment which the Secretary
18	determines was made to such State under section 3, 1003,
19	1403, or 1603 of such Act with respect to a period before
20	the approval of a plan under title XVI as amended by this
21	Act, and with respect to which adjustment has not already
22	been made under subsection (b) of such section 3, 1003,
23	1403, or 1603, shall, for purposes of section 1609 (a) of such
24	Act as herein amended, be considered an overpayment or
25 26	underpayment (as the case may be) made under title XVI
<b>26</b>	of such Act as herein amended.

_	TRANSPHON PROVISION RELATING TO DEFINITIONS OF
2	BLINDNESS AND DISABILITY
3	SEC. 405. In the case of any State which has in operation
4	a plan of aid to the blind under title X, aid to the permanently
5	and totally disabled under title XIV, or aid to the aged, blind,
6	or disabled under title XVI, of the Social Security Act as
7	in effect prior to the enactment of this Act, the State plan of
8	such State submitted under title XVI of such Act as amended
9	by this Act shall not be denied approval thereunder, with
10	respect to the period ending with the first July 1 which
11	follows the close of the first regular session of the legislature
12	of such State which begins after the enactment of this Act,
13	by reason of its failure to include therein a test of disability
14	or blindness different from that included in the State's plan
15	(approved under such title X, XIV or XVI of such Act)
16	as in effect on the date of the enactment of this Act.
17	PART B—MISCELLANEOUS CONFORMING AMENDMENTS
18	AMENDMENT TO SECTION 228(d)
19	SEC. 411. Section 228 (d) (1) of the Social Security Act
20	is amended by striking out "I, X, XIV, or", and by striking
21	out "part A" and inserting in lieu thereof "receives pay-
22	ments with respect to such month pursuant to part D or E".
<b>2</b> 3	AMENDMENTS TO TITLE XI
24	SEC. 412. Title XI of the Social Security Act is
<b>25</b>	-amended

```
(1) by striking out "I,", "X,", and "XIV," in sec-
1
2
       tion 1101 (a) (1);
            (2) by striking out "I, X, XIV," in section 1106
3
 4
        (c)(1)(A);
            (3) (A) by striking out "I, X, XIV, and XVI"
 5
 6
        in section 1108 (a) and inserting in lieu thereof "XVI",
 7
        and
            (B) by striking out "section 402 (a) (19)" in sec-
 8
 9
        tion 1108 (b) and inserting in lieu thereof "part A of
10
       title IV":
11
            (4) by striking out the text of section 1109 and
12
       inserting in lieu thereof the following:
13
        "Sec. 1109. Any amount which is disregarded (or-set
   aside for future needs) in determining the eligibility for and
15
   amount of aid or assistance for any individual under a State
16
   plan approved under title XVI or XIX, or eligibility for
17
   and amount of payments pursuant to part D or E of title
18
   IV, shall not be taken into consideration in determining the
19
   eligibility for and amount of such aid, assistance, or payments
20
   for any other individual under such other State plan or such
21
   part D or E.";
22
            (5) (A) by striking out "I, X, XIV, and" in sec-
23
       tion 1111, and
24
            (B) by striking out "part A" in such section and
25
       inserting in lieu thereof "parts D and E";
```

1	-(5) (A) by striking out "1, A, A1V," in the mat-
2	ter preceding clause (a) in section 1115, and by strik-
3	ing out "part A" in such matter and inserting in lieu
4	thereof "parts A and E",
5	(B) by striking out "of section 2, 402, 1002,
6	1402," in clause (a) of such section and inserting in lieu
7	thereof "of or pursuant to section 402, 452,", and
8	(C) by striking out "3, 403, 1003, 1403, 1603,"
9	in clause (b) of such section and inserting in lieu thereof
10	"403, 453, 1604, 1608,";
11	(7) (A) by striking out "I, X, XIV," in subsec-
12	tions (a) (1), (b), and (d) of section 1116, and
13	(B) by striking out "4, 404, 1004, 1404, 1604,"
14	in subsection (a) (3) of such section and inserting in
<b>1</b> 5	lieu thereof "404, 1607, 1608,";
16	(8) by repealing section 1118;
17	(9) (A) by striking out "I, X, XIV," in section
18	<del>1119,</del>
<b>1</b> 9	(B) by striking out "part A" in such section and
20	inserting in lieu thereof "services under a State plan ap-
21	proved under part A", and
22	(C) by striking out "3 (a), 403 (a), 1003 (a),
23	1403 (a), or 1603 (a)" in such section and inserting in
24	lieu thereof "403 (a) or 1604"; and
25	(10) (A) by striking out "a plan for old-age assist-

T	ance, approved under title 1, a plan for and to the build,
2	approved under title X, a plan for aid to the per-
3	manently and totally disabled, approved under title
4	XIV, or a plan for aid to the aged, blind, or disabled"
5	in section 1121 (a) and inserting in lieu thereof "a plan
6	for aid to the aged, blind, and disabled", and
7	(B) by inserting "(other than a public nonmedical
8	facility)" in such section after "intermediate care facili-
9	ties" the first time it appears.
10	AMENDMENTS TO TITLE XVIII
11	SEC. 413. Title XVIII of the Social Security Act is
12	amended—
13	(1) (A) by striking out "title I or" in section 1843
14	<del>(b) (1),</del>
15	(B) by striking out "all of the plans" in section
16	1843 (b) (2) and inserting in lieu thereof "the plan",
17	and-
18	(C) by striking out "titles I, X, XIV, and XVI,
19	and part A" in section 1843 (b) (2) and inserting in
20	lieu thereof "title XVI and under part E";
21	(2) (A) by striking out "title I, X, XIV, or XVI
22	or part A" in section 1843 (f) both times it appears and
23	inserting in lieu thereof "title XVI and under part E";
24	<del>-and</del>
25	(B) by striking out "title I, XVI, or XIX" in such

1	section and inserting in lieu thereof "title XVI or XIX",
2	and
3	(3) by striking out "I, XVI" in section 1863 and
4	inserting in lieu thereof "XVI".
5	AMENDMENTS TO TITLE XIX
6	SEC. 414. Title XIX of the Social Security Act is
7	-amended
8	(1) by striking out "families with dependent chil-
9	dren" and "permanently and totally" in clause (1) of
10	the first sentence of section 1901 and inserting in lieu
11	thereof "needy families with children" and "severely",
12	respectively;
13	(2) by striking out "I or" in section 1902 (a) (5);
14	(3) (A) by striking out everything in section 1902
15	(a) (10) which precedes clause (A) and inserting in
16	lieu thereof the following:
17	"(10) provide for making medical assistance
18	available to all individuals receiving assistance to
19	needy families with children as defined in section
20	405 (b), receiving payments under an agreement
21	pursuant to part E of title IV, or receiving aid to the
22	aged, blind, and disabled under a State plan ap-
23	proved under title XVI; and-", and
<b>24</b>	(B) by inserting "or payments under such part E"

1	after "such plan" each time it appears in clauses (A)
2	and (B) of such section;
3	(4) by striking out section 1902 (a) (13) (B) and
4	inserting in lieu thereof the following:
5	"(B) in the case of individuals receiving assist-
6	ance to needy families with children as defined in
7	section 405 (b), receiving payments under an agree-
8	ment pursuant to part E of title IV, or receiving aid
9	to the aged, blind, and disabled under a State plan
10	approved under title XVI, for the inclusion of at
11	least the care and services listed in clauses (1)
12	through (5) of section 1905 (a), and";
13	(5) by striking out "aid or assistance under State
14	puns approved under titles I, X, XIV, XVI, and
<b>1</b> 5	part A of title IV," in section 1902 (a) (14) (as
16	amended by section 236 of this Act) and inserting in
17	lieu thereof "assistance to needy families with children
18	as defined in section 405 (b), receiving payments under-
19	and agreement pursuant to part E of title IV, or receiv-
20	ing aid to the aged, blind, and disabled under a State plan
21	approved under title XVI,";
22	(6) (A) by striking out "aid or assistance under the
<b>2</b> 3	State's plan approved under title I, X, XIV, or XVI, or
24	part A of title IV," in so much of section 1902 (a) (17)
<b>25</b>	as precedes clause (A) and inserting in lieu-thereof

1	"assistance to needy families with children as defined in
2	section 405 (b), payments under an agreement pursuant
3	to part E of title IV, or aid under a State plan approved
4	under title XVI,",
5	(B) by striking out "aid or assistance in the
6	form of money payments under a State plan approved
7	under title 1, X, XIX, or XVI, or part A of title
8	IV" in clause (B) of such section and inserting in
9	lieu thereof "assistance to needy families with children
10	as defined in section 405 (b), payments under an agree-
11	ment pursuant to part E of title IV, or aid to the aged,
12	blind, and disabled under a state plan approved under
13	title XVI", and
14	(C) by striking out "aid or assistance under such
15	plan" in such clause (B) and inserting in lieu thereof
16	"assistance, aid, or payments";
17	(7) by striking out "section 3 (a) (4) (A) (i)
18	and (ii) or section 1603 (a) (4) (A) (i) and (ii)" in
19	section 1902 (a) (20) (C) and inserting in lieu thereof
<b>2</b> 0	"section 1608 (b) (1) (A) and (B)";
21	(8) by striking out "title X (or title XVI, insofar
22	as it relates to the blind) was different from the State
23	agency which administered or supervised the adminis-
24	tration of the State plan approved under title I (or title
<b>25</b>	XVI, insofar as it relates to the aged), the State agency

1	which administered or supervised the administration of
2	such plan approved under title X (or title XVI, insefar
3	as it relates to the blind)" in the last sentence of sec-
4	tion 1902 (a) (immediately before the sentence added
5	by section 253 (a) of this Act) and inserting in lieu
6	thereof "title XVI, insofar as it relates to the blind,
7	was different from the agency which administered or
8	supervised the administration of such plan insofar as it
9	relates to the aged, the agency which administered or
10	supervised the administration of the plan insofar as it
11	relates to the blind";
12	(9) by striking out "section 406 (a) (2)" in sec-
13	tion 1902 (b) (2) and inserting in lieu thereof "section
14	405 (b) ";
15	(10) by striking out "I, X, XIV, or XVI, or part
16	A" in section 1902 (c) and inserting in lieu thereof
17	"XVI or under an agreement under part E";
18	(11) by striking out "I, X, XIV, or XVI, or part
19	A" in section 1903 (a) (1) and inserting in lieu thereof
20	"XVI or under an agreement under part E";
21	(12) by repealing section 1903 (c);
22	(13) by striking out "highest amount which would
23	ordinarily be paid to a family of the same size without
24	any income or resources in the form of money payments,
<b>25</b>	under the plan of the State approved under part A of

1	title IV of this Act" in section 1903 (f) (1) (B) (i) and
2	inserting in lieu thereof "highest total amount which
3	would ordinarily be paid under parts D and E of title IV
4	to a family of the same size without income or resources.
5	eligible in that State for money payments under part E
6	of title IV of this Act";
7	(14) (A) by striking out "the 'highest amount
8	which would ordinarily be paid' to such family under the
9	State's plan approved under part A of title IV of this
10	Act" in section 1903 (f) (3) and inserting in lieu therevi
11	"the 'highest total amount which would ordinarily be
12	paid' to such family", and
13	(B) by striking out "section 408" in such section
14	and inserting in lieu thereof "section 406";
15	(15) by striking out "I, X, XIV, or XVI. of
.16	part A" in section 1903 (f) (4) (A) and inserting in
17	lieu thereof "XVI or under an agreement under part
18	E"; and
19	(16) (A) by striking out "aid or assistance under
20	the State's plan approved under title I, X, XIV.
21	or XVI, or part A of title VI, who are " in the
22	matter preceding clause (i) in section 1905 (a) and
23	inserting in lieu thereof "payments under part E of title
24	IV or aid under a State plan approved under title XVI,
<b>25</b>	who are-'',

1	(B) by striking out clause (ii) of such section and
2	inserting in lieu thereof the following:
3	"(ii) receiving assistance to needy families with
4	children as defined in section 405 (b), or payments pur-
5	suant to an agreement under part E of title IV,",
6	(C) by striking out clause (v) of such section and
7	inserting in lieu thereof the following:
8	"(v) severely disabled as defined by the Secretary
9	in accordance with section 1602 (b) (4),", and
10	(D) by striking out "or assistance" and "I, X,
11	XIV, or" in clause (vi), and in the second sentence of
12	-such section.
13	TITLE V GENERAL
14	EFFECTIVE DATE FOR TITLES III AND IV
15	SEC. 501. The amendments and repeals made by titles
16	III and IV of this Act shall become effective, and section 9
17	of the Act of April 19, 1950 (25 U.S.C. 639), is repealed
18	effective, on July 1, 1972; except that
19	(1) in the case of any State a statute of which
20	(on July 1, 1972) prevents it from making the supple-
21	mentary payments provided for in part E of title IV of
22	the Social Security Act, as amended by title III of this
23	Act, and the legislature of which does not meet in a
24	regular session which closes after the enactment of this
<b>25</b>	Act and an ar before Tuly 1 1079 the amondments and

repeals made by this Act, and such repeal, shall become 1 effective with respect to individuals in such State on the 2 3 first July 1 which follows the close of the first regular session of the legislature of such State which closes after 4 5 July 1, 1972, or (if earlier than such first July 1 after 6 July 1, 1972) on the first day of the first calendar quar-7 ter following the date on which the State certifies it is 8 no longer so prevented from making such payments; and 9 (2) in the case of any State a statute of which (on 10 July 1, 1972) prevents it from complying with the 11 requirements of section 1602 of the Social Security Act. 12 as amended by title IV of this Act, and the legislature of 13 which does not meet in a regular session which closes 14 after the enactment of this Act and on or before July 1. 15 1972, the amendments made by title IV of this Act shall 16 become effective on the first July 1 which follows the 17 close of the first regular session of the legislature of 18 such State which closes after July 1, 1972, or (subject 19 to paragraph (1) of this section) on the earlier date 20 on which such State submits a plan meeting the require-21 ments of such section 1602; 22and except that section 436 of the Social Security Act, as 23 amended by this Act, and the amendment made by section 24 403 of this Act, shall be effective upon the enactment of 25 this Act.

1	SAVING PROVISION
2	SEC. 502. (a) The Secretary shall pay to any State
3	which has in effect an agreement under part E of title IV
4	of the Social Security Act, for each quarter in any fiscal year
5	beginning after June 30, 1972, and before July 1, 1974,
6	in addition to the amount payable to such State under such
7	agreement, an amount equal to the excess of—
8	(1) 70 per centum of the total of those payments
9	for such quarter pursuant to such agreement which are
10	required under sections 451 and 452 of the Social
11	Security Act (as amended by this Act), over
<b>1</b> 2	(2) the difference between (A) the total of the
13	expenditures made as aid for the corresponding quarter
14	of the fiscal year 1971 under the plan of such State
15	approved under part A of title IV of the Social Secu-
16	rity Act (excluding emergency assistance specified in-
17	section 406 (e) (1) (A) of such Act and foster care
18	under section 408 thereof), and (B) the total amount
19	determined under section 403 of such Act for such
20	State with respect to such expenditures for such quarter.
21	(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Act or
22	of the Social Scourity Act, it shall be the fixed obligation of
23	any State which has a State plan approved under title I, X,
24	XIV, or XVI of such Act (other than expenditures pursuant
<b>25</b>	to section 1121) (as in effect on or after January 1, 1971)

1 or under title XVI of such Act (as amended by this Act)  $\mathbf{2}$ to pay, as its share of expenditures made under such plan for each quarter beginning after December 31, 1970, an amount 4 equal to 90 per centum of the total of the average quarterly expenditures made by such State as its share of eash pay ments under its plans approved under titles I, X, and XIV, or title XVI, of the Social Security Act, during the calendar year 1970. The Secretary shall pay to any State whose obligation is reduced by reason of the preceding sentence (by 10 increasing amounts due such State under other laws or otherwise) such amounts as may be necessary to permit the pay-12 ment of aid or assistance under the plan in accordance with 13 this Act; and may collect any additional amounts due by reason of this subsection from a State under its State plan **15** approved under any such title by decreasing any payments or withholding any amounts otherwise due such State under **17** other Federal laws. 18 (e) Except for increases caused by or resulting from the implementation of this Act, any increases made by a 19 20 State after 1970 in the amount of the aid or assistance payable under the plan of such State approved under title I, X, XIV, or XVI of the Social Security Act, or under title XVI of such Act as amended by this Act, other than increases re-24sulting from provisions contained in such plan, as in effect on 25 December 31, 1970, or from court orders, shall be dis-

- 1 regarded in determining under such title the amount of the
- 2 Federal payment to such State under such plan.
- 3 SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR PUERTO RICO, THE VIRGIN
- 4 ISLANDS, AND QUAM-
- 5 SEC. 503. Section 1108 of the Social Security Act is
- 6 amended by adding at the end thereof the following new
- 7 subsection:
- 8 "(e) (1) In applying the provisions of sections 442 (a)
- 9 and (b), 443 (b) (2), 1603 (a) (1) and (b) (1), and
- 10 1604 (1) with respect to Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands,
- or Guam, the amounts to be used shall (instead of the \$500,
- 12 \$300, and \$1,500 in such section 442 (a), the \$500 and
- 13 \$300 in such section 442 (b), the \$30 in clauses (A) and
- 14 (B) of such section 443 (b) (2), the \$1,500 in such section
- 15 1603 (a) (1), the \$110 in such section 1603 (b) (1), and
- the \$65 in section 1604(1)) bear the same ratio to such
- 17 \$500, \$300, \$1,500, \$500, \$300, \$30, \$1,500, \$110, and
- 18 \$65 as the per capita incomes of Puerto Rico, the Virgin
- 19 Islands, and Guam, respectively, bear to the per capita
- <sup>20</sup> income of that one of the fifty States which has the lowest
- <sup>21</sup> per capita income; except that in no case may the amounts
- 22 so used exceed such \$500, \$300, \$1,500, \$500, \$300, \$30,
- <sup>23</sup> <del>\$1,500, \$110, and \$65.</del>
- 24 "(2) (A) The amounts to be used under such sections
- <sup>25</sup> in Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam shall be pro-

- 1 mulgated by the Secretary between July 1 and September
- 2 30 of each odd-numbered year, on the basis of the average
- 3 per capita income of each State and of the United States for
- 4 the most recent calendar year for which satisfactory data are
- 5 available from the Department of Commerce. Such promul-
- 6 gation shall be effective for each of the two fiscal years in the
- 7 period beginning July 1 next succeeding such promulgation.
- 8 "(B) The term 'United States', for purposes of sub-
- 9 paragraph (A) only, means the fifty States and the District
- 10 of Columbia.
- 11 "(3) If the amounts which would otherwise be promul-
- 12 gated for any fiscal year for any of the three States referred
- 13 to in paragraph (1) would be lower than the amounts pro-
- 14 mulgated for such State for the immediately preceding period,
- 15 the amounts for such fiscal year shall be increased to the ex-
- 16 tent of the difference; and the amounts so increased shall
- 17 be the amounts promulgated for such year."
- 18 MEANING OF SECRETARY AND FISCAL YEAR
- 19 SEC. 504. As used in this Act and in the amendments
- 20 made by this Act, the term "Secretary" means, unless the
- 21 context otherwise requires, the Secretary of Health, Educa-
- 22 tion, and Wolfare; and the term "fiscal year" means a period
- 23 beginning with any July 1 and ending with the close of the
- 24 following June 30.

- 1 That this Act, with the following table of contents, may be
- 2 cited as the "Social Security Amendments of 1971".

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

# TITLE I—PROVISIONS RELATING TO OLD-AGE, SURVIVORS. AND DISABILITY INSURANCE

- Sec. 101. Increase in old-age, survivors, and disability insurance benefits, and in benefits for certain individuals age 72 or over.
- Sec. 102. Automatic adjustments in benefits, the contribution and benefit base, and the earnings test.
  - (a) Adjustments in benefits.
  - (b) Adjustments in contribution and benefit base.
  - (c) Adjustments in earnings test.
- Sec. 103. Special minimum primary insurance amount.
- Sec. 104. Increased widow's and widower's insurance benefits.
- Sec. 105. Increase of earnings counted for benefit and tax purposes
- Sec. 106. Delayed retirement credit.
- Sec. 107. Age-62 computation point for men.
- Sec. 108. Additional drop-out years.
- Sec. 109. Election to receive actuarially reduced benefits in one category not to be applicable to certain benefits in other categories.
- Sec. 110. Computation of benefits based on combined earnings of husband and wife.
- Sec. 111. Liberalization of earnings test.
- Sec. 112. Exclusion of certain earnings in year of attaining age 72.
- Sec. 113. Reduced benefits for widowers at age 60.
- Sec. 114. Entitlement to child's insurance benefits based on disability which began between age 18 and 22.
- Sec. 115. Continuation of child's benefits through end of semester.
- Sec. 116. Child's benefits in case of child entitled on more than one wage record.
- Sec. 117. Adoptions by disability and old-age insurance beneficiaries.
- Sec. 118. Child's insurance benefits not to be terminated by reason of adoption.
- Sec. 119. Benefits for child based on earnings record of grandparent.
- Sec. 120. Elimination of support requirement as condition of benefits for divorced and surviving divorced wives.
- Sec. 121. Waiver of duration of relationship requirement for widow, widower, or stepchild in case of remarriage to the same individual.
- Sec. 122. Reduction from 6 to 5 months of waiting period for disability benefits.
- Sec. 123. Elimination of disability insured-status requirement of substantial recent covered work in case of individuals who are blind.
- Sec. 124. Applications for disability insurance benefits filed after death of insured individual.
- Sec. 125. Workmen's compensation offset for disability insurance beneficiaries.

## TITLE I—PROVISIONS RELATING TO OLD-AGE, SURVIVORS, AND DISABILITY INSURANCE—Continued

- Sec. 126. Wage credits for members of the uniformed services.
- Sec. 127. Optional determination of self-employment earnings.
- Sec. 128. Payments by employer to survivor or estate of former employee.
- Sec. 129. Coverage for vow-of-poverty members of religious orders.
- Sec. 130. Self-employment income of certain individuals temporarily living outside the United States.
- Sec. 131. Coverage of Federal Home Loan Bank employees.
- Sec. 132. Policemen and firemen in Idaho.
- Sec. 133. Coverage of certain hospital employees in New Mexico.
- Sec. 134. Coverage of certain employees of the Government of Guam.
- Sec. 135. Coverage exclusion of students employed by nonprofit organizations auxiliary to schools, colleges, and universities.
- Sec. 136. Penalty for furnishing false information to obtain social security account number.
- Sec. 137. Guarantee of no decrease in total family benefits.
- Sec. 138. Increase of amounts in trust funds available to pay costs of rehabilitation services.
- Sec. 139. Acceptance of money gifts made unconditionally to social security.
- Sec. 140. Payment in certain cases of disability insurance benefits with respect to certain periods of disability.
- Sec. 141. Recomputation of benefits based on combined railroad and social security earnings.
- Sec. 142. Changes in tax schedules.
- Sec. 143. Allocation to disability insurance trust fund.

## TITLE II—PROVISIONS RELATING TO MEDICARE, MEDIC-AID, AND MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH

#### PART A-ELIGIBILITY AND PAYMENT FOR BENEFITS

- Sec. 201. Coverage for disability beneficiaries under Medicare.
- Sec. 202. Hospital insurance benefits for uninsured individuals not eligible under transitional provision.
- Sec. 203. Amount of supplementary medical insurance premium.
- Sec. 204. Change in supplementary medical insurance deductible.
- Sec. 205. Increase in lifetime reserve days and change in hospital insurance coinsurance amount under Medicare.
- Sec. 206. Automatic enrollment for supplementary medical insurance.
- Sec. 207. Establishment of incentives for States to emphasize comprehensive health care under Medicaid.
- Sec. 208. Cost-sharing under Medicaid.
- Sec. 209. Determination of payments under Medicaid.
- Sec. 210. Payment under Medicare to individuals covered by Federal employees health benefits program.
- Sec. 211. Payment under Medicare for certain inpatient hospital and related physicians' services furnished outside the United States.

# TITLE II—PROVISIONS RELATING TO MEDICARE, MEDICAID, AND MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH—Continued

## PART B-IMPROVEMENTS IN OPERATING EFFECTIVENESS

- Sec. 221. Limitation on Federal participation for capital expenditures.
- Sec. 222. Report on plan for prospective reimbursement; experiments and demonstration projects to develop incentives for economy in the provision of health services.
- Sec. 223. Limitations on coverage of costs under Medicare.
- Sec. 224. Limits on prevailing charge levels.
- Sec. 225. Limits on payment for skilled nursing home and intermediate care facility services.
- Sec. 226. Payments to health maintenance organizations.
- Sec. 227. Payment under Medicare for services of physicians rendered at a teaching hospital.
- Sec. 228. Advance approval of extended care and home health coverage under Medicare.
- Sec. 229. Authority of Secretary to terminate payments to suppliers of services.
- Sec. 230. Elimination of requirement that States move toward comprehensive Medicaid programs.
- Sec. 231. Reductions in care and services under Medicaid.
- Sec. 232. Determination of reasonable cost of inpatient hospital services under Medicaid and under maternal and child health program.
- Sec. 233. Amount of payments where customary charges for services furnished are less than reasonable cost.
- Sec. 234. Institutional planning under Medicare.
- Sec. 235. Payments to States under Medicaid for installation and operation of claims processing and information retrieval systems.
- Sec. 236. Prohibition against reassignment of claims to benefits.
- Sec. 237. Utilization review requirements for hospitals and skilled nursing homes under Medicaid and under maternal and child health program.
- Sec. 238. Notification of unnecessary admission to a hospital or extended care facility under Medicare.
- Sec. 239. Use of State health agency to perform certain functions under Medicaid and under maternal and child health program.
- Sec. 240. Relationship between Medicaid and comprehensive health care programs.
- Sec. 241. Program for determining qualifications for certain health care personnel.
- Sec. 242. Penalties for fraudulent acts and false reporting under Medicare and Medicaid.
- Sec. 243. Provider reimbursement review board.

#### PART C-MISCELLANEOUS AND TECHNICAL PROVISIONS

- Sec. 251. Physical therapy services and other therapy services under Medioare.
- Sec. 252. Coverage of supplies related to colostomies.
- Sec. 253. Coverage of ptosis bars.
- Sec. 254. Inclusion under Medicaid of care in intermediate care facilities.

# TITLE II—PROVISIONS RELATING TO MEDICARE, MEDICAID, AND MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH—Continued

## PART C-MISCELLANEOUS AND TECHNICAL PROVISIONS-Continued

- Sec. 255. Coverage prior to application for medical assistance.
- Sec. 256. Hospital admissions for dental services under Medicare.
- Sec. 257. Extension of grace period for termination of supplementary medical insurance coverage where failure to pay premiums is due to good cause.
- Sec. 258. Extension of time for filing claim for supplementary medical insurance benefits where delay is due to administrative error.
- Sec. 259. Waiver of enrollment period requirements where individual's rights were prejudiced by administrative error or inaction.
- Sec. 260. Elimination of provisions preventing enrollment in supplementary medical insurance program more than three years after first opportunity.
- Sec. 261. Waiver of recovery of incorrect payments from survivor who is without fault under Medicare.
- Sec. 262. Requirement of minimum amount of claim to establish entitlement to hearing under supplementary medical insurance program.
- Sec. 263. Collection of supplementary medical insurance premiums from individuals entitled to both social security and railroad retirement benefits.
- Sec. 264. Prosthetic lenses furnished by optometrists under supplementary medical insurance program.
- Sec. 265. Provision of medical social services not mandatory for extended care facilities.
- Sec. 266. Refund of excess premiums under Medicare.
- Sec. 267. Waiver of requirement of registered professional nurses in skilled nursing homes in rural areas under Medicaid.
- Sec. 268. Exemption of Christian Science sanitoriums from certain nursing home requirements under Medicaid.
- Sec. 269. Requirements for nursing home administrators.
- Sec. 270. Termination of National Advisory Council on Nursing Home Administration.
- Sec. 271. Increase in limitation on payments to Puerto Rico for medical assistance.
- Sec. 272. Extension of title V to American Samoa and the Trust Territory of the Pacific Islands.
- Sec. 273. Study of chiropractic coverage.
- Sec. 274. Miscellaneous technical and clerical amendments.

## TITLE III—ASSISTANCE FOR THE AGED, BLIND, AND DISABLED

Sec. 301. Establishment of program.

## "TITLE XX-ASSISTANCE FOR THE AGED, BLIND, AND DISABLED

<sup>&</sup>quot;Sec. 2001. Purpose; appropriations.

<sup>&</sup>quot;Sec. 2002. Basic eligibility for benefits.

## "TITLE XX-ASSISTANCE FOR THE AGED, BLIND, AND DISABLED—Continued

#### "PART A-DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS

"Sec. 2011. Eligibility for and amount of benefits.

- "(a) Definition of eligible individual.
- "(b) Amount of benefits.
- "(c) Period for determination of benefits.
- "(d) Special limits on gross income.
- "(e) Limitation on eligibility of certain individuals.
- "(f) Suspension of payments to individuals who are outside the United States.
- "(q) Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam.

"Sec. 2012. Income.

- "(a) Meaning of income.
- "(b) Exclusions from income.

"Sec. 2013. Resources.

- "(a) Exclusions from resources.
- "(b) Disposition of resources.

"Sec. 2014. Meaning of terms.

- "(a) Aged, blind, or disabled individual.
- "(b) Eligible spouse.
- "(c) Definition of child.
- "(d) Determination of marital relationships.
- "(e) United States.
- "(f) Income and resources of individuals other than eligible individuals and eligible spouses.

"Sec. 2015. Rehabilitation services for blind and disabled individuals.

"Sec. 2016. Optional State supplementation.

#### "PART B-PROCEDURAL AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

"Sec. 2031. Payments and procedures.

- "(a) Payment of benefits.
- "(b) Overpayments and underpayments.
- "(c) Hearings and review.
- "(d) Procedures; prohibition of assignments; representation of claimants.
- "(e) Applications and furnishing of information.
- "(f) Furnishing of information by other agencies.
- "Sec. 2032. Penalties for fraud.
- "Sec. 2033. Administration.
- "Sec. 2034. Evaluation and research; reports."
- Sec. 302. Conforming amendments relating to aid to the aged, blind, or disabled.
- Sec. 303. Repeal of titles I, X, and XIV of the Social Security Act.
- Sec. 304. Provision for disregarding of certain income in determining need for aid to the aged, blind, or disabled for assistance.
- Sec. 305. Advances from OASI Trust Fund for administrative expenses.

## TITLE IV-FAMILY PROGRAMS

Sec. 401. Establishment of opportunities for families program and family assistance plan.

## "TITLE XXI—OPPORTUNITIES FOR FAMILIES PRO-GRAM AND FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN

"Sec. 2101. Purpose; appropriations.

"Sec. 2102. Basic eligibility for benefits.

## "PART A-OPPORTUNITIES FOR FAMILIES PROGRAM

"Sec. 2111. Registration of family members for manpower services, training, and employment.

"Sec. 2112. Child care and other supportive services.

"Sec. 2113. Payment of benefits.

"Sec. 2114. Operation of manpower services, training, and employment programs.

"Sec. 2115. Allowances for individuals participating in training.

"Sec. 2116. Utilization of other programs.

"Sec. 2117. Rehabilitation services for incapacitated family members.

"Sec. 2118. Evaluation and research; reports.

#### "PART B-FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN

"Sec. 2131. Payment of benefits.

"Sec. 2132. Rehabilitation services for incapacitated family members.

"Sec. 2133. Child care and other supportive services.

"Sec. 2134. Standards for child care; development of child care facilities.

"Sec. 2135. Evaluation and research; reports.

#### "PART C-DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS

"Sec. 2151. Determinations; regulations.

"Sec. 2152. Eligibility for and amount of benefits.

"(a) Definition of eligible family.

"(b) Amount of benefits.

"(c) Exclusion of certain family members.

"(d) Payment of benefits; period for determination of benefits.

"(e) Biennial reapplication.

"(f) Special limits on gross income.

"(g) Certain individuals ineligible.

"(h) Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam.

"Sec. 2153. Income.

"(a) Meaning of income.

"(b) Exclusions from income.

"Sec. 2154. Resources.

"(a) Exclusions from resources.

"(b) Disposition of resources.

"Sec. 2155. Meaning of family and child.

"(a) Meaning of family.

"(b) Meaning of child.

"(o) Determination of family relationships.

"(d) Income and resources of noncontributing individual.

"(e) United States.

"(f) Recipients of assistance for the aged, blind, and disabled ineligible.

"Sec. 2156. Optional State supplementation.

## "TITLE XXI—OPPORTUNITIES FOR FAMILIES PRO-GRAM AND FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN—Continued

### "PART D-PROCEDURAL AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

"Sec. 2171. Payments and procedures.

- "(a) Payment of benefits.
- "(b) Overpayments and underpayments.
- "(c) Hearings and review.
- "(d) Procedures; prohibition of assignments; representation of claimants.
- "(e) Applications and furnishing of information by families.
- "(f) Furnishing of information by other agencies.
- "Sec. 2172. Penalties for fraud.
- "Sec. 2173. Administration.
- "Sec 2174. Advance funding.
- "Sec. 2175. Obligation of deserting parents.
- "Sec. 2176. Penalty for interstate flight to avoid parental responsibilities.
- "Sec. 2177. Reports of improper care or custody of children.
- "Sec. 2178. Establishment of local committees to evaluate effectiveness of manpower and training programs.
- "Sec. 2179. Initial authorization for appropriations for child care services."
- Sec. 402. Conforming amendments relating to assistance for needy families with children.

#### TITLE V-MISCELLANEOUS

#### PART A—EFFECTIVE DATES AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

- Sec. 501. Effective date for titles III and IV.
- Sec. 502. Prohibition against participation in food stamp program by recipients of payments under family and adult assistance programs.
- Sec. 503. Limitation on fiscal liability of States for optional State supplementation.
- Sec. 504. Special provisions for Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam.
- Sec. 505. Determinations of medicaid eligibility.
- Sec. 506. Assistant Secretary of Labor for the Opportunities for Families Program.
- Sec. 507. Transitional administrative provisions.
- Sec. 508. Child care services for AFDC recipients during transitional period.

## PART B-NEW SOCIAL SERVICES PROVISIONS

- Sec. 511. Definition of services.
- Sec. 512. Authorization and allotment of appropriations for services.
- Sec. 513. Adoption and foster care services under child-welfare services program.
- Sec. 514. Conforming amendments to title XVI and part A of title IV of the Social Security Act.

## TITLE V-MISCELLANEOUS-Continued

#### PART C-PUBLIC ASSISTANCE AMENDMENTS EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY

- Sec. 521. Additional remedies for State noncompliance.
- Sec. 522. Statewideness not required for services.
- Sec. 523. Optional modification in disregarding of income under Stateplans for aid to families with dependent children.
- Sec. 524. Individual programs for family services not required.
- Sec. 525. Enforcement of support orders against certain spouses of parents of dependent children.
- Sec. 526. Separation of social services and cash assistance payments.
- Sec. 527. Increase in reimbursement to States for costs of establishing paternity and locating and securing support from parents.
- Sec. 528. Reduction of required State share under existing work incentive program.
- Sec. 529. Payment under AFDC program for nonrecurring special needs.

## PART D-LIBERALIZATION OF INCOME TAX TREATMENT OF CHILD CARE EXPENSES AND RETIREMENT INCOME

- Sec. 531. Liberalization of child care deduction.
- Sec. 532. Liberalization of retirement income credit.

#### PART E-MISCELLANEOUS CONFORMING AMENDMENTS

- Sec. 541. Conforming amendment to section 228(d).
- Sec. 542. Conforming amendments to title XI.
- Sec. 543. Conforming amendments to title XVIII.
- Sec. 544. Conforming amendments to title XIX.

## 1 TITLE I—PROVISIONS RELATING TO OLD-AGE,

- 2 SURVIVORS, AND DISABILITY INSURANCE
- 3 INCREASE IN OLD-AGE, SURVIVORS, AND DISABILITY INSUR-
- 4 ANCE BENEFITS, AND IN BENEFITS FOR CERTAIN IN-
- 5 DIVIDUALS AGE 72 OR OVER
- 6 SEC. 101. (a) Section 215(a) of the Social Security Act
- (as amended by section 105(c) of this Act) is amended by strik-
- 8 ing out the table and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

244
"TABLE FOR DETERMINING PRIMARY INSURANCE AMOUNT AND MAXIMUM FAMILY BENEFITS

"1	•	II	II	$_{I}$	IV	v
(Primary insurance benefit under 1959 Act, as modified)		(Primary insurance amount effective for January 1971)	(Average monthly wage)		(Primary insurance amount)	(Maximum family benefits)
	an individual's primary insurance benefit (as determined under subsec. (d)) is—		primary referred		The amount referred to in the	And the maximum amount of benefits payable (as
At least—	But not more than—	insurance amount (as determined under subsec. (c)) is—	At least—	But not more than—	preceding paragraphs of this subsection shall be—	provided in sec. 203(a)) on the basis of his wage and self- employmen income shall be—
\$16. £1 16. 85 17. 61 18. 41 19. 25 20. 01 20. 65 21. 29 22. 69 23. 47 24. 61 25. 93 26. 49 26. 49 27. 47 28. 69 29. 69 30. 57 30. 57 31. 57 32. 61 33. 61 35. 81 36. 81 37. 61 38. £1 39. £1 49. £1 40. £1 40. £1 40. £1 40. £1 40. £1 40. £1 40. £	\$16. 20 16. 84 17. 80 18. 40 20. 64 21. 88 22. 28 21. 88 22. 26 23. 76 24. 20 25. 44 25. 92 26. 40 26. 92 26. 40 27. 46 28. 68 29. 25 30. 36 30. 36 30. 36 31. 36 35. 80 35. 80 35. 80 35. 80 35. 80 35. 80 35. 80 35. 80 35. 80 35. 80 36. 40 37. 60 38. 60 37. 60 38. 60 39. 68 40. 37. 60 44. 44. 48. 46. 60	\$70. 40 71. 50 73. 50 75. 50 77. 40 78. 80 77. 40 88. 70 88. 70 88. 80 87. 40 88. 90 90. 60 91. 90 98. 20 99. 70 101. 10 102. 70 104. 20 107. 30 108. 70 110. 40 111. 90 117. 30 118. 00 119. 50 119.	877 79 81 82 84 86 88 890 91 93 95 97 98 100 102 103 105 107 108 110 114 119 1123 128 133 137 144 119 119 1147 151 156 161 165 165 161 165 161 165 161 165 161 165 161 165 162 170 175 179 184 189 194 198 208 212 226 221 227 222 226 227 227 222 226 227 227 222 226 227 227	\$76 78 80 81 83 85 87 89 99 99 99 101 102 103 104 106 107 108 118 118 122 127 136 141 146 160 164 169 174 178 188 188 197 202 207 211 221 221 225 235 236 237 277 281 283 283 283 283 283 283 283 283 283 283	\$74. 00 75. 10 75. 80 75. 80 78. 80 78. 80 81. 30 82. 80 85. 80 86. 80 87. 80 88. 80 90. 10 91. 80 98. 10 101. 50 101. 50 101. 50 111. 20 114. 20 115. 80 117. 80 118. 80 128. 80 139. 80 135. 90 135. 90 144. 80 145. 80 145. 80 146. 80 157. 80 176. 80 177. 80 177. 80 178. 80 177. 80 188. 90 178. 80 188. 80 188. 80 188. 80 188. 80 188. 80 188. 80 188. 80 188. 80 188. 80	\$111. 00 112.70 117. 50 119. 40 112. 00 124. 20 128. 80 131. 00 153. 20 153. 20 157. 70 140. 10 144. 80 144. 80 144. 80 144. 80 144. 80 169. 30 164. 80 167. 10 168. 90 171. 30 171. 3

245
"TABLE FOR DETERMINING PRIMARY INSURANCE AMOUNT AND MAXIMUM FAMILY BENEFITS—Continued

"I		II	I	71	IV.	v
(Primary insurance benefit under 1939 Act, as modified)		(Primary insurance amount effective for January 1971)	e (Average monthly wage)		(Primary insurance amount)	(Maximum family benefits)
If an individual's primary insurance benefit (as determined under subsec. (d)) is—		Or his primary	Or his average monthly wage (as determined under subsec. (b)) is—		The amount referred to	And the maximum amount of bene fits
At least—	But not more than—	insurance amount (ea determined under subsec. (c)) is—	At least —	But not more than—	in the preceding paragraphs of this subsection shall be—	payable (a provided i sec. £03(a) on the basi of his wage and self- employmer income shall be—
		\$182. 20 183. 80 185. 80 186. 80 186. 80 189. 80 189. 80 191. 30 194. 40 196. 10 197. 40 208. 80 201. 80 201. 80 201. 80 201. 80 201. 10 201. 10 20	\$362 \$366 \$367 \$360 \$380 \$380 \$394 \$404 \$415 \$415 \$415 \$427 \$411 \$451 \$451 \$451 \$451 \$451 \$451 \$451 \$451 \$502 \$507 \$511 \$525 \$530 \$544 \$550 \$650 \$650 \$651 \$651 \$652 \$652 \$653 \$651 \$651 \$652 \$653 \$653 \$657 \$651 \$657 \$651 \$652 \$653 \$657 \$651 \$657	\$365 \$76 \$776 \$779 \$84 \$579 \$84 \$579 \$84 \$579 \$84 \$677 \$12 \$177 \$12 \$177 \$12 \$177 \$12 \$136 \$145 \$14	\$191. 40 192. 80 192. 80 193. 50 199. 50 202. 70 203. 80 201. 30 201.	\$337. 30 \$44. 50 \$46. 50 \$56. 30 \$54. 90 \$58. 80 \$57. 90 \$72. 50 \$78. 50 \$78. 50 \$78. 50 \$78. 50 \$40. 80 \$40. 80 \$40. 80 \$415. 80 \$415. 80 \$42. 20 \$42. 20 \$42. 20 \$43. 40 \$45. 30 \$45. 40 \$45. 50 \$45. 40 \$45. 70 \$45. 40 \$45. 70 \$45. 40 \$45. 70 \$45. 80 \$45. 80

246
"TABLE FOR DETERMINING PRIMARY INSURANCE AMOUNT AND MAXIMUM FAMILY BENEFITS—Continued

•	'I	II	11	I	IV	v
	ance benefit under as modified)	(Primary insurance amount effective for January 1971)	(Average monthly wage)		(Primary insurance amount)	(Maximum family benefits)
	primary insurance nined under subsec.	Or his primary	Or his average (as determin sec. (b)) is—	ed under sub-	The amount referred to	And the maximum amount of benefits
At least	But not more than—	insurance amount (as determined under subsec. (c)) is—	At least—	Bu not more than—	in the preceding paragraphs of this subsection shall be—	payable (as provided in sec. 203(a)) on the basis of his wages and self- employmen income shall be—
		\$284. 40 285. 40 286. 40 287. 40 288. 40 299. 40 291. 40 292. 40 293. 40 294. 40 296. 40 297. 40	\$691 696 701 706 711 716 721 726 731 736 741 746 751 766	\$695 700 705 710 716 720 725 730 736 740 745 750 760	\$298.70 299.70 300.80 301.80 302.90 305.00 306.00 307.10 308.10 309.20 310.20 311.30	\$522. 60 524. 50 526. 30 528. 20 550. 00 551. 90 553. 70 535. 50 657. 50 659. 20 641. 00 642. 90 644. 70 646. 60
		298. 40 299. 40 300. 40 301. 40 302. 40 303. 40 306. 40 306. 40 308. 40	761 766 771 776 781 786 791 796 801 806 811	765 770 776 780 785 790 795 800 806 816 816 820	\$15.40 \$14.40 \$15.50 \$16.50 \$17.60 \$18.60 \$19.70 \$20.70 \$21.80 \$22.80 \$22.80 \$22.90	548.40 550.20 552.00 553.90 557.60 559.40 561.30 564.90 568.60
		309. 40 310. 40 311. 40 312. 40 313. 40 314. 40 316. 40	816 821 826 831 836 841 846	820 825 830 835 840 845 850	324. 90 326. 00 327. 00 328. 10 329. 10 330. 20 331. 20	570. 40 572. 30 574. 10 576. 00 577. 80 579. 60''

1 (b) Section 203(a) of such Act is amended by strik-2 ing out paragraph (2) and inserting in lieu thereof the 3 following:

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

"(2) when two or more persons were entitled (without the application of section 202(j)(1) and section 223(b)) to monthly benefits under section 202 or 223 for May 1972 on the basis of the wages and self-employment income of such insured individual and the provisions of this subsection were applicable in January 1971 or any prior month in determining the total of

1	the benefits for persons entitled for any such month
2	on the basis of such wages and self-employment income,
3	such total of benefits for June 1972 or any subsequent
4	month shall not be reduced to less than the larger of—
5	"(A) the amount determined under this sub-
6	section without regard to this paragraph, or
7	"(B) an amount derived by multiplying the
8	sum of the benefit amounts determined under this
9	title for May 1972 (including this subsection, but
10	without the application of section 222(b), section
11	202(q), and subsections (b), (c), and (d) of this
12	section), by 105 percent and raising such increased
13	amount, if it is not a multiple of \$0.10, to the next
14	higher multiple of \$0.10;
15	but in any such case (i) paragraph (1) of this sub-
16	section shall not be applied to such total of benefits after
17	the application of subparagraph (B), and (ii) if sec-
18	tion 202(k)(2)(A) was applicable in the case of any
19	such benefits for June 1972, and ceases to apply after
20	such month, the provisions of subparagraph (B) shall
21	be applied, for and after the month in which section
22	202(k)(2)(A) ceases to apply, as though paragraph
23	(1) had not been applicable to such total of benefits for
24	June 1972, or".

3	(c) Section 215(a) of such Act is amended by striking
2	out the matter which precedes the table and inserting in lieu
3	thereof the following:
4	"(a) The primary insurance amount of an insured
5	individual shall be determined as follows:
6	"(1) Subject to the conditions specified in sub-
7	sections (b), (c), and (d) of this section and except
8	as provided in paragraph (2) of this subsection, such
9	primary insurance amount shall be whichever of the
10	following amounts is the largest:
11	"(A) the amount in column IV of the follow-
12	ing table on the line on which in column III of such
13	table appears his average monthly wage (as deter-
14	mined under subsection (b));
15	"(B) the amount in column IV of such table
16	on the line on which in column II appears his
17	primary insurance amount (as determined under
18	subsection (c)); or
19	"(C) the amount in column IV of such table
20	on the line on which in column I appears his pri-
21	mary insurance benefit (as determined under sub-
22	section (d).
<b>2</b> 3	"(2) In the case of an individual who was entitled
24	to a disability insurance benefit for the month before
25	the month in which he died, became entitled to old-age

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

insurance benefits, or attained age 65, such primary insurance amount shall be the amount in column IV of such table which is equal to the primary insurance amount upon which such disability insurance benefit is based; except that if such individual was entitled to a disability insurance benefit under section 223 for the month before the effective month of a new table and in the following month became entitled to an oldage insurance benefit, or he died in such following month, then his primary insurance amount for such following month shall be the amount in column IV of the new table on the line on which in column II of such table appears his primary insurance amount for the month before the effective month of the table (as determined under subsection (c)) instead of the amount in column IV equal to the primary insurance amount on which his disability insurance benefit is based. For purposes of this paragraph, the term 'primary insurance amount' with respect to any individual means only a primary insurance amount determined under paragraph (1) (and such individual's benefits shall be deemed to be based upon the primary insurance amount as so determined)."

(d) Section 215(b)(4) of such Act is amended by striking out "December 1970" each time it appears and inserting in lieu thereof "May 1972".

- 1 (e) Section 215(c) of such Act is amended to read as
- 2 follows:
- 3 "Primary Insurance Amount Under Act of March 17, 1971
- 4 "(c)(1) For the purposes of column II of the table
- 5 appearing in subsection (a) of this section, an individual's
- 6 primary insurance amount shall be computed on the basis
- 7 of the law in effect prior to June 1972.
- 8 "(2) The provisions of this subsection shall be appli-
- <sup>9</sup> cable only in the case of an individual who became entitled
- 10 to benefits under section 202(a) or section 223 before June
- 11 1972, or who died before such month."
- 12 (f) Section 215(f)(2) of such Act is amended by
- 13 striking out "(a)(1) and (3)" and inserting in lieu thereof
- 14 "(a)(1)(A) and (C)".
- 15 (g)(1)(A) Section 227(a) of such Act is amended by
- 16 striking out "\$48.30" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$50.80",
- 17 and by striking out "\$24.20" and inserting in lieu thereof
- 18 *"\$25.40*".
- 19 (B) Section 227(b) of such Act is amended by striking
- 20 out "\$48.30" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$50.80".
- 21 (2)(A) Section 228(b)(1) of such Act is amended by
- 22 striking out "\$48.30" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$50.80".
- 23 (B) Section 228(b)(2) of such Act is amended by
- 24 striking out "\$48.30" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$50.80",

- 1 and by striking out "\$24.20" and inserting in lieu thereof
- 2 "\$25.40".
- 3 (C) Section 228(c)(2) of such Act is amended by
- 4 striking out "\$24.20" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$25.40".
- 5 (D) Section 228(c)(3)(A) of such Act is amended
- 6 by striking out "\$48.30" and inserting in lieu thereof
- 7 "\$50.80".
- 8 (E) Section 228(c)(3)(B) of such Act is amended
- 9 by striking out "\$24.20" and inserting in lieu thereof
- 10 "\$25.40".
- 11 (h) The amendments made by this section (other than
- 12 the amendments made by subsection (g)) shall apply with
- 13 respect to monthly benefits under title II of the Social Security
- 14 Act for months after May 1972 and with respect to lump-sum
- 15 death payments under such title in the case of deaths oc-
- 16 curring after such month. The amendments made by sub-
- 17 section (g) shall apply with respect to monthly benefits under
- 18 title II of such Act for months after May 1972.
- 19 AUTOMATIC ADJUSTMENTS IN BENEFITS, THE CONTRIBU-
- 20 TION AND BENEFIT BASE, AND THE EARNINGS TEST
- 21 Adjustments in Benefits
- 22 Sec. 102. (a) (1) Section 215 of the Social Security
- 23 Act is amended by adding at the end thereof the following
- 24 new subsection:

1	"Cost-of-Living Increases in Benefits
2	"(i)(1) For purposes of this subsection—
3	"(A) the term 'base quarter' means (i) the calen-
4	dar quarter ending on June 30 in each year after 1971,
5	or (ii) any other calendar quarter in which occurs the
6	effective month of a general benefit increase under this
7	title;
8	"(B) the term 'cost-of-living computation quarter'
9	means a base quarter, as defined in subparagraph (A)
10	(ii), in which the Consumer Price Index prepared by
11	the Department of Labor exceeds, by not less than 3
12	per centum, such Index in the later of (i) the last prior
13	cost-of-living computation quarter which was established
14	under this subparagraph, or (ii) the most recent cal-
15	endar quarter in which occurred the effective month of
16	a general benefit increase under this title; except that
17	there shall be no cost-of-living computation quarter in
18	any calendar year in which a law has been enacted pro-
19	viding a general benefit increase under this title or in
20	which such a benefit increase becomes effective; and
21	"(C) the Consumer Price Index for a base quarter,
22	a cost-of-living computation quarter, or any other calen-
23	dar quarter shall be the arithmetical mean of such index
24	for the 3 months in such quarter.
25	"(2)(A)(i) The Secretary shall determine each year

- 1 (subject to the limitation in paragraph (1)(B) and to sub-
- 2 paragraph (E) of this paragraph) whether the base quarter
- 3 (as defined in paragraph (1)(A)(i)) in such year is a
- 4 cost-of-living computation quarter.
- 5 "(ii) If the Secretary determines that such base quarter
- 6 is a cost-of-living computation quarter, he shall, effective
- 7 with the month of January of the next calendar year (subject
- 8 to subparagraph (E)) as provided in subparagraph (B),
- 9 increase the benefit amount of each individual who for such
- 10 month is entitled to benefits under section 227 or 228, and
- 11 the primary insurance amount of each other individual under
- 12 this title (including a primary insurance amount determined
- 13 under section 202(a)(3), but not including a primary
- 14 insurance amount determined under subsection (a)(3) of
- 15 this section), by an amount derived by multiplying each
- 16 such amount (including each such individual's primary
- 17 insurance amount or benefit amount under section 227
- 18 or 228 as previously increased under this subparagraph)
- 19 by the same percentage (rounded to the nearest one-tenth
- 20 of 1 percent) as the percentage by which the Consumer
- 21 Price Index for such cost-of-living computation quarter ex-
- 22 ceeds such index for the most recent prior calendar quarter
- 23 which was a base quarter under paragraph (1)(A)(ii) or,
- 24 if later, the most recent cost-of-living computation quarter

- 1 under paragraph (1) (B). Any such increased amount which
- 2 is not a multiple of \$0.10 shall be increased to the next higher
- 3 multiple of \$0.10.
- 4 "(B) The increase provided by subparagraph (A) with
- <sup>5</sup> respect to a particular cost-of-living computation quarter shall
- 6 apply (subject to subparagraph (E)) in the case of monthly
- 7 benefits under this title for months after December of the
- 8 calendar year in which occurred such cost-of-living computa-
- 9 tion quarter, and in the case of lump-sum death payments
- 10 with respect to deaths occurring after December of such
- 11 calendar year.
- "(C)(i) Whenever the level of the Consumer Price
- 13 Index as published for any month exceeds by 2.5 percent or
- more the level of such index for the most recent base quarter
- 15 (as defined in paragraph (1)(A)(ii)) or, if later, the most
- 16 recent cost-of-living computation quarter, the Secretary shall
- 17 (within 5 days after such publication) report the amount of
- such excess to the House Committee on Ways and Means and
- 19 the Senate Committee on Finance.
- "(ii) Whenever the Secretary determines that a base
- 21 quarter in a calendar year is also a cost-of-living computation
- 22 quarter, he shall notify the House Committee on Ways and
- 23 Means and the Senate Committee on Finance of such deter-
- mination on or before August 15 of such calendar year, indi-
- cating the amount of the benefit increase to be provided, his

- 1 estimate of the extent to which the cost of such increase would
- 2 be met by an increase in the contribution and benefit base
- 3 under section 230 and the estimated amount of the increase in
- 4 such base, the actuarial estimates of the effect of such in-
- 5 crease, and the actuarial assumptions and methodology used
- 6 in preparing such estimates.
- 7 "(D) If the Secretary determines that a base quarter
- 8 in a calendar year is also a cost-of-living computation
- 9 quarter, he shall publish in the Federal Register on or
- 10 before November 1 of such calendar year a determination
- 11 that a benefit increase is resultantly required and the per-
- 12 centage thereof. He shall also publish in the Federal Regis-
- 13 ter at that time (along with the increased benefit amounts
- 14 which shall be deemed to be the amounts appearing in
- 15 sections 227 and 228) a revision of the table of benefits
- 16 contained in subsection (a) of this section (as it may have
- 17 been most recently revised by another law or pursuant to
- 18 this paragraph); and such revised table shall be deemed to
- 19 be the table appearing in such subsection (a). Such revision
- 20 shall be determined as follows:
- "(i) The headings of the table shall be the same
- as the headings in the table immediately prior to its
- revision, except that the parenthetical phrase at the
- beginning of column II shall reflect the year in which the

primary insurance amounts set forth in column IV of the
 table immediately prior to its revision were effective.

- "(ii) The amounts on each line of column I and column III, except as otherwise provided by clause (v) of this subparagraph, shall be the same as the amounts appearing in each such column in the table immediately prior to its revision.
- "(iii) The amount on each line of column II shall be changed to the amount shown on the corresponding line of column IV of the table immediately prior to its revision.
- "(iv) The amounts on each line of column IV and column V shall be increased from the amounts shown in the table immediately prior to its revision by increasing each such amount by the percentage specified in subparagraph (A) of paragraph (2). The amount on each line of column V shall be increased, if necessary, so that such amount is at least equal to one and one-half times the amount shown on the corresponding line in column IV. Any such increased amount which is not a multiple of \$0.10 shall be increased to the next higher multiple of \$0.10.
- "(v) If the contribution and benefit base (determined under section 230) for the calendar year in which the table of benefits is revised is lower than such

1 base for the following calendar year, columns III, IV,  $\mathbf{2}$ and V of such table shall be extended. The amounts on 3 each additional line of column III shall be the amounts 4 on the preceding line increased by \$5 until in the last 5 such line of column III the second figure is equal to one-6 twelfth of the new contribution and benefit base for the 7 calendar year following the calendar year in which such 8 table of benefits is revised. The amount on each addi-9 tional line of column IV shall be the amount on the pre-10 ceding line increased by \$1.00, until the amount on the 11 last line of such column is equal to the last line of such 12 column as determined under clause (iv) plus 20 percent 13 of one-twelfth of the excess of the new contribution and 14 benefit base for the calendar year following the calendar year in which such table of benefits is revised (as de-15 termined under section 230) over such base for the 16 calendar year in which the table of benefits is revised. 17 18 The amount on each additional line of column V shall 19 be equal to 1.75 times the amount on the same line of column IV. Any such increased amount which is not-20 21 a multiple of \$0.10 shall be increased to the next higher 22 multiple of \$0.10. "(E) Notwithstanding a determination by the Secre-23

tary under subparagraph (A) that a base quarter in any

- 1 calendar year is a cost-of-living computation quarter (and
- 2 notwithstanding any notification or publication thereof under
- 3 subparagraph (C) or (D)), no increase in benefits shall
- 4 take effect pursuant thereto, and such quarter shall be
- 5 deemed not to be a cost-of-living computation quarter, if
- 6 during the calendar year in which such determination is
- 7 made a law providing a general benefit increase under this
- 8 title is enacted or becomes effective.
- 9 "(3) As used in this subsection, the term 'general
- 10 benefit increase under this title' means an increase (other
- 11 than an increase under this subsection) in all primary in-
- 12 surance amounts (including those determined under section
- 13 202(a)(3), but not including those determined under sub-
- 14 section (a)(3) of this section) on which monthly insurance
- 15 benefits under this title are based."
- 16 (2)(A) Effective January 1, 1973, section 203(a)
- of such Act is amended by striking out "the table in section
- 18 215(a)" in the matter preceding paragraph (1) and insert-
- ing in lieu thereof "the table in (or deemed to be in) section
- 20 215(a)".
- 21 (B) Effective January 1, 1973, section 203(a)(2) of
- such Act (as amended by section 101(b) of this Act) is fur-
- ther amended to read as follows:
- 24 "(2) when two or more persons were entitled
- 25 (without the application of section 202(j)(1) and

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

1	section 223(b)) to monthly benefits under section 202
2	or 223 for January 1971 or any prior month on the
3	basis of the wages and self-employment income of such
4	insured individual and the provisions of this subsection as
5	in effect for any such month were applicable in determin-
6	ing the benefit amount of any persons on the basis of
7	such wages and self-employment income, the total of
8	benefits for any month after January 1971 shall not be
9	reduced to less than the largest of-
10	"(A) the amount determined under this sub-
11	ecotion without regard to this naragraph.

- section without regard to this paragraph,
- "(B) the largest amount which has been determined for any month under this subsection for persons entitled to monthly benefits on the basis of such insured individual's wages and self-employment income, or
- "(C) if any persons are entitled to benefits on the basis of such wages and self-employment income for the month before the effective month (after June 1972) of a general benefit increase under this title (as defined in section 215(i)(3)) or a benefit increase under the provisions of section 215(i), an amount equal to the sum of such benefits for the month before such effective month increased by a percentage equal to the percentage of the increase

1	provided under such benefit increase (with any such
2	increased amount which is not a multiple of \$0.10
3	being rounded to the next higher multiple of \$0.10);
4	but in any such case (i) paragraph (1) of this sub-
5	section shall not be applied to such total of benefits after
6	the application of subparagraph (B) or (C), and (ii)
7	if section 202(k)(2)(A) was applicable in the case of
8	any such benefits for a month, and ceases to apply for
9	a month after such month, the provisions of subpara-
10	graph (B) or (C) shall be applied, for and after the
11	month in which section 202(k)(2)(A) ceases to apply,
12	as though paragraph (1) had not been applicable to such
13	total of benefits for the last month for which subpara-
14	graph (B) or (C) was applicable, or".
15	(3)(A) Effective January 1, 1974, section 215(a) of
16	such Act (as amended by section 101(c) of this Act) is
17	further amended—
18	(i) by inserting "(or, if larger, the amount in col-
19	umn IV of the latest table deemed to be such table under
20	subsection (i)(2)(D))" after "the following table" in
21	paragraph (1)(A); and
22	(ii) by inserting "(whether enacted by another law
23	or deemed to be such table under subsection (i)(2)(D))"
24	after "effective month of a new table" in paragraph (2).

(B) Effective January 1, 1974, section 215(b)(4) of

- such Act (as amended by section 101(d) of this Act) is fur ther amended to read as follows:
   "(4) The provisions of this subsection shall be applicable
- 4 only in the case of an individual—
- "(A) who becomes entitled to benefits under section

  202(a) or section 223 in or after the month in which

  a new table that appears in (or is deemed by subsection

  (i)(2)(D) to appear in) subsection (a) becomes effective; or
- "(B) who dies in or after the month in which such table becomes effective without being entitled to benefits under section 202(a) or section 223; or
- 13 "(C) whose primary insurance amount is required 14 to be recomputed under subsection (f) (2) or (6)."
- 15 (C) Effective January 1, 1974, section 215(c) of such 16 Act (as amended by section 101(e) of this Act) is further 17 amended to read as follows:
- 18 "Primary Insurance Amount Under Prior Provisions
- 19 · "(c)(1) For the purposes of column II of the latest table
- 20 that appears in (or is deemed to appear in) subsection (a) of
- 21 this section, an individual's primary insurance amount shall
- 22 be computed on the basis of the law in effect prior to the
- 23 month in which the latest such table became effective.
- 24 "(2) The provisions of this subsection shall be appli-

- 1 cable only in the case of an individual who became entitled
- 2 to benefits under section 202(a) or section 223, or who died,
- 3 before such effective month."
- 4 (4) Effective January 1, 1974, sections 227 and 228 of
- 5 such Act (as amended by section 101(g) of this Act) are
- 6 further amended by striking out "\$50.80" wherever it ap-
- 7 pears and inserting in lieu thereof "the larger of \$50.80 or
- 8 the amount most recently established in lieu thereof under
- 9 section 215(i)", and by striking out "\$25.40" wherever it
- 10 appears and inserting in lieu thereof "the larger of \$25.40 or
- 11 the amount most recently established in lieu thereof under
- 12 section 215(i)".
- 13 Adjustments in Contribution and Benefit Base
- (b)(1) Title II of the Social Security Act is amended
- by adding at the end thereof the following new section:
- 16 "ADJUSTMENT OF THE CONTRIBUTION AND BENEFIT BASE
- "Sec. 230. (a) Whenever the Secretary pursuant to
- section 215(i) increases benefits effective with the first
- month of the calendar year following a cost-of-living com-
- putation quarter, he shall also determine and publish in the
- <sup>21</sup> Federal Register on or before November 1 of the calendar
- year in which such quarter occurs (along with the publica-
- tion of such benefit increase as required by section 215(i)
- (2) (D)) the contribution and benefit base determined
- under subsection (b) which shall be effective (unless

- 1 such increase in benefits is prevented from becoming effec-
- 2 tive by section 215(i)(2)(E)) with respect to remunera-
- 3 tion paid after the calendar year in which such quarter oc-
- 4 curs and taxable years beginning after such year.
- 5 "(b) The amount of such contribution and benefit base
- 6 shall be the amount of the contribution and benefit base in
- 7 effect in the year in which the determination is made or, if
- 8 larger, the product of—
- 9 "(1) the contribution and benefit base which was
- in effect with respect to remuneration paid in (and tax-
- able years beginning in) the calendar year in which the
- determination under subsection (a) with respect to such
- particular calendar year was made, and
- "(2) the ratio of (A) the average of the taxable
- wages of all employees as reported to the Secretary for
- the first calendar quarter of the calendar year in which
- the determination under subsection (a) with respect to
- such particular calendar year was made to (B) the aver-
- 19 age of the tamelle warms of all small s
- age of the taxable wages of all employees as reported to
- the Secretary for the first calendar quarter of 1972 or, if
- later, the first calendar quarter of the most recent cal-
- endar year in which an increase in the contribution
- and benefit base was enacted or a determination result-
- ing in such an increase was made under subsection (a),
- with such product, if not a multiple of \$300, being rounded

1	to the next higher multiple of \$300 where such product is
2	a multiple of \$150 but not of \$300 and to the nearest mul-
3	tiple of \$300 in any other case.
4	"(c) For purposes of this section, and for purposes of
5	determining wages and self-employment income under sec-
6	tions 209, 211, 213, and 215 of this Act and sections 1402,
7	3121, 3122, 3125, 6413, and 6654 of the Internal Revenue
8	Code of 1954, the 'contribution and benefit base' with respect
9	to remuneration paid in (and taxable years beginning in)
10	any calendar year after 1971 and prior to the calendar year
11	with the first month of which the first increase in benefits
12	pursuant to section 215(i) of this Act becomes effective
13	shall be \$10,200 or (if applicable) such other amount as
14	may be specified in a law enacted subsequent to the Social
15	Security Amendments of 1971."
16	Adjustments in Earnings Test
17	(c) Section 203(f) of such Act is amended by adding
18	at the end thereof the following new paragraph:
19	"(8)(A) Whenever the Secretary pursuant to sec-
20	tion 215(i) increases benefits effective with the first
21	month of the calendar year following a cost-of-living
22	computation quarter, he shall also determine and publish
23	in the Federal Register on or before November 1 of the
24	calendar year in which such quarter occurs (along with

the publication of such benefit increase as required by

	<b>200</b>
1	section 215(i)(2)(D)) a new exempt amount which
2	shall be effective (unless such new exempt amount is pre-
3	vented from becoming effective by subparagraph (C) of
4	this paragraph) with respect to any individual's taxable
5	year which ends with the close of or after the calendar
6	year with the first month of which such benefit increase
7	is effective (or, in the case of an individual who dies
8	during such calendar year, with respect to such individ-
9	ual's taxable year which ends, upon his death, during
10	such year).
11	"(B) The exempt amount for each month of a
12	particular taxable year shall be whichever of the follow-
13	ing is the larger—

"(i) the exempt amount which was in effect with respect to months in the taxable year in which the determination under subparagraph (A) was

made, or

"(ii) the product of the exempt amount described in clause (i) and the ratio of (I) the average of the taxable wages of all employees as reported to the Secretary for the first calendar quarter of the calendar year in which the determination under subparagraph (A) was made to (II) the average of the taxable wages of all employees as reported to the Secretary for the first calendar quarter of 1972 or,

if later, the first calendar quarter of the most recent calendar year in which an increase in the contribution and benefit base was enacted or a determination resulting in such an increase was made under section 230(a), with such product, if not a multiple of \$10, being rounded to the next higher multiple of \$10 where such product is a multiple of \$5 but not of \$10 and to the nearest multiple of \$10 in any other case.

Whenever the Secretary determines that the exempt amount is to be increased in any year under this paragraph, he shall notify the House Committee on Ways and Means and the Senate Committee on Finance no later than August 15 of such year of the estimated amount of such increase, indicating the new exempt amount, the actuarial estimates of the effect of the increase, and the actuarial assumptions and methodology used in preparing such estimates.

"(C) Notwithstanding the determination of a new exempt amount by the Secretary under subparagraph (A) (and notwithstanding any publication thereof under such subparagraph or any notification thereof under the last sentence of subparagraph (B)), such new exempt amount shall not take effect pursuant thereto if during the calendar year in which such deter-

1	mination is made a law increasing the exempt amount or
2	providing a general benefit increase under this title (as
3	defined in section 215(i)(3)) is enacted."
4	SPECIAL MINIMUM PRIMARY INSURANCE AMOUNT
5	SEc. 103. (a) Section 215(a) of the Social Security
6	Act (as amended by section 101(c) of this Act) is further
7	amended—
8	(1) by striking out "paragraph'(2)" in the mat-
9	ter preceding subparagraph (A) of paragraph (1) and
10	inserting in lieu thereof "paragraphs (2) and (3)";
11	and .
12	(2) by inserting after paragraph (2) the following:
13	"(3) Such primary insurance amount shall be an
14	amount equal to \$5 multiplied by the individual's years
15	of coverage in any case in which such amount is higher
16	than the individual's primary insurance amount as de-
17	termined under paragraph (1) or (2).
18	For purposes of paragraph (3), an individual's 'years of
19	coverage' is the number (not exceeding 30) equal to the
20	sum of (i) the number (not exceeding 14 and disregarding
21	any fraction) determined by dividing the total of the wages
22	credited to him for years after 1936 and before 1951 by
23 24	\$900, plus (ii) the number equal to the number of years
<b>44</b>	after 1950 each of which is a computation base year (within

the meaning of subsection (b)(2)(C) and in each of

- 1 which he is credited with wages and self-employment income
- 2 of not less than 25 percent of the maximum amount which,
- 3 pursuant to subsection (e), may be counted for such year."
- 4 (b) Section 203(a) of such Act (as amended by sections
- 5 101(b) and 102(a)(2) of this Act) is further amended by
- 6 striking out "or" at the end of paragraph (2), by striking
- 7 out the period at the end of paragraph (3), and by inserting
- 8 after paragraph (3) the following new paragraph:
- "(4) whenever the monthly benefits of such individuals are based on an insured individual's primary insurance amount which is determined under section 215(a)(3) and such primary insurance amount does
- not appear in column IV of the table in (or deemed to
- be in) section 215(a), the applicable maximum amount
- in column V of such table shall be the amount in such
- column that appears on the line on which the next higher
- primary insurance amount appears in column IV, or, if
- larger, the largest amount determined for such persons
- under this subsection for any month prior to February
- 20 1971."
- 21 (c) Section 215(a)(2) of such Act (as amended by
- 22 section 101(c) of this Act) is further amended by striking
- out "such primary insurance amount shall be" and all that
- 24 follows and inserting in lieu thereof the following:
- 25 "such primary insurance amount shall be—

1	"(A) the amount in column IV of such table
2	which is equal to the primary insurance amount upon
3	which such disability insurance benefit is based,
4	except that if such individual was entitled to a disa-
5	bility insurance benefit under section 223 for the
6	month before the effective month of a new table
7	(whether enacted by another law or deemed to be
8	such table under subsection $(i)(2)(D)$ and in
9	the following month became entitled to an old-age
10	insurance benefit, or he died in such following month,
11	then his primary insurance amount for such follow-
12	ing month shall be the amount in column IV of the
13	new table on the line on which in column II of such
14	table appears his primary insurance amount for the
<b>1</b> 5	month before the effective month of the table (as de-
16	termined under subsection (c)) instead of the amount
17	in column IV equal to the primary insurance amount
18	on which his disability insurance benefit is based.
19	For purposes of this paragraph, the term 'primary
20	insurance amount' with respect to any individual
21	means only a primary insurance amount determined
22	under paragraph (1) (and such individual's bene-
23 24	fits shall be deemed to be based upon the primary
2 <del>4</del> 25	insurance amount as so determined); or
40	

"(B) an amount equal to the primary insurance

1	amount upon which such disability insurance benefit
2	is based if such primary insurance amount was de-
3	termined under paragraph (3)."
4	(d) Section 215(f)(2) of such Act (as amended by
5	section 101(f) of this Act) is further amended by striking
6	out "subsection (a)(1) (A) and (C)" and inserting in lieu
7	thereof "subsections (a)(1) (A) and (C) and (a)(3)".
8	(e) Whenever an insured individual is entitled to bene-
9	fits for a month which are based on a primary insurance
10	amount under paragraph (1) or paragraph (3) of section
11	215(a) of the Social Security Act and for the following
12	month such primary insurance amount is increased or such
13	individual becomes entitled to benefits on a higher primary in-
14	surance amount under a different paragraph of such section
<b>1</b> 5	215(a), such individual's old-age or disability insurance
16	benefit, beginning with the effective month of the increased
17	primary insurance amount, shall be increased by an amount
18	equal to the difference between the higher primary insurance
19	amount and the primary insurance amount on which such
20	benefit was based for the month prior to such effective month,
21	after the application of section 202(q) of such Act where
<ul><li>22</li><li>23</li></ul>	applicable, to such difference.
23 24	(f) The amendments made by this section shall apply
₩.X	with respect to monthly insurance benefits under title II

of the Social Security Act for months after December 1971

1	(without regard to when the insured individual became en-
2	titled to such benefits or when he died) and with respect to
3	lump-sum death payments under such title in the case of
4	deaths occurring after such month.
5	INCREASED WIDOW'S AND WIDOWER'S INSURANCE
6	BENEFITS
7	Sec. 104. (a)(1) Section 202(e)(1) of the Social
8	Security Act is amended—
9	(A) by striking out " $82\frac{1}{2}$ percent of" wherever it
10	appears;
11	(B) by striking out "entitled, after attainment of
12	age 62, to wife's insurance benefits," in subparagraph
13	(C)(i) and inserting in lieu thereof "entitled to wife's
14	insurance benefits,", and by striking out "or" in such
15	subparagraph and inserting in lieu thereof "and (I) has
16	attained age 65 or (II) is not entitled to benefits under
17 18	subsection (a) (other than under paragraph (3) thereof)
19	or section 223, or"; and
20	(C) by striking out "age 62" in subparagraph (C)
21	(ii), and in the matter following subparagraph (G),
22	and inserting in lieu thereof in each instance "age 65".
23	(2) Paragraph (2) of section 202(e) of such Act is amended to read as follows:
24	"(2)(A) Except as provided in subsection (q), para-
05	(~)(11) Ducopi w produced in subsciton (4), para-

graph (4) of this subsection, and subparagraph (B) of this

1	paragraph, such widow's insurance benefit for each month
2	shall be equal to the primary insurance amount of such
3	$deceased\ individual.$
4	"(B) If the deceased individual (on the basis of whose
5	wages and self-employment income a widow or surviving
6	divorced wife is entitled to widow's insurance benefits under
7	this subsection) was, at any time, entitled to an old-age insur-
8	ance benefit which was reduced by reason of the application
9	of subsection (q), the widow's insurance benefit of such
10	widow or surviving divorced wife for any month shall, if the
11	amount of the widow's insurance benefit of such widow or
12	surviving divorced wife (as determined under subparagraph
13	(A) and after application of subsection (q)) is greater
14	than—
15	"(i) the amount of the old-age insurance benefit to
16	which such deceased individual would have been en-
17	titled (after application of subsection (q)) for such
18	month if such individual were still living; and
19	"(ii) $82\frac{1}{2}$ percent of the primary insurance amount
20	$of \ such \ deceased \ individual;$
21	be reduced to the amount referred to in clause (i), or (if
22	greater) the amount referred to in clause (ii)."
23	(b)(1) Section 202(f)(1) of such Act is amended—

(A) by striking out " $82\frac{1}{2}$  percent of" wherever it

**24** 

25

appears;

1	(B) by striking out "died," in subparagraph (C)
2	and inserting in lieu thereof "died, and (I) has attained
3	age 65 or (II) is not entitled to benefits under sub-
4	section (a) or section 223,"; and
5	(C) by striking out "age 62" in the matter follow-
6	ing subparagraph (G) and inserting in lieu thereof
7	"age 65".
8	(2) Paragraph (3) of section 202(f) of such Act is
9	amended to read as follows:
10	"(3)(A) Except as provided in subsection (q), para-
11	graph (5) of this subsection, and subparagraph (B) of this
<b>12</b>	paragraph, such widower's insurance benefit for each month
13	shall be equal to the primary insurance amount of his de-
14	ceased wife.
15	"(B) If the deceased wife (on the basis of whose
16	wages and self-employment income a widower is entitled to
17	widower's insurance benefits under this subsection) was, at
18	any time, entitled to an old-age insurance benefit which was
19	reduced by reason of the application of subsection (q), the
20	widower's insurance benefit of such widower for any month
21	shall, if the amount of the widower's insurance benefit of
22	such widower (as determined under subparagraph (A) and
23	after application of subsection (q)) is greater than—
24	"(i) the amount of the old-age insurance benefit to

1	which such deceased wife would have been entitled
2	(after application of subsection (q)) for such month if
3	such wife were still living; and
4	"(ii) $82\frac{1}{2}$ percent of the primary insurance amount
5	of such deceased wife;
6	be reduced to the amount referred to in clause (i), or (if
7	greater) the amount referred to in clause (ii)."
8	(c)(1) The last sentence of section 203(c) of such Act
9	is amended by striking out all that follows the semicolon and
10	inserting in lieu thereof the following: "nor shall any de-
11	duction be made under this subsection from any widow's
12	insurance benefits for any month in which the widow or sur-
13	viving divorced wife is entitled and has not attained age 65
14	(but only if she became so entitled prior to attaining age
<b>1</b> 5	60), or from any widower's insurance benefit for any month
16	in which the widower is entitled and has not attained age 65
17	(but only if he became so entitled prior to attaining age
18	62)."
19	(2) Clause (D) of section 203(f)(1) of such Act is
20	amended to read as follows: "(D) for which such individual
21	is entitled to widow's insurance benefits and has not attained
22	age 65 (but only if she became so entitled prior to attaining
23	age 60), or widower's insurance benefits and has not attained
<b>24</b>	age 65 (but only if he became so entitled prior to attaining

25 age 62), or".

1	(d) Section 202(k)(3)(A) of such Act is amended by
2	striking out "subsection (q) and" and inserting in lieu
3	thereof "subsection (q), subsection (e)(2) or $(f)(3)$ ,
4	and".
5	(e)(1) Section 202(q)(1) of such Act is amended to
6	read as follows:
7	"(1) If the first month for which an individual is
8	entitled to an old-age, wife's, husband's, widow's, or
9	widower's insurance benefit is a month before the month in
10	which such individual attains retirement age, the amount of
11	such benefit for such month and for any subsequent month
<b>12</b>	shall, subject to the succeeding paragraphs of this subsection,
13	be reduced by—
14	"(A) % of 1 percent of such amount if such benefit
15	is an old-age insurance benefit, 25/36 of 1 percent of such
16	amount if such benefit is a wife's or husband's insurance
17	benefit, or 1% of 1 percent of such amount if such
18	benefit is a widow's or widower's insurance benefit,
19	multiplied by—
20	"(B)(i) the number of months in the reduction
21	period for such benefit (determined under paragraph
22	(6)(A)), if such benefit is for a month before the
23	month in which such individual attains retirement age, or
24 25	"(ii) if less, the number of such months in the
	70 . 7 7 . 0 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7

adjusted reduction period for such benefit (determined

1	under paragraph (7)), if such benefit is (I) for the
<b>2</b>	month in which such individual attains age 62, or
3	(II) for the month in which such individual attains
4	retirement age;
5	and in the case of a widow or widower whose first month of
6	entitlement to a widow's or widower's insurance benefit is a
7	month before the month in which such widow or widower
8	attains age 60, such benefit, reduced pursuant to the preced-
9	ing provisions of this paragraph (and before the application
10	of the second sentence of paragraph (8)), shall be further
11	reduced by—
12	"(C) $^{43}/_{240}$ of 1 percent of the amount of such
13	benefit, multiplied by-
14	"(D)(i) the number of months in the additional
15	reduction period for such benefit (determined under
16	paragraph $(6)(B)$ ), if such benefit is for a month
17	before the month in which such individual attains age
18	62, or
19	"(ii) if less, the number of months in the additional
20	adjusted reduction period for such benefit (determined
21	under paragraph (7)), if such benefit is for the month
22	in which such individual attains age 62 or any month
23 24	thereafter."
<b>∠</b> 4±	(2) Section $202(q)(7)$ of such Act is amended—

(A) by striking out everything that precedes sub-

1	paragraph $(A)$ and inserting in lieu thereof the fol-
2	lowing:
3	"(7) For purposes of this subsection the 'adjusted re-
4	duction period' for an individual's old-age, wife's, husband's,
5	widow's, or widower's insurance benefit is the reduction
6	period prescribed in paragraph (6)(A) for such benefit,
7	and the 'additional adjusted reduction period' for an indi-
8	vidual's, widow's, or widower's insurance benefit is the
9	additional reduction period prescribed by paragraph (6)
10	(B) for such benefit, excluding from each such period—";
11	and
12	(B) by striking out "attained retirement age" in
13	subparagraph (E) and inserting in lieu thereof "attained
14	age 62, and also for any later month before the month in
<b>1</b> 5	which he attained retirement age,".
16	(3) Section 202(q)(9) of such Act is amended to read
17	as follows:
18	"(9) For purposes of this subsection, the term 'retire-
19	ment age' means age 65."
20 21	(f) Section 202(m) of such Act is amended to read as
22	follows:
	"Minimum Survivor's Benefit
23	"(m)(1) In any case in which an individual is entitled
24	to a monthly benefit under this section on the basis of the

wages and self-employment income of a deceased individual

- 1 for any month and no other person is (without the applica-
- 2 tion of subsection (j)(1)) entitled to a monthly benefit
- 3 under this section for such month on the basis of such wages
- 4 and self-employment income, such individual's benefit amount
- 5 for such month, prior to reduction under subsection (k)(3),
- 6 shall be not less than the first amount appearing in column
- 7 IV of the table in (or deemed to be in) section 215(a),
- 8 except as provided in paragraph (2).
- 9 "(2) In the case of any such individual who is entitled
- 10 to a monthly benefit under subsection (e) or (f), such indi-
- 11 vidual's benefit amount, after reduction under subsection (q)
- 12 (1), shall be not less than—
- "(A) \$70.40, if his first month of entitlement to
- such benefit is the month in which such individual at-
- tained age 62 or a subsequent month, or
- "(B) \$70.40 reduced under subsection (q)(1) as
- if retirement age as specified in subsection (q)(6)(A)
- 18 (ii) were age 62 instead of the age specified in subsection
- (q)(9), if his first month of entitlement to such benefit is
- before the month in which he attained age 62.
- 21 "(3) In the case of any individual whose benefit
- 22 amount was computed (or recomputed) under the provisions
- 23 of paragraph (2) and such individual was entitled to benefits
- 24 under subsection (e) or (f) for a month prior to any month
- 25 after 1971 for which a general benefit increase under this

- 1 title (as defined in section 215(i)(3)) or a benefit increase
- 2 under section 215(i) becomes effective, the benefit amount
- 3 of such individual as computed under paragraph (2) without
- 4 regard to the reduction specified in subparagraph (B) thereof
- 5 shall be increased by the percentage increase applicable for
- 6 such benefit increase, prior to the application of subsection
- 7 (q)(1) pursuant to paragraph (2)(B) and subsection
- 8 (q)(4)."
- 9 (g) In the case of an individual who is entitled to
- 10 widow's or widower's insurance benefits for the month of
- 11 December 1971 (and whose benefit is not determined under
- 12 section 202(m) of the Social Security Act), the Secretary
- 13 shall redetermine the amount of such benefits for months after
- 14 December 1971 under title II of the Social Security Act as
- 15 if the amendments made by this section had been in effect for
- 16 the first month of such individual's entitlement to such benefits.
- 17 (h) Where—
- 18 (1) two or more persons are entitled to monthly
- benefits under section 202 of the Social Security Act for
- December 1971 on the basis of the wages and self-em-
- 21 ployment income of a deceased individual, and one or
- more of such persons is so entitled under subsection (e)
- or (f) of such section 202, and
- 24 (2) one or more of such persons is entitled on the

1	basis of such wages and self-employment income to
2	monthly benefits under subsection (e) or (f) of such
3	section 202 (as amended by this section) for January
4	$1972,\ and$
5	(3) the total of benefits to which all persons are
6	entitled under section 202 of such Act on the basis of
7	such wages and self-employment income for January
8	1972 is reduced by reason of section 203(a) of such
9	Act, as amended by this Act (or would, but for the
10	penultimate sentence of such section 203(a), be so
11	reduced),
12	then the amount of the benefit to which each such person
13	referred to in paragraph (1) is entitled for months after
14	December 1971 shall in no case be less after the application
15	of this section and such section 203(a) than the amount it
16	would have been without the application of this section.
17	(i) The amendments made by this section shall apply
18	with respect to monthly benefits under title II of the Social
19	Security Act for months after December 1971.
20	INCREASE OF EARNINGS COUNTED FOR BENEFIT
21	AND TAX PURPOSES
22	Sec. 105. (a) (1) (A) Section 209(a) (6) of the Social
23	Security Act is amended—
24	(i) by striking out "\$9.000" and inserting in

lieu thereof "\$10,200", and

1	(ii) by inserting "and prior to 1973" after
2	"1971".
3	(B) Section 209(a) of such Act is further amended by
4	adding at the end thereof the following new paragraph:
5	"(7) That part of remuneration which, after remunera-
6	tion (other than remuneration referred to in the succeeding
7	subsections of this section) equal to the contribution and
8	benefit base (determined under section 230) with respect to
9	employment has been paid to an individual during any calen-
10	dar year after 1972 with respect to which such contribu-
11	tion and benefit base is effective, is paid to such individual
12	during such calendar year;".
13	(2)(A) Section $211(b)(1)(F)$ of such Act is
14	amended—
15	(i) by inserting "and prior to 1973" after "1971",
16	(ii) by striking out "\$9,000" and inserting in lieu
17	thereof "\$10,200", and
18	(iii) by striking out "; or" and inserting in lieu
19	thereof "; and".
20	(B) Section 211(b)(1) of such Act is further amended.
21	by adding at the end thereof the following new subpara-
22	graph:
23	"(G) For any taxable year beginning in any
24	calendar year after 1972, (i) an amount equal to

1	the contribution and benefit base (as determined
2	under section 230) which is effective for such calen-
3	dar year, minus (ii) the amount of the wages paid
4	to such individual during such taxable year; or".
5	(3)(A) Section 213(a)(2)(ii) of such Act is amended
6	by striking out "\$9,000 in the case of a calendar year after
7	1971" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$10,200 in the case of
8	a calendar year after 1971 and before 1973, or an amount
9	equal to the contribution and benefit base (as determined
10	under section 230) in the case of any calendar year after
11	1972 with respect to which such contribution and benefit
12	base is effective".
13	(B) Section 213(a)(2)(iii) of such Act is amended by
14	striking out "\$9,000 in the case of a taxable year beginning
15	after 1971" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$10,200 in the
16	case of a taxable year beginning after 1971 and before 1973,
17	or an amount equal to the contribution and benefit base (as
18	determined under section 230) which is effective for the
19	calendar year in the case of any taxable year beginning
20	in any calendar year after 1972".
21	(4) Section 215(e)(1) of such Act is amended by strik-
22	ing out "and the excess over \$9,000 in the case of any calen-
23	dar year after 1971" and inserting in lieu thereof "the excess
24	over \$10,200 in the case of any calendar year after 1971 and

_	velore 1975, and the excess over an amount equal to the
2	contribution and benefit base (as determined under section
3	230) in the case of any calendar year after 1972 with re-
4	spect to which such contribution and benefit base is effective".
5	(b)(1)(A) Section $1402(b)(1)(F)$ of the Internal
6	Revenue Code of 1954 (relating to definition of self-employ-
7	ment income) is amended—
8	(i) by inserting "and before 1973" after "1971",
9	(ii) by striking out "\$9,000" and inserting in lieu
LO	thereof "\$10,200", and
11	(iii) by striking out "; or" and inserting in lieu
12	thereof "; and".
13	(B) Section 1402(b)(1) of such Code is further
<b>14</b>	amended by adding at the end thereof the following new
15	subparagraph:
l <b>6</b>	"(G) for any taxable year beginning in any
L <b>7</b>	calendar year after 1972, (i) an amount equal to
18	the contribution and benefit base (as determined
L9	under section 230 of the Social Security Act) which
20	is effective for such calendar year, minus (ii) the
21	amount of the wages paid to such individual during
22	such taxable year; or".
23	(2)(A) Section 3121(a)(1) of such Code (relating to

- 1 definition of wages) is amended by striking out "\$9,000"
- 2 each place it appears and inserting in lieu thereof "\$10,200".
- 3 (B) Effective with respect to remuneration paid after
- 4 1972, section 3121(a)(1) of such Code is amended—
- 5 (i) by striking out "\$10,200" each place it appears
- 6 and inserting in lieu thereof "the contribution and bene-
- 7 fit base (as determined under section 230 of the Social
- 8 Security Act)", and
- 9 (ii) by striking out "by an employer during any
- calendar year", and inserting in lieu thereof "by an em-
- 11 ployer during the calendar year with respect to which
- such contribution and benefit base is effective".
- (3)(A) The second sentence of section 3122 of such
- 14 Code (relating to Federal service) is amended by striking
- 15 out "\$9,000" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$10,200".
- 16 (B) Effective with respect to remuneration paid after
- 17 1972, the second sentence of section 3122 of such Code is
- 18 amended by striking out "the \$10,200 limitation" and in-
- 19 serting in lieu thereof "the contribution and benefit base
- 20 limitation".
- 21 (4)(A) Section 3125 of such Code (relating to returns
- 22 in the case of governmental employees in Guam, American
- 23 Samoa, and the District of Columbia) is amended by strik-

1	ing out "\$9,000" where it appears in subsections (a), (b),
2	and (c) and inserting in lieu thereof "\$10,200".
3	(B) Effective with respect to remuneration paid after
4	1972, section 3125 of such Code is amended by striking out
5	"the \$10,200 limitation" where it appears in subsections (a),
6	(b), and (c) and inserting in lieu thereof "the contribution
7	and benefit base limitation".
8	(5) Section 6413(c)(1) of such Code (relating to spe-
9	cial refunds of employment taxes) is amended—
10	(A) by inserting "and prior to the calendar year
11	1973" after "after the calendar year 1971";
12	(B) by striking out "exceed \$9,000," and insert-
13	ing in lieu thereof the following: "exceed \$10,200, or
14	(F) during any calendar year after the calendar year
15	1972, the wages received by him during such year ex-
16	ceed the contribution and benefit base (as determined
17	under section 230 of the Social Security Act) which is
18	effective with respect to such year,"; and
19	(C) by striking out "the first \$9,000 of such wages
20	received in such calendar year after 1971" and insert-
21	ing in lieu thereof "the first \$10,200 of such wages re-
22	ceived in such calendar year after 1971 and before 1973,
23	or which exceeds the tax with respect to an amount of

- such wages received in such calendar year after 1972
- 2 equal to the contribution and benefit base (as determined
- 3 under section 230 of the Social Security Act) which is
- 4 effective with respect to such year".
- 5 (6) Section 6413(c)(2)(A) of such Code (relating to
- 6 refunds of employment taxes in the case of Federal em-
- 7 ployees) is amended by striking out "or \$9,000 for any
- 8 calendar year after 1971" and inserting in lieu thereof
- 9 "\$10,200 for the calendar year 1972, or an amount equal to
- 10 the contribution and benefit base (as determined under section
- 11 230 of the Social Security Act) for any calendar year after
- 12 1972 with respect to which such contribution and benefit base
- 13 is effective".
- 14 (7)(A) Section 6654(d)(2)(B)(ii) of such Code (re-
- 15 lating to failure by individual to pay estimated income tax)
- 16 is amended by striking out "\$9,000" and inserting in lieu
- 17 thereof "\$10,200".
- 18 (B) Effective with respect to taxable years beginning
- 19 after 1972, section 6654(d)(2)(B)(ii) of such Code is
- 20 amended by striking out "the excess of \$10,200 over the
- 21 amount" and inserting in lieu thereof "the excess of (I) an
- 22 amount equal to the contribution and benefit base (as deter-
- 23 mined under section 230 of the Social Security Act) which
- 24 is effective for the calendar year in which the taxable year
- begins, over (II) the amount".

	201		
1	1 (c) The table in section 21	5(a) of such Act is amende	ed
2	2 by adding at the end of colum	ins III, $IV$ , and $V$ the fo	ol-
3	3 lowing:		
		"751 755 296.40 518.70 756 760 297.40 580.50 761 755 298.40 522.20 766 770 990.40 522.20	

	i	756	760	297.40	520.50
	1	761	765	298.40	522. 2G
		766	770	<b>299.</b> 40	524.00
		771	775	300.40	525.70
1		776	780	3C1. 40	527.50
		781	785	302.40	529. 20
		786	790	<b>3</b> 03. 40	531.00
		791	795	9C4, 40	532.70
		796	800	305.40	534, 50
		801	805	306.40	586.20
	i	806	810	807.40	53°. 90
		81.1	815	308.40	539.70
		816	820	309. 40	541.50
		821	825	310.40	543.20
		826	85J	<b>3</b> 11.40	545.00
		831	83 <i>5</i>	312.40	546.70
		836	340	313.40	548.50
	ı i	841	815	314.40	550.20
		040	845 850	014.40	
	· •	846	700	315.40	552.00".

- (d) The amendments made by subsections (a)(1) and 4 (a)(3)(A), and the amendments made by subsection (b) 5 (except paragraphs (1) and (7) thereof), shall apply only with respect to remuneration paid after December 1971. The amendments made by subsections (a)(2), (a)(3)(B), (b) (1), and (b)(7) shall apply only with respect to taxable 9 10 years beginning after 1971. The amendment made by sub-11 section (a)(4) shall apply only with respect to calendar 12 years after 1971. The amendment made by subsection (c) 13 shall apply only with respect to months after December 1971. DELAYED RETIREMENT CREDIT
- 14
- 15 Sec. 106. (a) Section 202 of the Social Security Act 16 is amended by adding after subsection (v) thereof the fol-17 lowing:
- 18 "Increase in Old-Age Insurance Benefit Amounts on 19 Account of Delayed Retirement
- 20 "(w)(1) If the first month for which an old-age insur-

1	ance benefit becomes payable to an individual is not earlier
2	than the month in which such individual attains age 65 (or
3	his benefit payable at such age is not reduced under sub-
4	section (q)), the amount of the old-age insurance benefit
5	(other than a benefit based on a primary insurance amount
6	determined under section 215(a)(3)) which is payable with-
7	out regard to this subsection to such individual shall be
8	increased by—
9	"(A) 1/12 of 1 percent of such amount, multiplied
<b>1</b> 0	by
11	"(B) the number (if any) of the increment months
12	for such individual.
13	"(2) For purposes of this subsection, the number of
14	increment months for any individual shall be a number equal
<b>1</b> 5	to the total number of the months—
<b>1</b> 6	"(A) which have elapsed after the month before the
17	month in which such individual attained age 65 or (if
18	later) December 1970 and prior to the month in which
19	such individual attained age 72, and
20	"(B) with respect to which—
21	"(i) such individual was a fully insured indi-
22	vidual (as defined in section 214(a)), and
<b>2</b> 3	"(ii) such individual either was not entitled
24	to an old-age insurance benefit or suffered deduc-
25	tions under section 203(b) or 203(c) in amounts
26	equal to the amount of such benefit.

1	"(3) For purposes of applying the provisions of para-
2	graph (1), a determination shall be made under paragraph
3	(2) for each year, beginning with 1971, of the total number
4	of an individual's increment months through the year for
5	which the determination is made and the total so determined
6	shall be applicable to such individual's old-age insurance
7	benefits beginning with benefits for January of the year fol-
8	lowing the year for which such determination is made; except
9	that the total number applicable in the case of an individual
10	who attains age 72 after 1971 shall be determined through the
· 11	month before the month in which he attains such age and shall
12	be applicable to his old-age insurance benefit beginning with
13	the month in which he attains such age.
14	"(4) This subsection shall be applied after reduction
15	under section 203(a), and, in the case of a husband and
16	wife whose benefits are determined under section 202(a)(3),
17	shall be applied separately to the benefit of each as so
18	determined."
19	(b) Paragraph (2) of section 202(a) of such Act (as
20	amended by section 110(a) of this Act) is further amended
21	by inserting "and subsection (w)" after "subsection (q)".
22	(c) The amendments made by this section shall be
23	applicable with respect to old-age insurance benefits payable

under title II of the Social Security Act for months begin-

24

**25** 

ning after 1971.

1	AGE-62 COMPUTATION POINT FOR MEN
2	SEC. 107. (a) Section 214(a)(1) of the Social Security
3	Act is amended by striking out "before-" and all that
4	follows down through "except" and inserting in lieu thereof
5	the following:
6	"before the year in which he died or (if earlier) the
7	year in which he attained age 62, except".
8	(b) Section 215(b)(3) of such Act is amended by
9	striking out "before-" and all that follows down through
10	"For" and inserting in lieu thereof the following:
11	"before the year in which he died or, if it occurred earlier
12	but after 1960, the year in which he attained age 62. For".
13	(c) Section 223(a)(2) of such Act is amended—
14	(1) by striking out "(if a woman) or age 65 (if
15	a man)",
16	(2) by striking out "in the case of a woman" and
17	inserting in lieu thereof "in the case of an individual",
18	and
19	(3) by striking out "she" and inserting in lieu
20	thereof "he".
21	(d) Section 223(c)(1)(A) of such Act is amended
22	by striking out "(if a woman) or age 65 (if a man)".
23	(e) Section 227(a) of such Act is amended by striking
24	out "so much of paragraph (1) of section 214(a) as follows
25	clause (C)" and inserting in lieu thereof "paragraph (1) of
26	section 214(a)".

1	(f) Section 227(b) of such Act is amended by striking
2	out "so much of paragraph (1) thereof as follows clause
3	(C)" and inserting in lieu thereof "paragraph (1) thereof".
4	(g) Sections 209(i) and 216(i)(3)(A), of such Act
5	are amended by striking out "(if a woman) or age 65 (if
6	a man)".
7	(h) Section 303(g)(1) of the Social Security Amend-
8	ments of 1960 is amended—
9	(1) by striking out "Amendments of 1965 and
10	1967" and inserting in lieu thereof "Amendments of
11	1965, 1967, 1969, and 1971 (and by Public Law
12	92-5)"; and
13	(2) by striking out "Amendments of 1967" wher-
14	ever it appears and inserting in lieu thereof "Amend-
15	ments of 1971".
16	(i) Paragraph (9) of section 3121(a) of the Internal
17	Revenue Code of 1954 (relating to definition of wages) is
18	amended to read as follows:
19	"(9) any payment (other than vacation or sick
<ul><li>20</li><li>21</li></ul>	pay) made to an employee after the month in which he
22	attains age 62, if such employee did not work for the
23	employer in the period for which such payment is
24 24	made;"
1	(j)(1) The amendments made by this section (except

the amendment made by subsection (i), and the amendment

- 1 made by subsection (g) to section 209(i) of the Social
- 2 Security Act) shall apply only in the case of a man who
- 3 attains (or would attain) age 62 after December 1973.
- 4 The amendment made by subsection (i), and the amend-
- 5 ment made by subsection (g) to section 209(i) of the Social
- 6 Security Act, shall apply only with respect to payments
- 7 after 1973.
- 8 (2) In the case of a man who attains age 62 prior to
- 9 1974, the number of his elapsed years for purposes of
- 10 section 215(b)(3) of the Social Security Act shall be equal
- 11 to (A) the number determined under such section as in effect
- 12 on January 1, 1971, or (B) if less, the number deter-
- 13 mined as though he attained age 65 in 1974, except that
- 14 monthly benefits under title II of the Social Security Act
- 15 for months prior to 1972 payable on the basis of his wages
- 16 and self-employment income shall be determined as though
- 17 this section had not been enacted.
- (3) (A) In the case of a man who attains or will attain
- 19 age 62 in 1972, the figure "65" in sections 214(a)(1),
- 20 223(c)(1)(A), 209(i), and 216(i)(3)(A) of the Social
- 21 Security Act and section 3121(a)(9) of the Internal Rev-
- 22 enue Code of 1954 shall be deemed to read "64".
- (B) In the case of a man who attains or will attain age
- 24 62 in 1973, the figure "65" in sections 214(a)(1), 223(c)
- 25 (1)(A), 209(i), and 216(i)(3)(A) of the Social Se-

1	curity Act and section 3121(a)(9) of the Internal Reve-
2	nue Code of 1954 shall be deemed to read "63".
3	ADDITIONAL DROP-OUT YEARS
4	SEc. 108. (a) Section 215(b)(2)(A) of the Social
5	Security Act is amended by inserting ", and further re-
6	duced by one additional year for each 15 years of coverage
7	of such individual (as determined under the last sentence
8	of subsection (a) without regard to the 30-year limitation
9	contained therein)" immediately after "reduced by five".
10	(b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall be
11	effective for purposes of computing or recomputing, effective
12	for months after December 1971, the average monthly wage
13	of an insured individual who was born after January 1,
14	1910, and
15	(1) who becomes entitled to benefits under section
16	202(a) or section 223 of such Act after December 1971;
17	(2) who dies after December 1971; or
18	(3) who was entitled to henefits under section 223
19	of such Act for December 1971.
20	ELECTION TO RECEIVE ACTUARIALLY REDUCED BENEFITS
21	IN ONE CATEGORY NOT TO BE APPLICABLE TO CER-
22	TAIN BENEFITS IN OTHER CATEGORIES
23	SEC. 109. (a)(1) Sections $202(b)(1)(E)$ and
24	202(c)(1)(D) of the Social Security Act are each amended
25	by striking out "old-age or disability insurance benefits based

- 1 on a primary insurance amount" and inserting in lieu
- 2 thereof "an old-age or disability insurance benefit".
- 3 (2) Section 202(b)(1)(K) of such Act and the matter
- 4 in section 202(c)(1) of such Act following subparagraph
- 5 (D) thereof are each amended by striking out "based on a
- 6 primary insurance amount".
- 7 (b)(1) Section 202(q)(3)(A) of such Act is
- 8 amended by striking out all that follows clause (ii) and
- 9 inserting in lieu thereof the following: "then (subject to the
- 10 succeeding paragraphs of this subsection) such wife's, hus-
- 11 band's, widow's, or widower's insurance benefit for each
- 12 month shall be reduced as provided in subparagraph (B),
- 13 (C), or (D) of this paragraph, in lieu of any reduction un-
- 14 der paragraph (1), if the amount of the reduction in such
- 15 benefit under this paragraph is less than the amount of the
- 16 reduction in such benefit would be under paragraph (1)."
- 17 (2) Section 202(q)(3) of such Act is further amended
- 18 by striking out subparagraphs (E), (F), and (G).
- (c) Section 202(r) of such Act is repealed.
- (d)(1) Subject to paragraph (2), subsection (a) of
- 21 this section and the amendments made thereby shall
- 22 apply with respect to benefits for months commencing with
- the sixth month after the month in which this Act is enacted
- 24 pursuant to applications filed in or after the month in which
- this Act is enacted.

1 (2) In the case of an individual who became entitled to  $\mathbf{2}$ benefits under subsection (a) of section 202 or section 223 of such Act for a month prior to the month in which he attains 4 age 65 pursuant to an application filed before the month in 5 which this Act is enacted, and who is so entitled for the fifth 6 month following the month of enactment of this Act, and whose entitlement to benefits under subsection (b) or (c) of 8 such section 202 was prevented by subsection (b)(1)(E) or (c)(1)(D) of such section as in effect prior to the enactment 10 of this Act, the benefits to which such individual is entitled for 11 months after such fifth month shall be redetermined in accord-12 ance with subparagraphs (B), (C), (D) of subsection (e) 13 (2) of this section, if, in addition to the application required 14 by paragraph (A) of subsection 202(b)(1) and 202(c)(1). 15 he files a written request for such a redetermination. 16 (e)(1)(A) Subject to subparagraph (B), subsection 17 (b) of this section and the amendments made thereby shall 18 apply with respect to benefits for months commencing with 19 the sixth month after the month in which this Act is enacted. 20 (B) Subsection (b) of this section and the amendments 21 made thereby shall apply in the case of an individual whose 22 entitlement to benefits under section 202 of the Social Secu-23 rity Act began (without regard to sections 202(j)(1) and 24223(b) of such Act) before the sixth month after the month 25 in which this Act is enacted only if such individual files with

the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare, in such manner and form as the Secretary shall by regulations pre-2 scribe, a written request that such subsection and such  $\mathbf{3}$ amendments apply. In the case of such an individual who is described in paragraph (2)(A)(i) of this subsection, the 5 6 request for a redetermination under paragraph (2) shall constitute the request required by this subparagraph, and sub-7 8 section (b) of this section and the amendments made thereby 9 shall apply pursuant to such request with respect to such **1**0 individual's benefits as redetermined in accordance with paragraph (2)(B)(i) (but only if he does not refuse to 11 **12** accept such redetermination). In the case of any individual 13 with respect to whose benefits subsection (b) of this section 14 and the amendments made thereby may apply only pursuant 15 to a request made under this subparagraph, such subsection 16 and such amendments shall be effective (subject to paragraph (2)(D)) with respect to benefits for months com-17 18 mencing with the sixth month after the month in which this 19 Act is enacted or, if the request required by this subpara-20 graph is not filed before the end of such sixth month, with 21the second month following the month in which the request is 22 filed. 23

(C) Subsection (c) of this section shall apply with respect to benefits payable pursuant to applications filed on or after the date of the enactment of this Act.

1	(2) (A) In any case where an individual—
2	(i) is entitled, for the fifth month following the
3	month in which this Act is enacted, to a monthly in-
4	surance benefit under section 202 of the Social Security
5	Act (I) which was reduced under subsection (q)(3) of
6	such section, and (II) the application for which was
7	deemed (or, except for the fact that an application had
8	been filed, would have been deemed) to have been filed
9	by such individual under subsection (r) (1) or (2) of
10	such section, and
11	(ii) files a written request for a redetermination
<b>12</b>	under this subsection, on or after the date of the enact-
13	ment of this Act and in such manner and form as the
14	Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare shall by
15	regulations prescribe,
16	the Secretary shall redetermine the amount of such benefit,
17	and the amount of the other benefit (reduced under subsec-
18	tion (q) (1) or (2) of such section) which was taken into
19	account in computing the reduction in such benefit under such
20	subsection (q)(3), in the manner provided in subparagraph
21	(B) of this paragraph.
22	(B) Upon receiving a written request for the redeter-
23	mination under this paragraph of a benefit which was re-

duced under subsection (q) (1), (2), or (3) of section

202 of the Social Security Act (or would have been so

**24** 

1	reduced except for subsection (b)(1)(E) or (c)(1)(D) of
2	such section 202 as in effect prior to the enactment of this
3	Act) and of the other benefit which was (or would have been)
4	taken into account in computing such reduction, filed by an
5	individual as provided in subsection (d)(2) or subpara-
6	graph (A) of this paragraph, the Secretary shall—
7	(i) determine the highest monthly benefit amount
8	which such individual could receive under the sub-
9	sections of such section 202 which are involved (or
10	under section 223 of such Act and the subsection of
11	such section 202 which is involved) for the month
12	with which the redetermination is to be effective under
13	subparagraph (D) of this subsection (without regard
14	to sections 202(k), 203(a), and 203(b) through
15	(l)) as if—
16	(I) such individual's application for one of
17	such two benefits had been filed in the month in
18	which it was actually filed or was deemed under
19	subsection (r) of such section 202 to have been
20	filed, and his application for the other such benefit
21	had been filed in a later month, and
22	(II) the amendments made by this section had
23	been in effect at the time each such application was
24	filed; and
<b>25</b>	(ii) determine subother the amounts subject sums

(ii) determine whether the amounts which were

actually received by such individual in the form of such benefit or of such two benefits during the period prior to the month with which the redetermination under this paragraph is to be effective were in excess of the amounts which would have been received during such period if the applications for such benefits had actually been filed at the times fixed under clause (i)(I) of this subparagraph, and, if so, the total amount by which benefits otherwise payable to such individual under such section 202 (and section 223) would have to be reduced in order to compensate the Federal Old-Age and Survivors Insurance Trust Fund (and the Federal Disability Insurance Trust Fund) for such excess.

(C) The Secretary shall then notify such individual of the amount of each such benefit as computed in accordance with the amendments made by subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section and as redetermined in accordance with subparagraph (B)(i) of this paragraph, specifying (i) the amount (if any) of the excess determined under subparagraph (B)(ii) of this paragraph, and (ii) the period during which payment of any increase in such individual's benefits resulting from the application of the amendments made by subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section would under designated circumstances have to be withheld in order to effect the reduction described in subparagraph (B)(ii). Such

- 1 individual may at any time within thirty days after such noti-
- 2 fication is mailed to him refuse (in such manner and form as
- 3 the Secretary shall by regulations prescribe) to accept the
- 4 redetermination under this paragraph, in which event such
- <sup>5</sup> redetermination shall not take effect.
- 6 (D) Unless the last sentence of subparagraph (C)
- 7 applies, a redetermination under this paragraph shall be
- 8 effective (but subject to the reduction described in subpara-
- 9 graph (B)(ii) over the period specified pursuant to clause
- 10 (ii) of the first sentence of subparagraph (C)) beginning
- with the sixth month following the month in which this Act
- 12 is enacted, or, if the request for such redetermination is not
- 13 filed before the end of such sixth month, with the second
- 14 month following the month in which the request for such
- 15 redetermination is filed.
- 16 (E) The Secretary, by withholding amounts from bene-
- 17 fits otherwise payable to an individual under title II of the
- 18 Social Security Act as specified in clause (ii) of the first sen-
- 19 tence of subparagraph (C) (and in no other manner), shall
- 20 recover the amounts necessary to compensate the Federal
- 21 Old-Age and Survivors Insurance Trust Fund (and the Fed-
- <sup>22</sup> eral Disability Insurance Trust Fund) for the excess (de-
- scribed in subparagraph (B)(ii)) attributable to benefits
- which were paid such individual and to which a redetermina-
- 25 tion under this subsection applies.

## (f) Where—

(1) two or more persons are entitled on the basis of the wages and self-employment income of an individual (without the application of sections 202(j)(1) and 223(b) of the Social Security Act) to monthly benefits under section 202 of such Act for the month preceding the month with which (A) a redetermination under subsection (e) of this section becomes effective with respect to the benefits of any one of them and (B) such benefits are accordingly increased by reason of the amendments made by subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section, and

(2) the total of benefits to which all persons are entitled under such section 202 on the basis of such wages and self-employment income for the month with which such redetermination and increase becomes effective is reduced by reason of section 203(a) of such Act as amended by this Act (or would, but for the penultimate sentence of such section 203(a), be so reduced), then the amount of the benefit to which each of the persons referred to in paragraph (1), other than the person with respect to whose benefits such redetermination and increase is applicable, is entitled for months beginning with the month with which such redetermination and increase becomes effective shall be adjusted, after the application of such

1	section 203(a), to an amount no less than the amount is
2	would have been if such redetermination and increase had
3	not become effective.
4	COMPUTATION OF BENEFITS BASED ON COMBINED
5	EARNINGS OF HUSBAND AND WIFE
6	SEC. 110. (a) Section 202(a) of the Social Security
7	Act is amended to read as follows:
8	"(a)(1) Every individual who—
9	"(A) is a fully insured individual (as defined in
10	section 214(a)),
11	"(B) has attained age 62, and
12	"(C) has filed application for old-age insurance
13	benefits or was entitled to disability insurance benefits for
14	the month preceding the month in which he attained
15	age 65,
16	shall be entitled to an old-age insurance benefit for each month
17	beginning with the first month in which such individual be-
18	comes so entitled to such insurance benefits and ending with
19	the month preceding the month in which he dies.
20	"(2) Except as provided in subsection (q), such indi-
21	vidual's old-age insurance benefit for any month shall be
22	equal to his primary insurance amount for such month as de-
23	termined under section 215(a), or as determined under
24	paragraph (3) of this subsection if such paragraph is appli-
25	cable and its application increases the total of the monthly

1	insurance benefits to which such individual and his spouse
2	are entitled for the month in which the provisions of para-
3	graph (3) are met. If the primary insurance amount of an
4	individual or his spouse for any month is determined under
5	paragraph (3), the primary insurance amount of each of
6	them for such month shall, notwithstanding the preceding
7	sentence, be determined only under paragraph (3).
8	"(3) If an individual and his spouse—
9	"(A) each has at least 20 years of coverage (as
10	determined under the last sentence of section 215(a),
11	with years of coverage determined under clause (i) of
12	such sentence being credited for 1950 and consecutive
13	prior years, and without the application of the last
14	sentence of section 215(b)(2)(C)), taking into account
15	only years occurring during the period beginning with
16	the calendar year in which they were married,
17	"(B) each attained age 62 after 1971,
18	"(C) each is entitled to benefits under this subsec-
19	tion (or section 223), and
20	"(D) each has filed an election to have his primary
21	insurance amount determined under this paragraph,
22	then the primary insurance amount of such individual and
23	the primary insurance amount of such spouse, for purposes
24	of determining the old-age insurance benefit (prior to the

application of subsection (w)) or disability insurance benefit

1	of each of them for any month beginning with January 1972
2	or, if later, the month in which their elections under subpara
3	graph (D) were filed, and ending with the month preceding
4	the month in which either of them dies or they are divorced
5	shall be equal to 75 percent of the amount (specified in sub-
6	paragraph (G)) derived by—
7	"(E) combining the annual wages and self-employ-
8	ment income of such individual and such spouse (includ-
9	ing any wages and self-employment income taken into
10	account in a recomputation made under section 215(f))
11	for each year in which either or both of them had any
12	such wages or self-employment income, up to the maxi-
13	mum amount prescribed in section 215(e) for such year,
14	"(F) computing (under section 215 (b) and (d))
15	an average monthly wage on the basis of the wages and
16	self-employment income determined under subparagraph
17	(E) (or, if any wages and self-employment income have
18	been taken into account in a recomputation under section
19	215(f), recomputing as provided in section 215(a)(1)
20	(A) and (C) as though the year with respect to which
21	such recomputation is made is the last year of the period
22	specified in section 215(b)(2)(C)), as though all of
23	such wages and self-employment income had been earned
24	or derived by such individual or his spouse, whichever is
25	younger, and

1	"(G) determining (under section 215(a)) an
2	amount equal to the primary insurance amount which
3	would result from the average monthly wage determined
4	$under\ subparagraph\ (F).$
5	For purposes of subparagraph (F), if an individual or his
6	spouse is entitled to disability insurance benefits, such in-
7	dividual or spouse shall be deemed to have attained age 62
8	at the time provided in section 223(a)(2).
9	"(4) No benefits payable under subsections (b), (c),
10	(d), (e), (f), (g), (h), or (i) shall be computed on the basis
11	of a primary insurance amount determined under paragraph
12	(3) of this subsection.
13	"(5) The term 'primary insurance amount' as used in
14	the provisions of this title other than this subsection shall not
15	include a primary insurance amount determined under para-
16	graph (3) unless specifically so indicated."
17	(b)(1) Section 202(e)(1)(C)(i) of such Act (as
18	amended by section 104(a)(1)(B) of this Act) is further
19	amended by striking out "such individual," and inserting
20	in lieu thereof "such individual or to an old-age or disability
21	insurance benefit determined under subsection (a)(3),".
22	(2) Section 202(e)(2) of such Act (as amended
23	by section 104(a)(2) of this Act) is further amended—

(A) by striking out "and subparagraph (B) of

this paragraph" in subparagraph (A) and inserting in

**24**.

1	lieu thereof "and subparagraphs (B) and (C) of this
2	paragraph"; and
3	(B) by adding at the end thereof the following new
4	subparagraph:
5	"(C) In any case where a widow was entitled for the
6	month preceding the month in which the deceased individual
7	died to an old-age insurance benefit or a disability insurance
8	benefit based on a primary insurance amount determined under
9	section 202(a)(3), such widow's insurance benefit for each
10	month shall be determined only on the basis of the wages and
11	self-employment income of her deceased spouse and, for pur-
12	poses of subparagraph (B), the old-age or disability insur-
13	ance benefit of the deceased spouse shall be deemed to be the
14	amount it would have been if it had been determined under
15	subsection (a)(1) or section 223, except that after the ap-
16	plication of subparagraphs (A) and (B), and subsection
17	203(a), such widow's insurance benefit shall be not less than
18	the amount of the old-age or disability insurance benefit to
19	which she would be entitled for such month (based on a pri-
20	mary insurance amount determined under subsection (a)
21	(3)) if such individual had not died, disregarding for this
22	purpose the period beginning with the year after the year of
23	such individual's death and any wages and self-employment
24	income paid to or derived by either of them during such pe-

- 1 riod. This subparagraph shall not apply, in the case of a
- 2 widow who remarries, with respect to the month in which
- 3 such remarriage occurs or any subsequent month."
- 4 (c) Section 202(f)(3) of such Act (as amended by
- 5 section 104(b)(2) of this Act) is further amended—
- 6 (A) by striking out "and subparagraph (B) of
- 7 this paragraph" in subparagraph (A) and inserting in
- 8 lieu thereof "and subparagraphs (B) and (C) of this
- 9 paragraph"; and
- 10 (B) by adding at the end thereof the following new
- 11 subparagraph:
- 12 "(C) In any case where a widower was entitled for the
- 13 month preceding the month in which the deceased individual
- 14 died to an old-age insurance benefit or a disability insurance
- 15 benefit based on a primary insurance amount determined
- 16 under section 202(a)(3), such widower's insurance benefit
- 17 for each month shall be determined only on the basis of the
- 18 wages and self-employment income of his deceased spouse
- 19 and, for purposes of subparagraph (B), the old-age or dis-
- 20 ability insurance benefit of the deceased spouse shall be deemed
- 21 to be the amount it would have been if it had been determined
- 22 under subsection (a)(1) or section 223, except that after the
- 23 application of subparagraphs (A) and (B), and subsection
- 24 203(a), such widower's insurance benefit shall be not less

1	than the amount of the old-age or disability insurance benefit
2	to which he would be entitled for such month (based on a pri-
3	mary insurance amount determined under subsection (a)
4	(3)) if such individual had not died, disregarding for this
5	purpose the period beginning with the year after the year of
6	such individual's death and any wages and self-employment
7	income paid to or derived by either of them during such
8	period. This subparagraph shall not apply, in the case of a
9	widower who remarries, with respect to the month in which
10	such remarriage occurs or any subsequent month."
11	(1) Continu 202/a) of such dat (as amounded by see

(d) Section 203(a) of such Act (as amended by sections 101(b), 102(a)(2), and 103(b) of this Act) is further amended by striking out "or" at the end of paragraph (3), by striking out the period at the end of paragraph (4) and inserting in lieu thereof "; or", and by inserting after parafect graph (4) the following new paragraph:

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

"(5) in applying this subsection in any case where the primary insurance amount of the insured individual was determined under section 202(a)(3) and his entitlement under such section has not terminated, the total of monthly benefits to which persons other than such individual may be entitled on the basis of such individual's wages and self-employment income shall be determined as though such individual's primary insurance

1	amount had instead been determined under section 215
2	(a) and without regard to section 202(a)(3)."
3	(e)(1) Section 215(a)(1) of such Act (as amended
4	by sections 101(c) and 103(a)(1) of this Act) is amended
5	by inserting after "this subsection" in the matter preced-
6	ing subparagraph (A) the following: "and in section 202
7	(a)(3)".
8	(2) Section 215(a)(2) of such Act (as amended by
9	sections 101(c) and 103(c) of this Act) is further
10	amended—
11	(A) hy striking out "or" at the end of subpara-
12	graph(A),
13	(B) by striking out the period at the end of sub-
14	paragraph (B) and inserting in lieu thereof "; or,",
15	and
16	(C) by adding at the end thereof the following new
17	subparagraph:
18	"(C) an amount equal to the primary insur-
19	ance amount on which such disability insurance
20	benefit is based if such primary insurance amount
21	was determined under section 202(a)(3)."
22	(3) Section 215(f)(1) of such Act is amended by in-
23	serting "(or section 202(a)(3))" after "determined under
<b>24</b>	this section."

- 1 (4) The second sentence of section 215(f)(2) of such
- 2 Act is amended by inserting before the period at the end
- 3 thereof the following: ", and, in the case of an individual
- 4 whose primary insurance amount was determined under sec-
- 5 tion 202(a)(3), as though such amount had instead been
- 6 determined under subsection (a) of this section and without
- 7 regard to section 202(a)(3)".
- 8 (5) Section 223(a)(2) of such Act (as amended by
- 9 section 107(c) of this Act) is amended by inserting "(or
- 10 under section 202(a)(3))" after "under section 215".
- 11 (f) The amendments made by this section shall apply
- 12 only with respect to monthly insurance benefits under title
- 13 II of the Social Security Act for months after December
- 14 1971.
- 15 LIBERALIZATION OF EARNINGS TEST
- 16 SEC. 111. (a)(1) Paragraphs (1) and (4)(B) of
- 17 section 203(f) of the Social Security Act are each amended
- 18 by striking out "\$140" and inserting in lieu thereof
- 19 "\$166.66\frac{2}{3}\] or the exempt amount as determined under para-
- 20 graph (8)".
- 21 (2) Paragraph (1)(A) of section 203(h) of such Act
- 22 is amended by striking out "\$140" and inserting in lieu
- 23 thereof "\$166.66\frac{2}{3} or the exempt amount as determined under
- 24 subsection (f)(8)".

1	(3) Paragraph (3) of section 203(†) of such Act is
2	amended to read as follows:
3	"(3) For purposes of paragraph (1) and subsec-
4	tion (h), an individual's excess earnings for a taxable
5	year shall be 50 per centum of his earnings for such
6	year in excess of the product of \$166.66 $\frac{2}{3}$ or the exempt
7	amount as determined under paragraph (8), multiplied
8	by the number of months in such year. The excess earn-
9	ings as derived under the preceding sentence, if not
10	a multiple of \$1, shall be reduced to the next lower
11	multiple of \$1."
12	(b) The amendments made by this section shall apply
13	with respect to taxable years ending after December 1971.
14	EXCLUSION OF CERTAIN EARNINGS IN YEAR OF
<b>1</b> 5	ATTAINING AGE 72
16	SEC. 112. (a) The first sentence of section $203(f)(3)$
17	of the Social Security Act (as amended by section 111
18	(a)(3) of this Act) is further amended by inserting before
19	the period at the end thereof the following: ", except that, in
20	determining an individual's excess earnings for the taxable
21	year in which he attains age 72, there shall be excluded any
22	earnings of such individual for the month in which he attains
23	such age and any subsequent month (with any net earnings

- 1 or net loss from self-employment in such year being prorated
- 2 in an equitable manner under regulations of the Secretary)".
- 3 (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall
- 4 apply with respect to taxable years ending after December
- 5 1971.
- 6 REDUCED BENEFITS FOR WIDOWERS AT AGE 60
- 7 Sec. 113. (a) Section 202(f) of the Social Security
- 8 Act (as amended by section 104(b) of this Act) is further
- 9 amended—
- 10 (1) by striking out "age 62" each place it appears
- in subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1) and in para-
- graph (6) and inserting in lieu thereof "age 60";
- 13 (2) by striking out "or the third month" in the
- matter following subparagraph (G) in paragraph (1)
- and inserting in lieu thereof "or, if he became entitled
- to such benefits before he attained age 60, the third
- 17 month": and
- 18 (3) by striking out "the age of 62" in paragraph
- 19 (5) and inserting in lieu thereof "the age of 60".
- (b)(1) The last sentence of section 203(c) of such
- 21 Act (as amended by section 104(c)(1) of this Act) is
- <sup>22</sup> further amended by striking out "age 62" and inserting in
- lieu thereof "age 60".
- (2) Clause (D) of section 203(f)(1) of such Act as
- amended by section 104(c)(2) of this Act) is further

- 1 amended by striking out "age 62" and inserting in lieu
- 2 thereof "age 60".
- 3 (3) Section 222(b)(1) of such Act is amended by
- 4 striking out "a widow or surviving divorced wife who has
- 5 not attained age 60, a widower who has not attained age
- 6 62" and inserting in lieu thereof "a widow, widower or
- 7 surviving divorced wife who has not attained age 60".
- 8 (4) Section 222(d)(1)(D) of such Act is amended
- 9 by striking out "age 62" each place it appears and inserting
- 10 in lieu thereof "age 60".
- 11 (5) Section 225 of such Act is amended by striking
- 12 out "age 62" and inserting in lieu thereof "age 60".
- (c) The amendments made by this section shall apply
- 14 with respect to monthly benefits under title II of the Social
- 15 Security Act for months after December 1971, except that
- 16 in the case of an individual who was not entitled to a monthly
- 17 benefit under title II of such Act for December 1971 such
- 18 amendments shall apply only on the basis of an application
- 19 filed in or after the month in which this Act is enacted.
- 20 ENTITLEMENT TO CHILD'S INSURANCE BENEFITS BASED
- 21 ON DISABILITY WHICH BEGAN BETWEEN AGE 18 AND 22
- 22 Sec. 114. (a) Clause (ii) of section 202(d)(1)(B) of
- 23 the Social Security Act is amended by striking out "which
- 24 began before he attained the age of eighteen" and inserting

1	in lieu thereof "which began before he attained the age of
2	22".
3	(b) Subparagraphs (F) and (G) of section 202(d)
4	(1) of such Act are amended to read as follows:
5	"(F) if such child was not under a disability (as
6	so defined) at the time he attained the age of 18, the
7	earlier of—
8	"(i) the first month during no part of which
9	he is a full-time student, or
10	"(ii) the month in which he attains the age of
11	22,
12	but only if he was not under a disability (as so defined)
13	in such earlier month; or
14	"(G) if such child was under a disability (as so
15	defined) at the time he attained the age of 18, or if he
16	was not under a disability (as so defined) at such time
17	but was under a disability (as so defined) at or prior to
18	the time he attained (or would attain) the age of 22,
19	the third month following the month in which he ceases
20	to be under such disability or (if later) the earlier of—
21	"(i) the first month during no part of which
22	he is a full-time student, or
23	"(ii) the month in which he attains the age
24	of 22,
25	but only if he was not under a disability (as so defined)
26	in such earlier month."

1	(c) Section 202(d)(1) of such Act is further amended
2	by adding at the end thereof the following new sentence:
3	"No payment under this paragraph may be made to a child
4	who would not meet the definition of disability in section
5	223(d) except for paragraph (1)(B) thereof for any month
6	in which he engages in substantial gainful activity."
7	(d) Section 202(d)(6) of such Act is amended by
8	striking out "in which he is a full-time student and has not
9	attained the age of 22" and all that follows and inserting in
10	lieu thereof "in which he-
11	"(A)(i) is a full-time student or is under a dis-
12	ability (as defined in section 223(d)), and (ii) had
13	not attained the age of 22, or
14	"(B) is under a disability (as so defined) which
15	began before the close of the 84th month following the
16	month in which his most recent entitlement to child's
17	insurance benefits terminated because he ceased to be
18	under such disability,
19	but only if he has filed application for such reentitlement.
20	Such reentitlement shall end with the month preceding which-
21	ever of the following first occurs:
22	"(C) the first month in which an event specified in
23	paragraph (1)(D) occurs;
24	"(D) the earlier of (i) the first month during no

part of which he is a full-time student or (ii) the month

1	in which he attains the age of 22, but only if he is no
2	under a disability (as so defined) in such earlier month,
3	or
4	"(E) if he was under a disability (as so defined).
5	the third month following the month in which he ceases
6	to be under such disability or (if later) the earlier of-
7	"(i) the first month during no part of which
8	he is a full-time student, or
9	"(ii) the month in which he attains the age
10	of 22."
11	(e) Section 202(s) of such Act is amended—
12	(1) by striking out "which began before he at-
13	tained such age" in paragraph (1); and
14	(2) by striking out "which began before such
15	child attained the age of 18" in paragraphs (2) and
16	(3).
17	(f) The amendments made by this section shall apply
18	only with respect to monthly benefits under section 202 of the
19	Social Security Act for months after December 1971 except
20	that in the case of an individual who was not entitled to a
21	monthly benefit under such section 202 for December 1971
22	such amendments shall apply only on the basis of an appli-
23	cation filed after September 30, 1971.
24	(g) Where—

(1) one or more persons are entitled (without

- the application of sections 202(j)(1) and 223(b) of
- 2 the Social Security Act) to monthly benefits under
- 3 section 202 or 223 of such Act for December 1971 on
- 4 the basis of the wages and self-employment income of
- 5 an insured individual, and
- 6 (2) one or more persons (not included in para-
- 7 graph (1)) are entitled to monthly benefits under
- 8 such section 202 or 223 for January 1972 solely by
- 9 reason of the amendments made by this section on the
- basis of such wages and self-employment income, and
- 11 (3) the total of benefits to which all persons are
- entitled under such sections 202 and 223 on the basis of
- such wages and self-employment income for January
- 14 1972 is reduced by reason of section 203(a) of such
- 15 Act as amended by this Act (or would, but for the
- penultimate sentence of such section 203(a), be so
- 17 reduced),
- 18 then the amount of the benefit to which each person referred
- 19 to in paragraph (1) of this subsection is entitled for months
- 20 after December 1971 shall be adjusted, after the applica-
- 21 tion of such section 203(a), to an amount no less than the
- 22 amount it would have been if the person or persons referred
- 23 to in paragraph (2) of this subsection were not entitled to a
- 24 benefit referred to in such paragraph (2).

1	CONTINUATION OF CHILD'S BENEFITS THROUGH END OF
2	SEMESTER
3	SEc. 115. (a) Paragraph (7) of section 202(d) of the
4	Social Security Act is amended by adding at the end thereof
5	the following new subparagraph:
6	"(D) A child who attains age 22 at a time when
7	he is a full-time student (as defined in subparagraph
8	(A) of this paragraph) but has not (at such time)
9	completed the requirements for, or received, a degree
10	from a four-year college or university shall be deemed
11	(for purposes of determining whether his entitlement to
12	benefits under this subsection has terminated under para-
13	graph (1)(F) and for purposes of determining his ini-
14	tial entitlement to such benefits under clause (ii) of para-
15	graph (1)(B)) not to have attained such age until the
16	first day of the first month following the end of the quar-
17	ter or semester in which he is enrolled at such time (or,
18	if the educational institution (as defined in this para-
19	graph) in which he is enrolled is not operated on a
20	quarter or semester system, until the first day of the
21	first month following the completion of the course in
22	which he is so enrolled or until the first day of the third
23	month beginning after such time, whichever first occurs)."

(b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall

- apply only with respect to benefits payable under title II
- 2 of the Social Security Act for months after December 1971.
- 3 CHILD'S BENEFITS IN CASE OF CHILD ENTITLED ON MORE
- 4 THAN ONE WAGE RECORD
- 5 Sec. 116. (a) Section 202(k)(2)(A) of the Social
- 6 Security Act is amended to read as follows:
- 7 "(2)(A)(i) Any child who under the preceding provi-
- 8 sions of this section is entitled for any month to child's in-
- 9 surance benefits on the wages and self-employment income
- 10 of more than one insured individual shall, notwithstanding
- 11 such provisions, be entitled to only one of such child's in-
- 12 surance benefits for such month. Subject to the succeeding
- 13 provisions of this subparagraph, such child's insurance bene-
- 14 fit for such month shall be the largest benefit to which such
- 15 child could be entitled under subsection (d) (without the ap-
- 16 plication of section 203(a)).
- 17 "(ii) If the largest benefit to which such child could
- 18 be entitled under subsection (d) is based on the wages and
- 19 self-employment income of an insured individual other than
- 20 the insured individual who has the greatest primary insurance
- 21 amount, but payment of such benefit on the basis of such
- 22 wages and self-employment income would result in a smaller
- 23 benefit (after the application of section 203(a)) for such
- 24 month for any other person entitled to benefits based on such

- 1 wages and self-employment income, such child's insurance
- 2 benefit for such month shall (subject to clause (iii)) be the
- 3 benefit based on the wages and self-employment income of the
- 4 insured individual who has the greatest primary insurance
- 5 amount.
- 6 "(iii) If there are two or more insured individuals
- 7 (other than the insured individual who has the greatest pri-
- 8 mary insurance amount) on the basis of whose wages and self-
- 9 employment income such child could be entitled under sub-
- 10 section (d) to a benefit larger than the benefit based on the
- 11 wages and self-employment income of the insured individual
- 12 who has the greatest primary insurance amount, such child's
- 13 insurance benefit for such month shall be the largest benefit
- 14 to which such child could be entitled under subsection (d)
- 15 (without the application of section 203(a)) on the basis of
- 16 the wages and self-employment income of any of them with
- 17 respect to whom the provisions of clause (ii) are not appli-
- 18 cable, and shall not be the benefit based on the wages and
- 19 self-employment income of the insured individual who has
- 20 the greatest primary insurance amount as otherwise speci-
- 21 fied in clause (ii) unless the provisions of such clause are
- 22 applicable with respect to all of such insured individuals."
- 23 (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall apply
- 24 only with respect to monthly benefits under title II of the
- 25 Social Security Act for months after December 1971.

1	ADOPTIONS BY DISABILITY AND OLD-AGE INSURANCE
2	BENEFICIARIES
3	SEC. 117. (a) Section 202(d) of the Social Security
4	Act is amended by striking out paragraphs (8) and (9)
5	and inserting in lieu thereof the following new paragraph:
6	"(8) In the case of—
7	"(A) an individual entitled to old-age insurance
8	benefits (other than an individual referred to in sub-
9	paragraph (B)), or
10	"(B) an individual entitled to disability insurance
11	benefits, or an individual entitled to old-age insurance
12	benefits who was entitled to disability insurance benefits
13	for the month preceding the first month for which he
14	was entitled to old-age insurance benefits,
<b>15</b>	a child of such individual adopted after such individual be-
16	came entitled to such old-age or disability insurance benefits
17	shall be deemed not to meet the requirements of clause (i)
18	or (iii) of paragraph (1)(C) unless such child—
19	"(C) is the natural child or stepchild of such indi-
20	vidual (including such a child who was legally adopted
21	by such individual), or
22	"(D) (i) was legally adopted by such individual in
23	an adoption decreed by a court of competent jurisdiction
24	within the United States,
<b>25</b>	"(ii) was living with such individual in the United

1

States and receiving at least one-half of his support from

2 such individual (I) if he is an individual referred to in 3 subparagraph (A), for the year immediately before the 4 month in which such individual became entitled to oldage insurance benefits or, if such individual had a period 5 6 of disability which continued until he had become en-7 titled to old-age insurance benefits, the month in which 8 such period of disability began, or (II) if he is an indi-9 vidual referred to in subparagraph (B), for the year im-10 mediately before the month in which began the period of 11 disability of such individual which still exists at the time 12 of adoption (or, if such child was adopted by such in-13 dividual after such individual attained age 65, the period 14 of disability of such individual which existed in the 15 month preceding the month in which he attained age 16 65), or the month in which such individual became en-17 titled to disability insurance benefits, and 18 "(iii) had not attained the age of 18 before he 19 began living with such individual. 20 In the case of a child who was born in the one-year period 21 during which such child must have been living with and 22receiving at least one-half of his support from such indi-23 vidual, such child shall be deemed to meet such requirements 24for such period if, as of the close of such period, such child 25 has lived with such individual in the United States and

- 1 received at least one-half of his support from such indi-
- 2 vidual for substantially all of the period which begins on
- 3 the date of birth of such child."
- 4 (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall
- <sup>5</sup> apply with respect to monthly benefits payable under title
- 6 II of the Social Security Act for months after December
- 7 1967 on the basis of an application filed in or after the month
- 8 in which this Act is enacted; except that such amendments
- 9 shall not apply with respect to benefits for any month before
- 10 the month in which this Act is enacted unless such applica-
- 11 tion is filed before the close of the sixth month after the
- 12 month in which this Act is enacted.
- 13 CHILD'S INSURANCE BENEFITS NOT TO BE TERMINATED BY
- 14 REASON OF ADOPTION
- 15 SEC. 118. (a) Paragraph (1)(D) of section 202(d)
- 16 of the Social Security Act is amended by striking out "mar-
- 17 ries" and all that follows and inserting in lieu thereof "or
- 18 marries,".
- (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall apply
- 20 only with respect to monthly benefits under title II of the
- 21 Social Security Act for months beginning with the month in
- 22 which this Act is enacted.
- 23 (c) Any child—
- 24 (1) whose entitlement to child's insurance benefits
  25 under section 202(d) of the Social Security Act was

1	terminated by reason of his adoption, prior to the date of
2	the enactment of this Act, and
3	(2) who, except for such adoption, would be entitled
4	to child's insurance benefits under such section for a
5	month after the month in which this Act is enacted,
6	may, upon filing application for child's insurance benefits
7	under the Social Security Act after the date of enactment of
8	this Act, become reentitled to such benefits; except that no
9	child shall, by reason of the enactment of this section, become
10	reentitled to such benefits for any month prior to the month
11	after the month in which this Act is enacted.
12	BENEFITS FOR CHILD BASED ON EARNINGS RECORD OF
13	GRANDPARENT
14	SEC. 119. (a) The first sentence of section 216(e) of the
15	Social Security Act is amended—
16	(1) by striking out "and" at the end of clause (1),
17	and
18	(2) by inserting immediately before the period at the
19	end thereof the following: ", and (3) a person who is
20	the grandchild or stepgrandchild of an individual or
21	his spouse, but only if (A) neither of such person's nat-
22	ural or adoptive parents were living at the time (i) such
23	individual became entitled to old-age insurance benefits or
24	disability insurance benefits or died, or (ii) if such indi-
<b>25</b>	vidual had a period of disability which continued until

such individual became entitled to old-age insurance benefits or disability insurance benefits, or died, at the time such period of disability began, or (B) such person was legally adopted after the death of such individual by such individual's surviving spouse in an adoption that was decreed by a court of competent jurisdiction within the United States and such person's natural or adopting parent or stepparent was not living in such individual's household and making regular contributions toward such person's support at the time such individual died".

(b) Section 202(d) of such Act (as amended by section
 117 of this Act) is further amended by adding at the end
 13 thereof the following new paragraph:

"(9)(A) A child who is a child of an individual under clause (3) of the first sentence of section 216(e) and is not a child of such individual under clause (1) or (2) of such first sentence shall be deemed not to be dependent on such individual at the time specified in subparagraph (1)(C) of this subsection unless (i) such child was living with such individual in the United States and receiving at least one-half of his support from such individual (I) for the year immediately before the month in which such individual became entitled to old-age insurance benefits or disability insurance benefits or died, or (II) if such individual had a period of disability which continued until he had become entitled to old-age

- 1 insurance benefits, or disability insurance benefits, or died,
- 2 for the year immediately before the month in which such
- 3 period of disability began, and (ii) the period during which
- 4 such child was living with such individual began before the
- 5 child attained age 18.
- 6 "(B) In the case of a child who was born in the one-
- 7 year period during which such child must have been living
- 8 with and receiving at least one-half of his support from such
- 9 individual, such child shall be deemed to meet such require-
- 10 ments for such period if, as of the close of such period, such
- 11 child has lived with such individual in the United States and
- 12 received at least one-half of his support from such individual
- 13 for substantially all of the period which begins on the date of
- 14 such child's birth."
- (c) The amendments made by this section shall apply
- 16 with respect to monthly benefits payable under title II of the
- 17 Social Security Act for months after December 1971, but
- 18 only on the basis of applications filed on or after the date of
- 19 the enactment of this Act.
- 20 ELIMINATION OF SUPPORT REQUIREMENT AS CONDITION
- OF BENEFITS FOR DIVORCED AND SURVIVING DIVORCED
- 22 WIVES
- 23 Sec. 120. (a) Section 202(b)(1) of the Social Secu-
- 24 rity Act (as amended by section 109(a) of this Act) is
- 25 further amended—

```
(1) by adding "and" at the end of subparagraph
1
       (C),
\mathbf{2}
3
            (2) by striking out subparagraph (D), and
4
            (3) by redesignating, subparagraphs (E) through
5
        (L) as subparagraphs (D) through (K), respectively.
6
        (b)(1) Section 202(e)(1) of such Act (as amended
7
    by section 104(a) of this Act) is further amended—
8
            (A) by adding "and" at the end of subparagraph
9
        (C),
10
            (B) by striking out subparagraph (D), and
11
            (C) by redesignating subparagraphs (E) through
12
        (G) as subparagraphs (D) through (F), respectively.
13
        (2) Section 202(e)(6) of such Act is amended by
14
    striking out "paragraph (1)(G)" and inserting in lieu
15
    thereof "paragraph (1)(F)".
16
         (c) Section 202(g)(1)(F) of such Act is amended
17
    by striking out clause (i), and by redesignating clauses (ii)
18
    and (iii) as clauses (i) and (ii), respectively.
19
         (d) The amendments made by this section shall apply
20
    only with respect to benefits payable under title II of the
21
    Social Security Act for months after December 1971 on the
22
    basis of applications filed on or after the date of the enact-
23
     ment of this Act.
 24
         (e) Where—
```

(1) one or more persons are entitled (without the

1	application of sections 202(j)(1) and 223(b) of the
2	Social Security Act) to monthly benefits under section
3	202 or 223 of such Act for December 1971 on the basis
4	of the wages and self-employment income of an insured
5	individual, and

- (2) one or more persons (not included in paragraph (1)) are entitled to monthly benefits under such section 202(g) for a month after December 1971 on the basis of such wages and self-employment income, and
- (3) the total of benefits to which all persons are entitled under such section 202 and 223 on the basis of such wages and self-employment income for any month after December 1971 is reduced by reason of section 203(a) of such Act as amended by this Act (or would, but for the penultimate sentence of such section 203(a), be so reduced),

then the amount of the benefit to which each person referred to in paragraph (1) of this subsection is entitled beginning with the first month after December 1971 for which any person referred to in paragraph (2) becomes entitled shall be adjusted, after the application of such section 203(a), to an amount no less than the amount it would have been if the person or persons referred to in paragraph (2) of this sub-section were not entitled to a benefit referred to in such para-graph (2).

1	WAIVER OF DURATION-OF-RELATIONSHIP REQUIREMENT
2	FOR WIDOW, WIDOWER, OR STEPCHILD IN CASE OF
3	REMARRIAGE TO THE SAME INDIVIDUAL
4	SEC. 121. (a) The heading of section 216(k) of the
5	Social Security Act is amended by adding at the end thereof
6	", or in Case of Remarriage to the Same Individual".
7	(b) Section 216(k) of such Act is amended by strik-
8	ing out "if his death-" and all that follows and inserting in
9	lieu thereof "if—
10	"(1) his death—
11	"(A) is accidental, or
12	"(B) occurs in line of duty while he is a mem-
13	ber of a uniformed service serving on active duty
14	(as defined in section 210(l)(2)),
15	and he would satisfy such requirement if a three-month
16	period were substituted for the nine-month period, or
17	"(2)(A) the widow or widower of such individual
18	had been previously married to such individual and sub-
19	sequently divorced and such requirement would have
20	been satisfied at the time of such divorce if such previous
21	marriage had been terminated by the death of such in-
22	dividual at such time instead of by divorce; or
23	"(B) the stepchild of such individual had been
<b>24</b>	the stepchild of such individual during a previous mar-
<b>25</b>	riage of such stepchild's parent to such individual which

1	ended in divorce and such requirement would have
2	been satisfied at the time of such divorce if such previous
3	marriage had been terminated by the death of such
4	individual at such time instead of by divorce;
5	except that this subsection shall not apply if the Secretary
6	determines that at the time of the marriage involved the
7	individual could not have reasonably been expected to live
8	for nine months. For purposes of paragraph (1)(A) of this
9	subsection, the death of an individual is accidental if he
10	receives bodily injuries solely through violent, external, and
11	accidental means and, as a direct result of the bodily in-
12	juries and independently of all other causes, loses his life
13	not later than three months after the day on which he
14	receives such bodily injuries."
15	(c) The amendments made by this section shall apply
16	only with respect to benefits payable under title II of the
17	Social Security Act for months after December 1971 on
18	the basis of applications filed in or after the month in which
19	this Act is enacted.
20	REDUCTION FROM 6 TO 5 MONTHS OF WAITING PERIOD
21	FOR DISABILITY BENEFITS
22	SEC. 122. (a) Section 223(c)(2) of the Social Secu-
23	rity Act is amended—
24	(1) by striking out "six" and inserting in lieu

thereof "five", and

1	(2) by striking out "eighteenth" each place it ap-
2	pears and inserting in lieu thereof "seventeenth".
3	(b) Section 202(e)(6) of such Act is amended—
4	(1) by striking out "six" and inserting in lieu
5	thereof "five",
6	(2) by striking out "eighteenth" and inserting in
7	lieu thereof "seventeenth", and
8	(3) by striking out "sixth" and inserting in lieu
9	thereof "fifth".
10	(c) Section 202(f)(7) of such Act is amended—
11	(1) by striking out "six" and inserting in lieu
12	thereof "five",
13	(2) by striking out "eighteenth" and inserting in
14	lieu thereof "seventeenth", and
15	(3) by striking out "sixth" and inserting in lieu
16	thereof "fifth".
17	(d) Section 216(i)(2)(A) of such Act is amended
18	by striking out "6" and inserting in lieu thereof "five".
19	(e) The amendments made by this section shall be
20	effective with respect to applications for disability insurance
21	benefits under section 223 of the Social Security Act, appli-
22	cations for widow's and widower's insurance benefits based on
23	disability under section 202 of such Act, and applications
24	for disability determinations under section 216(i) of such
<b>25</b>	Act, filed—

. 1	(1) in or after the month in which this Act is
2	enacted, or
3	(2) before the month in which this Act is enacted
4	if—
5	(A) notice of the final decision of the Sec-
6	retary of Health, Education, and Welfare has not
7	been given to the applicant before such month, or
8	(B) the notice referred to in subparagraph
9	(A) has been so given before such month but a
10	civil action with respect to such final decision is
11	commenced under section 205(g) of the Social
12	Security Act (whether before, in, or after such
13	month) and the decision in such civil action has
14	not become final before such month;
15	except that no monthly benefits under title II of the Social
16	Security Act shall be payable or increased by reason of
17	the amendments made by this section for any month before
18	January 1972.
19	ELIMINATION OF DISABILITY INSURED-STATUS REQUIRE-
20	MENT OF SUBSTANTIAL RECENT COVERED WORK IN
21	CASE OF INDIVIDUALS WHO ARE BLIND
22	SEC. 123. (a) The first sentence of section 216(i)(3)
23 24	of the Social Security Act is amended by striking out all that
2 <del>4</del> 25	follows subparagraph (B) and inserting in lieu thereof the
26	following:
20	"except that the provisions of subparagraph (B) of this

1	paragraph shall not apply in the case of an individual who
2	is blind (within the meaning of 'blindness' as defined in
3	paragraph (1))."
4	(b) Section 223(c)(1) of such Act is amended by
5	striking out "coverage." in subparagraph (B)(ii) and in-
6	serting in lieu thereof "coverage;", and by striking out "For
7	purposes" and inserting in lieu thereof the following:
8	"except that the provisions of subparagraph (B) of
9	this paragraph shall not apply in the case of an indi-
10	vidual who is blind (within the meaning of 'blindness'
11	as defined in section 216(i)(1)). For purposes".
12	(c) The amendments made by this section shall be
13	effective with respect to applications for disability insurance
14	benefits under section 223 of the Social Security Act, and
15	for disability determinations under section 216(i) of such
16	Act, filed—
17	(1) in or after the month in which this Act is
18	enacted, or
19	(2) before the month in which this Act is enacted
20	if—
21	(A) notice of the final decision of the Secre-
22	tary of Health, Education, and Welfare has not
23	been given to the applicant before such month; or
24	(B) the notice referred to in subparagraph
25	(A) has been as given before such month but a

(A) has been so given before such month but a

1	civil action with respect to such final decision is
2	commenced under section 205(g) of the Social
3	Security Act (whether before, in, or after such
4	month) and the decision in such civil action has not
5	become final before such month;
6	except that no monthly benefits under title II of the Social
7	Security Act shall be payable or increased by reason of the
8	amendments made by this section for months before Jan-
9	uary 1972.
10	APPLICATIONS FOR DISABILITY INSURANCE BENEFITS
11	FILED AFTER DEATH OF INSURED INDIVIDUAL
12	Sec. 124. (a)(1) Section 223(a)(1) of the Social
13	Security Act is amended by adding at the end thereof the
14	following new sentence: "In the case of a deceased individual,
<b>15</b>	the requirement of subparagraph (C) may be satisfied by an
16	application for benefits filed with respect to such individual
17	within 3 months after the month in which he died."
18	(2) Section 223(a)(2) of such Act is amended by
19	striking out "he filed his application for disability insurance
20	benefits and was" and inserting in lieu thereof "the applica-
21	tion for disability insurance benefits was filed and he was".
22	(3) The third sentence of section 223(b) of such Act
23	is amended by striking out "if he files such application" and
24	inserting in lieu thereof "if such application is filed".

(4) Section 223(c)(2)(A) of such Act is amended by

1	striking out "who files such application" and inserting in
2	lieu thereof "with respect to whom such application is filed".
3	(b) Section 216(i)(2)(B) of such Act is amended
4	by adding at the end thereof the following new sentence:
5	"In the case of a deceased individual, the requirement of an
6	application under the preceding sentence may be satisfied
7	by an application for a disability determination filed with re-
8	spect to such individual within 3 months after the month in
9	which he died."
10	(c) The amendments made by this section shall apply
11	in the case of deaths occurring after December 31, 1969. For
12	purposes of such amendments (and for purposes of sections
13	202(j)(1) and 223(b) of the Social Security Act), any
14	application with respect to an individual whose death oc-
15	curred after December 31, 1969, but before the date of the
16	enactment of this Act which is filed within 3 months in or
17	after the month in which this Act is enacted shall be deemed
18	to have been filed in the month in which such death occurred.
19	WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION OFFSET FOR DISABILITY
20	INSURANCE BENEFICIARIES
21	SEC. 125. (a) The next to last sentence of section 224
22	(a) of the Social Security Act is amended—
23	(1) by striking out targer and inserting in tieu
24	thereof "largest"

(2) by striking out "or" before "(B)", and

1	(3) by inserting before the period at the end
2	thereof the following: ", or (C) one-twelfth of the
3	total of his wages and self-employment income (com-
4	puted without regard to the limitations specified in sec-
5	tions $209(a)$ and $211(b)(1)$ ) for the calendar year
6	in which he had the highest such wages and income
7	during the period consisting of the catendar year in
8	which he became disabled (as defined in section
9	223(d)) and the five years preceding that year".
10	(b) The last sentence of section 224(a) of such Act
11	is amended by striking out "clause (B)" and inserting in
12	lieu thereof "clauses (B) and (C)".
13	(c) The amendments made by subsections (a) and (b)
14	shall apply with respect to monthly benefits under title II of
15	the Social Security Act for months after December 1971.
16	WAGE CREDITS FOR MEMBERS OF THE UNIFORMED
17	SERVICES
18	Sec. 126. (a) Subsection 229(a) of the Social Security
19	Act is amended—
20	(1) by striking out "after December 1967" and
21	inserting in lieu thereof "after December 1971";
22	(2) by striking out "after 1967" and inserting in
23	lieu thereof "after 1956"; and
24	(3) by striking out all that follows "(in addition to

- the wages actually paid to him for such service)" and
- 2 inserting in lieu thereof "of \$300."
- 3 (b) The amendments made by subsection (a) shall
- 4 apply with respect to monthly benefits under title II of the
- 5 Social Security Act for months after December 1971 and
- 6 with respect to lump-sum death payments under such title in
- 7 the case of deaths occurring after December 1971 except
- 8 that, in the case of any individual who is entitled, on the
- 9 basis of the wages and self-employment income of any in-
- 10 dividual to whom section 229 of such Act applies, to monthly
- 11 benefits under title II of such Act for the month in which
- 12 this Act is enacted, such amendments shall apply (1) only
- 13 if a written request for a recalculation of such benefits (by
- 14 reason of such amendments) under the provisions of sec-
- 15 tion 215 (b) and (d) of such Act, as in effect at the time
- 16 such request is filed, is filed by such individual, or any other
- 17 individual, entitled to benefits under such title II on the
- 18 basis of such wages and self-employment income, and (2)
- 19 only with respect to such benefits for months beginning
- 20 with whichever of the following is later: January 1972 or
- 21 the twelfth month before the month in which such request
- 22 was filed. Recalculations of benefits as required to carry
- 23 out the provisions of this paragraph shall be made not-
- 24 withstanding the provisions of section 215(f)(1) of the

1	0 1 - 1	Q	4	7		7	7 7 4	7 77	7	
T	Social	Security	Act,	ana	no	sucn	recalculation	snau	oe	re-

- 2 garded as a recomputation for purposes of section 215(f)
- 3 of such Act.
- 4 OPTIONAL DETERMINATION OF SELF-EMPLOYMENT
- 5 EARNINGS
- 6 SEC. 127. (a) (1) Section 211(a) of the Social Security
- 7 Act is amended by adding at the end thereof the following
- 8 new paragraph:
- 9 "The preceding sentence and clauses (i) through (iv)
- 10 of the second preceding sentence shall also apply in the case
- 11 of any trade or business (other than a trade or business
- 12 specified in such second preceding sentence) which is car-
- 13 ried on by an individual who is self-employed on a regular
- 14 basis as defined in subsection (g), or by a partnership of
- which an individual is a member on a regular basis as de-
- 16 fined in subsection (g), but only if such individual's net
- earnings from self-employment in the taxable year (not
- 18 counting any net earnings derived from a trade or business
- 19 anaifed in such accord amonding contangel as determined
- specified in such second preceding sentence) as determined
- without regard to this sentence are less than \$1,600 and less
- than 66% percent of the sum (in such taxable year) of such
- individual's gross income derived from all the trades or busi-
- nesses carried on by him to which this sentence refers and
- his distributive share of the income or loss from such trades
- or businesses carried on by all the partnerships of which he

- 1 is a member; except that this sentence shall not apply to more
- 2 than 5 taxable years in the case of any individual, and in
- 3 no case in which an individual elects to determine the amount
- 4 of his net earnings from self-employment for a taxable year
- 5 under the provisions of the two preceding sentences with
- 6 respect to a trade or business to which the second preceding
- 7 sentence applies and with respect to a trade or business to
- 8 which this sentence applies shall such net earnings for such
- 9 year exceed \$1,600."
- 10 (2) Section 211 of such Act is amended by adding at
- 11 the end thereof the following new subsection:
- 12 "Regular Basis
- "(a) An individual shall be deemed to be self-employed
- 14 on a regular basis in a taxable year, or to be a member of a
- 15 partnership on a regular basis in such year, if he had net
- 16 earnings from self-employment, as defined in the first sen-
- 17 tence of subsection (a), of not less than \$400 in at least two
- 18 of the three consecutive taxable years immediately preceding
- 19 such taxable year from trades or businesses carried on by
- 20 such individual or such partnership."
- 21 (b)(1) Section 1402(a) of the Internal Revenue Code
- <sup>22</sup> of 1954 (relating to definition of net earnings from self-
- employment) is amended by adding at the end thereof the
- 24 following new paragraph:
- 25 "The preceding sentence and clauses (i) through (iv)

1 of the second preceding sentence shall also apply in the case 2 of any trade or business (other than a trade or business speci-3 fied in such second preceding sentence) which is carried on by an individual who is self-employed on a regular basis as 5 defined in subsection (i), or by a partnership of which an individual is a member on a regular basis as defined in subsection (i), but only if such individual's net earnings from 8 self-employment (excluding any net earnings derived from 9 a trade or business specified in such second preceding sen-10 tence) as determined without regard to this sentence in the 11 taxable year are less than \$1,600 and less than  $66\frac{2}{3}$  percent 12 of the sum (in such taxable year) of such individual's gross 13 income derived from all the trades or businesses carried on by him to which this sentence refers and his distributive share 14 15 of the income or loss from such trades or businesses carried 16 on by all the partnerships of which he is a member; except 17 that this sentence shall not apply to more than 5 taxable 18 years in the case of any individual, and in no case in which 19 an individual elects to determine the amount of his net earn-20 ings from self-employment for a taxable year under the pro-21 visions of the two preceding sentences with respect to a trade 22 or business to which the second preceding sentence applies 23 and with respect to a trade or business to which this sentence 24 applies shall such net earnings for such year exceed \$1,600." 25 (2) Section 1402 of such Code (definitions relating to

1	Self-Employment Contributions Act of 1954) is amended by
2	adding at the end thereof the following new subsection:
3	"Regular Basis
4	"(i) An individual shall be deemed to be self-employed
5	on a regular basis in a taxable year, or to be a member of a
6	partnership on a regular basis in such year, if he had net
7	earnings from self-employment, as defined in the first sentence
8	of subsection (a), of not less than \$400 in at least two of
9	the three consecutive taxable years immediately preceding
10	such taxable year from trades or businesses carried on by
11	such individual or such partnership."
12	(c) The amendments made by this section shall apply
13	only with respect to taxable years beginning after Decem-
14	ber 31, 1971.
15	PAYMENTS BY EMPLOYER TO SURVIVOR OR ESTATE OF
16	FORMER EMPLOYEE
17	SEC. 128. (a) Section 209 of the Social Security Act
18	is amended by striking out "or" at the end of subsection (1),
19	by striking out the period at the end of subsection (m) and
20	inserting in lieu thereof "; or", and by inserting after sub-
21	section (m) the following new subsection:
22	"(n) Any payment made by an employer to a survivor
23	or the estate of a former employee after the calendar year
24	in which such employee died."
25	(b) Section 2191(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of

(b) Section 3121(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of

- 1 1954 (relating to definition of wages) is amended by strik-
- 2 ing out "or" at the end of paragraph (12), by striking out
- 3 the period at the end of paragraph (13) and inserting in
- 4 lieu thereof "; or", and by inserting after paragraph (13)
- 5 the following new paragraph:
- 6 "(14) any payment made by an employer to a sur-
- 7 vivor or the estate of a former employee after the cal-
- 8 endar year in which such employee died."
- 9 (c) The amendments made by this section shall apply
- 10 in the case of any payment made after December 1971.
- 11 COVERAGE FOR VOW-OF-POVERTY MEMBERS OF
- 12 RELIGIOUS ORDERS
- 13 Sec. 129. (a) (1) Section 210(a) (8) (A) of the Social
- 14 Security Act is amended by inserting before the semicolon
- 15 at the end thereof the following: ", except that this sub-
- 16 paragraph shall not apply to service performed by a mem-
- 17 ber of such an order in the exercise of such duties, if an
- 18 election of coverage under section 3121(r) of the Internal
- 19 Revenue Code of 1954 is in effect with respect to such
- order, or with respect to the autonomous subdivision thereof
- 21 to which such member belongs".
- 22 (2) Section 3121(b)(8)(A) of the Internal Revenue
- 23 Code of 1954 (relating to definition of employment) is
- 24 amended by inserting before the semicolon at the end
- thereof the following: ", except that this subparagraph shall

1	not apply to	service	perform	ned $by$	$\boldsymbol{a}$	member	of	such	an
<b>2</b>	order in the	exercise	of such	duties,	if	an election	on	of cor	er-

- 3 age under subsection (r) is in effect with respect to such
- 4 order, or with respect to the autonomous subdivision thereof
- 5 to which such member belongs".
- 6 (b) Section 3121 of such Code (definitions relating to
- 7 Federal Insurance Contributions Act) is amended by adding
- 8 at the end thereof the following new subsection:
- 9 "(r) ELECTION OF COVERAGE BY RELIGIOUS
- 10 ORDERS.—
- "(1) CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION BY ORDER.—A
  religious order whose members are required to take a
  vow of poverty, or any autonomous subdivision of such
  order, may file a certificate (in such form and manner,
  and with such official, as may be prescribed by regula-
- tions under this chapter) electing to have the insurance
- system established by title II of the Social Security Act
- extended to services performed by its members in the
- 19 exercise of duties required by such order or such sub-
- 20 division thereof. Such certificate of election shall pro-
- 21 vide that—
- 22 "(A) such election of coverage by such order
- or subdivision shall be irrevocable;
- 24 "(B) such election shall apply to all current 25 and future members of such order, or in the case of

1	a subdivision thereof to all current and future mem
2	bers of such order who belong to such subdivision;
3	"(C) all services performed by a member of
4	such an order or subdivision in the exercise of duties
5	required by such order or subdivision shall be
6	deemed to have been performed by such member
7	as an employee of such order or subdivision; and
8	"(D) the wages of each member, upon which such
9	order or subdivision shall pay the taxes imposed by sec-
10	tions 3101 and 3111, will be determined as provided in
11	subsection (i) (4).
12	"(2) Definition of member.—For purposes of
13	this subsection, a member of a religious order means
14	any individual who is subject to a vow of poverty as a
<b>1</b> 5	member of such order and who performs tasks usually
16	required (and to the extent usually required) of an ac-
17	tive member of such order and who is not considered re-
18	tired because of old age or total disability.
19	"(3) EFFECTIVE DATE FOR ELECTION.—(A) A
20	certificate of election of coverage shall be in effect, for
21	purposes of subsection (b)(8)(A) and for purposes of
22	section 210(a)(8)(A) of the Social Security Act, for
23	the period beginning with whichever of the following may
24	be designated by the order or subdivision thereof:
25	"(i) the first day of the calendar quarter in
26	which the continues in flad

which the certificate is filed,

1	"(ii) the first day of the calendar quarter suc-
2	ceeding such quarter, or
3	"(iii) the first day of any calendar quarter pre-
4	ceding the calendar quarter in which the certificate is
5	filed, except that such date may not be earlier than
6	the first day of the twentieth calendar quarter preced-
7	ing the quarter in which such certificate is filed.
8	Whenever a date is designated under clause (iii), the
9	election shall apply to services performed before the
10	quarter in which the certificate is filed only if the mem-
11	ber performing such services was a member at the time
12	such services were performed and is living on the first
13	day of the quarter in which such certificate is filed.
14	"(B) If a certificate of election filed pursuant to
15	this subsection is effective for one or more calendar quar-
16	ters prior to the quarter in which such certificate is filed,
17	then—
18	"(i) for purposes of computing interest and for
19	purposes of section 6651 (relating to addition to tax
20	for failure to file tax return), the due date for the re-
21	turn and payment of the tax for such prior calendar
22	quarters resulting from the filing of such certificate
23	shall be the last day of the calendar month follow-
24	ing the calendar quarter in which the certificate is
25	filed; and

1	"(ii) the statutory period for the assessment of
2	such tax shall not expire before the expiration of
3	3 years from such due date.
4	"(4) COORDINATION WITH COVERAGE OF LAY EM-
5	PLOYEES.—Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of
6	this subsection, no certificate of election shall become
7	effective with respect to an order or subdivision thereof,
8	unless—
9	"(A) if at the time the certificate of election is
10	filed a certificate of waiver of exemption under sub-
11	section (k) is in effect with respect to such order or
12	subdivision, such order or subdivision amends such
13	certificate of waiver of exemption (in such form and
14	manner as may be prescribed by regulations made
15	under this chapter) to provide that it may not be
16	revoked, or
17	"(B) if at the time the certificate of election is
18	filed a certificate of waiver of exemption under such
19	subsection is not in effect with respect to such order
20	or subdivision, such order or subdivision files such
21	certificate of waiver of exemption under the provi-
22	sions of such subsection except that such certificate
23	of waiver of exemption cannot become effective at a
24	later date than the certificate of election and such

certificate of waiver of exemption must specify that

1	such certificate of waiver of exemption may not be
2	revoked. The certificate of waiver of exemption re-
3	quired under this subparagraph shall be filed not-
4	withstanding the provisions of subsection (k)(3)."
5	(c)(1) Section 209 of the Social Security Act is
6	amended by adding at the end thereof the following new
7	paragraph:
8	"For purposes of this title, in any case where an in-
9	dividual is a member of a religious order (as defined in sec-
lO	tion 3121(r)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954)
11	performing service in the exercise of duties required by such
12	order, and an election of coverage under section 3121(r)
13	of such Code is in effect with respect to such order or with
14	respect to the autonomous subdivision thereof to which such
15	member belongs, the term 'wages' shall, subject to the pro-
16	visions of subsection (a) of this section, include as such in-
17	dividual's remuneration for such service the fair market value
18	of any board, lodging, clothing, and other perquisites fur-
19	nished to such member by such order or subdivision thereof
20	or by any other person or organization pursuant to an agree
21	ment with such order or subdivision, except that the amoun
22	included as such individual's remuneration under this para
23	graph shall not be less than \$100 a month."
24	(9) Section 2191(i) of the Internal Revenue Code of

1954 (relating to computation of wages in certain cases)

is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new
paragraph:

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

"(4) SERVICE PERFORMED BY CERTAIN MEMBERS OF RELIGIOUS ORDERS.—For purposes of this chapter, in any case where an individual is a member of a religious order (as defined in subsection (r)(2)) performing service in the exercise of duties required by such order, and an election of coverage under subsection (r) is in effect with respect to such order or with respect to the autonomous subdivision thereof to which such member belongs, the term 'wages' shall, subject to the provisions of subsection (a)(1), include as such individual's remuneration for such service the fair market value of any board, lodging, clothing, and other perguisites furnished to such member by such order or subdivision thereof or by any other person or organization pursuant to an agreement with such order or subdivision. except that the amount included as such individual's remuneration under this paragraph shall not be less than \$100 a month."

21 SELF-EMPLOYMENT INCOME OF CERTAIN INDIVIDUALS
22 TEMPORARILY LIVING OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES

SEC. 130. (a) Section 211(a) of the Social Security

Act is amended—

25
(1) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
26
(8);

1	(2) by striking out the period at the end of para-
2	graph (9) and inserting in lieu thereof "; and"; and
3	(3) by inserting after paragraph (9) the following
4	new paragraph:
5	"(10) In the case of an individual who has been
6	a resident of the United States during the entire taxa-
7	ble year, the exclusion from gross income provided by
8	section 911(a)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of
9	1954 shall not apply."
10	(b) Section 1402(a) of the Internal Revenue Code
11	of 1954 (relating to definition of net earnings from self-
12	employment) is amended—
13	(1) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
14	(9);
15	(2) by striking out the period at the end of para-
16	graph (10) and inserting in lieu thereof "; and"; and
17	(3) by inserting after paragraph (10) the follow-
18	ing new paragraph:
19	"(11) in the case of an individual who has been
20	a resident of the United States during the entire taxable
21 22	year, the exclusion from gross income provided by sec-
23	tion 911(a)(2) shall not apply."
24	(c) The amendments made by this section shall apply
	with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31,

1971.

-							
l	COVERAGE	OF	FEDERAL	HOME	LOAN	BANK	<b>EMPLOYEES</b>

- SEC. 131. (a) The provisions of section 210(a)(6) 2
- 3 (B)(ii) of the Social Security Act and section 3121(b)
- (6)(B)(ii) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, inso-4
- far as they relate to service performed in the employ of a 5
- 6 Federal home loan bank, shall be effective—

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

purposes of this paragraph.

7 (1) with respect to all service performed in the 8 employ of a Federal home loan bank on and after the 9 first day of the first calendar quarter which begins on 10

or after the date of the enactment of this Act; and

(2) in the case of individuals who are in the employ of a Federal home loan bank on such first day, with respect to any service performed in the employ of a Federal home loan bank after the last day of the sixth calendar year preceding the year in which this Act is enacted; but this paragraph shall be effective only if an amount equal to the taxes imposed by sections 3101 and 3111 of such Code with respect to the services of all such individuals performed in the employ of Federal home loan banks after the last day of the sixth calendar year preceding the year in which this Act is enacted are paid under the provisions of section 3122 of such Code by July 1, 1972, or by such later date as may be provided in an agreement entered into before such date with the Secretary of the Treasury or his delegate for

1	(b) Subparagraphs (A)(i) and (B) of section 104
2	(i)(2) of the Social Security Amendments of 1956 are
3	repealed.
4	POLICEMEN AND FIREMEN IN IDAHO
5	SEC. 132. Section 218(p)(1) of the Social Security
6	Act is amended by inserting "Idaho," after "Hawaii,".
7	COVERAGE OF CERTAIN HOSPITAL EMPLOYEES IN
8	NEW MEXICO
9	SEC. 133. Notwithstanding any provisions of section 218
10	of the Social Security Act, the Agreement with the State of
11	New Mexico heretofore entered into pursuant to such section
12	may at the option of such State be modified at any time prior
13	to the first day of the fourth month after the month in which
14	this Act is enacted, so as to apply to the services of em-
15	ployees of a hospital which is an integral part of a political
16	subdivision to which an agreement under this section has not
17	been made applicable, as a separate coverage group within
18	the meaning of section 218(b)(5) of such Act, but only if
19	such hospital has prior to 1966 withdrawn from a retire-
20	ment system which had been applicable to the employees of
21	such hospital.
22	COVERAGE OF CERTAIN EMPLOYEES OF THE GOVERNMENT
23	OF GUAM
<b>24</b>	SEC 134 (a) Section 210(a)(7) of the Social Secu-

rity Act is amended by striking out "or" at the end of sub-

1	paragraph (C), by striking out the semicolon at the end of
2	subparagraph (D) and inserting in lieu thereof ", or", and
3	by adding at the end thereof the following new subparagraph:
4	"(E) service performed in the employ of the
5	Government of Guam (or any instrumentality which
6	is wholly owned by such Government) by an em-
7	ployee properly classified as a temporary or in-
8	termittent employee, if such service is not cov-
9	ered by a retirement system established by a law
10	of Guam; except that (i) the provisions of this
11	subparagraph shall not be applicable to services
12	performed by an elected official or a member
13	of the legislature or in a hospital or penal insti-
14	tution by a patient or inmate thereof, and (ii) for
15	purposes of this subparagraph, clauses (i) and (ii)
16	of subparagraph (C) shall apply;".
17	(b) Section 3121(b)(7) of the Internal Revenue Code
18	of 1954 is amended by striking out "or" at the end of
19	subparagraph (B), by striking out the semicolon at the
20	end of subparagraph (C) and inserting in lieu thereof
21	", or", and by adding at the end thereof the following new
22	subparagraph:
23	"(D) service performed in the employ of the
24	Government of Guam (or any instrumentality which

is wholly owned by such Government) by an em-

	353
1	ployee properly classified as a temporary or inter-
2	mittent employee, if such service is not covered by a
3	retirement system established by a law of Guam;
4	except that (i) the provisions of this subparagraph
5	shall not be applicable to services performed by an
6	elected official or a member of the legislature or in a
7	hospital or penal institution by a patient or inmate
8	thereof, and (ii) for purposes of this subparagraph,
9	clauses (i) and (ii) of subparagraph (B) shall
10	apply;".
11	(c) The amendments made by this section shall apply
12	with respect to service performed on and after the first day of
13	the first calendar quarter which begins on or after the date
14	of the enactment of this Act.
15	COVERAGE EXCLUSION OF STUDENTS EMPLOYED BY NON-
16	PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS AUXILIARY TO SCHOOLS,
17	COLLEGES, AND UNIVERSITIES
18	SEC. 135. (a)(1) Section 210(a)(10)(B) of the So-
19	cial Security Act is amended to read as follows:
20	"(B) service performed in the employ of—
21	"(i) a school, college, or university, or
22	"(ii) an organization described in section 509
23	(a)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 if
24	the organization is organized, and at all times there-
25	after is operated, exclusively for the benefit of, to

	perform the functions of, or to carry out the pur-
2	poses of a school, college, or university and is op-
3	erated, supervised, or controlled by or in connection
4	with such school, college, or university, unless it is
5	a school, college, or university of a State or a
6	political subdivision thereof and the services in its
7	employ performed by a student referred to in sec-
8	tion $218(c)(5)$ are covered under the agreement
9	between the Secretary of Health, Education, and
10	Welfare and such State entered into pursuant to
11	section 218;
12	if such service is performed by a student who is enrolled
13	and regularly attending classes at such school, college,
14	or university;".
15	(2) Section 3121(b)(10)(B) of the Internal Revenue
16	Code of 1954 is amended to read as follows:
17	"(B) service performed in the employ of—
18	"(i) a school, college, or university, or
19	"(ii) an organization described in section 509
20	(a)(3) if the organization is organized, and at all
21	times thereafter is operated, exclusively for the benefit
22	of, to perform the functions of, or to carry out the
<b>2</b> 3	purposes of a school, college, or university and is
24	operated, supervised, or controlled by or in connection
<b>25</b>	with such school, college, or university, unless it is

1	a school, college, or university of a State or a polit-
2	ical subdivision thereof and the services performed
3	in its employ by a student referred to in section
4	218(c)(5) of the Social Security Act are covered
5	under the agreement between the Secretary of
6	Health, Education, and Welfare and such State
7	entered into pursuant to section 218 of such Act;
8	if such service is performed by a student who is enrolled
9	and regularly attending classes at such school, college,
10	or university;".
11	(b) The amendments made by subsection (a) shall apply
12	to services performed after December 31, 1971.
13	PENALTY FOR FURNISHING FALSE INFORMATION TO
14	OBTAIN SOCIAL SECURITY ACCOUNT NUMBER
15	SEC. 136. (a) Section 208 of the Social Security Act
16	is amended by adding "or" after the semicolon at the end of
17	subsection (e), and by inserting after subsection (e) the
18	following new subsection:
19	"(f) willfully, knowingly, and with intent to deceive
20	the Secretary as to his true identity (or the true identity of
21	any other person) furnishes or causes to be furnished false
22	information to the Secretary with respect to any information
23	required by the Secretary in connection with the establish-
24	ment and maintenance of the records provided for in section
<b>25</b>	205(c)(2);".

1	(b) The amendments made by subsection (a) shall
2	apply with respect to information furnished to the Secretary
3	after the date of the enactment of this Act.
4	GUARANTEE OF NO DECREASE IN TOTAL FAMILY BENEFITS
5	SEC. 137. (a) Section 203(a) of the Social Security
6	Act (as amended by sections 101(b), 102(a)(2), 103(b),
7	and 110(d) of this Act) is further amended by striking out
8	"or" at the end of paragraph (4), by striking out the period
9	at the end of paragraph (5) and inserting in lieu thereof
10	", or", and by inserting after paragraph (5) the following
11	new paragraph:
12	"(6) notwithstanding any other provision of law,
13	when—
14	"(A) two or more persons are entitled to
15	monthly benefits for a particular month on the basis
16	of the wages and self-employment income of an
17	insured individual and (for such particular month)
18	the provisions of this subsection and section 202(q)
19	are applicable to such monthly benefits, and
20	"(B) such individual's primary insurance
21	amount is increased for the following month under
22	any provision of this title,
23	then the total of monthly benefits for all persons on the
24	basis of such wages and self-employment income for
25	such particular month, as determined under the provi-

sions of this subsection, shall for purposes of determin-1 ing the total of monthly benefits for all persons on the 2 basis of such wages and self-employment income for 3 months subsequent to such particular month be con-4 sidered to have been increased by the smallest amount 5 that would have been required in order to assure that 6 the total of monthly benefits payable on the basis of such 7 wages and self-employment income for any such subse-8 quent month will not be less (after application of the 9 other provisions of this subsection and section 202(q)) 10 than the total of monthly benefits (after the application 11 of the other provisions of this subsection and section 202 12 (q)) payable on the basis of such wages and self-13 employment income for such particular month." 14 (b) In any case in which the provisions of section 1002 15 (b)(2) of the Social Security Amendments of 1969 were 16 applicable with respect to benefits for any month in 1970, 17 the total of monthly benefits as determined under section 18 19 203(a) of the Social Security Act shall, for months after 20 1970, be increased to the amount that would be required in 21 order to assure that the total of such monthly benefits (after the application of section 202(q) of such Act) will not be 22 23 less than the total of monthly benefits that was applicable (after the application of such sections 203(a) and 202(q)) for 24

1	the first month for which the provisions of such section 1002
2	(b) (2) applied.
3	INCREASE OF AMOUNTS IN TRUST FUNDS AVAILABLE TO
4	PAY COSTS OF REHABILITATION SERVICES
5	SEC. 138. The first sentence of section 222(d)(1) of the
6	Social Security Act (as amended by section 113(b)(4) of
7	this Act) is further amended by striking out "except that the
8	total amount so made available pursuant to this subsection in
9	any fiscal year may not exceed 1 percent of the total of the
10	benefits under section 202(d) for children who have attained
11	age 18 and are under a disability" and inserting in lieu
12	thereof the following: "except that the total amount so made
13	available pursuant to this subsection may not exceed—
14	"(i) 1 percent in the fiscal year ending June 30,
15	1971,
16	"(ii) 1.25 percent in the fiscal year ending June 30,
17	1972,
18	"(iii) 1.5 percent in the fiscal year ending June 30,
19	1973, and thereafter,
20	of the total of the benefits under section 202(d) for children
21	who have attained age 18 and are under a disability".
22	ACCEPTANCE OF MONEY GIFTS MADE UNCONDITIONALLY
23	TO SOCIAL SECURITY
24	SEC. 139. (a) The second sentence of section 201(a)

of the Social Security Act is amended by inserting after

- 1 "in addition," the following: "such gifts and bequests as may
- 2 be made as provided in subsection (i)(1), and".
- 3 (b) The second sentence of section 201(b) of such
- 4 Act is amended by inserting after "consist of" the follow-
- 5 ing: "such gifts and bequests as may be made as provided
- 6 in subsection (i)(1), and".
- 7 (c) Section 201 of such Act is further amended by
- 8 adding after subsection (h) the following new subsection:
- 9 "(i)(1) The Managing Trustee of the Federal Old-
- 10 Age and Survivors Insurance Trust Fund, the Federal Dis-
- 11 ability Insurance Trust Fund, the Federal Hospital Insur-
- 12 ance Trust Fund, and the Federal Supplementary Medical
- 13 Insurance Trust Fund is authorized to accept on behalf of
- 14 the United States money gifts and bequests made uncondi-
- 15 tionally to any one or more of such Trust Funds or to the
- 16 Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, or any part
- or officer thereof, for the benefit of any of such Funds or
- any activity financed through such Funds.
- "(2) Any such gift accepted pursuant to the authority
- 20 granted in paragraph (1) of this subsection shall be de-
- 21 posited in—
- 22 "(A) the specific trust fund designated by the donor,
- 23 or
- 24 "(B) if the donor has not so designated, the
- Federal Old-Age and Survivors Insurance Trust Fund."

- 1 (d) The second sentence of section 1817(a) of such
- 2 Act is amended by inserting after "consist of" and before
- 3 "such amounts" the following: "such gifts and bequests as
- 4 may be made as provided in section 201(i)(1), and".
- 5 (e) The second sentence of section 1841(a) of such
- 6 Act is amended by inserting after "consist of" and before
- 7 "such amounts" the following: "such gifts and bequests as
- 8 may be made as provided in section 201(i)(1), and".
- 9 (f) The amendments made by this section shall apply
- 10 with respect to gifts and bequests received after the date of
- 11 enactment of this Act.
- 12 (g) For the purpose of Federal income, estate, and gift
- 13 taxes, any gift or bequest to the Federal Old-Age and Survi-
- 14 vors Insurance Trust Fund, the Federal Disability Insurance
- 15 Trust Fund, the Federal Hospital Insurance Trust Fund,
- 16 or the Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust
- 17 Fund, or to the Department of Health, Education, and
- 18 Welfare, or any part or officer thereof, for the benefit of any
- 19 of such Funds or any activity financed through any of such
- 20 Funds, which is accepted by the Managing Trustee of such
- 21 Trust Funds under the authority of section 201(i) of the
- 22 Social Security Act, shall be considered as a gift or bequest
- 23 to or for the use of the United States and as made for exclu-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> sively public purposes.

1	PAYMENT IN CERTAIN CASES OF DISABILITY INSURANCE
2	BENEFITS WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN PERIODS OF
3	DISABILITY
4	SEC. 140. (a) If an individual would (upon the timely
5	filing of an application for a disability determination under
6	section 216(i) of the Social Security Act and of an appli-
7	cation for disability insurance benefits under section 223
8	of such Act) have been entitled to disability insurance bene-
9	fits under such section 223 for a period which began after
10	1959 and ended prior to 1964, such individual shall, upon
11	filing application for disability insurance benefits under such
12	section 223 with respect to such period not later than 6
13	months after the date of enactment of this section, be entitled,
14	notwithstanding any other provision of title II of the Social
15	Security Act, to receive in a lump sum, as disability insur-
16	ance benefits payable under section 223, an amount equal
17	to the total amounts of disability insurance benefits which
18	would have been payable to him for such period if he had
19	timely filed such an application for a disability determination
20	and such an application for disability insurance benefits with
21	respect to such period; but only if—
22	(1) prior to the date of enactment of this section and
23	after the date of enactment of the Social Security
24	Amendments of 1967, such period was determined

4	(under section 216(1) of the Social Security Act) to
2	be a period of disability as to such individual; and
3	(2) the application giving rise to the determination
4	(under such section 216(i)) that such period is a period
5	of disability as to such individual would not have been
6	accepted as an application for such a determination ex-
7	cept for the provisions of section 216(i)(2)(F).
8	(b) No payment shall be made to any individual by
9	reason of the provisions of subsection (a) except upon the
10	basis of an application filed after the date of enactment of
11	this section.
12	RECOMPUTATION OF BENEFITS BASED ON COMBINED
13	RAILROAD AND SOCIAL SECURITY EARNINGS
14	SEc. 141. (a) Section 215(f) of the Social Security Act
15	is amended—
16	(1) by striking out subparagraph (B) of paragraph
17	(2) and inserting in lieu thereof the following:
18	"(B) in the case of an individual who died in such
19	year, for monthly benefits beginning with benefits for
20	the month in which he died."; and
21	(2) by adding at the end the following new para-
22	graph:
23	"(6) Upon the death after 1967 of an individual en-
24	titled to benefits under section 202(a) or section 223, if
25	any person is entitled to monthly benefits or a lump-sum

1	death payment, on the wages and self-employment income
2	of such individual, the Secretary shall recompute the de-
3	cedent's primary insurance amount, but only if the decedent
4	during his lifetime was paid compensation which was treated
5	under section 205(o) as remuneration for employment."
6	(b) Section 215(d)(2) of such Act is amended by
7	inserting "or (6)" before the period at the end thereof.
8	CHANGES IN TAX SCHEDULES
9	SEC. 142. (a)(1) Section 1401(a) of the Internal
10	Revenue Code of 1954 (relating to rate of tax on self-em-
11	ployment income for purposes of old-age, survivors, and dis-
12	ability insurance) is amended—
13	(A) by striking out "and before January 1, 1973"
14	in paragraph (3) and inserting in lieu thereof "and
15	before January 1, 1972";
16	(B) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
17	(3); and
18	(C) by striking out paragraph (4) and inserting
19	in lieu thereof the following:
20	"(4) in the case of any taxable year beginning after
21	December 31, 1971, and before January 1, 1975, the
22	tax shall be equal to 6.3 percent of the amount of the
23	self-employment income for such taxable year; and
24	"(5) in the case of any taxable year beginning

after December 31, 1974, the tax shall be equal to 7.0

1	percent of the amount of the self-employment income for
2	such taxable year."
3	(2) Section 3101(a) of such Code (relating to rate of
4	tax on employees for purposes of old-age, survivors, and dis-
5	ability insurance) is amended—
6	(A) by striking out "the calendar years 1971 and
7	1972" in paragraph (3) and inserting in lieu thereof
8	"the calendar year 1971"; and
9	(B) by striking out paragraphs (4) and (5) and
10	inserting in lieu thereof the following:
11	"(4) with respect to wages received during the
<b>12</b>	calendar years 1972, 1973, and 1974, the rate shall
13	be 4.2 percent;
14	"(5) with respect to wages received during the
15	calendar years 1975 and 1976, the rate shall be 5.0
16	percent; and
17	"(6) with respect to wages received after Decem-
18	ber 31, 1976, the rate shall be 6.1 percent."
19	(3) Section 3111(a) of such Code (relating to rate of
20	tax on employers for purposes of old-age, survivors, and
21	disability insurance) is amended—
22	(A) by striking out "the calendar years 1971 and
23	1972" in paragraph (3) and inserting in lieu thereof
24	"the calendar year 1971"; and

1	(B) by striking out paragraphs (4) and (5) and
2	inserting in lieu thereof the following:
3	"(4) with respect to wages paid during the calen-
4	dar years 1972, 1973, and 1974, the rate shall be 4.2
5	percent;
6	"(5) with respect to wages paid during the calen-
7	dar years 1975 and 1976, the rate shall be 5.0 percent;
8	and
9	"(6) with respect to wages paid after December 31,
10	1976, the rate shall be 6.1 percent."
11	(b)(1) Section 1401(b) of such Code (relating to rate
12	of tax on self-employment income for purposes of hospital
13	insurance) is amended—
14	(A) by striking out "and before January 1, 1973"
15	in paragraph (1) and inserting in lieu thereof "and
16	before January 1, 1972"; and
17	(B) by striking out paragraphs (2) through (5)
18	and inserting in lieu thereof the following:
19	"(2) in the case of any taxable year beginning after
20	December 31, 1971, and before January 1, 1977, the
21	tax shall be equal to 1.2 percent of the amount of the
22	self-employment income for such taxable year; and
23	"(3) in the case of any taxable year beginning
24	after December 31, 1976, the tax shall be equal to 1.3

.1	percent of the amount of the self-employment income for
2	such taxable year."
3	(2) Section 3101(b) of such Code (relating to rate of
4	tax on employees for purposes of hospital insurance) is
5	amended—
6	(A) by striking out "1971, and 1972" in para-
7	graph (1) and inserting in lieu thereof "and 1971";
8	and
9	(B) by striking out paragraphs (2) through (5)
10	and inserting in lieu thereof the following:
11	"(2) with respect to wages received during the
12	calendar years 1972, 1973, 1974, 1975, and 1976, the
13	rate shall be 1.2 percent; and
<b>14</b>	"(3) with respect to wages received after Decem-
15	ber 31, 1976, the rate shall be 1.3 percent."
16	(3) Section 3111(b) of such Code (relating to rate
17	of tax on employers for purposes of hospital insurance) is
18	amended—
19	(A) by striking out "1971, and 1972" in paragraph
20	(1) and inserting in lieu thereof "and 1971"; and
21	(B) by striking out paragraphs (2) through (5)
22	and inserting in lieu thereof the following:
23	"(2) with respect to wages paid during the calendar
24	years 1972, 1973, 1974, 1975, and 1976, the rate shall
25	be 1.2 percent; and

1	"(3) with respect to wages paid after December 31,
<b>2</b>	1976, the rate shall be 1.3 percent."
3	(c) The amendments made by subsections (a)(1) and
4	(b)(1) shall apply only with respect to taxable years begin-
5	ning after December 31, 1971. The remaining amendments
6	made by this section shall apply only with respect to remu-
7	neration paid after December 31, 1971.
8	ALLOCATION TO DISABILITY INSURANCE TRUST FUND
9	Sec. 143. (a) Section 201(b)(1) of the Social Se-
10	curity Act is amended—
11	(1) by striking out "and (D)" and inserting in
12	lieu thereof " $(D)$ ", and
13	(2) by striking out "1969, and so reported" and
14	inserting in lieu thereof "1969, and before January 1,
15	1972, and so reported, (E) 0.90 of 1 per centum of the
16	wages (as so defined) paid after December 31, 1971,
17	and before January 1, 1975, and so reported, (F) 1.05
18	per centum of the wages (as so defined) paid after De-
19	cember 31, 1974, and before January 1, 1977, and so
20	reported, and (G) 1.25 per centum of the wages (as
21	so defined) paid after December 31, 1976, and so re-
22	ported,".
23	(b) Section 201(b)(2) of such Act is amended—
24	(1) by striking out "and (D)" and inserting in lieu

thereof "(D)", and

1	(2) by striking out "beginning after December 31,
2	1969," and inserting in lieu thereof "beginning after De-
3	cember 31, 1969, and before January 1, 1972, (E)
4	0.675 of 1 per centum of the amount of self-employment
5	income (as so defined) so reported for any taxable year
6	beginning after December 31, 1971, and before Janu-
7	ary 1, 1975, and (F) 0.735 of 1 per centum of the
8	amount of self-employment income (as so defined) so re-
9	ported for any taxable year beginning after December
10	31, 1974,".
11	TITLE II—PROVISIONS RELATING TO MEDI-
12	CARE, MEDICAID, AND MATERNAL AND
13	CHILD HEALTH
14	PART A—ELIGIBILITY AND PAYMENT FOR BENEFITS
15	COVERAGE FOR DISABILITY BENEFICIARIES UNDER
16	MEDICARE
17	Sec. 201. (a)(1)(A) The heading of title XVIII of
18	the Social Security Act is amended to read as follows:
19	"TITLE XVIII—HEALTH INSURANCE FOR THE
20	AGED AND DISABLED".
21	(B) The heading of part A of such title is amended to
22	read as follows:
23	"PART A-HOSPITAL INSURANCE BENEFITS FOR THE
24	AGED AND DISABLED".
25	(C) The heading of part B of such title is amended to

read as follows:

Ĺ	"PART B—SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE
2	BENEFITS FOR THE AGED AND DISABLED".
3	(2) The text of section 1811 of such Act is amended
4	to read as follows:
5	"Sec. 1811. The insurance program for which entitle-
6	ment is established by section 226 provides basic protection
7	against the costs of hospital and related posthospital services
8	in accordance with this part for (1) individuals who are age
9	65 or over and are entitled to retirement benefits under title
0	II of this Act or under the railroad retirement system and (2)
l1	individuals under age 65 who have been entitled for not less
12	than 24 months to benefits under title II of this Act or under
13	the railroad retirement system on the basis of a disability."
14	(3) Section 1831 of such Act is amended—
15	(A) by inserting "AND THE DISABLED" after
16	"AGED" in the heading, and
17	(B) by striking out "individuals 65 years of age or
18	over" and inserting in lieu thereof "aged and disabled
19	individuals".
20	(b)(1) Section 226(a) of such Act is amended to read
21	as follows:
22	"(a)(1) Every individual who—
23	"(A) has attained age 65, and
24	"(B) is entitled to monthly insurance benefits under
25	section 202 or is a qualified railroad retirement benefi-
26	ciary,

- 1 shall be entitled to hospital insurance benefits under part A
- 2 of title XVIII for each month for which he meets the condi-
- 3 tion specified in subparagraph (B), beginning with the
- 4 first month after June 1966 for which he meets the condi-
- 5 tions specified in subparagraphs (A) and (B).
- 6 "(2) Every individual who—
- 7 "(A) has not attained age 65, but
- 8 "(B)(i) has been entitled to disability insurance
- 9 benefits under section 223 for not less than 24 con-
- secutive months, or (ii) has been entitled for not less
- than 24 consecutive months to child's insurance benefits
- under section 202(d) by reason of a disability (as
- defined in section 223(d)) which began before he at-
- tained age 22, or (iii) has been entitled for not less than
- 15 24 consecutive months to widow's insurance benefits
- under section 202(e) or widower's insurance benefits
- 17 under section 202(f) by reason of a disability (as
- defined in section 223(d)), or (iv) has been for not
- 19 less than 24 consecutive months a disabled qualified
- 20 railroad retirement beneficiary, within the meaning of
- section 22 of the Railroad Retirement Act of 1937,
- 22 shall be entitled to hospital insurance benefits under part A
- 23 of title XVIII for each month beginning with the later of
- 24 (I) July 1972 or (II) the twenty-fifth consecutive month of

- 1 his entitlement described in subparagraph (B), and ending
- 2 with the month in which his entitlement described in subpara-
- 3 graph (B) ceases or, if earlier, with the month before the
- 4 month in which he attains age 65."
- 5 (2) Section 226(b) of such Act is amended by striking
- 6 out "occurred after June 30, 1966, or on or after the first
- 7 day of the month in which he attains age 65, whichever is
- 8 later" and inserting in lieu thereof "occurred (i) after
- 9 June 30, 1966, or on or after the first day of the month in
- 10 which he attains age 65, whichever is later, or (ii) if he
- 11 was entitled to hospital insurance benefits pursuant to para-
- 12 graph (2) of subsection (a), at a time when he was so
- 13 entitled".
- 14 (3) Section 226(b)(2) of such Act is amended by
- 15 striking out "an individual shall be deemed entitled to month-
- 16 ly insurance benefits under section 202," and inserting in
- 17 lieu thereof "an individual shall be deemed entitled to month-
- 18 ly insurance benefits under section 202 or section 223,".
- 19 (4) Section 226(c) of such Act is amended by inserting
- 20 "or section 22" after "section 21" wherever it appears.
- 21 (5) Section 226 of such Act is further amended by
- 22 redesignating subsection (d) as subsection (e), and by in-
- 23 serting after subsection (c) the following new subsection:

```
"(d) (1) For purposes of determining entitlement to hos-
1
\mathbf{2}
   pital insurance benefits under subsection (a)(2) in the case
3
    of widows and widowers described in subparagraph (B)
4
    (iii) thereof—
5
            "(A) the term 'age 60' in sections 202(e)(1)(B)
6
        (ii), 202(e)(5), 202(f)(1)(B)(ii), and 202(f)
7
        (6) shall be deemed to read 'age 65'; and
8
             "(B) the phrase 'before she attained age 60' in the
 9
        matter following subparagraph (F) of section 202(e)
10
        (1) shall be deemed to read 'based on a disability'.
11
        "(2) For purposes of determining entitlement to hospital
12
    insurance benefits under subsection (a)(2) in the case of
13
    an individual under age 65 who is entitled to old-age insur-
14
    ance benefits, and who was entitled to widow's insurance
15
    benefits or widower's insurance benefits based on disability
16
    for the month before the first month in which such individual
17
    was so entitled to old-age insurance benefits (but ceased to
18
    be entitled to such widow's or widower's insurance benefits
19
    upon becoming entitled to such old-age insurance benefits),
20
    such individual shall be deemed to have continued to be en-
21
    titled to such widow's insurance benefits or widower's insur-
22
    ance benefits for and after such first month."
23
         (c)(1) Section 1836 of such Act is amended to read
24
```

as follows:

1	"ELIGIBLE INDIVIDUALS
2	"Sec. 1836. Every individual who—
3	"(1) is entitled to hospital insurance benefits under
4	part A, or
5	"(2) has attained age 65 and is a resident of the
6	United States, and is either (A) a citizen or (B) an
7	alien lawfully admitted for permanent residence who
8	has resided in the United States continuously during the
9	5 years immediately preceding the month in which he
10	applies for enrollment under this part,
11	is eligible to enroll in the insurance program established by
12	this part."
13	(2)(A) The first sentence of section 1837(c) of such
14	Act is amended by striking out "paragraphs (1) and (2)"
15	and inserting in lieu thereof "paragraph (1) or (2)".
16	(B) The second sentence of section 1837(c) of such
17	Act is amended to read as follows: "For purposes of this
18	subsection and subsection (d), an individual who has at-
19	tained age 65 and who satisfies paragraph (1) of section
20	1836 but not paragraph (2) of such section shall be treated
21	as satisfying such paragraph (1) on the first day on which
22	he is (or on filing application would have been) entitled
23	to hospital insurance benefits under part A."

- 1 (C) The first sentence of 1837(d) of such Act is
- 2 amended by striking out "paragraphs (1) and (2)" and
- 3 inserting in lieu thereof "paragraph (1) or (2)".
- 4 (3)(A) Section 1838(a) of such Act is amended by
- 5 striking out "July 1, 1966" in paragraph (1) and insert-
- 6 ing in lieu thereof "July 1, 1966 or (in the case of a dis-
- 7 abled individual who has not attained age 65) July 1, 1972".
- 8 (B) Section 1838(a) of such Act is further amended—
- 9 (i) by striking out "paragraphs (1) and (2)" in
- 10 paragraph (2)(A) and inserting in lieu thereof "para-
- 11 graph (1) or (2)"; and
- 12 (ii) by striking out "such paragraphs" in subpara-
- graphs (B), (C), and (D) and inserting in lieu thereof
- 14 "such paragraph".
- 15 (C) Section 1838 of such Act is further amended by
- 16 redesignating subsection (c) as subsection (d), and by in-
- 17 serting after subsection (b) the following new subsection:
- 18 "(c) In the case of an individual satisfying paragraph
- 19 (1) of section 1836 whose entitlement to hospital insurance
- 20 benefits under part A is based on a disability rather than
- 21 on his having attained the age of 65, his coverage period
- 22 (and his enrollment under this part) shall be terminated as
- 23 of the close of the last month for which he is entitled to hos-
- 24 pital insurance benefits."
- 25 (4) Section 1839(c) of such Act is amended—

1	(A) by inserting "(in the same continuous period
2	of eligibility)" after "for each full 12 months"; and
3	(B) by adding at the end thereof the following new

4

5

6

7

8

- sentence: "Any increase in an individual's monthly premium under the first sentence of this subsection with respect to a particular continuous period of eligibility shall not be applicable with respect to any other continuous period of eligibility which such individual may have."
- 10 (5) Section 1839 of such Act is further amended by
  11 adding at the end thereof the following new subsection:
- "(e) For purposes of subsection (c) (and section 1837 12 (g)(1)), an individual's 'continuous period of eligibility' is 13 the period beginning with the first day on which he is eligible 14 to enroll under section 1836 and ending with his death; except 15 that any period during all of which an individual satisfied 16 paragraph (1) of section 1836 and which terminated in or 17 before the month preceding the month in which he attained 18 age 65 shall be a separate 'continuous period of eligibility' 19 with respect to such individual (and each such period which 20 21 terminates shall be deemed not to have existed for purposes of subsequently applying this section)." 22
- 23 (6)(A) Section 1840(a)(1) of such Act is amended 24 by striking out "section 202" and inserting in lieu thereof 25 "section 202 or 223".

1	(B) Section 1840(a)(2) of such Act is amended by
2	striking out "section 202" and inserting in lieu thereof
3	"section 202 or 223".
4	(7) Section 1875(a) of such Act is amended by strik-
5	ing out "aged" and inserting in lieu thereof "aged and
6	the disabled".
7	(d) The Railroad Retirement Act of 1937 is amended
8	by adding after section 21 the following new section:
9	"HOSPITAL INSURANCE BENEFITS FOR THE DISABLED
0	"Sec. 22. Individuals under age 65—
1	"(1) who have been entitled to annuities for not less
12	than 24 consecutive months during each of which the first
13	proviso of section 3(e) could have applied on the basis
14	of an application which has been filed under paragraph
15	4 or 5 of section 2(a), and are currently entitled to such
16	annuities, or who are entitled to annuities under para-
17	graph 2 or 3 of section 2(a) and could have been paid
18	annuities for not less than 24 consecutive months under
19	section 223 of the Social Security Act if their service as
20	employees were included in the term 'employment' as de-
21	fined in that Act, or
22	"(2) who have been entitled to unnuities under sec
23	tion 5(a) on the basis of disability, or could have been so
24	entitled had they not been entitled on the basis of age of

had they not been entitled under section 5(b) on the basis

1 of having the custody of children, for not less than 24 consecutive months during each of which the first proviso 2 of section 3(e) could have been applied on the basis of 3 disability if an application for disability benefits had been 4 5 filed, or 6 "(3) who have been entitled to annuities for not less than 24 consecutive months under section 5(c) on 7 the basis of a disability (within the meaning of section 8 5(l)(1)(ii)) or who could have been includible as dis-9 abled children for not less than 24 consecutive months in 10 the computation of an annuity under the first proviso in 11 12 section 3(e) and could currently be includible in such a 13 computation, 14 shall be certified by the Board in the same manner, for the **1**5 same purposes, and subject to the same conditions, restric-16 tions, and other provisions as individuals specifically de-17 scribed in section 21, and also subject to the same conditions, 18 restrictions, and other provisions as are disability benefici-19 aries under title II of the Social Security Act in connection 20 with their eligibility for hospital insurance benefits under part 21A of title XVIII of such Act and their eligibility to enroll 22 under part B of such title XVIII; and for the purposes of 23 this Act and title XVIII of the Social Security Act, individ-24 uals certified as provided in this section shall be considered 25

individuals described in and certified under such section 21.

1	Notwithstanding the other provisions of this section it shall
2	not apply to any individual who could not be taken into
3	account on the basis of disability in calculating the annuity
4	under the first proviso of section 3(e) without regard to the
5	second paragraph of such section."
6	HOSPITAL INSURANCE BENEFITS FOR UNINSURED INDI-
7	VIDUALS NOT ELIGIBLE UNDER TRANSITIONAL PRO-
8	VISION
9	SEC. 202. Title XVIII of the Social Security Act is
10	amended by adding after section 1817 the following new
11	section:
12	"HOSPITAL INSURANCE BENEFITS FOR UNINSURED INDI-
13	VIDUALS NOT OTHERWISE ELIGIBLE
14	"SEc. 1818. (a) Every individual who—
15	"(1) has attained the age of 65,
16	"(2) is a resident of the United States, and is
17	either (A) a citizen or (B) an alien lawfully admitted
18	for permanent residence who has resided in the United
19	States continuously during the 5 years immediately
20	preceding the month in which he applies for enrollment
21	under this section, and
22	"(3) is not otherwise entitled to benefits under this
<b>2</b> 3	part,
24	shall be eligible to enroll in the insurance program estab-
<b>25</b>	high ad her this mant

lished by this part.

$oldsymbol{1} \qquad ``(b$	) An	individual	may	enroll	under	this	section	only
----------------------------	------	------------	-----	--------	-------	------	---------	------

- 2 in such manner and form as may be prescribed in regula-
- 3 tions, and only during an enrollment period prescribed in
- 4 or under this section.
- 5 "(c) The provisions of section 1837, section 1838, sub-
- $^{6}$  section (c) of section 1839, and subsections (f) and (h) of
- 7 section 1840 shall apply to persons authorized to enroll under
- 8 this section except that—

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

9 "(1) individuals who meet the conditions of sub10 section (a) on or before the last day of the seventh
11 month after the month in which this section is enacted
12 may enroll during an initial general enrollment period
13 which shall begin on the first day of the second month
14 which begins after the date on which this section is
15 enacted and shall end on the last day of the tenth month

after the month in which this Act is enacted;

- "(2) in the case of an individual who first meets the conditions of eligibility under this section on or after the first day of the eighth month after the month in which this section is enacted, the initial enrollment period shall begin on the first day of the third month before the month in which he first becomes eligible and shall end 7 months later;
- "(3) in the case of an individual who enrolls pur-

1	suant to paragraph (1) of this subsection, entitlemen
2	to benefits shall begin on—
3	"(A) the first day of the second month after
4	the month in which he enrolls,
5	"(B) January 1, 1972, or
6	"(C) the first day of the first month in which
7	he meets the requirements of subsection (a),
8	whichever is the latest;
9	"(4) termination of coverage under this section by
10	the filing of notice that the individual no longer wishes
11	to participate in the hospital insurance program shall take
12	effect at the close of the month following the month in
13	which such notice is filed; and
14	"(5) an individual's entitlement under this section
15	shall terminate with the month before the first month in
16	which he becomes eligible for hospital insurance benefits
17	under section 226 of this Act or section 103 of the Social
18	Security Amendments of 1965; and upon such termina-
19	tion, such individual shall be deemed, solely for purposes
20	of hospital insurance entitlement, to have filed in such first
21	month the application required to establish such entitle-
22	ment.
23	"(d)(1) The monthly premium of each individual
24 <sub>.</sub> 25	for each month in his coverage period before July 1972 shall
40	ha \$21

1	"(2) The Secretary shall, during December of 1971
2	and of each year thereafter, determine and promulgate the
3	dollar amount (whether or not such dollar amount was ap-
4	plicable for premiums for any prior month) which shall be
5	applicable for premiums for months occurring in the 12-
6	month period commencing July 1 of the next year. Such
7	amount shall be equal to \$31, multiplied by the ratio of
8	(A) the inpatient hospital deductible for such next year,
9	as promulgated under section 1813(b)(2), to (B) such
10	deductible promulgated for 1971. Any amount determined
11	under the preceding sentence which is not a multiple of \$1
12	shall be rounded to the nearest multiple of \$1.
13	"(e) Payment of the monthly premiums on behalf of
14	any individual who meets the conditions of subsection (a)
<b>1</b> 5	may be made by any public or private agency or organiza-
16	tion under a contract or other arrangement entered into be-
17	tween it and the Secretary if the Secretary determines that
18	payment of such premiums under such contract or arrange-
19	ment is administratively feasible.
20	"(f) Amounts paid to the Secretary for coverage under
21	this section shall be deposited in the Treasury to the credit
22	of the Federal Hospital Insurance Trust Fund."
23	AMOUNT OF SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE
<b>24</b>	DREWITT

**PREMIUM** 

SEC. 203. (a) Section 1839(b)(1) of the Social Secu-

- 1 rity Act is amended by inserting "and before July 1, 1972,"
- 2 after "1967".
- 3 (b) Section 1839(b)(2) of such Act is amended by
- 4 striking out "thereafter" and inserting in lieu thereof "end-
- 5 ing on or before December 31, 1970".
- 6 (c) Section 1839 of such Act (as amended by section
- 7 201(c) (4) and (5) of this Act) is further amended by
- 8 redesignating subsections (c), (d), and (e) as subsections
- <sup>9</sup> (d), (e), and (f), respectively, and by inserting after sub-
- 10 section (b) the following new subsection:
- "(c)(1) The Secretary shall, during December of 1971
- 12 and of each year thereafter, determine the monthly actuarial
- 13 rate for enrollees age 65 and over which shall be applicable
- 14 for the 12-month period commencing July 1 in the suc-
- 15 ceeding year. Such actuarial rate shall be the amount the
- 16 Secretary estimates to be necessary so that the aggregate
- amount for such 12-month period with respect to those en-
- 18 rollees age 65 and over will equal one-half of the total of the
- 19 benefits and administrative costs which he estimates will be
- 20 payable from the Federal Supplementary Medical Insur-
- 21 ance Trust Fund for services performed and related admin-
- 22 istrative costs incurred in such 12-month period. In calcu-
- <sup>23</sup> lating the mouthly actuarial rate, the Secretary shall include
- <sup>24</sup> an appropriate amount for a contingency margin.
- "(2) The monthly premium of each individual enrolled

- 1 under this part for each month after June 1972 shall be
- 2 the amount determined under paragraph (3).
- 3 "(3) The Secretary shall, during December of 1971
- 4 and of each year thereafter, determine and promulgate the
- 5 monthly premium applicable for the individuals enrolled
- 6 under this part for the 12-month period commencing July 1
- 7 in the succeeding year. The monthly premium shall be equal
- 8 to the smaller of—
- 9 "(A) the monthly actuarial rate for enrollees age
- 10 65 and over, determined according to paragraph (1)
- of this subsection, for that 12-month period, or
- "(B) the monthly premium rate most recently pro-
- mulgated by the Secretary under this paragraph multi-
- plied by the ratio of (i) the amount in column IV of the
- table which as of June 1 next following such deter-
- mination appears (or is deemed to appear) in section
- 215(a) on the line which includes the figure '750' in
- column III of such table to (ii) the amount in column
- 19 IV of the table which appeared (or was deemed to
- appear) in section 215(a) on the line which included
- the figure '750' in column III as of June 1 of the year
- in which such determination is made.
- Whenever the Secretary promulgates the dollar amount
- 24 which shall be applicable as the monthly premium for any
- period, he shall, at the time such promulgation is announced,

- 1 issue a public statement setting forth the actuarial assump-
- 2 tions and bases employed by him in arriving at the amount
- 3 of an adequate actuarial rate for enrollees age 65 and over
- 4 as provided in subparagraph (A) and the derivation of the
- 5 dollar amounts specified in paragraph (3).
- 6 "(4) The Secretary shall also, during December of 1971
- 7 and of each year thereafter, determine the monthly actuarial
- 8 rate for disabled enrollees under age 65 which shall be appli-
- 9 cable for the 12-month period commencing July 1 in the suc-
- 10 ceeding year. Such actuarial rate shall be the amount the
- 11 Secretary estimates to be necessary so that the aggregate
- 12 amount for such 12-month period will respect to disabled en-
- 13 rollees under age 65 will equal one-half of the total of the
- 14 benefits and administrative costs which he estimates will be
- 15 incurred by the Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance
- 16 Trust Fund for such 12-month period with respect to such
- 17 enrollees. In calculating the monthly actuarial rate under
- 18 this paragraph, the Secretary shall include an appropriate
- 19 amount for a contingency margin."
- (d)(1) Section 1839(d) of such Act, as redesignated
- 21 by subsection (c) of this section, is amended by inserting "or
- (c)" after "subsection (b)".
- 23 (2) Section 1839(f) of such Act, as redesignated by
- 24 subsection (c) of this section, is amended by striking out
- 25 "subsection (c)" and inserting in lieu thereof "subsection
- $^{26}$  (d)".

1	(e) Effective with respect to months after June
2	1972, section 1844(a)(1) of such Act is amended to read
3	$as\ follows:$
4	"(1)(A) a Government contribution equal to the
5	aggregate premiums payable for enrollees age 65 and
6	over under this part and deposited in the Trust Fund,
7	multiplied by the ratio of—
8	"(i) twice the dollar amount of an actuarially
9	adequate rate per enrollee age 65 and over as deter-
10	mined under section 1839(c)(1) for the month in
11	which such aggregate premiums are deposited in the
12	Trust Fund, minus the dollar amount of the pre-
13	mium per enrollee for such month, to
14	"(ii) the dollar amount of the premium per
15	enrollee for such month, plus
16	"(B) a Government contribution equal to the ag-
17	gregate premiums payable for enrollees under age 65
18	under this part and deposited in the Trust Fund, multi-
19	plied by the ratio of—
20	"(i) twice the dollar amount of an actuarially
21	adequate rate per enrollee under age 65 as deter-
22	mined under section 1839(c)(4) for the month in
23	which such aggregate premiums are deposited in the
24	Trust I and, minus into action amount of the pro-
25	mium per enrollee for such month, to

1	"(ii) the dollar amount of the premium per
2	enrollee for such month."
3	CHANGE IN SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE
4	DEDUCTIBLE,
5	SEC. 204. (a) Section 1833(b) of the Social Security
6	Act is amended by striking out "shall be reduced by a de-
7	ductible of \$50" and inserting in lieu thereof "shall be
8	reduced by a deductible of \$60".
9	(b) Section 1835(c) of such Act is amended by strik-
10	ing out "but only if such charges for such services do not
11	exceed \$50" and inserting in lieu thereof "but only if such
12	charges for such services do not exceed the applicable sup-
13	plementary medical insurance deductible".
14	(c) The amendments made by this section shall be
<b>1</b> 5	effective with respect to calendar years after 1971 (except
16	that, for purposes of applying clause (1) of the first sentence
17	of section 1833(b) of the Social Security Act, such amend-
18	ments shall be deemed to have taken effect on January 1,
19	1971).
20	INCREASE IN LIFETIME RESERVE DAYS AND CHANGE IN
21	HOSPITAL INSURANCE COINSURANCE AMOUNT UNDER
22	MEDICARE
23	SEC. 205. (a)(1) Section 1812(a)(1) of the Social
24	Security Act is amended by striking out "up to 150 days"
25	and inserting in lieu thereof "up to 210 days".

1	(2) Section 1812(b)(1) of such Act is amended by
2	striking out "for 150 days" and inserting in lieu thereof
3	"for 210 days".
4	(b) Section 1813(a)(1) of such Act is amended—
5	(1) by redesignating subparagraphs (A) and (B)
6	as subparagraphs (B) and (C), respectively; and
7	(2) by inserting after "a coinsurance amount equal
8	to—" the following new subparagraph:
9	"(A) one-eighth of the inpatient hospital de-
10	ductible for each day (before the 61st day) on which
11	such individual is furnished such services during
12	such spell of illness after such services have been
13	furnished to him for 30 days during such spell;".
14	(c) The amendments made by this section shall be effec-
15	tive with respect to inpatient hospital services furnished dur-
16	ing inpatient hospital stays beginning after December 31,
17	1971.
18	AUTOMATIC ENROLLMENT FOR SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL
19	INSURANCE
20	SEC. 206. (a) Section 1837 of the Social Security
21	Act is amended by adding at the end thereof the following
22	new subsections:
23	"(f) Any individual—
24	"(1) who is eligible under section 1836 to enroll
25	in the medical insurance program by reason of entitlement

1	to hospital insurance benefits as described in paragraph
2	(1) of such section, and
3	"(2) whose initial enrollment period under subsec-
4	tion (d) begins on or after the first day of the second
5	month following the month in which this subsection is
6	enacted, or October 1, 1971, whichever is later,
7	shall be deemed to have enrolled in the medical insurance
8	program established by this part.
9	"(g) All of the provisions of this section shall apply
10	to individuals satisfying subsection (f), except that—
11	"(1) in the case of an individual who satisfies sub-
12	section (f) by reason of entitlement to disability insurance
13	benefits described in section 226(a)(2)(B), his initial
14	enrollment period shall begin on the first day of the later
15	of (A) April 1972 or (B) the third month before the
16	25th consecutive month of such entitlement, and shall
17	reoccur with each continuous period of eligibility (as
18	defined in section 1839(e)) and upon attainment of
19	age 65;
20	"(2)(A) in the case of an individual who is en-
21	titled to monthly benefits under section 202 or 223 on
22	the first day of his initial enrollment period or becomes
23	entitled to monthly benefits under section 202 during the
24	first 3 months of such period, his enrollment shall be

deemed to have occurred in the third month of his initial
enrollment period, and

"(B) in the case of an individual who is not entitled to benefits under section 202 on the first day of his initial enrollment period and does not become so entitled during the first 3 months of such period, his enrollment shall be deemed to have occurred in the month in which he files the application establishing his entitlement to hospital insurance benefits provided such filing occurs during the last 4 months of his initial enrollment period; and

"(3) in the case of an individual who would otherwise satisfy subsection (f) but does not establish his entitlement to hospital insurance benefits until after the last day of his initial enrollment period (as defined in subsection (d) of this section), his enrollment shall be deemed to have occurred on the first day of the earlier of the then current or immediately succeeding general enrollment period (as defined in subsection (e) of this section)."

## (b) Section 1838(a) of such Act is amended—

(1) by striking out the period at the end of subsection (a) and by inserting in lieu thereof "; or"; and

1	(2) by adding at the end of subsection (a) the
2	following new paragraph:
3	"(3)(A) in the case of an individual who is
4	deemed to have enrolled on or before the last day
5	of the third month of his initial enrollment period, the
6	first day of the month in which he first meets the applica-
7	ble requirements of section 1836 or January 1, 1972,
8	whichever is later, or
9	"(B) in the case of an individual who is deemed
10	to have enrolled on or after the first day of the fourth
11	month of his initial enrollment period, as prescribed
12	under subparagraphs (B), (C), (D), and (E) of
13	paragraph (2) of this subsection."
14	(c) Section 1838(b) of such Act (as amended by sec-
15	tion 257(a) of this Act) is further amended by adding at
16	the end thereof the following new paragraph:
17	"Where an individual who is deemed to have enrolled
18	for medical insurance pursuant to section 1837(f) files a
19	notice before the first day of the month in which his coverage
20	period begins advising that he does not wish to be so enrolled,
21	the termination of the coverage period resulting from such
22	deemed enrollment shall take effect with the first day of the
23	month the coverage would have been effective and such notice
24	shall not be considered a disenrollment for the purposes of

section 1837 (b). Where an individual who is deemed enrolled

- 1 for medical insurance benefits pursuant to section 1837(f)
- 2 files a notice requesting termination of his deemed coverage
- 3 in or after the month in which such coverage becomes effec-
- 4 tive, the termination of such coverage shall take effect at the
- 5 close of the calendar quarter following the calendar quarter
- 6 in which the notice is filed."
- 7 ESTABLISHMENT OF INCENTIVES FOR STATES TO EMPHA-
- 8 SIZE COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH CARE UNDER MEDICAID
- 9 SEC. 207. (a)(1) Section 1903 of the Social Security
- 10 Act is amended by adding at the end thereof the following
- 11 new subsections:
- 12 "(g) The amount determined under subsection (a)(1)
- 13 for any State shall be adjusted as follows:
- "(1) with respect to amounts paid for services fur-
- nished under the State plan after June 30, 1971, pur-
- suant to a contract with (A) a health maintenance
- organization as defined in section 1876, or (B) a com-
- munity health center or other similar facility providing
- comprehensive health care, the Federal medical assistance
- percentage shall be increased by 25 per centum thereof,
- 21 except that the Federal medical assistance percentage as
- so increased may not exceed 95 per centum, and except
- that such percentage shall be so increased only if such
- contract provides that payments for services provided
- under the contract will not exceed the payment levels for

similar services provided in the same geographical area
and rendered under the plan approved under section

1902: and

"(2) with respect to amounts paid for the following services furnished under the State plan after June 30, 1971 (other than services furnished pursuant to a contract with a health maintenance organization as defined in section 1876), the Federal medical assistance percentage shall be decreased as follows:

"(A) after an individual has received inpatient hospital services (including services furnished in an institution for tuberculosis) on sixty days (whether or not such days are consecutive) during any fiscal year (which for purposes of this section means the four calendar quarters ending with June 30), the Federal medical assistance percentage with respect to amounts paid for any such services furnished thereafter to such individual in the same fiscal year shall be decreased by  $33\frac{1}{3}$  per centum thereof;

"(B) after an individual has received care as an inpatient in a skilled nursing home on sixty days (whether or not such days are consecutive) during any fiscal year, the Federal medical assistance percentage with respect to amounts paid for any such care furnished thereafter to such individual in the

same fiscal year shall be decreased by  $33\frac{1}{3}$  per centum thereof unless the State agency responsible for the administration of the plan makes a showing satisfactory to the Secretary that, with respect to each calendar quarter for which the State submits a request for payment at the full Federal medical assistance percentage for amounts paid for skilled nursing home services furnished beyond sixty days, there is in operation in the State an effective program of control over utilization of skilled nursing home services; such a showing must include evidence that—

"(i) in each case for which payment is made under the State plan, a physician certifies at the time of admission, or, if later, the time the individual applies for medical assistance under the State plan (and recertifies, where such services are furnished over a period of time, in such cases, at least every sixty days, and accompanied by such supporting material, appropriate to the case involved, as may be provided in regulations of the Secretary), that such services are or were required to be given on an inpatient basis because the individual needs or needed such services; and

"(ii) in each such case, such services were

1	furnished under a plan established and periodi-
2	cally reviewed and evaluated by a physician,
3	"(iii) such State has in effect a continu-
4	ous program of review of utilization pursuant to
5	section 1902(a)(30) whereby the necessity
6	for admission and the continued stay of each
7	patient in a skilled nursing home is periodically
8	reviewed and evaluated (with such frequency
9	as may be prescribed in regulations of the Secre-
10	tary) by medical and other professional person-
11	nel who are not themselves directly responsible
12	for the care of the patient and who are not em-
13	ployed by or financially interested in any skilled
14	nursing home; and
15	"(iv) such State has an effective program
16	of medical review of the care of patients in
17	skilled nursing homes pursuant to section 1902
18	(a) (26) whereby the medical management of
19	each case is reviewed and evaluated at least an-
20	nually by independent medical review teams;
21	"(C) after an individual has received inpa-
22	tient services in a hospital for mental diseases on
23	ninety days (whether or not such days are consecu-
24	tive), occurring after June 30, 1971, and on up to

an additional thirty days if the State agency re-

1	sponsible for the administration of the plan demon-
2	strates to the satisfaction of the Secretary that the
3	individual is continuing to receive active treatment
4	in such hospital and that the prognosis with respect
5	to such individual is one of continued therapeutic
6	improvement, the Federal medical assistance per-
7	centage with respect to amounts paid for any such
8	services furnished to such individual shall be de-
9	creased by $33\frac{1}{3}$ per centum thereof and no payment
10	may be made under this title for any such services
11	furnished to such individual after such services have
12	been furnished to him for three hundred and sixty-
13	five days.
14	In determining the number of days on which an individual
15	has received services described in this subsection, there shall
16	not be counted any days with respect to which such indi-
17	vidual is entitled to have payments made (in whole or in
18	part) on his behalf under section 1812.
19	"(h)(1) If the Secretary determines for any calendar
20	quarter beginning after December 31, 1971, with respect to
21	any State that there does not exist a reasonable cost differ-
22	ential between the cost of skilled nursing home services and
23	the cost of intermediate care facility services in such State,
<b>24</b>	the Secretary may reduce the amount which would otherwise

- 1 be considered as expenditures under the State plan by an
- 2 amount which in his judgment is a reasonable equivalent of
- 3 the difference between the amount of the expenditures by such
- 4 State for intermediate care facility services and the amount
- 5 that would have been expended by such State for such services
- 6 if there had been a reasonable cost differential between the
- 7 cost of skilled nursing home services and the cost of inter-
- 8 mediate care facility services.
- 9 "(2) In determining whether any such cost differential
- 10 in any State is reasonable the Secretary shall take into con-
- 11 sideration the range of such cost differentials in all States.
- 12 "(3) For the purposes of this subsection, the term 'cost
- 13 differential' for any State for any quarter means, as deter-
- 14 mined by the Secretary on the basis of the data for the most
- 15 recent calendar quarter for which satisfactory data are avail-
- 16 able, the excess of—
- 17 "(A) the average amount paid in such State (re-
- 18 gardless of the source of payment) per inpatient day
- for skilled nursing home services, over
- 20 "(B) the average amount paid in such State (re-
- 21 gardless of the source of payment) per inpatient day
- for intermediate care facility services."
- (2) Section 1903(a)(1) of such Act is amended by
- 24 inserting ", subject to subsections (g) and (h) of this
- <sup>25</sup> section" after "section 1905(b)".

Ţ	(b) The amendments made by subsection (a) shall, ex-
2	cept as otherwise provided therein, be effective July 1, 1971.
3	COST-SHARING UNDER MEDICAID
4	SEC. 208. (a) Section 1902(a)(14) of the Social
5	Security Act is amended to read as follows:
6	"(14) effective January 1, 1972, provide that—
7	"(A) in the case of individuals receiving aid
8	or assistance under a State plan approved under
9	title I, X, XIV, or XVI, or part A of title IV,
10	or who meet the income and resources requirements
11	of the one of such State plans which is appropriate—
12	"(i) no enrollment fee, premium, or simi-
13	lar charge, and no deduction, cost sharing, or
14	similar charge with respect to the care and serv-
<b>15</b>	ices listed in clauses (1) through (5) and (7)
16	of section 1905(a), will be imposed under the
17	plan, and
18	"(ii) any deduction, cost sharing, or simi-
19	lar charge imposed under the plan with respect
20	to other care and services will be nominal in
21	amount (as determined in accordance with
22	standards approved by the Secretary and in-
23	cluded in the plan), and
24	"(B) with respect to individuals who are not
<b>25</b>	receiving aid or assistance under any such State

1	plan and who do not meet the income and resources
2	requirements of the one of such State plans which
3	is appropriate—
4	"(i) there shall be imposed an enrollment
5	fee, premium, or similar charge which (as de-
6	termined in accordance with standards pre-
7	scribed by the Secretary) is related to the in-
8	dividual's income, and
9	"(ii) no other enrollment fee or premium
10	will be imposed under the plan;".
11	(b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall be
12	effective January 1, 1972 (or earlier if the State plan so
13	provides).
14	DETERMINATION OF PAYMENTS UNDER MEDICAID
15	SEC. 209. (a) Section 1902(a)(10) of the Social
16	Security Act is amended by striking out everything which
17	precedes "except that" immediately following subparagraph
18	(B) and inserting in lieu thereof the following:
19	"(10) effective July 1, 1972, provide, subject to
20	paragraph (14) of this subsection and to subsection (e)
21	of this section, and in accordance with the provisions of
22	section 1903(f)—
23	"(A) for making medical assistance available
24	(in equal amount, duration, and scope) to all indi-
25	viduals who are receiving assistance to needy fami-

1		lies with children as defined in section 405(b) or
2		receiving assistance for the aged, blind, and disabled
3	4	under title XX, or with respect to whom payments
4		for foster care are made in accordance with section
5		406;
6		"(B) if the standard for medical assistance
7		established under the State plan is more than 100
8		percent (but less than $133\frac{1}{3}$ percent) of the com-
9		bined amount specified in clauses (A) and (B) of
10		paragraph (2) of section 1903(f), provide—
11		"(i) for making medical or remedial care
12		and services available to—
13		"(I) individuals who are aged, blind,
14		or disabled as defined in title XX, and fam-
15		ilies (as defined in title XXI), not receiving
16		assistance under title XX or XXI, and
17		"(II) children who are members of
18		families (other than needy families with
19		children as defined in section 405(b))
20		receiving assistance under title XXI,
21	٠. ٠	in cases where the income of the individual or
22		the income of all the members of the family is
23		(after deducting such individual's or such fam-
24		ily's incurred medical expenses as defined in

1	section 213 of the Internal Revenue Code of
2	1954) less than such standard, and
3	"(ii) that the medical or remedial care and
4	services made available to all such individuals
5	and families shall be equal in amount, dura-
6	tion, and scope, and shall not be more than
7	the medical assistance made available to in-
8	dividuals described in subparagraph (A); and
9	"(C) if medical or remedial care or services
10	are included for any group of individuals who are
11	not included in subparagraphs (A) and (B), pro-
12	vide—
13	"(i) for making medical or remedial care
14	and services available to all such individuals
15	who would, if needy, be eligible for assistance
16	under title XX or XXI and who have in-
17	sufficient income and resources to meet the costs
18	of necessary medical or remedial care and
19	services, and
20	"(ii) that the medical or remedial care and
21	services made available to all such individuals
22	shall be equal in amount, duration, and scope,
23	and shall not be more than the medical assistance
24	made available to individuals described in sub-
<b>25</b>	paragraph (A);".

1	(b)(1) Section 1902(a)(14) of such Act (as amended
2	by section 208(a) of this Act) is amended by striking out
3	"provide that" in the matter preceding subparagraph (A)
4	and inserting in lieu thereof "provide, subject to section
5	1903(f), that".
6	(2) Section 1902(a)(17) of such Act is amended—
7	(A) by striking out "and (in the case of any ap-
8	plicant' and all that follows in clause (B) and inserting
9	in lieu thereof a comma, and
10	(B) by striking out "provide for flexibility" and
11	inserting in lieu thereof "provide, in the case of in-
12	dividuals to whom section 1903(f) does not apply, for
13	flexibility".
14	(c) Section 1903(f) of such Act is amended to read as
15	follows:
16	"(f)(1) Payment under the preceding provisions of
17	this section shall not be made for amounts expended as medi-
18	cal assistance in any calendar quarter in any State-
19	"(A) for any individual who is aged, blind, or dis-
20	abled, as defined in title XX, and who is not receiving
21	assistance under such title, or
22	"(B) for any member of a family as defined in title
23	XXI (whether or not such family is receiving assistance
24	under such title),
<b>25</b>	unless the income of any such individual or the income of all

- 1 the members of any such family (after deducting such indi-
- 2 vidual's or such family's incurred expenses for medical care
- 3 as defined in section 213 of the Internal Revenue Code of
- 4 1954) is not in excess of the standard for medical assistance
- 5 established under the State plan in accordance with the
- 6 provisions of this subsection.
- "(2) Such standard for medical assistance shall not be
- <sup>8</sup> less than (nor more than  $133\frac{1}{3}$  percent of) (A) the highest
- 9 amount that would be payable under title XXI to an eligi-
- 10 ble family of the same size without any income or resources,
- 11 plus (B) the amount of the supplementary payment, if any,
- 12 made by such State in accordance with section 2156 to such
- 13 an eligible family.
- 14 "(3) In determining the income of any individual who
- is aged, blind, or disabled as defined in title XX, there shall
- be excluded (A) the first \$1,020 per year of such individ-
- 17 ual's earned income (or proportionately smaller amounts for
- shorter periods) if he is an individual described in sub-
- 19 paragraph (A) or (B) of section 2012(b)(3) or the first
- <sup>20</sup> \$720 of such individual's earned income (or proportionately
- 21 smaller amounts for shorter periods) if he is an individual de-
- scribed in subparagraph (C) of such section, and (B) any
- amounts that would be excluded under section 2012(b) other
- than under paragraphs (3) and (4) thereof.
- 25 "(4) In determining the income of any family as defined

- 1 in title XXI, there shall be excluded (A) the first \$720 per
- 2 year of earned income (or proportionately smaller amounts
- 3 for shorter periods) of all members of the family, and (B)
- 4 any amounts that would be excluded under section 2153(b)
- 5 other than under paragraphs (4) and (5) thereof."
- 6 (d) Section 1902 of such Act is amended by adding at
- 7 the end thereof the following new subsection:
- 8 "(e) Notwithstanding any other provision of this title,
- 9 no State shall be required to provide medical assistance to any
- 10 individual or any member of a family for any month unless
- 11 such State would be (or would have been) required to provide
- 12 medical assistance to such individual or family member for
- 13 such month had its plan for medical assistance approved
- 14 under this title and in effect on January 1, 1971, been in
- 15 effect in such month, except that for this purpose any such
- 16 individual or family member shall be deemed eligible for
- 17 medical assistance under such State plan if (in addition to
- 18 meeting such other requirements as are or may be imposed
- 19 under the State plan) the income of any such individual or
- 20 the income of all of the members of any such family as deter-
- 21 mined in accordance with section 1903(f) (after deducting
- 22 such individual's or such family's incurred expenses for med-
- 23 ical care as defined in section 213 of the Internal Revenue
- 24 Code of 1954) is not in excess of the standard for medical

1	assistance	established	under	the	State	plan	as	in	effect	01
_	accounted	COULOUDIVOL	witte	UNU	~ Julio	power	wo	viv	VII OUU	

- 2 January 1, 1971."
- 3 (e) The amendments made by this section shall become
- 4 effective on July 1, 1972.
- 5 PAYMENT UNDER MEDICARE TO INDIVIDUALS COVERED
- 6 BY FEDERAL EMPLOYEES HEALTH BENEFITS PROGRAM
- 7 SEC. 210, Section 1862 of the Social Security Act is
- 8 amended by adding at the end thereof the following new
- 9 subsection:
- 10 "(c) No payment may be made under this title with
- 11 respect to any item or service furnished to or on behalf of
- 12 any individual on or after January 1, 1975, if such item or
- 13 service is covered under a health benefits plan in which such
- 14 individual is enrolled under chapter 89 of title 5, United
- 15 States Code, unless prior to the date on which such item or
- 16 service is so furnished the Secretary shall have determined
- 17 and certified that such plan or the Federal employees health
- 18 benefits program under chapter 89 of such title 5 has been
- 19 modified so as to assure that—
- "(1) there is available to each Federal employee
- or annuitant enrolled in such plan, upon or after attain-
- ing age 65, in addition to the health benefits plans avail-
- able before he attains such age, one or more health bene-
- fits plans which offer protection supplementing the com-
- bined protection provided under parts A and B of this
- title and one or more health benefits plans which offer

1	protection supplementing the protection provided under
2	part B of this title alone, and
3	"(2) the Government or such plan will make avail-
4	able to such Federal employee or annuitant a contribu-
5	tion in an amount at least equal to the contribution which
6	the Government makes toward the health insurance of
7	any employee or annuitant enrolled for high option cov-
8	erage under the Government-wide plans established un-
9	der chapter 89 of such title 5, with such contribution
10	being in the form of (A) a contribution toward the
11	supplementary protection referred to in paragraph (1),
12	(B) a payment to or on behalf of such employee or
13	annuitant to offset the cost to him of coverage under
14	parts A and B (or part B alone) of this title, or (C)
15	a combination of such contribution and such payment."
16	PAYMENT UNDER MEDICARE FOR CERTAIN INPATIENT
17	HOSPITAL AND RELATED PHYSICIANS' SERVICES FUR-
18	NISHED OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES
19	SEC. 211. (a) Section 1814(f) of the Social Security
20	Act is amended to read as follows:
21	"Payment for Certain Inpatient Hospital Services Furnished
22	Outside the United States
23	"(f)(1) Payment shall be made for inpatient hospital
24	services furnished to an individual entitled to hospital in-
25	surance benefits under section 226 by a hospital located

1	outside the United States, or under arrangements (as de
2	fined in section 1861(w)) with it, if—
3	"(A) such individual is a resident of the United
4	States, and
5	"(B) such hospital was closer to, or substantially
6	more accessible from, the residence of such individual
7	than the nearest hospital within the United States which
8	was adequately equipped to deal with, and was available
9	for the treatment of, such individual's illness or injury.
10	"(2) Payment may also be made for emergency in-
11	patient hospital services furnished to an individual entitled to
12	hospital insurance benefits under section 226 by a hospital
13	located outside the United States if—
14	"(A) such individual was physically present in a
15	place within the United States at the time the emergency
16	which necessitated such inpatient hospital services oc-
17	$curred,\ and$
18	"(B) such hospital was closer to, or substantially
19	more accessible from, such place than the nearest hos-
20	pital within the United States which was adequately
21	equipped to deal with, and was available for the treat-
22	ment of, such individual's illness or injury.
23	"(3) Payment shall be made in the amount provided
24	under subsection (b) to any hospital for the inpatient hos-

pital services described in paragraph (1) or (2) furnished

- 1 to an individual by the hospital or under arrangements
- 2 (as defined in section 1861(w)) with it if (A) the Secretary
- 3 would be required to make such payment if the hospital had
- 4 an agreement in effect under this title and otherwise met the
- 5 conditions of payment hereunder, (B) such hospital elects
- 6 to claim such payment, and (C) such hospital agrees to
- 7 comply, with respect to such services, with the provisions of
- 8 section 1866(a).
- 9 "(4) Payment for the inpatient hospital services de-
- 10 scribed in paragraph (1) or (2) furnished to an individual
- 11 entitled to hospital insurance benefits under section 226 may
- 12 be made on the basis of an itemized bill to such individual
- 13 if (A) payment for such services cannot be made under
- 14 paragraph (3) solely because the hospital does not elect to
- 15 claim such payment, and (B) such individual files applica-
- 16 tion (submitted within such time and in such form and man-
- 17 ner and by such person, and containing and supported by
- 18 such information as the Secretary shall by regulations pre-
- 19 scribe) for reimbursement. The amount payable with respect
- 20 to such services shall, subject to the provisions of section 1813,
- 21 be equal to the amount which would be payable under sub-
- <sup>22</sup> section (d)(3)."
- 23 (b) Section 1861(e) of such Act is amended—
- 24 (1) by striking out "except for purposes of sections
- 25 1814(d) and 1835(b)" and inserting in lieu thereof

1	"except for purposes of sections 1814(d), 1814(f), and
2	1835(b)":
3	(2) by inserting "section 1814(f)(2)," immedi-
4	ately after "For purposes of sections 1814(d) and 1835
5	(b) (including determination of whether an individual
6	received inpatient hospital services or diagnostic services
7	for purposes of such sections),"; and
8	(3) by inserting immediately after the third sen-
9	tence the following new sentence: "For purposes of sec-
10	tion 1814(f)(1), such term includes an institution
11	which (i) is a hospital for purposes of sections 1814(d),
12	1814(f)(2), and 1835(b) and (ii) is accredited by the
13	Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals, or is
l <b>4</b>	accredited by or approved by a program of the country
15	in which such institution is located if the Secretary finds
<b>l</b> 6	the accreditation or comparable approval standards of
۱7	such program to be essentially equivalent to those of the
l8	Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals."
19	(c) (1) Section 1862(a)(4) of such Act is amended—
20	(A) by striking out "emergency"; and
21	(B) by inserting after " $1814(f)$ " the following.
22	"and, subject to such conditions, limitations, and require-
23	ments as are provided under or pursuant to this title, phy-
24	sicians' services and ambulance services furnished an indi-

vidual in conjunction with such inpatient hospital services

- 1 but only for the period during which such inpatient hospital
- 2 services were furnished".
- 3 (2) Section 1861(r) of such Act (as amended by sec-
- 4 tions 256(b) and 264 of this Act) is further amended by
- 5 adding at the end thereof the following new sentence: "For
- 6 the purposes of section 1862(a)(4) and subject to the
- 7 limitations and conditions provided in the previous sentence,
- 8 such term includes a doctor of one of the arts, specified in
- 9 such previous sentence, legally authorized to practice such
- 10 art in the country in which the inpatient hospital services
- 11 (referred to in such section 1862(a)(4)) are furnished."
- 12 (3) Section 1842(b)(3)(B)(ii) of such Act is
- 13 amended by striking out "service;" and inserting in lieu
- 14 thereof the following: "service (except in the case of phy-
- sicians' services and ambulance service furnished as de-
- scribed in section 1862(a)(4), other than for purposes of
- 17 section 1870(f);".
- (4) Section 1833(a)(1) of such Act is amended by
- 19 striking out "and" before "(B)", and by inserting before
- the semicolon at the end thereof the following: ", and (C)
- 21 with respect to expenses incurred for those physicians' serv-
- ices for which payment may be made under this part that
- are described in section 1862(a)(4), the amounts paid
- shall be subject to such limitations as may be prescribed by
- 25 regulations".

1	(d) The amendments made by this section shall apply
2	to services furnished with respect to admissions occurring
3	after December 31, 1971.
4	Part B—Improvements in Operating Effectiveness
5	LIMITATION ON FEDERAL PARTICIPATION FOR CAPITAL
6	EXPENDITURES
7	Sec. 221. (a) Title XI of the Social Security Act is
8	amended by adding at the end thereof the following new
9	section:
10	"LIMITATION ON FEDERAL PARTICIPATION FOR CAPITAL
11	EXPENDITURES
12	"Sec. 1122. (a) The purpose of this section is to assure
13	that Federal funds appropriated under titles V, XVIII, and
14	XIX are not used to support unnecessary capital expendi-
15	tures made by or on behalf of health care facilities or health
16	maintenance organizations which are reimbursed under any
17	of such titles and that, to the extent possible, reimbursement
18	under such titles shall support planning activities with re-
19	spect to health services and facilities in the various States.
20	(b) The Secretary, after consultation with the Gover-
21	nor (or other chief executive officer) and with appropriate
22	local public officials, shall make an agreement with any
23	State which is able and willing to do so under which a
24	designated planning agency (which shall be an agency de-

scribed in clause (ii) of subsection (d)(1)(B) that has a

1	governing body or advisory board at least half of whose
2	members represent consumer interests) will—
3	"(1) make, and submit to the Secretary together
4	with such supporting materials as he may find necessary,
5	findings and recommendations with respect to capital
6	expenditures proposed by or on behalf of any health
7	care facility or health maintenance organization in such
8	State within the field of its responsibilities,
9	"(2) receive from other agencies described in
10	clause (ii) of subsection (d)(1)(B), and submit to the
11	Secretary together with such supporting material as he
12	may find necessary, the findings and recommendations of
13	such other agencies with respect to capital expenditures
14	proposed by or on behalf of health care facilities or
15	health maintenance organizations in such State within
16	the fields of their respective responsibilities, and
17	"(3) establish and maintain procedures pursuant
18	to which a person proposing any such capital expendi-

whenever and to the extent that the findings of such designated agency or any such other agency indicate that any

officer) may designate to hold such hearings,

ture may appeal a recommendation by the designated

agency and will be granted an opportunity for a fair

hearing by such agency or person other than the desig-

nated agency as the Governor (or other chief executive

19

20

21

22

	#12
1	such expenditure is not consistent with the standards, criteria,
2	or plans developed pursuant to the Public Health Service
3	Act (or the Mental Retardation Facilities and Community
4	Mental Health Centers Construction Act of 1963) to meet
5	the need for adequate health care facilities in the area covered
6	by the plan or plans so developed.
7	"(c) The Secretary shall pay any such State from the
8	Federal Hospital Insurance Trust Fund, in advance or by
9	way of reimbursement as may be provided in the agreement
10	with it (and may make adjustments in such payments on
11	account of overpayments or underpayments previously
12	made), for the reasonable cost of performing the functions
13	specified in subsection (b).
14	"(d)(1) Except as provided in paragraph (2), if the
15	Secretary determines that—
16	"(A) neither the planning agency designated in
17	the agreement described in subsection (b) nor an
18	agency described in clause (ii) of subparagraph (B) of
19	this paragraph had been given notice of any proposed
20	capital expenditure (in accordance with such procedure
21	or in such detail as may be required by such agency)
22	at least 60 days prior to obligation for such expenditure;
<b>23</b>	or

"(B)(i) the planning agency so designated or

an agency so described had received such timely notice

24

of the intention to make such capital expenditure and had, within a reasonable period after receiving such notice and prior to obligation for such expenditure, notified the person proposing such expenditure that the expenditure would not be in conformity with the standards, criteria, or plans developed by such agency or any other agency described in clause (ii) for adequate health care facilities in such State or in the area for which such other agency has responsibility, and

"(ii) the planning agency so designated had, prior to submitting to the Secretary the findings referred to in subsection (b)—

"(I) consulted with, and taken into consideration the findings and recommendations of, the State
planning agencies established pursuant to sections
314(a) and 604(a) of the Public Health Service
Act (to the extent that either such agency is not the
agency so designated) as well as the public or nonprofit private agency or organization responsible
for the comprehensive regional, metropolitan area,
or other local area plan or plans referred to in section 314(b) of the Public Health Service Act and
covering the area in which the health care facility
or health maintenance organization proposing such
capital expenditure is located (where such agency

1	is not the agency designated in the agreement), or,
2	if there is no such agency, such other public or non-
3	profit private agency or organization (if any) as
4	performs, as determined in accordance with criteria
5	included in regulations, similar functions, and
6	"(II) granted to the person proposing such
. 7	capital expenditure an opportunity for a fair hear-
8	ing with respect to such findings;
9	then, for such period as he finds necessary in any case to
10	effectuate the purpose of this section, he shall, in determining
11	the Federal payments to be made under titles V, XVIII,
12	and XIX with respect to services furnished in the health care
13	facility for which such capital expenditure is made, not in-
14	clude any amount which is attributable to depreciation, in-
15	terest on borrowed funds, a return on equity capital (in the
16	case of proprietary facilities), or other expenses related to
17	such capital expenditure. With respect to any organization
18	which is reimbursed on a per capita basis, in determining
19	the Federal payments to be made under titles V, XVIII, and
20	XIX, the Secretary shall exclude an amount which in his
21	judgment is a reasonable equivalent to the amount which
22	would otherwise be excluded under this subsection if pay-
23	ment were to be made on other than a per capita basis.
24	"(2) If the Secretary, after submitting the matters in-

volved to the advisory council established or designated

under subsection (i), determines that an exclusion of ex-

1

 $\mathbf{2}$ penses related to any capital expenditure of any health care 3 facility or health maintenance organization would discourage the operation or expansion of such facility or organization, 5 or of any facility of such organization, which has demon-6 strated to his satisfaction proof of capability to provide 7 comprehensive health care services (including institutional 8 services) efficiently, effectively, and economically, or would 9 otherwise be inconsistent with the effective organization and 10 delivery of health services or the effective administration 11 of title V, XVIII, or XIX, he shall not exclude such 12 expenses pursuant to paragraph (1). 13 "(e) Where a person obtains under lease or comparable 14 arrangement any facility or part thereof, or equipment for 15 a facility, which would have been subject to an exclusion under subsection (d) if the person had acquired it by purchase, the Secretary shall (1) in computing such person's 18 rental expense in determining the Federal payments to be 19 made under titles V, XVIII, and XIX with respect to serv-20 ices furnished in such facility, deduct the amount which in his 21judgment is a reasonable equivalent of the amount that would 22 have been excluded if the person had acquired such facility 23 or such equipment by purchase, and (2) in computing such 24 person's return on equity capital deduct any amount deposited 25 under the terms of the lease or comparable arrangement.

- 1 "(f) Any person dissatisfied with a determination by the 2 Secretary under this section may within six months follow-
- 3 ing notification of such determination request the Secretary
- 4 to reconsider such determination. A determination by the
- 5 Secretary under this section shall not be subject to adminis-
- 6 trative or judicial review.
- 7 "(g) For the purposes of this section, a 'capital expendi-
- 8 ture' is an expenditure which, under generally accepted
- 9 accounting principles, is not properly chargeable as an ex-
- 10 pense of operation and maintenance and which (1) exceeds
- 11 \$100,000, (2) changes the bed capacity of the facility with
- 12 respect to which such expenditure is made, or (3) sub-
- 13 stantially changes the services of the facility with respect to
- 14 which such expenditure is made. For purposes of clause
- 15 (1) of the preceding sentence, the cost of the studies, sur-
- 16 veys, designs, plans, working drawings, specifications, and
- other activities essential to the acquisition, improvement,
- expansion, or replacement of the plant and equipment with
- 19 respect to which such expenditure is made shall be in-
- 20 cluded in determining whether such expenditure exceeds
- <sup>21</sup> \$100,000.
- "(h) The provisions of this section shall not apply
- 23 to Christian Science sanatoriums operated, or listed and
- 24 certified, by the First Church of Christ, Scientist, Boston,
- <sup>25</sup> Massachusetts.

"(i) (1) The Secretary shall establish a national advi-1  $\mathbf{2}$ sory council, or designate an appropriate existing national 3 advisory council, to advise and assist him in the prepara- $\mathbf{4}$ tion of general regulations to carry out the purposes of 5 this section and on policy matters arising in the adminis-6 tration of this section, including the coordination of ac-7 tivities under this section with those under other parts of 8 this Act or under other Federal or federally assisted health 9 programs. 10 "(2) The Secretary shall make appropriate provision 11 for consultation between and coordination of the work of 12 the advisory council established or designated under para-13 graph (1) and the Federal Hospital Council, the National 14 Advisory Health Council, the Health Insurance Benefits 15 Advisory Council, the Medical Assistance Advisory Council, 16 and other appropriate national advisory councils with re-17 spect to matters bearing on the purposes and administration 18 of this section and the coordination of activities under this 19 section with related Federal health programs. 20 "(3) If an advisory council is established by the Secre-21 tary under paragraph (1), it shall be composed of members 22 who are not otherwise in the regular full-time employ of the 23 United States, and who shall be appointed by the Secretary

without regard to the civil service laws from among leaders

in the fields of the fundamental sciences, the medical sciences,

24

- 1 and the organization, delivery, and financing of health
- 2 care, and persons who are State or local officials or are
- 3 active in community affairs or public or civic affairs or who
- 4 are representative of minority groups. Members of such ad-
- 5 visory council, while attending meetings of the council or
- 6 otherwise serving on business of the council, shall be entitled
- 7 to receive compensation at rates fixed by the Secretary, but
- 8 not exceeding the maximum rate specified at the time of such
- 9 service for grade GS-18 in section 5332 of title 5, United
- 10 States Code, including traveltime, and while away from their
- 11 homes or regular places of business they may also be allowed
- 12 travel expenses, including per diem in lieu of subsistence, as
- authorized by section 5703(b) of such title 5 for persons in
- 14 the Government service employed intermittently."
- (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall ap-
- 16 ply only with respect to a capital expenditure the obligation
- for which is incurred by or on behalf of a health care facility
- 18 or health maintenance organization subsequent to whichever
- of the following is earlier: (A) June 30, 1972, or (B) with
- 20 respect to any State or any part thereof specified by such
- 21 State, the last day of the calendar quarter in which the State
- requests that the amendment made by subsection (a) of this
- 23 section apply in such State or such part thereof.
- (c)(1) Section 505(a)(6) of such Act (as amended
- by section 232(b) of this Act) is further amended by in-

- 1 serting ", consistent with section 1122," after "standards"
- 2 where it first appears.
- 3 (2) Section 506 of such Act (as amended by sections
- 4 224(d), 229(d), 233(d), and 237(b) of this Act) is
- 5 further amended by adding at the end thereof the following
- 6 new subsection:
- 7 "(g) For limitation on Federal participation for capital
- 8 expenditures which are out of conformity with a comprehen-
- 9 sive plan of a State or areawide planning agency, see sec-
- 10 tion 1122."
- 11 (3) Clause (2) of the second sentence of section 509
- 12 (a) of such Act is amended by inserting ", consistent with
- 13 section 1122," after "standards".
- 14 (4) Section 1861(v) of such Act is amended by adding
- at the end thereof the following new paragraph:
- "(5) For limitation on Federal participation for capital
- 17 expenditures which are out of conformity with a compre-
- hensive plan of a State or areawide planning agency, see
- 19 section 1122."
- 20 (5) Section 1902(a)(13)(D) of such Act (as
- amended by section 232(a) of this Act) is further amended
- by inserting ", consistent with section 1122," after "stand-
- 23 ards" where it first appears.
- 24 (6) Section 1903(b) of such Act is amended by add-
- 25 ing at the end thereof the following new paragraph:

- 1 "(3) For limitation on Federal participation for capital
- 2 expenditures which are out of conformity with a compre-
- 3 hensive plan of a State or areawide planning agency, see
- 4 section 1122."
- 5 REPORT ON PLAN FOR PROSPECTIVE REIMBURSEMENT;
- 6 EXPERIMENTS AND DEMONSTRATION PROJECTS TO
- 7 DEVELOP INCENTIVES FOR ECONOMY IN THE PROVI-
- 8 SION OF HEALTH SERVICES
- 9 Sec. 222. (a) (1) The Secretary of Health, Education,
- 10 and Welfare, directly or through contracts with public or
- 11 private agencies or organizations, shall develop and carry
- 12 out experiments and demonstration projects designed to de-
- 13 termine the relative advantages and disadvantages of various
- 14 alternative methods of making payment on a prospective
- basis to hospitals, extended care facilities, and other pro-
- 16 viders of services for care and services provided by them
- 17 under title XVIII of the Social Security Act and under
- 18 State plans approved under titles XIX and V of such Act,
- 19 including alternative methods for classifying providers, for
- establishing prospective rates of payment, and for imple-
- 21 menting on a gradual, selective, or other basis the estab-
- 22 lishment of a prospective payment system, in order to
- 23 stimulate such providers through positive financial incen-
- tives to use their facilities and personnel more efficiently and
- thereby to reduce the total costs of the health programs

- 1 involved without adversely affecting the quality of services
- 2 by containing or lowering the rate of increase in provider
- 3 costs that has been and is being experienced under the exist-
- 4 ing system of retroactive cost reimbursement.
- 5 (2) The experiments and demonstration projects devel-
- 6 oped under paragraph (1) shall be of sufficient scope and
- 7 shall be carried out on a wide enough scale to permit a thor-
- 8 ough evaluation of the alternative methods of prospective
- 9 payment under consideration while giving assurance that the
- 10 results derived from the experiments and projects will obtain
- 11 generally in the operation of the programs involved (with-
- 12 out committing such programs to the adoption of any pro-
- 13 spective payment system either locally or nationally).
- 14 (3) In the case of any experiment or demonstration
- project under paragraph (1), the Secretary may waive com-
- pliance with the requirements of titles XVIII, XIX, and V
- of the Social Security Act insofar as such requirements relate
- 18 to methods of payment for services provided; and costs in-
- 19 curred in such experiment or project in excess of those which
- would otherwise be reimbursed or paid under such titles may
- be reimbursed or paid to the extent that such waiver applies
- 22 to them (with such excess being borne by the Secretary).
- No experiment or demonstration project shall be developed
- or carried out under paragraph (1) until the Secretary ob-
- tains the advice and recommendations of specialists who are

- 1 competent to evaluate the proposed experiment or project as
- 2 to the soundness of its objectives, the possibilities of securing
- 3 productive results, the adequacy of resources to conduct it,
- 4 and its relationship to other similar experiments or projects
- 5 already completed or in process.
- 6 (4) Grants, payments under contracts, and other ex-
- 7 penditures made for experiments and demonstration projects
- 8 under this subsection shall be made in appropriate part
- 9 from the Federal Hospital Insurance Trust Fund (estab-
- 10 lished by section 1817 of the Social Security Act) and
- 11 the Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust
- 12 Fund (established by section 1841 of the Social Se-
- 13 curity Act). Grants and payments under contracts
- 14 may be made either in advance or by way of reim-
- bursement, as may be determined by the Secretary, and shall
- 16 be made in such installments and on such conditions as the
- 17 Secretary finds necessary to carry out the purpose of this
- 18 subsection. With respect to any such grant, payment, or
- 19 other expenditure, the amount to be paid from each of such
- <sup>20</sup> trust funds shall be determined by the Secretary, giving due
- 21 regard to the purposes of the experiment or project involved.
- 22 (5) The Secretary shall submit to the Congress no later
- than July 1, 1973, a full report on the experiments and
- <sup>24</sup> demonstration projects carried out under this subsection and
- on the experience of other programs with respect to pro-

- 1 spective reimbursement together with any related data and
- 2 materials which he may consider appropriate. Such report
- 3 shall include detailed recommendations with respect to the
- 4 specific methods which could be used in the full imple-
- 5 mentation of a system of prospective payment to providers of
- 6 services under the programs involved.
- 7 (b)(1) Section 402(a) of the Social Security Amend-
- 8 ments of 1967 is amended to read as follows:
- 9 "(a) (1) The Secretary of Health, Education, and Wel-
- 10 fare is authorized, either directly or through grants to public
- or nonprofit private agencies, institutions, and organizations
- 12 or contracts with public or private agencies, institutions, and
- 13 organizations, to develop and engage in experiments and
- 14 demonstration projects for the following purposes:
- "(A) to determine whether, and if so which,
- 16 changes in methods of payment or reimbursement (other
- than those dealt with in section 222(a) of the Social
- Security Amendments of 1971) for health care and
- services under health programs established by the Social
- Security Act, including a change to methods based on
- 21 negotiated rates, would have the effect of increasing the
- efficiency and economy of health services under such
- programs through the creation of additional incentives to
- these ends without adversely affecting the quality of such
- services;

1	"(B) to determine whether payments for services
2	other than those for which payment may be made under
3	such programs (and which are incidental to services for
4	which payment may be made under such programs)
5	would, in the judgment of the Secretary, result in more
6	economical provision and more effective utilization of
7	services for which payment may be made under such
8	program, where such services are furnished by organiza-
9	tions and institutions which have the capability of
10	providing—
<b>l</b> 1	"(i) comprehensive health care services,
12	"(ii) mental health care services (as defined by
13	section 401(c) of the Mental Retardation Facilities
14	and Community Health Centers Construction Act of
15	1963),
16	"(iii) ambulatory health care services, or
17	"(iv) institutional services which may substitute,
18	at lower cost, for hospital care;
19	"(C) to determine whether the rates of payment or
20	reimbursement for health care services, approved by a
21	State for purposes of the administration of one or more
22	of its laws, when utilized to determine the amount to be
23	paid for services furnished in such State under the health
24	programs established by the Social Security Act, would
25	have the effect of reducing the costs of such programs

without adversely affecting the quality of such services;

1	"(D) to determine whether payments under such
<b>2</b>	programs based on a single combined rate of reimburse-
3	ment or charge for the teaching activities and patient care
4	which residents, interns, and supervising physicians ren-
5	der in connection with a graduate medical education pro-
6	gram in a patient facility would result in more equitable
7	and economical patient care arrangements without ad-
8	versely affecting the quality of such care;
9	"(E) to determine whether peer review, utiliza-
10	tion review, and medical review mechanisms estab-
11	lished on an areawide or communitywide basis would
12	have a beneficial effect in helping to assure that services
13	provided conform to appropriate professional standards
14	for the provision of health care and that payment for
15	such services will be made—
16	"(i) only when, and to the extent, medically
17	necessary, as determined in the exercise of reason-
18	able limits of professional discretion, and
19	"(ii) in the case of services provided by a hos-
20	pital or other health care facility on an inpatient
21	basis, only when and for such period as such serv-
22	ices cannot, consistent with professionally recog-
23	nized health care standards, effectively be provided

on an outpatient basis or more economically in an

inpatient health care facility of a different type, as

**24** 

1	aeterminea in the exercise of reasonable timus of
2	professional discretion; and
3	"(F) to determine whether, and if so which type
4	of, fixed price or performance incentive contract would
5	have the effect of inducing to the greatest degree effec-
6	tive, efficient, and economical performance of agencies
7	and organizations making payment under agreements
8	or contracts with the Secretary for health care and serv-
9	ices under health programs established by the Social
10	Security Act.
11	For purposes of this subsection, 'health programs established
12	by the Social Security Act' means the program established
13	by title XVIII of such Act, a program established by a plan
14	of a State approved under title XIX of such Act, and a
15	program established by a plan of a State approved under
16	title V of such Act.
17	"(2) Grants, payments under contracts, and other ex-
18	penditures made for experiments and demonstration projects
19	under paragraph (1) shall be made in appropriate part from
20	the Federal Hospital Insurance Trust Fund (established by
21	section 1817 of the Social Security Act) and the Federal Sup-
22	plementary Medical Insurance Trust Fund (established by
23	section 1841 of the Social Security Act). Grants and pay-
24	ments under contracts may be made either in advance or by
25	way of reimbursement, as may be determined by the Secre-

1	tary, and shall be made in such installments and on such con-
2	ditions as the Secretary finds necessary to carry out the
3	purpose of this section. With respect to any such grant, pay-
4	ment, or other expenditure, the amount to be paid from each
5	of such trust funds shall be determined by the Secretary, giv-
6	ing due regard to the purposes of the experiment or project
7	involved."
8	(2) Section 402(b) of such amendments is amended—
9	(A) by striking out "experiment" each time it ap-
10	pears and inserting in lieu thereof "experiment or dem-
11	onstration project";
12	(B) by striking out "experiments" and inserting in
13	lieu thereof "experiments and projects"; and
14	(C) by striking out "reasonable charge" and insert-
15	ing in lieu thereof "reasonable charge, or to reimburse-
16	ment or payment only for such services or items as may
17	be specified in the experiment".
18	(c) Section 1875(b) of the Social Security Act is
19	amended—
20	(1) by striking out "experimentation" and insert-
21	ing in lieu thereof "experiments and demonstration
22	projects", and
23	(2) by inserting "and the experiments and demon-
<b>24</b>	stration projects authorized by section 222(a) of the

Social Security Amendments of 1971" after "1967".

- 1 LIMITATIONS ON COVERAGE OF COSTS UNDER MEDICARE
- 2 SEC. 223. (a) The first sentence of section 1861(v)(1)
- 3 of the Social Security Act is amended by inserting immedi-
- 4 ately before "determined" where it first appears the fol-
- <sup>5</sup> lowing: "the cost actually incurred, excluding therefrom any
- 6 part of incurred cost found to be unnecessary in the efficient
- 7 delivery of needed health services, and shall be".
- 8 (b) The third sentence of section 1861(v)(1) of such
- 9 Act is amended by striking out the comma after "services,"
- where it last appears and inserting in lieu thereof the follow-
- 11 ing: "may provide for the establishment of limits on the
- 12 direct or indirect overall incurred costs or incurred costs
- of specific items or services or groups of items or services
- 14 to be recognized as reasonable based on estimates of the
- 15 costs necessary in the efficient delivery of needed health
- services to individuals covered by the insurance programs
- established under this title,".
- (c) The fourth sentence of section 1861(v)(1) of such
- Act is amended by inserting after "services" where it first
- appears the following: "(excluding therefrom any such costs,
- including standby costs, which are determined in accordance
- with regulations to be unnecessary in the efficient delivery
- of services covered by the insurance programs established
- under this title)".
- (d) The fourth sentence of section 1861(v)(1) of such

- 1 Act is further amended by striking out "costs with respect"
- 2 where it first appears and inserting in lieu thereof the fol-
- 3 lowing: "necessary costs of efficiently delivering covered
- 4 services".
- 5 (e) Section 1866(a)(2)(B) of such Act is amended
- 6 (1) by inserting "(i)" after "(B)", and (2) by adding
- 7 at the end thereof the following new clause:
- 8 "(ii) Where a provider of services customarily fur-
- 9 nishes an individual items or services which are more
- 10 expensive than the items or services determined to be neces-
- 11 sary in the efficient delivery of needed health services under
- 12 this title and which have not been requested by such indi-
- 13 vidual, such provider may also charge such individual or
- 14 other person for such more expensive items or services to
- 15 the extent that the costs of (or, if less, the customary charges
- 16 for) such more expensive items or services experienced by
- 17 such provider in the second fiscal period immediately pre-
- 18 ceding the fiscal period in which such charges are imposed
- 19 exceed the cost of such items or services determined to be
- 20 necessary in the efficient delivery of needed health services,
- 21 but only if—
- 22 "(I) the Secretary has provided notice to the public
- of any charges being imposed on individuals entitled to
- benefits under this title on account of costs in excess of the
- costs determined to be necessary in the efficient delivery

- of needed health services under this title by particular
- 2 providers of services in the area in which such items or
- 3 services are furnished, and
- 4 "(II) the provider of services has identified such
- 5 charges to such individual or other person, in such man-
- 6 ner as the Secretary may prescribe, as charges to meet
- 7 costs in excess of the cost determined to be necessary in
- 8 the efficient delivery of needed health services under this
- 9 title."
- 10 (f) Section 1861(v) of such Act (as amended by sec-
- 11 tion 221(c)(4) of this Act) is further amended by redesig-
- 12 nating paragraphs (4) and (5) as paragraphs (5) and
- 13 (6), respectively, and by inserting after paragarph (3) the
- 14 following new paragraph:
- 15 "(4) If a provider of services furnishes items or services
- 16 to an individual which are in excess of or more expensive
- 17 than the items or services determined to be necessary in the
- 18 efficient delivery of needed health services and charges are
- 19 imposed for such more expensive items or services under the
- 20 authority granted in section 1866(a)(2)(B)(ii), the
- 21 amount of payment with respect to such items or services
- 22 otherwise due such provider in any fiscal period shall be re-
- <sup>23</sup> duced to the extent that such payment plus such charges
- exceed the cost actually incurred for such items or services in
- 25 the fiscal period in which such charges are imposed."

- 1 (g)(1) Section 1866(a)(2) of such Act is amended
- 2 by inserting after subparagraph (C) the following new sub-
- 3 paragraph:
- 4 "(D) Where a provider of services customarily fur-
- 5 nishes items or services which are in excess of or more
- 6 expensive than the items or services with respect to which
- 7 payment may be made under this title, such provider,
- 8 notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this paragraph,
- 9 may not, under the authority of section 1866(a)(2)(B)
- 10 (ii), charge any individual or other person any amount for
- such items or services in excess of the amount of the payment
- which may otherwise be made for such items or services
- 13 under this title if the admitting physician has a direct or
- 14 indirect financial interest in such provider."
- 15 (2) The last paragraph of section 1866(a)(2) is
- amended by striking out "clause (iii) of the preceding sen-
- tence" and inserting in lieu thereof "subparagraph (C)".
- (h) The amendments made by this section shall be
- 19 effective with respect to accounting periods beginning after
- 20 June 30, 1972.
- 21 LIMITS ON PREVAILING CHARGE LEVELS
- 22 SEC. 224. (a) Section 1842(b)(3) of the Social Secu-
- 23 rity Act is amended by adding at the end thereof the follow-
- ing new sentences: "No charge may be determined to be
- reasonable in the case of bills submitted or requests for pay-

ment made under this part after December 31, 1970, if it exceeds the higher of (i) the prevailing charge recognized by 2 the carrier and found acceptable by the Secretary for similar 3 services in the same locality in administering this part on 4 December 31, 1970, or (ii) the prevailing charge level that, 5 6 on the basis of statistical data and methodology acceptable 7 to the Secretary, would cover 75 percent of the customary 8 charges made for similar services in the same locality during 9 the last preceding calendar year elapsing prior to the start 10 of the fiscal year in which the bill is submitted or the request 11 for payment is made. The prevailing charge level determined 12for purposes of clause (ii) of the preceding sentence for any 13 fiscal year beginning after June 30, 1972, may not exceed 14 (in the aggregate) the level determined under such clause 15 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1972, except to the extent 16 that the Secretary finds, on the basis of appropriate eco-17 nomic index data, that such higher level is justified by eco-18 nomic changes. In the case of medical services, supplies, and **19** equipment that, in the judgment of the Secretary, do not gen-20 erally vary significantly in quality from one supplier to an-21other, the charges incurred after June 30, 1972, deter-22 mined to be reasonable may exceed the lowest charge levels at 23which such services, supplies, and equipment are widely 24 available in a locality only to the extent and under the cir-25 cumstances specified by the Secretary."

- 1 (b) The Health Insurance Benefits Advisory Council
- 2 established under section 1867 of the Social Security Act
- 3 shall conduct a study of the methods of reimbursement for
- 4 physicians' services under Medicare for the purpose of evalu-
- 5 ating their effects on (1) physicians' fees generally, (2)
- 6 the extent of assignments accepted by physicians, and (3)
- 7 the share of total physician-fee costs which the Medicare
- 8 program does not pay and which the beneficiary must assume.
- 9 The Council shall report the results of such study to the
- 10 Congress no later than July 1, 1972, together with a pres-
- 11 entation of alternatives to the present methods and its
- 12 recommendations as to the preferred method.
- 13 (c) Section 1903 of such Act is amended by adding
- 14 at the end thereof (after the new subsections added by
- 15 section 207(a)(1) of this Act) the following new sub-
- 16 section:
- "(i) Payment under the preceding provisions of this
- 18 section shall not be made with respect to any amount paid
- 19 for items or services furnished under the plan after June
- 20 30, 1971, to the extent that such amount exceeds the
- 21 charge which would be determined to be reasonable for
- 22 such items or services under the third, fourth, and fifth
- 23 sentences of section 1842(b)(3)."
- 24 (d) Section 506 of such Act is amended by adding

<sup>25</sup> at the end thereof the following new subsection:

1	"(f) Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this
2	section, no payment shall be made to any State thereunder
3	with respect to any amount paid for items or services
4	furnished under the plan after June 30, 1971, to the
5	extent that such amount exceeds the charge which would
6	be determined to be reasonable for such items or services
7	under the third, fourth, and fifth sentences of section 1842
8	(b)(3)."
9	LIMITS ON PAYMENT FOR SKILLED NURSING HOME AND
10	INTERMEDIATE CARE FACILITY SERVICES
11	SEC. 225. Section 1903 of the Social Security Act is
12	amended by adding at the end thereof (after the new sub-
13	section added by section 224(c) of this Act) the following
14	new subsection:
15	"(j) Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this
16	section—
17	"(1) in determining the amount payable to any
18	State with respect to expenditures for skilled nursing
19	home services furnished in any calendar quarter begin-
<b>2</b> 0	ning after December 31, 1971, there shall not be included
21	as expenditures under the State plan any amount in ex-
22	cess of the product of (A) the number of inpatient days
<b>2</b> 3	of skilled nursing home services provided under the
24	State plan in such quarter, and (B) 105 per centum
25	of the average non diem cost of such services for the

of the average per diem cost of such services for the

fourth calendar quarter preceding such calendar quar ter; and

"(2) in determining the amount payable to any State with respect to expenditures for intermediate care facility services furnished in any calendar quarter beginning after December 31, 1971, there shall not be included as expenditures under the State plan any amount in excess of the product of (A) the number of inpatient days of intermediate care facility services provided in such quarter under each of the plans of such State approved under titles I, X, XIV, XVI, and XIX, and (B) 105 per centum of the average per diem cost of such services for the fourth calendar quarter preceding such calendar quarter.

For purposes of determining the amount payable to any State with respect to any quarter under paragraphs (1) and (2), the Secretary may by regulation increase the percentage specified in clause (B) of each such paragraph to the extent necessary to take account of increases in per diem costs which result directly from increases in the Federal minimum wage, or which otherwise result directly from provisions of Federal law enacted (or amendments to Federal law made) after the date of the enactment of the Social Security Amendments of 1971."

1	PAYMENTS TO HEALTH MAINTENANCE ORGANIZATIONS
2	Sec. 226. (a) Title XVIII of the Social Security
3	Act is amended by adding at the end thereof the following
4	new section:
5	"PAYMENTS TO HEALTH MAINTENANCE ORGANIZATIONS
6	"SEC. 1876. (a) (1) In lieu of amounts which would
7	otherwise be payable pursuant to sections 1814(b) and
8	1833(a), the Secretary is authorized to determine, by
9	actuarial methods, as provided in this section, but only with
10	respect to a health maintenance organization with which he
11	has entered into a contract under subsection (i), a prospective
12	per capita rate of payment—
13	"(A) for services provided under parts A and B for
14	individuals enrolled with such organization pursuant to
15	subsection (e) who are entitled to hospital insurance
16	benefits under part A and enrolled for medical insurance
17	benefits under part B, and
18	"(B) for services provided under part B for indi-
19	viduals enrolled with such organization pursuant to sub-
20	section (e) who are not entitled to benefits under part
21	A but who are enrolled for benefits under part B.
22	"(2)(A) Each such rate of payment shall be deter-
23	mined annually in accordance with regulations and shall be
24	equal to 95 per centum of the amount that the Secretary
<b>25</b>	estimates (with appropriate adjustments to assure actuarial

- 1 equivalence) would be payable for services covered under
- 2 this title (including administrative costs incurred by orga-
- 3 nizations described in sections 1816 and 1842) if such serv-
- 4 ices were to be furnished by other than health maintenance
- 5 organizations.
- 6 "(B) In order to assure that health maintenance orga-
- 7 nizations will not be permitted to retain revenues in excess
- 8 of expenses with respect to such individuals at a rate greater
- 9 than that applicable to their other enrollees, any contract
- 10 with a health maintenance organization under this title shall
- 11 provide that the Secretary shall require, at such time follow-
- 12 ing the expiration of each accounting period of a health
- 13 maintenance organization (and in such form and in such
- 14 detail) as he may prescribe:
- "(i) that such organization report to him in a cer-
- 16 tified public statement the amount retained (as herein
- defined) and the rate of retention (as herein defined) for
- the preceding accounting period with respect to (I)
- individuals enrolled with such organization under this
- section, considered as a group, and (II) all other individ-
- 21 uals enrolled with such organization, considered as a
- group;
- 23 "(ii) that an audit (meeting requirements pre-
- scribed by the Secretary) be conducted with respect to
- 25 any such organization which has a rate of retention with

respect to individuals enrolled under this section which is
in excess of 90 per centum of such organization's rate of
retention with respect to all other individuals enrolled
with such organization;

"(iii) that such part of the amount retained by any health maintenance organization with respect to individuals enrolled under this section which is attributable to an excessive rate of retention (as herein defined) shall be repaid by such organization unless used by it to provide benefits to enrollees under this section in addition to those specified in subsection (c) or to reduce the premium rates charged by such organization to such enrollees pursuant to subsection (g).

## 14 For purposes of this section—

"(iv) the term 'amount retained' means the difference between (I) the revenues (irrespective of the source of such revenues) of any health maintenance organization (for any accounting period as defined in regulations) with respect to any group of individuals who are enrolled with such organization and (II) the expenses of such organization (for such accounting period) with respect to such group of individuals;

"(v) the term 'rate of retention' means the ratio of such amount retained to such revenues, expressed as a percentage; and  $\mathbf{2}$ 

3

23

24

"(vi) the term 'excessive rate of retention' means 1 (I) any rate of retention of any health maintenance organization with respect to individuals enrolled under this 4 section which is greater than such organization's rate of retention with respect to all other individuals enrolled 5 6 with such organization, or (II) with respect to any 7 health maintenance organization to which subsection (h) 8 applies, any rate of retention with respect to individuals 9 enrolled under this section which is greater than a rea-10 sonable rate of retention as determined in accordance 11 with regulations, taking into account the rate of reten-12 tion experienced by comparable organizations with re-13 spect to other individuals enrolled with such compa-14 rable organizations. "(3) The payments to health maintenance organizations 15 16 under this subparagraph with respect to individuals described in subsection (a)(1)(A) shall be made from the Federal 17 18 Hospital Insurance Trust Fund and the Federal Supplemen-19 tary Medical Insurance Trust Fund. The portion of such 20payment to such an organization for a month to be paid 21by the latter trust fund shall be equal to 200 percent of the 22sum of—

"(A) the product of (i) the number of covered

enrollees of such organization for such month (as de-

1	scribed in paragraph (1)) who have attained age 65,
2	and (ii) the monthly actuarial rate for supplementary
3	medical insurance for such month as determined under
4	section 1839(c)(1), and
5	"(B) the product of (i) the number of covered
6	enrollees of such organization for such month (as de-
7	scribed in paragraph (1)) who have not attained age
8	65, and (ii) the monthly actuarial rate for supplementary
9	medical insurance for such month as determined under
10	section $1839(c)(4)$ .
11	The remainder of such payment shall be paid by the former
12	trust fund. For limitation on Federal participation for
13	capital expenditures which are out of conformity with a
14	comprehensive plan of a State or areawide planning agency,
15	see section 1122.
16	"(b) The term 'health maintenance organization' means
17	a public or private organization which—
18	"(1) provides, either directly or through arrange-
19	ments with others, health services to individuals enrolled
20	with such organization under subsection (e) on a per
21	capita prepayment basis;
22	"(2) provides, either directly or through arrange-
23	ments with others, to the extent applicable in subsection
24	(c) (through institutions, entities, and persons meeting

the applicable requirements of section 1861), all of the

1	services and benefits covered under parts A and B of this
2	title;
3	"(3) provides physicians' services (A) directly
4	through physicians who are either employees or partners
5	of such organization, or (B) under arrangements with
6	one or more groups of physicians (organized on a group
7	practice or individual practice basis) under which each
8	such group is reimbursed for its services primarily on the
9	basis of an aggregate fixed sum or on a per capita basis,
10	regardless of whether the individual physician members
11	of any such group are paid on a fee-for-service or other
12	basis;
13	"(4) demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Secre-
14	tary proof of financial responsibility and proof of capa-
15	bility to provide comprehensive health care services, in-
16	cluding institutional services, efficiently, effectively, and
17	economically;

"(5) except as provided in subsection (h), has at least half of its enrolled members consisting of individuals under age 65;

"(6) assures that the health services required by its members are received promptly and appropriately and that the services that are received measure up to quality standards which it establishes in accordance with regulations; and

1	"(7) has an open enrollment period at least every
2	year under which it accepts up to the limits of its capacity
3	and without restrictions, except as may be authorized in
4	regulations, individuals who are eligible to enroll under
5	subsection (d) in the order in which they apply for en-
6	rollment (unless to do so would result in failure to meet
7	the requirements of paragraph (5)).
8	"(c) The benefits provided under this section shall con-
9	sist of—
10	"(1) in the case of an individual who is entitled to
11	hospital insurance benefits under part A and enrolled for
12	medical insurance benefits under part B—
13	"(A) entitlement to have payment made on
14	his behalf for all services described in section 1812
15	and section 1832 which are furnished to him by the
16	health maintenance organization with which he is
17	enrolled pursuant to subsection (e) of this section;
18	and
19	"(B) entitlement to have payment made by
20	such health maintenance organization to him or on
21	his behalf for such emergency services (as defined
22	in regulations), or such other services as may be de-
<b>23</b>	termined, in accordance with subsection (f), to be
24	services which the individual was entitled to have
<b>25</b>	furnished by the health maintenance organization, as

1	may be furnished to him by a physician, supplier,
2	or provider of services, other than the health main-
3	tenance organization with which he is enrolled; and
4	"(2) in the case of an individual who is not en-
5	titled to hospital insurance benefits under part A but
6	who is enrolled for medical insurance benefits under part
7	B, entitlement to have payment made for services de-
8	scribed in paragraph (1), but only to the extent that
9	such services are also described in section 1832.
10	"(d) Subject to the provisions of subsection (e), every
11	individual described in subsection (c) shall be eligible to
12	enroll with any health maintenance organization (as defined
13	in subsection (b)) which serves the geographic area in
14	which such individual resides.
<b>1</b> 5	"(e) An individual may enroll with a health mainte-
16	nance organization under this section, and may terminate
17	such enrollment, as may be prescribed by regulations.
18	"(f) Any individual enrolled with a health maintenance
19	organization under this section who is dissatisfied by reason
20	of his failure to receive without additional cost to him any
21	health service to which he believes he is entitled shall, if
22	the amount in controversy is \$100 or more, be entitled
23	to a hearing before the Secretary to the same extent as is
24	provided in section 205(b) and in any such hearing the

Secretary shall make such health maintenance organization

- 1 a party thereto. If the amount in controversy is \$1,000
- 2 or more, such individual or health maintenance organization
- 3 shall be entitled to judicial review of the Secretary's final
- 4 decision after such hearing as is provided in section 205(g).
- 5 "(g)(1) If the health maintenance organization pro-
- 6 vides its enrollees under this section only the services de-
- 7 scribed in subsection (c), its premium rate for such enrollees
- 8 shall not exceed the actuarial value of the deductible and
- 9 coinsurance which would otherwise be applicable to such
- 10 enrollees under part A and part B, if they were not enrolled
- 11 under this section.
- 12 "(2) If the health maintenance organization provides
- 13 to its enrollees under this section services in addition to those
- 14 described in subsection (c), it shall furnish such enrollees
- with information on the portion of its premium rate appli-
- 16 cable to such additional services. The portion applicable to
- 17 the services described in subsection (c) may not exceed the
- 18 actuarial value of the deductible and coinsurance which
- would otherwise be applicable to such enrollees under part A
- and part B if they were not enrolled under this section.
- 21 "(h) The provisions of paragraph (5) of subsection
- (b) shall not apply with respect to any health maintenance
- organization for such period not to exceed three years from
- the date such organization enters into an agreement with the
- Secretary pursuant to subsection (i), as the Secretary may

- 1 permit, but only so long as such organization demonstrates
- 2 to the satisfaction of the Secretary by the submission of its
- 3 plans for each year that it is making continuous efforts and
- 4 progress toward achieving compliance with the provisions
- 5 of such paragraph (5) within such three-year period.
- 6 "(i)(1) The Secretary is authorized to enter into a
- 7 contract with any health maintenance organization which
- 8 undertakes to provide, on a per capita prepayment basis,
- 9 the services described in section 1832 (and section 1812, in
- 10 the case of individuals who are entitled to hospital insurance
- 11 benefits under part A) to individuals enrolled with such
- 12 organization pursuant to subsection (e).
- 13 "(2) Each contract under this section shall be for a
- 14 term of at least one year, as determined by the Secretary, and
- may be made automatically renewable from term to term
- in the absence of notice by either party of intention to ter-
- 17 minate at the end of the current term; except that the Sec-
- 18 retary may terminate any such contract at any time (after
- 19 such reasonable notice and opportunity for hearing to the
- 20 health maintenance organization involved as he may provide
- in regulations), if he finds that the organization (A) has
- failed substantially to carry out the contract, (B) is carrying
- out the contract in a manner inconsistent with the efficient
- and effective administration of this section, or (C) no longer
- substantially meets the applicable conditions of subsection (b).

1	"(3) The effective date of any contract executed pur-
2	suant to this subsection shall be specified in such contract
3	pursuant to the regulations.
4	"(4) Each contract under this section—
5	"(A) shall provide that the Secretary, or any per-
6	son or organization designated by him—
7	"(i) shall have the right to inspect or other-
8	wise evaluate the quality, appropriateness, and
9	timeliness of services performed under such con-
10	tract; and
11	"(ii) shall have the right to audit and inspect
12	any books and records of such health maintenance
13	organization which pertain to services performed
14	and determinations of amounts payable under such
15	contract; and
16	"(B) shall contain such other terms and conditions
17	not inconsistent with this section as the Secretary may
18	find necessary.
19	"(j) The function vested in the Secretary by subsection
20	(i) may be performed without regard to such provisions of
21	law or of other regulations relating to the making, perform-
22	ance, amendment, or modification of contracts of the United
23	States as the Secretary may determine to be inconsistent with
24	the furtherance of the purposes of this title."
25	(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of section 1814 and

- 1 section 1833 of the Social Security Act, any health main-
- 2 tenance organization which has entered into a contract with
- 3 the Secretary pursuant to section 1876 of such Act shall, for
- 4 the duration of such contract, be entitled to reimbursement
- 5 only as provided in section 1876 of such Act for individuals
- 6 who are members of such organizations; except that with
- 7 respect to individuals who were members of such organi-
- 8 zation prior to January 1, 1972, and who, although eligible
- 9 to have payment made pursuant to section 1876 of such
- 10 Act for services rendered to them, chose (in accordance
- 11 with regulations) not to have such payment made pursuant
- 12 to such section, the Secretary shall, for a period not to
- 13 exceed three years commencing on January 1, 1972, pay
- 14 such organization on the basis of a per capita rate, de-
- 15 termined in accordance with the provisions of section
- 16 1876(a) of such Act, with appropriate actuarial adjustments
- 17 to reflect the difference in utilization of out-of-plan services
- 18 between such individuals and individuals who are enrolled
- 19 with such organization pursuant to section 1876 of such Act.
- 20 (c)(1) Section 1814(a) of such Act is amended by
- 21 striking out "Except as provided in subsection (d)," and
- 22 inserting in lieu thereof the following: "Except as provided
- 23 in subsection (d) and in section 1876,".
- 24 (2) Section 1833(a) of such Act is amended by strik-

1	ing out "Subject to" and inserting in lieu thereof the follow-
2	ing: "Except as provided in section 1876, and subject to".
3	(d) The amendments made by this section shall be
4	effective with respect to services provided on or after
5	January 1, 1972.
6	PAYMENT UNDER MEDICARE FOR SERVICES OF PHYSICIANS
7	RENDERED AT A TEACHING HOSPITAL
8	Sec. 227. (a) Section 1861(b) of the Social Security
9	Act is amended by striking out the second sentence and in-
10	serting in lieu thereof the following:
11	"Paragraph (4) shall not apply to services provided in a
12	hospital by—
13	"(6) an intern or a resident-in-training under a
14	teaching program approved by the Council on Medical
15	Education of the American Medical Association or, in
16	the case of an osteopathic hospital, approved by the
17	Committee on Hospitals of the Bureau of Professional
18	Education of the American Osteopathic Association, or,
19	in the case of services in a hospital or osteopathic hos-
<b>2</b> 0	pital by an intern or resident-in-training in the field of
21	dentistry, approved by the Council on Dental Education
22	of the American Dental Association; or
23	"(7) a physician where the hospital has a teaching
24	program approved as specified in paragraph (6), unless

(A) such inpatient is a private patient (as defined in

1	regulations), or $(B)$ the hospital establishes that
2	during the two-year period ending December 31, 1967,
3	and each year thereafter all inpatients have been regu-
4	larly billed by the hospital for services rendered by
5	physicians and reasonable efforts have been made to
6	collect in full from all patients and payment of reason-
7	able charges (including applicable deductibles and coin-
8	surance) has been regularly collected in full or in sub-
9	stantial part from at least 50 percent of all inpatients."
10	(b)(1) So much of section 1814(a) of such Act as
11	precedes paragraph (1) (as amended by section 226(c)
<b>12</b>	(1) of this Act) is further amended by striking out "sub-
13	section (d)" and inserting in lieu thereof "subsections (d)
14	and $(g)$ ".
15	(2) Section 1814 is further amended by adding at the
16	end thereof the following new subsection:
17	"Payment for Services of a Physician Rendered in a
18	$Teaching \ Hospital$
19	"(g) For purposes of services for which the reasonable
20	cost thereof is determined under section $1861(v)(1)(D)$ ,
21	payment under this part shall be made to such fund as may
22	be designated by the organized medical staff of the hospital
23	in which such services were furnished or, if such services
24	were furnished in such hospital by the faculty of a medical

1	school, to such fund as may be designated by such faculty,
2	but only if—
3	"(1) such hospital has an agreement with the Sec-
4	retary under section 1866, and
5	"(2) the Secretary has received written assurances
6	that (A) such payment will be used by such fund solely
7	for the improvement of care of hospital patients or for
8	educational or charitable purposes and (B) the individ-
9	uals who were furnished such services or any other per-
10	sons will not be charged for such services (or if charged,
11	provision will be made for return of any moneys in-
12	correctly collected)."
13	(c) Section 1861(v)(1) of such Act (as amended by
14	section 223 of this Act) is amended—
15	(1) by inserting "(A)" after "(1)";
16	(2) by striking out "(A) take" and "(B) provide"
17	in the fourth sentence and inserting in lieu thereof "(i)
18	take" and "(ii) provide", respectively;
19	(3) by inserting "(B)" immediately preceding
20	"Such regulations in the case of extended care services";
21	and
22	(4) by adding at the end thereof the following new
23	$\it subparagraphs:$
24	"(C) Where a hospital has an arrangement
25	1.7 71 7 7 7 7 7 7 .7 .7

with a medical school under which the faculty of

1	such school provides services at such hospital, an
2	amount not in excess of the reasonable cost of such
3	services to the medical school shall be included in
4	determining the reasonable cost to the hospital of
5	furnishing services—
6	"(i) for which payment may be made un-
7	$der\ part\ A,\ but\ only\ if$
8	"(I) payment for such services as
9	furnished under such arrangement would
10	be made under part A to the hospital had
11	such services been furnished by the hospital,
12	and
13	"(II) such hospital pays to the medi-
14	cal school at least the reasonable cost of
15	such services to the medical school, or
16	"(ii) for which payment may be made
17	under part B, but only if such hospital pays to
18	the medical school at least the reasonable cost of
19	such services to the medical school.
20	"(D) Where (i) physicians furnish services
21	which are either inpatient hosiptal services (includ-
22	ing services in conjunction with the teaching pro-
23	grams of such hospital) by reason of paragraph
24	(7) of subsection (b) or for which entitlement
25	exists by reason of clause (II) of section 1832(a)

	(2)(B) (i) and (ii) such hospital (or medical
	school under arrangement with such hospital) incurs
	no actual cost in the furnishing of such services, the
	reasonable cost of such services shall (under regula-
	tions of the Secretary) be deemed to be the cost such
	hospital or medical school would have incurred had
	it paid a salary to such physicians rendering such
	services approximately equivalent to the average
	salary paid to all physicians employed by such hos-
•	pital (or if such employment does not exist, or is
	minimal in such hospital, by similar hospitals in a
	geographic area of sufficient size to assure reason-
	able inclusion of sufficient physicians in develop-
	ment of such average salary)."

- (d)(1) Section 1861(u) of such Act is amended by inserting before the period at the end thereof the following:
  ", or, for purposes of section 1814(g) and section 1835(e), a fund".
- (2) So much of section 1866(a)(1) of such Act as
  precedes subparagraph (A) is amended by inserting "(except a fund designated for purposes of section 1814(g) and
  section 1835(e))" after "provider of services".
- (e) (1) Section 1832(a)(2)(B) of such Act is amended ed to read as follows:

<sup>25 &</sup>quot;(B) medical and other health services fur-

1	nished by a provider of services or by others under
2	arrangements with them made by a provider of serv-
3	ices, excluding—
4	"(i) physician services except where fur-
5	$nished\ by$ —
6	"(I) a resident or intern of a hospital,
7	or
8	"(II) a physician to a patient in a
9	hospital which has a teaching program ap-
10	proved as specified in paragraph (6) of sec-
11	tion 1861(b) (including services in con-
12	junction with the teaching programs of
13	such hospital whether or not such patient
14	is an inpatient of such hospital), unless
15	either clause (A) or (B) of paragraph
16	(7) of such section is met, and
17	"(ii) services for which payment may be
18	made pursuant to section 1835(b)(2); and".
19	(2)(A) So much of section 1835(a) of such Act as
20	precedes paragraph (1) is amended by striking out "sub-
21	sections (b) and (c)," and inserting in lieu thereof "sub-
22	sections (b), (c), and (e),".
23	(B) Section 1835 of such Act is further amended by
24	adding at the end thereof the following new subsection:
25	"(e) For purposes of services (1) which are inpatient

- 1 hospital services by reason of paragraph (7) of section 1861
- 2 (b) or for which entitlement exists by reason of clause (II)
- $^3$  of section 1832(a)(2)(B)(i), and (2) for which the rea-
- 4 sonable cost thereof is determined under section 1861(v)
- $^{5}$  (1)(D), payment under this part shall be made to such
- 6 fund as may be designated by the organized medical staff of
- 7 the hospital in which such services were furnished or, if such
- 8 services were furnished in such hospital by the faculty of a
- 9 medical school, to such fund as may be designated by such
- 10 faculty, but only if—
- "(1) such hospital has an agreement with the
- 12 Secretary under section 1866, and
- 13 "(2) the Secretary has received written assurances
- that such payment will be used by such fund solely for
- the improvement of care to patients in such hospital
- or for educational or charitable purposes and (B) the
- individuals who were furnished such services or any
- other persons will not be charged for such services (or if
- charged provision will be made for return for any moneys
- incorrectly collected)."
- 21 (3) Section 1842(a) of such Act is amended by in-
- serting after "which involve payments for physicians' serv-
- ices" the following: "on a reasonable charge basis".
- (f) Section 1861(q) of such Act is amended by strik-

25 ing out the parenthetical phrase "(but not including services

1	described in the last sentence of subsection (b))" and in-
2	serting in lieu thereof "(but not including services described
3	in subsection (b)(6))".
4	(g) The amendments made by this section shall apply
5	with respect to accounting periods beginning after June 30,
6	1971.
7	ADVANCE APPROVAL OF EXTENDED CARE AND HOME
8	HEALTH COVERAGE UNDER MEDICARE
9	SEC. 228. (a) Section 1814 of the Social Security Act
10	(as amended by section 227(b)(2) of this Act) is amended
11	by adding at the end thereof the following new subsections:
12	"Payment for Posthospital Extended Care Services
13	"(h)(1) An individual shall be presumed to require the
14	care specified in subsection (a)(2)(C) of this section for
15	purposes of making payment to an extended care facility
16	(subject to the provisions of section 1812) for posthospital
17	extended care services which are furnished by such facility
18	to such individual if—
19	"(A) the certification referred to in subsection (a)
20	(2)(C) of this section is submitted prior to or at the
21	time of admission of such individual to such extended care
22	facility,
23	"(B) such certification states that the medical
24	condition of the individual is a condition designated in

regulations,

1	"(C) such certification is accompanied by a plan
2	of treatment for providing such services, and
3	"(D) there is compliance with such other require-
4	ments and procedures as may be specified in regulations,
5	but only for services furnished during such limited periods
6	of time with respect to such conditions of the individual as
7	may be prescribed in regulations by the Secretary, taking
8	into account the medical severity of such conditions, the
9	degree of incapacity, and the minimum length of stay in an
10	institution generally needed for such conditions, and such
11	other factors affecting the type of care to be provided as the
12	Secretary deems pertinent.
13	"(2) If the Secretary determines with respect to a
14	physician that such physician is submitting with some fre-
<b>1</b> 5	quency (A) erroneous certifications that individuals have
16	conditions designated in regulations as provided in this sub-
17	section or (B) plans for providing services which are inap-
18	propriate, the provisions of paragraph (1) shall not apply,
19	after the effective date of such determination, in any case
20	in which such physician submits a certification or plan re-
21	ferred to in subparagraph (A), (B), or (C) of paragraph
22.	(1).
23	"Payment for Posthospital Home Health Services
<b>24</b>	"(i)(1) An individual shall be presumed to require

the services specified in subsection (a)(2)(D) of this

1	section for purposes of making payment to a home health
2	agency (subject to the provisions of section 1812) for post-
3	hospital home health services furnished by such agency to
4	such individual if—
5	"(A) the certification and plan referred to in sub-
6	section (a)(2)(D) of this section are submitted in
7	timely fashion prior to the first visit by such agency,
8	"(B) such certification states that the medical
9	condition of the individual is a condition designated in
10	regulations, and
11	"(C) there is compliance with such other require-
12	ments and procedures as may be specified in regulations,
13	but only for services furnished during such limited numbers
14	of visits with respect to such conditions of the individual as
15	may be prescribed in regulations by the Secretary, taking into
16	account the medical severity of such conditions, the degree
17	of incapacity, and the minimum period of home confinement
18	generally needed for such conditions, and such other factors
19	affecting the type of care to be provided as the Secretary
20	deems pertinent.
21	"(2) If the Secretary determines with respect to a phy-
22	sician that such physician is submitting with some frequency
23	(A) erroneous certifications that individuals have conditions

designated in regulations as provided in this subsection or

(B) plans for providing services which are inappropriate, the

24

1	provisions of paragraph (1) shall not apply, after the effect
2	tive date of such determination, in any case in which such
3	physician submits a certification or plan referred to in sub
4	paragraph (A) or (B) of paragraph (1)."
5	(b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall be
6	effective with respect to admissions to extended care facilities
7	and home health plans initiated, on or after January 1, 1972
8	AUTHORITY OF SECRETARY TO TERMINATE PAYMENTS
9	TO SUPPLIERS OF SERVICES
10	SEC. 229. (a) Section 1862 of the Social Security Act
11	(as amended by section 210 of this Act) is further amended
12	by adding at the end thereof the following new subsection:
13	"(d)(1) No payment may be made under this title
14	with respect to any item or services furnished to an individ-
15	ual by a person where the Secretary determines under this
16	subsection that such person—
17	"(A) has knowingly and willfully made, or
18	caused to be made, any false statement or representa-
19	tion of a material fact for use in an application for
20	payment under this title or for use in determining the
21	right to a payment under this title;
22	"(B) has submitted or caused to be submitted (ex-
23	cept in the case of a provider of services), bills or re-
<ul><li>24</li><li>25</li></ul>	quests for payment under this title containing charges
~0	/ ' 7' 77

(or in applicable cases requests for payment of costs to

such person) for services rendered which the Secretary finds, with the concurrence of the appropriate program review team appointed pursuant to paragraph (4), to be substantially in excess of such person's customary charges (or in applicable cases substantially in excess of such person's costs) for such services, unless the Secretary finds there is good cause for such bills or requests containing such charges (or in applicable cases, such costs); or

"(C) has furnished services or supplies which are determined by the Secretary, with the concurrence of the members of the appropriate program review team appointed pursuant to paragraph (4) who are physicians or other professional personnel in the health care field, to be substantially in excess of the needs of individuals or to be harmful to individuals or to be of a grossly inferior quality.

"(2) A determination made by the Secretary under this subsection shall be effective at such time and upon such reasonable notice to the public and to the person furnishing the services involved as may be specified in regulations. Such determination shall be effective with respect to services furnished to an individual on or after the effective date of such determination (except that in the case of inpatient hospital services, posthospital extended care services, and home

- 1 health services such determination shall be effective in the
- 2 manner provided in section 1866(b) (3) and (4) with
- 3 respect to terminations of agreements), and shall remain in
- 4 effect until the Secretary finds and gives reasonable notice
- 5 to the public that the basis for such determination has been
- 6 removed and that there is reasonable assurance that it will
- 7 not recur.
- 8 "(3) Any person furnishing services described in para-
- 9 graph (1) who is dissatisfied with a determination made by
- 10 the Secretary under this subsection shall be entitled to rea-
- 11 sonable notice and opportunity for a hearing thereon by
- 12 the Secretary to the same extent as is provided in section
- 13 205(b), and to judicial review of the Secretary's final deci-
- 14 sion after such hearing as is provided in section 205(q).
- 15 "(4) For the purposes of paragraph (1)(B) and (C)
- 16 of this subsection, and clause (F) of section 1866(b)(2),
- 17 the Secretary shall, after consultation with appropriate State
- 18 and local professional societies, the appropriate carriers and
- 19 intermediaries utilized in the administration of this title, and
- 20 consumer representatives familiar with the health needs of
- 21 residents of the State, appoint one or more program review
- 22 teams (composed of physicians, other professional personnel
- 23 in the health care field, and consumer representatives) in
- <sup>24</sup> each State which shall, among other things—
- 25 "(A) undertake to review such statistical data on

1	program utilization as may be submitted by the Secre-
2	tary,
3	"(B) submit to the Secretary periodically, as may
4	be prescribed in regulations, a report on the results of
5	such review, together with recommendations with re-
6	spect thereto,
7	"(C) undertake to review particular cases where
8	there is a likelihood that the person or persons furnish-
9	ing services and supplies to individuals may come within
10	the provisions of paragraph (1) (B) and (C) of this
11	subsection or clause (F) of section 1866(b)(2), and
12	"(D) submit to the Secretary periodically, as may
13	be prescribed in regulations, a report of cases reviewed
14	pursuant to subparagraph (C) along with an analysis
15	of, and recommendations with respect to, such cases."
16	(b) Section 1866(b)(2) of such Act is amended by
17	striking out the period at the end thereof and inserting in
18	lieu thereof the following: ", or (D) that such provider
19	has made, or caused to be made, any false statement or rep-
20	resentation of a material fact for use in an application for
21	payment under this title or for use in determining the right
22	to a payment under this title, or (E) that such provider

has submitted, or caused to be submitted, requests for pay-

ment under this title of amounts for rendering services sub-

stantially in excess of the costs incurred by such provider

23

24

1	for rendering such services, or (F) that such provider has
2	furnished services or supplies which are determined by the
3	Secretary, with the concurrence of the members of the
4	appropriate program review team appointed pursuant to
5	section 1862(d)(4) who are physicians or other profes-
6	sional personnel in the health care field, to be substantially
7	in excess of the needs of individuals or to be harmful to
8	individuals or to be of a grossly inferior quality."
9	(c) Section 1903(i) of such Act (as added by section
10	224(c) of this Act) is further amended by striking out
11	"shall not be made" and all that follows and inserting in
12	lieu thereof the following: "shall not be made-
13	"(1) with respect to any amount paid for items or
14	services furnished under the plan after June 30, 1971,
15	to the extent that such amount exceeds the charge which
16	would be determined to be reasonable for such items or
17	services under the fourth and fifth sentences of section
18	1842(b)(3); or
19	"(2) with respect to any amount paid for services
20	furnished under the plan after June 30, 1971, by a pro-
21	vider or other person during any period of time, if pay-
22	ment may not be made under title XVIII with respect
23	to services furnished by such provider or person during

such period of time solely by reason of a determination

by the Secretary under section 1862(d)(1) or under

24

Т	clause (D), (E), or (F) of section $1866(6)(2)$ .
2	(d) Section 506(f) of such Act (as added by section
3	224(d) of this Act) is further amended by striking out "no
4	payment shall be made" and all that follows and inserting in
5	lieu thereof the following: "no payment shall be made to
6	any State thereunder—
7	"(1) with respect to any amount paid for items
8	or services furnished under the plan after June 30, 1971,
9	to the extent that such amount exceeds the charge which
10	would be determined to be reasonable for such items or
11	services under the fourth and fifth sentences of section
12	1842(b)(3); or
13	"(2) with respect to any amount paid for services
14	furnished under the plan after June 30, 1971, by a
15	provider or other person during any period of time, if
16	payment may not be made under title XVIII with
17	respect to services furnished by such provider or person
18	during such period of time solely by reason of a determi-
19	nation by the Secretary under section 1862(d)(1) or
20	under clause (D), (E), or (F) of section $1866(b)(2)$ ."
21	ELIMINATION OF REQUIREMENT THAT STATES MOVE
22	TOWARD COMPREHENSIVE MEDICAID PROGRAMS
23	SEC. 230. Section 1903(e) of the Social Security Act,
2 <b>4</b>	and section 2(b) of Public Law 91-56 (approved August
<b>25</b>	9, 1969), are repealed.

1	REDUCTIONS IN CARE AND SERVICES UNDER MEDICAID
2	SEC. 231. Section 1902(d) of the Social Security Act
3	is amended—
4	(1) by inserting "required to be included pursuant
5	to subsection (a)(13) and" after "extent of the care
6	and services" in the matter preceding paragraph (1);
7	(2) by striking out "or to terminate any of such
8	care and services,"; and
9	(3) by inserting "with respect to care and services
10	required to be included pursuant to subsection (a)(13)"
11	after "under the plan" in paragraph (1).
12	DETERMINATION OF REASONABLE COST OF INPATIENT
13	HOSPITAL SERVICES UNDER MEDICAID AND UNDER
<b>14</b>	MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH PROGRAM
15	Sec. 232. (a) Section 1902(a)(13)(D) of the Social
16	Security Act is amended to read as follows:
17	"(D) for payment of the reasonable cost of in-
18	patient hospital services provided under the plan, as
19	determined in accordance with methods and stand-
20	ards which shall be developed by the State and in-
21	cluded in the plan, except that the reasonable cost of
22	any such services as determined under such methods
23	and standards shall not exceed the amount which
24	would be determined under section 1861(v) as the

T	reasonable cost of such services for purposes of title
2	XVIII;".
3	(b) Section 505(a)(6) of such Act is amended to read
4	as follows:
5	"(6) provides for payment of the reasonable cost of
6	inpatient hospital services provided under the plan, as
7	determined in accordance with methods and standards
8	which shall be developed by the State and included in the
9	plan, except that the reasonable cost of any such services
10	as determined under such methods and standards shall
11	not exceed the amount which would be determined under
12	section 1861(v) as the reasonable cost of such services
13	for purposes of title XVIII;".
14	(c) The amendments made by this section shall be
15	effective July 1, 1972 (or earlier if the State plan so pro-
16	vides).
17	AMOUNT OF PAYMENTS WHERE CUSTOMARY CHARGES FOR
18	SERVICES FURNISHED ARE LESS THAN REASONABLE
19	${\it cost}$
20	SEC. 233. (a) Section 1814(b) of the Social Security
21	Act is amended to read as follows:
22	"Amount Paid to Providers
23	"(b) The amount paid to any provider of services with
24	respect to services for which payment may be made under

1	this part shall, subject to the provisions of section 1813,
2	be—
3	"(1) the lesser of (A) the reasonable cost of such
4	services, as determined under section 1861(v), or (B)
5	the customary charges with respect to such services; or
6	"(2) if such services are furnished by a public
7	provider of services free of charge or at nominal charges
8	to the public, the amount determined on the basis of
9	those items (specified in regulations prescribed by the
10	Secretary) included in the determination of such reason-
11	able cost which the Secretary finds will provide fair com-
12	pensation to such provider for such services."
13	(b) Section 1833(a)(2) of such Act is amended to
14	read as follows:
15	"(2) in the case of services described in section
16	1832(a)(2)—80 percent of—
17	"(A) the lesser of (i) the reasonable cost of
18	such services, as determined under section 1861(v),
19	or (ii) the customary charges with respect to such
20	services; or
21	"(B) if such services are furnished by a public
22	provider of services free of charge or at nominal
23	charges to the public, the amount determined in
24	accordance with section 1814(b)(2)."
<b>25</b>	(c) Section 1903(i) of such Act (as added by section

1	224(c) and amended by section 229(c) of this Act) is fur-
2	ther amended by striking out the period at the end of para-
3	graph (2) and inserting in lieu thereof "; or", and by
4	adding after paragraph (2) the following new paragraph:
5	"(3) with respect to any amount expended for in-
6	patient hospital services furnished under the plan to the
7	extent that such amount exceeds the hospital's customary
8	charges with respect to such services or (if such services
9	are furnished under the plan by a public institution free
10	of charge or at nominal charges to the public) exceeds
11	an amount determined on the basis of those items (speci-
12	fied in regulations prescribed by the Secretary) included
13	in the determination of such payment which the Sec-
14	retary finds will provide fair compensation to such insti-
15	tution for such services."
16	(d) Section 506(f) of such Act (as added by section
17	224(d) and amended by section 229(d) of this Act) is
18	further amended by striking out the period at the end of para-
19	graph (2) and inserting in lieu thereof "; or", and by
20	adding after paragraph (2) the following new paragraph:
21	"(3) with respect to any amount expended for in-
22	patient hospital services furnished under the plan to the
23	extent that such amount exceeds the hospital's customary
<b>24</b>	charges with respect to such services or (if such services

- 1 are furnished under the plan by a public institution free
- 2 of charge or at nominal charges to the public) exceeds
- 3 an amount determined on the basis of those items (speci-
- 4 fied in regulations prescribed by the Secretary) in-
- 5 cluded in the determination of such payment which the
- 6 Secretary finds will provide fair compensation to such
- 7 institution for such services."
- 8 (e) Clause (2) of the second sentence of section 509(a)
- 9 of such Act (as amended by section 221(c)(3) of this Act)
- 10 is further amended by inserting "(A)" before "the reason-
- able cost", and by inserting after "under the project," the fol-
- 12 lowing: "or (B) if less, the customary charges with respect
- 13 to such services provided under the project, or (C) if such
- 14 services are furnished under the project by a public institu-
- 15 tion free of charge or at nominal charges to the public, an
- 16 amount determined on the basis of those items (specified in
- 17 regulations prescribed by the Secretary) included in the
- 18 determination of such reasonable cost which the Secretary
- 19 finds will provide fair compensation to such institution for
- 20 such services".
- 21 (f) The amendments made by subsections (a) and
- 22 (b) shall apply to services furnished by hospitals, extended
- 23 care facilities, and home health agencies in accounting
- 24 periods beginning after June 30, 1971. The amendments
- 25 made by subsections (c), (d), and (e) shall apply with

1	respect to services furnished by hospitals in accounting
2	periods beginning after June 30, 1971.
3	INSTITUTIONAL PLANNING UNDER MEDICARE
4	SEc. 234. (a) The first sentence of section 1861(e) of
5	the Social Security Act is amended—
6	(1) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
7	(7);
8	(2) by redesignating paragraph (8) as paragraph
9	(9); and
10	(3) by inserting after paragraph (7) the following
11	$new\ paragraph:$
12	"(8) has in effect an overall plan and budget that
13	meets the requirements of subsection (z); and".
14	(b) Section 1861(f)(2) of such Act is amended to
15	read as follows:
16	"(2) satisfies the requirements of paragraphs (3)
17	through (9) of subsection (e);".
18	(c) Section 1861(g)(2) of such Act is amended to
19	read as follows:
20	"(2) satisfies the requirements of paragraphs (3)
21	through (9) of subsection (e);".
22	(d) The first sentence of section 1861(j) of such Act
23	is amended—
24	(1) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
25	(9);

1	(2) by reaesignating paragraph (10) as paragraph
2	(11); and
3	(3) by inserting after paragraph (9) the following
4	$new\ paragraph:$
5	"(10) has in effect an overall plan and budget
6	that meets the requirements of subsection (z); and".
7	(e) Section 1861(o) of such Act is amended—
8	(1) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
9	(4);
10	(2) by redesignating paragraph (5) as paragraph
11	(6); and
12	(3) by inserting after paragraph (4) the following
13	$new\ paragraph:$
14	"(5) has in effect an overall plan and budget that
15	meets the requirements of subsection (z); and".
16	(f) Section 1861 of such Act is further amended by
17	adding at the end thereof the following new subsection:
18	"Institutional Planning
19	"(z) An overall plan and budget of a hospital, extended
20	care facility, or home health agency shall be considered suffi-
21	cient if it—
22	"(1) provides for an annual operating budget
23	which includes all anticipated income and expenses re-
24	lated to items which would, under generally accepted
25	accounting principles, be considered income and expense

1	items (except that nothing in this paragraph shall require
2	that there be prepared, in connection with any budget,
3	an item-by-item identification of the components of each
4	type of anticipated expenditure or income);
5	"(2) provides for a capital expenditures plan for at
6	least a 3-year period (including the year to which the
7	operating budget described in subparagraph (1) is ap-
8	plicable) which includes and identifies in detail the an-
9	ticipated sources of financing for, and the objectives of,
10	each anticipated expenditure in excess of \$100,000 re-
11	lated to the acquisition of land, the improvement of land,
12	buildings, and equipment, and the replacement, modern-
13	ization, and expansion of buildings and equipment which
14	would, under generally accepted accounting principles,
15	be considered capital items;
16	"(3) provides for review and updating at least
17	annually; and
18	"(4) is prepared, under the direction of the gov-
19	erning body of the institution or agency, by a committee
20	consisting of representatives of the governing body, the
21	administrative staff, and the medical staff (if any) of
22	the institution or agency."

(g)(1) Section 1814(a)(2)(C) and section 1814

(a)(2)(D) of such Act are each amended by striking out

"and (8)" and inserting in lieu thereof "and (9)".

23

24

- 1 (2) Section 1863 of such Act is amended by striking
- 2 out "subsections (e)(8), (f)(4), (g)(4), (j)(10), and
- 3 (o)(5)" and inserting in lieu thereof "subsections (e)(9),
- 4 (f)(4), (g)(4), (j)(11), and (o)(6)".
- 5 (h) Section 1865 of such Act is amended—
- 6 (1) by striking out "(except paragraph (6))
- 7 thereof)" in the first sentence and inserting in lieu
- 8 thereof "(except paragraphs (6) and (8) thereof)",
- 9 and
- 10 (2) by striking out the second sentence and insert-
- ing in lieu thereof the following: "If such Commission,
- as a condition for accreditation of a hospital, (1) re-
- quires a utilization review plan as defined in section
- 1861(k) or imposes another requirement which serves
- substantially the same purpose, or (2) requires insti-
- tutional plans as defined in section 1861(z) or imposes
- another requirement which serves substantially the
- same purpose, the Secretary is authorized to find that
- all institutions so accredited by the Commission comply
- also with section 1861(e)(6) or 1861(e)(8), as the
- case may be."
- (i) The amendments made by this section shall apply
- <sup>23</sup> with respect to any provider of services for fiscal years (of
- such provider) beginning after the fifth month following
- the month in which this Act is enacted.

1	PAYMENTS TO STATES UNDER MEDICAID FOR INSTALLA-
2	TION AND OPERATION OF CLAIMS PROCESSING AND
3	INFORMATION RETRIEVAL SYSTEMS
4	Sec. 235. (a) Section 1903(a) of the Social Security
5	Act is amended by redesignating paragraph (3) as para-
6	graph (4), and by inserting after paragraph (2) the
7	following new paragraph:
8	"(3) an amount equal to—
9	"(A)(i) 90 per centum of so much of the sums
10	expended during such quarter as are attributable
11	to the design, development, or installation of such
12	mechanized claims processing and information re-
13	trieval systems as the Secretary determines are
14	likely to provide more efficient, economical, and
15	effective administration of the plan and to be com-
16	patible with the claims processing and information
17	retrieval systems utilized in the administration of
18	title XVIII, including the State's share of the cost
19	of installing such a system to be used jointly in the
20	administration of such State's plan and the plan of
21	any other State approved under this title, and
22	"(ii) 90 per centum of so much of the sums
23	expended during any such quarter in the fiscal
24	year ending June 30, 1972, or the fiscal year

ending June 30, 1973, as are attributable to the design, development, or installation of cost determination systems for State-owned general hospitals (except that the total amount paid to all States under this clause for either such fiscal year shall not exceed \$150,000), and

"(B) 75 percentum of so much of the sums expended during such quarter as are attributable to the operation of systems of the type described in subparagraph (A)(i) (whether or not designed, developed, or installed with assistance under such subparagraph) which are approved by the Secretary and which include provision for prompt written notice to each individual who is furnished services covered by the plan of the specific services so covered, the name of the person or persons furnishing the services, the date or dates on which the services were furnished, and the amount of the payment or payments made under the plan on account of the services; plus".

(b) The amendments made by subsection (a) shall apply with respect to expenditures under State plans approved under title XIX of the Social Security Act made after June 30, 1971.

1	PROHIBITION AGAINST REASSIGNMENT OF CLAIMS TO
2	BENEFITS
3	SEC. 236. (a) Section 1842(b) of the Social Security
4	Act is amended by adding at the end thereof the following
5	new paragraph:
6	"(5) No payment under this part for a service provided
7	to any individual shall (except as provided in section 1870)
8	be made to anyone other than such individual or (pursuant
9	to an assignment described in subparagraph (B)(ii) of
0	paragraph (3)) the physician or other person who provided
1	the service, except that payment may be made (A) to the
12	employer of such physician or other person if such physician
13	or other person is required as a condition of his employment
14	to turn over his fee for such service to his employer, or (B)
15	(where the service was provided in a hospital, clinic, or
16	other facility) to the facility in which the service was pro-
17	vided if there is a contractual arrangement between such
18	physician or other person and such facility under which such
19	facility submits the bill for such service."
<b>2</b> 0	(b) Section 1902(a) of such Act is amended—
21	(1) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
22	(29);
23	(2) by striking out the period at the end of para-
24	graph (30) and inserting in lieu thereof ": and": and

1 (3) by inserting after paragraph (30) the follow-2 ing new paragraph:

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

"(31) provide that no payment under the plan for any care or service provided to an individual by a physician, dentist, or other individual practitioner shall be made to anyone other than such individual or such physician, dentist, or practitioner, except that payment may be made (A) to the employer of such physician, dentist, or practitioner if such physician, dentist, or practitioner is required as a condition of his employment to turn over his fee for such care or service to his employer, or (B) (where the care or service was provided in a hospital, clinic, or other facility) to the facility in which the care or service was provided if there is a contractual arrangement between such physician, dentist, or practitioner and such facility under which such facility submits the bill for such care or service."

18 (c) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall 19 apply with respect to bills submitted and requests for pay-20 ments made after the date of the enactment of this Act. The 21 amendments made by subsection (b) shall be effective July 22 1, 1972 (or earlier if the State plan so provides).

1	UTILIZATION REVIEW REQUIREMENTS FOR HOSPITALS AND
2	SKILLED NURSING HOMES UNDER MEDICAID AND
3	UNDER MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH PROGRAM
4	SEC. 237. (a)(1) Section 1903(i) of the Social Se-
5	curity Act (as added by section 224(c) and amended by
6	sections 229(c) and 233(c) of this Act) is further amended
7	by striking out the period at the end of paragraph (3) and
8	inserting in lieu thereof "; or", and by adding after para-
9	graph (3) the following new paragraph:
10	"(4) with respect to any amount expended for care
11	or services furnished under the plan by a hospital or
<b>12</b>	skilled nursing home unless such hospital or skilled nurs-
13	ing home has in effect a utilization review plan which
14	meets the requirements imposed by section 1861(k) for
15	purposes of title XVIII; and if such hospital or skilled
16	nursing home has in effect such a utilization review plan
17	for purposes of title XVIII, such plan shall serve as the
18	plan required by this subsection (with the same stand-
19	ards and procedures and the same review committee or
20	group) as a condition of payment under this title."
21	(2) Section 1902(a)(30) of such Act is amended by
22	inserting "(including but not limited to utilization review

- 1 plans as provided for in section 1903(i)(4))" after "plan"
- 2 where it first appears.
- 3 (b) Section 506(f) of such Act (as added by section
- 4 224(d) and amended by sections 229(d) and 233(d) of
- 5 this Act) is further amended by striking out the period at
- 6 the end of paragraph (3) and inserting in lieu thereof ";
- 7 or", and by adding after paragraph (3) the following new
- 8 paragraph:
- 9 "(4) with respect to any amount expended for
- services furnished under the plan by a hospital unless
- such hospital has in effect a utilization review plan which
- meets the requirement imposed by section 1861(k) for
- purposes of title XVIII; and if such hospital has in
- 14 effect such a utilization review plan for purposes of title
- 15 XVIII, such plan shall serve as the plan required by
- this subsection (with the same standards and procedures
- and the same review committee or group) as a condition
- of payment under this title."
- 19 (c)(1) The amendments made by subsections (a)(1)
- 20 and (b) shall apply with respect to services furnished in
- 21 calendar quarters beginning after June 30, 1972.
- 22 (2) The amendment made by subsection (a)(2) shall
- 23 be effective July 1, 1972.

1	NOTIFICATION OF UNNECESSARY ADMISSION TO A HOSPI-
2	TAL OR EXTENDED CARE FACILITY UNDER MEDICARE
3	Sec. 238. (a) Section 1814(a)(7) of the Social
4	Security Act is amended by striking out "as described in sec-
5	tion 1861(k)(4)" and inserting in lieu thereof "as de-
6	scribed in section 1861(k)(4), including any finding made
7	in the course of a sample or other review of admissions to
8	the institution".
9	(b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall
10	apply with respect to services furnished after the second
11	month following the month in which this Act is enacted.
12	USE OF STATE HEALTH AGENCY TO PERFORM CERTAIN
13	FUNCTIONS UNDER MEDICAID AND UNDER MATERNAL
14	AND CHILD HEALTH PROGRAM
<b>15</b>	Sec. 239. (a) Section 1902(a)(9) of the Social Se-
16	curity Act is amended to read as follows:
17	"(9) provide—
18	"(A) that the State health agency, or other
19	appropriate State medical agency (whichever is
20	wtilized by the Secretary for the purpose specified in
21	the first sentence of section 1864(a)), shall be
22	responsible for establishing and maintaining health
23	standards for private or public institutions in which

1	recipients of medical assistance under the plan may
2	receive care or services, and
3	"(B) for the establishment or designation of a
4	State authority or authorities which shall be respon-
5	sible for establishing and maintaining standards,
6	other than those relating to health, for such
7	institutions;".
8	(b) Section 1902(a) of such Act (as amended by
9	section 236(b) of this Act) is further amended—
10	(1) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
11	(30);
12	(2) by striking out the period at the end of para-
13	graph (31) and inserting in lieu thereof "; and"; and
14	(3) by inserting after paragraph (31) the fol-
15	lowing new paragraph:
16	"(32) provide—
17	"(A) that the State health agency, or other
18	appropriate State medical agency, shall be respon-
19	sible for establishing a plan, consistent with reg-
20	ulations prescribed by the Secretary, for the
21	review by appropriate professional health person-
22	nel of the appropriateness and quality of care and
23	services furnished to recipients of medical assistance
24	under the plan in order to provide guidance with
25	respect thereto in the administration of the plan to

1	the State agency established or designated pursuant
2	to paragraph (5) and, where applicable, to the
3	State agency described in the last sentence of this
4	subsection; and
5	"(B) that the State or local agency utilized by
6	the Secretary for the purpose specified in the first
7	sentence of section 1864(a), or, if such agency
8	is not the State agency which is responsible for
9	licensing health institutions, the State agency respon-
10	sible for such licensing, will perform for the State
11	agency administering or supervising the administra-
12	tion of the plan approved under this title the function
13	of determining whether institutions and agencies
14	meet the requirements for participation in the pro-
15	gram under such plan."
16	(c) Section 505(a) of such Act is amended—
17	(1) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
18	(13);
19	(2) by striking out the period at the end of para-
20	graph (14) and inserting in lieu thereof "; and"; and
21	(3) by adding after paragraph (14) the following
22	new paragraph:
23	"(15) provides—
24	"(A) that the State health agency, or other

1	appropriate State medical agency, shall be responsi-
2	ble for establishing a plan, consistent with regula-
3	tions prescribed by the Secretary, for the review by
4	appropriate professional health personnel of the ap-
5	propriateness and quality of care and services fur-
6	nished to recipients of services under the plan and,
7	where applicable, for providing guidance with re-
8	spect thereto to the other State agency referred to
9	in paragraph (2); and
10	"(B) that the State or local agency utilized by
11	the Secretary for the purpose specified in the first
12	sentence of section 1864(a), or, if such agency is
13	not the State agency which is responsible for li-
14	censing health institutions, the State agency respon-
15	sible for such licensing, will perform the function of
16	determining whether institutions and agencies meet
17	the requirements for participation in the program
18	under the plan under this title."
19	(d) The amendments made by this section shall be effec-
20	tive July 1, 1972 (or earlier if the State plan so provides).
21	RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN MEDICAID AND COMPREHENSIVE
22	HEALTH CARE PROGRAMS
23	SEC. 240. Section 1902(a)(23) of the Social Security
24	Act is amended by adding after the semicolon at the end

thereof the following: "and a State plan shall not be deemed

1	to be out of compliance with the requirements of this para-
2	graph or paragraph (1) or (10) solely by reason of the
3	fact that the State (or any political subdivision thereof) has
4	entered into a contract with an organization which has agreed
5	to provide care and services in addition to those offered under
6	the State plan to individuals eligible for medical assistance
7	who reside in the geographic area served by such organiza-
8	tion and who elect to obtain such care and services from such
9	organization;".
10	PROGRAM FOR DETERMINING QUALIFICATIONS FOR
11	CERTAIN HEALTH CARE PERSONNEL
12	SEC. 241. Title XI of the Social Security Act is amended
13	by adding after section 1122 (as added by section 221(a)
14	of this Act) the following new section:
15	"PROGRAM FOR DETERMINING QUALIFICATIONS FOR
16	CERTAIN HEALTH CARE PERSONNEL
17	"Sec. 1123. (a) The Secretary, in carrying out his func-
18	tions relating to the qualifications for health care personnel
19	under title XVIII, shall develop (in consultation with ap-
20	propriate professional health organizations and State health
21	and licensure agencies) and conduct (in conjunction with
22	some nouser and troops are agencies, a program designed to
23	determine the proficiency of individuals (who do not other-
24	wise meet the formal educational, professional membership

or other specific criteria established for determining the quali-1 fications of practical nurses, therapists, laboratory technicians 2 and technologists, X-ray technicians, psychiatric technicians, 3 or other health care technicians) to perform the duties and 4 functions of practical nurses, therapists, laboratory techni-5 cians and technologists, X-ray technicians, psychiatric techni-6 cians, or other health care technicians. Such program shall 7 include (but not be limited to) the employment of procedures for the formal testing of the proficiency of individuals. In the conduct of such program, no individual who otherwise meets 10 the proficiency requirements for any health care specialty shall 11 be denied a satisfactory proficiency rating solely because of his 12 failure to meet formal educational or professional membership 13 requirements. 14 "(b) If any individual has been determined, under the 15 program established pursuant to subsection (a), to be quali-16 fied to perform the duties and functions of any health care 17 specialty, no person or provider utilizing the services of such 18 19 individual to perform such duties and functions shall be de-20 nied payment, under title XVIII or under any State plan approved under title XIX, for any health care services pro-21vided by such person on the grounds that such individual is 22 23 not qualified to perform such duties and functions."

1	PENALTIES FOR FRAUDULENT ACTS AND FALSE REPORTING
2	UNDER MEDICARE AND MEDICAID
3	SEC. 242. (a) Section 1872 of the Social Security Act
4	is amended by striking out "208,".
5	(b) Title XVIII of the Social Security Act is amended
6	by adding at the end thereof (after the new section added
7	by section 226(a) of this Act) the following new section:
8	"PENALTIES
9	"Sec. 1877. (a) Whoever—
10	"(1) knowingly and willfully makes or causes to be
11	made any false statement or representation of a mate-
12	rial fact in any application for any benefit or payment
13	$under\ this\ title,$
14	"(2) at any time knowingly and willfully makes or
15	causes to be made any false statement or representation
16	of a material fact for use in determining rights to any
17	such benefit or payment,
18	"(3) having knowledge of the occurrence of any
19	event affecting (A) his initial or continued right to any
20	such benefit or payment, or (B) the initial or continued
21	right to any such benefit or payment of any other indi
22	vidual in whose behalf he has applied for or is receiving
23	such honofit or naument conceals or fails to disclos

1	such event with an intent fraudulently to secure such
2	benefit or payment either in a greater amount or quan-
3	tity than is due or when no such benefit or payment is
4	$authorized,\ or$
5	"(4) having made application to receive any such
6	benefit or payment for the use and benefit of another and
7	having received it, knowingly and willfully converts such
8	benefit or payment or any part thereof to a use other
9	than for the use and benefit of such other person,
l0	shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof
1	shall be fined not more than \$10,000 or imprisoned for not
2	more than one year, or both.
.3	"(b) Any provider of services, supplier, physician, or
l <b>4</b>	other person who furnishes items or services to an individual
<b>l</b> 5	for which payment is or may be made under this title and
l6	who solicits, offers, or receives any—
<b>7</b>	"(1) kickback or bribe in connection with the fur-
.8	nishing of such items or services or the making or receipt
9	of such payment, or
20	"(2) rebate of any fee or charge for referring any
21	such individual to another person for the furnishing of
22	such items or services,
23	shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof
4	shall be fined not more than \$10,000 or imprisoned for not
5	more than one year or both

"(c) Whoever knowingly and willfully makes or causes

1	to be made, or induces or seeks to induce the making of, any
2	false statement or representation of a material fact with
3	respect to the conditions or operation of any institution or
4	facility in order that such institution or facility may qualify
5	as a hospital, extended care facility, or home health agency
6	(as those terms are defined in section 1861), shall be guilty
7	of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof shall be fined
8	not more than \$2,000 or imprisoned for not more than 6
9	months, or both."
10	(c) Title XIX of such Act is amended by adding after
11	section 1908 the following new section:
12	"PENALTIES
13	"Sec. 1909. (a) Whoever—
14	"(1) knowingly and willfully makes or causes to
15	be made any false statement or representation of a ma-
16	terial fact in any application for any benefit or pay-
17	ment under a State plan approved under this title,
18	"(2) at any time knowingly and willfully makes or
19	causes to be made any false statement or representation
20	of a material fact for use in determining rights to such
21	benefit or payment,
22	"(3) having knowledge of the occurrence of any
23	event affecting (A) his initial or continued right to any
24	such benefit or payment, or (B) the initial or continued
25	right to any such benefit or payment of any other individ-

1	ual in whose behalf he has applied for or is $re$
2	ceiving such benefit or payment, conceals or fails to
3	disclose such event with an intent fraudulently to secure
4	such benefit or payment either in a greater amount or
5	quantity than is due or when no such benefit or pay-
6	ment is authorized, or
7	"(4) having made application to receive any such
8	benefit or payment for the use and benefit of another and
9	having received it, knowingly and willfully converts such
10	benefit or payment or any part thereof to a use other
11	than for the use and benefit of such other person,
12	shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof
13	shall be fined not more than \$10,000 or imprisoned for not
14	more than one year, or both.
15	"(b) Whoever furnishes items or services to an indi-
16	vidual for which payment is or may be made in whole or
17	in part out of Federal funds under a State plan approved
18	under this title and who solicits, offers, or receives any-
19	"(1) kickback or bribe in connection with the fur-
20	nishing of such items or services or the making or receipt
21	of such payment, or
22	"(2) rebate of any fee or charge for referring any
23	such individual to another person for the furnishing of
24	such items or services
25	shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof

- 1 shall be fined not more than \$10,000 or imprisoned for not
- 2 more than one year, or both.
- 3 "(c) Whoever knowingly and willfully makes or causes
- 4 to be made, or induces or seeks to induce the making of, any
- 5 false statement or representation of a material fact with re-
- 6 spect to the conditions or operation of any institution or
- 7 facility in order that such institution or facility may qualify
- 8 as a hospital, skilled nursing home, intermediate care facility,
- 9 or home health agency (as those terms are employed in this
- 10 title) shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction
- 11 thereof shall be fined not more than \$2,000 or imprisoned for
- 12 not more than 6 months, or both."
- (d) The provisions of amendments made by this section
- shall not be applicable to any acts, statements, or representa-
- 15 tions made or committed prior to the enactment of this Act.
- 16 PROVIDER REIMBURSEMENT REVIEW BOARD
- 17 Sec. 243. (a) Title XVIII of the Social Security Act
- 18 is amended by adding at the end thereof (after the new
- 19 sections added by section 226(a) and section 242(b) of this
- 20 Act) the following new section:
- 21 "PROVIDER REIMBURSEMENT REVIEW BOARD
- "Sec. 1878. (a) Any provider of services which has
- 23 filed a required cost report within the time specified in reg-
- 24 ulations may obtain a hearing with respect to such cost re-
- 25 port by a Provider Reimbursement Review Board (herein-

1	after referred to as the 'Board') which shall be established
2	by the Secretary in accordance with subsection (g), if-
3	"(1) such provider is dissatisfied with a final de-
4	termination of the organization serving as its fiscal inter-
5	mediary pursuant to section 1816 as to the amount of
6	total program reimbursement due the provider for the
7	items and services furnished to individuals for which
8	payment may be made under this title for the period
9	covered by such report,
10	"(2) the amount in controversy is \$10,000 or more,
11	and
12	"(3) such provider files a request for a hearing
13	within 180 days after notice of the intermediary's final
14	determination under paragraph (1).
15	"(b) At such hearing, the provider of services shall have
16	the right to be represented by counsel, to introduce evidence,
17	and to examine and cross-examine witnesses. Evidence may
18	be received at any such hearing even though inadmissable
19	under rules of evidence applicable to court procedure.
20	"(c) A decision by the Board shall be based upon the
21	record made at such hearing, which shall include the evidence
22	considered by the intermediary and such other evidence as
23	may be obtained or received by the Board, and shall be sup-
24	ported by substantial evidence when the record is viewed as

a whole. The Board shall have the power to affirm, modify, or

- 1 reverse a final determination of the fiscal intermediary with
- 2 respect to a cost report and to make any other revisions on
- 3 matters covered by such cost report (including revisions
- 4 adverse to the provider of services) even though such matters
- 5 were not considered by the intermediary in making such final
- 6 determination.
- 7 "(d) The Board shall have full power and authority to
- 8 make rules and establish procedures, not inconsistent with
- 9 the provisions of this title, which are necessary or appropriate
- 10 to carry out the provisions of this section. In the course of any
- 11 hearing the Board may administer oaths and affirmations.
- 12 The provisions of subsections (d), (e), and (f) of section 205
- 13 with respect to subpense shall apply to the Board to the same
- 14 extent as they apply to the Secretary with respect to title II.
- "(e) A decision of the Board shall be final unless the
- 16 Secretary, on his own motion, and within 60 days after the
- 17 provider of services is notified of the Board's decision, re-
- 18 verses or modifies (adversely to such provider) the Board's
- 19 decision. In any case where such a reversal or modification
- 20 occurs the provider of services may obtain a review of such
- 21 decision by a civil action commenced within 60 days of the
- 22 date he is notified of the Secretary's reversal or modification.
- 23 Such action shall be brought in the district court of the
- 24 United States for the judicial district in which the provider
- 25 is located or in the District Court for the District of Colum-

- 1 bia and shall be tried pursuant to the applicable provisions
- 2 under chapter 7 of title 5, United States Code, notwithstand-
- 3 ing any other provisions in section 205.
- 4 "(f) The finding of a fiscal intermediary that no pay-
- $^{5}$  -ment may be made under this title for any expenses incurred
- 6 for items or services furnished to an individual because such
- 7 items or services are listed in section 1862 shall not be re-
- $^{8}$  -viewed by the Board, or by any court pursuant to an action
- 9 brought under subsection (e).
- 10 "(g) The Board shall be composed of five members ap-
- 11 pointed by the Secretary without regard to the provisions of
- 12 title 5. United States Code, governing appointments in the
- 13 competitive services, Two of such members shall be representa-
- 14 tive of providers of services. All of the members of the Board
- shall be persons knowledgeable in the field of cost reimburse-
- ment, and at least one of them shall be a certified public ac-
- 17 countant. Members of the Board shall be entitled to receive
- 18 compensation at rates fixed by the Secretary, but not exceed-
- 19 ing the rate specified (at the time the service involved is
- 20 rendered by such members) for grade GS-18 in section
- 21-5332 of title 5. United States Code. The term of office shall
- 22 be three years, except that the Secretary shall appoint the
- $^{23}$  -initial members of the Board for shorter terms to the extent
- 24 necessary to permit staggered terms of office.
- 25 "(h) The Board is authorized to engage such technical

1	assistance as may be required to carry out its functions, and
2	the Secretary shall, in addition, make available to the Board
3	such secretarial, clerical, and other assistance as the Board
4	may require to carry out its functions."
5	(b) The first sentence of section 1816(a) of such Act
6	is amended by striking out "subject to" in the parenthetical
7	phrase and inserting in lieu thereof "subject to the provisions
8	of section 1878 and to".
9	(c) The amendments made by this section shall apply
10	with respect to cost reports of providers of services, as defined
11	in title XVIII of the Social Security Act, for accounting
12	periods beginning after June 30, 1971.
13	PART C-MISCELLANEOUS AND TECHNICAL PROVISIONS
14	PHYSICAL THERAPY SERVICES AND OTHER THERAPY
15	SERVICES UNDER MEDICARE
16	SEC. 251. (a)(1) Section 1861(p) of the Social
17	Security Act is amended by adding at the end thereof (after
18	and below paragraph (4)(B)) the following new sentence:
19	"The term 'outpatient physical therapy services' also includes
20	physical therapy services furnished an individual by a physi-
21	cal therapist (in his office or in such individual's home) who
22	meets licensing and other standards prescribed by the Secre-
$\frac{23}{24}$	tary in regulations, otherwise than under an arrangement
2 <del>1</del>	with and under the supervision of a provider of services

clinic, rehabilitation agency, or public health agency, if the

1	furnishing of such services meets such conditions relating to
2	health and safety as the Secretary may find necessary."
3	(2) Section 1833 of such Act is amended by adding
4	at the end thereof the following new subsection:
5	"(g) In the case of services described in the next to
6	last sentence of section 1861(p), with respect to expenses
7	incurred in any calendar year, no more than \$100 shall be
8	considered as incurred expenses for purposes of subsections
9	(a) and (b)."
10	(3) Section 1833(a)(2) of such Act (as amended by
11	section 233(b) of this Act) is further amended by striking
12	out the period at the end of subparagraph (B) and inserting
13	in lieu thereof "; or", and by adding after subparagraph (B)
14	the following new subparagraph:
15	"(C) if such services are services to which the
16	next to last sentence of section 1861(p) applies, the
17	reasonable charges for such services,"
18	(4) Section 1832(a)(2)(C) of such Act is amended
19	by striking out "services." and inserting in lieu thereof
20	"services, other than services to which the next to last sen-
21	tence of section 1861(p) applies."
22	(b)(1) Section 1861(p) of such Act (as amended by
23	subsection (a)(1) of this section) is further amended by
24	adding at the end thereof the following new sentence: "In
25	addition, such term includes physical therapy services which

- 1 meet the requirements of the first sentence of this subsection
- 2 except that they are furnished to an individual as an inpatient
- 3 of a hospital or extended care facility."
- 4 (2) Section 1835(a)(2)(C) of such Act is amended
- 5 by striking out "on an outpatient basis".
- 6 (c) Section 1861(v) of such Act (as amended by sec-
- 7 tions 221(c)(4) and 223(f) of this Act) is further amended
- 8 by redesignating paragraphs (5) and (6) as paragraphs
- 9 (6) and (7), respectively, and by inserting after paragraph
- 10 (4) the following new paragraph:
- 11 "(5) Where physical therapy services, occupational
- 12 therapy services, speech therapy services, or other therapy
- 13 services or services of other health-related personnel (other
- 14 than physicians) are furnished by a provider of services, or
- 15 other organization specified in the first sentence of section
- 16 1861(p), or by others under an arrangement with such a
- 17 provider or other organization, the amount included in any
- 18 payment to such provider or organization under this title as
- 19 the reasonable cost of such services shall not exceed an amount
- 20 equal to the salary which would reasonably have been paid
- 21 for such services to the person performing them if they had
- 22 been performed in an employment relationship with such
- 23 provider or organization (rather than under such arrange-
- 24 ment) plus the cost of such other expenses incurred by such

- 1 person not working as an employee, as the Secretary may in
- 2 regulations determine to be appropriate."
- 3 (d)(1) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall
- 4 apply with respect to services furnished on or after Janu-
- 5 ary 1, 1972.
- 6 (2) The amendments made by subsection (b) shall
- 7 apply with respect to services furnished on or after the date
- 8 of enactment of this Act.
- 9 (3) The amendments made by subsection (c) shall be
- 10 effective with respect to accounting periods beginning on or
- 11 after January 1, 1972.
- 12 COVERAGE OF SUPPLIES RELATED TO COLOSTOMIES
- 13 SEC. 252. (a) Section 1861 (s) (8) of the Social Secu-
- 14 rity Act is amended by inserting after "organ" the follow-
- 15 ing: "(including colostomy bags and supplies directly related
- 16 to colostomy care)".
- 17 (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall apply
- 18 only with respect to items furnished on or after the date
- 19 of the enactment of this Act.
- 20 COVERAGE OF PTOSIS BARS
- 21 Sec. 253. (a) Section 1861(s)(9) of the Social Secu-
- 22 rity Act is amended by inserting "ptosis bars," after "neck
- 23 braces,".
- (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall apply
- 25 only with respect to items furnished on or after the date of
- the enactment of this Act.

1	INCLUSION UNDER MEDICAID OF CARE IN INTERMEDIATE
2	CARE FACILITIES
3	SEC. 254. (a)(1) Section 1905(a) of the Social Secu-
4	rity Act is amended—
5	(A) by striking out "and" at the end of clause
6	(14),
7	(B) by adding "and" after the semicolon at the end
8	of clause (15), and
9	(C) by inserting after clause (15) the following
10	new clause:
11	"(16) intermediate care facility services (other than
12	such services in an institution for tuberculosis or mental
13	diseases) for individuals who are determined, in accord-
14	ance with section 1902(a)(33)(A), to be in need of
15	such care;".
16	(2) Section 1905 of such Act is amended by adding at
17	the end thereof the following new subsections:
18	"(c) For purposes of this title the term intermediate
19	care facility' means an institution or distinct part thereof
20	which (1) is licensed under State law to provide, on a regu-
21	lar basis, health-related care and services to individuals who
22	do not require the degree of care and treatment which a
23	hospital or skilled nursing home is designed to provide, but
24	who because of their mental or physical condition require
25	care and services (above the level of room and board)
26	which can be made available to them only through institu-

1	tional facilities, (2) meets such standards prescribed
2	by the Secretary as he finds appropriate for the proper pro-
3	vision of such care, and (3) meets such standards of safety
4	and sanitation as are applicable to nursing homes under
5	State law. The term 'intermediate care facility' also includes
6	a Christian Science sanatorium operated, or listed and cer-
7	tified, by the First Church of Christ, Scientist, Boston,
8	Massachusetts, but only with respect to institutional services
9	deemed appropriate by the State. With respect to services
<b>1</b> 0	furnished to individuals under age 65, the term 'intermediate
11	care facility' shall not include, except as provided in sub-
<b>1</b> 2	section (d), any public institution or distinct part thereof
13	for mental diseases or mental defects.
14	"(d) The term 'intermediate care facility services' may
15	include services in a public institution (or distinct part
16	thereof) for the mentally retarded or persons with related
17	conditions if—
18	"(1) the primary purpose of such institution (or
19	distinct part thereof) is to provide health or rehabilita-
20	tive services for mentally retarded individuals and which
21	meet such standards as may be prescribed by the Secre-
22	tary;
<b>2</b> 3	"(2) the mentally retarded individual with respect
24	to whom a request for naument is made under a plan

to whom a request for payment is made under a plan

approved under this title is receiving active treatment

under such a program; and

25

1	"(3) the State or political subdivision responsible
2	for the operation of such institution has agreed that the
3	non-Federal expenditures with respect to patients in
4	such institution (or distinct part thereof) will not be
5	reduced because of payments made under this title."
6	(b) Section 1902(a) of such Act (as amended by
7	sections 236(b) and 239(b) of this Act) is further
8	amended—
9	(1) by striking out "and" at the end of paragraph
10	(31);
11	(2) by striking out the period at the end of para-
12	graph (32) and inserting in lieu thereof "; and"; and
13	(3) by inserting after paragraph (32) the following
14	$new\ paragraph$ :
15	"(33) provide (A) for a regular program of in-
16	dependent professional review (including medical eval-
17	uation of each patient's need for intermediate care) and
18	a written plan of service prior to admission or authoriza-
19	tion of benefits in an intermediate care facility which
20	provides more than a minimum level of health care serv-
21	ices as determined under regulations of the Secretary;
22	(B) for periodic inspections to be made in all such inter-
23	mediate care facilities (if the State plan includes care in
24	such institutions) within the State by one or more inde-
<b>25</b>	pendent professional review teams (composed of physi-

1	cians or registered nurses and other appropriate health
2	and social service personnel) of (i) the care being pro-
3	vided in such intermediate care facilities to persons receiv-
4	ing assistance under the State plan, (ii) with respect to
5	each of the patients receiving such care, the adequacy
6	of the services available in particular intermediate care
7	facilities to meet the current health needs and promote
8	the maximum physical well-being of patients receiving
9	care in such facilities, (iii) the necessity and desir-
10	ability of the continued placement of such patients in
11	such facilities, and (iv) the feasibility of meeting their
12	health care needs through alternative institutional or
13	noninstitutional services; and (C) for the making by
14	such team or teams of full and complete reports of the
15	findings resulting from such inspections, together with
16	any recommendations to the State agency administering
17	or supervising the administration of the State plan."
18	(c) Section 1121 of such Act is repealed.
19	(d) The amendments made by this section shall be-
20	come effective January 1, 1972.
21	COVERAGE PRIOR TO APPLICATION FOR MEDICAL
22	ASSISTANCE
23	Sec. 255. (a) Section 1902(a) of the Social Security

Act (as amended by sections 236(b), 239(b), and 254(b)

of this Act) is further amended—

1	(1) by striking out "and" at the end of para-
2	graph (32);
3	(2) by striking out the period at the end of para-
4	graph (33) and inserting in lieu thereof "; and"; and
5	(3) by inserting after paragraph (33) the follow-
6	ing new paragraph:
7	"(34) provide that in the case of any individual
8	who has been determined to be eligible for medical
9	assistance under the plan, such assistance will be made
10	available to him for care and services included under
11	the plan and furnished in or after the third month
12	before the month in which he made application for
<b>1</b> 3	such assistance if such individual was (or upon appli-
14	cation would have been) eligible for such assistance at
15	the time such care and services were furnished."
16	(b) The amendments made by subsection (a) shall be
17	effective July 1, 1972.
18	HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS FOR DENTAL SERVICES UNDER
19	MEDICARE
20	SEC. 256. (a) Section 1814(a)(2) of the Social Secu-
21	rity Act is amended by striking out "or" at the end of sub-
22	paragraph (C), by adding "or" after the semicolon at the
23	end of subparagraph (D), and by inserting after subpara-
24	graph (D) the following new subnargaranh.

1	"(E) in the case of inpatient hospital services
2	in connection with a dental procedure, the individual
3	suffers from impairments of such severity as to
4	$require\ hospitalization; ".$
5	(b) Section 1861(r) of such Act is amended by in-
6	serting after "or any facial bone," the following: "or (C)
7	the certification required by section 1814(a)(2)(E) of this
8	Act,".
9	(c) Section 1862(a)(12) of such Act is amended by
10	inserting before the semicolon the following: ", except that
11	payment may be made under part A in the case of inpatient
12	hospital services in connection with a dental procedure
13	where the individual suffers from impairments of such
14	severity as to require hospitalization".
15	(d) The amendments made by this section shall apply
16	with respect to admissions occurring after the second month
17	following the month in which this Act is enacted.
18	EXTENSION OF GRACE PERIOD FOR TERMINATION OF SUP-
19	PLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE COVERAGE WHERE
20	FAILURE TO PAY PREMIUMS IS DUE TO GOOD CAUSE
21	Sec. 257. (a) Section 1838(b) of the Social Security
22	Act is amended by striking out "(not in excess of 90 days)"
23	in the third sentence, and by adding at the end thereof the
24	following new sentence: "The grace period determined under

- 1 the preceding sentence shall not exceed 90 days; except that
- 2 it may be extended to not to exceed 180 days in any case
- 3 where the Secretary determines that there was good cause for
- 4 failure to pay the overdue premiums within such 90-day
- 5 period."
- 6 (b) The amendments made by subsection (a) shall
- 7 apply with respect to nonpayment of premiums which be-
- 8 come due and payable on or after the date of the enact-
- 9 ment of this Act or which became payable within the
- 10 90-day period immediately preceding such date; and for
- 11 purposes of such amendments any premium which became
- 12 due and payable within such 90-day period shall be con-
- 13 sidered a premium becoming due and payable on the date
- 14 of the enactment of this Act.
- 15 EXTENSION OF TIME FOR FILING CLAIM FOR SUPPLEMEN-
- 16 TARY MEDICAL INSURANCE BENEFITS WHERE DELAY
- 17 IS DUE TO ADMINISTRATIVE ERROR
- 18 SEC. 258. (a) Section 1842(b)(3) of the Social
- 19 Security Act (as amended by section 224(a) of this Act)
- 20 is further amended by adding at the end thereof the fol-
- 21 lowing new sentence: "The requirement in subparagraph
- 22 (B) that a bill be submitted or request for payment be
- 23 made by the close of the following calendar year shall not

- 1 apply if (i) failure to submit the hill or request the payment
- 2 by the close of such year is due to the error or misrepre-
- 3 sentation of an officer, employee, fiscal intermediary, carrier,
- 4 or agent of the Department of Health, Education, and Wel-
- 5 fare performing functions under this title and acting within
- 6 the scope of his or its authority, and (ii) the bill is submitted
- 7 or the payment is requested promptly after such error or
- 8 misrepresentation is eliminated or corrected."
- 9 (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall ap-
- 10 ply with respect to bills submitted and requests for payment
- 11 made after March 1968.
- 12 WAIVER OF ENROLLMENT PERIOD REQUIREMENTS WHERE
- 13 INDIVIDUAL'S RIGHTS WERE PREJUDICED BY ADMINIS-
- 14 TRATIVE ERROR OR INACTION
- 15 Sec. 259. (a) Section 1837 of the Social Security Act
- 16 (after the new subsections added by section 206(a) of this
- 17 Act) is amended by adding at the end thereof the following
- 18 new subsection:
- 19 "(h) In any case where the Secretary finds that an indi-
- 20 vidual's enrollment or nonenrollment in the insurance pro-
- 21 gram established by this part is unintentional, inadvertent, or
- 22 erroneous and is the result of the error, misrepresentation, or
- <sup>23</sup> inaction of an officer, employee, or agent of the Department
- <sup>24</sup> of Health, Education, and Welfare, the Secretary may take
- 25 such action (including the designation for such individual of

- 1 a special initial or subsequent enrollment period, with a cov-
- 2 erage period determined on the basis thereof and with appro-
- 3 priate adjustments of premiums) as may be necessary to
- 4 correct or eliminate the effects of such error, misrepresenta-
- 5 tion, or inaction."
- 6 (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall be
- 7 effective as of July 1, 1966.
- 8 ELIMINATION OF PROVISIONS PREVENTING ENROLLMENT IN
- 9 SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE PROGRAM
- 10 MORE THAN THREE YEARS AFTER FIRST OPPORTUNITY
- 11 SEC. 260. Section 1837(b) of the Social Security Act
- 12 is amended to read as follows:
- 13 "(b) No individual may enroll under this part more
- 14 than twice."
- 15 WAIVER OF RECOVERY OF INCORRECT PAYMENTS FROM
- 16 SURVIVOR WHO IS WITHOUT FAULT UNDER MEDICARE
- 17 SEC. 261. (a) Section 1870(c) of the Social Security
- 18 Act is amended by striking out "and where" and inserting in
- 19 lieu thereof the following: "or where the adjustment (or
- 20 recovery) would be made by decreasing payments to which
- 21 another person who is without fault is entitled as provided
- 22 in subsection (b) (4), if".
- 23 (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall
- 24 apply with respect to waiver actions considered after the date
- of the enactment of this Act.

- 1 REQUIREMENT OF MINIMUM AMOUNT OF CLAIM TO ES-
- 2 TABLISH ENTITLEMENT TO HEARING UNDER SUPPLE-
- 3 MENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE PROGRAM
- 4 Sec. 262. (a) Section 1842(b)(3)(C) of the Social
- 5 Security Act is amended by inserting after "a fair hearing by
- 6 the carrier" the following: ", in any case where the amount
- 7 in controversy is \$100 or more,".
- 8 (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall
- 9 apply with respect to hearings requested (under the proce-
- 10 dures established under section 1842(b)(3)(C) of the
- 11 Social Security Act) after the date of the enactment of this
- 12 Act.
- 13 COLLECTION OF SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE
- 14 PREMIUMS FROM INDIVIDUALS ENTITLED TO BOTH
- 15 SOCIAL SECURITY AND RAILROAD RETIREMENT
- 16 BENEFITS
- 17 Sec. 263. (a) Section 1840(a)(1) of the Social Se-
- curity Act is amended by striking out "subsection (d)" and
- inserting in lieu thereof "subsections (b)(1) and (c)".
- (b) Section 1840(b)(1) of such Act is amended by
- 21 inserting "(whether or not such individual is also entitled
- for such month to a monthly insurance benefit under section
- 23 202)" after "1937", and by striking out "subsection (d)"
- and inserting in lieu thereof "subsection (c)".
- 25 (c) Section 1840 of such Act is further amended by

- 1 striking out subsection (c), and by redesignating subsec-
- 2 tions (d) through (i) as subsections (c) through (h),
- 3 respectively.
- 4 (d)(1) Section 1840(e) of such Act (as so redesig-
- 5 nated) is amended by striking out "subsection (d)" and
- 6 inserting in lieu thereof "subsection (c)".
- 7 (2) Section 1840(f) of such Act (as so redesignated)
- 8 is amended by striking out "subsection (d) or (f)" and
- 9 inserting in lieu thereof "subsection (c) or (e)".
- 10 (3) Section 1840(h) of such Act (as so redesignated)
- 11 is amended by striking out "(c), (d), and (e)" and insert-
- 12 ing in lieu thereof "(c), and (d)".
- 13 (4) Section 1841(h) of such Act is amended by strik-
- 14 ing out "1840(e)" and inserting in lieu thereof "1840(d)".
- 15 (5) Section 1842 of such Act is amended by adding at
- 16 the end thereof the following new subsection:
- "(g) The Railroad Retirement Board shall, in accord-
- 18 ance with such regulations as the Secretary may prescribe,
- 19 contract with a carrier or carriers to perform the functions set
- 20 out in this section with respect to individuals entitled to
- 21 benefits as qualified railroad retirement beneficiaries pursuant
- 22 to section 226(a) of this Act and section 21(b) of the Rail-
- 23 road Retirement Act of 1937."
- (e) Section 1841 of such Act is amended by adding
- 25 at the end thereof the following new subsection:

- 1 "(i) The Managing Trustee shall pay from time to time
- 2 from the Trust Fund such amounts as the Secretary of
- 3 Health, Education, and Welfare certifies are necessary to
- 4 pay the costs incurred by the Railroad Retirement Board
- 5 for services performed pursuant to section 1840(b)(1) and
- 6 section 1842(g). During each fiscal year or after the close
- 7 of such fiscal year, the Railroad Retirement Board shall
- 8 cartify to the Secretary the amount of the costs it incurred
- 9 in performing such services and such certified amount shall
- 10 be the basis for the amount of such costs certified by the
- 11 Secretary to the Managing Trustee."
- 12 (f) The amendments made by this section with respect
- 13 to collection of premiums shall apply to premiums becoming
- 14 due and payable after the fourth month following the month
- 15 in which this Act is enacted.
- 16 PROSTHETIC LENSES FURNISHED BY OPTOMETRISTS UNDER
- 17 SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL INSURANCE PROGRAM
- 18 SEC. 264. (a) Section 1861(r) of the Social Secu-
- 19 rity Act (as amended by sections 211(c)(2) and 256(b)
- 20 of this Act) is further amended (1) by striking out "or (3)"
- and inserting in liew thereof "(3)", and (2) by inserting
- before the period at the end thereof the following: ", or (4) a
- 23 doctor of optometry who is legally authorized to practice
- 24 optometry by the State in which he performs such function,

- 1 but only with respect to establishing the necessity for prosthetic
- 2 lenses".
- 3 (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall apply
- 4 only with respect to services performed on or after the date
- 5 of the enactment of this Act.
- 6 PROVISION OF MEDICAL SOCIAL SERVICES NOT MANDATORY
- 7 FOR EXTENDED CARE FACILITIES
- 8 Sec. 265. Section 1861(j)(11) of the Social Security
- 9 Act (as redesignated by section 234(d) of this Act) is
- 10 amended by inserting before the semicolon at the end thereof
- 11 the following: ", except that the Secretary shall not re-
- 12 quire as a condition of participation that medical social
- 13 services be furnished in any such institution".
- 14 REFUND OF EXCESS PREMIUMS UNDER MEDICARE
- 15 Sec. 266. Section 1870 of the Social Security Act is
- 16 amended by adding at the end thereof the following new
- 17 subsection:
- 18 "(g) If an individual, who is enrolled under section
- 19 1818(c) of the Social Security Act or under section 1837,
- 20 dies, and premiums with respect to such enrollment have
- 21 been received with respect to such individual for any
- 22 month after the month of his death, such premiums shall
- 23 be refunded to the person or persons determined by the
- 24 Secretary under regulations to have paid such premiums

1	or if payment for such premiums was made by the deceased
2	individual before his death, to the legal representative of the
3	estate of such deceased individual, if any. If there is no
4	person who meets the requirements of the preceding sentence
5	such premiums shall be refunded to the person or persons
6	in the priorities specified in paragraphs (2) through (7) of
7	subsection (e)."
8	WAIVER OF REQUIREMENT OF REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL.
9	NURSES IN SKILLED NURSING HOMES IN RURAL AREAS
10	UNDER MEDICAID
11	Sec. 267. Section 1902(a) (28) (B) of the Social Se-
12	curity Act is amended by adding after the semicolon at the
13	end thereof the following:
14	"except that the State agency with the approval of
15	the Secretary is authorized to waive the require-
16	ment of this subparagraph for any one-year period
17	(or less) ending no later than December 31, 1975,
18	with respect to any skilled nursing home where im-
19	mediately preceding such period the Secretary finds
20	that—
21	"(i) such nursing home is located in a rural
22	area and the supply of skilled nursing home
23	services in such area is not sufficient to meet the
24	needs of individuals residing therein, and
25	"(ii) the failure of such nursing home to
	1

1	qualify as a skilled nursing home would seri-
2	ously reduce the availability of such services to
3	beneficiaries in such area; and
4	"(iii) such nursing home has made and
5	continues to make a good faith effort to comply
6	with this subparagraph, but such compliance is
7	impeded by the lack of qualified nursing per-
8	sonnel in such area; and
9	"(iv) the requirements of this subpara-
10	graph were met for a regular daytime shift."
11	EXEMPTION OF CHRISTIAN SCIENCE SANATORIUMS FROM
12	CERTAIN NURSING HOME REQUIREMENTS UNDER MED-
13	ICAID
14	SEC. 268. (a) Section 1902(a) of the Social Security
15	Act (as amended by section 544(11) of this Act) is
16	amended by adding at the end thereof the following
17	new sentence: "For purposes of paragraphs (9)(A), (26),
18	(28) (B), (D), and (E), (29), and (32), and of section
19	1903(i)(4), the terms 'skilled nursing home' and 'nursing
20	home' do not include a Christian Science sanatorium oper-
21	ated, or listed and certified, by the First Church of Christ,
22	Scientist, Boston, Massachusetts."
23	(b) Section $1908(g)(1)$ of such Act is amended by
24	inserting after "Secretary" the following: ", but does not
25	include a Christian Science sanatorium operated, or listed

- 1 and certified, by the First Church of Christ, Scientist,
- 2 Boston, Massachusetts''.
- 3 (c) The amendments made by this section shall be
- 4 effective on the date of the enactment of this Act.
- 5 REQUIREMENTS FOR NURSING HOME ADMINISTRATORS
- 6 Sec. 269. Section 1908(d) of the Social Security Act
- 7 is amended by striking out "No State" and inserting in
- 8 lieu thereof the following: "No State shall be considered
- 9 to have failed to comply with the provisions of section
- 10 1902(a)(29) because the agency or board of such State
- 11 (established pursuant to subsection (b)) shall have granted
- 12 any waiver, with respect to any individual who, during
- 13 all of the three calendar years immediately preceding the
- 14 calendar year in which the requirements prescribed in sec-
- 15 tion 1902(a)(29) are first met by the State, has served
- 16 as a nursing home administrator, of any of the standards
- 17 developed, imposed, and enforced by such agency or board
- 18 pursuant to subsection (c). No State".
- 19 TERMINATION OF NATIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL ON
- 20 NURSING HOME ADMINISTRATION
- 21 Sec. 270. Section 1908(f)(5) of the Social Security
- 22 Act is amended by striking out "as of December 31, 1971"
- 23 and inserting in lieu thereof "30 days after the date of the
- 24 enactment of the Social Security Amendments of 1971".

1	INCREASE IN LIMITATION ON PAIMENTS TO FUERIO RICO
2	FOR MEDICAL ASSISTANCE
3	SEC. 271. (a) Section 1108(c)(1) of the Social Se-
4	curity Act is amended by striking out "\$20,000,000" and
5	inserting in lieu thereof "\$30,000,000".
6	(b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall ap-
7	ply with respect to fiscal years beginning after June 30,
8	1971.
9	EXTENSION OF TITLE V TO AMERICAN SAMOA AND THE
10	TRUST TERRITORY OF THE PACIFIC ISLANDS
11	SEC. 272. (a) Section 1101(a)(1) of the Social Secu-
<b>12</b>	rity Act is amended by adding at the end thereof the follow-
13	ing new sentence: "Such term when used in title V also
14	includes American Samoa and the Trust Territory of the
15	Pacific Islands."
16	(b) Section 1108(d) of such Act is amended by in-
17	serting, after "allot such smaller amount to Guam", the
18	following: ", American Samoa, and the Trust Territory of
19	the Pacific Islands".
20	(c) The amendments made by this section shall apply
21	with respect to fiscal years beginning after June 30, 1971.
22	STUDY OF CHIROPRACTIC COVERAGE
23	SEC. 273. The Secretary, utilizing the authority con-
24	ferred by section 1110 of the Social Security Act, shall

1	conduct a study of the coverage of services performed by chi
2	ropractors under State plans approved under title XIX o
3	such Act in order to determine whether and to what exten
4	such services should be covered under the supplementary
5	medical insurance program under part B of title XVIII of
6	such Act, giving particular attention to the limitations which
7	should be placed upon any such coverage and upon payment
8	therefor. Such study shall include one or more experimental,
9	pilot, or demonstration projects designed to assist in provid-
10	ing under controlled conditions the information necessary to
11	achieve the objectives of the study. The Secretary shall re-
12	port the results of such study to the Congress within two
13	years after the date of the enactment of this Act, together
14	with his findings and recommendations based on such study
15	(and on such other information as he may consider relevant
16	concerning experience with the coverage of chiropractors by
17	public and private plans).
18	MISCELLANEOUS TECHNICAL AND CLERICAL
19	$\overline{AMENDMENTS}$
20	SEc. 274. (a) Clause (A) of section 1902(a)(26) of
21	the Social Security Act is amended by striking out "evalu-
22	ation" and inserting in lieu thereof "evaluation", and by
23	striking out "care)" and inserting in lieu thereof "care".
<ul><li>24</li><li>25</li></ul>	(b) Section 1908(d) of such Act is amended by strik-
40	ing out "subsection (b)(1)" and inserting in lieu thereof

"subsection (c)(1)".

1	TITLE III—ASSISTANCE FOR THE AGED,
2	$BLIND,\ AND\ DISABLED$
3	ESTABLISHMENT OF PROGRAM
4	SEC. 301. The Social Security Act is amended by add-
5	ing at the end thereof the following new title:
6	"TITLE XX-ASSISTANCE FOR THE AGED,
7	$BLIND,\ AND\ DISABLED$
8	"PURPOSE; APPROPRIATIONS
9	"Sec. 2001. For the purpose of establishing a national
10	program to provide financial assistance to needy individuals
11	who have attained age 65 or are blind or disabled, there are
12	authorized to be appropriated sums sufficient to carry out this
13	title.
14	"BASIC ELIGIBILITY FOR BENEFITS
15	"Sec. 2002. Every aged, blind, or disabled individual
16	who is determined under part A to be eligible on the basis
17	of his income and resources shall, in accordance with and
18	subject to the provisions of this title, be paid benefits by the
19	Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare.
20	"Part A—Determination of Benefits
21	"ELIGIBILITY FOR AND AMOUNT OF BENEFITS
22	"Definition of Eligible Individual
23	"Sec. 2011. (a)(1) Each aged, blind, or disabled indi-
24	vidual who does not have an eligible spouse and—
25	"(A) whose income, other than income excluded

1	pursuant to section 2012(b), is at a rate of not more
2	than—
3	"(i) \$780 for the 6-month period ending De-
4	cember 31, 1972,
5	"(ii) \$780 for the 6-month period ending June
6	30, and \$840 for the 6-month period ending Decem-
7	ber 31, in the calendar year 1973,
8	"(iii) \$840 for the 6-month period ending June
9	30, and \$900 for the 6-month period ending Decem-
10	ber 31, in the calendar year 1974, or
11	"(iv) \$1,800 for the calendar year 1975 or
12	any calendar year thereafter, and
13	"(B) whose resources, other than resources ex-
14	cluded pursuant to section 2013(a), are not more than
15	<i>\$1,500</i> ,
16	shall be an eligible individual for purposes of this title.
17	"(2) Each aged, blind, or disabled individual who has
18	an eligible spouse and—
19	"(A) whose income (together with the income of
20	such spouse), other than income excluded pursuant to
21	section 2012(b), is at a rate of not more than—
22	"(i) \$1,170 for the 6-month period ending
23	December 31, 1972,
24	"(ii) \$1,170 for the 6-month period ending

1	June 30, and \$1,200 for the b-month period ending
2	December 31, in the calendar year 1973, or
3	"(iii) \$2,400 for the calendar year 1974 or any
4	calendar year thereafter, and
5	"(B) whose resources (together with the resources
6	of such spouse), other than resources excluded pursuant
7	to section 2013(a), are not more than \$1,500,
8	shall be an eligible individual for purposes of this title.
9	"Amount of Benefits
10	"(b)(1) The benefit under this title for an individual
11	who does not have an eligible spouse shall be payable
12	at the rate of—
13	"(A) \$780 for the 6-month period ending Decem-
14	ber 31, 1972,
15	"(B) \$780 for the 6-month period ending June 30,
16	and \$840 for the 6-month period ending December 31,
17	in the calendar year 1973,
18	"(C) \$840 for the 6-month period ending June 30,
19	and \$900 for the 6-month period ending December 31,
20	in the calendar year 1974, and
21	"(D) \$1,800 for the calendar year 1975 or any
22	calendar year thereafter,
<b>2</b> 3	reduced by the amount of income, not excluded pursuant to
24	section 2012(b), of such individual.

1	"(2) The benefit under this title for an individual who
2	has an eligible spouse shall be payable at the rate of—
3	"(A) \$1,170 for the 6-month period ending De-
4	cember 31, 1972,
5	"(B) \$1,170 for the 6-month period ending June
6	30, and \$1,200 for the 6-month period ending Decem-
7	ber 31, in the calendar year 1973, and
8	"(C) $$2,400$ for the calendar year 1974 or any
9	calendar year thereafter,
10	reduced by the amount of income, not excluded pursuant
11	to section 2012(b), of such individual and spouse.
12	"Period for Determination of Benefits
13	"(c)(1) An individual's eligibility for benefits under
14	this title and the amount of such benefits shall be determined
15	for each quarter of a calendar year. Eligibility for and the
16	amount of such benefits for any quarter shall be redetermined
17	at such time or times as may be provided by the Secretary,
18	such redetermination to be effective prospectively.
19	"(2) The Secretary shall by regulation prescribe the
20	cases in which and extent to which the amount of a benefit
21	under this title for any quarter shall be reduced by reason
22	of time elapsed since the beginning of such quarter and be-
23	fore the date of filing of the application for the benefit.
24	"(3) For purposes of this subsection an application
25	shall be considered to have been filed on the first day of

the month in which it was actually filed.

1	"Special Limits on Gross Income
2	"(d) The Secretary may prescribe the circumstances
3	under which, consistently with the purposes of this title,
4	the gross income from a trade or business (including farm-
5	ing) will be considered sufficiently large to make an indi-
6	vidual ineligible for benefits under this title. For purposes
7	of this subsection, the term 'gross income' has the same
8	meaning as when used in chapter 1 of the Internal Revenue
9	Code of 1954.
10	"Limitation on Eligibility of Certain Individuals
11	"(e)(1)(A) Except as provided in subparagraph (B),
12	no person shall be an eligible individual or eligible spouse for
13	purposes of this title with respect to any month if throughout
14	such month he is an inmate of a public institution.
15	"(B) In any case where an eligible individual or
16	his eligible spouse (if any) is, throughout any month,
17	in a hospital, extended care facility, nursing home, or in-
18	termediate care facility receiving payments (with respect
19	to such individual or spouse) under a State plan approved
20	under title XIX, the benefit under this title for such indi-
21	vidual for such month shall be payable
22	"(i) at a rate not in excess of \$300 per year (re-
23	duced by the amount of any income not excluded pur-
24	suant to section 2012(b)) in the case of an individual
<b>25</b>	who does not have an eligible spouse;

1	"(n) at a rate not in excess of the sum of the applica-
2	ble rate specified in subsection (b)(1) and the rate of
3	\$300 per year (reduced by the amount of any income
4	not excluded pursuant to section 2012(b)) in the case
5	of an individual who has an eligible spouse, if only one
6	of them is in such a hospital, home, or facility through-
7	out such month; and
8	"(iii) at a rate not in excess of \$600 per year (re-
9	duced by the amount of any income not excluded pursuant
10	to section 2012(b)) in the case of an individual who
11	has an eligible spouse, if both of them are in such a hos-
12	pital, home, or facility throughout such month.
13	"(2) No person shall be an eligible individual or eligible
14	spouse for purposes of this title if. after notice to such per-
15	son by the Secretary that it is likely that such person is eligible
16	for any payments of the type enumerated in section 2012(a)
17	(2) (B), such person fails within 30 days to take all appro-
18	priate steps to apply for and (if eligible) obtain any such
19	payments.
20	"(3)(A) No person who is an aged, blind, or disabled
21	individual solely by reason of disability (as determined under
22	section 2014(a)(3)) shall be an eligible individual or eli-
23	gible spouse for purposes of this title with respect to any
24	month if such disability is determined by the Secretary to be

- 1 the result in whole or in part of drug abuse or alcohol abuse
- 2 unless such person is undergoing any treatment that may be
- 3 appropriate for such abuse at an institution or facility ap-
- 4 proved for purposes of this paragraph by the Secretary (so
- 5 long as such treatment is available) and demonstrates that
- 6 he is complying with the terms, conditions, and requirements
- 7 of such treatment and with requirements imposed by the
- 8 Secretary under subparagraph (B).
- 9 "(B) The Secretary shall provide for the monitoring
- 10 and testing of all individuals who are receiving benefits under
- 11 this title and who as a condition of such benefits are required
- 12 to be undergoing treatment and complying with the terms,
- 13 conditions, and requirements thereof as described in subpara-
- 14 graph (A), in order to assure such compliance and to deter-
- 15 mine the extent to which the imposition of such requirement
- 16 is contributing to the achievement of the purposes of this title.
- 17 The Secretary shall annually submit to the Congress a full
- 18 and complete report on his activities under this paragraph.
- 19 "(C) As used in subparagraph (A), the term 'drug
- 20 abuse' means abuse of a controlled substance within the mean-
- 21 ing of section 102 of the Controlled Substances Act; and the
- 22 term 'alcohol abuse' means alcohol abuse or alcoholism within
- 23 the meaning of section 247 of the Community Mental Health

<sup>24</sup> Centers Act.

1	Suspension of Payments to Individuals W no Are Outside
2	the United States
3	"(f) Notwithstanding any other provision of this title,
4	no individual shall be considered an eligible individual for
5	purposes of this title for any month during all of which such
6	individual is outside the United States (and no person shall
7	be considered the eligible spouse of an individual for pur-
8	poses of this title with respect to any month during all of
9	which such person is outside the United States). For pur-
10	poses of the preceding sentence, after an individual has been
11	outside the United States for any period of 30 consecutive
12	days, he shall be treated as remaining outside the United
13	States until he has been in the United States for a period of
14	30 consecutive days.
15	"Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam
16	"(g) For special provisions applicable to Puerto Rico,
17	the Virgin Islands, and Guam, see section 1108(e).
18	"INCOME
19	"Meaning of Income
20	"SEC. 2012. (a) For purposes of this title, income
21	means both earned income and unearned income; and-
22	"(1) earned income means only—
23	"(A) wages as determined under section 203
24	(f)(5)(C); and
<b>25</b>	"(B) net earnings from self-employment, as

1	defined in section 211 (without the application of
2	the second and third sentences following clause (C)
3	of subsection (a)(9), and the last paragraph of
4	subsection (a)), including earnings for services de-
5	scribed in paragraphs (4), (5), and (6) of sub-
6	section (c); and
7	"(2) unearned income means all other income,
8	including—
9	"(A) support and maintenance furnished in
10	cash or kind; except that in the case of any individual
11	(and his eligible spouse, if any) living in another
12	person's household and receiving support and main-
13	tenance in kind from such person, the dollar amounts
14	otherwise applicable to such individual (and spouse)
15	as specified in subsections (a) and (b) of section
16	2011 shall be reduced by $33\frac{1}{3}$ percent in lieu of
17	including such support and maintenance in the un-
18	earned income of such individual (and spouse) as
19	otherwise required by this subparagraph;
20	"(B) any payments received as an annuity,
21	pension, retirement, or disability benefit, including
22	veterans' compensation and pensions, workmen's

compensation payments, old-age, survivors, and dis-

ability insurance benefits, railroad retirement annui-

23

_	nes ana pensions, and unemployment insurance
2	benefits;
3	"(C) prizes and awards;
4	"(D) the proceeds of any life insurance policy
5	to the extent that they exceed the amount ex-
6	pended by the beneficiary for purposes of the in-
7	sured individual's last illness and burial or \$1,500,
8	whichever is less;
9	"(E) gifts (cash or otherwise), support and
10	alimony payments, and inheritances; and
1	"(F) rents, dividends, interest, and royalties.
<b>12</b>	$``Exclusions\ From\ Income$
13	"(b) In determining the income of an individual (and
l <b>4</b>	his eligible spouse) there shall be excluded—
15	"(1) subject to limitations (as to amount or other-
16	wise) prescribed by the Secretary, if such individual
17	is a child who is, as determined by the Secretary, a stu-
18	dent regularly attending a school, college, or university,
19	or a course of vocational or technical training designed
20	to prepare him for gainful employment, the earned in-
21	come of such individual;
22	"(2)(A) the total uncarned income of such individ-
23	ual (and such spouse, if any) in a calendar quarter
24	which, as determined in accordance with criteria prescribed
25	by the Secretary, is received too infrequently or irregularly

\$60 in such quarter, and (B) the total earned income of such individual (and such spouse, if any) in a calendar quarter which, as determined in accordance with such criteria, is received too infrequently or irregularly to be included, if such income so received does not exceed \$30 in such quarter;

"(3)(A) if such individual (or such spouse) is blind (and has not attained age 65, or received benefits under this title (or aid under a State plan approved under section 1002 or 1602) for the month before the month in which he attained age 65), (i) the first \$1,020 per year (or proportionately smaller amounts for shorter periods) of earned income not excluded by the preceding paragraphs of this subsection, plus one-half of the remainder thereof, (ii) an amount equal to any expenses reasonably attributable to the earning of any income, and (iii) such additional amounts of other income, where such individual has a plan for achieving self-support approved by the Secretary, as may be necessary for the fulfillment of such plan,

"(B) if such individual (or such spouse) is disabled but not blind (and has not attained age 65, or received benefits under this title (or aid under a State plan approved under section 1402, or 1602) for the

- month before the month in which he attained age 65), (i)
  the first \$1,020 per year (or proportionately smaller
  amounts for shorter periods) of earned income not excluded by the preceding paragraphs of this subsection,
  plus one-half of the remainder thereof, and (ii) such
  additional amounts of other income, where such individual has a plan for achieving self-support approved by
  the Secretary, as may be necessary for the fulfillment of
  such plan, or
  - "(C) if such individual (or such spouse) has attained age 65 and is not included under subparagraph (A) or (B), the first \$720 per year (or proportionately smaller amounts for shorter periods) of earned income not excluded by the preceding paragraphs of this subsection, plus one-third of the remainder thereof;
- "(4) subject to section 2016, any assistance (except veterans' pensions) which is based on need and furnished by any State or political subdivision of a State or any Federal agency, or by any private agency or organization exempt from taxation under section 501 (a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as an organization described in section 501(c) (3) or (4) of such Code;
- "(5) any portion of any grant, scholarship, or fellowship received for use in paying the cost of tuition

1	and fees at any educational (including technical or
2	vocational education) institution;
3	"(6) home produce of such individual (or spouse)
4	utilized by the household for its own consumption;
5	"(7) if such individual is a child, one-third of any
6	payment for his support received from an absent parent;
7	and
8	"(8) any amounts received for the foster care of
9	a child who is not an eligible individual but who is
10	living in the same home as such individual and was
11	placed in such home by a public or nonprofit private
12	child-placement or child-care agency.
13	"(c) For provisions relating to additional disregarding
14	of income, see section 1007 of the Social Security Amend-
15	ments of 1969 and section 2016(c)(1) of this Act.
16	``RESOURCES"
17	"Exclusions From Resources
18	"Sec. 2013. (a) In determining the resources of an
19	individual (and his eligible spouse, if any) there shall be
20	excluded—
21	"(1) the home, to the extent that its value does
22	not exceed such amount as the Secretary determines to
23	be reasonable;
24	"(2) household goods and personal effects, to the
<b>25</b>	extent that their total value does not exceed such

	<b>02</b> 0
1	amount as the Secretary determines to be reasonable;
2	"(3) other property which, as determined in ac-
3	cordance with and subject to limitations prescribed by
4	the Secretary, is so essential to the means of self-support
5	of such individual (and such spouse) as to warrant its
6	exclusion; and
7	"(4) such resources of an individual who is blind
8	or disabled and who has a plan for achieving self-sup-
9	port approved by the Secretary, as may be necessary
10	for the fulfillment of such plan.
11	In determining the resources of an individual (or eligible
12	spouse) an insurance policy shall be taken into account only
13	to the extent of its cash surrender value; except that if the
14	total face value of all life insurance policies on any person
15	is \$1,500 or less, no part of the value of any such policy
16	shall be taken into account.
17	"Disposition of Resources
18	"(b) The Secretary shall prescribe the period or
19	periods of time within which, and the manner in which,
20	various kinds of property must be disposed of in order not
21	to be included in determining an individual's eligibility for
22	benefits. Any portion of the individual's benefits paid for
23	any such period shall be conditioned upon such disposal;
24	and any benefits so paid shall (at the time of the disposal)

be considered overpayments to the extent they would not have

1	been paid had the disposal occurred at the beginning of the
2	period for which such benefits were paid.
3	"MEANING OF TERMS
4	"Aged, Blind, or Disabled Individual
5	"SEC. 2014. (a)(1) For purposes of this title, the
6	term 'aged, blind, or disabled individual' means an indi-
7	vidual who—
8	"(A) is 65 years of age or older, is blind (as deter-
9	mined under paragraph (2)), or is disabled (as deter-
10	mined under paragraph (3)), and
11	"(B) is a resident of the United States, and is either
12	(i) a citizen or (ii) an alien lawfully admitted for
13	permanent residence.
14	"(2) An individual shall be considered to be blind for
15	purposes of this title if he has central visual acuity of
16	20/200 or less in the better eye with the use of a correcting
17	lens. An eye which is accompanied by a limitation in the
18	fields of vision such that the widest diameter of the visual
19	field subtends an angle no greater than 20 degrees shall be
20	considered for purposes of the first sentence of this subsection
21	as having a central visual acuity of 20/200 or less. An in-
22	dividual shall also be considered to be blind for purposes of
23	this title if he is blind as defined under a State plan approved
24	under title X or XVI as in effect prior to the enactment of

this subsection and received aid under such plan (on the

- 1 basis of blindness) for June 1972, so long as he is continu-
- 2 ously blind as so defined.
- 3 "(3)(A) An individual shall be considered to be dis-
- 4 abled for purposes of this title if he is unable to engage in any
- <sup>5</sup> substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically de-
- 6 terminable physical or mental impairment which can be
- 7 expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be
- 8 expected to last for a continuous period of not less than
- 9 twelve months (or, in the case of a child under the age of 18,
- 10 if he suffers from any medically determinable physical or
- 11 mental impairment of comparable severity). An individual
- 12 shall also be considered to be disabled for purposes of this title
- 13 if he is permanently and totally disabled as defined under a
- 14 State plan approved under title XIV or XVI as in effect
- 15 prior to the enactment of this subsection and received aid
- 16 under such plan (on the basis of disability) for June 1972,
- 17 so long as he is continuously disabled as so defined.
- 18 "(B) For purposes of subparagraph (A) (except with
- 19 respect to a child under the age of 18), an individual shall
- <sup>20</sup> be determined to be under a disability only if his physical
- 21 or mental impairment or impairments are of such severity
- 22 that he is not only unable to do his previous work but cannot,
- considering his age, education, and work experience, engage in
- 24 any other kind of substantial gainful work which exists in
- 25 the national economy, regardless of whether such work exists

- 1 in the immediate area in which he lives, or whether a specific
- 2 job vacancy exists for him, or whether he would be hired if he
- 3 applied for work. For purposes of the preceding sentence
- 4 (with respect to any individual), 'work which exists in the
- 5 national economy' means work which exists in significant
- 6 numbers either in the region where such individual lives or
- 7 in several regions of the country.
- 8 "(C) For purposes of this paragraph, a physical or
- 9 mental impairment is an impairment that results from ana-
- 10 tomical, physiological, or psychological abnormalities which
- 11 are demonstrable by medically acceptable clinical and labo-
- 12 ratory diagnostic techniques.
- 13 "(D) The Secretary shall by regulations prescribe the
- 14 criteria for determining when services performed or earn-
- 15 ings derived from services demonstrate an individual's ability
- 16 to engage in substantial gainful activity. Notwithstanding
- 17 the provisions of subparagraph (B), an individual whose
- 18 services or earnings meet such criteria, except for purposes
- 19 of paragraph (4), shall be found not to be disabled.
- 20 "(4)(A) For purposes of this title, any services ren-
- 21 dered during a period of trial work (as defined in subpara-
- 22 graph (B)) by an individual who is an aged, blind, or dis-
- <sup>23</sup> abled individual solely by reason of disability (as determined
- 24 under paragraph (3) of this subsection) shall be deemed not
- 25 to have been rendered by such individual in determining

- 1 whether his disability has ceased in a month during such
- 2 period. As used in this paragraph, the term 'services' means
- 3 activity which is performed for remuneration or gain or is
- 4 determined by the Secretary to be of a type normally per-
- <sup>5</sup> formed for remuneration or gain.
- 6 "(B) The term 'period of trial work', with respect to an
- 7 individual who is an aged, blind, or disabled individual solely
- 8 by reason of disability (as determined under paragraph (3)
- 9 of this subsection), means a period of months beginning and
- 10 ending as provided in subparagraphs (C) and (D).
- 11 "(C) A period of trial work for any individual shall
- 12 begin with the month in which he becomes eligible for benefits
- under this title on the basis of his disability; but no such
- 14 period may begin for an individual who is eligible for benefits
- $^{15}$  under this title on the basis of a disability if he has had a
- 16 previous period of trial work while eligible for benefits on
- 17 the basis of the same disability.
- 18 "(D) A period of trial work for any individual shall
- 19 end with the close of whichever of the following months is
- 20 the earlier:
- "(i) the ninth month, beginning on or after the
- first day of such period, in which the individual renders
- services (whether or not such nine months are con-
- 24 secutive); or
- 25 "(ii) the month in which his disability (as deter-

1	mined under paragraph (3) of this subsection) ceases
2	(as determined after the application of subparagraph
3	(A) of this paragraph).
4	$``Eligible\ Spouse$
5	"(b) For purposes of this title, the term 'eligible spouse'
6	means an aged, blind, or disabled individual who is the
7	husband or wife of another aged, blind, or disabled individual.
8	If two aged, blind, or disabled individuals are husband and
9	wife as described in the preceding sentence, only one of them
10	may be an 'eligible individual' within the meaning of section
11	2011(a).
12	"Definition of Child
13	"(c) For purposes of this title, the term 'child' means
14	an individual who is neither married nor (as determined
15	by the Secretary) the head of a household, and who is (1)
16	under the age of eighteen, or (2) under the age of twenty-
17	two and (as determined by the Secretary) a student regu-
18	larly attending a school, college, or university, or a course of
19	vocational or technical training designed to prepare him for
20	gainful employment.
21	"Determination of Marital Relationships
<ul><li>22</li><li>23</li></ul>	"(d) In determining whether two individuals are hus-
23 24	band and wife for purposes of this title, appropriate State
₩ I	law shall be applied; except that—

"(1) if a man and woman have been determined

1	to be husband and wife under section 216(h)(1) for
2	purposes of title II they shall be considered (from and
3	after the date of such determination or the date of their
4	application for benefits under this title, whichever is
5	later) to be husband and wife for purposes of this title, or
6	"(2) if a man and woman are found to be holding
7	themselves out to the community in which they reside as
8	husband and wife, they shall be so considered for pur-
9	poses of this title notwithstanding any other provision of
10	$this\ section.$
11	"United States
12	"(e) For purposes of this title, the term 'United
13	States', when used in a geographical sense, means the States
14	and the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto
15	Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam.
16	"Income and Resources of Individuals Other Than
17	Eligible Individuals and Eligible Spouses
18	"(f)(1) For purposes of determining eligibility for
19	and the amount of benefits for any individual who is married
20	and whose spouse is living with him in the same household
21	but is not an eligible spouse, such individual's income and
22	resources shall be deemed to include any income and re-
23	sources of such spouse, whether or not available to such
24	individual, except to the extent determined by the Secretary

to be inequitable under the circumstances.

1	"(2) For purposes of determining eligibility for and the
2	amount of benefits for any individual who is a child under
3	age 21, such individual's income and resources shall be
4	deemed to include any income and resources of a parent of
5	such individual (or the spouse of such a parent) who is liv-
6	ing in the same household as such individual, whether or not
7	available to such individual, except to the extent determined
8	by the Secretary to be inequitable under the circumstances.
9	"REHABILITATION SERVICES FOR BLIND AND DISABLED
10	INDIVIDUALS
11	"SEc. 2015. (a) In the case of any blind or disabled
12	individual who—
13	"(1) has not attained age 65, and
14	"(2) is receiving benefits (or with respect to whom
15	benefits are paid) under this title,
16	the Secretary shall make provision for referral of such in-
17	dividual to the appropriate State agency administering the
18	State plan for vocational rehabilitation services approved
19	under the Vocational Rehabilitation Act, and (except in
20	such cases as he may determine) for a review not less often
21	than quarterly of such individual's blindness or disability and
22	his need for and utilization of the rehabilitation services made
23	available to him under such plan.
24	"(b) Every individual with respect to whom the Secre

tary is required to make provision for referral under subsec-

- 1 tion (a) shall accept such rehabilitation services as are made
- 2 available to him under the State plan for vocational reha-
- 3 bilitation services approved under the Vocational Rehabilita-
- 4 tion Act; and the Secretary is authorized to pay to the State
- 5 agency administering or supervising the administration of
- 6 such State plan the costs incurred in the provision of such
- 7 services to individuals so referred.
- 8 "(c) No individual shall be an eligible individual or
- 9 eligible spouse for purposes of this title if he refuses without
- 10 good cause to accept vocational rehabilitation services for
- 11 which he is referred under subsection (a).
- 12 "OPTIONAL STATE SUPPLEMENTATION
- "Sec. 2016. (a) Any cash payments which are made
- 14 by a State (or political subdivision thereof) on a regular
- basis to individuals who are receiving benefits under this title
- or who would but for their income be eligible to receive bene-
- fits under this title, as assistance based on need in supple-
- mentation of such benefits (as determined by the Secretary),
- 19 shall be excluded under section 2012(b)(4) in determining
- the income of such individuals for purposes of this title only if
- 21 (1) the Secretary and such State enter into an agreement
- which satisfies subsection (b) and which may at the option of
- the State provide that the Secretary will, on behalf of such
- 24 State (or subdivision), make such supplementary payments to
- 25 all such individuals, and (2) such supplementary payments

1	are made to such individuals in accordance with such
2	agreement.
3	"(b) Any agreement between the Secretary and a State
4	entered into under subsection (a) shall provide—
5	"(1) that in determining the eligibility of any indi-
6	vidual for supplementary payments on the basis of his
7	income, all the provisions of section 2012(b) will apply,
8	except that with respect to any quarter—
9	"(A) if benefits are paid to such individual for
10	such quarter under this title, such benefits will not be
11	excluded from income in applying paragraph (4)
12	of such section, and
13	"(B) if no benefits are paid to such individual
14	for such quarter under this title, the requirement of
15	this paragraph shall not apply with respect to such
16	individual; except that the supplementary payment
17	shall not be reduced, on account of income in excess
18	of the maximum amount which such individual could
19	have and still receive such a benefit, by an amount
20	greater than such excess,
21	and, if the agreement provides that the Secretary will, on
22	beauty of the istate for potential mountainous, was any
23	menuty payments to thatolawats recovery occupants
2	title, shall also provide—

"(2) that such payments will be made (subject to

subsection (c)(2)) to all individuals residing in such
State (or subdivision) who are receiving benefits under

3 this title, and

"(3) such other rules with respect to eligibility for or amount of the supplementary payments, and such procedural or other general administrative provisions, as the Secretary finds necessary (subject to subsection (c)) to achieve efficient and effective administration of both the program which he conducts under this title and the optional State supplementation.

"(c) (1) Any State (or political subdivision), in determining the eligibility of any individual for supplementary payments described in subsection (a), may disregard up to \$7.50 of any income in addition to other amounts which it is required or permitted to disregard under this section in determining such eligibility, and may include a provision to that effect in the State's agreement with the Secretary under subsection (a).

"(2) Any State (or political subdivision) making supplementary payments described in subsection (a) may at its option impose as a condition of eligibility for such payments, and include in the State's agreement with the Secretary under such subsection, a residence requirement which excludes individuals who have resided in the State (or political subdivision) for less than a minimum period prior to application for such payments.

1	"(d) Any State which has entered into an agreement
2	with the Secretary under this section which provides that
3	the Secretary will, on behalf of the State (or political sub-
4	division), make the supplementary payments to individuals
5	who are receiving benefits under this title (or who would but
6	for their income be eligible to receive such benefits), shall,
7	subject to section 503 of the Social Security Amendments of
8	1971, at such times and in such installments as may be agreed
9	upon between the Secretary and such State, pay to the Sec-
10	retary an amount equal to the expenditures made by the
11	Secretary as such supplementary payments.
12	"Part B-Procedural and General Provisions
13	"PAYMENTS AND PROCEDURES
14	"Payment of Benefits
15	"SEC. 2031 (a)(1) Benefits under this title shall be
16	paid at such time or times and in such installments as will
17	best effectuate the purposes of this title, as determined under
18	regulations (and may in any case be paid less frequently
19	than monthly where the amount of the monthly benefit would
20	not exceed \$10).
21	"(2) Payments of the benefit of any individual may be
22	made to any such individual or to his eligible spouse (if
23	any) or partly to each, or, if the Secretary deems it appro-
24	priate, to any other person (including an appropriate public
25	or private agency) who is interested in or concerned with

the welfare of such individual (or spouse).

"(3) The Secretary may by regulation establish ranges
of incomes within which a single amount of benefits under
this title shall apply.

"(4) The Secretary—

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

- "(A) may make, to any individual initially applying for benefits under this title who is presumptively
  eligible for such benefits and who is faced with financial
  emergency, a cash advance against such benefits in an
  amount not exceeding \$100; and
  - "(B) may pay benefits under this title to an individual applying for such benefits on the basis of disability for a period not exceeding 3 months prior to the determination of such individual's disability, if such individual is presumptively disabled and is determined to be otherwise eligible for such benefits, and any benefits so paid prior to such determination shall in no event be considered overpayments for purposes of subsection (b).
- "(5) Payment of the benefit of any individual who is an aged, blind, or disabled individual solely by reason of blindness (as determined under section 2014(a)(2)) or disability (as determined under section 2014(a)(3)), and who ceases to be blind or to be under such disability, shall continue (so long as such individual is otherwise eligible) through the

- second month following the month in which such blindness
  or disability ceases.
- 3 "Overpayments and Underpayments
- 4 "(b) Whenever the Secretary finds that more or less
- 5 than the correct amount of benefits has been paid with respect
- 6 to any individual, proper adjustment or recovery shall, sub-
- 7 ject to the succeeding provisions of this subsection, be made by
- 8 appropriate adjustments in future payments to such individ-
- 9 ual or by recovery from or payment to such individual or his
- 10 eligible spouse (or by recovery from the estate of either). The
- 11 Secretary shall make such provision as he finds appropriate
- 12 in the case of payment of more than the correct amount of
- 13 benefits with respect to an individual with a view to avoiding
- 14 penalizing such individual or his eligible spouse who was
- 15 without fault in connection with the overpayment, if adjust-
- 16 ment or recovery on account of such overpayment in such case
- 17 would defeat the purposes of this title, or be against equity or
- 18 good conscience, or (because of the small amount involved)
- 19 impede efficient or effective administration of this title.
- 20 "Hearings and Review
- 21 "(c)(1) The Secretary shall provide reasonable notice
- 22 and opportunity for a hearing to any individual who is or
- 23 claims to be an eligible individual or eligible spouse and is in
- 24 disagreement with any determination under this title with

- 1 respect to eligibility of such individual for benefits, or the
- 2 amount of such individual's benefits, if such individual re-
- 3 quests a hearing on the matter in disagreement within thirty
- 4 days after notice of such determination is received.
- 5 "(2) Determination on the basis of such hearing, except
- 6 to the extent that the matter in disagreement involves the
- 7 existence of a disability (within the meaning of section 2014
- 8 (a)(3)), shall be made within ninety days after the indi-
- <sup>9</sup> vidual requests the hearing as provided in paragraph (1).
- "(3) The final determination of the Secretary after a
- 11 hearing under paragraph (1) shall be subject to judicial
- 12 review as provided in section 205(g) to the same extent as
- 13 the Secretary's final determinations under section 205;
- 14 except that the determination of the Secretary after such
- 15 hearing as to any fact shall be final and conclusive and not
- subject to review by any court.
- 17 "Procedures; Prohibition of Assignments; Representation of
- 18 Claimants
- "(d) (1) The provisions of section 207 and subsections
- 20 (a), (d), (e), and (f) of section 205 shall apply with
- 21 respect to this part to the same extent as they apply in the
- 22 case of title II.
- "(2) To the extent the Secretary finds it will promote
- the achievement of the objectives of this title, qualified
- persons may be appointed to serve as hearing examiners in

- 1 hearings under subsection (c) without meeting the specific
- 2 standards prescribed for hearing examiners by or under sub-
- 3 chapter II of chapter 5 of title 5, United States Code.
- 4 "(3) The Secretary may prescribe rules and regulations
  5 governing the recognition of agents or other persons, other
- 6 than attorneys, as hereinafter provided, representing claim-
- 7 ants before the Secretary under this title, and may require
- 8 of such agents or other persons, before being recognized as
- 9 representatives of claimants, that they shall show that they
- 10 are of good character and in good repute, possessed of the
- 11 necessary qualifications to enable them to render such claim-
- 12 ants valuable service, and otherwise competent to advise and
- 13 assist such claimants in the presentation of their cases. An
- 14 attorney in good standing who is admitted to practice be-
- 15 fore the highest court of the State, Territory, District, or
- 16 insular possession of his residence or before the Supreme
- 17 Court of the United States or the inferior Federal courts, shall
- 18 be entitled to represent claimants before the Secretary. The
- 19 Secretary may, after due notice and opportunity for hearing,
- suspend or prohibit from further practice before him any such
- 21 person, agent, or attorney who refuses to comply with the
- 22 Secretary's rules and regulations or who violates any provi-
- sion of this paragraph for which a penalty is prescribed. The
- 24 Secretary may, by rule and regulation, prescribe the maxi-
- 25 mum fees which may be charged for services performed in

- 1 connection with any claim before the Secretary under this
- 2 title, and any agreement in violation of such rules and regu-
- 3 lations shall be void. Any person who shall, with intent to
- 4 defraud, in any manner willfully and knowingly deceive,
- 5 mislead, or threaten any claimant or prospective claimant
- 6 or beneficiary under this title by word, circular, letter, or
- 7 advertisement, or who shall knowingly charge or collect
- 8 directly or indirectly any fee in excess of the maximum fee,
- 9 or make any agreement directly or indirectly to charge or
- 10 collect any fee in excess of the maximum fee, prescribed by
- 11 the Secretary, shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and,
- 12 upon conviction thereof, shall for each offense be punished by
- 13 a fine not exceeding \$500 or by imprisonment not exceeding
- 14 one year, or both.
- 15 "Applications and Furnishing of Information
- "(e)(1) The Secretary shall prescribe such require-
- 17 ments with respect to the filing of applications, the suspension
- 18 or termination of assistance, the furnishing of other data and
- 19 material, and the reporting of events and changes in circum-
- stances, as may be necessary for the effective and efficient
- 21 administration of this title.
- "(2) In case of the failure by any individual to submit
- a report of events and changes in circumstances relevant to
- <sup>24</sup> eligibility for or amount of benefits under this title as required
- by the Secretary under paragraph (1), or delay by any

1	individual in submitting a report as so required, the Secre-
2	tary (in addition to taking any other action he may consider
3	appropriate under paragraph (1)) shall reduce any benefits
4	which may subsequently become payable to such individual
5	under this title by—
6	"(A) \$25 in the case of the first such failure or
7	delay,
8	"(B) \$50 in the case of the second such failure
9	or delay, and
10	"(C) \$100 in the case of the third or a subsequent
l1	such failure or delay,
12	except where the individual was without fault or good cause
13	for such failure or delay existed.
14	"Furnishing of Information by Other Agencies
15	"(f) The head of any Federal agency shall provide
16	such information as the Secretary needs for purposes of
17	determining eligibility for or amount of benefits, or verifying
18	other information with respect thereto.
19	"PENALITIES FOR FRAUD
20	"Sec. 2032. Whoever—
21	"(1) knowingly and willfully makes or causes to be
22	made any false statement or representation of a material
23	fact in any application for any benefit under this title,
24	"(2) at any time knowingly and willfully makes or

- 1 causes to be made any false statement or representation 2 of a material fact for use in determining rights to any 3 such benefit,
- 4 "(3) having knowledge of the occurrence of any 5 event affecting (A) his initial or continued right to 6 any such benefit, or (B) the initial or continued right 7 to any such benefit of any other individual in whose 8 behalf he has applied for or is receiving such benefit, conceals or fails to disclose such event with an intent fraudulently to secure such benefit either in a greater amount or quantity than is due or when no such benefit is authorized, or
  - "(4) having made application to receive any such benefit for the use and benefit of another and having received it, knowingly and willfully converts such benefit or any part thereof to a use other than for the use and benefit of such other person.
- 18 shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof 19 shall be fined not more than \$1,000 or imprisoned for not 20 more than one year, or both.

## 21 "ADMINISTRATION

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

22 "Sec. 2033. The Secretary may make such administra-23 tive and other arrangements (including arrangements for the 24determination of blindness and disability under section 2014 25 (a) (2) and (3) in the same manner and subject to the same conditions as provided with respect to disability deter-

- 1 minations under section 221) as may be necessary or appro-
- 2 priate to carry out his functions under this title.
- 3 "EVALUATION AND RESEARCH; REPORTS
- 4 "Sec. 2034. (a) (1) The Secretary shall provide for
- 5 the continuing evaluation of the program conducted under
- 6 this title, including its effectiveness in achieving its goals
- 7 and its impact on other related programs. The Secretary may
- 8 conduct research regarding, and demonstrations of, ways to
- 9 improve the effectiveness of the program conducted under this
- 10 title, and in so doing may waive any requirement or limita-
- 11 tion imposed by or pursuant to this title to the extent he
- 12 deems appropriate. The Secretary may, for these purposes,
- 13 contract for evaluations of and research regarding such
- 14 program.
- 15 "(2) Of the sums authorized by section 2001 to be
- 16 appropriated for any fiscal year, not more than \$5,000,000
- shall be appropriated for purposes of paragraph (1).
- 18 "(b) The Secretary shall, in conducting the activities
- 19 provided for in subsection (a)(1), utilize the data collec-
- 20 tion, processing, and retrieval system established for use in the
- 21 operation and administration of the program under this title.
- "(c) The Secretary shall make an annual report to the
- 23 President and the Congress on the operation and administra-
- tion of the program under this title, including an evaluation
- thereof in carrying out the purposes of this title and recom-
- 26 mendations with respect thereto."

1	CONFORMING AMENDMENTS RELATING TO AID TO THE
2	AGED, BLIND, OR DISABLED
3	Sec. 302. (a) The heading of title XVI of the Social
4	Security Act is amended to read as follows:
5	"TITLE XVI—GRANTS TO STATES FOR SERV-
6	ICES TO THE AGED, BLIND, OR DISABLED".
7	(b)(1) The first sentence of section 1601 of such Act
8	is amended to read as follows: "For the purpose of encourag-
9	ing each State, as far as practicable under the conditions in
10	such State, to furnish rehabilitation and other services to
11	help needy individuals who are 65 years of age or over, are
12	blind, or are disabled to attain or retain capability for self-
13	support or self-care, there is hereby authorized to be appro-
14	priated for each fiscal year a sum sufficient to carry out the
15	purposes of this title."
16	(2) The second sentence of section 1601 of such Act
17	is amended by striking out "State plans" and all that fol-
18	lows and inserting in lieu thereof "State plans for services
19	to the aged, blind, or disabled."
20	(c) The heading of section 1602 of such Act is amended
21	to read as follows:
22	"STATE PLANS FOR SERVICES TO THE AGED, BLIND, OR
23	DISABLED".
24	(d)(1) Section 1602(a) of such Act is amended—
25	(A) by striking out "for aid to the aged, blind, or

1.	disabled, or for aid to the aged, blind, or disabled and
2	medical assistance for the aged" in the matter preceding
3	paragraph (1) and inserting in lieu thereof "for services
4	to the aged, blind, or disabled";
5	(B) by striking out "with respect to services" in
6	paragraph (1) (as amended by section 522(e) of this
7	Act);
8	(C) by striking out paragraph (4);
9	(D)(i) by striking out "recipients and other per-
10	sons" in paragraph (5)(B) and inserting in lieu thereof
11	"persons", and
12	(ii) by striking out "providing services to appli-
13	cants and recipients" in such paragraph and inserting in
14	lieu thereof "providing services under the plan";
15	(E) by striking out "applicants and recipients" in
<b>1</b> 6	paragraph (7) and inserting in lieu thereof "per-
17	sons seeking or receiving services under the plan";
18	(F) by striking out paragraph (8);
19	(G) by striking out "aid or assistance to or on be-
20	half of individuals" in paragraph (9) and inserting in
21	lieu thereof "services to individuals";
22	(H)(i) by striking out "(if any)" in paragraph
23	(10), and
24	(ii) by striking out "to applicants for or recipients
25	of mid on assistance under the plan to help them attain

of aid or assistance under the plan to help them attain

1	self-support or self-care" in such paragraph and insert-
<b>2</b>	ing in lieu thereof "under the plan";
3	(I) by striking out paragraph (11);
4	(I) by striking out "aid or assistance" in para-
5	graph (13) and inserting in lieu thereof "services";
6	(K) by striking out paragraphs (14) and (15);
7	(L)(i) by striking out "aid or assistance to or on
8	behalf of" in the matter preceding subparagraph (A) of
9	paragraph (16) and inserting in lieu thereof "services
10	to'',
11	(ii) by adding "and" after the semicolon at the end
12	of subparagraph (B) of such paragraph,
13	(iii) by striking out "recipients 65 years of age or
14	older" in subparagraph (C) of such paragraph and
15	inserting in lieu thereof "persons receiving services
16	under the State plan who are 65 years of age or older
17	and",
18	(iv) by striking out ", including appropriate medi-
19	cal treatment and other aid or assistance" in such sub-
20	$paragraph\ (C),$
21	(v) by striking out "section $1603(a)(4)(A)(i)$
22	and (ii)" in such subparagraph (C) and inserting in
23	lieu thereof "section 1603(a)(1)(A) (i) and (ii)",
24	(vi) by striking out "such recipient" each place it
25	appears in such subparagraph (C) and inserting in lieu
26	thereof "such persons receiving services"

1	(vii) by striking out "and" at the end of such sub-
2	paragraph (C), and
3	(viii) by striking out subparagraph (D) of such
4	paragraph;
5	(M)(i) by striking out "aid or assistance to or
6	on behalf of" in paragraph (17) and inserting in lieu
7	thereof "services to", and
8	(ii) by striking out the period at the end of such
9	paragraph and inserting in lieu thereof "; and";
10	(N) by inserting after paragraph (17) the follow-
11	$ing \ new \ paragraph$ :
12	"(18) provide that, to the extent services under
13	the plan are furnished by the staff of the State or local
14	agency administering the plan in any political subdivi-
15	sion of the State, such staff will be located in organiza-
16	tional units (up to such organizational levels as the Secre-
17	tary may prescribe) which are separate and distinct
18	from the units within such agencies responsible for deter-
19	mining eligibility for any form of cash assistance paid
20	on a regularly recurring basis or for performing any
21	functions directly related thereto, subject to any excep-
22	tions which, in accordance with standards prescribed in
23	regulations, the Secretary may permit when he deems
24	it necessary in order to ensure the effective administration
25	of the nlan.": and

(0) by striking out "the State plan for aid to the

T	aged, blind, or disabled (or for aid to the aged, blind,
2	or disabled and medical assistance for the aged)" in the
3	last sentence and inserting in lieu thereof "the State
4	plan for services to the aged, blind, or disabled".
5	(2) Paragraphs (5), (6), (7), (9), (10), (12),
6	(13), (16), (17), and (18) of section 1602(a) of such Act,
7	as amended by paragraph (1) of this subsection, are redesig-
8	nated as paragraphs (4) through (13), respectively.
9	(e) Section 1602(b) of such Act is amended—
10	(1) by striking out "aid or assistance" in the mat-
11	ter preceding paragraph (1) and inserting in lieu
12	thereof "services";
13	(2) by striking out paragraph (2) and inserting
14	in lieu thereof the following:
15	"(2) any residence requirement which excludes
16	any individual who resides in the State; or"; and
17	(3) by striking out the last sentence.
18	(f) Section 1602(c) of such Act is repealed.
19	(g) Section 1603(a) of such Act is amended—
20	(1) by striking out paragraphs (1), (2), and (3);
21	(2) by redesignating paragraph (4) as paragraph
22	(1), and—
23	(A) by striking out "applicants for or re-
24	cipients of aid or assistance" in clause (i) of
25	subparagraph (A) of such paragraph and inserting

1	in theu thereof individuals (including applicants
2	for and recipients of assistance under title XX)",
3	(B) by striking out "applicants or recipients"
4	in clause (ii) of subparagraph (A) of such para-
5	graph and inserting in lieu thereof "individuals",
6	(C) by striking out "aid or assistance under
7	the plan" in clause (iii) of subparagraph (A) of
8	such paragraph and inserting in lieu thereof "assist-
9	ance under title $XX$ ",
10	(D) by striking out "to applicants for or re-
1.1	cipients of aid or assistance under the plan" in
12	subparagraph (B) of such paragraph and inserting
13	in lieu thereof "to individuals under the plan", and
14	(E) by striking out "such aid or assistance"
15	in subparagraph (B) of such paragraph and insert-
16	ing in lieu thereof "assistance under title XX";
17	(3) by redesignating paragraph (5) as paragraph
18	(2), and by striking out "paragraph (4)" in such para-
19	graph and inserting in lieu thereof "paragraph (1)".
20	(h) Section 1603(b) of such Act is amended—
21	(1) by striking out paragraph (3); and
22	(2) by redesignating paragraph (4) as paragraph
23	(3).
24	(i) Section 1603(c) of such Act is amended—
25	(1) by striking out "nargaraph (4) of subsection

1	(a)" each place it appears and inserting in lieu thereo
2	"paragraph (1) of subsection (a)";
3	(2) by striking out "applicants for or recipients
4	of aid to the aged, blind, or disabled" and inserting in
5	lieu thereof "individuals"; and
6	(3) by striking out "paragraph (5) of such sub-
7	section" and inserting in lieu thereof "paragraph (2) of
8	such subsection".
9	(j) Section 1604(1) of such Act is amended by striking
10	out "has been so changed that it".
11	(k) Section 1605 of such Act is amended to read as
12	follows:
13	``DEFINITION"
14	"Sec. 1605. For purposes of this title, the term 'serv-
15	ices to the aged, blind, or disabled' means services (includ-
16	ing but not limited to the services referred to in section
17	1603(a)(1)(A) and (B)) provided for or on behalf of
18	needy individuals who are 65 years of age or older, are
19	blind, or are disabled."
20	(l) References in any law, regulation, State plan, or
21	other document to any provision of title XVI of the Social
22	Security Act which is redesignated by this section shall to the
23	extent appropriate (from and after the effective date of the
24	amendments made by this section) be considered to be ref-
25	erences to such provision as so redesignated.

1	REPEAL OF TITLES I, X, AND XIV OF THE SOCIAL
<b>2</b>	SECURITY ACT
3	SEC. 303. Titles I, X, and XIV of the Social Security
4	Act are repealed.
5	PROVISION FOR DISREGARDING OF CERTAIN INCOME IN
6	DETERMINING NEED FOR AID TO THE AGED, BLIND, OR
7	DISABLED FOR ASSISTANCE
8	SEC. 304. (a) Effective upon the enactment of this Act,
9	section 1007 of the Social Security Amendments of 1969 is
10	amended by striking out "and before January 1972" and in-
11	serting in lieu thereof "and before July 1972".
12	(b) Effective July 1, 1972, such section 1007 (as
13	amended by subsection (a) of this section) is amended—
14	(1) by striking out "the requirements imposed by
15	law as a condition of approval of a State plan to pro-
16	vide aid to individuals under title I, X, XIV, or XVI
17	of the Social Security Act" and inserting in lieu thereof
18	"the requirements which a State must meet in order to
19	have supplementary payments made pursuant to an agree-
20	ment under section 2016 of the Social Security Act ex-
21	cluded from income for purposes of title XX of such
<b>2</b> 2	Act";
23	(2) by striking out "(and the plan shall be deemed
24	to require)".

1	(3) by striking out "for aid for any month after
2	March 1970 and before July 1972" and inserting in
3	lieu thereof "for such a supplementary payment for any
4	month";
5	(4) by striking out "the aid received by him" in
6	paragraphs (1) and (2) and inserting in lieu thereof
7	"the supplementary payment";
8	(5) by striking out "the State plan" in paragraph
9	(1) and inserting in lieu thereof "the State plan ap-
10	proved under title I, X, XIV, or XVI of the Social
11	Security Act".
12	(6) by adding at the end thereof (after and below
13	paragraph (2)) the following new sentence:
14	"Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this section,
15	State supplementary payments under an agreement under
16	section 2016 of the Social Security Act which do not other-
17	wise meet the specific requirements of such provisions shall
18	nevertheless be deemed to meet such requirements for
19	any month if in computing the supplementary pay-
20	ment of any individual receiving monthly insurance benefits
21	under title II of such Act, or an annuity or pension under
22	the Railroad Retirement Act of 1937, not less than \$4 of
23	such benefit, annuity, or pension is disregarded or excluded
24	from income in addition to any amounts which would other-
25	wise be so disregarded or excluded."

1	ADVANCES FROM OASI TRUST FUND FOR
2	ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
3	SEC. 305. (a) Section $201(g)(1)(A)$ of the Social
4	Security Act is amended—
5	(1) by striking out "this title and title XVIII"
6	wherever it appears and inserting in lieu thereof "this
7	title, title XVIII, and title XX";
8	(2) by striking out "costs which should be borne
9	by each of the Trust Funds" and inserting in lieu thereof
<b>1</b> 0	"costs which should be borne by each of the Trust Funds
11	and (with respect to title XX) by the general revenues of
12	the United States"; and
13	(3) by striking out "in order to assure that each
14	of the Trust Funds bears" and inserting in lieu thereof
15	"in order to assure that (after appropriations made pur-
16	suant to section 2001, and repayment to the Trust Funds
17	from amounts so appropriated) each of the Trust Funds
18	and the general revenues of the United States bears".
19	(b)(1) Sums appropriated pursuant to section 2001
20	of the Social Security Act shall be utilized from time to time,
21	in amounts certified under the second sentence of section 201
22	(g)(1)(A) of such Act, to repay the Trust Funds for ex-
23	penditures made from such Funds in any fiscal year under
24	section 201(a)(1)(A) of such Act (as amended by sub-

1	section (a) of this section) on account of the costs of ad-
2	ministration of title XX of such Act (as added by section 301
3	of this Act).
4	(2) If the Trust Funds have not theretofore been repaid
5	for expenditures made in any fiscal year (as described in
6	paragraph (1)) to the extent necessary on account of—
7	(A) expenditures made from such Funds prior to
8	the end of such fiscal year to the extent that the amount of
9	such expenditures exceeded the amount of the expendi-
10	tures which would have been made from such Funds if
11	subsection (a) had not been enacted,
12	(B) the additional administrative expenses, if any,
13	resulting from the excess expenditures described in sub-
14	paragraph (A), and
15	(C) any loss in interest to such Funds resulting
16	from such excess expenditures and such administrative
17	expenses,
18	in order to place each such Fund in the same position (at the
19	end of such fiscal year) as it would have been in if such ex-
20	cess expenditures had not been made, the amendments made
21	by subsection (a) shall cease to be effective at the close of the
22	fiscal year following such fiscal year.
23	(3) As used in this subsection, the term "Trust Funds"

has the meaning given it in section 201(g)(1)(A) of the

24

25

Social Security Act.

1	TITLE IV—FAMILY PROGRAMS
2	ESTABLISHMENT OF OPPORTUNITIES FOR FAMILIES
3	PROGRAM AND FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN
4	Sec. 401. The Social Security Act is amended by add-
5	ing at the end thereof (after the new title added by section
6	301 of this Act) the following new title:
7	"TITLE XXI—OPPORTUNITIES FOR FAMILIES
8	PROGRAM AND FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN
9	"PURPOSE; APPROPRIATIONS
10	"Sec. 2101. For the purpose of—
11	"(1) providing for members of needy families with
12	children the manpower services. training, employment,
13	child care, family planning, and related services which
14	are necessary to train them, prepare them for employ-
15	ment, and otherwise assist them in securing and retaining
16	regular employment and having the opportunity for ad-
17	vancement in employment, to the end that such families
18	will be restored to self-supporting, independent, and useful
19	roles in their communities, and
20	"(2) providing a basic level of financial assistance
21	throughout the Nation to needy families with children in
22	a manner which will encourage work, training, and self-
23	support, improve family life, and enhance personal
24	$m{d}ianitu.$

- 1 there are authorized to be appropriated, for each of the five
- 2 fiscal years in the period beginning July 1, 1972, and ending
- 3 June 30, 1977, sums sufficient to carry out this title.
- 4 "BASIC ELIGIBILITY FOR BENEFITS
- 5 "Sec. 2102. Every family which is determined under
- 6 part C to be eligible on the basis of its income and resources
- 7 shall, upon registration for manpower services, training, and
- 8 employment by any of its members who are available for
- 9 employment (as determined under section 2111) and in ac-
- 10 cordance with and subject to the other provisions of this title,
- 11 be paid benefits by the Secretary of Labor under part A, or,
- 12 if such family has no members who are registered for such
- 13 services, training, and employment, shall be paid benefits
- 14 by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare under
- 15 part B.
- 16 "PART A—OPPORTUNITIES FOR FAMILIES PROGRAM
- 17 "REGISTRATION OF FAMILY MEMBERS FOR MANPOWER
- 18 SERVICES, TRAINING, AND EMPLOYMENT
- 19 "Sec. 2111. (a) Every individual who is determined
- 20 by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare to be a
- 21 member of an eligible family and to be available for em-
- 22 ployment shall register with the Secretary of Labor for
- 23 manpower services, training, and employment.
- 24 "(b) Any individual shall be considered to be available
- 25 for employment for purposes of this title unless he is de-

1	termined by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Wel-
2	fare to be—
3	"(1) unable to engage in work or training by rea-
4	son of illness, incapacity, or advanced age;
5	"(2) a mother or other relative of a child under
6	the age of three (or, until July 1, 1974, under the age
7	of six) who is caring for such child;
8	"(3) the mother or other female caretaker of a
9	child, if the father or another adult male relative
10	is in the home and not excluded by paragraph (1),
11	(2), (4), or (5) of this subsection (unless he has
12	failed to register as required by subsection (a), or to
13	accept services or employment or participate in training
14	as required by subsection (c));
15	"(4) a child who is under the age of sixteen or
16	meets the requirements of section 2155(b)(2); or
17	"(5) one whose presence in the home on a substan-
18	tially continuous basis is required because of the ill-
19	ness or incapacity of another member of the household.
20	An individual described in paragraph (2), (3), (4), or
21	(5) who would, but for the preceding sentence, be required
22	to register pursuant to subsection (a), may, if he wishes,
23	register as provided in such subsection, and upon so register-
24	ing he shau be considered as abundote for employment for
25	purposes of this title.

1	"(c)(1) Every individual who is registered as required
2	by subsection (a) shall participate in manpower services or
3	training, and accept and continue to participate in employ-
4	ment in which he is able to engage, except where good
5	cause exists for failure to participate in such services or
6	training or to accept and continue to participate in such
7	employment, as provided by the Secretary of Labor.
8	"(2) No individual shall be required by paragraph (1)
9	to accept employment if—
10	"(A) the position offered is vacant due directly
11	to a strike, lockout, or other labor dispute;
12	"(B) the wages, hours, or other terms or condi-
13	tions of the work offered are contrary to or less than
14	those prescribed by applicable Federal, State, or local
15	law or are less favorable to the individual than those
16	prevailing for similar work in the locality, or the wages
17	for the work offered are at an hourly rate of less than
18	three-fourths of the minimum wage specified in section 6
19	(a) (1) of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938;
20	"(C) as a condition of being employed the individual
21	would be required to join a company union or to resign
22	from or refrain from joining any bona fide labor organi-
23	zation; or
24	"(D) the individual has the demonstrated capac-

ity, through other available training or employment op-

- 1 portunities, of securing work available to him that would
- 2 better enable him to achieve self-sufficiency.
- 3 "CHILD CARE AND OTHER SUPPORTIVE SERVICES
- 4 "Sec. 2112. (a) (1) The Secretary of Labor shall make
- 5 provision for the furnishing of child care services in such
- 6 cases and for so long as he deems appropriate (subject to
- 7 section 2179) for individuals who are currently registered
- 8 pursuant to section 2111(a) or referred pursuant to section
- 9 2117(a) (or who have been so registered or referred within
- 10 such period or periods of time as the Secretary of Labor may
- 11 prescribed) and who need child care services in order to
- 12 accept or continue to participate in manpower services, train-
- 13 ing, or employment, or vocational rehabilitation services.
- "(2) In making provision for the furnishing of child
- 15 care services under this subsection, the Secretary of Labor
- 16 shall, in accordance with standards established pursuant to
- 17 section 2134(a), arrange for or purchase, from whatever
- 18 sources may be available, all such necessary child care serv-
- 19 ices, including necessary transportation. Where available,
- 20 services provided through facilities developed by the Secre-
- 21 tary of Health, Education, and Welfare shall be utilized on
- <sup>22</sup> a priority basis.
- 23 "(3) In cases where child care services cannot as a
- 24 practical matter be made available in facilities developed
- by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare, the

Secretary of Labor may provide such services (A) by 2 grants to public or nonprofit private agencies or contracts 3 with public or private agencies or other persons, through such public or private facilities as may be available and 5 appropriate (except that no such funds may be used for the construction of facilities (as defined in section 2134(b)(2)), 7 and (B) through the assurance of such services from other 8 appropriate sources. In addition to other grants or contracts made under clause (A) of the preceding sentence, grants or 10 contracts under such clause may be made to or with any agency 11 which is designated by the appropriate elected or appointed 12 official or officials in such area and which demonstrates a 13 capacity to work effectively with the manpower agency in 14 such area (including provision for the stationing of person-15 nel with the manpower team in appropriate cases). To the 16 extent appropriate, such care for children attending school 17 which is provided on a group or institutional basis shall be 18 provided through arrangements with the appropriate local 19 educational agency. 20 "(4) The Secretary of Labor may require individuals 21receiving child care services made available under paragraph 22(2) or provided under paragraph (3) to pay (in accord-23 ance with the schedule or schedules prescribed under section 242134(a)) for part or all of the cost thereof, and may require 25

(as a condition of benefits under this part) that individuals

- 1 receiving child care services otherwise furnished pursuant
- 2 to provision made by him under paragraph (1) shall pay
- 3 for the cost of such services if such cost will be excludable
- 4 under section 2153(b)(3).
- 5 "(5) In order to promote, in a manner consistent with
- 6 the purposes of this title, the effective provision of child care
- 7 services, the Secretary of Labor shall assure the close coopera-
- 8 tion of the manpower agency with the providers of child care
- 9 services and shall, through the utilization of training pro-
- 10 grams and in cooperation with the Secretary of Health,
- 11 Education, and Welfare, prepare persons registered pursu-
- ant to section 2111 for employment in child care facilities.
- "(6) The Secretary of Labor shall regularly report to
- the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare concerning
- the amount and location of the child care services which he
- has had to provide (and expects to have to provide) under
- paragraph (3) because such services were not (or will not
- be) available under paragraph (2).
- "(7) Of the amount appropriated to enable the Secretary
- of Labor to carry out his responsibilities under this subsection
- for any fiscal year, not less than 50 percent shall be expended
- by the Secretary of Labor in accordance with a formula
- 23 under which the expenditures made in any State shall bear
- the same ratio to the total of such expenditures in all the
- 25
  States as the number of mothers registered under section

- 1 2111 in such State bears to the total number of mothers so
- 2 registered in all the States.
- 3 "(b)(1) The Secretary of Labor shall make provision
- 4 for the furnishing of the health, vocational rehabilitation,
- <sup>5</sup> counseling, social, and other supportive services (including
- 6 physical examinations and minor medical services) which
- 7 he determines under regulations to be necessary to permit an
- 8 individual who has registered pursuant to section 2111(a)
- 9 to undertake or continue manpower training or employment
- 10 under this part.

- "(2) In addition, the Secretary of Labor shall make
- 12 provision for the offering, to all appropriate members of
- 13 families which include one or more individuals registered
- 14 pursuant to section 2111(a), of family planning services,
- the acceptance of which by any such member shall be volun-
- 16 tary on the part of such member and shall not be a prereq-
- uisite to eligibility for or receipt of benefits under this part
- 18 or otherwise affect the amount of such benefits.
- "(3) Services furnished under this subsection shall be
- provided in close cooperation with manpower training and
- 21 employment services provided under this part. In providing
- services under this subsection the Secretary of Labor, to the
- maximum extent feasible, shall assure that such services are
- 24 provided in such manner, through such means, and using
  - such authority available under any other Act (subject to

- 1 all duties and responsibilities thereunder) as will make
- 2 maximum use of existing facilities, programs, and agencies.
- 3 "(4) Of the sums authorized by section 2101 to be ap-
- 4 propriated for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1973, not more
- 5 than \$100,000,000 shall be appropriated to the Secretary of
- 6 Labor to enable him to carry out his responsibilities under
- 7 paragraph (1) of this subsection.
- 8 "PAYMENT OF BENEFITS
- 9 "Sec. 2113. Every eligible family (other than a family
- 10 meeting the conditions for payment of benefits under section
- 11 2131) shall, in accordance with and subject to the other
- 12 provisions of this title, be paid benefits by the Secretary of
- 13 Labor as provided in part C.
- 14 "OPERATION OF MANPOWER SERVICES, TRAINING, AND
- 15 EMPLOYMENT PROGRAMS
- 16 "Sec. 2114. (a) The Secretary of Labor shall develop,
- 17 for each individual registered pursuant to section 2111(a),
- 18 an employability plan describing the manpower services,
- 19 training, and employment which the individual needs in order
- 20 to enable him to become self-supporting and secure and retain
- 21 employment and opportunities for advancement. Employ-
- 22 ability plans under this subsection shall be developed in ac-
- 23 cordance with priorities prescribed by the Secretary of Labor,
- <sup>24</sup> which shall give first priority to mothers and pregnant women

1	registered pursuant to section 2111(a) who are under nine-
2	teen years of age.
3	"(b) The Secretary of Labor shall establish manpower
4	services, training, and employment programs for individuals
5	registered pursuant to section 2111(a), and shall, through
6	such programs, provide or assure the provision of manpower
7	services, training, and employment necessary to prepare such
8	individuals for and place them in regular employment, in-
9	cluding—
10	"(1) any of such services, training, and employ-
11	ment which the Secretary of Labor is authorized to pro-
12	vide under any other Act;
13	"(2) counseling, testing, coaching, program orienta-
14	tion, institutional and on-the-job training, work experi-
<b>1</b> 5	ence, upgrading, job development, job placement, and
16	followup services required to assist in securing and re-
17	taining employment and opportunities for advancement;
18	"(3) relocation assistance, including grants, loans,
19	and the furnishing of such services as will aid an involun-
20	tarily unemployed individual who desires to relocate to
21	do so in an area where there is assurance of regular
22	employment; and
23	"(4) public service employment programs.
24	"(c)(1) For the purpose of subsection (b)(4), a

'public service employment program' is a program designed

1	to provide employment as described in paragraph (2) for
2	individuals who (during the period of such employment)
3	are not otherwise able to obtain employment or to be effec-
4	tively placed in training programs. Such a program shall
5	provide employment relating to such fields as health, social
6	service, environmental protection, education, urban and
7	rural development and redevelopment, welfare, recreation,
8	public facilities, and public safety or any other field which
9	would benefit the community, the State, or the United States
10	as a whole, by improving physical, social, or economic
11	conditions.
12	"(2) The Secretary of Labor shall provide for the
13	development of public service employment programs through
14	grants to or contracts with any public or nonprofit private
15	agency or organization. Such programs shall be designed with
16	a view toward—
17	"(A) providing for development of employability
18	through actual work experience; and
19	"(B) enabling individuals employed under public
20	service employment programs to move into regular pub-
21	lic or private employment.
22	(b) Dojoto manually and grant or an in g
23	tract for a passic series empreyment f
24	subsection, the Secretary of Labor must receive assurances

that—

1	"(A) appropriate standards for health, safety, and
2	other conditions applicable to the performance of work
3	and training have been established and will be
4	maintained;
5	"(B) available employment opportunities will be
6	increased and the program will not result in a reduction
7	in the employment and labor costs of any employer or
8	in the displacement of persons currently employed, in-
9	cluding partial displacement resulting from a reduction
10	in hours of work or wages, or employment benefits;
11	"(C) the conditions of work, training, education,
12	and employment are reasonable in the light of such fac-
13	tors as the type of work, the geographic region, and the
14	proficiency of the participants;
15	"(D) appropriate workmen's compensation protec-
16	tion is provided to all participants; and
17	"(E) the employability of participants will be
18	increased.
19	"(4) Wages paid to an individual participating in a
20	public service employment program shall be equal to the
21	highest of—
22	"(A) the prevailing rate of wages in the same labor
23	market area for persons employed in similar public oc-
<b>24</b>	cupations;

1	"(B) the applicable minimum wage rate prescribed
2	by Federal, State, or local law; or
3	"(C) the minimum wage specified in section $6(a)$
4	(1) of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938.
5	"(5) The Secretary of Labor shall periodically (but not
6	less frequently than once every six months) review the em-
7	ployment record of each individual participating in a pub-
8	lic service employment program. On the basis of that record
9	and any other information he may require, the Secretary of
10	Labor shall determine the feasibility of placing such indi-
11	vidual in regular employment or in on-the-job, institutional,
12	or other training.
13	"(6) The Secretary of Labor shall make payments for
14	not more than the first three years of an individual's employ-
15	ment in any public service employment program. Payments
16	during the first year of such individual's employment shall
17	not exceed 100 percent of the cost of providing such employ-
18	ment to such individual during such first year, payments
19	during the second year of such individual's employment shall
20	not exceed 75 percent of the cost of providing such employ-
21	ment to such individual during such second year, and pay-
22	ments during the third year of such individual's employment
23	shall not exceed 50 percent of the cost of providing such
24	employment to such individual during such third year.

1	"(d) In order to assure an adequate supply of informa-
2	tion concerning opportunities for employment by States and
3	their political subdivisions, any State or political subdivision
4	receiving Federal assistance, through a grant-in-aid or con-
5	tract under this title or any other provision of law, shall
6	provide the Secretary of Labor with complete, up-to-date
7	listings of all employment vacancies that the State or political
8	subdivision may have in positions or programs wholly or par-
9	tially supported through such Federal assistance. The fulfill-
10	ment of this requirement shall be a condition for receiving
11	such assistance.
12	"(e) The Secretary of Labor shall enter into agree-
13	ments with the heads of other Federal agencies administer-
14	ing grant-in-aid programs to establish annual and multi-
15	year goals for the employment of members of families
16	receiving benefits under this title in employment wholly
17	or partially supported through such Federal assistance. For
18	the purposes of carrying out these agreements Federal agen-
19	cies may provide, notwithstanding any other provision of
20	law, that the establishment of such goals shall be a condi-
21	tion for receiving such assistance.
22	"(f) Of the sums authorized by section 2101 to be
23	appropriated for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1973—
24	"(1) not more than \$540,000,000 shall be appro-

priated to the Secretary of Labor to enable him to carry

out his responsibilities under subsections (a) and (b)

**25** 

1	(except subsection	(b)(4))	of	this	section,	and	under
2	section 2115, and						

3

4

5

6

7

8

"(2) not more than \$800,000,000 shall be appropriated to the Secretary of Labor for the public service employment program under subsection (b)(4) of this section.

"ALLOWANCES FOR INDIVIDUALS PARTICIPATING IN

## TRAINING

9 "Sec. 2115. (a) (1) The Secretary of Labor shall pay 10 to each individual who is a member of an eligible family 11 and who is participating in manpower training under this 12 part an incentive allowance of \$30 per month. If one or 13 more members of a family are receiving training for which 14 training allowances are payable under section 203 of the 15 Manpower Development and Training Act and meet the 16 other requirements under such section (except subsection 17 (1) (1) thereof) for the receipt of allowances which would 18 be in excess of the sum of such family's benefit under this 19 part and any supplementary payment to such family under 20 section 2156, the total of the incentive allowances per month 21under this section for such members shall be equal to the 22 greater of (A) the amount of such excess or, if lower, the 23amount of the excess of the training allowances which would 24be payable under such section 203 as in effect on January 251, 1971, over the sum of such family's benefit under this

- 1 part and any such supplementary payment, and (B) \$30
- 2 for each such member.
- 3 "(2) The Secretary of Labor shall also pay, to any
- 4 member of an eligible family participating in manpower
- <sup>5</sup> training under this part, allowances for transportation and
- 6 other costs to such member which are reasonably necessary to
- 7 and directly related to such member's participation in train-
- 8 ing.
- 9 "(b) Allowances under this section shall be in lieu of
- 10 allowances provided for participants in manpower training
- 11 programs under any other Act.
- "(c) Subsection (a) shall not apply to any member of
- 13 an eligible family who is receiving wages under a program
- 14 of the Secretary of Labor or who is participating in man-
- 15 power training which has the purpose of obtaining for him
- 16 an undergraduate or graduate degree at a college or univer-
- 17 *sity*.
- 18 "UTILIZATION OF OTHER PROGRAMS
- "Sec. 2116. In providing the manpower training and
- <sup>20</sup> employment services and opportunities required by this part
- 21 the Secretary of Labor, to the maximum extent feasible, shall
- 22 assure that such services and opportunities are provided in
- such manner, through such means, and using all of such
- 24 authority available to him under any other Act (and subject
- 25 to all duties and responsibilities thereunder) as will further

- 1 the establishment of an integrated and comprehensive man-
- 2 power training program involving all sectors of the economy
- 3 and all levels of government.

## 4 "REHABILITATION SERVICES FOR INCAPACITATED

## 5 FAMILY MEMBERS

- "SEC. 2117. (a) In the case of any individual who is

  a member of a family receiving benefits under this part and

  who is not required to register pursuant to section 2111(a)

  solely because of his incapacity under section 2111(b)(1),

  the Secretary of Labor shall make provision for referral of
- the Secretary of Labor shall make provision for referral of

  the secretary of Labor shall make provision for referral of
- such individual to the appropriate State agency administering
- 12 the State plan for vocational rehabilitation services approved
- 13 under the Vocational Rehabilitation Act, and (except in such
- 14 cases as he may determine) for a review not less often than
- 15 quarterly of such individual's incapacity and his need for
- 16 and utilization of the rehabilitation services made available to
- 17 him under such plan.
- 18 "(b) Every individual with respect to whom the Secre-
- 19 tary of Labor is required to make provision for referral under
- 20 subsection (a) shall accept such rehabilitation services as are
- 21 made available to him under the State plan for vocational
- 22 rehabilitation services approved under the Vocational Reha-
- 23 bilitation Act, except where good cause exists for failure to
- 24 accept such services; and the Secretary of Labor is author-
- 25 ized to pay to the State agency administering or supervising

- 1 the administration of such State plan the costs incurred in the
- 2 provision of such services to such individuals.
- 3 "(c)(1) The Secretary of Labor shall pay to each
- 4 family member with respect to whom the Secretary of Labor
- 5 is required to make provision for referral under subsection
- 6 (a) and who is receiving vocational rehabilitation services
- 7 pursuant to such provision an incentive allowance of \$30 per
- 8 month.
- 9 "(2) The Secretary of Labor shall also pay, to any
- 10 member of an eligible family with respect to whom the Secre-
- 11 tary of Labor is required to make provision for referral under
- 12 subsection (a) and who is receiving vocational rehabilitation
- 13 services pursuant to such provision, allowances for transporta-
- 14 tion and other costs to such member which are necessary to
- 15 and directly related to such member's participation in
- 16 training.
- 17 "(3) Allowances under this subsection shall be in lieu of
- 18 allowances provided for participants in vocational rehabilita-
- 19 tion services under any other Act.
- 20 "EVALUATION AND RESEARCH; REPORTS
- 21 "Sec. 2118. (a)(1) The Secretary of Labor shall
- 22 provide for the continuing evaluation of the program con-
- 23 ducted under this part and of activities conducted under parts
- 24 C and D insofar as they involve or are related to such pro-
- 25 gram, including the effectiveness of such program in achiev-

1	ing its goals and its impact on other related programs.
2	The Secretary of Labor may conduct research regarding, and
3	demonstrations of, ways to improve the effectiveness of the
4	program conducted under this part, and in so doing may
5	waive any requirement or limitation imposed by or pursuant
6	to this title to the extent he deems appropriate. The Secre-
7	tary of Labor may, for these purposes, contract for evalua-
8	tions of and research regarding such program.
9	"(2) Of the sums authorized by section 2101 to be
10	appropriated for any fiscal year, not more than \$10,000,000
11	shall be appropriated for purposes of paragraph (1).
12	"(b) The Secretary shall, in conducting the activities
13	provided for in subsection (a)(1), utilize the data collection,
14	processing, and retrieval system established for use in the
15	operation and administration of the program under this part
16	"(c) The Secretary of Labor shall make an annual re-
17	port to the President and the Congress on the operation and
18	administration of the program under this part, including an
19	evaluation thereof in carrying out the purposes of this title
20	and recommendations with respect thereto.
21	"PART B-FAMILY ASSISTANCE PLAN

SEC. 2131. Every eligible family in which there is no member available for employment who has registered pursuant to section 2111 shall, in accordance with and subject

"PAYMENT OF BENEFITS

1	to	the	other	provisions	of	this	title,	be	paid	benefits	by	the
---	----	-----	-------	------------	----	------	--------	----	------	----------	----	-----

- 2 Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare as provided in
- 3 part C.
- 4 "REHABILITATION SERVICES FOR INCAPACITATED
- 5 FAMILY MEMBERS
- 6 "Sec. 2132. (a) In the case of any individual who is a
- 7 member of a family receiving benefits under this part and
- 8 who is not required to register pursuant to section 2111(a)
- 9 solely because of his incapacity under section 2111(b)(1),
- 10 the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare shall make
- 11 provision for referral of such individual to the appropriate
- 12 State agency administering or supervising the administration
- 13 of the State plan for vocational rehabilitation services ap-
- 14 proved under the Vocational Rehabilitation Act, and (except
- 15 in such cases involving permanent incapacity as he may de-
- 16 termine) for a review not less often than quarterly of such
- 17 individual's incapacity and his need for and utilization of the
- 18 rehabilitation services made available to him under such plan.
- 19 "(b) Every individual with respect to whom the Secre-
- 20 tary of Health, Education, and Welfare is required to make
- 21 provision for referral under subsection (a) shall accept such
- <sup>22</sup> rehabilitation services as are made available to him under the
- 23 · State plan for vocational rehabilitation services approved
- 24 under the Vocational Rehabilitation Act, except where good
- 25 cause exists for failure to accept such services; and the Secre-

- 1 tary of Health, Education, and Welfare is authorized to pay
- 2 to the State agency administering or supervising the admin-
- 3 istration of such State plan the costs incurred in the provision
- 4 of such services to such individuals.
- 5 "(c)(1) The Secretary of Health, Education, and Wel-
- 6 fare shall pay to each family member with respect to whom
- 7 the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare is required
- 8 to make provision for referral under subsection (a) and who
- 9 is receiving vocational rehabilitation services pursuant to such
- 10 provision an incentive allowance of \$30 per month.
- "(2) The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare
- 12 shall also pay, to any member of an eligible family with re-
- 13 spect to whom the Secretary of Health, Education, and
- 14 Welfare is required to make provision for referral under
- 15 subsection (a) and who is receiving vocational rehabilitation
- 16 services pursuant to such provision, allowances for transpor-
- 17 tation and other costs to such member which are reasonably
- 18 necessary to and directly related to such member's participa-
- 19 tion in such services.
- <sup>20</sup> "(3) Allowances under this subsection shall be in lieu
- 21 of allowances provided for participants in vocational rehabili-
- 22 tation services under any other Act.
- 23 "CHILD CARE AND OTHER SUPPORTIVE SERVICES
- "Sec. 2133. (a) (1) The Secretary of Health, Educa-
- 25 tion, and Welfare shall make provision for the furnishing of

- 1 child care services in such cases and for so long as he deems
- 2 appropriate (subject to section 2179) for individuals who
- 3 are currently referred pursuant to section 2132(a) for voca-
- 4 tional rehabilitation (or who have been so referred within
- 5 such period or periods of time as the Secretary of Health,
- 6 Education, and Welfare may prescribe) and who need child
- 7 care services in order to be able to participate in the voca-
- 8 tional rehabilitation program.
- 9 "(2) In making provision for the furnishing of child
- 10 care services under this subsection, the Secretary of Health,
- 11 Education, and Welfare shall arrange for and purchase,
- 12 from whatever sources may be available, all such necessary
- 13 child care services, including necessary transportation, plac-
- 14 ing priority on the use of facilities developed pursuant to
- 15 section 2134.
- 16 "(3) Where child care services cannot as a practical
- 17 matter be made available in facilities developed pursuant to
- 18 section 2134, the Secretary of Health, Education, and Wel-
- 19 fare may provide such services, by grants to public or non-
- 20 profit private agencies or contracts with public or private
- 21 agencies or other persons, through such public or private
- facilities as may be available and appropriate (except that
- no such funds may be used for the construction of facilities
- (as defined in section 2134(b)(2))). In addition to other
- grants and contracts made under the preceding sentence,

- 1 grants or contracts under such sentence may be made to or
- 2 with any agency which is designated by the appropriate
- 3 elected or appointed official or officials in such area and
- 4 which demonstrates a capacity to work effectively with the
- 5 manpower agency in such area (including provision for the
- 6 stationing of personnel with the manpower team in appropri-
- 7 ate cases). To the extent appropriate, such care for children
- 8 attending school which is provided on a group or institutional
- 9 basis shall be provided through arrangements with the ap-
- 10 propriate local educational agency.
- 11 "(4) The Secretary of Health, Education, and Wel-
- 12 fare may require individuals receiving child care services
- 13 made available under paragraph (2) or provided under
- 14 paragraph (3) to pay (in accordance with the schedule
- 15 or schedules prescribed under section 2134(a)) for part or
- 16 all of the cost thereof, and may require (as a condition of
- 17 benefits under this part) that individuals receiving child
- 18 care services otherwise furnished pursuant to provision made
- 19 by him under paragraph (1) shall pay for the cost of such
- 20 services if such cost will be excludable under section
- 21 2153(b)(3).
- 22 "(b) In addition, the Secretary of Health, Education,
- 23 and Welfare shall make provision for the offering, to all
- 24 appropriate members of families which include one or more

- 1 individuals registered pursuant to section 2111(a), of family
- 2 planning services, the acceptance of which by any such mem-
- 3 ber shall be voluntary on the part of such member and shall
- 4 not be a prerequisite to eligibility for or receipt of benefits
- 5 under this part or otherwise affect the amount of such
- 6 benefits.
- 7 "STANDARDS FOR CHILD CARE; DEVLOPMENT OF
- 8 FACILITIES
- 9 "Sec. 2134. (a) In order to promote the effective pro-
- 10 vision of child care services, the Secretary of Health, Edu-
- 11 cation, and Welfare shall (1) establish, with the concurrence
- 12 of the Secretary of Labor, standards assuring the quality of
- 13 child care services provided under this title, (2) prescribe
- 14 such schedule or schedules as may be appropriate for deter-
- 15 mining the extent to which families are to be required (in the
- 16 light of their ability) to pay the costs of child care for which
- 17 provision is made under section 2112(a)(1) or section
- 18 2133(a)(1), and (3) coordinate the provision of child care
- 19 services under this title with other child care and social
- 20 service programs which are available.
- 21 "(b) (1) The Secretary of Health, Education, and Wel-
- 22 fare, taking into account the requirement of section 2112(a)
- 23 (7), is authorized to provide for (and pay part or all of the
- 24 cost of) the construction of facilities, through grants to or
- 25 contracts made with public or private nonprofit agencies or

- 1 organizations, in or through which child care services are to
- 2 be provided under this title.
- 3 "(2) For purposes of this subsection, the term 'construc-
- 4 tion' means acquisition, alteration, remodeling, or renova-
- 5 tion of facilities, and includes, where the Secretary finds it
- 6 is not feasible to use or adapt existing facilities for use for
- 7 the provision of child care, construction (including acquisi-
- 8 tion of land therefor) of facilities for such care.
- 9 "(3) If within twenty years of the completion of any
- 10 construction for which Federal funds have been paid under
- 11 this subsection—
- "(A) the owner of the facility shall cease to be a
- 13 public or nonprofit private agency or organization, or
- 14 "(B) the facility shall cease to be used for the
- 15 purposes for which it was constructed, unless the Secre-
- 16 tary determines in accordance with regulations that
- there is good cause for releasing the owner of the facility
- 18 from the obligation to do so,
- 19 the United States shall be entitled to recover from the owner
- of the facility an amount which bears to the then value of
- 21 the facility (or so much thereof as constituted an approved
- 22 project or projects) the same ratio as the amount of such
- 23 Federal funds bore to the cost of construction of the facility
- financed with the aid of such funds. Such value shall be deter-
- 25 mined by agreement of the parties or by action brought in

- 1 the United States district court for the district in which the
- 2 facility is situated.
- 3 "(4) All laborers and mechanics employed by contrac-
- 4 tors or subcontractors on all construction projects assisted
- 5 under this subsection shall be paid wages at rates not less than
- 6 those prevailing on similar construction in the locality as
- 7 determined by the Secretary of Labor in accordance with
- 8 the Davis-Bacon Act, as amended (40 U.S.C. 276(a)-
- 9 276(a)-5). The Secretary of Labor shall have with respect
- 10 to the labor standards specified in this subsection the authority
- 11 and functions set forth in Reorganization Plan Numbered 14
- 12 of 1950 (15 F.R. 3176) and section 2 of the Act of June
- 13 13, 1934, as amended (40 U.S.C. 276(c)).
- 14 "(5) Of the sums authorized by section 2101 to be
- 15 appropriated for any fiscal year, not more than \$50,000,000
- 16 shall be appropriated for purposes of the provisions of this
- 17 subsection.
- "(c) The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare
- 19 is authorized to make grants to any public or nonprofit pri-
- vate agency or organization, and contracts with any public
- 21 or private agency or organization, for part or all of the cost
- of planning; establishment of new child care facilities or im-
- 23 provement of existing child care facilities, and operating
- 24 costs (for periods not in excess of 24 months or for such
- 25 longer periods as the Secretary finds necessary to insure

- 1 continued operation) of such new or improved facilities;
- 2 evaluation; training of personnel, especially the training of
- 3 individuals receiving benefits pursuant to part A and reg-
- 4 istered pursuant to section 2111; technical assistance; and
- 5 research or demonstration projects to determine more effec-
- 6 tive methods of providing any such care.
- 7 "EVALUATION AND RESEARCH; REPORTS
- 8 "Sec. 2135. (a) (1) The Secretary of Health, Educa-
- 9 tion, and Welfare shall provide for the continuing evalua-
- 10 tion of the program conducted under this part and of activities
- 11 conducted under parts C and D insofar as they involve or
- 12 are related to such program, including the effectiveness of
- 13 such program in achieving its goals and its impact on
- 14 other related programs. The Secretary of Health, Educa-
- 15 tion, and Welfare may conduct research regarding, and
- 16 demonstrations of, ways to improve the effectiveness of the
- 17 program conducted under this part, and in so doing may
- 18 waive any requirement or limitation imposed by or pursuant
- 19 to this title to the extent he deems appropriate. The Secre-
- 20 tary of Health, Education, and Welfare may, for these pur-
- 21 poses, contract for evaluations of and research regarding such
- 22 program.
- 23 "(2) Of the sums authorized by section 2101 to be ap-
- 24 propriated for any fiscal year, not more than \$10,000,000
- 25 shall be appropriated for purposes of paragraph (1).

1	"(b) The Secretary shall, in conducting the activities
2	provided for in subsection (a)(1), utilize the data collection,
3	processing, and retrieval system established for use in the
4	operation and administration of the program under this part.
5	"(c) The Secretary of Health, Education, and Wel-
6	fare shall make an annual report to the President and the
7	Congress on the operation and administration of the pro-
8	gram under this part, including an evaluation thereof in
9	carrying out the purposes of this title and recommendations
10	with respect thereto.
11	"PART C-DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS
12	"DETERMINATIONS; REGULATIONS
13	"Sec. 2151. Except as otherwise specifically provided
14	in this title, determinations under this part and part D shall
<b>15</b>	be made—
16	"(1) by the Secretary of Labor with respect to
17	benefits payable under part A and families claiming or
18	receiving such benefits (and the term 'Secretary' means
19	the Secretary of Labor when used in this part and part D
20	with respect to such benefits and families), and
21	"(2) by the Secretary of Health, Education, and
22	Welfare with respect to benefits payable under part B
23	and families claiming or receiving such benefits (and the
24	term 'Secretary' means the Secretary of Health, Educa-
25	tion, and Welfare when used in this part and part D
26	with respect to such benefits and families);

1	but in either case such determinations shall be made under
2	and in accordance with regulations which shall be prescribed
3	by the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare with the
4	concurrence of the Secretary of Labor and which shall be
5	designed to assure that such determinations will be made
6	uniformly by the two Secretaries, so that to the maximum
7	extent feasible any such determination made by either such
8	Secretary (including any interpretation of law or application
9	of fact made by either such Secretary as a basis for such a
10	determination) will be the same as the determination which
11	would be made by the other such Secretary on the same
12	facts and under the same circumstances.
13	"ELIGIBILITY FOR AND AMOUNT OF BENEFITS
14	"Definition of Eligible Family
<b>1</b> 5	"Sec. 2152. (a) Each family (as defined in section
16	2155)—
17	"(1) whose income, other than income excluded
18	pursuant to section 2153(b), is at a rate of not more
19	than—
20	"(A) \$800 per year for each of the first two
21	members of the family, plus
22	"(B) \$400 per year for each of the next
23	three members, plus
24	"(C) \$300 per year for each of the next two
<b>25</b>	$members, \ plus$

1	"(D) \$200 for the next member, and
2	"(2) whose resources, other than resources excluded
3	pursuant to section 2154, are not more than \$1,500,
4	shall be an eligible family for purposes of this title.
5	"Amount of Benefits
6	"(b) The benefit for a family under part A or part B
7	shall be payable at the rate of—
8	"(1) \$800 per year for each of the first two mem-
9	bers of the family, plus
10	"(2) \$400 per year for each of the next three
11	members, plus
12	"(3) \$300 per year for each of the next two mem-
13	bers, plus
14	"(4) \$200 for the next member,
15	reduced by the amount of income, not excluded pursuant to
16	section 2153(b), of the members of the family; except that
17	no such benefit shall be payable to any family if the rate of
18	payment (as otherwise determined under this part) would be
19	less than \$10 a month.
20	"Exclusion of Certain Family Members
21	"(c) The amount of benefits which is payable to a fam-
22	ily as determined in accordance with subsection (b) shall,
23	with respect to each family member (whether or not taken
<b>24</b>	into account under subsection (b) in determining such

1	amount) who is available for employment and fails to regis-
2	ter as required by section 2111(a), or fails to accept man-
3	power services or accept or continue in employment or par-
4	ticipate in training as required by section 2111(c), or refuses
5	to accept or continue to participate in rehabilitation services
6	as required by section 2117(b) or 2132(b), be reduced by—
7	"(1) \$800 per year in the case of each of the first
8	two such members,
9	"(2) \$400 per year in the case of each of the next
10	three such members,
11	"(3) \$300 per year in the case of the next two
12	such members, and
13	"(4) \$200 per year in the case of the next such
14	member,
15	or by proportionately smaller amounts for shorter periods.
16	"Payment of Benefits; Period for Determination of
17	Benefits
18	" $(d)(1)$ Payment of benefits (prior to determination
19	under paragraph (2) of the amount of the benefits pay-
20	able) shall be made during any quarter of a calendar year
21	
22	
23	, -
24	likely to occur on the basis of changes in circumstances or

1 conditions. Eligibility for benefits or the amount of pay- $^{2}$ ments shall be redetermined at any time within the quarter 3 that the Secretary receives notice or otherwise has reason to 4 believe that a material change in circumstances has occurred. 5 "(2) The amount of the benefits payable to any family 6 for any quarter of a calendar year shall be determined in 7 the quarter immediately following such quarter; and, to the 8 extent that the amount actually paid to such family for such 9 quarter as provided in paragraph (1) was more or less than 10 the amount so determined, proper adjustment or recovery 11 shall be made as provided in section 2171(b). The benefits 12 payable to a family for the quarter for which such determina-13 tion is made shall be reduced by any income received in such 14 quarter and in any one or more of the three quarters imme-15 diately preceding such quarter by any individual who was a ·16 member of the family both at the time such income was re-17 ceived and in the quarter for which such determination is 18 made, if and to the extent that such amount was not counted 19 as income of the family for the purpose of reducing the 20 amounts described in subsection (b) or excluded pursuant to 21 section 2153(b) or (if the family was not an eligible family 22 for purposes of this title in any one or more of such preceding 23quarters) to the extent that such amount would not have been 24 so counted for such purpose even if the family had then been 25 an eligible family for purposes of this title.

1	"(3) For purposes of paragraph (2), income not
2	excluded under section 2153(b) with respect to the quarter
3	for which a determination is made shall be considered first, to
4	reduce the amounts described in subsection (b); if benefits
5	are payable thereafter, they shall be reduced by applying in-
6	come not so excluded with respect to the first preceding quar-
7	ter, then with respect to the second such quarter, and then with
8	respect to the third such quarter, in that order. In the case of
9	a family which did not receive benefits in each of the preced-
10	ing three quarters, the Secretary may estimate (in the absence
11	of satisfactory evidence) any amount which is needed for the
12	determination of benefits under paragraph (2).
13	"(4) The Secretary shall by regulation prescribe the
14	cases in which and extent to which the amount of a family
15	assistance benefit for any quarter shall be reduced by reason
16	of the time elapsing since the beginning of such quarter and
17	before the date of filing of the application for the benefit.
18	"(5) For purposes of this subsection an application shall
19	be considered to have been filed on the first day of the month
20	in which it was actually filed.
21	$\it ``Biennial\ Reapplication"$
22	"(e) After a family has made application for benefits
23	under this title and has been paid benefits (pursuant to such

application) for 24 consecutive months, no further benefits

shall be paid to such family under part A or part B ex-

24

- 1 cept on the basis of a new application which shall be filed
- 2 and processed as though it were such family's initial applica-
- 3 tion for benefits under this title.
- 4 "Special Limits on Gross Income
- 5 "(f) The Secretary may prescribe the circumstances
- 6 under which, consistently with the purposes of this title,
- 7 the gross income from a trade or business (including farm-
- 8 ing) will be considered sufficiently large to make such fam-
- 9 ily ineligible for such benefits. For purposes of this sub-
- 10 section, the term 'gross income' has the same meaning as
- 11 when used in chapter 1 of the Internal Revenue Code of
- <sup>12</sup> 1954.
- 13 "Certain Individuals Ineligible
- "(g)(1) Notwithstanding subsection (a), no family
- 15 shall be an eligible family for purposes of this title if, after
- 16 notice by the Secretary that it is likely that any member of
- such family is eligible for any payments of the type enumer-
- 18 ated in section 2153(a)(2)(A), such member fails within
- 19 30 days to take all appropriate steps (excluding acceptance
- of any employment offered under any of the conditions
- $^{21}$  specified in subparagraphs (A) through (D) of section
- 22 2111(c)(2)) to apply for and (if eligible) obtain any
- 23 such payments.
- 24 "(2)(A) No individual shall be considered a member
- of a family for purposes of determining the amount of such

- 1 family's benefits if such individual is exempt under section
- 2 2111(b)(1) from the requirement of registration pursuant
- 3 to section 2111(a) solely because of an incapacity which is
- 4 determined by the Secretary to be the result in whole or in
- 5 part of drug abuse or alcohol abuse unless such individual is
- 6 undergoing any treatment that may be appropriate for such
- 7 abuse at an institution or facility approved for purposes of
- 8 this section by the Secretary (so long as such treatment is
- 9 available) and demonstrates that he is complying with the
- 10 terms, conditions, and requirements of such treatment and
- 11 with requirements imposed by the Secretary under subpara-
- 12 graph (B).
- "(B) The Secretary shall provide for the monitoring
- 14 and testing of all individuals who are members of families
- 15 for purposes of this title and who as a condition of being con-
- 16 sidered as such are required to be undergoing treatment and
- 17 complying with the terms, conditions, and requirements there-
- 18 of as described in subparagraph (A), in order to assure
- 19 such compliance and to determine the extent to which the
- 20 imposition of such requirement is contributing to the achieve-
- 21 ment of the purposes of this title. The Secretary shall an-
- <sup>22</sup> nually submit to the Congress a full and complete report on
- <sup>23</sup> his activities under this subsection.
- 24 "(C) As used in subparagraph (A), the term 'drug
- 25 abuse' means abuse of a controlled substance within the

1	meaning of section 102 of the Controlled Substances Act; and
2	the term 'alcohol abuse' means alcohol abuse or alcoholism
3	within the meaning of section 247 of the Community Mental
4	Health Centers Act.
5	"Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam
6	"(h) For special provisions applicable to Puerto Rico,
7	the Virgin Islands, and Guam, see section 1108(e).
8	"INCOME
9	"Meaning of Income
10	"Sec. 2153. (a) For purposes of this part, income
11	means both earned income and unearned income; and-
12	"(1) earned income means only—
13	"(A) wages as determined under section 203(f)
14	(5)(C);
15	"(B) net earnings from self-employment, as
16	defined in section 211 (without the application of
17	the second and third sentences following clause (C)
18	of subsection (a)(9), and the last paragraph of sub-
19	section (a)), including earnings for services de-
<b>2</b> 0	scribed in paragraphs (4), (5), and (6) of subsec-
21	tion (c); and
22	"(2) unearned income means all other income, in-
23	cluding support and maintenance furnished in cash or
24	otherwise, and including—
<b>25</b>	"(A) any payments received as an annuity,

1	pension, retirement, or disability benefit, including
2	veterans' compensation and pensions, workmen's
3	compensation payments, old-age, survivors, and dis-
4	ability insurance benefits, railroad retirement annui-
5	ties and pensions, and unemployment insurance
6	benefits;
7	"(B) prizes and awards;
8	"(C) the proceeds of any life insurance policy
9	to the extent that they exceed the amount expended
10	by family members for expenses of the insured in-
11	dividual's last illness and burial or \$1,500, which-
12	ever is less;
13	"(D) gifts (cash or otherwise), support and
14	alimony payments, and inheritances; and
15	"(E) rents, dividends, interest, and royalties.
16	"Exclusions From Income
17	"(b) In determining the income of a family there shall
18	be excluded—
19	"(1) subject to limitations (as to amount or other-
20	wise) prescribed by the Secretary, the earned income of
21	each child in the family who is, as determined by the
22	Secretary under regulations, a student regularly attend-
23	ing a school, college, or university, or a course of voca-
24	tional or technical training designed to prepare him for
25	gainful employment;

"(2)(A) the total unearned income of all members of a family in a calendar quarter which, as determined in accordance with criteria prescribed by the Secretary, is received too infrequently or irregularly to be included, if such income so received does not exceed \$60 in such quarter, and (B) the total earned income of all members of a family in a calendar quarter which, as determined in accordance with such criteria, is received too infrequently or irregularly to be included, if such income so received does not exceed \$30 in such quarter;

"(3) an amount of earned income of a member of the family equal to all, or such part (and according to such schedule) as the Secretary may prescribe, of the cost incurred by such member for child care which the Secretary deems necessary to securing or continuing in manpower training, vocational rehabilitation, employment, or self-employment;

"(4) the first \$720 per year (or proportionately smaller amounts for shorter periods) of the total of earned income (not excluded by the preceding paragraphs of this subsection) of all members of the family plus one-third of the remainder thereof;

"(5) subject to section 2156, any assistance (except veterans' pensions) which is based on need and

1	furnished by any State or political subdivision of a State
2	or any Federal agency (including relocation assistance
3	under section 2114(b)(3)), or by any private agency
4	or organization exempt from taxation under section
5	501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as an
6	organization described in section 501(c) (3) or (4)
7	of such Code;
8	"(6)(A) allowances under section 2115(a), 2117
9	(c), or 2132(c);
10	"(B) allowances of the types described in such sec-
11	tions which are paid by a State or political subdivision
12	thereof to a member of a family receiving benefits under
13	this title, to the extent that such allowances do not exceed
14	\$30 per month;
15	"(7) any portion of any grant, scholarship, or
16	fellowship received for use in paying the cost of tuition
17	and fees at any educational (including technical or
18	vocational education) institution;
19	"(8) home produce of a member of the family
20	utilized by the household for its own consumption;
21	"(9) one-third of any payments received for the
22	support of children who are family members, or as
23	alimony paid to family members; and
24	"(10) any amounts received for the foster care of

a child who is not a member of the family but who is

1	living in the same home as the family and was placed
2	in such home by a public or nonprofit private child-
3	placement or child-care agency.
4	Notwithstanding any other provision of this part, the total
5	amount which may be excluded under paragraphs (1),
6	(2), and (3) in determining the income of any family
7	for any year shall not exceed the lesser of—
8	"(i) \$2,000 plus \$200 for each member of the
9	family in excess of four, or
10	"(ii) \$3,000,
11	or a proportionately smaller amount for a shorter period.
12	``RESOURCES"
13	"Exclusions From Resources
14	"Sec. 2154. (a) In determining the resources of a
15	family there shall be excluded—
16	"(1) the home, to the extent that its value does
17	not exceed such amount as the Secretary determines to
18	be reasonable;
19	"(2) household goods and personal effects, to the
20	extent that their total value does not exceed such amount
21	as the Secretary determines to be reasonable; and
22	"(3) other property which, as determined in ac-
23	cordance with and subject to limitations prescribed by
24	the Secretary, is so essential to the family's means of
25	self-support as to warrant its exclusion.

1	In determining the resources of a family an insurance policy
2	shall be taken into account only to the extent of its cash
3	surrender value; except that if the total face value of all
4	life insurance policies on any person is \$1,500 or less, no part
5	of the value of any such policy shall be taken into account.
6	$``Disposition\ of\ Resources$
7	"(b) The Secretary shall prescribe the period or periods
8	of time within which, and the manner in which, various kinds
9	of property must be disposed of in order not to be included
10	in determining a family's eligibility for benefits. Any por-
11	tion of the family's benefits paid for any such period shall be
12	conditioned upon such disposal; and any benefits so paid
13	shall (at the time of the disposal) be considered overpay-
14	ments to the extent they would not have been paid had the
15	disposal occurred at the beginning of the period for which
16	such benefits were paid.
17	"MEANING OF FAMILY AND CHILD
18	"Meaning of Family
19	"Sec. 2155. (a) Two or more individuals—
20	"(1) who are related by blood, marriage, or adop-
21	tion,
22	"(2) who are living in a place of residence main-
23	tained by one or more of them as his or their own home,
<b>24</b>	"(3) all of whom are residents of the United States,

1	and at least one of whom is either (A) a citizen or (B)
2	an alien lawfully admitted for permanent residence, and
3	"(4) at least one of whom is a child who is in the
4	care of or dependent upon another of such individuals,
5	shall be regarded as a family for purposes of this title and
6	part A of title IV. A parent (of a child living in a place
7	of residence referred to in paragraph (2)), or a spouse of
8	such a parent, who is determined by the Secretary to be
9	temporarily absent from such place of residence for the
10	purpose of engaging in or seeking employment or self-
11	employment (including military service) shall nevertheless
12	be considered (for purposes of paragraph (2)) to be living
13	in such place of residence. Notwithstanding any other pro-
14	vision of this title—
15	(A) no two or more individuals in any household
16	shall be considered a family for purposes of this title if
17	the individual who is the head of such household is a full-
18	time undergraduate or graduate student at a college or
19	university; and
20	(B) no individual shall (except as provided in the

(B) no individual shall (except as provided in the preceding sentence) be considered a member of a family for any of the purposes of this title with respect to any month during all of which such individual is outside the United States; and for purposes of this clause after an individual has been outside the United States

1	for any period of 30 consecutive days, he shall be treated
2	as remaining outside the United States until he has been
3	in the United States for a period of 30 consecutive days.
4	"Meaning of Child
5	"(b) For purposes of this title, the term 'child' means
6	an individual who is neither married nor (as determined
7	by the Secretary) the head of a household, and who is (1)
8	under the age of eighteen, or (2) under the age of twenty-
9	two and (as determined by the Secretary) a student reg-
10	ularly attending a school, college, or university, or a course
11	of vocational or technical training designed to prepare him
12	for gainful employment.
13	"Determination of Family Relationships
14	"(c) In determining whether an individual is related
15	to another individual by blood, marriage, or adoption, appro-
16	priate State law shall be applied.
17	"Income and Resources of Noncontributing Individual
18	"(d) For purposes of determining eligibility for and the
19	amount of benefits for any family there shall be excluded the
<b>2</b> 0	income and resources of any individual, other than a parent
21	of a child, or a spouse of a parent, who is a family member,
22	which, as determined in accordance with criteria prescribed
23	by the Secretary, is not available to other members of the
24	family; and for such purposes such individual—
25	"(1) in the case of a child, shall be regarded as a

1	member of the family for purposes of determining the
2	family's eligibility for such benefits but not for purposes
3	of determining the amount of such benefits, and
4	"(2) in any other case, shall not be considered a
5	member of the family for any purpose.
6	$``United\ States$
7	"(e) For purposes of this title, the term 'United
8	States', when used in a geographical sense, means the
9	States and the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of
10	Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam.
11	"Recipients of Assistance for the Aged, Blind, and
12	$Disabled \ \ In eligible$
13	"(f) If an individual is receiving benefits under title
14	XX, then, for the period for which such benefits are
15	received, such individual shall not be regarded as a mem-
16	ber of a family for purposes of determining the amount of the
17	benefits of the family under this title and his income and
18	resources shall not be counted as income and resources of a
19	family under this title.
20	"OPTIONAL STATE SUPPLEMENTATION
21	"SEc. 2156. (a) Any cash payments which are made by
22	a State (or political subdivision thereof) on a regular basis
<b>2</b> 3	to individuals who are receiving benefits under this title or
24	who would but for their income be eligible to receive benefits
25	and the title are maintained band on another complements

under this title, as assistance based on need in supplementa-

1	tion of such benefits (as determined by the Secretary), shall
2	be excluded under section 2153(b)(5) in determining the
3	income of such individuals for purposes of this title only if
4	(1) the Secretary and such State enter into an agreement
5	which satisfies subsection (b) and which may at the option of
6	the State provide that the Secretary will, on behalf of such
7	State (or subdivision), make such supplementary payments
8	to all such individuals, and (2) such supplementary pay-
9	ments are made to such individuals in accordance with such
10	agreement.
11	"(b) Any agreement between the Secretary and a State
12	entered into under subsection (a) shall provide—
13	"(1) that in determining the eligibility of any
14	family for supplementary payments on the basis of the
<b>1</b> 5	income of the family, all the provisions of section
16	2153(b) will apply, except that with respect to any
17	quarter—
18	"(A) if benefits are paid to such family for
19	such quarter under part A or part B, such benefits
20	will not be excluded from income in applying para-
21	graph (5) of such section, and
22	"(B) if no benefits are paid to such family
23	for such quarter under part A or part B, the re-
24	quirement of this paragraph shall not apply with
25	respect to such family; except that the supplementary

1	payment shall not be reduced, on account of in-
2	come in excess of the maximum amount which such
3	family could have and still receive such a benefit
4	by an amount greater than such excess,
5	and, if the agreement provides that the Secretary will, on
6	behalf of the State (or political subdivision), make the sup-
7	plementary payments to individuals receiving benefits under
8	this title, shall also provide—
9	"(2) that such payments will be made (subject to
10	subsection (c)) to all families residing in such State (or
11	subdivision) who are receiving benefits under this title
12	except that the State may, at its option, exclude—
13	"(A) families in which both parents of the child
14	or children are present, neither parent is incapaci-
<b>1</b> 5	tated, and the male parent is not unemployed, or
16	"(B) families described in subparagraph (A)
17	and families in which both parents of the child or
18	children are present, neither parent is incapacitated,
19	and the male parent is unemployed, and
20	"(3) such other rules with respect to eligibility for
21	or amount of the supplementary payments, and such pro-
22	cedural or other general administrative provisions, as the
23	Secretary finds necessary (subject to subsection (c)) to
24	achieve efficient and effective administration of both the
25	program which he conducts under this title and the
26	$optional\ State\ supplementation.$

1	"(c) Any State (or political subdivision) making sup-
2	plementary payments described in subsection (a) may at its
3	option impose as a condition of eligibility for such payments,
4	and include in the State's agreement with the Secretary
5	under such subsection, a residence requirement which excludes
6	individuals who have resided in the State (or political sub-
7	division) for less than a minimum period prior to applica-
8	tion for such payments.
9	"(d) Any State which has entered into an agreement with
10	the Secretary under this section which provides that the Secre-
11	tary will, on behalf of the State (or political subdivision),
12	make the supplementary payments to individuals who are re-
13	ceiving benefits under this title (or who would but for their
14	income be eligible to receive such benefits), shall, subject to
15	section 503 of the Social Security Amendments of 1971,
16	at such times and in such installments as may be agreed
17	upon between the Secretary and such State, pay to the Sec-
18	retary an amount equal to the expenditures made by the
19	Secretary as such supplementary payments.
20	"PART D-PROCEDURAL AND GENERAL PROVISIONS
21	"PAYMENTS AND PROCEDURES
22	"Payment of Benefits
23	"SEC. 2171. (a)(1) Benefits under this title shall be
24	paid at such time or times and in such installments as will
25	best effectuate the nurnoses of this title

best effectuate the purposes of this title.

"(2)(A) Payment of the benefit of any family may be 1 made to any one or more members of the family, or, if the  $\mathbf{2}$ Secretary finds, after reasonable notice and opportunity for 3 4 hearing (which shall be held in the same manner and sub-5 ject to the same conditions as a hearing under subsection (c) (1) and (2)) to the family member or members to whom the benefits are (or, but for this provision, would be) paid, 7 8 that such member or members have such inability to man-9 age funds that making payment to such member or members 10 would be contrary to the welfare of the child or children in 11 such family, he may make payment to any person other 12 than a member of such family (including an appropriate 13 public or private agency) who is interested in or concerned 14 with the welfare of the family. The Secretary shall investi-15 gate each case in which he has reason to believe that a family 16 receiving payments under this title is unable to manage such 17 payments in accordance with its best interests. "(B) If the Secretary makes payment under subpara-18 19 graph (A) to a person who is not a member of the family, 20 he shall review his finding under the preceding sentence 21 periodically to determine whether the conditions justifying 22 such finding still exist, and, if they do not, he shall discon-23tinue making payments to any person who is not a member 24 of the family. If it appears to the Secretary that such con-

- 1 ditions are likely to continue beyond a period specified by
- 2 him, he shall attempt to secure the appointment of a guardian
- 3 or other legal representative for the family member with
- 4 respect to whom such finding is made, and take any other
- 5 steps he may find appropriate to protect the welfare of the
- 6 child or children in the family.
- 7 "(C) No part of the benefits of any family may be
- 8 paid to any member of such family who has failed to register
- 9 as required by section 2111(a), or who fails to accept
- 10 services or employment or participate in training as required
- 11 by section 2111(c), or who refuses to accept rehabilitation
- 12 services as required by section 2117(b) or section 2132(b);
- 13 and the Secretary may, if he deems it appropriate, provide
- 14 for the payment of such benefits during the period of such
- 15 failure to any person other than a member of such family
- 16 (including an appropriate public or private agency) who is
- 17 interested in or concerned with the welfare of the family,
- 18 without making the finding required by subparagraph (A)
- 19 and without regard to subparagraph (B).
- 20 "(3) The Secretary may establish ranges of incomes
- 21 within which a single amount of benefits under this title shall
- 22 apply.
- 23 "(4) The Secretary may make, to any family initially
- 24 applying for benefits under this title which is presumptively

- 1 eligible for such benefits and which is faced with financial
- 2 emergency, a cash advance against such benefits in an amount
- 3 not exceeding \$100.
- 4 "Overpayments and Underpayments
- 5 "(b) Whenever the Secretary finds that more or less
- 6 than the correct amount of benefits has been paid with respect
- 7 to any family, proper adjustment or recovery shall, subject
- 8 to the succeeding provisions of this subsection, be made by
- 9 appropriate adjustments in future payments to the family
- 10 under part A or part B or by recovery from or payment to
- any one or more of the individuals who are or were members
- 12 thereof. The Secretary shall make such provision as he finds
- 13 appropriate in the case of payment of more than the correct
- amount of benefits with respect to a family with a view to
- avoiding penalizing members of the family who were without
- 16 fault in connection with the overpayment, if adjustment or
- 17 recovery on account of such overpayment in such case would
- defeat the purposes of this title, or be against equity or good
- 19 conscience, or (because of the small amount involved) impede
- <sup>20</sup> efficient or effective administration of this title.
- 21 "Hearings and Review
- "(c)(1) The Secretary shall provide reasonable notice
- and opportunity for a hearing to any individual who is or
- 24 claims to be a member of a family and is in disagreement
- with any determination under this title with respect to—

1	"(A) eligibility of the family for benefits, the num-
2	ber of members of the family, or the amount of the fam-
3	ily's benefits, or
4	"(B) the refusal of such individual to register for or
5	participate or continue to participate in manpower serv-
6	ices, training, or employment, or to accept employment
7	or rehabilitation services,
8	if such individual requests a hearing on the matter in dis-
9	agreement within thirty days after notice of such deter-
10	mination is received.
11	"(2) Determination on the basis of such hearing shall be
12	made within ninety days after the individual requests the
13	hearing as provided in paragraph (1).
14	"(3) The final determination of the Secretary after a
15	hearing under paragraph (1) shall be subject to judicial
16	review as provided in section 205(g) to the same extent as
17	the Secretary's final determination under section 205;
18	except that the determination of the Secretary after such
19	hearing as to any fact shall be final and conclusive and not
20	subject to review by any court.
21	"Procedures; Prohibition of Assignments; Representation
<b>22</b>	of Claimants
23	"(d)(1) The provisions of section 207 and subsec-

24 tions (a), (d), (e), and (f) of section 205 shall apply

- 1 with respect to this part to the same extent as they apply
- 2 in the case of title II.
- 3 "(2) To the extent the Secretary finds it will promote
- 4 the achievement of the objectives of this part, qualified persons
- 5 may be appointed to serve as hearing examiners in hearings
- 6 under subsection (c) without meeting the specific standards
- 7 prescribed for hearing examiners by or under subchapter II
- 8 of chapter 5 of title 5, United States Code.
- 9 "(3) The Secretary may prescribe rules and regulations
- 10 governing the recognition of agents or other persons, other
- 11 than attorneys as hereinafter provided, representing claim-
- 12 ants before the Secretary under this part, and may require
- 13 of such agents or other persons, before being recognized as
- 14 representatives of claimants, that they shall show that they
- are of good character and in good repute, possessed of the
- 16 necessary qualifications to enable them to render such claim-
- ants valuable service, and otherwise competent to advise and
- assist such claimants in the presentation of their cases. An
- 19 attorney in good standing who is admitted to practice be-
- for the highest court of the State, Territory, District, or in-
- 21 sular possession of his residence or before the Supreme Court
- 22 of the United States or the inferior Federal courts, shall
- be entitled to represent claimants before the Secretary. The
- 24 Secretary may, after due notice and opportunity for hearing,
- suspend or prohibit from further practice before him any such

person, agent, or attorney who refuses to comply with the 1 Secretary's rules and regulations or who violates any provi-2 sion of this paragraph for which a penalty is prescribed. The 3 Secretary may, by rule and regulation, prescribe the maxi-4 mum fees which may be charged for services performed in 5 connection with any claim before the Secretary under this 6 7 part, and any agreement in violation of such rules and regu-8 lations shall be void. Any person who shall, with intent to defraud, in any manner willfully and knowingly deceive, 9 10 mislead, or threaten any claimant or prospective claimant or 11 beneficiary under this part by word, circular, letter, or ad-12 vertisement, or who shall knowingly charge or collect direct-13 ly or indirectly any fee in excess of the maximum fee, or 14 make any agreement directly or indirectly to charge or 15 collect any fee in excess of the maximum fee, prescribed by 16 the Secretary, shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and, 17 upon conviction thereof, shall for each offense be punished 18 by a fine not exceeding \$500 or by imprisonment not exceed-19 ing one year, or both. 20 "Applications and Furnishing of Information by Families 21 "(e)(1) The Secretary shall prescribe such require-22ments in the case of families or members thereof for the 23 filing of applications, the suspension or termination of bene-24 fits, the furnishing of other data and material, and the

reporting of events and changes in circumstances, as may

1	be necessary to determine eligibility for and amount of
2	family assistance benefits.
3	"(2) Each family who received benefits under part A
4	or part B in a quarter shall be required, not later than 30
5	days after the close of such quarter, to submit a report to
6	the Secretary containing such information and in such form
7	as he may prescribe in order to enable him to determine
8	eligibility for and the amount of the benefits payable to
9	such family with respect to such quarter as provided in
10	section 2152(d). In case of failure by any family to submit
11	the report within such 30 days, no payment of benefits
12	under part A or part B shall be made to such family so
13	long as such failure continues.
14	"(3) In case of the failure by any family to submit any
15	other data, material, or report required under paragraph (1),
16	or delay by any individual in submitting such data, material,
17	or report as so required, the Secretary shall reduce any
18	benefits which may subsequently become payable to such
19	family under this title by—
20	"(A) \$25 in the case of the first such failure
21	$or \ delay,$
22	"(B) \$50 in the case of the second such failure or
23	delay, and
24	"(C) \$100 in the case of the third or a subse-

quent such failure or delay,

1	except where the family was without fault or good cause
2	for such failure or delay existed.
3	"Furnishing of Information by Other Agencies
4	"(f) The head of any Federal agency shall provide
5	such information as the Secretary needs for purposes of
6	determining eligibility for or amount of benefits, or verifying
7	other information with respect thereto.
8	"PENALTIES FOR FRAUD
9	"Sec. 2172. Whoever—
10	"(1) knowingly and willfully makes or causes to be
11	made any false statement or representation of a material
12	fact in any application for any benefit under this title,
13	"(2) at any time knowingly and willfully makes
14	or causes to be made any false statement or representa-
15	tion of a material fact for use in determining rights to any
16	such benefit,
17	"(3) having knowledge of the occurrence of any
18	event affecting (A) his initial or continued right to
19	any such benefit, or (B) the initial or continued right
20	to any such benefit of any other individual in whose
21	behalf he has applied for or is receiving such benefit,
22	conceals or fails to disclose such event with an intent
23	fraudulently to secure such benefit either in a greater
24	amount or quantity than is due or when no such benefit

is authorized, or

1	"(4) having made application to receive any such
<b>2</b>	benefit for the use and benefit of another and having
3	received it, knowingly and willfully converts such bene-
4	fit or any part thereof to a use other than for the use
5	and benefit of such other person,
6	shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof
7	shall be fined not more than \$1,000 or imprisoned for not
8	more than one year, or both.
9	"ADMINISTRATION
10	"Sec. 2173. The Secretary of Health, Education, and
11	Welfare and the Secretary of Labor may each perform any
12	of his functions under this title (or section 1124) directly,
13	through arrangements with each other or with other Federal
14	agencies, or by contract with public or private agencies pro-
15	viding for payment in advance or by way of reimbursement,
16	and in such installments, as he may deem necessary.
17	"ADVANCE FUNDING
18	"Sec. 2174. (a) For the purpose of affording ade-
19	quate notice of funding available under this title, appro-
20	priations for grants, contracts, or other payments under
21	part A or part B (other than benefits under section 2113
22	or 2131) are authorized to be included in an appropriation
23	Act for the fiscal year preceding the fiscal year for which
24	they are available for obligation.

"(b) In order to effect a transition to the advance

1	funding m	ethod of	timing	approp	riation	action,	subsection
2	(a) shall	apply n	otwithsta	nding tl	hat its	initial d	application

- 3 will result in enactment in the same year (whether in the
- 4 same appropriation Act or otherwise) of two separate ap-
- 5 propriations, one for the then current fiscal year and one
- 6 for the succeeding fiscal year.

## 7 "OBLIGATION OF DESERTING PARENTS

- 8 "Sec. 2175. In any case where an individual has
- 9 deserted or abandoned his spouse or his child or children
- 10 and such spouse or any such child (during the period of
- 11 such desertion or abandonment) is a member of a family
- 12 receiving benefits under this title, such individual shall be
- 13 obligated to the United States in an amount equal to-
- "(1) the total amount of the benefits paid to such
- family during such period with respect to such spouse
- and child or children, reduced by
- "(2) any amount actually paid by such individual
- to or for the support and maintenance of such spouse
- or child or children during such period, if and to the
- 20 extent that such amount is excluded in determining the
- 21 amount of such benefits;
- 22 except that in any case where an order for the support and
- 23 maintenance of such spouse or any such child has been
- 24 issued by a court of competent jurisdiction, the obligation of

- such individual under this subsection (with respect to such 1 spouse or child) for any period shall not exceed the amount 3 specified in such order less any amount actually paid by such individual (to or for the support and maintenance of such spouse or child) during such period. The amount due the 5 United States under such obligation shall be collected (to the extent that the claim of the United States therefor is not 7 paid by such individual or otherwise satisfied), in such manner as may be specified by the Secretary from any amounts 10 otherwise due him or becoming due him at any time from 11 any officer or agency of the United States or under any Federal program. Amounts collected under the preceding 12 sentence shall be deposited in the Treasury as miscellaneous 13 14 receipts. "PENALTY FOR INTERSTATE FLIGHT TO AVOID
- 15

## 16 PARENTAL RESPONSIBILITIES

25

than one year, or both.

17 "Sec. 2176. Whoever, being the parent of a child receiving benefits under this title as a member of a family, 18 19 moves or travels in interstate commerce for the purpose of 20 avoiding responsibility for the support of such child or any 21 other responsibility imposed upon him by or under any law 22 pertaining to the obligations of a parent to his child, shall 23 be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof shall 24 be fined not more than \$1,000 or imprisoned for not more

1	"REPORTS OF IMPROPER CARE OR CUSTODY OF
2	$Coldsymbol{HILDREN}$
3	"Sec. 2177. Whenever the Secretary, in the perform-
4	ance of his functions under this title, obtains or comes into
5	possession of information which indicates or gives him reason
6	to believe that any child is being or has been subjected to
7	neglect, abuse, exploitation, or other improper care or cus-
8	tody, he shall so advise the appropriate State or local child
9	welfare agency and the head of the Federal department or
10	agency (if such department or agency is not the Department
11	of which the Secretary is head) which is most directly con-
12	cerned with or exercises primary Federal jurisdiction over
13	factual situations of the type involved.
14	"ESTABLISHMENT OF LOCAL COMMITTEES TO EVALUATE
15	EFFECTIVENESS OF MANPOWER AND TRAINING
16	PROGRAMS
17	"SEc. 2178. (a) The Secretary of Health, Education,
18	and Welfare and the Secretary of Labor (in this section
19	referred to as the 'Secretaries') shall jointly establish or
20	designate such local advisory committees throughout the
21	United States as may be necessary or appropriate to assist
22	them in evaluating the effectiveness of the training and em-
23	ployment programs under this title, together with related
24	child care, family planning, and other services, in helping
25	needy families to become self-supporting and in otherwise

- 1 achieving the objectives of this title. Each such local com-
- 2 mittee shall perform its functions within an area specified
- 3 by the Secretaries at the time of its establishment or desig-
- 4 nation; but at least one such committee shall be established
- 5 or designated in every State.
- 6 "(b) Each local advisory committee established or
- 7 designated under subsection (a) shall, as specified by the
- 8 Secretaries, consist of persons representative of labor,
- 9 business, the general public, and units of local government
- 10 not directly involved in administering employment and train-
- 11 ing programs under this title, and shall have a chairman
- 12 elected by the committee from among its members. Members
- 13 of each local committee shall be selected in such manner, and
- 14 serve for such terms, as may be specified by the Secretaries."
- 15 "(c) Each local advisory committee established or desig-
- 16 nated under subsection (a) shall submit to the Secretaries
- 17 at regular intervals a report on the effectiveness of the
- 18 programs and services referred to in subsection (a) in the
- 19 area within which it performs its functions, together with
- 20 its recommendations for improving such effectiveness and
- 21 such additional information as the Secretaries may request
- 22 in connection with such programs and services.
- 23 "(d) The Secretaries shall provide each local advisory
- 24 committee established or designated under subsection (a)
- <sup>25</sup> with the funds necessary for the reasonable expenses of its
- 26 members in the performance of its functions. There are

1	authorized to be appropriated such sums as may be necessary
2	to carry out this subsection.
3	"INITIAL AUTHORIZATION FOR APPROPRIATIONS FOR
4	CHILD CARE SERVICES
5	"Sec. 2179. Of the sums authorized by section 2101 to
6	be appropriated for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1973,
7	not more than \$700,000,000 in the aggregate shall be appro-
8	priated to the Secretary of Labor to enable him to carry out
9	his responsibilities under section 2112(a) and to the Secre-
10	tary of Health, Education, and Welfare to enable him to
11	carry out his responsibilities under sections 2133(a) and
12	2134(c)."
13	CONFORMING AMENDMENTS RELATING TO ASSISTANCE
14	FOR NEEDY FAMILIES WITH CHILDREN
<b>1</b> 5	SEC. 402. (a) The heading of title IV of the Social
16	Security Act is amended to read as follows:
17	"TITLE IV—GRANTS TO STATES FOR FAMILY
18	AND CHILD-WELFARE SERVICES".
19	(b) The heading of part A of title IV of such Act is
20	amended to read as follows:
21	"PART A-SERVICES TO NEEDY FAMILIES WITH
22	CHILDREN".
<b>2</b> 3	(c) Section 401 of such Act is amended—
24	(1) by striking out "financial assistance and", and
25	"dependent" each place it appears, in the first sentence;

and

1	(2) by striking out "aid and" in the second
2	sentence.
3	(d)(1) Section 402(a) of such Act is amended—
4	(A) by striking out "AID AND" in the heading;
5	(B) by striking out "aid and" in the matter pre-
6	ceding clause (1);
7	(C) by striking out "with respect to services" in
8	clause (1) (as amended by section 522(b) of this
9	Act);
10	(D) by striking out clause (4);
11	(E)(i) by striking out "recipients and other per-
12	sons" in clause (5)(B) and inserting in lieu thereof
13	"persons", and
14	(ii) by striking out "providing services to appli-
15	cants and recipients" in such clause and inserting in lieu
16	thereof "providing services under the plan";
17	(F) by striking out clauses (7) and (8);
18	(G)(i) by striking out "applicants or recipients"
19	in clause (9) and inserting in lieu thereof "persons
20	seeking or receiving services under the plan", and
21	(ii) by striking out "aid to families with dependent
22	children" in such clause and inserting in lieu thereof
23	"the plan";
24	(H) by striking out clauses (10), (11), and (12);
25	(I)(i) by striking out "section 406(d)" in clause

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

(14)	and.	inserting	in	lien	thereof	"section	4050	d	"
1111	will		010	uuuuu		00000010	A001	w ,	

- (ii) by striking out "for children and relatives receiving aid to families with dependent children and appropriate individuals (living in the same home) whose needs are taken into account in making the determination under clause (7)" in such clause (as amended by section 524 (a) of this Act) and inserting in lieu thereof "for members of a family receiving assistance to needy families with children and individuals who would have been eligible to receive aid to families with dependent children under the State plan (approved under this part) as in effect prior to the enactment of title XXI", and
- (iii) by striking out "such children, relatives, and individuals" each place it appears in such clause (as so amended) and inserting in lieu thereof "such members and individuals";
- (J) by striking out clause (15) and inserting in lieu thereof the following: "(15) provide (A) for the development of a program, for appropriate members of such families and such other individuals, for preventing or reducing the incidence of births out of wedlock and otherwise strengthening family life, and for implementing such program by assuring that in all appropriate cases family planning services are offered to them, but acceptance of family planning services provided under

1	the plan shall be voluntary on the part of such members
2	and individuals and shall not be a prerequisite to eligi-
3	bility for or the receipt of any other service under the
4	plan; and (B) to the extent that services provided under
5	this clause or clause (8) are furnished by the staff of the
6	State agency or the local agency administering the State
7	plan in each of the political subdivisions of the State, for
8	the establishment of a single organizational unit in such
9	State or local agency, as the case may be, responsible for
10	the furnishing of such services;"
11	(K) by striking out "aid" in clause (16) and in-
12	serting in lieu thereof "assistance to needy families with
13	children";
14	(L)(i) by striking out "aid to families with depend-
15	ent children" in clause (17)(A)(i) and inserting in
16	lieu thereof "assistance to needy families with children",
17	(ii) by striking out "aid" in clause (17)(A)(ii)
18	and inserting in lieu thereof "assistance", and
19	(iii) by striking out "aid" in clause (17)(A)(iii)
20	(as added by section 525(a) of this Act) and inserting
21.	in lieu thereof "assistance";
22	(M) by striking out "clause (17)(A)" in clause
23	(18) and inserting in lieu thereof "clause (11)(A)";
24	(N) by striking out clause (19);
25	(O) by striking out "aid to families with dependent

1	children in the form of foster care in accordance with
2	section 408" in clause (20) and inserting in lieu thereof
3	"payments for foster care in accordance with section
4	406'';
5	(P)(i) by striking out "aid is being provided under
6	the State plan" in clause (21)(A) (as amended by sec-
7	tion 525(b) of this Act) and inserting in lieu thereof
8	"assistance to needy families with children or foster care
9	under the State plan is being provided", and
10	(ii) by striking out "section 410" in clause (21)
11	(C) and inserting in lieu thereof "section 407";
12	(Q) by striking out "aid is being provided under
13	the plan of such other State" in each place it appears in
14	clause (22) (as amended by section 525(e) of this
15	Act) and inserting in lieu thereof "assistance to needy
16	families with children or foster care payments are being
17	provided in such other State"; and
18	(R) by striking out "and (23)" and all that fol-
19	lows and inserting in lieu thereof "and (23) provide
20	that, to the extent services under the plan are furnished
21	by the staff of the State or local agency administering
22	the plan in any political subdivision of the State, such
23	staff will be located in organizational units (up to such

organizational levels as the Secretary may prescribe)

which are separate and distinct from the units within

24

- 1 such agencies responsible for determining eligibility for
- 2 any form of cash assistance paid on a regularly recur-
- 3 ring basis or for performing any functions directly re-
- 4 lated thereto, subject to any exceptions which, in accord-
- 5 ance with standards prescribed in regulations, the Secre-
- 6 tary may permit when he deems it necessary in order to
- 7 ensure the effective administration of the plan."
- 8 (2) Clauses (5), (6), (9), (13), (14), (15), (16),
- 9 (17), (18), (20), (21), (22), and (23) of section 402
- 10 (a) of such Act, as amended by paragraph (1) of this sub-
- 11 section, are redesignated as clauses (4) through (16), re-
- 12 spectively.
- (e) Section 402(b) of such Act is amended to read
- 14 as follows:
- 15 "(b) The Secretary shall approve any plan which fulfills
- the conditions specified in subsection (a), except that he shall
- not approve any plan which imposes, as a condition of eligi-
- bility for services or foster care payments under it, any
- residence requirement which denies services or foster care
- payments with respect to any individual residing in the
- 21 State."
- (f) Section 402 of such Act is further amended by strik-
- ing out subsection (c), and by striking out subsection (d)
- 24 (as added by section 523(b) of this Act).
- 25 (g)(1) Section 403(a) of such Act is amended—

1	(A) by striking out "aid and" in the matter pre-
2	ceding paragraph (1);
3	(B) by striking out paragraph (1) and inserting
4	in lieu thereof the following:
5	"(1) an amount equal to the sum of the following
6	proportions of the total amounts expended during such
7	quarter as payments for foster care in accordance with
8	section 406—
9	"(A) five-sixths of such expenditures, not count-
10	ing so much of any expenditure with respect to any
11	month as exceeds the product of \$18 multiplied by
12	the total number of children receiving such foster
13	care for such month; plus
14	"(B) the Federal percentage of the amount by
15	which such expenditures exceed the maximum which
16	may be counted under subparagraph (A), not count-
17	ing so much of any expenditure with respect to any
18	month as exceeds the product of \$100 multiplied by
19	the total number of children receiving such foster
20	care for such month;";
21	(C) by striking out paragraph (2);
22	(D) (i) by striking out "in the case of any State,"
23	in the matter preceding subparagraph (A) in para-
24	graph (3),
25	(ii) by striking out "or relative who is receiving

1	aid under the plan, or to any other individual (living in
2	the same home as such relative and child) whose needs
3	are taken into account in making the determination under
4	clause (7) of such section" in clause (i) of subpara-
5	graph (A) of such paragraph and inserting in lieu
6	thereof "receiving foster care under the State plan or
7	any member of a family receiving assistance to needy
8	families with children",
9	(iii) by striking out "child or relative who is ap-
10	plying for aid to families with dependent children or"
11	in clause (ii) of subparagraph (A) of such paragraph
12	and inserting in lieu thereof "member of a family",
13	(iv) by striking out "likely to become an appli-
14	cant for or recipient of such aid" in clause (ii) of sub-
15	paragraph (A) of such paragraph and inserting in lieu
16	thereof "likely to become eligible to receive such assist-
17	ance'',
18	(v) by striking out "(17), (18), (21), and
19	(22)" in clause (iv) of subparagraph (A) of such
20	paragraph (as added by section 527(a) of this Act)
21	and inserting in lieu thereof "(11), (12), (14), and
22	(15)", and
23	(vi) by striking out "(14) and (15)" each place
24	it appears in subparagraph (A) of such paragraph and

inserting in lieu thereof "(8) and (9)";

1	(E) by striking out all that follows "permitted" in
2	the last sentence of such paragraph and inserting in lieu
3	thereof "by the Secretary; and";
4	(F) by striking out "in the case of any State," in
5	the matter preceding subparagraph (A) in paragraph
6	(5);
7	(G) by striking out "section 406(e)" each place
8	it appears in paragraph (5) and inserting in lieu thereof
9	"section 405(e)"; and
10	(H) by striking out the sentences following para-
11	graph (5).
12	(2) Paragraphs (3) and (5) of section 403(a) of such
13	Act, as amended by paragraph (1) of this subsection, are
14	redesignated as paragraphs (2) and (3), respectively.
15	(h) Section 403(b) of such Act is amended—
16	(1) by striking out "(B) records showing the num-
17	ber of dependent children in the State, and (C)" in para-
18	graph (1) and inserting in lieu thereof "and (B)"; and
19	(2) by striking out " $(A)$ " in paragraph (2), and
20	by striking out ", and (B)" and all that follows in such
21	paragraph down through "under the State plan".
22	(i) Section 404 of such Act is amended—
23	(1) by striking out "(a) In the case of any State
24	plan for aid and services" and inserting in lieu thereof
25	"In the case of any State plan for services";

1	(2) by striking out clause (1) and inserting in lieu
2	thereof the following:
3	"(1) that the plan no longer complies with the
4	provisions of section 402; or"; and
5	(3) by striking out subsection (b).
6	(j) Section 405 of such Act is repealed.
7	(k) Section 406 of such Act is redesignated as section
8	405, and as so redesignated is amended—
9	(1) by striking out subsections (a), (b), and (c)
10	and inserting in lieu thereof the following:
11	"(a) The term 'child' means a child as defined in section
12	2155(b).
13	"(b) The term 'needy families with children' means
14	families who are eligible for benefits under part A or part B
<b>15</b>	of title XXI, other than families in which both parents of
16	the child or children are present, neither parent is incapaci-
17	tated, and the male parent is not unemployed.
18	"(c) The term 'assistance to needy families with chil-
19	dren' means benefits under part A or part B of title XXI,
20	paid to needy families with children as defined in subsection
21	(b)."; and
22	(2)(A) by striking out "living with any of the
<b>2</b> 3	relatives specified in subsection (a)(1) in a place of
<b>24</b>	residence maintained by one or more of such relatives
25	as his on their sum home? in many 1 (4) to 1

as his or their own home" in paragraph (1) of sub-

1	section (e) and inserting in lieu thereof "a member of
2	a family (as defined in section 2155(a))",
3	(B) by striking out "because such child or relative
4	refused" in such paragraph and inserting in lieu thereof
5	"because such child or another member of such family
6	refused", and
7	(C) by striking out "the household in which he is
8	living" in subparagraph (A) of such paragraph and
9	inserting in lieu thereof "such family".
10	(1) Section 407 of such Act is repealed.
11	(m) Section 408 of such Act is redesignated as section
12	406, and as so redesignated is amended—
13	(1) by striking out everything (including the head-
14	ing) which precedes paragraph (b)(1) and inserting
15	in lieu thereof the following:
16	"FOSTER CARE
17	"Sec. 406. For purposes of this part—
18	"(a) the term 'foster care' shall include only foster care
19	which is provided in behalf of a child (1) who would, except
20	for his removal from the home of a family as a result of a
21	judicial determination to the effect that continuation therein
22	would be contrary to his welfare, be a member of such family
23	receiving assistance to needy families with children (or
24	supplementary payments under section 2156), (2) whose
25	placement and care are the responsibility of (A) the

State or local agency administering the State plan approved under section 402, or (B) any other public agency with  $\mathbf{2}$ 3 whom the State agency administering or supervising the administration of such State plan has made an agreement 4 5 which is still in effect and which includes provision for 6 assuring development of a plan, satisfactory to such State 7 agency, for such child as provided in paragraph (e)(1) and such other provisions as may be necessary to assure 9 accomplishment of the objectives of the State plan approved 10 under section 402, (3) who has been placed in a foster 11 family home or child-care institution as a result of such de-12 termination, and (4) who (A) received assistance to needy 13 families with children (or aid to families with dependent 14 children under the State plan approved under section 402 15 as in effect prior to the effective date of title XXI) in or for 16 the month in which court proceedings leading to such deter-17 mination were initiated, or (B) would have received such 18 assistance to needy families with children (or such aid) 19 in or for such month if application had been made therefor, or (C) in the case of a child who had been a member of a 20 21 family (as defined in section 2155(a)) within six months 22prior to the month in which such proceedings were initiated, 23would have received such assistance (or such aid) in or for 24 such month if in such month he had been a member of (and

1	removed from the home of) such a family and application
2	had been made therefor;
3	"(b) the term 'foster care' shall, however, include the
4	care described in paragraph (a) only if it is provided—";
5	(2)(A) by striking out "'aid to families with de-
6	pendent children'" in paragraph (b)(2) and inserting
7	in lieu thereof "foster care",
8	(B) by striking out "such foster care" in such
9	paragraph and inserting in lieu thereof "foster care".
10	and
11	(C) by striking out the period at the end of such
12	paragraph and inserting in lieu thereof "; and";
13	(3) by striking out paragraph (c) and redesig-
14	nating paragraphs (d), (e), and (f) as paragraphs
15	(c), (d), and (e), respectively;
16	(4) by striking out "paragraph (f)(2)" and "sec-
17	tion 403(a)(3)" in paragraph (c) (as so redesig-
18	nated) and inserting in lieu thereof "paragraph (e)
19	(2)" and "section 403(a)(2)" respectively;
20	(5) by striking out "aid" in paragraph (d) (as
21	so redesignated) and inserting in lieu thereof "foster
22	care'';
23	(6) by striking out "relative specified in section
24	406(a)" in paragraph (e)(1) (as so redesignated)

- and inserting in lieu thereof "family (as defined in sec-
- 2 tion 2155(a))"; and
- 3 (7) by striking out "522(a)" and "part 3 of title
- 4 V" in paragraph (e)(2) (as so redesignated) and
- inserting in lieu thereof "422(a)" and "part B of this
- 6 title", respectively.
- 7 (n) Section 409 of such Act is repealed.
- 8 (o) Section 410 of such Act is redesignated as section
- 9 407; and subsection (a) of such section (as so redesignated)
- 10 is amended by striking out "section 402(a)(21)" and in-
- serting in lieu thereof "section 402(a)(14)".
- 12 (p)(1) Section 422(a)(1)(A) of such Act is
- amended by striking out "section 402(a)(15)" and insert-
- ing in lieu thereof "section 402(a)(9)".
- 15 (2) Section 422(a)(1)(B) of such Act is amended—
- 16 (A) by striking out "provided for dependent chil-
- dren" and inserting in lieu thereof "provided with
- respect to needy families with children", and
- 19 (B) by striking out "such children and their fam-
- 20 ilies" and inserting in lieu thereof "such families and
- children".
- (q) Part C of title IV of such Act is repealed.
- (r) References in any law, regulation, State plan, or
- 24 other document to any provision of part A of title IV of the
- 25 Social Security Act which is redesignated by this section

1	shall to the extent appropriate (from and after the effective
2	date of the amendments made by this section) be considered
3	to be references to such provision as so redesignated.
4	TITLE V-MISCELLANEOUS
5	PART A—EFFECTIVE DATES AND GENERAL PROVISIONS
6	EFFECTIVE DATE FOR TITLES III AND IV
7	SEC. 501. The amendments and repeals made by titles
8	III and IV of this Act and by this part and parts B and E of
9	this title shall become effective (and section 9 of the Act of
<b>l</b> 0	April 19, 1950 (25 U.S.C. 639), is repealed effective) on
1	July 1, 1972, except as otherwise specifically indicated, and
<b>12</b>	except that—
13	(1) sections 2133 and 2134 of the Social Security
4	Act, as added by section 401 of this Act, shall be effective
15	upon the enactment of this Act,
<b>l</b> 6	(2) the amendments made by title IV of this Act,
<b>7</b>	insofar as they apply to families in which both parents of
18	the child or children involved are present, neither parent
9	is incapacitated, and the male parent is not unemployed,
20	shall not become effective until January 1, 1973, and
21	(3) appropriations for administrative expenses in-
22	curred during the fiscal year ending June 30, 1972, in
23	developing the staff and facilities necessary to place
24	in operation the programs established by titles XX and
25	XXI of the Social Security Act, as added by this Act,

1 and for child care furnished pursuant to section	508
--	-----

- 2 during such fiscal year, may be included in an appro-
- 3 priation Act for such fiscal year.
- 4 PROHIBITION AGAINST PARTICIPATION IN FOOD STAMP
- 5 PROGRAM BY RECIPIENTS OF PAYMENTS UNDER FAM-
- 6 ILY AND ADULT ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS
- 7 SEC. 502. (a) Section 3(e) of the Food Stamp Act
- 8 of 1964 is amended by adding at the end thereof the fol-
- 9 lowing new sentence: "No person who is determined to be an
- 10 eligible individual or eligible spouse under section 2011(a)
- 11 of the Social Security Act, and no member of a family which
- is determined to be an eligible family under section 2152(a)
- of such Act, shall be considered to be a member of a household
- or an elderly person for the purposes of this Act."
- 15 (b) Section 3(h) of such Act, is amended to read as
- 16 follows:
- "(h) The term 'State agency', with respect to any State,
- 18 means the agency of State government which is designated by
- 19 the Secretary for purposes of carrying out this Act in such
- 20 State, or, if and to the extent that the Secretary so elects, the
- 21 Federal agency administering title XX or XXI of the Social
- 22 Security Act in such State."
- (c) Section 10(c) of such Act is amended by striking
- out the first sentence.
- (d) Clause (2) of the second sentence of section 10(e)

- 1 of such Act is amended by striking out "used by them in the
- 2 certification of applicants for benefits under the federally
- 3 aided public assistance programs" and inserting in lieu thereof
- 4 the following: "prescribed by the Secretary in the regula-
- 5 tions issued pursuant to this Act".
- 6 (e) Section 10(e) of such Act is further amended by
- 7 striking out the third sentence.
- 8 (f) Section 14 of such Act is amended by striking out
- 9 subsection (e).
- 10 (g)(1) Except as provided in paragraph (2), the
- amendments made by this section shall take effect on July 1,
- 12 *1972*.
- 13 (2) The Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare
- 14 may by regulation provide that the amendment made by sub-
- 15 section(a)—
- 16 (A) shall not apply with respect to individuals and
- families in any State until the expiration of such period
- of time (not exceeding 30 days) after July 1, 1972,
- as he finds necessary to avoid the interruption of such
- individuals' and families' income in the transition from
- the programs of assistance under prior law to the pro-
- grams of assistance under titles XX or XXI of the
- Social Security Act (as added by this Act); and
- 24 (B) shall not apply (in such cases as he may 25 specify) with respect to individuals and families first

1	becoming eligible for benefits under title XX or XXI of
2	the Social Security Act after July 1, 1972, until the
3	expiration of such period of time (not exceeding 30
4	days) after the first day of such eligibility as he finds
5	necessary to avoid the interruption of such individuals'
6	and families' income.
7	(3) In any case where the Secretary postpones the appli-
8	cation of the amendment made by subsection (a) for a period
9	of time as provided in subparagraph (A) or (B) of para-
10	graph (2), each individual or family with respect to whom
11	the postponement applies (and who had been certified to
12	receive a coupon allotment under the Food Stamp Act of
13	1964 for the month immediately preceding the first day of
14	such period) shall be authorized to purchase during such
15	period the same coupon allotment (at the same charge there-
16	for) which such individual or family had been certified to
17	receive for such month immediately preceding the first day of
18	such period.
19	LIMITATION ON FISCAL LIABILITY OF STATES FOR
20	OPTIONAL STATE SUPPLEMENTATION
21	SEC. 503. (a) (1) The amount payable to the Secretary
22	by a State for any fiscal year pursuant to its agreement or
23	agreements under sections 2016 and 2156 of the Social
24	Security Act shall not exceed the non-Federal share of ex-
25	7'

penditures as aid or assistance for quarters in the calendar

- 1 year 1971 under the plans of the State approved under
- 2 titles I, X, XIV, and XVI, and part A of title IV, of
- 3 the Social Security Act (as defined in subsection (c) of
- 4 this section).
- 5 (2) Paragraph (1) of this subsection shall only apply
- 6 with respect to that portion of the supplementary payments
- 7 made by the Secretary on behalf of the State under such
- 8 agreements in any fiscal year which does not exceed in the
- 9 case of any individual or family the difference between-
- 10 (A) the adjusted payment level under the appro-
- 11 priate approved plan of such State as in effect for Janu-
- 12 ary 1971 (as defined in subsection (b) of this section),
- 13 and
- 14 (B) the benefits under title XX or XXI of the Social
- 15 Security Act, plus income not excluded under section
- 2012(b) or 2153(b) of such Act in determining such
- benefits, paid to such individual or family in such fiscal
- 18 year,
- 19 and shall not apply with respect to supplementary payments
- 20 to any individual or family who (i) is not required by sec-
- 21 tion 2016 or 2156 of such Act to be included in any such
- 22 agreement administered by the Secretary and (ii) would have
- 23 been ineligible (for reasons other than income) for payments
- 24 under the appropriate approved State plan as in effect for
- 25 January 1971.

1	(b)(1) For purposes of subsection (a), the term "ad-
2	justed payment level under the appropriate approved plan
3	of a State as in effect for January 1971" means the amount
4	of the money payment which an individual or family (of a
5	given size) with no other income would have received under
6	the plan of such State approved under title I, X, XIV, or
7	XVI, or part A of title IV, of the Social Security Act, as
8	may be appropriate, and in effect for January 1971; except
9	that the State may, at its option, increase such payment level
10	with respect to any such plan by an amount which does not
11	exceed the sum of—
12	(A) a payment level modification (as defined in
13	paragraph (2) of this subsection) with respect to such
14	$plan, \ and$
15	(B) the bonus value of food stamps in such State
16	for January 1971 (as defined in paragraph (3) of this
17	subsection).
18	(2) For purposes of paragraph (1), the term "payment
19	level modification" with respect to any State plan means that
20	amount by which a State which for January 1971 made
21	money payments under such plan to individuals or families
22	with no other income which were less than 100 per centum of
23	its standard of need could have increased such money pay-
24	ments without increasing (if it reduced its standard of need
25	under such plan so that such increased money payments

- 1 equaled 100 per centum of such standard of need) the non-
- 2 Federal share of expenditures as aid or assistance for quar-
- 3 ters in calendar year 1971 under the plans of such State
- 4 approved under titles I, X, XIV, and XVI, and part A of
- 5 title IV, of the Social Security Act.
- 6 (3) For purposes of paragraph (1), the term "bonus
- 7 value of food stamps in a State for January 1971" (with
- 8 respect to an individual or a family of a given size) means—
- 9 (A) the face value of the coupon allotment which
- 10 would have been provided to such an individual or
- 11 family under the Food Stamp Act of 1964 for January
- 12 1971, reduced by
- 13 (B) the charge which such an individual or family
- 14 would have paid for such coupon allotment,
- 15 if the income of such individual or family, for purposes of
- 16 determining the charge it would have paid for its coupon
- 17 allotment, had been equal to the adjusted payment level under
- 18 the State plan (including any payment level modification
- 19 with respect to the plan adopted pursuant to paragraph (2)
- 20 (but not including any amount under this paragraph)). The
- 21 total face value of food stamps and the cost thereof in Janu-
- 22 ary 1971 shall be determined in accordance with rules pre-
- 23 scribed by the Secretary of Agriculture in effect in such
- 24 month.
- (c) For purposes of this section, the term "non-Federal

1	share of expenditures as aid or assistance for quarters in
2	the calendar year 1971 under the plans of a State approved
3	under titles I, X, XIV, and XVI, and part A of title IV of
4	the Social Security Act" means the difference between-
5	(1) the total expenditures in such quarters under
6	such plans for aid or assistance (excluding emergency
7	assistance under section 406(e)(1)(A) of the Socia
8	Security Act, foster care under section 408 of such Act
9	expenditures authorized under section 1119 of such Ac
10	for repairing the home of an individual who was receiv-
11	ing aid or assistance under one of such plans, and bene-
12	fits in the form of institutional services in intermediate
13	care facilities authorized under section 1121 of such
14	Act (as such sections were in effect prior to the enact-
15	ment of this Act)), and
16	(2) the total of the amounts determined under sec-
17	tions 3, 403, 1003, 1403, and 1603 of the Social Se-
18	curity Act, under section 1118 of such Act, and under
19	section 9 of the Act of April 19, 1950, for such State
20	with respect to such expenditures in such quarters.
21	SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR PUERTO RICO, THE VIRGIN
22	ISLANDS, AND GUAM
23	SEC. 504. Section 1108 of the Social Security Act is
24	amended by adding at the end thereof the following new
<b>25</b>	subsection:

```
"(e) (1) In applying the provisions of—
1
            "(A) subsections (a), (b), and (e)(1) of section
2
3
        2011.
            "(B) subsections (a)(2)(D) and (b)(2) of section
4
5
        2012.
            "(C) subsection (a) of section 2013,
6
            "(D) subsections (a), (b), and (c) of section 2152,
7
            "(E) subsections (a)(2)(C) and (b)(2) of section
8
9
        2153, and the last sentence of subsection (b) of such
10
        section, and
11
            "(F) the last sentence of section 2154(a),
    with respect to Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, or Guam,
12
    the dollar amounts to be used shall, instead of the figures
13
    specified in such provisions, be dollar amounts bearing the
14
    same ratio to the figures so specified as the per capita in-
15
    comes of Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam, re-
16
    spectively, bear to the per capita income of that one of the
17
    States which has the lowest per capita income; except that
18
     in no case may the amounts so used exceed the figures so
19
20
     specified.
         "(2)(A) The amounts to be used under such sections
21
     in Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam shall be
22
     promulgated by the Secretary between July 1 and Sep-
23
     tember 30 of each odd-numbered year, on the basis of the
 24.
     average per capita income of each State for the most recent
 25
```

- 1 calendar year for which satisfactory data are available from
- 2 the Department of Commerce. Such promulgation shall be
- 3 effective for each of the two fiscal years in the period begin-
- 4 ning July 1 next succeeding such promulgation.
- 5 "(B) The term 'State', for purposes of subparagraph
- 6 (A) only, means the fifty States and the District of Columbia.
- 7 "(3) If the amounts which would otherwise be promul-
- 8 gated for any fiscal year for any of the three States referred
- 9 to in paragraph (1) would be lower than the amounts
- 10 promulgated for such State for the immediately preceding
- 11 period, the amounts for such fiscal year shall be increased
- 12 to the extent of the difference; and the amounts so increased
- shall be the amounts promulgated for such year."
- 14 DETERMINATIONS OF MEDICAID ELIGIBILITY
- 15 SEC. 505. Title XI of the Social Security Act (as
- 16 amended by sections 221(a) and 241 of this Act) is
- 17 amended by adding at the end thereof the following new
- 18 section:
- 19 "DETERMINATIONS OF MEDICAID ELIGIBILITY
- 20 "Sec. 1124. The Secretary of Health, Education, and
- Welfare may enter into an agreement with any State which
- wishes to do so under which he (or the Secretary of Labor
- with respect to individuals eligible for benefits under part
- 24 A of title XXI) will determine eligibility for medical as-
- sistance in any or all cases under such State's plan approved

1	under title XIX. Any such agreement shall provide for pay-
2	ment by the State, for use by the Secretary in carrying out
3	the agreement, of an amount equal to one-half of the cost
4	of carrying out the agreement, but in computing such cost
5	with respect to individuals eligible for benefits under title
6	XX or under part A or part B of title XXI the Secretary
7	shall include only those costs which are additional to the
8	costs incurred in carrying out such title or such part."
9	ASSISTANT SECRETARY OF LABOR, FOR THE
10	OPPORTUNITIES FOR FAMILIES PROGRAM
11	SEC. 506. (a) There shall be in the Department of
12	Labor an Assistant Secretary for the Opportunities for Fam-
13	ilies Program, who shall be appointed by the President by and
14	with the advice and consent of the Senate and shall be the
15	principal officer of the Department in carrying out the func-
16	tions, powers, and duties vested in the Secretary of Labor by
17	part A of title XXI of the Social Security Act (and by parts
18	C and D of such title with respect to the families and benefits
19	to which part A of such title relates), including the making of
20	grants, contracts, agreements, and arrangements, the provi-
21	sion of child care services, the adjudication of claims, and
22	the discharge of all other authority vested in the Secretary by
23	such parts. The Assistant Secretary for the Opportunities for
24	Families Program shall have sole responsibility within the
25	Department of Labor, subject to the supervision and direction

- 1 of the Secretary of Labor, for the administration of the pro-
- 2 gram established by part A of such title XXI.
- 3 (b) Section 2 of the Act of April 17, 1946 (29 U.S.C.
- 4 553), is amended—
- 5 (1) by striking out "five" in the first sentence and
- 6 inserting in lieu thereof "six"; and
- 7 (2) by inserting before the period at the end of the
- 8 last sentence the following: ", and one shall be the Assist-
- 9 ant Secretary of Labor for the Opportunities for Fam-
- ilies Program".
- 11 (c) Paragraph (20) of section 5313 of title 5, United
- 12 States Code, is amended by striking out "(5)" and inserting
- in lieu thereof "(6)".
- 14 TRANSITIONAL ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS
- 15 Sec. 507. In order for a State to be eligible for any pay-
- 16 ments pursuant to title IV, V, XVI, or XIX of the Social
- 17 Security Act with respect to expenditures for any quarter in
- 18 the fiscal year ending June 30, 1973, and for the purpose of
- 19 providing an orderly transition from State to Federal admin-
- 20 istration of assistance programs for adults and families with
- 21 children, such State shall enter into agreements with the Sec-
- 22 retary of Health, Education, and Welfare and the Secretary
- 23 of Labor under which the State agencies responsible for ad-
- 24 ministering or for supervising the administration of the plans
- 25 approved under titles I, X, XIV, and XVI and part A of

- 1 title IV of the Social Security Act will, on behalf of the Secre-
- 2 taries, administer all or such part or parts of the programs
- 3 established by sections 301 and 401 of this Act (other than
- 4 the manpower services, training, employment, and child care
- 5 provisions of the program established by part A of title XXI
- 6 of the Social Security Act as added by section 401 of this
- 7 Act), during such portion of the fiscal year ending June 30,
- 8 1973, as may be provided in such agreements; except that no
- 9 such agreement shall apply, in the administration of the pro-
- 10 gram established by section 401 of this Act, with respect to
- 11 any family in which both parents are present, neither parent
- 12 is incapacitated, and the male parent is not unemployed.
- 13 CHILD CARE SERVICES FOR AFDC RECIPIENTS DURING
- 14 TRANSITIONAL PERIOD
- 15 SEC. 508. Until the close of June 30, 1972, the Secre-
- 16 tary of Health, Education, and Welfare may utilize his au-
- 17 thority under section 2133 of the Social Security Act (as
- 18 added by section 401 of this Act) to provide for the furnish-
- 19 ing of child care services for members of families who are
- 20 entitled to receive services under part A of title IV of the
- 21 Social Security Act and who need child care services in
- 22 order to accept and participate in employment or to partici-
- 23 pate in a work incentive program under part C of such title,
- 24 as though such family members were individuals referred
- 25 pursuant to section 2132(a) of such Act.

1	Part B—New Social Services Provisions
2	DEFINITION OF SERVICES
3	SEC. 511. (a) Subsection (d) of section 405 of the
4	Social Security Act (as amended by section 402(k) of this
5	Act) is amended to read as follows:
6	"(d) The term 'services for any individual receiving
7	assistance to needy families with children' means any of the
8	following services provided for any such individual:
9	"(1) family planning services, including medical
10	services;
11	"(2) child oare services required because of the
12	employment, training, or illness or incapacity of the
13	child's parent or other relative caring for him;
14	"(3) services to unmarried girls who are pregnant or
15	already have children, for the purpose of arranging for
16	prenatal and postnatal care of the mother and child,
17	developing appropriate living arrangements for the child,
18	and assisting the mother to complete school through the
19	secondary level or secure training so that she may be-
20	come self-sufficient;
21	"(4) protective services for children who are (or
22	are in danger of) being abused, neglected, or exploited;
23	"(5) homemaker services when the usual homemaker
24	becomes ill or incapacitated or is otherwise unable to care
<b>25</b>	for the children in the family, and services to educate

1	appropriate family members about household and related
2	financial management and matters pertaining to consumer
3	protection;
4	"(6) nutrition services;
5	"(7) services to assist needy families with children
6	to deal with problems of locating suitable housing ar-
7	rangements and other problems of inadequate housing,
8	and to educate them in practices of home management
9	and maintenance;
10	"(8) educational services, including assisting ap-
11	propriate family members in securing available adult
12	basic education;
<b>1</b> 3	"(9) emergency services made available in con-
14	nection with a crisis or urgent need of the family;
15	"(10) services to assist appropriate family mem-
16	bers to engage in training or secure or retain employ-
17	ment;
18	"(11) services to assist individuals to meet prob-
19	lems resulting from drug abuse or alcohol abuse; and
20	"(12) information and referral services for indi-
21	viduals in need of services from other agencies (such
22	as the health, education, or vocational rehabilitation
23	agency, or private social agencies) and follow-up activi-
<b>24</b>	ties to assure that individuals referred to and eligible

1	for available services from such other agencies received
2	such services."
3	(b) Section 1605 of such Act (as amended by section
4	302(k) of this Act) is further amended to read as follows:
5	"DEFINITION
6	"Sec. 1605. For purposes of this title, the term 'services
7	to the aged, blind, or disabled means any of the following
8	services provided for recipients of benefits under title XX
9	or other needy individuals who are 65 years of age or older,
10	blind, or disabled:
11	"(1) protective services for individuals who are (or
12	are in danger of) being abused, neglected, or exploited;
13	"(2) homemaker services, including education in
14	household and related financial management and matters
15	of consumer protection, and services to assist aged, blind,
16	or disabled individuals to remain in or return to their
17	own homes or other residential situations and to avoid
18	institutionalization or to assist in making appropriate
19	living arrangements in the lowest cost in light of the care
20	needed;
21	"(3) nutrition services, including the provision, in
22	appropriate cases, of adequate meals, and education in
23	matters of nutrition and the preparation of foods;
24 05	"(4) services to assist individuals to deal with prob-
25	lems of locating suitable housing arrangements and other

1	problems of inadequate housing, and to educate them in
2	practices of home maintenance and management;
3	"(5) emergency services made available in connec-
4	tion with a crisis or urgent need of an individual;
5	"(6) services, including child care in appropriate
6	cases, to assist individuals to engage in training or secure
7	or retain employment;
8	'(7) services to assist individuals to meet problems
9	resulting from drug abuse or alcohol abuse; and
10	"(8) information and referral services for indi-
11	viduals in need of services from other agencies (such as
12	the health, education, or vocational rehabilitation agency,
13	or private social agencies) and follow-up activities to
14	assure that individuals referred to and eligible for avail-
15	able services from such other agencies received such
16	services."
17	AUTHORIZATION AND ALLOTMENT OF APPROPRIATIONS
18	FOR SERVICES
19	SEC. 512. Title XI of the Social Security Act (as
20	amended by sections 221(a), 241, 505, 526, and 542(10)
21	of this Act) is further amended by adding at the end thereof
<b>22</b>	the following new section:
23	"AUTHORIZATION AND ALLOTMENT OF APPROPRIATIONS
<b>24</b>	FOR SERVICES
25	"Sec. 1125. (a) There are authorized to be appropri-

- 1 ated, for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1973, and for each
- 2 fiscal year thereafter, for payments to States under sections
- 3 403 and 1603 with respect to expenditures for training of
- 4 personnel, services to the aged, blind, or disabled, and serv-
- 5 ices for any individual receiving assistance to needy families
- 6 with children, such sums as may be necessary; except that
- 7 the amount so appropriated for payments with respect to ex-
- 8 penditures other than expenditures for the services described
- 9 in paragraphs (1) and (2) of section 405(d) shall not
- 10 exceed \$800,000,000 for the fiscal year ending June 30,
- 11 1973, or such sum as the Congress may specify for any
- 12 fiscal year thereafter.
- "(b) From the sums appropriated pursuant to subsec-
- 14 tion (a) for any fiscal year—
- 15 "(1) the Secretary shall allot to each State an
- amount which bears the same ratio to the amount so ap-
- propriated as the Federal share of expenditures in such
- 18 State in the preceding fiscal year (exclusive of amounts
- reallotted to such State for such preceding fiscal year
- under subsection (c)) for services under titles I, X, XIV,
- 21 and XVI, and part A of title IV (other than for child
- care and family planning services under such part),
- and for training under such titles and such part, bears
- to the total such Federal share in all the States, but in
- no case shall such amount with respect to any State for

1	any fiscal year exceed the Federal share of such expendi-
2	tures in such State in the preceding fiscal year (exclusive
3	of any amounts reallotted to such State for such pre-
4	ceding fiscal year under subsection (c));
5	"(2) after the allotment pursuant to paragraph (1)
6	has been made, from the sums remaining (if any) not
7	in excess of \$50,000,000, the Secretary shall allot to
8	each State which has a service deficit (as defined in the
9	last sentence of this subsection) an amount which bears
10	the same ratio to such sums remaining as such deficit
11	bears to the total of the service deficits of all the States
12	having such deficits; and
13	"(3) after the allotment pursuant to paragraph
14	(2) has been made, from the sums remaining (if any),
<b>1</b> 5	the Secretary shall allot to each State an amount which
16	bears the same ratio to such sums remaining as the num-
17	ber of individuals receiving benefits under sections 2011
18	and 2102 in such State bears to the number of such
19	individuals in all the States.
20	As used in paragraph (2), the term 'service deficit', with
21	respect to any State, means the amount by which (i) the
22	average service expenditure (as defined in subsection (d))
23	per recipient of benefits under sections 2011 and 2102 in
24	such State is less than (ii) the average of the expenditure

for training and services under titles I, X, XIV and XVI

- 1 and part A of title IV in all the States (other than child care
- 2 and family planning services under such part) multiplied by
- 3 the number of recipients of such benefits in such State.
- 4 "(c) The amount of any allotment pursuant to subsec-
- 5 tion (b) for any fiscal year which the Secretary determines
- 6 will not be required for providing training and services de-
- 7 scribed in subsection (a) under part A of title IV or under
- 8 title XVI, shall be available for reallotment, for the same
- 9 purposes for which it was originally made available, from
- 10 time to time, on such dates as the Secretary may fix, to other
- 11 States which the Secretary determines have need in providing
- such training and services of amounts in excess of those pre-
- 13 viously allotted to them under subsection (b), giving par-
- 14 ticular consideration to the needs of States for reallotments
- 15 to prevent reduction or termination of any such services or
- 16 training which are being provided.
- "(d) For purposes of subsection (b)(2), the term 'av-
- 18 erage service expenditure' with respect to a State for any
- 19 fiscal year means the amount obtained by dividing (1) the
- Federal share of expenditures in such State in the preceding
- 21 fiscal year (exclusive of amounts reallotted to such State for
- <sup>22</sup> such preceding fiscal year under subsection (c)) for training
- and services under titles I, X, XIV, and XVI, and part A
- of title IV (other than child care and family planning serv-
- ices under such part), by (2) the number of individuals in the
- State receiving benefits under sections 2011 and 2102."

1	ADOPTION AND FOSTER CARE SERVICES UNDER CHILD-
2	WELFARE SERVICES PROGRAM
3	SEC. 513. Effective July 1, 1971, part B of title IV
4	of the Social Security Act is amended by adding at the end
5	thereof the following new section:
6	"ADOPTION AND FOSTER CARE SERVICES
7	"Sec. 427. (a) For purposes of this section—
8	"(1) the term 'foster care services', with respect to
9	any State, means—
10	"(A) payments for foster care (including
11	medical care not available under the State's plan ap-
12	proved under title XIX or under any other health
13	program within the State) of a child for whom a
14	public agency has responsibility, made to any
15	agency, institution, or person providing such care,
16	but only if such foster care meets standards pre-
17	scribed by the Secretary, and
18	"(B) services and administrative activities re-
19	lated to the foster care of children, such as finding,
20	evaluating, and licensing foster homes and institu-
21	tions, supervising children in foster homes and in-
22	stitutions, and providing services to enable a child
23	to remain in or return to his own home; and
24	"(2) the term 'adoption services' means—
25	"(A) services and administrative activities re-

lated to adoptions, including activities related to judicial proceedings, determinations of the amounts of the payments described in subparagraph (B), location of homes, and all activities related to placement, adoption, and post-adoption services, with respect to any child, and

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

"(B) payments (subject to such limitations as the Secretary may by regulation prescribe) to a person or persons adopting a child who is physically or mentally handicapped and who, for that reason, may be difficult to place for adoption, based on the financial ability of such person or persons to meet the medical and other remedial needs of such child.

"(b) In the case of any State which is eligible for payments under section 422, the Secretary shall, from the amounts allotted therefor, make payments to such State in an amount equal to 75 per centum of any expenditures for adoption services or foster care services.

"(c) There are authorized to be appropriated, in addition to sums appropriated for purposes of this section pursuant to section 421, for grants to States for adoption services and foster care services, the sum of \$150,000,000 for
the fiscal year ending June 30, 1972, the sum of
\$165,000,000 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1973,
the sum of \$180,000,000 for the fiscal year ending June 30,

1	1974,	the	sum	of	\$200,000,000	for	the	$\it fiscal$	year	ending
---	-------	-----	-----	----	---------------	-----	-----	--------------	------	--------

- $^2$  June 30, 1975, and the sum of \$220,000,000 for the fiscal
- 3 year ending June 30, 1976, and each fiscal year thereafter.
- 4 "(d) From the sum appropriated pursuant to sub-
- 5 section (c), for any fiscal year, there shall be allotted to
- 6 each State an amount which bears the same ratio to such
- 7 sum as the number of children under age 21 in such State
- 8 bears to the number of such children in all the States."
- 9 CONFORMING AMENDMENTS TO TITLE XVI AND PART A OF
- 10 TITLE IV OF THE SOCIAL SECURITY ACT
- 11 SEC. 514. (a) (1) Section 1601 of the Social Security
- 12 Act (as amended by section 302(b) of this Act) is amended—
- (A) by inserting "subject to section 1125" imme-
- 14 diately after "there is hereby authorized to be appropri-
- ated for each fiscal year" in the first sentence, and
- 16 (B) by striking out the second sentence.
- 17 (2) Section 1603(a) of such Act (as amended by sec-
- 18 tion 302(g) of this Act) is amended to read as follows:
- "(a) From the sums appropriated therefor, the Secretary
- 20 shall pay to each State which has a plan approved under
- 21 this title, for each quarter, an amount equal to 75 per centum
- 22 of the total amounts expended during such quarter (subject
- 23 to section 1125) as found necessary by the Secretary of
- 24 Health, Education, and Welfare for the proper and efficient
- 25 administration of the plan for the purpose of providing serv-

1 ices to the aged, blind, or disabled. Except to the extent speci-

2 fied by the Secretary, such services shall include only—

"(1) services provided by the staff of the State agency, or of the local agency administering the State plan in the political subdivision: Provided, That no funds authorized under this title shall be available for services defined as vocational rehabilitation services under the Vocational Rehabilitation Act (A) which are available to individuals in need of them under programs for their rehabilitation carried on under a State plan approved under such Act, or (B) which the State agency or agencies administering or supervising the administration of the State plan approved under such Act are able and willing to provide if reimbursed for the cost thereof pursuant to agreement under paragraph (2), if provided by such staff, and

"(2) subject to limitations prescribed by the Secretary, services which in the judgment of the State agency cannot be as economically or as effectively provided by the staff of such State or local agency and are not otherwise reasonably available to individuals in need of them, and which are provided, pursuant to agreement with the State agency, by the State health authority or the State agency or agencies administering or supervising the administration of the State plan for vocational rehabilita-

1	tion services approved under the Vocational Rehabilita-
2	tion Act or by any other State agency which the Secretary
3	may determine to be appropriate (whether provided by
4	its staff or by contract with public (local) or nonprofit
5	private agencies);
6	except that services described in clause (B) of paragraph
7	(1) may be provided only pursuant to agreement with such
8	State agency or agencies administering or supervising the
9	administration of the State plan for vocational rehabilitation
10	services so approved."
11	(b)(1) Section 401 of such Act (as amended by section
12	402(c) of this Act) is amended—
13	(A) by inserting "(subject to section 1125)" imme-
14	diately after "there is hereby authorized to be appro-
15	priated for each fiscal year" in the first sentence, and
16	(B) by striking out the second sentence.
17	(2) Section 402(a)(8) of such Act (as amended by
18	sections 524(a) and 402(d)(1)(I) of this Act, and re-
19	designated by section 402(d)(2) of this Act) is amended by
20	striking out "family services" and inserting in lieu thereof
21	"services for any individual receiving assistance to needy
22	families with children".
23	(3) Section 403(a)(2) of such Act (as amended by

section 402(g) of this Act) is amended—

(A) by inserting "(subject to section 1125)" imme-

**24** 

1	diately after "an amount equal to the following propor
2	tions of the total amounts expended during such quarter"
3	in the portion of such paragraph which precedes sub-
4	paragraph(A),
5	(B) by striking out "any of the services described
6	in clauses (8) and (9) of section 402(a)" and inserting
7	in lieu thereof "any of the services described in section
8	405(d)" in clauses (i) and (ii) in subparagraph (A),
9	and
10	(C) by striking out "child-welfare services, family
11	planning services, and family services" in the matter fol-
12	lowing subparagraph (D) and inserting in lieu thereof
13	"services under the plan".
14	PART C-PUBLIC ASSISTANCE AMENDMENTS EFFECTIVE
15	IMMEDIATELY
16	ADDITIONAL REMEDIES FOR STATE NONCOMPLIANCE
17	SEc. 521. (a) Section 1116 of the Social Security Act
18	is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new
19	subsections:
20	"(e) In any case in which the Secretary determines
21	that a State has failed in a substantial number of cases—
22	"(1) to make payments as required by title I, X,
23	XIV, XVI, or XIX or part A of title IV, or
24	"(2) to make payments in the amount prescribed
25	under the appropriate State plan (which complies with
<b>26</b>	the conditions for approval under such title or part),

he may require the State to make retroactive payment to all 1 persons affected by such failure in order to assure, to the 2 maximum extent possible, that with respect to each such 3 person the sum of the aid or assistance actually received dur-4 ing the period in which such failure occurred plus such retro-5 active payments are equal to the amount of aid or assistance 6 he would have received for such period had such failure not 7 occurred, but such payments shall not be required with re-8 spect to any period prior to the date of the enactment of the 9 Social Security Amendments of 1971. Expenditures for such 10 retroactive payments shall be considered to have been made 11 under the State plan approved under such title or part for 12 purposes of determining the amount of the Federal payment 13 with respect to such plan. In any case in which the Secretary 14 does add such a requirement for retroactive payments pursu-15 ant to the preceding provisions of this subsection, the State 16 shall disregard the amount of such retroactive payments for 17 purposes of determining the amount of aid or assistance pay-18 able to such persons after such failure has been corrected. 19 The Secretary may prescribe such methods of administration 20 as he finds necessary to carry out a requirement for retro-21 active payments imposed under this subsection and such 22 requirement and methods shall be deemed necessary for the 23 proper and efficient operation of the plan under which such 24 failure occurred. 25

<sup>&</sup>quot;(f) In any case in which the Secretary has found, in

accordance with the procedures of title I, X, XIV, XVI, or XIX, or part A of title IV, that in the administration of the  $\mathbf{2}$ 3 State plan approved under such title or part there is a fail-4 ure to comply substantially with any provision which is re-5 quired by such title or part to be included in such plan, the 6 Secretary may prescribe such methods of administration as he finds appropriate to correct such administrative noncom-8 pliance within a reasonable period of time and, upon obtain-9 ing assurances satisfactory to him that such methods will 10 be undertaken (including a timetable for implementation 11 of such methods which specifies a date by which there will 12 no longer exist such administrative noncompliance), he may, 13 instead of withholding payments under the title or part with 14 respect to which such failure occurred, continue to make 15 payments (in accordance with such title or part) to such 16 State with respect to expenditures under such plan (for so 17 long as he remains satisfied that the timetable is being sub-18 stantially followed). 19 "(g) If the Secretary has reason to believe that a State 20 plan which he has approved under title I, X, XIV, XVI, 21 or XIX, or part A of title IV, no longer complies with all 22 requirements of such title or part, or that in the administra-23 tion of such plan there is a failure to comply substantially 24 with any such requirements, the Secretary may (in addi-25 tion to or instead of withholding payments under such title

- 1 or part) request the Attorney General to bring suit to en-
- 2 force such requirements."
- 3 (b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall take
- 4 effect on the date of the enactment of this Act.
- 5 STATEWIDENESS NOT REQUIRED FOR SERVICES
- 6 SEC. 522. (a) Section 2(a) of the Social Security Act
- 7 is amended by inserting "except to the extent permitted by
- 8 the Secretary with respect to services," before "provide" at the
- 9 beginning of paragraph (1).
- 10 (b) Section 402(a) of such Act is amended by insert-
- 11 ing "except to the extent permitted by the Secretary with
- 12 respect to services," before "provide" at the beginning of
- 13 clause (1).
- 14 (c) Section 1002(a) of such Act is amended by insert-
- 15 ing "except to the extent permitted by the Secretary with
- 16 respect to services," before "provide" at the beginning of
- 17 clause (1).
- 18 (d) Section 1402(a) of such Act is amended by insert-
- 19 ing "except to the extent permitted by the Secretary with
- 20 respect to services," before "provide" at the beginning of
- 21 clause (1).
- 22 (e) Section 1602(a) of such Act is amended by in-
- 23 serting "except to the extent permitted by the Secretary with
- 24 respect to services," before "provide" at the beginning of
- 25 paragraph (1).

1	(f) The amendments made by this section shall take
2	effect on the date of the enactment of this Act.
3	OPTIONAL MODIFICATION IN DISREGARDING OF INCOME
4	UNDER STATE PLANS FOR AID TO FAMILIES WITH DE-
5	PENDENT CHILDREN
6	SEC. 523. (a) Section 402(a)(8) of the Social Se-
7	curity Act is amended by inserting after "the State agency"
8	where it first appears the following: "(subject to subsection
9	(d))".
10	(b) Section 402 of such Act is further amended by add-
1	ing at the end thereof the following new subsection:
12	"(d) Any State may modify its State plan approved
13	under this section—
14	"(1) to provide—
15	"(A) that, for purposes of determining the
16	amount of payment, expenses attributable to the
17	earning of income shall not be taken into considera-
18	tion as otherwise required by subsection (a)(7),
19	and
20	"(B) that the State agency shall with respect
21	to any month disregard (in lieu of the amount such
22	agency is otherwise required to disregard under
23	clause (A)(ii) of subsection (a)(8), in the case)
24	of earned income of a dependent child not included
25	under clause (A)(i) of such subsection, a relative

receiving such aid, and any other individual (living

1	in the same home as such relative and child) whose
2	needs are taken into account in making the deter-
3	mination under subsection (a)(7), the first \$60 of
4	the total of such earned income for such month plus
5	one-third of the remainder of such income for such
6	month (subject to the parenthetical exception in such
7	clause (A)(ii)), plus any expenses incurred by
8	members of the family for child care with respect
9	to such dependent child and any other dependent
10	children in the family; or
11	"(2) to provide that the total amount which may
12	be disregarded under clauses (A)(ii) and (B) of sub-
13	section (a)(8), and under the provision of subsection
14	(a)(7) insofar as it relates to expenses of child care,
15	shall not exceed the lesser of—
16	"(A) \$2,000 plus \$200 for each member of
17	the family in excess of four, or
18	"(B) \$3,000,
19	or a proportionately smaller amount for periods shorter
20	than a year; or
21	"(3) to include in such plan both the provisions
22	specified in paragraph (1) and the provision specified
23	in paragraph (2)."
24	(c) The amendments made by this section shall take
25	effect on the date of the enactment of this Act.

1	INDIVIDUAL PROGRAMS FOR FAMILY SERVICES NOT
2	REQUIRED
3	SEC. 524. (a) Section 402(a)(14) of the Social Secu
4	rity Act is amended—
5	(1) by striking out "a program for";
6	(2) by striking out "for each child and relative
7	who receives aid to families with dependent children,
8	and each appropriate individual (living in the same
9	home as a relative and child whose needs are taken into
10	account in making the determination under clause (7))"
11	and inserting in lieu thereof "for children and relatives
12	receiving aid to families with dependent children and ap-
13	propriate individuals (living in the same home) whose
14	needs are taken into account in making the determination
15	under clause (7)"; and
16	(3) by striking out "such child, relative, and in-
17	dividual" each place it appears and inserting in lieu
18	thereof "such children, relatives, and individuals".
19	(b) The amendments made by subsection (a) shall take
<b>2</b> 0	effect on the date of the enactment of this Act, or, in the
21	case of any State, on such later date (not after July 1,
22	1972) as may be specified in the modification made in the
<b>2</b> 3	State's plan approved under section 402 of the Social Secu-
24	mitu A at to gammy out such amondments

1	ENFORCEMENT OF SUPPORT ORDERS AGAINST CERTAIN
2	SPOUSES OF PARENTS OF DEPENDENT CHILDREN
3	SEC. 525. (a) Section 402(a)(17) of the Social Secu-
4	rity Act is amended—
5	(1) by striking out "and" at the end of clause (i),
6	and
7	(2) by adding after clause (ii) the following new
8	clause:
9	"(iii) in the case of any parent (of a child re-
10	ferred to in clause (ii)) receiving such aid who has
11	been deserted or abandoned by his or her spouse, to
12	secure support for such parent from such spouse (or
13	from any other person legally liable for such sup-
14	port), utilizing any reciprocal arrangements adopted
15	with other States to obtain or enforce court orders
16	for support, and".
17	(b) Section 402(a)(21) of such Act is amended—
18	(1) by striking out "each parent" in clause (A)
19	and inserting in lieu thereof "each person who is the
20	parent'',
21	(2) by inserting "or is the spouse of the parent of
22	such a child or children" after "under the State plan" in
23	clause (A).

1	(3) by inserting "or such parent" after "such child
2	or children" in clause (A)(i), and
3	(4) by striking out "such parent" each place it ap-
4	pears in clause (B) and inserting in lieu thereof "such
5	person".
6	(c) Section 402(a)(22) of such Act is amended—
7	(1) by striking out "a parent" each place it appears
8	and inserting in lieu thereof "a person",
9	(2) by striking out "a child or children of such
10	parent" each place it appears and inserting in lieu thereof
11	"the spouse or a child or children of such person", and
12	(3) by striking out "against such parent" and in-
13	serting in lieu thereof "against such person".
1.4	(d) The amendments made by this section shall take
15	effect on the date of the enactment of this Act, or, in the case
16	of any State, on such later date (not after July 1, 1972) as
17	may be specified in the modification made in the State's plan
18	approved under section 402 of the Social Security Act to
19	carry out such amendments.
20	SEPARATION OF SOCIAL SERVICES AND CASH ASSISTANCE
21	PAYMENTS
22	SEC. 526. Title XI of the Social Security Act (as
23	amended by sections 221(a), 241, and 505 of this Act)
24	is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new

section:

T	"SEPARATION OF SOCIAL SERVICES AND CASH ASSISTANCE
2	PAYMENTS
3	"SEC. 1125. Each State, in the administration of its
4	State plans approved under section 2, 402, 1002, 1402, or
5	1602, shall develop and submit to the Secretary on or be-
6	fore January 1, 1972, a proposal (1) providing that, to the
7	extent services under any such State plan are furnished by the
8	staff of the State or local agency administering such plan in
9	any political subdivision of such State, such staff will be
10	located, by July 1, 1972, in organizational units (up to such
11	organizational levels as the Secretary may prescribe) which
12	are separate and distinct from the units within such agencies
13	responsible for determining eligibility for any form of cash
14	assistance paid on a regularly recurring basis or for per-
15	forming any functions directly related thereto, but subject
16	to any exceptions which, in accordance with standards pre-
17	scribed in regulations, the Secretary may permit when he
18	deems it necessary in order to ensure the efficient adminis-
19	tration of such plan, and (2) indicating the steps to be taken
20	and the methods to be followed in carrying out the proposal."
21	INCREASE IN REIMBURSEMENT TO STATES FOR COSTS OF
22	ESTABLISHING PATERNITY AND LOCATING AND SECUR-
23	ING SUPPORT FROM PARENTS
24	SEC. 527. (a) Section $403(a)(3)(A)$ of the Social
25	Security Act is amended by striking out "or" at the end of

1	clause (ii), by striking out "; plus" at the end of clause (iii)
2	and inserting in lieu thereof ", or", and by inserting after
3	clause (iii) the following new clause:
4	"(iv) the cost of carrying out the require-
5	ments of clauses (17), (18), (21), and (22)
6	of section 402(a); plus".
7	(b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall take
8	effect on the date of the enactment of this Act.
9	REDUCTION OF REQUIRED STATE SHARE UNDER
10	EXISTING WORK INCENTIVE PROGRAM
11	SEC. 528. (a) Section 402(a)(19)(C) of the Social
12	Security Act is amended by striking out "20 per centum"
13	and inserting in lieu thereof "10 per centum".
14	(b) Section 435(a) of such Act is amended by striking
<b>1</b> 5	out "80 per centum" and inserting in lieu thereof "90 per
16	centum".
17	(c) Section 443 of such Act is amended by striking out
18	"20 per centum" each place it appears and inserting in
19	lieu thereof "10 per centum".
20	(d) The amendments made by this section shall apply
21	with respect to costs incurred on and after July 1, 1971.
22	PAYMENT UNDER AFDC PROGRAM FOR NONRECURRING
23	SPECIAL NEEDS
24	Sec. 529. (a) Section 406(b) of the Social Security

Act is amended by striking out "and includes" and inserting

1	in lieu thereof "and, in the case of nonrecurring special
2	needs (as determined in accordance with regulations pre-
3	scribed by the Secretary) which involve a cost of \$50 or
4	more, includes a payment with respect to a dependent child
5	(and the relative with whom he is living) which is made
6	directly to the person furnishing the food, living accom-
7	modations, or other goods, services, or items necessary to meet
8	such needs. Such term also includes".
9	(b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall take
10	effect on the date of the enactment of this Act.
11	PART D-LIBERALIZATION OF INCOME TAX TREATMENT
<b>12</b>	OF CHILD CARE EXPENSES AND RETIREMENT
13	Income
14	LIBERALIZATION OF CHILD CARE DEDUCTION
15	Increase in Dollar Limits
16	SEC. 531. (a) Paragraph (1) of section 214(b) of
17	the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (relating to expenses for
18	care of certain dependents) is amended to read as follows:
19	"(1) DOLLAR LIMIT.—
20	"(A) Except as provided in subparagraphs
21	(B) and (C), the deduction under subsection (a)
22	shall not exceed \$750 for any taxable year.
23	"(B) The \$750 limit of subparagraph (A)
24	shall be increased (to an amount not above \$1,125)
25	by the amount of expenses incurred by the taxpayer

1	for any period during which the taxpayer had 2
2	dependents.
3	"(C) The dollar limits of subparagraphs (A)
4	and (B) shall be increased (to an amount not above
5	\$1,500) by the amount of expenses incurred by the
6	taxpayer for any period during which the taxpayer
7	had 3 or more dependents."
8	Liberalization of Income Test for Working Wives and
9	Husbands With Incapacitated Wives
10	(b) Paragraph (2)(B) of section 214(b) of such Code
11	is amended by striking out "\$6,000" and inserting in lieu
12	thereof "\$12,000".
<b>1</b> 3	$E {\it ffective}  Date$
14	(c) The amendments made by this section shall apply
15	to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1971.
16	LIBERALIZATION OF RETIREMENT INCOME CREDIT
17	$In \ \ General$
18	Sec. 532. (a) Section 37 of the Internal Revenue Code
19	of 1954 (relating to retirement income) is amended to read
20	as follows:
21	"SEC. 37. CREDIT FOR THE ELDERLY.
22	"(a) GENERAL RULE.—In the case of an individual—
23	"(1) who has attained the age of 65 before the
24	close of the taxable year, or
<b>25</b>	"(2) who has not attained the age of 65 before the

1	close of the taxable year but who has public retirement
2	system pension income for the taxable year,
3	there shall be allowed as a credit against the tax imposed
4	by this chapter for the taxable year an amount equal to 15
5	percent of such individual's section 37 amount for such tax-
6	able year.
7	"(b) Section 37 Amount.—For purposes of subsec-
8	tion (a)—
9	"(1) In GENERAL.—An individual's section 37
0	amount for the taxable year is the applicable initial
11	amount determined under paragraph (2), reduced as
12	provided in paragraph (3).
13	"(2) Initial amount.—The initial amount is—
14	"(A) \$2,500 in the case of a single individual,
15	"(B) \$2,500 in the case of a joint return where
16	only one spouse is eligible for the credit under this
17	section,
18	"(C) \$3,750 in the case of a joint return where
19	both spouses are eligible for the credit under this
20	section,or
21	"(D) \$1,875 in the case of a married individual
22	filing a separate return.
23	"(3) REDUCTION.—Except as provided in para-
24	graphs (4) and (5)(B), the reduction under this para-
25	graph in the case of any individual is-

1	"(A) any amount received by such individual
2	as a pension or annuity—
3	"(i) under title II of the Social Security
4	Act,
5	"(ii) under the Railroad Retirement Act
6	of 1935 or 1937, or
7	"(iii) otherwise excluded from gross in-
8	$come,\ plus$
9	"(B) in the case of any individual who has
10	not attained age 72 before the close of the taxable
11	year—
12	"(i) except as provided in clause (ii), one-
13	half the amount of earned income received by
14	such individual in the taxable year in excess of
15	\$2,000, or
16	"(ii) if such individual has not attained
17	age 62 before the close of the taxable year, and
18	if such individual (or his spouse under age 62)
19	is eligible for a credit by reason of subsection
20	(a)(2), any amount of earned income in excess
21	of \$1,000 received by such individual in the
22	$taxable\ year.$
23	"(4) Special Rules for determining the
24	REDUCTION PROVIDED IN PARAGRAPH (3).—
25	"(A) Joint returns.—In the case of a joint

1	return, the reduction under paragraph (3) shall be
2	the aggregate of the amounts resulting from applying
3	paragraph (3) separately to each spouse.
4	"(B) SEPARATE RETURNS OF MARRIED IN-
5	DIVIDUALS.—In the case of a separate return of a
6	married individual, paragraph (3)(B)(i) shall
7	be applied by substituting '\$1,000' for '\$2,000',
8	and paragraph (3)(B)(ii) shall be applied by
9	substituting '\$500' for '\$1,000'.
10	"(C) No reduction for certain amounts
11	EXCLUDED FROM GROSS INCOME.—No reduction
12	shall be made under paragraph $(3)(A)$ for any
13	amount excluded from gross income under section
14	72 (relating to annuities), 101 (relating to life
15	insurance proceeds), 104 (relating to compensation
16	for injuries or sickness), 105 (relating to amounts
17	received under accident and health plans), 402
18	(relating to taxability of beneficiary of employees'
19	trust), or 403 (relating to taxation of employee
20	annuities).
21	"(5) Special rules for individuals eligible
22	UNDER SUBSECTION (a)(2).—
23	"(A) Except as provided in subparagraph $(B)$ ,
24	the section 37 amount of an individual who is eligi-
25	ble for a credit by reason of subsection (a)(2)

1	shall not exceed such individual's public retirement
2	system pension income for the taxable year.
3	"(B) In the case of a joint return where one
4	spouse is eligible by reason of subsection (a)(1) and
5	the other spouse is eligible by reason of subsection
6	(a)(2), subparagraph (A) shall not apply but
7	there shall be an additional reduction under para-
8	graph (3) in an amount equal to the excess (if any)
9	of \$1,250 over the amount of the public retirement
10	system pension income of the spouse who is eligible
11	by reason of subsection (a)(2).
12	"(c) Definitions and Special Rules.—For pur-
13	poses of this section—
14	"(1) EARNED INCOME.—The term 'earned income'
<b>15</b>	has the meaning assigned to such term in section 911(b),
16	except that such term does not include any amount re-
17	ceived as a pension or annuity. The determination of
18	whether earned income is the earned income of the hus-
19	band or the earned income of the wife shall be made with-
20	out regard to community property laws.
21	"(2) MARITAL STATUS.—Marital status shall be
22	determined under section 153.
23	"(3) Joint Return.—The term 'joint return'
24	means the joint return of a husband and wife made under
<b>25</b>	section 6019

section 6013.

1	"(4) Public retirement system pension in-
2	COME.—An individual's public retirement system pension
3	income for the taxable year is his income from pensions
4	and annuities under a public retirement system for per-
5	sonal services performed by him or his spouse, to the ex-
6	tent included in gross income without reference to this
7	section, but only to the extent such income does not rep-
8	resent compensation for personal services rendered dur-
9	ing the taxable year. The amount of such income taken
10	into account with respect to any individual for any tax-
11	able year shall not exceed \$2,500. For purposes of this
12	paragraph, the term 'public retirement system' means
13	a pension, annuity, retirement, or similar fund or system
14	established by the United States, a State, a possession of
<b>1</b> 5	the United States, any political subdivision of any of the
16	foregoing, or the District of Columbia.
17	"(d) Nonresident Alien Ineligible for Credit.—
18	No credit shall be allowed under this section to any non-
19	resident alien."
<b>2</b> 0	Technical Amendments
21	(b)(1) Section 904 of the Internal Revenue Code of
22	1954 (relating to limitation on foreign tax credit) is amended
<b>2</b> 3	by redesignating subsection (g) as subsection (h), and by
24	inserting after subsection (f) the following new subsection.
25	"(g) Coordination With Credit for the El-

- DERLY.—In the case of an individual, for purposes of sub-1 section (a) the tax against which the credit is taken is such tax reduced by the amount of the credit (if any) for the taxable year allowable under section 37 (relating to credit 5 for the elderly)." 6 (2) Section 6014 (a) of such Code (relating to tax not 7 computed by taxpayer) is amended by striking out the last 8 sentence thereof. 9 (3) Section 6014(b) of such Code is amended— 10 (A) by striking out paragraph (4). 11 (B) by redesignating paragraph (5) as paragraph 12 (4), and 13 (C) by inserting "or" at the end of paragraph (3). 14 (4) Sections 46(a)(3)(C), 56(a)(2)(A)(ii), and 15 56(c)(1)(B) of such Code are each amended by striking 16 out "retirement income" and inserting in lieu thereof "credit 17 for the elderly". 18 (5) The table of sections for subpart A of part IV of 19 subchapter A of chapter 1 of such Code is amended by strik-20 ing out the item relating to section 37 and inserting in lieu 21 thereof the following: "Sec. 37. Credit for the elderly."
- 22 Effective Date
- 23 (c) The amendments made by this section shall apply 24 to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1971.

1	PART E-MISCELLANEOUS CONFORMING AMENDMENTS
2	CONFORMING AMENDMENT TO SECTION 228(d)
3	SEC. 541. Section 228(d)(1) of the Social Security
4	Act is amended by striking out "receives aid or assistance
5	in the form of money payments in such month under a State
6	plan approved under title I, X, XIV, or XVI, or part A
7	of title IV" and inserting in lieu thereof "receives payments
8	with respect to such month pursuant to title XX or part A
9	or part B of title XXI".
10	CONFORMING AMENDMENTS TO TITLE XI
11	SEC. 542. Title XI of the Social Security Act is
12	amended—
13	(1)(A) by striking out "I,", "X,", and "XIV,"
14	in section 1101(a)(1),
15	(B) by striking out "and XIX" in such section
16	and inserting in lieu thereof "XIX, XX, and XXI",
17	and
18	(C) by inserting "(and when used in part C or
19	D of title XXI)" after "requires" in section 1101
20	(a)(6);
21	(2) by striking out "I, X, XIV, XVI," in section
22	1106(c)(1)(A) and inserting in lieu thereof "XVI",
23	(3)(A) by striking out "and each fiscal year there-
24	after in paragraphs $(1)(E)$ , $(2)(E)$ , and $(3)(E)$
25	of section 1108(a), and

1	(B) by striking out section 1108(b);
2	(4) by striking out the text of section 1109 and
3	inserting in lieu thereof the following:
4	"Sec. 1109. Any amount which is disregarded in de-
5	termining the eligibility for and amount of payments to any
6	individual pursuant to title XX or any family pursuant to
7	part A or B of title XXI, shall not be taken into consider-
8	ation in determining the eligibility for or amount of such
9	payments to any other individual or family under such title
10	XX of part A or B of title XXI.";
11	(5) by striking out "title I, X, XIV, and XVI, and
12	part A of title IV" in section 1111 and inserting in lieu
13	thereof "title $XX$ or part $A$ or $B$ of title $XXI$ ";
14	(6)(A) by striking out "I, X, XIV, XVI," in the
15	matter preceding clause (a) in section 1115. and insert-
16	ing in lieu thereof "XVI",
17	(B) by striking out "of section 2, 402, 1002, 1402,
18	1602, or 1902" in clause (a) of such section and insert-
19	ing in lieu thereof "of section 402, 1602, or 1902,", and
20	(C) by striking out "under section 3, 403, 1003,
21	1403, 1603, or 1903" in clause (b) of such section and
22	inserting in lieu thereof "under section 403, 1603, or
23	1903,";
24	(7)(A) by striking out "I X XIV YVI" in out

1	sections (a)(1), (b), and (d) of section 1110 and in-
2	serting in lieu thereof "XVI",
3	(B) by striking out "under section 4, 404, 1004,
4	1404, 1604," in subsection (a)(3) of such section and
5	inserting in lieu thereof "under section 404, 1604,",
6	(C) by striking out "I, X, XIV, XVI, or XIX or
7	part A of title IV" in subsection (e) of such section
8	(as added by section 521 of this Act) and inserting in
9	lieu thereof "XIX",
10	(D) by striking out "I, X, XIV, XVI," in sub-
11	section (f) of such section (as so added) and inserting
12	in lieu thereof "XVI", and
13	(E) by striking out "I, X, XIV, XVI," in sub-
14	section (g) of such section (as so added) and inserting
15	in lieu thereof "XVI";
16	(8) by repealing section 1118;
17	(9)(A) by striking out "aid or assistance, other
18	than medical assistance to the aged, under a State plan
19	approved under title I, X, XIV, or XVI, or part A of
20	title IV" in section 1119 and inserting in lieu thereof
21	"services under a State plan approved under part A of
22	title IV or under title XVI", and
23	(B) by striking out "under section 3(a), 403(a),
<b>24</b>	1003(a), 1403(a), or 1603(a)" in such section and

1	inserting in lieu thereof "under section 403(a) or
2	1603(a)";
3	(10) by repealing section 1125 (as added by section
4	526 of this Act); and
5	(11) effective July 1, 1973—
6	(A) by striking out "services under titles I, X,
7	XIV, and XVI," in subsection (b)(1) of section
8	1125 (as added by section 512 of this Act) and in-
9	serting in lieu thereof "services under title XVI",
10	(B) by striking out "under such titles" in such
11	subsection (b)(1) and inserting in lieu thereof
12	"under such title",
13	(C) by striking out "services under titles I, X,
14	XIV, and XVI" in the last sentence of subsection
15	(b) of such section (as so added) and inserting in
16	lieu thereof "services under title XVI", and
17.	(D) by striking out "services under titles I, X,
18	XIV, and XVI," in subsection (d) of such section
19	(as so added) and inserting in lieu thereof "services
20	under title XVI".
21	CONFORMING AMENDMENTS TO TITLE XVIII
22	SEC. 543. (a) Section 1843 of the Social Security Act
23	is amended by striking out subsections (a) and (b) and in-
24	serting in lieu thereof the following:
25	"(a) Subject to section 1902(e), the Secretary at the

- 1 request of any State shall, notwithstanding the repeal of
- 2 titles I, X, and XIV by section 303 of the Social Security
- 3 Amendments of 1971 and the amendments made to title XVI
- 4 and part A of title IV by sections 302 and 402 of such
- 5 Amendments, continue in effect the agreement entered into
- 6 under this section with such State insofar as it includes indi-
- 7 viduals who are eligible to receive benefits under title XX or
- 8 XXI or are otherwise eligible to receive medical assistance
- 9 under the plan of such State approved under title XIX.
- 10 "(b) The provisions of subsection (h)(2) of this sec-
- 11 tion as in effect before the effective date of the repeal and
- 12 amendments referred to in subsection (a) shall continue to
- 13 apply with respect to the individuals included in any such
- 14 agreement after such date."
- 15 (b) Section 1843(c) of such Act is amended by strik-
- 16 ing out the semicolon and all that follows and inserting in
- 17 lieu thereof a period.
- (c) Section 1843(d)(3) of such Act is amended to
- 19 read as follows:
- 20 "(3) his coverage period attributable to the agree-
- 21 ment with the State under this section shall end on the
- 22 last day of any month in which he is determined by the
- 23 State agency to have become ineligible for medical
- 24 assistance."
- 25 (d) Section 1843(f) of such Act is amended—

1	(1) by striking out "receiving money payments
2	under the plan of a State approved under title I, X,
3	XIV, or XVI or part A of title IV, or";
4	(2) by striking out "if the agreement entered into
5	under this section so provides,";
6	(3) by striking out "I, XVI, or"; and
7	(4) by striking out "individuals receiving money
8	payments under plans of the State approved under titles
9	I, X, XIV, and XVI, and part A of title IV, and".
10	(e) Section 1843 of such Act is further amended by
11	striking out subsections (g) and (h).
12	CONFORMING AMENDMENTS TO TITLE XIX
13	SEC. 544. Title XIX of the Social Security Act is
14	amended—
15	(1) by striking out "families with dependent chil-
16	dren" in clause (1) of the first sentence of section 1901
17	and inserting in lieu thereof "needy families with chil-
18	dren", and by striking out "permanently and totally"
19	in such clause;
20	(2) by striking out ", except that the determina-
21	tion of eligibility for medical assistance under the plan
<sup>^</sup> 22	shall be made by the State or local agency administering
23	the State plan approved under title I or XVI (insofar
<b>24</b>	as it relates to the aged)" in section 1902(a)(5):

1	(3) by striking out "effective July 1, 1969," in
2	section 1902(a)(11)(B);
3	(4) by striking out section 1902(a)(13)(B) and
4	inserting in lieu thereof the following:
5	"(B) in the case of individuals described in para-
6	graph (10) with respect to whom medical assistance
7	must be made available, for the inclusion of at least the
8	care and services listed in clauses (1) through (5) of
9	section 1905(a), and";
10	(5)(A) by striking out "receiving aid or assistance
11	under a State plan approved under title I, X, XIV, or
12	XVI, or part A of title IV, or who meet the income and
13	resources requirement of the one of such State plans
14	which is appropriate" in the matter in section 1902(a)
15	(14)(A) (as amended by section 208(a) of this Act)
16	which precedes clause (i) and inserting in lieu thereof
17	"receiving assistance to needy families with children as
18	defined in section 405(b) or assistance for the aged,
19	blind, and disabled under title XX, or who meet the in-
20	come and resources requirements for such assistance"
21	and
22	(B) by striking out "who are not receiving aid or
23	assistance under any such State plan and who do no
24	meet the income and resources requirements of the one

of such State plans which is appropriate" in the matter

1	in section 1902(a)(14)(B) which precedes clause (i)
2	and inserting in lieu thereof "who are not receiving
3	assistance to needy families with children as defined
4	in section 405(b) or assistance for the aged, blind, and
5	disabled under title XX and who do not meet the in-
6	come and resources requirements for such assistance";
7	(6) by striking out "who are not receiving aid
8	or assistance under the State's plan approved under
9	title I, X, XIV, or XVI, or part A of title IV," in the
10	portion of section 1902(a)(17) which precedes clause
11	(A) and inserting in lieu thereof "other than those
12	described in paragraph (10) with respect to whom
13	medical assistance must be made available,", and
14	(D) by striking out "or is blind or permanently
15	and totally disabled" in clause (D) of such section;
16	(7) by striking out "or is blind or permanently and
17	totally disabled" in section 1902(a)(18);
18	(8) by striking out "section 3(a)(4)(A) (i) and
19	(ii) or section 1603 (a)(4)(A) (i) and (ii)" in sec-
20	tion 1902(a)(20)(C) and inserting in lieu thereof "sec-
21	tion 1603 (a) (1) (A) and (B)";
22	(9) by striking out "effective July 1, 1969," in
23	sections 1902(a)(24) and 1902(a)(26);
24	(10) by striking out "(after December 31, 1969)"

in section 1902(a)(28)(F)(i);

1	(11) by striking out the last sentence of section
2	1902(a);
3	(12) by striking out section 1902(b)(2) and in-
4	serting in lieu thereof the following:
5	"(2) any age requirement which excludes any in-
6	dividual who has not attained age 22 and is or would,
7	but for the provisions of section 2155(b)(2), be a mem-
8	ber of a family eligible for assistance to needy families
9	with children as defined in section 405(b) or be eligible
10	for foster care in accordance with section 406; or";
11	(13) by striking out section $1902(c)$ ;
12	(14)(A) by striking out "and section 1117" and
13	", beginning with the quarter commencing January 1,
14	1966" in the matter preceding clause (1) of section
15	1903(a), and
16	(B) by striking out "money payments under a State
17	plan approved under title I, X, XIV, or XVI, or part
18	A of title IV" in clause (1) of such section and insert-
19	ing in lieu thereof "assistance to needy families with
20	children as defined in section 405(b) or assistance for
21	the aged, blind, and disabled under title XX, or pay-
22	ments for foster care in accordance with section 406,";
23	(15) by striking out section $1903(c)$ ;
24	(16) effective July 1, 1973, by striking out "each
25	of the plans of such State approved under titles $I, X$ ,

1	XIV, $XVI$ , and $XIX''$ in section 1903(j)(2) (as
2	added by section 225 of this Act) and inserting in lieu
3	thereof "the State plan";
4	(17) by striking out "has been so changed that
5	it" in section 1904(1);
6	(18)(A) by striking out "not receiving aid or
7	assistance under the State's plan approved under title I,
8	X, XIV, or XVI, or part A of title IV, who are—"
9	in the matter preceding clause (i) in section 1905(a)
10	and inserting in lieu thereof "who are not receiving
11	assistance to needy families with children as defined in
12	section 405(b) or assistance for the aged, blind, and
13	disabled under title XX, or with respect to whom pay-
14	ments for foster care are not being made in accordance
15	with section 406, who are—",
16	(B) by striking out clause (ii) of such section and
17	inserting in lieu thereof the following:
18	"(ii) members of a family, as described in section
19	2155(a), except a family in which both parents of the
20	child or children are present, neither parent is incapaci-
21	tated, and the male parent is not unemployed,",
22	(C) by striking out clauses (iv) and (v) of such
23	section and inserting in lieu thereof the following:
24	"(iv) blind as defined in section 2014(a)(2),
25	"(v) disabled as defined in section 2014(a)(3),
26	or,

1	(D) by striking out "aid or assistance under State
2	plans approved under title I, X, XIV, or XVI" in
3	clause (vi) of such section and inserting in lieu thereof
4	"benefits under title XX", and
5	(F) by striking out "aid or assistance furnished
6	to such individual (under a State plan approved under
7	title I, X, XIV, or XVI), and such person is deter-
8	mined, under such a State plan," in the second sentence
9	of section 1905 (a) and inserting in lieu thereof "benefits
10	paid to such individual under title XX, and such person
11	is determined"; and
12	(19) by striking out the semicolon and everything
13	that follows in the second sentence of section 1905(b)
14	and inserting in lieu thereof a period.

Amend the title so as to read: "A bill to amend the Social Security Act to increase benefits and improve eligibility and computation methods under the OASDI program, to make improvements in the medicare, medicaid, and maternal and child health programs with emphasis on improvements in their operating effectiveness, to replace the existing Federal-State public assistance programs with a Federal program of adult assistance and a Federal program of benefits to low-income families with children with incentives and requirements for employment and training to improve the capacity for employment of members of such families, and for other purposes."

Union Calendar No. 86

92D CONGRESS 1st Session

# H. R. 1

[Report No. 92-231]

## A BILL

To amend the Social Security Act to provide increases in benefits, improve computation methods, and raise the earnings base under the OASDI program, to make improvements in the medicare, medicaid, and maternal and child health programs with emphasis on improvements in their operating effectiveness, to authorize a family assistance plan providing basic benefits to low-income families with children with incentives for employment and training to improve the capacity for employment of members of such families, to achieve more uniform treatment of recipients under the Federal-State public assistance programs and otherwise improve such programs, and for other purposes.

By Mr. Mills and Mr. Byrnes of Wisconsin

**JANUARY 22, 1971** 

Referred to the Committee on Ways and Means

MAY 26, 1971

Reported with amendments, committed to the Committee of the Whole House on the State of the Union, and ordered to be printed

	·	

Commissioner's Salletin SOCIAL SECURITY ADMINISTRATION

Number 114 May 21, 1971

#### SOCIAL SECURITY AMENDMENTS OF 1971

To Administrative, Supervisory, and Technical Employees

The Committee on Ways and Means has completed its consideration of H. R. l, the "Social Security Amendments of 1971," and has ordered the bill, as amended by the Committee, reported out. Action on the bill by the House of Representatives is expected in the first half of June. Enclosed are copies of a statement made by President Nixon on H. R. l and a Committee press release which summarizes the major provisions of the bill. Also enclosed are tables showing the effect of the benefit changes, including the 5 percent benefit increase, on average monthly family benefits and the progress of the cash benefit trust funds for calendar years 1971-1975.

H. R. 1 would provide a 5-percent across-the-board benefit increase, effective June 1972, and would increase the contribution and benefit base to \$10, 200 beginning in 1972. (The 5-percent benefit increase would also apply to special age-72 payments.) The bill contains the major cash benefits and Medicare provisions that were in the social security bill passed by the House, but not enacted, last year. These include modified provisions for automatically adjusting benefits to increases in prices and for automatically adjusting the contribution and benefit base and the retirement test exempt amount to increases in earnings levels; increased benefits for widows and widowers; an age-62 computation point for men; liberalization of the retirement test; and the several health cost effectiveness amendments to the Medicare program.

In its recent deliberations on the bill, the Committee added several other major provisions affecting cash benefits: a special minimum benefit for people who work for 15 or more years under social security; increased benefits for workers who delay retirement beyond age 65;

computation of benefits for certain married couples based on their combined earnings; a reduction in the waiting period for disability benefits from 6 months to 5 months; and, of course, the 5 percent benefit increase.

The Committee's bill also includes a number of new provisions in the Medicare area. The most significant of these is the extension of Medicare protection to the disabled. Other Medicare provisions that were not in the House-passed bill of last year include: a restriction on increases in the amount of the supplementary medical insurance premium so that each increase will be limited to the percentage by which benefits have been increased across-the-board since the premium was last increased; automatic enrollment (subject to individual opting out) for supplementary medical insurance for people entitled to hospital insurance; an increase in the supplementary medical insurance deductible from \$50 to \$60 per year; an increase in the lifetime reserve under hospital insurance from 60 days to 120 days; and coinsurance equal to one-eighth of the inpatient hospital deductible for each day of inpatient hospital coverage during a benefit period beginning with the 31st day and through the 60th day.

In order to pay the additional cost of the changes made by the Committee in the cash benefits and hospital insurance programs and to meet the existing actuarial deficit in the hospital insurance program, a new schedule of contribution rates is provided (and, as mentioned above, the contribution and benefit base would be increased to \$10,200 beginning in 1972). Under the new schedule, the combined OASDI and HI rate rises from 5.4 percent, each, for employees and employers in 1972 to 7.4 percent, each, in 1977 and after.

H. R. 1 also contains far-reaching provisions relating to the reform of the nation's public assistance programs. The Committee on Ways and Means has proposed three new Federal welfare programs incorporating the President's plans for welfare reform. One would be a national program to replace the existing Federal-State programs of aid to the aged, blind, and permanently and totally disabled. This program, which is described in some detail on pages 19-22 of the enclosed press release, would be administered by the Social Security Administration.

The other two new Federal programs would replace the present program of aid to families with dependent children. One, the Family Assistance Program, would provide assistance payments to needy families with children but with no employable family member. The other, the Opportunities for Families Program, would provide payments for families in

which at least one member is employable and would aim to move the employable members of these families toward employment and economic independence. The Department of Labor would administer the Opportunities for Families Program, and a new agency in the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare would administer the Family Assistance Program and would make the cash payments under both programs.

Robert M. Ball Commissioner

**Enclosures** 

### Office of the White House Press Secretary

#### THE WHITE HOUSE

#### STATEMENT BY THE PRESIDENT

The House Ways and Means Committee has taken a momentous step in approving H.R. 1. This bill, with its important symbolic designation as the first order of business of the 92nd Congress, represents an important landmark in the history of both social security and public welfare reform. As reported by the Committee, under the responsible leadership of Chairman Wilbur Mills and Congressman John Byrnes, this bill represents the finest kind of cooperation between this administration and the Congress.

- H.R. 1 embodies the essential principles advanced in my welfare reform proposals of August 1969. It provides:
  - -- A requirement that assistance recipients who are employable must register for work or training as a condition to receiving benefits.
  - --A basic payment of \$130 per month for the adult assistance programs which go to the needy aged, to the blind, and to the disabled, increasing to \$150 per month after two years. These programs would be administered by the national government through the Social Security Administration, but would be funded separately from the OASDI social insurance program.
  - --A financing plan which eases the pressure of mounting welfare costs on State budgets and the pressure for higher local taxes.
  - --Coverage of the working poor to end the penalties for work in the present welfare system.
  - -- A substantial program to provide increased child care and job training opportunities in a way which ensures that work and training opportunities are related to the recipients' needs.
  - --A basic floor of dignity for every low-income family with children. It establishes a payment standard of \$2400 for a family of 4, while eliminating the cumbersome and restrictive food stamp program, replacing it with cash payments.

--A new, unified administrative structure, under the Labor Department, for dealing more effectively with the problems of those family assistance recipients who are employable. Similarly the Department of Health, Education and Welfare would administer programs for those not employable in a manner best suited to their needs.

I believe very strongly that work—for those who are able to perform it—is essential to a person's dignity and self-respect. H.R. I builds on this principle. In addition to the work and registration requirement for employable recipients, H.R. I provides strong encouragements for welfare recipients to become self-supporting in the following ways:

- --200,000 new public service jobs to provide valuable work experience to prepare recipients for regular jobs. This administration urged the adoption of such a provision last February. It is the correct approach to public service employment.
- -Child care for an additional 450,000 children to enable their mothers to take work and contribute to their support when appropriate.
- -- Expanded training programs for an additional 225,000 persons.
- --A "disregard" provision which would allow the first \$720 per year of earned income in the determination of welfare payments, thus defraying the initial cost of going to work. As earnings rise toward limits tailored to family size and income, the bill also allows recipients to retain some of their added income without a commensurate loss of assistance payments. It eliminates the old penalty for going back to work.

As I have said often during the past two years, our present welfare system is a hopeless failure. We can no longer tolerate a system that penalizes those who work, fails to control costs and coverage, and lacks the necessary incentives to encourage those who are able to work to go to work. Taxpayers and recipients alike demand a change. Welfare reform has been one of my highest priorities since the earliest days of my Presidency.

This Congress has the opportunity to enact the most fundamental reform of the welfare system since its inception in the dark days of the Great Depression of the 30's.

I earnestly hope that the House of Representatives and the Senate will follow the lead of the Committee on Ways and Means and move promptly to enact this bill into law.

Much of the discussion over H.R. I has concerned its welfare provisions. But this important bill also includes historic reforms in the social security system, the program which undergirds the income of millions of older Americans. H.R. I includes:

- --Automatic adjustment provisions which will allow basic payments to keep pace with the cost of living, thus protecting our older citizens against the ravages of inflation. This has long been a goal which I have endorsed.
- --Increased benefits for widows and widowers, eliminating an inequity which now creates a particular hardship on some of our poorer citizens.
- --Liberalization of the retirement work-income test, removing once and for all the present confiscatory reduction in benefits for any earnings above \$2800.
- --Incentives for recipients of both Medicare and Medicaid to seek more comprehensive health care--particularly preventive care--by encouraging the use of health maintenance organizations.
- --Mechanisms to foster greater cost-consciousness and more efficient utilization of medical services, by increasing the deductible amount in the supplementary medical insurance program and by providing for cost-sharing and for reasonable limitations on Medicaid services.

The Committee also added a 5% increase in Social Security effective in June of 1972. This increase means that Social Security benefits will have risen 33% over the past three years. This is an important recognition of the needs of the Nation's elderly. This new 5% increase helps to establish the point that I have long been urging that Social Security benefits be tied to the cost-of-living, and I believe it is appropriate.

Any bill can be improved. H.R. 1 is no exception. While hailing the concepts embodied in this legislation, I would hope that subsequent Congressional action could focus on several areas of possible improvement.

First, the cost of the social security and Medicare measures as provided in the bill should be determined in the light of present budget realities. The cost-saving approaches which were proposed for Medicare at an earlier time should now be enacted following similar actions on the Medicaid program. These actions should be accompanied by a shift in the way we would finance our supplementary medical insurance program. Payments for this program should be made while the beneficiary is working rather than by reducing his retirement income.

Finally, it should be made very clear that the fiscal relief this bill provides is only a partial response to the fiscal pressures now bearing down on States and cities throughout the country. There is a need for welfare reform, but there is also a pressing need for revenue sharing—distributed in a fashion more appropriate to the real financial burdens felt by all States and cities. I would urge speedy action on this front as well.

I view revenue sharing and welfare reform as inter-locking components in our effort to reform Federal fiscal relief to the State and local institutions of government. Welfare reform in 1973 will relieve fiscal pressure, primarily on State governments, by helping them to meet the fastest growing element of their present expenditures. Revenue sharing would provide immediate help to our equally hard-pressed cities and to States as well. Revenue sharing would also help to promote a long-range reform of the present fragmented and inefficient system of delivering Federal aid to State and local governments and it would do much to strengthen the overall capacities of State and local governments.

H.R. I is the single most significant piece of social legislation to be considered by the Congress in decades. It is my profound hope that the House of Representatives and the Senate of the United States will carry forward the momentum which has been generated, thus seizing an historic opportunity—and meeting an historic obligation.

# # #

#### OASDI Program as Modified by

#### H.R.1 as Reported

by Committee on Ways and Means

Progress of the OASI and DI trust funds, combined, under present law and under the system as modified by the committee bill, calendar years 1971-75

(In billions)

Calendar year	Income		Outgo		
	Present law	Committee bill	Present law	Committee bill	
1971	\$41.8	\$41.8	\$38.4	\$38.4	
1972	47.7	45.5	40.6	42.9	
1973	55•3	49.1	42.3	46.2	
1974	58.9	52.5	44.0	49.6	
1975	62.3	64.7	45.7	51 <b>.</b> 9	

Calendar year	Net increase in funds		Assets, end of year		
	Present law	Committee bill	Present law	Committee bill	
1971	\$3.4	\$3.4 \$41.4		\$41.4	
1972	7.2	2.7	48.6	44.1 47.0	
1973	13.0	2.9	61.6		
1974	14.9	2.9	76.5	49.9	
1975	16.6	12.8	93.1	62.7	

Note.--Under the automatic increase provisions in the Committee bill, the following changes are assumed to become effective January 1, 1974: (i) a general benefit increase of 3%; (ii) an increase in the contribution and benefit base to \$10,800; and (iii) an increase in the annual exempt amount under the retirement test to \$2,160.

Office of the Actuary--Baltimore May 20, 1971

#### OASDI Program as Modified by

#### H.R.1 as Reported

#### by Committee on Ways and Means

Estimated monthly benefits in current-payment status on January 31, 1972, and June 30, 1972, under present law and under the program--

- 1. As modified by the OASDI provisions of H.R.1 that become effective January 1972, and
- 2. As further modified by the 5-percent benefit increase, effective June 1972.

Category	Present law, January 31, 1972	Program as modified by H.R.1, January 31, 1972	Present law, June 30, 1972	Program as modified by H.R.1, June 30, 1972	
				Before 5% benefit increase	After 5% benefit increase
Monthly rate in current-payment status for all OASDI beneficiaries (in millions)	\$3,050	\$3,120	\$3,100	\$3,180	\$3,340
Sele	cted average monthl	y amounts			
1. Average monthly family benefits:					
Retired worker alone (no dependents receiving benefits) Retired worker and aged wife, both receiving benefits	\$128 221	\$129 222	\$129 222	\$130 223	\$137 234
Disabled worker alone (no dependents receiving benefits)  Disabled worker, wife, and 1 or more children	142 301	143 304	143 303	142 306	149 322
Aged widow alone	114 327	126 329	114 328	127 330	133 347
2. Average monthly individual benefits:		<b>J</b> 1	3	334	J+1
All retired workers (with or without dependents also receiving benefits)	132	134	133	134	141
All disabled workers (with or without dependents also receiving benefits)	146	147	147	147	154

Office of the Actuary--Baltimore May 20, 1971